JMIR Cancer

Journal Impact Factorâ ¢ (JIF) (2023): 5.8 Volume 10 (2024) ISSN 1438-8871 Editor in Chief: Gunther Eysenbach, MD, MPH

Contents

Reviews

XSL

•+0 **RenderX**

Digital Health Psychosocial Intervention in Adult Patients With Cancer and Their Families: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (e46116)	
Yingzi Zhang, Marie Flannery, Zhihong Zhang, Meghan Underhill-Blazey, Melanie Bobry, Natalie Leblanc, Darcey Rodriguez, Chen Zhang 7	
Machine Learning Approaches to Predict Symptoms in People With Cancer: Systematic Review (e52322)	
Nahid Zeinali, Nayung Youn, Alaa Albashayreh, Weiguo Fan, Stéphanie Gilbertson White.	27
Telemedicine Applications for Cancer Rehabilitation: Scoping Review (e56969) Patricia Goncalves Leite Rocco, C Reategui-Rivera, Joseph Finkelstein.	44
Implementation of Health IT for Cancer Screening in US Primary Care: Scoping Review (e49002)	
Constance Owens-Jasey, Jinying Chen, Ran Xu, Heather Angier, Amy Huebschmann, Mayuko Ito Fukunaga, Krisda Chaiyachati, Katharine Rendle, Kim Robien, Lisa DiMartino, Daniel Amante, Jamie Faro, Maura Kepper, Alex Ramsey, Eric Bressman, Rachel Gold	506
Viewpoints	
Need for Culturally Competent and Responsive Cancer Education for African Immigrant Families and Youth Living in the United States (e53956)	
Olufunmilola Abraham, Adeola Agoke, Kazeem Sanuth, Abimbola Fapohunda, Motolani Ogunsanya, Megan Piper, Amy Trentham-Dietz 6 2	
An Introduction to the OutSMART Cancer Serious Game: Current and Future Directions (e56168)	
Olufunmilola Abraham, Tyler McCarthy	74
Using a Mobile Messenger Service as a Digital Diary to Capture Patients' Experiences Along Their Interorganizational Treatment Path in Gynecologic Oncology: Lessons Learned (e52985)	
Eleonore Baum, Christian Thiel, Andrea Kobleder, Daniela Bernhardsgrütter, Ramona Engst, Carola Maurer, Antje Koller.	79
"Notification! You May Have Cancer." Could Smartphones and Wearables Help Detect Cancer Early? (e52577)	
Suzanne Scott, Matthew Thompson.	839
Artificial Intelligence as a Potential Catalyst to a More Equitable Cancer Care (e57276)	
Sebastian Garcia-Saiso, Myrna Marti, Karina Pesce, Silvana Luciani, Oscar Mujica, Anselm Hennis, Marcelo D'Agostino.	847

Lessons Learned From Shared Decision-Making With Oral Anticoagulants: Viewpoint on Suggestions for the Development of Oral Chemotherapy Decision Aids (e56935) Daniel McLoughlin, Fabiola Moreno Echevarria, Sherif Badawy..... 855 Impact of Patient Personality on Adherence to Oral Anticancer Medications: An Opportunity? (e57199) Mahtab Jafari, Alex Shahverdian, Gelareh Sadigh, Richard Van Etten. 863 **Original Papers** Demographics and Health Characteristics Associated With the Likelihood of Participating in Digitally Delivered Exercise Rehabilitation for Improving Heart Health Among Breast Cancer Survivors: Cross-Sectional Survey Study (e51536) Tamara Jones, Lara Edbrooke, Jonathan Rawstorn, Linda Denehy, Sandra Hayes, Ralph Maddison, Aaron Sverdlov, Bogda Koczwara, Nicole Kiss, Camille Short. 90 Iterative Patient Testing of a Stimuli-Responsive Swallowing Activity Sensor to Promote Extended User Engagement During the First Year After Radiation: Multiphase Remote and In-Person Observational Cohort Study (e47359) Eileen Shinn, Adam Garden, Susan Peterson, Dylan Leupi, Minxing Chen, Rachel Blau, Laura Becerra, Tarek Rafeedi, Julian Ramirez, Daniel Rodriguez, Finley VanFossen, Sydney Zehner, Patrick Mercier, Joseph Wang, Kate Hutcheson, Ehab Hanna, Darren Lipomi..... 104 Co-Design, Development, and Evaluation of a Mobile Solution to Improve Medication Adherence in Cancer: Design Science Research Approach (e46979) Thu Dang, Nilmini Wickramasinghe, Abdur Forkan, Prem Jayaraman, Kate Burbury, Clare O'Callaghan, Ashley Whitechurch, Penelope Schofield 121 Telehealth With Comprehensive Live-Fed Real-World Data as a Patient Care Platform for Lung Cancer: Implementation and Evaluation Study (e45331) Di Zheng, Yanhong Shang, Jian Ni, Ling Peng, Xiaoming Tan, Zhaoxia Dai, Yizhuo Zhao, Aiqin Gu, Jiying Wang, Yanyan Song, Xiaofeng Li, Junping Zhang, Wei Heng, Cuiying Zhang, Chunling Liu, Hui Li, Yingying Du, Jianfang Xu, Dan Wu, Xuwei Cai, Rui Meng, Xiaorong Dong, Yaoping Ruan, Liyan Jiang..... 142 Applying the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology to Identify Factors Associated With Intention to Use Teledelivered Supportive Care Among Recently Diagnosed Breast Cancer Survivors During COVID-19 in Hong Kong: Cross-Sectional Survey (e51072) Nelson Yeung, Stephanie Lau, Winnie Mak, Cecilia Cheng, Emily Chan, Judy Siu, Polly Cheung. 156 Usability and Preliminary Efficacy of an Adaptive Supportive Care System for Patients With Cancer: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial (e49703) Sharon Baik, Karen Clark, Marisol Sanchez, Matthew Loscalzo, Ashley Celis, Marianne Razavi, Dershung Yang, William Dale, Niina Haas. . . Artificial Intelligence–Based Co-Facilitator (AICF) for Detecting and Monitoring Group Cohesion Outcomes in Web-Based Cancer Support Groups: Single-Arm Trial Study (e43070) Yvonne Leung, Elise Wouterloot, Achini Adikari, Jinny Hong, Veenaajaa Asokan, Lauren Duan, Claire Lam, Carlina Kim, Kai Chan, Daswin De Silva, Lianne Trachtenberg, Heather Rennie, Jiahui Wong, Mary Esplen. 195 A Smart Water Bottle and Companion App (HidrateSpark 3) to Improve Bladder-Filling Compliance in Patients With Prostate Cancer Receiving Radiotherapy: Nonrandomized Trial of Feasibility and Acceptability (e51061) William Jin, Christopher Montoya, Benjamin Rich, Crystal Taswell, Miguel Noy, Deukwoo Kwon, Benjamin Spieler, Brandon Mahal, Matthew Abramowitz, Raphael Yechieli, Alan Pollack, Alan Dal Pra. 205

Uncovering the Daily Experiences of People Living With Advanced Cancer Using an Experience Sampling Method Questionnaire: Development, Content Validation, and Optimization Study (e57510) Joran Geeraerts, Lara Pivodic, Lise Rosquin, Eline Naert, Geert Crombez, Mark De Ridder, Lieve Van den Block.	218
Prototype of an App Designed to Support Self-Management for Health Behaviors and Weight in Women Living With Breast Cancer: Qualitative User Experience Study (e48170) Phillippa Lally, Christine May, E Mitchell, Meaghan McCallum, Andreas Michaelides, Abigail Fisher	235
Engagement With Daily Symptom Reporting, Passive Smartphone Sensing, and Wearable Device Data Collection During Chemotherapy: Longitudinal Observational Study (e57347)	054
Sean McClaine, Jenniter Fedor, Christianna Bartel, Leeann Chen, Krina Durica, Carissa Low.	251
Artificial Intelligence for Optimizing Cancer Imaging: User Experience Study (e52639) Iman Hesso, Lithin Zacharias, Reem Kayyali, Andreas Charalambous, Maria Lavdaniti, Evangelia Stalika, Tarek Ajami, Wanda Acampa, Jasmina Boban, Shereen Nabhani-Gebara.	268
Toxic Relationships Described by People With Breast Cancer on Reddit: Topic Modeling Study (e48860) Cara Davidson, Richard Booth, Kimberley Jackson, Tara Mantler.	282
Scope, Findability, and Quality of Information About Music-Based Interventions in Oncology: Quantitative Content Analysis of Public-Facing Websites at National Cancer Institute–Designated Cancer Centers (e53440)	
Carol Blank, Sarah Biedka, Abigail Montalmant, Katelyn Saft, Miranda Lape, Kate Mao, Joke Bradt, Kevin Liou.	295
Exploring Racial Disparities in Awareness and Perceptions of Oncology Clinical Trials: Cross-Sectional Analysis of Baseline Data From the mychoice Study (e56048)	
Ariel Hoadley, Linda Fleisher, Cassidy Kenny, Patrick Kelly, Xinrui Ma, Jingwei Wu, Carmen Guerra, Amy Leader, Mohammed Alhajji, Paul D'Avanzo, Zoe Landau, Sarah Bass	309
Development of an Educational Website for Patients With Cancer and Preexisting Autoimmune Diseases Considering Immune Checkpoint Blockers: Usability and Acceptability Study (e53443)	
Maria Lopez-Olivo, Maria Suarez-Almazor, Gabrielle Duhon, McKenna Cherry, Huifang Lu, Cassandra Calabrese, Mehmet Altan, Hussain Tawbi, Alexa Meara, Clifton Bingham, Adi Diab, Viola Leal, Robert Volk.	328
Designing Positive Psychology Interventions for Social Media: Cross-Sectional Web-Based Experiment With Young Adults With Cancer (e48627)	
Allison Lazard, Rhyan Vereen, Jieni Zhou, Hazel Nichols, Marlyn Pulido, Catherine Swift, Nabarun Dasgupta, Barbara Fredrickson.	340
Exploring Web-Based Information and Resources That Support Adolescents and Young Adults With Cancer to Resume Study and Work: Environmental Scan Study (e47944)	
Clarissa Schilstra, Sarah Ellis, Jennifer Cohen, Alana Gall, Abbey Diaz, Kristina Clarke, Gadiel Dumlao, Jennifer Chard, Therese Cumming, Esther Davis, Haryana Dhillon, Mary Burns, Kimberley Docking, Eng-Siew Koh, Josephine O'Reilly, Ursula Sansom-Daly, Joanne Shaw, Nicole Speers, Natalie Taylor, Anthea Warne, Joanna Fardell.	353
Evaluation of the e–Mental Health Intervention Make It Training From Patients' Perspectives: Qualitative Analysis Within the Reduct Trial (e53117)	
Julia Krakowczyk, Femke Truijens, Martin Teufel, Tania Lalgi, Jana Heinen, Caterina Schug, Yesim Erim, Michael Pantförder, Johanna Graf, Alexander Bäuerle	366
Differing Content and Language Based on Poster-Patient Relationships on the Chinese Social Media Platform Weibo: Text Classification, Sentiment Analysis, and Topic Modeling of Posts on Breast Cancer (e51332)	
Zhouqing Zhang, Kongmeng Liew, Roeline Kuijer, Wan She, Shuntaro Yada, Shoko Wakamiya, Eiji Aramaki.	381
Evaluating the Quality of Cancer-Related WeChat Public Accounts: Cross-Sectional Study (e52156) Peng Pan, Changhua Yu, Tao Li, Tingting Dai, Hanhan Tian, Yaozu Xiong, Jie Lv, Xiaochu Hu, Weidong Ma, Wenda Yin	396

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | p.3

Engagement With a Relaxation and Mindfulness Mobile App Among People With Cancer: Exploratory Analysis of Use Data and Self-Reports From a Randomized Controlled Trial (e52386)	404
Association of Family-Centered Care With Psychological Distress Among Caregivers of Children With	404
Cancer at a Tertiary-Level Hospital in Ethiopia: Cross-Sectional Study (e54715)	
Leul Deribe, Eshetu Girma, Nataliya Lindström, Abdulkadir Gidey, Solomon Teferra, Adamu Addissie	423
Delivering a Group-Based Quality of Life Intervention to Young Adult Cancer Survivors via a Web Platform: Feasibility Trial (e58014)	
Rina Fox, Tara Torres, Terry Badger, Emmanuel Katsanis, DerShung Yang, Stacy Sanford, David Victorson, Betina Yanez, Frank Penedo, M Antoni, Laura Oswald.	lichael 438
Implementation of Regular Lifestyle Counseling During Long-Term Follow-Up Care of Childhood Cancer Survivors: Monocentric Prospective Study (e59614)	
Franziska Richter, Lea Kronziel, Inke König, Thorsten Langer, Judith Gebauer.	450
Heart Rate Monitoring Among Breast Cancer Survivors: Quantitative Study of Device Agreement in a Community-Based Exercise Program (e51210)	
Lindsey Page, Jason Fanning, Connor Phipps, Ann Berger, Elizabeth Reed, Diane Ehlers.	464
Do Measures of Real-World Physical Behavior Provide Insights Into the Well-Being and Physical Function of Cancer Survivors? Cross-Sectional Analysis (e53180)	
Shelby Bachman, Emma Gomes, Suvekshya Aryal, David Cella, Ieuan Clay, Kate Lyden, Heather Leach	474
Improving Concordance Between Clinicians With Australian Guidelines for Bowel Cancer Prevention Using a Digital Application: Randomized Controlled Crossover Study (e46625)	
Tsai-Wing Ow, Olga Sukocheva, Peter Bampton, Guruparan lyngkaran, Christopher Rayner, Edmund Tse.	492
Pediatric Cancer Communication on Twitter: Natural Language Processing and Qualitative Content Analysis (e52061)	
Nancy Lau, Xin Zhao, Alison O'Daffer, Hannah Weissman, Krysta Barton.	523
Influence of Breast Cancer Awareness Month on Public Interest of Breast Cancer in High-Income Countries Between 2012 and 2022: Google Trends Analysis (e49197)	
Majed Ramadan, Doaa Aboalola, Sihem Aouabdi, Tariq Alghamdi, Mona Alsolami, Alaa Samkari, Rawiah Alsiary.	537
Health Information Seeking on the Internet Among Patients With and Without Cancer in a Region Affected by the 2011 Fukushima Triple Disaster: Cross-Sectional Study (e49897)	
Yudai Kaneda, Akihiko Ozaki, Michio Murakami, Toyoaki Sawano, Shuhei Nomura, Divya Bhandari, Hiroaki Saito, Masaharu Tsubokura, Yamaoka, Yoshinori Nakata, Manabu Tsukada, Hiromichi Ohira	Kazue 548
Digital Smoking Cessation Intervention for Cancer Survivors: Analysis of Predictors and Moderators of Engagement and Outcome Alongside a Randomized Controlled Trial (e46303)	
Rosa Andree, Ajla Mujcic, Wouter den Hollander, Margriet van Laar, Brigitte Boon, Rutger Engels, Matthijs Blankers.	560
A Theory and Evidence-Informed e-Cycling Intervention for Individuals Diagnosed With Cancer: Development Study (e54785)	
Jessica Bourne, Paul Kelly, Miranda Armstrong.	571
Assessing the Quality, Privacy, and Security of Breast Cancer Apps for Arabic Speakers: Systematic Search and Review of Smartphone Apps (e48428)	
Dari Alhuwail, Aisha Alhouti, Latifah Alsarhan	587

An mHealth App to Support Caregivers in the Medical Management of Their Child With Cancer: Beta Stage Usability Study (e52128)	
Emily Mueller, Anneli Cochrane, Madison Campbell, Sarah Nikkhah, Richard Holden, Andrew Miller.	599
Needs of Patients With Gynecologic Cancer and Their Caregivers for Obtaining mHealth-Supported Self-Management: Focus Group Study (e48465)	
Grace Campbell, Hansol Kim, Tara Klinedinst, Julie Klinger, Young Lee, Heidi Donovan.	609
Evaluating Online Cannabis Health Information for Thai Breast Cancer Survivors Using the Quality Evaluation Scoring Tool (QUEST): Mixed Method Study (e55300)	
Thanarpan Peerawong, Tharin Phenwan, Meiko Makita, Sojirat Supanichwatana, Panupong Puttarak, Naowanit Siammai, Prakaidao Sunthorn.	
Comparison of the Real-World Reporting of Symptoms and Well-Being for the HER2-Directed Trastuzumab Biosimilar Ogivri With Registry Data for Herceptin in the Treatment of Breast Cancer: Prospective Observational Study (OGIPRO) of Electronic Patient-Reported Outcomes (e54178)	
Andreas Trojan, Sven Roth, Ziad Atassi, Michael Kiessling, Reinhard Zenhaeusern, Yannick Kadvany, Johannes Schumacher, Gerd Kullak-Ublick, Matti Aapro, Alexandru Eniu.	636
Assessing the Relationship Between Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage and Telemedicine Use Among Patients With Breast Cancer and Examining Differential Provisions of Oncology Services Between Telehealth and In-Person Visits: Quantitative Study (e55438)	
Jincong Freeman, Fangyuan Zhao, Frederick Howard, Rita Nanda, Olufunmilayo Olopade, Dezheng Huo.	647
Experiences of a Digital Behavior Change Intervention to Prevent Weight Gain and Promote Risk-Reducing Health Behaviors for Women Aged 18 to 35 Years at Increased Risk of Breast Cancer: Qualitative Interview Study (e57964)	
Rhiannon Hawkes, Mary Pegington, Alan Davies, Julia Mueller, Anthony Howell, D Evans, Sacha Howell, David French, Michelle Harvie 6 8	
Relationship Between Perceived COVID-19 Risk and Change in Perceived Breast Cancer Risk: Prospective Observational Study (e47856)	
Ryan Baxter-King, Arash Naeim, Tina Huang, Karen Sepucha, Annette Stanton, Aaron Rudkin, Rita Ryu, Leah Sabacan, Lynn Vavreck, Laura Esserman, Allison Stover Fiscalini, Neil Wenger	681
Identifying Factors Associated With Heightened Anxiety During Breast Cancer Diagnosis Through the Analysis of Social Media Data on Reddit: Mixed Methods Study (e52551)	00.4
Joni Pierce, Mike Conway, Kathryn Grace, Jude Mikai.	694
Correlation Between Electronic Patient-Reported Outcomes and Biological Markers of Key Parameters in Acute Radiation Cystitis Among Patients With Prostate Cancer (RABBIO): Prospective Observational Study (e48225)	
Carole Helissey, Sophie Cavallero, Nathalie Guitard, Hélène Thery, Charles Parnot, Antoine Schernberg, Imen Aissa, Florent Raffin, Christine Le Coz, Stanislas Mondot, Christos Christopoulos, Karim Malek, Emmanuelle Malaurie, Pierre Blanchard, Cyrus Chargari, Sabine Francois 7 0 9	
Oral Cancer Incidence Among Adult Males With Current or Former Use of Cigarettes or Smokeless Tobacco: Population-Based Study (e51936)	726
	120
Variation in Trust in Cancer Information Sources by Perceptions of Social Media Health Mis- and Disinformation and by Race and Ethnicity Among Adults in the United States: Cross-Sectional Study (e54162)	
Jim Stimpson, Sungchul Park, Sandi Pruitt, Alexander Ortega.	739

JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | p.5

Real-World Survival Comparisons Between Radiotherapy and Surgery for Metachronous Second Primary Lung Cancer and Predictions of Lung Cancer–Specific Outcomes Using Machine Learning: Population-Based Study (e53354)	
Yue Zheng, Ailin Zhao, Yuqi Yang, Laduona Wang, Yifei Hu, Ren Luo, Yijun Wu	749
Crowdfunding for Complementary and Alternative Cancer Treatments in Tijuana, Mexico: Content Analysis (e52018)	
Jeremy Snyder, Marco Zenone, Ashmita Grewal, Timothy Caulfield.	769
Predictive Models for Long Term Survival of AML Patients Treated with Venetoclax and Azacitidine or 7+3 Based on Post Treatment Events and Responses: Retrospective Cohort Study (e54740)	
Nazmul Islam, Jamie Reuben, Justin Dale, James Coates, Karan Sapiah, Frank Markson, Craig Jordan, Clay Smith	778
A Machine Learning Approach for Predicting Biochemical Outcome After PSMA-PET–Guided Salvage Radiotherapy in Recurrent Prostate Cancer After Radical Prostatectomy: Retrospective Study (e60323)	
Ali Janbain, Andrea Farolfi, Armelle Guenegou-Arnoux, Louis Romengas, Sophia Scharl, Stefano Fanti, Francesca Serani, Jan Peeken, Sandrine Katsahian, Iosif Strouthos, Konstantinos Ferentinos, Stefan Koerber, Marco Vogel, Stephanie Combs, Alexis Vrachimis, Alessio Morganti, Simon Spohn, Anca-Ligia Grosu, Francesco Ceci, Christoph Henkenberens, Stephanie Kroeze, Matthias Guckenberger, Claus Belka, Peter Bartenstein, George Hruby, Louise Emmett, Ali Omerieh, Nina-Sophie Schmidt-Hegemann, Lucas Mose, Daniel Aebersold, Constantinos Zamboglou, Thomas Wiegel, Mohamed Shelan	799
Examining Racial Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Screening and the Role of Online Medical Record Use:	
Findings From a Cross-Sectional Study of a National Survey (e53229)	
Aldenise Ewing, Fode Tounkara, Daniel Marshall, Abhishek Henry, Mahmoud Abdel-Rasoul, Skylar McElwain, Justice Clark, Jennifer Hefner, Portia Zaire, Timiya Nolan, Willi Tarver, Chyke Doubeni	814
Patterns of Prescription Medication Use Before Diagnosis of Early Age-Onset Colorectal Cancer: Population-Based Descriptive Study (e50402)	
Vienna Cheng, Eric Sayre, Vicki Cheng, Ria Garg, Sharlene Gill, Ameer Farooq, Mary De Vera.	829

Research Letter

Web-Based Scaffolds: The Feasibility of a Constructivist Approach to Oncology Fellow Learning (e52501)	
Sam Brondfield, Matthew Schwede, Tyler Johnson, Shagun Arora.	873

Review

Digital Health Psychosocial Intervention in Adult Patients With Cancer and Their Families: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Yingzi Zhang^{1*}, PhD; Marie Flannery², PhD; Zhihong Zhang², MSc; Meghan Underhill-Blazey², PhD; Melanie Bobry², MSc; Natalie Leblanc², MPH, PhD; Darcey Rodriguez³, MLiS; Chen Zhang^{2*}, MPH, PhD

¹Magnet Program and Nursing Research Department, UT Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, United States

²School of Nursing, University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, NY, United States

³Edward G Miner Library, University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, NY, United States

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Yingzi Zhang, PhD Magnet Program and Nursing Research Department UT Southwestern Medical Center 8200 Brookriver Dr Dallas, TX, 75247 United States Phone: 1 469 291 4808 Email: <u>yingzi.zhang@utsouthwestern.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Patients with cancer and their families often experience significant distress and deterioration in their quality of life. Psychosocial interventions were used to address patients' and families' psychosocial needs. Digital technology is increasingly being used to deliver psychosocial interventions to patients with cancer and their families.

Objective: A systematic review and meta-analysis were conducted to review the characteristics and effectiveness of digital health interventions on psychosocial outcomes in adult patients with cancer and their family members.

Methods: Databases (PubMed, Cochrane Library, Web of Science, Embase, CINAHL, PsycINFO, ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global, and ClinicalTrials.gov) were searched for randomized controlled trials (RCTs) or quasi-experimental studies that tested the effects of a digital intervention on psychosocial outcomes. The Joanna Briggs Institute's critical appraisal checklists for RCTs and quasi-experimental studies were used to assess quality. Standardized mean differences (ie, Hedges *g*) were calculated to compare intervention effectiveness. Subgroup analysis was planned to examine the effect of delivery mode, duration of the intervention, type of control, and dosage on outcomes using a random-effects modeling approach.

Results: A total of 65 studies involving 10,361 patients (mean 159, SD 166; range 9-803 patients per study) and 1045 caregivers or partners (mean 16, SD 54; range 9-244 caregivers or partners per study) were included in the systematic review. Of these, 32 studies were included in a meta-analysis of the effects of digital health interventions on quality of life, anxiety, depression, distress, and self-efficacy. Overall, the RCT studies' general quality was mixed (applicable scores: mean 0.61, SD 0.12; range 0.38-0.91). Quasi-experimental studies were generally of moderate to high quality (applicable scores: mean 0.75, SD 0.08; range 0.63-0.89). Psychoeducation and cognitive-behavioral strategies were commonly used. More than half (n=38, 59%) did not identify a conceptual or theoretical framework. Most interventions were delivered through the internet (n=40, 62%). The median number of intervention sessions was 6 (range 1-56). The frequency of the intervention was highly variable, with self-paced (n=26, 40%) being the most common. The median duration was 8 weeks. The meta-analysis results showed that digital psychosocial interventions were effective in improving patients' quality of life with a small effect size (Hedges g=0.05, 95% CI –0.01 to 0.10; $l^2=42.7\%$; P=.01). The interventions effectively reduced anxiety and depression symptoms in patients, as shown by moderate effect sizes on Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale total scores (Hedges g=-0.72, 95% CI –1.89 to 0.46; $l^2=97.6\%$; P<.001).

Conclusions: This study demonstrated the effectiveness of digital health interventions on quality of life, anxiety, and depression in patients. Future research with a clear description of the methodology to enhance the ability to perform meta-analysis is needed. Moreover, this study provides preliminary evidence to support the integration of existing digital health psychosocial interventions in clinical practice.

Trial Registration: PROSPERO CRD42020189698; https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?RecordID=189698

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e46116) doi:10.2196/46116

KEYWORDS

cancer; anxiety; decision-making; depression; digital health; distress; family; mental health; mortality; psychosocial intervention; quality of life

Introduction

Cancer is often associated with psychological distress in patients and their family members. Emerging evidence shows that psychological distress contributes to cancer mortality [1,2]. Given that over 2 million new cancer cases are expected to be diagnosed in 2024 in the United States, psychosocial distress is a significant public health problem [3]. Psychosocial distress can be triggered by many challenges, such as decision-making regarding treatment, self-care challenges due to side effects from cancer treatment, maintaining work-life balance, and financial burden. A large body of research documents the negative influence of a cancer diagnosis and treatment on a patient's experience, including depression, anxiety, and decreased quality of life [4,5]. Cancer not only affects the patient but also imposes changes on the family [6]. Family members, who often assume caregiving roles to complement the roles of the health care team, often experience deteriorating quality of life and significant psychological distress [7,8]. For many years, researchers have examined psychosocial interventions addressing patients' and family members' needs to help maintain psychosocial well-being and quality of life during the cancer experience [9-12].

Increasingly, studies have used digital technology to deliver psychosocial interventions. In this report, we refer to digital health intervention as the use of digital, mobile, and wireless technologies to deliver an intervention. Digital health interventions have gained popularity due to their geographic accessibility, self-paced nature, user-friendly design, up-to-date information provision, and time-sensitive interaction with health care providers [13,14]. Further, digital interventions have significant potential for reaching people, mainly in rural areas or people with limited mobility [15]. There are various delivery modes for digital interventions, such as smartphone apps, websites, the internet, and virtual reality. There are also drawbacks, including concerns related to security and privacy and inaccessibility for people without smart device ownership. Psychosocial interventions may incorporate various components, such as communication skills training, cognitive behavioral therapy, patient education, peer support, and problem-solving training [16].

Despite the plethora of individual research studies, a synthesis of digital psychosocial interventions for patients with cancer and their families is needed to provide a summary of existing evidence regarding the effects of interventions and provide directions for future research and clinical practice. A range of systematic reviews have examined digital health psychosocial interventions for patients with cancer [17-22] and their family members [23,24]. However, these reviews have limitations. For example, some reviews primarily focused on a specific population, such as individuals with breast [17] or prostate cancer [19,20]; a particular delivery mode, such as

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46116

internet-based [17,23,24]; or a specific psychosocial outcome, such as quality of life or psychological distress [21,22]. In addition, Slev et al [25] synthesized evidence from systematic reviews of interventions delivered through computers or the internet for patients with cancer and their caregivers; however, the authors failed to quantify the effectiveness of interventions across studies using advanced statistical techniques, such as a meta-analysis. To date, no studies have used meta-analytical strategies to quantify the impact of digital health interventions on psychosocial outcomes in patients with cancer and family members. To fill these gaps, we conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis to comprehensively review the characteristics and effectiveness of digital psychosocial interventions on psychosocial outcomes across different available delivery modes in adult patients with cancer and their family members.

The specific aims were to answer the following questions:

- 1. What are the characteristics of digital psychosocial interventions for adult patients and families living with cancer? (ie, intervention component, theoretical or conceptual framework, tailored or standardized, mode of delivery, prescribed dosage, duration of the intervention, and actual dosage)?
- 2. What is the efficacy of interventions on psychosocial outcomes for adult individuals diagnosed with cancer and their family members and associated factors (ie, delivery mode, control condition, and dosage, including the number of sessions, frequency, and duration)?

Methods

The review followed the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) checklist [26].

Study Identification

The medical librarian (DR) and first author (YZ) worked together to identify search terms to build a comprehensive search strategy (Multimedia Appendix 1). Using controlled vocabulary and keywords when available, the search strategy was executed in the following databases: PubMed, Cochrane Library, Web of Science, Embase, CINAHL, PsycINFO, ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global, and ClinicalTrials.gov. The results were limited to the English language and those published from each resource's inception until March 2019, when the search was completed. An initial limited search of PubMed and CINAHL was undertaken, followed by an analysis of the text words in the abstract and the index terms used to describe the article. Relevancy was determined by the first author (YZ) and medical librarian (DR). A second search was undertaken across all included databases using all identified keywords and index terms.

Study Selection

The inclusion criteria were studies that (1) included adult patients (≥18 years of age with any cancer diagnosis) or their adult family members (eg, partner, caregiver, adult children, parent, or relative); (2) tested a digital health psychosocial intervention, which was defined as any nonpharmacological therapeutic intervention that addressed the psychological, social, personal, or relational adjustment needs associated with cancer through a digital health mechanism (eg, application and website); (3) measured at least 1 psychosocial outcome; and (4) used an experimental (randomized controlled trial [RCT]) or a quasi-experimental design. Studies were excluded if they enrolled pediatric patients with cancer; were review articles, letters to the editor, editorial reports, case reports, or commentaries; were published as abstracts only; and were not published in English. For meta-analysis, we excluded articles that did not provide data or when only a single study included the outcome measure.

After removing duplicates, the first author (YZ) read all titles and abstracts to identify articles based on inclusion and exclusion criteria. The full texts of all included articles were then screened independently by 2 reviewers (master's-level or above), and final decisions were made based on consensus. Finally, articles identified in the search were imported to Endnote X8 (Clarivate Analytics).

Data Extraction and Management

A Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation) spreadsheet was used to record information [27], including the description of the interventions (eg, theory basis, mode of delivery, content, actual dosage, planned dosage, standardized, or tailored), study sample (eg, age, sex, education, race, ethnicity, and cancer diagnosis), study characteristics (eg, design, randomization method, and control condition), intervention outcome variables and measurements, follow-ups, and quantitative data (ie, mean, SD, and sample size). Dosage was described as the number of intervention sessions, frequency, and duration of access to intervention. A standardized intervention was defined as all participants receiving the same intervention, while a tailored intervention involved customization of the intervention based on individual characteristics or needs [28]. We defined the prescribed dosage as the intended treatment dose, including the number of intervention sessions, frequency, and total length according to the study protocol. A codebook was created for data extraction, and the team's decisions were tracked and recorded. All authors extracted data from 3 articles to pilot-test the spreadsheet. The research team discussed any ambiguity, resolved differences in interpretation, and modified the data extraction spreadsheet. Subsequently, each article underwent independent data extraction by YZ and another author (6 trained reviewers). The research team met throughout the study period every other week to resolve any discrepancies. A total of 15 original study authors were contacted to request missing information (eg, mean, SD, and sample size), and no additional data were received.

Assessment of Methodological Quality

The reviewers assessed the included studies for methodological rigor using standardized critical appraisal instruments from the 13-item Joanna Briggs Institute (JBI) Critical Appraisal Checklist for RCT and the 9-item JBI Critical Appraisal Checklist for quasi-experimental studies [29]. Reviewers answered each risk of bias item as "yes" (score=1), "no" (score=0), "unclear" (score=0), or "not applicable." Possible composite scores ranged from 0 to 9 for quasi-experimental studies and 0-13 for RCTs, with higher scores indicating less risk of bias and better study quality. The applicable score (range 0-1) was calculated by dividing the composite score by the maximum score possible after subtracting any "not applicable" responses [30]. All studies were double-coded, and any disagreements were resolved through discussion with the research team [26].

Data Synthesis and Meta-Analysis

Data Synthesis

Data synthesis was completed on all articles that met the inclusion criteria. Only primary study results were included if multiple articles were published from the same intervention study. Simple descriptive statistics (ie, mean, SD, frequency, and percentage) were used to summarize study characteristics (eg, study design and participant characteristics) and key features of interventions (ie, theory, mode of delivery, number of sessions, frequency, and total length). Intervention content was grouped and narratively summarized according to the description of the intervention components.

Meta-Analytical Procedure

An a priori decision was made to only include studies in the meta-analysis if at least 2 studies used the same instrument to assess the same psychosocial outcome [31]. Standardized mean differences (ie, Hedges g) were calculated to compare intervention effectiveness across studies that used different scales or measurements. Mean differences between the scores before the intervention and the follow-up assessment after the intervention were calculated for pre-post interventions. Similarly, for the RCT studies, the results from follow-up in each study were selected and analyzed using difference scores from before and after the intervention for both intervention and control groups, with the pooled SDs. We computed the overall effect size across different time points for studies with multiple follow-ups. By doing so, we captured the time-varying effect on intervention effectiveness [31]. The overall effect (including all information across all time points) and time-varying effects, including the interim effect (during the intervention period), immediate effect (after the intervention), short-term effect (follow-up ≤ 8 weeks after completion of the intervention), and long-term effect (follow-up >8 weeks after completion of the intervention), were calculated. A cutoff of 8 weeks was chosen because it was the median length of the follow-up period across the included studies.

To assess study heterogeneity, the I^2 statistic was examined. The I^2 statistic quantifies the proportion of total variance across studies caused by a fundamental difference between trials rather than chance. An I^2 statistic of <25% indicates low heterogeneity,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46116
```

between 25% and 75% indicates moderate heterogeneity, and >75% indicates high heterogeneity [32]. Lower heterogeneity is better. Funnel plots (ie, to visually assess the asymmetry) and Egger test (ie, to test the asymmetry statistically) assessed publication bias [33]. In funnel plots, if points are distributed equally between positive and negative effects, bias is lacking; variability is expected to be greater near the bottom of the chart among smaller sample size studies. For the analysis of data from studies with more than 1 digital psychosocial intervention group, we compared each digital psychosocial intervention group to the control group separately. Additionally, subgroup analysis was planned based on the review's focus on examining the effect of delivery mode, type of control condition, and dosage on outcomes. Furthermore, we performed sensitivity analyses by including and excluding studies with extreme weights in the analyses. We used the DerSimonial-Laird random-effects model to weight and pool the individual estimates to capture variance across different studies, as all included studies were conducted in heterogeneous populations across various settings [34]. We performed all statistical and meta-analyses using STATA (version 17; StataCorp LLC).

Results

Search Results

After removing duplicates, a total of 2108 studies were identified. Figure 1 shows a flow diagram of studies identified, screened, included, and excluded from this systematic review and meta-analysis. After screening titles and abstracts and applying inclusion and exclusion criteria, a total of 70 records with 65 unique studies (for multiple manuscripts published from the same intervention study, only primary manuscripts were included) were included in the systematic review [35-99] and 32 studies [35,36,38,40,41,43,44,47,50,53-55,57,64,66,68-72, 74,77,80,82,83,86,88,91,93,95,96,99] with available data were included in the meta-analysis. A total of 33 studies were excluded from the meta-analysis because either data were unavailable to calculate the effect size (n=14)[42,46,51,62,73,76,78,79,81,84,87,89,94,98] or no other study used the same measure (n=19) [37,39,45,48,49,52, 56,58-61,63,65,67,75,85,90,92,97].

Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flow diagram.



Study Characteristics

Overview

RenderX

Of the 65 studies, 48 (74%) were RCTs [35-37, 39-50,52-57,59-65,72,73,76-82,85,89-91,93-99], and 17 (26%) were quasi-experimental [38,51,58,66-71,74,75,83,84,86-88,92].

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46116
```

More than half (n=37, 58%) of the studies were conducted in United [36-40,44,48-50,54,56-61,63, the States 65,67-69,71,72,74,77,79,80,83-85,87-90,94,97,98], and the rest Netherlands (n=9,14%) were from the [35,41,43,47,64,70,91,92,96], Australia (n=5.8%) [45,66,75,86,95], and other countries (eg, Denmark and Ireland). In total, 10,361 patients (mean 159, SD 166; range 9-803

patients per study) were included: 7098 female patients and 3263 male patients; 1045 caregivers or partners were enrolled (mean 16, SD 54; range 9-244 caregivers or partners per study), including 781 female individuals and 264 male individuals. The average age of patients ranged from 39.9 to 72 years, and the average age of caregivers or partners ranged from 51.5 to 58.8 years. In the 33 studies that provided information about race and ethnicity, most patients (n=3495, 90%) and family members (n=259, 97%) were described as "White" or "Caucasian." The cancer diagnoses varied across studies, with the most prevalent being breast cancer (n=24, 37%) [35,37,38,42, 44,52,54,58,60,61,64-66,70-72,74,76,80,82,84,91,93,95], mixed 29%) cancer diagnosis (n=19, [36,40,45, 47,50,51,53,57,62,69,75,77,78,81,83,94,96,97,99], and prostate cancer (n=7, 11%) [39,48,56,67,85,88,98]. The attrition rate ranged from 0% to 76%, with a median of 16.8% (mean 20.4%, SD 13.7%). The recruitment rate ranged from 4.4% to 94.2%, with a median of 59.5% (mean 56%, SD 24.6%). Detailed information about the study and sample characteristics from the included studies is provided in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 [35-99].

Control Condition

Of the 48 RCTs, 29 (60%) studies included a usual care control group [35,36,39,41-44,46,47,52,54,55,62,64,65,73,76-80,82, 85,91,93-96,99], and 19 (40%) included an active control [37,40,45,48-50,53,56,57,59-61,63,72,81,89,90,97,98]. Among the 17 quasi-experimental studies, 11 (65%) did not have a control group [38,51,67-71,74,86-88], and 6 (35%) studies included a usual care control group [58,66,75,83,84,92].

Outcome Assessment

A total of 21 studies had 1 follow-up assessment [22,38,45,47,48,50,51,57,68-70,72,74,76-78,88-90,98,99], 23 had 2 follow-up assessments [35,39,44,46,52-55, 63-65,67,71,75,79,83,84,86,87,92,93,95,97], 11 had 3 follow-up assessments [37,40-43,60-62,66,80,91], and 7 had 4 or more follow-up assessments [49,56,58,59,73,81,85]. The timing of follow-up assessments varied, ranging from immediately to 6 months after the intervention. The commonly reported outcomes and relevant measures are reported below in *Aim 2: Effects on Patients' and Family Members' Psychosocial Outcomes*.

Quality Assessment (Risk of Bias)

The quality assessment scores of the included studies are summarized in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2. Overall, the RCT studies' general quality was mixed, with applicable scores ranging from 0.38 to 0.91 (mean 0.61, SD 0.12). Quasi-experimental studies were generally of moderate to high quality, with applicable scores ranging from 0.63 to 0.89 (mean 0.75, SD 0.08) on the JBI Critical Appraisal Checklist for quasi-experimental studies. The publication year and applicable appraisal score were not significantly correlated in RCTs (r=0.12; P=.40) and quasi-experimental studies (r=-0.04; P=.88).

Aim 1: Intervention Characteristics

Overview

There was large heterogeneity in intervention components, theoretical or conceptual framework, type of intervention (ie, tailored or standardized), mode of delivery, prescribed dosage (ie, number of sessions, frequency, and length), and received dosage (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2).

Intervention Components

A total of 37 (57%) out of 65 studies included a single intervention component [36,38-40,44,45,47,51,52,55-57,63-66, 68,69,71-77,79,80,82-84,86,87,90,91,93,94,98], 13 (20%) studies included 2 intervention components [35,41,43,46,48,50,62,67,78,85,88,95,96], and 15 (23%) studies included 3-5 intervention components [37,42, 49,53,54,58-61,70,81,89,92,97,99]. The most common intervention components were information and resources, or psychoeducation (n=29, 45%) [35,37,39-43,46,48,49, 52-56,58-61,70,81,82,87-90,92,95,97], and cognitive-behavioral [44,45,47,50,54,57,63,64, strategies (n=20,31%) 67,68,71,74,75,80,85-87,89,91,98].

Theoretical or Conceptual Framework

More than half (n=38, 59%) of the included studies did not identify a conceptual or theoretical framework [37,41,42,45-47,51,52,54,55,57-63,66,69,71,73,75,76,78-81,85-90,92,93,95,97,98].

Standardized or Tailored Intervention

Of the 65 studies, 26 (40%) included both standardized and tailored interventions [37,39,42,43,46,47,49,53,55, 59-61,64,68,70,73-75,77-79,81,85,89,92,94], 28 (43%) studies included only standardized interventions [36,38, 41,44,50,51,54,56-58,63,65-67,69,71,72,76,80,82-84,87,88,91,93,95,98], and 11 (17%) studies had only tailored interventions [35,40,45,48,52,62,86,90,96,97,99].

Modes of Delivery

The majority of studies conducted interventions through an internet website (n=40,62%) [35-37,39-50, 53,55,59-62,64,67,68,70,72,75,77,81,82,85,88-91,93,95-99] or smart device app (n=8) [43,52,56,57,63,69,80,87]. A total of 7 (11%) studies conducted interventions through virtual reality [51,66,73,76,78,83,84], 3 (5%) studies through telehealth [54,74,79], and 2 (3%) studies through a computer program [38,65]. Electronic health information systems [92], interaction portals [58], and videoconferences [86] were each used in 1 study. Overall, 2 studies used multimodal interventions delivered through the combination of either telephone and videoconference [94] or internet and telephone [61].

Dosage

The dosage prescribed and received were highly variable. The number of intervention sessions ranged from 1 to 56, with a median of 6. A total of 27 (42%) studies did not specify the prescribed dose; 19 (29%) only stated the number of days participants had access to the intervention [35,36,42,49,56,59-62,67,70,80,81,85,87,89,92,95,99] and 8 (12%) did not provide information on the prescribed dosage [37,39,40,52,55,58,72,73]. Frequency was highly variable, with

```
XSL•FO
```

self-paced 40%) the (n=26, as most common [35,36,42,45,49,50,56,59-63,67,70,80,81,85,87-90,92,95-97,99], meaning no specific intervention frequency was defined and the intervention content was available throughout the study period. The other common frequencies of intervention sessions were weekly (n=17, 26%) [38,41,44,45,47,53,54,64, 68,71,74,75,77,86,91,94,98] and 1-time intervention sessions (n=8, 12%) [48,65,66,76,78,82-84]. The median length of the intervention was 8 weeks, with the length ranging from 1 hour (ie, use of the intervention on an iPad for an hour) to 24 months. Received dosage was defined as the uptake of the intervention by the participants. A total of 18 (28%) studies did not report received dosage [36,37,39,48,52,56,58,65,69,75, the 76,78,79,82,85,86,93,94]. Various information was reported, including attendance rate, number of times participants used the app, frequency with which participants logged into the website, number of website pages reviewed, skill practice time, and intervention session completion rate. Most of the interventions (n=43, 66%) were self-delivered without an

interventionist, with self-paced being most common [35-37,39,40,42,44,45,48-53,55,57-60,62,63,67,69-73, 75,76,78,80-84,87,88,91-93,95,96,99].

Aim 2: Effects on Patients' and Family Members' Psychosocial Outcomes

Patients' Outcomes

Overview

A meta-analysis was conducted on 32 studies. Overall, 5 outcomes were examined. A summary of the interventions' overall effect sizes; time-varying effect sizes for quality of life, anxiety, depression, distress, and self-efficacy; and heterogeneity statistics for each outcome is displayed in Table 1. The forest plots for overall effect sizes and time-varying effects are displayed in Multimedia Appendix 3. The funnel plots for overall effect sizes and time-varying effects are displayed in Multimedia Appendix 4.

 Table 1. Summary of the meta-analysis.

Population, outcome, measure, and value	Effect at different time points					
	Overall ^a	Immediate	Interim	Short	Medium	
Patient		-,	-,	-,	-	
QOL ^b						
FACT-B ^c						
Pooled ES ^d , Hedges g (95% CI)	0.13 (-0.05 to 0.31)	e	—	—	—	
I ²	62.3	_	_	_	_	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	10.61 (4)	_	_	_	_	
P value	.03	_	_	_	_	
FACT-G ^f						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	-0.04 (-0.17 to 0.09)	_	_	_	_	
I ²	0	_	_	_	_	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	1.91 (4)	_	_	_	_	
P value	.43	_	_	_	_	
QLQ-30 ^g						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	0.05 (-0.04 to 0.14)	_	_	_	_	
I ²	58.4	_	_	_	_	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	19.95 (6)	—	—	—	_	
P value	.03	_	_	_	_	
SF36 ^h						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	0.03 (-0.10 to 0.15)	_	_	_	_	
I ²	14.4	—	—	—	_	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	8.41 (8)	_	_	_	—	
P value	.31	_	_	_	_	
Overall						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	0.05 (-0.01 to 0.10)	0.95 (-1.99 to 3.89)	-0.16 (-0.39 to 0.06)	2.25 (0.36 to 4.14)	0.18 (0 to 0.35)	
<i>I</i> ²	42.7	100	70	98	18.3	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	48.12 (20)	93227.62 (19)	3.34 (1)	203.50 (4)	7.35 (6)	
<i>P</i> value	.01	<.001	.07	<.001	.29	
Anxiety and depression						
HADS ⁱ total score						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	-0.72 (-1.89 to 0.46)	-0.04 (-0.23 to 0.16)	_	-0.22 (-0.54 to 0.10)	0.14 (-0.09 to 0.38)	
I^2	97.6	0	—	0	0	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	165.82 (14)	3.71 (4)	—	0.19 (1)	0.51 (1)	
P value	<.001	.45	—	.66	.47	
Depression						

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46116

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e46116 | p.13 (page number not for citation purposes)

Population, outcome, measure, and value	Effect at different time points					
	Overall ^a	Immediate	Interim	Short	Medium	
HADS-depression	-			-		
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	-0.13 (-0.23 to -0.02)	_	_	_	_	
I ²	0	_	—	_	—	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	4.17 (7)	_	_	_	_	
P value	.73	_	_	_	_	
CESD ^j						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	0.10 (-0.10 to 0.30)	—	_		—	
I ²	0	—	—	_	—	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	0.99 (4)	_	_	_	_	
<i>P</i> value	.91	_	—	_	_	
PHQ9 ^k						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	-0.05 (-0.17 to 0.08)	—	—	—	—	
I ²	0	—	—	_	—	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	0.78 (1)	—	_	_	_	
P value	.38	_	_	_	_	
Multiple scales						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	0.32 (–0.35 to 0.99)	_	_	_	_	
I ²	95	_	_	_	_	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	19.86 (1)	_	—	_	_	
P value	<.001	—	—	—	_	
Overall						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	0.03 (-0.10 to 0.16)	0.06 (-0.10, 0.22)	-0.04 (-0.22, 0.14)	_	_	
I ²	60.9	69.4	29.8	_	_	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	40.77 (16)	58.85 (16)	4.27 (1)	_	_	
<i>P</i> value	<.001	<.001	0.23	_	_	
Anxiety						
HADS-anxiety						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	0.32 (-0.20 to 0.84)	_	_	_	_	
I ²	94.3	_	_	_	_	
Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	123.33 (7)	_	_	_	_	
P value	<.001	_	_	_	_	
SATI ^I						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	-0.19 (-0.41 to 0.04)	_	_	_	_	
I^2	26.8	_	_	_	_	

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46116

XSL•FO RenderX

Population, outcome, measure, and value		Effect at different time points					
		Overall ^a	Immediate	Interim	Short	Medium	
	Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	5.46 (4)	_	_	_	_	
P value		.24	_	_	_	—	
Ov	reall						
Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)		0.12 (-0.19 to 0.43)	-0.10 (-0.19 to 0)	-0.04 (-0.19 to 0.12)	-0.13 (-0.43 to 0.17)	_	
	I^2	90.2	6.7	35.1	10.5	—	
	Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	132.99 (13)	13.94 (13)	6.16 (4)	1.12 (1)	_	
	<i>P</i> value	<.001	.38	.19	.29	_	
Distres	s						
DT	^m						
	Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	0.98 (-0.18 to 2.14)	0.51 (0.10 to 0.92)	—	_	—	
	<i>I</i> ²	98.5	54.2	_	_	_	
	Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	332.71 (2)	4.37 (2)	_	_	_	
	P value	<.001	.11	_	_	_	
Self-eff	ĩcacy						
CE	BI ⁿ						
	Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	-1.41 (-4.02 to 1.20)	2.56 (-1.22 to 6.35)	—	_	—	
	I^2	99	98.2	—	_	_	
	Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	1.06 (1)	55.43 (1)	_	_	_	
	P value	.29	<.001	_	_	_	
Family mer	nber						
Depres	sion						
HA	ADS-depression						
	Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	-0.25 (-0.72 to 0.21)	_	_		_	
	I^2	0	_	_	_	_	
	Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	0.41 (1)	_	_	_	_	
	P value	.52	—	_	_		
Anxiet	y						
HA	ADS-anxiety						
	Pooled ES, Hedges g (95% CI)	-0.23 (-0.70 to 0.23)	_	_	_	_	
	I^2	0	_	_	_	_	
	Heterogeneity, χ^2 (<i>df</i>)	0.65 (1)	—	_	_	_	



JMIR CANCER					Zhang et al		
Population, outcome, measure, and value	Effect at diffe	Effect at different time points					
	Overall ^a	Immediate	Interim	Short	Medium		
P value	.42		_	_			
^a The overall effect accounts for time-varying ef	fect across different	time points.					
^b QOL: quality of life.		1					
^c FACT-B: Functional Assessment of Cancer Th	erapy–Breast.						
^d ES: effect size.							
^e Not applicable.							
^f FACT-G: Functional Assessment of Cancer Th	erapy–General.						
^g QLQ-30: Quality of Life Questionnaire, 30 ite	ms.						
^h SF36: Short Form Survey 36-item.							
ⁱ HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale	е.						
inner a service a service serv							

^JCESD: Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale.

^kPHQ9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9.

¹SATI: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory.

^mDT: Distress Thermometer.

ⁿCBI: Coping Behaviors Inventory.

Quality of Life

Quality of life was measured by the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy–Breast [44,54,80,93,95], Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy–General [38,53,57,86,88], European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire, 30-items [35,40,43,74,91,96,99], and 36-item Short Form Survey [41,54,64,70,71]. Overall, a total of 21 studies with 1847 participants in the intervention groups showed an increase in quality of life, with a mean difference between groups of Hedges g=0.05 (95% CI -0.01 to 0.10). The impact of heterogeneity within the studies was significant $(I^2=42.7\%; P=.01)$. With respect to publication bias, the funnel plot displayed a greater number of studies toward the top of the mean (Egger test, P < .001). The time-varying effects were as follows: Hedges g=-0.16 (95% CI -0.39 to 0.06) for the interim effect; Hedges g=0.95 (95% CI -1.99 to 3.89) for the immediate effect; Hedges g=2.25 (95% CI 0.36-4.14) for the short-term effect; and Hedges g=0.18 (95% CI 0-0.35) for the long-term effect. The statistical heterogeneity among studies was $I^2 = 70\%$ (P=.07) for the interim effect; $I^2=100\%$ (P<.001) for the immediate effect; $I^2=98\%$ (P<.001) for the short-term effect; and $I^2=18.3\%$ (P=.29) for the long-term effect.

Anxiety and Depression

Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) total scores (without subscale scores reported) were reported in 5 studies with 338 participants in the intervention groups [43,47,64,86,91]. Overall, participants receiving interventions reported decreased anxiety and depression with a standardized mean difference of Hedges g=-0.72 (95% CI -1.89 to 0.46). The heterogeneity within the studies was significant ($I^2=97.6\%$; P<.001). The funnel plot was found to be asymmetric, and Egger test was found to be not statistically significant (P=.77). The time-varying effects were as follows: Hedges g=-0.04 (95% CI -0.23 to 0.16) for the immediate effect; Hedges g=-0.22 (95% CI -0.54 to 0.10) for the short-term effect; and Hedges g=0.14(95% CI -0.09 to 0.38) for the medium-term effect. The

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46116

statistical heterogeneity among studies was $I^2=0\%$ across all time-varying effects.

Depression

Depression was assessed by the HADS-depression subscale [50,69,74,86,95,96,99], Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale [41,68,71,77], Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) [40,53], and a combination of the PHQ-9 and HADS-anxiety [43,57] in 1509 participants in the intervention groups. Overall, interventions were not more effective than control conditions for reducing depression (Hedges g=0.03, 95% CI –0.10 to 0.16), with a high heterogeneity of 60.9% (P<.001). With respect to publication bias, the funnel plot displayed a greater number of studies toward the top of the mean (Egger test, P=.25). The time-varying effects were as follows: Hedges g=0.06 (95% CI –0.10 to 0.22) for the immediate effect and Hedges g=-0.04 (95% CI –0.22 to 0.14) for the interim effect. The statistical heterogeneity among studies was I^2 =69.4% for the immediate effect and I^2 =29.8% for the interim effect.

Anxiety

Anxiety was assessed by the HADS-anxiety subscale [57,64,69,74,86,95,96,99], State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) [66,71,72,82,83], and a combination of the STAI and HADS-anxiety [43] in 1075 participants in the intervention groups. Overall, interventions were not more effective than control conditions for reducing anxiety (Hedges g=0.12, 95% CI –0.19 to 0.43), with high heterogeneity of 90.2% (P<.001). The funnel plot displayed a greater number of studies toward the top of the mean (Egger test, P=.46). The interim effect was Hedges g=-0.04 (95% CI –0.19 to 0.12), and the immediate effect was Hedges g=-0.10 (95% CI –0.19 to 0), and the short-term effect was Hedges g=-0.13 (95% CI –0.43 to 0.17). The statistical heterogeneity among studies was $I^2=$ 35.1% for the interim effect, $I^2=$ 6.7% for the immediate effect, and $I^2=$ 10.5% for the short-term effect.

XSL•FO RenderX

Distress

Psychological distress was assessed in 182 participants in the intervention groups using the distress thermometer [35,69,91]. Overall, participants in the intervention groups showed no reduction in distress, with a mean difference between groups of Hedges g=0.98 (95% CI –0.18 to 2.14). The impact of heterogeneity within the studies was significant ($I^2=98.5\%$; P<.001). Regarding publication bias, the funnel plot displayed a symmetric distribution around the mean effect (Egger test, P=.46). The immediate effect was Hedges g=0.51 (95% CI 0.10-0.92), with statistical heterogeneity $I^2=54.2\%$.

Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy was measured by the Coping Behaviors Inventory in 174 participants in the intervention groups [44,55]. Overall, participants in the intervention groups did not report improvement in self-efficacy, with a standardized mean difference of Hedges g=-1.41 (95% CI –4.02 to 1.20). However, the impact of heterogeneity within studies was significant ($I^2=99\%$; P<.001). Regarding the publication bias, the funnel plot displayed a symmetric distribution around the mean effect (Egger test, P=.22). The immediate effect was Hedges g=2.56 (95% CI –1.22 to 6.35) with high heterogeneity ($I^2=98.2\%$; P<.001).

Subgroup Analyses

Given the heterogeneity of reporting on dosage information and limited data, the subgroup analysis of dosage on intervention effect was not conducted. Table 2 includes the results of the subgroup analysis on the effect on quality of life, depression and anxiety, and distress. Overall, the associations between delivery mode and control condition with patient outcomes were not statistically significant (P>.05).

Table 2. Subgroup analyses on the effect of delivery mode (internet vs noninternet) and control condition (usual care vs active control) on patient outcomes.

Outcome and moderators	Effect size, Hedges g (95% CI)	SE	<i>P</i> value
Quality of life (27 studies)			
Delivery mode	0.04 (-0.06 to 0.14)	0.05	.45
Control condition	-0.01 (-0.99 to 0.06)	0.04	.78
HADS ^a total (6 studies)			
Delivery mode	0.16 (-0.30 to 0.62)	0.24	.50
Control condition	N/A ^b	N/A	N/A
Depression (21 studies)			
Delivery mode	0.10 (-0.09 to 0.29)	0.10	.31
Control condition	-0.04 (-0.17 to 0.09)	0.07	.55
Anxiety (15 studies)			
Delivery mode	0.01 (-0.07 to 0.09)	0.04	.79
Control condition	-0.06 (-0.34 to 0.22) 0.14		.67
Distress (8 studies)			
Delivery mode	N/A	N/A	N/A
Control condition	-0.03 (-0.34 to 0.28)	0.15	.86

^aHADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

^bN/A: not applicable.

Family Members' Outcomes

The forest plots for overall effect sizes are displayed in Multimedia Appendix 5. The funnel plots for overall effect sizes are displayed in Multimedia Appendix 6. For family members' data, we pooled 2 studies [36,69] on anxiety and depression for the meta-analysis with 68 participants in the intervention groups. Due to the small sample size, no time-varying effect or subgroup analysis was calculated. The overall effect on anxiety was Hedges g=-0.23 (95% CI -0.70 to 0.23), with heterogeneity of $I^2=0\%$ (P=.42). The overall effect on depression was Hedges g=-0.25 (95% CI -0.72 to 0.21), with heterogeneity of $I^2=0\%$ (P=.52). Regarding publication bias, the funnel plot displayed

RenderX

asymmetrical scattered points with statistical significance (Egger test, P<.001).

Discussion

Overview

This systematic review and meta-analysis of 65 unique digital psychosocial intervention studies for patients with cancer and their family members provides strong evidence that psychosocial interventions delivered through digital health significantly improve psychosocial outcomes. There were 3 major findings. First, this review included a large group of participants with various cancer diagnoses; however, underrepresented populations affected by cancer were not included, and the results

predominantly focused on White patients. Second, we found that various intervention modes and components were used. There is a lack of specificity with respect to the description of interventions or theoretical basis for interventions, which may hinder future replication or refinement of the interventions and understanding of underlying mechanisms. Third, despite high heterogeneity across studies, the available data suggest that digital psychosocial interventions effectively improve some psychosocial outcomes, including patients' quality of life, anxiety, and depression.

Principal Findings

First, the majority of participants in the included studies were White and female, which does not reflect the broader patient population with cancer, including non-White ethno-racial groups (ie, African American or Black, American Indian and Alaska Native, Asian, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, and Hispanic or Latino populations). It is well documented in the literature that the impact of cancer on psychological distress and quality of life is worse for racial and ethnic minority groups [100-102]. Therefore, future trials should include more participants from underrepresented groups to reduce health care disparities and improve generalizability in diverse populations [103]. Family members and caregivers were rarely included in the studies reviewed. However, there is ample evidence that family members and caregivers experience significant caregiver burden, worsening quality of life, and difficulty with psychological adjustment, therefore needing support [104,105]. Previous systematic reviews suggest that interventions targeting problem-solving and communication skills may ease the burden related to patient care and improve caregivers' quality of life [106]. Many reviews focus on the evaluation of nondigital interventions targeting the psychosocial experience in family members and caregivers, including several reviews of caregiver interventions [9,107-109]. Therefore, with growing technology usage, more digital interventions are needed to address family members' or caregivers' needs.

Few RCTs met all quality criteria, including blinding, analysis by treatment assignment, and standardized outcome assessment [110]. While concealing assignments from participants and those delivering interventions is not always possible, single blinding of assessors should occur in well-designed research. Few studies used power calculations for sample size, making it difficult to determine whether sample sizes were adequate [111]. Generally, results from group sizes <20 are questionable. There are several effective strategies known to increase the retention rate, such as adding monetary incentives and using an open trial design [112,113]. The critical appraisal also depends on comprehensive reporting of study details, which were limited in the identified studies. Although attempts have been made to improve reporting using the CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) statement for RCTs and the Transparent Reporting of Evaluations with Nonrandomized Designs (TREND) statement for nonrandomized intervention studies in the early 2000s [114,115], we did not see improvement in appraisal scores over time. The main limitations of the results include underpowered and methodologically weaker studies. These highlight the need for improved methodologies in future research, as the overall methodological quality was moderate.

Second, this study identified various intervention modes and components, which is consistent with a previous systematic review of psychosocial interventions for patients with advanced cancer, which identified similar intervention components, including psychoeducation and CBT-based intervention, as 2 of the most common [11]. However, more than half of the included studies did not use theoretical or conceptual frameworks to guide the development of intervention components or selection of outcomes. The lack of a theoretical framework leads to a lack of clarity about the mechanisms through which intervention components impact psychosocial outcomes [116]. In future research, theories or conceptual frameworks need to be incorporated to help us better understand the mechanisms that explain the changes in psychosocial outcomes when using digital health interventions.

In addition, the prescribed dosage information (ie, the number of sessions, duration, and frequency) was inconsistently reported, making it difficult to estimate an efficacious intervention dose. Most of the interventions were self-paced, without the involvement of an interventionist, which gives the patient autonomy to choose which intervention component or module they would like to focus on and how much time to allocate. However, there is a lack of information on intervention uptake, which may have influenced the effectiveness of interventions. Approaches that tackle barriers to adherence at various levels (eg, individual, family, clinician, agency, and environment) and improve engagement should be implemented [117]. For example, a scoping review about engagement strategies in digital interventions for mental health promotion recommended personalized feedback, e-coaching to guide content and individual progress, social platforms and interaction with peers, content gamification, reminders, and ease of use [118].

Third, we found some significant improvement in the patient's quality of life. Some studies with a smaller number of participants or with a focus on internet-based interventions reported an improvement, but the results from these studies were not consistent [21,119]. This meta-analysis, including 21 studies, revealed a small effect size for overall effectiveness of digital health interventions in improving patients' quality of life (Hedges g=0.05, 95% CI -0.01 to 0.10), with time-varying effects shown as promising. Another meta-analysis that pooled 16 studies demonstrated a larger positive effect of mHealth interventions on the quality of life of patients with cancer (standardized mean difference 0.28, 95% CI 0.03-0.53) [21]. Another meta-analysis that included 6 internet-based psychoeducational interventions for patients with cancer showed no significant improvement in quality of life (mean difference 1.10, 95% CI -4.42 to 6.63) [119]. Importantly, our analyses found the largest improvements in quality of life occurred from post intervention to 8 weeks (Hedges g=2.25, 95% CI 0.36-4.14). The effect of psychosocial interventions decreased after 8 weeks of follow-up, suggesting that interventions may need booster sessions or tailoring to time-sensitive needs in order to maintain effectiveness in the long term. This result was limited by substantial inconsistency across studies in all evaluation periods except the medium-term effect [32]. In addition, given the heterogeneity of follow-up periods in selected

XSL•FO RenderX

studies, the time-varying effect was only tested with a small number of studies, not in the 21 studies we used to calculate the overall effect.

This meta-analysis was able to demonstrate the effectiveness of digital health interventions on both anxiety and depression (measured by HADS: Hedges g=-0.72, 95% CI -1.89 to 0.46). Our finding was partially consistent with the other meta-analyses. One study showed that internet-based psychoeducational interventions had a significant effect on decreasing depression (standardized mean difference -0.58, 95% CI -1.12 to -0.03), but found no evidence for effects on distress (standardized mean difference -1.03, 95% CI -2.63 to 0.57) [119]. However, there was considerable heterogeneity in measurements among the studies included in the review by Wang et al [119]; it is difficult to determine how meaningful it is to make direct comparisons between the studies included in this meta-analysis and past reports. Possible ways to address this problem could be using similar outcome measures and a standardized study report.

Our meta-analysis demonstrated that the interventions were effective in reducing anxiety and depression in family caregivers. However, the effect size was small, perhaps due to the limited number of studies. This is partially consistent with findings from another meta-analysis, which found depressive symptoms decreased from baseline to post intervention (Hedges g=-0.44, 95% CI -1.03 to 0.15) [120], while anxiety remained relatively stable when comparing intervention to control either at postintervention (Hedges g=-0.12, 95% CI -0.16 to 0.44) or during follow-up (Hedges g=-0.08, 95% CI -0.34 to 0.19).

Strengths and Limitations

This review's strength lies in its rigorous design, sophisticated data synthesis, and enduring empirical contributions. We acknowledge that our literature search was conducted 4 years before manuscript submission. The findings and contributions from our research remain pertinent and enduring. This is because, as digital psychosocial interventions continue to evolve, the core intervention content and outcomes have remained relatively consistent over the past 4 years. It would be valuable to conduct a reassessment of the evolving body of evidence concerning digital psychosocial interventions that have emerged since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, this study was conducted in line with best practices by double-coding and following the PRISMA guidelines. The meta-analysis, including subgroup analysis, was conducted using appropriate methods for combining studies across various follow-up periods. Although we did an extensive search at the start of this review, we may have missed some critical studies, unreported, or unfinished studies. If all data were available, the meta-analysis could have reduced the chances of inflated type-1 error for both observed and unobserved effects that were available for assessment [121]. There was not enough data to perform post hoc analyses to examine the effect of factors such as intervention components and length of intervention on outcomes due to insufficient data.

Conclusions

Patients with cancer and their family members need high-quality psychosocial interventions throughout the cancer trajectory. Digital technologies provide a platform to deliver evidence-based psychosocial interventions from a distance, without the heightened risk of contracting viruses, especially for patients with cancer whose immune systems are compromised. This study comprehensively synthesized the effects of digital psychosocial interventions for people affected by cancer. Our findings suggest that digital health interventions are effective for adult patients with cancer and their family members. Further research development in this area needs to include large, high-quality studies with a clear description of the methodology, theoretical foundations, and standardized tools to permit inclusion in meta-analyses to inform the effectiveness of interventions for a better understanding of the mechanisms.

Acknowledgments

Dr Flannery receives salary support from the National Institute of Health National Cancer Institute (grants U01 CA233167 and UG1 CA189961).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Literature search strategy. [DOCX File , 16 KB - cancer v10i1e46116 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Summary tables. [DOCX File, 53 KB - cancer_v10i1e46116_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Forest plots of studies reported on intervention effect on patient outcomes. [DOCX File, 1723 KB - cancer v10i1e46116 app3.docx]

Funnel plots of studies reported on intervention effect on patient outcomes. [DOCX File, 91 KB - cancer v10i1e46116 app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Forest plots of studies reported on intervention effect on family member outcomes. [DOCX File, 110 KB - cancer_v10i1e46116_app5.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 6 Funnel plots of studies reported on intervention effect on family member outcomes. [DOCX File , 23 KB - cancer v10i1e46116 app6.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 7 PRISMA checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 72 KB - cancer_v10i1e46116_app7.pdf]

References

- Batty GD, Russ TC, Stamatakis E, Kivimäki M. Psychological distress in relation to site specific cancer mortality: pooling of unpublished data from 16 prospective cohort studies. BMJ 2017;356:j108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.j108] [Medline: 28122812]
- Lee H, Singh GK. The association between psychological distress and cancer mortality in the United States: results from the 1997-2014 NHIS-NDI record linkage study. Ann Behav Med 2021;55(7):621-640 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kaaa111] [Medline: <u>33410477</u>]
- 3. Cancer facts and figures 2024. American Cancer Society. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/research/cancer-facts-statistics/</u> <u>all-cancer-facts-figures/2024-cancer-facts-figures.html</u> [accessed 2024-01-30]
- Fortin J, Leblanc M, Elgbeili G, Cordova MJ, Marin MF, Brunet A. The mental health impacts of receiving a breast cancer diagnosis: a meta-analysis. Br J Cancer 2021;125(11):1582-1592 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41416-021-01542-3] [Medline: 34482373]
- Niedzwiedz CL, Knifton L, Robb KA, Katikireddi SV, Smith DJ. Depression and anxiety among people living with and beyond cancer: a growing clinical and research priority. BMC Cancer 2019;19(1):943 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-6181-4] [Medline: 31604468]
- 6. Northouse LL. Helping patients and their family caregivers cope with cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum 2012;39(5):500-506. [doi: 10.1188/12.ONF.500-506] [Medline: 22940514]
- Friðriksdóttir N, Saevarsdóttir T, Halfdánardóttir S, Jónsdóttir A, Magnúsdóttir H, Olafsdóttir KL, et al. Family members of cancer patients: needs, quality of life and symptoms of anxiety and depression. Acta Oncol 2011;50(2):252-258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2010.529821] [Medline: 21231786]
- 8. Johansen S, Cvancarova M, Ruland C. The effect of cancer patients' and their family caregivers' physical and emotional symptoms on caregiver burden. Cancer Nurs 2018;41(2):91-99. [doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000493] [Medline: 28426539]
- Fu F, Zhao H, Tong F, Chi I. A systematic review of psychosocial interventions to cancer caregivers. Front Psychol 2017;8:834 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00834] [Medline: 28596746]
- 10. Gabriel I, Creedy D, Coyne E. A systematic review of psychosocial interventions to improve quality of life of people with cancer and their family caregivers. Nurs Open 2020;7(5):1299-1312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/nop2.543] [Medline: 32802350]
- 11. Teo I, Krishnan A, Lee GL. Psychosocial interventions for advanced cancer patients: a systematic review. Psychooncology 2019;28(7):1394-1407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5103] [Medline: 31077475]
- 12. Badr H. Psychosocial interventions for patients with advanced cancer and their families. Am J Lifestyle Med 2016;10(1):53-63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1559827614530966] [Medline: 30202258]
- Chattu VK, Lopes CA, Javed S, Yaya S. Fulfilling the promise of digital health interventions (DHI) to promote women's sexual, reproductive and mental health in the aftermath of COVID-19. Reprod Health 2021;18(1):112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12978-021-01168-x] [Medline: 34088319]
- 14. Ventura F, Brovall M, Smith F. Beyond effectiveness evaluation: contributing to the discussion on complexity of digital health interventions with examples from cancer care. Front Public Health 2022;10:883315 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.883315] [Medline: 35968430]
- Kontos E, Blake KD, Chou WYS, Prestin A. Predictors of eHealth usage: insights on the digital divide from the health information national trends survey 2012. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(7):e172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3117] [Medline: 25048379]
- 16. Hodges LJ, Walker J, Kleiboer AM, Ramirez AJ, Richardson A, Velikova G, et al. What is a psychological intervention? a metareview and practical proposal. Psychooncology 2011;20(5):470-478. [doi: 10.1002/pon.1780] [Medline: 20878870]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46116
```

- McCaughan E, Parahoo K, Hueter I, Northouse L, Bradbury I. Online support groups for women with breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017;3(3):CD011652 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011652.pub2] [Medline: 28278559]
- Boulley GE, Leroy T, Bernetière C, Paquienseguy F, Desfriches-Doria O, Préau M. Digital health interventions to help living with cancer: a systematic review of participants' engagement and psychosocial effects. Psychooncology 2018;27(12):2677-2686. [doi: 10.1002/pon.4867] [Medline: 30152074]
- Qan'ir Y, Song L. Systematic review of technology-based interventions to improve anxiety, depression, and health-related quality of life among patients with prostate cancer. Psychooncology 2019;28(8):1601-1613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5158] [Medline: 31222956]
- 20. Neto LSS, Dias FCF, Osório NB, Rolim CLA. eHealth-based interventions for older patients with prostate cancer: a quick review of the literature. Telemed Rep 2022;3(1):79-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmr.2021.0048] [Medline: 35720442]
- 21. Buneviciene I, Mekary RA, Smith TR, Onnela JP, Bunevicius A. Can mHealth interventions improve quality of life of cancer patients? a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2021;157:103123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2020.103123] [Medline: 33190065]
- 22. Willems RA, Bolman CAW, Lechner L, Mesters I, Gunn KM, Ross XS, et al. Online interventions aimed at reducing psychological distress in cancer patients: evidence update and suggestions for future directions. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care 2020;14(1):27-39. [doi: 10.1097/SPC.00000000000483] [Medline: 31895066]
- 23. Tang WP, Chan CW, So WK, Leung DY. Web-based interventions for caregivers of cancer patients: a review of literatures. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs 2014;1(1):9-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2347-5625.135811] [Medline: 27981077]
- 24. Kaltenbaugh DJ, Klem ML, Hu L, Turi E, Haines AJ, Lingler JH. Using web-based interventions to support caregivers of patients with cancer: a systematic review. Oncol Nurs Forum 2015;42(2):156-164. [doi: 10.1188/15.ONF.156-164] [Medline: 25806882]
- 25. Slev VN, Mistiaen P, Pasman HRW, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, van Uden-Kraan CF, Francke AL. Effects of eHealth for patients and informal caregivers confronted with cancer: a meta-review. Int J Med Inform 2016;87:54-67. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.12.013] [Medline: 26806712]
- 26. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021;372:n71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71] [Medline: 33782057]
- 27. Gibbs KD, Loveless J, Crane S. A guide to using technological applications to facilitate systematic reviews. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2022;19(6):442-449. [doi: <u>10.1111/wvn.12611</u>] [Medline: <u>36380454</u>]
- 28. Lauver DR, Ward SE, Heidrich SM, Keller ML, Bowers BJ, Brennan PF, et al. Patient-centered interventions. Res Nurs Health 2002;25(4):246-255. [doi: 10.1002/nur.10044] [Medline: 12124719]
- 29. Aromataris E, Munn Z, editors. JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis—JBI Global Wiki. South Australia, Australia: JBI; 2020.
- Glasgow MJ, Edlin R, Harding JE. Comparison of risk-of-bias assessment approaches for selection of studies reporting prevalence for economic analyses. BMJ Open 2020;10(9):e037324 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-037324] [Medline: 32938593]
- Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JPT, Rothstein HR. A basic introduction to fixed-effect and random-effects models for meta-analysis. Res Synth Methods 2010;1(2):97-111. [doi: <u>10.1002/jrsm.12</u>] [Medline: <u>26061376</u>]
- 32. Higgins JPT, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003;327(7414):557-560 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557] [Medline: 12958120]
- 33. Egger M, Smith GD, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. BMJ 1997;315(7109):629-634 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.315.7109.629] [Medline: 9310563]
- 34. Borenstein M, Hedges L, Rothstein H. Fixed effect vs. random effects. Meta-Analysis. 2007. URL: <u>https://meta-analysis.</u> <u>com/download/M-a_f_e_v_r_e_sv.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-01-05]
- Admiraal JM, van der Velden AWG, Geerling JI, Burgerhof JGM, Bouma G, Walenkamp AME, et al. Web-based tailored psychoeducation for breast cancer patients at the onset of the survivorship phase: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. J Pain Symptom Manage 2017;54(4):466-475 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.07.009] [Medline: 28711750]
- Applebaum AJ, Buda KL, Schofield E, Farberov M, Teitelbaum ND, Evans K, et al. Exploring the cancer caregiver's journey through web-based meaning-centered psychotherapy. Psychooncology 2018;27(3):847-856 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.4583] [Medline: 29136682]
- 37. Baker TB, Hawkins R, Pingree S, Roberts LJ, McDowell HE, Shaw BR, et al. Optimizing eHealth breast cancer interventions: which types of eHealth services are effective? Transl Behav Med 2011;1(1):134-145 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-010-0004-0] [Medline: 21709810]
- Becker H, Henneghan AM, Volker DL, Mikan SQ. A pilot study of a cognitive-behavioral intervention for breast cancer survivors. Oncol Nurs Forum 2017;44(2):255-264. [doi: <u>10.1188/17.ONF.255-264</u>] [Medline: <u>28222075</u>]
- 39. Berry DL, Halpenny B, Hong F, Wolpin S, Lober WB, Russell KJ, et al. The personal patient profile-prostate decision support for men with localized prostate cancer: a multi-center randomized trial. Urol Oncol 2013;31(7):1012-1021 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2011.10.004] [Medline: 22153756]

- 40. Berry DL, Hong F, Halpenny B, Partridge A, Fox E, Fann JR, et al. The electronic self report assessment and intervention for cancer: promoting patient verbal reporting of symptom and quality of life issues in a randomized controlled trial. BMC Cancer 2014;14:513 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-513] [Medline: 25014995]
- 41. Boele FW, Klein M, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Cuijpers P, Heimans JJ, Snijders TJ, et al. Internet-based guided self-help for glioma patients with depressive symptoms: a randomized controlled trial. J Neurooncol 2018;137(1):191-203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11060-017-2712-5] [Medline: 29236238]
- 42. Børøsund E, Cvancarova M, Moore SM, Ekstedt M, Ruland CM. Comparing effects in regular practice of e-communication and web-based self-management support among breast cancer patients: preliminary results from a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(12):e295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3348] [Medline: 25525672]
- 43. Braamse AMJ, van Meijel B, Visser OJ, Boenink AD, Cuijpers P, Eeltink CE, et al. A randomized clinical trial on the effectiveness of an intervention to treat psychological distress and improve quality of life after autologous stem cell transplantation. Ann Hematol 2016;95(1):105-114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00277-015-2509-6] [Medline: 26420062]
- 44. Carpenter KM, Stoner SA, Schmitz K, McGregor BA, Doorenbos AZ. An online stress management workbook for breast cancer. J Behav Med 2014;37(3):458-468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10865-012-9481-6] [Medline: 23212928]
- 45. Chambers SK, Ritterband LM, Thorndike F, Nielsen L, Aitken JF, Clutton S, et al. Web-delivered cognitive behavioral therapy for distressed cancer patients: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018;20(1):e42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8850] [Medline: 29386173]
- Classen CC, Chivers ML, Urowitz S, Barbera L, Wiljer D, O'Rinn S, et al. Psychosexual distress in women with gynecologic cancer: a feasibility study of an online support group. Psychooncology 2013;22(4):930-935. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.3058</u>] [Medline: <u>22374732</u>]
- 47. Compen F, Bisseling E, Schellekens M, Donders R, Carlson L, van der Lee M, et al. Face-to-face and internet-based mindfulness-based cognitive therapy compared with treatment as usual in reducing psychological distress in patients with cancer: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2018;36(23):2413-2421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.76.5669] [Medline: 29953304]
- 48. Diefenbach MA, Mohamed NE, Butz BP, Bar-Chama N, Stock R, Cesaretti J, et al. Acceptability and preliminary feasibility of an internet/CD-ROM-based education and decision program for early-stage prostate cancer patients: randomized pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1891] [Medline: 22246148]
- DuBenske LL, Gustafson DH, Namkoong K, Hawkins RP, Atwood AK, Brown RL, et al. CHESS improves cancer caregivers' burden and mood: results of an eHealth RCT. Health Psychol 2014;33(10):1261-1272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0034216] [Medline: 24245838]
- 50. Duffecy J, Sanford S, Wagner L, Begale M, Nawacki E, Mohr DC. Project onward: an innovative e-health intervention for cancer survivors. Psychooncology 2013;22(4):947-951 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.3075] [Medline: 22438297]
- 51. Espinoza M, Baños RM, García-Palacios A, Cervera JM, Esquerdo G, Barrajón E, et al. Promotion of emotional wellbeing in oncology inpatients using VR. Stud Health Technol Inform 2012;181:53-57. [Medline: 22954828]
- 52. Foley NM, O'Connell EP, Lehane EA, Livingstone V, Maher B, Kaimkhani S, et al. PATI: Patient Accessed Tailored Information: a pilot study to evaluate the effect on preoperative breast cancer patients of information delivered via a mobile application. Breast 2016;30:54-58. [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2016.08.012] [Medline: 27611236]
- 53. Foster C, Grimmett C, May CM, Ewings S, Myall M, Hulme C, et al. A web-based intervention (RESTORE) to support self-management of cancer-related fatigue following primary cancer treatment: a multi-centre proof of concept randomised controlled trial. Support Care Cancer 2016;24(6):2445-2453 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-015-3044-7] [Medline: 26643072]
- 54. Freeman LW, White R, Ratcliff CG, Sutton S, Stewart M, Palmer JL, et al. A randomized trial comparing live and telemedicine deliveries of an imagery-based behavioral intervention for breast cancer survivors: reducing symptoms and barriers to care. Psychooncology 2015;24(8):910-918 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.3656] [Medline: 25146413]
- 55. Giesler JM, Keller B, Repke T, Leonhart R, Weis J, Muckelbauer R, et al. Effect of a website that presents patients' experiences on self-efficacy and patient competence of colorectal cancer patients: web-based randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2017;19(10):e334 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7639] [Medline: 29030329]
- 56. Green BL, Small B, Damonte J, Ikan JB. Navigator-guided e-psychoeducational intervention for prostate cancer patients and their caregivers. Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.pcori.org/research-results/</u>2013/treatment-decision-support-men-prostate-cancer-and-their-caregivers [accessed 2021-08-09]
- 57. Greer JA, Jacobs J, Pensak N, MacDonald JJ, Fuh CX, Perez GK, et al. Randomized trial of a tailored cognitive-behavioral therapy mobile application for anxiety in patients with incurable cancer. Oncologist 2019;24(8):1111-1120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2018-0536] [Medline: 30683710]
- 58. Gustafson DH, DuBenske LL, Atwood AK, Chih MY, Johnson RA, McTavish F, et al. Reducing symptom distress in patients with advanced cancer using an e-Alert system for caregivers: pooled analysis of two randomized clinical trials. J Med Internet Res 2017;19(11):e354 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7466] [Medline: 29138131]
- Gustafson DH, DuBenske LL, Namkoong K, Hawkins R, Chih MY, Atwood AK, et al. An eHealth system supporting palliative care for patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a randomized trial. Cancer 2013;119(9):1744-1751 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.27939] [Medline: 23355273]

- Gustafson DH, Hawkins R, McTavish F, Pingree S, Chen WC, Volrathongchai K, et al. Internet-based interactive support for cancer patients: are integrated systems better? J Commun 2008;58(2):238-257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2008.00383.x] [Medline: 21804645]
- 61. Hawkins RP, Pingree S, Baker T, Roberts LJ, Shaw BR, McDowell H, et al. Integrating eHealth with human services for breast cancer patients. Transl Behav Med 2011;1(1):146-154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-011-0027-1] [Medline: 22496712]
- 62. Høybye MT, Dalton SO, Deltour I, Bidstrup PE, Frederiksen K, Johansen C. Effect of internet peer-support groups on psychosocial adjustment to cancer: a randomised study. Br J Cancer 2010;102(9):1348-1354 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605646] [Medline: 20424614]
- 63. Huberty J, Eckert R, Larkey L, Kurka J, De Jesús SAR, Yoo W, et al. Smartphone-based meditation for myeloproliferative neoplasm patients: feasibility study to inform future trials. JMIR Form Res 2019;3(2):e12662 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12662] [Medline: 31033443]
- 64. Hummel SB, van Lankveld JJDM, Oldenburg HSA, Hahn DEE, Kieffer JM, Gerritsma MA, et al. Efficacy of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in improving sexual functioning of breast cancer survivors: results of a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2017;35(12):1328-1340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.69.6021] [Medline: 28240966]
- 65. Jibaja-Weiss ML, Volk RJ, Granchi TS, Neff NE, Robinson EK, Spann SJ, et al. Entertainment education for breast cancer surgery decisions: a randomized trial among patients with low health literacy. Patient Educ Couns 2011;84(1):41-48. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2010.06.009] [Medline: 20609546]
- Jimenez YA, Cumming S, Wang W, Stuart K, Thwaites DI, Lewis SJ. Patient education using virtual reality increases knowledge and positive experience for breast cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy. Support Care Cancer 2018;26(8):2879-2888. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4114-4] [Medline: 29536200]
- 67. Kazer MW, Bailey DE, Sanda M, Colberg J, Kelly WK. An internet intervention for management of uncertainty during active surveillance for prostate cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum 2011;38(5):561-568. [doi: <u>10.1188/11.ONF.561-568</u>] [Medline: <u>21875843</u>]
- Kinner EM, Armer JS, McGregor BA, Duffecy J, Leighton S, Corden ME, et al. Internet-based group intervention for ovarian cancer survivors: feasibility and preliminary results. JMIR Cancer 2018;4(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.8430] [Medline: 29335233]
- Kubo A, Altschuler A, Kurtovich E, Hendlish S, Laurent CA, Kolevska T, et al. A pilot mobile-based mindfulness intervention for cancer patients and their informal caregivers. Mindfulness (N Y) 2018;9(6):1885-1894 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12671-018-0931-2] [Medline: <u>30740187</u>]
- Kuijpers W, Groen WG, Oldenburg HS, Wouters MW, Aaronson NK, van Harten WH. eHealth for breast cancer survivors: use, feasibility and impact of an interactive portal. JMIR Cancer 2016;2(1):e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.5456] [Medline: 28410178]
- 71. Lengacher CA, Reich RR, Ramesar S, Alinat CB, Moscoso M, Cousin L, et al. Feasibility of the mobile Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction for Breast Cancer (mMBSR(BC)) program for symptom improvement among breast cancer survivors. Psychooncology 2018;27(2):524-531 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.4491] [Medline: 28665541]
- Manne SL, Topham N, D'Agostino TA, Virtue SM, Kirstein L, Brill K, et al. Acceptability and pilot efficacy trial of a web-based breast reconstruction decision support aid for women considering mastectomy. Psychooncology 2016;25(12):1424-1433 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.3984] [Medline: 26383833]
- McCabe C, Roche D, Hegarty F, McCann S. 'Open window': a randomized trial of the effect of new media art using a virtual window on quality of life in patients' experiencing stem cell transplantation. Psychooncology 2013;22(2):330-337. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.2093</u>] [Medline: <u>22147646</u>]
- 74. McCarthy MS, Matthews EE, Battaglia C, Meek PM. Feasibility of a telemedicine-delivered cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in rural breast cancer survivors. Oncol Nurs Forum 2018;45(5):607-618. [doi: <u>10.1188/18.ONF.607-618</u>] [Medline: <u>30118453</u>]
- 75. Mihuta ME, Green HJ, Shum DHK. Efficacy of a web-based cognitive rehabilitation intervention for adult cancer survivors: a pilot study. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2018;27(2):e12805. [doi: <u>10.1111/ecc.12805</u>] [Medline: <u>29314350</u>]
- 76. Mohammad EB, Ahmad M. Virtual reality as a distraction technique for pain and anxiety among patients with breast cancer: a randomized control trial. Palliat Support Care 2019;17(1):29-34. [doi: 10.1017/S1478951518000639] [Medline: 30198451]
- 77. Owen JE, Bantum EO, Pagano IS, Stanton A. Randomized trial of a social networking intervention for cancer-related distress. Ann Behav Med 2017;51(5):661-672 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-017-9890-4] [Medline: 28244002]
- 78. Oyama H, Kaneda M, Katsumata N, Akechi T, Ohsuga M. Using the bedside wellness system during chemotherapy decreases fatigue and emesis in cancer patients. J Med Syst 2000;24(3):173-182. [doi: <u>10.1023/a:1005591626518</u>] [Medline: <u>10984871</u>]
- 79. Pfeifer MP, Keeney C, Bumpous J, Schapmire TJ, Studts JL, Myers J, et al. Impact of a telehealth intervention on quality of life and symptom distress in patients with head and neck cancer. J Community Support Oncol 2015;13(1):14-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12788/jcso.0101] [Medline: 25839061]
- Rosen KD, Paniagua SM, Kazanis W, Jones S, Potter JS. Quality of life among women diagnosed with breast cancer: a randomized waitlist controlled trial of commercially available mobile app-delivered mindfulness training. Psychooncology 2018;27(8):2023-2030. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.4764</u>] [Medline: <u>29766596</u>]

- Ruland CM, Andersen T, Jeneson A, Moore S, Grimsbø GH, Børøsund E, et al. Effects of an internet support system to assist cancer patients in reducing symptom distress: a randomized controlled trial. Cancer Nurs 2013;36(1):6-17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCC.0b013e31824d90d4] [Medline: 22495503]
- 82. Ryhänen AM, Rankinen S, Siekkinen M, Saarinen M, Korvenranta H, Leino-Kilpi H. The impact of an empowering internet-based breast cancer patient pathway program on breast cancer patients' clinical outcomes: a randomised controlled trial. J Clin Nurs 2013;22(7-8):1016-1025. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.12007] [Medline: 23480498]
- Schneider SM, Hood LE. Virtual reality: a distraction intervention for chemotherapy. Oncol Nurs Forum 2007;34(1):39-46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1188/07.ONF.39-46] [Medline: 17562631]
- 84. Schneider SM, Prince-Paul M, Allen MJ, Silverman P, Talaba D. Virtual reality as a distraction intervention for women receiving chemotherapy. Oncol Nurs Forum 2004;31(1):81-88. [doi: 10.1188/04.ONF.81-88] [Medline: 14722591]
- Schover LR, Canada AL, Yuan Y, Sui D, Neese L, Jenkins R, et al. A randomized trial of internet-based versus traditional sexual counseling for couples after localized prostate cancer treatment. Cancer 2012;118(2):500-509 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.26308] [Medline: 21953578]
- 86. Shepherd L, Goldstein D, Whitford H, Thewes B, Brummell V, Hicks M. The utility of videoconferencing to provide innovative delivery of psychological treatment for rural cancer patients: results of a pilot study. J Pain Symptom Manage 2006;32(5):453-461 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2006.05.018] [Medline: 17085271]
- 87. Smith SK, Kuhn E, O'Donnell J, Koontz BF, Nelson N, Molloy K, et al. Cancer distress coach: pilot study of a mobile app for managing posttraumatic stress. Psychooncology 2018;27(1):350-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.4363] [Medline: 28032921]
- Song L, Rini C, Deal AM, Nielsen ME, Chang H, Kinneer P, et al. Improving couples' quality of life through a web-based prostate cancer education intervention. Oncol Nurs Forum 2015;42(2):183-192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1188/15.ONF.183-192] [Medline: 25806885]
- Steel JL, Geller DA, Kim KH, Butterfield LH, Spring M, Grady J, et al. Web-based collaborative care intervention to manage cancer-related symptoms in the palliative care setting. Cancer 2016;122(8):1270-1282 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.29906] [Medline: 26970434]
- 90. Syrjala KL, Yi JC, Artherholt SB, Romano JM, Crouch ML, Fiscalini AS, et al. An online randomized controlled trial, with or without problem-solving treatment, for long-term cancer survivors after hematopoietic cell transplantation. J Cancer Surviv 2018;12(4):560-570 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-018-0693-9] [Medline: 29730827]
- 91. van den Berg SW, Gielissen MFM, Custers JAE, van der Graaf WTA, Ottevanger PB, Prins JB. BREATH: web-based self-management for psychological adjustment after primary breast cancer-results of a multicenter randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2015;33(25):2763-2771 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.54.9386] [Medline: 26169621]
- 92. van den Brink JL, Moorman PW, de Boer MF, Hop WCJ, Pruyn JFA, Verwoerd CDA, et al. Impact on quality of life of a telemedicine system supporting head and neck cancer patients: a controlled trial during the postoperative period at home. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2007;14(2):198-205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M2199] [Medline: 17213498]
- Villani D, Cognetta C, Repetto C, Serino S, Toniolo D, Scanzi F, et al. Promoting emotional well-being in older breast cancer patients: results from an eHealth intervention. Front Psychol 2018;9:2279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02279] [Medline: 30538650]
- 94. Washington KT, Demiris G, Oliver DP, Albright DL, Craig KW, Tatum P. Delivering problem-solving therapy to family caregivers of people with cancer: a feasibility study in outpatient palliative care. Psychooncology 2018;27(10):2494-2499 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.4859] [Medline: 30107070]
- 95. White V, Farrelly A, Pitcher M, Hill D. Does access to an information-based, breast cancer specific website help to reduce distress in young women with breast cancer? Results from a randomised trial. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2018;27(6):e12897. [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12897] [Medline: 30137657]
- 96. Willems RA, Bolman CAW, Mesters I, Kanera IM, Beaulen AAJM, Lechner L. Short-term effectiveness of a web-based tailored intervention for cancer survivors on quality of life, anxiety, depression, and fatigue: randomized controlled trial. Psychooncology 2017;26(2):222-230. [doi: 10.1002/pon.4113] [Medline: 26988800]
- 97. Wise M, Marchand LR, Roberts LJ, Chih MY. Suffering in advanced cancer: a randomized control trial of a narrative intervention. J Palliat Med 2018;21(2):200-207 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2017.0007] [Medline: 29135330]
- 98. Yanez B, McGinty HL, Mohr DC, Begale MJ, Dahn JR, Flury SC, et al. Feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of a technology-assisted psychosocial intervention for racially diverse men with advanced prostate cancer. Cancer 2015;121(24):4407-4415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.29658] [Medline: 26348661]
- 99. Yun YH, Lee KS, Kim YW, Park SY, Lee ES, Noh DY, et al. Web-based tailored education program for disease-free cancer survivors with cancer-related fatigue: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2012;30(12):1296-1303 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.37.2979] [Medline: 22412149]
- 100. Pinheiro LC, Samuel CA, Reeder-Hayes KE, Wheeler SB, Olshan AF, Reeve BB. Understanding racial differences in health-related quality of life in a population-based cohort of breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2016;159(3):535-543 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-016-3965-y] [Medline: 27585477]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46116

- 101. Apenteng BA, Hansen AR, Opoku ST, Mase WA. Racial disparities in emotional distress among cancer survivors: Insights from the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). J Cancer Educ 2017;32(3):556-565. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-016-0984-7</u>] [Medline: <u>26801510</u>]
- 102. Sánchez-Díaz CT, Strayhorn S, Tejeda S, Vijayasiri G, Rauscher GH, Molina Y. What mediates the racial/ethnic disparity in psychosocial stress among breast cancer patients? Cancer Causes Control 2021;32(4):357-367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10552-021-01392-7] [Medline: <u>33559770</u>]
- 103. Erves JC, Mayo-Gamble TL, Malin-Fair A, Boyer A, Joosten Y, Vaughn YC, et al. Needs, priorities, and recommendations for engaging underrepresented populations in clinical research: a community perspective. J Community Health 2017;42(3):472-480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10900-016-0279-2] [Medline: 27812847]
- 104. Deshields TL, Rihanek A, Potter P, Zhang Q, Kuhrik M, Kuhrik N, et al. Psychosocial aspects of caregiving: perceptions of cancer patients and family caregivers. Support Care Cancer 2012;20(2):349-356 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-011-1092-1] [Medline: 21298291]
- 105. Given BA, Given CW, Sherwood PR. Family and caregiver needs over the course of the cancer trajectory. J Support Oncol 2012;10(2):57-64. [doi: 10.1016/j.suponc.2011.10.003] [Medline: 22222251]
- 106. Waldron EA, Janke EA, Bechtel CF, Ramirez M, Cohen A. A systematic review of psychosocial interventions to improve cancer caregiver quality of life. Psychooncology 2013;22(6):1200-1207. [doi: 10.1002/pon.3118] [Medline: 22729992]
- 107. Ugalde A, Gaskin CJ, Rankin NM, Schofield P, Boltong A, Aranda S, et al. A systematic review of cancer caregiver interventions: appraising the potential for implementation of evidence into practice. Psychooncology 2019;28(4):687-701 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5018] [Medline: 30716183]
- 108. Ferrell B, Wittenberg E. A review of family caregiving intervention trials in oncology. CA Cancer J Clin 2017;67(4):318-325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21396] [Medline: 28319263]
- 109. Northouse LL, Katapodi MC, Song L, Zhang L, Mood DW. Interventions with family caregivers of cancer patients: meta-analysis of randomized trials. CA Cancer J Clin 2010;60(5):317-339 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.20081] [Medline: 20709946]
- 110. Glasziou P, Irwig L, Bain C, Colditz G. Systematic Reviews in Health Care: A Practical Guide. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press; 2001:151.
- Devane D, Begley CM, Clarke M. How many do i need? Basic principles of sample size estimation. J Adv Nurs 2004;47(3):297-302. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03093.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15238124</u>]
- Bower P, Brueton V, Gamble C, Treweek S, Smith CT, Young B, et al. Interventions to improve recruitment and retention in clinical trials: a survey and workshop to assess current practice and future priorities. Trials 2014;15:399 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-15-399] [Medline: 25322807]
- 113. Treweek S, Lockhart P, Pitkethly M, Cook JA, Kjeldstrøm M, Johansen M, et al. Methods to improve recruitment to randomised controlled trials: cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open 2013;3(2):e002360 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002360] [Medline: 23396504]
- 114. Moher D, Schulz KF, Altman DG, CONSORT. The CONSORT statement: revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel group randomized trials. BMC Med Res Methodol 2001;1:2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-1-2] [Medline: 11336663]
- 115. Des Jarlais DC, Lyles C, Crepaz N, TREND Group. Improving the reporting quality of nonrandomized evaluations of behavioral and public health interventions: the TREND statement. Am J Public Health 2004;94(3):361-366 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/ajph.94.3.361] [Medline: 14998794]
- 116. Stanton AL, Luecken LJ, MacKinnon DP, Thompson EH. Mechanisms in psychosocial interventions for adults living with cancer: opportunity for integration of theory, research, and practice. J Consult Clin Psychol 2013;81(2):318-335. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0028833</u>] [Medline: <u>22663900</u>]
- 117. Moore L, Britten N, Lydahl D, Naldemirci Ö, Elam M, Wolf A. Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of person-centred care in different healthcare contexts. Scand J Caring Sci 2017;31(4):662-673 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/scs.12376] [Medline: 27859459]
- 118. Saleem M, Kühne L, De Santis KK, Christianson L, Brand T, Busse H. Understanding engagement strategies in digital interventions for mental health promotion: scoping review. JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(12):e30000 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30000] [Medline: 34931995]
- 119. Wang Y, Lin Y, Chen J, Wang C, Hu R, Wu Y. Effects of internet-based psycho-educational interventions on mental health and quality of life among cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Support Care Cancer 2020;28(6):2541-2552. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-020-05383-3</u>] [Medline: <u>32179998</u>]
- 120. Pang X, Jin Y, Wang H. Effectiveness and moderators of cancer patient-caregiver dyad interventions in improving psychological distress: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs 2022;9(8):100104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.apjon.2022.100104] [Medline: 35990241]
- 121. Schuit E, Roes KCB, Mol BWJ, Kwee A, Moons KGM, Groenwold RHH. Meta-analyses triggered by previous (false-)significant findings: problems and solutions. Syst Rev 2015;4(1):57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-015-0048-9] [Medline: 25908184]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46116

Abbreviations

CONSORT: Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale JBI: Joanna Briggs Institute PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9 PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses RCT: randomized controlled trial STAI: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory TREND: Transparent Reporting of Evaluations with Nonrandomized Designs

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 01.02.23; peer-reviewed by I Olver, J Yi; comments to author 29.07.23; revised version received 13.11.23; accepted 06.12.23; published 05.02.24.

Please cite as:

Zhang Y, Flannery M, Zhang Z, Underhill-Blazey M, Bobry M, Leblanc N, Rodriguez D, Zhang C Digital Health Psychosocial Intervention in Adult Patients With Cancer and Their Families: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e46116 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46116 doi:10.2196/46116 PMID:38315546

©Yingzi Zhang, Marie Flannery, Zhihong Zhang, Meghan Underhill-Blazey, Melanie Bobry, Natalie Leblanc, Darcey Rodriguez, Chen Zhang. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 05.02.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Machine Learning Approaches to Predict Symptoms in People With Cancer: Systematic Review

Nahid Zeinali¹, MS; Nayung Youn², RN, MSN; Alaa Albashayreh², RN, MSHI, PhD; Weiguo Fan³, PhD; Stéphanie Gilbertson White², PhD

¹Department of Computer Science and Informatics, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States

²College of Nursing, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States

³Department of Business Analytics, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Stéphanie Gilbertson White, PhD College of Nursing University of Iowa 452 CNB, 50 Newton Rd 52246 Iowa City, IA, 52246 United States Phone: 1 319 335 7023 Email: stephanie-gilbertson-white@uiowa.edu

Abstract

Background: People with cancer frequently experience severe and distressing symptoms associated with cancer and its treatments. Predicting symptoms in patients with cancer continues to be a significant challenge for both clinicians and researchers. The rapid evolution of machine learning (ML) highlights the need for a current systematic review to improve cancer symptom prediction.

Objective: This systematic review aims to synthesize the literature that has used ML algorithms to predict the development of cancer symptoms and to identify the predictors of these symptoms. This is essential for integrating new developments and identifying gaps in existing literature.

Methods: We conducted this systematic review in accordance with the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) checklist. We conducted a systematic search of CINAHL, Embase, and PubMed for English records published from 1984 to August 11, 2023, using the following search terms: *cancer*, *neoplasm*, *specific symptoms*, *neural networks*, *machine learning*, *specific algorithm names*, and *deep learning*. All records that met the eligibility criteria were individually reviewed by 2 coauthors, and key findings were extracted and synthesized. We focused on studies using ML algorithms to predict cancer symptoms, excluding nonhuman research, technical reports, reviews, book chapters, conference proceedings, and inaccessible full texts.

Results: A total of 42 studies were included, the majority of which were published after 2017. Most studies were conducted in North America (18/42, 43%) and Asia (16/42, 38%). The sample sizes in most studies (27/42, 64%) typically ranged from 100 to 1000 participants. The most prevalent category of algorithms was supervised ML, accounting for 39 (93%) of the 42 studies. Each of the methods—deep learning, ensemble classifiers, and unsupervised ML—constituted 3 (3%) of the 42 studies. The ML algorithms with the best performance were logistic regression (9/42, 17%), random forest (7/42, 13%), artificial neural networks (5/42, 9%), and decision trees (5/42, 9%). The most commonly included primary cancer sites were the head and neck (9/42, 22%) and breast (8/42, 19%), with 17 (41%) of the 42 studies not specifying the site. The most frequently studied symptoms were xerostomia (9/42, 14%), depression (8/42, 13%), pain (8/42, 13%), and fatigue (6/42, 10%). The significant predictors were age, gender, treatment type, treatment number, cancer site, cancer stage, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, chronic diseases, comorbidities, physical factors, and psychological factors.

Conclusions: This review outlines the algorithms used for predicting symptoms in individuals with cancer. Given the diversity of symptoms people with cancer experience, analytic approaches that can handle complex and nonlinear relationships are critical. This knowledge can pave the way for crafting algorithms tailored to a specific symptom. In addition, to improve prediction precision, future research should compare cutting-edge ML strategies such as deep learning and ensemble methods with traditional statistical models.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52322) doi:10.2196/52322

KEYWORDS

machine learning; ML; deep learning; DL; cancer symptoms; prediction model

Introduction

Background

Cancer poses considerable physical and psychological challenges for those diagnosed with the disease. The Global Cancer Observatory estimated that there were 19.3 million new cancer cases and 43.8 million individuals living with cancer within 5 years of diagnosis globally in 2020 [1]. Symptoms such as fatigue, pain, nausea, vomiting, depression, and anxiety often persist beyond treatment [2-5], detrimentally affecting individuals' quality of life [6]. Moreover, people with cancer frequently grapple with multiple intertwined symptoms [7], intensifying their distress [8]. Unmanaged cancer symptoms can lead to increased health care use, including emergency department visits and unscheduled hospitalizations to address these symptoms; a decline in the quality of life [9]; and even a reduced life expectancy. Providing precision symptom management tailored to the individual at the right moment has the potential to significantly improve outcomes, which is crucial for both people with cancer and their health care providers. Accurately predicting and addressing these symptoms is fundamental to providing such precision in symptom management.

Artificial intelligence, incorporating machine learning (ML) and deep learning (DL) models, excels in handling complex, high-dimensional, and noisy data. It has demonstrated effectiveness in disease diagnosis, predicting disease recurrence, enhancing quality of life, and symptom management [10-16]. There is a growing interest in ML in the emerging field of predictive analytics for cancer symptoms. ML contributes to the development of robust clinical decision systems, enhancing overall health care delivery [17]. ML algorithms can be broadly categorized into supervised learning, unsupervised learning, semisupervised learning, and reinforcement learning. DL, a subset of ML, addresses complex tasks such as speech recognition, image identification, and natural language processing [18].

Objectives

This study seeks to offer a comprehensive and systematic review of the literature on the application of ML algorithms in predicting symptoms for people with cancer. Conducting this review of a rapidly expanding body of literature is imperative to understand the current state of the science for ML models in symptom prediction for cancer and to guide future research. This research aims to provide a comprehensive understanding of the current state of research; identify areas for improvement; and understand the limitations and gaps in the current literature, such as a lack of specific focus on ML models for patients with cancer. By comparing model performances across diverse symptom prediction tasks, we can identify the best practices, highlight areas for improvement, and offer informed recommendations that will propel the field of predictive analytics in cancer symptom research forward.

Methods

Search Strategy and Data Sources

This study was conducted in accordance with the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses) protocol [19] and involved a comprehensive database search spanning from 1984 to August 11, 2023, including the PubMed, Embase, CINAHL, and Google Scholar databases. The search terms encompassed *cancer*, *neoplasm*, *signs and symptoms*, *neural networks*, *machine learning*, and *specific algorithm names*. In our study, we used Boolean expressions, using specific combinations of keywords and phrases, acknowledging the variability in terminology across studies. Search results were compiled using EndNote 20 (Clarivate Analytics). The detailed search strategy, which uses Boolean expressions, and the PRISMA checklist can be found in Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

To identify relevant research focusing on the application of ML methods in predicting cancer symptoms, we applied the following inclusion criteria: (1) papers published in English, (2) studies that used ML algorithms, and (3) research specifically aimed at predicting cancer symptoms. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) nonhuman studies, (2) technical reports, (3) review papers, (4) book chapters or series, (5) conference proceedings, and (6) studies for which full texts were unavailable. Two authors, NZ and NY, independently screened and cross-checked the candidate records. During the screening process, conducted using EndNote 20, any disagreements were resolved by consulting a third reviewer (SGW). The screening process involved an initial review of titles and abstracts, followed by a full-text examination to determine the study's eligibility for inclusion in the review.

Data Extraction and Analysis

In our study, we implemented a systematic, multistep process for data synthesis. Initially, relevant studies were identified and selected based on the predefined inclusion and exclusion criteria. Two independent researchers, NZ and NY, extracted data from 42 selected studies. They worked independently to mitigate bias and enhance the accuracy of the data extraction process. In cases of discrepancies, these were resolved through discussion or consultation with a third reviewer, SGW. The extracted data were aggregated, involving the collation of study characteristics such as research location, sample size, study design, types of ML algorithms, validation metrics, identified significant predictors, cancer types, and the specific symptoms focused on. This comprehensive approach enabled us to reduce the bias and increase the reliability of our findings. For the analysis, we used both quantitative and qualitative methods. Quantitative data,

XSL•FO

such as frequencies and percentages, were compiled and analyzed using Python. This included the creation of insightful plots and heat maps to identify patterns and trends, illustrating relationships among variables and highlighting key findings in an easily digestible format. Qualitative aspects, such as algorithm implementation or study design, were explored through narrative synthesis. This allowed for a deeper understanding of the context and nuances in the application of ML algorithms for cancer symptom prediction.

We conducted a cross-analysis to compare findings from different studies, assessing the effectiveness of various ML algorithms across different cancer types and symptoms and identifying common predictors of success and the challenges faced. Finally, we interpreted the findings in the context of the existing literature. We discussed how our results align with or differ from previous studies and what new insights our synthesis brings to the field of ML in cancer symptom prediction.

Results

Overall Results

A search across the 3 databases produced 1788 papers. After removing 289 duplicates, we screened the records for titles and abstracts, excluding another 1352 irrelevant records. However, 1 study was not retrieved. We reviewed the full text of the remaining 146 records, omitting 105 due to the absence of ML application in predicting cancer symptoms (69/146, 47.3%), not being a research article (34/146, 23.3%), and not being an English article (1/146, 1%). In the second phase, we intend to include Google Scholar in our research methodology to capture an additional 113 articles not found in our main databases, although 1 study was not retrieved. We reviewed the full text of the remaining 99 records, ultimately excluding all of them for reasons such as the lack of ML applications in cancer symptom prediction (89/99, 90%) and not being a research articles (10/99, 10%). Eventually, 42 studies met the inclusion criteria, as depicted in Figure 1.

Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flowchart. ML: machine learning.



Of the 42 studies, 42 (100%) is listed in PubMed, Embase covers 37 (88%) studies, and CINAHL includes 18 (43%) studies. The distribution and overlap of these research articles across the databases are illustrated in Multimedia Appendix 3.

The data extracted from these studies, which include the reference number, research location, year, data type, cancer site, symptoms, significant predictors, ML algorithms, and validation methods, are detailed in Table 1 and in Multimedia Appendix 4.



 Table 1. Details of the included studies (n=42).

Zeinali et al

Study	Country, year	Data type; number of data	Population	Cancer symptoms	Significant predictors	Algorithms	Validation meth- ods
Sun et al [20]	China, 2023	Clinical da- ta; 1152	People with breast cancer	Pain	Postmenopausal status, ur- ban medical insurance, histo- ry of at least 1one operation, underwent general anesthe- sia with fentanyl and sevoflurane, and received axillary lymph node dissec- tion.	$LR^{a,b}, RF^c, GB-$ DT^d , and XGB^e	Random
Xinran et al [21]	China, 2023	Clinical da- ta; 494	People with ad- vanced cancer	Cognitive impairment	Cancer course, anxiety, and age	LR and ANN^{f}	Random
Shaikh et al [22]	United States, 2023	Clinical da- ta; 1152	Survivors of cancer with os-teoarthritis	Depression	Age, education, care frag- mentation, polypharmacy, and zip code-level poverty	XGB	10-fold CV ^g
Kober et al [23]	United States, 2023	Clinical da- ta; 1217	People with cancer receiv- ing chemothera- py	Morning fa- tigue	13 individual Li-Fraumeni syndrome items	<i>EN</i> ^{<i>h</i>} , RF, LASSO ⁱ , LR (filtered/unfil- tered), RPAR ^{<i>j</i>} , and SVM ^{<i>k</i>}	Random
Du et al [24]	China, 2023	Clinical da- ta; 565	People with cancer	Fatigue	Pain score, Eastern Coopera- tive Oncology Group score, platelet distribution width, and continuous erythro- poiesis receptor activator	LR, <i>RF</i> , NB ¹ , and XGB	5-fold CV
Moscato et al [25]	Italy, 2022	Clinical da- ta; 21	People with cancer	Pain	N/A ^m	SVM, RF, <i>MPⁿ</i> , LR, and Ad- aBoost ^o	10-fold CV
Masukawa et al [26]	Japan, 2022	Clinical da- ta; 808	People with cancer	Social dis- tress, spiritu- al pain, pain, dyspnea, nausea, and insomnia	N/A	LR, RF, light GBM ^p , SVM, and ensemble	5-fold CV
Fanizzi et al [27]	Italy, 2022	CT ^q image data; 61	People with oropharyngeal cancer receiv- ing radiothera- py	Xerostomia	Weight preradiotherapy, in- duction chemotherapy, sex, platinum-based chemothera- py, current chemotherapy, alcohol history, age at diag- nosis, smoking history, surgery, clinical tumor, and clinical node	SVM and <i>CNN^r</i>	10-fold CV
Ueno et al [28]	Japan, 2022	Clinical da- ta; 284	People with breast cancer	Insomnia	General fatigue, physical fa- tigue, and cognitive fatigue	<i>L2 penalized LR</i> and <i>XGB</i>	8-fold CV
On et al [29]	Korea, 2022	Clinical da- ta; 935	People with cancer receiv- ing chemothera- py	Nausea-vom- iting, fa- tigue-anorex- ia, diarrhea, hypersensi- tivity, stom- atitis, hand- foot syn- drome, pe- ripheral neu- ropathy, and constipation	Earlier history of adverse drug reaction, comorbidity, cancer site and type of chemotherapy, demograph- ics, and antineoplastic thera- py-related features	<i>LR, DT^s</i> , and <i>ANN</i>	3-fold CV



XSL•FO RenderX

Zeinali et al

Study	Country, year	Data type; number of data	Population	Cancer symptoms	Significant predictors	Algorithms	Validation meth- ods
Li et al [30]	China, 2022	Clinical data and CT im- age data; 365	People with cancer receiv- ing radiothera- py	Xerostomia	Hypertension, age, total ra- diotherapy dose, dose at 50% of the left parotid vol- ume, mean dose to right parotid gland, mean dose to oral cavity, and course of induction chemotherapy	<i>RF</i> , DT and XGB	External validation
Kurisu et al [31]	Japan, 2022	Clinical da- ta; 668	People with ad- vanced cancer receiving phar- macological in- terventions	Delirium	The baseline Delirium Rat- ing Scale-R98 severity score (cutoff of 15), hypoxia, and dehydration	DT	5-fold CV
Guo et al [32]	China, 2022	Clinical da- ta; 80	People with lung cancer re- ceiving chemotherapy	Lung infec- tion	Age ≥60 years, length of stay ≥14 days, surgery histo- ry, combined chemotherapy, myelosuppression, diabetes, and hormone application	LR and ANN	Random
Baglione et al [33]	United States, 2022	Clinical da- ta; 40	People with breast cancer	Depressed mood and anxiety	Connectedness, receive sup- port, frequency and duration use of mobile app, and physical pain	<i>RF</i> and XGB	LOOCV ^t
Chao et al [34]	United States, 2022	Clinical data and CT im- age data; 155	People with HNC ^u receiving radiotherapy	Xerostomia	N/A	SVM, <i>KNN^v</i> , NB, and RF	Nested
Wak- abayashi et al [35]	Japan, 2021	Clinical data and CT im- age data; 69	People with cancer receiv- ing radiothera- py	Pain	Age, numeric rating scale, and biological effective dose 10	RF	LOOCV
Zhou et al [36]	China, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 386	People with col- orectal cancer after chemotherapy	Cognitive impairment	Age, BMI, colostomy, treat- ment complications, cancer- related anemia, depression, diabetes, Quality of Life Questionnaire Core 30 score, exercise, hypercholes- terolemia, diet, marital sta- tus, education level, and pathological stage	RF, <i>LR</i> , and SVM	Random
Xuyi et al [37]	Canada, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 46,104	Specific cancer site or treatment not mentioned	Pain, depres- sion, and well-being	Lung cancer, late-stage can- cer, existing chronic condi- tions such as osteoarthritis, mood disorder, hyperten- sion, diabetes, and coronary disease	ANN	Random
Xu et al [38]	China, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 598	People with gastrointestinal tumors after surgery	Postopera- tive fatigue	Age, higher degree of educa- tion, lower personal monthly income, advanced cancer, hypoproteinemia, preopera- tive anxiety or depression, and limited social support	LR, ANN, CART ^w	Random
Wei et al [39]	China, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 533	People with breast cancer	Lymphede- ma	N/A	ANN, <i>LR</i> , C5.0, RF, SVM, CART	10-fold CV
Wang et al [40]	United States, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 823	People with HNC	Pain, taste, and general activity	N/A	SVM, KNN, and RF; Gaussian NB and MLP ^x ; and ARIMA ^y and <i>LSTM</i> ^z	Random



Zeinali et al

Study	Country, year	Data type; number of data	Population	Cancer symptoms	Significant predictors	Algorithms	Validation meth- ods
Wang et al [41]	United States, 2021	Clinical data and CT im- age data; 138	Specific cancer site or treatment not mentioned	Depression	N/A	Fine tree, medium tree, coarse tree, linear-discrimi- nant, quadratic dis- criminant, LR, Gaussian NB, ker- nel NB, linear SVM, quadratic SVM, cubic SVM, Fine Gaussian SVM, Medium Gaussian SVM, Coarse Gaussian SVM, Fine KNN, Medium KNN, Coarse KNN, Co- sine KNN, Cubic KNN, Weighted KNN, boosted trees, bagged trees, subspace discrimi- nant, subspace KNN, and random undersampling boosted trees	5-fold CV
Mosa et al [17]	United States, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 6124	People with cancer receiv- ing chemothera- py	Nausea-vom- iting	Smoking, alcohol status, sex, age, and BMI	NB, LR, ANN, SVR ^{aa} , and <i>DT</i>	10-fold CV
Low et al [42]	United States, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 44	People with pancreatic can- cer after surgery	Diarrhea, fa- tigue, and pain	Physical activity bouts, sleep, heart rate, and loca- tion	LR, KNN, SVM, RF, GB ^{ab} , XGB, and <i>LightGBM</i>	3-fold CV and LOOCV
Kourou et al [43]	Greece, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 609	People with breast cancer	Depression	A set of psychological traits (optimism, perceived ability to cope with trauma, re- silience as a trait, and ability to understand the illness) and subjective perceptions of personal functionality (physical, social, and cogni- tive)	RF, <i>SVM</i> , and GB	5-fold CV
Kober et al [44]	United States, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 1217	People with cancer receiv- ing chemothera- py	Evening fa- tigue	Morning fatigue, lower evening energy, and sleep disturbance	<i>RF</i> , LR (filtered or unfiltered), RPAR, and SVM	10-fold CV
Hu et al [45]	China, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 238	People with non-Hodgkin lymphoma re- ceiving chemotherapy	Depression	Education level, sex, age, marital status, medical insur- ance, per capita monthly household income, patholog- ical stage, Suicide Severity Rating Scale, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, and Quality of Life Question- naire Core 30	SVM, RF, and LASSO+LR	Random
Haun et al [46]	Germany, 2021	Clinical da- ta; 496	People with cancer seen in primary care	Anxiety	Fatigue or weakness, insom- nia, and pain appeared	OLS ^{ac} , RR ^{ad} , <i>LAS-SO</i> , ENR ^{ae} , RF, and XGB	10-fold CV



JMIR CANCER

Zeinali et al

Study	Country, year	Data type; number of data	Population	Cancer symptoms	Significant predictors	Algorithms	Validation meth- ods
Lee et al [47]	United States, 2020	Clinical data and CT Im- ages data; 388	People with lung cancer af- ter intensity- modulated radia- tion therapy	Weight loss	Joint Gross tumor volume L1+L2+L3 radiomics, Gross tumor volume, and esopha- gus L3 dosiomic	SVM, DNN ^{af} , and ensemble classifier	Nested CV
Juwara et al [48]	Canada, 2020	Clinical da- ta; 204	People with breast cancer after surgery	NP ^{aj}	Anxiety, type of surgery, and acute pain	LS ^{ah} , <i>RR</i> , <i>ENR</i> , RF, <i>GB</i> , and ANN	10-fold CV
Men et al [49]	United States, 2019	Clinical data and CT im- age data; 784	People with HNC receiving radiotherapy	Xerostomia	Feature map visualization	LR and <i>3D-RC-</i> NN ^{ai}	Random
Jiang et al [50]	United States, 2019	Clinical data and CT im- ages data; 427	People with HNC	Xerostomia	The patient has human papil- lomavirus, completed chemotherapy, their baseline xerostomia grade, tumor site, N stage, and use of feeding tube	<i>RR</i> , LASSO, and RF	10-fold CV
Sheikh et al [51]	United States, 2019	CT images data; 266	People with HNC	Xerostomia	N/A	Generalized linear model	10-fold CV
Papachristou et al [52]	United States, 2019	Clinical da- ta; 799	People with cancer receiv- ing chemothera- py	Sleep distur- bance, anxi- ety, and de- pression	Age, gender, cancer site, the number of prior cancer treatment, and initial diagno- sis	<i>SVR</i> (linear, poly- nomial, and radial Sigma) and n- CCA ^{aj}	10-fold CV and bootstrap
Zhang et al [53]	China, 2018	Clinical da- ta; 375	People with cancer receiv- ing radiothera- py	Weight loss	Head and neck tumor loca- tion and total radiation dose of \geq 70 Gray, and without postsurgery	<i>DT</i> and LR	Random
Olling et al [54]	Den- mark;2018	Clinical and CT image; 131	People with lung cancer re- ceiving radio- therapy	Odynopha- gia (painful swallowing)	N/A	Multivariable LR, Lasso and elastic net regularized generalized linear models, and SVM	10-fold CV
Gabryś et al [55]	Ger- many;2018	Clinical and CT image; 153	People with HNC after radio- therapy	Xerostomia	The parotid gland volume, the spread of the contralater- al dose-volume histogram, and the parotid gland eccen- tricity, and sex	LRL1 ^{ak,} LRL2 ^{al} , LR-EN ^{am} , <i>KNN</i> , SVM, <i>ET^{an}</i> , and <i>GTB^{ao}</i>	Single and nested CV
Lötsch et al [56]	Ger- many;2018	Clinical da- ta; 1000	People with breast cancer after surgery	Pain	Age, chronic pain of any type, number of previous operations, BMI, preopera- tive pain in the area to be operated on, smoking and psychological factors	Unsupervised ML ^{ap}	Random
Abdollahi et al [57]	Iran;2018	Clinical and CT image; 47	People with HNC receiving chemotherapy	Hearing loss	10 of the 490 radiomic fea- tures selected as the associat- ed features with significant sensorineural hearing loss status	Decision stump, Hoeffding, C4.5, NB, AdaBoost, bootstrap aggregat- ing, and LR	10-fold CV
van Dijk et al [<mark>58</mark>]	United States;2018	Clinical data and CT im- age; 68	People with HNC	Xerostomia	N/A	LR	External validation
Cvetković [59]	Serbia;2017	Clinical da- ta; 84	People with breast cancer	Depression	N/A	<i>ELM^{aq}</i> , ANN, and Fuzzy Genetic Al- gorithm	Random

XSL•FO RenderX

JMIR CANCER Zei									
Study	Country, year	Data type; number of data	Population	Cancer symptoms	Significant predictors	Algorithms	Validation meth- ods		
van Dijk et al [60]	United States;2017	CT image features; 249	People with HNC	Xerostomia	N/A	LR	10-fold CV		
^a LR: logistic	regression.								
^b Italic text in	this column ind	licates the best r	esults used in the	studv.					
^c RF: random	forest.								
^d GBDT: gradi	ient boosting de	ecision tree.							
^e XGB: extrem	ne gradient boo	sting.							
^f ANN: artifici	al neural netwo	ork							
^g CV: cross-va	lidation.								
^h EN: elastic n	et.								
ⁱ LASSO: Lea	st absolute shri	nkage and select	tion operator						
^j RPAR· recurs	sive nartitioning	and regression	trees						
^k SVM: suppo	rt vector machi	ne							
^l NB· Naïve ba		ne.							
$^{\rm m}N/\Delta$ · not and	njicable								
ⁿ MP· multiple	pileable.								
⁰ AdaBoost: A	dantive hoostir	ng							
PGBM: light	uaptive boostii	ig.							
^q CT: compute	d tomography	ig machine.							
^r CNN: convol	utional neural r	network							
SDT: decision	tree	ictwork.							
^t I OOCV: loor	ucc.	a validation							
^U UNC: head a	ve-one-out-cros								
VKNN, k poor	and neck cancel	•							
WCADT, alass	est neighbor.								
CART: class	sification and re	gression tree.							
MLP: multila	ayer perceptron	l.							
ARIMA: aut	oregressive inte	egrated moving a	average.						
LSTM: long	snort-term mer	nory neural netv	VORK.						
^{ab} GD i	rt vector regres	sion.							
^{ac} GB: gradier	it boosting.								
adpp :1	ry least square								
^{ae} RR: ridge re	egression.								
afpunt 1	c net regression	l.							
"DNN: deep	neural network								
^{ab} a	athic pain.								
^{ai} LS: least sq	uares.								
^{al} 3D-RCNN:	3D region-base	d convolutional	neural network.						
^{aj} n-CCA: non	linear canonica	l correlation ana	ilysis.						
"LRL1: L1 p	enalized logisti	c regression.							
^{an} LRL2: L2 pe	enalized logisti	c regression.							
and LR-EN: log	gistic regressior	n-elastic net.							
^{an} ET: extra tre	ee.								
"GTB: gradie	ent tree boostin	g.							
^{ap} ML: machir	ne learning.								
^{aq} ELM: extrem	me linear mach	ine.							
A total of 2	2 individual	researchers (1	NZ and NY) s	eparately	Primary Database I	nformation			
extracted data from each study, working independently of each					The studies selected were published between 2017 and 2023				

extracted data from each study, working independently of each other. This approach is used to reduce bias and increase the accuracy of the data extraction process. If discrepancies arise between the 2 independent authors, they are usually resolved through discussion or by consulting a third reviewer (SGW).

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52322

XSL•FO RenderX

and were conducted in North America (18/42, 43%), Asia (16/42, 38%), and Europe (8/42, 19%). Methods of data collection varied, with studies originating from individual

centers (23/42, 55%) and multiple centers (19/42, 45%). The

JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e52322 | p.34 (page number not for citation purposes)

average sample size was 1686, and the studies varied in sample size: <100 participants (8/42, 19%), between 100 and 1000 participants (27/42, 64%), and >1000 participants (7/42, 17%). Most studies relied on clinical data (28/42, 67%), although some integrated clinical data with computed tomography (CT) images (14/42, 33%). The study designs were diverse, including retrospective (18/42, 43%), cross-sectional (15/42, 38%), prospective (5/42, 12%), and longitudinal (4/42, 10%) approaches.

Cancer Primary Sites and Predicted Symptoms

Various primary cancer sites were studied, with head and neck cancers being the most prevalent (9/42, 21%). Breast cancer was the focus of 19% (8/42) of the studies, and lung cancer was studied in 17% (3/42) of the cases. The included studies included participants undergoing a range of treatments, including chemotherapy (9/42, 21%), radiotherapy (9/42, 21%), surgery (4/42, 10%), and investigations of posttreatment survivors (2/42, 5%). Of the 42 included studies, 10 unique symptoms were reported as outcome variables in the predictions. Those included were xerostomia (9/42, 14%) [27,30,34,49-51,55,58,60], depression (8/42, 13%) [22,33,37,41,43,45,52,59], pain (8/42, [20,25,26,35,37,40,42,56], fatigue (6/42, 13%) 10%) [23,24,29,38,42,44], anxiety (3/42, 5%) [33,46,52], sleep disturbance or insomnia (3/42, 5%) [26,28,52], nausea or vomiting (3/42, 5%) [17,26,29], weight loss (2/42, 3%) [47,53], cognitive impairment (2/42, 3%) [21,36], and diarrhea (2/42, 3%) [29,42].

One study reported multiple symptoms, including hypersensitivity [29], stomatitis [29], hand-foot syndrome [29], peripheral neuropathy [29], and constipation [29]. Another study delved into taste and general activity [40]. Individual studies were dedicated to each of the following symptoms: delirium [31], lung infection [32], lymphedema [39], well-being [37],

odynophagia [54], social distress [26], spiritual pain [26], dyspnea [26], and hearing loss [57]. The distribution of these symptoms is depicted in Multimedia Appendix 5.

Significant Candidate Predictors of Symptoms

Numerous predictors were frequently used for predicting symptoms, which can be grouped into demographic features and clinical characteristics.

Demographic Features

The demographic features include age, sex, BMI, income, medical insurance, education, marital status, and zip code–level poverty.

Clinical Characteristics

The clinical characteristics include smoking and alcohol use, initial diagnosis, presence of cancer, stage of cancer, cancer course, tumor site, type and number of prior treatments, chemotherapy type, and radiotherapy dose and volume. Health conditions such as comorbidity, diabetes, hypertension, osteoarthritis, and coronary disease also play a significant role. In addition, psychological factors such as depression and anxiety, fatigue, sleep disturbance, and pain are considered. Other influential predictors encompass care fragmentation, polypharmacy, hormone levels, physical activity, diet, heart rate, and social support factors.

In our comprehensive analysis of 42 studies, all the detailed findings on common cancer symptoms are compiled in Figure 2. We provide a detailed analysis of the predictors for the 4 most frequently reported cancer symptoms identified in this study: xerostomia, pain, depression, and fatigue. In a detailed analysis of 42 studies, various predictors for 4 common cancer symptoms—xerostomia, pain, depression, and fatigue—have been identified, each with its distinct set of influencing factors.



Figure 2. Significant predictors of individual symptoms.



For xerostomia, age, gender, chemotherapy type, radiotherapy dose and volume, cancer stage, tumor site, and hypertension are crucial predictors. In the case of pain, factors such as age, BMI, smoking and alcohol habits, cancer site and stage, tumor site, diabetes, hypertension, osteoarthritis, coronary disease, physical activity, psychological factors, sleep disorders, and existing pain conditions emerge as significant. Significant predictors for depression include age; gender; education; cancer site and stage; economic factors such as insurance, income, and poverty level; marital status; initial diagnosis impact; comorbidities (diabetes, hypertension, osteoarthritis, and coronary disease); pain; social support; care fragmentation; polypharmacy; and various scale scores. Finally, for fatigue, the key predictors are existing fatigue and low energy, cancer site, sleep disturbances, age, income, education, chemotherapy type, tumor site, comorbidities, hypercholesterolemia, heart rate, hypoproteinemia, physical and psychological factors, pain, adverse drug reaction history, limited social support, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group score, platelet distribution width, and erythropoiesis.

When examining the commonalities across these predictors for xerostomia, pain, depression, and fatigue, several factors stand out as particularly influential across multiple symptoms: age; gender; cancer site and stage; treatment-related factors such as the type of chemotherapy and radiotherapy; comorbidities such as diabetes, hypertension, and coronary disease; physical and psychological factors; and socioeconomic factors such as income and education level, demonstrating the impact of cancer treatments on symptom development. These common predictors underscore the complex, multifactorial nature of symptom

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52322
```

manifestation in patients with cancer, necessitating a comprehensive approach to their management and care.

ML Algorithms and Validation Metrics

Of the 42 studies analyzed, 7 (17%) used a single ML algorithm, whereas 35 (83%) used multiple algorithms. The most effective models, in terms of performance, were logistic regression (LR; 9/42, 17%), random forest (7/42, 13%), artificial neural networks (5/42, 9%), decision trees (DTs; 5/42, 9%), and extreme gradient boosting (3/42, 6%). For validation methods, 10-fold cross-validation was the most used (14/42, 31%), followed by 5-fold cross-validation (5/42, 11%), 3-fold cross-validation (2/42, 4%), and 8-fold cross-validation (1/42, 2%). The primary evaluation metric across these studies was the area under the curve, which was adopted in 24% (26/42) of the studies. A visual representation of the leading ML models along with the validation and evaluation metrics used in the study presents in Multimedia Appendix 6.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this review, we present the first systematic analysis of ML applications for predicting the development of cancer symptoms. We explore the most frequently studied cancer sites and delve into the intricacies of ML procedures. Breast, head or neck, and lung cancers are the most frequently studied sites in current research, with xerostomia, depression, pain, and fatigue being the most prominent symptoms. The application of various ML techniques is on the rise, with data acquisition and preprocessing being pivotal for successful ML models. While a range of
algorithms, from traditional methods such as LR and DT to advanced ones such as DL, are used, there is a growing emphasis on data quality, external validation, and a standardized approach to model evaluation. The future of ML in cancer symptom prediction looks promising, with a need for collaborative efforts among oncologists, data scientists, and patient groups, combined with more comprehensive research on lesser-studied cancer sites and standardized methodologies.

Regarding the cancer sites covered in the studies, breast, head or neck, and lung cancers emerged as the most frequently researched primary cancer sites. The range of symptoms and side effects that patients experienced varied from one study to another. Some symptoms depended on the specific cancer site and the treatments patients received. For example, xerostomia, which can either arise from the tumor itself or manifest as a treatment side effect, has a significant impact on patients' dental health and compromises antimicrobial functions [61]. However, most symptoms were not directly attributed to a particular cancer site or treatment.

Our review revealed a notable emphasis on predicting xerostomia in 14% (9/42) of the studies, despite head and neck cancers being less prevalent. The notable emphasis on predicting xerostomia in ML research, despite the lower prevalence of head and neck cancers, is likely due to advancements in integrating ML with CT imaging. CT imaging is a pivotal tool in the diagnosis and treatment planning of head and neck cancers. The integration of ML with CT imaging has opened new possibilities for more accurately predicting side effects such as xerostomia. ML techniques, when applied to CT images, can potentially identify patterns and indicators that are not easily discernible by human observers. This capability can lead to earlier and more precise predictions of xerostomia, thereby enabling better preventive measures and treatment planning to mitigate this side effect. Therefore, the focus on xerostomia in ML research, in the context of head and neck cancers, is likely driven by the opportunities presented by combining ML with advanced imaging techniques.

Depression, a widespread emotional challenge for people with cancer [62,63], was the focus of prediction in many studies (8/24, 13%). Similarly, pain, a recurrent concern for palliative care patients [64] and survivors of cancer [65,66], was the subject of prediction in >13% (8/24) of the studies. Fatigue, prevalent across all age groups with cancer [67,68], was highlighted in 6 (10%) of the 42 studies reviewed.

In terms of the ML approaches used in the studies, a plethora of techniques were used to construct these predictive models, spanning all phases of the ML process, from data collection and preprocessing to feature and algorithm selection, model training, testing, and evaluation. The process of data acquisition is pivotal for the development of ML models, thereby emphasizing the importance of an adequate sample size. Upon reviewing 42 studies, we discerned that the most frequent sample sizes for ML applications ranged between 100 and 1000 samples. More advanced ML techniques necessitate larger data sets to bolster robustness and mitigate the risk of overfitting. Alarmingly, certain studies in our review used ML with comparably smaller data sets, introducing the risk of model overfitting and potential

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52322
```

biases in the subsequent performance metrics [69]. Challenges tied to sample size might impede the creation of sturdy and trustworthy ML models [70]. Data preprocessing is indispensable to yield clean and interpretable data, which is a cornerstone for proficient ML models. Data cleaning approaches encompass addressing missing values, tackling data noise, and data normalization. Within health care data sets, noisy or absent data are frequently a by-product of inaccuracies in manual entries or instrument recordings made by medical personnel or ancillary staff [71]. However, most of the reviewed studies lacked comprehensive descriptions of their data cleaning methodologies or strategies for handling noisy data and normalization, constrained by word or page limits in publications.

Given the crucial importance of data quality in developing ML models, it is essential for researchers to focus equally on effective data preparation and choosing suitable algorithms. Future endeavors would benefit from exhaustive procedural documentation made available on public platforms such as GitHub. In a research context, GitHub can be used for sharing and collaborating on various aspects of a research project, including but not limited to code. It allows researchers to maintain version control of their scripts, data analysis procedures, and even documentation. This feature is particularly beneficial for replicating studies and verifying results, as it provides a transparent view of the methodologies and analyses used.

Overloading an ML model with excessive features can undermine its ability to differentiate between pertinent data and superfluous noise, leading to the challenge often referred to as the "curse of dimensionality." The goal of feature engineering is to mitigate model complexity, expedite the training process, reduce the data's dimensionality, and avert overfitting [72]. By streamlining the model with a curated set of predictors, it becomes more accessible and transparent, emphasizing the importance of feature selection during data preparation. Our review pinpointed the most frequently used significant predictors in cancer symptom prediction. The efficacy of prediction models is heavily influenced by the number and interplay of the relevant predictors. Factors such as age, gender, type and number of previous treatments, cancer location, cancer stage, chemotherapy type, dosage and volume of radiotherapy; chronic conditions such as diabetes and hypertension; concurrent diseases; and symptoms including depression, anxiety, fatigue, pain, and sleep disturbances have consistently featured as determinants in numerous predictive frameworks. Our review of cancer symptom prediction underscored age as a pivotal factor, associated with predominant symptoms such as depression, pain, xerostomia, and fatigue. While numerous elements, from gender to type of treatment and cancer stage, influence the predictive models, it is the prominence of age that consistently emerges as a cornerstone predictor. As we delve deeper into this field, even with the introduction of newer determinants and correlations, the centrality of age in these frameworks remains indisputable.

Regarding algorithm selection, traditional methods often struggle with handling high-dimensional data and processing extensive information. To tackle these challenges, researchers have

increasingly shifted toward innovative ML algorithms that are renowned for their robust predictive power and strong generalization capacities. These sophisticated algorithms excel at delving deep into data and discerning intricate interrelationships among variables. To navigate the multifaceted landscape of modeling challenges, it is advantageous for researchers to leverage a diverse array of ML algorithms. Most studies used multiple predictive models, with techniques such as LR, RF, ANN, and DT consistently delivering stellar results. The introduction of advanced ML techniques, such as DL and ensemble classifiers, provides promising opportunities to elevate prediction accuracy in future research.

After their design, the ML models undergo training and testing on different data sets. However, these models can grapple with issues such as overfitting and underfitting. Overfitting occurs when a model becomes overly complex, which leads to increased variance and reduced clarity. In contrast, underfitting results from an oversimplified model, causing it to overlook key data patterns and diminish its predictive capacity. Therefore, the ideal learning model should strike a balance between the optimal variance and justifiable bias. To mitigate these issues, the common strategy is to divide the data set into training and testing subsets, followed by internal or external validation. While most studies in our review used internal validation, only 1 study reported external validation [58], which was demonstrated on a small cohort of 25 patients with head and neck cancer. Although its performance is typically lower than evaluations using the original data sets, external validation remains crucial for gauging ML models [72]. It is a crucial step in ensuring that the model's performance is not just limited to the conditions and data it was originally trained on but also applicable and reliable in broader, real-world clinical settings. This approach serves to verify the model's efficacy and generalizability across different patient populations and settings.

Understanding and interpreting ML models continue to pose challenges. Determining the variables that significantly impact symptom prediction can be elusive due to the intricate prediction processes. Many studies gauge the performance of ML models using metrics that examine their ability to distinguish between 2 classes. From our systematic review of 42 studies, the area under the curve emerged as the predominant metric for the prediction models. Other metrics included accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, root mean square error, and negative predictive value. These metrics provide a holistic view of a model's efficacy, facilitating its refinement and enabling more precise predictions. However, the diverse emphasis on distinct metrics in numerous studies underscores the need for a uniform approach to evaluating ML models in cancer symptom prediction.

As interest grows in using ML for predicting cancer symptoms, there are several areas that merit deeper investigation. A crucial area is broadening the range of studied cancer sites and more comprehensively correlating symptoms with various treatment methods. To fully understand symptom prediction, it is essential that future studies delve into lesser-explored or infrequently studied cancer sites. Furthermore, the methodologies used for data preprocessing and cleaning should be documented more

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52322

thoroughly, focusing on best practices to ensure data integrity. As data are foundational to ML models, transparent and detailed preprocessing can improve the reliability and repeatability of these models. Although our analysis highlighted common predictors for symptom forecasting, examining potentially underrepresented or emerging indicators could refine these models further. On the algorithmic front, exploring hybrid ML methods that merge the strengths of multiple algorithms might be particularly beneficial for cancer symptom prediction. Standardizing evaluation metrics across studies would also provide clarity and facilitate a more accurate comparison of various ML techniques. To genuinely progress, collaborations among oncologists, data scientists, and patient advocacy groups are vital to ensure that the developed models are technically robust and clinically pertinent. With these insights, ML stands poised to transform cancer care, creating treatment plans based on patient-focused and accurate symptom prediction models.

Limitations

This review is not without its limitations. Although we established clear inclusion and exclusion criteria, potential biases in the studies we analyzed could inherently limit our review. We might have missed or excluded relevant studies due to inadequate information or the absence of keywords in their titles or abstracts. Many of the studies we reviewed did not specify the cancer site, potentially limiting the accuracy and applicability of our findings to specific cancer types. The broad range of predictors used across the studies also made it difficult to draw definitive conclusions about the most influential factors in predicting cancer symptoms using ML algorithms. As such, readers should interpret these results cautiously, given this variability.

Conclusions

ML offers an intriguing potential for predicting cancer symptoms, thereby preemptively mitigating the associated challenges. Predicting the symptoms that people with cancer might experience and determining their onset throughout their treatment journey is a pivotal clinical issue that can enhance patients' quality of life. Notably, all studies in our review were published after 2017, highlighting the nascent nature of this research area. Our investigation primarily sought to outline the ML methodologies harnessed for symptom prediction in people with cancer. While ML techniques hold an edge over traditional statistical approaches by virtue of their prowess in analyzing vast data sets and gauging the efficacy of diverse prediction models, certain impediments such as a limited pool of symptoms; suboptimal data preparation; challenges in feature engineering; and complexities in ML algorithm design, validation, and evaluation can constrain the broad applicability of these predictive models. Future research should pivot toward amplifying the efficacy of ML strategies. This enhancement can be achieved by harnessing expansive, high-caliber data sets; tapping into innovative technologies for data refinement; and sculpting refined models. Harnessing ML can potentially free health care practitioners-including doctors, nurses, and clinic personnel-to accentuate the human touch in managing cancer symptoms.

XSL•FO

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to express their profound gratitude to their esteemed colleagues and academic mentors. Their invaluable insights, unwavering support, and dedicated time significantly enriched the authors' research journey. Special acknowledgment is reserved for the myriad of researchers and study participants whose dedication and data have underpinned this comprehensive review. Their collective efforts have made this work possible. The authors extend special thanks to Jennifer Deberg, a specialist at the Hardin Library for the Health Sciences, for her invaluable support in selecting search terms and databases.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

The detailed search strategy for the databases and the Boolean expressions used. [DOCX File , 30 KB - cancer v10i1e52322 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) 2020 checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 942 KB - cancer v10i1e52322 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 The distribution and overlap of 42 studies across the databases. [PNG File, 88 KB - cancer_v10i1e52322_app3.png]

Multimedia Appendix 4 The data extracted from 42 studies. [DOCX File, 31 KB - cancer_v10i1e52322_app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Number of studies per cancer symptoms. [PNG File , 62 KB - cancer v10i1e52322 app5.png]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Visual overview of the machine learning models and metrics. [PNG File , 74 KB - cancer_v10i1e52322_app6.png]

References

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021 May;71(3):209-249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21660] [Medline: 33538338]
- Yates P. Symptom management and palliative care for patients with cancer. Nurs Clin North Am 2017 Mar;52(1):179-191. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cnur.2016.10.006</u>] [Medline: <u>28189162</u>]
- Abd El-Aziz N, Khallaf S, Abozaid W, Elgohary G, Abd El-Fattah O, Alhawari M, et al. Is it the time to implement the routine use of distress thermometer among Egyptian patients with newly diagnosed cancer? BMC Cancer 2020 Oct 27;20(1):1033 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-020-07451-7] [Medline: 33109093]
- 4. Abu-Odah H, Molassiotis A, Yat Wa Liu J. Analysis of the unmet needs of Palestinian advanced cancer patients and their relationship to emotional distress: results from a cross-sectional study. BMC Palliat Care 2022 May 14;21(1):72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12904-022-00959-8] [Medline: 35562732]
- Martínez Arroyo O, Andreu Vaíllo Y, Martínez López P, Galdón Garrido MJ. Emotional distress and unmet supportive care needs in survivors of breast cancer beyond the end of primary treatment. Support Care Cancer 2019 Mar 9;27(3):1049-1057. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4394-8] [Medline: 30094729]
- 6. Saeidzadeh S, Kamalumpundi V, Chi N, Nair R, Gilbertson-White S. Web and mobile-based symptom management interventions for physical symptoms of people with advanced cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Palliat Med 2021 Jun;35(6):1020-1038. [doi: 10.1177/02692163211006317] [Medline: 33840271]

- Cleeland CS, Bennett GJ, Dantzer R, Dougherty PM, Dunn AJ, Meyers CA, et al. Are the symptoms of cancer and cancer treatment due to a shared biologic mechanism? A cytokine-immunologic model of cancer symptoms. Cancer 2003 Jun 01;97(11):2919-2925 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.11382] [Medline: 12767108]
- 8. Cleeland CS. Symptom burden: multiple symptoms and their impact as patient-reported outcomes. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2007(37):16-21. [doi: <u>10.1093/jncimonographs/lgm005</u>] [Medline: <u>17951226</u>]
- Kaasa S, Loge JH, Aapro M, Albreht T, Anderson R, Bruera E, et al. Integration of oncology and palliative care: a Lancet oncology commission. Lancet Oncol 2018 Nov;19(11):e588-e653 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30415-7] [Medline: 30344075]
- Hunter B, Hindocha S, Lee RW. The role of artificial intelligence in early cancer diagnosis. Cancers (Basel) 2022 Mar 16;14(6):1524 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers14061524] [Medline: 35326674]
- 11. Ruffle JK, Farmer AD, Aziz Q. Artificial intelligence-assisted gastroenterology- promises and pitfalls. Am J Gastroenterol 2019 Mar;114(3):422-428. [doi: 10.1038/s41395-018-0268-4] [Medline: 30315284]
- Ahmed H, Soliman H, Elmogy M. Early detection of Alzheimer's disease using single nucleotide polymorphisms analysis based on gradient boosting tree. Comput Biol Med 2022 Jul;146:105622. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.compbiomed.2022.105622</u>] [Medline: <u>35751201</u>]
- Abouzari M, Goshtasbi K, Sarna B, Khosravi P, Reutershan T, Mostaghni N, et al. Prediction of vestibular schwannoma recurrence using artificial neural network. Laryngoscope Investig Otolaryngol 2020 Apr;5(2):278-285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/lio2.362] [Medline: 32337359]
- Liu YH, Jin J, Liu YJ. Machine learning-based random forest for predicting decreased quality of life in thyroid cancer patients after thyroidectomy. Support Care Cancer 2022 Mar;30(3):2507-2513. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-021-06657-0</u>] [Medline: <u>34782918</u>]
- 15. van de Wiel M, Derijcke S, Galdermans D, Daenen M, Surmont V, De Droogh E, et al. Coping strategy influences quality of life in patients with advanced lung cancer by mediating mood. Clin Lung Cancer 2021 Mar;22(2):e146-e152. [doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2020.09.010] [Medline: 33060059]
- 16. Aafjes-van Doorn K, Kamsteeg C, Bate J, Aafjes M. A scoping review of machine learning in psychotherapy research. Psychother Res 2021 Jan;31(1):92-116. [doi: 10.1080/10503307.2020.1808729] [Medline: 32862761]
- Mosa AS, Rana MK, Islam H, Hossain AK, Yoo I. A smartphone-based decision support tool for predicting patients at risk of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting: retrospective study on app development using decision tree induction. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Dec 02;9(12):e27024 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27024] [Medline: 34860677]
- 18. Geron A. Hands-On Machine Learning with Scikit-Learn, Keras, and TensorFlow: Concepts, Tools, and Techniques to Build Intelligent Systems. Sebastopol, CA: O'Reilly Media; 2019.
- Tam WW, Tang A, Woo B, Goh SY. Perception of the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA) statement of authors publishing reviews in nursing journals: a cross-sectional online survey. BMJ Open 2019 Apr 20;9(4):e026271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026271] [Medline: 31005930]
- Sun C, Li M, Lan L, Pei L, Zhang Y, Tan G, et al. Prediction models for chronic postsurgical pain in patients with breast cancer based on machine learning approaches. Front Oncol 2023;13:1096468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1096468] [Medline: 36923433]
- Xinran Z, Shumei Z, Xueying Z, Linan W, Ying G, Peng W, et al. Construction of a predictive model for cognitive impairment risk in patients with advanced cancer. Int J Nurs Pract 2023 Aug;29(4):e13140. [doi: <u>10.1111/ijn.13140</u>] [Medline: <u>36759715</u>]
- 22. Shaikh NF, Shen C, LeMasters T, Dwibedi N, Ladani A, Sambamoorthi U. Prescription non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and incidence of depression among older cancer survivors with osteoarthritis: a machine learning analysis. Cancer Inform 2023;22:11769351231165161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/11769351231165161] [Medline: 37101728]
- Kober KM, Roy R, Conley Y, Dhruva A, Hammer MJ, Levine J, et al. Prediction of morning fatigue severity in outpatients receiving chemotherapy: less may still be more. Support Care Cancer 2023 Apr 11;31(5):253. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-023-07723-5] [Medline: 37039882]
- 24. Du L, Du J, Yang M, Xu Q, Huang J, Tan W, et al. Development and external validation of a machine learning-based prediction model for the cancer-related fatigue diagnostic screening in adult cancer patients: a cross-sectional study in China. Support Care Cancer 2023 Jan 10;31(2):106. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-022-07570-w] [Medline: 36625943]
- Moscato S, Orlandi S, Giannelli A, Ostan R, Chiari L. Automatic pain assessment on cancer patients using physiological signals recorded in real-world contexts. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2022 Jul;2022:1931-1934. [doi: 10.1109/EMBC48229.2022.9871990] [Medline: 36086417]
- 26. Masukawa K, Aoyama M, Yokota S, Nakamura J, Ishida R, Nakayama M, et al. Machine learning models to detect social distress, spiritual pain, and severe physical psychological symptoms in terminally ill patients with cancer from unstructured text data in electronic medical records. Palliat Med 2022 Sep;36(8):1207-1216. [doi: 10.1177/02692163221105595] [Medline: 35773973]
- 27. Fanizzi A, Scognamillo G, Nestola A, Bambace S, Bove S, Comes MC, et al. Transfer learning approach based on computed tomography images for predicting late xerostomia after radiotherapy in patients with oropharyngeal cancer. Front Med (Lausanne) 2022;9:993395 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.993395] [Medline: 36213659]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52322
```

- 28. Ueno T, Ichikawa D, Shimizu Y, Narisawa T, Tsuji K, Ochi E, et al. Comorbid insomnia among breast cancer survivors and its prediction using machine learning: a nationwide study in Japan. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2022 Jan 03;52(1):39-46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jjco/hyab169] [Medline: 34718623]
- 29. On J, Park HA, Yoo S. Development of a prediction models for chemotherapy-induced adverse drug reactions: a retrospective observational study using electronic health records. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2022 Feb;56:102066. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejon.2021.102066</u>] [Medline: <u>34861529</u>]
- 30. Li M, Zhang J, Zha Y, Li Y, Hu B, Zheng S, et al. A prediction model for xerostomia in locoregionally advanced nasopharyngeal carcinoma patients receiving radical radiotherapy. BMC Oral Health 2022 Jun 17;22(1):239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12903-022-02269-0] [Medline: 35715856]
- 31. Kurisu K, Inada S, Maeda I, Ogawa A, Iwase S, Akechi T, Phase-R Delirium Study Group. A decision tree prediction model for a short-term outcome of delirium in patients with advanced cancer receiving pharmacological interventions: a secondary analysis of a multicenter and prospective observational study (Phase-R). Palliat Support Care 2022 Apr;20(2):153-158. [doi: 10.1017/S1478951521001565] [Medline: 35574912]
- 32. Guo W, Gao G, Dai J, Sun Q. Prediction of lung infection during palliative chemotherapy of lung cancer based on artificial neural network. Comput Math Methods Med 2022;2022:4312117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2022/4312117] [Medline: 35047054]
- Baglione AN, Cai L, Bahrini A, Posey I, Boukhechba M, Chow PI. Understanding the relationship between mood symptoms and mobile app engagement among patients with breast cancer using machine learning: case study. JMIR Med Inform 2022 Jun 02;10(6):e30712 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30712] [Medline: 35653183]
- Chao M, El Naqa I, Bakst RL, Lo Y, Peñagarícano JA. Cluster model incorporating heterogeneous dose distribution of partial parotid irradiation for radiotherapy induced xerostomia prediction with machine learning methods. Acta Oncol 2022 Jul;61(7):842-848. [doi: 10.1080/0284186X.2022.2073187] [Medline: 35527717]
- 35. Wakabayashi K, Koide Y, Aoyama T, Shimizu H, Miyauchi R, Tanaka H, et al. A predictive model for pain response following radiotherapy for treatment of spinal metastases. Sci Rep 2021 Jun 18;11(1):12908 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-92363-0] [Medline: 34145367]
- Zhou SP, Fei SD, Han HH, Li JJ, Yang S, Zhao CY. A prediction model for cognitive impairment risk in colorectal cancer after chemotherapy treatment. Biomed Res Int 2021 Feb 20;2021:1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2021/6666453] [Medline: <u>33688501</u>]
- 37. Xuyi W, Seow H, Sutradhar R. Artificial neural networks for simultaneously predicting the risk of multiple co-occurring symptoms among patients with cancer. Cancer Med 2021 Feb;10(3):989-998 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.3685] [Medline: 33350595]
- Xu XY, Lu JL, Xu Q, Hua HX, Xu L, Chen L. Risk factors and the utility of three different kinds of prediction models for postoperative fatigue after gastrointestinal tumor surgery. Support Care Cancer 2021 Jan;29(1):203-211. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05483-0] [Medline: 32337625]
- 39. Wei X, Lu Q, Jin S, Li F, Zhao Q, Cui Y, et al. Developing and validating a prediction model for lymphedema detection in breast cancer survivors. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2021 Oct;54:102023. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejon.2021.102023</u>] [Medline: <u>34500318</u>]
- 40. Wang Y, Van Dijk L, Mohamed AS, Fuller CD, Zhang X, Marai GE, et al. Predicting late symptoms of head and neck cancer treatment using LSTM and patient reported outcomes. Proc Int Database Eng Appl Symp 2021 Jul:273-279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/3472163.3472177] [Medline: 35392138]
- 41. Wang X, Eichhorn J, Haq I, Baghal A. Resting-state brain metabolic fingerprinting clusters (biomarkers) and predictive models for major depression in multiple myeloma patients. PLoS One 2021;16(5):e0251026 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0251026] [Medline: 33956824]
- 42. Low CA, Li M, Vega J, Durica KC, Ferreira D, Tam V, et al. Digital biomarkers of symptom burden self-reported by perioperative patients undergoing pancreatic surgery: prospective longitudinal study. JMIR Cancer 2021 Apr 27;7(2):e27975 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27975] [Medline: 33904822]
- 43. Kourou K, Manikis G, Poikonen-Saksela P, Mazzocco K, Pat-Horenczyk R, Sousa B, et al. A machine learning-based pipeline for modeling medical, socio-demographic, lifestyle and self-reported psychological traits as predictors of mental health outcomes after breast cancer diagnosis: an initial effort to define resilience effects. Comput Biol Med 2021 Apr;131:104266. [doi: 10.1016/j.compbiomed.2021.104266] [Medline: 33607379]
- 44. Kober KM, Roy R, Dhruva A, Conley YP, Chan RJ, Cooper B, et al. Prediction of evening fatigue severity in outpatients receiving chemotherapy: less may be more. Fatigue 2021;9(1):14-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21641846.2021.1885119] [Medline: 34249477]
- 45. Hu C, Li Q, Shou J, Zhang F, Li X, Wu M, et al. Constructing a predictive model of depression in chemotherapy patients with Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma to improve medical staffs' psychiatric care. Biomed Res Int 2021;2021:1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2021/9201235] [Medline: 34337060]
- 46. Haun MW, Simon L, Sklenarova H, Zimmermann-Schlegel V, Friederich H, Hartmann M. Predicting anxiety in cancer survivors presenting to primary care a machine learning approach accounting for physical comorbidity. Cancer Med 2021 Jul;10(14):5001-5016 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.4048] [Medline: 34076372]

- 47. Lee SH, Han P, Hales RK, Voong KR, Noro K, Sugiyama S, et al. Multi-view radiomics and dosiomics analysis with machine learning for predicting acute-phase weight loss in lung cancer patients treated with radiotherapy. Phys Med Biol 2020 Sep 28;65(19):195015. [doi: 10.1088/1361-6560/ab8531] [Medline: 32235058]
- Juwara L, Arora N, Gornitsky M, Saha-Chaudhuri P, Velly AM. Identifying predictive factors for neuropathic pain after breast cancer surgery using machine learning. Int J Med Inform 2020 Sep;141:104170. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104170</u>] [Medline: <u>32544823</u>]
- 49. Men K, Geng H, Zhong H, Fan Y, Lin A, Xiao Y. A deep learning model for predicting xerostomia due to radiation therapy for head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in the RTOG 0522 clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2019 Oct 01;105(2):440-447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2019.06.009] [Medline: 31201897]
- 50. Jiang W, Lakshminarayanan P, Hui X, Han P, Cheng Z, Bowers M, et al. Machine learning methods uncover radiomorphologic dose patterns in salivary glands that predict xerostomia in patients with head and neck cancer. Adv Radiat Oncol 2019;4(2):401-412 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.adro.2018.11.008] [Medline: 31011686]
- 51. Sheikh K, Lee SH, Cheng Z, Lakshminarayanan P, Peng L, Han P, et al. Predicting acute radiation induced xerostomia in head and neck cancer using MR and CT radiomics of parotid and submandibular glands. Radiat Oncol 2019 Jul 29;14(1):131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13014-019-1339-4] [Medline: 31358029]
- Papachristou N, Puschmann D, Barnaghi P, Cooper B, Hu X, Maguire R, et al. Learning from data to predict future symptoms of oncology patients. PLoS One 2018 Dec 31;13(12):e0208808 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208808] [Medline: 30596658]
- 53. Zhang Z, Zhu Y, Zhang L, Wang Z, Wan H. Prediction model of critical weight loss in cancer patients during particle therapy. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2018 Jan 01;48(1):75-81. [doi: <u>10.1093/jjco/hyx145</u>] [Medline: <u>29045700</u>]
- 54. Olling K, Nyeng DW, Wee L. Predicting acute odynophagia during lung cancer radiotherapy using observations derived from patient-centred nursing care. Tech Innov Patient Support Radiat Oncol 2018 Mar;5:16-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.tipsro.2018.01.002] [Medline: 32095570]
- 55. Gabryś HS, Buettner F, Sterzing F, Hauswald H, Bangert M. Design and selection of machine learning methods using radiomics and dosiomics for normal tissue complication probability modeling of xerostomia. Front Oncol 2018;8:35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00035] [Medline: 29556480]
- 56. Lötsch J, Sipilä R, Tasmuth T, Kringel D, Estlander A, Meretoja T, et al. Machine-learning-derived classifier predicts absence of persistent pain after breast cancer surgery with high accuracy. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2018 Sep 6;171(2):399-411 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-018-4841-8] [Medline: 29876695]
- 57. Abdollahi H, Mostafaei S, Cheraghi S, Shiri I, Rabi Mahdavi S, Kazemnejad A. Cochlea CT radiomics predicts chemoradiotherapy induced sensorineural hearing loss in head and neck cancer patients: a machine learning and multi-variable modelling study. Phys Med 2018 Jan;45:192-197. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejmp.2017.10.008] [Medline: 29329660]
- 58. van Dijk LV, Thor M, Steenbakkers RJ, Apte A, Zhai T, Borra R, et al. Parotid gland fat related magnetic resonance image biomarkers improve prediction of late radiation-induced xerostomia. Radiother Oncol 2018 Sep;128(3):459-466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2018.06.012] [Medline: 29958772]
- 59. Cvetković J. Breast cancer patients' depression prediction by machine learning approach. Cancer Invest 2017 Sep 14;35(8):569-572. [doi: 10.1080/07357907.2017.1363892] [Medline: 28872366]
- van Dijk LV, Brouwer CL, van der Schaaf A, Burgerhof JG, Beukinga RJ, Langendijk JA, et al. CT image biomarkers to improve patient-specific prediction of radiation-induced xerostomia and sticky saliva. Radiother Oncol 2017 Feb;122(2):185-191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2016.07.007] [Medline: 27459902]
- 61. Jensen SB, Vissink A, Limesand KH, Reyland ME. Salivary gland hypofunction and xerostomia in head and neck radiation patients. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2019 Aug 01;2019(53):lgz016. [doi: <u>10.1093/jncimonographs/lgz016</u>] [Medline: <u>31425600</u>]
- 62. Fervaha G, Izard JP, Tripp DA, Rajan S, Leong DP, Siemens DR. Depression and prostate cancer: a focused review for the clinician. Urol Oncol 2019 Apr;37(4):282-288. [doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2018.12.020] [Medline: 30630735]
- 63. Slovacek L, Slovackova B, Slanska I, Petera J, Priester P, Filip S, et al. Depression symptoms and health-related quality of life among patients with metastatic breast cancer in programme of palliative cancer care. Neoplasma 2009;56(6):467-472. [doi: 10.4149/neo 2009 06 467] [Medline: 19873686]
- 64. Webber K, Davies AN, Leach C, Waghorn M. Symptom prevalence and severity in palliative cancer medicine. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2023 Dec 07;13(e2):e270-e272. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjspcare-2020-002357</u>] [Medline: <u>34130997</u>]
- 65. Zomkowski K, Cruz de Souza B, Pinheiro da Silva F, Moreira GM, de Souza Cunha N, Sperandio FF. Physical symptoms and working performance in female breast cancer survivors: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil 2018 Jun;40(13):1485-1493. [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2017.1300950] [Medline: 28325132]
- Bean HR, Diggens J, Ftanou M, Weihs KL, Stanton AL, Wiley JF. Insomnia and fatigue symptom trajectories in breast cancer: a longitudinal cohort study. Behav Sleep Med 2021;19(6):814-827. [doi: <u>10.1080/15402002.2020.1869005</u>] [Medline: <u>33470847</u>]
- 67. Pozzar RA, Hammer MJ, Cooper BA, Kober KM, Chen L, Paul SM, et al. Symptom clusters in patients with gynecologic cancer receiving chemotherapy. Oncol Nurs Forum 2021 Jul 01;48(4):441-452. [doi: <u>10.1188/21.ONF.441-452</u>] [Medline: <u>34143001</u>]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52322

- Harris CS, Kober KM, Conley YP, Dhruva AA, Hammer MJ, Miaskowski CA. Symptom clusters in patients receiving chemotherapy: a systematic review. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2022 Mar;12(1):10-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2021-003325] [Medline: 34921000]
- 69. Vabalas A, Gowen E, Poliakoff E, Casson AJ. Machine learning algorithm validation with a limited sample size. PLoS One 2019 Nov 7;14(11):e0224365 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0224365] [Medline: 31697686]
- 70. Balki I, Amirabadi A, Levman J, Martel AL, Emersic Z, Meden B, et al. Sample-Size determination methodologies for machine learning in medical imaging research: a systematic review. Can Assoc Radiol J 2019 Nov;70(4):344-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.carj.2019.06.002] [Medline: 31522841]
- Rahmani AM, Yousefpoor E, Yousefpoor MS, Mehmood Z, Haider A, Hosseinzadeh M, et al. Machine learning (ML) in medicine: review, applications, and challenges. Mathematics 2021 Nov 21;9(22):2970 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/math9222970]
- 72. Cabitza F, Campagner A, Soares F, García de Guadiana-Romualdo L, Challa F, Sulejmani A, et al. The importance of being external methodological insights for the external validation of machine learning models in medicine. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2021 Sep;208:106288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2021.106288] [Medline: 34352688]

Abbreviations

CT: computed tomography DL: deep learning DT: decision tree LR: logistic regression ML: machine learning PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 12.09.23; peer-reviewed by Z Su, J Chow, F Alam; comments to author 11.12.23; revised version received 18.01.24; accepted 19.01.24; published 19.03.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Zeinali N, Youn N, Albashayreh A, Fan W, Gilbertson White S Machine Learning Approaches to Predict Symptoms in People With Cancer: Systematic Review JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52322 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52322</u> doi:10.2196/52322 PMID:<u>38502171</u>

©Nahid Zeinali, Nayung Youn, Alaa Albashayreh, Weiguo Fan, Stéphanie Gilbertson White. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 19.03.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Telemedicine Applications for Cancer Rehabilitation: Scoping Review

Patricia Goncalves Leite Rocco^{1*}, PT, MS; C Mahony Reategui-Rivera¹, MD; Joseph Finkelstein^{1*}, MD, PhD

Department of Biomedical Informatics, School of Medicine, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States *these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Patricia Goncalves Leite Rocco, PT, MS Department of Biomedical Informatics School of Medicine University of Utah 421 Wakara Way, Suite 140 Salt Lake City, UT, 84108 United States Phone: 1 801 581 4080 Fax: 1 801 581 4297 Email: <u>patricia.rocco@utah.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Cancer is a significant public health issue worldwide. Treatments such as surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation therapy often cause psychological and physiological side effects, affecting patients' ability to function and their quality of life (QoL). Physical activity is crucial to cancer rehabilitation, improving physical function and QoL and reducing cancer-related fatigue. However, many patients face barriers to accessing cancer rehabilitation due to socioeconomic factors, transportation issues, and time constraints. Telerehabilitation can potentially overcome these barriers by delivering rehabilitation remotely.

Objective: The aim of the study is to identify how telemedicine is used for the rehabilitation of patients with cancer.

Methods: This scoping review followed recognized frameworks. We conducted an electronic literature search on PubMed for studies published between January 2015 and May 2023. Inclusion criteria were studies reporting physical therapy telerehabilitation interventions for patients with cancer, including randomized and nonrandomized controlled trials, feasibility studies, and usability studies. In total, 21 studies met the criteria and were included in the final review.

Results: Our search yielded 37 papers, with 21 included in the final review. Randomized controlled trials comprised 47% (n=10) of the studies, with feasibility studies at 33% (n=7) and usability studies at 19% (n=4). Sample sizes were typically 50 or fewer participants in 57% (n=12) of the reports. Participants were generally aged 65 years or younger (n=17, 81%), with a balanced gender distribution. Organ-specific cancers were the focus of 66% (n=14) of the papers, while 28% (n=6) included patients who were in the posttreatment period. Web-based systems were the most used technology (n=13, 61%), followed by phone call or SMS text messaging–based systems (n=9, 42%) and mobile apps (n=5, 23%). Exercise programs were mainly home based (n=19, 90%) and included aerobic (n=19, 90%), resistance (n=13, 61%), and flexibility training (n=7, 33%). Outcomes included improvements in functional capacity, cognitive functioning, and QoL (n=10, 47%); reductions in pain and hospital length of stay; and enhancements in fatigue, physical and emotional well-being, and anxiety. Positive effects on feasibility (n=3, 14%), acceptability (n=8, 38%), and cost-effectiveness (n=2, 9%) were also noted. Functional outcomes were frequently assessed (n=19, 71%) with tools like the 6-minute walk test and grip strength tests.

Conclusions: Telerehabilitation for patients with cancer is beneficial and feasible, with diverse approaches in study design, technologies, exercises, and outcomes. Future research should focus on developing standardized methodologies, incorporating objective measures, and exploring emerging technologies like virtual reality, wearable or noncontact sensors, and artificial intelligence to optimize telerehabilitation interventions. Addressing these areas can enhance clinical practice and improve outcomes for remote rehabilitation with patients.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e56969) doi:10.2196/56969



KEYWORDS

telerehabilitation; telemedicine; rehabilitation; cancer; exercise; physical therapy; telehealth; remote care; digital medicine; oncology; oncologist; metastases; exercising; scoping review; scoping reviews; PubMed

Introduction

Cancer is a worldwide public health problem and is the second leading cause of death in the United States [1]. Treatments for cancer, such as surgery, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and hormone therapy, often result in psychological and physiological sequelae and side effects that interfere with treatment completion, the ability to function and perform essential daily activities, and quality of life (QoL) [2]. Physical activity is an essential component of cancer rehabilitation and effectively reduces the burden of several specific cancers, including benefits related to physical function, QoL, and cancer-related fatigue [3].

The American College of Sports Medicine concluded that exercise training is safe during and after cancer treatments and improves the QoL in several survivor groups of cancer [3]. Based on these findings, individualized and personalized programs are needed for patients with cancer depending on the type of cancer, stage of the disease, and patient goals to avoid inactivity, disability, and worsening of their QoL. Rehabilitation is a standard part of cancer care and can have the potential to reduce the burden on the health care system [4].

Unfortunately, many patients do not have access to all the cancer rehabilitation therapy due to problems related to social economics; transportation; and several other factors that impact the treatment, like work, costs, and time [5,6]. All these factors can seriously impact the patient's access to cancer rehabilitation services in medical facilities. Conversely, technology has been growing, and treatment nowadays can be delivered to patients without the need for a face-to-face consultation [7]. This convergence of circumstances has led to the emergence of telerehabilitation, a subfield of telemedicine that uses information and communication technologies (ICTs) to develop systems capable of managing and delivering rehabilitation remotely and has been suggested as one mechanism that can reduce some barriers to accessing and providing rehabilitation [8].

Telerehabilitation has been implemented across various diseases with promising results [9-15] and was considered highly cost-effective [16,17]. Nonetheless, there is a noticeable shortage of studies evaluating the use of physical therapy in telerehabilitation for patients with cancer broadly. A review of reviews on telemedicine and digital health in patients with cancer did not uncover any documents related explicitly to rehabilitation [18]. Furthermore, the available literature reviews tend to focus on specific types of cancer [19-21], lack a systematic approach to guide the review process [22-24], target pediatric populations [25], or focus exclusively on cognitive or behavioral rehabilitation [26].

For these reasons, this scoping review aimed to identify studies regarding physical therapy telerehabilitation for survivors of cancer and understand the technology used, exercises, and outcomes of this type of treatment that has the potential to grow.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56969
```

Methods

Study Design

This scoping review was conducted using the methodological framework of Arksey and O'Malley [27], with five major steps: (1) identify research question, (2) identify relevant studies, (3) evaluate and select studies to be included, (4) chart the data, and (5) collect, summarize, and report the results. We report this study following the PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Extension for Scoping Reviews) 2020 guidelines (Multimedia Appendix 1) [28]. The protocol was registered on the Open Science Framework [29].

Research Question

Based on our aim, we formulated the following research question: "How are telemedicine approaches used for cancer rehabilitation?"

Search Strategy

An electronic literature search was conducted using the PubMed database to identify relevant studies for inclusion in this scoping review. The following Boolean search terms were used: (telerehabilitation) AND (cancer) AND ("physical therapy" OR "exercise" OR "cancer rehabilitation"). No language restrictions were applied. The studies included were published between January 2015 and May 2023. This time frame was selected because, starting in 2015, global regulatory frameworks were established that promoted the use of telemedicine technologies. These frameworks provided standards and best practices, coinciding with the increased adoption of ICTs in the health care sector, thereby fostering research in this area. The literature search was reviewed and validated by an expert in telemedicine.

Study Selection

We included studies that reported physical therapy exercises and telerehabilitation interventions for patients with cancer. Eligible designs included randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and nonrandomized controlled trials, controlled and noncontrolled before-after studies, and feasibility and usability studies that reported the intervention treatment. Exclusion criteria comprise systematic review studies and meta-analysis, no physical therapy treatment mentioned, and studies with only psychological treatment. Two reviewers (PGLR and CMR-R) conducted the selection process independently and in duplicate. Any disagreements were solved through discussion, and if consensus could not be reached, a third reviewer (JF) made the final decision.

Data Extraction

One reviewer (CMR-R) collected the data from the documents using a predefined collection form in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. The other reviewer (PGLR) then double-checked the resulting form to ensure comprehensive data extraction. The data included in the study comprised the following: first author

and year for each publication, type of study, specific design, sample size, sociodemographic characteristics (sex, age, race, and ethnicity), stage of cancer, and other special characteristics. Additionally, the specific technology used to deliver exercise programs or monitor each study, the type of exercise program, the description, duration, frequency, time per session, intensity of the program, and the monitoring of performance and the outcomes were charted. We synthesized findings by reporting frequencies and percentages for the abovementioned main characteristics. Furthermore, we chart the studies' geographic location, publication date, and type of study performed in a bubble plot.

Results

Selection Process

Our research query provided 37 potential papers to be included in the study. After reviewing the title and abstract, we found 26 relevant documents to the research question. All these studies were then read in detail and reviewed, resulting in 21 papers to be included in the final study. This process is detailed in Figure 1.

Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flowchart of the study search and exclusion process.



General Characteristics

Overall, 21 studies were included in this scoping review, spanning from 2015 to 2023 and representing a diverse range of countries and study designs. As illustrated in Figure 2, most of the papers were conducted in the United States (n=5, 24%),

Spain (n=4, 19%), and South Korea (n=3, 14%). The distribution of study types across these regions shows a higher concentration of RCTs in the United States and Spain. In contrast, feasibility and usability studies were more evenly distributed across various countries.





Figure 2. Studies by geographic location, type of study, and year of publication. RCT: randomized controlled trial.

Table 1 shows that the most common type of study was the RCT, accounting for 48% (n=10) of the included studies. Feasibility studies constituted 33% (n=7) of the studies, while usability studies comprised the remaining 19% (n=4). The specific designs of these papers varied, with many adopting a prospective approach, and evaluations were often conducted at multiple time points, typically before and after intervention. Regarding sample sizes, the total sample size for most studies

was 50 or fewer, representing 57% (n=12) of the studies. Studies with sample sizes ranging from 51 to 100 comprised 33% (n=7), and only 10% (n=2) had more than 100 participants. When examining the sample size per group, 48% (n=10) of the studies had 30 or fewer participants per group, 43% (n=9) had between 31 and 50 participants per group, and only 10% (n=2) had more than 50 participants per group.



Table 1. Study design and participants characteristics.

	The former of the l	C	C	Destining the second of the second	
Paper	Type of study	Specific design	Sample size	acteristics c	state of cancer, other spe- cial characteristics
Schwartz et al (2015) [30]	RCT ^a	Prospective, random- ized, 2 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=50, T ^b =25, C ^c =25	 Sex: 76% (38/50) female Age: mean 52.4 (SD 12.9) years a 	Cancer under or after chemotherapy or radiother- apy
Galiano-Castillo et al (2016) [31]	RCT	Prospective, random- ized, 2 arms, in a par- allel group, 3-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=81, T=40, C=41	 Sex: 100% female Age: T: mean 47.4 (SD 9.6) a years, C: mean 49.2 (SD 7.9) w years 	Stage I-IIIA breast cancer after adjuvant therapy without conditions that imit exercise
Collins et al (2017) [32]	Feasibility study	Prospective, nonran- domized, 2 arms, in a parallel group, multi- ple time point evalua- tion (each appoint- ment)	Total=30, T=15, C=15	 Sex: 33.3% (10/30) female Age: T: mean 57 (range 47-77) years, C: mean 65 (range 37-72) years 	Head and neck cancer un- ler curative-intent chemotherapy or radiother- apy
Galiano-Castillo et al (2017) [33]	RCT	Prospective, random- ized, 2 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=81, T=40, C=41	 Sex: 100% female Age: T: mean 47.4 (SD 9.6) a years, C: mean 49.2 (SD 7.9) w years 	Stage I-IIIA breast cancer after adjuvant therapy and without conditions that imit physical exercise
Wall et al (2017) [34]	Usability study	Prospective, single- arm, 2-time point evaluation (pre-post)	Total=15	 Sex: 100% male Age: mean 58.7 (range 46-70) years p 	Dropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma planned for curative-intent chemother- apy without physical im- pairments that limit exer- cise
Frensham et al (2018) [35]	RCT	Prospective, random- ized, 2 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=91, T=46, C=45	 Sex: 51.6% (47/91) female S Age: T: mean 65.2 (SD 9.3) wyears, C: mean 66.1 (SD 9.4) myears Race: White=87, Asian=2, AT-SI^d=2 	Survivors of cancer who were not receiving treat- nent without contraindica- ions for exercise
Gehring et al (2018) [36]	RCT	Prospective, random- ized, 2 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=34, T=23, C=11	 Sex: 55.9% (19/34) female Age: T: mean 48.0 (SD 9.4) years, C: mean 48.0 (SD 11.9) 	Stage II-III glioma without contraindications for exer- cise
Vallerand et al (2018) [37]	Feasibility study	Prospective, random- ized, 2 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=51, T=26, C=25	 Sex: 60.8% (31/51) female Age: mean 52.6 (SD 13.7) years w 	Leukemia, non-Hodgkin or Hodgkin lymphoma with the ability to perform exercise
Villaron et al (2018) [38]	Feasibility study	Prospective, random- ized, 2 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=43, T=21, C=22	 Sex: 72.1% (31/43) female Age: mean 49.7 (SD 13.7) years w 	Cancer under chemothera- by or systemic treatment with the ability to perform exercise
Cheville et al (2019) [3 9]	RCT	Prospective, random- ized, 3 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=516, T1=72, T2=72, C=72	 Sex: 49.8% (257/516) female S Age: mean 65.6 (SD 11.1) years h Race: White=492, non- k White=24 in Ethnicity: Hispanic or Latino=28 b 	Stage IIIC or IV solid or nematologic cancer and ow to moderate functional mpairment that limits am- pulation
Ji et al (2019) [40]	RCT	Prospective, random- ized, 2 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=64, T=32, C=32	 Sex: 29.7% (19/64) female Age: T: mean 60.5 (SD 10.1) a years, C: mean 57.9 (SD 9.8) 1 years 	Nonsmall cell lung cancer, ability to walk more than 150 m in a 6-minute walk est

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56969

Goncalves Leite Rocco et al

Paper	Type of study	Specific design	Sample size	Pa ac	rticipants sociodemographic char- teristics	State of cancer, other spe- cial characteristics
Longacre et al (2019) [41]	RCT	Prospective, random- ized, 3 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=516, T1=172, T2=172, C=172	• • •	Sex: 49.8% (257/516) female Age: mean 65.6 (SD 11.1) years Race: White=492, non- White=24 Ethnicity: Hispanic or Latino=28	Stage IIIC or IV solid or hematologic cancer and low to moderate functional impairment that limits am- bulation
van Egmond et al (2020) [42]	Feasibility study	Ambispective, 2 arms, 2-time point evalua- tion (pre-post)	Total=45, T=15, C=30	•	Sex: 26.7% (12/45) female Age: T: mean 62.8 (SD 6.9) years, C: mean 60.3 (SD 7.0) years	Esophageal or gastric can- cer after surgery and with postoperative complica- tions, with impairments that limit mobility, were assigned to in-person ther- apy
Kim et al (2020) [43]	Usability study	Prospective, single- arm, 3-time point evaluation (pre-dur- ing-post)	Total=31	•	Sex: 16.1% (5/31) female Age: mean 56.7 (SD 7.7) years	Stage I-II hepatocellular carcinoma, who could walk independently for more than 30 minutes
MacDonald et al (2020) [44]	Feasibility study	Prospective, single- arm, 2-time point evaluation (pre-post)	Total=35	•	Sex: 62.9% (22/35) female Age: mean 55 (SD 15.9) years	Survivors of cancer with a moderate-high disability received clearance from a physiatrist to participate in exercise
Piraux et al (2020) [45]	Feasibility study	Prospective, single- arm, 2-time point evaluation (pre-post)	Total=23	•	Sex: 30.4% (7/23) female Age: mean 61.7 (SD 10.6) years	Esophageal or gastric can- cer planned for surgery without conditions that contraindicate or limit ex- ercise
Zhou et al (2021) [46]	Usability study	Cross-sectional, sin- gle-arm, 1-time point evaluation (post)	Total=15	•	Sex: 100% female Age: mean 54.7 (SD 7.78) years	Stage I-III breast cancer after surgery, able to per- form whole-body physical activity
Finkelstein et al (2022) [47]	Usability study	Cross-sectional, sin- gle-arm, 1-time point evaluation (post)	Total=11	•	Sex: 100% male Age: mean 68.1 (SD 11.2) years	Metastatic urogenital can- cer receiving outpatient care
Lozano-Lozano et al (2020) [48]	RCT	Prospective, random- ized, 2 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=80, T=40, C=40	•	Sex: 100% female Age: T: mean 49.7 (SD 8.42) years, C: mean 53.4 (SD 8.66) years	Stage I-IIIA breast cancer, some range of ROM ^e limi- tation, and overweight
Park et al (2023) [49]	RCT	Prospective, random- ized, 2 arms, in a par- allel group, 2-time point evaluation (pre- post)	Total=100, T=50, C=50	•	Sex: 100% female Age: T: mean 42.5 (SD 9.06) years, C: mean 47.3 (SD 8.55) years	Breast cancer after surgery, with limited ROM in the affected shoulder but able to perform exercise
Filakova et al (2023) [50]	Feasibility study	Prospective, single- arm, 2-time point evaluation (pre-post)	Total=11	•	Sex: 72.3% (8/11) female Age: mean 60.3 (SD 10) years	Lymphoma after chemotherapy with the ability to perform exercise

^aRCT: randomized controlled trial.

^bT=treatment group.

^cC=control group.

^dATSI: Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander.

^eROM: range of motion.

Participants Characteristics

Table 1 reveals that the gender distribution among the studies was varied. Only 2 (10%) studies included all men, whereas 7 (33%) studies had more men than women. Similarly, 7 (33%) studies had more women than men, and 5 (24%) studies included

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56969

XSL•FO RenderX all women participants. Most of the studies involved participants aged 65 years or younger, accounting for 81% (n=17) of the studies. Only 19% (n=4) of the studies included participants who were older than 65 years.

The studies encompassed a wide range of cancer types and stages of cancer treatment (Table 1). Organ-specific cancers were the focus of 67% (n=14) of the studies, including breast cancer, head and neck cancer, lung cancer, and various others. The remaining 33% (n=7) of the studies did not specify the type of cancer, focusing instead on survivors of cancer or patients with cancer undergoing chemotherapy or radiotherapy. In total, 6 (29%) studies included participants who were in the posttreatment, while 3 (14%) studies involved participants undergoing treatment. Only 2 (10%) studies included participants before the start of the treatment, and 10 (48%) studies had unclear stages of treatment.

Technology Used

As shown in Table 2, the papers included in this scoping review used various technologies to deliver exercise programs or monitor participants, highlighting the diverse approaches to telerehabilitation for patients with cancer. Most studies (n=13, 62%) used web-based systems, such as Retwise, e-CUIDATE, and SwallowIT, to facilitate patient and provider interactions. Mobile apps were used in 24% (n=5) of the studies, with apps like Physitrack (Physitrack PLC), Second Wind (Mediplus Solution), and the BENECA mobile health (mHealth) app (Mixed University Sport and Health Institute) being notable examples.



Goncalves Leite Rocco et al

 Table 2. Intervention characteristics.

Paper	Technology used to deliv- er exercise programs or monitoring	Type of exercise program	Exercise pro- gram descrip- tion	Duration, frequency, time per session, and intensity of the pro- gram	Monitoring of perfor- mance		Outcomes mea- sured
Schwartz et al (2015) [30]	Web-based system (Ret- wise website) for pa- tient+pulse oximeter	In-person clinic- based rehabilita- tion+self-directed home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	Aerobic and re- sistance train- ing.	12 weeks, 3-4 ses- sions per week, 20 minutes of aerobic exercise at an intensi- ty of 60%-70% of aerobic capacity, and 3-5 resistance exercises with un- clear time per ses- sion, neither intensi- ty.	•	Self-monitoring us- ing digital tools and web system	6MWT ^a , 1-repeti- tion maximum of lower and upper body strength.
Galiano- Castillo et al (2016) [31]	Web-based system (e- CUIDATE website) for patient and provider+phone call	Home-based re- mote real-time guidance provided by CUIDATE re- search staff	(1) Warm - up, (2) resistance and aerobic ex- ercise training, and (3) cool - down.	8 weeks, 3 sessions per week, 90 min- utes per session. In- tensity and volume of exercise accord- ing to guidelines of the American Col- lege of Sports Medicine for sur- vivors of cancer.	•	Remote asyn- chronous and syn- chronous monitor- ing via web system, videoconferencing, or phone calls, on- demand by CUI- DATE research staff	QoL ^b , Brief Pain Inventory, hand- grip dynamometer, isometric abdomi- nal test, back dy- namometer, multi- ple sit - to - stand test, and the Piper Fatigue Scale.
Collins et al (2017) [32]	Web-based system (un- specified website) for pa- tient and provider	Home-based re- mote real-time guidance provided by clinic staff	Rehabilitation of swallowing and communica- tion function, nutritional man- agement, and review of post- treatment symp- toms.	8 months, unclear frequency, neither time per session, and these were requested on-demand. Unclear intensity.	•	Unclear	Service outcomes, costs, and con- sumer satisfaction.
Galiano- Castillo et al (2017) [33]	Web-based system (e- CUIDATE website) for patient and provider+phone calls	Web system-guid- ed home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	(1) Warm - up, (2) resistance and aerobic ex- ercise training, and (3) cool - down.	8 weeks, 3 sessions per week, 90 min- utes per session. In- tensity and volume of exercise accord- ing to guidelines of the American Col- lege of Sports Medicine for sur- vivors of cancer.	•	Remote asyn- chronous and syn- chronous monitor- ing via web system, videoconferencing, or phone calls, on- demand by CUI- DATE research staff	6MWT, Auditory Consonant Tri- grams, and Trail Making Test.
Wall et al (2017) [34]	Web-based system (SwallowIT website) for patient and provider	Web system—guid- ed home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	Swallowing ex- ercises based on the "Pharyngo- cise" protocol.	6 weeks, daily, 45 minutes per session. Unclear intensity.	•	Remote asyn- chronous monitor- ing after exercise via web system, un- clear frequency by the speech patholo- gist	Perceptions were evaluated via structured question- naires and phone interviews. Pa- tients' perceptions toward using Swal- lowIT (4 ques- tions), the function- ality of the system (2 questions), the efficacy of the sys- tem (4 questions), and preferences for other service-deliv- ery models (2 questions).



Goncalves Leite Rocco et al

Paper	Technology used to deliv- er exercise programs or monitoring	Type of exercise program	Exercise pro- gram descrip- tion	Duration, frequency, time per session, and intensity of the pro- gram	Monitoring of perfor- mance		Outcomes mea- sured
Frensham et al (2018) [35]	Web-based system (STRIDE website) for patient+pedometer	Self-directed home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	Individual tar- get steps per day program.	Unclear.	•	Self-monitoring via web system, daily	Measures of physi- ology, physical fit- ness, QoL, and 6MWT.
Gehring et al (2018) [36]	Web-based system (un- specified website) for pa- tient and provider+HR ^c monitor watch+phone calls	Self-directed home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	The interven- tion comprised 3 home-based aerobic training sessions per week for 6 months.	6 months, 3 sessions per week, unclear time per session. In- tensity of 60%-85% of maxHR.	•	Remote asyn- chronous monitor- ing after exercise via the system weekly by the phys- iotherapist	Feasibility (accru- al, attrition, adher- ence, and safety), satisfaction, pa- tient-reported physical activity, VO_2 peak ^d , and BMI.
Vallerand et al (2018) [37]	Phone call–based system for both patients and providers	Self-directed home-based regu- lar progressing ex- ercise program	Aerobic exercis- es.	12 weeks, unclear frequency, recom- mended 60-300 min- utes per week time per session. Unclear intensity.	•	Remote syn- chronous monitor- ing or coaching via phone call weekly by research staff	Self-reported aero- bic exercise behav- ior, QoL, fatigue, and program satis- faction. Feasibility metrics (recruit- ment, adherence, adverse events, re- tention, follow-up, and acceptability metrics).
Villaron et al (2018) [38]	Pedometer+SMS text messaging	Self-directed home-based stan- dard exercise pro- gram	Walking pro- gram with a pe- dometer.	8 weeks, unclear fre- quency, time per session, neither inten- sity.	•	Remote asyn- chronous coaching, weekly by research staff	Level of physical activity (pedome- ter), fatigue (MFI- 20 ^e), and EORTC- QLQ-C30 ^f .
Cheville et al (2019) [39]	Web-based system (un- specified website) for both patient and providers+pedome- ter+phone call	Self-directed home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	The physical therapists in- structed patients in an incremen- tal pedome- ter-based walk- ing program and a resistive exercise pro- gram.	6 months, recom- mended at least 4 sessions per week, unclear time per ses- sion, neither intensi- ty.	•	Remote syn- chronous monitor- ing after exercise via phone call, on demand by physio- therapist Remote asyn- chronous monitor- ing via web system, weekly by physio- therapist	Activity measure (computer adaptive test), pain interfer- ence and average intensity (Brief Pain Inventory), and QoL (EQ-5D- 3L).
Ji et al (2019) [40]	Mobile app (efil breath) for patients+wearable pulse oximeter+web- based system for providers	Mobile app–guided home-based tai- lored or fixed exer- cise program	Walking dis- tance exercise program mainly and resistance exercises guid- ance videos.	12 weeks, unclear frequency, time per session, neither inten- sity.	•	Remote asyn- chronous monitor- ing after exercise via web system, un- clear frequency by lung cancer special- ists and nurses	6MWT, dyspnea (mMRC ^g), QoL (EQ-5D), and ser- vice satisfaction.
Longacre et al (2019) [41]	Web-based system (un- specified website) for both patient and providers+pedome- ter+phone call	Self-directed home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	Pedometer- based walking program and a resistive exer- cise program.	6 months, recom- mended at least 4 sessions per week, unclear time per ses- sion, neither intensi- ty.	•	Remote syn- chronous monitor- ing after exercise via phone call, on demand by physio- therapist Remote asyn- chronous monitor- ing via web system, weekly by physio- therapist	QoL (EQ-5D-3L) and intervention costs.

Goncalves Leite Rocco et al

Paper	Technology used to deliv- er exercise programs or monitoring	Type of exercise program	Exercise pro- gram descrip- tion	Duration, frequency, time per session, and intensity of the pro- gram	Monitoring of perfor- mance	Outcomes mea- sured
van Egmond et al (2020) [42]	Mobile app (Physitrack) for patients	Web system–guid- ed home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	Muscle strength, coordi- nation, range of joint motion, and stamina.	12 weeks, at least 2 sessions per week, unclear time per ses- sion. The intensity and frequency of the functional exercises were determined ac- cording to the guide- lines of the Ameri- can College of Sports Medicine.	• Remote syn- chronous monitor- ing after exercise via phone call, SMS text messaging, or videoconference weekly by physio- therapist	Willingness, adher- ence, refusal rate, treatment duration, occurrence of ad- verse events, pa- tient satisfaction. Musculoskeletal and cardiovascular functions and activ- ities.
Kim et al (2020) [43]	Mobile app (Second Wind) for patients and providers+IoT ^h track de- vice (HR, steps, calorie expenditure, and exercise time)	Mobile app–guided home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	Warm-up, stretching, aero- bic, and mus- cle-strengthen- ing exercises for the upper and lower ex- tremities.	12 weeks, unclear frequency, neither time per session. In- tensity and target HR for the aerobic exercise were set from the results of the 6MWT.	• Self-monitoring us ing digital tools and on-demand remote asynchronous moni toring by the study coordinator	6MWT, grip strength test, 30- second chair stand test, IPAQ-SF ⁱ , body composition, biochemical pro- files, and QoL (C30).
MacDon- ald et al (2020) [44]	Mobile app (Physitrack) for patients and providers+Fitbit+phone calls	Mobile app–guided home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	Aerobic exer- cise for 150 minutes per week, 2-3 days of resistance training, and routine large muscle group flexibility train- ing.	8 weeks, 2-3 ses- sions per week, un- clear time per ses- sion, neither intensi- ty.	• Self-monitoring via mHealth ^j app and remote asyn- chronous monitor- ing via web system and feedback provid ed via phone call weekly by kinesiolo gist	Feasibility, accept- ability. Physical symptoms, social functioning, dis- tress, physical ac- tivity, work func- tion, and physiolog- ical factors.
Piraux et al (2020) [45]	Web-based system (Virtu- agym website) for pa- tients and provider+phone calls	Digital tool–guided home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	Tele-prehabilita- tion, including aerobic, resis- tance, and inspi- ratory muscle training.	2-4 weeks, 3-5 ses- sions per week, 75 minutes per session. Intensity of 65%- 74% of maximum HR for aerobic exer- cises.	• Remote syn- chronous monitor- ing after exercise via phone call by physiotherapist	Feasibility (recruit- ment rate, retention rate, attendance to exercise sessions, exercise-related adverse events, and patient satisfac- tion), 6MWT, fa- tigue, QoL, anxi- ety, and depres- sion.
Zhou et al (2021) [46]	Virtual reality–based system	By design, digital tool–guided home- based tailored pro- gram	 (1) Fist clenching, (2) wrist twisting, (3) elbow bending, (4) lifting, (5) shoulder circling, (6) ear touching, (7) wall climbing, (8) backhanding, (9) head holding, (10) abduction. 	1 session.	• Unclear	General informa- tion questionnaire, usability surveys: System Usability Scale (SUS), SSQ ^k , and PQ ¹ .
Finkelstein et al (2022) [47]	Web-based system (HAT system website) for pa- tients	By design, web system–guided home-based tai- lored program	Individuality: specific exercis- es based on pa- tients' needs.	1 session.	• Remote asyn- chronous monitor- ing after exercise via system by the health provider	Surveys: sociode- mographic form, the Rapid Estimate of Adult Literacy in Medicine, SUS; semistructured qualitative exit in- terview.

JMIR CANCER	Goncalves Leite Rocco et al

Paper	Technology used to deliv- er exercise programs or monitoring	Type of exercise program	Exercise pro- gram descrip- tion	Duration, frequency, time per session, and intensity of the pro- gram	Monitoring of perfor- mance	Outcomes mea- sured
Lozano- Lozano et al (2020) [48]	Mobile app (BENECA mHealth app) for patients	In-person clinic- based rehabilita- tion	Individualized AROM ^m ses- sion.	8 weeks, 3 sessions per week, 75-95 minutes per session. Unclear intensity.	• Self-monitoring via mHealth app	QoL (EORTC QLQ-C30 and EORTC QLQ- BR23 ⁿ), Disabili- ties of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand (DASH), a self-reported ques- tionnaire that mea- sures symptoms and physical func- tion (disability) for any upper-limb re- gion.
Park et al (2023) [49]	Virtual reality-based system (Kinnect motion capture via Xbox [UIN- CARE Home+rehabilita- tion system])	Digital tool–guided home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	Each exercise level was com- posed of warm- up (deep breath- ing+trunk twist), main workouts (differ- ent degrees of motion and variations of passive or ac- tive flexion, ro- tation, and ab- duction exercis- es with or with- out dumbbells were used), and cool-down (deep breath- ing) compo- nents. The exer- cise level was determined ac- cording to the results obtained over the first 4 weeks. Passive and active ROM ^o of shoul- der exercises were included.	12 weeks, daily, un- clear time per ses- sion, neither intensi- ty.	• Remote asyn- chronous monitor- ing after exercise via a system by the physician	ROM of the affect- ed shoulder, pain in the affected shoulder (Numeri- cal Rating Scale), functional out- comes (Quick DASH score), and QoL (Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy- Breast and EQ-5D- 5L).
Filakova et al (2023) [50]	Web-based system (Po- larFlow website) for pa- tient+HR monitor sync to website+phone call	Self-directed home-based tai- lored exercise pro- gram	Modality of walking, Nordic walking, or cy- cling dependent on patient pref- erence.	12 weeks, 3 sessions per week, 30-50 minutes per session. Intensity of 60%- 85% HRmax and 11-13 on the Borg rating of RPE ^p .	 Remote syn- chronous monitor- ing after exercise via phone call weekly by the phys- iotherapist Remote asyn- chronous monitor- ing via web system, unclear frequency by physiotherapist 	Weight, body com- position, cardiopul- monary exercise test.

^a6MWT: 6-minute walking test.

- ^bQoL: quality of life.
- ^cHR: heart rate.

XSL•FO RenderX

 d VO₂ peak: peak oxygen uptake.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56969

^eMFI-20: Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory.

^fEORTC QLQ-C30: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire Core 30.

^gmMRC: modified Medical Research Council Dyspnea Scale.

^hIoT: Internet of Things.

ⁱIPAQ-SF: International Physical Activity Questionnaire-Short Form.

^jmHealth: mobile health.

^kSSQ: Simulator Sickness Questionnaire.

¹PQ: Presence Questionnaire.

^mAROM: active range of motion.

ⁿEORTC QLQ-BR23: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire and Breast Module.

^oROM: range of motion.

^pRPE: rate of perceived exertion.

Phone call or SMS text messaging–based systems were used in 43% (n=9) of the studies, either as stand-alone methods or in conjunction with other technologies. For instance, Vallerand et al [37] and Villaron et al [38] used phone calls and SMS text messaging, respectively, to deliver and monitor exercise programs. Additionally, medical devices were integrated into 24% (n=5) of the studies, often paired with other technologies. Examples include pulse oximeters, pedometers, and heart rate monitor watches.

Immersive technologies, such as virtual reality (VR), were used in 10% (n=2) of the studies. These included systems like the Kinect motion capture via Xbox and other VR-based approaches.

The studies varied in the number of technologies used. Approximately 48% (n=10) of the studies used only 1 type of ICT to deliver their programs. In contrast, 9 (43%) studies used 2 types of ICT, combining methods like web-based systems with phone calls or medical devices. A smaller portion (n=2, 10%) used 3 types of ICT.

Several studies combined different technologies to enhance the delivery and monitoring of exercise programs. For example, Ji et al [40] used a combination of a mobile app (efil breath; LifeSemantics Corp), a wearable pulse oximeter, and a web-based system for providers. Similarly, MacDonald et al [44] integrated a mobile app (Physitrack), a Fitbit device, and phone calls to provide comprehensive patient support. Other studies focused on leveraging the strengths of specific technologies. For instance, van Egmond et al [42] used the mobile app Physitrack for patient engagement, while Finkelstein et al [47] used the Home Automated Telemanagement website to facilitate patient interactions.

Exercise Program Details

Most physical rehabilitation programs (n=7, 33%) were self-directed, home-based tailored exercise programs, where patients followed individualized exercise plans independently. Web system–guided programs accounted for 24% (n=5) of the studies, using digital platforms to provide real-time or asynchronous guidance. Mobile app–guided programs comprised 14% (n=3) of the studies, leveraging mHealth apps to deliver and monitor exercise routines. Additionally, 14% (n=3) of the programs were directly guided by health providers, and digital tools guided 10% (n=2).

Most exercise programs (n=19, 90%) were home-based, enabling patients to perform their routines in a familiar environment.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56969
```

XSL•F() RenderX Only 1 (5%) study included clinic-based rehabilitation, and another (n=1, 5%) combined home and clinic-based exercises. The types of exercises predominantly included aerobic (n=19, 90%), resistance (n=13, 62%), and flexibility training (n=7, 33%). Only 2 (10%) studies focused explicitly on swallowing exercises, addressing particular needs of patients with oropharyngeal cancer.

The duration of the exercise programs varied, with 11 (52%) of the papers reporting interventions extending beyond 2 months and 7 (33%) lasting 2 months or less. The frequency of exercise sessions was less than daily in 48% (n=10) of the studies, while daily exercise was prescribed in 14% (n=3). However, the exercise frequency was unclear in 29% (n=6) of the studies. The time per session was varied, with 24% (n=5) of the studies specifying sessions of 1 hour or less and 10% (n=2) indicating sessions longer than 1 hour. The time per session was unclear in 57% (n=12) of the studies. The exercise intensity was explicitly defined in 38% (n=8) of the studies, while it remained unclear in 52% (n=11).

Monitoring methods were diverse, reflecting the integration of various technologies and approaches. Remote asynchronous monitoring was common, with many studies using web systems, phone calls, or mobile apps to track patient progress. For instance, Galiano-Castillo et al [31,33] used both synchronous and asynchronous monitoring via web systems and videoconferencing, while MacDonald et al [44] combined self-monitoring via a mHealth app with weekly feedback from a kinesiologist. Self-monitoring was also a key component in several programs. Schwartz et al [30] and Kim et al [43] implemented self-monitoring using digital tools, allowing patients to track their own progress and report it to health care providers as needed.

Outcomes Measured

The outcomes measured in the studies included in this scoping review highlight the multifaceted approach to assessing the effectiveness and feasibility of physical telerehabilitation programs for patients with cancer. These outcomes can be broadly categorized into QoL, usability, feasibility, and functional outcomes, with some studies measuring additional specific outcomes.

QoL was a key outcome measured in 48% (n=10) of the studies. Instruments such as the EQ-5D-3L, Brief Pain Inventory, Piper Fatigue Scale, and various cancer-specific QoL questionnaires

like the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire Core 30 were commonly used. For instance, Galiano-Castillo et al [31] and Cheville et al [39] used these tools to evaluate participants' overall well-being and health status, while van Egmond et al [42] assessed musculoskeletal and cardiovascular functions and activities alongside patient satisfaction.

Usability outcomes were assessed in 38% (n=9) of the studies, focusing on the practicality and user-friendliness of the telerehabilitation interventions. Studies like those by Wall et al [34] and Finkelstein et al [47] used structured questionnaires and surveys, including the System Usability Scale, to gather feedback on participants' experiences and satisfaction with the technological platforms used.

Feasibility outcomes, measured in 14% (n=3) of the studies, included metrics such as recruitment rates, adherence, retention, and safety. The studies by Gehring et al [36] and MacDonald et al [44] focused on these aspects to determine the practicality and acceptability of the interventions.

Functional outcomes were the most frequently assessed, with 71% (n=15) of the studies measuring various aspects of physical performance. Commonly used measures included the 6-minute walk test, grip strength tests, and body composition assessments. Studies like those by Schwartz et al [30] and Kim et al [43] used these tests to evaluate improvements in physical fitness and functional capacity. Additionally, specific functional outcomes related to cancer treatment, such as the Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand questionnaire used by Lozano-Lozano et al [48], were also assessed.

Other outcomes measured in 33% (n=7) of the studies included service outcomes, costs, and consumer satisfaction, as seen in the study by Collins et al [32]. Additionally, some studies measured unique outcomes specific to the intervention or population, such as weight and body composition, as in the study by Filakova et al [50].

Most studies (n=11, 52%) measured 2 outcomes, integrating assessments of functional performance and QoL or usability. For example, Ji et al [40] evaluated the 6-minute walk test, dyspnea, QoL, and service satisfaction, providing a comprehensive overview of the intervention's impact. A smaller portion of studies (n=5, 24%) measured 3 or more types of outcomes, offering a detailed evaluation across multiple dimensions.

Discussion

Principal Results and Comparison With Other Studies

This scoping review aimed to explore the existing telerehabilitation studies for patients with cancer. We included 21 papers that met our criteria. The major findings indicated that physical therapy delivered via telehealth for patients with cancer can improve functional capacity, cognitive functioning, and QoL [33,48]; reduce pain and hospital length of stay [39]; and improve fatigue, physical well-being, emotional well-being, and anxiety [45]. Additionally, improvements in absolute peak oxygen uptake and BMI [36,50]; handgrip strength of affected

XSI•FC

and nonaffected sides; abdominal, back, and lower body strength [31]; physical fitness, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, waist girth, mental health, social functioning, and general health [35]; and strength and endurance were observed [30]. Positive effects on feasibility [32,36,37,42,44-47], acceptability [30,34,44], and cost-effectiveness were also noted [41].

These findings align with previous studies demonstrating the feasibility of physiotherapy with telerehabilitation. For instance, a systematic review with meta-analysis by van Egmond et al [51] showed that telerehabilitation in surgical populations is feasible and can enhance QoL. Given that the effectiveness of telerehabilitation is at least equal to usual care for physical outcomes, it presents a viable alternative for physical therapy [51]. The improvement of QoL was a major outcome across most studies; similarly, a systematic review by Bártolo et al [52] found a trend toward improved QoL among patients with cancer who were exposed to telecare interventions.

This review included 10 RCTs, 7 feasibility studies, and 4 usability studies. Consequently, there is a need for more robust studies on cancer telerehabilitation, with greater uniformity in clinical trial reports. Developing clinical practice guidelines and integrating exercise and rehabilitation services into the cancer care delivery system are essential steps forward [53].

Research indicates that exercise is advantageous before, during, and after cancer treatment, applicable to all cancer types and various cancer-related impairments [53]. Engaging in moderate to vigorous exercise is particularly effective for enhancing physical function and alleviating cancer-related impairments. Supervised exercise programs have been shown to provide greater benefits than unsupervised ones, with serious adverse events being rare [53]. In our review, the exercises included aerobic routines, resistance training, swallowing exercises, and walking programs, all supervised via web-based systems, mobile apps, and telephone calls.

However, our review also reveals gaps in the current literature, particularly in the underreporting of exercise intensity and frequency, which are crucial for understanding the full impact of these programs. Future studies should provide more detailed descriptions of these parameters to enhance the reproducibility and comparability of findings. Moreover, while our review indicates overall positive outcomes, the variability in study designs and sample sizes suggests a need for more standardized methodologies to strengthen the evidence base.

A recent systematic review on the effectiveness of exercise-based telerehabilitation for patients with cancer demonstrated significant improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness (standardized mean difference=0.34; 95% CI 0.20-0.49) and physical activity (standardized mean difference=0.34; 95% CI 0.17-0.51) [54]. However, the review did not find significant changes in other outcomes, such as QoL, fatigue, or mental health. These findings underscore specific areas of measurable improvement while highlighting gaps in other critical domains of patient well-being. Complementarily, our scoping review uniquely contributes to this field by offering a more comprehensive examination of telerehabilitation interventions. Unlike the systematic review, we included quasi-experimental

studies and assessed feasibility and usability outcomes, providing a broader understanding of the preliminary research landscape. This inclusive approach not only explores the outcomes evaluated by the interventions but also evaluates their practical implementation and user experience. By detailing the various components and methodologies of telerehabilitation programs, our review extends the current knowledge base, emphasizing the multifaceted benefits and challenges of implementing these interventions for patients with cancer. This holistic perspective is crucial for developing more effective and user-centered telerehabilitation strategies in oncology care.

We only found 2 papers using immersive technologies, such as VR, with 1 RCT reporting beneficial outcomes for patients. This finding aligns with recent evidence suggesting that VR is feasible for telerehabilitation in other chronic conditions, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and orthopedic diseases [55,56]. Given the recent increase in research on immersive technologies, VR in telerehabilitation is a promising area for future exploration [57].

Another noteworthy aspect of our review is that only 5 papers referenced the use of wearable devices to provide patients with objective measures of progress during their rehabilitation. Although limited in our review, wearable devices offer significant potential for remote monitoring. A systematic review found that wearables significantly increased physical activity levels in patients with cardiovascular diseases [58]. This suggests that wearable or noncontact sensors [52] could be effectively integrated into telerehabilitation programs to enhance patient monitoring and outcomes.

Finally, using artificial intelligence (AI) in telerehabilitation is a technological trend worth observing. Our review did not find any papers referencing the use of AI. Still, the recent exponential growth in AI applications in health care suggests this trend could be explored in future studies. AI has the potential to significantly impact telerehabilitation by providing personalized and adaptive interventions based on patient data [59,60]. Exploring AI integration could open new avenues for improving the effectiveness and efficiency of telerehabilitation programs.

Limitations

This scoping review has some limitations that should be acknowledged. First, the heterogeneity of the included studies presents a challenge in synthesizing the findings. The studies varied widely in terms of their design, participant characteristics, types of cancer, interventions, and outcomes measured. This variability makes it difficult to draw definitive conclusions about the overall effectiveness of telerehabilitation for patients with cancer. Despite this, the diversity of studies also highlights the flexibility and adaptability of telerehabilitation interventions, which is a strength in addressing the varied needs of patients with cancer. Second, the reliance on self-reported data for some outcomes may introduce reporting bias and affect the accuracy of the findings. While self-reported measures are valuable for assessing subjective outcomes like QoL, they are susceptible to inaccuracies. Objective measures such as wearable devices to monitor physical activity and physiological parameters can help validate self-reported data and provide a more comprehensive assessment. Third, many of the included studies had relatively small sample sizes, limiting the statistical power and generalizability of the results. Conducting larger, multicenter studies would increase sample sizes and enhance the representativeness of the findings, providing more robust statistical power to detect significant effects. Fourth, the technological variability across studies, with different platforms used for delivering and monitoring telerehabilitation, adds another layer of complexity and affects the comparability of the results. Standardizing the technological platforms used in interventions could reduce variability and improve comparability. Fifth, our review did not include a formal risk of bias evaluation, which could affect the reliability of our conclusions. While we included RCTs and quasi-experimental studies, which generally have higher quality, and ensured that all studies came from peer-reviewed journals, future studies should incorporate a formal risk of bias assessment to further enhance the rigor and reliability of the findings. Finally, we acknowledge that this is a rapidly evolving field, and more recent studies or those published before 2015 may have been missed. Moreover, while we conducted a thorough search, the exclusive use of PubMed as the database and the specific term "telerehabilitation" may have limited the identification of some relevant papers. The term "telerehabilitation" is relatively recent and might not be uniformly used across different regions and research contexts, potentially omitting some studies that use alternative terminology. Future reviews could benefit from including multiple databases and a broader range of search terms to capture the full scope of the literature. Despite these limitations, our review provides a comprehensive overview of the current state of research in telerehabilitation for patients with cancer, highlighting important trends and gaps that can inform future studies and clinical practice.

Conclusions

This scoping review demonstrates that telerehabilitation exercises for patients with cancer are beneficial and feasible, with various approaches used in study design, technology, exercises, and outcomes. The evidence indicates that telerehabilitation can improve functional capacity, cognitive functioning, QoL, and other health metrics while being cost-effective and acceptable to patients. However, the review also highlights significant variability in study designs and a need for more detailed reporting on exercise intensity and frequency. Future research should focus on developing standardized methodologies, incorporating objective measures, and exploring emerging technologies such as VR and AI to optimize telerehabilitation interventions for patients with cancer. By addressing these areas, we can enhance clinical practice and improve outcomes for remote rehabilitation with patients.



Acknowledgments

This was in part supported by the grant R33HL143317 from the National Institutes of Health and the contract HT94252410264 from the Department of Defense Prostate Cancer Research Program for the Office of the Congressionally Directed Medical Research Programs.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Extension for Scoping Reviews) checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 68 KB - cancer_v10i1e56969_app1.pdf]

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin 2020;70(1):7-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21590] [Medline: <u>31912902</u>]
- Mustian KM, Sprod LK, Palesh OG, Peppone LJ, Janelsins MC, Mohile SG, et al. Exercise for the management of side effects and quality of life among cancer survivors. Curr Sports Med Rep 2009;8(6):325-330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/JSR.0b013e3181c22324] [Medline: 19904073]
- Schmitz KH, Courneya KS, Matthews C, Demark-Wahnefried W, Galvão DA, Pinto BM, et al. American College of Sports Medicine roundtable on exercise guidelines for cancer survivors. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2010;42(7):1409-1426. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181e0c112] [Medline: 20559064]
- 4. Cieza A, Causey K, Kamenov K, Hanson SW, Chatterji S, Vos T. Global estimates of the need for rehabilitation based on the Global Burden of Disease study 2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet 2021;396(10267):2006-2017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32340-0] [Medline: 33275908]
- 5. Bourgeois A, Horrill TC, Mollison A, Lambert LK, Stajduhar KI. Barriers to cancer treatment and care for people experiencing structural vulnerability: a secondary analysis of ethnographic data. Int J Equity Health 2023;22(1):58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12939-023-01860-3] [Medline: 36998035]
- Jiang C, Yabroff KR, Deng L, Wang Q, Perimbeti S, Shapiro CL, et al. Self-reported transportation barriers to health care among US cancer survivors. JAMA Oncol 2022;8(5):775-778 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1001/jamaoncol.2022.0143</u>] [Medline: <u>35323841</u>]
- Ackerman MJ, Filart R, Burgess LP, Lee I, Poropatich RK. Developing next-generation telehealth tools and technologies: patients, systems, and data perspectives. Telemed J E Health 2010;16(1):93-95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2009.0153] [Medline: 20043711]
- 8. Fong KNK, Kwan RYC. Telerehabilitation (remote therapy). In: Gu D, Dupre ME, editors. Encyclopedia of Gerontology and Population Aging. Cham: Springer; 2020.
- Suso-Martí L, La Touche R, Herranz-Gómez A, Angulo-Díaz-Parreño S, Paris-Alemany A, Cuenca-Martínez F. Effectiveness of telerehabilitation in physical therapist practice: an umbrella and mapping review with meta-meta-analysis. Phys Ther 2021;101(5):pzab075 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzab075] [Medline: 33611598]
- 10. Tchero H, Tabue Teguo M, Lannuzel A, Rusch E. Telerehabilitation for stroke survivors: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2018;20(10):e10867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10867] [Medline: 30368437]
- Subedi N, Rawstorn JC, Gao L, Koorts H, Maddison R. Implementation of telerehabilitation interventions for the self-management of cardiovascular disease: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(11):e17957 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/17957</u>] [Medline: <u>33245286</u>]
- Keikha L, Maserat E, Mohammadzadeh Z. Telerehabilitation and monitoring physical activity in patient with breast cancer: systematic review. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res 2022;27(1):8-17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/ijnmr.ijnmr 472_20] [Medline: 35280190]
- 13. Solomon RM, Dhakal R, Halpin SJ, Hariharan R, O'Connor RJ, Allsop M, et al. Telerehabilitation for individuals with spinal cord injury in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic review of the literature. Spinal Cord 2022;60(5):395-403 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41393-022-00797-8] [Medline: 35411024]
- Cox NS, Dal Corso S, Hansen H, McDonald CF, Hill CJ, Zanaboni P, et al. Telerehabilitation for chronic respiratory disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2021;1(1):CD013040 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD013040.pub2] [Medline: 33511633]
- Truijen S, Abdullahi A, Bijsterbosch D, van Zoest E, Conijn M, Wang Y, et al. Effect of home-based virtual reality training and telerehabilitation on balance in individuals with Parkinson disease, multiple sclerosis, and stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurol Sci 2022;43(5):2995-3006 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10072-021-05855-2] [Medline: 35175439]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56969

- Baffert S, Hadouiri N, Fabron C, Burgy F, Cassany A, Kemoun G. Economic evaluation of telerehabilitation: systematic literature review of cost-utility studies. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2023;10(1):e47172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/47172] [Medline: <u>37669089</u>]
- 17. Baigi SFM, Mousavi AS, Kimiafar K, Sarbaz M. Evaluating the cost effectiveness of tele-rehabilitation: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. Front Health Inform 2022;11(1):118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.30699/fhi.v11i1.368]
- Shaffer KM, Turner KL, Siwik C, Gonzalez BD, Upasani R, Glazer JV, et al. Digital health and telehealth in cancer care: a scoping review of reviews. Lancet Digit Health 2023;5(5):e316-e327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(23)00049-3] [Medline: <u>37100545</u>]
- Lippi L, Turco A, Moalli S, Gallo M, Curci C, Maconi A, et al. Role of prehabilitation and rehabilitation on functional recovery and quality of life in thyroid cancer patients: a comprehensive review. Cancers (Basel) 2023;15(18):4502 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers15184502] [Medline: <u>37760472</u>]
- Yang W, Du Y, Chen M, Li S, Zhang F, Yu P, et al. Effectiveness of home-based telerehabilitation interventions for dysphagia in patients with head and neck cancer: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2023;25:e47324 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/47324] [Medline: <u>37682589</u>]
- 21. Garavand A, Aslani N, Behmanesh A, Khara R, Ehsanzadeh SJ, Khodaveisi T. Features of teleoncology in lung cancer: a scoping review. Patient Educ Couns 2023;114:107831. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2023.107831</u>] [Medline: <u>37295044</u>]
- 22. Chang P, Zheng J. Updates in cancer rehabilitation telehealth. Curr Phys Med Rehabil Rep 2022;10(4):332-338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40141-022-00372-5] [Medline: 36408472]
- Gonzalo-Encabo P, Wilson RL, Kang D, Normann AJ, Dieli-Conwright CM. Exercise oncology during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic: are virtually supervised exercise interventions a sustainable alternative? Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2022;174:103699 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2022.103699] [Medline: 35526668]
- 24. Deo SV, Pramanik R, Chaturvedi M, Nath A, Ghosh J, Das Majumdar SK, et al. Telemedicine and cancer care in India: promises, opportunities and caveats. Future Sci OA 2022;8(9):FSO821 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2144/fsoa-2022-0001] [Medline: 36788987]
- 25. Skiba MB, Wells SJ, Brick R, Tanner L, Rock K, Marchese V, et al. A systematic review of telehealth-based pediatric cancer rehabilitation interventions on disability. Telemed J E Health 2024;30(4):901-918. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2023.0224</u>] [Medline: <u>38010811</u>]
- 26. Giustiniani A, Danesin L, Pezzetta R, Masina F, Oliva G, Arcara G, et al. Use of telemedicine to improve cognitive functions and psychological well-being in patients with breast cancer: a systematic review of the current literature. Cancers (Basel) 2023;15(4):1353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers15041353] [Medline: 36831693]
- 27. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Ann Intern Med 2018;169(7):467-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M18-0850] [Medline: 30178033]
- 29. Gonçalves LRP, Finkelstein J. Telerehabilitation for patients with cancer: a scoping review. Open Science Framework. 2024. URL: <u>https://osf.io/7jxsr/</u> [accessed 2024-08-01]
- Schwartz AL, Biddle-Newberry M, de Heer HD. Randomized trial of exercise and an online recovery tool to improve rehabilitation outcomes of cancer survivors. Phys Sportsmed 2015;43(2):143-149 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/00913847.2015.1005547] [Medline: 25598168]
- Galiano-Castillo N, Cantarero-Villanueva I, Fernández-Lao C, Ariza-García A, Díaz-Rodríguez L, Del-Moral-Ávila R, et al. Telehealth system: a randomized controlled trial evaluating the impact of an internet-based exercise intervention on quality of life, pain, muscle strength, and fatigue in breast cancer survivors. Cancer 2016;122(20):3166-3174 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.30172] [Medline: 27332968]
- Collins A, Burns CL, Ward EC, Comans T, Blake C, Kenny L, et al. Home-based telehealth service for swallowing and nutrition management following head and neck cancer treatment. J Telemed Telecare 2017;23(10):866-872. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X17733020] [Medline: 29081270]
- 33. Galiano-Castillo N, Arroyo-Morales M, Lozano-Lozano M, Fernández-Lao C, Martín-Martín L, Del-Moral-Ávila R, et al. Effect of an internet-based telehealth system on functional capacity and cognition in breast cancer survivors: a secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. Support Care Cancer 2017;25(11):3551-3559. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-017-3782-9</u>] [Medline: <u>28639097</u>]
- 34. Wall LR, Ward EC, Cartmill B, Hill AJ, Porceddu SV. Examining user perceptions of SwallowIT: a pilot study of a new telepractice application for delivering intensive swallowing therapy to head and neck cancer patients. J Telemed Telecare 2017;23(1):53-59. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X15617887] [Medline: 26670210]
- 35. Frensham LJ, Parfitt G, Dollman J. Effect of a 12-week online walking intervention on health and quality of life in cancer survivors: a quasi-randomized controlled trial. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018;15(10):2081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph15102081] [Medline: 30248943]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56969
```

- 36. Gehring K, Kloek CJ, Aaronson NK, Janssen KW, Jones LW, Sitskoorn MM, et al. Feasibility of a home-based exercise intervention with remote guidance for patients with stable grade II and III gliomas: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Clin Rehabil 2018;32(3):352-366 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0269215517728326] [Medline: 28882061]
- Vallerand JR, Rhodes RE, Walker GJ, Courneya KS. Feasibility and preliminary efficacy of an exercise telephone counseling intervention for hematologic cancer survivors: a phase II randomized controlled trial. J Cancer Surviv 2018;12(3):357-370. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-018-0675-y</u>] [Medline: <u>29411314</u>]
- 38. Villaron C, Cury F, Eisinger F, Cappiello MA, Marqueste T. Telehealth applied to physical activity during cancer treatment: a feasibility, acceptability, and randomized pilot study. Support Care Cancer 2018;26(10):3413-3421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4191-4] [Medline: 29675546]
- 39. Cheville AL, Moynihan T, Herrin J, Loprinzi C, Kroenke K. Effect of collaborative telerehabilitation on functional impairment and pain among patients with advanced-stage cancer: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol 2019;5(5):644-652 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.0011] [Medline: 30946436]
- 40. Ji W, Kwon H, Lee S, Kim S, Hong JS, Park YR, et al. Mobile health management platform-based pulmonary rehabilitation for patients with non-small cell lung cancer: prospective clinical trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7(6):e12645 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12645] [Medline: 31228180]
- 41. Longacre CF, Nyman JA, Visscher SL, Borah BJ, Cheville AL. Cost-effectiveness of the Collaborative Care to Preserve Performance in Cancer (COPE) trial tele-rehabilitation interventions for patients with advanced cancers. Cancer Med 2020;9(8):2723-2731 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.2837] [Medline: 32090502]
- 42. van Egmond MA, Engelbert RHH, Klinkenbijl JHG, van Berge Henegouwen MI, van der Schaaf M. Physiotherapy with telerehabilitation in patients with complicated postoperative recovery after esophageal cancer surgery: feasibility study. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(6):e16056 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16056] [Medline: 32515742]
- 43. Kim Y, Seo J, An S, Sinn DH, Hwang JH. Efficacy and safety of an mHealth app and wearable device in physical performance for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: development and usability study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(3):e14435 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14435] [Medline: 32159517]
- MacDonald AM, Chafranskaia A, Lopez CJ, Maganti M, Bernstein LJ, Chang E, et al. CaRE @ Home: pilot study of an online multidimensional cancer rehabilitation and exercise program for cancer survivors. J Clin Med 2020;9(10):3092 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm9103092] [Medline: 32992759]
- 45. Piraux E, Caty G, Reychler G, Forget P, Deswysen Y. Feasibility and preliminary effectiveness of a tele-prehabilitation program in esophagogastric cancer patients. J Clin Med 2020;9(7):2176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm9072176] [Medline: 32660126]
- 46. Zhou Z, Li J, Wang H, Luan Z, Li Y, Peng X. Upper limb rehabilitation system based on virtual reality for breast cancer patients: development and usability study. PLoS One 2021;16(12):e0261220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0261220] [Medline: 34910786]
- 47. Finkelstein J, Huo X, Parvanova I, Galsky M. Usability inspection of a mobile cancer telerehabilitation system. Stud Health Technol Inform 2022;289:405-409. [doi: 10.3233/SHTI210944] [Medline: 35062177]
- 48. Lozano-Lozano M, Martín-Martín L, Galiano-Castillo N, Fernández-Lao C, Cantarero-Villanueva I, López-Barajas IB, et al. Mobile health and supervised rehabilitation versus mobile health alone in breast cancer survivors: randomized controlled trial. Ann Phys Rehabil Med 2020;63(4):316-324 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2019.07.007] [Medline: 31454561]
- 49. Park H, Nam KE, Lim J, Yeo SM, Lee JI, Hwang JH. Real-time interactive digital health care system for postoperative breast cancer patients: a randomized controlled trial. Telemed J E Health 2023;29(7):1057-1067. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2022.0360] [Medline: 36454316]
- 50. Filakova K, Janikova A, Felsoci M, Dosbaba F, Su JJ, Pepera G, et al. Home-based cardio-oncology rehabilitation using a telerehabilitation platform in hematological cancer survivors: a feasibility study. BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil 2023;15(1):38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13102-023-00650-2] [Medline: 36959613]
- 51. van Egmond MA, van der Schaaf M, Vredeveld T, Vollenbroek-Hutten MMR, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Klinkenbijl JHG, et al. Effectiveness of physiotherapy with telerehabilitation in surgical patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Physiotherapy 2018;104(3):277-298. [doi: 10.1016/j.physio.2018.04.004] [Medline: 30030037]
- 52. Bártolo A, Pacheco E, Rodrigues F, Pereira A, Monteiro S, Santos IM. Effectiveness of psycho-educational interventions with telecommunication technologies on emotional distress and quality of life of adult cancer patients: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil 2019;41(8):870-878. [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2017.1411534] [Medline: 29219027]
- 53. Stout NL, Baima J, Swisher AK, Winters-Stone KM, Welsh J. A systematic review of exercise systematic reviews in the cancer literature (2005-2017). PM R 2017;9(9S2):S347-S384 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2017.07.074] [Medline: 28942909]
- Batalik L, Chamradova K, Winnige P, Dosbaba F, Batalikova K, Vlazna D, et al. Effect of exercise-based cancer rehabilitation via telehealth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Cancer 2024;24(1):600 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-024-12348-w] [Medline: 38760805]
- 55. Gabriel AS, Tsai T, Xhakli T, Finkelstein J. Mixed-methods assessment of a virtual reality-based system for pulmonary rehabilitation. Stud Health Technol Inform 2023;309:245-249. [doi: <u>10.3233/SHTI230789</u>] [Medline: <u>37869851</u>]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56969

- 56. Lal H, Mohanta S, Kumar J, Patralekh MK, Lall L, Katariya H, et al. Telemedicine-rehabilitation and virtual reality in orthopaedics and sports medicine. Indian J Orthop 2023;57(1):7-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s43465-022-00766-6] [Medline: 36660485]
- Pawassar CM, Tiberius V. Virtual reality in health care: bibliometric analysis. JMIR Serious Games 2021;9(4):e32721 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/32721] [Medline: 34855606]
- 58. Alam S, Zhang M, Harris K, Fletcher LM, Reneker JC. The impact of consumer wearable devices on physical activity and adherence to physical activity in patients with cardiovascular disease: a systematic review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Telemed J E Health 2023;29(7):986-1000. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2022.0280] [Medline: 36445750]
- 59. Smiley A, Tsai T, Havrylchuk I, Gabriel A, Zakashansky E, Xhakli T, et al. Machine learning approaches for exercise exertion level classification using data from wearable physiologic monitors. Stud Health Technol Inform 2024;310:1428-1429. [doi: 10.3233/SHTI231228] [Medline: 38269680]
- 60. Amjad A, Kordel P, Fernandes G. A review on innovation in healthcare sector (telehealth) through artificial intelligence. Sustainability 2023;15(8):6655. [doi: 10.3390/su15086655]

Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence
ICT: information and communication technology
mHealth: mobile health
PRISMA-ScR: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Extension for Scoping Reviews
QoL: quality of life
RCT: randomized controlled trial
VR: virtual reality

Edited by G Eysenbach, N Cahill; submitted 01.02.24; peer-reviewed by B Lai, Y Shimizu; comments to author 12.04.24; revised version received 17.05.24; accepted 30.07.24; published 21.08.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
Goncalves Leite Rocco P, Reategui-Rivera CM, Finkelstein J
Telemedicine Applications for Cancer Rehabilitation: Scoping Review
JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e56969
URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56969
PMID:39079103

©Patricia Goncalves Leite Rocco, C Mahony Reategui-Rivera, Joseph Finkelstein. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 21.08.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Need for Culturally Competent and Responsive Cancer Education for African Immigrant Families and Youth Living in the United States

Olufunmilola Abraham¹, BPharm, MS, PhD; Adeola Agoke², MA, PhD; Kazeem Sanuth³, MA, PhD; Abimbola Fapohunda⁴, MPH, MS, DrPH; Motolani Ogunsanya⁵, BPharm, PhD; Megan Piper⁶, BA, MClinPsych, PhD; Amy Trentham-Dietz⁷, MS, PhD

¹Social and Administrative Sciences Division, School of Pharmacy, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

⁵College of Pharmacy, Health Sciences Center, University of Oklahoma, Oklahoma City, OK, United States

⁷Population Health Sciences and Carbone Cancer Center, School of Medicine and Public Health, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

Corresponding Author:

Olufunmilola Abraham, BPharm, MS, PhD Social and Administrative Sciences Division School of Pharmacy University of Wisconsin-Madison Room 2515 Rennebohm Hall 777 Highland Avenue Madison, WI, 53705 United States Phone: 1 6082634498 Fax: 1 6082625262 Email: olufunmilola.abraham@wisc.edu

Abstract

Cancer prevalence data for Black Americans is monolithic and fails to consider the diverse cultures and backgrounds within that community. For instance, African immigrants constitute a meaningful proportion of the foreign-born Black immigrants in the United States (42%), but the prevalence of cancer in the African immigrant community itself is unknown. Therefore, without accurate cancer prevalence data, it is impossible to identify trends and other key factors that are needed to support the health of African immigrants and their children. Moreover, it is impossible to understand how the culture and language of subgroups influence their cancer-related health behavior. While research in this area is limited, the existing literature articulates the need for culturally responsive and culturally tailored cancer education for African immigrants and their adolescent children, which is what we advocate for in this viewpoint paper. Existing projects demonstrate the feasibility of culturally responsive programming for adults; however, few projects include or focus on adolescents or children born to African immigrants. To best meet the needs of this understudied community, researchers must use culturally competent interventions alongside familiar, usable media. For adolescents, technology is ubiquitous thus, the creation of a culturally tailored digital intervention has immense potential to improve cancer awareness and prevention for youth and their community. More research is needed to address many of the existing research gaps and develop a rich understanding of the unique experience of cancer among African immigrant families that can be used to inform intervention development. Through this viewpoint, we review the current state of cancer-related research among African immigrant families in the United States. In this paper, we acknowledge the current knowledge gaps and issues surrounding measurement and then discuss the factors relevant to designing an educational intervention targeted at African immigrants and the role of African immigrant youth.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53956) doi:10.2196/53956

²African Cultural Studies, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

³National African Language Resource Center, Indiana University Bloomington, Bloomington, IN, United States

⁴Behavioral and Community Health Sciences, School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

⁶Department of Medicine and Center for Tobacco Research and Intervention, School of Medicine and Public Health, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

KEYWORDS

African immigrant; youth; adolescent; adolescents; teen; teens; teenager; teenagers; cancer awareness; health disparities; culturally competent education; African; Black; immigrant; cultural; culturally; cancer; oncology; patient education; awareness; prevention; disparity; disparities

Introduction

Cancer has a profound impact on the experience of health for many in the United States that only continues to grow. Research has demonstrated the escalating rates of early-onset cancer diagnosis among women and the alarming decreasing rates for men and Black people; most commonly in breast, thyroid, and colorectal cancer [1]. Early diagnosis and prompt treatment of cancer are critical to improved public health. The decreasing rate of early cancer detection and response is introducing a significant health inequity among Black people in the United States. African-born immigrants and their children comprise a meaningful portion of the US population. The paper aims to describe the existing research gaps and experiences of cancer among African immigrant families and highlight the need to design and tailor cancer education for African immigrant families.

There was a surge in the African immigrant population between 1970 and 2015 [2]. This migration pattern has continued, with the African immigrant population growing from 881,000 in 2000 to 2.0 million in 2019, comprising 42% of the US foreign-born Black population. African immigrants have tended to settle in 4 main cities in the United States: Washington DC, New York City, Minneapolis or St Paul, and Atlanta [3]. Prior research has established that most African immigrants come from Western (35.7%) and Eastern Africa (29.6%) [4]: from Nigeria (13.7%), Ethiopia (10.8%), Ghana (7.8%), and Kenya (5.5%) [5]. Therefore, Nigeria and Ethiopia constitute the top birthplaces of African immigrants in the United States.

In 2011, one of the first peer-reviewed papers on African immigrant health was published. It highlighted the growing population of African immigrants in the United States and the need to study their health care needs and practices since chronic diseases, including cancer, were poorly understood [3]. There is a growing research interest in African immigrant health, especially by researchers who are first- and second-generation African immigrants themselves, especially in light of the myriad of factors that impact African immigrants' health, and that of their families, including the trauma of immigration, conflicting cultural contexts between African family dynamics and those common in the United States, diet and lifestyles, culture, religion, and spirituality. These constructs make up the richness of immigrants' lives and continue to impact their health behaviors, health care experiences, and decision-making about their health practices after they move to the United States. Therefore, attention must be given to these factors. These factors also influence how African immigrants interact with and navigate the health care system, making it essential to understand how these factors can negatively impact health care system involvement.

The number of health-related areas influenced by immigration only grows as their length of stay in the United States increases

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53956
```

XSL•F(Render) [6]. Given the unique health experiences of African immigrants, the need to better understand the cancer-related health of African immigrants is imperative. The United States has begun to address disparities in immigrant health, such as affordances of health care following the implementation of the Affordable Care Act or state-level legislation allowing immigrants (especially the young, pregnant persons, and older people) to be eligible for state Medicare. States that have expanded care for immigrant children have seen reductions in no-insurance rates and rates of families forgoing medical care [7]. However, there is a current dearth of initiatives directly designed for African immigrants. With a deeper understanding of cancer in the African immigrant community, we can create novel, innovative, and culturally specific educational tools to support African immigrant families and improve current and future African immigrant community cancer health.

Discerning Cancer Prevalence Among African Immigrants

Overview

Uncovering cancer prevalence and awareness among African immigrants is challenging. Racial and ethnic minority groups are underrepresented in health research overall, contributing to persistent health disparities in the United States [8]. Cancer death rates among Black people continue to increase and so does the risk of developing cancers [9]. In the past few decades, there have been focused efforts to conduct research and draft policies to address health disparities within immigrant communities. However, there is a discernable lack of research on African immigrants' (and their children's) health related to cancer prevention and awareness in the United States. The challenge is due to limited resources allocated to minority issues and a lack of effort to distinguish the population as different and unique from other minority populations [10,11].

Issues With Measurement

Most research on immigrant health in the United States has focused on Latinos and Asian Americans [12-15]. Similarly, most cancer-related research in the United States has used race, and Hispanic or Latino ethnic affinity, regardless of the differing histories of migration, as the basis of categorizing research participants. Therefore, there is limited knowledge about African immigrant health in the United States, especially on cancer awareness, cancer care, and overall health outcomes. Accurate prevalence of cancer among African immigrants is unknown, available literature mostly focuses on databases that have combined data for African-born immigrants and US-born Black people. This makes it difficult to identify African immigrants and to provide accurate evidence of the extent and impact of cancer within their communities [16]. This practice facilitates a monolithic view of people with African heritage; therefore, it discourages granularity of analysis and limits health services'

researchers' ability to address African immigrant-specific health challenges and examine related research questions.

Some researchers have started to address the overgeneralization of categorizing all African immigrants as "Black" by focusing on their country of origin or time since immigration or assimilation or acculturation [17,18]. Assimilation allows immigrants to integrate into the social, linguistic, and cultural fabric of the host society. However, acculturation experience differs across immigrant groups. The Hispanics, specifically Mexican Americans, constitute an immigrant group in the United States with a robust acculturation. Safran Williams in his classification of diasporas describes Mexican American as "not true diaspora" [19]. This is because of their immigration history with the United States [19]. Further, Spanish is the dominant language of the Mexicans and is also the most popular foreign language in the United States. As a result, acculturation for Mexican immigrants is steady and impacts the strength of research and health interventions for this immigrant group [20-22]. Contrarily, the cultural and linguistic significance of African immigrant identities do not share the same history and recognition both in the United States social milieu and in the US health care system especially those relating to cancer education and research. African immigrants have an existing cultural identification from their homeland and their languages do not have the same recognition as that of Hispanic Americans. Nonetheless, the effort to acculturate among African immigrants accounts for the experiences such as changes in diet, modified language practices, and using the health care services for access to information, treatment, and care. The acculturation process is also layered with the African immigrants' spirituality and how it influences their reception of health care treatment. Careful attention to the cultural practices of African immigrants and their relevance to health intervention will largely impact the outcomes in cancer awareness and education.

The issue of having a monolithic "Black" category affects the extraction of research data on African immigrants [16]. Some progress is being made in this area. For instance, 1 study promoted awareness and accessibility to screening for chronic diseases among African immigrants living in Georgia [17]. Other research has discussed African immigrants' health and allostatic load score as it relates to cardiovascular, metabolic, and immune systems [18]. Finally, a scoping review identified additional socio-ecological challenges faced including the lack of culturally competent health care, distrust of the health care system, challenges navigating the US health system, and the burdensome cost of care [16].

What We Do Know About African Immigrants and Cancer

Accurate prevalence rates of cancer in African immigrants in the United States are lacking. Evidence suggests high cancer prevalence in their countries of origin, especially breast and cervical cancer for women and prostate cancer for men [23-25]. More research is needed to understand the prevalence of cancer within immigrant families and how their immigration may influence cancer prevalence. The experiences and needs of African immigrants are unique [17,26-32]. Sociocultural factors underlie the experience of cancer in the African immigrant community. The stigma of being diagnosed with cancer, lack of cancer awareness, limited or no screening (especially among African immigrant women), and limited familiarity with prevention strategies and treatment technologies available may be contributing to the high prevalence of cancer [24,30]. These factors lead to late-stage diagnoses because of a lack of access to health care, lower education levels, and cultural and religious beliefs regarding cancer [33,34]. Studies also found that African-born women have limited knowledge and exposure to breast cancer screening information before their arrival in the United States [30,34,35], which can impact their preventative and cancer screening behaviors. Existing research has also explored cancer mortality among adults across different Black ethnic groups-African, African American, and Caribbean-showing some mortality and prevalence differences between these groups [36].

Further, 1 study has found that income, among other factors, plays a significant role in the population's understanding of colorectal cancer [37]. With a focus on breast and cervical cancer screening, other studies examined the knowledge and perspectives of African immigrants [38,39]. Their findings underscore significant factors impacting the decision to seek preventative screening measures among African immigrants, including fatalism, lack of cancer knowledge, stigma, length of stay in the United States, provider gender, and privacy concerns [40-43]. Another study examined prostate cancer risk experiences among West African men and shed light on the modifiable risk factors implicated in prostate cancer mortality and morbidity [44]. A study of cervical cancer awareness among African immigrant women in Iowa City highlighted factors such as fear, languages spoken, and education as barriers to preventative treatment [45]. Considering the available research and prevalent factors that limit cancer prevention knowledge and behavior it is imperative to develop culturally, and linguistically appropriate cancer education programs aimed at increasing awareness and screening of cancer. In summary, while research has begun to address differences in African immigrant health, the differences are many which will require further study and consensus.

Lack of Cancer Awareness Among Youth and African Immigrants

In 2008, it was estimated that the 82% of the US population increase between 2005 and 2050 would be attributed to immigrants and their descendants [26]. Despite an increase of African immigrants' offspring in the United States, little is known about these second-generation individuals born and raised in the United States (with at least 1 foreign-born parent), regarding their health beliefs, perceptions, and practices. This is understandable as little is known about their parents regarding these factors. A study that explored beliefs and lifestyle behaviors relating to healthy living and diet among middle-aged adults in the immigrant population indicated that little is known about the beliefs, perceptions, and practices of diet and exercise among young African immigrants [46]. Young adults of African

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53956
```

 $XSI \bullet F($

immigrant descent are part of the future, and attention needs to be paid to their well-being.

It is unknown if children of African immigrants are being educated about cancer by their parents, their communities, their health care providers, or in schools. Cancer is often termed as a taboo subject in most African homes and communities. This is further compounded by other barriers such as access to care, quality of care, communication gaps, lack of education, lack of affordable health care, lack of transportation, socioeconomic status, shame and stigma, and cultural and religious beliefs [47]. Nonetheless, some children of African immigrants become aware of cancer when close family members or friends are diagnosed. With limited cancer awareness and the vulnerability of African immigrants regarding cancer, youth, and their parents must be educated using culturally competent, tailored, and responsive family-oriented cancer education initiatives that build on the strengths of these immigrant cultures as well as address the barriers to cancer prevention behaviors.

Although the limited research reviewed above examines cancer among Black immigrant men and women, there is no substantial body of research that addresses cancer education and awareness among first and second-generation African immigrant adolescents in the United States. A lack of knowledge about youth immigrants and second-generation African immigrants can put this population at a disadvantage as compared to their peers. Cancer awareness among African immigrants and youth studies, including older and younger Somali women, use age as a factor for examining standardized prevalence of cardiovascular disease risk factors among both African immigrants and African Americans [47,48]. Although age is an important factor to consider, this work does not focus on youth. Another study, rather than age, used the year of residence in the United States to examine self-reported health problems among African immigrant adults [49].

While several studies have begun to address cancer research among the African population broadly, the significant paucity of research that focuses on the youth of African immigrant families in the United States leaves a critical gap in cancer awareness and prevalence research. To our knowledge, no studies have sought to examine or address cancer awareness among the youth of African immigrant families, nor interventions for cancer awareness and education. The youth of African immigrant families in the United States constitute an important population that is instrumental in creating awareness about the prevalence of cancer within their community. To access the youth groups of African immigrant descent in the United States, it is expedient to identify cultural and age-relevant educational tools for creating awareness about the prevalence of cancer disease.

Existing Studies on the Promotion of Cancer Awareness and Education Among African Immigrants

Overview

There is evidence of studies that promote cancer health education among African immigrants and other minority groups

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53956
```

using various culturally tailored approaches and technologies. The success of a community-academic partnership model at community faith-based centers is effective for immigrant women in learning about breast cancer [50]. Moreover, health education programs in community-based settings have indicated strong potential. Further, 2 studies involving interpreters and culturally targeted communication, showed increased breast cancer knowledge and an improvement in screening for breast cancer for immigrant and multicultural women [51,52].

Study findings have demonstrated the importance of culturally tailored educational tools and different approaches to reduce cancer-related disparities. These studies provide strong evidence supporting the use of culturally relevant educational materials, patient navigation programs, peer-to-peer education, education programs, videos, and cofacilitated health promotion forums in promoting preventative and cancer screening behaviors [33,53-62]. Together these projects shed light on some of the few, yet variable opportunities for successful community-engaged research with African immigrant families.

Furthermore, some studies have demonstrated the potential of technology in promoting cancer awareness and education among African immigrants. Mobile devices, tablets, and computers have been used to address common cultural and linguistic barriers to cancer screening. Mobile health initiatives, culturally tailored messaging, language support, mobile apps, short message services, and text messages have all proven effective in impacting cancer screening behaviors [18,63-65]. Some of these initiatives could be adapted into family-based programs where young African immigrants could learn in familiar spaces using ubiquitous and widely acceptable technologies such as serious games.

Global Health Perspectives and Solutions for Culturally Competent Care Among African Immigrants

Health care approaches for immigrant populations require adaptation and cultural competence to serve diverse communities effectively. Parallel analysis of the US health care models with those of other nations like Canada and Australia offers a framework to evaluate and refine strategies to address health disparities among African immigrants. Canada and Australia have made strides in fostering inclusive health strategies that can inform US health care practices, particularly in providing culturally competent care to African immigrants.

For example, in Canada, health care delivery to immigrant populations acknowledges the necessity of cultural competence. Canada's universal health care system actively integrates culturally tailored interventions. The Canadian government has pushed for strategies that involve community engagement and representation in health decision-making, enhancing the cultural appropriateness of health care services [66]. Using community health workers who share the same cultural background as immigrants has been a breakthrough, acting as a bridge between health care providers and immigrant communities [67]. These community health workers facilitate communication, understanding, and trust—essential elements in promoting the health and well-being of immigrant populations [68].

Further, Australia's approach to immigrant health pivots on inclusivity and health equity to deliver services that are respectful of and responsive to diverse patients' health beliefs, practices, and needs [69]. A notable instance is the Victorian Immigrant and Refugee Women's Coalition's efforts, which engage women directly to educate about health issues, including cancer awareness [70]. Australian health policies aim to address the language barriers and the diverse cultural contexts that can influence health care usage and outcomes. In contrast, the United States continues to grapple with creating a standardized approach for culturally competent care throughout its health care system.

While there are pockets of exemplary practices, such as using patient navigators in cancer care to assist patients from minority backgrounds, there is not a universal health care mandate specifically aimed at immigrant health [67]. Instead, the United States relies on a patchwork of local initiatives and federal guidelines, such as those by the Office of Minority Health which established the National Standards for Culturally and Linguistically Appropriate Services in health and health care [71]. In conclusion, both the Canadian and Australian models underscore the importance of cultural competence and systemic support in improving immigrant health outcomes. They demonstrate that effective immigrant health strategies require the integration of culturally informed practices across all stages of health care-from preventive education to treatment. This implies adopting multifaceted approaches that can cater to the unique cultural, linguistic, and religious elements that define African immigrant communities.

Youth: the Bridge for Culturally Tailored Cancer Education

Given their positionality, first through second-generation African immigrant youth are at a unique nexus from which they can bridge health gaps related to cancer that arise from their heritage and sociocultural contexts. Cultural tailoring acknowledges the broad culture but identifies specific strategies for reaching specific individuals. These groups of individuals have insights into the linguistic and cultural practices of their families as well as those of the society they live in. Due to their positionality, the youth are motivated to embrace language awareness, which emphasizes the interrelatedness of language, culture, and social structures [72]. The interrelatedness of cultural meanings and linguistic signs allows for the tailoring of educational content that addresses distinctive groups. The adolescents of African immigrant families are a product of the diverse linguistic and cultural interactions that occur through transnational migration and globalization.

To engage with youth and form a robust bridge between coexisting sociocultural systems to improve African immigrant community health, research should focus on methods that are familiar and usable for adolescents. A ubiquitous facet of adolescent life is technology. There is increasing interest in serious games (ie, games that serve an educational or developmental purpose aside from pure entertainment) as a learning medium. Although innovative interventions including serious games are becoming popular, they are not traditionally designed and tailored to meet the cultural and health needs of minoritized populations such as African immigrant families. Systemic reviews of serious games indicate limitations that need to be addressed [73-76]. It will be beneficial for health services' researchers to use a participatory design approach when designing cancer education and intervention tools for African immigrant families. Such a collaborative approach will allow African immigrant families to partner in the co-design of technologies such as serious games and facilitate the creation of a culturally competent and responsive learning medium. Youth from African immigrant families typically have a hybrid of identities which necessitate the use of education technologies such as serious games in ways that speak to their lived experiences and families' cultural heritage and realities. Therefore, there is a need to tailor educational resources using technology platforms that would engage the linguistic and sociocultural realities of the African immigrant population. Interventions to improve cancer outcomes in African immigrants, especially among youth, are necessary.

Youth and community members from other minority populations in the Northwest Arctic region of Alaska participated in community-based participatory action research honoring indigenous ways, creating a Sharing Circle used to understand community priorities and develop culturally relevant cancer education that could be incorporated into school curriculum. It is an opportunity for youth involvement in culturally relevant health promotion efforts to address health disparities in cancer [77].

Culturally Tailored Education for African Immigrant Youth

Overview

Developing educational resources for African immigrant youth brings into focus the question of curricular content and pedagogical approaches that fit this group. The connection of educational content with cultural identities is espoused in the framework of culturally relevant pedagogy (CRP) [78]. CRP encompasses multiple concepts related to students' academic achievements and social inequalities, but its central tenet is the interconnection of theories and cultures in manners that will "empower students intellectually, socially, emotionally, and politically by using cultural referents to impart knowledge, skills, and attitudes [79]." African immigrants and people of historically marginalized cultures are unique and deserving of an educational approach that is aligned with their needs. It offers liberatory education which inspires the learners to become social commentators, advocates, and critical consumers of knowledge while empowering control over one's health. The use of such an approach will be beneficial in disseminating and promoting cancer education in the community.

The pedagogical approaches to achieving culturally tailored education may derive from CRP and adopt effective strategies that will merge critical consciousness and cultural connections in the learning content. CRP proposes three components that must be integrated to achieve learning: (1) a focus on youth learning and academic success, (2) developing youth's cultural

competence to assist them in developing positive ethnic and social identities, and (3) supporting youth's critical consciousness or their ability to recognize and critique societal inequalities.

Researchers have described examples of targeted and tailored strategies, techniques, and procedures for successful intervention with a variety of populations [80]. These researchers identified linguistic, community-engaged, and sociocultural strategies as important to reaching a particular community. Building on this knowledge, we identify four approaches that a cancer education intervention that the youth of African immigrant heritage can draw on, namely: (1) linguistic and cultural markers, (2) belief system and religious affiliation, (3) hybrid nationality, and (4) age-related learning preferences. With a deeper understanding of how these factors, concerning cancer health, shape the identities, beliefs, and behaviors of African immigrant youth in the United States, we may be able to create culturally competent educational tools for cancer awareness and prevention.

Linguistic and Cultural Markers

African immigrants, having come from different countries with diverse colonial histories, have distinct languages. The native languages of African immigrants play an important part in their identity. The youth of African immigrants assimilate the language and cultures of the host society while leveraging their cultural and linguistic heritage for optimum survival, a process that yields linguistic and cultural hybridity.

The complexity that underlies the African immigrants' linguistic and cultural identities in the United States should inform approaches to developing culturally competent education for youth and their families to improve overall health outcomes. It is expedient to target cancer-awareness information by incorporating aspects of the home languages of African immigrants—especially Western and Eastern Africa [5]. For example, the Swahili language would be accessible to immigrant families of East African origin, and Pidgin English for families with West African heritage. Appropriate learning mediums for cancer awareness for African immigrant youth should intersect with the linguistic and cultural practices of the African immigrant population.

Belief System and Religious Affiliation

In a 2021 report, the Pew Research Center stated that African immigrants in the United States are more religious than other Black Americans, even though Black Americans are more religious than Americans of other races [81]. Further broken down into specific practices, the report noted that African immigrants value attending religious services weekly, more than other Black Americans: "around half of the African immigrants living in the United States (54%) say they attend religious services at least weekly, compared with about 3-in-10 United States-born (32%) and Caribbean-born (30%) Black adults."

Similar to language, culture, and national consciousness, the belief systems and religiosity of African immigrants will have a major imprint on their young children. Health information tailored specifically to religiosity will not only be responsive to African immigrants' cultural perspectives, but it may also

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53956
```

improve engagement with pedagogical materials. Moreover, studies are scarce on the intersection of African immigrants' religious practices and responses to health care education about cancer, thereby illustrating another gap in research that may ultimately improve the approach to cancer education among distinctive ethnic and racial groups. Additionally, there is a shortage of research on the religious practices of African immigrants, highlighting another research gap that could ultimately enhance approaches to cancer education among distinct ethnic and racial groups.

Hybrid Nationality and Afropolitanism

African immigrants in the United States, have diverse origins from one of the 54 nations of Africa, many of which are multiethnic. These diverse ethnic identities house unique cultural and linguistic features within and outside the individual nation's borders. While African immigrants actively engage with the dominant Western traditions of the society they reside in, they also maintain their cultural customs. As a result, youth from African immigrant families often exhibit hybrid language use, blending the host language with elements of African culture, including specific exclamation and colloquial forms rooted in African cultural beliefs. This linguistic and cultural hybridity is significant in addressing the existing gap in cancer awareness research among African immigrant families and fosters a sense of community within the African immigrant population in the United States.

The concept of Afropolitanism defines Africans as an integral part of the global community rather than separate from it. This concept refers to the empowerment associated with a blended, polyethnic, and cosmopolitan identity [80]. Afropolitanism iterates Africans' awareness of their origins and the consciousness of the cultural ambiguities that occur because of their integration into the host society. This understanding impacts African immigrants' response to cancer education and approaches to accessing health care for cancer treatment. Their cultural and spiritual beliefs are still very much prominent in their perspective on cancer disease. This consciousness could, however, be tapped into for possible changes and adaptations among this immigrant group. The summary of the African immigrants' complex experience is iterated in the term, "Afropolitan." Afropolitan describes an individual whose identities are deeply rooted in their diverse, transcultural experiences, reflecting youth linguistic and cultural practices within African immigrant families [68,69]. African immigrants' hybrid language and cultural identities necessitate the development of health educational tools and technologies that integrate African cultural perspectives and engage these youth in learning and retaining health information in a culturally responsive manner.

Age-Related Learning Preferences

Consideration for age-appropriateness in technology is not unique to African immigrant youth; however, the connection of this factor to digital literacy, access, and equity makes it critical to examine further and worthy of discussion. A report by the Migration Policy Institute on immigrant learning with digital technology has identified uneven access to digital resources for youth aged between 15 and 17 years who are either

immigrants themselves or have at least one immigrant parent [82]. Research suggests that factors like work, language, and familial influence affect how immigrant youth use technology for learning [83]. Given the versatility of the adolescent age group with technology, they have increased access to vital information on health issues and diseases that are prevalent within their community. More important is their access to their heritage culture as well as the culture of their residing society. As a result, youth play a vital role as intermediaries, connecting with their families to promote cancer awareness within their communities.

Further Research Needed

Overview

A robust foundation of data and associated knowledge surrounding cancer in the communities of African immigrants is needed to truly understand the impact of cancer on this group and appropriate approaches to intervention to reduce cancer risk and improve cancer treatment. Several priorities are highlighted throughout this paper and an overview is presented in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Summary of key main areas for future research.

Priorities for future cancer prevention and control research focused on African immigrant populations

- Disaggregate study populations according to country or region of origin to improve cultural tailoring and knowledge.
- Develop family-oriented educational initiatives including programs for children.
- Use community-engaged approaches including partnerships with faith-based organizations.
- Leverage emerging technology for recruiting study participants and delivering educational messages while accounting for barriers to access.
- Align cancer awareness information with language and cultural markers specific to the population.
- Consider the global African community and hybrid African and American cultural practices.
- Incorporate relevant religious and spiritual beliefs and practices to enhance cancer education effectiveness.
- Consider youth and adolescents as intermediaries for increasing cancer awareness among family members.
- Explore the potential for interagency collaboration (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Health Resources and Services Administration, and National Institutes of Health) to address cancer-related health challenges for African immigrant families.

To achieve the goal of increasing cancer awareness among African immigrant families, 1 strategy involves creating a culturally tailored serious game. Serious games offer opportunities to build upon the research base of effective approaches to reduce the cancer burden by focusing on youth and leveraging technology. Research is crucial that examines the language use of youth from African immigrants in the United States. Previous research has already categorized most African immigrants living in the United States into Western (35.71%) and Eastern Africa (29.61%) groups, which could serve as a basis for examining youth cancer awareness within each group [5]. Open-ended ethnographic interviews could be used to identify the nuanced cultural and linguistic practices of the youth of African immigrant families. The heterogeneity of Africa's cultural identities could result in a new monolithic idea of Black subgroups in the United States, the importance of beginning this inquiry cannot be delayed. Detailed demographic questionnaires and open response forms can allow for flexibility in how studies aggregate and allow for new divisions and aggregations of African immigrants. However, it is noted that immigration by African countries is unequal with many African immigrants arriving from Western and Eastern African countries [5].

Additionally, recruitment strategies are particularly important in the success of this line of research and will need to be evaluated. As immigrant populations are "Hard-to Reach," using innovative ways to reach a target population is also important [84]. During the COVID-19 pandemic, online recruitment using Facebook (Meta), Instagram (Meta Platforms), and WhatsApp

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53956
```

(WhatsApp LLC) was an effective recruitment strategy especially because it built on existing communication and information-sharing norms within the African immigrant community. Further research should use and evaluate multiple recruitment streams.

Findings from such research endeavors will have a meaningful impact on the strategies for developing culturally tailored educational content such as a serious game, to create awareness about cancer among African immigrant families in the United States. A culturally adapted serious game has immense potential to be instrumental in improving awareness and cancer prevention strategies in African immigrant families.

Conclusion

The importance of culturally tailored cancer education for African immigrants is underscored by uncertainty. Issues surrounding the measurement of cancer prevalence in African immigrant populations exacerbate the uncertainty of how cancer affects the African immigrant population in the United States. The existing, yet limited research on the topic suggests that African immigrants, especially adolescents, have unique experiences that lie at the nexus of their traditional culture and the complex novelty of the US health care system for immigrants. Research demonstrates the impact of cultural beliefs (such as fatalism and stigmatization of cancer diagnoses among African cultures) and lack of knowledge about cancer and cancer screening compounds to affect access to screening and care for African immigrants. Further research specifically targeting African immigrants and their youth can not only disentangle

the unique struggles of African immigrants but also allow for the tailoring of education to provide maximal impact to vulnerable populations.

While recognizing our lack of knowledge and the uncertainty around the experience of cancer in the United States for African immigrants and advocating that increased research is the needed foundation for alleviating health disparities, more difficult work is ahead. It is integral for health scientists, health care providers, African culture scholars, and communities of African immigrants to come together for sustained research activity. These transdisciplinary associations will aid in the collection of data specific to African immigrants, but also the community engagement needed to co-design a culturally sensitive educational intervention. This will be no small task and require the dedicated work of many experts alongside and within the African immigrant community to forge long-term relationships that can facilitate recruitment, retention, and meaningful knowledge generation for the African immigrant community in the context of cancer experience.

Acknowledgments

Generative artificial intelligence technology was not used in the development or editing of this paper.

Authors' Contributions

OA conceptualized the original idea for this paper, led the gathering of data and team expertise, and contributed to drafting and leading the revising of the final paper. All coauthors contributed to the literature review and drafting of this paper.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Koh B, Tan DJH, Ng CH, Fu CE, Lim WH, Zeng RW, et al. Patterns in cancer incidence among people younger than 50 years in the US, 2010 to 2019. JAMA Netw Open 2023;6(8):e2328171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.28171] [Medline: 37585204]
- 2. Anderson M. African immigrant population in U.S. steadily climbs. Pew Research Center. 2023. URL: <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/02/14/african-immigrant-population-in-u-s-steadily-climbs</u> [accessed 2023-10-16]
- 3. Venters H, Gany F. African immigrant health. J Immigr Minor Health 2011;13(2):333-344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-009-9243-x] [Medline: 19347581]
- Hurtado-de-Mendoza A, Song M, Kigen O, Jennings Y, Nwabukwu I, Sheppard VB. Addressing cancer control needs of African-born immigrants in the US: a systematic literature review. Prev Med 2014;67:89-99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.07.006] [Medline: 25034729]
- 5. Zong J, Batalova J. Sub-Saharan African immigrants in the United States. migrationpolicy.org. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/sub-saharan-african-immigrants-united-states-2013</u> [accessed 2024-02-14]
- 6. Alarcon FJ. The migrant crisis and access to health care. Dela J Public Health 2022;8(4):20-25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.32481/djph.2022.10.006] [Medline: 36340943]
- Rosenberg J, Shabanova V, McCollum S, Sharifi M. Insurance and health care outcomes in regions where undocumented children are medicaid-eligible. Pediatrics 2022;150(3):e2022057034 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2022-057034] [Medline: 36004541]
- Turner BE, Steinberg JR, Weeks BT, Rodriguez F, Cullen MR. Race/ethnicity reporting and representation in US clinical trials: a cohort study. Lancet Reg Health Am 2022;11:100252 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.lana.2022.100252] [Medline: 35875251]
- 9. Cancer disparities. National Cancer Institute. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/understanding/disparities</u> [accessed 2024-02-14]
- Edberg M, Cleary S, Vyas A. A trajectory model for understanding and assessing health disparities in immigrant/refugee communities. J Immigr Minor Health 2011;13(3):576-584 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-010-9337-5] [Medline: 20306225]
- 11. Refki D, Ahmed R, Altarriba J. Understanding and eliminating minority health disparities in a 21st-century pandemic: a white paper collection. Closing the health disparity gap in U.S. immigrant communities in the Era of COVID-19: a narrative review. Scholars Archive. 2021. URL: <u>https://scholarsarchive.library.albany.edu/covid_mhd_nys_white_papers/12</u> [accessed 2024-02-14]
- Philbin MM, Flake M, Hatzenbuehler ML, Hirsch JS. State-level immigration and immigrant-focused policies as drivers of Latino health disparities in the United States. Soc Sci Med 2018;199:29-38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.04.007] [Medline: 28410759]
- Markides KS, Rote S. The healthy immigrant effect and aging in the United States and other Western Countries. Gerontologist 2019;59(2):205-214 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gny136] [Medline: 30383212]

- 14. George S, Duran N, Norris K. A systematic review of barriers and facilitators to minority research participation among African Americans, Latinos, Asian Americans, and Pacific Islanders. Am J Public Health 2014;104(2):e16-e31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2013.301706] [Medline: 24328648]
- Lee HY, Lee MH, Gao Z, Sadak K. Development and evaluation of culturally and linguistically tailored mobile app to promote breast cancer screening. J Clin Med 2018;7(8):181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm7080181] [Medline: 30042291]
- Omenka OI, Watson DP, Hendrie HC. Understanding the healthcare experiences and needs of African immigrants in the United States: a scoping review. BMC Public Health 2020;20(1):27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-8127-9] [Medline: 31914960]
- 17. Adekeye OA, Adesuyi BF, Takon JG. Barriers to healthcare among African immigrants in Georgia, USA. J Immigr Minor Health 2018;20(1):188-193 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-017-0549-9] [Medline: 28213691]
- Hormenu T, Shoup EM, Osei-Tutu NH, Hobabagabo AF, DuBose CW, Mabundo LS, et al. Stress measured by allostatic load varies by reason for immigration, age at immigration, and number of children: the Africans in America study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020;17(12):4533 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17124533] [Medline: 32599711]
- 19. Safran W. Diasporas in modern societies: myths of homeland and return. Diaspora J Transnatl Stud 1991;1(1):83-99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1353/dsp.1991.0004]
- Furgurson KF, Sandberg JC, Hsu FC, Mora DC, Quandt SA, Arcury TA. Cancer knowledge among Mexican immigrant farmworkers in North Carolina. J Immigr Minor Health 2019;21(3):515-521 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-018-0771-0] [Medline: 29948650]
- 21. Yepes-Rios M, Reimann JOF, Talavera AC, de Esparza AR, Talavera GA. Colorectal cancer screening among Mexican Americans at a community clinic. Am J Prev Med 2006;30(3):204-210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2005.11.002] [Medline: 16476635]
- 22. Ramirez AG, Aparicio-Ting FE, de Majors SSM, Miller AR. Interest, awareness, and perceptions of genetic testing among hispanic family members of breast cancer survivors. Ethn Dis 2006;16(2):398-403. [Medline: <u>17682241</u>]
- 23. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018;68(6):394-424 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21492] [Medline: 30207593]
- 24. Cancer. World Health Organization. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer</u> [accessed 2024-02-14]
- Fapohunda A, Fakolade A, Omiye J, Afolaranmi O, Arowojolu O, Oyebamiji T, et al. Cancer presentation patterns in Lagos, Nigeria: experience from a private cancer center. J Public Health Afr 2020;11(2):1138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4081/jphia.2020.1138] [Medline: 33623651]
- 26. Turk MT, Fapohunda A, Zoucha R. Using photovoice to explore Nigerian immigrants' eating and physical activity in the United States. J Nurs Scholarsh 2015;47(1):16-24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jnu.12105] [Medline: 25182119]
- Blanas DA, Nichols K, Bekele M, Lugg A, Kerani RP, Horowitz CR. HIV/AIDS among African-born residents in the United States. J Immigr Minor Health 2013;15(4):718-724 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-012-9691-6] [Medline: 22821074]
- 28. Singh GK, Siahpush M, Hiatt RA, Timsina LR. Dramatic increases in obesity and overweight prevalence and body mass index among ethnic-immigrant and social class groups in the United States, 1976-2008. J Community Health 2011;36(1):94-110 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10900-010-9287-9] [Medline: 20549318]
- Barrington DS, Baquero MC, Borrell LN, Crawford ND. Racial/ethnic disparities in obesity among US-born and foreign-born adults by sex and education. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2010;18(2):422-424 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2009.212] [Medline: 19590501]
- 30. Barr DA. Health Disparities in the United States Social Class, Race, Ethnicity, and Health. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press; 2014.
- Commodore-Mensah Y, Himmelfarb CD, Agyemang C, Sumner AE. Cardiometabolic health in African immigrants to the United States: a call to re-examine research on African-descent populations. Ethn Dis 2015;25(3):373-380 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18865/ed.25.3.373] [Medline: 26675140]
- Sheppard VB, Christopher J, Nwabukwu I. Breaking the silence barrier: opportunities to address breast cancer in African-born women. J Natl Med Assoc 2010;102(6):461-468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s0027-9684(15)30553-8] [Medline: 20575210]
- 33. Noone AM, Howlader N, Krapcho M, Miller D, Brest A, Yu M, et al, editors. SEER incidence, US mortality, SEER relative survival, all races. In: SEER Cancer Statistics Review (CSR) 1975-2015. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2018.
- Ndukwe EG, Williams KP, Sheppard V. Knowledge and perspectives of breast and cervical cancer screening among female African immigrants in the Washington D.C. metropolitan area. J Cancer Educ 2013;28(4):748-754 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-013-0521-x] [Medline: 23900622]
- 35. Odeneye EO. Abstract B18: breast health promotion among African immigrant women: intervention recommendations. Cancer Prev Res 2013;6(11_Supplement):B18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1940-6215.prev-13-b18]

- Pinheiro PS, Medina H, Callahan KE, Kwon D, Ragin C, Sherman R, et al. Cancer mortality among US blacks: variability between African Americans, Afro-Caribbeans, and Africans. Cancer Epidemiol 2020;66:101709 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2020.101709] [Medline: 32240959]
- Peprah YA, Kim KE, Lam H. Abstract B90: researching the perception of risk about colorectal cancer among African immigrants in the Chicago metropolitan area: a preliminary study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2014;23(11_Supplement):B90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1538-7755.disp13-b90]
- Jones A, Loffelman C, Richards-Waritay O. Utilizing community strengths and innovation to implement community-based models of care. Social Innovations Journal. 2017. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/28342fmm</u> [accessed 2023-10-16]
- Cudjoe J, Turkson-Ocran RA, Ezeigwe AK, Commodore-Mensah Y, Nkimbeng M, Han HR. Recruiting African immigrant women for community-based cancer prevention studies: lessons learned from the AfroPap study. J Community Health 2019;44(5):1019-1026 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10900-019-00677-y] [Medline: 31102117]
- 40. Adegboyega A, Wiggins AT, Obielodan O, Dignan M, Schoenberg N. Beliefs associated with cancer screening behaviors among African Americans and Sub-Saharan African immigrant adults: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 2022;22(1):2219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-14591-x] [Medline: 36447190]
- 41. Adegboyega A, Aleshire M, Linares AM. Examining cervical cancer screening utilization among African immigrant women: a literature review. Int J Womens Health Wellness 2017;3(1):3:046 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.23937/2474-1353/1510046]
- 42. Harcourt N, Ghebre RG, Whembolua GL, Zhang Y, Osman SW, Okuyemi KS. Factors associated with breast and cervical cancer screening behavior among African immigrant women in Minnesota. J Immigr Minor Health 2014;16(3):450-456 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-012-9766-4] [Medline: 23334709]
- 43. Kaninjing ET, Dagne G, Atawodi SE, Alabi A. Modifiable risk factors implicated in prostate cancer mortality and morbidity among West African Men. Cancer Health Disparities 2019;4:e1-e13 [FREE Full text]
- 44. Adekunle TE, Ahmed M, Afifi R. A qualitative study to understand cervical cancer awareness and prevention among African Immigrant Women (AIW) in Iowa City, Iowa. Int J Women's Health Wellness 2021;7(1):117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.23937/2474-1353/1510117]
- 45. Passel JS, Cohn D. Immigration to play lead role in future US growth: US population projections: 2005–2050. Pew Research Center. 2008. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2008/02/11/us-population-projections-2005-2050/</u> [accessed 2024-02-14]
- 46. Amuta-Jimenez AO, Smith GPA, Brown KK. Patterns and correlates of cervical cancer prevention among black immigrant and African American Women in the USA: the role of ethnicity and culture. J Cancer Educ 2022;37(3):798-805 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-020-01884-1] [Medline: 32990933]
- 47. Raymond NC, Osman W, O'Brien JM, Ali N, Kia F, Mohamed F, et al. Culturally informed views on cancer screening: a qualitative research study of the differences between older and younger Somali immigrant women. BMC Public Health 2014;14:1188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-1188] [Medline: 25410824]
- 48. Turkson-Ocran RAN, Nmezi NA, Botchway MO, Szanton SL, Golden SH, Cooper LA, et al. Comparison of cardiovascular disease risk factors among African immigrants and African Americans: an analysis of the 2010 to 2016 national health interview surveys. J Am Heart Assoc 2020;9(5):e013220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.013220] [Medline: 32070204]
- 49. Nwankwo EM, Wallace SP. Duration of United States residence and self-reported health among African-born immigrant adults. J Immigr Minor Health 2021;23(4):773-783 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-020-01073-8] [Medline: 32845410]
- 50. Kamaraju S, Olson J, DeNomie M, Visotcky A, Banerjee A, Asan O, et al. Community breast health education for immigrants and refugees: lessons learned in outreach efforts to reduce cancer disparities. J Cancer Educ 2019;34(6):1092-1096 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-018-1412-y] [Medline: 30091014]
- Gondek M, Shogan M, Saad-Harfouche FG, Rodriguez EM, Erwin DO, Griswold K, et al. Engaging immigrant and refugee women in breast health education. J Cancer Educ 2015;30(3):593-598 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-014-0751-6] [Medline: 25385693]
- 52. Fung J, Vang S, Margolies LR, Li A, Blondeau-Lecomte E, Li A, et al. Developing a culturally and linguistically targeted breast cancer educational program for a multicultural population. J Cancer Educ 2021;36(2):395-400 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-019-01643-x] [Medline: 31713105]
- 53. Rodriguez-Torres SA, McCarthy AM, He W, Ashburner JM, Percac-Lima S. Long-term impact of a culturally tailored patient navigation program on disparities in breast cancer screening in refugee women after the program's end. Health Equity 2019;3(1):205-210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/heq.2018.0104] [Medline: 31106287]
- 54. Haynes D, Hughes K, Haas M, Richards GL, Robinson B. Breast cancer champions: a peer-to-peer education and mobile mammography program improving breast cancer screening rates for women of African heritage. Cancer Causes Control 2023;34(7):625-633 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10552-023-01704-z] [Medline: 37133574]
- 55. Kamaraju S, Merrill J, Wu J, Jeames S, Conroy M, Min H, et al. Patient navigation based care-delivery to reduce inequities in cancer care among immigrants and refugees: a commentary on the successes and the unmet needs. Int J Cancer Care Deliv 2022;2(1):1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.53876/001c.33154]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53956
```

- Percac-Lima S, Ashburner JM, Bond B, Oo SA, Atlas SJ. Decreasing disparities in breast cancer screening in refugee women using culturally tailored patient navigation. J Gen Intern Med 2013;28(11):1463-1468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-013-2491-4] [Medline: 23686510]
- 57. Brevik TB, Laake P, Bjørkly S. Effect of culturally tailored education on attendance at mammography and the papanicolaou test. Health Serv Res 2020;55(3):457-468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.13271] [Medline: 31994187]
- 58. Power R, Ussher JM, Hawkey A, Missiakos O, Perz J, Ogunsiji O, et al. Co-designed, culturally tailored cervical screening education with migrant and refugee women in Australia: a feasibility study. BMC Womens Health 2022;22(1):353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12905-022-01936-2] [Medline: 35987620]
- Nakajima M, Haji A, Mohamud S, Ahmed O, Hodges JS, Pratt R. A culturally adapted colorectal cancer education video for the Somali community in Minnesota: a pilot investigation. Am J Health Promot 2022;36(3):514-517. [doi: 10.1177/08901171211057690] [Medline: <u>34889127</u>]
- 60. Adegboyega A. Cervical cancer prevention for Black adults. ClinicalTrials.gov. 2023. URL: <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT04927494?cond=NCT04927494&rank=1</u> [accessed 2023-09-02]
- 61. Sly J. Increasing African immigrant women's participation in Breast Cancer Screening (AIBCS). ClinicalTrials.gov. 2023. URL: <u>https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04450264</u> [accessed 2023-09-02]
- 62. De Jesus M, Ramachandra S, De Silva A, Liu S, Dubnansky E, Iyawe K, et al. A mobile health breast cancer educational and screening intervention tailored for low-income, uninsured Latina immigrants. Womens Health Rep (New Rochelle) 2021;2(1):325-336 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/whr.2020.0112] [Medline: 34476415]
- 63. Nayyar S, Chakole S, Taksande AB, Prasad R, Munjewar PK, Wanjari MB. From awareness to action: a review of efforts to reduce disparities in breast cancer screening. Cureus 2023;15(6):e40674 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.40674]
- 64. Tarver WL, Haggstrom DA. The use of cancer-specific patient-centered technologies among underserved populations in the United States: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019;21(4):e10256 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10256] [Medline: 31012855]
- 65. Simich L. Health literacy and immigrant populations. Public Health Agency of Canada and Metroplis Canada. 2009. URL: <u>https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=ebce08b55090a75c701e73b91e51505a9d9f4899</u> [accessed 2024-02-14]
- 66. Lane G, Vatanparast H. Adjusting the Canadian healthcare system to meet newcomer needs. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022;19(7):3752 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19073752] [Medline: 35409441]
- 67. Javanparast S, Windle A, Freeman T, Baum F. Community health worker programs to improve healthcare access and equity: are they only relevant to low- and middle-income countries? Int J Health Policy Manag 2018;7(10):943-954 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15171/ijhpm.2018.53] [Medline: 30316247]
- 68. Shafiei T, Small R, McLachlan H. Women's views and experiences of maternity care: a study of immigrant Afghan women in Melbourne, Australia. Midwifery 2012;28(2):198-203. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.midw.2011.02.008</u>] [Medline: <u>21458892</u>]
- 69. Freeman HP. Patient navigation: a community based strategy to reduce cancer disparities. J Urban Health 2006;83(2):139-141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11524-006-9030-0] [Medline: 16736361]
- 70. Office of Minority Health. National standards for Culturally and Linguistically Appropriate Services (CLAS) in health and health care. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.nj.gov/health/ommh/documents/</u> <u>clas_standards.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-02-14]
- 71. Fairclough N. Critical Language Awareness. London: Routledge; 2014.
- 72. Tori AA, Tori R, de Lourdes dos Santos Nunes F. Serious game design in health education: a systematic review. IEEE Trans Learning Technol 2022;15(6):827-846. [doi: 10.1109/tlt.2022.3200583]
- Ling C, Seetharaman S, Mirza L. Roles of serious game in diabetes patient education. Simul Gaming 2022;53(5):513-537. [doi: <u>10.1177/10468781221120686</u>]
- 74. Quail N, Holmes K, Linn A, Rea P, Livingstone D, Boyle JG. Serious digital games using virtual patients and digital chalk-talk videos: a novel approach to teaching acute diabetes care in the undergraduate medical curriculum. 2018 Presented at: Diabetes UK Professional Conference 2018; March 14-16, 2018; London, UK p. 14-16. [doi: 10.1111/dme.33_13571]
- 75. Theng YL, Lee JWY, Patinadan PV, Foo SSB. The use of videogames, gamification, and virtual environments in the self-management of diabetes: a systematic review of evidence. Games Health J 2015;4(5):352-361. [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2014.0114] [Medline: 26287926]
- 76. Ladson-Billings G. Toward a theory of culturally relevant pedagogy. Am Educ Res J 1995;32(3):465-491. [doi: 10.3102/00028312032003465]
- 77. Cueva K, Schmidt J, Cueva M. Learning together: sharing circles in rural Alaska on cancer education priorities for youth. J Cancer Educ 2021;36(6):1147-1154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-021-02074-3] [Medline: 34313960]
- Kreuter MW, Lukwago SN, Bucholtz RDDC, Clark EM, Sanders-Thompson V. Achieving cultural appropriateness in health promotion programs: targeted and tailored approaches. Health Educ Behav 2003;30(2):133-146. [doi: 10.1177/1090198102251021] [Medline: 12693519]
- 79. Mohamed B, Cox K, Diamant J, Gecewicz C. Faith among Black Americans. Pew Research Center. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/religion/2021/02/16/faith-among-black-americans/</u> [accessed 2024-02-14]
- 80. Mbembe A, Balakrishnan S. Pan-African legacies, Afropolitan futures. Transition 2016(120):28-37. [doi: 10.2979/transition.120.1.04]
- 81. Selasi T. Bye-bye barbar. Callaloo 2013;36(3):528-530. [doi: <u>10.1353/cal.2013.0163</u>]
- 82. Workie J, Farwell L, Fleischer R, Workie E. Four strategies to improve community services for unaccompanied children in the United States. Migration Policy Institute. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/strategies-community-services-unaccompanied-children</u> [accessed 2024-02-14]
- 83. Carhill-Poza A, Williams TP. Learning "anytime, anywhere"? The imperfect alignment of immigrant students' experiences and school-based technologies in an Urban US High School. Comp Educ Rev 2020;64(3):428-450. [doi: 10.1086/709430]
- 84. Chenane JL, Hammond Q. Using social media to recruit participants for scholarly research: lessons from African female immigrants in the United States. J Crim Justice Educ 2022;33(4):509-525. [doi: 10.1080/10511253.2021.1991411]

Abbreviations

CRP: culturally relevant pedagogy

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 25.10.23; peer-reviewed by A Weinberg, L Zhu; comments to author 05.12.23; revised version received 23.01.24; accepted 12.02.24; published 06.03.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Abraham O, Agoke A, Sanuth K, Fapohunda A, Ogunsanya M, Piper M, Trentham-Dietz A Need for Culturally Competent and Responsive Cancer Education for African Immigrant Families and Youth Living in the United States JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53956 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53956 doi:10.2196/53956 PMID:38447129

©Olufunmilola Abraham, Adeola Agoke, Kazeem Sanuth, Abimbola Fapohunda, Motolani Ogunsanya, Megan Piper, Amy Trentham-Dietz. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 06.03.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

An Introduction to the OutSMART Cancer Serious Game: Current and Future Directions

Olufunmilola Abraham¹, BPharm, MS, PhD; Tyler J McCarthy¹, BA

Social and Administrative Sciences Division, School of Pharmacy, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

Corresponding Author:

Olufunmilola Abraham, BPharm, MS, PhD Social and Administrative Sciences Division School of Pharmacy University of Wisconsin-Madison Rm 2515 Rennebohm Hall 777 Highland Ave Madison, WI, 53705 United States Phone: 1 6082634498 Fax: 1 6082625262 Email: olufunmilola.abraham@wisc.edu

Abstract

Given that cancer is a challenging disease that plagues millions of individuals of all age groups and socioeconomic statuses globally, developmentally appropriate education is often lacking for young people, particularly adolescents. Increasing cancer awareness and prevention education among adolescents using innovative strategies, such as game-based learning, is critical in reducing the burden of this disease. Adolescents are understudied in the field of cancer prevention and control, yet vulnerable as they tackle creating life-long health behavior patterns. Targeting cancer prevention education for adolescents has the potential to support long-term healthy behavior and reduce their risk of cancer. This paper provides an overview of the Collaborative Research on MEdication use and family health (CRoME) Lab's novel game-based cancer prevention education tool. OutSMART Cancer is an innovative, novel educational intervention in the form of a serious game. Serious games are educational tools that seek to impart knowledge and improve behaviors in their players. This game covers information related to breast cancer, colon cancer, and lung cancer. This viewpoint is a summary of the developmental process for the OutSMART Cancer game. We describe in detail the work preceding initial game development, the current version of the game, future directions for the game, and its educational potential. The long-term goal of OutSMART Cancer is to improve cancer awareness and knowledge regarding prevention behaviors in adolescents and support a lifetime of health and wellness.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e56168) doi:10.2196/56168

KEYWORDS

serious game; cancer; health education; adolescents; health behavior; United States; young people; adolescent; teenager; teenagers; cancer prevention; education; cancer risk; tool; OutSMART Cancer; innovative; game development; cancer awareness; prevention; wellness

Introduction

The ubiquity of cancer in the United States denotes both the immense burden of the disease and the countless individuals devoted to spreading awareness. Although preventative and treatment-based measures have improved outcomes and reduced cancer deaths, the incidence of some of the most common cancers is on the rise [1]. Some studies have suggested that people in the United States lack the necessary knowledge and awareness of cancer, particularly those of lower socioeconomic status [2,3]. Similar results have been indicated in adolescents

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56168
```

RenderX

in the United Kingdom and the United States [4-7]. Thus, despite the prevalence of cancer awareness, there is still a salient and critical need to encourage cancer awareness and knowledge from a young age so that individuals can better understand the basic biological etiology of this disease and support life-long prevention behaviors.

For educational interventions to be successful, especially those involving complex and emotionally charged chronic conditions, they must be tailored to the intended audience. The Collaborative Research on MEdication use and family health (CROME) Lab has a history of engaging with and educating

adolescents and parents on health topics, such as cancer prevention, medication safety, and vaping prevention [8]. The CRoME Lab has co-designed serious games for adolescents and parents around prescription opioid medication safety [9]. Serious games are games designed with the characteristic purpose of imparting knowledge to the player, rather than merely providing a recreational experience [10]. In this viewpoint, we detail the work leading to the development of a cancer education serious game named OutSMART Cancer, the current state of the game, and future directions.

Early Work With Youth Stakeholders

In 2020, our team began research in Wisconsin with middle and high schools, holding focus groups with 327 students and conducting a further survey with 235 students [11-13]. In one study, the CRoME Lab held 25 focus groups with 188 middle and high school students between the ages of 12 and 18 years [11]. Through exploring adolescent perceptions, we found that many adolescents were interested in learning about cancer, specifically, cancer prevention. Middle and high school students in this study recounted familiarity with basic cancer biology but indicated unfamiliarity with how to assess cancer risk and what behaviors they can institute to prevent cancer.

One survey study examined adolescent's knowledge and attitudes toward cancer as well as the acceptability of a game-based learning approach for cancer education in homes, health care settings, and schools [12]. The survey responses reiterated the findings from the initial previous focus groups. Although most students expressed basic cancer knowledge, only 66% knew that individuals have some level of control over their cancer risk. Moreover, only 37.3% reported knowing how to lower their cancer risk, while 50% suggested they try to make healthy choices to reduce their risk. Study findings provided further evidence for the need to educate youth on cancer and its prevention. Most adolescents (82%) reported that they would accept the use of a game to help them learn about cancer.

These initial studies with adolescents informed the CRoME Lab's design of the OutSMART Cancer gameplay book, which was further assessed through focus groups with adolescents. This gameplay book showed adolescents the initial conceptualization of OutSMART Cancer informed by the Cancer Clear and Simple Curriculum [14]. A total of 18 focus groups, comprising 139 adolescents, provided in-depth feedback on the playbook [13]. Adolescents indicated that they preferred a serious game over educational modalities, such as websites and videos. Our cumulative research to date has shown that a serious game that focuses on cancer knowledge and prevention and is tailored to the preferences of adolescents could be integral in improving adolescent cancer prevention behavior.

In 2023, OutSMART began early evaluation by adolescents and parents. This demonstration is currently unavailable to the public, as it is evaluated among key stakeholders—adolescents and parents. Informed consent has been collected from participants in each study related to the development and testing of this game. Findings from this study will result in an adapted version of the game, which will be used to evaluate efficacy and implementation.

The OutSMART Cancer Game

OutSMART is a web-based, computer videogame that presents 3 familiar, cancer-related scenarios in a narrative, choice-based format (Figures 1-5) [15]. It is built upon the Unity WebGL game engine and is currently optimized for browser gameplay on laptops and computers [16]. Within this game, players interact with the environment through a first-person perspective, taking the role of an adolescent. Players are faced with 3 scenarios that cover information related to breast, colon, and lung cancers. In each scene, players progress by clicking on pop-up bubbles, giving the player choices that move the storyline along. Players progress from one scene to the next once they have completed that scene's storyline. After completion of a scene, players are taken to a map to choose the next available scene.

In the first scene, the player heads downstairs for a day at school to see their mother on the couch. After asking why she had not left for work, the mother tells the player that she is experiencing a painful lump in her breast alongside fatigue and will be going to her doctor that day. As the player offers to attend the appointment with her, the scene switches to the car ride to the doctor's office. During this ride, the mother shares her family history of breast cancer and her anxiety. Later, in the doctor's office, the player and their mother learn that the lump is cancerous. This level espouses key information, such as early warning signs of breast cancer, screening tools, basic cancer biology, and cancer stages.

In the second scene, the player brings mail inside for their father and discovers a letter from his doctor's clinic encouraging him to schedule a colonoscopy. During this scene, the player tells their father about the letter and encourages him to schedule an appointment. However, at first, their father is apprehensive and talks of anxiety after his previous colonoscopy, which had uncovered polyps. After some conversation with their father, his attitude changes, and he decides to schedule a visit. This scene introduces colon cancer and screening strategies; it also introduces the player to the types of emotions that can act as barriers to screening.

In the final scene, the player goes to school and learns about cancer in a simulated classroom environment. Following class, their friend introduces them to a new person, who, when left alone with the player offers them a vape (electronic cigarette). Although peer pressure is evident, the player must refuse, articulating their own reasoning why they are choosing to protect their own health. This scene introduces players to the power of personal choice and how everyday choices can influence cancer risk.

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 1. OutSMART Cancer gameplay.



Figure 2. Screenshot of mom lying ill on the couch.



Figure 3. Screenshot of the doctor's office scene.



Figure 4. Colon cancer scene with father.





RenderX

Figure 5. Peer offering vape to the player.



The Future of the OutSMART Cancer Game

Although preliminary evaluation and targeted adaptation of this game are ongoing, a simultaneous endeavor has begun to create a more adapted cancer-education game. This adaptation of OutSMART Cancer will emphasize the need for cancer awareness and targeted education among Black Americans and African immigrant youth and parents (OutSMART Cancer: Africana). The creation of OutSMART Cancer: Africana is responsive to the need for culturally competent cancer education for youth and African immigrant families living in the United States using culturally familiar language and imagery. Black Americans and African immigrants experience cancer and health care uniquely, requiring a tailored educational approach [17].

The initial intention is to widely disseminate this serious game through clinical settings, such as community pharmacies, primary care offices, and cancer clinics, as well as community settings, such as schools and community health organizations. Researchers aim for this intervention to be taken up by adolescents and their families across the United States. We expect that this game will eventually be publicly available on the internet for play on computers and mobile devices. The long-term goal of the OutSMART Cancer games is to facilitate family communication about cancer prevention, associated healthy behaviors, early detection, and cancer screening.

Authors' Contributions

OA conceptualized and supervised the study and was in charge of writing the original draft as well as reviewing and editing the manuscript. TJM contributed to the writing of the original draft as well as reviewing and editing it.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Siegel RL, Giaquinto AN, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2024. CA Cancer J Clin 2024 Jan 17;74(1):12-49. [doi: 10.3322/caac.21820] [Medline: 38230766]
- Sarma EA, Quaife SL, Rendle KA, Kobrin SC. Negative cancer beliefs: Socioeconomic differences from the awareness and beliefs about cancer survey. Psychooncology 2021 Apr 25;30(4):471-477 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5573] [Medline: 33064857]
- Sarma EA, Rendle KA, Kobrin SC. Cancer symptom awareness in the US: sociodemographic differences in a population-based survey of adults. Prev Med 2020 Mar;132:106005. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106005</u>] [Medline: <u>32004595</u>]
- 4. Magni C, Segrè C, Finzi C, Veneroni L, Clerici CA, Massimino M, et al. Adolescents' health awareness and understanding of cancer and tumor prevention: when and why an adolescent decides to consult a physician. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2016 Aug;63(8):1357-1361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.25985] [Medline: 27106760]
- Portnoy B, Christenson GM. Cancer knowledge and related practices: results from the National Adolescent Student Health Survey. J Sch Health 1989 May;59(5):218-224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1746-1561.1989.tb04708.x] [Medline: 2739365]
- 6. Kyle RG, Nicoll A, Forbat L, Hubbard G. Adolescents' awareness of cancer risk factors and associations with health-related behaviours. Health Educ Res 2013 Oct;28(5):816-827 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cyt055] [Medline: 23648385]
- Kirubarajan A, Leung S, Li X, Yau M, Sobel M. Barriers and facilitators for cervical cancer screening among adolescents and young people: a systematic review. BMC Womens Health 2021 Mar 23;21(1):122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12905-021-01264-x] [Medline: <u>33757512</u>]
- 8. Research in action. School of Pharmacy University of Wisconsin-Madison. URL: <u>https://pharmacy.wisc.edu/crometeam/</u> research/ [accessed 2023-11-13]

- Abraham O, McCarthy T. An overview of the CRoME ab's MedSMA T families intervention for promoting opioid medication safety among adolescents and parents. Innov Pharm 2023;14(3):11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.24926/iip.v14i3.5678] [Medline: 38487388]
- Drummond D, Hadchouel A, Tesnière A. Serious games for health: three steps forwards. Adv Simul (Lond) 2017;2:3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s41077-017-0036-3] [Medline: 29450004]
- Abraham O, Szela L, Khan M, Geddam A. Exploring middle school students' perspectives on using serious games for cancer prevention education: focus group study. JMIR Serious Games 2022 Jan 24;10(1):e31172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/31172] [Medline: 34643533]
- Abraham O, Rosenberger C, LeMay S, Bittner S. Adolescents' Perceptions About Cancer and Preferences for Cancer Education. Cancer Control 2021;28:10732748211036057 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1177/10732748211036057</u>] [Medline: <u>34403277</u>]
- Abraham O, Szela L, Feng E, Egbujor M, Gay S. Exploring youth perceptions about cancer prevention and preferences for education: a qualitative study. J Cancer Educ 2023 Feb;38(1):50-59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-021-02077-0] [Medline: 34387834]
- Fredrick C, Linskens R, Schilling M, Eggen A, Strickland R, Jacobs E. Exploring youth perceptions about cancer prevention and preferences for education: a qualitative study. J Cancer Educ 2022 Apr;37(2):338-342 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-020-01819-w] [Medline: 32651766]
- 15. OutSMART Cancer. URL: https://crome.wisc.edu/OutSmart/#top [accessed 2023-11-13]
- 16. Haas J. A History of the Unity Game Engine. 2014. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/23xcvjxu</u> [accessed 2023-09-15]
- Abraham O, Agoke A, Sanuth K, Fapohunda A, Ogunsanya M, Piper M, et al. Need for culturally competent and responsive cancer education for African immigrant families and youth living in the United States. JMIR Cancer 2024 Mar 06;10:e53956 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/53956] [Medline: <u>38447129</u>]

Abbreviations

CRoME: Collaborative Research on MEdication use and family health

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 08.01.24; peer-reviewed by C Pensieri, C Zou; comments to author 12.02.24; revised version received 21.02.24; accepted 24.04.24; published 29.05.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
Abraham O, McCarthy TJ
An Introduction to the OutSMART Cancer Serious Game: Current and Future Directions
JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e56168
URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56168
doi:10.2196/56168
PMID:38809587

©Olufunmilola Abraham, Tyler J McCarthy. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 29.05.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Using a Mobile Messenger Service as a Digital Diary to Capture Patients' Experiences Along Their Interorganizational Treatment Path in Gynecologic Oncology: Lessons Learned

Eleonore Baum^{1,2,3}, PhD; Christian Thiel⁴, Prof Dr; Andrea Kobleder¹, Prof Dr; Daniela Bernhardsgrütter¹, MScN; Ramona Engst¹, MA; Carola Maurer¹, Dr Phil; Antje Koller¹, Prof Dr

¹Institute of Applied Nursing Science, School of Health, Eastern Switzerland University of Applied Sciences, St.Gallen, Switzerland

³Faculty of Medicine, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

⁴Institute for Information and Process Management, Eastern Switzerland University of Applied Sciences, St.Gallen, Switzerland

Corresponding Author:

Antje Koller, Prof Dr Institute of Applied Nursing Science School of Health Eastern Switzerland University of Applied Sciences Neumarkt 3, Vadianstrasse 29 St.Gallen, 9000 Switzerland Phone: 41 58 257 12 13 Email: antje.koller@ost.ch

Abstract

A digital diary in the form of a mobile messenger service offers a novel method for data collection in cancer research. Little is known about the things to consider when using this data collection method in clinical research for patients with cancer. In this Viewpoint paper, we discuss the lessons we learned from using a qualitative digital diary method via a mobile messenger service for data collection in oncology care. The lessons learned focus on three main topics: (1) data quality, (2) practical aspects, and (3) data protection. We hope to provide useful information to other researchers who consider this method for their research with patients. First, in this paper, we argue that the interactive nature of a digital diary via a messenger service is very well suited for the phenomenological approach and produces high-quality data. Second, we discuss practical issues of data collection with a mobile messenger service, including participant and researcher interaction. Third, we highlight corresponding aspects around technicalities, particularly those regarding data security. Our views on data privacy and information security are summarized in a comprehensive checklist to inform fellow researchers on the selection of a suitable messenger service for different scenarios. In our opinion, a digital diary via a mobile messenger service can provide high-quality data almost in real time and from participants' daily lives. However, some considerations must be made to ensure that patient data are sufficiently protected. The lessons we learned can guide future qualitative research using this relatively novel method for data collection in cancer research.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52985) doi:10.2196/52985

KEYWORDS

mobile apps; computer security; confidentiality; data collection; oncology; breast neoplasms; mobile phone

Current Perspectives on Digital Diaries in Cancer Research

Overview

RenderX

Asking research participants to write their experiences down in a diary generates different data from those that might be obtained from qualitative interviews. Using ambulatory

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52985

assessment (AA) methods in the form of diary writing allows for the collection of rich data during the patient's daily life almost in real time [1,2]. AA is a research tool that has grown dramatically in popularity, particularly in the last decade [2,3]. AA refers to an array of assessment approaches that include the experience sampling method (such as paper-pencil diaries) or ecological momentary assessment (EMA; such as digital diaries on mobile phones) [3,4]. AA ensures that data collection occurs

²Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Allschwil, Switzerland

within the patient's individual natural environment and context. This improves data validity as opposed to more traditional assessment methods that often take place in artificial environments [2,5]. Moreover, data collection methods such as the experience sampling method or EMA have the potential to reduce recall bias [6,7].

AA has commonly been used to collect structured quantitative data, for instance, using software to support clinical research projects, such as REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University) [8]. In cancer research, AA techniques have been applied using specifically developed mobile applications functioning as diaries, for instance, to track clinical symptoms [9] or to assess self-report physical activity [10,11]. In addition, AA or EMA in oncology research holds promise to improve the understanding of patients' symptoms and quality of life by taking their natural environment into consideration [12].

However, such techniques can also be a useful data collection tool for qualitative research [4]. Applying AA in mental health research is well established. However, less is known about its feasibility and added value for oncology research [12].

Diaries in digital format can offer a variety of data, such as videos, audios, and photos, which can be recorded [13]. More specifically, digital diaries in the form of a mobile messenger service or application enable remote data collection with the possibility of real-time feedback on participant activity, thereby improving collaboration between members of the research team and participants. Telling a patient's story with the help of mobile digital devices in the research context encourages a detailed description [14] and holds promise as a participatory research practice [15,16]. Capturing patients' stories is especially useful in qualitative research to explore participants' lived experiences with health care [17]. Moreover, the treatment of gynecological and breast cancer is multiprofessional and interorganizational, as it mostly includes a combination of surgery, chemotherapy, radiation, and targeted therapies. Patients have numerous appointments, often in several different locations, with their experiences potentially getting lost in retrospective interviews.

Background on the Original Study

This viewpoint paper was inspired by the experiences we acquired in an original study with the aim of examining the meaning of trust, interprofessional collaboration, and the role of the advanced practice nurse in gynecological oncology in the treatment path of women with gynecological cancer. Detailed study procedures and results will be provided elsewhere and are not the focus of this viewpoint. We conducted a mixed methods study [18] and chose for the qualitative part an interpretive phenomenological approach in accordance with van Manen [19]. A total of 12 women (aged 27 to 61 years) were recruited in 2 oncology clinics by 2 advanced practice nurses. Most participants had a higher qualification (n=9, 75%) and were in the cancer stage IA (n=4, 33%), followed by stage IIA (n=3, 25%), according to the Union for International Cancer Control.

We asked participants to share their experiences using a mobile messenger service installed on a tablet as a digital diary from

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52985
```

diagnosis to follow-up. The mean study duration among the 12 participants was 10.5 (SD 4.1, range 2-16) months.

The diary was unstructured to reflect participants' individual experiences and perceptions around the phenomena of trust and interdisciplinarity. This meant the participants did not receive specific questions from the research team but sent us their perceptions on trust and interdisciplinarity at varying time intervals and with varying subjective content depending on their circumstances and differing treatment paths. The participants were informed that they should view and use Threema (Threema GmbH) similarly to an actual paper-based diary, writing down their inner reflections and perceptions. This also meant that participants did not necessarily expect any response to their diary entries or prompts from the research team on a regular basis. However, we found that this flexible approach met recommendations for the successful integration of EMA techniques, such as permitting continuous researcher and patient interaction, sending questions, reacting to responses, and debriefing after the completion of treatment phases [20].

Along with the digital diary, we conducted repeated semistructured interviews, and participants filled in a structured questionnaire at each treatment phase (ie, diagnosis, surgery, chemotherapy, radiation, and follow-up). Through this triangulation of methods, we were able to generate richer data [21].

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the responsible ethics committee of northwest and central Switzerland (registration number 2021-00730). All patients provided written informed consent before enrollment in the study. Participants were informed that participation in the study was completely voluntary and that nonparticipation or withdrawal was possible at any time once participation had begun without any consequences concerning further care and treatment or employment. Texts sent via the messenger service were encrypted before data analysis to ensure confidentiality. The encryption key was kept in the Institute of Applied Nursing Science, separate from other data. Participant data were stored on a password-protected drive. The patients received no compensation for participation. However, each patient received a tablet to be used as a digital diary. The tablet was given to the patients as a gift. With regard to our digital diary approach, the ethics committee deemed it important for us to report in detail how the data were encrypted and stored to ensure data protection.

Rationale for Using Digital Diaries in Cancer Research

For the original study, we chose the digital diary method via a mobile messenger service mainly for 3 reasons [22]. First, cancer treatment may impair physical and cognitive function. Therefore, we tried to keep patient burden as low as possible and minimize the time between women's experiences and their reporting. Accurate reporting is particularly important in view of the complex treatment that involves numerous appointments with several health care professionals [23]. By solely relying on interviews conducted retrospectively and in light of any potential impairment of cognitive function due to the treatment, the accuracy of the women's reports may else have been

compromised. Second, trust is highly subjective by nature. It takes time to develop, may change with time, and is influenced by previous collaboration experiences [24]. To reflect the participants' lived experience and the phenomenon of trust over time, the diary method using mobile messenger services, such as the ones many people already use on their mobile phones, appeared particularly appropriate [25]. It seemed to fit the phenomenological methodology, as mobile messenger services are already part of our day-to-day experience, as opposed to additional diary applications or software. Using specific digital diary software with structured prompts could be viewed as an added hurdle to be part of participants' daily lives. Therefore, messenger services show promise in capturing nuances of patients' lived experiences along the illness and treatment journey [26].

The digital diary method also allows participants' testimonies of their lives to shape the direction of the research, thereby addressing power imbalance [27]. Third, the technical solution provided advantages such as responsive and transparent data collection and password protection, which would prevent reading by others and contribute to data security. However, research has also found pitfalls when using mobile messenger services in the context of health care in the past. A recent scoping review on the use of the WhatsApp (Meta Platforms Inc) messenger found research ethics were not considered adequately. The authors deemed this to be concerning, given the controversies WhatsApp has faced regarding data protection in detail end-to-end encryption [28]. In addition, for health researchers, technical solutions such as end-to-end encryption might not be obvious, and the need for technical support might be underestimated. Data security policies and regulations are constantly adapted in Switzerland and other countries in Europe. Digital modes of data collection add new aspects to consider when protecting the sensitive data of study participants. From a practical point of view, the interface of digital applications on electronic mobile devices requires other practical skills and preparations of the researchers than classical data collection methods. For example, IT support is needed for planning and maintaining the running systems and for troubleshooting when problems occur.

In summary, using a mobile messenger service for qualitative data collection seems an opportune way to collect data nowadays. However, it poses some questions, particularly with regard to data quality, practical aspects, and data protection, that need to be considered when choosing this option for clinical studies.

Aim

The purpose of this viewpoint paper is to discuss the lessons we learned from applying a digital diary as a data collection method by sharing our experiences, some solutions, and questions that we encountered while using this method. We aimed to provide useful information to other researchers who consider digital diary methods for their research, especially in the context of oncology care.

Methods

The paper covers our experiences on three main topics: (1) data quality, (2) practical aspects, and (3) data protection. Our initial considerations around these 3 topics and how we approached them are described in the following sections.

Data Quality

In terms of data quality, we paid particular attention to the extent to which the data collected with the mobile messenger service conformed to the paradigm of phenomenological methodology. In doing so, we held continuous team meetings, recorded the discussions, and analyzed them for this paper. As a more universal approach to data quality, we used the quality criteria of Lincoln and Guba [21], namely credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. In addition, we considered the criteria of authenticity [29]: fairness, ontological authenticity, educative authenticity, catalytic authenticity, and tactical authenticity. How we incorporated these criteria into our research method is elaborated in the Key Lessons Learned section.

Practical Aspects

Practical aspects of planning, setting up, and maintaining the mobile devices as well as the software were continuously recorded by the research team in a field protocol. Practical solutions and questions that were addressed are reported in this manuscript. The analysis of the protocols and data security was carried out in joint discussions with the primary team (experienced researchers with a clinical nursing background), including an IT expert.

Data Protection

Because of the interactive nature of the messenger service, we had to consider the privacy protection of both parties, the patients and the research staff. Essential requirements for messenger services were derived from the European Union (EU) data protection legislation. The introduction of the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) has an impact on everyone who moves on the web. Although this is an EU regulation, it nevertheless has an extraterritorial effect, as companies from nonmember states are also obliged to implement it under certain circumstances. Switzerland's revised data protection act entered into force on September 1, 2023, and approximates the GDPR.

Key Lessons Learned

Overview

We compared certain evaluation criteria for each messenger to then selected a suitable messenger service. The three main areas of focus namely (1) data quality, (2) practical aspects, and (3) data protection (including data privacy and information security), were interrelated, and decisions in one area most often needed some considerations for one of the others. For instance, it was considered practical by some research team members to text patients from their personal mobile devices, but this led to new data protection issues.

Data Quality

We ensured *credibility* by interacting with our participants on a regular basis through the messenger service over a lengthy period, from the phase of cancer diagnosis to follow-up several months later. The interactive nature of the messenger service allowed us to enrich the content the participants posted nearly in real time, thereby largely circumventing any recall bias. However, we found that this bias could not be completely omitted. During data collection, several participants forgot to send us their messages, especially in the last phase of data collection during follow-up, or were simply too burdened by the side effects of the treatment to update us regularly. However, we felt these missing data could be mitigated through data triangulation. For instance, when we conducted the semistructured interviews at each treatment phase, we could inquire about information that had potentially gone missing in the diary. Moreover, we paid particular attention to the aspect of social desirability In our experience, we found this possible bias to be rather negligible, as all participants felt comfortable sharing positive and negative information around their experiences. The interaction with the patients on the mobile messenger service allowed us to inquire what was meant if a certain message was ambiguous. We entered probing questions into the messenger service to delve deeper when certain information that touched upon our research question was provided. In addition, during the interviews, we gave respondents the opportunity to correct misinterpretations we might have made of their digital diary messages, thereby triangulating and cross-checking the data. We ensured transferability by encouraging participants to share their narrative with us. However, sometimes, individual requirements called for the application of pragmatic decisions. For instance, we allowed one of the participants to send us photos of handwritten messages, as she mentioned feeling less comfortable typing a lot of information into the tablet. However, she used this option only twice before switching to email. We considered dependability and confirmability by, for example, noting down common responses of the research team in a separate file. (For example, "Dear participant, thank you for your detailed descriptions. We will consider them carefully.") By archiving our responses and discussing them among ourselves, we ensured that our reactions were similar across patients in case of comparable situations. Exchanges with study participants outside of the messenger service (including quick telephone calls for technical reasons or setting an interview date) were recorded. To limit researcher bias, we avoided steering the participant's narrative too strongly to capture the participant's lived experience. This was particularly relevant for probing questions that we entered into the messenger service. In this regard, we found it particularly helpful that each participant chat group was supervised by 3 researchers and that responses could, therefore, be discussed.

Moving on to the 5 dimensions of authenticity according to Lincoln and Guba [29,30], we aimed at achieving *fairness* through our prolonged engagement with participants and regular peer debriefings with fellow researchers who were in the chat groups. We established *ontological and educative authenticity* by allowing ourselves as researchers to be "educated" by our

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52985
```

participants, taking on an emic perspective. The ongoing dialogue with participants helped achieve a sense of familiarity in the researcher-participant relationship and led to an effective hermeneutic circle. Regarding catalytic authenticity, we discussed and defined how we interacted with study participants throughout the research process, especially how we communicated over the messenger. When situations that we had not fully anticipated beforehand arose, for instance, certain technical difficulties of participants, we found solutions through discussion and joint decision-making in the research team. To ensure tactical authenticity, we spoke to participants over their personal telephone before every initial interview, inquiring whether they felt empowered to fully communicate and share their experiences with us over the mobile messenger service. Participants could also exercise control on how frequently they interacted with us, when they sent us messages, and what content they decided to share with us.

Overall, we found that the use of a mobile messenger service for the digital diaries fully met our expectations in view of data quality. The richness and authenticity of data that were generated via this method were exceptionally high and ensured the credibility of the data. We felt that this method yielded a feasible and personal way to accompany a woman directly after her gynecological or breast cancer diagnosis and get to know her lived experience during her treatment almost in real time. In our study, the digital diary data complemented the semistructured interviews most favorably. We found that the contact via the mobile messenger service moved the starting point in each interview much closer to the focus of our primary research question on trust and interdisciplinarity, as the researcher already knew eminent details of the participants' lived experience. This was especially relevant in the initial study phases, when participants experienced more uncertainty and emotions.

Practical Aspects

Field protocols mainly yielded 2 practical interrelated groups of things to consider when using digital diary data collection: technical aspects and the interactive nature of the messenger service.

Technical Aspects

In our research context, it was important that the selected messenger service was flexible, was popular in terms of its recognition value, and had the greatest possible compatibility with common operating systems, such as Android (Google LLC) or iOS (Apple Inc). The messenger service needed to be compatible with not only the tablets provided but also the user's smartphone. Data security played a major role when choosing a messenger service, and the most important criteria are described later in this paper in the Data Protection section. Costs also guided our decision because tailored mobile diary apps can be expensive compared to more affordable messenger services. Finally, we selected the Swiss mobile messenger service Threema.

As tablets were gifted to the participants during recruitment, all participants chose to use the tablet instead of their mobile phone. One of the participants mentioned that she wanted to keep the

XSL•FO

"disease and her private life separate." Another reason for patients not choosing their own mobile device for posting messages might have been that the research assistants in both settings did not emphasize this possibility sufficiently. The tablets were provided fully set up and preinstalled. However, the tablets were not as much part of patients' everyday life experience as we had hoped. Notably, at the end of data collection, some participants mentioned not wanting to continue to use the gifted tablet for other purposes because they associated it with their disease. Indeed, one of the participants mentioned having given the tablet to a relative. None of the tablets were returned to the research team.

During data collection, patients sometimes forgot to bring the tablet with them to certain appointments (eg, radiation appointments) to document their experiences. Had they been using their smartphones to communicate with us, we assume this would have happened less frequently. In some cases, the research team had difficulties reaching participants (1) when the first contact was problematic (refer to the subsequent discussion about Wi-Fi connection) or (2) when the participants had not recorded their experiences for some time. According to the study protocol, contact should be held solely via the mobile messenger service. However, as some participants did not boot their tablet regularly, this way of communication was not always reliable. Instead, we established an initiating phone call as well as email contact in individual cases for first and ongoing contact. If messages were not sent to the research team via the messenger service for >3 weeks, the research team tried to contact the participant via the messenger service and then via the contact person in the respective setting, and if this did not suffice, the research team tried to establish contact via phone or email. However, we discussed how often or in which intervals phone calls might be appropriate if patients did not send us a message for a while.

This way, we were able to keep in contact with all participants and, at the same time, respect their personal life as much as possible. No participant dropped out of the study, despite the longitudinal character with a mean study duration of 10.5 months and no financial incentive. All in all, this confirms a high level of feasibility of the data collection method from the participants' side.

Some decisions entailed situations that were not anticipated by the research team. For example, as the chosen mobile messenger service was distributed via a common mobile app store, a new account for each tablet needed to be created by the team, which affected complex password management, among other things. The payment method needed to be compatible with the standards of the project's financial control. In addition, the used mobile app store account and payment method had to be safe from fraud and unlawful use by subsequent app users. As a solution, mobile app store vouchers were used instead of entering the details of a credit card.

The selected messenger service stores data on each mobile device rather than in the cloud. In one instance, a message was not received by one of the research staff due to synchronization problems in the messenger service. As we had regular team discussions and chats were hosted by 3 members of the research

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52985
```

team, this problem was soon discovered, and the message could be retrieved. Another time, we encountered a synchronization problem related to the decentralized data backup on participants' mobile devices: some messages were received with the incorrect date and time stamp. Research team members in the chat quickly realized this issue when messages were sent in the wrong sequence. Having several researchers present in each chat was a definitive advantage. Once we realized the discrepancy, the administrator of the chats synchronized chat groups regularly, and we no longer encountered this issue.

Although generally not a problem, establishing a Wi-Fi connection on the tablet did require some basic technical knowledge. In one situation, initial Threema messages after recruitment were not recorded via the messenger service on the tablet until the participant had her husband connect the tablet to her home Wi-Fi. Some data from the early treatment phases were lost due to this technical issue. The research team could not offer remote support for this kind of problem, as each Wi-Fi router might be different. However, as connecting mobile devices to home Wi-Fi was a known task for most participants, this was not problematic and could be solved without much burden for the participant.

Another practical technical issue that was not fully anticipated by the team was the practicability of producing and sending text messages on a tablet. For example, participants frequently mentioned that the autocorrection feature wrote "odd" words, and they were not always capable of disabling the function. As a result, they needed to recheck each message and correct mistakes manually, which increased time and effort for data generation and caused frustration for one of the participants. We would recommend disabling the autocorrection mode before handing out the device to participants or providing a guide regarding how to do this manually. In addition, the handling can differ between mobile devices. For example, a participant suggested changing to writing emails from her private laptop instead of using the messenger service on the tablet because she could not become used to the tablet swipe function compared to the keyboard on her laptop. We decided that she can send her emails to a protected server of a research team member.

Surprisingly, the time-saving method of sending voice notes via Threema was hardly ever used, even though research assistants suggested this method in the supporting phone calls. Therefore, we assume that this method of messaging posed a greater barrier to participants than text messaging. As a result, data generated by Threema consisted mostly of written text messages. One of the participants elaborated on her dislike of sending voice notes. She mentioned that it was important for her to reread the text she had written before sending it to us.

The Interactive Nature of the Messenger Service

The interactive nature of the messenger service triggered our hypothesis that participants might expect some feedback on their posts. In the study protocol, the team planned to ensure so-called impartial feedback to balance the abovementioned "steering" of the data with the amount of data that were derived. We ensured timely feedback by building teams of 3 researchers for each chat. One person per chat was in charge of answering in an impartial manner. In this context, impartial meant that the

XSL•FO

responses did not reinforce emotional topics and used the participant's own words whenever possible. A common answer to a post was, for example, "Thank you for this interesting message. I am curious how xyz will turn out." During data collection, we repeatedly discussed how our answers may influence the participants' posts. We also considered whether certain replies may be used to direct posts intentionally to generate more data that focused on the research question. After consulting an external expert for phenomenology, we decided on a mode of intentionally "steering" participants' posts to generate richer data in view of the research question.

For the Swiss context, we needed to choose the teams according to their language-speaking abilities, as the study sites were from 2 different language regions (Swiss German and French). As the chats were backed up regularly on local servers, a person in charge was chosen to oversee this task. This team member had to be extra careful not to miss any messages; otherwise, some messages might not have been included in the transcript (refer to the Technical Aspects section). In addition, participants had to be informed regarding who was able to read their posts and why 3 team members were part of the chat group. As some participants inquired whether the other participants were able to read their posts in the messenger, we realized that confidentiality needed to be explained in more detail. As is standard in qualitative clinical studies, we informed patients that the research team was not giving any medical advice. Some discussions were necessary to balance the neutrality of the answers and responsiveness when some participants revealed that they had acute health problems. We stored standard answers with emergency numbers of the treating departments for each study site, for which we coordinated with the on-site contact persons.

Another aspect of the personal attendance of the chat groups was discussed frequently in the team: some patients posted mainly in the evening and late at night. Some research team members used distinct ringtones; others muted the messenger service to avoid receiving potentially upsetting messages in their spare time. This was possible, as some researchers did not use Threema in their personal life at the time of the study. However, if message notifications were not muted, posts reached us outside of working hours. Balancing the pros and cons, most of us stuck to our choice to use our personal mobile phone for chat supervision. This seemed more convenient and allowed the team members to report in a timely manner, becoming somewhat part of patients' lived experience.

Data Protection

In view of data protection, we found that several aspects of data privacy and information security had to be considered for the selection of the mobile messenger service [31-33]. The criteria in Textbox 1 indicate when a messenger service may be suitable for exchanging sensitive health-related data on a more general level.

Textbox 1. General criteria when choosing a messenger service for data collection.

General criteria

- Privacy by design—data security and metadata sparing are already considered in the development phase of the messenger. Where there are no data, there can be no misuse of it.
- Open source-the app's source code is publicly available and can be viewed by third parties.
- End-to-end encryption—only the chat participants can view the exchanged information. Even the service operator has no way of decrypting it.
- Self-hosting—the messenger is run on the institution's own server (on premises) to meet its own security requirements and retain sole data sovereignty. In the context of temporary research projects at universities, self-hosting and administrability are not always possible. In that case, at least the operation of the solution (server) should be subject to the respective country-specific data protection legislation.
- Data protection conformity—the messenger's functionality fully complies with the strict regulations of the General Data Protection Regulation, which means that the misuse of confidential health care data can be ruled out.
- User-friendliness and intuitive handling—if the requirements of user-friendliness and functional scope are not met, even the most secure messenger service is worthless and may promote the emergence of applications and services without explicit IT department approval.

These generic requirements lead to a comprehensive checklist that can be used to evaluate current and future messengers in terms of their suitability for handling sensitive health data. The checklist and the definitions of the different criteria are provided in the Multimedia Appendix 1. The Messenger Evaluation Checklist is applied to 5 publicly available messenger services in the Multimedia Appendix 2, allowing for comparisons of different technical aspects.

According to this evaluation, various messengers could have been used for the application scenario of our study (or similar studies handling sensitive data). It is also to be expected that more suitable messengers will be developed or that existing providers will close their weak points regarding data protection and the security of customer data. In the context of this study,

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52985

which was conducted in Switzerland, we selected the Swiss app Threema from the suitable messengers for three main reasons:

- 1. Threema was the first major messenger service to commit to data protection and privacy.
- 2. Threema does not require personal data (data sparseness).
- 3. The messenger offers a number of similar functions to those offered by WhatsApp, such as sending voice notes or photos, which also catered to different communication preferences of patients.

First, as an important mechanism for data protection, Threema uses secure "end-to-end" encryption. This is comparable to specific AA applications, such as movisens. This was relevant to our study because we did not provide a SIM card, and we found that transmission via Wi-Fi would suffice. Participants

were able to type their posts in the messenger service offline, which were sent as soon as the tablet was connected to Wi-Fi. We left it to the participants to decide which Wi-Fi they used. However, we could not ensure data security for open-access Wi-Fi, such as hospital Wi-Fi or restaurant Wi-Fi. One solution might have been a virtual private network connection. However, as we had to balance technical skills and usability with data protection, the end-to-end encryption of the messenger service was considered safe enough.

Second, in terms of data sparseness, Threema does not ask for any data when registering and adheres to strict data protection guidelines. Moreover, as the application was preinstalled on the tablets by the research team, participants did not need to register using their private phone number. The address book is not by default synchronized and matched with existing messenger users. If data are collected, they are deleted again immediately. Text messages and media are stored only on the end devices unless the user chooses the backup function. The servers then only have the function of a relay station: messages and data are forwarded but not permanently stored. As Threema cannot view or process messages, users retain control over their messages.

Third, fortunately, Threema not only meets the functional requirements in our study but also adequately protects the personal data of all chat group participants (study participants and research staff). Moreover, according to the terms of service, Threema does not store any metadata that could be used to identify the message content. Threema uses data only to provide the necessary service, emphasizes data privacy, and minimizes data collection. There is no evidence that Threema uses data for modeling or other purposes.

In addition to the 3 reasons that led to its selection, Threema fulfills many other requirements, as listed in the Multimedia Appendix 1 and evaluated in the Multimedia Appendix 2.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this viewpoint paper, we intended to report the lessons we learned using a mobile messenger service to generate data for digital diaries in an oncology setting. Overall, we found that using a mobile messenger service such as Threema as a digital diary was feasible and highly valuable for data collection, and we never regretted our decision. The flexibility around diary content and timing of messages was a major strength of the study, particularly for this patient population facing significant challenges. Although we did not send regular prompts, the diary generated rich data. The challenges that we met during our study showed us that technical support needs to be carefully considered while planning and conducting such research. Technical aspects should entail software and hardware in view of the suitability of the backend and the usability of the front end. These considerations might include not only the choice of the software and means of data protection but also practical front-end considerations, such as technical support if a device is not working or the practicality of writing long, emotional messages with a touchscreen keyboard.

Data Quality

In our study, it was particularly important for us to collect high-quality data that ensured we could take part in participants' lived experiences. Using a mobile messenger service provided us with rich descriptions that participants did not necessarily share with us during the interviews. Researchers in another study came to similar conclusions, where they introduced a chatbot for patients with breast cancer. They found that patients revealed more intimate information and shared thoughts about sexuality and hair loss [34]. In another study, the authors confirmed that participants felt more at ease sharing private information over the messenger because of anonymity and privacy considerations. The authors concluded that messenger services also have the potential to facilitate trust and, therefore, the collection of more in-depth data, especially in longitudinal studies [35], which we also observed in our study. We found in our study that interacting regularly with participants over the messenger service made the exchange more personal. We felt as though we were taking part firsthand in the participants' experiences almost in real time. On the one hand, participants at times forgot to update us via the tablet, and some participants expressed a wish to keep their private life and the disease separate, particularly in the follow-up phase. However, we still felt that this method achieved a level of nearness we could not have achieved through interviews or questionnaires only. In addition, we felt that the mobile messenger service aided us in circumventing the issue of recall bias, which can be an issue for other methods of data collection [6]. This is especially important for cancer research, considering chemotherapy-related cognitive impairment, such as memory deficits [36,37].

Furthermore, and in line with findings from the study by Herron et al [38], the digital diary entries gave us clues as to how the interviews could further deepen the participants' accounts of their experiences. In addition, we informed the participants which member of the team was primarily responsible for interacting with them within the messenger. This team member usually also conducted all interviews, which additionally fostered trust between the researcher and participant.

Practical Aspects

In our study, we reflected on technical aspects as well as researcher and participant interaction. Participants were eager to send us Threema messages at the start of the study, but at certain points in their treatment path, especially during radiation and follow-up, engagement was an issue. Other research suggests that a high attrition rate and continuous engagement are key challenges in health care studies that rely on mobile applications [39]. However, researchers found that personal contact, such as receiving response messages from researchers, made participants feel valued, and they were more likely to complete data collection [40]. It was paramount in our study to be able to interact with participants and to use other mediums when Threema communication declined or came to a halt. As we had very little missing data and no dropouts, this somewhat laborious method paid off in our study. We think that this may also be the reason why we had no dropouts. This is particularly worth mentioning, as the study took place over a long period during which several patients did not feel well. The low dropout

rate coincides with the strengths highlighted by Trull and Ebner-Priemer [3] on self-report AA. The authors argued that patients with severe illness have demonstrated good compliance in AA studies and are willing to share honest reports of their experiences.

Data Protection

Data protection was one of our main considerations when we selected the messenger service Threema. Weis et al [41] found in their qualitative study that an important concern for patients with cancer was data security as well as confidentiality. We made sure that study participants were well aware of all relevant data protection aspects. Interestingly, none of the patients with cancer expressed any unease or worry in this direction when communicating with us over the messenger service.

One concern for the researchers of this study, however, was the data security for open-access Wi-Fi, as we did not provide patients with a SIM card. Cyber security and issues of cyber security vulnerability among Android devices have also been reflected upon in other health care research [32,42]. Mierzwa et al [43], for instance, recommend considering the cyber-risk likelihood and a consequence analysis when using a certain technology in health care. They found that WhatsApp is not an adequate tool to share clinical information due to its noncompliance with the GDPR and Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act rules. In their opinion, health care organizations and physicians should abandon WhatsApp, moving toward secure messaging apps that are able to maintain the confidentiality and security of patient data. However, these works mostly considered tools for communication within health care organizations and for communication between their employees.

Potential Pitfalls

Several different mobile messenger services could have been used in our study. We did not conduct an in-depth analysis of all available applications beforehand but instead selected Threema out of 3 main publicly known applications based on the 3 reasons mentioned in the Data Protection section.

We did not encounter any major pitfalls in the process of ethical clearance that diverged from our previous non-digital diary studies with patients with cancer. However, it is important to note that ethical clearance requirements may differ greatly, even within the same country. The mobile messenger service used in this study is based in Switzerland, the same country where the study was conducted. This may have influenced the process.

We cannot rule out the possibility that the technical nature of the digital diary might have resulted in a slightly biased sampling, with technically affine persons feeling more inclined to participate in this kind of study. However, we found that age and educational level showed a certain diversity.

The research team of this study did not have a professional background or expert IT knowledge. Study participants also did not receive any specific training to use the mobile application, as recommended by Daniëls et al [44]. We could only provide remote support via phone when the study participants experienced technical difficulties. In such cases, we referred participants to the recruiting nurse, who also lacked the technical expertise to help with participants' mobile devices. Mostly, we could solve the problems. However, if not, we indeed jointly found individual pragmatic solutions, such as allowing the use of pictures of handwritten messages or using a keyboard and emailing diary messages. One might argue that the different modes of data collection as well as the unstructured setup of the diary in comparison to more conventional AA applications led to a slight imbalance in data quality. We checked whether a certain amount of "closeness" to the patient's lived experience might have been lost due to this decision. In this particular case, for example, the switch to email was successful, as the participant immediately started sending us more detailed reports more frequently. It remains unclear whether the data collection method described here was superior or inferior to other data collection methods. However, we found that it led to a certain amount of "felt proximity" to participants' lived experiences. As this was precisely the goal of our study, we found that using the digital diary method served our purpose quite adequately.

Conclusions

We recommend using a mobile messenger service for digital diaries in studies because they can generate timely and rich data that represent patients' lived experiences. This data collection method also shows promise for generating high-quality data over a longer period. Interacting and engaging with patients regularly over the messenger service may not only facilitate patients' truthful responses but also greatly aid participant retention. We consider the digital diary method to be suitable for cancer research because it allows researchers to closely follow patients and partake in their experiences in each treatment phase in a timely manner. Last but not least, the combination of methods contributed to the 100% retention rate.

The choice of a high-quality messenger service is particularly important for researchers. We believe that our insights on data quality, practical aspects, and data protection provide details on how researchers may use this method to its best potential. We feel that more work may be needed to answer the questions that remained unsolved in our study.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank their clinical research partners who have supported them throughout the project. They also want to express their gratitude to Andrea Neher, who supported them during the project design, data collection, and data analysis.

This study was funded by the Foundation of Swiss Cancer Research (KLS-5113-08-2020). The funding source had no role in the design or execution of the study or analyses or interpretation of the data.

Data Availability

The relevant data are in the paper or in the Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2.

Authors' Contributions

The study was conceptualized by A Kobleder, A Koller, DB, RE, and EB. Data were curated by EB, DB, and RE. Formal analysis was performed by EB, A Koller, DB, RE, CM, and CT. A Kobleder, A Koller, RE, and DB were involved in funding acquisition. Investigation was conducted by EB, DB, RE, CM, A Kobleder, and A Koller. Methodology, supervision, and validation were performed by A Kobleder, CM, and A Koller. Visualization was performed by CT. The original draft was written by EB, A Koller, and CT, and reviewing and editing were done by A Kobleder, DB, CM, and RE. Generative artificial intelligence was not used in any portion of the manuscript writing.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Messenger evaluation checklist. [DOCX File, 36 KB - cancer v10i1e52985 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Exemplary analysis of 5 messengers. [DOCX File, 37 KB - cancer_v10i1e52985_app2.docx]

References

- 1. Schneider S, Stone AA. Ambulatory and diary methods can facilitate the measurement of patient-reported outcomes. Qual Life Res 2016 Mar;25(3):497-506 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-015-1054-z] [Medline: 26101141]
- 2. Trull TJ, Ebner-Priemer UW. Ambulatory assessment in psychopathology research: a review of recommended reporting guidelines and current practices. J Abnorm Psychol 2020 Jan;129(1):56-63. [doi: <u>10.1037/abn0000473</u>] [Medline: <u>31868388</u>]
- 3. Trull TJ, Ebner-Priemer U. Ambulatory assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2013;9:151-176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185510] [Medline: 23157450]
- 4. Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2008;4:1-32. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415] [Medline: 18509902]
- Fahrenberg J. Ambulatory assessment: issues and perspectives. In: Ambulatory Assessment: Computer-Assisted Psychological and Psychophysiological Methods in Monitoring and Field Studies. St. Newburyport, MA: Hogrefe & Huber Publishers; 1996:3-20.
- 6. Stone AA, Shiffman S. Capturing momentary, self-report data: a proposal for reporting guidelines. Ann Behav Med 2002;24(3):236-243. [doi: 10.1207/S15324796ABM2403_09] [Medline: 12173681]
- Trull TJ, Ebner-Priemer UW. Using experience sampling methods/ecological momentary assessment (ESM/EMA) in clinical assessment and clinical research: introduction to the special section. Psychol Assess 2009 Dec;21(4):457-462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0017653] [Medline: 19947780]
- El Dahr Y, Perquier F, Moloney M, Woo G, Dobrin-De Grace R, Carvalho D, et al. Feasibility of using research electronic data capture (REDCap) to collect daily experiences of parent-child dyads: ecological momentary assessment study. JMIR Form Res 2023 Nov 09;7:e42916 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/42916] [Medline: 37943593]
- Baggott C, Gibson F, Coll B, Kletter R, Zeltzer P, Miaskowski C. Initial evaluation of an electronic symptom diary for adolescents with cancer. JMIR Res Protoc 2012 Dec 11;1(2):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2175] [Medline: 23612521]
- Knell G, Gabriel KP, Businelle MS, Shuval K, Wetter DW, Kendzor DE. Ecological momentary assessment of physical activity: validation study. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jul 18;19(7):e253 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.7602</u>] [Medline: <u>28720556</u>]
- Gaser D, Peters C, Götte M, Oberhoffer-Fritz R, Feuchtinger T, Schmid I, et al. Analysis of self-reported activities of daily living, motor performance and physical activity among children and adolescents with cancer: baseline data from a randomised controlled trial assessed shortly after diagnosis of leukaemia or non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2022 Mar;31(2):e13559. [doi: 10.1111/ecc.13559] [Medline: 35150025]
- 12. Kampshoff CS, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, van Oijen MG, Sprangers MA, Buffart LM. Ecological momentary assessments among patients with cancer: a scoping review. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2019 May;28(3):e13095 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ecc.13095] [Medline: 31090160]

RenderX

- 13. Jarrahi MH, Goray C, Zirker S, Zhang Y. Digital diaries as a research method for capturing practices in situ. In: Symon G, Pritchard K, Hine C, editors. Research Methods for Digital Work and Organization: Investigating Distributed, Multi-Modal, and Mobile Work. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2021:107-129.
- 14. Sieber C, Chiavi D, Haag C, Kaufmann M, Horn AB, Dressel H, Swiss Multiple Sclerosis Registry. Electronic health diary campaigns to complement longitudinal assessments in persons with multiple sclerosis: nested observational study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2022 Oct 05;10(10):e38709 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/38709] [Medline: 36197713]
- 15. de Jager A, Fogarty A, Tewson A, Lenette C, Boydell K. Digital storytelling in research: a systematic review. Qual Rep 2017 Oct 2;22(10):2548-2582. [doi: 10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2970]
- 16. De Vecchi N, Kenny A, Dickson-Swift V, Kidd S. How digital storytelling is used in mental health: a scoping review. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2016 Jun;25(3):183-193. [doi: 10.1111/inm.12206] [Medline: 26900000]
- 17. Rieger KL, West CH, Kenny A, Chooniedass R, Demczuk L, Mitchell KM, et al. Digital storytelling as a method in health research: a systematic review protocol. Syst Rev 2018 Mar 05;7(1):41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-018-0704-y] [Medline: 29506568]
- 18. Creswell JW, Plano Clark VL. Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research. 3rd edition. Washington, DC: Sage Publications; 2018.
- 19. van Manen M. Researching Lived Experience: Human Science for an Action Sensitive Pedagogy. Abingdon, UK: Routledge; 2016.
- 20. Doherty K, Balaskas A, Doherty G. The design of ecological momentary assessment technologies. Interact Comput 2020;32(3):257-278. [doi: 10.1093/iwcomp/iwaa019]
- 21. Lincoln Y, Guba E. Naturalistic Inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications; 1985.
- 22. Bartlett R. Modifying the diary interview method to research the lives of people with dementia. Qual Health Res 2012 Dec;22(12):1717-1726. [doi: 10.1177/1049732312462240] [Medline: 23034779]
- Interprofessionelle Zusammenarbeit in der Gesundheitsversorgung: erfolgskritische Dimensionen und Fördermassnahmen. Differenzierung, Praxis und Implementierung. Swiss Academy of Medical Sciences.: Swiss Academies Communications; 2020. URL: <u>https://www.samw.ch/dam/jcr:65cc818b-77d5-425a-8927-54e349d88c5b/</u> <u>studie samw interprofessionelle zusammenarbeit 2020.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-04-29]
- 24. Hall MA, Dugan E, Zheng B, Mishra AK. Trust in physicians and medical institutions: what is it, can it be measured, and does it matter? Milbank Q 2001;79(4):613-639 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1468-0009.00223] [Medline: 11789119]
- 25. Bolger N, Davis A, Rafaeli E. Diary methods: capturing life as it is lived. Annu Rev Psychol 2003;54:579-616. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.54.101601.145030] [Medline: 12499517]
- 26. Seguin M, Mendoza J, Mallari E, Lasco G, Maever L Amit A, Palileo-Villanueva LM, et al. Participant use of digital diaries in qualitative research: a strong structuration analysis. Int J Qual Methods 2022 Sep 27;21:160940692211247. [doi: 10.1177/16094069221124725]
- 27. Bennett J. Using Diaries and Photo Elicitation in Phenomenological Research: Studying Everyday Practices of Belonging in Place. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2014.
- Manji K, Hanefeld J, Vearey J, Walls H, de Gruchy T. Using WhatsApp messenger for health systems research: a scoping review of available literature. Health Policy Plan 2021 Jun 01;36(5):594-605 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/heapol/czab024] [Medline: 33860314]
- 29. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. But is it rigorous? Trustworthiness and authenticity in naturalistic evaluation. New Dir Prog Eval 2004 Nov 04;1986(30):73-84. [doi: 10.1002/ev.1427]
- 30. Manning K. Authenticity in constructivist inquiry: methodological considerations without prescription. Qual Inq 2016 Jun 29;3(1):93-115. [doi: 10.1177/107780049700300105]
- 31. Hasal M, Nowaková J, Ahmed Saghair K, Abdulla H, Snášel V, Ogiela L. Chatbots: security, privacy, data protection, and social aspects. Concurr Comput 2021 Jun 03;33(19):e6426. [doi: 10.1002/cpe.6426]
- 32. Masoni M, Guelfi MR. WhatsApp and other messaging apps in medicine: opportunities and risks. Intern Emerg Med 2020 Mar 15;15(2):171-173. [doi: 10.1007/s11739-020-02292-5] [Medline: 32062746]
- 33. Chari A, Gane SB. Instant messaging applications in healthcare: are we harnessing their potential? BMJ Innov 2018 Jan 24;4(1):5-8. [doi: 10.1136/bmjinnov-2017-000197]
- Chaix B, Bibault JE, Pienkowski A, Delamon G, Guillemassé A, Nectoux P, et al. When chatbots meet patients: one-year prospective study of conversations between patients with breast cancer and a chatbot. JMIR Cancer 2019 May 02;5(1):e12856 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12856] [Medline: 31045505]
- 35. Singer B, Walsh CM, Gondwe L, Reynolds K, Lawrence E, Kasiya A. WhatsApp as a medium to collect qualitative data among adolescents: lessons learned and considerations for future use. Gates Open Res 2020 Sep 14;4:130. [doi: 10.12688/gatesopenres.13169.1]
- Lindner OC, Phillips B, McCabe MG, Mayes A, Wearden A, Varese F, et al. A meta-analysis of cognitive impairment following adult cancer chemotherapy. Neuropsychology 2014 Sep;28(5):726-740 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/neu0000064] [Medline: 24635712]

RenderX

- 37. Durán-Gómez N, López-Jurado CF, Nadal-Delgado M, Pérez-Civantos D, Guerrero-Martín J, Cáceres MC. Chemotherapy-related cognitive impairment in patients with breast cancer based on functional assessment and NIRS analysis. J Clin Med 2022 Apr 23;11(9):2363 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm11092363] [Medline: 35566489]
- 38. Herron R, Dansereau L, Wrathall M, Funk L, Spencer D. Using a flexible diary method rigorously and sensitively with family carers. Qual Health Res 2019 Jun;29(7):1004-1015. [doi: 10.1177/1049732318816081] [Medline: 30522393]
- 39. Vaghefi I, Tulu B. The continued use of mobile health apps: insights from a longitudinal study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 29;7(8):e12983 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12983] [Medline: 31469081]
- 40. Druce KL, Dixon WG, McBeth J. Maximizing engagement in mobile health studies: lessons learned and future directions. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2019 May;45(2):159-172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2019.01.004] [Medline: 30952390]
- 41. Weis J, Wolf LR, Boerries M, Kassahn D, Boeker M, Dresch C. Identification of the needs and preferences of patients with cancer for the development of a clinic app: qualitative study. JMIR Cancer 2023 Jul 27;9:e40891 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/40891] [Medline: 37498653]
- 42. Alpers GW, Frey L, Tessmer-Petzendorfer S, Klingauf A, Schad S. How shall I write to my patient? Data protection in digital communication. Verhaltenstherapie 2020 Nov 13;32(Suppl. 1):14-23. [doi: 10.1159/000508713]
- Mierzwa S, Souidi S, Conroy T, Abusyed M, Watarai H, Allen T. On the potential, feasibility, and effectiveness of chat bots in public health research going forward. Online J Public Health Inform 2019;11(2):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5210/ojphi.v11i2.9998] [Medline: 31632598]
- 44. Daniëls NE, Hochstenbach LM, van Zelst C, van Bokhoven MA, Delespaul PA, Beurskens AJ. Factors that influence the use of electronic diaries in health care: scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Jun 01;9(6):e19536 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19536] [Medline: 34061036]

Abbreviations

AA: ambulatory assessment EMA: ecological momentary assessment EU: European Union GDPR: General Data Protection Regulation REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 21.09.23; peer-reviewed by C Haag, D Kukadiya; comments to author 11.12.23; revised version received 01.02.24; accepted 10.06.24; published 29.07.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Baum E, Thiel C, Kobleder A, Bernhardsgrütter D, Engst R, Maurer C, Koller A Using a Mobile Messenger Service as a Digital Diary to Capture Patients' Experiences Along Their Interorganizational Treatment Path in Gynecologic Oncology: Lessons Learned JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52985 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52985</u> doi:10.2196/52985 PMID:39073852

©Eleonore Baum, Christian Thiel, Andrea Kobleder, Daniela Bernhardsgrütter, Ramona Engst, Carola Maurer, Antje Koller. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 29.07.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Demographics and Health Characteristics Associated With the Likelihood of Participating in Digitally Delivered Exercise Rehabilitation for Improving Heart Health Among Breast Cancer Survivors: Cross-Sectional Survey Study

Tamara Jones¹, PhD; Lara Edbrooke^{2,3}, PhD; Jonathan C Rawstorn⁴, PhD; Linda Denehy^{2,3}, PhD; Sandra Hayes⁵, PhD; Ralph Maddison⁴, PhD; Aaron L Sverdlov⁶, MBBS, PhD; Bogda Koczwara⁷, MBBS; Nicole Kiss⁴, PhD; Camille E Short^{1,2}, PhD

¹Melbourne Centre for Behaviour Change, Melbourne School of Psychological Sciences, The University of Melbourne, Redmond Barry Building, Tin Alley, Melbourne, Australia

²Department of Physiotherapy, Melbourne School of Health Sciences, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

³Department of Health Services Research, The Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, Australia

⁴Institute for Physical Activity and Nutrition, Deakin University, Melbourne, Australia

⁵Cancer Council Queensland, Brisbane, Australia

⁶Newcastle Centre of Excellence in Cardio-Oncology, The University of Newcastle, Hunter Medical Research Institute, Calvary Mater Newcastle, Hunter New England Health, Newcastle, Australia

⁷Flinders Health and Medical Research Institute, Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Tamara Jones, PhD

Melbourne Centre for Behaviour Change, Melbourne School of Psychological Sciences, The University of Melbourne, Redmond Barry Building, Tin Alley, Melbourne, Australia

Abstract

Background: Strong evidence supports the benefits of exercise following both cardiovascular disease and cancer diagnoses. However, less than one-third of Australians who are referred to exercise rehabilitation complete a program following a cardiac diagnosis. Technological advances make it increasingly possible to embed real-time supervision, tailored exercise prescription, behavior change, and social support into home-based programs.

Objective: This study aimed to explore demographic and health characteristics associated with the likelihood of breast cancer survivors uptaking a digitally delivered cardiac exercise rehabilitation program and to determine whether this differed according to intervention timing (ie, offered generally, before, during, or after treatment). Secondary aims were to explore the knowledge of cardiac-related treatment side-effects, exercise behavior, additional intervention interests (eg, diet, fatigue management), and service fee capabilities.

Methods: This cross-sectional study involved a convenience sample of breast cancer survivors recruited via social media. A self-reported questionnaire was used to collect outcomes of interests, including the likelihood of uptaking a digitally delivered cardiac exercise rehabilitation program, and demographic and health characteristics. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize sample characteristics and outcomes. Ordered logistic regression models were used to examine associations between demographic and health characteristics and after treatment, with odds ratios (ORs) <0.67 or >1.5 defined as clinically meaningful and statistical significance a priori set at $P \le .05$.

Results: A high proportion (194/208, 93%) of the sample (mean age 57, SD 11 years; median BMI=26, IQR 23 - 31 kg/m²) met recommended physical activity levels at the time of the survey. Living in an outer regional area (compared with living in a major city) was associated with higher odds of uptake in each model (OR 3.86 - 8.57, 95% CI 1.04-68.47; P=.01 - .04). Receiving more cardiotoxic treatments was also associated with higher odds of general uptake (OR 1.42, 95% CI 1.02-1.96; P=.04). There was some evidence that a higher BMI, more comorbid conditions, and lower education (compared with university education) were associated with lower odds of intervention uptake, but findings differed according to intervention timing. Respondents identified the need for better education about the cardiotoxic effects of breast cancer treatment, and the desire for multifaceted rehabilitation interventions that are free or low cost (median Aus \$10, IQR 10-15 per session; Aus \$1=US \$0.69 at time of study).

Conclusions: These findings can be used to better inform future research and the development of intervention techniques that are critical to improving the delivery of a digital service model that is effective, equitable, and accessible, specifically, by enhancing

RenderX

digital inclusion, addressing general exercise barriers experienced by chronic disease populations, incorporating multidisciplinary care, and developing affordable delivery models.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51536) doi:10.2196/51536

KEYWORDS

digital health; breast cancer; exercise; rehabilitation; cardiotoxicity; demographic; cancer survivor; exercise rehabilitation; home-based program; pathologic process; radiation; physical phenomena; heart care; cardiovascular disease; diagnosis; cross-sectional study; chronic disease; statistics

Introduction

Advances in cancer treatment and care have contributed to improved breast cancer–specific survival rates and a growing population of long-term breast cancer survivors [1,2]. Among this group, the late effects of specific cardiotoxic cancer therapeutics can adversely impact cardiovascular health and, consequently, both quality of life and survival [1]. Cardiovascular disease is now the leading cause of morbidity and mortality among long-term breast cancer survivors [1,3]. Notably, cardiovascular mortality rates are higher in women with breast cancer compared with the general population (hazard ratio 1.3, 95% CI 1.0-1.7) [3]. The development of cardiotoxicity is further exacerbated by the shared underlying risk factors for developing both cancer and cardiovascular disease, such as obesity and physical inactivity [4].

Participating in exercise rehabilitation may help to improve cardiovascular health among breast cancer survivors. Obesity, lower levels of cardiorespiratory fitness, and lower physical activity levels are known risk factors for cardiovascular disease and cancer [5-7]. There is strong evidence to support that exercise rehabilitation following cardiovascular disease can reduce morbidity and mortality [8,9]. The evidence supporting the benefits of exercise following breast cancer is also strong, with improvements in fitness, quality of life, and physical functioning well established from randomized controlled trials [6,10]. Despite the exacerbated risk of cardiovascular disease as a consequence of breast cancer treatment and the clear potential for exercise rehabilitation in this context, providing comprehensive exercise support to people with breast cancer in a safe, feasible, and effective way remains a major service delivery challenge [11,12].

Historically, clinic-based, face-to-face delivery of exercise therapy or prescription has been considered the gold standard and has been the delivery mode most commonly assessed in exercise oncology trials [10,13]. However, lessons from exercise rehabilitation in the cardiac setting highlight uptake and retention issues that come with clinic-based, face-to-face exercise delivery. Specifically, fewer than one-third of Australians who are referred to exercise rehabilitation complete a program following a cardiac diagnosis [14].

Technological advances make it increasingly possible to embed real-time supervision, tailored exercise prescriptions, behavior change, and social support into home-based programs [15]. These techniques may lead to higher exercise adherence, which is a key determinant of efficacy [15]. Remote monitoring and personalized feedback have also been reported by participants with breast cancer to be preferred attributes of technology-supported interventions [16]. A recent randomized controlled trial involving participants with coronary heart disease demonstrated the non-deidentified inferiority of а remotely-delivered cardiac rehabilitation intervention compared with standard face-to-face rehabilitation [17]. Furthermore, those in the remotely-delivered group demonstrated greater improvements in longer-term behavior change and the intervention cost significantly less to deliver [17]. It seems plausible this delivery approach could prove beneficial in an exercise oncology setting.

There is, however, a risk that those who are least likely to uptake digital rehabilitation interventions may include those who could benefit the most. Specifically, while a digital-delivery approach could address cost and access barriers (which are of particular concern for those with lower income or who live in regional/rural areas [18]), these benefits may be counterbalanced by poor internet availability and digital literacy for these same groups [18]. Digital literacy refers to "the capabilities and resources required for individuals to use and benefit from digital health resources" [19]. Digital literacy is, therefore, an interaction between systemic and individual factors, and is inclusive of several domains, including "the ability to actively engage with digital services", "digital services that suit individual needs", "access to systems that work," and "engagement in our own health". Additionally, barriers to uptaking digitally delivered exercise rehabilitation may also be reflective of general exercise barriers experienced by other chronic disease populations. A greater understanding of the individual characteristics likely to predict uptake is needed to proactively address potential inequalities or barriers that the use of this delivery model may bring.

Therefore, the aim of the current study was to explore individual demographic and health characteristics associated with the likelihood of uptake of a digitally delivered exercise rehabilitation intervention among breast cancer survivors, and to explore whether uptake differs according to intervention timing, that is, whether it is offered (1) generally, (2) before, (3) during, and (4) after treatment. Secondary aims were to explore the knowledge of cardiac-related treatment side-effects, the use of and interest in fitness trackers and apps, exercise behavior, additional intervention topics of interest, and service capabilities.

Methods

Ethical Considerations

This cross-sectional study involved the completion of a web-based survey between March and December 2020 in Australia. Ethics approval was sought and obtained from the University of Melbourne Human Research Ethics Committee (1955472). Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the trial and all data were deidentified for privacy and confidentiality. Participants had the opportunity to leave contact details if they wished to receive a Aus \$5 gift card for completing the survey (Aus \$1=US \$0.69 at the time of study).

Participants and Procedure

Participants were recruited via paid Facebook advertisements (run during March and June 2020) and cancer-specific research registries (ie, Breast Cancer Network Australia membership list July 2020; National Breast Cancer Foundation Register4 December 2020). Participants were eligible if they were diagnosed with breast cancer in the past 5 years, were aged 18 years and older, able to answer the survey in English, and resided in Australia. All potentially eligible participants were directed to a web-based survey where they could read the study information sheet, confirm eligibility, provide informed consent, and complete the survey. At the end of the survey, participants could leave contact details if they wished to receive the Aus \$5 gift card (US \$3.45) [20], receive a summary of the results, or be contacted for future research opportunities. The survey was conducted via Qualtrics and survey items were informed and reviewed by 2 women with breast cancer and the multidisciplinary research team, including physiotherapists, behavioral scientists, a dietitian, a cardiologist, and a medical oncologist.

Outcomes of Interest

Primary Outcome of Interest

Overview

The primary outcome of interest was the likelihood of uptake of a digitally delivered exercise rehabilitation intervention among breast cancer survivors, and to explore associated demographic and health characteristics. Assessment methods are described below.

Likelihood of Uptake of Digitally Delivered Cardiac Exercise Rehabilitation

The likelihood of uptake was assessed using purpose-built survey items on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "not at all likely" to "extremely likely." Participants were asked to rate how likely they would be to participate in a program generally, and before, during, and after treatment. The question stem included contextual information, including possible design features and anticipated benefits (Document S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Demographics and Health Information

Participants reported their age, height, weight, postcode (remoteness determined based on Australian Statistical Geography Standard [21]), marital status, education,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51536
```

employment, if they were of Aboriginal or Torres Strait islander origin, and languages spoken at home. Participants rated their general health (poor to excellent) and whether they had been diagnosed with high cholesterol, high blood pressure, diabetes, congestive heart failure, heart attack, stroke or transient ischemic attack, depression or anxiety, or another health condition (used to calculate a study-specific comorbidity index; range=0 - 8). Breast cancer history information was self-reported, including stage at diagnosis, treatments received, time since diagnosis, and current disease state. Participants who had received a treatment associated with cardiotoxicity (chemotherapy, radiotherapy, or human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 [HER-2] therapy), had ≥ 2 risk factors for cardiovascular disease (ie, age>60 years, BMI>30, hypertension, diabetes), or self-reported compromised cardiac function were categorized as having a high risk of cardiotoxicity based on the American Society of Clinical Oncology Guidelines [1].

Secondary Outcomes of Interest

Overview

Secondary outcomes of interest included knowledge of cardiac-related treatment side-effects, use of and interest in fitness trackers and apps, exercise behavior, additional intervention topics of interest, and service capabilities. Assessment methods are described below.

Knowledge of Cardiac-Related Treatment Side Effects

Self-reported knowledge of cardiac-related side effects from cancer treatment was assessed using a single item on a 5-point Likert scale ("not at all knowledgeable" to "extremely knowledgeable").

Use of and Interest in Fitness Trackers and Apps

Participants were asked whether they had used a fitness tracker or smartphone app to monitor exercise or other health behaviors. Where participants reported having previously used a smartphone app, they were prompted to specify which apps they had used.

Exercise Behavior

Exercise behavior was assessed using the Godin Leisure Time Exercise Questionnaire (GLTEQ) [22] and a purpose-built resistance-training item using the same format. For the GLTEQ, participants indicated how many times on average they spent doing strenuous, moderate, and mild or light exercise for ≥ 15 minutes during a 7-day period. Activity frequencies were multiplied by 9, 5, and 3 metabolic equivalents, respectively, and summed to create a total activity score. Participants were considered sufficiently active to obtain health benefits if they had a total activity score ≥ 24 . Scores between 14 and 23 units were considered moderately active, and those <14 units as insufficiently active [23]. Using the same question stem, participants indicated how many times per week they spent doing resistance (strength) activities (eg, weights, yoga). Participants were classified as meeting the guidelines if they reported doing ≥ 2 sessions during a typical 7-day period [24].

A single survey item assessed interest in 12 other intervention topics of interest relating to health behaviors and symptom management.

Service Capabilities

The dollar amount (Aus \$) participants would be willing or able to pay per session was assessed with a single survey item.

Data Analyses

Descriptive statistics were calculated for all survey items. Ordered logistic regression models were used to examine associations between demographic and health characteristics and the likelihood of intervention uptake. Four models were estimated: uptake generally, uptake before treatment, uptake during treatment, and uptake after treatment. Given prior research acknowledging the potential importance of demographics and health status in explaining health service-related inequalities [25], all collected demographic and health status variables were screened for inclusion. Variable selection was refined based on bivariate analyses, with the outcome variable regressed on each demographic and health variable using all available data. Variables that were statistically significant ($P \le .05$) or those of potential theoretical importance to digitally delivered services (eg, location) were selected for inclusion in the multivariate model [26,27]. The potential for multicollinearity was assessed by examining associations between remaining variables (using χ^2 tests, correlation matrices, and regression analyses as appropriate) to determine variables to be retained in the final model. At each step, variables were retained if they were statistically significant ($P \le .05$) or clinically relevant (odds ratio [OR] <0.67 or >1.5) [28,29]. The variable with the highest P value was removed from the model (assuming it satisfied the elimination criterion, ie, a P>.05 or OR <0.67 or >1.5). The procedure ceased when there were no variables in the model that satisfied the elimination criterion (ie, all variables in the model had a $P \le .05$ or OR < 0.67 or >1.5). All analyses were complete case analyses and conducted using SPSS Statistics for Windows (version 28.0; BMI).

Results

Participant Flow

Overall, 250 eligible individuals started completing the survey, with 87% (n=218) completing outcomes of interest (ie, the likelihood of participating in a remotely-delivered exercise intervention generally, and at different time points) and 83% (n=208) completing all demographic and health variables. There were no significant differences in likelihood ratings between individuals with and without missing data for patient characteristics. All analyses were performed on a complete case basis (N=208).

Participant Characteristics

Participant characteristics are presented in Table 1. Participants had a mean age of 57 (SD 11) years and a median BMI of 26 (IQR 23-31) kg/m². Approximately two-thirds resided in a major city (132/208, 64%) and 3 in 4 participants were married or living with a partner (153/208, 74%). The majority of participants had a university degree (137/208, 66%) and engaged in regular exercise (194/208; 93%). Over half of the participants surveyed (120/208, 58%) reported "little" to "no" knowledge of potential cardiotoxic effects of treatment, with just under half (94/208, 45%) being classified as being at high risk of cardiotoxicity. In terms of use of and interest in technology for fitness, 62% (129/208) of participants reported having previously used a fitness tracker and a further 30% (63/208) expressed an interest in trying one. Fewer participants had previously used a smartphone app (87/208, 42%), and of the participants who had not used a smartphone app, three-quarters (92/208, 76%) were open to trying. The types of apps most commonly reported as having previously been used included in-built health apps (Apple health and Samsung health), apps linked to specific fitness trackers (eg, Fitbit and Garmin Connect), popular fitness apps (Map My Walk, My Fitness Pal, Strava, and Run Keeper) and mindfulness apps (insight timer and smiling mind).



 $\label{eq:Table . Participant characteristics (N=208).$

Characteristics	Values					
Demographic and health information						
Age (years), mean (SD)	57.4 (10.8)					
BMI (kg/m ²), median (IQR)	26.0 (23.2 - 30.75)					
Comorbidity index, median (IQR)	1.0 (0.0 - 1.0)					
Location, n (%)						
Major cities in Australia	132 (63.5)					
Inner regional	59 (28.4)					
Outer regional/remote Australia	17 (8.2)					
Marital status, n (%)						
Married, de facto, or living with partner	153 (73.6)					
Separated, divorced, widowed, or single	53 (25.5)					
Prefer not to say	2 (1)					
Education, n (%)						
High school (Year 10 or 12)	16 (7.7)					
Certificate or diploma (eg, TAFE or college)	55 (26.4)					
University degree	137 (65.9)					
Employment, n (%)						
Employed	103 (49.5)					
Retired	66 (31.7)					
Other	39 (18.8)					
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander, n (%)						
No	206 (99) ^a					
Language spoken at home, n (%)						
English	201 (96.6)					
Other	7 (3.4)					
Disease information						
Time since diagnosis (years), mean (SD)	2.2 (1.6)					
Number of cardiotoxic treatments, median (IQR)	1.0 (1.0 - 2.0)					
Stage of disease, n (%)						
Stage I-II	148 (71.2)					
Stage III-IV	57 (27.4)					
Unsure	3 (1.4)					
Treatment stage, n (%)						
Not yet started active treatment for cancer	2 (1)					
Currently undergoing curative treatment	38 (18.3)					
Completed curative treatment and in remission	119 (57.2)					
Ongoing treatment to manage the disease	45 (21.6)					
Other	4 (1.9)					
Cardiotoxicity risk, n (%)						
High-risk ^b	94 (45.2)					
Does not meet high-risk criteria	114 (54.8)					

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51536

XSL•FO RenderX

Characteristics	Values					
Knowledge of cardiac-related treatment side-effects, n (%)						
A little or not at all	120 (57.7)					
Extremely or somewhat knowledgeable	88 (42.3)					
Behavioral variables						
GLTEQ ^c score (units), median (IQR)	45.0 (33.3 - 62.0)					
Resistance training (sessions per week), median (IQR)	2.0 (1.0 - 4.0)					
GLTEQ, n (%)						
Moderately active (<24 units)	14 (6.7)					
Active (≥24 units)	194 (93.3)					
Resistance training categories, n (%)						
Not meeting guidelines (<2 sessions per week)	117 (56.3)					
Meeting guidelines (≥ 2 sessions per week)	91 (43.8)					
Fitness tracker use, n (%)						
No, this does not interest me	16 (7.7)					
No, but I would be open to trying	63 (30.3)					
Yes, I have used a fitness tracker	129 (62)					
Smartphone app use, n (%)						
No, this does not interest me	29 (13.9)					
No, but I would be open to trying	92 (44.2)					
Yes, I have used a fitness tracker	87 (41.8)					

^aNo (n=1); Prefer not to say (n=1).

^bParticipants who had received a treatment associated with cardiotoxicity, had ≥ 2 risk factors for cardiovascular disease, or self-reported compromised cardiac function (see *Outcomes of Interest* section for additional detail).

^cGLTEQ: Godin Leisure Time Exercise Questionnaire

Likelihood of Participating in a Digitally Delivered Exercise Rehabilitation Program

Over 80% of participants reported being "extremely" or "quite a bit likely" to participate in a digitally delivered exercise program as part of their cancer treatment and recovery plan. When asked about specific timepoints, the majority of participants (>70%) were interested at any time, but particularly so in the after-treatment period (193/208, 93%) (Table 2).

Table . Likelihood of participating in a digitally delivered exercise rehabilitation program (N=208).

Timepoint	Not at all, n (%)	A little, n (%)	Somewhat, n (%)	Quite a bit, n (%)	Extremely, n (%)	
In general – How likely is it that you would participate in a pro- gram like this if it was offered to you as part of your cancer treat- ment and recovery plan?	3 (1.4)	11 (5.3)	23 (11.1)	57 (27.4)	114 (54.8)	
Before treatment – Ex- ercising at this stage can help to prepare your body for treat- ment. It may also help you to stay more active during treatment.	12 (5.8)	14 (6.7)	34 (16.3) 38 (18.3)		110 (52.9)	
During treatment – Ex- ercising at this stage can help people to toler- ate treatments and maintain quality of life.	6 (2.9)	15 (7.2)	36 (17.3)	68 (32.7)	83 (39.9)	
After treatment – Exer- cising at this stage can help to overcome treat- ment side-effects, maintain quality of life and reduce risk of other health conditions.	1 (0.5)	2 (1.0)	12 (5.8)	47 (22.6)	146 (70.2)	

Characteristics Associated With Likelihood of Participating in a Digitally Delivered Exercise Rehabilitation Program

Results of the bivariate analyses are reported in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 and associations between demographic and health characteristics are reported in Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 3. The demographic and health variables included in the final multivariate models were as follows: general uptake (BMI, education, number of cardiotoxic treatments, and location due to its potential theoretical importance in relation to digitally delivered services [age and employment were removed due to collinearity]); before (BMI, location, and education); during (comorbidity index and location [BMI was removed due to collinearity]); and after treatment (BMI, education, and location).

Results of the ordered logistic regression models are presented in Table 3. In the general uptake model, those living in an outer regional area reported higher odds for having a higher likelihood of participating in a digitally delivered exercise rehabilitation program, compared with those living in a major city (OR 4.05; 95% CI 1.04-15.81, P=.04). Having been treated with a higher number of cardiotoxic treatments was also associated with higher odds of being in a higher likelihood category (OR 1.42; 95% CI 1.02-1.96, P=.04). Whereas a higher BMI and a lower level of education (compared with university education) were associated with lower odds of reporting higher likelihood of uptake.



Table . Associations between participant characteristics and a higher category of likelihood to participate (N=208).

	General		Before		During		After	
	OR ^a (95% CI)	P values	OR (95% CI)	P values	OR (95% CI)	P values	OR (95% CI)	P values
BMI	0.95 (0.91- 0.99)	.02 ^b	0.93 (0.89- 0.98)	.003 ^b	c	_	0.94 (0.89- 0.99)	.01 ^b
Cardiotoxic treatments	1.42 (1.02- 1.96)	.04 ^b	_	_	_	_	_	_
Comorbidity index	_	_	—	_	0.65 (0.50- 0.83) ^d	<.001 ^b	_	
Education								
University (n=137)	Ref ^e	Ref	Ref	Ref	_	_	Ref	Ref
Diploma (n=55)	0.37 (0.20- 0.69) ^d	.002 ^b	0.42 (0.23- 0.78) ^d	.005 ^b	—	—	0.30 (0.15- 0.60) ^d	<.001 ^b
High school (n=16)	0.52 (0.19- 1.45) ^d	.21	0.48 (0.18- 1.27) ^d	.14	—	—	0.38 (0.12- 1.14) ^d	.085
Location								
Major city (n=132)	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref
Inner regional (n=59)	1.01 (0.56- 1.85)	.97	1.08 (0.60- 1.98)	.79	0.76 (0.44- 1.34)	.35	1.10 (0.55- 2.19)	.79
Outer regional (n=17)	4.05 (1.04- 15.81) ^d	.04 ^b	4.84 (1.29- 18.08) ^d	.02 ^b	3.86 (1.39- 10.73) ^d	.01 ^b	8.57 (1.07- 68.47) ^d	.04 ^b

^aOR: odds ratio

^bStatistically significant: *P*<.05.

 c N/A: not applicable; denotes variables that were not included in the multivariate models (see *Data Analyses* section for variable selection methods). d Clinically relevant: OR<0.67 or >1.5.

^eRef: reference category.

Being from an outer regional area was associated with higher odds of reporting a higher likelihood of uptake before, during, and after treatment. However, ORs were not consistent across treatment phases. A higher BMI and a lower level of education (compared with university education) were associated with lower odds of being in a higher likelihood category both before and after treatment. As was a higher number of comorbid conditions during treatment.

Other Intervention Topics of Interest

Participants were interested in a range of other topics to support their recovery or ongoing management of cancer. Table 4 lists interest in each topic, with weight maintenance, sleep, managing fatigue, and diet of interest to \geq 50% of the sample. Mindfulness and stress reduction were also popular topics, with over one-third of participants reporting interest.



Jones et al

Table . Participant interest in other intervention topics as part of cancer treatment and recovery (N=208).

Торіс	Values, n (%)				
Diet	106 (51)				
Weight maintenance	124 (59.6)				
Smoking	0 (0)				
Alcohol	23 (11.1)				
Sleep	113 (54.3)				
Falls prevention	18 (8.7)				
Medication adherence	7 (3.4)				
Stress	87 (41.8)				
Memory	60 (28.8)				
Managing fatigue	109 (52.4)				
Mindfulness	95 (45.7)				
Other ^a	18 (8.7)				

^aOther included mental health, lymphoedema massage, pain management, bone density management, self-examination, hot flushes, and chemo brain.

Cost per Session

The distribution of participant responses regarding the amount willing or able to pay for an exercise program per session is displayed in Figure 1. The median amount was Aus \$10 (US

\$6.9) per session (IQR Aus \$10 - 15). Few participants (21/208, 10%) could afford or were willing to pay over Aus \$25 (US \$17.25) per session, with most participants (163/208, 78%) reporting an amount of \leq Aus \$15 (\leq US \$10.35).

Figure 1. Amount willing or able to pay per session for an exercise program (n=206).



Discussion

RenderX

Principal Findings

This study examined the characteristics of breast cancer survivors associated with the likelihood of uptake of a digitally delivered cardiac exercise rehabilitation intervention. There was

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51536

a high level of interest in uptake among the majority of participants across the treatment trajectory. There was also some evidence to support that living in an outer regional area and receiving more cardiotoxic treatments increased the likelihood of uptake further. Conversely, there was some evidence to suggest that patients with a higher BMI, more comorbid conditions, and lower education levels may be less likely to

uptake the proposed intervention. Further investigation into these factors is critical for the delivery of a digital service model that is both effective and accessible.

The current findings are promising in that they suggest that the majority of breast cancer survivors are interested in uptaking a digitally delivered exercise rehabilitation intervention to improve cardiovascular fitness. This aligns with similar research in the area, with a high proportion of breast cancer survivors having reported an interest in participating in an exercise program or receiving physical activity counseling [30-32]. Breast cancer survivors have also reported high levels of interest (68% - 85%) in technology-supported exercise interventions specifically [16]. However, despite these promising levels of interest, physical activity levels typically decline following breast cancer diagnosis and remain low [33,34], thus suggesting that there is a need to develop intervention strategies and service delivery models that support breast cancer survivors to adopt and maintain regular activity.

The findings of this study provide some suggestions as to which patients (ie, those with a higher BMI, more comorbid conditions, and lower levels of education) may be less likely to uptake the proposed intervention. Recent research examining issues of digital health technology implementation in cancer care suggests that digital literacy may partially explain the current results [25]. Previous research has demonstrated that those with a lower education have lower digital literacy [35], which may impact the ability of this group to effectively engage in a digitally delivered intervention. Efforts to work collaboratively with those who may have lower digital literacy should be made to enhance the service delivery model for these groups, including its uptake, safety, feasibility, and effect [25]. Future research involving co-design processes and consumer involvement might be particularly beneficial for enhancing digital inclusion, which refers to the "access, affordability, usage, skills and relevance of digital technologies to individuals or groups" [25].

These results may also be reflective of general exercise barriers experienced by chronic disease populations (eg, those with risk factors of cardiotoxicity, such as a high BMI) [36]. Specifically, systematic review level evidence suggests that the primary barriers to participating in physical activity among people with a higher BMI include a lack of self-discipline or motivation, pain or discomfort, and a lack of access to equipment [36], all of which would also impact capabilities and resources for participating in a remotely-delivered intervention. Similarly, the presence of comorbidities has been identified as a barrier to physical activity among multiple cancer populations [37-39]. As such, the findings of the current study may be reflective of general barriers in this population, and so engagement with a digital intervention needs to address these barriers. This may be of particular importance among long-term breast cancer survivors, as a higher BMI and comorbidities such as high cholesterol, high blood pressure, diabetes, and previous cardiovascular disease are among the main risk factors for cardiotoxicity [40-42].

The secondary aim of this study was to evaluate other aspects of intervention delivery that would be useful for informing exercise oncology interventions among breast cancer survivors

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51536
```

XSL•FC

more broadly. Overall, the findings suggest the need for (1) multifaceted rehabilitation interventions that address multiple health behaviors (ie, diet and sleep as well as exercise), as well as mental health and symptom management, (2) better education for patients about potential cardiotoxic effects of treatment, and (3) interventions that are free or low cost for patients. Our findings relating to the need for multifaceted rehabilitation interventions mirror others [43]. In particular, the need for rehabilitation services to include multidisciplinary care that addresses not only physical well-being, but nutritional and psychological well-being and managing post-treatment challenges (eg, fatigue), as well as education regarding the potential heart-related side-effects of treatment [43].

Our findings in relation to service fees are novel, particularly considering the current chronic disease management plan in Australia and the affordability of private sessions. In Australia, Chronic Disease Management initiative offers 5 the government-rebated sessions with an allied health professional each year [44]. However, the current rebate (85% of the minimum service fee of ≈Aus \$60 [≈US \$41.4] [45,46]) leaves a payment gap above what has been reported as an acceptable cost per session by the current sample. Further, previous research suggests that those who are arguably the most disadvantaged (ie, those with a health care card or from a low socioeconomic or non-English speaking background) are less likely to be referred to physiotherapy services [47] and report being unable or unwilling to cover the payment gap attached to accessing allied health services [48,49]. In addition to continued advocacy at a government level to generate policies and funding models that support these services for people with chronic conditions, future research should aim to develop and evaluate service models that can provide effective, affordable, and equitable access to allied health services.

Limitations

Several limitations should be considered alongside the results of the present analysis. First, the survey items posed to participants regarding their likelihood of uptake referred to their hypothetical interest and participation in digitally delivered cardiac exercise rehabilitation. As such, participant responses and findings of this analysis may or may not reflect real-life uptake. The cross-sectional design also precludes the exploration of longitudinal trajectories of the likelihood of uptake, and characteristics that may impact such trajectories. Additionally, considering that over half the sample had completed treatment at the time of the survey, items relating to participation pre- and during-treatment were collected retrospectively and as such, may be impacted by recall bias. The sample was also highly active (no sedentary participants and few insufficiently active), which may have biased the results and contributed to the high likelihood ratings across the cancer continuum and may not be representative of the broader breast cancer population. The recruitment strategy (web-based advertising) and study research questions resulted in it being more likely to appeal to women who were already active or who valued exercise. Web-based recruitment also limited participation to those with internet access (possibly excluding remote participants in areas without internet access) and those with sufficient digital literacy to complete a web-based survey (possibly excluding those who

would be unable or unwilling to engage in digital services). This is of particular importance considering that the likelihood of participating in digital interventions was the primary outcome. Despite these limitations, a key strength of this analysis is its novelty in addressing the major service delivery challenges that have been observed in the cardiac rehabilitation setting, prior to developing an exercise rehabilitation intervention for cardiotoxicity following breast cancer treatment. Participants were also representative of the Australian breast cancer population in terms of age, geographical location, marital status, and health-related variables (eg, BMI) [50,51]. Further, this study investigated preferences regarding multidisciplinary rehabilitation topics and cost.

Findings from this research highlight several areas that warrant future investigation. Specifically, future research should explore the likelihood of uptake among a sample of sedentary or insufficiently active breast cancer survivors. This could provide valuable insight from those who potentially face the greatest barriers to exercise participation, as well as inform the development of more acceptable digital interventions. Additionally, findings suggest that patients with risk factors for cardiotoxicity (ie, those with a higher BMI and more comorbid conditions) may be less likely to uptake a digital exercise intervention. It would be of interest to investigate the likelihood of uptake for in-person programs in this subsample, to determine whether this is a delivery model issue or a more general exercise experience, and subsequently, what could a delivery model offer that would increase the likelihood of uptake.

Conclusion

The findings of this study provide valuable knowledge regarding factors that influence the likelihood of uptake of a digitally delivered cardiac exercise rehabilitation intervention. These findings can inform future research and the development of intervention techniques that are critical to improving the delivery of a digital service model that is effective, equitable, and accessible to those at risk of cardiotoxicity following breast cancer treatment. Specifically, future research should aim to (1) enhance digital inclusion by collaboratively developing interventions that can be effectively engaged with by those who have lower digital literacy, (2) enhance engagement through the inclusion of techniques that address general barriers experienced by chronic disease populations, (3) incorporate multidisciplinary intervention topics that address multiple health behaviors, and (4) develop and evaluate the affordability of digital service delivery models.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge and thank the participants who participated in the study. The authors did not receive support from any organization for the submitted work. ALS is supported by the National Heart Foundation of Australia Future Leader Fellowship (Award ID 106025).

Authors' Contributions

TJ was responsible for formal analysis, writing the original draft, creating visualizations, and project administration. LE, JCR, LD, SH, RM, ALS, and BK contributed to the methodology and reviewed and edited the manuscript. NK also participated in the methodology and manuscript review process. CES oversaw the conceptualization of the study, contributed to the original draft, and provided supervision.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary Document 1. [DOCX File, 244 KB - cancer v10i1e51536 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Supplementary Table 1. [DOCX File, 22 KB - cancer v10i1e51536 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Supplementary Table 2. [DOCX File, 23 KB - cancer v10i1e51536 app3.docx]

References

RenderX

 Armenian SH, Lacchetti C, Barac A, et al. Prevention and monitoring of cardiac dysfunction in survivors of adult cancers: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Oncol 2017 Mar 10;35(8):893-911. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.70.5400] [Medline: 27918725]

- 2. American Society of Clinical Oncology. The state of cancer care in America, 2016: a report by the American Society of Clinical Oncology. JOP 2016 Apr;12(4):339-383. [doi: 10.1200/JOP.2015.010462]
- 3. Bradshaw PT, Stevens J, Khankari N, Teitelbaum SL, Neugut AI, Gammon MD. Cardiovascular disease mortality among breast cancer survivors. Epidemiology 2016 Jan;27(1):6-13. [doi: 10.1097/EDE.00000000000394] [Medline: 26414938]
- Koene RJ, Prizment AE, Blaes A, Konety SH. Shared risk factors in cardiovascular disease and cancer. Circulation 2016 Mar 15;133(11):1104-1114. [doi: <u>10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.020406</u>] [Medline: <u>26976915</u>]
- Ross R, Blair SN, Arena R, et al. Importance of assessing cardiorespiratory fitness in clinical practice: a case for fitness as a clinical vital sign: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2016 Dec 13;134(24):e653-e699. [doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000461] [Medline: 27881567]
- Scott JM, Nilsen TS, Gupta D, Jones LW. Exercise therapy and cardiovascular toxicity in cancer. Circulation 2018 Mar 13;137(11):1176-1191. [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.024671] [Medline: 29530893]
- 7. Jones LW, Courneya KS, Mackey JR, et al. Cardiopulmonary function and age-related decline across the breast cancer survivorship continuum. J Clin Oncol 2012 Jul 10;30(20):2530-2537. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.39.9014]
- 8. Tutor A, Lavie CJ, Kachur S, Dinshaw H, Milani RV. Impact of cardiorespiratory fitness on outcomes in cardiac rehabilitation. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2022;70:2-7. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pcad.2021.11.001</u>] [Medline: <u>34780726</u>]
- 9. Dibben G, Faulkner J, Oldridge N, et al. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2021 Nov 6;11(11):CD001800. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001800.pub4] [Medline: 34741536]
- Buffart LM, Kalter J, Sweegers MG, et al. Effects and moderators of exercise on quality of life and physical function in patients with cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis of 34 RCTs. Cancer Treat Rev 2017 Jan;52:91-104. [doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2016.11.010] [Medline: 28006694]
- Basen-Engquist K, Alfano CM, Maitin-Shepard M, et al. Agenda for translating physical activity, nutrition, and weight management interventions for cancer survivors into clinical and community practice. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2017 Nov;25(Suppl 2):S9-S22. [doi: 10.1002/oby.22031] [Medline: 29086526]
- 12. Dennett AM, Peiris CL, Shields N, Morgan D, Taylor NF. Exercise therapy in oncology rehabilitation in Australia: a mixed-methods study. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2017 Oct;13(5):e515-e527. [doi: 10.1111/ajco.12642] [Medline: 28004526]
- Singh B, Spence RR, Steele ML, Sandler CX, Peake JM, Hayes SC. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the safety, feasibility, and effect of exercise in women with stage II+ breast cancer. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2018 Dec;99(12):2621-2636. [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2018.03.026] [Medline: 29730319]
- 14. Scott IA, Lindsay KA, Harden HE. Utilisation of outpatient cardiac rehabilitation in Queensland. Med J Aust 2003 Oct 6;179(7):341-345. [doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2003.tb05588.x] [Medline: 14503895]
- Newton RU, Taaffe DR, Chambers SK, Spry N, Galvão DA. Effective exercise interventions for patients and survivors of cancer should be supervised, targeted, and prescribed with referrals from oncologists and general physicians. J Clin Oncol 2018;36(9):927-928. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2017.76.7400</u>] [Medline: <u>29373097</u>]
- Phillips SM, Conroy DE, Keadle SK, et al. Breast cancer survivors' preferences for technology-supported exercise interventions. Support Care Cancer 2017 Oct;25(10):3243-3252. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-017-3735-3</u>] [Medline: <u>28470368</u>]
- 17. Maddison R, Rawstorn JC, Stewart RAH, et al. Effects and costs of real-time cardiac telerehabilitation: randomised controlled non-inferiority trial. Heart 2019 Jan;105(2):122-129. [doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2018-313189] [Medline: 30150328]
- 18. Latulippe K, Hamel C, Giroux D. Social health inequalities and eHealth: a literature review with qualitative synthesis of theoretical and empirical studies. J Med Internet Res 2017 Apr 27;19(4):e136. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.6731</u>] [Medline: <u>28450271</u>]
- Norgaard O, Furstrand D, Klokker L, et al. The e-health literacy framework: a conceptual framework for characterizing e-health users and their interaction with e-health systems. Know Manag E-Learn 2015 Dec 15;7(4):522-540. [doi: <u>10.34105/j.kmel.2015.07.035</u>]
- 20. Calendar year ending 31 December 2020. Australia Taxation Office. URL: <u>https://www.ato.gov.au/tax-rates-and-codes/</u> <u>foreign-exchange-rates-annual-2020-calendar-year</u> [accessed 2024-11-18]
- 21. Australian standard geographical classification (ASGC). no.121.60. : Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2005.
- 22. Godin G, Shephard RJ. A simple method to assess exercise behavior in the community. Can J Appl Sport Sci 1985 Sep;10(3):141-146. [Medline: <u>4053261</u>]
- 23. Godin G. The Godin-Shephard leisure-time physical activity questionnaire. H Fit J Can 2011;4. [doi: 10.14288/hfjc.v4i1.82]
- 24. Campbell KL, Winters-Stone KM, Wiskemann J, et al. Exercise guidelines for cancer survivors: consensus statement from international multidisciplinary roundtable. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2019 Nov;51(11):2375-2390. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002116] [Medline: 31626055]
- Kemp E, Trigg J, Beatty L, et al. Health literacy, digital health literacy and the implementation of digital health technologies in cancer care: the need for a strategic approach. Health Promot J Austr 2021 Feb;32(S1):104-114. [doi: <u>10.1002/hpja.387</u>] [Medline: <u>32681656</u>]
- 26. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S, Sturdivant RX. Applied Logistic Regression: John Wiley & Sons; 2013.
- 27. Harrell FE. Ordinal logistic regression. In: Harrell JFE, editor. Regression Modeling Strategies: With Applications to Linear Models, Logistic and Ordinal Regression, and Survival Analysis: Springer International Publishing; 2015:311-325.

RenderX

- Hayes SC, Janda M, Cornish B, Battistutta D, Newman B. Lymphedema after breast cancer: incidence, risk factors, and effect on upper body function. J Clin Oncol 2008 Jul 20;26(21):3536-3542. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2007.14.4899</u>] [Medline: <u>18640935</u>]
- 29. Hayes SC, Janda M, Ward LC, et al. Lymphedema following gynecological cancer: results from a prospective, longitudinal cohort study on prevalence, incidence and risk factors. Gynecol Oncol 2017 Sep;146(3):623-629. [doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.06.004] [Medline: 28624154]
- Sturgeon KM, Fisher C, McShea G, Sullivan SK, Sataloff D, Schmitz KH. Patient preference and timing for exercise in breast cancer care. Support Care Cancer 2018 Feb;26(2):507-514. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3856-8] [Medline: 28840334]
- Vallance J, Lavallee C, Culos-Reed N, Trudeau M. Rural and small town breast cancer survivors' preferences for physical activity. Int J Behav Med 2013 Dec;20(4):522-528. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12529-012-9264-z</u>] [Medline: <u>22992864</u>]
- Paxton RJ, Nayak P, Taylor WC, et al. African-American breast cancer survivors' preferences for various types of physical activity interventions: a Sisters Network Inc. web-based survey. J Cancer Surviv 2014 Mar;8(1):31-38. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-013-0307-5] [Medline: 24043292]
- 33. De Groef A, Geraerts I, Demeyer H, et al. Physical activity levels after treatment for breast cancer: two-year follow-up. Breast 2018 Aug;40:23-28. [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2018.04.009] [Medline: 29674221]
- 34. Mason C, Alfano CM, Smith AW, et al. Long-term physical activity trends in breast cancer survivors. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2013 Jun 1;22(6):1153-1161. [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0141]
- 35. Baum F, Newman L, Biedrzycki K. Vicious cycles: digital technologies and determinants of health in Australia. Health Promot Int 2014 Jun;29(2):349-360. [doi: <u>10.1093/heapro/das062</u>] [Medline: <u>23144236</u>]
- 36. Baillot A, Chenail S, Barros Polita N, et al. Physical activity motives, barriers, and preferences in people with obesity: a systematic review. PLoS ONE 2021;16(6):e0253114. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0253114] [Medline: 34161372]
- Clifford BK, Mizrahi D, Sandler CX, et al. Barriers and facilitators of exercise experienced by cancer survivors: a mixed methods systematic review. Support Care Cancer 2018 Mar;26(3):685-700. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-017-3964-5</u>] [Medline: <u>29185105</u>]
- 38. Granger CL, Connolly B, Denehy L, et al. Understanding factors influencing physical activity and exercise in lung cancer: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer 2017 Mar;25(3):983-999. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-016-3484-8</u>] [Medline: <u>27900549</u>]
- Mikkelsen MK, Nielsen DL, Vinther A, Lund CM, Jarden M. Attitudes towards physical activity and exercise in older patients with advanced cancer during oncological treatment - a qualitative interview study. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2019 Aug;41:16-23. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejon.2019.04.005</u>] [Medline: <u>31358249</u>]
- 40. Kaboré EG, Guenancia C, Vaz-Luis I, et al. Association of body mass index and cardiotoxicity related to anthracyclines and trastuzumab in early breast cancer: French CANTO cohort study. PLoS Med 2019 Dec;16(12):e1002989. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002989] [Medline: <u>31869400</u>]
- Guenancia C, Lefebvre A, Cardinale D, et al. Obesity as a risk factor for anthracyclines and trastuzumab cardiotoxicity in breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol 2016 Sep 10;34(26):3157-3165. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.4846] [Medline: 27458291]
- 42. Zamorano JL, Lancellotti P, Rodriguez Muñoz D, et al. 2016 ESC Position Paper on cancer treatments and cardiovascular toxicity developed under the auspices of the ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines: The Task Force for cancer treatments and cardiovascular toxicity of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2016 Sep 21;37(36):2768-2801. [doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw211] [Medline: 27567406]
- 43. Grant AR, Koczwara B, Morris JN, Eakin E, Short CE, Beatty L. What do cancer survivors and their health care providers want from a healthy living program? results from the first round of a co-design project. Support Care Cancer 2021 Aug;29(8):4847-4858. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06019-w] [Medline: 33544245]
- 44. Use of chronic disease management and allied health Medicare services. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/chronic-disease/medicare-chronic-disease-allied-health-items</u> [accessed 2024-12-06]
- 45. Exercise physiology fee review 2024. Exercise and Sports Science Australia. 2024. URL: <u>https://www.essa.org.au/Common/Uploaded%20files/Submissions/sub-gov-SA-anual-fee-review-202403.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-12-06]
- 46. Department of health and aged care. medicare benefits schedule item 10953. : Australian Government; 2022.
- 47. Dennis S, Watts I, Pan Y, Britt H. Who do Australian general practitioners refer to physiotherapy? Aust Fam Physician 2017 Jun;46(6):421-426. [Medline: <u>28609600</u>]
- 48. Haines TP, Foster MM, Cornwell P, et al. Impact of enhanced primary care on equitable access to and economic efficiency of allied health services: a qualitative investigation. Aust Health Rev 2010 Mar;34(1):30-35. [doi: 10.1071/AH09732] [Medline: 20334753]
- 49. Foster MM, Mitchell GK. "The onus is on me": primary care patient views of Medicare-funded team care in chronic disease management in Australia. Health Expect 2015 Oct;18(5):879-891. [doi: <u>10.1111/hex.12061</u>] [Medline: <u>23521424</u>]
- 50. Breast cancer in australia: an overview. : Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2012.
- 51. Rural and remote health. : Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2022.

RenderX

Abbreviations

GLTEQ: Godin Leisure Time Exercise Questionnaire **HER-2:** human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 **OR:** odds ratio

Edited by TDA Cardoso; submitted 02.08.23; peer-reviewed by C Yang, Y Xu; revised version received 16.01.24; accepted 30.09.24; published 16.12.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Jones T, Edbrooke L, Rawstorn JC, Denehy L, Hayes S, Maddison R, Sverdlov AL, Koczwara B, Kiss N, Short CE Demographics and Health Characteristics Associated With the Likelihood of Participating in Digitally Delivered Exercise Rehabilitation for Improving Heart Health Among Breast Cancer Survivors: Cross-Sectional Survey Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51536 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51536</u> doi:<u>10.2196/51536</u>

© Tamara Jones, Lara Edbrooke, Jonathan C Rawstorn, Linda Denehy, Sandra Hayes, Ralph Maddison, Aaron L Sverdlov, Bogda Koczwara, Nicole Kiss, Camille E Short. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 16.12.2024. This is an article distributed the the Commons open-access under terms of Creative Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Iterative Patient Testing of a Stimuli-Responsive Swallowing Activity Sensor to Promote Extended User Engagement During the First Year After Radiation: Multiphase Remote and In-Person Observational Cohort Study

Eileen H Shinn¹, PhD; Adam S Garden², MD; Susan K Peterson¹, PhD; Dylan J Leupi³, BS; Minxing Chen⁴, MS; Rachel Blau⁵, PhD; Laura Becerra⁶, MS; Tarek Rafeedi⁵; Julian Ramirez⁵, PhD; Daniel Rodriquez⁵, PhD; Finley VanFossen¹, MA; Sydney Zehner¹, BS; Patrick P Mercier⁶, PhD; Joseph Wang⁵, PhD; Kate Hutcheson^{2,7}, PhD; Ehab Hanna⁷, MD; Darren J Lipomi⁵, PhD

⁶Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of California, San Diego, CA, United States

Corresponding Author: Eileen H Shinn, PhD Department of Behavioral Science University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center 1155 Herman Pressler Unit 1330, PO Box 301439 Houston, TX, 77230-1330 United States Phone: 1 713 745 0870 Fax: 1 713 745 4286 Email: eshinn@mdanderson.org

Abstract

Background: Frequent sensor-assisted monitoring of changes in swallowing function may help improve detection of radiation-associated dysphagia before it becomes permanent. While our group has prototyped an epidermal strain/surface electromyography sensor that can detect minute changes in swallowing muscle movement, it is unknown whether patients with head and neck cancer would be willing to wear such a device at home after radiation for several months.

Objective: We iteratively assessed patients' design preferences and perceived barriers to long-term use of the prototype sensor.

Methods: In study 1 (questionnaire only), survivors of pharyngeal cancer who were 3-5 years post treatment and part of a larger prospective study were asked their design preferences for a hypothetical throat sensor and rated their willingness to use the sensor at home during the first year after radiation. In studies 2 and 3 (iterative user testing), patients with and survivors of head and neck cancer attending visits at MD Anderson's Head and Neck Cancer Center were recruited for two rounds of on-throat testing with prototype sensors while completing a series of swallowing tasks. Afterward, participants were asked about their willingness to use the sensor's ease of use and comfort, whereas in study 3, preferences were elicited regarding haptic feedback.

Results: The majority of respondents in study 1 (116/138, 84%) were willing to wear the sensor 9 months after radiation, and participant willingness rates were similar in studies 2 (10/14, 71.4%) and 3 (12/14, 85.7%). The most prevalent reasons for participants' unwillingness to wear the sensor were 9 months being excessive, unwanted increase in responsibility, and feeling self-conscious. Across all three studies, the sensor's ability to detect developing dysphagia increased willingness the most compared

RenderX

¹Department of Behavioral Science, University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

²Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

³Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, College of Science, University of Notre Dame, South Bend, IN, United States

⁴Department of Biostatistics, University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

⁵Department of Nano and Chemical Engineering, University of California, San Diego, CA, United States

⁷Department of Head and Neck Surgery, University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

to its appearance and ability to increase adherence to preventive speech pathology exercises. Direct haptic signaling was also rated highly, especially to indicate correct sensor placement and swallowing exercise performance.

Conclusions: Patients and survivors were receptive to the idea of wearing a personalized risk sensor for an extended period during the first year after radiation, although this may have been limited to well-educated non-Hispanic participants. A significant minority of patients expressed concern with various aspects of the sensor's burden and its appearance.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03010150; https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT03010150

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e47359) doi:10.2196/47359

KEYWORDS

user-centered design; patients with head and neck cancer; dysphagia throat sensor

Introduction

Background

In 2021, approximately 32,000 Americans developed laryngeal or pharyngeal cancer, which has a 5-year survival rate of 61% for all stages combined [1]. Management of these cancers often includes high-dose intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) designed to spare pharyngeal muscles and reduce the incidence of radiation-associated dysphagia (swallowing difficulty) [2]. Still, a range of studies have reported that roughly 60% of patients receiving IMRT developed long-term swallowing problems within 2 years after radiation had ended, ranging in intensity from inability to swallow solid food without compensatory strategies to being completely feeding tube dependent [3-10].

As with most chronic conditions, early detection and intensive swallowing therapies are key to preventing long-term dysphagia [11-26], especially if patients are adherent to swallowing therapy instructions [27]. However, noninvasive screening procedures for early detection of radiation-associated fibrosis do not yet exist in the United States. Instead, gold standard modified barium swallow (MBS) and fiberoptic endoscopic evaluation of swallowing tests are typically ordered after the patient begins to complain of difficulties with swallowing [12]. Furthermore, preventive swallowing therapies are not always prescribed prior to the development of radiation-associated dysphagia [28-30]. Unfortunately, once radiation-associated dysphagia is clinically detected, there is little hope of fully restoring normal function [11,31,32].

To detect radiation-associated dysphagia before it becomes permanent, it is necessary to monitor changes in swallowing function much more frequently than is currently possible in the clinical setting. Subclinical change in swallowing activity or risk for dysphagia could be assessed during standard cancer surveillance visits, but increasing the periodicity of these visits would increase patient burden by requiring more frequent travel to the medical center for swallowing imaging and tests. Frequent at-home monitoring with wearable sensors between scheduled surveillance visits could address this gap in monitoring, especially if the sensors were designed to support decision-making regarding initiation of intensive speech language therapies [33]. To this end, researchers have developed myriad devices that can be worn on the skin and measure a range of mechanical, optical, biochemical, electrical, or acoustic signals with high fidelity [34-39].

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47359

However, sensor performance alone is not sufficient for improving health outcomes as patient engagement is also important [40]. Within the specific context of preventing dysphagia in survivors of head and neck cancer, repeated at-home monitoring over a period of months if not years is necessary to demonstrate a clinical advantage over current treatment paradigms. Unfortunately, most mobile technologies fail to engage patients over sustained durations, with most mobile health (mHealth) interventions for chronic disease reporting steep declines in use, some as high as 95% within the first few weeks, depending on the technology and context [41-43]. The most frequently cited reasons for discontinued use are decreased interest in the technology after its novelty abates, perceived lack of usefulness relative to burden, poor implementation of user experience, and frustration with technical issues [44-47].

To counter these barriers, it is widely agreed that user-centered testing be conducted in a sustained and iterative fashion during the design and development of new health technology. User-centered testing assesses the human technology interface by evaluating how well the technology incorporates into end users' daily routines, habits, and capabilities, known loosely as user acceptability [40,48]. Beyond acceptability, technologies should be designed to maximize their potential to effect changes in patients' attitudes and health behaviors. Oinas-Kukkonen and Harjumaa's [49] persuasive system design model describes four categories of persuasive design principles that optimize the likelihood of health behavior change: task support (personalized design features that make it easier for users to achieve their goals), social support (leveraging interpersonal learning, eg, via online community forums), dialogue support (providing feedback to the user in a manner that helps the user move toward their goal, eg, with praise and rewards), and system credibility (the perceived clinical expertise embedded within the sensor output) [49]. Relatively few mHealth interventions conduct user-centered testing during technology development, which may be one reason for diminishing patient engagement and eventual abandonment [50-53]. In the US market, the user abandonment rate of fitness trackers is 50% within 6-12 months [44,54]. Patient abandonment rates are higher for those 70 years and older; one study found that 43% of their sample had abandoned their sleep and activity trackers within the first 2 weeks of use [55].

A recent review of 51 mHealth intervention studies targeting chronic diabetes, cardiovascular, or pulmonary diseases noted that diminished patient engagement was prevalent and posed a

XSL•FO RenderX

significant threat to effective use of the technology. Accordingly, nonsignificant effects on clinical markers outweighed significant findings two-to-one [42]. Therefore, our study explicitly addressed the design of a wearable sensor with the future intended use of home-based assessment for 9 months, starting with the third month after radiation to the 12th month. All design preferences and opinions were solicited within the context of sustaining engagement with the sensor for 9 months during the first year since repeated measurements over time would be needed to detect patterns of developing dysphagia in posttreatment patients.

Goal of This Study

We assessed patient needs and preferred characteristics regarding the design of a wearable sensor to deliver personalized risk of dysphagia. Specifically, we assessed perceived barriers to wearing the sensor for 9 months, starting from the third month after the end of radiation treatment (to allow for healing from radiation skin burn) until the 12th month post treatment, and the impact of proposed design features on willingness to wear the sensor. In the first of three iterative user-centered tests, we surveyed a large cohort of survivors of head and neck cancer who were 4-5 years past radiation treatment to assess the perceived need for the sensor and desired design features for future prototypes. In study 2, we assessed user acceptability for a wired prototype sensor within a small sample of long-term survivors, oversampled for radiation-associated dysphagia. Finally, in the third user test, we tested a revised prototype on a sample of patients with head and neck cancer undergoing active treatment to get a better sense of competing priorities during a fraught time in their lives. The revised prototype included more elastic and comfortable materials for the strain sensor and custom-made dry electromyography (EMG) sensors, as opposed to commercial sensors. During the third test, we repeated our questions about user acceptability and willingness to wear the sensor for 9 months, as well as new questions about bidirectional feedback in the form of haptic (vibration) signaling.

Methods

Study 1

Design and Eligibility

Survivors of head and neck cancer who were still alive and who were already enrolled in a psychosocial parent study were asked to answer a questionnaire about a hypothetical throat sensor. Men and women were eligible for the parent study if they had received radiation with curative intent for oropharyngeal (stage II-IVb), laryngeal (II-IVb), hypopharyngeal (I-IVb), or nasopharyngeal cancer (I-IVb), or an unknown primary cancer with cervical metastases; were at least 2 years post treatment; were 18 years or older; and spoke English. Men and women were excluded if they had treatment for previous head and neck cancer; a history of previous head and neck surgery (previous biopsy, tonsillectomy, or tracheotomy were allowed); other cancer diagnoses, except nonmelanoma skin cancer; or a history of current oropharyngeal dysphagia unrelated to cancer diagnosis (eg, dysphagia due to underlying neurogenic disorder).

Recruitment and Data Collection Procedures

For the psychosocial parent study, all eligible patients were approached for recruitment at the radiation clinic's radiation education class after being identified at the weekly multidisciplinary tumor board conference. The accrual rate for entry into the original parent study was 77%; demographic and disease information was collected at baseline. Those patients who were already enrolled in the psychosocial parent study and still alive (n=234) were contacted by phone to determine if they would answer optional questions about a hypothetical sensor to be worn on the throat. Patients who did not return calls after 5 attempts or did not have working phone numbers were not approached further for enrollment into study 1. After obtaining informed consent, participants completed the optional questionnaire administered either by REDCap, telephone, or mail at a single time point [56]. For mailed questionnaires, a research staff's phone number was provided if the patient had any questions about the questionnaire.

Measures

Demographic information regarding age, race/ethnicity, employment, income, and marital status were obtained by questionnaire. Disease stage was abstracted from the medical record. Participants then completed a questionnaire. The first page of the questionnaire showed a photograph of the proposed sensor (Figure 1A) and a diagram of the sensor's placement on the neck (Figure 1B), a brief description of the sensor's purpose, and the proposed timeline of wearing the sensor every weekend from the third month post radiation to the 12th month post radiation for a total of 9 months.



Shinn et al

Figure 1. Appearance of the hypothetical and actual sensor prototypes. (A) Study 1 respondents were shown a photograph of the proposed sensor and (B) its proposed location on the neck. (C) Study 2's graphene strain sensor prototype, supported on 13-µm-thick polyimide tape (the contact surface is silicone) and placed on the submental region probing muscle contraction. (D) Study 3's soft polymer strain sensor, now placed under the laryngeal prominence to capture movement during swallowing.







Main Outcome: Willingness to Wear the Sensor

For studies 1-3, the study questionnaire asked whether the patient would have been willing to wear the sensor for 9 months during the first year after radiation, starting in month 3 post treatment. This time point was asked about since it would give sufficient time for the skin on their neck to have healed from radiation skin burn. Participants were then asked whether they would have been willing to wear the sensor for the entire 9 months, every other week, or every weekend during the 9-month period, and then a series of branched logic true-false questions about reasons for willingness versus unwillingness to wear the sensor. Next, using a 3-point Likert scale response format, all participants rated whether changes in the sensor design (either unobtrusive appearance or the ability to receive feedback about risk for dysphagia) would change the individual's willingness or unwillingness to wear the sensor every weekend for 9 months. Additional comments or suggestions were also solicited as free text.

Study 2

Design and Eligibility

A second sample of survivors of head and neck cancer who were 2 to 10 years post radiation and attending surveillance visits at MD Anderson gave informed consent and enrolled into

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47359
```



the study during a 1-week period; testing was constrained to a 1-week period in which visiting graduate engineering students from the University of California San Diego traveled to MD Anderson for on-patient equipment testing. The eligibility criteria for study 2 were the same as for study 1; however, we oversampled for patients with a Dynamic Imaging Grade of Swallowing Toxicity score >0, indicating radiation-associated dysphagia that had been verified with MBS [57]. The oversampling was done to gauge the accuracy of the prototype sensor in distinguishing between dysphagic survivors and survivors without dysphagia [58]. For every dysphagic participant, we recruited a nondysphagic patient matched for age and sex. For patients who declined participation, deidentified disease information, demographics, and reason for refusal were noted in the study record.

Procedure and Assessment

A wired prototype graphene strain sensor coupled with a wired surface EMG sensor was placed on the patient to obtain muscle movement measurements during a series of swallowing tasks of various bolus textures, as described previously (Figure 1C) [58]. Immediately after the on-throat sensor test, patients were asked to answer six questions about the sensor's discomfort, ease of use, and associated embarrassment using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree. Patients

XSL•FO RenderX

were again asked whether they would be willing to wear the sensor for 9 months (but now for once a month on the weekends) with branching questions asking for reasons for willingness versus unwillingness. Patients were again asked to rate the impact of sensor unobtrusiveness and predictive dysphagic feedback on willingness to wear the sensor for extended periods. Finally, demographic information regarding age, race, and marital status were abstracted from the medical record. All testing sessions were conducted at the Head and Neck Cancer Center at MD Anderson.

Study 3

Design and Eligibility

Similar eligibility, consent, and testing procedures were used in study 3. However, eligible patients were more likely to be approached during active treatment for throat cancer, whereas studies 1 and 2 recruited long-term survivors. Study 3's sensor (Figure 1D) was revised to have better skin conformation and comfort; standard surface EMG electrodes were now replaced with flexible custom dry electrodes, whereas the strain sensor was supported on a silicon substrate [59].

Assessment Procedures

After completion of the on-throat sensor test, patients were also asked the same questions used in study 1 regarding willingness to wear the sensor for 9 months and whether changes in the sensor's appearance and feedback capability would change their minds about their willingness to wear the sensor. In addition, participants were interviewed regarding the helpfulness of future capability of the sensor itself to give immediate haptic feedback in three different scenarios: to indicate correct placement of the sensor, to indicate correct performance of a particular swallowing exercise, and to indicate quality of swallowing during at-home testing of various bolus textures. Their answers were transcribed, categorized, and coded into three categories (0: not helpful; 1: helpful under certain conditions; 2: helpful).

Analysis

Descriptive statistics (eg, proportions, means, ranges, and SDs) were computed for the process evaluation and participant satisfaction data, together with 95% CIs. To assess the external validity of the study, demographic and disease information was compared between respondents and nonrespondents in study 1 (Table 1) and between participants and refusers in studies 2 and 3 (data not shown; available data for participants in studies 2 and 3 is shown in Table 2). All questionnaire responses were analyzed with SPSS (version 26; IBM Corp).


Table 1. Demographic/disease comparisons between willing and unwilling participants (study 1).

Characteristic		Potentially eligible survivors (from parent study)				Survivors who completed the questionnaire			
		Total (N=234)	Nonrespondent (did not partici- pate)	Respondent	P value	Total (n=138)	Willing to wear for 9 mo	Unwilling	P value
WI	nat is your age? (years)	*	*		.28				.15
	Participants, n (%)	234	96 (41.0)	138 (58.9)		138	22 (15.9)	116 (84.1)	
	Mean (SD)	57.4 (10.0)	56.6 (9.8)	58 (10.1)		58 (10.1)	55.2 (9.4)	58.5 (10.1)	
	Median (min-max)	58 (18-83)	56 (30-79)	59 (18-83)		59 (18-83)	56.5 (35-75)	59 (18-83)	
WI	nat is your ethnic backgroun	d? n (%)			.003				.59
	Hispanic or Latino	21 (9.1)	15 (16.0)	6 (4.4)		6 (4.4)	0 (0.0)	6 (5.2)	
	Not Hispanic or Latino	210 (90.9)	79 (84.0)	131 (95.6)		131 (95.6)	22 (100.0)	109 (94.8)	
Ra	ce, n (%)				.23				.53
	African American	10 (4.3)	6 (6.4)	4 (2.9)		4 (2.9)	1 (4.5)	3 (2.6)	
	American Indian or Alaska Native	1 (0.4)	1 (1.1)	0 (0.0)		0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
	Asian	6 (2.6)	1 (1.1)	5 (3.64)		5 (3.6)	1 (4.5)	4 (3.5)	
	Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	1 (0.4)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.7)		1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.9)	
	Non-Hispanic White	213 (92.2)	86 (91.5)	127 (92.7)		127 (92.7)	20 (90.9)	107 (93.0)	
Ed	ucation, n (%)				.02				.26
	Some college and lower	112 (48.9)	54 (58.1)	58 (42.6)		58 (42.6)	7 (31.8)	51 (44.7)	
	Bachelor's degree or higher	117 (51.1)	39 (41.9)	78 (57.4)		78 (57.4)	15 (68.2)	63 (55.3)	
En	ployment status, n (%)				.60				.18
	Full-time/part-time	145 (63.3)	57 (61.3)	88 (64.7)		88 (64.7)	17 (77.3)	71 (62.3)	
	Not employed	84 (36.7)	36 (38.7)	48 (35.3)		48 (35.3)	5 (22.7)	43 (37.7)	
Ma	rital status, n (%)				.50				>.99
	Single living alone/married but living apart/separated/di- vorced/widow	46 (20.0)	21 (22.1)	25 (18.5)		25 (18.5)	4 (18.2)	21 (18.6)	
	Single but living with signif- icant other/married living with spouse	184 (80.0)	74 (77.9)	110 (81.5)		110 (81.5)	18 (81.8)	92 (81.4)	
Oc	cupation, n (%)				.07				.54
	Professional/managerial	143 (71.9)	51 (63.0)	92 (78.0)		92 (78.0)	16 (88.9)	76 (76.0)	
	Retail/service/labor	44 (22.1)	24 (29.6)	20 (16.9)		20 (16.9)	2 (11.1)	18 (18.0)	
	Student/unemployed	12 (6.0)	6 (7.4)	6 (5.1)		6 (5.1)	0 (0.0)	6 (6.0)	
W	nat is your income before tax	tes? (US \$), n (%)		.007				.22
	<30,000	38 (18.9)	24 (30.4)	14 (11.5)		14 (11.5)	0 (0.0)	14 (13.6)	
	30,000-50,000	31 (15.4)	13 (16.5)	18 (14.8)		18 (14.8)	2 (10.5)	16 (15.5)	
	50,000-75,000	28 (13.9)	9 (11.4)	19 (15.6)		19 (15.6)	2 (10.5)	17 (16.5)	
	>75,000	104 (51.7)	33 (41.8)	71 (58.2)		71 (58.2)	15 (78.9)	56 (54.4)	
Sta	ge of disease, n (%)				.24				.70
	Stages I or II	76 (32.5)	27 (28.1)	49 (35.5)		49 (35.5)	7 (31.8)	42 (36.2)	
	Stages III or IV	158 (67.5)	69 (71.9)	89 (64.5)		89 (64.5)	15 (68.2)	74 (63.8)	

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 2. Demographic/disease comparisons between willing and unwilling participants (studies 2 and 3).

Characteristic		Study 2				Study 3			
		Total sample (n=14)	Willing to wear for 9 mo (n=10)	Unwilling (n=4)	P value	Total sample (n=14)	Willing to wear for 9 mo (n=12)	Unwilling (n=2)	P value
Age (years), mean (SD)		61.6 (11.5)	61.2 (12.3)	62.8 (11.0)	.83	62.4 (12.3)	61.0 (11.9)	70.5 (16.3)	.33
Race, n (%)					.55				.57
	African American	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)		0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
	American Indian or Alaskan Native	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)		0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
	Asian	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)		2 (14)	2 (17)	0 (0)	
	Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)		0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
	Non-Hispanic White	13 (92.9)	9 (90)	4 (100)		12 (86)	10 (83)	2 (100)	
	More than one race	1 (7.1)	1 (10)	0 (0)		0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
WI	nat is your ethnic background	? n (%)			.85				.70
	Hispanic or Latino	3 (21.4)	2 (20)	1 (25)		1 (7)	1 (8)	0 (0)	
	Not Hispanic or Latino	11 (78.6)	8 (80)	3 (75)		13 (93)	11 (92)	2 (100)	
Oc	cupation, n (%)				.52				.87
	Managerial/professional	2 (14)	2 (20)	0 (0)		7 (50)	6 (50)	1 (50)	
	Retail, service, operator	9 (64)	6 (60)	3 (75)		6 (43)	5 (42)	1 (50)	
	Student or unemployed	3 (21)	2 (20)	1 (25)		1 (7)	1 (8)	0 (0)	
Marital status, n (%)					.37				.01
	Married/living with signifi- cant other	12 (86)	8 (80)	4 (100)		12 (86)	12 (100)	0 (0)	
	Single/divorced/widowed/sep- arated	2 (14)	2 (20)	0 (0)		2 (14)	1 (50)	1 (50)	
Dy	sphagic status, n (%)	14			.27				
	Dysphagic (DIGEST ^a >0)	7 (50)	5 (50)	2 (50)	>.99	7 (50)	6 (50)	1 (50)	>.99
	Not dysphagic (DIGEST=0)	7 (50)	5 (50)	2 (50)	N/A ^b	7 (50)	6 (50)	1 (50)	N/A
Dis	ease stage, n (%)				.14				.70
	I-II	1 (8)	0 (0)	1 (25)		1 (7)	1 (8)	0 (0)	
	III-IV	12 (92)	9 (90)	3 (75)		13 (93)	11 (92)	2 (100)	

^aDIGEST: Dynamic Imaging Grade of Swallowing Toxicity. ^bN/A: not applicable.

Ethical Considerations

All study materials and procedures were approved by the institutional review board at MD Anderson Cancer Center's institutional review board (protocol 2016-0597). All enrolled participants signed informed consent forms before testing began. All study data were deidentified, and no compensation was provided for participation.

Results

Overview

RenderX

Prior to patient user testing, our study incorporated design input from multiple disciplines, including behavioral scientists, speech

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47359
```

pathologists, radiation oncologists, and engineers. Initially, our primary concerns were to develop a wearable device that would not injure skin sensitized by radiation and have an uncomplicated application and removal procedure. Various invasive sensors, such as those worn inside the mouth, were dropped from consideration after it was realized that patients would possibly need to use the device during radiation and later at home during the first year post treatment. During study 1, we gathered patient reactions to a photograph of a sensor (Figure 1), whereas in studies 2 and 3, prototype versions were tested on survivors and patients in the clinic (Figure 1). The racial breakdown of the overall study sample (N=234) was non-Hispanic White (n=213, 92.2%), African American (n=10, 4.3%), Asian American (n=6, 2.6%), American Indian/Alaska

Native (n=1, 0.4%), and Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander (n=1, 0.4%).

Study 1

Research staff contacted 234 eligible participants to complete study 1's questionnaire, either via REDCap or by mail; 138 (59%) participants completed the questionnaire (Figure 2). Participants in study 1 were primarily non-Hispanic White and married, and their mean age was 57.4 (SD 10) years (Table 1). Median time since end of radiation treatment was 4 years and 26 days (Table 1). Analyses of responders versus nonresponders showed that responders were more likely to be non-Hispanic, have a bachelor's degree, and have higher annual income; differences in race, age, and disease stage were not significantly different (Table 1).





Survivor Preferences for Wearable Throat Sensor

Of the 138 respondents, 115 (83.3%) agreed that they would have been willing to wear the sensor for 9 months during the first year after radiation. However, patients were not willing to wear the sensor during the workweek due to fear of coworkers or strangers asking about the sensor. Instead, they were willing to wear the sensor on weekends, but only for one weekend a month as opposed to every weekend. When presented with several potential reasons explaining their willingness to wear the sensor, nearly all participants cited altruism, whereas 88% (92/105) cited interest in the sensor technology and 77% (75/97) thought that the sensor would help them adhere to their preventive swallowing exercises (Table 3). For example, several patients commented that the personalized feedback from the sensor would provide additional motivation to adhere to their preventive swallowing exercises:

It would push me to do my exercises diligently...

It would get me on the ball and do my exercises more often...

It would give me the information I can use to fight back the scar tissue problem. And see the importance of my neck exercises.

Shinn et al

Table 3. Studies 1-3: Number of patients endorsing reasons for willingness/unwillingness to wear the sensor every weekend for 9 months.

Reasons for willingness/unwillingness to wear the sensor for 9 months ^a		Would wear sensor, n (%)		Would not wear sensor, n (%)	
	True	False	True	False	
Study 1 (n=138) ^b		·			
The technology of the patch sounds interesting.	92 (87.6)	13 (12.4)	c	_	
Wearing the patch would have reminded me to do my swallowing exercises.	75 (77.3)	22 (22.7)	_	_	
I wanted to help with MD Anderson's research.	108 (99.1)	1 (0.9)	_	_	
My skin was still sensitive during that time.	_	_	11 (50)	11 (50)	
I wouldn't want to put on and take off the patch every weekend.	_	_	14 (63.6)	8 (36.4)	
I wouldn't want to wear the patch for 9 months.	_	_	19 (86.4)	3 (13.6)	
I would feel uncomfortable if people noticed the patch and ask me questions or wanted to talk about it.	—	—	12 (57.1)	9 (42.9)	
I was being asked to participate in too many studies.	_	_	1 (5.3)	18 (94.7)	
It would have added to my daily responsibilities.	_	_	11 (55.0)	9 (45.0)	
It would have been a reminder of my cancer treatment.	_	_	6 (30.0)	14 (70)	
I would not be able to see my data from the patch.	_	_	6 (28.6)	14 (71.4)	
Study 2 (n=14) ^d					
The technology of the patch sounds interesting.	8 (80)	2 (20)	_	_	
Wearing the patch would have reminded me to do my swallowing exercises.	10 (100)	0 (0)	_	_	
I wanted to help with MD Anderson's research.	10 (100)	0 (0)	_	_	
My skin was still sensitive during that time.	_	_	1 (25)	3 (75)	
I wouldn't want to put on and take off the patch every weekend.	_	_	2 (50)	2 (50)	
I wouldn't want to wear the patch for 9 months.	_	_	4 (100)	0 (0)	
I would feel uncomfortable if people noticed the patch and ask me questions or wanted to talk about it.	—	—	2 (50)	2 (50)	
I was being asked to participate in too many studies.	_	_	0 (0)	4 (100)	
It would have added to my daily responsibilities.	_	_	3 (75)	1 (25)	
It would have been a reminder of my cancer treatment.	_	_	1 (25)	3 (75)	
I would not be able to see my data from the patch.	_	_	0 (0)	4 (100)	
Study 3 (n=14) ^e					
The technology of the patch sounds interesting.	12 (100)	0 (0)	_	_	
Wearing the patch would have reminded me to do my swallowing exercises.	12 (100)	0 (0)	_	_	
I wanted to help with MD Anderson's research.	12 (100)	0 (0)	_	_	
My skin was still sensitive during that time.	_	_	0 (0)	2 (100)	
I wouldn't want to put on and take off the patch every weekend.	_	_	0 (0)	2 (100)	
I wouldn't want to wear the patch for 9 months.	_	_	1 (50)	1 (50)	
I would feel uncomfortable if people noticed the patch and ask me questions or wanted to talk about it.	_	_	1 (50)	1 (50)	
I was being asked to participate in too many studies.	_	_	0 (0)	2 (100)	
It would have added to my daily responsibilities.	_	_	2 (100)	0 (0)	
It would have been a reminder of my cancer treatment.	_	_	0 (0)	2 (100)	
I would not be able to see my data from the patch.	_	_	0 (0)	2 (100)	

^aParticipants were asked the following question "Which of the following reasons would motivate you to wear the sensor every weekend for 9 months after radiation?"

XSL•FO RenderX

^bIn study 1, 155 (83.5%) participants indicated that they would wear the sensor, while 23 (16.5%) participants indicated that they would not wear it. ^cNot applicable.

^dIn study 2, 10 (71.4%) participants indicated that they would wear the sensor, while 4 (28.5%) participants indicated that they would not wear it. ^eIn study 3, 12 (85.7%) participants indicated that they would wear the sensor, while 2 (14.3%) participants indicated that they would not wear it.

Others valued the additional information that the sensor would provide:

I would be curious to know what is going on with my body...

I would have liked to have known what was happening to my throat...

It's my neck! Why wouldn't I want to know?

Among the 22 participants who indicated that they would have been unwilling to wear the sensor, nearly 90% (24/28, 85.7%) of all unwilling participants cited the lengthy duration of having to wear the sensor and 57% (16/28) disliked the idea of having to wear the sensor every weekend. The photograph of the proposed sensor had large black letters embedded within the sensor (Figure 1) to contain its wiring; over half of the unwilling participants objected to the sensor being noticeable enough that others would want to ask questions about its purpose. Just under one-third of unwilling participants disliked the idea of being reminded of their cancer treatment during the first year after radiation (Table 3). Participants who were unwilling to wear the sensor for 9 months did not have any significant demographic or clinical differences compared to participants who expressed willingness to wear the sensor. When asked whether changing the sensor's appearance to that of a Band-Aid would impact willingness, 29% (4/14) of all study 1 participants agreed that this would increase their willingness, whereas 71% (10/14) stated that unobtrusive appearance would not affect their willingness (mean 2.45, SD 0.87; Figure 3):

Cosmetics is the least of my worries when I am going through treatment and fighting for my life.

Figure 3. Studies 1 to 3: design feature impact on willingness to use the sensor for 9 months. *Only the participants in study 2 (n=14) were asked this question.



When asked about the sensor's proposed function of delivering individual risk for dysphagia, the majority of the sample (21/28, 75%) agreed that this feature would increase their willingness (mean 1.5, SD 0.88; Figure 3). Notably, half of the free-text comments indicated that had they been able to measure muscle fibrosis earlier, they would have been more diligent about performing their prescribed swallowing exercises. Some simply wrote that they wanted the sensor to be available so that future patients would understand that the risk of dysphagia was high:

I would like to see this in ACTION NOW

Study 2

Within a 1-week period, a convenience sample of 20 potentially eligible survivors of oropharyngeal cancer who were nonmetastatic and able to speak English were approached at their surveillance visit for enrollment into the study. To test the

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47359
```

sensor's performance in distinguishing between normal and dysphagic swallowing patterns, survivors who had developed severe dysphagia as a result of their radiation were oversampled for study 2. Potentially eligible survivors were first identified in the electronic medical record; approached during a surveillance visit; and if consented, scheduled with the engineers for the sensor testing session in a clinic exam room. Three patients refused to participate, citing fatigue or disinterest; all were White, 2 were male, and 1 was female, and their age ranged from 63 to 74 years. Two of the patients were dysphagic and the third was nondysphagic. All three had been diagnosed with late-stage oropharynx cancer (data not shown). A total of 17 (85%) patients agreed, but 1 patient subsequently dropped out due to receiving news of cancer recurrence (Figure 4). Another 2 participants experienced scheduling conflicts; informed consent was obtained from the remaining 14 participants.

of

Consistent with this cancer type's demographic profile, the average age of the sample was 61 years, with 12 male participants and 2 female participants. Three participants were Hispanic or Latino and 3 were of non-White race (Table 2). Specific cancer diagnoses included cancer of the oropharynx

Figure 4. Recruitment flowchart for study 2 (n=14).



half

After wearing the sensor, 10 of the 14 (71%) patients indicated that they would have been willing to wear the sensor for 9 months of the first year post radiation. The most prevalent reasons for willingness were wanting to help future patients detect developing dysphagia and wanting to help MD Anderson research (Table 3). Of the 4 (29%) patients who did not think they would have been willing to wear the sensor, the most popular reason for unwillingness was study burden, specifically, that 9 months was too long of a testing period and the increased responsibilities associated with the sensor. Using a 5-point Likert response scale, patient ratings of discomfort (mean 1.21, SD 0.42), embarrassment (mean 1.14, SD 0.36), and difficulty in application and removal (mean 1.5, SD 0.52) were minimal (Table 4). Therefore, these questions were not repeated in the next phase of user testing.

(9/14, 64%), larynx (3/14, 21%), and nasopharynx (1/14, 7%),

and unknown primary cancers (1/14, 7%). The average time

since completion of radiation treatment was 47.9 months, and

radiation-associated dysphagia (Table 2).

of the sample had received a diagnosis

Table 4. Study 2's mean patient ratings for sensor discomfort, embarrassment, and difficulty of application (n=14), and study 3's mean patient ratings of helpfulness for haptic signaling (n=14).

	Patient ratings, mean (SD)	Range ^a
Study 2 (n=14)		
The sensor was uncomfortable to wear.	1.21 (0.426)	1.0-5.0
The sensor would be difficult for me to use at home.	1.5 (0.519)	1.0-5.0
I thought the experiment was fun.	3.79 (0.893)	1.0-5.0
The testing session was embarrassing.	1.14 (0.363)	1.0-5.0
I am good about doing my swallowing exercises every day.	3.27 (1.51)	1.0-5.0
I believe it is important for me to do as many of my swallowing exercises as possible.	4.46 (1.13)	1.0-5.0
Study 3 (n=14)		
Would it help for the sensor itself to vibrate when you put it in the right spot on your throat?	1.85 (0.376)	0-2.0
Do you think it would be helpful to have the sensor vibrate once you did your swallowing exercise correctly?	2.00 (0.000)	0-2.0
Do you think that having the sensor process your swallowing data and give you feedback about the quality of your swallowing would help?	1.46 (0.877)	0-2.0

^aFor study 2, the scale ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). For study 3, the scale ranged from 0 (no) to 2 (yes).

Study 3

As with study 2, a convenience sample of 14 participants were recruited within a 1-week period to assess user preferences to the updated sensor prototype. As in the previous two studies, the majority of patients were diagnosed with oropharyngeal cancer (11/14, 79%). Unlike the previous two studies, 11 of the 14 (78.6%) were undergoing radiation at the time of testing; the remaining 2 participants were 1-5 year survivors (data not shown). The long-term dysphagic status was not yet known for patients on active treatment. A total of 17 participants were eligible and approached to participate in the sensor study. Two

patients refused, both being White and male: 1 patient was aged 76 years and had been diagnosed with late-stage oropharyngeal cancer 2 years prior and the other was aged 23 years and was in the third week of radiation for late-stage oropharynx cancer (data not shown). A total of 15 (83%) patients agreed to participate and gave informed consent. One participant developed an acute illness episode the following day and was, therefore, unable to complete the sensor test, leaving 14 participants who completed user testing (Figure 5). Study 3's sample was primarily male (12/14, 86%) and non-Hispanic White (12/14, 86%) with an average age of 62 years (Table 2).

Figure 5. Recruitment flowchart for study 3 (n=14).



As with the previous studies, the majority of patients (12/14, 86%) indicated willingness to wear the sensor for 9 months during the first year post radiation. Wanting to help future patients detect developing dysphagia and wanting to help MD Anderson research were the most prevalent reasons for willingness to wear the sensor (Table 3). As in study 2, the most oft-cited reasons for unwillingness were that of study burden (lengthy testing period and increase in daily responsibilities; Table 3). Patients' opinions regarding the helpfulness of haptic feedback were obtained for 13 of the 14 participants. All 13 participants thought it would be helpful for the sensor to vibrate when placed in the correct spot on the neck (mean 1.85, SD 0.38) as well as when swallowing exercises were performed correctly (mean 2.0, SD 0.00; Table 4). A total of 11 (85%) participants felt it would be helpful for the sensor to give haptic feedback of swallow quality during at-home testing (mean 1.5, SD 0.88; Table 4).

Discussion

Principal Findings

To our knowledge, this is the first study to assess evaluations from patients with head and neck cancer of a wearable throat sensor in clinical settings with separate cohorts at varying time points along their treatment trajectory. Across all studies, the overall willingness to wear the sensor for 9 months during the first year after radiation was high and the perceived need was rated highly. However, study 1's results should be interpreted with caution since the participation rate was 59%, with non-Hispanic and higher income/education patients more likely to complete the questionnaire. While study 2 and 3 used convenience samples for user testing, accrual rates were high

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47359

(88%), even for those undergoing active treatment at the time of approach.

Direct comparison of our results with other works is not possible since the vast majority of published data regarding wearable devices equipped with mechanical, optical, biochemical, electrical, or acoustic sensors are pilot studies conducted with graduate students in a laboratory under highly controlled conditions [60-64]. While it did not test actual user engagement over repeated time points, it did gather patients' opinions about the likelihood that they would wear the sensor for a period of several months. This question was asked in study 1 for patients who were only exposed to a photo of the proposed sensor, whereas patients and survivors in study 2 were asked this question after wearing the actual sensor while swallowing boluses of varying textures in a controlled setting. When searching for comparable studies that address extended user engagement with health technologies, the extant literature is limited to nonsensor research with mobile websites or apps [65] and to real-world studies of fitness tracker abandonment rates in healthy adults; these studies tend to describe a steep decline in user engagement over time. It is possible that our high rates of expressed willingness to wear the sensor for 9 months is due to the perceived usefulness of this device for this highly specialized problem.

Since the majority of participants (137/166, 83%) expressed willingness to wear the sensor for 9 months, data from those participants who were unwilling provided valuable insight into the potential barriers to its long-term use. Across all three studies, nearly 86% (24/28) of the unwilling participants perceived the 9-month testing period as too long. The second-most prevalent reason, that the sensor's appearance would provoke unwanted attention, was endorsed by 56% (15/27) of the unwilling participants. The third-most frequent

reason was an unwanted increase in daily responsibilities (16/26, 62%). This was also borne out by spontaneous comments in study 3, when nearly all 14 patients communicated a preference for a more streamlined one-step application process, rather than the separate applications for the strain sensor and surface EMG electrodes. On the other hand, several of the unwilling participants were much more willing to wear the sensor for 9 months if the sensor could provide individual dysphagic risk feedback and were made more unobtrusive in appearance (Figure 3). These findings are consistent with other mHealth reports citing multiple aspects of participant burden [48] and social implications of the technology's appearance [66] as being relevant constructs to user engagement.

Bidirectional Communication

Our data confirmed two other persuasive design principles: the desire for bidirectional communication (dialog support) with a team of clinical experts (system credibility). In all three studies, a large proportion of patients endorsed the rationale for the sensor (study 1: 115/138, 83.5%; study 2: 10/14, 71.4%; study 3: 12/14, 85.7%; ie, that sensor data be processed and sent back with contextual explanations of their risk of dysphagia development). Furthermore, of the three proposed persuasive design features, feedback about dysphagia risk had the greatest impact in increasing willingness among all participants (Table 4). These findings point to the importance of fostering a sense of connectedness and reassurance between the user and the technology so that patients' association between their own health behaviors and subsequent health outcomes can be continually reinforced [42]. Future plans for implementation include data visualization of near-time individualized risk for dysphagia in the form of an app that can be linked with the throat sensor. When asked about direct haptic communication with the sensor itself, patients in study 3 rated haptics as helpful, especially when unsure about correct placement on the throat and whether preventive exercises were being done correctly (Table 4). One patient commented that he was never really sure if he was performing the exercises correctly at home and was "just winging it."

Sensor and Adherence to Exercises

The majority of participants (97/119, 82%) agreed that the sensor would serve as a reminder for them to do their speech pathology swallowing exercises. While the main goal of the

sensor is to provide earlier detection of radiation-associated dysphagia, reminding patients to complete their swallowing exercises at home to counteract the development of dysphagia could be an additional benefit to this developing technology. Since personalized risk information is generally not sufficient in itself to increase exercise adherence per se [67], further user-centered testing would be needed to assess preferred modes of sensor feedback (eg, within an app or coupled with virtual coaching) [68].

Limitations

Our study was conducted solely with survivors and patients attending clinical visits at MD Anderson, which generally requires high-quality insurance for access. Generalizability of our results are further limited by examining the demographic patterns among respondents versus nonrespondents in study 1. A total of 38% (21/55) of the eligible survivors did not complete the questionnaire despite repeated contact by the study team; nonresponders were significantly more likely to be Hispanic (P=.003), without a bachelor's degree (P=.02), and of lower annual household income compared to respondents (P=.007). This is consistent with Rising et al's [69] recent analysis of National Cancer Institute's 2018 Health Information National Trends (HINTS) population survey data showing that nonusers of personal mHealth technologies were more likely to be older than 65 years and have lower incomes. Given the challenge of sustaining patient engagement in mHealth technology, future research should target these patients who fit within the above demographic profiles. Finally, the sample sizes for study 2's and 3's on-patient testing were constrained by the need to complete all testing within 1-week periods, as the sensors were applied/tested by visiting engineers and not MD Anderson research staff. It is conceivable that larger sample sizes might have produced a wider variation in response to the sensor's features and perceived usefulness.

Conclusion

Large proportions of non-Hispanic well-educated patients with high-quality insurance and above-average incomes were receptive to the idea of wearing a personalized risk sensor for an extended period during the first year after radiation. User ratings of discomfort and difficulty were minimal; however, a significant minority of patients expressed concern with various aspects of the sensor's burden and its appearance.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge our patients who participated in the study and Evalyne W Kamunyo for her assistance with study 1.

The primary funding for this study was provided by the National Institute of Dental Craniofacial Research (NIDCR DE019141). DJ Lipomi acknowledges support from the National Science Foundation (grant CBET-2223566). Support was provided, in part, by the Assessment, Intervention and Measurement Shared Resource through a Cancer Center Support Grant (CA16672; principal investigator: P Pisters, MD Anderson Cancer Center), from the National Cancer Institute, from the National Institutes of Health, and through the Duncan Family Institute for Cancer Prevention and Risk Assessment.

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Grant Agreement No 898571, awarded to RB.



Data Availability

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author EHS upon reasonable request.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Cancer facts and figures 2022. American Cancer Society. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/research/cancer-facts-statistics/</u> <u>all-cancer-facts-figures/cancer-facts-figures-2022.html</u> [accessed 2023-12-28]
- Petkar I, McQuaid D, Dunlop A, Tyler J, Hall E, Nutting C. Inter-observer variation in delineating the pharyngeal constrictor muscle as organ at risk in radiotherapy for head and neck cancer. Front Oncol 2021 Mar 9;11:644767 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.644767] [Medline: 33768005]
- Mortensen HR, Jensen K, Aksglæde K, Behrens M, Grau C. Late dysphagia after IMRT for head and neck cancer and correlation with dose-volume parameters. Radiother Oncol 2013 Jun;107(3):288-294. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.radonc.2013.06.001</u>] [Medline: <u>23791365</u>]
- 4. Caudell JJ, Schaner PE, Meredith RF, Locher JL, Nabell LM, Carroll WR, et al. Factors associated with long-term dysphagia after definitive radiotherapy for locally advanced head-and-neck cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009 Feb 01;73(2):410-415. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2008.04.048] [Medline: 18635320]
- MD Anderson Head and Neck Cancer Symptom Working Group. Beyond mean pharyngeal constrictor dose for beam path toxicity in non-target swallowing muscles: dose-volume correlates of chronic radiation-associated dysphagia (RAD) after oropharyngeal intensity modulated radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2016 Feb;118(2):304-314 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2016.01.019] [Medline: 26897515]
- Caudell JJ, Schaner PE, Desmond RA, Meredith RF, Spencer SA, Bonner JA. Dosimetric factors associated with long-term dysphagia after definitive radiotherapy for squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010 Feb 01;76(2):403-409. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2009.02.017] [Medline: 19467801]
- Caglar HB, Tishler RB, Othus M, Burke E, Li Y, Goguen L, et al. Dose to larynx predicts for swallowing complications after intensity-modulated radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008 Nov 15;72(4):1110-1118. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2008.02.048] [Medline: 18468812]
- Høxbroe Michaelsen S, Grønhøj C, Høxbroe Michaelsen J, Friborg J, von Buchwald C. Quality of life in survivors of oropharyngeal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 1366 patients. Eur J Cancer 2017 Jun;78:91-102. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2017.03.006] [Medline: 28431302]
- 9. Ding R, Logemann JA. Patient self-perceptions of swallowing difficulties as compared to expert ratings of videofluorographic studies. Folia Phoniatr Logop 2008;60(3):142-150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000120622] [Medline: 18334849]
- Petkar I, Rooney K, Roe JW, Patterson JM, Bernstein D, Tyler JM, et al. DARS: a phase III randomised multicentre study of dysphagia- optimised intensity- modulated radiotherapy (Do-IMRT) versus standard intensity- modulated radiotherapy (S-IMRT) in head and neck cancer. BMC Cancer 2016 Oct 06;16(1):770 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-016-2813-0] [Medline: 27716125]
- 11. Cooper JS, Fu K, Marks J, Silverman S. Late effects of radiation therapy in the head and neck region. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1995 Mar 30;31(5):1141-1164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/0360-3016(94)00421-G] [Medline: 7713779]
- 12. Burkhead LM, Sapienza CM, Rosenbek JC. Strength-training exercise in dysphagia rehabilitation: principles, procedures, and directions for future research. Dysphagia 2007 Jul;22(3):251-265. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00455-006-9074-z</u>] [Medline: <u>17457549</u>]
- 13. Lazarus C. Tongue strength and exercise in healthy individuals and in head and neck cancer patients. Semin Speech Lang 2006 Nov;27(4):260-267. [doi: 10.1055/s-2006-955116] [Medline: 17117352]
- Smith BG, Lewin JS. Lymphedema management in head and neck cancer. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2010 Jun;18(3):153-158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MOO.0b013e32833aac21] [Medline: 20463478]
- 15. Carnaby-Mann G, Crary MA, Schmalfuss I, Amdur R. "Pharyngocise": randomized controlled trial of preventative exercises to maintain muscle structure and swallowing function during head-and-neck chemoradiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012 May 01;83(1):210-219. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.06.1954] [Medline: 22014959]
- 16. van der Molen L, van Rossum MA, Rasch CR, Smeele LE, Hilgers FJ. Two-year results of a prospective preventive swallowing rehabilitation trial in patients treated with chemoradiation for advanced head and neck cancer. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2014 May;271(5):1257-1270. [doi: 10.1007/s00405-013-2640-8] [Medline: 23892729]
- Kulbersh BD, Rosenthal EL, McGrew BM, Duncan RD, McColloch NL, Carroll WR, et al. Pretreatment, preoperative swallowing exercises may improve dysphagia quality of life. Laryngoscope 2006 Jun;116(6):883-886. [doi: 10.1097/01.mlg.0000217278.96901.fc] [Medline: 16735913]
- Kotz T, Federman AD, Kao J, Milman L, Packer S, Lopez-Prieto C, et al. Prophylactic swallowing exercises in patients with head and neck cancer undergoing chemoradiation: a randomized trial. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2012 Apr;138(4):376-382. [doi: 10.1001/archoto.2012.187] [Medline: 22508621]

- Nguyen NP, Moltz CC, Frank C, Vos P, Smith HJ, Nguyen PD, et al. Impact of swallowing therapy on aspiration rate following treatment for locally advanced head and neck cancer. Oral Oncol 2007 Apr;43(4):352-357. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.oraloncology.2006.04.002</u>] [Medline: <u>16931114</u>]
- 20. Ajmani GS, Nocon CC, Brockstein BE, Campbell NP, Kelly AB, Allison J, et al. Association of a proactive swallowing rehabilitation program with feeding tube placement in patients treated for pharyngeal cancer. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2018 Jun 01;144(6):483-488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaoto.2018.0278] [Medline: 29710108]
- Mashhour K, Abdelkader R, Abdelkader L, El Hadary S, Hashem W. Swallowing exercises: will they really help head and neck cancer patients? Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2018 Mar 27;19(3):797-801 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2018.19.3.797] [Medline: 29582637]
- 22. Carmignani I, Locatello LG, Desideri I, Bonomo P, Olmetto E, Livi L, et al. Analysis of dysphagia in advanced-stage head-and-neck cancer patients: impact on quality of life and development of a preventive swallowing treatment. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2018 Aug;275(8):2159-2167. [doi: 10.1007/s00405-018-5054-9] [Medline: 29978259]
- Ohba S, Yokoyama J, Kojima M, Fujimaki M, Anzai T, Komatsu H, et al. Significant preservation of swallowing function in chemoradiotherapy for advanced head and neck cancer by prophylactic swallowing exercise. Head Neck 2016 Apr;38(4):517-521. [doi: 10.1002/hed.23913] [Medline: 25351675]
- 24. Greco E, Simic T, Ringash J, Tomlinson G, Inamoto Y, Martino R. Dysphagia treatment for patients with head and neck cancer undergoing radiation therapy: a meta-analysis review. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2018 Jun 01;101(2):421-444. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2018.01.097] [Medline: 29726363]
- 25. Barbon CE, Peterson CB, Moreno AC, Lai SY, Reddy JP, Sahli A, et al. Adhering to eat and exercise status during radiotherapy for oropharyngeal cancer for prevention and mitigation of radiotherapy-associated dysphagia. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2022 Oct 01;148(10):956-964 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaoto.2022.2313] [Medline: 36074459]
- Hutcheson KA, Bhayani MK, Beadle BM, Gold KA, Shinn EH, Lai SY, et al. Eat and exercise during radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy for pharyngeal cancers: use it or lose it. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2013 Nov;139(11):1127-1134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaoto.2013.4715] [Medline: 24051544]
- 27. Duarte VM, Chhetri DK, Liu YF, Erman AA, Wang MB. Swallow preservation exercises during chemoradiation therapy maintains swallow function. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2013 Dec;149(6):878-884 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0194599813502310] [Medline: 23981953]
- 28. Arora S, Thornton K, Komaromy M, Kalishman S, Katzman J, Duhigg D. Demonopolizing medical knowledge. Acad Med 2014 Jan;89(1):30-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0000000000000051] [Medline: 24280860]
- Taplin SH, Anhang Price R, Edwards HM, Foster MK, Breslau ES, Chollette V, et al. Introduction: understanding and influencing multilevel factors across the cancer care continuum. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2012 May;2012(44):2-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgs008] [Medline: 22623590]
- 30. Asch SM, Kerr EA, Keesey J, Adams JL, Setodji CM, Malik S, et al. Who is at greatest risk for receiving poor-quality health care? N Engl J Med 2006 Mar 16;354(11):1147-1156. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa044464] [Medline: 16540615]
- Nguyen NP, Moltz CC, Frank C, Vos P, Smith HJ, Karlsson U, et al. Dysphagia following chemoradiation for locally advanced head and neck cancer. Ann Oncol 2004 Mar;15(3):383-388 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/annonc/mdh101</u>] [Medline: <u>14998839</u>]
- 32. Vainshtein JM, Moon DH, Feng FY, Chepeha DB, Eisbruch A, Stenmark MH. Long-term quality of life after swallowing and salivary-sparing chemo-intensity modulated radiation therapy in survivors of human papillomavirus-related oropharyngeal cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2015 Apr 01;91(5):925-933 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.12.045] [Medline: 25832685]
- 33. Gill G, Lane C, Myers C, Kerr ED, Lambert P, Cooke A, et al. Longitudinal functional outcomes and late effects of radiation following treatment of nasopharyngeal carcinoma: secondary analysis of a prospective cohort study. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2022 Nov 08;51(1):41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40463-022-00593-7] [Medline: 36348384]
- 34. Son D, Lee J, Qiao S, Ghaffari R, Kim J, Lee JE, et al. Multifunctional wearable devices for diagnosis and therapy of movement disorders. Nat Nanotechnol 2014 May;9(5):397-404. [doi: <u>10.1038/nnano.2014.38</u>] [Medline: <u>24681776</u>]
- 35. Kim DH, Lu N, Ma R, Kim YS, Kim RH, Wang S, et al. Epidermal electronics. Science 2011 Aug 12;333(6044):838-843. [doi: <u>10.1126/science.1206157</u>] [Medline: <u>21836009</u>]
- Ying M, Bonifas AP, Lu N, Su Y, Li R, Cheng H, et al. Silicon nanomembranes for fingertip electronics. Nanotechnology 2012 Aug 31;23(34):344004. [doi: <u>10.1088/0957-4484/23/34/344004</u>] [Medline: <u>22885907</u>]
- 37. Fan JA, Yeo WH, Su Y, Hattori Y, Lee W, Jung SY, et al. Fractal design concepts for stretchable electronics. Nat Commun 2014;5:3266 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/ncomms4266] [Medline: 24509865]
- Yamada T, Hayamizu Y, Yamamoto Y, Yomogida Y, Izadi-Najafabadi A, Futaba DN, et al. A stretchable carbon nanotube strain sensor for human-motion detection. Nat Nanotechnol 2011 May;6(5):296-301. [doi: <u>10.1038/nnano.2011.36</u>] [Medline: <u>21441912</u>]
- 39. Kim MK, Kantarcigil C, Kim B, Baruah RK, Maity S, Park Y, et al. Flexible submental sensor patch with remote monitoring controls for management of oropharyngeal swallowing disorders. Sci Adv 2019 Dec;5(12):eaay3210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aay3210] [Medline: 31853500]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47359
```

- 40. Sittig DF, Singh H. A new sociotechnical model for studying health information technology in complex adaptive healthcare systems. Qual Saf Health Care 2010 Oct;19 Suppl 3(Suppl 3):i68-i74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/qshc.2010.042085] [Medline: 20959322]
- 41. Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res 2005 Mar 31;7(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11] [Medline: 15829473]
- 42. Kim BY, Lee J. Smart devices for older adults managing chronic disease: a scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 May 23;5(5):e69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7141] [Medline: 28536089]
- 43. Kelders SM, Kok RN, Ossebaard HC, Van Gemert-Pijnen JE. Persuasive system design does matter: a systematic review of adherence to web-based interventions. J Med Internet Res 2012 Nov 14;14(6):e152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2104] [Medline: 23151820]
- 44. Hermsen S, Moons J, Kerkhof P, Wiekens C, De Groot M. Determinants for sustained use of an activity tracker: observational study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Oct 30;5(10):e164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7311] [Medline: 29084709]
- 45. Kononova A, Li L, Kamp K, Bowen M, Rikard RV, Cotten S, et al. The use of wearable activity trackers among older adults: focus group study of tracker perceptions, motivators, and barriers in the maintenance stage of behavior change. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 05;7(4):e9832 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9832] [Medline: 30950807]
- Kao YS, Nawata K, Huang CY. An exploration and confirmation of the factors influencing adoption of IoT-based wearable fitness trackers. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Sep 04;16(18):3227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16183227] [Medline: 31487812]
- 47. Piwek L, Ellis DA, Andrews S, Joinson A. The rise of consumer health wearables: promises and barriers. PLoS Med 2016 Feb;13(2):e1001953 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001953] [Medline: 26836780]
- 48. van Gemert-Pijnen JE, Nijland N, van Limburg M, Ossebaard HC, Kelders SM, Eysenbach G, et al. A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 05;13(4):e111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1672] [Medline: 22155738]
- 49. Oinas-Kukkonen H, Harjumaa M. Persuasive systems design: key issues, process model, and system features. Commun Assoc Inf Syst 2009;24. [doi: 10.17705/1CAIS.02428]
- 50. Peterson SK, Shinn EH, Basen-Engquist K, Demark-Wahnefried W, Prokhorov AV, Baru C, et al. Identifying early dehydration risk with home-based sensors during radiation treatment: a feasibility study on patients with head and neck cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2013 Dec;2013(47):162-168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgt016] [Medline: 24395986]
- 51. Rai HK, Schneider J, Orrell M. An individual cognitive stimulation therapy app for people with dementia and carers: results from a feasibility randomized controlled trial (RCT). Clin Interv Aging 2021 Dec 22;16:2079-2094 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/CIA.S323994] [Medline: 35221680]
- 52. Turesson C, Liedberg G, Björk M. Development of a digital support application with evidence-based content for sustainable return to work for persons with chronic pain and their employers: user-centered agile design approach. JMIR Hum Factors 2022 Mar 14;9(1):e33571 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33571] [Medline: 35285814]
- 53. van der Velde M, Valkenet K, Geleijn E, Kruisselbrink M, Marsman M, Janssen LM, et al. Usability and preliminary effectiveness of a preoperative mHealth app for people undergoing major surgery: pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Jan 07;9(1):e23402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23402] [Medline: 33410758]
- 54. Ledger D, McCaffrey D. Inside wearables: how the science of human behavior change offers the secret to long-term engagement. Endeavour Partners LLC. 2014. URL: <u>https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Inside+Wearables:</u> +How+the+Science+of+Human+Behavior+Change+Offers+the+Secret+to+Long-Term+Engagement&publication_year=2014& [accessed 2023-12-28]
- 55. Building a better tracker: older consumers weigh in on activity and sleep monitoring devices. Project Catalyst and AARP. 2017 Jan 9. URL: <u>https://www.slideshare.net/TheLongevityNetwork/</u> building-a-better-tracker-older-consumers-weigh-in-on-activity-and-sleep-monitoring-devices [accessed 2023-12-28]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Hutcheson KA, Barrow MP, Barringer DA, Knott JK, Lin HY, Weber RS, et al. Dynamic imaging grade of swallowing toxicity (DIGEST): scale development and validation. Cancer 2017 Jan 01;123(1):62-70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.30283] [Medline: 27564246]
- Ramírez J, Rodriquez D, Qiao F, Warchall J, Rye J, Aklile E, et al. Metallic nanoislands on graphene for monitoring swallowing activity in head and neck cancer patients. ACS Nano 2018 Jun 26;12(6):5913-5922 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1021/acsnano.8b02133] [Medline: 29874030]
- 59. Blau R, Chen AX, Polat B, Becerra LL, Runser R, Zamanimeymian B, et al. Intrinsically stretchable block copolymer based on PEDOT:PSS for improved performance in bioelectronic applications. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2022 Feb 02;14(4):4823-4835. [doi: 10.1021/acsami.1c18495] [Medline: 35072473]

- 60. Constantinescu G, Hodgetts W, Scott D, Kuffel K, King B, Brodt C, et al. Electromyography and mechanomyography signals during swallowing in healthy adults and head and neck cancer survivors. Dysphagia 2017 Feb;32(1):90-103. [doi: 10.1007/s00455-016-9742-6] [Medline: 27565156]
- 61. Funami T, Matsuyama S, Ikegami A, Nakauma M, Hori K, Ono T. In vivo measurement of swallowing by monitoring thyroid cartilage movement in healthy subjects using thickened liquid samples and its comparison with sensory evaluation. J Texture Stud 2017 Dec;48(6):494-506. [doi: 10.1111/jtxs.12261] [Medline: 29205379]
- 62. Chor KH, Wisdom JP, Olin SC, Hoagwood KE, Horwitz SM. Measures for predictors of innovation adoption. Adm Policy Ment Health 2015 Sep;42(5):545-573 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10488-014-0551-7] [Medline: 24740175]
- 63. Vaiman M, Eviatar E. Surface electromyography as a screening method for evaluation of dysphagia and odynophagia. Head Face Med 2009 Feb 20;5:9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1746-160X-5-9] [Medline: 19232090]
- 64. Polat B, Rafeedi T, Becerra L, Chen AX, Chiang K, Kaipu V, et al. External measurement of swallowed volume during exercise enabled by stretchable derivatives of PEDOT:PSS, graphene, metallic nanoparticles, and machine learning. Adv Sensor Res 2023 Jan 18;2(4):2200060 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/adsr.202200060]
- 65. Baumel A, Muench F, Edan S, Kane JM. Objective user engagement with mental health apps: systematic search and panel-based usage analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Sep 25;21(9):e14567 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14567] [Medline: 31573916]
- 66. Kalantari M. Consumers' adoption of wearable technologies: literature review, synthesis, and future research agenda. Int J Technol Mark 2017 Dec 22;12(3):274 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1504/IJTMKT.2017.089665]
- 67. French DP, Cameron E, Benton JS, Deaton C, Harvie M. Can communicating personalised disease risk promote healthy behaviour change? A systematic review of systematic reviews. Ann Behav Med 2017 Oct 13;51(5):718-729 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-017-9895-z] [Medline: 28290066]
- 68. Sebastian G, George A, Jackson GJ. Persuading patients using rhetoric to improve artificial intelligence adoption: experimental study. J Med Internet Res 2023 Mar 13;25:e41430 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/41430] [Medline: 36912869]
- 69. Rising CJ, Jensen RE, Moser RP, Oh A. Characterizing the US population by patterns of mobile health use for health and behavioral tracking: analysis of the National Cancer Institute's health information national trends survey data. J Med Internet Res 2020 May 14;22(5):e16299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16299] [Medline: 32406865]

Abbreviations

EMG: electromyography HINTS: Health Information National Trends IMRT: intensity-modulated radiation therapy MBS: modified barium swallow mHealth: mobile health

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 28.03.23; peer-reviewed by S Javorszky, G Sebastian; comments to author 17.07.23; revised version received 14.09.23; accepted 26.09.23; published 28.02.24.

Please cite as:

Shinn EH, Garden AS, Peterson SK, Leupi DJ, Chen M, Blau R, Becerra L, Rafeedi T, Ramirez J, Rodriquez D, VanFossen F, Zehner S, Mercier PP, Wang J, Hutcheson K, Hanna E, Lipomi DJ Iterative Patient Testing of a Stimuli-Responsive Swallowing Activity Sensor to Promote Extended User Engagement During the First

Year After Radiation: Multiphase Remote and In-Person Observational Cohort Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e47359 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47359</u>

doi:<u>10.2196/47359</u> PMID:<u>38416544</u>

©Eileen H Shinn, Adam S Garden, Susan K Peterson, Dylan J Leupi, Minxing Chen, Rachel Blau, Laura Becerra, Tarek Rafeedi, Julian Ramirez, Daniel Rodriquez, Finley VanFossen, Sydney Zehner, Patrick P Mercier, Joseph Wang, Kate Hutcheson, Ehab Hanna, Darren J Lipomi. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 28.02.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Co-Design, Development, and Evaluation of a Mobile Solution to Improve Medication Adherence in Cancer: Design Science Research Approach

Thu Ha Dang^{1,2,3}, MIPH, MD; Nilmini Wickramasinghe^{4,5,6,7}, PhD, MBA; Abdur Rahim Mohammad Forkan⁸, PhD; Prem Prakash Jayaraman⁹, PhD; Kate Burbury^{10,11}, PhD; Clare O'Callaghan^{12,13}, PhD; Ashley Whitechurch¹⁴, MANP-NP; Penelope Schofield^{1,2,7,11}, PhD

¹Department of Psychological Sciences, School of Health Sciences, Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne, Australia

²Digital Cancer Care Innovation, Department of Health Services Research, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, Australia

³Digital Health Cooperative Research Centre, Sydney, Australia

⁵Epworth Healthcare, Melbourne, Australia

⁶Optus Chair Digital Health, La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia

⁷Iverson Health Innovation Research Institute, Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne, Australia

⁸Digital Innovation Lab, Department of Computer Science and Software Engineering, School Software and Electrical Engineering, Swinburne University of Technology, Hawthorn, Australia

⁹Factory of the Future and Digital Innovation Lab, School of Science, Computing and Engineering Technologies, Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne, Australia

¹⁰Digital and Healthcare Innovation, Peter McCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, Australia

¹¹Sir Peter MacCallum Department of Oncology, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

¹²Caritas Christi and Psychosocial Cancer Care, St Vincent's Hospital, Melbourne, Australia

¹³Department of Medicine, St Vincent's Hospital, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

¹⁴Department of Clinical Haematology, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre & Royal Melbourne Hospital, Melbourne, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Thu Ha Dang, MIPH, MD Department of Psychological Sciences School of Health Sciences Swinburne University of Technology John Street Melbourne, 3122 Australia Phone: 61 422703347 Email: thuhadang@swin.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Medication nonadherence negatively impacts the health outcomes of people with cancer as well as health care costs. Digital technologies present opportunities to address this health issue. However, there is limited evidence on how to develop digital interventions that meet the needs of people with cancer, are perceived as useful, and are potentially effective in improving medication adherence.

Objective: The objective of this study was to co-design, develop, and preliminarily evaluate an innovative mobile health solution called Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) to improve medication adherence among people with cancer.

Methods: Using the 4 cycles and 6 processes of design science research methodology, we co-designed and developed a medication adherence solution for people with cancer. First, we conducted a literature review on medication adherence in cancer and a systematic review of current interventions to address this issue. Behavioral science research was used to conceptualize the design features of SAMSON. Second, we conducted 2 design phases: prototype design and final feature design. Last, we conducted a mixed methods study on patients with hematological cancer over 6 weeks to evaluate the mobile solution.

⁴Department of Health and Bio Statistics, School of Health Sciences, Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne, Australia

Results: The developed mobile solution, consisting of a mobile app, a web portal, and a cloud-based database, includes 5 modules: medication reminder and acknowledgment, symptom assessment and management, reinforcement, patient profile, and reporting. The quantitative study (n=30) showed that SAMSON was easy to use (21/27, 78%). The app was engaging (18/27, 67%), informative, increased user interactions, and well organized (19/27, 70%). Most of the participants (21/27, 78%) commented that SAMSON's activities could help to improve their adherence to cancer treatments, and more than half of them (17/27, 63%) would recommend the app to their peers. The qualitative study (n=25) revealed that SAMSON was perceived as helpful in terms of reminding, supporting, and informing patients. Possible barriers to using SAMSON include the app glitches and users' technical inexperience. Further needs to refine the solution were also identified. Technical improvements and design enhancements will be incorporated into the subsequent iteration.

Conclusions: This study demonstrates the successful application of behavioral science research and design science research methodology to design and develop a mobile solution for patients with cancer to be more adherent. The study also highlights the importance of applying rigorous methodologies in developing effective and patient-centered digital intervention solutions.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e46979) doi:10.2196/46979

KEYWORDS

cancer; behavioral science; design science research; digital; medication adherence; mobile solution; Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology; SAMSON; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Optimal adherence to medication is increasingly one of the top priorities in oncology care [1-3]. Medication adherence (MA) is "the extent to which patients take their medication as recommended by their health care provider" [4]. Despite this importance, the MA rate is very low: only 14% for some cancer regimens [3,5,6]. Poor MA negatively impacts the health outcomes of the patient [3,7-9] and increases pressure on health services and health care fiscal restraints [9,10].

MA is a complex and multifaceted phenomenon that can be influenced by 5 interacting dimensions: socioeconomic and health system factors as well as condition-, therapy-, and patient-related factors [11]. Patient-related factors are the most important [12] because adherence interventions may potentially make the most impact on these factors without necessarily having systemic solutions [11]. Multicomponent interventions that involve collective adherence strategies and are tailored to patients are likely more effective than single-strategy interventions in addressing these factors and improving adherence to oral anticancer medicines [13]. Technology can help to deliver multicomponent interventions more effectively and efficiently [13-15] without requiring too many extra resources, which are already scarce, from the health system [16].

With the rapidly evolving nature and increased uptake of information and communications technologies in the last 20 years [14,17], mobile phone–based interventions have been widely used to address the problem of medication nonadherence, specifically in cancer [18,19]. Literature reviews showed the potential of using technologies such as mobile solutions in promoting MA by providing patients rapid, continuous, and easy access to educational resources and symptom or side effect self-management strategies as well as facilitating direct patient-provider communication [11,15,17]. However, there is very limited evidence on how to develop mobile solutions that

meet the needs of people with cancer, are perceived as useful, and are potentially effective in improving MA [1,13,19,20].

Research Context

In our previous research, we developed REMIND, which is a mobile health system to increase adherence to oral medication in people with chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) [21]. It comprises daily SMS text messages to provide drug reminders and symptom self-care advice, as well as nurse telephone consultations to promote adherence [21]. The development of REMIND was guided by the framework for the development of complex interventions [22]. To understand patients' experiences of CML and identify their possible facilitators and barriers to adherence, a prior qualitative study was conducted [23]. To increase the acceptability of the intervention, stakeholders (eg, consumers and oncology professionals), were involved in reviewing iterative REMIND revisions and resource manuals [21]. The intervention content and delivery mechanisms were based on theories and available evidence [21].

Findings from the REMIND pilot study [21] showed that most patients reported episodes of nonadherence during the study period. Some reasons for their nonadherence were intentional [24], such as to reduce dose-dependent side effects. Some patients reported unintentional nonadherence [25] due to forgetfulness and miscommunication with health care providers [23]. Health care professionals (HCPs) had challenges in accurately assessing patients' adherence status and identifying causes of nonadherence [23]. Users found REMIND generally acceptable to use and appreciated its benefits in establishing medication routines, resolution of symptom uncertainty, increased awareness of self-care, and informed decision-making [21].

REMIND had limitations. First, using a design framework specifically for digital interventions is crucial; yet, this was missing in the REMIND system's development. Second, although stakeholder involvement was reported in the intervention's development process, a genuine co-design process, defined as "meaningful end-user engagement in research design and includes instances of engagement that occur



across all stages of the research process and range in intensity from relatively passive to highly active and involved" [26], was not adopted. Third and last, patients reported some functional errors and expressed their need for an advanced iteration with improved functionality and presentation as well as a more user-friendly application [21].

Given the importance of the medication nonadherence problem that has not been well addressed and the gap in literature on how to develop acceptable, useful, and potentially effective digital interventions to solve the problem, as well as the need to resolve the identified limitations of REMIND, we combined design science research methodology (DSRM) and co-design to develop its new version, named Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) mobile health solution.

DSRM Cycles and Stages

Over the last couple of decades, design science research (DSR) [27] has been one of the main paradigms characterizing most information system research that aims to design and implement innovative technologies [28,29] through 3 design cycles: rigor, design, and relevance [30]. In 2007, Peffers et al [31] presented 6 process stages of the DSRM: problem identification and motivation, definition of the objective of the solution, design and development, demonstration, evaluation, and

communication. Later, Drechsler and Hevner [32] extended the original DSRM with a fourth cycle (change and impact) to capture the dynamic nature of information system artifact design for volatile environments. Furthermore, the DSRM has been used in different health care contexts [29,33,34], demonstrating its importance in developing patient-centered digital health solutions. We adapted these 4-cycle and 6-process DSRM models to direct the steps required for the design and development of the SAMSON mobile health solution (hereinafter SAMSON) to improve MA in cancer. We present SAMSON and describe in detail the process of applying DSRM to design and develop it to answer the research question "How can DSRM be applied to enhance the initial mobile health system to provide a better user experience to improve MA to oral anticancer agents in adults with cancer?" Our study aimed to co-design, develop, and preliminarily evaluate SAMSON.

Methods

Overview

In this section, we explain how the 4 cycles and 6 processes of DSRM were adapted to design and develop SAMSON. Figure 1 presents the 4 DSRM cycles used to design and develop SAMSON. Table 1 illustrates how the 6-process DSRM models were applied in this study.

Figure 1. The adapted 4-cycle design science research methodology of the Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) mobile health solution. DSR: design science research; KB: knowledge base.





 Table 1. Adapted 6-process design science research methodology (DSRM) applied to design and develop the Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) mobile health solution.

DSRM stages	Interaction of DSRM cycles and stages	Apr	proaches
Stage 1: problem identification and motivation	Cycle 1: change and impact impacts on stage 1	•	Review literature on MA ^a problems in cancer Review literature on current MA interventions and their effect Identify problems in the current design Define a set of requirements in the new design
Stage 2: definition of the objective of the solution	Cycle 1: change and impact and cycle 2: relevance impact on stage 2	•	Review literature on BSR ^b Adapt BSR principles in design
Stage 3: design and development	Cycle 2: relevance, cycle 3: design, and cycle 4: rigor impact on stage 3	•	Conceptualize design requirements and features
Stage 4: demonstration	Cycle 4: rigor impact on stage 4	•	Test the design and acquire feedback from the design's users
Stage 5: evaluation	Cycle 4: rigor impact on stage 5 Stage 5 impact on cycle 3: design and cycle 4: rigor	•	Evaluate the acceptability, usability, and potential effect of the intervention
Stage 6: communication	Stage 6 impact on cycle 3: design	•	Report and publish the evaluation results

^aMA: medication adherence.

^bBSR: behavioral science research.

DSRM Cycles

The change and impact cycle [32] ensures that SAMSON (internal environment) would fit for purpose in the context of the Australian health care system, cancer care, digital health, and patient environments (external environment). The internal environment here includes the designed mobile solution and the users (patients and oncology clinicians). This was defined through the process of problem identification and motivation (DSRM stage 1).

The relevance cycle links the key identified requirements of the users, including the users' needs from REMIND's pilot test, and the problems that they are facing in their environments. This was done through a range of discussions with SAMSON's stakeholders and was demonstrated in DSRM stage 2 (definition of the objective of the solution) and impacted to stage 3 (design and development).

The co-design cycle (phase 1 and 2) consists of smaller cycles or phases (interacting iterative processes), including constructing the artifact, evaluating it, and using evaluation feedback to further refine it until a satisfactory design is achieved [27]. This cycle is the center of the research project because it is directed by the relevance cycle and the rigor cycle [33]. However, this is not a 1-way process because the results of the co-design cycle will then become a part of the relevance cycle. This cycle was performed in DSRM stage 3.

The rigor cycle links design science activities and grounded knowledge bases, such as the scientific theories, experience, and expertise that inform the DSRM project [33]. The scientific theories applied in this study include the health belief model (HBM) [35], self-determination theory (SDT) [36], and behavioral learning perspective (BLP) [11]. The impact of these knowledge bases on the SAMSON was demonstrated in DSRM stages 3 (design and development), 4 (demonstration), and 5 (evaluation). In parallel, the design and use of the SAMSON provide new knowledge (eg, the effect of this solution in terms of promoting adherence among people with cancer) to the external environment (Australian health care and cancer care context) in which the mobile solution is embedded. This process was rigorously validated in stage 5.

DSRM Processes

The SAMSON design comprises two phases: (1) prototype design and development and (2) final feature design and development (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Design and development phases of the Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) mobile solution.



Phase 1: Prototype Design and Development

The first phase (prototype design and development) started by defining a specific research problem (stage 1). The research problem focuses on MA problems in cancer, barriers to MA, and current MA interventions and their effects. To establish problem awareness, a literature review on MA in cancer and a systematic review of current MA interventions in cancer were conducted by THD and the research team (ARMF, NW, PPJ, and PS) to define MA barriers and facilitators as well as the characteristics of effective MA interventions [13]. Besides, feedback from HCPs and patients regarding REMIND was examined thoroughly by THD and PS to define necessary changes in the next iteration (SAMSON). Guided by the problem awareness, behavioral science research (BSR) was used by THD and PS to conceptualize preliminary design requirements (stage 2). Subsequently, the design requirements were translated into design features for the SAMSON prototype (SAMSON version 1), with ARMF leveraging the available features of the REMIND system in consultation with HD and the research team (stage 3). A test was then conducted on a convenient community sample to investigate whether the prototype works, examine its features, and propose more design requirements that may be helpful for patients (stages 4 and 5). Purposive and snowball sampling [37] were used to recruit participants to test SAMSON version 1. The convenient community sample included project team members, HCPs, and people in the community.

Phase 2: Final Feature Design and Development

Feedback from the testing of SAMSON version 1 initiated the second phase (final feature design and development; stage 3). In this phase, the problems detected in phase 1 were fixed. On the basis of feedback from participants in the SAMSON version 1 testing, THD and the research team returned to the literature and consulted the BSR to address the participants' suggestions

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46979

RenderX

and develop the final designed features in SAMSON version 2. A preliminary evaluation of SAMSON version 2 was conducted among people with cancer (stages 4 and 5). Details of the preliminary evaluation study (hereinafter SAMSON evaluation) are presented in the following subsections. The results of the design and development of the SAMSON will be presented in publications (stage 6).

SAMSON Evaluation Methods

Study Design and Setting

This is a study with an explanatory sequential mixed methods design: a quantitative survey was conducted first, followed by qualitative interviews [38]. The quantitative study was conducted using a purpose-built questionnaire. The qualitative component consisted of in-depth interviews with a subset of patient participants. The mixed methods study design was applied to use the qualitative interviews to *explore and make sense* of the quantitative findings [38].

Participants

Purposive sampling [39] was used to select outpatient patients from the hematology department at Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre in Melbourne, Victoria, Australia. To be eligible, participants were required to be adults (aged \geq 18 years); have an established diagnosis of chronic lymphocytic leukemia, CML, essential thrombocythemia, malignant neoplasm, myelofibrosis, myeloproliferative neoplasms, or polycythemia rubra vera; be taking or commencing an oral anticancer medication; and have smartphone and internet access. Before participating in the study, the study staff helped participants to install the SAMSON app on their mobile phone and briefed them on how to use it. They also received the SAMSON app user manual with detailed information, including app introduction, features, how to install and navigate, and common issues and how to solve them.

Intervention

The SAMSON has two elements: (1) a smartphone-based app to remotely prompt MA, monitor the patient's side effects, and provide self-care advice; and (2) a web-based application to program the patient's daily drug reminders and side effect surveys, and provide relevant drug information. In this evaluation study, patients were asked to trial the SAMSON smartphone app (the first element). The SAMSON web page (the second element) was used to populate daily drug reminders, weekly side effect surveys, and relevant patient information. Data collected on patients' self-reported MA and side effects were uploaded and archived on the SAMSON web page.

Measures

Patients used the SAMSON app for at least 6 weeks. Subsequently, they were asked to complete the questionnaire via a Qualtrics (Qualtrics International Inc) link [40] that they received in an email from a researcher. The purpose-built questionnaire was adapted from the Evaluation Tool for Mobile and Web-Based eHealth Interventions (Enlight) [41]. The items in the questionnaire were language adapted for respondents without a background in IT and health. Next, face validity testing [42] was applied to achieve a consensus on the adapted Enlight questions. Finally, usability testing following the think-aloud protocol [43] was conducted on 2 consumers to finalize the questionnaire for use.

The questionnaire assesses the quality of the SAMSON app on 6 main constructs or dimensions: usability, visual design, user engagement, content, therapeutic persuasiveness, and general evaluation. Each dimension had between 3 and 6 items, for a total of 25 items. The stem of the item was presented as a statement (eg, "Overall, I found the mobile app was easy to use"), and the response scale was a 5-point Likert scale (1=*strongly disagree*, 2=*disagree*, 3=*neither*, 4=*agree*, and 5=*strongly agree*; Multimedia Appendix 1).

Qualitative Interview

All interviews were conducted either face-to-face or via web-based videoconference platform (Zoom; Zoom Video Communications, Inc) by THD, using a semistructured interview guide [39] (Multimedia Appendix 2). Each interview lasted between 45 and 90 minutes and was audio recorded.

Data Analysis

Quantitative Data

Descriptive statistics were used to analyze the quantitative data. SPSS (version 28.0; IBM Corp) [44] was used.

Qualitative Data

Each interview was transcribed verbatim [39]. NVivo 12 qualitative data management software (Lumivero) [45,46] was used. Qualitative data were analyzed thematically using a comparative, iterative, and predominantly inductive process, informed by grounded theory [47,48]. Thematic analysis has been used widely in information system research for different purposes, such as to understand phenomena related to information systems [49] or to evaluate the effectiveness of IT artifacts [50]. A qualitative interrating process was also

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46979
```

conducted [51]. First, THD completed coding all interview records. Next, CO reviewed all interviews as well as THD's codes and agreed or disagreed with each code and also suggested additional codes. Subsequently, both researchers discussed the codes until they reached agreement. Codes were then collated into subcategories (labels for comparable code groups), categories (labels for comparable subcategory groups), and themes (labels for comparable category groups). THD led category and thematic development, which was followed by a review of the categories and themes by CO. All disagreements were also discussed, and adjustments were made until consensus was reached. Both authors reviewed the data to ensure that the themes worked in relation to the entire data set and to generate a thematic map of the analysis. The researchers' interrating process helped to strengthen the credibility and trustworthiness of this study [52,53].

Ethical Considerations

The SAMSON evaluation was approved by the human research ethics committees of Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre (HREC/74134/PMCC) and Swinburne University of Technology (20215811-8152). Written consent was obtained from all participants. Throughout the comprehensive consent process, participants were informed that their participation in this research was voluntary and that they were free to withdraw at any stage if they wished to do so. In addition, they were informed that their data would be deidentified for analysis and publication. Participants did not receive any compensation from the research team.

Results

The results are presented in the sequence of DSRM stages as shown in Figure 2: review literature, review and adapt BSR, co-design and test SAMSON version 1 (design cycle 1), develop SAMSON version 2, and SAMSON evaluation (design cycle 2).

Review Literature

The literature review of most recent research on MA in cancer showed that the problem of medication nonadherence in cancer is still persistent [5,15]. The results of the systematic review of intervention solutions to enhance adherence to oral anticancer medicines in adults [13] were in line with those of earlier reviews of the same topic [54,55]: multidimensional interventions that use collective strategies (educational, reminder, cognitive, behavioral, and affective) to promote adherence were potentially more effective than single-strategy interventions. This could be explained because MA is a complex and multifaceted phenomenon determined by 5 dimensions—socioeconomic and health system factors as well as condition-, therapy-, and patient-related factors-that require different strategies to address [11,13]. The review also suggested that a combination of cognitive and behavioral theories may better explain the diverse barriers and facilitators to MA and provide stronger direction to formulate interventions [13].

Review and Adapt BSR

Guided by the problem awareness from the literature review and REMIND studies, we conducted a review of BSR to select

cognitive and behavioral theories that can potentially address MA barriers and promote MA facilitators via the SAMSON. The HBM [35], SDT [36], and BLP [11] were chosen to govern the design requirements of the SAMSON mobile solution [56]. According to the HBM, people will take health actions (eg, adherence) if they have 4 basic conditional beliefs or perceptions regarding the disease, the effect of the disease on people's lives, the action to respond to the disease, and the conviction that the benefit of action will outweigh the barriers [57]. According to the SDT, motivation (intrinsic and extrinsic) is crucial to

successful behavior change [36]. The behavioral theory emphasizes the role of positive and negative reinforcements in controlling people's behaviors that are immediately relevant to adherence [11].

Co-Design and Test SAMSON Version 1

Using knowledge gained from the literature and core theories, as well as users' feedback on REMIND's limitations, preliminary design requirements were conceptualized. The outcome of such conceptualization is presented in Figure 3.

Figure 3. Conceptualization of Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) design requirements using wireframes.



During the SAMSON design stage, we focused on the following target behaviors: knowledge, reinforcement, intentions, emotion, social influences, beliefs about capabilities, behavioral regulation, memory, and attention. These behaviors were originated from key barriers to MA, considered most feasible to influence, and expected to contribute most to the improvement of adherence. On the basis of behavioral analysis of these behaviors, potential behavior change techniques (BCTs) from the HBM, SDT, and BLP as well as intervention functions were

selected for the SAMSON app; for example, the *prompts* or *cues to action* technique from the HBM [58] was applied for the *medication reminder* feature. *Problem-solving* and *self-monitoring* techniques from the HBM and SDT [36] were applied for the *symptoms assessment and management* module of the app. The *feedback on behavior* technique from the BLP [11] was applied for the *reinforcements* module. Textbox 1 shows the conceptual model picturing this process using BSR, including the selection of final BCTs and the app's features.

Dang et al

Textbox 1. Conceptualizing Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) design requirements and features using behavioral science research.

Requirements and features

- 1. Medication adherence barriers
 - Drugs' side effects
 - Lack of medication knowledge
 - Lack of motivation
 - Lack of health care professional (HCP) support to manage side effects
 - Poor patient-HCP communication
 - Lack of self-efficacy
 - Forgetfulness
- 2. What needs to change
 - Knowledge
 - Reinforcement
 - Intentions
 - Emotion
 - Social influences
 - Beliefs about capabilities
 - Behavioral regulation
 - Memory and attention
- 3. Behavior change techniques from the theories
 - Information about side effects and medicines
 - Feedback on behavior
 - Social support
 - Problem-solving
 - Self-monitoring behavior
 - Prompts
 - Habit formation
- 4. App features
 - Side effects section
 - Medication information section
 - HCPs' contacts
 - HCP connections
 - Side effects self-management section
 - Drug reminders
 - Reinforcements

The aforementioned step is followed by a translation into design features for prototype implementation. The features were designed to provide a solution within 1 IT artifact, which is called the SAMSON mobile solution, including a mobile app, a web portal, and a cloud-based database for storing patient-specific information. The mobile app is available for patients to use, while the web portal is available for both patients and their care team. The SAMSON included 5 different modules with some key requirements (Textbox 2).



Textbox 2. The 5 different modules of the Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON).

Medication reminder and acknowledgment

• The app should support and display multiple medications and send a reminder per medication. The reminder can address the medication adherence (MA) barrier of forgetfulness. Patients need to tap each reminder for an acknowledgment.

Symptom assessment and self-care management

• A list of available side effects and symptoms and self-care management in the mobile app is displayed for the medication that the patient is taking. Patients should be able to complete a symptom assessment survey through the app that will be distributed to patients using app reminders. They should be able to view information on how to manage their symptoms (if minor) and when they need to contact health care professionals (HCPs). This provides patients with medication knowledge as well as support in side effects self-management, both of which are important enablers of MA.

Reinforcement

• The app sends a positive reinforcement to the patient at a specific time each week based on the MA profile for that week. Positive reinforcement can help motivate patients' adherence.

Patient profile

• Patients can use the app to view their profile information, such as their basic personal and clinical information, emergency contact and care team contact details, and medication information (both general and important). This information can address the MA barriers of lacking or misunderstanding medication information and poor patient-HCP communication.

Reporting

• Analytical reports of patients' adherence status and their symptoms are available on the web portal for HCPs and patients in real-time. HCPs should be able to use these data in monitoring patients and providing them in-time and tailored support to manage side effects as well as to overcome MA barriers.

Test SAMSON Version 1

SAMSON version 1 was tested by 21 participants from a convenient community sample, which included project team members, HCPs, and people in the community. We sought participants' feedback on issues regarding the expected features and functionalities of the prototype and its visual design. Overall, participants reported some functional errors, such as misdelivered medication reminders and data entry failures in some fields both in the smartphone app and on the web page. They also asked for new visual design requirements to meet users' needs (details are presented in Multimedia Appendix 3).

Develop SAMSON Version 2

Overview

In phase 2, consumers' feedback from design cycle 1 was reviewed by the project team. We grouped them based on the artifact's functions and priority in terms of improvement (Multimedia Appendix 3). The main improvements in SAMSON version 2 are described in terms of priority in the following subsections.

Priority 1: Fix Functional Errors

All functional errors were fixed in this stage, including misdelivered medication reminders, app log-in-related issues, slow responsiveness to load app content, editing errors of medication schedules on the website, and functional errors related to data saving and data sorting on the website.

Priority 2: Enhance Existing Features and Functions

Textbox 3 presents feature and function enhancements in SAMSON version 2 in comparison to version 1.



Dang et al

Textbox 3. Enhanced features and functions in Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) version 2 in comparison to version 1.

Version 1

- 1. The medication reminders had no expiry time
- 2. Medications did not have color attributes
- 3. Patients could not view their data on the website
- 4. Patients could not export side effects surveys from the website to their data folder

Version 2

- 1. Setting up an expiry time (6 hours) for the reminders
- 2. Adding color attributes for medications on the website
- 3. Enabling patients to log in to the website to view their own adherence performance, symptom reports, and completed side effects surveys

×

4. Enabling patients to export the side effects surveys from the website to Excel (Microsoft Corp) spreadsheets

Priority 3: Create New Functions

The need expressed by consumers for new functions was discussed by the project team and conceptualized to guide the development of new selected design features in the new iteration of SAMSON. The literature, BSR theories, and BCTs were revisited when necessary to address new suggested requirements. Some selected new functions of SAMSON version 2 in comparison to version 1 are described in Multimedia Appendix 4.

SAMSON Evaluation

Overview

In the SAMSON evaluation, 30 (81%) of the 37 patients who were approached agreed to participate in the study and used SAMSON. None of them withdrew from the study. After 6

weeks, of the 30 participants, 27 (90%) completed the questionnaire, and 25 (83%) participated in the interview (Multimedia Appendix 5). Data retrieved from the SAMSON web page showed that 100% (1890/1890) of the drug reminders were sent on time, and all participants responded to the reminders and viewed the reinforcement messages. Most of the participants (23/30, 77%) reported side effects during the study period.

Participant demographics are described in Table 2. The mean age of the patient participants was 57.6 (SD 12.5) years. Most of the participants (20/27, 74%) were male individuals. The average time that participants had received treatments before the start of the study was 7.2 (SD 6.7) years. Approximately two-thirds of the participants (17/27, 63%) lived in the metropolitan areas of Melbourne. The proportions of participants using iPhones and Android mobile phones were equal.

Table 2. Participant demographics and clinical characteristics.

Characteristics	Values
Age (years), mean (SD)	57.6 (12.5)
Sex (n=27), n (%)	
Male	20 (74)
Female	7 (26)
Country of birth (n=27), n (%)	
Australia	14 (52)
Croatia	1 (4)
India	3 (11)
New Zealand	1 (4)
Pakistan	1 (4)
United Kingdom	2 (7)
Not provided or missing	5 (19)
English as first language (n=27), n (%)	
Yes	25 (93)
Not provided or missing	2 (7)
Education (highest level completed; n=27), n (%)	
No formal schooling or incomplete schooling	1 (4)
Primary school	9 (33)
Secondary or high school	3 (11)
Vocational	6 (22)
University	7 (26)
Postgraduate diploma or master's degree or PhD	1 (4)
Employment status (n=27), n (%)	
Working full-time	8 (30)
Working part-time	5 (19)
Casual	2 (7)
Sick leave (permanent)	2 (7)
Unemployed	1 (4)
Retired	9 (33)
Residence (n=27), n (%)	
Metropolitan	17 (63)
Rural	10 (37)
Time since diagnosis (years), mean (SD)	7.2 (6.7)
Diagnosis (n=30), n (%)	
Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	15 (50)
Chronic myeloid leukemia	12 (40)
Essential thrombocythemia	1 (3)
Myeloproliferative neoplasms	1 (3)
Polycythemia rubra vera	1 (3)
Mobile phone operating system (n=30), n (%)	
Android	15 (50)
iOS	15 (50)

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46979

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e46979 | p.131 (page number not for citation purposes)

Quantitative Survey

Participants' responses to the Enlight questionnaire are presented in Multimedia Appendix 6. Enlight aims to examine individual quality constructs or dimensions, which means it is a suite of scales rather than 1 quality measure; therefore, we did not present the overall scale of the questionnaire.

Usability assesses the ease of learning how to use an app and the ease of using it properly. Overall, of the 27 participants, 21 (78%) rated the app as *easy to use*; only 1 (4%) participant rated it as *difficult*.

Visual design assesses the look and feel of an app. Participants mentioned that the app is attractive (14/27, 52%); well organized (19/27, 70%); and has appropriate font size, buttons, and menus (23/27, 85%). Some of them expressed a need for the app to be redesigned to increase its appeal (3/27, 11%) and encourage engagement (5/27, 19%).

User engagement assesses the extent to which an app's design attracts people to use it. In general, participants were interested in using the app (18/27, 67%) because it was presented in an interesting way (19/27, 70%), different features were used to increase users' interactions (19/27, 70%), automated features to respond to the survey were easy to use (21/27, 78%), and the app's features were personalized to users (23/27, 85%). However, of the 27 participants, 2 (7%) were not interested in using the app at all.

In terms of the content, more than two-thirds of the participants (19/27, 70%) were satisfied with the amount of information and the way it was presented in the app. Nevertheless, 7% (2/27) of the patients thought that information about the app's purpose was missing. Patients also reported that information about drugs

and side effects was presented with gaps, overexplanation, or irrelevance (5/27, 19%).

Therapeutic persuasiveness assesses the extent to which an app is designed to encourage a patient's MA. High proportions of participants agreed that the app provided activities to improve their adherence (21/27, 78%) and appropriate ongoing feedback (19/27, 70%). However, approximately one-fifth of the participants (6/27, 22%) did not think that completing activities on the app would help them to be more adherent to treatments. Patients thought that the app did not fully disclose information on how it can help them to be more adherent (7/27, 26%) and what they need to do for this (8/27, 30%).

Overall, 18 (67%) of the 27 participants thought that the app was valuable in assisting MA via improving their confidence in complying to treatments (11/27, 41%) and motivating them to do so (15/27, 56%). More than half of the participants (17/27, 63%) would recommend the SAMSON app to other people with cancer.

Qualitative Interview

Overview

Three common themes were generated from the interview data: (1) SAMSON is a generally helpful app that can remind, support, and inform; (2) possible barriers encompass app glitches and users' technical inexperience; and (3) users desire customization, health care connections, and content refinement of SAMSON (Figure 4). A full presentation of themes, categories, and subcategories is presented in Multimedia Appendix 7. Further clarification of the themes is provided in the following subsections.



Figure 4. Qualitative interviews: themes, categories, and subcategories mapping. SAMSON: Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology.



SAMSON Is a Generally Helpful App That Can Remind, Support, and Inform

Participants valued the SAMSON app's features (eg, medication reminders and side effects information) because they are reliable, both in terms of content and functioning. As patients had to take >1 drug, different drug schedules and a busy life made it easy to forget taking pills on time. However, with the use of SAMSON, patients were reminded to take their medication on time:

[U]sually the reminder comes very close to the time...I do like that. [P6]

[T]he medication reminder is very prompt, and I have been, you know, taking my medication regularly, absolutely, I never missed out. [P11] Although patients had access to different sources of information about the drug and its side effects, they found it easy to obtain the appropriate information that they needed in SAMSON:

[W]hen you go into the individual drugs and you've got the side effects, information is much easier to access from the app than it is if you go online. Or if you go into the drug information sheet, which is just, you know, overwhelming, it's difficult. Particularly for somebody without a medical or paramedical background. But I thought the content was really well done. So you know I could find what I needed to know...it was a very good summary. [P13]

A participant and their carer trusted the app's information because it was based on reputable research:

[O]n the Samson app, you can go through and actually know you can trust what's in there...you guys

XSL•FO

and [Swinburne University of Technology] have done the research. [P1 and carer]

Patients could also benefit from information about drugs and side effects in the app. It supported them in managing unpleasant symptoms as consequences of cancer treatments that can be discouraging:

The side effects part of the screen was helpful to me in in a simple fashion...support for people that are trying to manage their side effects. I thought it was good...excellent. [P14]

SAMSON could also encourage MA maintenance via reinforcement messages:

I liked the way it encouraged. You know, I was like, you know, try better this week, you know, do better. [P1]

It is encouraging the patient to always use the app and to take the medicine on time. [P12]

Overall, most of the participants thought that SAMSON is a helpful digital solution to promote MA:

It does its job, so it's good...It's a very neat app in this in the sense there's no extra stuff. It's just exactly just what it needs to do. That's all, so yeah, it's pretty good. [P7]

However, some of the participants mentioned that they did not need the app to comply with the treatment because they either had a well-established drug-taking routine for many years or had another medication reminder strategy:

I've got a container with my medications in, as soon as I get them, I write the dates on there, I know exactly, I don't need my phone, I don't need an app, I don't need anything to remind me, I know, it's a routine that I've done for too long...I've been on it over 14 years, so for me it's a daily thing. [P24]

Nonetheless, these participants still praised the app as helpful for other patients, especially for those who are new to the treatment and like to use technology:

I can see when someone's first-time treatment it'd be very very useful. [P9]

A newer person coming into their treatment, or a younger person that's a bit more tech savvy, would probably prefer to use technology as a reminder. And you know that would be very handy. [P10]

Possible Barriers Encompass App Glitches and Users' Technical Inexperience

Despite the benefits that SAMSON can bring to patients, it has some functional errors and drawbacks. These could annoy patients and make the app less effective:

I've got an Android [mobile phone] and I had to refresh the page many, many, many times. [P14]

The notification does come up, but it sits in the background on your phone, so it comes up separate from the app, as a notification. But it just sort of sits in the background. [P30]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46979

Besides, as in the case of other advanced technologies, the use of SAMSON could be challenging for some people, especially older adults and people who are not technology savvy. A participant reflected on how others might view the app:

I think an app like that for my father who's in his 80s, I couldn't see it being used, he'd see it as a nuisance. [P9]

Users' Desires Related to SAMSON Include Content and Feature Refinement, Customization, and Connections to Carers and HCPs

Patients expressed their desire for refinements in the new version of SAMSON to make it more appealing and capable of serving diverse needs of different users:

Maybe you can increase the size or to magnify for people. [P31]

[P]ossibly people might find something that gives them their compliance, or you know a color changes, [signifying] you're on track, no you're not. That may help them. [P7]

New features were also suggested to improve SAMSON's effectiveness for both patients and their clinicians in disease management:

It might be handy on the app somewhere for the person using it to be able to make a note and say, put dates in "I've been in hospital" or "I've had broken, been in a car accident" or "I've got some bruising as a result of a fall" or something. [P10]

You probably need to have areas where people can actually add things to it, other than just keep going click click click and then get nothing at the end...it doesn't really help...a section where you can add additions to it, even say a basic of when there's a section on gastro and vomiting...did it affect you for a percentage...and then you may be able to assist from that side. [P24]

App modifications were also advised to improve patients' proactiveness in treatment management:

It makes you feel more like you're in control and that you can I think you're more likely to use an app if you can customize it to meet your own needs. And, whereas you know if I wanted to change it, and then I had to get in touch with someone to do that. Yeah, it's just a bit disempowering. [P27]

Furthermore, patients emphasized new features to assist carer engagement with the app, which would support their MA, and communication with their HCPs when needing additional support:

Some patients, they don't have this ability to manage their own medications, even when they have the app, and they need carer or family member to be also involved in the app. [P12]

There were times in the past that I might've had a side effect, or something had happened, and sometimes it was very hard to contact the nurse that's

linked in with my hematologist. So to have something like that [2-way SMS feature] on the app would be good because you could get almost feedback a lot quicker. [P10]

Discussion

Overview

This research study co-designs, develops, and evaluates an innovative mobile health solution to improve MA in cancer. Preliminary results demonstrate the successful application of BSR and DSRM to enhance the initial mobile health system and provide a better user experience. The study contributes to theory and practice in many ways.

Theoretical Contributions

Our study contributes to DSRM theory in 4 different ways. First, we expanded the scope of DSRM by applying it to the design and development of a mobile health solution for MA. Given the current challenges in public health and clinical fields, the potential of using DSRM to improve the effectiveness and efficiencies of health care innovations is enormous [33]. DSRM has been used to design new artifacts in different health care application areas [29,34] (eg, medical devices), but none of them target MA in cancer [13,33]. Hence, this study sheds new light on how DSRM can be applied in this area.

Second, we addressed the knowledge gap on how BSR and DSRM can be integrated to develop engaging and effective behavior change digital health solutions. There is a strong view that design science and behavioral science are 2 distinct research paradigms [27]. Design science is related to the creation of new artifacts, while behavioral science studies behavior in relation to IT use [59]. While behavioral science could be seen as a reactive and retrospective process to explain what already exists, design science is more proactive in its way in terms of creating technological solutions for the future [59]. Nevertheless, these 2 seemingly divergent research paradigms have some similarities. They both emphasize the importance of understanding the health problem before designing a solution and aim to ensure that the designed solutions can effectively engage users [60]. Engagement with mobile health interventions is a precondition for their effectiveness [61]. Behavior change theory and BCTs can assist macroengagement with the behavior changes the mobile health intervention aims to support (eg, MA) [62], while design science approaches, such as user-centered design, is more likely to facilitate microengagement with the mobile health interface (eg, logging in to the app) [60,63]. Therefore, integrating best practices from BSR and DSRM can bring more mutual benefits to design engaging behavior change interventions [60]. Research also showed that digital interventions developed using behavior change theory and BCTs are more likely to be effective than those without [60,62]. However, little is known about how these 2 approaches can be blended throughout the design process of artifacts to ensure that microengagement and macroengagement needs will be met [60]. Here, our study provided more understanding about how this integration can be done.

Third, an explanatory sequential mixed methods design [38] was applied in the evaluation stage of the SAMSON's DSRM. This type of design is helpful for us to know why the user rated the solution's quality as *low* or *high* for each criterion and gain further understanding on how we can improve the SAMSON in its next version. Because of the assumption that technical knowledge is needed to complete the questionnaire, we adapted Enlight for a lay audience. Unlike some other assessment tools, Enlight includes some quality constructs associated with intervention outcomes, such as persuasive design, behavior change, or therapeutic alliance [41], which is specifically necessary for a mobile solution, such as SAMSON, to change patients' behavior toward medical treatments. This tool has been validated for assessing eHealth interventions regardless of delivery mediums and clinical aims [41]. In our study, it was language adapted but requires further validation for a community sample. Measures for evaluating the quality of a designed artifact are often difficult to define and are controversial [33]. Therefore, applying a mixed methods design with an appropriate, reliable, and valid assessment tool in the evaluation of digital interventions (eg, in the case of SAMSON) could be one of the effective ways to address this challenge.

Fourth, we effectively involved stakeholders, including real users, early and throughout the co-design and evaluation processes. We formed a project steering committee that included experts in allied health, app development, computer sciences, digital health, oncology, and psychology, as well as consumer representatives. They were involved very early in the co-design process to guide the review of behavior change literature and the selection of targeted change in nonadherence behavior. The committee was also involved in reviewing problem identification and design motivation, adapting BSR principles, and conceptualizing design requirements for SAMSON. After development, SAMSON was thoroughly tested by reasonable numbers of users (21 consumers tested version 1, and 30 patients tested version 2). Their feedback in the testing was then used to construct new requirements or refine the next version of SAMSON. By recognizing users as experts of their own experience, the proper co-design process can address pitfalls in the design and development of mobile health solutions that might limit adoption and effective use in practice [64-66] by facilitating necessary collaborations of diverse stakeholders [67,68] and leveraging expert insights and best practices [69,70].

Our study also contributes to the literature of interventions to promote MA in cancer. Systematic reviews of MA interventions in adults with cancer showed that there was limited use or poorly reported use of theory [71] and frameworks [20] in the design and development of digital interventions [13]. A high number of MA digital interventions have been proposed, but many of them have low user acceptance [72], and their effectiveness in clinical oncology practice is poorly supported [17,20]. Perhaps poor design is 1 reason for these issues [33]. To the best of our knowledge, SAMSON is one of the very first mobile health solutions to improve MA in cancer that applied rigorous DSRM in the design and development process. The use of DSRM provided various improvements in identifying and addressing requirements as well as evaluating this digital solution.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46979

SAMSON was perceived as acceptable, usable, and useful by end users.

Implications for Practice and Future Research

Broadly, our study's findings have implications for behavioral science and design science researchers, MA intervention developers, and oncology care providers. These findings provide additional evidence on the use of DSRM in health innovations. They can be used to develop principles for guiding DSRM adaptation and BSR integration in the design and development of mobile health solutions in general as well as those targeting MA. The findings of this work provide insights for oncology care providers to use, while encouraging the use of digital solutions to promote MA and drive health care outcomes. Technologies can enhance measures to improve MA, such as patient education as well as side effect monitoring and reporting, and facilitate effective communication between patients and their care team.

Our respondents indicated their acceptance of the mobile solution and valued its usability and usefulness in supporting their adherence to medication. They also reported some functional errors and the need for some further improvements in the design and features of SAMSON. We will use these findings to refine SAMSON and evaluate its acceptability, usability, and effectiveness in a future randomized controlled trial. On the basis of the feedback of participants, in the trial's protocol, we will include assessments to help identify those who would benefit from the SAMSON.

Limitations

This study has limitations. Participants enrolled in the SAMSON preliminary evaluation are from the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre hematology department, and most of them used only 1 oral anticancer regimen. As Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre is one of the leading oncology hospitals in Australia, in the interview, patients acknowledged that the care service that they received was of high quality. Many were provided medication education before starting treatments and at ongoing follow-up appointments. As a result, their perceptions of MA solutions may not represent those of patients who use multiple anticancer medicines and receive care from low-resource oncology settings. Future research can extend the evaluation of SAMSON to patients with other types of cancer at different levels of oncology care institutions.

Conclusions

By following the systematic DSRM approach, a patient-centered mobile health solution was developed to meet the needs and preferences of people with cancer and thus highly likely to be used by end users. This extensive report of the intervention development process provides transparent guidance on how to develop patient-centered digital mobile health solutions that will have a high likelihood of uptake.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all patients who participated in the Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) evaluation study for their time and valuable feedback on the SAMSON. The authors thank Marliese Alexander and Senthil Lingaratnam for their review and guidance on the drug information aspect of the study. The authors also thank Jim Coomes and Hilary Schofield for their contribution in the development of the Evaluation Tool for Mobile and Web-Based eHealth Interventions (Enlight). The authors highly appreciate support from the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre hematology department in the study participants' recruitment. This publication is supported by the Digital Health Cooperative Research Centre (DHCRC), Swinburne University of Technology, and Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre (project DHCRC-0043). The DHCRC is funded under the Commonwealth's Cooperative Research Centres program. THD is supported by the Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship. The sponsor had no influence on the study design or the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data. The final decision to include the peer reviewers' comments and submit the manuscript for publication was made only by the authors.

Data Availability

The data sets generated and analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

All authors have made substantial contributions and approved the conceptions, drafting, and final version of the manuscript. THD undertook the analysis and interpretation of the data. THD drafted the paper with contribution from NW, ARMF, PPJ, KB, CO, AW, and PS.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Evaluating the Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) mobile app questionnaire. [DOC File, 76 KB - cancer_v10i1e46979_app1.doc] Multimedia Appendix 2 Interview guide. [DOC File, 46 KB - cancer_v10i1e46979_app2.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Feedback from consumers on Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) version 1. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 15 KB - cancer_v10i1e46979_app3.xlsx]

Multimedia Appendix 4

New designed features of Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) version 2 in comparison to version 1.

[DOCX File, 264 KB - cancer_v10i1e46979_app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) diagram. [DOC File, 50 KB - cancer v10i1e46979 app5.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 6 Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology (SAMSON) participant rating. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 13 KB - cancer v10i1e46979 app6.xlsx]

Multimedia Appendix 7 Qualitative analysis codebook. [DOC File, 34 KB - cancer v10i1e46979 app7.doc]

References

- Greer JA, Amoyal N, Nisotel L, Fishbein JN, MacDonald J, Stagl J, et al. A systematic review of adherence to oral antineoplastic therapies. Oncologist 2016 Mar 26;21(3):354-376. [doi: <u>10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0405</u>] [Medline: <u>26921292</u>]
- Geynisman DM, Wickersham KE. Adherence to targeted oral anticancer medications. Discov Med 2013 Apr;15(83):231-241 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23636140]
- Pourcelot C, Orillard E, Nallet G, Dirand C, Billion-Rey F, Barbier G, et al. Adjuvant hormonal therapy for early breast cancer: an epidemiologic study of medication adherence. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2018 May 23;169(1):153-162. [doi: 10.1007/s10549-018-4676-3] [Medline: 29362956]
- 4. Konstantinou P, Kassianos AP, Georgiou G, Panayides A, Papageorgiou A, Almas I, et al. Barriers, facilitators, and interventions for medication adherence across chronic conditions with the highest non-adherence rates: a scoping review with recommendations for intervention development. Transl Behav Med 2020 Dec 31;10(6):1390-1398 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibaa118] [Medline: 33231691]
- Bouwman L, Eeltink CM, Visser O, Janssen JJ, Maaskant JM. Prevalence and associated factors of medication non-adherence in hematological-oncological patients in their home situation. BMC Cancer 2017 Nov 09;17(1):739 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3735-1] [Medline: 29121889]
- Noens L, van Lierde MA, De Bock R, Verhoef G, Zachée P, Berneman Z, et al. Prevalence, determinants, and outcomes of nonadherence to imatinib therapy in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia: the ADAGIO study. Blood 2009 May 28;113(22):5401-5411 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-12-196543] [Medline: 19349618]
- McCue DA, Lohr LK, Pick AM. Improving adherence to oral cancer therapy in clinical practice. Pharmacotherapy 2014 May 18;34(5):481-494. [doi: <u>10.1002/phar.1399</u>] [Medline: <u>24877187</u>]
- Baccarani M, Cortes J, Pane F, Niederwieser D, Saglio G, Apperley J, et al. Chronic myeloid leukemia: an update of concepts and management recommendations of European LeukemiaNet. J Clin Oncol 2009 Dec 10;27(35):6041-6051 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.25.0779] [Medline: 19884523]
- 9. Lim R, Semple S, Ellett LK, Roughhead L. Medicine safety: take care. Pharmaceutical Society of Australia. 2019. URL: https://psnet.ahrq.gov/issue/medicine-safety-take-care [accessed 2024-02-28]
- 10. Kane S, Shaya F. Medication non-adherence is associated with increased medical health care costs. Dig Dis Sci 2008 Apr 13;53(4):1020-1024. [doi: 10.1007/s10620-007-9968-0] [Medline: 17934828]
- 11. Sabate E. Adherence to Long-term Therapies: Evidence for Action. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2003.

- 12. Peh KQ, Kwan YH, Goh H, Ramchandani H, Phang JK, Lim ZY, et al. An adaptable framework for factors contributing to medication adherence: results from a systematic review of 102 conceptual frameworks. J Gen Intern Med 2021 Sep 03;36(9):2784-2795 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-021-06648-1] [Medline: 33660211]
- Dang TH, Forkan AR, Wickramasinghe N, Jayaraman PP, Alexander M, Burbury K, et al. Investigation of intervention solutions to enhance adherence to oral anticancer medicines in adults: overview of reviews. JMIR Cancer 2022 Apr 27;8(2):e34833 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34833] [Medline: 35475978]
- 14. Odeh B, Kayyali R, Nabhani-Gebara S, Philip N. Optimizing cancer care through mobile health. Support Care Cancer 2015 Jul 4;23(7):2183-2188. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-015-2627-7] [Medline: 25649121]
- Gambalunga F, Iacorossi L, Notarnicola I, Serra V, Piredda M, De Marinis MG. Mobile Health in Adherence to Oral Anticancer Drugs: A Scoping Review. Comput Inform Nurs 2020 Jun 19;39(1):17-23. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.000000000000643</u>] [Medline: <u>32568900</u>]
- Phanareth K, Vingtoft S, Christensen AS, Nielsen JS, Svenstrup J, Berntsen GK, et al. The epital care model: a new person-centered model of technology-enabled integrated care for people with long term conditions. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Jan 16;6(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.6506] [Medline: 28093379]
- Jupp JC, Sultani H, Cooper CA, Peterson KA, Truong TH. Evaluation of mobile phone applications to support medication adherence and symptom management in oncology patients. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2018 Nov;65(11):e27278. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.27278</u>] [Medline: <u>29943893</u>]
- Dayer LE, Shilling R, Van Valkenburg M, Martin BC, Gubbins PO, Hadden K, et al. Assessing the medication adherence app marketplace from the health professional and consumer vantage points. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Apr 19;5(4):e45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6582] [Medline: 28428169]
- 19. Andrade AQ, Roughead EE. Consumer-directed technologies to improve medication management and safety. Med J Aust 2019 Apr 30;210 Suppl 6(S6):S24-S27. [doi: 10.5694/mja2.50029] [Medline: 30927471]
- 20. Skrabal Ross X, Gunn KM, Patterson P, Olver I. Mobile-based oral chemotherapy adherence-enhancing interventions: scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Dec 21;6(12):e11724 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11724] [Medline: 30578182]
- 21. Pereira-Salgado A, Westwood JA, Russell L, Ugalde A, Ortlepp B, Seymour JF, et al. Mobile health intervention to increase oral cancer therapy adherence in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia (the REMIND system): clinical feasibility and acceptability assessment. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Dec 06;5(12):e184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8349] [Medline: 29212628]
- Schofield P, Chambers S. Effective, clinically feasible and sustainable: key design features of psycho-educational and supportive care interventions to promote individualised self-management in cancer care. Acta Oncol 2015 May;54(5):805-812. [doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2015.1010016] [Medline: 25813474]
- 23. Wu S, Chee D, Ugalde A, Butow P, Seymour J, Schofield P. Lack of congruence between patients' and health professionals' perspectives of adherence to imatinib therapy in treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia: a qualitative study. Palliat Support Care 2015 Apr;13(2):255-263. [doi: 10.1017/S1478951513001260] [Medline: 24524212]
- 24. Jackevicius CA, Mamdani M, Tu JV. Adherence with statin therapy in elderly patients with and without acute coronary syndromes. JAMA 2002;288(4):462-467. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.288.4.462</u>] [Medline: <u>12132976</u>]
- 25. Usherwood T. Encouraging adherence to long-term medication. Aust Prescr 2017 Aug;40(4):147-150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18773/austprescr.2017.050] [Medline: 28947853]
- 26. Slattery P, Saeri AK, Bragge P. Research co-design in health: a rapid overview of reviews. Health Res Policy Syst 2020 Feb 11;18(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12961-020-0528-9] [Medline: 32046728]
- 27. Hevner AR, March ST, Park J, Ram S. Design science in information systems research. MIS Q 2004 Mar;28(1):75-105. [doi: 10.2307/25148625]
- 28. Hevner A, Chatterjee S. Design Research in Information Systems: Theory and Practice. Boston, MA: Springer; 2010.
- 29. Alharbey R, Chatterjee S. An mHealth assistive system "MyLung" to empower patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: design science research. JMIR Form Res 2019 Mar 19;3(1):e12489 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12489] [Medline: 30888329]
- 30. Myers MD, Venable JR. A set of ethical principles for design science research in information systems. Inf Manag 2014 Sep;51(6):801-809. [doi: 10.1016/j.im.2014.01.002]
- 31. Peffers K, Tuunanen T, Rothenberger MA, Chatterjee S. A design science research methodology for information systems research. J Manag Inf Syst 2014 Dec 08;24(3):45-77. [doi: <u>10.2753/MIS0742-1222240302</u>]
- 32. Drechsler A, Hevner A. A four-cycle model of IS design science research: capturing the dynamic nature of IS artifact design. In: Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Design Science Research in Information Systems and Technology (DESRIST) 2016. 2016 Presented at: DESRIST 2016; May 23-25, 2016; St. John's, Canada. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-39294-3]
- 33. Hevner AR, Wickramasinghe N. Design science research opportunities in health care. In: Wickramasinghe N, Schaffer J, editors. Theories to Inform Superior Health Informatics Research and Practice. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2018.

- Mulgund P, Sharman R, Rifkin D, Marrazzo S. Design, development, and evaluation of a telemedicine platform for patients with sleep apnea (ognomy): design science research approach. JMIR Form Res 2021 Jul 19;5(7):e26059 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26059] [Medline: 34279237]
- 35. Rosenstock IM. Historical origins of the health belief model. Health Educ Monogr 1974 Dec 01;2(4):328-335. [doi: 10.1177/109019817400200403]
- 36. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am Psychol 2000;55(1):68-78. [doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68]
- 37. Hendricks VM, Blankennowball STC. Snowball-sampling: theoretical and practical considerations. In: Hendriks VM, Blanken P, Adriaans NF, editors. Snowball Sampling: A Pilot Study on Cocaine Use. Rotterdam, The Netherlands: Instituut voor Verslavingsonderzoek (IVO), Erasmus Universiteit; 1992.
- 38. Creswell JW, Creswell JD. Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2018.
- 39. Patton MQ. Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2002.
- 40. Qualtrics XM: the leading experience management software. Qualtrics XM. URL: <u>https://www.qualtrics.com/au/</u> [accessed 2022-01-01]
- 41. Baumel A, Faber K, Mathur N, Kane JM, Muench F. Enlight: a comprehensive quality and therapeutic potential evaluation tool for mobile and web-based eHealth interventions. J Med Internet Res 2017 Mar 21;19(3):e82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7270] [Medline: 28325712]
- 42. Hardesty DM, Bearden WO. The use of expert judges in scale development: implications for improving face validity of measures of unobservable constructs. J Bus Res 2004 Feb;57(2):98-107. [doi: 10.1016/S0148-2963(01)00295-8]
- 43. Lewis C. Using the "thinking-aloud" method in cognitive interface design. IBM Research. 1982. URL: <u>https://dominoweb.</u> <u>draco.res.ibm.com/2513e349e05372cc852574ec0051eea4.html</u> [accessed 2024-02-28]
- 44. IBM SPSS statistics. IBM. URL: https://www.ibm.com/au-en/products/spss-statistics [accessed 2022-06-13]
- 45. Bazeley P. Analysing qualitative data: more than 'identifying themes'. Malays J Qual Res 2009;2(2):6-22.
- 46. Bazeley P, Jackson K. Qualitative Data Analysis with NVivo. London, UK: SAGE Publications; 2019.
- 47. Corbin J, Strauss A. Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2015.
- 48. Corbin J, Strauss A. Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2015.
- 49. Gregory P, Barroca L, Taylor K, Salah D, Sharp H. Agile challenges in practice: a thematic analysis. In: Proceedings of the Agile Processes in Software Engineering and Extreme Programming. 2015 Presented at: XP 2015; May 25-29, 2015; Helsinki, Finland.
- 50. Schnall R, Rojas M, Travers J, Brown W3, Bakken S. Use of design science for informing the development of a mobile app for persons living with HIV. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2014 Nov 14;2014:1037-1045 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25954413]
- 51. Kitto SC, Chesters J, Grbich C. Quality in qualitative research. Med J Aust 2008 Feb 18;188(4):243-246. [doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2008.tb01595.x] [Medline: 18279135]
- 52. Mays N, Pope C. Qualitative research in health care. Assessing quality in qualitative research. BMJ 2000 Jan 01;320(7226):50-52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.320.7226.50] [Medline: 10617534]
- 53. Barbour RS. Checklists for improving rigour in qualitative research: a case of the tail wagging the dog? BMJ 2001 May 05;322(7294):1115-1117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.322.7294.1115] [Medline: 11337448]
- 54. Mathes T, Antoine SL, Pieper D, Eikermann M. Adherence enhancing interventions for oral anticancer agents: a systematic review. Cancer Treat Rev 2014 Feb;40(1):102-108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2013.07.004] [Medline: 23910455]
- Vandermorris A, Sampson L, Korenblum C. Promoting adherence in adolescents and young adults with cancer to optimize outcomes: a developmentally oriented narrative review. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2020 Apr 30;67(4):e28128. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.28128] [Medline: 31886630]
- 56. Unni E, Bae S. Exploring a new theoretical model to explain the behavior of medication adherence. Pharmacy (Basel) 2022 Apr 01;10(2):43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/pharmacy10020043] [Medline: 35448702]
- 57. Harrison JA, Mullen PD, Green LW. A meta-analysis of studies of the Health Belief Model with adults. Health Educ Res 1992;7(1):107-116. [doi: 10.1093/HER/7.1.107]
- 58. Etheridge JC, Sinyard RD, Brindle ME. Chapter 90 implementation research. In: Eltorai AE, Bakal JA, Newell PC, Osband AJ, editors. Translational Surgery: A Volume in Handbook for Designing and Conducting Clinical and Translational Research. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press; 2023.
- 59. Goldkuhl G. Separation or unity? Behavioral science vs. design science. In: Proceedings of the AIS SIGPRAG Pre-ICIS Workshop 2016. 2016 Presented at: AIS SIGPRAG Pre-ICIS Workshop 2016; December 10, 2016; Dublin, Ireland.
- Voorheis P, Zhao A, Kuluski K, Pham Q, Scott T, Sztur P, et al. Integrating behavioral science and design thinking to develop mobile health interventions: systematic scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2022 Mar 16;10(3):e35799 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35799] [Medline: 35293871]

- 61. Yardley L, Spring BJ, Riper H, Morrison LG, Crane DH, Curtis K, et al. Understanding and promoting effective engagement with digital behavior change interventions. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):833-842. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.015] [Medline: 27745683]
- 62. Webb TL, Joseph J, Yardley L, Michie S. Using the internet to promote health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of theoretical basis, use of behavior change techniques, and mode of delivery on efficacy. J Med Internet Res 2010 Feb 17;12(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1376] [Medline: 20164043]
- 63. McCurdie T, Taneva S, Casselman M, Yeung M, McDaniel C, Ho W, et al. mHealth consumer apps: the case for user-centered design. Biomed Instrum Technol 2012;Suppl:49-56. [doi: <u>10.2345/0899-8205-46.s2.49</u>] [Medline: <u>23039777</u>]
- 64. Noorbergen TJ, Adam MT, Teubner T, Collins CE. Using co-design in mobile health system development: a qualitative study with experts in co-design and mobile health system development. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Nov 10;9(11):e27896 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27896] [Medline: 34757323]
- 65. Burke LE, Ma J, Azar KM, Bennett GG, Peterson ED, Zheng Y, et al. Current science on consumer use of mobile health for cardiovascular disease prevention: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2015 Sep 22;132(12):1157-1213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000232] [Medline: 26271892]
- 66. Sanders EB, Stappers PJ. Co-creation and the new landscapes of design. CoDesign 2008 Mar;4(1):5-18. [doi: 10.1080/15710880701875068]
- 67. Eckman M, Gorski I, Mehta K. Leveraging design thinking to build sustainable mobile health systems. J Med Eng Technol 2016;40(7-8):422-430. [doi: 10.1080/03091902.2016.1218560] [Medline: 27535325]
- 68. Noorbergen TJ, Adam MT, Attia JR, Cornforth DJ, Minichiello M. Exploring the design of mHealth systems for health behavior change using mobile biosensors. Commun Assoc Inf Syst 2019;44:944-981. [doi: 10.17705/1CAIS.04444]
- 69. Moller AC, Merchant G, Conroy DE, West R, Hekler E, Kugler KC, et al. Applying and advancing behavior change theories and techniques in the context of a digital health revolution: proposals for more effectively realizing untapped potential. J Behav Med 2017 Feb;40(1):85-98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10865-016-9818-7] [Medline: 28058516]
- 70. Garnett C, Crane D, Michie S, West R, Brown J. Evaluating the effectiveness of a smartphone app to reduce excessive alcohol consumption: protocol for a factorial randomised control trial. BMC Public Health 2016 Jul 08;16(1):536 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3140-8] [Medline: 27392430]
- Heiney SP, Parker PD, Felder TM, Adams SA, Omofuma OO, Hulett JM. A systematic review of interventions to improve adherence to endocrine therapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2019 Feb;173(3):499-510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-018-5012-7] [Medline: 30387003]
- Ali EE, Chan SS, Leow JL, Chew L, Yap KY. User acceptance of an app-based adherence intervention: perspectives from patients taking oral anticancer medications. J Oncol Pharm Pract 2019 Mar;25(2):390-397 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1078155218778106] [Medline: 29792123]

Abbreviations

BCT: behavior change technique BLP: behavioral learning perspective BSR: behavioral science research CML: chronic myeloid leukemia DSR: design science research DSRM: design science research methodology Enlight: Evaluation Tool for Mobile and Web-Based eHealth Interventions HBM: health belief model HCP: health care professional MA: medication adherence SAMSON: Safety and Adherence to Medication and Self-Care Advice in Oncology SDT: self-determination theory

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 04.03.23; peer-reviewed by XF Zhong, J Seitz, E Aigbokhan; comments to author 10.01.24; revised version received 27.01.24; accepted 14.02.24; published 03.04.24.

Please cite as:

Dang TH, Wickramasinghe N, Forkan ARM, Jayaraman PP, Burbury K, O'Callaghan C, Whitechurch A, Schofield P Co-Design, Development, and Evaluation of a Mobile Solution to Improve Medication Adherence in Cancer: Design Science Research Approach JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e46979 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46979 doi:10.2196/46979 PMID:38569178

XSL•FO RenderX

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46979

©Thu Ha Dang, Nilmini Wickramasinghe, Abdur Rahim Mohammad Forkan, Prem Prakash Jayaraman, Kate Burbury, Clare O'Callaghan, Ashley Whitechurch, Penelope Schofield. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 03.04.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Telehealth With Comprehensive Live-Fed Real-World Data as a Patient Care Platform for Lung Cancer: Implementation and Evaluation Study

Di Zheng^{1*}, MD; Yanhong Shang^{2*}, MD; Jian Ni¹, MD; Ling Peng³, MD; Xiaoming Tan⁴, MD; Zhaoxia Dai⁵, MD; Yizhuo Zhao⁶, MD; Aiqin Gu⁶, MD; Jiying Wang¹, MD; Yanyan Song⁷, MD; Xiaofeng Li⁸, MD; Junping Zhang⁹, MD; Wei Heng¹⁰, MD; Cuiying Zhang¹¹, MD; Chunling Liu¹², MD; Hui Li¹¹, MD; Yingying Du¹³, MD; Jianfang Xu¹, MD; Dan Wu¹⁴, MD; Xuwei Cai⁶, MD; Rui Meng¹⁵, MD; Xiaorong Dong¹⁵, MD; Yaoping Ruan^{16,17*}, PhD; Liyan Jiang^{6*}, MD

⁶Department of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, Shanghai Chest Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

⁷Department of Biostatistics, Clinical Research Institute, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

⁸Internal Medicine of Thoracic Oncology, Baotou Tumor Hospital, Baotou, China

- ¹⁰Department of Medicine, Respiratory, Emergency and Intensive Care Medicine, The First Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University, Suzhou, China
 ¹¹Cancer Center, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region People's Hospital, Huhehot, China
- ¹²The Second Ward, Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Xinjiang Medical University Affiliated Tumor Hospital, Urumqi, China

¹⁶College of Mathematics and Computer Science, Zhejiang A&F University, Hangzhou, China

¹⁷Metafame Technologies Inc, Shanghai, China

Corresponding Author:

Liyan Jiang, MD Department of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine Shanghai Chest Hospital Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine No 241 West Huaihai Rd Shanghai, 200030 China Phone: 86 13916146759 Email: jiang_liyan2000@126.com

Abstract

Background: Telehealth has emerged as a popular channel for providing outpatient services in many countries. However, the majority of telehealth systems focus on operational functions and offer only a sectional patient journey at most. Experiences with incorporating longitudinal real-world medical record data into telehealth are valuable but have not been widely shared. The feasibility and usability of such a telehealth platform, with comprehensive, real-world data via a live feed, for cancer patient care are yet to be studied.

¹Department of Medical Oncology, Shanghai Pulmonary Hospital, Tongji University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

²Department of Medical Oncology, Affiliated Hospital of Hebei University, Baoding, China

³Department of Respiratory Disease, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, Affiliated People's Hospital, Hangzhou Medical College, Hangzhou, China ⁴Department of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, Renji Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

⁵Department of Thoracic Medical Oncology II, The Second Hospital of Dalian Medical University, Dalian, China

Department of Thoracic Medical Oncology II, The Second Hospital of Dalian Medical University, Dalian, China

⁹Department of Thoracic Oncology, The Affiliated Bethune Hospital of Shaanxi Medical University, Taiyuan, China

¹³The First Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China

¹⁴Department of Thoracic Surgery, Cixi People's Hospital, Ningbo, China

¹⁵Cancer Center, Union Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Objective: The primary purpose of this study is to understand the feasibility and usability of cancer patient care using a telehealth platform with longitudinal, real-world data via a live feed as a supplement to hospital electronic medical record systems specifically from physician's perspective.

Methods: A telehealth platform was constructed and launched for both physicians and patients. Real-world data were collected and curated using a comprehensive data model. Physician activities on the platform were recorded as system logs and analyzed. In February 2023, a survey was conducted among the platform's registered physicians to assess the specific areas of patient care and to quantify their before and after experiences, including the number of patients managed, time spent, dropout rate, visit rate, and follow-up data. Descriptive and inferential statistical analyses were performed on the data sets.

Results: Over a period of 15 months, 16,035 unique users (13,888 patients, 1539 friends and family members, and 174 physician groups with 608 individuals) registered on the platform. More than 382,000 messages including text, reminders, and pictures were generated by physicians when communicating with patients. The survey was completed by 78 group leaders (45% of the 174 physician groups). Of the participants, 84% (65.6/78; SD 8.7) reported a positive experience, with efficient communication, remote supervision, quicker response to questions, adverse event prevention, more complete follow-up data, patient risk reduction, cross-organization collaboration, and a reduction in in-person visits. The majority of the participants (59/78, 76% to 76/78, 97.4%) estimated improvements in time spent, number of patients managed, the drop-off rate, and access to medical history, with the average ranging from 57% to 105%. When compared with prior platforms, responses from physicians indicated better experiences in terms of time spent, the drop-off rate, and medical history, while the number of patients managed did not significantly change.

Conclusions: This study suggests that a telehealth platform, equipped with comprehensive, real-world data via a live feed, is feasible and effective for cancer patient care. It enhances inpatient management by improving time efficiencies, reducing drop-off rates, and providing easy access to medical history. Moreover, it fosters a positive experience in physician-patient interactions.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e45331) doi:10.2196/45331

KEYWORDS

telehealth; real-world data; patient engagement; lung carcinoma; patient-reported outcomes

Introduction

According to the GLOBOCAN 2020 report, the cancer mortality rate is higher in China than that in developed countries [1]. Lung cancer remains the most common and deadliest type of cancer, with an estimated 0.82 million new cases and 0.72 million deaths in 2020 in China [1]. In contrast to the rapidly declining mortality rate for lung cancer in high-income countries between 2000 and 2012 [2], the trend in the lung cancer mortality rate was stable in China from 2000 to 2016 [3]. Despite favorable survival outcome data for Chinese patients in international randomized clinical trials, these data do not reflect the real-world situation for the general population. The less-than-optimal progress in cancer control, especially in terms of the mortality rate, may be attributed to health care disparities between different regions, particularly urban and rural areas [4,5]. Clinical trial data from inadequately represented cancer patient populations could be complemented with real-world evidence to better inform health care practice and policy decisions [6].

The rapid development and adoption of new treatment regimens have made posttreatment care a critical factor in extending the cancer survival rate and improving patients' quality of life [7]. Concurrently, telehealth has quickly become a major care delivery mechanism in recent years, a trend accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic. One ongoing effort to sustain and scale digital health involves enabling data sharing and integration across different health systems [8]. Consequently, most telehealth systems today rely on point-in-time medical records that do not contain historical records nor data from other institutes. To overcome this data barrier, the platform implemented in this study has the capability to acquire medical records directly from patients.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e45331

Though there are perceivable benefits to having comprehensive medical records for telehealth, enabling comprehensive and longitudinal data for each patient involves tremendous effort. Such data are also critical for deriving conclusive real-world evidence [9]. Data acquisition must be inclusive, especially of vital signs related to the patient's daily health status throughout the entire treatment period, in addition to diagnosis and treatment information [10]. Although this is currently achievable with the adoption of wearables and mobile devices, there are still tremendous challenges in longitudinally compiling patients' journeys as there are no unified nationwide platforms that can consolidate all relevant data from all health care institutions in China [11,12]. The ever-increasing mobility of patients across the country has exacerbated the issue of data segmentation. Presumably, due to the recent improvement in annual income per household and the deployment of interstate health care systems, many patients opt for top-tier hospitals regardless of the travel distance from their home. It is quite common for one patient to receive treatment from different hospitals at various stages, while the hospital systems remain disconnected. The lack of longitudinal data from such fragmented health services may also contribute to subpar care and survival outcomes [13,14].

The distinct feature of telehealth, in which this study is interested, is its use as an adjunct to traditional physical visits and face-to-face consultations, particularly for posttreatment care and continuity of care from a physician's perspective. Much of the research on telehealth usage has been focused on patients as the user population. Williams and Shang [15] examined telehealth use among a low-income, minority population in the United States and found the use of telehealth varies based on race, employment status, identified gender, education level, and

age. Acoba et al [16] studied racial disparities in cancer patients during telehealth visits and confirmed that satisfaction with the visit is different between races. Turner et al [17] evaluated the experiences of health care providers and professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic and concluded the need for implementation strategies and necessary policies. Specifically for cancer patients, teledermatology has emerged as a popular mechanism [18]. In a cross-sectional study, Lama et al [19] found that more than one-half of cancer survivors use the internet or telehealth to access providers.

One of the specific aspects being assessed is follow-up, a unique challenge for cancer care in China, primarily due to the substantial patient-to-physician ratio [20]. Follow-ups using patient-reported outcomes (PROs) can improve the overall survival rate due to early relapse detection and better performance status at relapse. A study published in 2017 found that patients who reported their symptoms via an online tool survived 7 months longer than those who received usual care through regular screenings [21]. A previous meta-analysis of 21 studies also demonstrated that the reporting of PROs, including quality of life and disease symptoms, were significantly associated with tumor response to anticancer therapies such as chemotherapy, targeted therapy, and radiotherapy [22].

The platform used in this study, named WeDoc, is cloud-based and currently focuses on lung cancer. It consists of a mobile app for physicians, a WeChat mini-program for patients, and a cloud-based data and analytical component serving as the back end. The platform contains comprehensive, longitudinal medical records sourced from all relevant hospitals and supplemented with third-party test results, PROs, follow-up data, and more. The underlying data model is highly customizable to individual physicians' needs and contains curated fields commonly used for cancer clinical research.

Methods

Overview

A cloud-based telehealth platform was built and launched for licensed oncologists and their patients. Patient medical records were collected and curated into a proprietary lung cancer data model. Physician and patient activities are recorded on the platform. A survey containing qualitative and quantitative questions was conducted 20 months after launch. Descriptive statistics and regression analysis were conducted on the survey data.

Analysis was conducted on 2 sets of data: activities recorded on the platform and results from a usage survey. Both sets of data were gathered from the perspective of physicians, as the goal in the first stage of this platform is to function as an assistant for physicians.

Platform Implementation and Recording of User Activity

The back end of the platform features a data processing pipeline; data and process management interfaces; and cloud repositories for raw, curated, and research data. Original data are deidentified, masking all personal details. These data are then abstracted and reviewed by trained personnel, and the abstracted data are consolidated, checked for quality, and committed to the real-world data repository.

Patients are invited to the platform by their oncologists and can form a user group with family members or friends. Oncologists can invite physicians and caregivers to create a treatment group, facilitating remote collaboration and simplifying hospital transfers. Patient reminders, assessments, and symptom feedback are gathered, and any potential adverse events are escalated to the primary oncologist.

The system's data model incorporates the schema of electronic medical records, patient outcome reports, and periodic progression assessments by physicians, with a primary focus on lung cancer data. Data abstraction and data quality assurance involve both manual processes and regularly executed algorithms.

Survey Design and Questionnaire

The platform records the number of registered users and their activities. In March 2023, about 20 months after launch, an online usage survey was carried out using a WeChat survey mini-program. The program was pushed to all registered users as a study advertisement. The survey consisted of both qualitative and quantitative questions. Instead of individual physicians, each treatment group leader was asked to compile the group's experience and provide responses. This approach was taken because the group leader dictates the use of the platform, and each group member may only utilize a subset of its functions.

The survey questions were designed to evaluate physicians' patient care experiences using the platform. This includes basic functions and follow-up, their estimation of promptness in answering patient questions, patient risk reduction, cross-organization collaboration, and handling out-of-town patients. Quantitative questions asked for the number of both outpatients and inpatients managed, reduction in the number of physical visits, patient drop-off rates, and time spent collecting medical history during each visit. All identifiable information about participants was removed, and each individual was assigned a unique participant ID.


T

Table 1. Survey question categories, descriptions, and answer options.				
Question category and description	Answer options			
Patient care functions				
A1: (Efficient communication) The platform serves as a communication channel for physicians to provide online notification of important matters.	Single-choice selection of binary options (agree or disagree) for each statement as a checkbox selection			
A2: (Remote supervision) The platform enables physicians to provide continuous supervision and remote interaction.	Single-choice selection of binary options (agree or disagree) for each statement as a checkbox selection			
A3: (Medical history retrieval) The platform offers patients' medical history and communication records for physicians to review.	Single-choice selection of binary options (agree or disagree) for each statement as a checkbox selection			
A4: (Patient administrative processes) The platform helps hospital appoint- ment scheduling for both outpatient and inpatient procedures.	Single-choice selection of binary options (agree or disagree) for each statement as a checkbox selection			
A5: (Response to patient question on time) The platform enables physicians to promptly answer patients' questions without in-person visits.	Single-choice selection of binary options (agree or disagree) for each statement as a checkbox selection			
A6: (Adverse event prevention) The platform enables physicians to timely capture potential adverse reactions from patient feedback.	Single-choice selection of binary options (agree or disagree) for each statement as a checkbox selection			
Follow-up				
B1: (Treatment status availability) Before: It was hard to acquire patient status. After: Patient status is easy to gather from the platform.	Single-choice selection of binary options (agree or disagree) for each statement as a checkbox selection			
B2: (Survival status availability) Before: It was hard to acquire survival status. After: Survival status is provided on the platform.	Single-choice selection of binary options (agree or disagree) for each statement as a checkbox selection			
B3: (Data comprehensiveness) Before: Records were incomplete. After: Multidimensional, comprehensive data are available on the platform.	Single-choice selection of binary options (agree or disagree) for each statement as a checkbox selection			
B4: No differences between before and after using the platform.	Single-choice selection of binary options (agree or disagree) for each statement as a checkbox selection			
Response promptness				
C: With the platform, are you able to respond to patient inquiries quicker than before?	Single-choice selection of 3 options (yes, no, or unknown) for each question as a radio button selection			
Patient risk reduction				
D: After using the platform, do you feel that your patients have a lower risk of adverse reactions?	Single-choice selection of 3 options (yes, no, or unknown) for each question as a radio button selection			
Cross-organization collaboration				
E: Have you established collaborations across different departments, hospitals, or even regions through the platform?	Single-choice selection of 3 options (yes, no, or unknown) for each question as a radio button selection			
Management of remote patients				
F: Is managing out-of-town patients more convenient for you by using the platform?	Single-choice selection of 3 options (yes, no, or unknown) for each question as a radio button selection			
More patients managed per unit time				
G: With the platform, how many more patients can you manage within the same amount of time?	Single-choice selection of 5 quantitative ranges: 10%-20%, 20%-50%, 50%-100%, >100%, 0%			
In-person visits saved				
H: After using the platform, what is your estimation of the average number of in-person visits reduced per patient per year?	Single-choice selection of 5 quantitative ranges: 1-3, 4-6, 7-10, >11, 0			
Prior telehealth experience				
I: Before using WeDoc, did you use any other telehealth platforms for patient management?	Single-choice selection of yes or no			
Patient management specifics				
How many minutes per day do you spend managing patients?				
J1: Before	Quantitative values entered by participants			
J2: After	Quantitative values entered by participants			
What is the total number of patients you manage?				

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e45331

XSL•FO **RenderX**

Question category and description	Answer options
K1: Before	Quantitative values entered by participants
K2: After	Quantitative values entered by participants
Outpatient management	
How many outpatient visits in total do your lung cancer patients have	per month?
L1: Before	Quantitative values entered by participants
L2: After	Quantitative values entered by participants
What percentage of your lung cancer patients are likely to miss their o	outpatient visits each month?
M1: Before	Quantitative values entered by participants
M2: After	Quantitative values entered by participants
Inpatient management	
How many lung cancer patients do you see for inpatient treatment per	r month?
N1: Before	Quantitative values entered by participants
N2: After	Quantitative values entered by participants
What percentage of your inpatients discontinue their treatment each	month?
O1: Before	Quantitative values entered by participants
O2 – After	Quantitative values entered by participants
Medical history collection	
How many minutes do you spend collecting the medical history in eac	h patient visit?
P1: Before	Quantitative values entered by participants
P2: After	Quantitative values entered by participants

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics and regression analysis were conducted using the Python program. For descriptive analysis, we calculated the means, medians, standard deviations, and ranges. For quantitative questions regarding usage before and after, we used the Shapiro-Wilk test to assess the normal distribution of the data. Subsequently, we used the Wilcoxon rank sum test to evaluate the significance of the data sets. We used G*Power [23] to analyze the difference between 2 dependent means (matched pairs), setting the alpha at .05, beta at .2, and dz at 0.5. Assuming a medium-level difference between the before and after groups, a sample size of 27 was considered sufficient for the tests.

Ethical Considerations

This study was reviewed and approved by Yinchuan Ningfei Internet Hospital (approval number HLWYJ-2022-016). Participants were not compensated for their participation.

Results

Activities Recorded on the Platform

Over a period of 15 months, 608 physicians from 153 hospitals registered on the platform. The hospitals were from 21 of the 34 total provinces in China. Of the physicians, 92.8% (142/153) were from hospitals rated as Grade III, Level A, which is the highest rating according to the latest statistics [24] (Table 2). From a departmental perspective, 46.3% (125/270) of the physicians were from the oncology department, 41.9% (113/270) were from the department of respiratory and critical care medicine, and 11.9% (32/270) were from other departments.



Table 2. Physician and patient profiles registered in the system, including the numbers of hospitals, departments, physicians, treatment groups, and patients.

Characteristics	Results
Hospitals (n=153), n (%)	
Grade III, Level A	142 (92.8)
Others	11 (7.2)
Departments (n=270), n (%)	
Oncology	125 (46.3)
Respiratory and critical care medicine	113 (41.9)
Others	32 (11.9)
Physicians (n=608), n (%)	
Treatment group leader	174 (28.6)
Treatment groups, n	211
Patients and family members, n	15,427
Patients (n=13,888), n (%)	
Nonresident patients	7826 (56.3)

One of the platform's features for physicians is creating treatment groups by including other physicians. Among the 608 physicians, 174 have one or more groups. There are a total of 211 groups, with most physicians managing between 1 and 3 groups. A patient may be part of multiple groups, depending on the group's purpose and treatment stage. For instance, a patient undergoing inpatient chemotherapy might initially be in a group with a radiologist in the hospital but later transferred to a follow-up group consisting only of the lead oncologist and the follow-up assistant. Table 2 describes the profiles of physicians and treatment groups.

In addition to physicians and caregivers, there are 15,427 patients and family members on the platform. Within that user group, 9.98% (1539/15,427) are family members or friends.

Table 3 demonstrates the message types and quantities of physician-patient communication from the system activity logs. More than 382,000 messages including text messages, reminders, and pictures were recorded during the study period. Text was the most commonly used message type. Pictures and voice messages were used significantly less often than text messages. Reminders, patient education materials, team messages, and scaled assessments were usually initiated by physicians for different purposes.

 Table 3. Activity log of the message types and quantities between physician-patient communication.

Message type	Typical usage	Message count, n
Text	Chats between patients and physicians	222,012
Reminder	Appointments and preparation items for appointments	66,985
Picture	Pictures in chat with patients	32,548
Patient education	General patient education through formats such as articles, videos, and URLs	27,538
Team message	Messages between physicians within the same group	19,779
Scaled assessment	Patient self-assessment of various aspects	8005
Voice	Voice messages for patients	5884

Survey Questionnaire Responses

Participant Characteristics

A total of 78 group leaders participated in the survey, representing 44.8% (78/174) of the treatment groups. All the

groups were associated with Group III, Level A hospitals. Participant characteristics including city locations, gender distribution, departments, age groups, and prior experience with telehealth platforms are summarized in Table 4.

RenderX

Table 4. Profiles of participants in the survey questionnaire (N=78).

Characteristics	Results, n (%)
City location	
Beijing, Shanghai, or Guangzhou	33 (42)
Others	45 (58)
Gender	
Female	36 (46)
Male	42 (54)
Departments	
Oncology	46 (59)
Respiratory	26 (33)
Others	6 (8)
Age group (years)	
20-30	4 (5)
30-40	15 (19)
40-50	33 (42)
50-60	24 (31)
>60	2 (3)
Prior telehealth usage	
No	25 (32)
Yes	53 (68)

Qualitative Question Results

For questions A1 to F, which included the topics of communication efficiency, remote supervision, question response times, adverse event prevention, follow-up data completeness, patient risk reduction, cross-organization collaboration, and remote patient management, participants provided qualitative answers to each question. The results are shown in Table 5. A positive answer indicates agreement with the statement or yes to the question. A negative answer indicates

disagreement with the statement or no to the question. Most of the questions received positive answers except for the topic of cross-organization collaboration, which had nearly neutral feedback: 54% positive versus 46% negative. The questions of treatment status availability (B1), survival status availability (B2), and data comprehensiveness (B3) contain both before and after statements. A negative answer may indicate that the participant only disagrees with part of the statement. Therefore, the final results of these questions indicated less favorable evaluations of the WeDoc tool.



Table 5. Results of the qualitative survey questions (N=78).

Tuble et Results of the quantitative survey questions (14-70).	
Question description	Survey results, n (%)
A1: Efficient communication	
Positive	76 (97)
Negative	2 (3)
A2: Remote supervision	
Positive	73 (94)
Negative	5 (6)
A3: Medical history retrieval	
Positive	69 (89)
Negative	9 (12)
A4: Patient administrative processes	
Positive	58 (74)
Negative	20 (26)
A5: Respond to patient questions on time	
Positive	69 (89)
Negative	9 (12)
A6: Adverse event prevention	
Positive	67 (86)
Negative	11 (14)
B1: Treatment status availability	
Positive	68 (87)
Negative	10 (13)
B2: Survival status availability	
Positive	58 (74)
Negative	20 (26)
B3: Data comprehensiveness	
Positive	68 (87)
Negative	10 (13)
B4: No difference	
Positive	8 (10)
Negative	70 (90)
C: Response promptness	
Positive	70 (90)
Negative	8 (10)
D: Patient risk reduction	- \ 7
Positive	70 (90)
Negative	8 (10)
E: Cross-organization collaboration	
Positive	42 (54)
Negative	36 (46)
F: Management of remote nation to	50 (07)
P. management of remote patients	78 (100)
	/o (100)
negative	U

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e45331

XSL•FO RenderX

Question description	Survey results, n (%)
I: Prior telehealth experience	
Positive	53 (68)
Negative	25 (32)
G: Additional patients managed per unit time	
0%	6 (8)
10%-20%	20 (26)
20%-50%	28 (36)
50%-100%	7 (9)
>100%	17 (22)
H: In-person visits saved per year	
0	6 (8)
1-3	12 (15)
4-6	30 (39)
7-10	21 (27)
>11	9 (12)

On the question of the number of patients managed using the tool, 36% (28/78) of the participants estimated that they were able to see 20%-50% more patients with the same amount of time spent. However, 6 of the participants estimated a 0% increase. Similarly, on the question regarding the number of in-person patient visits reduced, 39% (30/78) estimated 4 to 6 visits saved per year, and 6 respondents did not see a reduction.

Among the 78 participants, 53 (68%) had prior telehealth usage experience, while it was the first time using a telehealth tool for the rest of the group. We divided the participants into 2 groups, with and without telehealth usage experience, for some of the additional analyses.

Quantitative Question Results

For questions J to P, participants were asked to provide quantitative values for their experiences both before and after using the tool. Table 6 summarizes the values for each question. The "Unknown" category indicates null values in the survey, and these responses were omitted in the analysis. The highest number of unknown answers we received was for the question about the number of patients managed before using the tool. We used G*Power analysis for the remaining nonnull before-and-after pairs to ensure that there was a sufficient sample for analysis. With an assumption of medium differences between the before and after groups, at least 27 samples had to be present in the group.

Table 6. Results for the quantitative survey questions (N=78).

Question description Unknown re- sponses, n (%)		Valid responses				
	Minimum- maximum	Median	Mean (SD)	Mean improve- ment, %	P value for the before-after comparison ^a	
Time spent managing	patients (minu	ites)	-			<.001
J1: Before	18 (23)	10-180	30	50.5 (45.1)	N/A ^b	
J2: After	10 (13)	3-120	20	25.5 (22.7)	88	
Number of patients m	anaged					.01
K1: Before	20 (26)	0-800	40	105.7 (177.4)	N/A	
K2: After	13 (17)	1-1606	100	324.3 (428.8)	63	
Monthly number of o	utpatient lung	cancer patien	ts			.66
L1: Before	8 (10)	0-2000	85	221.8 (352.2)	N/A	
L2: After	8 (10)	0-2000	80	237.1 (369.6)	c	
Outpatient drop-off r	ate (%)					<.001
M1: Before	11 (14)	0-80	25	26.8 (21.1)	N/A	
M2: After	11 (14)	0-50	10	13.1 (11.4)	105	
Monthly number of lu	ing cancer inpa	atients				.59
N1: Before	2 (3)	0-350	60	110.1 (93.5)	N/A	
N2: After	2 (3)	0-350	70	116.2 (94.8)	—	
Inpatient drop-off rat	te (%)					<.001
O1: Before	5 (6)	0-50	10	14.9 (12.1)	N/A	
O2: After	5 (6)	0-100	5	9.2 (16.2)	62	
Time collecting medic	cal history (min	utes)				<.001
P1: Before	5 (6)	2-180	10	14.0 (28.8)	N/A	

8.8 (19.2)

57

^aAssessed using Wilcoxon tests.

3(4)

1-120

3

^bN/A: not applicable.

P2: After

^cNo improvement.

To better understand the differences between the before and after results, we used the Shapiro algorithm to test whether the values fell within a normal distribution. For normally distributed data series, a *t* test can be used to compare the pairs. Otherwise, the Wilcoxon test is a more suitable method. Since the *P* values of the Shapiro test were all <.001, which is much lower than the common hypothesis threshold of .05, we concluded that none of the pairs were normally distributed. Therefore, Wilcoxon tests were performed on the before-and-after pair data (Table 6). The Wilcoxon results suggest that there were 2 questions that were not significantly different between before and after the platform: the monthly number of outpatients admitted and the monthly number of inpatients admitted. This result is quite explainable, as the telehealth tool itself is not aimed at recruiting new patients; therefore, the monthly numbers

of patients remained nearly the same. For the topics that had significant changes, we calculated the improvements based on the mean values collected in the survey, which are also shown in Table 6.

Although the survey was not specifically designed to compare the group with prior telehealth platform experience with the group without prior experience, we discovered that 68% (53/78) of the participants had used telehealth tools before. In order to understand the experience by group, we carried out a Wilcoxon test to compare the responses before and after (Table 7). The numbers of monthly admitted outpatient and inpatient lung cancer patients still did not change significantly. However, there was also no significant change in the number of patients managed, suggesting that physicians may not manage more patients using WeDoc than with other telehealth platforms.

RenderX

Table 7. Results for the quantitative survey questions for those who had prior telehealth platform experience (n=53).

Question description	Unknown re- sponses, n (%)	Valid respon	ses			
		Minimum- maximum	Median	Mean (SD)	Mean improve- ment, %	<i>P</i> value for the before-after comparison ^a
Time spent managing	patients (minu	tes)				<.001
J1: Before	5 (9)	10-180	30	50.7 (46.8)	N/A ^b	
J2: After	5 (9)	3-120	20	28.6 (25.2)	77	
Number of patients m	anaged					.06
K1: Before	11 (21)	1-800	40	125.8 (199.5)	N/A	
K2: After	6 (11)	1-1200	100	322.3 (403.4)	c	
Monthly number of o	utpatient lung	cancer patien	ts			.75
L1: Before	4 (8)	0-2000	60	214.7 (388.9)	N/A	
L2: After	4 (8)	0-2000	60	225.6 (407.9)	—	
Outpatient drop-off r	ate (%)					<.001
M1: Before	7 (13)	0-80	30	28.2 (22.7)	N/A	
M2: After	7 (13)	0-50	10	13.9 (12.1)	102	
Monthly number of lu	ıng cancer inpa	itients				.65
N1: Before	0	0-350	60	109.6 (100.0)	N/A	
N2: After	0	0-350	60	113.8 (98.4)	—	
Inpatient drop-off rat	e (%)					<.001
O1: Before	3 (6)	0-50	10	14.7 (13.3)	N/A	
O2: After	3 (6)	0-12	5	5.7 (4.1)	159	
Time collecting medic	al history (min	utes)				<.001
P1: Before	3 (6)	2-180	8	15.3 (34.1)	N/A	
P2: After	3 (6)	1-120	3	9.3 (22.8)	63	

^aAssessed using Wilcoxon tests.

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cNo improvement.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Specific Feedback About the Platform

Results from activity logs and survey responses demonstrate the feasibility of cancer patient care using telehealth with a live-transmitted real-world database. Specifically, 84% (65.6/78, SD 8.7) of participants responded positively to questions A1 through F. The lowest scores were for patient administrative processes and survival status. Patient administrative processes in China are complex and not the primary focus of this platform, while obtaining updated survival status during follow-up is clearly an area for improvement. Another area that did not stand out was cross-organization collaboration, presumably due to the deployment of other specialized platforms such as Multidisciplinary Team, which is popular in China. Of the participants, 92% believed that they could manage more patients with the same amount of time, and an equal number of physicians agreed that the platform saves at least one or more instances of in-person visits.

Our analysis of the before and after experiences of the same population showed that 5 of the 7 categories were significantly different after use of the platform, as determined using the Wilcoxon signed rank test. The 2 categories that were not significantly different were the monthly numbers of outpatient and inpatient admissions. These 2 factors are unaffected by the use of any patient management tool; thus, they are indeed irrelevant to our telehealth platform.

Perceptions of Those With Prior Telehealth Usage

Given that 68% of the participants had prior experience with telehealth platforms, analyzing this population alone yielded similar results, except that the number of patients managed did not meet our significance value assumption of .05. This implies that, although managing more patients is a benefit of telehealth platforms, it may not be unique to ours. The strengths of a telehealth platform with real-world data are manifested in the



categories of time efficiency, drop-off rates, and access to patients' medical histories.

Remote Patient Management

The adoption of remote patient management was evident in the patient profiles, which showed that more than one-half of patients, about 56.3%, were nonresidents; 941 patients had transferred from one hospital to another, and almost 1500 patients had prior diagnoses or treatments from hospitals other than their current hospital. Taking hospitals in Shanghai as an example, the platform showed that about 35% of patients were from cities other than Shanghai. Although more than one-half of the patients were from adjacent provinces such as Jiangsu and Zhejiang, some travel thousands of miles from places like Heilongjiang, Sichuan, and Liaoning. Because of the unbalanced health care situation in China, it is quite common for patients to be diagnosed in one hospital and receive treatments at another. Despite significant improvements over the past few decades, the best oncologists and medical facilities are still heavily concentrated in top cities.

Text as the Dominant Message Type

The activity log indicated that text was the most commonly used message type to communicate with patients. The use of pictures and voices messages was significantly lower than that of text. Reminders were also quite popular, followed by educational materials. The preliminary analysis did not reveal significant differences in usage patterns among physicians, so we did not present usage data by physician profile.

Security and Privacy

With the adoption of the Personal Information Protection Law (PIPL) [25] in China on November 01, 2021, all systems handling data from Chinese citizens must be compliant with the law. This law is widely seen as China's equivalent of the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) [26]. The system in question acts as both a data handler and data processor. It controls the scope of data usage based on the level of consent obtained from users, making user consent a mandatory prerequisite for successful user registration. By separating raw data and identifiers from curated, deidentified

data, the system ensures the proper implementation of data protection policies.

From an operational perspective, privacy protection remains one of the most significant challenges in building such a platform. The challenge is less technical, as there are rich sets of mechanisms available, such as data anonymization, encryption, access control, and audit. The main challenge comes from the perceptions and cooperation of patients. Ideally, patients and their relatives should also have access to real-world data, enabling them to participate in treatment decisions. Apart from patient perceptions, potential malpractice concerns also hinder data sharing, preventing people from gaining strategic insights. Health care policymakers and scientific researchers need to collaborate with data analysts to promote a proper data sharing process.

Limitations

Although this study is based on a live system with real-world data and experiences, the findings remain preliminary. At present, the platform only provides services to the lung cancer population, and the results of this study are derived from physicians from a subset of the treatment paradigm. Although the user base of the platform encompasses both physicians and patients, future research involving a broader population, including more physicians and direct patient experiences, may yield new, insightful findings. It would also be interesting to expand to other diseases. Given the large quantity of chat messages accumulated on the platform, a detailed examination of these messages paired with language processing models would be a fascinating next step.

Conclusion

This study demonstrates the feasibility of using telehealth for patient management. As the focus of cancer treatment shifts toward patient care, telehealth in the form of mobile apps, web-based interfaces, or other formats will play an increasingly critical role in enabling physicians to maintain close contact with patients, regardless of physical location. We advocate for the integration of telehealth with comprehensive real-world medical record data, so that such a platform can provide patient management capabilities. This could eventually lead to improved quality of life and survival rates of cancer patients.

Data Availability

The data sets analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

DZ, YS, YR, and LJ contributed to the conception and design of the study. JN, LP, XT, ZD, YZ, AG, JW, XL, and JZ refined the research questions and provided feedback on the study design. WH, CZ, CL, HL, YD, JX, DW, XC, RM, and XD assisted with platform function review, usability testing, and participant recruitment. YS and SL designed the survey questions and analyzed the data. DZ, LP, XT, YD, XD, YR, and LJ drafted the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

YR and SL are co-founders of Metafame Technologies Inc, which developed the system. However, the system is not marketed as a paid service.



References

- Cao W, Chen HD, Yu YW, Li N, Chen WQ. Changing profiles of cancer burden worldwide and in China: a secondary analysis of the global cancer statistics 2020. Chin Med J (Engl) 2021 Mar 17;134(7):783-791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CM9.00000000001474] [Medline: <u>33734139</u>]
- 2. Feng R, Zong Y, Cao S, Xu R. Current cancer situation in China: good or bad news from the 2018 Global Cancer Statistics? Cancer Commun (Lond) 2019 Apr 29;39(1):22-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40880-019-0368-6] [Medline: 31030667]
- Chen W, Zheng R, Baade PD, Zhang S, Zeng H, Bray F, et al. Cancer statistics in China, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin 2016;66(2):115-132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21338] [Medline: 26808342]
- 4. Wang Q, Jiao J. Health disparity and cancer health disparity in China. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs 2016 Oct;3(4):335-343 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2347-5625.195899] [Medline: 28083550]
- Leng A, Jing J, Nicholas S, Wang J. Geographical disparities in treatment and health care costs for end-of-life cancer patients in China: a retrospective study. BMC Cancer 2019 Jan 08;19(1):39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-5237-1] [Medline: 30621633]
- 6. Yuen C, Bergamasco A, Moride Y. Mapping of existing data sources for the conduct of real-world studies on lung cancer in China. Value in Health 2016 Nov;19(7):A851. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jval.2016.08.471</u>]
- Jacobs LA, Shulman LN. Follow-up care of cancer survivors: challenges and solutions. The Lancet Oncology 2017 Jan;18(1):e19-e29. [doi: <u>10.1016/s1470-2045(16)30386-2</u>]
- Burbury K, Wong Z, Yip D, Thomas H, Brooks P, Gilham L, et al. Telehealth in cancer care: during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic. Intern Med J 2021 Jan 11;51(1):125-133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/imj.15039] [Medline: 33572014]
- 9. Schurman B. The Framework for FDA's Real-World Evidence Program. Applied Clinical Trials. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.appliedclinicaltrialsonline.com/view/framework-fda-s-real-world-evidence-program-1</u> [accessed 2023-12-21]
- 10. Xin S. Real-world data and real-world evidence. In: Zhang W, Yan F, Chen F, Chow SC, editors. Advanced Statistics in Regulatory Critical Clinical Initiatives. Boca Raton, FL: Chapman & Hall; 2022:105-132.
- Zhong J, Zhang J, Fang H, Liu L, Xie J, Wu E. Advancing the development of real-world data for healthcare research in China: challenges and opportunities. BMJ Open 2022 Jul 29;12(7):e063139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-063139] [Medline: 35906059]
- 12. Jin F, Yao C, Yan X, Dong C, Lai J, Li L, et al. Gap between real-world data and clinical research within hospitals in China: a qualitative study. BMJ Open 2020 Dec 29;10(12):e038375 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-038375] [Medline: 33376160]
- Sun X, Tan J, Tang L, Guo JJ, Li X. Real world evidence: experience and lessons from China. BMJ 2018 Feb 05;360:j5262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.j5262] [Medline: 29437644]
- 14. Neal RD, Tharmanathan P, France B, Din NU, Cotton S, Fallon-Ferguson J, et al. Is increased time to diagnosis and treatment in symptomatic cancer associated with poorer outcomes? Systematic review. Br J Cancer 2015 Mar 31;112 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S92-107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2015.48] [Medline: 25734382]
- Williams C, Shang D. Telehealth usage among low-income racial and ethnic minority populations during the COVID-19 pandemic: retrospective observational study. J Med Internet Res 2023 May 12;25:e43604 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/43604] [Medline: 37171848]
- 16. Acoba JD, Yin C, Meno M, Abe J, Pagano I, Tamashiro S, et al. Racial disparities in patient-provider communication during telehealth visits versus face-to-face visits among Asian and Native Hawaiian and other Pacific Islander patients with cancer: cross-sectional analysis. JMIR Cancer 2022 Dec 09;8(4):e37272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/37272] [Medline: 36485021]
- 17. Turner K, Bobonis Babilonia M, Naso C, Nguyen O, Gonzalez BD, Oswald LB, et al. Health care providers' and professionals' experiences with telehealth oncology implementation during the COVID-19 pandemic: a qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2022 Jan 19;24(1):e29635 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/29635] [Medline: 34907900]
- Jones LK, Oakley A. Store-and-forward teledermatology for assessing skin cancer in 2023: literature review. JMIR Dermatol 2023 May 17;6:e43395 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/43395] [Medline: 37632914]
- Lama Y, Davidoff AJ, Vanderpool RC, Jensen RE. Telehealth availability and use of related technologies among Medicare-enrolled cancer survivors: cross-sectional findings from the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. J Med Internet Res 2022 Jan 25;24(1):e34616 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34616] [Medline: 34978531]
- Ma S, Huang Y, Yang Y, Ma Y, Zhou T, Zhao H, et al. Prevalence of burnout and career satisfaction among oncologists in China: a national survey. Oncologist 2019 Jul;24(7):e480-e489 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2018-0249] [Medline: 30568022]
- Denis F, Lethrosne C, Pourel N, Molinier O, Pointreau Y, Domont J, et al. Randomized trial comparing a web-mediated follow-up with routine surveillance in lung cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst 2017 Sep 01;109(9):1. [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djx029] [Medline: 28423407]
- 22. Victorson D, Soni M, Cella D. Metaanalysis of the correlation between radiographic tumor response and patient-reported outcomes. Cancer 2006 Feb 01;106(3):494-504 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.21637] [Medline: 16353212]
- 23. G*Power. Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf. URL: http://www.gpower.hhu.de/ [accessed 2023-05-16]

- 24. China Statistical Yearbook 2018. National Bureau of Statistics of China. URL: <u>https://www.stats.gov.cn/sj/ndsj/2018/</u> indexeh.htm [accessed 2023-12-21]
- 25. Wu F, Wang L, Zhou C. Lung cancer in China: current and prospect. Curr Opin Oncol 2021 Jan;33(1):40-46. [doi: 10.1097/CCO.000000000000703] [Medline: <u>33165004</u>]
- 26. Albrecht D. Chinese first personal information protection law in contrast to the European GDPR. Computer Law Review International 2022:1. [doi: 10.9785/cri-2022-230102]

Abbreviations

GDPR: General Data Protection Regulation **PIPL:** Personal Information Protection Law **PRO:** patient-reported outcome

Edited by G Eysenbach, T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 28.12.22; peer-reviewed by HJ Kim, R Boumans; comments to author 01.02.23; revised version received 18.05.23; accepted 05.12.23; published 05.06.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Zheng D, Shang Y, Ni J, Peng L, Tan X, Dai Z, Zhao Y, Gu A, Wang J, Song Y, Li X, Zhang J, Heng W, Zhang C, Liu C, Li H, Du Y, Xu J, Wu D, Cai X, Meng R, Dong X, Ruan Y, Jiang L Telehealth With Comprehensive Live-Fed Real-World Data as a Patient Care Platform for Lung Cancer: Implementation and Evaluation Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e45331 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e45331 doi:10.2196/45331 PMID:38838304

©Di Zheng, Yanhong Shang, Jian Ni, Ling Peng, Xiaoming Tan, Zhaoxia Dai, Yizhuo Zhao, Aiqin Gu, Jiying Wang, Yanyan Song, Xiaofeng Li, Junping Zhang, Wei Heng, Cuiying Zhang, Chunling Liu, Hui Li, Yingying Du, Jianfang Xu, Dan Wu, Xuwei Cai, Rui Meng, Xiaorong Dong, Yaoping Ruan, Liyan Jiang. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 05.06.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Applying the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology to Identify Factors Associated With Intention to Use Teledelivered Supportive Care Among Recently Diagnosed Breast Cancer Survivors During COVID-19 in Hong Kong: Cross-Sectional Survey

Nelson C Y Yeung¹, BSocSci, MPhil, PhD; Stephanie T Y Lau¹, BSocSci; Winnie W S Mak², PhD; Cecilia Cheng³, BSocSci, PhD; Emily Y Y Chan¹, BS, MBBS, SM PIH, MD; Judy Y M Siu⁴, BSocSci, MPhil, PhD; Polly S Y Cheung⁵, MBBS

¹JC School of Public Health and Primary Care, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China (Hong Kong)

⁵Hong Kong Breast Cancer Foundation, Hong Kong, China (Hong Kong)

Corresponding Author:

Nelson C Y Yeung, BSocSci, MPhil, PhD JC School of Public Health and Primary Care The Chinese University of Hong Kong Room 508, Postgraduate Education Centre Prince of Wales Hospital Hong Kong China (Hong Kong) Phone: 852 22528740 Email: nelsonyeung@cuhk.edu.hk

Abstract

Background: Many supportive cancer care (SCC) services were teledelivered during COVID-19, but what facilitates patients' intentions to use teledelivered SCC is unknown.

Objective: The study aimed to use the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology to investigate the factors associated with the intentions of breast cancer survivors (BCS) in Hong Kong to use various types of teledelivered SCC (including psychosocial care, medical consultation, complementary care, peer support groups). Favorable telehealth-related perceptions (higher performance expectancy, lower effort expectancy, more facilitating conditions, positive social influences), less technological anxiety, and greater fear of COVID-19 were hypothesized to be associated with higher intentions to use teledelivered SCC. Moreover, the associations between telehealth-related perceptions and intentions to use teledelivered SCC were hypothesized to be moderated by education level, such that associations between telehealth-related perceptions and intentions to use teledelivered SCC would be stronger among those with a higher education level.

Methods: A sample of 209 (209/287, 72.8% completion rate) women diagnosed with breast cancer since the start of the COVID-19 outbreak in Hong Kong (ie, January 2020) were recruited from the Hong Kong Breast Cancer Registry to complete a cross-sectional survey between June 2022 and December 2022. Participants' intentions to use various types of teledelivered SCC (dependent variables), telehealth-related perceptions (independent variables), and sociodemographic variables (eg, education, as a moderator variable) were measured using self-reported, validated measures.

Results: Hierarchical regression analysis results showed that greater confidence using telehealth, performance expectancy (believing telehealth helps with daily tasks), social influence (important others encouraging telehealth use), and facilitating conditions (having resources for telehealth use) were associated with higher intentions to use teledelivered SCC (range: β =0.16, *P*=.03 to β =0.34, *P*<.001). Moreover, 2-way interactions emerged between education level and 2 of the telehealth perception variables. Education level moderated the associations between (1) performance expectancy and intention to use teledelivered complementary care (β =0.34, *P*=.04) and (2) facilitating conditions and intention to use teledelivered peer support groups (β =0.36,

RenderX

²Department of Psychology, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China (Hong Kong)

³Department of Psychology, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China (Hong Kong)

⁴Department of Applied Social Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, China (Hong Kong)

P=.03). The positive associations between those telehealth perceptions and intentions were only significant among those with a higher education level.

Conclusions: The findings of this study implied that enhancing BCS' skills at using telehealth, BCS' and their important others' perceived benefits of telehealth, and providing assistance for telehealth use could increase BCS' intentions to use teledelivered SCC. For intentions to use specific types of SCC, addressing relevant factors (performance expectancy, facilitating conditions) might be particularly beneficial for those with a higher education level.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51072) doi:10.2196/51072

KEYWORDS

telehealth; tele-delivered supportive cancer care; breast cancer; COVID-19; technology acceptance; UTAUT

Introduction

Potential Impacts of COVID-19 on Breast Cancer Care

The COVID-19 pandemic has been an international public health emergency, posing severe threats to lives and health care systems worldwide. In Hong Kong, the implementation of different preventive measures (eg, regulations for social distancing, reprioritization of hospital services) affected the lives of not only the general population but also individuals with chronic diseases. Being one of the most commonly diagnosed cancers in Hong Kong, breast cancer diagnosis and treatment delays occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic [1]. For example, the number of pathologic specimens for the 4 most common cancer regions in Hong Kong (including breast cancer) received by public laboratories and public hospitals for cancer diagnostic services reduced by 15.5% overall in 2020, compared with the prior 3-year average [2]. Another study suggested that breast cancer patients in Hong Kong needed to wait 3 weeks longer for their first specialist consultation during the COVID-19 crisis than before the pandemic [3].

After completion of active treatments, many breast cancer survivors (BCS) still need supportive cancer care (SCC) and rehabilitation services to help with different cancer-related life aspects [4]. In the Netherlands, one-third of 1051 surveyed BCS reported difficulties contacting their general practitioner due to COVID-19 [5]. The COVID-19–related lockdowns in the United States and Germany also disrupted patients' referrals to cancer survivorship programs [6,7]. To reduce the impact of COVID-19 on cancer care, alternative modes of SCC delivery are therefore important.

Acceptability of Telehealth for Cancer Patients

Research suggests that COVID-19 might have catalyzed new models of health care (eg, telehealth) [4]. Telehealth is the use of technology to deliver health care, health information, or health education at a distance [8]. Telehealth technologies (including telephone, videoconferencing, and internet-based intervention) can bring services into the patient's home and help them cope with their illness without the need to be physically present at a hospital or clinic [8]. A recent qualitative study in Australia reported that patients with hematological cancer considered telehealth an acceptable alternative during the pandemic [9]. However, some patients encountered difficulties using teledelivered cancer care services due to a lack of knowledge and skills, plus some preferred to see the doctor visually through a video call over other teledelivered options

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51072
```

[9]. Another survey explored the prospect of using telemedicine for follow-up among Australian BCS and found that 70% of respondents had suitable devices to access telehealth but only 15% accepted the postoperation teleconsultation with their surgeon [10]. Given that relevant research is limited in the Hong Kong context, this study examined the level of acceptability of telehealth for BCS to access SCC and its associated factors amid the COVID-19 pandemic.

Telehealth-Related Perceptions as Determinants of Patients' Intentions to Use Telehealth for SCC

Different theoretical models have been applied to explore intentions to use telehealth among general healthy populations and patient populations outside the COVID-19 context [11]. Among the models, the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) is one of the most influential theories to understand people's acceptance of different types of information technologies including telehealth [11]. According to the UTAUT, performance expectancy (whether the individuals believe using the system would provide benefits), effort expectancy (whether the system is easy to use), social influence (perception of important others' opinions about using the system), facilitating conditions (organizational and technical infrastructure supporting the use of the system), and technology anxiety (users' negative emotional states related to learning to use technology [eg, nervousness, fear]) are the important determinants of people's intentions to use technology [12]. Compared with other traditional behavioral theories (eg, Theory of Planned Behavior, Health Belief Model), the UTAUT seems to have stronger explanatory power for understanding people's intentions to use telehealth [11].

The model has been applied to people's use of telehealth in different disease contexts. For example, higher performance expectancy, lower effort expectancy, more favorable social influences, less technology anxiety, and more facilitating factors have been associated with intention to use telehealth among Chinese populations (eg, older individuals in the community, individuals with chronic diseases) [13,14]. Performance expectancy and social influence were associated with higher intention to use telehealth service and treatment among patients with diabetes in Korea [15]. Similarly, among patients with type 2 diabetes in South Africa [16], lower performance expectancy, lower effort expectancy, less social influence, and fewer facilitating conditions explained the generally lower intention to use telehealth services. To the best of our knowledge, research on examining cancer survivors' intentions to use teledelivered

SCC during the COVID-19 pandemic was limited. Therefore, this study aimed to examine how telehealth-related perceptions were associated with intentions to use telehealth for SCC among BCS in Hong Kong during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Individual Characteristics and Fear of COVID-19 as Potential Determinants of Intentions to Use Telehealth for Supportive Cancer Services Among BCS

In addition to telehealth-related perceptions, patients' sociodemographic characteristics might also contribute to the acceptability of telehealth [11]. Factors like age, education, possession of smart device(s), the nature of the consultation (routine follow-up versus urgent need for physical examination), and experience with using technology could contribute to the acceptability of telehealth for cancer survivors [17]. Specific to the pandemic situation, recent studies found that fear of COVID-19 transmission was associated with higher intentions to use contact tracing apps among the general population in Germany [18] and telehealth services among cancer patients in the United States [19]. Expecting the same phenomenon to apply to BCS in Hong Kong, we aimed to examine the roles of patients' individual characteristics (eg, sociodemographic and clinical factors, fear of COVID-19) and prior experience with using technology in intentions to use telehealth for SCC.

Moderating Role of Education Level

Despite the wide use of the UTUAT to explain people's intentions to use technology, whether the contribution of the variables in the theory differs based on people's sociodemographic and individual characteristics has not been extensively examined. Prior studies have generally regarded sociodemographic variables as covariates for intentions or behavior, which fails to unpack the complex ways in which such characteristics might interact with beliefs to determine behavioral intention and actual behaviors (eg, [20-22]). Education level has been suggested as a potential moderator between perceptions about behaviors and intentions to engage in online behaviors. For example, studies measured the intention of individuals to use e-banking based on the UTAUT model in the United Kingdom and Jordon and found that education level had a positive moderating effect on performance expectancy, facilitating conditions [23], and effort expectancy [24]. Another study in Indonesia also found that education level moderated the relationship between effort expectancy and intention to use e-money services [25]. Similar research on the intentions of BCS to use telehealth amid the COVID-19 pandemic was limited. Specifically, the role of education as a moderator between telehealth perceptions and BCS' intentions to use teledelivered SCC were investigated in this study.

Purpose of the Study

This study aimed to examine how telehealth-related perceptions contribute to the intention to use telehealth for cancer care among BCS in Hong Kong during the COVID-19 pandemic (Figure 1). We hypothesized that favorable telehealth-related perceptions (higher performance expectancy, lower effort expectancy, more facilitating conditions, positive social influences), less technological anxiety, and greater fear of COVID-19 would be associated with higher intention to use telehealth for SCC. We also hypothesized that the associations between telehealth-related perceptions and intentions to use teledelivered SCC would be moderated by education level, such that associations between telehealth-related perceptions (higher performance expectancy, lower effort expectancy, more facilitating conditions, positive social influences, less technological anxiety) and intention to use teledelivered SCC would be stronger among those with a higher education level.





Methods

Participants and Procedure

A cross-sectional study was conducted. BCS were eligible to participate if they (1) were older than 18 years, (2) had a confirmed diagnosis of Stage 0-III breast cancer since the

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51072
```

outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong (January 2020), (3) were receiving active treatment (eg, radiotherapy, chemotherapy), (4) could read Chinese to answer questionnaires and communicate in Cantonese, and (5) were able to provide meaningful informed consent. BCS were excluded if they had (1) a history of any psychiatric disorder, (2) metastatic brain

disease, (3) any other type of cancer, or (4) recurrent breast cancer.

Prospective participants were recruited from the Hong Kong Breast Cancer Registry (HKBCR). The HKBCR has been the most comprehensive, representative local data collection and monitoring system for BCS in Hong Kong [26]. Upon approval, BCS who fulfilled the inclusion criteria based on the data in the HKBCR were invited to participate in the study through telephone calls. Of the 943 BCS contacted, 409 were not reachable, 23 were not eligible, and 227 were not interested in the study. With initial verbal consent via phone, those who were eligible and interested in the study (N=287) were asked to complete the cross-sectional survey. Participants received a cover letter explaining the study details, consent form, packet of questionnaires, stamped return envelope, thank you/reminder letter, and replacement packet via mail. After consent, participants completed the survey in the home setting. Telephone calls were used to remind individuals who had not returned the questionnaires. The study was conducted between June 2022 and December 2022 (amid the fifth wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong) [27]. A total of 209 completed surveys were returned (out of 287 sent), yielding a completion rate of 72.8%.

Ethical Considerations

Ethics approvals were sought from the Joint Chinese University of Hong Kong - New Territories East Cluster Clinical Research Ethics Committee (CREC Ref. 2021.286) and Hong Kong Breast Cancer Foundation. We obtained informed consent before participation in the survey. Upon completion of the survey, participants received supermarket vouchers (worth HK\$100; approximately US \$12.80) to compensate them for their time. We guaranteed that the identity of the participants would not be revealed.

Sample Size Planning

The dependent variable was the intention to use teledelivered SCC services. Based on prior studies on the acceptability of telehealth among Chinese populations [28,29], we expected a small to medium overall effect size (f^2 =0.10) in the association between telehealth-related perceptions and intentions to use telehealth services in the hierarchical regression analysis. To achieve a statistical power of .80 at α =.05, a minimum of 201 participants were needed (G*Power 3.1.2). The sample size (N=209) achieved via the recruitment strategy was expected to allow the detection of the expected effect size with sufficient statistical power.

Measures

A written, closed-ended, anonymous, self-administered questionnaire was used in the study. To ensure that the questionnaire was readily comprehensible, a pilot test was conducted among 10 BCS who were eligible for the study. The study questionnaire was finalized based on feedback from the pilot test participants.

Intention to Use Telehealth for Future Supportive Cancer Services

Participants' intentions to use telehealth for future supportive cancer services was measured using a SCC service utilization scale [30] that was modified according to the local health care context. The checklist covered different categories of services, including psychological support (6 items; α =.91), medical consultation (5 items; α =.86), integrated or complementary care (6 items; α =.87), and peer support (2 items; α =.83). On a 4-point scale (1, no intention or not applicable; 2, low intention; 3, moderate intention; 4, high intention), participants were asked to indicate their intention to use telehealth for each SCC service (eg, "I intend to use telehealth for 'psycho-oncology counseling.'"). The scale has been shown to be reliable and valid among Western cancer survivors [30].

Perceptions About Telehealth for SCC Services

We used 4 subscales (performance expectancy [3 items], effort expectancy [4 items], social influence [3 items], and facilitating conditions [3 items]) to measure participants' perceived usefulness, perceived ease, social influence, and facilitating conditions, respectively, for using telehealth in cancer care [31]. Sample items include "Using telehealth for cancer care is beneficial to my health." (α =.83; performance expectancy), "It is easy for me to become skillful at using telehealth for cancer care service." (α =.87; effort expectancy), "People whose opinions that I value (eg, my doctors) think I should use telehealth for cancer care services." (α =.86; social influence), and "I have the resources necessary to use telehealth for cancer care services."(α =.90; facilitating conditions). On a 5-point scale (1, strongly disagree; 5, strongly agree), higher mean item scores from the scales indicate higher levels of the corresponding constructs. The Chinese versions of these scales were shown to be reliable and valid among Chinese adults [32].

Technology Anxiety

A 3-item scale was adapted to measure participants' technology anxiety while using telehealth services [14]. On a 5-point scale (1, strongly disagree; 5, strongly agree), a higher mean item score indicates a higher level of technology anxiety (eg, "I feel nervous about using telehealth." α =.91). The Chinese version of the scale was shown to be reliable and valid among Chinese adults [14].

Fear of COVID-19

The Chinese version of the 7-item Fear of COVID-19 scale was adapted to measure participants' fear of COVID-19 [33]. On a 5-point scale (1, strongly disagree; 5, strongly agree), a higher mean item score indicates a higher level of COVID-19 fear (eg, "It makes me uncomfortable to think about COVID-19." α =.88). The scale has been shown to be reliable and valid in the Chinese population [34].

Clinical and Sociodemographic Characteristics

Participants self-reported their (1) sociodemographic characteristics (eg, age, education level, employment status, marital status), (2) treatment-related variables (eg, surgeries undergone, treatments receiving or undergone, time since last treatment), (3) daily living variables (eg, access to the internet,

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

use of electronic or mobile devices), and (4) breast cancer-related variables (eg, stage at diagnosis, time since diagnosis).

Cancer Care Experiences During COVID-19

Participants were asked if they had participated in any telehealth online consultation sessions for SCC (including psychological support services, medical support services, integrated and complementary support services, spiritual support services, other support services; no=0, yes=1).

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive and bivariate Pearson correlation analyses were conducted. Hierarchical regression analyses were also conducted to examine factors associated with intentions to use telehealth for supportive cancer services. The sequence of entering independent variables followed suggestions from prior studies that examined factors associated with people's health or health behavior outcomes and the interaction effects among those factors (eg, [35,36]). The process usually involves entering important sociodemographic and individual experience variables in the first block (as a statistical control for confounding variables), variables representing major theoretical constructs in the next block(s), and the interaction terms between the proposed moderating variable and the independent variables of interest in the last block. In our study, fear of COVID-19 and the sociodemographic and clinical variables that had significant bivariate correlations with the dependent variables were entered in block 1 of the regression model. Telehealth-related perceptions (ie, performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, facilitating conditions, technology anxiety)

were entered into block 2 of the regression model. In the last block, 5 interaction terms between telehealth-related perceptions and education level were entered into the model. To compute the interaction terms, the mean-centered scores of telehealth perceptions and education level (binary: college level versus below college level) were multiplied. All continuous independent variables were centered prior to the analyses. For statistically significant interactions, simple slopes analyses [37] were conducted to examine how the main effects of telehealth perceptions on intentions to use teledelivered SCC varied at different education levels. Those with $P \le .05$ in the final regression model were considered statistically significant. These analyses were performed using SPSS version 26.0.

Results

Participant Characteristics

Among the 209 participants, 82 (39.2%) were 50 years or younger, 63 (30.1%) were 51 years to 60 years old, and 62 (29.7%) were at least 61 years old. In addition, of the 209 participants, 91 (43.5%) had a tertiary education, 72 (34.4%) worked full-time, 99 (47.4%) reported a religious affiliation, and 53 (25.4%) had a comorbid chronic illness. Regarding cancer-related characteristics, 10 (4.8%), 60 (28.7%), 86 (41.1%), and 53 (25.4%) of the 209 participants reported being diagnosed with Stage 0, Stage I, Stage II, and Stage III breast cancer, respectively, and 194 (94.3%) had undergone breast cancer surgery. The average time since diagnosis was 16.6 (SD 8.00) months. Regarding internet access, 204 of the 209 participants (97.6%) had a mobile phone with internet access (Table 1).



 Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the participants (N=209).

Characteristics	Results
Age (years), n (%)	·
≤50	82 (39.2)
51-60	63 (30.1)
≥61	62 (29.7)
Refused to answer	2 (1)
Gender (female), n (%)	209 (100)
Cancer stage, n (%)	
Stage 0	10 (4.8)
Stage 1	60 (28.7)
Stage 2	86 (41.1)
Stage 3	53 (25.4)
Time since diagnosis (months), mean (SD)	16.6 (8.0)
Breast cancer surgery, n (%)	197 (94.3)
Type of breast cancer surgery, n (%)	
Lumpectomy	103 (49.3)
Axillary dissection	126 (60.3)
Mastectomy	97 (46.4)
Breast reconstruction	25 (12)
Treatment, n (%)	
Chemotherapy	152 (72.7)
Radiotherapy	159 (76.1)
Targeted therapy	60 (28.7)
Immunotherapy	8 (3.8)
Comorbid chronic illness (yes), n (%)	53 (25.4)
Educational level, n (%)	
Primary education	15 (7.2)
Secondary education	102 (48.8)
Tertiary and higher	91 (43.5)
Refused to answer	1 (0.5)
Marital status, n (%)	
Single	33 (15.9)
Married	153 (73.6)
Divorced or widowed	22 (10.6)
Monthly household income (HK\$), n (%)	
≥10,000	46 (22)
10,001-30,000	42 (20.5)
30,001-50,000	43 (20.6)
>50,000	35 (16.7)
Refused to answer	42 (20.1)
Had a religious affiliation, n (%)	99 (47.4)
Employment status, n (%)	
Full-time	72 (34.4)

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51072

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e51072 | p.161 (page number not for citation purposes)

Yeung et al

Characteristics	Results
Part-time	20 (9.6)
Retired, housewife, unemployed, or other	114 (54.5)
Refused to answer	3 (1.4)
Had a mobile phone with internet access, n (%)	204 (97.6)
Had an electronic device with internet access, n (%)	170 (81.8)

Intentions to Use Teledelivered SCC Services

Participants' intentions to use different types of teledelivered SCC services are presented in Table 2. Almost all the teledelivered SCC services listed were accepted by most of the

participants. The most accepted teledelivered SCC services in different categories were psychooncology counseling (140/209, 67%), nutrition consultation (165/209, 78.9%), movement and exercise activities (146/209, 69.9%), and patient support groups (131/209, 62.6%).

Table 2. Acceptability of teledelivered supportive cancer care services among breast cancer patients (N=209).

Teledelivered supportive cancer care services	Reporting moderate or high intention to use, n (%)
Psychosocial care	
Psychotherapy	117 (56)
Psychological counseling and support	119 (56.9)
Psychooncology counseling	140 (67)
Therapist-led group	133 (63.6)
Cancer prevention and adaption offers for patients and healthy family members	113 (54)
Family counseling	71 (34)
Medical consultation	
Cancer helpline	130 (62.2)
Special medical consultation	132 (63.1)
To get a second opinion about treatment options	128 (61.2)
Palliative care consultation	129 (61.7)
Expert consultation	126 (60.3)
Nutrition consultation	165 (78.9)
Complementary and alternative medicine (including traditional Chinese medicine) consultation	139 (66.5)
Complementary care	
Movement and exercise activities (eg, yoga, qigong, exercises for pain relief)	146 (69.9)
Creative therapeutic offers (music and art therapy)	105 (50.2)
Relaxation, breathing, meditation exercise group sessions	121(57.9)
Mindfulness exercises	103 (49.2)
Massage exercises	108 (51.7)
Peer support groups	
Internet forum with peers	95 (45.5)
Patient support group	131 (62.6)

Correlations Between Major Variables and Intention to Use Telehealth

The correlation analysis results showed that the participants with a higher education level, prior telehealth experience, and more confidence using technology devices were more likely to report a higher intention to use telehealth (Table 3). Older age was associated with lower intentions to use 3 different types of

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51072

XSL•FO RenderX teledelivered oncology services. Higher levels of performance expectancy, effort expectancy, facilitating conditions, and social influence were associated with higher intentions to use teledelivered oncology services. A higher level of technology anxiety was negatively correlated with intentions to use teledelivered oncology services. Contrary to the hypotheses, fear of COVID-19 was not associated with intentions to use

teledelivered oncology services (Table 3). Other demographic characteristics (eg, marital status, P=.82; cancer stage, P=.83;

time since diagnosis, P=.18; income, P=.10) were not correlated with the intention to use telehealth (data not tabulated).

Table 3. Correlations among major independent variables and intentions to use teledelivered supportive cancer care services (N=209).

Independent variables		Intention to use psy- chosocial teledelivered supportive care	Intention to use teledeliv- ered medical consulta- tions	Intention to use teledeliv- ered complementary can- cer care	Intention to use teledelivered peer support groups
1. Age ^a		`			
	r	-0.20	-0.17	-0.10	-0.28
	P value	.005	.02	.16	<.001
2. Education ^b					
	r	0.22	0.16	0.24	0.32
	P value	.001	.02	<.001	<.001
3. Prior telehealth use ^c					
	r	0.29	0.24	0.22	0.32
	P value	<.001	.001	.001	<.001
4. Confidence using techn	ological devices				
	r	0.34	0.34	0.31	0.30
	P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
5. Fear of COVID-19					
	r	0.05	0.01	-0.05	0.03
	P value	.47	.92	.47	.65
6. Performance expectance	2y				
	r	0.45	0.39	0.36	0.40
	P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
7. Effort expectancy					
	r	0.37	0.32	0.29	0.32
	P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
8. Facilitating conditions					
	r	0.41	0.34	0.30	0.43
	P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
9. Social influence					
	r	0.30	0.32	0.26	0.22
	P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	.001
10. Technology anxiety					
	r	-0.18	-0.18	-0.14	-0.22
	P value	.009	.01	.04	<.001

^a≤55 years (0); >55 years (1).

^bHigh school or less (0); at least college (1). ^cNo (0); Yes (1).

Hierarchical Regression Analysis

Given that the independent variables were moderately correlated, the independent variables were checked for multicollinearity in the regression analysis. None of the variables had a variance inflation factor ≥ 5 , which indicated the absence of multicollinearity problems.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51072

XSL•FO RenderX In block 1, the background variables explained 16.4%, 14.9%, 13.4%, and 20.2% of the variance in the intentions to use teledelivered psychosocial care, medical consultation, complementary care, and peer support groups, respectively. Specifically, a higher education level was associated with higher intentions to use teledelivered complementary care and peer support groups, and greater confidence with using technological

devices was associated with higher intentions to use all 4 types of teledelivered SCC services. Prior telehealth use was

associated with greater intentions to use teledelivered medical consultation and peer support groups (Tables 4 and 5).



 Table 4. Hierarchical regression analyses to explain intentions to use telehealth services (N=209).

Steps	Intentio	ons to use to	eledelivered	l supportive c	ancer care	:		
	Psycho	Psychosocial care ^a			Medical consultation ^b			
	β	P value	ΔR^2	P value	β	P value	ΔR^2	P value
Step 1: Background variables		<u>.</u>	0.164	<.001			0.149	<.001
Age ^c	-0.06	.67			-0.03	.83		
Education ^d	0.27	.06			0.11	.46		
Prior telehealth use ^e	0.27	.08			0.38	.01		
Confidence using technological devices	0.28	<.001			0.29	<.001		
Fear of COVID-19	0.12	.08			0.05	.46		
Step 2: Telehealth-related perceptions			0.159	<.001			0.126	<.001
Age ^c	-0.02	.89			-0.02	.92		
Education ^d	0.12	.39			0.02	.91		
Prior telebealth usa ^e	0.19	.19			0.34	.02		
Confidence using technological devices	0.20	01			0.23	< 001		
Fear of COVID-19	0.06	.35			-0.01	.86		
Performance expectancy	0.34	<.001			0.26	<.001		
Effort expectancy	-0.07	.47			-0.08	.44		
Facilitating conditions	0.20	.02			0.12	.19		
Social influence	0.08	.30			0.16	.03		
Technology anxiety	0.08	.28			0.06	.41		
Step 3: Interaction terms			0.013	.58			0.006	.90
Age ^c	-0.03	.81			-0.01	.96		
Education ^d	0.13	.36			0.04	.77		
Prior telehealth use ^e	0.17	.25			0.32	.03		
Confidence using technological devices	0.20	.01			0.22	.01		
Fear of COVID-19	0.07	.30			0.00	.99		
Performance expectancy	0.30	.01			0.24	.03		
Effort expectancy	-0.07	.56			-0.05	.68		
Facilitating conditions	0.19	.09			0.17	.14		
Social influence	0.09	.35			0.17	.09		
Technology anxiety	-0.03	.73			0.05	.64		
Performance expectancy \times education	0.07	.67			0.08	.62		
Effort expectancy \times education	0.02	.90			-0.05	.79		
Facilitating conditions \times education	0.03	.85			-0.14	.44		
Social influence \times education	-0.03	.82			-0.03	.83		
Technology anxiety \times education	0.26	.07			0.02	.89		

^aTotal R²: 0.336.

XSL•FO RenderX

^bTotal R²: 0.281.

^c≤55 years (0); >55 years (1).

^dHigh school or less (0); at least college (1). ^eNo (0); Yes (1).

Table 5. Hierarchical regression analyses to explain intentions to use telehealth services (N=209).

Step	Intentions to use tele-delivered supportive cancer care							
	Complementary care ^a				Peer support groups ^b			
	β	P value	ΔR^2	P value	β	P value	ΔR^2	P value
Step 1: Background variables			0.134	<.001			0.202	<.001
Age ^c	0.17	.26			-0.26	.08		
Education ^d	0.36	.01			0.45	.002		
Prior telehealth use ^e	0.21	.19			0.38	.01		
Confidence using technological devices	0.27	<.001			0.16	.03		
Fear of COVID-19	0.01	.87			0.10	.12		
Step 2: Telehealth-related perceptions			0.096	<.001			0.122	<.001
Age ^c	0.18	.23			-0.19	.17		
Education ^d	0.28	.05			0.32	.02		
Prior telehealth use ^e	0.17	.26			0.30	.04		
Confidence using technological devices	0.23	.01			0.08	.28		
Fear of COVID-19	-0.05	.50			0.08	.22		
Performance expectancy	0.25	.002			0.30	<.001		
Effort expectancy	-0.05	.64			-0.17	.08		
Facilitating conditions	0.07	.44			0.26	.002		
Social influence	0.13	.09			0.03	.70		
Technology anxiety	0.06	.41			-0.02	.77		
Step 3: Interaction terms			0.031	.16			0.029	.13
Age ^c	0.20	.17			-0.21	.13		
Education ^d	0.34	.02			0.32	.02		
Prior telehealth use ^e	0.13	.40			0.31	.03		
Confidence using technological devices	0.22	.01			0.07	.38		
Fear of COVID-19	-0.02	.79			0.08	.24		
Performance expectancy	0.12	.30			0.25	.02		
Effort expectancy	-0.00	.10			-0.05	.67		
Facilitating conditions	0.17	.17			0.11	.32		
Social influence	0.15	.14			0.05	.62		
Technology anxiety	0.01	.94			-0.11	.23		
Performance expectancy \times education	0.34	.04			0.05	.77		
Effort expectancy \times education	-0.10	.63			-0.29	.13		
Facilitating conditions \times education	-0.27	.13			0.36	.03		
Social influence \times education	-0.09	.56			0.01	.92		
Technology anxiety × education	0.09	56			0s.22	.12		

^aTotal R²: 0.261.

^bTotal R²: 0.353.

^c≤55 years (0); >55 years (1).

^dHigh school or less (0); at least college (1).

^eNo (0); Yes (1).

XSL•FO RenderX

In block 2, telehealth-related perceptions explained an additional 15.9%, 12.6%, 9.6%, and 12.2% of the variance in intentions to use teledelivered psychosocial care, medical consultation, complementary care, and peer support groups, respectively. Specifically, performance expectancy was associated with intentions to use all 4 types of teledelivered SCC services (Tables 4 and 5). More facilitating conditions were associated with higher intentions to use teledelivered psychosocial care and peer support groups. Greater social influence was associated with higher intentions to use teledelivered medical consultation (β =0.16, *P*=.03; Tables 4 and 5).

In block 3, 5 interaction terms between education level and telehealth-related perceptions were entered; 2 significant interactions emerged. Specifically, there was an interaction between education level and performance expectancy when

explaining the intention to use teledelivered complementary care (β =0.34, P=.04). In addition, there was an interaction between education level and facilitating conditions when explaining the intention to use teledelivered peer support groups $(\beta=0.36, P=.03)$. Simple slopes analysis results indicated that the association between performance expectancy and intention to use teledelivered complementary care was only significant among those with a higher education level (β =0.46, P<.001) but not among those with a lower education level (β =0.12, P=.30; Figure 2). Similarly, the association between social influence and intention to use teledelivered peer support groups was only significant among those with a higher education level $(\beta=0.48, P<.001)$ but not among those with a lower education level (β =0.11, *P*=.32; Figure 3). Overall, the models explained 26.1% to 35.3% of the variance in the intentions to use different types of teledelivered SCC services (Tables 4 and 5).

Figure 2. Relationship between performance expectancy and intention to use teledelivered complementary care by education level.









Discussion

Principal Findings

This study examined how sociodemographic and clinical factors and telehealth-related perceptions contributed to the intentions to use telehealth for SCC among BCS in Hong Kong during the COVID-19 pandemic. It is noteworthy that most of the participants reported moderate-to-high intentions to use different types of teledelivered SCC services. The most accepted teledelivered SCC services in different categories were psychooncology counseling (67%), nutrition consultation (78.9%), movement and exercise activities (69.9%), and patient support groups (62.6%). We found that greater confidence in telehealth use, performance expectancy (believing telehealth helps with daily tasks), social influence (important others encouraging telehealth use), and facilitating conditions (having resources for telehealth use) were associated with higher intentions to use teledelivered SCC. Our findings were comparable to those of a study in Singapore amid the COVID-19 pandemic [38] that showed that general acceptance of telemedicine by patients with cancer was around 60%. Perceptions that telemedicine could improve health care access and the availability of necessary resources for telemedicine were associated with higher acceptance among those patients [38].

Sociodemographic Factors, Fear of COVID-19, and Intention to Use Teledelivered SCC

In our regression analyses, education level, prior telehealth use, and confidence using technological devices were associated with the use of telehealth services. Our findings were consistent

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51072
```

RenderX

with findings from patient populations in Western countries supporting that people with mobile device access, who were confident using technological devices, and with prior telehealth experience were more likely to use teledelivered SCC [38-40]. The facilitating roles of those variables seem to be culturally and geographically universal. To increase patients' intentions to use teledelivered SCC, it might be important to provide education and training on how to use technology and telehealth services, which could help increase confidence with using these tools and make it easier for patients to access care.

Consistent with a population-based study in the United States during the COVID-19 pandemic [41], household income was not a significant contributor to intentions to use teledelivered SCC in our study. However, the findings should be interpreted with caution, as a high proportion of participants (20.1%) refused to report their household income. Household income has been associated with other important sociodemographic factors (eg, education, ownership of mobile devices, internet access) that were associated with cancer survivors' intentions to adopt telehealth before and during the COVID-19 pandemic [42,43]. Given that 97.6% of our participants possessed a mobile phone with internet access, the unique contribution of household income on intention to use telehealth might become less apparent.

Despite a significant bivariate correlation between age and intention to use teledelivered SCC, age did not emerge as a significant contributor in the regression analyses beyond the influence of other potential contributors. These findings imply that other individual characteristics (eg, confidence using

technological devices) played a stronger role in the intentions of BCS to use teledelivered SCC. Moreover, it is important to note that Hong Kong has a very high internet coverage rate at the household level (96.1%) and a very high smartphone ownership rate (99.8% and 90.7% among individuals aged 45-64 years or \geq 65 years, respectively) [44], which could influence the acceptability of and perceptions toward telehealth services. The generalizability of our findings to other countries with different internet use patterns should also be interpreted with caution [45].

Fear of COVID-19 did not emerge as a significant contributor to the intention to use teledelivered SCC services in our sample, which was contrary to the findings of prior studies in the United States [19] and Germany [46]. However, our findings seem to be in line with those of An and colleagues [47] who showed that anxiety about COVID-19 was not associated with telehealth acceptance among individuals with chronic disease in South Korea. A potential reason for the discrepancies in the findings could be related to the focus of the measurements. The Fear of COVID-19 scale used in this study primarily measures participants' affective responses and anxiety symptoms toward cues related to COVID-19, but it might not capture individuals' perceptions of the threat of contracting COVID-19 at different occasions (eg, hospital and clinic settings, crowded places). Such concerns have been reflected in studies among BCS [48]. Future studies might elucidate how patients' specific COVID-19 worries and concerns contribute to their intentions to use telehealth services.

Telehealth-Related Perceptions and Intentions to Use Teledelivered SCC

In the correlation analyses, all the measured telehealth-related perceptions were significantly correlated with the intentions to use SCC. However, in the regression analyses, the relative importance of the perception variables on intentions to use SCC was apparent. Specifically, only performance expectancy was associated with the intention of using all types of the measured teledelivered SCC. Similar findings have also been reported regarding the prediction of the acceptance of cancer patients in the Netherlands to use a virtual assistant in health care settings [49] and the acceptance of using a digital cardiac rehabilitation tool among patients with ischemic heart disease in Germany [50]. The findings imply that highlighting the benefits of teledelivered SCC on daily life for BCS tends to increase their intentions to use such services.

On the other hand, social influence was associated with the intention to use teledelivered medical consultation. In the Chinese culture, coping with cancer is largely a family issue, such that opinions of family members are important in patients' treatment decision-making [51]. Given that it might also be easier for family members who do not live together to participate in medical consultations, family members might tend to welcome the option to have such consultations teledelivered. That might be the reason why social influence had a relatively strong contribution to the intention of BCS to use teledelivered medical consultations (but not other SCC services).

Furthermore, facilitating conditions were associated with the intention to use psychosocial care services and peer support

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51072
```

groups (but not other types of SCC). It is noteworthy that psychological care and peer support group services are not commonly utilized among local BCS [25]. The dynamics in psychological counseling and peer support groups involve more disclosure of personal challenges and distress, which might be incongruent with the cultural preference of not bringing up negative emotions to maintain social harmony [33]. It might be possible for local BCS to believe that they need a certain level of knowledge and informational resources (facilitating conditions) to understand what to expect in teledelivered psychosocial care and peer support groups before enrolling in those services.

Although our findings suggested that effort expectancy and technology anxiety contributed less significantly to intentions to use teledelivered SCC, it is still noteworthy that facilitators and barriers are likely to differ across different cultural contexts and by types of telemedicine service [52]. Future research should investigate how those factors jointly contribute to the acceptability of teledelivered SCC services for BCS.

Telehealth Perceptions and Intentions to Use Teledelivered SCC: Education Level as a Moderator

We found that education level moderated the interaction between (1) between performance expectancy and intention to use teledelivered complementary care and (2) facilitating conditions and intention to use teledelivered peer support groups. From the perspective of the UTAUT model, performance expectancy (ie, degree to which the individual believes that using the technology will help them better cope with daily life or be more effective) was found to be associated with higher intentions to use teledelivered complementary care (including creative therapies, relaxation, and mindfulness exercises) only among those with a higher education level. It is also noteworthy that similar patterns of findings were also apparent in other aspects of technology use. Education level moderated the positive associations between technology use perceptions (performance expectancy, facilitating conditions) and people's intentions to use mobile banking services in Jordan [23].

Our findings suggested that just highlighting performance expectancy might not be sufficient to significantly increase intentions to use teledelivered complementary care among those with a lower education level. A basic understanding of those complementary care options might be important. Given that those with higher levels of education may be more likely to have better awareness of the potential benefits of those complementary therapies for oncology care [53], the facilitating role of performance expectancy in the intention of BCS to use teledelivered complementary care could be strengthened by a higher education level.

Similarly, we found that facilitating conditions were associated with higher intentions to use teledelivered peer support groups only among those with a higher education level. Facilitating conditions refer to people's perceptions about whether the necessary resources and support are available to use the technology effectively. It is important to note that peer support groups generally involve mutual interactions and sharing with other cancer survivors, which could also be subject to challenges such as confrontation involving others' suffering, divergent

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

information needs, conflicts in group dynamics, and challenges with sustainability [54]. Individuals with higher levels of education may be more comfortable using teledelivered services to interact with other patients with similar (stressful) experiences plus have more resources to deal with the potentially negative experiences in the support group context (eg, worsened health of peers in the group, appraising information about their illness, and therapy options shared in the support groups). These reasons might explain why the facilitating role of facilitating conditions in the intention of BCS to use teledelivered peer support group was only apparent among those with a higher education level.

Limitations

This study was subject to several limitations. First, this study used a cross-sectional design, which might not highlight the causal relationship among the variables. Cancer survivors' expectations and motivations for teledelivered cancer care may also change over time. Future studies could use longitudinal designs to better understand the temporal relationships among the variables and their future use of teledelivered care services. Second, to allow more systematic recruitment of recently diagnosed BCS (since the COVID-19 outbreak in Hong Kong), we recruited BCS through local cancer registries. Even though the HKBCR is the most comprehensive registry for BCS in Hong Kong, it is noteworthy that not everyone in the total BCS population was covered due to the HKBCR's voluntary enrollment system. Based on the Hong Kong Cancer Registry data [55] and HKBCR [56] for individuals with BCS aged 18 years to 70 years, the age group distributions were as follows: 40% (<50 years), 33% (50-59 years), 27% (60-70 years). Similarly, in our sample, the age group distributions were as follows: 39.2% (<50 years), 30.1% (51-60 years), and 29.7% (≥61 years). Our sample was highly comparable in terms of the age distribution of the local BCS. However, the generalizability of the findings to BCS in other regions or countries with different health care systems and to survivors of other cancer types might be limited. Third, the studied variables only explained a moderate proportion of variance in the intentions of BCS to use teledelivered SCC. Other factors might be at play. Research has found that other telehealth-related perceptions (eg, privacy concerns), the specific characteristics of different teledelivered services (eg, expected durations and schedules of the services, the necessity to use cameras for the services, groupand individual-based delivery), and contextual factors (eg, severity of the pandemic situation, availability of specific types

of teledelivered care services) could be important determinants for those intentions [18,57]. Consideration of those variables might further improve the explanatory power of the regression model.

Implications

The COVID-19 pandemic impacted cancer service utilization among cancer patients worldwide. Telehealth can be a new service model for SCC services, especially after the experience of the COVID-19 pandemic. The use of telehealth for SCC not only provides flexibility for services in hospitals and cancer clinics but also potentially improves cancer survivors' well-being. Recent reviews and trials have found that teledelivered interventions facilitate positive physical and psychological health impacts on cancer survivors [58-60]. Therefore, identifying the potential determinants for people's intentions to use telehealth for SCC could facilitate the proposal of novel service models.

This was one of the first attempts to examine how telehealth-related perceptions, sociodemographic and clinical characteristics, and cancer care service utilization experiences during COVID-19 contributed to the intention of BCS to use telehealth for SCC during the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong. It is essential for health care providers to be knowledgeable about specific factors facilitating the intention to use telehealth, so that patients' needs and cancer care preferences can be met, especially for the response to a potential pandemic of an emerging infectious disease in the future.

Researchers have started to advocate for a patient-centered approach to address patients' facilitators and barriers to using telehealth. By fitting telehealth into the overall patient journey and treatment plan and applying inclusive design principles, the needs of the most vulnerable populations who may not be engaging with telehealth owing to their age, education level, socioeconomic status, technology skills, and experiences could be better addressed [40]. Our findings imply that enhancing BCS' skills for using telehealth, improving BCS' and their important others' perceived benefits of telehealth, and providing assistance for telehealth use could increase BCS' intentions to use teledelivered SCC. For intentions to use specific types of SCC (eg, complementary care and peer support groups), addressing relevant factors (performance expectancy, facilitating conditions) might be particularly beneficial for those with a higher education level.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the Health and Medical Research Fund (reference number 18190061; principal investigator: NCYY).

Data Availability

Research data will be shared upon request.

Authors' Contributions

NCYY contributed to the supervision and conceptualization of the study and acquired funding. NCYY and STYL were involved in the data curation, conducted the data analysis, and wrote the original manuscript draft. PSYC provided advice on the

implementation of the study using the Hong Kong Breast Cancer Registry. NCYY, STYL, EYYC, CC, WWSM, JYMS, and PSYC contributed to the methodology, survey design, and review and editing of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Koczwara B. Cancer survivorship care at the time of the COVID-19 pandemic. Med J Aust 2020 Aug;213(3):107-108.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5694/mja2.50684] [Medline: 32596806]
- Vardhanabhuti V, Ng K. Differential impact of COVID-19 on cancer diagnostic services based on body regions: a public facility-based study in Hong Kong. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2021 Oct 01;111(2):331-336 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2021.05.010] [Medline: 34004229]
- Co THM, Au-Yeung K, Kwong A. Breast cancer presentation, diagnosis and outcomes during COVID-19 pandemic a single center case control study in Hong Kong. 2020 Presented at: The Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh and The College of Surgeons of Hong Kong (RCSEd/CSHK) Conjoint Virtual Scientific Congress 2020: Towards Personalised Surgery; September 19, 2020; Hong Kong.
- Uscher J, Alkon C, DePolo J, Leitenberger A. Special Report: COVID-19's Impact on Breast Cancer Care. Breastcancer.org. 2023 Sep 01. URL: <u>https://www.breastcancer.org/treatment/covid-19-and-breast-cancer-care#breastcancer</u> [accessed 2024-05-23]
- 5. Bargon C, Batenburg M, van Stam L, van der Molen D, van Dam I, van der Leij F, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on quality of life, physical and psychosocial wellbeing in breast cancer patients a prospective, multicenter cohort study. European Journal of Cancer 2020 Oct;138:S17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(20)30563-3]
- Oppong B, Lustberg M, Nolan T, Relation T, Park K, Healy E, et al. Utilization of cancer survivorship services during the COVID-19 pandemic in a tertiary referral center. J Cancer Surviv 2023 Dec;17(6):1708-1714 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-022-01231-x] [Medline: <u>35895236</u>]
- Dinkel A, Goerling U, Hönig K, Karger A, Maatouk I, Petermann-Meyer A, et al. Psychooncological care for patients with cancer during 12 months of the Covid-19 pandemic: Views and experiences of senior psychooncologists at German Comprehensive Cancer Centers. Psychooncology 2021 Nov;30(11):1982-1985 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5759] [Medline: 34184361]
- 8. Larson J, Rosen A, Wilson F. The effect of telehealth interventions on quality of life of cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Telemed J E Health 2018 Jun;24(6):397-405 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2017.0112] [Medline: 29112484]
- Zomerdijk N, Jongenelis M, Short C, Smith A, Turner J, Huntley K. Prevalence and correlates of psychological distress, unmet supportive care needs, and fear of cancer recurrence among haematological cancer patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. Support Care Cancer 2021 Dec;29(12):7755-7764 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06369-5] [Medline: 34164740]
- Noble N, Mackenzie L, Carey M, Proietto A, Sanson-Fisher R, Walker G, et al. Cross-sectional survey to inform the development of a telehealth support model: a feasibility study for women undergoing breast cancer surgery. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2019;5:46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-019-0426-5] [Medline: 30923627]
- Harst L, Lantzsch H, Scheibe M. Theories predicting end-user acceptance of telemedicine use: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 21;21(5):e13117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13117] [Medline: 31115340]
- 12. Dwivedi Y, Rana N, Jeyaraj A, Clement M, Williams M. Re-examining the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT): towards a revised theoretical model. Inf Syst Front 2017 Jun 8;21(3):719-734 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10796-017-9774-y]
- Zhou ML, Zhao L, Kong N, Campy KS, Qu S, Wang S. Factors influencing behavior intentions to telehealth by Chinese elderly: An extended TAM model. Int J Med Inform 2019 Jun;126:118-127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.04.001] [Medline: 31029253]
- 14. Tsai J, Cheng M, Tsai H, Hung S, Chen Y. Acceptance and resistance of telehealth: The perspective of dual-factor concepts in technology adoption. International Journal of Information Management 2019 Dec;49:34-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.03.003]
- Rho M, Kim H, Chung K, Choi I. Factors influencing the acceptance of telemedicine for diabetes management. Cluster Comput 2014 Mar 12;18(1):321-331 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10586-014-0356-1]
- 16. Petersen F, Jacobs M, Pather S. Barriers for User Acceptance of Mobile Health Applications for Diabetic Patients: Applying the UTAUT Model. In: Hattingh M, Matthee M, Smuts H, Pappas I, Dwivedi YK, Mäntymäki M, editors. Responsible Design, Implementation and Use of Information and Communication Technology. I3E 2020. Lecture Notes in Computer Science(), vol 12067. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2020.
- Cho Y, Zhang H, Harris M, Gong Y, Smith E, Jiang Y. Acceptance and use of home-based electronic symptom self-reporting systems in patients with cancer: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2021 Mar 12;23(3):e24638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24638] [Medline: 33709929]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51072
```

- Tomczyk S, Barth S, Schmidt S, Muehlan H. Utilizing health behavior change and technology acceptance models to predict the adoption of COVID-19 contact tracing apps: cross-sectional survey study. J Med Internet Res 2021 May 19;23(5):e25447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25447] [Medline: <u>33882016</u>]
- Caston N, Lawhon V, Smith K, Gallagher K, Angove R, Anderson E, et al. Examining the association among fear of COVID-19, psychological distress, and delays in cancer care. Cancer Med 2021 Dec;10(24):8854-8865 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.4391] [Medline: 34845860]
- 20. Venkatesh V, Morris M, Davis G, Davis F. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. MIS Quarterly 2003;27(3):425-478 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2307/30036540]
- 21. Kim S, Kim S. Analysis of the impact of health beliefs and resource factors on preventive behaviors against the COVID-19 pandemic. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Nov 22;17(22):8666 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17228666] [Medline: 33266386]
- 22. Perez L, Elder J, Haughton J, Martinez M, Arredondo E. Socio-demographic moderators of associations between psychological factors and Latinas' breast cancer screening behaviors. J Immigr Minor Health 2018 Aug;20(4):823-830 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-017-0633-1] [Medline: 28752364]
- 23. Al Mashagba FF, Nassar MO. Modified UTAUT model to study the factors affecting the adoption of mobile banking in Jordan. International Journal of Sciences: Basic and Applied Research (IJSBAR) 2012;6(1):83-94 [FREE Full text]
- 24. Al-Qeisi KI. Analyzing the use of UTAUT model in explaining an online behaviour: Internet banking adoption. Brunel University Research Archive. 2009. URL: <u>https://bura.brunel.ac.uk/handle/2438/3620</u> [accessed 2024-05-23]
- 25. Giri RRW, Apriliani D, Sofia A. Behavioral intention analysis on e-money services in Indonesia: using the modified UTAUT model. Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Economics, Business, Entrepreneurship, and Finance (ICEBEF 2018) 2019:1. [doi: 10.2991/icebef-18.2019.17]
- 26. Hong Kong Breast Cancer Registry Report No. 11 (Issue 2019). Hong Kong Breast Cancer Foundation. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.hkbcf.org/en/our_research/main/468/</u> [accessed 2024-05-23]
- 27. Archives of Latest situation of cases of COVID-19. Centre for Health Protection of the Department of Health. 2023. URL: https://www.chp.gov.hk/en/features/102997.html [accessed 2024-05-23]
- Okediji P, Salako O, Fatiregun O. Pattern and predictors of unmet supportive care needs in cancer patients. Cureus 2017 May 09;9(5):e1234 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.1234] [Medline: 28620565]
- 29. Košir U, Loades M, Wild J, Wiedemann M, Krajnc A, Roškar S, et al. The impact of COVID-19 on the cancer care of adolescents and young adults and their well-being: Results from an online survey conducted in the early stages of the pandemic. Cancer 2020 Oct 01;126(19):4414-4422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.33098] [Medline: 32697342]
- Sarkar S, Sautier L, Schilling G, Bokemeyer C, Koch U, Mehnert A. Anxiety and fear of cancer recurrence and its association with supportive care needs and health-care service utilization in cancer patients. J Cancer Surviv 2015 Dec;9(4):567-575 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-015-0434-2] [Medline: 25676473]
- 31. Hoque R, Sorwar G. Understanding factors influencing the adoption of mHealth by the elderly: An extension of the UTAUT model. Int J Med Inform 2017 May;101:75-84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.02.002] [Medline: 28347450]
- 32. Zhang Y, Liu C, Luo S, Xie Y, Liu F, Li X, et al. Factors influencing patients' intentions to use diabetes management apps based on an extended unified theory of acceptance and use of technology model: web-based survey. J Med Internet Res 2019 Aug 13;21(8):e15023 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15023] [Medline: 31411146]
- Chi X, Chen S, Chen Y, Chen D, Yu Q, Guo T, et al. Psychometric evaluation of the Fear of COVID-19 Scale among Chinese population. Int J Ment Health Addict 2022;20(2):1273-1288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11469-020-00441-7] [Medline: <u>33456407</u>]
- 34. Au A, Lam W, Tsang J, Yau T, Soong I, Yeo W, et al. Supportive care needs in Hong Kong Chinese women confronting advanced breast cancer. Psychooncology 2013 May;22(5):1144-1151 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.3119] [Medline: 22715115]
- Yeung N, Zhang Y, Ji L, Lu G, Lu Q. Finding the silver linings: Psychosocial correlates of posttraumatic growth among husbands of Chinese breast cancer survivors. Psychooncology 2020 Oct;29(10):1646-1654 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5484] [Medline: <u>33463847</u>]
- Ronquillo CE, Dahinten VS, Bungay V, Currie LM. Differing effects of implementation leadership characteristics on nurses' use of mHealth technologies in clinical practice: cross-sectional survey study. JMIR Nurs 2023 Aug 25;6:e44435 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/44435] [Medline: 37624628]
- 37. Aiken LS, West SG. Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc; 1991.
- Chan ZY, Lim CF, Leow JL, Chium FY, Lim SW, Tong CHM, et al. Using the technology acceptance model to examine acceptance of telemedicine by cancer patients in an ambulatory care setting. Proceedings of Singapore Healthcare 2022 Jun 02;31:201010582211045 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/20101058221104578]
- 39. Reed M, Huang J, Graetz I, Lee C, Muelly E, Kennedy C, et al. Patient Characteristics Associated With Choosing a Telemedicine Visit vs Office Visit With the Same Primary Care Clinicians. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Jun 01;3(6):e205873 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.5873] [Medline: 32585018]

RenderX

- 40. Jacob C, Sezgin E, Sanchez-Vazquez A, Ivory C. Sociotechnical factors affecting patients' adoption of mobile health tools: systematic literature review and narrative synthesis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2022 May 05;10(5):e36284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/36284] [Medline: 35318189]
- 41. Jaffe D, Lee L, Huynh S, Haskell T. Health inequalities in the use of telehealth in the United States in the lens of COVID-19. Popul Health Manag 2020 Oct;23(5):368-377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/pop.2020.0186] [Medline: 32816644]
- 42. Warinner C, Hayirli T, Bergmark R, Sethi R, Rettig E. Patterns of technology use among patients with head and neck cancer and implications for telehealth. OTO Open 2021 Jun 07;5(2):2473974 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2473974x211018612]
- 43. Darcourt J, Aparicio K, Dorsey P, Ensor J, Zsigmond E, Wong S, et al. Analysis of the implementation of telehealth visits for care of patients with cancer in Houston during the COVID-19 pandemic. JCO Oncology Practice 2021 Jan;17(1):e36-e43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/op.20.00572]
- 44. Thematic Household Survey Report No. 77. The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2023 May 30. URL: <u>https://www.info.gov.hk/gia/general/202305/30/P2023053000276.htm</u> [accessed 2024-05-23]
- 45. Jewett P, Vogel R, Ghebre R, Hui J, Parsons H, Rao A, et al. Telehealth in cancer care during COVID-19: disparities by age, race/ethnicity, and residential status. J Cancer Surviv 2022 Feb;16(1):44-51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-021-01133-4] [Medline: 34800257]
- 46. Tomczyk S. Appsolutely secure? Psychometric properties of the German version of an app information privacy concerns measure during COVID-19. Front Psychol 2022;13:899092 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.899092] [Medline: 35936321]
- 47. An M, You S, Park R, Lee S. Using an extended technology acceptance model to understand the factors influencing telehealth utilization after flattening the COVID-19 curve in South Korea: cross-sectional survey study. JMIR Med Inform 2021 Jan 08;9(1):e25435 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25435] [Medline: 33395397]
- Seven M, Bagcivan G, Pasalak S, Oz G, Aydin Y, Selcukbiricik F. Experiences of breast cancer survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic: a qualitative study. Support Care Cancer 2021 Nov;29(11):6481-6493 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06243-4] [Medline: <u>33905013</u>]
- 49. van Bussel MJP, Odekerken-Schröder GJ, Ou C, Swart R, Jacobs M. Analyzing the determinants to accept a virtual assistant and use cases among cancer patients: a mixed methods study. BMC Health Serv Res 2022 Jul 09;22(1):890 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-022-08189-7] [Medline: 35804356]
- 50. Bäuerle A, Mallien C, Rassaf T, Jahre L, Rammos C, Skoda EM, et al. Determining the acceptance of digital cardiac rehabilitation and its influencing factors among patients affected by cardiac diseases. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis 2023 Apr 17;10(4):174 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcdd10040174] [Medline: 37103053]
- 51. Liu J, Mok E, Wong T. Perceptions of supportive communication in Chinese patients with cancer: experiences and expectations. J Adv Nurs 2005 Nov;52(3):262-270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2005.03583.x] [Medline: 16194179]
- 52. Pang N, Lau J, Fong SY, Wong CYH, Tan KK. Telemedicine acceptance among older adult patients with cancer: scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2022 Mar 29;24(3):e28724 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28724] [Medline: 35348462]
- Jones E, Nissen L, McCarthy A, Steadman K, Windsor C. Exploring the use of complementary and alternative medicine in cancer patients. Integr Cancer Ther 2019;18:1534735419854134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1534735419854134] [Medline: 31170844]
- Jablotschkin M, Binkowski L, Markovits Hoopii R, Weis J. Benefits and challenges of cancer peer support groups: A systematic review of qualitative studies. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2022 Nov;31(6):e13700 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ecc.13700] [Medline: 36104303]
- 55. Hong Kong Cancer Registry, Hospital Authority. Female breast cancer in 2021. Hong Kong Cancer Registry. 2023 Oct. URL: <u>https://www3.ha.org.hk/cancereg/pdf/factsheet/2021/breast_2021.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-03-21]
- 56. Hong Kong Breast Cancer Foundation. Hong Kong Breast Cancer Registry Report No. 15. Research Publications. 2023 Sep. URL: <u>https://www.hkbcf.org/upload/category/1010/self/651398929bdfe.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-07-11]
- 57. Gajarawala S, Pelkowski J. Telehealth benefits and barriers. J Nurse Pract 2021 Feb;17(2):218-221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.nurpra.2020.09.013] [Medline: 33106751]
- Siew L, Teo N, Ang W, Lau Y. Social media-based interventions for patients with cancer: a meta-analysis and meta-regression of randomised controlled trials. J Cancer Surviv 2023 Dec;17(6):1606-1627 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-022-01244-6] [Medline: 35960428]
- 59. Ebrahimabadi M, Rafiei F, Nejat N. Can tele-nursing affect the supportive care needs of patients with cancer undergoing chemotherapy? A randomized controlled trial follow-up study. Support Care Cancer 2021 Oct;29(10):5865-5872 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06056-5] [Medline: 33758968]
- Gyawali B, Bowman M, Sharpe I, Jalink M, Srivastava S, Wijeratne D. A systematic review of eHealth technologies for breast cancer supportive care. Cancer Treat Rev 2023 Mar;114:102519 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2023.102519] [Medline: 36736125]

RenderX

Abbreviations

BCS: breast cancer survivors **HKBCR:** Hong Kong Breast Cancer Registry **SCC:** supportive cancer care **UTAUT:** unified theory of acceptance and use of technology

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 20.07.23; peer-reviewed by M Coccia, M Rogers, K Bera; comments to author 29.02.24; revised version received 22.03.24; accepted 16.04.24; published 27.06.24.

Please cite as:

Yeung NCY, Lau STY, Mak WWS, Cheng C, Chan EYY, Siu JYM, Cheung PSY Applying the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology to Identify Factors Associated With Intention to Use Teledelivered Supportive Care Among Recently Diagnosed Breast Cancer Survivors During COVID-19 in Hong Kong: Cross-Sectional Survey JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51072 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51072 doi:10.2196/51072 PMID:

©Nelson C Y Yeung, Stephanie T Y Lau, Winnie W S Mak, Cecilia Cheng, Emily Y Y Chan, Judy Y M Siu, Polly S Y Cheung. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 27.06.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Usability and Preliminary Efficacy of an Adaptive Supportive Care System for Patients With Cancer: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial

Sharon H Baik¹, PhD; Karen Clark¹, MS; Marisol Sanchez¹, BS; Matthew Loscalzo¹, MSW; Ashley Celis¹, BS; Marianne Razavi¹, PhD; Dershung Yang², PhD; William Dale¹, MD, PhD; Niina Haas², MA

¹Department of Supportive Care Medicine, City of Hope, Duarte, CA, United States ²BrightOutcome, Buffalo Grove, IL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Sharon H Baik, PhD Department of Supportive Care Medicine City of Hope 1500 East Duarte Road Duarte, CA, 91010 United States Phone: 1 626 256 4673 Email: <u>shbaik@coh.org</u>

Abstract

Background: Using an iterative user-centered design process, our team developed a patient-centered adaptive supportive care system, PatientCareAnywhere, that provides comprehensive biopsychosocial screening and supportive cancer care to patients across the continuum of care adaptively. The overarching goal of PatientCareAnywhere is to improve health-related quality of life (HRQOL) and self-efficacy of patients with cancer by empowering them with self-management skills and bringing cancer care support directly to them at home. Such support is adaptive to the patient's needs and health status and coordinated across multiple sources in the forms of referrals, education, engagement of community resources, and secure social communication.

Objective: This study aims to assess the usability of the new web-based PatientCareAnywhere system and examine the preliminary efficacy of PatientCareAnywhere to improve patient-reported outcomes compared with usual care.

Methods: For phase 1, usability testing participants included patients with cancer (n=4) and caregivers (n=7) who evaluated the software prototype and provided qualitative (eg, interviews) and quantitative (eg, System Usability Scale) feedback. For phase 2, participants in the 3-month pilot randomized controlled trial were randomized to receive the PatientCareAnywhere intervention (n=36) or usual care control condition (n=36). HRQOL and cancer-relevant self-efficacy were assessed at baseline (preintervention assessment) and 12 weeks from baseline (postintervention assessment); mean differences between pre- and postintervention scores were compared between the 2 groups.

Results: Participants were highly satisfied with the prototype and reported above-average acceptable usability, with a mean System Usability Scale score of 84.09 (SD 10.02). Qualitative data supported the overall usability and perceived usefulness of the intervention, with a few design features (eg, "help request" function) added based on participant feedback. With regard to the randomized controlled trial, patients in the intervention group reported significant improvements in HRQOL from pre- to postintervention scores (mean difference 6.08, SD 15.26) compared with the control group (mean difference -2.95, SD 10.63; P=.01). In contrast, there was no significant between-group difference in self-efficacy (P=.09).

Conclusions: Overall, PatientCareAnywhere represents a user-friendly, functional, and acceptable supportive care intervention with preliminary efficacy to improve HRQOL among patients diagnosed with cancer. Future studies are needed to further establish the efficacy of PatientCareAnywhere as well as explore strategies to enhance user engagement and investigate the optimal intensity, frequency, and use of the intervention to improve patient outcomes.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02408406; https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT02408406

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e49703) doi:10.2196/49703



KEYWORDS

cancer; distress screening; eHealth; supportive care; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

One-third [1,2] to half [3-5] of patients with cancer report psychological distress. Common causes of distress include fatigue, pain, worry about the future, finances, and the side effects of treatment [6-8]. Supportive care is a complex specialty that encompasses an array of multidisciplinary services addressing a variety of biopsychosocial concerns and needs. The 2008 Institute of Medicine report, Cancer Care for the Whole Patient [6], lists the main supportive care services as "information about illness, treatments, health, and services; help in coping with emotions accompanying illness and treatment; help in managing illness; assistance in changing behaviors to minimize impact of disease; material and logistical resources, such as transportation; help in managing disruptions in work, school, and family life; and financial advice and/or assistance." In addition to these formal sources of supportive care, the report stressed that informal sources, such as family and friends, are also key providers of supportive care. At the heart of a successful supportive care practice is comprehensive biopsychosocial screening, covering multiple domains including physical symptoms, psychosocial issues, and practical concerns. Effective biopsychosocial screening integrated with triage, referrals, patient and caregiver education, and follow-up services promotes successful whole patient-centered care across the cancer treatment trajectory. Studies have demonstrated that adequate integration of biopsychosocial screening with supportive care results in better patient outcomes [9-18], better patient-provider communication [9,12,15,19-25], higher patient satisfaction [12,20,22-24], detection of unrecognized problems [10,12,15,21,23-25], improved referrals [11,25-29], and better health service use and lower costs [30-35].

Recognizing the importance of distress management, the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) recommends distress screening for all patients with cancer to address problems before a crisis develops and necessitates higher levels of intervention, with guidelines in place since 1999 [36]. Unfortunately, a serious gap remains between the screening services that are needed and those provided today [6,37,38]. In a 2018 survey to NCCN member institutions, 87% (20/23) of institutions reported conducting routine screening for distress as per the guidelines, but only 26% (6/23) strived to screen all patients and 57% (13/23) screened outpatients only [39]. Compared with the 2012 survey [37], the percentage of institutions conducting screening of all patients decreased from 30% to 26% and the percentage of institutions screening outpatients only increased from 50% to 57% over a 6-year span. Most institutions administered screening via paper and pencil (12/23, 52%) or electronically (12/23, 52%), while 30% conducted interviews (6 in person and 1 via telephone). In addition, only 7 institutions reported automatic triage based on computer-generated results, whereas 14 institutions required clinical staff to manually review the screening results to generate referrals.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49703

XSL•FO

Furthermore, there is often a large gap between the onset of patients' distress and the communication about it to their health care team, especially when these problems and symptoms occur outside of the clinical environment. This disconnect is exacerbated by the lack of uniform systems to document problems and communications between the health care professionals themselves. In addition, the absence of systematic criteria-based identifiers for referring patients to suitable consultation services and resources results in important clinical information not being communicated promptly to the appropriate professionals. Electronic methods for distress screening, including automated touch screen technologies and web-based assessments, have been recommended as they can be helpful with systematically identifying, tracking, and managing sources of distress [40]. Over the past decade, technology and eHealth interventions have increasingly been used in the delivery of patient-centered cancer care [41-43]. A recent systematic review of technology-based supportive care interventions for patients with cancer demonstrated significant effects on health-related quality of life (HRQOL), cancer-related symptoms, levels of fatigue and pain, depression, and functional capacity [44]. A meta-analysis was precluded due to heterogeneity in intervention design and features (eg, duration, frequency, and use of technology) and outcome measures.

To address this pressing gap in supportive cancer care, City of Hope in partnership with BrightOutcome, a health care technology company, developed a technology-based, patient-centered adaptive supportive care system for patients newly diagnosed with cancer (named PatientCareAnywhere) using an iterative user-centered design process. PatientCareAnywhere was derived from two existing systems: (1) SupportScreen from City of Hope [45], a clinic-based biopsychosocial screening tool that connects new patients with individualized educational and professional symptom triage support based on self-reported distress; and (2) MyCaringCircle from BrightOutcome, a home- and community-based patient portal solution that offers self-reported symptom assessment, individualized education content delivery, facilitation of remote medical care, and coordination of support from the patient's friends and family and from community resources. While SupportScreen excels in the provision of a broad range of biopsychosocial screenings, facilitation of referrals, and integration of electronic health records (EHRs), MyCaringCircle's strengths are its focus on symptom assessment via its access to a large library of validated measures and its facilitation of social support outside the clinical environment involving community resources.

Objective

This study includes 2 phases. In phase 1, with the software prototype, we conducted usability tests, which are an integral part of the user-centered design process and help ensure the intervention meets users' expectations and functions as intended. In phase 2, to evaluate the preliminary efficacy of PatientCareAnywhere compared with usual care (control condition), we conducted a pilot randomized controlled trial

(RCT) evaluating changes in self-reported patient outcomes, including HRQOL and self-efficacy, from baseline to postintervention assessment. We hypothesized that PatientCareAnywhere would result in significant improvements in HRQOL and patient self-efficacy compared with usual care among patients newly diagnosed with cancer.

Methods

PatientCareAnywhere

Overview

City of Hope, in partnership with BrightOutcome, a health care technology company, developed a patient-centered adaptive supportive care system (PatientCareAnywhere) to improve patient outcomes for patients with cancer while reducing health care costs. This project was funded by the National Cancer Institute via a Small Business Innovation Research Fast-Track grant (R44CA192588). PatientCareAnywhere is a patient empowerment solution that promotes internal resilience, self-efficacy, and independence. The key features of PatientCareAnywhere include (1) multilevel and adaptive biopsychosocial screening covering a comprehensive set of supportive cancer care domains (eg, emotional, physical, practical, and social) without overburdening patients with long static questionnaires; (2) automatic alert messages for abnormal screening results to clinical team; (3) specialist referrals and community support resources based on screening results; (4) individualized patient education contents based on screening results; (5) social media support for engagement of caregivers, family, friends, and community resources; (6) optimized display for different devices (eg, smartphones and tablets); and (7) EHR integration. The PatientCareAnywhere experience begins with an initial comprehensive biopsychosocial assessment covering physical symptoms (eg, pain), psychosocial issues (eg, anxiety), and practical concerns (eg, finances). Table 1 provides a list of biopsychosocial screening topics and designated care professionals for follow-up. The assessments start with first-level questions, which, when a patient's response exceeds

a pre-established threshold, will trigger additional follow-up questions to gain further insights into the patient's needs and concerns. Additionally, alert messages are generated for the clinical and support care teams.

These self-reported needs and the individual's disease and treatment stages form the basis for PatientCareAnywhere to offer responsive supportive care in terms of individualized patient education content, triage to specialists, and referrals to community resources. Cancer-specific content (eg, information about breast, lung, or prostate cancer and its treatment) and generic content (eg, emotional distress) was adapted from public domain sources, such as the National Cancer Institute, American Cancer Society, and NCCN, and from materials developed by the Division of Patient and Family Community Education at City of Hope. We also collected contact information for supportive care services provided by City of Hope and local community resources, which were recommended to patients based on their self-reported symptoms and needs. The system was designed to be used by patients, friends and families, health care professionals, and community resources. With PatientCareAnywhere, patients are at the center of the "circle of care," receiving support from multiple clinical, social, and community sources and across the continuum of care, from diagnosis to treatment to survivorship and end-of-life care. In addition, PatientCareAnywhere provides a communication platform to allow caregivers, family members, and friends to interact directly with the patient through the system. As a security feature, patients have complete control over who is included in their care circles and how much communication or information is shared with each person invited. In particular, caregivers are granted full access to patient medical records and can obtain information about the patient's current medications, laboratories and tests, vitals, biopsychosocial screenings, and symptom histories as well as keep track of medical appointments on PatientCareAnywhere, while noncaregivers have limited access. The main components of PatientCareAnywhere are listed Multimedia Appendix 1, and screenshots in of PatientCareAnywhere are included in Multimedia Appendix 2.



Table 1. Biopsychosocial screening items and associated referrals.

Primary follow-up				
Physician				
Pharmacy clinical manager, physician, social worker				
Social worker				
Cancer information resource nurse, nurse				
Financial counselor				
Patient navigator, resource coordinator, social worker				
Physician, nurse practitioner or physician extender				
Social worker				
Positive image center, social worker				
Social worker				
Chaplin				
Social worker				
Social worker				
Nurse				
Physician				
Nurse				
Social worker				
Nurse				
Clinical nutritionist, nurse				
Nurse practitioner or physician extender				
Nurse				
Physician				
Nurse				
Nurse				
Nurse practitioner or physician extender				
Nurse				
Clinical nutritionist, nurse				

Prototype Design and Development

User-Centered Design

The PatientCareAnywhere prototype was developed using an iterative user-centered design approach, in which targeted end users (patients with cancer) and other key stakeholders (eg, caregivers and health care professionals) were involved in the

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49703

XSL•FO RenderX design and development process to ensure the intervention aligns with the needs and preferences of patients newly diagnosed with cancer (target population). Research has shown that involving stakeholders throughout intervention development and evaluation is essential to increasing user acceptance and intervention effectiveness [46,47]. In addition, an expert panel with expertise in the fields of supportive care, oncology, nursing,

mental health, outcome research, palliative care, and patient education was assembled to provide continuous guidance and consultation on our prototype design and evaluation efforts.

Stakeholder Input

Feedback from patients with cancer and caregivers was largely unanimous in agreement with the idea of a system such as PatientCareAnywhere and the functions that they would like to see implemented. Notably, they all expressed strong support for social networking functions, the ability to keep track of appointments and medical records, access to tailored recommendations for educational support materials and local events and support groups, and the ability to report symptoms at any time that would send alerts to their care team. Patients expressed a strong interest in being able to connect with other patients with cancer who are going through or have been through the same experiences. Caregivers expressed support for the ability to connect with other caregivers to build a support network of others who are also going through the same caregiver experiences. Finally, patients and caregivers felt that the ability to create "help requests" that they could share with their network would make the logistics involved with having cancer and caring for someone with cancer a lot easier. All participants felt that they would like to use PatientCareAnywhere when it was available and that it would be a great resource for others in the same position. The only barriers that these focus groups identified involved possibly leaving out those who are not as technology savvy. However, each group concluded that most people have someone around who is able to help them with the technology.

Feedback from the expert panel highlighted a number of features that they wanted to see implemented in PatientCareAnywhere and the barriers that they foresaw in using PatientCareAnywhere. Overall, the expert panel liked the idea of a system such as PatientCareAnywhere for clinic use and clinic-based research. All members of the expert panel immediately recognized the benefits of having features such as social networking, tailored educational materials, event recommendations, and symptom reporting and management for patients with cancer and felt that PatientCareAnywhere would enable them to provide better care to their patients. The expert panel members also wanted to have the information from PatientCareAnywhere to be integrated into the EHR or have the 2 systems "speak" to each other so that they only had to enter information into 1 system, and it would automatically populate into both systems. The members also wanted to have additional clinical research features available as part of the initial biopsychosocial screening tool to deliver specialized questionnaires to the patients who are part of different research studies at City of Hope.

Ethical Considerations

All study procedures and assessments were reviewed and approved by the City of Hope Institutional Review Board before participant enrollment (institutional review board #15025). Written informed consent was provided by all study participants recruited for the usability testing (phase 1) and pilot RCT (phase 2), and all participants were provided the ability to opt out of the study at any time. To ensure participant privacy and confidentiality, study data were deidentified using participant

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49703
```

ID numbers. The mapping between participant IDs and actual participant identities was maintained by the City of Hope research team in a password-protected electronic file. Each study participant was given a unique participant login ID to access the prototype system, which also enabled researchers to retrieve information related to a specific participant. Usability testing participants (phase 1) were compensated US \$50 for their time. Pilot RCT participants (phase 2) received a US \$100 stipend as compensation for the time spent in the study.

Phase 1: Usability Testing

Overview

We conducted 2 types of usability testing to evaluate the usability, usefulness, and acceptability of the prototype system. The first usability test was "design oriented" and conducted after wireframes (schematics showing information elements and page flows) were produced. This allowed us to resolve initial design issues before significant development efforts took place. Once most of the development work was completed, we then conducted "metric-oriented" usability tests to formally evaluate the usability of the PatientCareAnywhere using quantitative assessments.

Study Participants and Design

To be eligible to participate in usability testing, patients were required to be (1) aged ≥ 21 years, (2) diagnosed with any cancer, (3) currently receiving any type of cancer treatment, (4) treated on an outpatient status (participation was suspended during hospitalization), (5) fluent in English, and (6) able to access the internet at home. Caregivers, friends, and family members of patients with cancer were also eligible to participate in the study. Those with evidence of cognitive or psychological impairment as well as prisoners and pregnant women were ineligible. Participants were also excluded if they were currently participating in another psychosocial study.

All patients with cancer and caregivers were recruited from City of Hope, a National Cancer Institute–designated comprehensive cancer center in Duarte, California, via physician referrals, subject recruitment flyers, and a touch screen biopsychosocial screening system (SupportScreen [45]), which included a question about participating in this study. Trained research assistants approached potentially eligible patients and discussed study participation either in person during an already scheduled clinic visit or via telephone. Interested patients were then screened for eligibility criteria, and those eligible wishing to enroll provided written informed consent. All participants consented before study participation and were enrolled between March and April 2016.

Each participant completed a 60-minute one-on-one usability testing session, in which they completed specific tasks using the prototype, and an observer recorded how the tasks were completed (or failed). Participants were asked to talk aloud as they performed the tasks. After completing all assigned tasks, participants for the second usability test also completed self-report measures to evaluate perceived usability, usefulness, and acceptability of the PatientCareAnywhere prototype.

XSL•FO RenderX

Usability testing sessions were audio recorded using encrypted audio recorders and professionally transcribed. The audio files were transmitted via secure protocols to an encrypted project folder on a secure file server at City of Hope. The original audio files were permanently deleted from the audio recorders once uploaded to the file server.

Measures

Usability

The System Usability Scale (SUS) is a validated and widely used 10-item usability measure [48]. Participants' scores for each item are added together and then multiplied by 2.5 to convert the original scores of 0 to 40 to 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating higher usability [48]. Overall SUS scores \geq 70.0 are considered above average in terms of acceptable usability [49,50].

Usefulness

Participants also completed a 35-item Usefulness Questionnaire, which was developed specifically for PatientCareAnywhere

Textbox 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria

- At least 21 years of age
- Diagnosis of breast, lung, or prostate cancer at any stage
- Currently being treated on an outpatient basis
- Life expectancy of at least 6 months
- Fluent in English
- Have home internet access

Exclusion criteria

- Clinical evidence of cognitive or psychological impairment
- Prisoners and pregnant women
- Currently participating in other psychosocial studies

Study recruitment included physician referrals, advertisements and flyers, and a patient health care portal (SupportScreen [45]) from City of Hope. Participants were enrolled between October 2017 and September 2019. All study participants were screened for complete eligibility criteria and provided written informed consent before study participation. Consented participants were randomized to either the PatientCareAnywhere intervention or usual care control condition using a computer-based random assignment program using a 1 to 1 ratio. Due to the nature of the study, it was not possible to blind participants' study conditions. Participants in both the intervention and control groups participated in their respective study arm for a 3-month and includes statements assessing the usefulness and design features of the system. Participants rated their level of agreement with each statement using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1="strongly disagree" to 5="strongly agree."

Data Analytic Plan

Data were collected and analyzed using SPSS (IBM Corp). Descriptive statistics (eg, means, frequencies, percentages) were used to characterize the sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the study sample. Summary statistics were used to describe the usability outcomes, including overall SUS scores and perceived acceptability and usefulness ratings.

Phase 2: Pilot RCT

Study Participants and Design

Textbox 1 shows the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the pilot RCT.

period and completed a baseline assessment at the time of enrollment (T1), which included a sociodemographic questionnaire and 2 biopsychosocial questionnaires assessing HRQOL, as measured by the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General (FACT-G) [51], and cancer-related self-efficacy, as measured by the Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Disease (SEMCD) [52]. Follow-up assessments (FACT-G and SEMCD) were completed monthly until the end of participation, resulting in 3 additional time points: 4 weeks from baseline (T2), 8 weeks from baseline (T3), and 12 weeks from baseline (T4). Table 2 outlines the procedures conducted at different time points of the RCT.
	1 1	
Time	Patient tasks	Clinical team tasks
Enrollment	 All: complete sociodemographic questionnaire at clinic All: complete baseline FACT-G^a and SEMCD^b (T1^c) All: set up an account for and receive an orientation to the PatientCareAnywhere system 	• All: enter clinic data into trial management system
Once a week	• Intervention: use the PatientCareAnywhere system, including the symptom reporting feature	• None
Every month	• All: complete FACT-G and SEMCD after 1 month (T2 ^d) and 2 months (T3 ^e) of participation	• All: enter survey data collected on paper into the system
Before every visit	• None	• Intervention: ensure symptom assessment report from PatientCareAnywhere is either printed or available on computer
During every visit	• Intervention: review symptom assessment report with the provider	• Intervention: review symptom assessment report with the patient
Conclusion of participa- tion	• All: complete FACT-G and SEMCD after 3 months of participation (end of the study; T4 ^f)	 All: enter all paper-based data into trial management system Intervention: compile metrics of PatientCareAnywhere system use (eg, frequency of use and time spent)

^aFACT-G: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General.

^bSEMCD: Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Disease.

^cAt the time of enrollment (baseline).

^d4 weeks after baseline (first midpoint of the study).

^e8 weeks after baseline (second midpoint of the study).

^f12 weeks after baseline (end of participation).

Study Conditions

Intervention Condition

Patients in the intervention group were encouraged to use PatientCareAnywhere at least weekly to not only report symptoms when necessary but also use other features of the site, such as the education content. Reminder emails were sent to patients to encourage the use of the system after 1 week of inactivity. Patient-reported symptoms of moderate or worse severities triggered email alerts to the study coordinators for triage, who then contacted appropriate providers or supportive care staff to address the patient's concerns.

Control Condition

Patients in the control group received usual care, including a 1-time use of SupportScreen for symptom checking at the clinic during initial treatment consultation after a cancer diagnosis. The use of SupportScreen could also trigger the delivery of consultation, print patient education materials, and specialist referrals.

Measures

RenderX

Sociodemographic and Cancer-Specific Characteristics

At baseline, before the intervention, patients self-reported sociodemographic information (eg, age, race, ethnicity, education, and income) and clinical information (eg, cancer

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49703

diagnosis and stage of cancer), which were confirmed via medical record review.

Health-Related Quality of Life

The FACT-G is a 27-item self-report questionnaire designed to measure 4 domains of HRQOL in patients with cancer, including emotional, functional, physical, and social well-being [51]. Patients rate the degree to which the items applied to them over the past 7 days using a 5-point response scale ranging from 1="not at all" to 5="very much." Total FACT-G scores range from 0 to 108, with a higher score indicating better quality of life.

Patient Self-Efficacy

Patient self-efficacy is an essential component of the treatment and management of illnesses, including cancer. The 6-item SEMCD scale measures patients' confidence in their ability to manage fatigue, physical discomfort or pain, emotional distress, and other symptoms or health problems; to carry out different tasks or activities to reduce the need to see a physician; and to do things other than taking medication to reduce illness effects [52,53]. Items are rated on a 10-point scale ranging from 1="not at all confident" to 10="totally confident," and scores are averaged across items. The final score (mean of the 6 items) ranges from 0 to 10, with higher scores indicating greater self-efficacy.

Intervention Use

PatientCareAnywhere tracked the frequency with which participants accessed the intervention over the 3-month study period. The system also recorded participants' responses to multiple symptom assessments and the time (minutes) it took to complete each assessment.

Sample Size

The primary goal of the pilot RCT was to compare the FACT-G change across time in the intervention group with the FACT-G change across time in the control group. The sample size calculation was based on prior research that established the minimally important difference for the total FACT-G ranges from 4 to 7 points [54-56]. Specifically, a sample size of 72 participants (36 participants per group) would achieve >80% power to detect a difference in mean changes of 7 (with SD of 12 at both time points and a correlation between measurement pairs of 0.65). The significance level is .05 using a 2-sided, 2-sample *t* test.

Data Analytic Plan

Descriptive statistics (eg, means, frequencies, and percentages) were used to characterize the sociodemographic and disease characteristics of the RCT participants. Demographic differences between intervention and control groups were evaluated using t test for continuous variables and Fisher exact test for categorical variables. Regarding FACT-G and SEMCD scores,

Table 3. Sample characteristics of usability testing participants (N=11).

independent sample t test was used to compare mean differences (ie, mean difference between pre- and postintervention scores) between the 2 groups at T4. All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS.

Hypotheses

We hypothesized that at postintervention, patients randomized to the PatientCareAnywhere intervention would report better HRQOL outcomes, as measured by the FACT-G (primary hypothesis), and self-efficacy, as measured by the SEMCD (secondary hypothesis), compared with patients randomized to the usual care control condition.

Results

Phase 1: Usability Testing

Participant Characteristics

A total of 11 participants (patients: n=4 and caregivers: n=7) participated in usability testing with a prototype of the PatientCareAnywhere system. This sample size was justified based on previous usability research demonstrating that 5 to 7 participants is sufficient to reveal about 80% of the usability issues [57]. Table 3 presents the sociodemographic characteristics of the usability testing sample. Patients were mostly non-Hispanic (7/11, 64%) and White (10/11, 91%), with an average age of 50 (SD 6.8) years. The average age of caregivers was 44 (SD 20) years.

	Patients (n=4)	Caregivers (n=7)
Age (y), mean (SD; range)	50.3 (6.8; 44-59)	43.7 (20.4; 23-73)
Gender, n (%)		
Man	0 (0)	4 (57.14)
Woman	4 (100)	3 (42.86)
Race, n (%)		
Asian	1 (25)	0 (0)
White	3 (75)	7 (100)
Ethnicity, n (%)		
Hispanic or Latino	2 (50)	1 (14.29)
Non-Hispanic	2 (50)	5 (71.43)
Unknown	0 (0)	1 (14.29)

Usability Outcomes

Qualitative Results

Individual interviews with patients with cancer and caregivers were conducted to evaluate the usability and usefulness of the PatientCareAnywhere system. The interviews consisted of asking the participants to complete a list of tasks that addressed each of the features of the PatientCareAnywhere system (eg, where to find certain information on the page or how to complete a symptom report) and recording the time it took for each task to be completed as well as identifying any tasks that were difficult to complete. Multimedia Appendix 3 provides the list

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49703

of tasks that were asked of participants. In addition to the task-completion activity, we solicited feedback from the participants on the site functions, features, and design as well as their ideas for improvement. All participants were able to complete the tasks within 5 seconds of being asked, and no participant experienced confusion about navigating the site and completing specific activities.

Participants also had high levels of satisfaction with the PatientCareAnywhere design, features, and functionality of the system. Specifically, patients enjoyed the ability to connect with friends, family, community organizations, other patients with cancer and survivors of cancer, and their care team. They felt

that the PatientCareAnywhere layout made sense to them as users, and they did not find any parts of the pages to be confusing. The patients uniformly liked the layout of the biopsychosocial screening tool and preferred the idea that they only had to give responses to the topics that they were concerned about on the tool. They also felt that the personalized recommendations would be a great asset to them during their cancer journey and were especially happy about being able to report their symptoms at any time. In addition, patients really liked the "one-stop-shop" idea of PatientCareAnywhere-the ability to keep track of their appointments and medical information in the same place as connecting with friends and family and finding local events and support groups. All patients felt that the wireframes were well thought out, and each one asked when the system would be available for use at City of Hope.

The caregivers also highly praised the PatientCareAnywhere wireframes. All caregiver participants felt that the wireframes were laid out in a logical manner. They particularly liked having access to their loved one's medical records and appointments (given only with the caregiver permission level), and they felt that this system would make caregiving a much easier experience. Other features that the caregivers highlighted would

Table 4.	Results	from t	the System	Usability	Scale q	uestionnaire	$(N=11)^{a}$.
----------	---------	--------	------------	-----------	---------	--------------	----------------

make a difference for them were the ability to complete a symptom report for their loved one (patient) and the "help request" feature that would allow caregivers (and patients) to send requests for help (eg, assistance with transportation) to their PatientCareAnywhere friends. The PatientCareAnywhere friends can respond to the email request if they can help and this affirmation is noted by the PatientCareAnywhere system. Overall, patients and caregivers did not have any trouble identifying how to complete the biopsychosocial screening tool and where to find recommendations, medical information, educational materials, and local events on the PatientCareAnywhere wireframes.

Quantitative Results

The average SUS total score was 84.09 (SD 10.02; range 75.00-100.00), which was well above the predetermined 70-point threshold reflecting "excellent" usability (Table 4). Regarding the Usefulness Questionnaire, participants agreed or strongly agreed with all 35 statements (refer to Tables 5 and 6, which include average ratings for each statement). Specifically, patients and caregivers rated the usefulness of PatientCareAnywhere site features from 4.00 to 5.00 (Table 5) or 3.86 to 4.86 (Table 6) and, respectively (4="agree" and 5="strongly agree").

Item	Score, mean (SD)
1. I think that I would like to use this system frequently.	4.18 (0.60)
2. I found the system unnecessarily complex.	1.64 (0.82)
3. I thought the system was easy to use.	4.36 (0.48)
4. I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use this system.	1.36 (0.70)
5. I found the various functions in this system were well integrated.	4.36 (0.48)
6. I thought there was too much inconsistency in this system.	1.55 (0.70)
7. I would imagine that most people would learn to use this system very quickly.	4.27 (0.42)
8. I found the system very cumbersome to use.	1.73 (1.03)
9. I felt very confident using the system.	4.36 (0.67)
10. I needed to learn a lot of things before I could get going with this system.	1.64 (0.67)

^aTotal usability score is a sum of individual items multiplied by 2.5 to convert original scores of 0 to 40 to 0 to 100. Possible item responses range from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).



Table 5. Results from the Patient's Usefulness Questionnaire $(N=4)^a$.

Item number and item	Score, mean (SD)
In managing my cancer care, it is useful to	
1. Connect with friends, family, and doctors/nurses through private messaging and wall posting features.	4.75 (0.50)
2. Receive education recommendations that are tailored to my medical situation and/or personal needs.	5.00 (0.00)
3. View support group recommendations that are tailored to my needs.	4.25 (0.50)
4. View recommendations for local classes and events that are tailored to my needs.	4.25 (0.50)
5. Be able to create help requests that are sent out to caregivers and/or friends.	4.75 (0.50)
6. Report symptoms via the symptom reporting tool.	5.00 (0.00)
7. Be able to track my symptoms over time via the symptom reporting tool.	4.25 (0.50)
8. View the educational articles that were recommended to me based off the reported symptoms.	5.00 (0.00)
9. Have access to my medication and supplement list.	4.75 (0.50)
10. Have access to my laboratories and tests results.	5.00 (0.00)
11. Have access to my other medical records.	5.00 (0.00)
12. Be able to add additional medical information or upload other medical documents.	4.75 (0.50)
13. View the care team members that have received referrals regarding my personal or medical needs.	4.75 (0.50)
14. See the events that are scheduled at the City of Hope.	4.00 (0.82)
15. See the events for which I am registered.	4.50 (0.58)
16. Add my own events to my calendar.	4.50 (0.58)
17. View the medical appointments that are scheduled for me.	5.00 (0.00)
18. View the help requests that have been sent out.	5.00 (0.00)
19. See which classes, events and support groups are available at the City of Hope.	4.25 (0.50)
20. See which classes, events and support groups are available in my local area.	4.25 (0.50)
21. Be able to register for a class, event or support group.	4.50 (0.58)
22. Read a description of the class/event/support group and the event leader's contact info.	4.50 (0.58)
23. Be able to read the educational content/articles that have been recommended to me.	4.75 (0.50)
24. Be able to save articles that I want to reference later into a "Favorites" area.	4.75 (0.50)
25. Be able to browse educational materials by category.	4.50 (0.58)
26. Be able to request additional information about a topic.	5.00 (0.00)
27. Be able to share an educational article with the PCA ^b administrators so that they could add it to PCA.	4.75 (0.50)
In general, I feel	
1. Comfortable using PCA on my own.	4.50 (0.58)
2. That PCA is an easy site to navigate.	4.50 (0.58)
3. That the overall look-and-feel of PCA is appealing.	4.50 (0.58)
4. That the overall organization of PCA is logical.	5.00 (0.00)
5. That for noncritical medical situations, I would rather get information and nurse help via PCA instead of having an in-person doctor's appointment.	4.50 (0.58)
6. That I would recommend PCA to other caregivers.	4.75 (0.50)
7. That I would recommend PCA to other patients.	4.75 (0.50)
8. That cancer centers should use PCA as part of their standard care practices.	4.75 (0.50)
Total score	4.66 (0.28)

^aThe highest score is 5.00 (strongly agree) and the lowest score is 1.00 (strongly disagree). ^bPCA: PatientCareAnywhere.

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 6. Results from the Caregiver's Usefulness Questionnaire (N=7)^a.

	Score, mean (SD)
In caring for my family member/friend who has cancer, it is useful to	•
1. Connect with her/him and others through private messaging and wall posting features.	3.86 (0.90)
2. Receive education recommendations that are tailored to my friend/family member's medical situation.	4.86 (0.38)
3. View support group recommendations that are tailored to my friend/family member's needs.	4.71 (0.49)
4. View recommendations for local classes and events that are tailored to my friend/family member's needs.	4.71 (0.49)
5. Be able to create help requests that are sent out to other caregivers and/or friends.	4.71 (0.49)
6. Report symptoms via the symptom reporting tool on behalf of my family member/friend.	4.71 (0.49)
7. Be able to track her/his symptoms over time via the symptom reporting tool.	4.71 (0.49)
8. View the educational articles that were recommended for her/him based off the reported symptoms.	4.86 (0.38)
9. Have access to her/his medication and supplement list.	4.86 (0.38)
10. Have access to her/his laboratories and tests results.	4.86 (0.38)
11. Have access to her/his other medical records.	4.86 (0.38)
12. Be able to add additional medical information or upload other medical documents.	4.86 (0.38)
13. View the care team members that have received referrals for my family member/friend.	4.71 (0.49)
14. See the events that are scheduled at the city of hope.	4.43 (0.79)
15. See the events for which he/she is registered.	4.43 (0.53)
16. Add my own events to my calendar.	4.29 (0.95)
17. Add events for my family member/friend.	4.29 (0.95)
18. View the medical appointments that are scheduled for my family member/friend.	4.86 (0.38)
19. View the help requests that have been sent out.	4.71 (0.49)
20. See which classes, events and support groups are available at the city of hope.	4.43 (0.98)
21. See which classes, events and support groups are available in my local area.	4.43 (0.79)
22. View the classes, events and support groups that are recommended for my family member/friend.	4.43 (0.79)
23. Be able to register my family member/friend for a class, event or support group on their behalf.	4.29 (0.76)
24. Read a description of the class/event/support group and the event leader's contact info.	4.43 (0.79)
25. Be be able to read the educational content/articles that have been recommended to my family member/friend.	4.86 (0.38)
26. Be able to save articles that i want to reference later into a "favorites" area.	4.86 (0.38)
27. Be able to browse educational materials by category.	4.71 (0.49)
28. Be able to request additional information about a topic.	4.71 (0.49)
29. Be able to share an educational article with the PCA ^b administrators so that they could add it to PCA.	4.43 (0.53)
For me personally as a caregiver, it is useful to	
1. Have education recommendations that are tailored to my role as caregiver	4.86 (0.38)
2. Have support group recommendations that are tailored to my role as caregiver.	4.29 (0.76)
3. Have recommendations for local classes and events that are tailored to my role as caregiver.	4.43 (0.53)
In general, I feel	
1. Comfortable using PCA on my own.	4.57 (0.79)
2. That PCA is an easy site to navigate.	4.43 (0.79)
3. That the overall look-and-feel of PCA is appealing.	4.43 (0.79)
4. That the overall organization of PCA is logical.	4.57 (0.53)
5. That for noncritical medical situations, I would rather get information and nurse help via PCA instead of having an in-person doctor's appointment.	4.29 (0.76)
6. That I would recommend PCA to other caregivers.	4.71 (0.76)

XSL•FO RenderX

Baik et al

	Score, mean (SD)
7. That I would recommend PCA to other patients.	4.71 (0.76)
8. That cancer centers should use PCA as part of their standard care practices.	4.57 (0.79)
Total scores	4.59 (0.23)

^aThe highest score is 5.00 (strongly agree) and the lowest score is 1.00 (strongly disagree). ^bPCA: PatientCareAnywhere.

Phase 2: Pilot RCT

Participant Characteristics

A total of 72 patients with cancer were enrolled and individually randomized (1:1) to the PatientCareAnywhere intervention (n=36, 50%) or usual care control condition (n=36, 50%) for 3 months. The following analysis was limited to 59 participants who completed at least 2 of the questionnaires (FACT-G and SEMCD): 28 (47%) patients in the intervention group and 31 (53%) patients in the control group. Of note, there were no significant differences in demographic characteristics between the included (59/72, 82%) and excluded (13/72, 18%) participants (Multimedia Appendix 4). Table 7 summarizes the pilot RCT participants' sociodemographic and cancer-related characteristics, with no significant between-group differences. Overall, the RCT participants had a mean age of 53.85 (SD 12.37) years and were predominantly women (49/59, 83%), White (41/59, 69%), and non-Hispanic or Latino (41/59, 69%). Most participants were married (43/59, 73%), had at least a college degree (33/59, 56%), and earned >US \$100,000 (29/59, 49%). The most common diagnosis was breast cancer (43/59, 73%) and nonmetastatic (stages 0-III; 33/59, 56%).



Baik et al

 Table 7. Sample characteristics of the pilot randomized controlled trial participants (N=59).

	Intervention (n=28)	Control (n=31)	P value
Age (y), mean (SD; range)	54.82 (12.32; 34-77)	52.97 (12.37; 30-79)	.57
Gender, n (%)			.73
Man	4 (14.29)	6 (19.35)	
Woman	24 (85.71)	25 (80.65)	
Race, n (%)			.55
Asian American	6 (21.43)	4 (12.90)	
Black or African American	2 (7.14)	5 (16.13)	
White	20 (71.43)	21 (67.74)	
Unknown	0	1 (3.23)	
Ethnicity, n (%)			.24
Hispanic or Latino	9 (32.14)	6 (19.35)	
Non-Hispanic	17 (60.71)	24 (77.42)	
Unknown or not reported	2 (7.14)	1 (3.23)	
Marital status, n (%)			.07
Single	2 (7.14)	6 (19.35)	
Married	19 (67.86)	24 (77.42)	
Separated or divorced	5 (17.86)	1 (3.23)	
Widowed	2 (7.14)	0 (0)	
Education, n (%)			.23
Less than high school	2 (7.14)	1 (3.23)	
High school	5 (17.86)	7 (22.58)	
College	13 (46.43)	20 (64.52)	
Graduate school	8 (28.57)	3 (9.68)	
Household income (US \$), n (%)			.93
<20,000	4 (14.29)	4 (12.90)	
20,000-29,999	2 (7.14)	1 (3.23)	
30,000-49,999	2 (7.14)	4 (12.90)	
50,000-69,999	3 (10.71)	5 (16.13)	
70,000-99,999	3 (10.71)	2 (6.45)	
>100,000	14 (50)	15 (48.39)	
Cancer, n (%)			.57
Breast	20 (71.43)	23 (74.19)	
Lung	5 (17.86)	2 (6.45)	
Prostate	2 (7.14)	3 (9.68)	
Unknown	1 (3.57)	3 (9.68)	
Disease stage, n (%)			.86
Stage 0	2 (7.14)	3 (9.68)	
Stage 1	6 (21.43)	5 (16.13)	
Stage 2	4 (14.29)	7 (22.58)	
Stage 3	2 (7.14)	4 (12.90)	
Stage 4	8 (28.57)	7 (22.58)	
Unknown	6 (21.43)	5 (16.13)	

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49703

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e49703 | p.187 (page number not for citation purposes)

Study Outcomes

Health-Related Quality of Life

The mean difference in FACT-G scores between the preintervention (T1; baseline) and postintervention (T4; 12-week postbaseline) assessments of each patient (Table 8) for the intervention group was 6.08 (SD 15.26), indicating an

Table 8. Results from the pilot randomized controlled trial.

improvement in HRQOL among patients who received PatientCareAnywhere. For the control group, the mean difference in FACT-G scores between the preintervention (T1) and postintervention (T4) assessments was -2.95 (SD 10.63), indicating a worsening of HRQOL among patients who received usual care. The between-group difference was statistically significant (*P*=.01), with a medium effect size (Cohen *d*=0.70).

Mean difference ^a (SD)	<i>P</i> value ^b
-2.95 (10.63)	.01
6.08 (15.26)	.01
-0.84 (11.20)	.09
4.22 (10.91)	.09
	Mean difference ^a (SD) -2.95 (10.63) 6.08 (15.26) -0.84 (11.20) 4.22 (10.91)

^aMean difference between preintervention (T1; baseline) and postintervention (T4; 12 weeks from baseline) scores.

^bSignificant *P* values (*P*<.05) are italicized.

^cHRQOL: health-related quality of life.

^dFACT-G: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General.

^eSEMCD: Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Disease.

Patient Self-Efficacy

Similarly, the mean difference in SEMCD scores between the preintervention (T1; baseline) and postintervention (T4; 12-week postbaseline) assessments (Table 8) for the intervention group was 4.22 (SD 10.91) and for the control group was -0.84 (SD 11.20). However, the between-group difference was not statistically significant (*P*=.09), with a small-to-medium effect size (Cohen *d*=0.46).

Intervention Use

Overall, 61% (17/28) of the patients in the intervention group were classified as "Frequent Users," defined as having accessed the PatientCareAnywhere site at least 5 times during the study. Among the frequent users, the mean difference between the first and last FACT-G scores was 7.12 (SD 15.4), which was statistically significantly higher than that of the control group (P=.007), with a large effect size (Cohen d=0.80). The mean difference between the first and last SEMCD scores (mean 5.47, SD 6.43) was also statistically significantly better than that of the control group (P=.03), with a medium effect size (Cohen d=0.71). In comparison, among the infrequent users (n=11), the mean difference between the first and last scores on the FACT-G (mean 4.02, SD 17.39; P=.10) and SEMCD (mean 0.73, SD 15.37; P=.68) did not significantly differ from the control group.

Symptom Reporting

Finally, a total of 140 symptom reports were recorded. On average, each symptom reporting session included 4.4 symptoms and lasted for 3.4 minutes.

Discussion

The primary aim of this study was to evaluate the usability and preliminary efficacy of PatientCareAnywhere, a patient-centered

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49703
```

adaptive supportive care system, to improve patient-reported outcomes for patients newly diagnosed with cancer.

Principal Findings

Both qualitative and quantitative usability testing results were notably positive and support the usability of PatientCareAnywhere. Overall, patients with cancer and caregivers were highly satisfied with the purpose and functions of the intervention, found the content relevant and useful, and expressed strong support for the biopsychosocial screening tool and personalized recommendations. On the basis of participant feedback, several changes were made to the design features: a "help request" function was added, caregivers were given greater access to the patient's medical information, and symptom reporting was added to the caregiver portal, allowing caregivers to report symptoms on the patient's behalf. In addition, the quantitative feedback demonstrated a high usability level for PatientCareAnywhere, with an average SUS score of 84.09 (SD 10.02), indicating above-average acceptable usability [49,50]. The scores on the Usefulness Questionnaire also reflected the positive experience that users had with the system and underlined the beliefs of participants that the features of PatientCareAnywhere were acceptable and useful during the cancer care journey.

Results from the pilot RCT demonstrate the preliminary efficacy of the PatientCareAnywhere intervention. Compared with usual care, patients with cancer who received PatientCareAnywhere showed statistically significant improvements in HRQOL from pre- to postintervention scores. While self-efficacy scores also increased in the intervention group, the difference was not statistically significant compared with the control group. When evaluating intervention use, "frequent users" (ie, patients who accessed the intervention at least 5 times during the study)

reported greater improvements in both HRQOL and self-efficacy outcomes (medium to large effect sizes) compared with the control group. These results confirmed our hypotheses that routine use of PatientCareAnywhere could result in improved HRQOL outcomes and greater patient self-efficacy among patients newly diagnosed with cancer, and that these effects were more prominent with greater intervention use. Furthermore, patients on average reported about 4 symptoms and completed the symptom assessment in <4 minutes. Notably, this is drastically shorter than SupportScreen, which takes approximately 15 to 20 minutes to complete [45]. This observation indicates that PatientCareAnywhere is also an efficient symptom reporting tool.

There is growing evidence of technology-assisted assessments and interventions enhancing the delivery of patient-centered care through improved symptom monitoring, communication between patients and providers, tailored resources, and patient empowerment and engagement across the continuum of care [42]. Our findings are in line with previous studies that have demonstrated the effectiveness of technology-based interventions in cancer care [42]. Recently, a comprehensive scoping review was conducted on 134 literature reviews of digital health and telehealth interventions across the cancer continuum, in which a majority focused on patients with cancer (n=128) in the active treatment (n=48) and survivorship (n=29) phases using eHealth programs, synchronous telehealth, mobile apps, asynchronous messaging (eg, email), and SMS text messaging [58]. A total of 29 reviews included a meta-analysis, with results signifying positive effects of digital health and telehealth in cancer care on quality of life, psychological outcomes (eg, anxiety and depression), and cancer screenings [58]. Of note, the benefits of digital supportive cancer care interventions have been demonstrated independent of demographic and disease factors [44,59]. The lack of a positive effect on self-efficacy warrants further evaluation. Similar to our findings, an RCT evaluating an internet-based interactive health communication application that allows patients with cancer to monitor their symptoms and provides tailored self-management support reported no significant between-group differences in depression, HRQOL, self-efficacy, and social support, although self-efficacy and HRQOL outcomes significantly worsened over time in the control group [60]. Conversely, an earlier review and meta-analysis of eHealth-based self - management interventions demonstrated a statistically significant effect on self-efficacy but noted that the effect size was small (<0.4) [61]. A larger sample size may be needed to observe meaningful changes in self-efficacy.

Strengths and Limitations of PatientCareAnywhere

PatientCareAnywhere was developed using a user-centered design approach to ensure the needs and preferences of patients newly diagnosed with cancer were addressed. Applying user-centered design principles to the overall development of PatientCareAnywhere resulted in a user-friendly, functional, useful, and acceptable supportive care intervention. In addition, the web-based delivery and responsive-design technologies allow patients to access the intervention at anytime and anywhere, including outside of clinic and at home, and use PatientCareAnywhere on multiple devices (eg, desktops,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49703
```

smartphones, and tablets), thereby providing more flexible intervention delivery and reducing common practical barriers to care (eg, transportation issues and scheduling conflicts). Furthermore, by remotely and routinely monitoring patients' biopsychosocial symptoms and distress, PatientCareAnywhere provides supportive cancer care tailored to their needs. Compared with other distress management systems, additional advantages of PatientCareAnywhere include (1)PatientCareAnywhere has access to numerous validated questionnaires, allowing an institution to pick and choose the ones that are most suitable for their patients and providers; (2) PatientCareAnywhere allows the invocation of another questionnaire for follow-up questions based on the results from a top-level screening tool; (3) PatientCareAnywhere provides a communication platform to allow caregivers, family members, and friends to interact directly with the patient via the system; (4) PatientCareAnywhere allows community organizations to post events and respond to patient requests for help; (5) PatientCareAnywhere delivers tailored and responsive patient education contents that evolve with the patient based on their current needs and concerns; and (6) PatientCareAnywhere is backed by City of Hope's comprehensive supportive care training program.

This study has some limitations. First, the objectives of this study were to establish the usability and preliminary effects of PatientCareAnywhere rather than investigate intervention efficacy. However, results from this pilot study will inform the next phase of research to conduct a full-scale RCT evaluating the efficacy of PatientCareAnywhere to improve HRQOL and reduce symptom burden compared with usual care. Second, the study was limited to patients diagnosed with breast, lung, or prostate cancer. We initially focused on these 3 common cancers to develop cancer-specific educational materials, with plans to expand to all cancer types (eg, gastrointestinal, gynecologic, head and neck, and hematologic) and treatment options following successful initial pilot testing results. Further study is warranted to adapt PatientCareAnywhere to other types of cancer and examine the extent to which our initial findings are generalizable to patients with different cancer diagnoses. Third, while sufficient for the purposes of our study, sample sizes for usability testing (N=11) and pilot RCT (N=78) were relatively small, limiting power and study results. It is possible that with a larger sample, stronger intervention effects may emerge. Fourth, study participants were limited to patients receiving care at City of Hope and may not be representative of the general cancer population in the United States. Furthermore, the intervention was only available in English and required patients to have internet access to participate in the study, which also may limit the generalizability of our findings. Future studies should investigate the efficacy of PatientCareAnywhere with a more diverse and larger sample of patients with cancer over a longer study period and explore the optimal intervention use to improve patient outcomes.

Conclusions

Engaging key stakeholders throughout the design and development process helped ensure PatientCareAnywhere was a patient-centered, user-friendly, efficient, and effective supportive care system. Overall, the results from initial pilot

XSL•FO RenderX

patients newly diagnosed with cancer.

Acknowledgments

Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health (R44CA192588). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Data Availability

The data sets generated during and analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

Conceptualization of this paper was done by SHB, KC, ML, DY, WD, and NH. SHB contributed to data analysis and interpretation, writing, and original draft preparation. KC, ML, DY, and NH participated in obtaining funding, methodology, project administration, and supervision of the study. AC was involved in project implementation, including participant recruitment, study coordination, and collection and assembly of data. MR conducted the formal analysis. KC, MS, ML, MR, WD, and NH contributed to the interpretation of data and writing, reviewing, and editing of the original manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Main components of PatientCareAnywhere. [DOCX File, 18 KB - cancer v10i1e49703 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Screenshots of PatientCareAnywhere. [DOCX File, 2954 KB - cancer_v10i1e49703_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 PatientCareAnywhere usability tasks (phase 1). [DOCX File, 18 KB - cancer v10i1e49703 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Sample characteristics of the included versus excluded pilot randomized controlled trial participants (phase 2). [DOCX File , 20 KB - cancer v10i1e49703 app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 CONSORT eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 2119 KB - cancer_v10i1e49703_app5.pdf]

References

- Zabora J, BrintzenhofeSzoc K, Curbow B, Hooker C, Piantadosi S. The prevalence of psychological distress by cancer site. Psychooncology 2001;10(1):19-28. [doi: <u>10.1002/1099-1611(200101/02)10:1<19::aid-pon501>3.0.co;2-6</u>] [Medline: <u>11180574</u>]
- Carlson LE, Angen M, Cullum J, Goodey E, Koopmans J, Lamont L, et al. High levels of untreated distress and fatigue in cancer patients. Br J Cancer 2004 Jun 14;90(12):2297-2304 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6601887] [Medline: 15162149]
- 3. Derogatis LR, Morrow GR, Fetting J, Penman D, Piasetsky S, Schmale AM, et al. The prevalence of psychiatric disorders among cancer patients. JAMA 1983 Feb 11;249(6):751-757. [doi: 10.1001/jama.249.6.751] [Medline: <u>6823028</u>]
- 4. Mehnert A, Hartung TJ, Friedrich M, Vehling S, Brähler E, Härter M, et al. One in two cancer patients is significantly distressed: prevalence and indicators of distress. Psychooncology 2018 Jan;27(1):75-82. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.4464</u>] [Medline: <u>28568377</u>]

- Steinberg T, Roseman M, Kasymjanova G, Dobson S, Lajeunesse L, Dajczman E, et al. Prevalence of emotional distress in newly diagnosed lung cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2009 Dec;17(12):1493-1497. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-009-0614-6</u>] [Medline: <u>19343372</u>]
- 6. Institute of Medicine. Cancer Care for the Whole Patient: Meeting Psychosocial Health Needs. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2008.
- Loscalzo M, Clark K, Pal S, Pirl WF. Role of biopsychosocial screening in cancer care. Cancer J 2013;19(5):414-420. [doi: 10.1097/PPO.0b013e3182a5bce2] [Medline: 24051615]
- Razavi M, Bergerot CD, Clark KL, Loscalzo M, Nuristani H, Obenchain R, et al. Association between requests for supportive care assistance and patients' characteristics, prior to treatment in a comprehensive cancer center. Psychooncology 2022 Aug;31(8):1347-1353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5938] [Medline: 35416373]
- Cleeland CS, Wang XS, Shi Q, Mendoza TR, Wright SL, Berry MD, et al. Automated symptom alerts reduce postoperative symptom severity after cancer surgery: a randomized controlled clinical trial. J Clin Oncol 2011 Mar 10;29(8):994-1000 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.29.8315] [Medline: 21282546]
- Ruland CM, Holte HH, Røislien J, Heaven C, Hamilton GA, Kristiansen J, et al. Effects of a computer-supported interactive tailored patient assessment tool on patient care, symptom distress, and patients' need for symptom management support: a randomized clinical trial. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2010;17(4):403-410 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jamia.2010.005660] [Medline: 20595307]
- 11. Carlson LE, Groff SL, Maciejewski O, Bultz BD. Screening for distress in lung and breast cancer outpatients: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2010 Nov 20;28(33):4884-4891. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.27.3698] [Medline: 20940193]
- Kornblith AB, Dowell JM, Herndon JE2, Engelman BJ, Bauer-Wu S, Small EJ, et al. Telephone monitoring of distress in patients aged 65 years or older with advanced stage cancer: a cancer and leukemia group B study. Cancer 2006 Dec 01;107(11):2706-2714 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.22296] [Medline: 17078057]
- Hoekstra J, de Vos R, van Duijn NP, Schadé E, Bindels PJ. Using the symptom monitor in a randomized controlled trial: the effect on symptom prevalence and severity. J Pain Symptom Manage 2006 Jan;31(1):22-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2005.06.014] [Medline: 16442479]
- Boyes A, Newell S, Girgis A, McElduff P, Sanson-Fisher R. Does routine assessment and real-time feedback improve cancer patients' psychosocial well-being? Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2006 May;15(2):163-171. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2005.00633.x] [Medline: 16643264]
- 15. Velikova G, Booth L, Smith AB, Brown PM, Lynch P, Brown JM, et al. Measuring quality of life in routine oncology practice improves communication and patient well-being: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2004 Feb 15;22(4):714-724. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.06.078] [Medline: 14966096]
- Macvean ML, White VM, Pratt S, Grogan S, Sanson-Fisher R. Reducing the unmet needs of patients with colorectal cancer: a feasibility study of the pathfinder volunteer program. Support Care Cancer 2007 Mar;15(3):293-299. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-006-0128-4</u>] [Medline: <u>16947039</u>]
- Klinkhammer-Schalke M, Koller M, Steinger B, Ehret C, Ernst B, Wyatt JC, et al. Direct improvement of quality of life using a tailored quality of life diagnosis and therapy pathway: randomised trial in 200 women with breast cancer. Br J Cancer 2012 Feb 28;106(5):826-838 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2012.4] [Medline: 22315052]
- Bramsen I, van der Linden MH, Eskens FJ, Bijvank EM, van Groeningen CJ, Kaufman HJ, et al. Evaluation of a face-to-face psychosocial screening intervention for cancer patients: acceptance and effects on quality of life. Patient Educ Couns 2008 Jan;70(1):61-68. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2007.09.010] [Medline: 17997260]
- Berry DL, Blumenstein BA, Halpenny B, Wolpin S, Fann JR, Austin-Seymour M, et al. Enhancing patient-provider communication with the electronic self-report assessment for cancer: a randomized trial. J Clin Oncol 2011 Mar 10;29(8):1029-1035 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.30.3909] [Medline: 21282548]
- 20. Velikova G, Keding A, Harley C, Cocks K, Booth L, Smith AB, et al. Patients report improvements in continuity of care when quality of life assessments are used routinely in oncology practice: secondary outcomes of a randomised controlled trial. Eur J Cancer 2010 Sep;46(13):2381-2388 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2010.04.030] [Medline: 20570138]
- 21. Kearney N, McCann L, Norrie J, Taylor L, Gray P, McGee-Lennon M, et al. Evaluation of a mobile phone-based, advanced symptom management system (ASyMS) in the management of chemotherapy-related toxicity. Support Care Cancer 2009 Apr;17(4):437-444 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-008-0515-0] [Medline: 18953579]
- 22. Mark TL, Fortner B, Johnson G. Evaluation of a tablet PC technology to screen and educate oncology patients. Support Care Cancer 2008 Apr;16(4):371-378. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-007-0312-1] [Medline: 17704955]
- Hilarius DL, Kloeg PH, Gundy CM, Aaronson NK. Use of health-related quality-of-life assessments in daily clinical oncology nursing practice: a community hospital-based intervention study. Cancer 2008 Aug 01;113(3):628-637 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23623] [Medline: 18543317]
- 24. Basch E, Artz D, Dulko D, Scher K, Sabbatini P, Hensley M, et al. Patient online self-reporting of toxicity symptoms during chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2005 May 20;23(15):3552-3561. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.04.275] [Medline: 15908666]
- Girgis A, Breen S, Stacey F, Lecathelinais C. Impact of two supportive care interventions on anxiety, depression, quality of life, and unmet needs in patients with nonlocalized breast and colorectal cancers. J Clin Oncol 2009 Dec 20;27(36):6180-6190. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.22.8718] [Medline: 19917842]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49703
```

- 26. Shimizu K, Ishibashi Y, Umezawa S, Izumi H, Akizuki N, Ogawa A, et al. Feasibility and usefulness of the 'distress screening program in ambulatory care' in clinical oncology practice. Psychooncology 2010 Jul;19(7):718-725. [doi: 10.1002/pon.1616] [Medline: 19673010]
- Ito T, Shimizu K, Ichida Y, Ishibashi Y, Akizuki N, Ogawa A, et al. Usefulness of pharmacist-assisted screening and psychiatric referral program for outpatients with cancer undergoing chemotherapy. Psychooncology 2011 Jun;20(6):647-654. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.1945</u>] [Medline: <u>21384467</u>]
- Grassi L, Rossi E, Caruso R, Nanni MG, Pedrazzi S, Sofritti S, et al. Educational intervention in cancer outpatient clinics on routine screening for emotional distress: an observational study. Psychooncology 2011 Jun;20(6):669-674. [doi: 10.1002/pon.1944] [Medline: 21370316]
- Carlson LE, Waller A, Groff SL, Zhong L, Bultz BD. Online screening for distress, the 6th vital sign, in newly diagnosed oncology outpatients: randomised controlled trial of computerised vs personalised triage. Br J Cancer 2012 Aug 07;107(4):617-625 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2012.309] [Medline: 22828610]
- 30. Carlson LE, Bultz BD. Benefits of psychosocial oncology care: improved quality of life and medical cost offset. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003 Apr 17;1:8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-1-8] [Medline: 12756059]
- 31. Simpson JS, Carlson LE, Trew ME. Effect of group therapy for breast cancer on healthcare utilization. Cancer Pract 2001;9(1):19-26. [doi: 10.1046/j.1523-5394.2001.91005.x] [Medline: 11879269]
- 32. Chumbler NR, Kobb R, Harris L, Richardson LC, Darkins A, Sberna M, et al. Healthcare utilization among veterans undergoing chemotherapy: the impact of a cancer care coordination/home-telehealth program. J Ambul Care Manage 2007;30(4):308-317. [doi: 10.1097/01.JAC.0000290399.43543.2e] [Medline: 17873662]
- Buzaglo JS, Zaleta AK, McManus S, Golant M, Miller MF. CancerSupportSource®: validation of a revised multi-dimensional distress screening program for cancer patients and survivors. Support Care Cancer 2020 Jan;28(1):55-64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-019-04753-w] [Medline: 30980258]
- Weinstein E, Kemmann M, Douglas SL, Daly B, Levitan N. Quality and cost outcomes of an integrated supportive care program. Support Care Cancer 2022 Jan;30(1):535-542 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-021-06450-z</u>] [Medline: <u>34333699</u>]
- Carlson LE, Zelinski EL, Toivonen KI, Sundstrom L, Jobin CT, Damaskos P, et al. Prevalence of psychosocial distress in cancer patients across 55 North American cancer centers. J Psychosoc Oncol 2019;37(1):5-21. [doi: 10.1080/07347332.2018.1521490] [Medline: 30592249]
- NCCN practice guidelines for the management of psychosocial distress. National comprehensive cancer network. Oncology (Williston Park) 1999 May;13(5A):113-147. [Medline: 10370925]
- Donovan KA, Jacobsen PB. Progress in the implementation of NCCN guidelines for distress management by member institutions. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2013 Feb 01;11(2):223-226. [doi: <u>10.6004/jnccn.2013.0029</u>] [Medline: <u>23411388</u>]
- Jacobsen PB, Ransom S. Implementation of NCCN distress management guidelines by member institutions. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2007 Jan;5(1):99-103. [doi: <u>10.6004/jnccn.2007.0010</u>] [Medline: <u>17239329</u>]
- Donovan KA, Deshields TL, Corbett C, Riba MB. Update on the implementation of NCCN guidelines for distress management by NCCN member institutions. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2019 Oct 01;17(10):1251-1256. [doi: <u>10.6004/jnccn.2019.7358</u>] [Medline: <u>31590156</u>]
- 40. Deshields TL, Wells-Di Gregorio S, Flowers SR, Irwin KE, Nipp R, Padgett L, et al. Addressing distress management challenges: recommendations from the consensus panel of the American psychosocial oncology society and the association of oncology social work. CA Cancer J Clin 2021 Sep;71(5):407-436 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21672] [Medline: 34028809]
- Aapro M, Bossi P, Dasari A, Fallowfield L, Gascón P, Geller M, et al. Digital health for optimal supportive care in oncology: benefits, limits, and future perspectives. Support Care Cancer 2020 Oct;28(10):4589-4612 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05539-1] [Medline: 32533435]
- 42. Penedo FJ, Oswald LB, Kronenfeld JP, Garcia SF, Cella D, Yanez B. The increasing value of eHealth in the delivery of patient-centred cancer care. Lancet Oncol 2020 May;21(5):e240-e251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30021-8] [Medline: 32359500]
- 43. Kim AR, Park HA. Web-based self-management support interventions for cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analyses. Stud Health Technol Inform 2015;216:142-147. [Medline: <u>26262027</u>]
- Marthick M, McGregor D, Alison J, Cheema B, Dhillon H, Shaw T. Supportive care interventions for people with cancer assisted by digital technology: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2021 Oct 29;23(10):e24722 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24722] [Medline: <u>34714246</u>]
- 45. Loscalzo M, Clark K, Dillehunt J, Rinehart R, Strowbridge R, Smith D. SupportScreen: a model for improving patient outcomes. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2010 Apr;8(4):496-504. [doi: <u>10.6004/jnccn.2010.0036</u>]
- 46. De Vito Dabbs A, Myers BA, Mc Curry KR, Dunbar-Jacob J, Hawkins RP, Begey A, et al. User-centered design and interactive health technologies for patients. Comput Inform Nurs 2009;27(3):175-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCN.0b013e31819f7c7c] [Medline: 19411947]

- 47. van Gemert-Pijnen JE, Nijland N, van Limburg M, Ossebaard HC, Kelders SM, Eysenbach G, et al. A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 05;13(4):e111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1672] [Medline: 22155738]
- 48. Usability. Digital.gov. URL: <u>https://digital.gov/topics/usability/</u> [accessed 2022-12-02]
- 49. Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the system usability scale. Int J Hum Comput Interact 2008 Jul 30;24(6):574-594. [doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776]
- 50. Brooke J. SUS: a 'quick and dirty' usability scale. In: Usability Evaluation In Industry. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1996.
- Cella DF, Tulsky DS, Gray G, Sarafian B, Linn E, Bonomi A, et al. The functional assessment of cancer therapy scale: development and validation of the general measure. J Clin Oncol 1993 Mar;11(3):570-579. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.1993.11.3.570</u>] [Medline: <u>8445433</u>]
- 52. Lorig KR, Sobel DS, Ritter PL, Laurent D, Hobbs M. Effect of a self-management program on patients with chronic disease. Eff Clin Pract 2001;4(6):256-262. [Medline: <u>11769298</u>]
- 53. Ritter PL, Lorig K. The English and Spanish self-efficacy to manage chronic disease scale measures were validated using multiple studies. J Clin Epidemiol 2014 Nov;67(11):1265-1273. [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2014.06.009] [Medline: 25091546]
- 54. Cella D, Eton DT, Lai JS, Peterman AH, Merkel DE. Combining anchor and distribution-based methods to derive minimal clinically important differences on the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy (FACT) anemia and fatigue scales. J Pain Symptom Manage 2002 Dec;24(6):547-561 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s0885-3924(02)00529-8] [Medline: 12551804]
- Webster K, Cella D, Yost K. The Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy (FACIT) Measurement System: properties, applications, and interpretation. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003 Dec 16;1:79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-1-79] [Medline: 14678568]
- 56. Yost KJ, Eton DT. Combining distribution- and anchor-based approaches to determine minimally important differences: the FACIT experience. Eval Health Prof 2005 Jun;28(2):172-191. [doi: 10.1177/0163278705275340] [Medline: 15851772]
- 57. Nielsen J. Why you only need to test with 5 users. Nielsen Norman Group. 2000 Mar 18. URL: <u>http://www.useit.com/</u> <u>alertbox/20000319.html</u> [accessed 2023-01-20]
- 58. Shaffer KM, Turner KL, Siwik C, Gonzalez BD, Upasani R, Glazer JV, et al. Digital health and telehealth in cancer care: a scoping review of reviews. Lancet Digit Health 2023 May;5(5):e316-e327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(23)00049-3] [Medline: <u>37100545</u>]
- 59. Larson JL, Rosen AB, Wilson FA. The effect of telehealth interventions on quality of life of cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Telemed J E Health 2018 Jun;24(6):397-405. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2017.0112] [Medline: 29112484]
- 60. Ruland CM, Andersen T, Jeneson A, Moore S, Grimsbø GH, Børøsund E, et al. Effects of an internet support system to assist cancer patients in reducing symptom distress: a randomized controlled trial. Cancer Nurs 2013;36(1):6-17. [doi: 10.1097/NCC.0b013e31824d90d4] [Medline: 22495503]
- 61. Xu A, Wang Y, Wu X. Effectiveness of e-health based self-management to improve cancer-related fatigue, self-efficacy and quality of life in cancer patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Adv Nurs 2019 Dec;75(12):3434-3447. [doi: 10.1111/jan.14197] [Medline: 31566769]

Abbreviations

EHR: electronic health record FACT-G: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General HRQOL: health-related quality of life NCCN: National Comprehensive Cancer Network RCT: randomized controlled trial SEMCD: Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Disease SUS: System Usability Scale

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 06.06.23; peer-reviewed by R Granger, R Vanderpool, P Innominato, R Vanderpool; comments to author 19.07.23; revised version received 22.12.23; accepted 21.03.24; published 10.07.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Baik SH, Clark K, Sanchez M, Loscalzo M, Celis A, Razavi M, Yang D, Dale W, Haas N Usability and Preliminary Efficacy of an Adaptive Supportive Care System for Patients With Cancer: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e49703 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49703 doi:10.2196/49703 PMID:



©Sharon H Baik, Karen Clark, Marisol Sanchez, Matthew Loscalzo, Ashley Celis, Marianne Razavi, Dershung Yang, William Dale, Niina Haas. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 10.07.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Artificial Intelligence–Based Co-Facilitator (AICF) for Detecting and Monitoring Group Cohesion Outcomes in Web-Based Cancer Support Groups: Single-Arm Trial Study

Yvonne W Leung^{1,2,3}, PhD; Elise Wouterloot¹, PhD; Achini Adikari⁴, PhD; Jinny Hong¹, PhD; Veenaajaa Asokan¹, BSCN, BSc; Lauren Duan¹, BSc; Claire Lam¹, BA; Carlina Kim¹, MDS; Kai P Chan¹, MEng, DMin; Daswin De Silva⁴, PhD; Lianne Trachtenberg^{1,5}, PhD; Heather Rennie^{1,6}, RMFT, MA, MSc; Jiahui Wong¹, MD, PhD; Mary Jane Esplen², PhD

¹de Souza Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

²Department of Psychiatry, Temerty Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

³College of Professional Studies, Northeastern University, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁴Centre for Data Analytics and Cognition, La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia

⁵Centre for Psychology and Emotional Health, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁶BC Cancer Agency, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Yvonne W Leung, PhD de Souza Institute University Health Network de Souza Institute c/o Toronto General Hospital 200 Elizabeth St RFE 3-440 Toronto, ON, M5G 2C4 Canada Phone: 1 647 299 1360 Email: <u>yw.leung@utoronto.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Commonly offered as supportive care, therapist-led online support groups (OSGs) are a cost-effective way to provide support to individuals affected by cancer. One important indicator of a successful OSG session is group cohesion; however, monitoring group cohesion can be challenging due to the lack of nonverbal cues and in-person interactions in text-based OSGs. The Artificial Intelligence–based Co-Facilitator (AICF) was designed to contextually identify therapeutic outcomes from conversations and produce real-time analytics.

Objective: The aim of this study was to develop a method to train and evaluate AICF's capacity to monitor group cohesion.

Methods: AICF used a text classification approach to extract the mentions of group cohesion within conversations. A sample of data was annotated by human scorers, which was used as the training data to build the classification model. The annotations were further supported by finding contextually similar group cohesion expressions using word embedding models as well. AICF performance was also compared against the natural language processing software Linguistic Inquiry Word Count (LIWC).

Results: AICF was trained on 80,000 messages obtained from Cancer Chat Canada. We tested AICF on 34,048 messages. Human experts scored 6797 (20%) of the messages to evaluate the ability of AICF to classify group cohesion. Results showed that machine learning algorithms combined with human input could detect group cohesion, a clinically meaningful indicator of effective OSGs. After retraining with human input, AICF reached an F_1 -score of 0.82. AICF performed slightly better at identifying group cohesion compared to LIWC.

Conclusions: AICF has the potential to assist therapists by detecting discord in the group amenable to real-time intervention. Overall, AICF presents a unique opportunity to strengthen patient-centered care in web-based settings by attending to individual needs.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.2196/21453

KEYWORDS

group cohesion; LIWC; online support group; natural language processing; NLP; emotion analysis; machine learning; sentiment analysis; emotion detection; integrating human knowledge; emotion lining; cancer; oncology; support group; artificial intelligence; AI; therapy; online therapist; emotion; affect; speech tagging; speech tag; topic modeling; named entity recognition; spoken language processing; focus group; corpus; language; linguistic

Introduction

Overview

Web-based care has become increasingly important in health care delivery as a means to accessibly reduce emotional distress. Online support groups (OSG) offer a convenient solution to those who cannot attend in-person support groups [1-3]. Professionally led OSGs occur in real time with participants engaging with a therapist and other participants in the group. Therapists facilitate the sharing of personal experiences to foster a mutually supportive environment. OSG participants report an increased sense of empowerment and control, as well as improved knowledge about their conditions [4].

Cancer Chat Canada (CCC) offers web-based professionally led, synchronous, text-based support groups to patients with cancer or caregivers across 6 Canadian provinces with a text-based nature allowing for anonymity while reaching people in rural areas. All groups provided via CCC are manual-based, consisting of 8-12 sessions. Each session focuses on a specific theme, homework readings, and web-based activities. Participants exchanged their experiences and ideas through a chatbox on the CCC platform. During sessions, therapists facilitate discussions based on the weekly readings, address issues or concerns, attend to emergent emotional needs of the members, and employ therapeutic techniques that promote a continuous sense of mutual support among the 6-10 members [5].

For group interventions to be effective, therapists encourage authentic emotional expression while effectively monitoring and addressing signals of distress [6]. However, the absence of visual cues, along with the simultaneous entries by multiple participants, can impose challenges for therapists to attend to all participants' needs during the session [4]. Therapists' failure to recognize and respond to participants' expressions of distress can reduce the participants' perceived level of support, safety, and trust in the group, leading to disengagement and attrition [7].

One way to reduce attrition and improve OSG services is through tracking and monitoring group cohesion [8,9]. A cohesive group experiences a sense of warmth, comfort, acceptance, affiliation, and support from other members they value [5]. Group cohesion is associated with positive participant outcomes, including reductions in distress and improvements in interpersonal functioning [5].

Traditionally, group cohesion is measured by participant self-report instruments, such as the Harvard Community Health Plan Group Cohesiveness Scale[10] and the Group Cohesion Scale Revised [10]. Alternatively, it can be measured by content analysis, where analysts assign ratings to the participants'

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e43070
```

statements [11]. While useful, these approaches have limitations of participant recall bias, measurement fatigue in self-reports, and time and cost of labor in post hoc qualitative analyses.

Previous studies demonstrate that a higher frequency of first-person singular pronouns use (ie, I, my), also referred to as "iTalk" or self-referential language, is a linguistic marker of general distress and is associated with negative psychological outcomes such as depression and suicidal behaviors [12-14]. In contrast, collective identity language use (ie, our group, us) was instrumental to group attachment [15]; with greater uses of references to the group as a whole and to other members predicting reduced symptoms of grief [11]. Aside from content analysis, such as Psychodynamic Work, Object Rating System [16], many studies adopted computerized textual analysis systems such as dtSearch [17], Linguistic Inquiry, and Word Count (LIWC) to track levels of cohesion through text [18-21]. In particular, Lieberman et al [20] detected group cohesion by combining LIWC to count the proportion of group referential language use and dtSearch to count words indicative of positive connotations (ie, hope, altruistic, accept, affection) within 10 words of such group referential language in an OSG for patients with Parkinson. However, Alpers et al [19] questioned the software's ability to process complex communications, suggesting that future studies should develop systems that analyze the context of discourse for real-time analysis.

Given the evidence, group cohesion can be systematically measured by a well-designed computer analytical system. We designed the Artificial Intelligence-based Co-Facilitator (AICF) to contextually identify therapeutic outcomes, including group cohesion from conversations, and produce real-time analytics [22-25]. AICF can track basic emotions, including joy, sadness, anger, trust, fear, anticipation, disgust, surprise, and psychological outcomes such as distress, group cohesion, and hopelessness for each participant in the OSGs [22,23]. AICF extracted emotions from the text by parsing through over 120,000 lines of chat messages from a training data set to multiple levels of granularity: word, phrase, sentence, post, and posts by each user [26]. AICF employed several natural language processing (NLP) techniques, such as Word2Vec [27] and text classification models. Classification models were trained to classify posts containing group cohesion mentions to determine the level of group cohesion in this web-based conversation setting. Each level of extraction served as an input for calibration for the subsequent extraction to increase accuracy [26,28,29]. AICF could, therefore, track and inform facilitators of each participant's level of cohesive statement use in their posts.

We hypothesized that AICF could detect first-person plural pronoun use (eg, we, our) in OSGs and group-references language use ("we-talk") as group cohesion, machine

XSL•FO RenderX

learning–based NLP could also identify a broader definition of group cohesion, including expressing gratitude, mutual support, and sense of belonging.

Objective

This study is focused on the development of a method to train and evaluate AICF's ability to detect group cohesion among cancer OSG members.

Methods

AICF Training and Development

The steps involved in the training and development of AICF's cohesion detection is outlined below.

Collecting Design Specifications

Experienced CCC therapists participated in phase 1 and phase 3 focus groups to obtain design specifications for which clinically meaningful outcomes AICF should capture and provide real-time analytics for, as well as the pros and cons after experiencing AICF clinically. All therapists who responded to our request to participate were involved in the study and are experienced in their field. In addition to the individual emotion tracking feature, the therapists expressed interest in tracking group processes with a particular emphasis on group cohesion. Therapists described group cohesion as a high frequency of posting by members with a sense of interconnectedness through replying to others. A successful group session results in members feeling supported and acknowledged by other group members. The results herein this manuscript excluded the results of these focus groups as they were published elsewhere.

Scoring Guide Development

A literature-based guide was developed to ensure that group cohesion statements were consistently identified and annotated by the human team.

Group cohesion is the sense of warmth, acceptance, support, and belongingness to the members [5], a sense of closeness, and participation [30]. It is measured by statements that reflect a sense of belonging and support in the group.

This belonging and support could be expressed with the statement themes below [31]. The following examples were from the CCC chat training data.

- 1. Reassurance or encouragement between peers
- 2. Expressing support or feeling supported
- 3. Deepening emotional disclosure and trust
- 4. A sense of belonging
- 5. Gratitude for the group
- 6. Finding shared experiences and commonalities
- 7. Looking forward to future sessions or connecting outside of the group
- 8. Reflecting on the positive aspects of the group

Creating Training Data

To train AICF to identify group cohesion, 1000 examples of cohesive statements from 10 OSG sessions were annotated by 2 human group therapists (EW and JH). These annotated examples were used for training the algorithm.

Algorithm Development

Feature Selection of Group Cohesion Expressions

First, a corpus of CCC chat sessions (~80,000 messages) was used to train a word embedding model using Word2Vec using the Gensim library in Python (gensim.models.Word2Vec [documents, size=100, window=10, min_count=2, workers=10]). This enabled the creation of a vector representation for each word in the corpus. This positioned semantically similar expressions in closer proximity to generate contexts of cancer OSG discussion. Second, to expand the group cohesion mentions, the annotated samples were fed into the trained Word2Vec model as inputs to query for neighboring words. This resulted in a set of semantically similar, contextually relevant group cohesion expressions. This enabled AICF to identify statements representing group cohesion, including keywords such as "us," "we," and "our group," as well as themes such as expressing gratitude, eagerness to attend upcoming group sessions, chatting outside of group time, mutual support, and a sense of belonging.

Training the Classifiers of Group Cohesion

To produce the probability of each post containing group cohesion, 3 models, multinomial naive Bayes, logistic regression, and multilayer perceptron (MLP) classifier with the group cohesion features selected were trained using the training data set.

Before training the classifier, a series of feature engineering steps were followed. Feature engineering is the process of creating features by extracting information from the data. For this purpose, the term frequency–inverse document frequency (TF-IDF) approach was used. TF-IDF is a statistical measure that evaluates how relevant a word is to a document in a collection of documents. It is performed by multiplying the term frequency and inverse document frequency of the word across a set of documents. In this classification task, the TF-IDF vectorizer was used with a limit of 5000 words capturing both unigrams (single words) and bi-grams (2 words that occur together). Next, the vectorizer was applied to the preprocessed training data set.

Once the data set was transformed, it was used to train multiple classifiers; naïve Bayes, random forest, support vector machine (SVM), multilayer perceptron (MLP), and logistic regression models. The objective of training multiple classifiers was to increase the performance of the final classification by incorporating multiple high-performing classifiers. This technique is called "soft voting," which is an ensemble machine learning technique that combines predictions from multiple models. Table 1 shows the F_1 -scores of the trained classifiers.



Table 1. The F1-scores of trained classifiers.

Classifier	F ₁ -score	
Support vector machine	0.63	
Naïve Bayes	0.79	
Multilayer perceptron	0.77	
Random forest	0.72	
Logistic regression	0.82	

Group Cohesion Score Calculation

Based on this, the top 3 classifiers were selected: naïve Bayes, MLP, and logistic regression. The outcomes of all 3 classifiers were used to make the final prediction. If a post is classified into the same label by 2 of the 3 classifiers, then the output label is used as the final outcome. A confidence value was generated for each classification based on the weighted F_1 -scores of each classifier. The average F_1 -score using 3 classifiers was 0.8.

In order to improve the performance of the model, an active learning approach [32] was used where human input is used as feedback to fine-tune the models. Therapists examined 20% (6797/34048) of the outputs using a confusion matrix (see Active Learning via Human Scoring section). The scoring results were then used as a feedback loop to improve the list of keywords of queried expressions. Lastly, to fine-tune group cohesion extraction, linguistic rules were hand-coded to handle exceptions such as past tense and empathetic questions by participants (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Process of group cohesion extraction. CCC: Cancer Chat Canada.



Linguistic Rules for Group Cohesion Score Adjustment

The following rules were added after the first round of scoring based on therapists' feedback:

- Intensifiers: We have used the intensifiers from a pretrained library, Valence Aware Dictionary and Sentiment Reasoner (VADER; [33], which considers intensity boosters such as "very" and "so much" to enhance the valence.
- 2. Past tense (in the part-of-speech tagging via the NLTK Python library): The score would be multiplied by 0.5 if past tense was present, as the event had happened in the past, we assume that the effect of the event on the person would subside.
- 3. Negation: The calculated cohesion score would be set to zero in case of a negation expression.
- 4. First-person tagging: This was set to be "False" if second or third person pronouns were found.
- 5. Empathy: If an empathy statement were found, then the calculated group cohesion score would be doubled to denote the intensity.

Finally, an aggregated score of group cohesion (β) was calculated for specific time intervals using the following formula:



where β is the group cohesion score; *T* is the specified time interval (30 minutes); A(t,t+T) is the set of all posts the occurred during the time *t* to t+T; and C(t,t+T) is the set of cohesion mentioned posts that occurred during the time *t* to t+T.

A group cohesion score was displayed and updated at 30-minute intervals on the 90-minute timeline in a real-time dashboard for therapists.

Active Learning via Human Scoring

Outputs were scored by undergraduate students (responsible for basic emotions), graduate students, and clinical experts (responsible for clinical and process outcomes). The team scored 20% of the output to inform AICF development, which was improved in light of the human scoring results. The updated AICF was run on the data of a new OSG (test data). Each AICF version was saved before training with new data. The team scored the output using definitions or examples from well-established psychometric measures such as the Group Cohesiveness Scale and Group Openness and Cohesion Questionnaire. A confusion matrix was used to score AICF outputs. The scoring process was based on recall, precision, and F_1 measures. Scorers' feedback using their domain expertise was used to improve AICF's performance until it achieved an F_1 -score of 80% before deploying in real-time OSG for beta-testing [34].

LIWC Evaluation

The Linguistic Inquiry Word Count (LIWC) software [35], considered the gold standard of psychology-based NLP, was used as a validation tool. LIWC reads a given text and calculates the percentage of total words in the text that match each of the LIWC dictionary categories. We tried to capture the concept of group cohesion using multiple LIWC dictionary categories: "we," "positive emotion," "family," "friend," and "affiliation" as the measurement criteria. We classified the text as an instance of group cohesion when at least 3 out of 5 criteria were met.

Ethical Considerations

The study protocol including the human participant recruitment method was approved by the University Health Network Research Ethics Board (confirmation number: UHN REB#18-5354). All identifiable information was removed from the quotes in this report. Participants were compensated with a CAD (73.34 USD) gift card upon the completion of the focus group.

Results

The results herein only focus on the human evaluation of the AICF system and its ability to detect group cohesion. We compared AICF to LIWC using human judgment using the confusion matrix and F_1 -score to measure accuracy and precision. AICF was run on 34,048 messages of CCC chat history to generate outputs for human scoring. Every fifth message was scored, totaling 6797 messages (20%). The precision, recall, and F_1 -scores are reported in Table 1 and show that logistic regression, followed by naive Bayes and MLP classifiers performed the best.

In this first round, AICF missed a high number of group cohesive statements (Table 2).

All scored statements were incorporated into AICF for improvement. In the second round, the team checked another 296 of 1208 messages (20%) from a separate set of CCC group conversations. AICF was able to improve the false-negative rate (recall) from 0.52 to 0.70.

We also ran LIWC on new OSG data (12,034 messages) from the CCC platform. Precision, recall, and F_1 -scores are listed in Table 3.

Within the "true positive" instances identified by AICF in agreement with the human scorers, several thematic categories and keywords emerged. They closely align with established measures of group cohesion [31], including expressions of support or a sense of belonging (Table 2). Moreover, some keywords consistently emerged within the true-positive statement classifications (eg, "we," "us," "our," "group," "support"). Among the false-positive identifications, it was typically due to a missed subtle negation within the sentence or when a participant wrote about a supportive person or activity from outside the group (Table 2).

Where AICF missed a classification of group cohesion (ie, a false negative), it was typically also due to nuanced conversational features on which it had not yet been trained, such as local expressions or idioms, supportive responses to others or statements missing identified group cohesion keywords (such as "we," "us," and "our"; Table 2). These correct and incorrect classifications were used to refine AICF detection of group cohesion as the algorithm progresses in development.



Table 2. Themes, keywords, and examples of AICF^a outputs.

Themes	Examples
True-positive themes	
Reassurance among peers	"Good for you, that must have been really difficult to do"
Expressing support/feeling supported	"sending hugs"; "thanks everyone for your support <3"
Deeping emotional disclosure and trust	"At my last treatment, I felt really scared, I didn't want to tell my family this. But I can tell this group"
Sense of belonging	"I am glad to be part of this group"
Gratitude for the group and peers	"Thank you everyone, this is such a great group."
Shared experiences	"It is amazing how much we all have in common"
Reflecting on the positive aspects of the group	"This group has been a great resource venue for meeting and I will continue down the road with fond memories of the time spent here"
Anticipating future groups/chats	"I can't wait to chat with you all next week"
Keywords: we, us, our, you all/all of you, thanks / thank you, time, chat, group, support, miss	"we are friends"; "thinking of you all!"; "time went by fast!";"A very good chat session"; "I'm so glad I found this group"; "thank you for your support and input"; "I am going to miss this group"
False-positive themes	
False detection of "we" or "us" when it is not indicative of group cohesion	"When I mentioned that last week, when we all said what our situations were, no one even acknowledged it. I was very hurt by that"
Talking about support from nongroup members	"When I put my things in order I involved my children and as challenging and emotional as it was it made it easier for me and for them - we laughed and cried but it really made me feel supported"
False-negative themes	
Idioms/expressions	"been there, am there got the t-shirt"; "I hope you don't think you've been placed in a hot seat. It's just that I missed you and worried about you."; "we are joining our circle"
Missed detection of providing empathy, encouragement, appreciation, and support to other members	"I am with you, be strong please"; "Are you going to be alright? I want you to know how much I appreciate your presence."
Missed detection of agreeing with or relating to others' stories	"I can relate"; "I feel the same way";
Missed statements because of lack of "we" language	"I am sure there will be a sense of connection, so much sharing already"; "I am sure I will think of you often"

^aAICF: Artificial Intelligence-based Co-Facilitator.

Table 3.	Artificial Intelligence-based	Co-Facilitator performance	evaluation for identification of gro	oup cohesion.
----------	-------------------------------	----------------------------	--------------------------------------	---------------

Scoring round/method	Precision	Recall	F ₁ -score
First	0.99	0.52	0.68
Second	0.98	0.70	0.82
Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count	0.36	0.23	0.28

Discussion

Principal Results

AICF, an ensemble of NLP and machine learning algorithms combined with annotation and human scoring, offers a novel way of measuring the group cohesion changes for each group member and alerting the therapist of these changes in real time. This affords therapists the opportunity to allocate their attention and resources for effective facilitation. The objective was to determine whether AICF can detect group cohesion beyond the first-person plural pronunciation use. The findings indicate that

XSL•FO

it is feasible to measure group cohesion in text-based complex human interactions using AICF. The level of congruency with human scoring suggests that it can be a helpful tool to therapists in improving the group cohesion outcome.

This study has opened an avenue to person-centered and process-outcome research using AI combined with human inputs to improve the quality of care, which otherwise is a labor-intensive research process. Initially, after being trained with 1000 annotated group cohesion statements processed by word embeddings and the domain expertise from therapists, AICF was able to achieve reasonable F_1 , precision, and recall

scores. Furthermore, training the algorithm using only word embeddings allows AICF to identify the various cohesion themes that emerged, which are consistent with previous research 34]. These themes include expressing support, reassurance, a sense of belonging, trust, deepening emotional disclosure, gratitude, remarking on shared experiences, reflecting on positive aspects of the group, and anticipating future chats. The findings suggest that training AICF to monitor therapeutic responses in web-based care is promising.

When combined with the human scoring examples in the algorithm, as little as 20% of the outputs, AICF obtained a high F_1 -score. The human rater detected both false-positive examples (eg, "Just have to find what works for you, I listen to a lot of audible books while I do chores, it's a mental distraction and really helps me") and false-negative examples (eg, "Thanks so much to all of you, for being in this moment. You've helped me get ready for yet another week."). These examples contributed to the rule-based algorithms as a second layer of analysis. While precision values remained relatively low in both rounds (0.99 vs 0.98), the recall value improved from 0.52 to 0.70 due to a reduction in false-negative classifications. These increases strongly suggest that a continuous effort to train AICF using human input can lead to a higher level of accuracy in detecting group cohesion.

After running LIWC on a test data set, its performance was evaluated by a human scorer. The precision, recall, and F_1 -scores were lower compared to the performance of AICF. Unlike AICF, which is capable of identifying group cohesion expressions and idioms, LIWC is programmed to identify certain keywords. For a false-negative example, LIWC was unable to detect the following quote as an instance of group cohesion due to the lack of the keyword "we": "I feel like I've suddenly inherited a whole group of sisters." Another instance of an LIWC false positive was that LIWC dictionary categories "family," "positive emotion," and "affiliation" falsely detected group cohesion from this quote: "My husband has helped me see that it isn't something I did, or who I am."

Comparison With Prior Work

This study successfully trained a machine learning system to detect cohesive statements in contrast to qualitative content analysis, which tends to be onerous and prone to human errors when dealing with large amounts of data [11]. Emerging computer programs such as Discourse Attributes Analysis Program (DAAP) [36] and LIWC [35,37] offer an iterative psycholinguistic approach to coding transcripts of psychotherapy for therapeutic moments [18,21]. For example, DAAP is based on a weighted dictionary that assigns weights to different words instead of solely detecting them as belonging to various categories where all matching words contribute equally to the generated scores. This method allows for greater accuracy in measuring different concepts compared to human coding while processing large amounts of data. However, these weighted dictionary approaches can be limited by a fixed number of instances that can be detected, and only one keyword can be considered in each matching rather than taking contexts into account. Additionally, they do not consider emerging words, phrases, idioms of expressions, word order, negation, and

XSL•FO

context-dependent factors, as well as their post hoc nature [19]. In this study, the word embedding approach was used to create contextual variables from the keywords to successfully detect a reasonably broad definition of cohesiveness. Thus, work will continue toward improving the accuracy of AICF in upcoming OSG sessions.

Limitations

AICF is based on a previously trained ensemble called Patient-Reported Information Multidimensional Exploration (PRIME) that was primarily trained on Australian web-based forum data [29]. Thus, Canadians may have used expressions or idioms that were unfamiliar to the original PRIME system and, therefore, not detected (eg, "My head is swirling" to describe feeling overwhelmed or "the clock is ticking" to describe an impending end of life). The local idioms and expressions were handled by the rule-based approach; ideally, AICF would be (re)trained with a large amount of local data in order to capture such idioms and expressions.

Currently, the interactional nature of the statement is not incorporated into AICF, including responses to other members' or therapists' statements. Furthermore, AICF cannot consistently distinguish whether participants are speaking about the group or about people outside of the group. When data accumulate, this distinction will become more obvious and refine AICF's detection ability within the context of an OSG.

The performance of AICF's group cohesion classification was evaluated in comparison to scores by 2 human experts, whose scoring was guided by the same criteria. However, given the nuanced nature of a group process like cohesion, there was still an element of personal judgment and openness to interpretation in the statements. Finally, emojis were not considered in the algorithm; future studies need to incorporate them as expressions of group cohesion.

Future Directions

ICF has been running in the background on 3 CCC groups and will soon be deployed for beta-testing on 10-12 groups. Participants will be filling out a survey package that includes the psychometrically validated questionnaire that tabs group cohesion for further validation. For algorithm development, sequencing the emotions expressed by each participant will be explored to capture more accurate emotional profiles.

The use of large language models (LLMs), such as ChatGPT, has revolutionized natural language understanding in the field of affective computing. Research suggests that an LLM called ROBERTa [38] has been equipped with emotion knowledge that contains 14 human conceptual attributes of emotions, including 2 affective, 6 appraisals, and 6 basic emotions. Future work will incorporate LLMs into our system to enhance AICF's ability to detect group cohesion and other significant clinical outcomes. For example, the LLM has already understood the syntactic difference between first-person and third-person pronunciation uses and their contexts. Combining both of these emotional attributes and syntax, we are able to better formulate an equation to calculate the tendency of a writer to be self-focused or other-focused. This will truly improve the accuracy and precision of group cohesion detection.

Lastly, In this study, 5 LIWC dictionary categories were used to capture the concept of group cohesion. Future studies may test whether there is a way that will improve the performance of group cohesion prediction using LIWC by (1) adding more categories, (2) reducing some categories, and (3) adding weighting to each criterion.

AICF will explore ways to measure multiple processes comprising group climate, including the level of participation, expression of emotion, signs of cohesion, avoidance, and therapeutic factors such as conflict, altruism, universality, interpersonal learning input and output, catharsis, identification, self-understanding, and instillation of hope [5,9,31]. If successful, AICF will be applied alongside the mobile health chatbot technology to provide a scalable, automated monitoring and referral system that screens users for specific symptoms, recommends individualized web-based and community resources, tracks each user's psychological outcomes through, and refers them to local therapists when necessary.

Conclusions

Optimal OSG delivery requires rapid alerts for therapists to effectively monitor markers of positive and negative responses within the group. This study has demonstrated that advanced machine learning algorithms combined with human inputs can reasonably detect the clinically meaningful indicator of group cohesion in OSGs. Future research in utilizing LLMs in AICF could enhance the capabilities in understanding the context, given the capability of creating a highly customized model in a short time. Therefore, AICF has the potential to assist therapists by highlighting issues that are amenable to intervention in real time, which allows therapists to provide greater levels of individualized support.

Acknowledgments

This research is funded by the Ontario Institute for Cancer Research Cancer Care Ontario Health Services Research Network.

Data Availability

The data sets generated during or analyzed during this study are not publicly available due to the presence of private health information but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

YWL contributed to conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, funding acquisition, investigation, methodology, project administration, resources, supervision, validation, writing the original draft, and reviewing and editing the manuscript. EW was involved in formal analysis and methodology. AA handled visualization, writing the original draft, reviewing and editing, formal analysis, and software. JH participated in formal analysis and methodology. VA contributed to writing the original draft and reviewing and editing. LD and CL were involved in the formal analysis. CK and KPC were involved in software validation. DDS provided supervision and funding acquisition. LT and HR contributed to validation and conceptualization. JW and MJE were responsible for writing, reviewing and editing, supervision, data curation, and funding acquisition.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Gratzer D, Goldbloom D. Making evidence-based psychotherapy more accessible in Canada. Can J Psychiatry 2016;61(10):618-623 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0706743716642416] [Medline: 27310234]
- 2. Male DA, Fergus KD, Stephen JE. Professional online support group facilitators: guarantors of maximal group utility. Int J Group Psychother 2017;67(3):314-336. [doi: <u>10.1080/00207284.2016.1240587</u>] [Medline: <u>38475609</u>]
- McCaughan E, Parahoo K, Hueter I, Northouse L, Bradbury I. Online support groups for women with breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017 Mar 10;3(3):CD011652 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD011652.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>28278559</u>]
- 4. van Uden-Kraan CF, Drossaert CHC, Taal E, Shaw BR, Seydel ER, van de Laar MAFJ. Empowering processes and outcomes of participation in online support groups for patients with breast cancer, arthritis, or fibromyalgia. Qual Health Res 2008;18(3):405-417. [doi: 10.1177/1049732307313429] [Medline: 18235163]
- 5. Yalom ID. The Theory and practice of group psychotherapy, 5th ed. In: The Theory and Practice of Group Psychotherapy. New York, NY, US: Basic Books/Hachette Book Group; 2005.
- Anderson WG, Alexander SC, Rodriguez KL, Jeffreys AS, Olsen MK, Pollak KI, et al. "What concerns me is..." Expression of emotion by advanced cancer patients during outpatient visits. Support Care Cancer 2008;16(7):803-811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-007-0350-8] [Medline: 17960430]
- 7. Roos J, Werbart A. Therapist and relationship factors influencing dropout from individual psychotherapy: a literature review. Psychother Res 2013;23(4):394-418. [doi: 10.1080/10503307.2013.775528] [Medline: 23461273]

- Clarke G, Eubanks D, Reid E, Kelleher C, O'Connor E, DeBar LL, et al. Overcoming Depression on the Internet (ODIN) (2): a randomized trial of a self-help depression skills program with reminders. J Med Internet Res 2005;7(2):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.2.e16] [Medline: 15998607]
- Johnson JE, Burlingame GM, Olsen JA, Davies DR, Gleave RL. Group climate, cohesion, alliance, and empathy in group psychotherapy: multilevel structural equation models. J. Couns. Psychol 2005;52(3):316-321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.3.310]
- 10. Treadwell T, Lavertue N, Kumar VK, Veeraraghavan V. The group cohesion scale-revised: reliability and validity. Int. J. Action Methods Psychodrama Ski. Train. Role Play 2001;54:3-12.
- 11. Sierra Hernandez CAS, Piper WE, Ogrodniczuk JS, Joyce AS, Weideman R. Use of referential language in short-term group psychotherapy for complicated grief. Group Dyn. Theory Res. Pract. Wash 2016;20(1):1-15. [doi: 10.1037/gdn0000038]
- 12. Fineberg SK, Leavitt J, Deutsch-Link S, Dealy S, Landry CD, Pirruccio K, et al. Self-reference in psychosis and depression: a language marker of illness. Psychol Med 2016;46(12):2605-2615 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0033291716001215] [Medline: 27353541]
- Pennebaker JW, King LA. Linguistic styles: language use as an individual difference. J Pers Soc Psychol 1999;77(6):1296-1312. [doi: <u>10.1037//0022-3514.77.6.1296</u>] [Medline: <u>10626371</u>]
- Tackman AM, Sbarra DA, Carey AL, Donnellan MB, Horn AB, Holtzman NS, et al. Depression, negative emotionality, and self-referential language: A multi-lab, multi-measure, and multi-language-task research synthesis. J Pers Soc Psychol 2019;116(5):817-834. [doi: 10.1037/pspp0000187] [Medline: 29504797]
- 15. Swol LMV, Kane AA. Language and group processes: an integrative, interdisciplinary review. Small Group Res. URL: https://journals-sagepub-com.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/doi/10.1177/1046496418785019 [accessed 2019-09-20]
- 16. Piper WE, McCallum WE. The psychodynamic work and object rating system. APA 2000:263-281. [doi: 10.1037/10378-010]
- 17. dtSearch. 1991. URL: https://dtsearch.com/ [accessed 2020-09-19]
- Brockmeyer T, Zimmermann J, Kulessa D, Hautzinger M, Bents H, Friederich H, et al. Me, myself, and I: self-referent word use as an indicator of self-focused attention in relation to depression and anxiety. Front Psychol 2015;6:1564 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01564] [Medline: 26500601]
- 19. Alpers GW, Winzelberg AJ, Classen C, Roberts H, Dev P, Koopman C, et al. Evaluation of computerized text analysis in an Internet breast cancer support group. Comput. Hum. Behav 2005;21(2):361-376. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2004.02.008]
- 20. Lieberman MA, Wizlenberg A, Golant M, Di Minno M. The impact of group composition on Internet support groups: Homogeneous versus heterogeneous Parkinson's groups. Group Dyn. Theory Res. Pract 2005;9(4):239-250 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/1089-2699.9.4.239]
- Mariani R, Maskit B, Bucci W, De Coro A. Linguistic measures of the referential process in psychodynamic treatment: the English and Italian versions. Psychother Res 2013;23(4):430-447. [doi: <u>10.1080/10503307.2013.794399</u>] [Medline: <u>23656534</u>]
- 22. Yvonne L, Elise W, Achini A, Graeme H, Daswin DS, Jiahui W, et al. Natural language processing–based virtual cofacilitator for online cancer support groups: protocol for an algorithm development and validation study. JMIR research protocols 2021:e21453.
- 23. Robert Plutchik. Chapter 1 A general psychoevolutionary theory of emotion. In: Theories of Emotion. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier; 1980:3-33.
- 24. Leung YW, Wouterloot E, Adikari A, Hirst G, de Silva D, Wong J, et al. Natural language processing-based virtual cofacilitator for online cancer support groups: protocol for an algorithm development and validation study. JMIR Res Protoc 2021;10(1):e21453 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21453] [Medline: 33410754]
- 25. Leung YW, Park B, Heo R, Adikari A, Chackochan S, Wong J, et al. Providing care beyond therapy sessions with a natural language processing-based recommender system that identifies cancer patients who experience psychosocial challenges and provides self-care support: pilot study. JMIR Cancer 2022;8(3):e35893 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35893] [Medline: 35904877]
- 26. Leung YW, Park B, Heo R, Adikari A, Chackochan S, Wong J, et al. The Patient-Reported Information Multidimensional Exploration (PRIME) framework for investigating emotions and other factors of prostate cancer patients with low intermediate risk based on online cancer support group discussions. JMIR Cancer 2022;8(3):e35893 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35893] [Medline: 35904877]
- Hu J, Jin F, Zhang G, Wang J, Yang Y. A user profile modeling method based on Word2Vec. 2017 Presented at: 2017 IEEE International Conference on Software Quality, Reliability and Security Companion; July 25-29, 2017; Prague, Czech Republic. [doi: <u>10.1109/qrs-c.2017.74</u>]
- De Silva D, Ranasinghe W, Bandaragoda T, Adikari A, Mills N, Iddamalgoda L, et al. Machine learning to support social media empowered patients in cancer care and cancer treatment decisions. PLoS One 2018;13(10):e0205855 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0205855] [Medline: 30335805]
- 29. Ranasinghe W, Bandaragoda T, De Silva D, Alahakoon D. A novel framework for automated, intelligent extraction and analysis of online support group discussions for cancer related outcomes. BJU Int 2017;120 Suppl 3:59-61. [doi: 10.1111/bju.14036] [Medline: 29058379]

- 30. Dies RR. Advances in group psychotherapy: integrating research and practice. In: MacKenzie KR, editor. AGPA. New York: International Universities Press; 1983.
- 31. Borek AJ. Developing and applying a framework to understand mechanisms of action in group-based, behaviour change interventions: the MAGI mixed-methods study. Effic. Mech. Eval 2019;6(3):1-162. [Medline: <u>31233299</u>]
- 32. Zeng J, Liang J, Wang X, Li L, Zeng D. A two-stage active learning algorithm for NLP based on feature mixing. In: Luo B, Cheng L, Wu ZG, Li H, Li C, editors. Neural Information Processing. ICONIP 2023 Communications in Computer and Information Science. Singapore: Springer; 2024.
- 33. Hutto C, Gilbert E. VADER: A parsimonious rule-based model for sentiment analysis of social media text. ICWSM 2014;8(1):216-225. [doi: 10.1609/icwsm.v8i1.14550]
- 34. Cota AA, Dion KL, Evans CR. A Reexamination of the Structure of the Gross Cohesiveness Scale. Educ. Psychol. Meas 2016;53(2):499-506 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0013164493053002019]
- 35. Tausczik YR, Pennebaker JW. The psychological meaning of words: LIWC and computerized text analysis methods. J. Lang. Soc. Psychol 2009;29(1):24-54. [doi: 10.1177/0261927X09351676]
- 36. Maskit B. Overview of Computer Measures of the Referential Process. J Psycholinguist Res 2021 Feb;50(1):29-49. [doi: 10.1007/s10936-021-09761-8] [Medline: <u>33464426</u>]
- 37. Pennebaker JW, Mayne TJ, Francis ME. Linguistic predictors of adaptive bereavement. J Pers Soc Psychol 1997;72(4):863-871. [doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.72.4.863] [Medline: 9108699]
- 38. Li M. Human emotion knowledge representation emerges in large language model and supports discrete emotion inference. Beijing, China: Tsinghua University; 2023.

Abbreviations

AICF: Artificial Intelligence–based Co-Facilitator CCC: Cancer Chat Canada DAAP: Discourse Attributes Analysis Program LIWC: Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count NLP: natural language processing OSG: online support group PRIME: Patient-Reported Information Multidimensional Exploration TF-IDF: term frequency–inverse document frequency VADER: Valence Aware Dictionary and Sentiment Reasoner

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 03.10.22; peer-reviewed by D Hu, J Guendouzi, Y Haralambous, M Chatzimina, PF Chen, D Chrimes, W Ceron; comments to author 10.04.23; revised version received 07.07.23; accepted 08.05.24; published 22.07.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Leung YW, Wouterloot E, Adikari A, Hong J, Asokan V, Duan L, Lam C, Kim C, Chan KP, De Silva D, Trachtenberg L, Rennie H, Wong J, Esplen MJ Artificial Intelligence–Based Co-Facilitator (AICF) for Detecting and Monitoring Group Cohesion Outcomes in Web-Based Cancer Support Groups: Single-Arm Trial Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e43070 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e43070 doi:10.2196/43070 PMID:39037754

©Yvonne W Leung, Elise Wouterloot, Achini Adikari, Jinny Hong, Veenaajaa Asokan, Lauren Duan, Claire Lam, Carlina Kim, Kai P Chan, Daswin De Silva, Lianne Trachtenberg, Heather Rennie, Jiahui Wong, Mary Jane Esplen. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 22.07.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

A Smart Water Bottle and Companion App (HidrateSpark 3) to Improve Bladder-Filling Compliance in Patients With Prostate Cancer Receiving Radiotherapy: Nonrandomized Trial of Feasibility and Acceptability

William Jin^{1,2}, MD; Christopher Montoya^{1,2}, MD; Benjamin James Rich^{1,2}, MD; Crystal Seldon Taswell^{1,2}, MD; Miguel Noy², BS; Deukwoo Kwon^{3,4}, PhD; Benjamin Spieler², MD; Brandon Mahal², MD; Matthew Abramowitz², MD; Raphael Yechieli², MD; Alan Pollack², MD, PhD; Alan Dal Pra², MD

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, Jackson Memorial Hospital, Miami, FL, United States

²Department of Radiation Oncology, Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of Miami Health Systems, Miami, FL, United States

⁴Department of Internal Medicine, McGovern Medical School, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States

Corresponding Author: William Jin, MD Department of Radiation Oncology Jackson Memorial Hospital 1611 NW 12th Avenue Miami, FL, 33136 United States Phone: 1 3055851111 Email: willhjin@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Patients with prostate cancer undergoing radiation therapy (RT) need comfortably full bladders to reduce toxicities during treatment. Poor compliance is common with standard of care written or verbal instructions, leading to wasted patient value (PV) and clinic resources via poor throughput efficiency (TE).

Objective: Herein, we assessed the feasibility and acceptability of a smartphone-based behavioral intervention (SBI) to improve bladder-filling compliance and methods for quantifying PV and TE.

Methods: In total, 36 patients with prostate cancer were enrolled in a single-institution, closed-access, nonrandomized feasibility trial. The SBI consists of a fully automated smart water bottle and smartphone app. Both pieces alert the patient to empty his bladder and drink a personalized volume goal, based on simulation bladder volume, 1.25 hours before his scheduled RT. Patients were trained to adjust their volume goal and notification times to achieve comfortably full bladders. The primary end point was met if qualitative (QLC) and quantitative compliance (QNC) were >80%. For QLC, patients were asked if they prepared their bladders before daily RT. QNC was met if bladder volumes on daily cone-beam tomography were >75% of the simulation's volume. The Service User Technology Acceptability Questionnaire (SUTAQ) was given in person pre- and post-SBI. Additional acceptability and engagement end points were met if >3 out of 5 across 4 domains on the SUTAQ and >80% (15/18) of patients used the device >50% of the time, respectively. Finally, the impact of SBI on PV and TE was measured by time spent in a clinic and on the linear accelerator (linac), respectively, and contrasted with matched controls.

Results: QLC was 100% in 375 out of 398 (94.2%) total treatments, while QNC was 88.9% in 341 out of 398 (85.7%) total treatments. Of a total score of 5, patients scored 4.33 on privacy concerns, 4 on belief in benefits, 4.56 on satisfaction, and 4.24 on usability via SUTAQ. Further, 83% (15/18) of patients used the SBI on >50% of treatments. Patients in the intervention arm spent less time in a clinic (53.24, SEM 1.71 minutes) compared to the control (75.01, SEM 2.26 minutes) group (P<.001). Similarly, the intervention arm spent less time on the linac (10.67, SEM 0.40 minutes) compared to the control (14.19, SEM 0.32 minutes) group (P<.001).

³Department of Public Health Sciences, Miller School of Medicine, University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States

Conclusions: This digital intervention trial showed high rates of bladder-filling compliance and engagement. High patient value and TE were feasibly quantified by shortened clinic times and linac usage, respectively. Future studies are needed to evaluate clinical outcomes, patient experience, and cost-benefit.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04946214; https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT04946214

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51061) doi:10.2196/51061

KEYWORDS

digital therapeutics; behavioral intervention; digital health; prostate cancer; radiation; smart water bottle; companion app; oncology; prostate; privacy; radiation therapy; bladder; compliance; smartphone-based behavioral intervention; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Patients with prostate cancer (PCa) undergoing radiation therapy (RT) are asked to self-manage bladder volumes throughout their daily radiation treatments. A consistent and comfortably full bladder is important to (1) minimize treatment-related toxicity by decreasing radiation dose to adjacent normal organs, and (2) to potentially maximize treatment precision by decreasing prostate motion and improving target stabilization. However, dosimetric analyses have shown considerable intrapatient variation in bladder volumes during treatment [1-3]. This multifactorial issue limits the effectiveness of a radiation treatment plan by reducing the plan's overall reproducibility.

Currently, there is no industry-standardized practice built into the management of an unfilled bladder. Some clinical practices have rigorous protocols in place, with standardized drinking and voiding intervals combined with pretreatment volume checks using bladder ultrasounds [4]. Yet bladder scan volumes vary by as much as 20% from daily cone-beam computerized tomography (CT) volumes, leaving much to be desired [5,6]. For practices that check bladder volumes with cone-beam CTs, patients with suboptimal bladder filling may need their treatment postponed until they fill their bladders appropriately, causing a preventable treatment delay. This translates to a loss of value for the patient and the clinician, and an identifiable inefficiency in the health care system.

Prior Work

Prior attempts at maintaining consistent, comfortably filled bladders, as defined by the treatment planning CTs, have found little success. For example, in a previous clinical trial aimed at determining the best technique for maintaining consistent bladder volumes, a set of explicit instructions was given to patients where they were told to drink 300 ml of water 1 hour before radiation treatment or told to arrive with a full bladder [7]. They discovered that despite having bladder-filling protocols, about half the patients in both arms forgot to do anything and arrived with an empty bladder. Attempts at identifying a minimum volume required for consistent filling are highly variable [8], and shift away from the expectation of a personalized treatment experience. Noncompliance with bladder filling remains a common occurrence in the daily treatment of PCa [9,10]. Treating with empty bladders may increase the risk of toxicity, as a full bladder pushes away the parenchymal bladder dome and bowel superiorly, away from the high-dose radiation field. Additionally, the dose delivered

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51061
```

XSL•F() RenderX to the rectum increased in patients with empty bladders [11], and other studies have found that at least 150 ml was needed in the bladder to meet dosimetric constraints for adjacent normal tissue [12-14].

Additionally, Grün et al [15] demonstrated that using biofeedback mechanisms for maintaining constant bladder volumes led to lower rates of significant (grade 2 or higher) acute genitourinary toxicities. In this current age, digital behavioral interventions found utility by improving health outcomes through promoting habitual change. The earliest successful trials that leveraged smartphone technology, or rather personal digital assistants, were directed at patients who were obese and at high risk for developing metabolic syndrome [16]. By assisting patients with the resources to effectively self-monitor their progress or regress and provide feedback, digital behavioral interventions empowered patients to take ownership of their health care. Subsequent studies found success even in socioeconomically disadvantaged populations, suggesting that the ubiquity of technology can disrupt socioeconomic health disparities [17]. The Pew Research Center's 2019 survey revealed 81% of Americans own a smartphone, a significant increase from the 35% identified in 2011 [18]. Between the age 50 and 64 years brackets, this ~80% (4644/5733) smartphone ownership rate does not break down across gender, ethnicity, or income. However, smartphone ownership drops to 53% (1014/1914) in people aged older than 65 years. The primary demographic of men with PCa who receive RT is aged ≥ 50 years.

Rationale for Study

Patients with PCa are generally a highly motivated population, compliant with dietary or lifestyle recommendations and actively engaged in their cancer care; yet the high rate of nonadherence to bladder-filling protocols leaves room for improvement. Sensory awareness of a bladder is usually limited to 2 states, full and not full. Patients with PCa may find it difficult to hold their bladder once they are aware it is full, which may be exacerbated by the high rate of comorbid prostatomegaly and lower urinary tract symptoms. Otherwise, patients normally do not have an awareness of a fractionally filled bladder (ie, 25% filled and 50% filled). Yet 50%-75% full is likely where the optimal filling of a bladder lies for radiation treatments. Therefore, we hypothesize that a smartphone-based behavioral intervention can motivate patients with PCa to optimally fill their bladders, reducing the need for reimaging while on the radiation treatment table and decreasing their overall time in a clinic.

Methods

Patient Selection

In total, 18 patients were prospectively enrolled in the intervention arm of a closed-access trial. They were eligible for enrollment if they were aged between 18 and 80 years, had American Joint Committee on Cancer 8th Edition Stage IA to IVA adenocarcinoma of the prostate requiring radiation treatment to the prostate, self-identified as "smartphone owners," owned either an iPhone (iOS 13.0 or higher) or Android (version 5.0.1 or higher), and were English or Spanish speaking. Patients were excluded if they had any history of pre-existing chronic or acute urinary retention; had any history of kidney, urothelial tract, or bladder cancer; underwent prior pelvic radiation, prostatectomy, pelvic surgery, or penile augmentation; did not have a functional bladder; or did not have functional vision.

In addition, 18 patients who met eligibility criteria but declined to enroll in the trial were retrospectively selected as controls. Patients were age, stage, risk, and fractionation scheme matched to the interventional cohort. Additionally, only patients who received treatment within the same enrollment period as the interventional cohort were included in the control group. Outcomes data for the control group was only collected for quantifying patient and health system-centered value. Patients in this cohort received standard written or verbal instructions for bladder and bowel preparation.

Ethical Considerations

Institutional review board approval was obtained (20200017) for this trial without any concerns. Informed consent was obtained from all patients at the first study visit. Patients were allowed to opt out at any time without penalty or fear of retaliation. All consumption volumes and times were synchronized to a cloud-based, remote patient monitoring platform based on anonymized research identification numbers (RIN). Generic user accounts were created for patients, with

anonymized personal information (names were their RIN, emails were randomized emails generated by the institution). No institutional affiliations were displayed in the app or on the smart water bottle. Only patients' RIN and smartphone make or model were collected in the cloud. No other personal health or self-identifying information was collected. While the remote patient monitoring platform was available for viewing to staff, they were instructed not to intervene if activity or usage decreased. Patients were not compensated for their participation in the trial, except for the smart water bottle intervention.

Patients were recruited at a single radiation oncology clinic at a National Cancer Institute–designated comprehensive cancer center. No selective patient sampling for study selection was performed. After being prescreened by our study coordinators, they were contacted either in person or via telephone to be introduced to this study. Informed consent was performed in person only at a subsequently determined study visit by our coordinators. No study advertisements or flyers were used.

Intervention

The intervention is a combination of a smart water bottle, a black HidrateSpark 3, and its companion smartphone app (versions 2.4.1-3.0.3 used during the trial). Its volumetric quantification abilities were previously validated [19] and used in a large, multicenter, prospective trial to reduce the formation of kidney stones in patients with a history of recurrent nephrolithiasis [20]. The app synchronizes with the bottle when placed within Bluetooth range. Within the app, the timing of notifications and volume goals (VGs) for consumption can be programmed. At the appropriate time, the smartphone will send a notification reminding patients to void their bladders and begin drinking the VG (Figure 1). Simultaneously, the bottle glows a bright, fluorescent green to provide another visual reminder (Figure 2). Notifications will be sent every 15 minutes until the VG is met that day. Patients were encouraged to use the intervention daily.



Figure 1. App will remind patients to drink water at preset times related to radiation treatment.



Figure 2. Smart water bottle will glow a bright fluorescent green color simultaneously with notifications.



Study Scheme

XSL•FO RenderX

Patients were provided in-person information about this study between the initial clinic visit and CT simulation; they could be enrolled at any point up until CT simulation, the first step in the standard of care RT pathway. During this session, the patient's anatomy is captured in a CT scan and then exported

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51061

to a treatment planning system. A radiation oncologist then delineates targets for treatment and organs at risk for dose minimization. Informed consent was obtained in person from research coordinators. On the day of the CT simulation, patients were onboarded and trained to use the intervention (Figure 3). Smart water bottles were also given at no cost to patients. Trained staff reviewed the functions of the app, particularly on

how to adjust notification timings and daily VGs. The initial VG was set to the volume of the bladder contour delineated on CT simulation. The initial notification times were set at 1 hour and 15 minutes before their treatment time.

On the first day of treatment, patients were administered an in-person questionnaire aimed at addressing the acceptability of digital technologies. During daily radiation treatments, patients were asked (in person) if they felt their bladders were adequately prepared. Staff were available during clinic hours to assist with any technical issues, such as adjustment of VGs, adjustment of notification times, bugs, malfunctions, and software issues. On the last day of treatment, patients were given the same in-person questionnaire.

Figure 3. Study scheme. CT: computerized tomography; SUTAQ: Service User Technology Acceptability Questionnaire.



Primary End Point: Qualitative and Quantitative Bladder-Filling Compliance

Before every fraction of radiation, patients were asked if "[they] adequately prepared the bladder for treatment?" Qualitative compliance was measured by recording patients' daily responses. Individual compliance status for this measure was met if \geq 80% of responses were "yes." Additionally, daily compliance was quantitatively assessed via 2 criteria. First, the patient must not be taken off the treatment table by the treating radiation oncologist after a review of initial CBCTs. Second, the bladder volume on the CBCT must be \geq 75% of the bladder volume on the initial simulation CT. Individual compliance status for this measure was met if \geq 80% (15/18) of patients met both criteria. The overall compliance rate for both measures was defined as the number of patients whose compliance status in this study.

Acceptability

Acceptability was evaluated using a modified version of the Service User Technology Acceptability Questionnaire [21]. This end point was met if mean scores in all domains of the Service User Technology Acceptability Questionnaire were ≥ 3 (SD 1.4142). Pre- and postintervention analyses were assessed via paired *t* tests (2-tailed). In addition, an in-person qualitative review of the patients' responses was performed after the second questionnaire to improve acceptability in future trials and clinic integration.

Engagement

The engagement end point was met if >80% (15/18) of patients used their bottles on >50% of daily treatments. Engagement was tracked using the remote monitoring platform (Figure 4). Age at diagnosis, race, phone manufacturing year, median home price of patient's zip code, distance from the cancer center, preferred language, and radiation fractionation scheme were evaluated for associations with poor engagement via binomial logistic regression.



Figure 4. Remote patient monitoring platform showing example water bottle usage data. oz: ounce.



Quantifying Value—Patient Centered and Health System Centered

Patient value was quantified by the amount of time patients spent in the clinic, captured from the time that the patient signed into the check-in desk until the patient gets off the linear accelerator (linac). Health system value was quantified by the amount of time the patient spent on the linac, captured from when the patient was initially taken into the linac room to the time the patient gets off the linac table. To meet this end point, the prospective interventional cohort was contrasted with a retrospectively generated control group matched by age, stage, risk stratification, and radiation fractionation scheme. This end point was met if there was a statistically significant difference in mean times between the 2 groups.

Statistical Analysis

All patients were prescreened from the radiation oncologic clinic for the prospective intervention arm and, if they met eligibility criteria, were invited to participate. To calculate the appropriate sample size, we used a historical bladder-filling compliance rate of 50%, based on data presented by Braide et al [7]. We anticipate the intervention will provide a 30% improvement over historical controls, thus requiring a sample size of 16 men. However, we aimed to recruit 18 men, which would allow for a 10% dropout or noncompliance rate, this would leave at least 16 evaluable patients, which would achieve 80% statistical power to detect a difference of 30% using a 1-sided binomial exact test with a 5% significance level.

Our primary end point, consisting of both qualitative and quantitative components, was assessed via descriptive statistics. To meet the end point, both components required $\geq 80\%$ compliance. For acceptability, pre- and postintervention analyses

were assessed via paired *t* tests. The engagement was similarly evaluated via descriptive statistics, where the end point was met if >80% (15/18) of patients used their bottles on >50% of daily treatments. Secondary analyses of engagement were evaluated by converting engagement (>50% daily use) into a binary categorical variable. This was set as the dependent variable, and age at diagnosis, race, phone manufacturing year, median home price of patient's zip code, distance from the cancer center, preferred language, and radiation fractionation scheme were set as independent variables. Subsequently, univariate logistic regression was performed and statistically significant independent variables would be included in a multivariate model. Patient-centered and system-centered values were evaluated by 2-sample *t* tests, using time spent as the continuous variable.

For all statistics, P<.05 was considered significant. Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS (version 23.0.0.2; IBM Corp).

Results

Patient Demographics

Between June 6, 2021, and June 15, 2022, 18 men were enrolled in a single-arm, phase zero pilot study to evaluate a digital therapeutic for improving bladder-filling compliance during PCa radiotherapy. Most patients were English-speaking Hispanic-White men with unfavorable intermediate to high-risk PCa (Table 1). The most common fractionation scheme received was split evenly between 36.25 Gy in 5 fractions and 80 Gy in 40 fractions. The interventional cohort did not significantly differ from the retrospective control group in terms of race or ethnicity, preferred language, stage, risk stratification, or fractionation scheme.



Table 1. Patient demographics.

	Intervention	Control	P value
Age at diagnosis (years), mean (SD)	64.94 (9.67)	68.00 (8.12)	.31
Race or ethnicity, n (%)			.34
Black	3 (16.7)	1 (5.6)	
Hispanic White	10 (55.6)	14 (77.8)	
Non-Hispanic White	5 (27.8)	3 (16.7)	
Preferred language, n (%)			.08
English	14 (77.8)	9 (50)	
Spanish	4 (22.2)	9 (50)	
American Joint Committee on Cancer 8th Edition Staging, n (%)			.21
II-A	2 (11.1)	2 (11.1)	
II-B	6 (33.3)	2 (11.1)	
II-C	4 (22.2)	7 (38.9)	
III-A	4 (22.2)	2 (11.1)	
III-C	1 (5.6)	5 (27.89)	
IV-A	1 (5.6)	0 (0)	
Risk stratification, n (%)			.84
Low	2 (11.1)	1 (5.6)	
Favorable intermediate	4 (22.2)	3 (16.7)	
Unfavorable intermediate	5 (27.8)	7 (38.9)	
High	7 (38.9)	7 (38.9)	
Radiation fractionation scheme, n (%)			≥.99
36.25 Gy in 5 fractions	7 (38.9)	7 (38.9)	
70.2 Gy in 26 fractions	4 (22.2)	4 (22.2)	
80 Gy in 40 fractions	7 (38.9)	7 (38.9)	

Primary End Point: Feasibility in Assessing Qualitative and Quantitative Bladder-Filling Compliance

Both qualitative and quantitative end points for bladder-filling compliance were met. Qualitatively, 18 out of 18 (100%) patients stated they prepared their bladders on 375 out of 398 (94.2%) daily radiation treatments. In addition, 16 out of 18 (89%) patients attained quantitative compliance on aggregate 341 out of 398 (85.7%) fractions.

Acceptability

Overall, patients were accepting of the intervention (Table 2). There were minimal concerns for privacy issues (mean score 4.33, SD 0.97). Patients believed there were perceived benefits from the intervention (mean score 4.00, SD 0.918), were satisfied with the intervention (mean score 4.56, SD 0.56), and noted high usability (mean score 4.24, SD 0.62). In addition, there was a statistically significant association between feeling less concerned about their health between pre- and postintervention scores (P=.02).

 Table 2. Service user technology acceptability questionnaire results.

		
lin	et	al
	υı	uı

Domain and question text		Preintervention score, mean (SD)	Postintervention score, mean (SD)	P value
Privacy				
	The kit I received has not invaded my privacy.	4.056 (0.99)	4.556 (0.62)	.06
	I am not concerned about the level of expertise of the individuals who monitor my health status via the kit.	4.000 (1.14)	4.056 (1.39)	.86
	The kit does not make me worried about the confidentiality of the private information being exchanged through it.	4.333 (0.69)	4.389 (0.70)	.79
Per	ceived benefits			
	This kit has made it easier to get in touch with my health care professionals.	3.667 (0.97)	4.056 (0.80)	.25
	The kit I received has increased my access to care.	4.000 (0.77)	4.111 (0.67)	.54
	The kit I received has helped me improve my health.	3.778 (0.81)	4.056 (0.73)	.33
	This kit has helped me to improve my health.	4.056 (0.80)	4.278 (0.67)	.33
	I do not feel anxious or nervous about the required bladder and rectal preparation for radiation treatment.	3.667 (1.28)	3.833 (1.15)	.64
	The kit has allowed me to be less concerned about my health and social care.	3.111 (1.08)	3.889 (1.08)	.02
	The kit has made me more actively involved in my health.	4.167 (0.92)	4.222 (0.73)	.83
	This kit can certainly be a good addition to my regular health or social care.	4.444 (0.51)	4.389 (0.70)	.77
	This kit has allowed me to be less concerned about my health status.	2.611 (1.46)	2.944 (1.11)	.38
	The kit allows the people looking after me, to better monitor me and my condition.	4.500 (0.62)	4.278 (0.70)	.16
Sat	isfaction			
	I am satisfied with the kit I received.	4.389 (0.61)	4.556 (0.51)	.33
	This kit can be and should be recommended to people in a similar condition to mine.	4.500 (0.62)	4.556 (0.62)	.67
Usa	bility			
	The kit I received has been explained to me sufficiently.	4.500 (0.62)	4.611 (0.61)	.43
	The kit can be trusted to work appropriately.	4.278 (0.83)	4.333 (0.84)	.77
	The kit has not made me feel uncomfortable, either physically or emotionally.	4.278 (1.13)	4.667 (0.49)	.17
	This kit interferes with the continuity of care I receive.	2.000 (1.08)	2.000 (1.19)	.99
	The kit I received has not interfered with my everyday routine.	4.167 (1.29)	4.611 (0.50)	.18

Engagement

The minimum engagement end point was met, as 15 out of 18 (83%) patients used the intervention on >50% of treatments throughout the trial. Additionally, 9 out of 18 (50%) patients used the bottle on 100% of treatments while 12 out of 18 (67%) patients used it on >85% of treatments. None of the a priori variables were significantly associated with poor engagement in univariate analysis, so a multivariate model was not generated. Specifically, the independent variables were age at diagnosis (P=.18), self-identified race (P=.82), median home price of zip code (P=.13), distance from cancer center (P=.10), preferred language (P=.87), and radiation fractionation (P=.34). Of the 3 patients who did not meet the minimum engagement criteria, 2 stated they needed a reminder to keep the physical water bottle

XSL•FO

nearby, and one encountered too many technical issues with water bottle refilling.

Feasibility in Quantifying Value—Patient Centered and Health System Centered

Patients in the intervention arm spent less time in the clinic (53.24, SEM 1.71 minutes) compared to the control (75.01, SEM 2.26 minutes) group (P<.001, Figure 5). Similarly, the intervention arm spent less time on the linac (10.67, SEM 0.41 minutes) compared to the control (14.19, SEM 0.32 minutes) group (P<.001, Figure 6).

When looking at the data more granularly, patients with empty bladders (n=43) spent significantly more time (75.14 vs 50.59 minutes, P=.007) in the clinic than patients who came with full

bladders (n=355, Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Similarly, these same patients spent nearly twice as long on the linac (21.63 vs 12.50 minutes, P<.001, Figure S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1). However, the presence of stool in the rectum had

more impact on clinic time. Expectedly, the presence of both an unprepared bladder and rectum led to the longest time spent in the clinic at 93.13 minutes (Figure S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1).









XSL•FO RenderX

Principal Results

This prospective study aimed to assess the feasibility and acceptability of a smart water bottle and companion app as an intervention to improve bladder-filling compliance in patients with PCa receiving RT. We showed that the intervention can be feasibly integrated into the clinic, retains high engagement, and was perceived by patients with high acceptability. In addition, the intervention was effective at reducing wasted value for the patient and the clinic, compared to matched controls.

Results in Context of Prior Work

To our knowledge, this is the only prospective study that evaluated a digital intervention for bladder filling in patients with PCa undergoing radiotherapy. However, multiple institutions have identified the benefits of delivering scalable care using mobile apps and started preliminary, pilot, and feasibility studies. For example, the Karolinska Institute reported on their study of the Interaktor app for their patients with PCa undergoing RT [22]. This app collected and triaged patient symptoms during RT, sent alerts to managing health care providers, and provided self-care advice. It was well received by patients (n=75), and daily symptom reporting was high, with 83%-87% adherence or engagement reported [22,23]. In addition, Thomas Jefferson University evaluated the feasibility and acceptability of its Strength Through Insight app, a tool that assessed electronic patient-reported outcomes during RT using a validated symptom questionnaire [24]. Similarly, we found that our patients were not only accepting and enthusiastic about using the intervention, but many believed that smartphone integration into their clinical care was long overdue. Digital consumer experiences in other industries may be shifting expectations for similar services in health care [25-27].

However, many barriers remain that prevent seamless digital therapeutic integration in the clinic. Key stakeholder buy-in is missing. Identifying the concerns of all stakeholders is necessary to create and mimic the infrastructure supporting the pharmaceutical industry. Our trial quantified the value of poor prostate radiotherapy preparation for both the clinic and the patient. Whereas prior studies only sought to identify waste that impacts health care spending, we also quantified patient value to prevent 0-sum game situations. For example, 4 separate institutions used bladder scanners to increase the probability of an adequately filled bladder on daily cone-beam CT [4,7,28,29], thereby potentially reducing the time wasted on the linac for checking unprepared bladders. However, it is often at the cost of the patient's experience. If a patient arrives for his PCa treatment with an unprepared bladder, he still needs to spend time at the clinic fixing the issue, regardless of how much time was saved in the treatment room. Often, patients may feel that

they failed their responsibility for adequate preparation, creating a sense of anxiety and a devalued overall experience [30].

Our study suggests that network effects may have a large role in engagement, a critical component of a successful digital intervention [31]. The goal is to smoothly embed itself into the daily lives of patients, continually analyze recorded data, and interject behavioral interventions when needed. Failures arise when subclinical usage occurs [32]. This study did not isolate patient experiences; those with the intervention were waiting for their treatments in the same waiting room as nontrial patients. Anecdotally, 2 of the patients with nearly 100% engagement felt empowered that they could use the intervention to improve their bladder-filling compliance, especially when they saw another patient struggling. The 2 patients who did not meet the engagement end point also had interesting similarities. Both were actively working and delegated the task of keeping the water bottle nearby to their spouses.

Finally, while the purpose of this trial was to evaluate an intervention on bladder-filling compliance, our data suggests there were nearly twice as many patients with poor rectal preparation than poor bladder preparation (Figures S1 and S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1). This suggests that to maximize time-based value metrics, better strategies for rectal preparation are also required.

Limitations

This study was limited by its design as a pilot study, specifically in extrapolating conclusions for the value-based end points using retrospectively matched controls. Specifically, quantitative and qualitative compliance data were only collected in the intervention arm. Additionally, interpreting the end points regarding acceptability may be confounded by patients who self-select as participants in a digital interventional trial. Designing apps agnostic to digital literacy is critical for ubiquitous adoption. The patient population may be limited in its diversity, as patients were enrolled at a private, National Cancer Institute-designated cancer hospital in South Florida. Quantification of digital literacy was not performed, as the intent of this study was to assess the technical, multi-stakeholder value, and subjective acceptance of the intervention, and this study would otherwise be underpowered.

Conclusions

A smart water bottle and companion app can be feasibly integrated into a radiation oncology clinic for patients with PCa. Patients are accepting of this digital intervention, with minimal concerns for privacy issues. It is crucial to quantify value for all stakeholders (patients, clinical team, economics) and identify 0-sum situations. This digital intervention has the potential to enhance value for all stakeholders concerned.

Acknowledgments

We graciously thank the Valdes Family and the Valdes Family Research and Education Grant for funding our research. In addition, we thank our collaborators and partners at Hidrate Inc and the HidrateSpark: Smart Water Bottle & Water Tracking App. This study was generously funded via the Valdes Family Research and Education Grant and the Department of Radiation Oncology

XSL•F() RenderX

at the University of Miami's Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center. The authors attest that there was no use of generative artificial intelligence (AI) technology in the generation of text, figures, or other informational content of this paper.

Data Availability

The data sets generated or analyzed during this study are not publicly available due to secondary analyses currently being run on them for another paper but are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

WJ was responsible for study conceptualization, design of the methodology, formal analysis, data visualization, and writing of the original draft of this paper. ADP was responsible for project administration, provisioning of resources, funding acquisition, overall supervision of this study, and review or editing of this paper. DK was responsible for data curation, formal analysis, statistical methodology, and review or editing of this paper. CM, BJR, and CST were responsible for formal analysis, data curation, and review or editing of this paper. All other authors were responsible for the review or editing of this paper. WJ, BJR, CST, and ADP were responsible for the study's design. WJ and ADP wrote the protocol and enrolled all patients for the trial. WJ and DK were responsible for statistical analysis. WJ generated figures and tables for publication. WJ, BJR, and CST wrote the initial draft of this paper. All authors contributed to this paper's editing.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Quantifying value for the patient and for the health system, time spent on linear accelerator, and time spent in clinic. [DOCX File, 30 KB - cancer v10i1e51061 app1.docx]

References

- Chen Z, Yang Z, Wang J, Hu W. Dosimetric impact of different bladder and rectum filling during prostate cancer radiotherapy. Radiat Oncol 2016;11:103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13014-016-0681-z] [Medline: 27485637]
- Rosewall T, Wheat J, Currie G, Kong V, Bayley AJ, Moseley J, et al. Planned versus 'delivered' bladder dose reconstructed using solid and hollow organ models during prostate cancer IMRT. Radiother Oncol 2016;119(3):417-422. [doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2016.03.022]
- 3. Lebesque JV, Bruce AM, Kroes AP, Touw A, Shouman T, van Herk M. Variation in volumes, dose-volume histograms, and estimated normal tissue complication probabilities of rectum and bladder during conformal radiotherapy of T3 prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1995;33(5):1109-1119. [doi: 10.1016/0360-3016(95)00253-7] [Medline: 7493837]
- 4. Cramp L, Connors V, Wood M, Westhuyzen J, McKay M, Greenham S. Use of a prospective cohort study in the development of a bladder scanning protocol to assist in bladder filling consistency for prostate cancer patients receiving radiation therapy. J Med Radiat Sci 2016;63(3):179-185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jmrs.162] [Medline: 27648282]
- Ung K, White R, Mathlum M, Mak-Hau V, Lynch R. Comparison study of portable bladder scanner versus cone-beam CT scan for measuring bladder volumes in post-prostatectomy patients undergoing radiotherapy. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 2014;58(3):377-383. [doi: 10.1111/1754-9485.12171] [Medline: 24597701]
- Mullaney L, O'Shea E, Dunne MT, Thirion PG, Armstrong JG. A comparison of bladder volumes based on treatment planning CT and BladderScan® BVI 6100 ultrasound device in a prostate radiation therapy population. Br J Radiol 2018;91(1091):20180160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1259/bjr.20180160] [Medline: 29888971]
- Braide K, Kindblom J, Lindencrona U, Månsson M, Hugosson J. The value of a bladder-filling protocol for patients with prostate cancer who receive post-operative radiation: results from a prospective clinical trial. Acta Oncol 2019;58(4):463-468. [doi: <u>10.1080/0284186X.2018.1554261</u>] [Medline: <u>30700199</u>]
- Chen H, Lin P, Kuo L, Lin K, Fang C, Chi C. Bladder volume reproducibility after water consumption in patients with prostate cancer undergoing radiotherapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Biomed J 2021;44(6 Suppl 2):S226-S234 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bj.2020.11.004] [Medline: 35300945]
- Casares-Magaz O, Moiseenko V, Hopper A, Pettersson NJ, Thor M, Knopp R, et al. Associations between volume changes and spatial dose metrics for the urinary bladder during local versus pelvic irradiation for prostate cancer. Acta Oncol 2017;56(6):884-890 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/0284186X.2017.1312014] [Medline: 28401808]
- O'Doherty M, McNair HA, Norman AR, Miles E, Hooper S, Davies M, et al. Variability of bladder filling in patients receiving radical radiotherapy to the prostate. Radiother Oncol 2006;79(3):335-340. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.radonc.2006.05.007</u>] [Medline: <u>16781790</u>]
- Frizzel B, Lovato J, Foster J, Towers A, Lucas J, Able C. Impact of bladder volume on radiation dose to the rectum in the definitive treatment of prostate cancer. J Community Support Oncol 2015;13(8):288-291. [doi: <u>10.12788/jcso.0156</u>] [Medline: <u>26859669</u>]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51061

- 12. Moore A, Forde E. A dosimetric evaluation of threshold bladder volumes for prostate cancer radiotherapy. J Med Imaging Radiat Sci 2017;48(3):270-275. [doi: 10.1016/j.jmir.2017.03.003] [Medline: 31047409]
- Fujioka C, Ishii K, Yamanaga T, Ogino R, Kishimoto S, Kawamorita R, et al. Optimal bladder volume at treatment planning for prostate cancer patients receiving volumetric modulated arc therapy. Pract Radiat Oncol 2016;6(6):395-401. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.prro.2016.05.007</u>] [Medline: <u>27374192</u>]
- Nakamura N, Shikama N, Takahashi O, Sekiguchi K, Hama Y, Akahane K, et al. The relationship between the bladder volume and optimal treatment planning in definitive radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. Acta Oncol 2012;51(6):730-734. [doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2011.639388] [Medline: 22132747]
- 15. Grün A, Kawgan-Kagan M, Kaul D, Badakhshi H, Stromberger C, Budach V, et al. Impact of bladder volume on acute genitourinary toxicity in intensity modulated radiotherapy for localized and locally advanced prostate cancer. Strahlenther Onkol 2019;195(6):517-525. [doi: 10.1007/s00066-018-1398-8] [Medline: 30443682]
- Burke LE, Styn MA, Glanz K, Ewing LJ, Elci OU, Conroy MB, et al. SMART trial: a randomized clinical trial of self-monitoring in behavioral weight management-design and baseline findings. Contemp Clin Trials 2009;30(6):540-551 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2009.07.003] [Medline: 19665588]
- 17. Foley P, Steinberg D, Levine E, Askew S, Batch BC, Puleo EM, et al. Track: a randomized controlled trial of a digital health obesity treatment intervention for medically vulnerable primary care patients. Contemp Clin Trials 2016;48:12-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2016.03.006] [Medline: 26995281]
- Pew Research Center. Mobile phone ownership over time. Pew Internet & American Life Project Internet 2019 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4135/9781412953993.n482]
- 19. Borofsky MS, Dauw CA, York N, Terry C, Lingeman JE. Accuracy of daily fluid intake measurements using a "smart" water bottle. Urolithiasis 2018;46(4):343-348 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00240-017-1006-x] [Medline: 28980082]
- 20. Stout TE, Lingeman JE, Krambeck AE, Humphreys MR, Zisman A, Elfering S, et al. A randomized trial evaluating the use of a smart water bottle to increase fluid intake in stone formers. J Ren Nutr 2022;32(4):389-395. [doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2021.07.007] [Medline: 35283036]
- 21. Hirani SP, Rixon L, Beynon M, Cartwright M, Cleanthous S, Selva A, et al. Quantifying beliefs regarding telehealth: development of the whole systems demonstrator service user technology acceptability questionnaire. J Telemed Telecare 2017;23(4):460-469. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16649531] [Medline: 27224997]
- 22. Langius-Eklöf A, Christiansen M, Lindström V, Blomberg K, Hälleberg Nyman M, Wengström Y, et al. Adherence to report and patient perception of an interactive app for managing symptoms during radiotherapy for prostate cancer: descriptive study of logged and interview data. JMIR Cancer 2017;3(2):e18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.7599] [Medline: 29089290]
- Crafoord M, Fjell M, Sundberg K, Nilsson M, Langius-Eklöf A. Engagement in an interactive app for symptom self-management during treatment in patients with breast or prostate cancer: mixed methods study. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(8):e17058 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17058] [Medline: 32663140]
- Tran C, Dicker A, Leiby B, Gressen E, Williams N, Jim H. Utilizing digital health to collect electronic patient-reported outcomes in prostate cancer: single-arm pilot trial. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(3):e12689 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12689] [Medline: 32209536]
- 25. Kreyenschulte T, Bohnet-Joschko S. Expectations of generation Y for digital health innovations. Bundesgesundheitsblatt 2022;65(9):881-890. [doi: 10.1007/s00103-022-03567-2]
- 26. Moore K, O'Shea E, Kenny L, Barton J, Tedesco S, Sica M, et al. Older adults' experiences with using wearable devices: qualitative systematic review and meta-synthesis. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2021;9(6):e23832 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23832] [Medline: 34081020]
- 27. Schäfer F, Quinquis L, Klein M, Escutnaire J, Chavanel F, Chevallier H, et al. Attitudes and expectations of clinical research participants toward digital health and mobile dietary assessment tools: cross-sectional survey study. Front Digit Health 2022;4:794908 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2022.794908] [Medline: 35355684]
- Kuo D, Hsu C, Wang W, Chen H, Shueng P. BladderScan feedback method in predicting bladder filling for prostate radiotherapy: a prospective study. Technol Cancer Res Treat 2021;20:1533033821995277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1533033821995277] [Medline: 33706617]
- 29. Hynds S, McGarry CK, Mitchell DM, Early S, Shum L, Stewart DP, et al. Assessing the daily consistency of bladder filling using an ultrasonic Bladderscan device in men receiving radical conformal radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Br J Radiol 2011;84(1005):813-818 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1259/bjr/50048151] [Medline: 21159811]
- Bristow BJ, McGuffin M, Szumacher E, Fitch M, Di Prospero L, D'Alimonte L. Assessing the psychological impact of daily bowel preparation on prostate patients who receive radiation therapy. J Med Imaging Radiat Sci 2018;49(1):70-75. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jmir.2017.07.004</u>] [Medline: <u>30479292</u>]
- Strauss G, Flannery JE, Vierra E, Koepsell X, Berglund E, Miller I, et al. Meaningful engagement: a crossfunctional framework for digital therapeutics. Front Digit Health 2022;4:890081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2022.890081] [Medline: 36052316]
- 32. Patel NA, Butte AJ. Characteristics and challenges of the clinical pipeline of digital therapeutics. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3(1):159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-00370-8] [Medline: 33311567]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51061
```
Abbreviations

CT: computerized tomography linac: linear accelerator PCa: prostate cancer PV: patient value QLC: qualitative compliance QNC: quantitative compliance RIN: research identification number RT: radiation therapy SBI: smartphone-based behavioral intervention SUTAQ: Service User Technology Acceptability Questionnaire TE: throughput efficiency VG: volume goal

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 19.07.23; peer-reviewed by W Yu Jen, P Tyagi; comments to author 03.11.23; revised version received 06.11.23; accepted 04.03.24; published 10.09.24.

Please cite as:

Jin W, Montoya C, Rich BJ, Taswell CS, Noy M, Kwon D, Spieler B, Mahal B, Abramowitz M, Yechieli R, Pollack A, Dal Pra A A Smart Water Bottle and Companion App (HidrateSpark 3) to Improve Bladder-Filling Compliance in Patients With Prostate Cancer Receiving Radiotherapy: Nonrandomized Trial of Feasibility and Acceptability JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51061 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51061 doi:10.2196/51061 PMID:

©William Jin, Christopher Montoya, Benjamin James Rich, Crystal Seldon Taswell, Miguel Noy, Deukwoo Kwon, Benjamin Spieler, Brandon Mahal, Matthew Abramowitz, Raphael Yechieli, Alan Pollack, Alan Dal Pra. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 10.09.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Uncovering the Daily Experiences of People Living With Advanced Cancer Using an Experience Sampling Method Questionnaire: Development, Content Validation, and Optimization Study

Joran Geeraerts¹, MSc; Lara Pivodic¹, MSc, PhD; Lise Rosquin¹, MSc; Eline Naert², MD; Geert Crombez³, MSc, PhD; Mark De Ridder⁴, MD, PhD; Lieve Van den Block¹, MSc, PhD

¹End-of-Life Care Research Group, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, Belgium

²Department of Medical Oncology, Universitair Ziekenhuis Gent, Ghent, Belgium

³Department of Experimental Clinical and Health Psychology, Universiteit Gent, Ghent, Belgium

⁴Translational Radiation Oncology, Physics and Supportive Care Research Group, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, Belgium

Corresponding Author:

Joran Geeraerts, MSc End-of-Life Care Research Group Vrije Universiteit Brussel Laarbeeklaan 103 Brussels, 1090 Belgium Phone: 32 2 477 47 57 Email: joran.geeraerts@vub.be

Abstract

Background: The experience sampling method (ESM), a self-report method that typically uses multiple assessments per day, can provide detailed knowledge of the daily experiences of people with cancer, potentially informing oncological care. The use of the ESM among people with advanced cancer is limited, and no validated ESM questionnaires have been developed specifically for oncology.

Objective: This study aims to develop, content validate, and optimize the digital Experience Sampling Method for People Living With Advanced Cancer (ESM-AC) questionnaire, covering multidimensional domains and contextual factors.

Methods: A 3-round mixed methods study was designed in accordance with the Consensus-Based Standards for the Selection of Health Measurement Instruments (COSMIN) and the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer guidelines. The study included semistructured interviews with 43 people with stage IV breast cancer or stage III to IV lung cancer and 8 health care professionals. Round 1 assessed the appropriateness, relative importance, relevance, and comprehensiveness of an initial set of ESM items that were developed based on the existing questionnaires. Round 2 tested the comprehensibility of ESM items. Round 3 tested the usability of the digital ESM-AC questionnaire using the m-Path app. Analyses included descriptive statistics and qualitative content analysis.

Results: Following the first round, we developed an initial core set of 68 items (to be used with all patients) and a supplementary set (optional; patients select items), both covering physical, psychological, social, spiritual-existential, and global well-being domains and concurrent contexts in which experiences occur. We categorized items to be assessed multiple times per day as momentary items (eg, "At this moment, I feel tired"), once a day in the morning as morning items (eg, "Last night, I slept well"), or once a day in the evening as evening items (eg, "Today, I felt hopeful"). We used participants' evaluations to optimize the questionnaire items, the digital app, and its onboarding manual. This resulted in the ESM-AC questionnaire, which comprised a digital core questionnaire containing 31 momentary items, 2 morning items, and 7 evening items and a supplementary set containing 39 items. Participants largely rated the digital questionnaire as "easy to use," with an average score of 4.5 (SD 0.5) on a scale from 1 ("completely disagree") to 5 ("completely agree").

Conclusions: We developed the ESM-AC questionnaire, a content-validated digital questionnaire for people with advanced breast or lung cancer. It showed good usability when administered on smartphone devices. Future research should evaluate the potential of this ESM tool to uncover daily experiences of people with advanced breast or lung cancer, explore its clinical utility, and extend its validation to other populations with advanced diseases.

KEYWORDS

cancer; quality of life; ecological momentary assessment; experience sampling method; telemedicine; mHealth; eHealth; patient outcome assessment; validated instruments

(ie,

its

Introduction

Background

Quality of life assessment among people with cancer often relies on retrospective patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs), which typically require patients to aggregate their experience over several days or weeks into 1 score (eg, "During the past week, were you tired?") [1-3]. This precludes temporally fine-grained knowledge on how cancer-related experiences such as physical or psychological symptoms and concerns change within and across days and the mechanisms underlying these changes. Moreover, studies found that retrospective PROMs often over- or underestimate in-the-moment somatic and psychological experiences across various populations, indicating a need for more fine-grained measures [4,5]. From a research and clinical perspective, this detailed knowledge on in-the-moment experiences is critical for improving patient symptom management and psychosocial support, such as by identifying novel intervention targets.

To bridge this gap, the experience sampling method (ESM) [6], also called ecological momentary assessments [7], may be suitable. The ESM or ecologic momentary assessments involve repeatedly gathering self-reported data from participants in the context of their daily lives, often multiple times per day for several consecutive days through mobile devices such as smartphones [7-9]. Contrary to traditional PROMs, the ESM mitigates retrospective biases and improves ecological validity of findings by asking questions about momentary experiences in their natural environment (eg, "At this moment, I feel...") [7]. Moreover, the ESM provides the opportunity to study affect over time (ie, experiences of feelings or emotions) as an important indicator of emotional functioning and psychological well-being [9-11] and to investigate patients' experiences together with concurrent contexts, such as the social environment [12]. Including contextual items can facilitate the identification of situations that alleviate or exacerbate certain thereby informing experiences, future psychosocial interventions.

Despite the ESM's potential to provide novel insights into the daily experiences of people with cancer, its use in oncology research remains limited, especially among people with advanced (ie, metastatic) cancer [9,12,13]. Nevertheless, compared to people in the earlier stages of cancer, people with advanced cancer have a higher likelihood of experiencing symptoms and concerns that negatively impact their quality of life [14,15]. A possible explanation for the limited use of these methods among people with advanced cancer is that researchers may avoid them to prevent placing additional burden on patients through repeated assessments. However, to develop and improve interventions to alleviate these high levels of symptoms and distress, gaining a more detailed understanding of the well-being of people with advanced cancer in the context of their daily life

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57510
```

XSL•FC RenderX ng method; telemedicine; mHealth; eHealth; patient fluctuations, mechanisms, determinants, and

consequences) is imperative; for this purpose, the use of the ESM is recommended [16,17]. The limited number of ESM studies among people with advanced cancer have investigated a range of symptoms, concerns, and measures of well-being across quality of life domains and provided evidence for the dynamic nature and associations thereof [18-30]. For example, Badr et al [21] found that greater pain in the morning was associated with feeling less aroused mood (eg, more tiredness and less peppy) during the rest of the day for women with metastatic breast cancer, with pain and low arousal mood being associated with romantic relationship interference.

There is currently no validated ESM questionnaire designed specifically for people with advanced cancer [9,13]. Validity, especially content validity, is a crucial indicator of whether the content of an instrument is an adequate reflection of the construct being measured [31,32]. However, it is often overlooked in ESM research as a whole, leading to recent calls for more content validation of ESM questionnaires [9,13,32,33].

By reporting the development, content validation, and optimization of an ESM questionnaire, this study is the first step of a larger project in which we aim to test the feasibility of the ESM and use it to obtain novel insights into the daily experiences of people with advanced cancer. Because symptoms can vary across different advanced cancer diagnoses and our aim was to develop a questionnaire that is highly relevant to the specific experiences of intended users, our project's scope is narrowed to people living with advanced breast or lung cancer. We selected these diagnoses as they are among the most prevalent cancer diagnoses with high mortality rates [34-36] and are associated with considerable risk for experiencing serious symptom burden [37-41].

Objectives

In this study, we aimed to develop, validate, and optimize the Experience Sampling Method for People Living With Advanced Cancer (ESM-AC) questionnaire. The digital ESM questionnaire aims to comprehensively assess relevant daily experiences (ie, symptoms, concerns, and well-being) of people with advanced breast or lung cancer and the context in which these experiences occur; it collects these data multiple times per day for several consecutive days.

Methods

Study Design

We conducted a 3-round interview study with patients and health care professionals using a mixed methods research design (summarized in Figure 1 [42]). To develop and validate the ESM questionnaire in the first 2 interview rounds, we based our design on the guidelines of PROMs [31,43] because no specific guidelines for ESM questionnaires were available [32].

Specifically, the Consensus-Based Standards for the Selection of Health Measurement Instruments (COSMIN) methodology [31] guided the assessment of the content validity of our initial set of items in the first 2 rounds (ie, covering relevance, comprehensibility, and comprehensiveness; refer to Textbox 1 for an overview of key psychometric concepts used in this study). In the first round, the item set was shortened and categorized into a core and supplementary item set based on content validity, appropriateness, and relative importance, following the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) guidelines for module development [43-45]. The second round focused on the comprehensibility of all items and on the relevance and appropriateness of the items added after round 1. In the third round, we optimized the digital (core) ESM questionnaire by assessing barriers related to its usability for patients using the dedicated ESM smartphone app (ie, m-Path; KU Leuven [46]).

Figure 1. Flowchart of the development and validation procedure [42]. EORTC QLQ-C30: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality of Life Questionnaire; ESM: experience sampling method; FACIT-Pal: Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy—Palliative Care; IPOS: Integrated Palliative Care Outcome Scale.



Textbox 1. Key concepts with their respective definitions.

- Content validity: the extent to which the content of an instrument is an adequate reflection of the construct to be measured. This includes relevance, comprehensiveness, and comprehensibility [31].
- Relevance: the extent to which a questionnaire item is relevant for the construct of interest within a specific population and context of use [31].
- Comprehensiveness: the extent to which all key aspects of the construct are included in the questionnaire [31].
- Comprehensibility: the extent to which a questionnaire item is understood by patients as intended [31].
- Appropriateness: the extent to which a questionnaire item is perceived as appropriate and not upsetting [43].
- Relative importance: the extent to which a questionnaire item is deemed more important for the questionnaire's context of use than other items in the same content domain.
- Usability: the extent to which a system, product, or service can be used by specified users to achieve specified goals with effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction in a specified context of use [47].

Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the central ethics committee of university hospital Brussels (Belgian Unique Numbers: 1432021000533 and 1432023000043) and by the local committee of general hospital Aalst, Belgium. All participants provided written informed consent before study participation. Patients did not receive any compensation. Health care professionals received a 25 (US \$27.06) gift card. Data were treated confidentially and were strictly analyzed in a deidentified form.

Participants and Setting

For the first 2 rounds, we planned to interview 32 patients and 8 health care professionals from 1 university hospital and 1 regional hospital in Belgium. These sample sizes adhere to the COSMIN and EORTC guidelines [31,43]. In the third round, we aimed to include 8 patients from the former university hospital [48] and 4 additional patients if, after the previous usability interviews, large changes would be made that would require further testing. JG and the hospital staff identified eligible patients through clinic appointment lists, and JG invited patients to participate via telephone or in-person communication during hospital visits. Health care professionals were identified through the research team's professional networks and contacted via email.

Inclusion criteria included the following: (1) a diagnosis of stage III or IV lung cancer or stage IV breast cancer; (2) patient aged \geq 18 years; (3) patient spoke and understood the Dutch language; and (4) patient assigned an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status of 0, 1, or 2, based on the assessment by their treating physician.

Exclusion criteria included the following: (1) patient having major communication difficulties or insufficient cognitive abilities to take part in a semistructured interview (as judged by their treating physician); (2) patient having any psychiatric disorder that, in the opinion of their treating physician, might hinder participation due to expected burden or unreliable responses; (3) patient having uncorrectable hearing or poor vision; or (4) patient had participated in a previous part of this study. We aimed to include 4 equally sized subgroups based on the primary tumor site (breast or lung cancer) and age (<70 years or \geq 70 years) [49,50].

As for health care professionals, we aimed to include a specialist in respiratory oncology, an oncologist specialized in breast cancer, a radiotherapy specialist, an oncology nurse, an onco-psychologist, a health sciences researcher, and 2 specialist palliative care providers (ie, a physician and a nurse affiliated with a palliative home care team).

Measurement Instruments and Procedures

Initial Item Set

The questionnaire aimed to comprehensively measure and evaluate daily experiences of people with advanced cancer and the context in which they occur. More specifically, we conceptualized daily experiences as symptoms, concerns, and well-being across physical (including physical symptoms and functioning), psychological (including positive and negative affect, psychological symptoms, and cognitive concerns), social, spiritual-existential, and global well-being domains (Figure 2). Context was conceptualized as the person's current location, activity, social company, substantial events, medication use, and sleep quality.

We created an initial item set capturing in-the-moment experiences based on (1) the items of questionnaires identified in the 2018 review of PROMs in patients with advanced cancer by van Roij et al [1] and (2) an existing ESM item repository from the field of mental health sciences [42]. From the review by van Roij et al [1], we selected 3 questionnaires: the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-C30), Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Palliative Care (FACIT-Pal), and the Integrated Palliative Care Outcome Scale [51-53], as they relate to our target population, have sufficient content validity, and have a comprehensive symptom coverage (ie, did not focus on one specific symptom or experience). On the basis of the consensus achieved through discussion among the authors, we excluded overlapping items and items with low expected intraday variability (eg, "I have family members who will take on my responsibilities") and retained 43 items suitable for the measurement of symptoms, concerns, and well-being across various subdomains (Figure 2). When consensus was required for adding, changing, or removing items, the content

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57510
```

was first discussed primarily among JG, LP, and LVdB, who are all trained psychologists. LP and LVdB have >10 and 20 years of experience as end-of-life researchers, respectively. JG had 1 year of prior expertise in ESM mental health research. If further discussion or advice was needed, other authors were consulted, including a research assistant (LR; no prior expertise), a medical oncologist (EN; 7 years of experience), a health psychology researcher with experience in ESM research (GC; \geq 30 years of experience), and a radiation oncologist (MDR; \geq 20 years of experience).

Figure 2. Subdomains that the Experience Sampling Method for People Living With Advanced Cancer (ESM-AC) questionnaire intended to cover. Note that the between-bracket numbers after each domain name indicate the approximate number of items that we aimed to retain per domain and the number of most important items that participants had to choose for each right-most subdomain.



From the ESM item repository, we purposively selected 12 items measuring affect, spanning across the valence and arousal dimensions [54] (ie, levels of pleasantness and physiological activation, respectively), and 13 items measuring context. We additionally selected items to measure the patient's experience while completing the ESM questionnaire (ie, meta-experience items). We obtained official Dutch translations for all items and rephrased them to reflect in-the-moment experiences (eg, changing "During the past 7 days, I felt..." to "In this moment, I feel..." or "Since the last beep, I felt..." with "beep" referring to the assessment prompt). For less frequent experiences or events, such as, for the item "I have had diarrhea," we used the phrase "Since the last beep" instead of "In this moment." One item measuring sleep quality was adapted from the FACIT-Pal questionnaire [52] and used for the first assessment of the day (ie, "Last night, I slept well"). All English translations of items presented in this paper are phrased analogous to their existing PROM counterparts, or if no such counterparts were available,

RenderX

we provided translations of the Dutch versions used in this study.

Content Validity and Usability Assessments

In all study rounds, we conducted individual semistructured interviews with patients with advanced breast or lung cancer. One round also included interviews with health care professionals, as outlined in Figure 1. These interviews served to assess content validity, to shorten the initial item list and divide it into a core and supplementary set, and to optimize the digital ESM questionnaire based on its usability. At the start of all interviews, the patients completed a baseline questionnaire on sociodemographic and clinical characteristics (age, gender, living situation, marital status, education level, employment status, religious denomination, and received treatments). In round 3, the baseline questionnaire additionally assessed cognitive concerns [55] and smartphone use [56,57]. We conducted all interviews in person, either at patients' homes or

in quiet hospital rooms. Patients' friends and relatives were allowed to be present during the interviews. Across rounds, we introduced the ESM to participants as a digital diary on a smartphone device that uses 10 assessments per day for several consecutive days to study people's symptoms, concerns, well-being, and daily situations as well as their fluctuations within and across days.

During round 1, JG interviewed patients and health care professionals to evaluate the relevance and comprehensiveness of symptoms, concerns, and well-being items. We aimed to create a core item set of 33 items, which was the foreseen number of items needed to cover all subdomains, and a supplementary set with no item limit and aimed to improve its comprehensiveness by adding items deemed relevant but missing by the participants. Participants were asked to verbally rate each item's relevance ("not at all," "a little," "quite a bit," and "very much"), select the most important items for each subdomain (Figure 2 displays the number of items to select per subdomain, as instructed by the interviewer), suggest missing concepts, and mark inappropriate items. Participants were prompted for reasons for categorizing items as inappropriate or "not at all" relevant.

In round 2, JG interviewed patients on the comprehensibility of items resulting from the first round (as the last part of content validation), the relevance and appropriateness of newly added items, and the appropriateness and comprehensiveness of context and meta-experience items and their response options (assessed analogous to round 1). To assess comprehensibility, patients completed a pen-and-paper questionnaire while thinking out loud [58].

In round 3, JG and LR conducted interviews to assess and optimize the ESM questionnaire's usability by letting patients respond to it in the m-Path app [46]. m-Path is a web-based platform that provides "an intuitive and flexible framework to conduct smartphone-based ecological momentary assessment and intervention studies..." [46]. Patients were each provided with a Motorola E20 smartphone device (Motorola Mobility LLC) with the digital ESM questionnaire available in the m-Path app. They were instructed on how to use the app and asked to complete the digital questionnaire on the provided device while thinking out loud. The researcher prompted patients when difficulties were observed (eg, difficulties answering certain ESM questions). Afterward, a brief semistructured interview assessed the usability of the questionnaire through an adapted version of the System Usability Scale (5-point Likert scale; 1=totally do not agree and 5=totally agree) [59,60]. Usability outcomes included readability, comprehensibility, ease of use, reasons for encountered difficulties, and expected burden of receiving 10 assessments per day for 6 days. Finally, patients completed the digital ESM questionnaire a second time without thinking out loud to estimate completion times. All interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim. More details on procedure and instruments for this round have been reported in the study protocol [61].

Data Analyses and Continuous Adaptations of the Questionnaire

Following the EORTC guidelines for module development, as applied by Sprangers et al [43] and Groenvold et al [45], we transformed item relevance ratings into a 0 to 100 scale, with "not at all" corresponding to 0 and "very much" to 100. We calculated mean relevance scores and SDs per item. In addition, we calculated the percentages of respondents who rated an item as inappropriate or upsetting, who listed an item among the top n most important items per subdomain (n was the approximated number of items to retain in the final questionnaire for each subdomain; Figure 2), and who found an item incomprehensible. We calculated descriptive statistics for usability.

Using conventional content analysis [62] on the interview transcriptions, we inductively developed content categories for participants' reasons of lack of item relevance (provided by participants who judged an item as "not at all" or "a little" relevant), inappropriateness, problems with comprehensibility, and themes of novel items to add [62]. We added items to the list if at least 2 participants suggested adding it to the questionnaire. Furthermore, we developed content categories for difficulties or conveniences in the user experience or comprehension of the digital questionnaire.

The questionnaire was adapted after each of the 3 rounds. After round 1, we used descriptive statistics of relevance, importance, and appropriateness ratings from the patients and health care professionals to guide item exclusion and categorization into core and supplementary sets (refer to Multimedia Appendix 1 for an overview of the categorizations). We assigned items to the core item set if they ranked among the top n most important per subdomain (refer to Figure 2 for n values), were judged "quite a bit" or "very much" relevant by half of the participants (50%), and were deemed appropriate (or amenable to rewording). For the removal of items, the authors discussed the participants' reasons for low relevance of items that were rated as "not at all" or "a little" relevant by at least half of the participants, or of items for which the participants provided recurring reasons for lack of relevance or the inappropriateness of items and the item could not be appropriately reworded or changed to resolve those reasons. Items that were not removed or categorized into the core set were assigned to the supplementary set. Note that the decision to use the core and supplementary sets was made after analysis of round 1.

After round 2, we made necessary and feasible item revisions based on the descriptive statistics of comprehensibility and inappropriateness and on the content categories for reasons of items' low comprehensibility and inappropriateness.

After round 3, we used descriptive statistics of usability outcomes and content categories of difficulties when using the digital questionnaire to improve the usability of the questionnaire in m-Path. Following general recommendations in ESM research [16,63], we used a mean questionnaire completion time threshold of 3 minutes to determine whether the questionnaire was considered too long.

XSL•F() RenderX

Results

Participant Characteristics

In round 1, a total of 15 patients and 8 health care professionals participated; in round 2, a total of 18 new patients participated;

and in round 3, a total of 10 new patients participated (Table 1). The overall mean age was 67.3 (SD 10.3) years. Overall, 23 (53%) of the 43 patients had a stage III or IV lung cancer diagnosis, and the remaining 20 patients (47%) had a stage IV breast cancer diagnosis. Close others were present during 4 interviews in round 1, seven in round 2, and seven in round 3.



Table 1. Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of patients per interview round (N=43).

Characteristics	Round 1 (n=15) ^a	Round 2 (n=18) ^b	Round 3 (n=10)
Age (years)			
Mean (SD)	68.0 (8.5)	68.7 (11.3)	63.8 (11.1)
Range	56-78	44-86	45-78
Gender (female), n %	11 (73)	14 (78)	6 (60)
Living situation, n			
Living alone at home	2	4	2
Living with a partner/children/others at home	13	14	8
Marital status, n			
Married	13	8	c
Living together but not married	0	6	_
Widowed	1	1	_
Divorced	1	3	_
Educational level, n			
Primary	2	0	1
Secondary	8	10	4
Tertiary	5	8	5
Employment status, n			
Professionally active	2	1	1
Not professionally active	13	17	9
Religious denomination, n			
Catholic Christian	6	8	6
Not religious	5	9	4
Not specified	4	1	0
Cancer diagnosis, n			
Stage III or IV lung cancer	7	10	6
Stage IV breast cancer	8	8	4
Treatment or treatments received, as reported by the patient, n			
Chemotherapy	14	13	9
Radiotherapy	13	10	5
Surgery	12	3	7
Hormonal therapy	4	5	2
Immunotherapy	6	9	4
EORTC QLQ-C30 ^d concentration problems, n			
Not at all	_	_	7
A little	_	_	2
Quite a bit	_	_	1
Very much	_	_	0
EORTC QLQ-C30 memory problems, n			
Not at all	_	_	5
A little	_	_	3
Ouite a bit	_	_	2

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57510

XSL•FO RenderX

Characteristics	Round 1 (n=15) ^a	Round 2 (n=18) ^b	Round 3 (n=10)
Very much	_	_	0
Smartphone ownership in years, mean (SD)	_	_	10.2 (4.4)
Daily time spent on smartphone in hours, mean (SD)	_	_	3.2 (2.8)
Confidence using smartphone (1="not at all confident," 5="very confident"), mean (SD)	_	_	4.1 (0.7)

^aDue to an oversight, we did not collect participation rates and reasons for nonparticipation in this round.

^bOut of 25 invited patients. Reasons for nonparticipation included no interest, as indicated by patient or partner (n=5), inability to find an appropriate interview location (n=1), experiencing distress (n=1), or no reasons provided (n=1).

^cNot measured.

^dEORTC QLQ-C30: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality of Life Questionnaire.

The following sections present the results per interview round and relevant adaptations made to the ESM questionnaire based on these findings.

Interview Round 1

Relevance

Most items received positive relevance ratings, with no unanimous low relevance ratings across all participants (Multimedia Appendix 2). The most frequent reasons for considering an item lacking in relevance were overlapping content with other items, not experiencing the measured construct, not perceiving the measured construct as bothersome, and thinking the item could be phrased better. After discussion among the research team, we removed 12 items that at least half of the participants rated as having "a little" relevance or less or that participants noted had considerable overlapping content with other items. For instance, we removed the item "At this moment, I feel sick" due to overlap with specific symptoms such as nausea and removed the item "At this moment, I feel capable of making decisions" due to low reported relevance because patients reported not having to make decisions.

Some items were considered irrelevant by the participants because they measured stable constructs within a day. To address this, we deviated from the planned approach to develop in-the-moment items only and instead developed several items for designated morning and evening assessments. We dedicated 1 item of the initial item list to morning assessments and 11 to evening assessments. For instance, the in-the-moment item "At this moment, I feel moral support by my close ones" was revised to the evening item "Today I felt supported by others." Items excluded before round 1 based on little expected within-day variability were reconsidered for inclusion in the once-daily questionnaires. Hence, we added 8 initially removed items to the evening list for further testing in round 2 (eg, "Today, I was able to openly discuss my concerns with my close ones").

Appropriateness

Out of 55 items, 22 (40%) were deemed inappropriate by between 1 and 5 participants (Multimedia Appendix 2), with 12 (22%) items deemed inappropriate by at least 2 participants. Reasons included privacy concerns, content overlap, confronting questions, infrequent experiences, question formulation, clinical utility, and bad subdomain fit (Multimedia Appendix 3). We removed the most inappropriate item "At this moment, I feel

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57510
```

RenderX

enthusiastic" as 4 patients and 1 health care professional marked it as inappropriate due to content overlap and patients not experiencing this feeling.

Comprehensiveness

Participants suggested adding several constructs to improve comprehensiveness, leading to the addition of 13 items to the item list (Multimedia Appendix 4). Among these, 2 were conditional items administered only if certain responses are given during the same assessment, such as reporting moderate pain levels or poor sleep. These questions included "The pain is located in these parts of the body: ..." and "I think I didn't sleep so well, because:" Examples of other added items included "At this moment, I feel capable of working" and "At this moment, I have negative thoughts or feelings." In addition, we included 3 items in the questionnaire as the research team thought them to be necessary for comprehensive measurement of the psychological domain ("At this moment, I feel restless" and "At this moment, I feel depressed") and an open question concerning other contextual factors ("If there is anything else you want to mention about the period since last beep, you can do that here:").

Relative Importance

We assigned 46 items with the highest relative importance of their subdomain to the core questionnaire and 38 items to the supplementary list (refer to Multimedia Appendix 2 for the proportions of how many times items were chosen as among the top most important).

Interview Round 2

Comprehensibility

Between 1 and 5 participants provided remarks for 31 (39%) out of 79 items (Multimedia Appendix 5). Reasons for marking items as incomprehensible included unclear word meanings, different interpretations from the intended meaning, situational content, response options misalignment, and other issues. In response to this feedback, we changed the wording of some items and response options and removed some items (Multimedia Appendix 6). For instance, we replaced the response option "On the move" under the item "What am I doing?" to "En route (eg, on the bus)" for clarity. Another example is the core questionnaire item "Today I felt supported by others," which we changed to "Today I received the support

I needed from my loved one(s)" because some patients indicated not needing or seeking support all the time.

Relevance of Added Items

On average, most added items were rated as at least "a little" relevant, with mean ratings typically exceeding "quite a bit" relevant (Multimedia Appendix 2).

Appropriateness of Added Items

No items were considered as inappropriate by the participants.

Additional Findings and Changes Made

Three patients reported frequently experiencing muscle cramps, leading to the addition of the item "Since the last beep, I had muscle cramps" to the supplementary list. On the basis of research team consensus, we improved the comprehensiveness of the "Where am I?" item by adding an "outside" response option. Figure 3 displays the resulting questionnaire in the m-Path app.

Figure 3. Screenshots of the Experience Sampling Method for People Living With Advanced Cancer questionnaire in the m-Path app. Left: receiving a notification, middle: example of the slider response scale; right: example of the multiple-choice response scale.



Interviews Round 3

Usability

On a scale ranging from 0="completely disagree" to 5="completely agree," participants generally expressed positive sentiments about using the ESM-AC questionnaire in their daily lives (mean 3.6, SD 0.8), finding it easy to use (mean 4.5, SD 0.5), and expecting no need for support with the questionnaire or the smartphone device in their daily lives (mean 1.6, SD 0.7 and mean 1.5, SD 0.7, respectively). They also indicated that there was no inconsistency in the questionnaire (mean 1.6, SD 0.7). They expected that most people would quickly learn to use the questionnaire (mean 4.0, SD 1.1), felt confident using it (mean 4.2, SD 1), did not require a lot of knowledge to complete it (mean 1.3, SD 0.5), items and response options were clear (mean 4.3, SD 0.5 and mean 4.0, SD 0.9; respectively), the response options were comprehensive (mean 4.1, SD 1), and the lay-out was satisfying (mean 4.2, SD 0.6). Moreover, participants did not experience it as burdensome to complete the questionnaire (mean 1.5, SD 0.7) and did not think it was too long (mean 1.9, SD 0.9). However, as reflected by neutral mean scores with higher variance, participants were more divided regarding the simplicity of item phrasings (mean 2.2, SD 1.2) and the readability of items (mean 3.9, SD 1.4).

Moreover, most participants anticipated that completing the questionnaire 10 times per day on 6 consecutive days would be burdensome (mean 3.7, SD 1.1).

Perceived Difficulties

Participants reported various barriers with using the digital ESM-AC questionnaire and device, and we observed some difficulties when participants used the questionnaire. For some patients, response formats and the option to skip open-ended items were initially not clear, the momentariness of items (ie, "At this moment, I feel...") required further instructions (eg, participants would give higher pain scores due to previous pain episodes, when currently not experiencing pain), interpretations of some complex items were unintended (eg, concentration problems were interpreted as wider cognitive problems), the purpose of the intensive assessment schedule of the ESM study and of specific questionnaire content domains were unclear (eg, context items), and the device went into standby mode during the interview. All the changes made to the ESM-AC questionnaire, smartphone device settings, and onboarding instructions are reported in Table 2. Refer to Multimedia Appendix 7 for the resulting core ESM questionnaire. We also created a manual for researchers to provide patients with instructions where needed (Multimedia Appendix 8).



Table 2. Changes made to different ESM-AC^a questionnaire properties after the usability interviews of round 3.

Property and observed or reported barriers	Changes made		
ESM ^b questionnaire			
Momentariness of item unclear	The phrasing "at the moment the beep went off" was added to the multiple- choice context items. For example: "Who am I with?" was replaced with "Who was with me at the moment of the beep?"		
Momentariness of item unclear	In-the-moment phrasings were added to items that did not previously include it. For example: "I'm in bed or on the couch" was replaced with "I was in bed or sofa when the beep went off."		
Meaning of "place I was at" wrongly associated with bed or sofa	"I was happy with the place I was at" was reordered to be between "Where was I at the moment of the beep?" and "I was in bed or sofa when the beep went off."		
Unclear what was measured with substance item	"Since last beep, I have used the following" was replaced with "Since last beep, I have used the following substance(s)"; the response option "Other" was changed to "Other substance(s)."		
Need for additional open-ended items when participants used the "Other" response option	An m-Path app feature was selected for the multiple-choice items that allows participants to directly type new categories when the "Other" option is selected.		
Smartphone device settings			
Device screen darkened while completing the questionnaire	The time-to-standby settings on the devices was changed from 30 seconds to 60 seconds.		
Onboarding instructions			
Response formats and option to skip open-ended items were not initially clear, momentariness of items required instructions, un- intended interpretations of some complex items, purpose of the intensive assessment schedule of the ESM study and of some study domains (eg, context items) was unclear, reported expecta- tions of missing assessments, and difficulty unlocking the smartphone	A formal interview guide was developed for the training at the onboarding session, which included instructions on how to explain the different response option formats and how to use them, skipping open-ended items, temporality of questions (ie, in-the-moment or since the last beep), content of more complex items (eg, concentration as separate from memory problems), the purpose of the intensive assessment schedule of the ESM study and of some question domains, acceptability of missing assessments, and unlocking the smartphone.		

^aESM-AC: Experience Sampling Method for People Living With Advanced Cancer. ^bESM: experience sampling method.

Completion Times

During the second time of filling in the digital ESM-AC questionnaire (ie, without thinking out loud), it took participants on average 3.8 (SD 1.1) minutes to complete the questionnaire of 25 to 31 items (depending on the number of triggered conditional items).

Discussion

Principal Findings

We developed, content validated, and optimized the ESM-AC questionnaire, a digital ESM questionnaire covering multidimensional domains to capture the experiences of people with advanced breast or lung cancer. Overall, the patients found the questionnaire items comprehensible and appropriate and had positive views toward using the questionnaire in the m-Path app. As all items in the initial set were relevant to at least some patients, we primarily used the perceived importance of the items to categorize them into a core questionnaire for use with all patients and a supplementary item set from which patients can select items to tailor the ESM questionnaire to their needs and experiences.

As a novel and promising tool to assess patients' symptoms, concerns, and overall well-being, the ESM-AC questionnaire

RenderX

supplements the existing measurement methods in oncology, a field that has traditionally relied on retrospective PROMs [1-3]. The ESM uniquely allows for the measurement of experiences in real time within the patient's everyday life [16]. By using multiple assessments per day, it enables the investigation of how these experiences change and unfold over time, including their correlations and temporal relationships [16]. The repeated within-day assessments of the ESM can also supplement more traditional daily diary measures in oncology that assess patients once per day to uncover fine-grained fluctuations of symptoms. This can be important to better understand the complexity and dynamics of patient experiences from a research perspective. Moreover, from a clinical perspective, the ESM can be used to improve understanding of symptoms or concerns of individual patients identified using traditional once-daily or weekly administered PROMs.

To the best of our knowledge, the ESM-AC questionnaire is the first of its kind in oncology in several respects. First, the limited number of ESM studies in populations with cancer have never determined the content validity of their questionnaire items to be assessed in a repeated in-the-moment context [9,13]. Second, in cancer ESM research, the ESM-AC questionnaire is among the first to incorporate items on context and context appraisal [9,12]. By including items on concurrent location, activity, and social company, it will be possible to better

understand fluctuating symptoms and their interactions with contextual factors. ESM research in other fields has shown how different contexts such as social company, concurrent activities, and location can influence patients' mental and physical experiences [64-66]. Third, by dividing items into a core and supplementary list, item selection can be adapted or tailored to a particular patient or a population of patients, that is, by adding relevant supplementary items such as "At this moment, I feel capable of working." This makes our ESM measurement highly relevant for people with advanced breast or lung cancer.

Using the m-Path app [46], results showed that the ESM-AC questionnaire was easy to use for all patients, and the patients had positive views toward the questionnaire presented on the device. This is crucial because it is important to minimize the potential burden of frequent daily assessments. This is especially true when working with populations that may be more likely to experience increased symptoms and reduced physical functioning related to cancer and related treatments. In addition, although the questionnaire took, on average, longer than the generally recommended 3 minutes' completion time in ESM research [16,63], participants indicated that it was not too long. Therefore, we deviated from our initial 3-minute threshold and did not further shorten the questionnaire [61]. As we purposively sampled people aged >70 years and <70 years (mean 63.8, SD 11.1; range 45-78 years), we were able to conclude that the system questionnaire was usable for older age groups (ie, those aged ≤78 years) that are typically thought to have less smartphone experience, as indicated by their positive views on usability of the system.

Implications for Future Research

The next step in the development of the ESM-AC questionnaire is to evaluate it in a detailed pilot ESM study. Such a study needs to evaluate the optimal number of daily assessments among people with advanced lung cancer or advanced breast cancer. As most participants indicated that they expected 10 assessments per day for 6 consecutive days, as is often used in ESM research [16], to be potentially burdensome, the burden of completing such an intensive assessment schedule should be carefully investigated in real life. This burden needs to be weighed against the necessary resolution to measure change in the construct of interest. In addition, further research is needed regarding the acceptability of the questionnaire length and clarity of the instructions, items, and response options if researcher help is not immediately available. If further research confirms the feasibility and optimal features for a larger-scale ESM study, this will pave the way toward a substantial improvement of our knowledge of how symptoms, concerns, and well-being across multiple domains fluctuate in the everyday life of people with advanced breast or lung cancer.

Researchers aspiring to apply similar methods to other populations with cancer or serious illness are encouraged to further adapt the methods to their target population. We recommend the ESM-AC questionnaire as a starting point for adaptations toward the target population and context. The core ESM questionnaire can be used in its entirety or researchers can select the domains of interest, possibly supplemented by items selected from the supplementary item set. Determining the questionnaire's content validity through semistructured interviews will help to optimize and ensure its relevance, comprehensiveness, and comprehensibility for intended research.

Furthermore, ESM data can be compared to retrospective patient-reported outcome data to confirm and obtain more evidence on the added value of the ESM and the different experiences it captures and to investigate the ecological validity of such data. Another important area of future ESM research in oncology can be to explore its clinical value and utility, for instance, by providing clinicians with time-series visualizations of their patients and comparing these with information gathered through traditional consultations.

Strengths and Limitations

This study is among the first studies to test the content validity of an ESM questionnaire in any scientific field and has resulted in the first content-valid ESM questionnaire in the field of oncology, thereby answering to recent calls for more questionnaire validation in ESM research [9,12,13]. This study has several strengths. First, it involved close collaboration with people with cancer and health care professionals in multiple phases of questionnaire development, ensuring its relevance for the target population. Second, relevance was further ensured by adapting items from existing validated PROMs [51-53]. Moreover, unlike many quantitatively focused questionnaires in ESM research, the use of a free-text response item "If there is anything else you want to mention about the period since last beep, you can do that here:" allows us to study any relevant experiences that are currently missing in the core questionnaire. Third, we included an equal number of patients aged <70 years and >70 years, ensuring the inclusion of the latter as an often underrepresented group in cancer studies. Finally, this study's relatively good participation rate reduces the risk of selection bias.

Several limitations should be noted. First, the study was limited to Dutch-speaking patients from 2 study sites, possibly limiting the extent to which the ESM-AC questionnaire's content validity can be generalized to patients with sociodemographic characteristics different from our sample. However, the ESM questionnaire will be further tested among new patients recruited from different hospitals. Second, the relatively high functional status of patients in our sample (ie, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group scores between 0 and 2) may lead to limited generalizability of the results to patients with advanced cancer who have more functional limitations. Third, as no people aged >78 years participated, the usability of our ESM is unknown for older populations. Fourth, we did not record whether patients were actively receiving treatment, thereby preventing more detailed insight into the sample's current perspectives and experiences. Finally, due to the study design, we were not able to test how health care professionals viewed the relevance and how patients and health care professionals viewed the relative importance of evening assessment items that that were initially removed by the authors based on their low expected within-day variability.

Conclusions

We successfully developed the ESM-AC questionnaire, the first content-valid digital ESM questionnaire in oncology to study the daily experiences of people with advanced breast or lung cancer in their everyday environments. If the method proves feasible in future research on advanced cancer and in other patient groups, it paves the way toward gaining novel insights into the daily lives of patients with cancer, possibly informing and facilitating patient-centered care.

Acknowledgments

This work is part of a wider study funded by the Research Foundation—Flanders (Fonds Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek) under grant agreement G0C8120N. LP is a senior postdoctoral fellow of the Research Foundation—Flanders. LVdB holds the Collen-Francqui Research Professor Chair "Aging, dementia and palliative care" (2020 to 2023). The authors sincerely thank all the participants. We used generative artificial intelligence (ChatGPT, using GPT-3.5 [67]) throughout the manuscript as guidance to shorten the original draft (no new information or ideas were generated).

Authors' Contributions

The study was conceptualized by LVdB, MDR, LP, and JG. Data were curated by JG and LR. Formal analysis, software, and visualization were performed by JG. LVdB, MDR, and LP were involved in funding acquisition. Investigation was conducted by JG and LR. Methodology was conducted by JG, LP, EN, GC, MDR, and LVdB. LP, MDR, and LVdB provided supervision and validation. The original draft was written by JG, LP, and LVdB, and reviewing and editing were done by LR, EN, GC, and MDR.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

A figure about the criteria for categorization into the core questionnaire, supplementary set, or items to be removed. [DOCX File, 22 KB - cancer v10i1e57510 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Inappropriateness frequencies, relevance means, and proportions of relative importance ratings of experience sampling method items.

[DOCX File, 33 KB - cancer_v10i1e57510_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Frequency table of the categorized reasons for deeming an item inappropriate. [DOCX File, 22 KB - cancer v10i1e57510 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Content categories of patient and health care professional responses to the open-ended question on what content was missing from the item sets.

[DOCX File, 23 KB - cancer_v10i1e57510_app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Proportions of participants who had no difficulties with comprehensibility of item per item, ordered by subdomain. [DOCX File, 21 KB - cancer_v10i1e57510_app5.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 6 Resulting Dutch item versions before and after the first 2 interview rounds. [DOCX File , 34 KB - cancer v10i1e57510 app6.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 7 Final core the ESM-AC (Experience Sampling Method for People Living With Advanced Cancer) questionnaire. [DOCX File, 25 KB - cancer v10i1e57510 app7.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 8 Dutch onboarding session manual created after interview round 3.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57510



[DOCX File, 19 KB - cancer_v10i1e57510_app8.docx]

References

- van Roij J, Fransen H, van de Poll-Franse L, Zijlstra M, Raijmakers N. Measuring health-related quality of life in patients with advanced cancer: a systematic review of self-administered measurement instruments. Qual Life Res 2018 Aug;27(8):1937-1955 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-018-1809-4] [Medline: 29427216]
- Miranda R, Raemdonck E, Deliens L, Kaasa S, Zimmermann C, Rodin G, et al. Do cancer centres and palliative care wards routinely measure patients' quality of life? An international cross-sectional survey study. Support Care Cancer 2023 Jul 31;31(8):499 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-023-07964-4] [Medline: 37523097]
- 3. Osoba D. Health-related quality of life and cancer clinical trials. Ther Adv Med Oncol 2011 Mar;3(2):57-71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1758834010395342] [Medline: 21789156]
- 4. Van den Bergh O, Walentynowicz M. Accuracy and bias in retrospective symptom reporting. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2016 Sep;29(5):302-308. [doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000267] [Medline: 27427854]
- Arizmendi C, Wang S, Kaplan S, Weinfurt K. Evaluating recall periods for patient-reported outcome measures: a systematic review of quantitative methods. Value Health 2024 Apr;27(4):518-526 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2024.01.016] [Medline: 38342366]
- 6. Larson R, Csikszentmihalyi M. The experience sampling method. In: Csikszentmihalyi M, editor. Flow and the Foundations of Positive Psychology: The Collected Works of Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2014:21-34.
- Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2008;4:1-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415] [Medline: 18509902]
- Wrzus C, Neubauer AB. Ecological momentary assessment: a meta-analysis on designs, samples, and compliance across research fields. Assessment 2023 Apr;30(3):825-846 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/10731911211067538] [Medline: 35016567]
- Geeraerts J, de Nooijer K, Pivodic L, De Ridder M, Van den Block L. Intensive longitudinal methods among adults with breast or lung cancer: scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2024 Jun 12;26:e50224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/50224] [Medline: <u>38865186</u>]
- Houben M, Van Den Noortgate W, Kuppens P. The relation between short-term emotion dynamics and psychological well-being: a meta-analysis. Psychol Bull 2015 Jul;141(4):901-930 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0038822] [Medline: 25822133]
- 11. Kuppens P, Verduyn P. Emotion dynamics. Curr Opin Psychol 2017 Oct;17:22-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.06.004] [Medline: 28950968]
- 12. Kampshoff CS, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, van Oijen MG, Sprangers MA, Buffart LM. Ecological momentary assessments among patients with cancer: a scoping review. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2019 May 14;28(3):e13095 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ecc.13095] [Medline: 31090160]
- Paterson C, Armitage L, Turner M. Current landscape of ecological momentary assessment (real-time data) methodology in cancer research: a systematic review. Semin Oncol Nurs 2023 Dec;39(6):151514 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2023.151514] [Medline: <u>37865555</u>]
- Henson LA, Maddocks M, Evans C, Davidson M, Hicks S, Higginson IJ. Palliative care and the management of common distressing symptoms in advanced cancer: pain, breathlessness, nausea and vomiting, and fatigue. J Clin Oncol 2020 Mar 20;38(9):905-914 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/jco.19.00470]
- 15. Beernaert K, Pardon K, Van den Block L, Devroey D, De Laat M, Geboes K, et al. Palliative care needs at different phases in the illness trajectory: a survey study in patients with cancer. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2016 Jul;25(4):534-543 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12522] [Medline: 27271354]
- 16. Myin-Germeys I, Kuppens P. The Open Handbook of Experience Sampling Methodology: A Step-by-Step Guide to Designing, Conducting, and Analyzing ESM Studies. Leuven, Belgium: Center for Research on Experience Sampling and Ambulatory Methods Leuven (REAL); 2021.
- Thong MS, Chan RJ, van den Hurk C, Fessele K, Tan W, Poprawski D, MASCC EMA working group. Going beyond (electronic) patient-reported outcomes: harnessing the benefits of smart technology and ecological momentary assessment in cancer survivorship research. Support Care Cancer 2021 Jan;29(1):7-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05648-x] [Medline: 32844316]
- Steffen LE, Cheavens JS, Vowles KE, Gabbard J, Nguyen H, Gan GN, et al. Hope-related goal cognitions and daily experiences of fatigue, pain, and functional concern among lung cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2020 Feb;28(2):827-835 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-019-04878-y] [Medline: 31152302]
- 19. Hacker ED, Kim I, Park C, Peters T. Real-time fatigue and free-living physical activity in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation cancer survivors and healthy controls: a preliminary examination of the temporal, dynamic relationship. Cancer Nurs 2017;40(4):259-268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000459] [Medline: 27922918]
- 20. Vehling S, Gerstorf D, Schulz-Kindermann F, Oechsle K, Philipp R, Scheffold K, et al. The daily dynamics of loss orientation and life engagement in advanced cancer: a pilot study to characterise patterns of adaptation at the end of life. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2018 Jul;27(4):e12842 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12842] [Medline: 29700876]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57510
```

- Badr H, Laurenceau JP, Schart L, Basen-Engquist K, Turk D. The daily impact of pain from metastatic breast cancer on spousal relationships: a dyadic electronic diary study. Pain 2010 Dec;151(3):644-654 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.08.022] [Medline: 20833474]
- 22. Campbell GB, Belcher SM, Lee YJ, Courtney-Brooks M, Bovbjerg DH, Bizhanova Z, et al. Intensive daily symptom and function monitoring is feasible and acceptable to women undergoing first-line chemotherapy for gynecologic cancer. Cancer Nurs 2022 Jan 13;45(5):369-377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCC.000000000001042] [Medline: 35025773]
- 23. Buck R, Morley S. A daily process design study of attentional pain control strategies in the self-management of cancer pain. Eur J Pain 2006 Jul;10(5):385-398 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ejpain.2005.04.001] [Medline: 15946872]
- 24. Badr H, Pasipanodya EC, Laurenceau JP. An electronic diary study of the effects of patient avoidance and partner social constraints on patient momentary affect in metastatic breast cancer. Ann Behav Med 2013 Apr;45(2):192-202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9436-8] [Medline: 23150234]
- Stephenson E, DeLongis A, Bruel B, Badr H. Outpatient pain medication use: an electronic daily diary study in metastatic breast cancer. J Pain Symptom Manage 2018 Apr;55(4):1131-1137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.11.032] [Medline: 29221847]
- 26. Carson JW, Carson K, Olsen M, Sanders L, Westbrook K, Keefe FJ, et al. Yoga practice predicts improvements in day-to-day pain in women with metastatic breast cancer. J Pain Symptom Manage 2021 Jun;61(6):1227-1233 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.10.009] [Medline: 33065208]
- LeBaron V, Homdee N, Ogunjirin E, Patel N, Blackhall L, Lach J. Describing and visualizing the patient and caregiver experience of cancer pain in the home context using ecological momentary assessments. Digit Health 2023;9:20552076231194936 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/20552076231194936] [Medline: 37654707]
- 28. Lim E, Boyle F, Okera M, Loi S, Goksu SS, van Hal G, et al. An open label, randomized phase 2 trial assessing the impact of food on the tolerability of abemaciclib in patients with advanced breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2022 Oct;195(3):275-287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-022-06690-5] [Medline: 35915198]
- 29. Schuler T, King C, Matsveru T, Back M, Clark K, Chin D, et al. Wearable-triggered ecological momentary assessments are feasible in people with advanced cancer and their family caregivers: feasibility study from an outpatient palliative care clinic at a cancer center. J Palliat Med 2023 Jul;26(7):980-985 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2022.0535] [Medline: 37134212]
- 30. Weaver A, Love S, Larsen M, Shanyinde M, Waters R, Grainger L, et al. A pilot study: dose adaptation of capecitabine using mobile phone toxicity monitoring supporting patients in their homes. Support Care Cancer 2014 Oct;22(10):2677-2685 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-014-2224-1] [Medline: 24771299]
- Terwee CB, Prinsen CA, Chiarotto A, Westerman M, Patrick D, Alonso J, et al. COSMIN methodology for evaluating the content validity of patient-reported outcome measures: a Delphi study. Qual Life Res 2018 May;27(5):1159-1170 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-018-1829-0] [Medline: 29550964]
- 32. Degroote L, DeSmet A, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Van Dyck D, Crombez G. Content validity and methodological considerations in ecological momentary assessment studies on physical activity and sedentary behaviour: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2020 Mar 10;17(1):35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-00932-9] [Medline: 32151251]
- 33. Stone AA, Schneider S, Smyth JM. Evaluation of pressing issues in ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2023 May 09;19:107-131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-080921-083128] [Medline: 36475718]
- 34. Riihimäki M, Thomsen H, Sundquist K, Sundquist J, Hemminki K. Clinical landscape of cancer metastases. Cancer Med 2018 Nov;7(11):5534-5542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.1697] [Medline: 30328287]
- 35. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021 May;71(3):209-249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21660] [Medline: 33538338]
- Gallicchio L, Devasia TP, Tonorezos E, Mollica MA, Mariotto A. Estimation of the number of individuals living with metastatic cancer in the United States. J Natl Cancer Inst 2022 Nov 14;114(11):1476-1483 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djac158] [Medline: 35993614]
- 37. Hamer J, McDonald R, Zhang L, Verma S, Leahey A, Ecclestone C, et al. Quality of life (QOL) and symptom burden (SB) in patients with breast cancer. Support Care Cancer 2017 Feb;25(2):409-419 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-016-3417-6] [Medline: 27696078]
- 38. Su Z, Zhou Y, Han X, Pang Y, He S, Tang L. Symptom burden in advanced breast cancer patients and its association between death anxiety and psychological distress. Chin J Cancer Res 2022 Jun 30;34(3):298-308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21147/j.issn.1000-9604.2022.03.09] [Medline: <u>35873892</u>]
- Sung MR, Patel MV, Djalalov S, Le LW, Shepherd FA, Burkes RL, et al. Evolution of symptom burden of advanced lung cancer over a decade. Clin Lung Cancer 2017 May;18(3):274-80.e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2016.12.010] [Medline: 28185791]
- Morrison EJ, Novotny PJ, Sloan JA, Yang P, Patten CA, Ruddy KJ, et al. Emotional problems, quality of life, and symptom burden in patients with lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 2017 Sep;18(5):497-503 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2017.02.008] [Medline: 28412094]

- 41. Chen Z, He G, Zhao Y, Han C, Xu L, Jian H, et al. Symptom burden and emotional distress in advanced lung cancer: the moderating effects of physicians' communication skills and patients' disease understanding. Support Care Cancer 2022 Nov;30(11):9497-9505 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-022-07323-9] [Medline: 35971009]
- 42. Kirtley O, Hiekkaranta AP, Kunkels Y, Verhoeven D, Van NM, Myin-Germeys I. The experience sampling method. ESM Item Repository. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.esmitemrepository.com/</u> [accessed 2024-04-29]
- 43. Sprangers MA, Cull A, Bjordal K, Groenvold M, Aaronson NK. The European Organization for Research and treatment of cancer approach to quality of life assessment: guidelines for developing questionnaire modules. Qual Life Res 1993 Aug;2(4):287-295. [doi: 10.1007/bf00434800]
- 44. Zeng L, Bedard G, Cella D, Thavarajah N, Chen E, Zhang L, et al. Preliminary results of the generation of a shortened quality-of-life assessment for patients with advanced cancer: the FACIT-Pal-14. J Palliat Med 2013 May;16(5):509-515. [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2012.0595] [Medline: 23590181]
- 45. Groenvold M, Petersen MA, Aaronson NK, Arraras JI, Blazeby JM, Bottomley A, EORTC Quality of Life Group. The development of the EORTC QLQ-C15-PAL: a shortened questionnaire for cancer patients in palliative care. Eur J Cancer 2006 Jan;42(1):55-64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2005.06.022] [Medline: 16162404]
- 46. Mestdagh M, Verdonck S, Piot M, Niemeijer K, Kilani G, Tuerlinckx F, et al. m-Path: an easy-to-use and highly tailorable platform for ecological momentary assessment and intervention in behavioral research and clinical practice. Front Digit Health 2023;5:1182175 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2023.1182175] [Medline: 37920867]
- 47. ISO 9241-11:2018: ergonomics of human-system interaction: part 11: usability: definitions and concepts. ISO. 2018. URL: https://www.iso.org/standard/63500.html [accessed 2024-04-29]
- Hwang W, Salvendy G. Number of people required for usability evaluation: the 10±2 rule. Commun ACM 2010 May;53(5):130-133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/1735223.1735255]
- 49. Pallis A, Ring A, Fortpied C, Penninckx B, Van Nes MC, Wedding U, European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Elderly Task Force. EORTC workshop on clinical trial methodology in older individuals with a diagnosis of solid tumors. Ann Oncol 2011 Aug;22(8):1922-1926 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdq687] [Medline: 21266517]
- 50. Balducci L. Geriatric oncology: challenges for the new century. Eur J Cancer 2000 Sep;36(14):1741-1754. [doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(00)00169-6] [Medline: 10974621]
- 51. Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Cull A, Duez NJ, et al. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst 1993 Mar 03;85(5):365-376 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/85.5.365] [Medline: 8433390]
- Lyons KD, Bakitas M, Hegel MT, Hanscom B, Hull J, Ahles TA. Reliability and validity of the Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Palliative care (FACIT-Pal) scale. J Pain Symptom Manage 2009 Jan;37(1):23-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2007.12.015] [Medline: 18504093]
- 53. Murtagh FE, Ramsenthaler C, Firth A, Groeneveld EI, Lovell N, Simon ST, et al. A brief, patient- and proxy-reported outcome measure in advanced illness: validity, reliability and responsiveness of the Integrated Palliative care Outcome Scale (IPOS). Palliat Med 2019 Sep 12;33(8):1045-1057 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0269216319854264] [Medline: 31185804]
- 54. Russell JA. A circumplex model of affect. J Pers Soc Psychol 1980 Dec;39(6):1161-1178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/h0077714]
- 55. Fayers P, Bottomley A, EORTC Quality of Life Group, Quality of Life Unit. Quality of life research within the EORTC-the EORTC QLQ-C30. European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer. Eur J Cancer 2002 Mar;38 Suppl 4:S125-S133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(01)00448-8] [Medline: 11858978]
- 56. Reynoldson C, Stones C, Allsop M, Gardner P, Bennett MI, Closs SJ, et al. Assessing the quality and usability of smartphone apps for pain self-management. Pain Med 2014 Jun;15(6):898-909 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/pme.12327] [Medline: 24422990]
- 57. Busch PA, Hausvik GI, Ropstad OK, Pettersen D. Smartphone usage among older adults. Comput Human Behav 2021 Aug;121:106783 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2021.106783]
- 58. Jobe JB, Mingay DJ. Cognitive research improves questionnaires. Am J Public Health 1989 Aug;79(8):1053-1055 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/ajph.79.8.1053] [Medline: 2751028]
- 59. Brooke J. SUS: A 'Quick and Dirty' Usability Scale. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1996.
- 60. Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the system usability scale. Int J Hum Comput Interact 2008 Jul 30;24(6):574-594 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776]
- 61. Geeraerts J, Pivodic L, De Nooijer K, Naert E, Crombez G, De Ridder M, et al. Investigating experiences of people with advanced breast or lung cancer in their natural context: protocol for an experience sampling study. BMJ Open 2024 Feb 14;14(2):e075752 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2023-075752] [Medline: 38355197]
- 62. Hsieh HF, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005 Nov;15(9):1277-1288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- Kimhy D, Myin-Germeys I, Palmier-Claus J, Swendsen J. Mobile assessment guide for research in schizophrenia and severe mental disorders. Schizophr Bull 2012 May;38(3):386-395 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/schbul/sbr186</u>] [Medline: <u>22287280</u>]

- 64. Zhaoyang R, Sliwinski MJ, Martire LM, Smyth JM. Social interactions and physical symptoms in daily life: quality matters for older adults, quantity matters for younger adults. Psychol Health 2019 Jul;34(7):867-885 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2019.1579908] [Medline: 30821176]
- 65. van Os J, Verhagen S, Marsman A, Peeters F, Bak M, Marcelis M, ESM-MERGE Investigators PhD, et al. The experience sampling method as an mHealth tool to support self-monitoring, self-insight, and personalized health care in clinical practice. Depress Anxiety 2017 Jun;34(6):481-493 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/da.22647] [Medline: 28544391]
- 66. de Vries LP, Baselmans BM, Bartels M. Smartphone-based ecological momentary assessment of well-being: a systematic review and recommendations for future studies. J Happiness Stud 2021;22(5):2361-2408 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10902-020-00324-7] [Medline: 34720691]
- 67. ChatGPT. URL: https://chatgpt.com/ [accessed 2024-04-29]

Abbreviations

COSMIN: Consensus-Based Standards for the Selection of Health Measurement Instruments
EORTC: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer
EORTC QLQ-C30: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality of Life Questionnaire
ESM: experience sampling method
ESM-AC: Experience Sampling Method for People Living With Advanced Cancer
FACIT-Pal: Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy–Palliative Care
PROM: patient-reported outcome measure

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 19.02.24; peer-reviewed by C Low, S Wang, A Hassan; comments to author 24.05.24; revised version received 12.06.24; accepted 02.10.24; published 05.11.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Geeraerts J, Pivodic L, Rosquin L, Naert E, Crombez G, De Ridder M, Van den Block L Uncovering the Daily Experiences of People Living With Advanced Cancer Using an Experience Sampling Method Questionnaire: Development, Content Validation, and Optimization Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e57510 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57510 doi:10.2196/57510

PMID:

©Joran Geeraerts, Lara Pivodic, Lise Rosquin, Eline Naert, Geert Crombez, Mark De Ridder, Lieve Van den Block. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 05.11.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Prototype of an App Designed to Support Self-Management for Health Behaviors and Weight in Women Living With Breast Cancer: Qualitative User Experience Study

Phillippa Lally¹, PhD; Christine N May², PhD; E Siobhan Mitchell², PhD; Meaghan McCallum², PhD; Andreas Michaelides², PhD; Abigail Fisher³, PhD

¹School of Psychology, University of Surrey, Surrey, United Kingdom

²Academic Research, Noom Inc, New York, NY, United States

³Department of Behavioural Science and Health, University College London, London, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Abigail Fisher, PhD Department of Behavioural Science and Health University College London 1-19 Torrington Place London, WC1E 7HB United Kingdom Phone: 44 20276791722 Email: abigail.fisher@ucl.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Accessible self-management interventions are required to support people living with breast cancer.

Objective: This was an industry-academic partnership study that aimed to collect qualitative user experience data of a prototype app with built-in peer and coach support designed to support the management of health behaviors and weight in women living with breast cancer.

Methods: Participants were aged ≥ 18 years, were diagnosed with breast cancer of any stage within the last 5 years, had completed active treatment, and were prescribed oral hormone therapy. Participants completed demographic surveys and were asked to use the app for 4 weeks. Following this, they took part in in-depth qualitative interviews about their experiences. These were analyzed using thematic analysis.

Results: Eight participants (mean age, 45 years; mean time since diagnosis, 32 months) were included. Of the 8 participants, 7 (88%) were white, 6 (75%) had a graduate degree or above, and 6 (75%) had stage I-III breast cancer. Four overarching themes were identified: (1) Support for providing an app earlier in the care pathway; (2) Desire for more weight-focused content tailored to the breast cancer experience; (3) Tracking of health behaviors that are generally popular; and (4) High value of in-app social support.

Conclusions: This early user experience work showed that women with breast cancer found an app with integrated social and psychological support appealing to receive support for behavior change and weight management or self-management. However, many features were recommended for further development. This work is the first step in an academic-industry collaboration that would ultimately aim to develop and empirically test a supportive app that could be integrated into the cancer care pathway.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48170) doi:10.2196/48170

KEYWORDS

breast cancer; self-management; app; health behaviors; weight; prototype; user experience; development; application; coaching; peer support; oncology

Introduction

An estimated 55,200 people in the United Kingdom and 281,550 in the United States are diagnosed with breast cancer each year,

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48170

and in 2021, breast cancer became the most common cancer globally [1-3]. The overall 5- and 10-year survival rates are estimated at 85% and 75%, respectively [3], indicating that very large numbers of people are living with and beyond their

diagnosis. However, breast cancer and its associated treatments can lead to multiple immediate and long-term side effects [4,5]. Physical activity, diet, and maintenance of healthy weight play important roles in the management of breast cancer [5], and many women desire to receive support for these as part of their cancer care [6,7]. However, given the pressure on health care systems and the other barriers that health care professionals face in delivering behavioral interventions in practice [8,9], accessible self-management interventions are required.

Smartphones have the potential for the delivery of scalable supportive interventions, and ownership is continually increasing. For example, between 2011 and 2021, the proportion of US adults who own smartphones increased from 35% to 85% [10]. There are also examples of how, following substantial user development and empirical testing, a smartphone-delivered intervention can become part of the recommended clinical referral pathway (eg "Sleepio" for insomnia in the United Kingdom in 2022 [11]). Many women with breast cancer want to play an active role in the management of their health, and when surveyed, 68% were interested in information delivered via an app or website [12]. However, alongside this is the desire for peer support from others who have experienced cancer [13], with evidence that this can facilitate positive behavioral change [14]. Systematic reviews have highlighted a number of existing apps designed for cancer self-management [15-18]. A meta-analysis of 30 randomized controlled trials of apps found that they improved quality of life and psychological symptoms among people living with cancer [19]. However, few apps incorporate combined support for physical activity, diet, and weight management or integrated social support [15-18]. A review of app-based interventions for supporting lifestyle or healthy behavioral change in people living with cancer, which was published in 2021, included studies of 17 apps designed to promote diet, physical activity, or mental health in people living with cancer. The majority of these apps were explored in pilot studies, qualitative interviews (one from our group described below), or descriptive studies [20], highlighting that there is insufficient evidence to recommend any particular app. In addition, few apps for breast cancer management have been developed or user-tested by collaborative academic and industry partners, a highlighted limitation of the current field [16,18]. An app-store scoping review found 151 apps aimed at people living with cancer (broadly covering the areas of information provision, organizing cancer care, interacting with others, and cancer management). Most were developed commercially, and only 13 of these apps were developed in partnership with organizations [21]. Such a collaboration is important for quality, optimization, empirical testing, and sustainability.

A key early step in the research and development of a supportive care app is appropriate testing with target users. In a focus group study gathering the views of 35 people living with cancer on app features (using screenshots for discussion), participants highlighted a preference for a positive casual tone, tools to support goal attainment, a "prescription" for physical activity, and individual tailoring [22]. A study of 11 people living with cancer, which was designed to explore their experiences of using a physical activity app for 6 weeks, identified a number of valued app features, including tailoring and social support [23].

We also asked people with breast (n=8), prostate (n=16), or colorectal cancer (n=8) to download and use physical activity apps over a 2- to 3-week period and then conducted in-depth qualitative interviews on their experiences [13]. This provided not only invaluable details of how users felt about the apps they tested but also a far richer understanding of the factors that are important to people living with and beyond cancer than would have been gained from interviews on hypothetical app use. This work subsequently informed the design and funding of a pilot randomized controlled trial of a physical activity app for people with breast, prostate, or colorectal cancer [24].

The aim of this study was to use a similar methodology to gather user experience data of a prototype app with built-in peer and coach support designed to support the management of health behaviors and weight in women living with breast cancer. The information provided in this study will highlight which app components are most valued by potential users, feed into further development of the app, and provide valuable information on what women with breast cancer want from digital support in general.

In this manuscript, we will describe the study design, including the app content, and will then present details of the participant demographics, their app usage during the study, and the themes derived from a qualitative analysis based on their interviews. We will then discuss these findings and what they add to the literature.

Methods

Design

This was a qualitative user experience study where participants were asked to complete a brief online survey, use the app (Healthy Habits after Cancer: HHC) for 4 weeks, and then participate in qualitative interviews. The study was conducted between June and August 2021. Our previous work suggested that 8-10 participants with 1 cancer type trying a single app would provide meaningful qualitative user experience data [13].

Participants

Recruitment was conducted in the United States through the Living Beyond Breast Cancer nonprofit organization via email and social media advertising. Members of the organization who were interested were invited to complete an online screening questionnaire to assess eligibility. Participants were eligible if they were female, were aged ≥18 years, were diagnosed with breast cancer of any stage within the last 5 years, had completed active cancer treatment (eg, chemotherapy, surgery, or radiotherapy) at least 1 month previously, were currently prescribed oral hormone therapy (eg, tamoxifen; medication tracking was a feature of the app we were looking for feedback on), were not pregnant or planning to become pregnant in the next 5 months, were not diagnosed with an eating disorder, had a BMI of >18.5, and owned a smartphone with the iOS operating system as the prototype was built for iOS only. The exclusion criteria were any surgery planned within 6 weeks of study enrolment, current treatment for a second primary cancer (ie, cancer of another organ, not due to breast cancer metastasis, with the exception of nonmelanoma skin cancers), inability to

XSL•FO RenderX

understand spoken or written English, and presence of a diagnosed physical or mental health condition that would impact the ability to participate. If there was any doubt over whether individuals met these criteria, it was recommended that they discuss participation with their clinical care team before enrolling; however, this was not required for any of the participants. Those deemed eligible were invited to complete the online informed consent form and baseline survey before they were given access to the HHC app.

Participants received free access to the HHC app for the duration of the study and were provided with a US \$20 gift card at the end of the study.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval was provided by the Advarra Institutional Review Board (approval number: Pro00055029), and all participants provided informed consent for the study. The Advarra Institutional Review Board is a centralized ethics review board that operates in compliance with US federal regulations and the ethical principles underlying the involvement of human subjects in research [25].

HHC App

Following preliminary discussions about the content between researchers at Noom and University College London, the HHC prototype was created by Noom, who developed a popular weight loss program for the general population and planned to explore the development of a supportive app for women living with breast cancer. The HHC app was based on psychological behavior change principles from cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) [26,27], acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) [28], and dialectical behavior therapy (DBT) [29], as well as the guidelines of the American Cancer Society and World Cancer Research Fund. The key components of the app are summarized in Table 1. Screenshots of example app pages are shown in Figures 1-4.

Table 1. Key content of the Healthy Habits after Cancer app.

Intervention component	Details
Curriculum (articles)	Participants are encouraged to read short daily articles in the app. These address topics, including the 4 pillars of health: nourishment (focusing on mental and behavioral habits), self-care (prioritizing your own well-being), positive experiences (eg, focusing on enjoyment and gratitude), and support (eg, re-framing negative thoughts).
Calorie targets	Calorie targets are set based on basal metabolic rate and logged exercise.
Meal logging	Participants are asked to log all the food they eat via the app, which calculates their calorie intake and displays this against their target.
Weight logging	Participants set their own weight target and are asked to log their weight weekly in the app.
Physical activity	Participants can set their own target or choose automatic adjustable step targets (initially set at 2000 steps a day and increased or decreased over time based on tracked steps). Participants can link an activity tracker to the app or manually enter their steps.
Recording of water intake	Participants set their own water intake target and are asked to log their water intake in the app.
Medication logging and reminders	Participants are asked to log their medication use in the app daily and are sent medication reminders. ^a
Individual one-to-one coaching	A one-to-one coach communicates with participants via in-app messaging. Participants have access to their coach chat at all times. The coach responds to participant messages within 24 hours or less.
Group support	An in-app closed group of other women with breast cancer and a group coach are available for discussions via an in-app chat area.

^aIn the prototype, reminders are sent via text messages outside the app rather than as pop-ups within the app.



Figure 1. Screenshot of the Noom Health Habits after Cancer app: introductory page.



challenging for you right now and we want to reassure you that we're in this together. When times feel especially tough or when you want to share your wins (no matter how small), Noom is here for you every step of the way.

We're looking forward to supporting and uplifting you during our time together (and beyond).



Figure 2. Screenshot of the Noom Healthy Habits after Cancer app.





Figure 3. Screenshot of the Noom Health Habits after Cancer app: medication tracker.





Figure 4. Screenshot of Noom Health Habits after Cancer app: diet tracker.

9:45 7 • App Store	all 🗢 🔲
Breakfast	CANCEL
۹ 🝵	
Yogurt	
Yogurt	1/2 Cup
Yoplait Light Fat Free Yogurt	1 Container (170 g)
Blueberry Yogurt	1 Cup
Greek Yogurt	½ Cup
Vanilla Frozen Yogurt	½ cup
Greek Nonfat Yogurt	½ Cup
Low Fat Fruit Yogurt	½ Cup
Low Fat Yogurt	½ Cup
Chocolate Frozen Yogurt	1 Cup
Lemon Yogurt	3 tbsp
Raspberry Yogurt	½ Cup
Non-Fat Greek Yogurt	½ Cup

During the first week of the study, participants were introduced to the HCC app, their one-to-one coach, and their support group via the app and were given unlimited free access to the program. They were not instructed to use the app a certain amount but were told that there were daily tasks and articles provided. The coaches had been through Noom's intensive training program. The training is approximately 2 weeks in length, and the

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48170

XSL•FO RenderX philosophy of the coach training is centered on motivational interviewing and active listening. Noom health coaches come from a variety of backgrounds (ie, nutrition, exercise physiology, and mental health professionals). The Noom health coach who worked on this study specifically was a licensed marriage and family counselor who worked within the scope of the Noom health coach role, and had experience working with cancer

patients. Coaches used a secure dashboard to monitor participant app use, physical activity, meal logging patterns, dietary intake, and weight, which is used to increase engagement and motivation, and communicated with participants via in-app asynchronous messaging.

A group coach moderated the in-app social support groups by posting content to promote discussion and responding to user posts or comments. During this study, given the small sample size, the group involving this sample was merged with another breast cancer survivor group mid-study to encourage more group engagement and keep conversations more continuous. The other group was from a study Noom was running concurrently with the Dempsey Cancer Center, Maine, which was looking at a group of women diagnosed with breast cancer (stage I, II, or III) within the last 5 years and who had completed active treatment (eg, surgery, chemotherapy, or radiation) at least 6 months ago. They had access to the app for 6 months.

Sociodemographic Variables

At baseline, participants completed an online survey providing date of birth (to calculate age in years at the date of survey completion), race, marital status, employment, education level, date of diagnosis (used to calculate months since diagnosis), cancer stage at diagnosis, height and weight (used to calculate BMI), and details of cancer treatments.

Qualitative Interviews

Interviews were guided by a semistructured schedule designed to explore general experiences of cancer and weight management as well as to probe about specific elements of the HHC app. The interview schedule is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1. One-to-one telephone or video-call interviews were conducted by a member of the Noom research team with training in qualitative interviewing (author MM). MM had no prior relationship with the participants interviewed. Interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim, and the information was deidentified (removing any reference to names or locations).

App Usage

App usage was recorded as the total number of in-app engagements each week. An in-app engagement is defined as

reading an article; messaging a coach; interacting with the support group; or logging a meal, water intake, weight, medication, or exercise.

Analyses

Survey analyses were conducted using descriptive statistics. App engagement was assessed through the number of participants using the app at all each week, as well as the average number of engagements each week across those participants who engaged at all.

Qualitative analyses were conducted in NVivo software (QSR International) using reflexive thematic analysis following the 6 phases outlined by Braun and Clarke [30,31]. First, 2 researchers (AF and PL) familiarized themselves with the data by reading and rereading all transcripts and taking notes, and then independently coded the same randomly selected transcript, met to discuss similarities and differences, and generated an initial set of codes that was used to code the rest of the transcripts, with scope to add new codes as required and conduct regular meetings to discuss ongoing findings. Potential themes and subthemes were generated by reviewing all codes. These were then presented back to the wider research team, reviewed, named, and finalized for presentation in this paper (along with illustrative quotes). A deductive and inductive approach to analysis was taken with the aims of understanding the experience of using the HHC content and gathering data on the wider experience of breast cancer and the desired content from a digital intervention.

Results

Participants

It was not possible to know how many potential participants viewed the recruitment advertisements, but 42 expressed interest, 15 signed the consent form, 13 enrolled in the HHC program, and 8 used the app for 4 weeks and took part in interviews. Participant characteristics are presented in Table 2. Of the 8 participants, 7 (88%) were white and 1 (22%) was mixed race. All were married, and the majority (6/8, 75%) had a graduate degree or above.



Table 2. Participant characteristics.

*	
Characteristic	Value (N=8)
Age (years), mean (SD)	45 (8)
Race, n (%)	
White	7 (88)
Mixed race	1 (22)
Education, n (%)	
High school diploma or GED ^a	2 (25)
Graduate degree or above	6 (75)
Marital status, n (%)	
Married	8 (100)
Employment, n (%)	
Employed full time	5 (62.5)
Employed part-time	3 (37.5)
Cancer stage at interview, n (%)	
Localized	6 (75)
Metastatic	2 (25)
Months since diagnosis, mean (SD)	32 (14)
Chemotherapy, n (%)	
Yes	6 (75)
No	2 (25)
Radiotherapy, n (%)	
Yes	6 (75)
No	2 (25)
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (SD) ^b	29 (5)

^aGED: general educational diploma.

^bTwo participants did not report BMI.

All 8 participants were engaged for the first 3 weeks, and 7 of the 8 participants were engaged for all 4 weeks. The number of engagements each week is shown in Table 3.

Table 3. App engagement over the 4-week study (N=8).

Variable	Week			
	1	2	3	4
Number of engaged participants	8	8	8	7
Average number of total weekly in-app engagements	77.0	54.6	64.9	44.1

Themes and subthemes are presented in Textbox 1. Four overarching themes were identified: (1) Support for providing an app earlier in the care pathway; (2) Desire for weight-focused

content tailored to the breast cancer experience; (3) Tracking of health behaviors that are generally popular; and (4) High value of in-app social support.



Textbox 1. Themes and subthemes.

Lally et al

1. Support for providing an app earlier in the care pathway
- More time during active treatment
- Thirst for knowledge about health in early stages
- Later in the pathway already found a community
- Recommendations from oncologists (most powerful)
2. Desire for weight-focused content tailored to the breast cancer experience ("It wasn't what I was expecting")
- Style of articles was enjoyed
- Too much focus on emotional content, not enough on weight (loss)
- Desire for increased tailoring to the breast cancer experience
3. Tracking of health behaviors that are generally popular
- Meal logging and color coding of diet were popular
- Water or fluid tracking was useful for the cancer community
- Physical activity tracking was very useful, but the step target was too low
- Increased prominence of physical activity preferred
- Medication adherence feature not used
4. High value of in-app social support
- Coaches provided accountability and increased engagement
- Groups were popular
- Mixed views on including early stage and metastatic disease together

Support for Providing an App Earlier in the Care Pathway

Participants expressed a strong desire for support (especially around weight loss). They had completed active curative treatment when they participated in the study and strongly felt that this app would be more appropriate for those still on active treatments such as chemotherapy and radiotherapy.

I feel like it would have been really helpful for me during chemo and my active treatment. [age 40-49 years; localized disease]

While some suggested they would like to have had access to the app at diagnosis, most discussed that they would still have been too shocked at this point to use it.

...right at diagnosis my brain was completely scrambled with the whirlwind of everything that was going on, I'm not sure at diagnosis I would have had the focus to give it any kind of attention. [age 30-39 years; localized disease]

More Time During Active Treatment

A key reason women felt that early in the pathway would be a good time was the additional time they had while on active treatment due to, for example, stopping work and social activities. Although they often felt fatigued on treatment, they felt that they would have had the mental capacity to engage with many of the app components and to start to think about health and behaviors.

I may have been able to use it more, like, when I was more active in treatment because my life was a little

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48170
```

RenderX

bit less busy, if you will...And I think I might have engaged more in the 1:1, in the group setting, because I think that would have helped fill areas that, because I was not working quite as much -- you know... [age 40-49 years; localized disease]

I mean radiation therapy is exhausting -- if you start on Monday, by Friday you can barely walk upstairs -- but you have enough bandwidth to start thinking about your health. [age 40-49 years; localized disease]

...chemo definitely (be)cause you sit in a chair for hours with nothing to do, that would be a good like positivity booster and things like that while you're sitting there. [age 40-49 years; localized disease]

Thirst for Knowledge About Health in Early Stages

Some participants described a "sweet spot" once treatment had started where they were keen to gather as much information as possible and take ownership of their health.

I think earlier in my cancer journey, when I was so focused on losing weight, I probably would have perhaps asked my coach, like "hey, I'm looking for more nutrition content, or this, or that' and just really explored what could have been available or what resources she could have provided for me, but I didn't push on that because I am much further along in my journey, so I think for earlier-diagnosed people, you're so thirsty for information. [age 50-59 years; metastatic disease]

Others described a desire to learn more about interactions between health behaviors and active treatment side effects (like

which dietary factors might alleviate or enhance diarrhea or nausea) as these were happening.

I want to know like the changes my body's going through and how I can change certain aspect of my life whether it is my diet or exercise or anything to that effect that would improve my quality of life or at least be aware of potential side effects and things of that nature. [age 30-39 years; localized disease]

Later in the Pathway Already Found a Community

Some participants discussed that by the time they had completed active treatment, they had found a community of other breast cancer patients and that if the app had come earlier in the pathway when they were still seeking peer support, they would have engaged with group elements much more.

I think earlier on...perhaps I would have found the group to be more enticing to me. I have found my community because I am a little bit further in on my cancer journey, so I have my community, so I didn't need to engage much there. [age 50-59 years; metastatic disease]

Recommendations From Oncologists (Most Powerful)

Participants felt that if their oncologist had recommended the app to them, they would have been likely to try it, and they linked this to having this recommendation earlier in their care pathway.

I ballooned during chemo, so if a doc had been like, "hey, do what you've gotta do to survive, but if you're interested, this is an app that's trying to help women maintain their underlying health while they're doing cancer treatment, and including your mental health. That would have been powerful. [age 40-49 years; localized disease]

Desire for Weight-Focused Content Tailored to the Breast Cancer Experience

Too Much Focus on Emotional Content, Not Enough on Weight (Loss)

All participants had background knowledge of Noom (some had tried the Noom Weight app) and saw it as a weight loss program. They described that this had therefore been a key motivator for participation, and they expressed a strong desire to lose weight, which was often perceived as gained as a result of their cancer treatments. This led to an element of disappointment when the content of the HHC app was focused on psychological or emotional aspects of having breast cancer and weight maintenance.

I think of Noom as a weight loss tool, I was like oh great here's this thing I've been meaning to try and hadn't (be) cause of cost that I can try, tailored to me for weight loss. [age 40-49 years; metastatic disease]

I feel like it spent a lot on emotional stuff -- maybe it should -- but I don't know. I got a little grumpy about it. [age 40-49 years; localized disease] ...my biggest thing going into it was I wanted to lose the weight, and at the very beginning it seemed to be more, more of that like self-acceptance, self-grace, that sort of thing, without ever getting into the – okay this is what we're gonna do to make a change. [age 30-39 years; localized disease]

This was true for participants with metastatic disease and those with localized disease. One participant described already having developed good coping skills after being diagnosed with an incurable disease, and what they really wanted from this app was weight loss support.

I live with this stage 4 diagnosis, my emotional, my coping skills are pretty strong—I didn't get much out of them that helped me with my actual goal which was weight loss. [age 40-49 years; metastatic disease]

However, participants did like the general idea of showing gratitude to and being kind to themselves (although most would like these aspects linked directly to weight loss). One participant with depression who had recently experienced a breakdown engaged more with the emotional support content (this participant did not engage with the behavior change elements and actually reported gaining weight during the study). However, the participant did perceive benefit from the emotional support.

Although most participants expressed that they were hoping for more focus on weight loss and that there was too much focus on the emotions associated with living with cancer, some did express that they found the psychological advice useful.

...feel like I'm able to more identify what the stressors are and kind of bring myself back a little bit. [age 30-39 years; localized disease]

...there was one particular exercise where they talked about when these types of thoughts get in your head, to just use the terminology of, "stop it." And that really hit home for me in a lot of different ways, because when I'm dieting, or really in any other aspect of my life, I tend to be an all-or-nothing-type person. [age 50-59 years; metastatic disease]

Tailoring to the Breast Cancer Experience

While participants acknowledged a strong desire for an app to support weight loss, there was extensive discussion about the need to tailor the app content more to people with breast cancer. Many participants described how they felt the content was quite general, with very little mention of cancer in the content.

I know this was like for breast cancer participants, but I'm not sure if um there's people who don't have breast cancer that were doing it or using it as well but I thought that there would be more information on like, breast cancer and like medications, stuff like that. [age 30-39 years; localized disease]

I guess because throughout the whole thing there was really not a lot of mention of cancer - it was more of everything else, so I really don't feel like, I guess I feel like I was going into there thinking that this would be more a cancer-based thing, um the psychological

effects of the cancer while losing weight, I don't think it mentioned it hardly at all when I think about it. [age 50-59 years; localized disease]

In particular, participants described how they would have liked more information on specific treatment side effects and guidance on appropriate health behaviors to deal with these (particularly, common active treatment side effects like nausea and diarrhea), in line with a desire for an app during active treatment.

If you could have talked about nutrition through chemo - like recipes, how to eat through nausea. For me, like I had some major surgeries, so like, "what would be good nutrition to focus on to rebuild after surgery" would have been helpful. I know that they talk a lot about how you have to focus on protein to help your body rebuild. And also -- maybe you say this somewhere in the app and I missed it. [age 50-59 years; localized disease]

Some women also discussed the effect of hormone treatment on their weight and that they were seeking information on this, whether it is possible for them to lose weight while on this treatment, and how they can achieve this.

...the hormone therapy changes so many things, like your – how your metabolism runs, how you and your body will feel at different times of day and different things like that. [age 30-39 years; localized disease]

I don't actually know if its possible for women on hormone therapies to lose weight. [age 40-49 years; metastatic disease]

Tracking of Health Behaviors That are Generally Popular

Meal Logging and Color Coding of Diet Were Popular

Meal logging and color coding of diet were popular app features.

I really liked how like when you started typing things in it came up so I didn't have to like put in the dietary information – like I literally just typed in like coffee or whatever and it came up, already had the calories and stuff in there. Um yeah they pretty much had everything I think there was just one thing that I had to like put in myself. Um that was, that was a good aspect of it I really liked that part. [age 30-39 years; localized disease]

I did like having the breakdown of different colors of food because, you know, although I do eat healthy, I do eat -- I try to limit meat to one serving per day and then more plant-based, and it's not like you can't have plant-based proteins, but some things like nuts or seeds, you know, they're red foods, so I think just being cognizant of, you know, if I have nuts, being like 'am I eating one serving of nuts or am I taking a handful, which could be more than one?' Like just those types of things; just trying to make sure the quality of my food remains high, despite if there's foods in the red." [age 40-40 years; localized disease]

However, there was a perception that these could have been tailored more to the cancer community so that women could

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48170
```

include information on the treatment they had or the side effects they were experiencing to understand how that was influencing their diet.

It might also be nice to be able to have like a note section, where you could be like -- for me, if I was having a certain digestive issue, I could put like, 'this is what I ate, is my digestion good/bad, or a comment, or something' in there. [age 40-40 years; localized disease]

...you don't have an option for, "did you have your infusion today? Are you nauseous today?" You don't, like, talk about that treatment at all and how that's impacting my ability to take in nutrition or what's coming out of me. [age 50-59 years; localized disease]

Participants engaged with the idea of having calorie targets, but one felt that they needed to be more individualized.

...even with this it was telling me I wasn't eating enough calories when I was like stuffed full and gaining weight. [age 40-49 years; metastatic disease]

Water or Fluid Tracking was Useful for the Cancer Community

A number of participants highlighted the tracking of water as useful and especially relevant to the breast cancer community as treatments can often lead to constipation or diarrhea, so sufficient fluid intake is particularly important.

I loved the water tracking and that's also, again, for early-stage and metastatic, also by cancer trait, people tend to get a lot of diarrhea. They get heart disease, but everyone on hormone therapy, we all get constipated. I have to drink gallons of water a day to not have an impacted bowel, and so I loved the water reminders. [age 40-49 years; localized disease]

Physical Activity Tracking was Very Useful, but the Step Target was Too Low

Tracking of activity was popular and consistently perceived as useful. This was seen as especially useful when participants experienced a change in their daily routines that resulted in a reduction in steps taken in their daily lives, either due to their initial diagnosis and treatment or due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

I just think tracking is really useful. You know, I used to be more active than I am now. I used to walk my kids to school and it was a half mile from my house and bike to the grocery store, and I sometimes forget that I'm not getting all of this activity just from being alive anymore like I used to, so tracking it has me out walking my neighborhood while we're on the phone. I mean I've gotten like 2,000 steps since we've been on the phone, and tracking it has me doing this. [age 40-49 years; localized disease]

However, there was a general perception that the step count was pitched too low. A number of participants talked about being surprised by their "2000 steps" target, feeling that this was not challenging enough, which was then not motivating, and they

XSL•FO RenderX

disengaged from this aspect of the app. Some discussed how this might have been more reasonable during active treatment but that the targets set in the app should be based on the individual's initial step count. Some also referenced information that they were aware of in the public domain, like step count targets, which influenced their perceptions.

...it started I believe at 2000 steps a day which is like super low so I wasn't sure, um, you know why that starts so low um but I think it raised to like 4000 or whatever but I think like the standard like what how many steps you're supposed to take in a day is 10,000 which is like the universal. [age 30-39 years; localized disease]

Increased Prominence of Physical Activity Preferred

Participants in this sample had a high awareness of the importance of physical activity after a cancer diagnosis and felt that this should have had more prominence, with a view that evidence-based information about physical activity after cancer should be provided.

...since I had a double mastectomy...now I can barely do a push up so maybe something information on, what exercises I could be doing to like help get my muscle back. [age 30-39 years; localized disease]

Some participants discussed highlighting cancer-specific guidelines.

I don't know how cancer-specific you want to get in this app, but it would have been interesting: "the latest research shows:..." you know? And, actually, for people with metastatic disease, people who exercise can have better overall survival, you know. [age 40-49 years; localized disease]

Medication Adherence Feature Not Used

No participant used the medication adherence or logging feature. They described how they came to the app with strategies already in place (like pill boxes) and did not perceive a need or desire for this feature.

I never like notified it but it was always there, but "did you take your medicine today", I think when I saw it I hid it, but I've got a pretty good routine set up, cause I take my medicine a couple times a day, so that – that I didn't feel like I really needed. [age 30-39 years; localized disease]

High Value of In-App Social Support

Coaches Provided Accountability and Increased Engagement

Participants were very positive about their one-to-one coach. They felt supported without being judged, and making plans with their coach gave them a sense of accountability and kept them engaged with the app.

I liked the amount of checking in she did with me, it wasn't overbearing, it wasn't too much, and she just encouraged me to keep up with the articles and things like that. [age 50-59 years; metastatic disease]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48170
```

She just kept me focused and digging deeper. [age 50-59 years; localized disease]

I would say ok my goal this week is like, I'm gonna walk every day and um she would be like ok well 'I'll check in with you on Friday, so like the fact that like there was some kind of accountability mechanism, um I really like that. [age 40-49 years; metastatic disease]

However, 2 participants chose not to engage with their coach as they felt they did not need this form of support.

Groups Were Popular

In general, groups were viewed as a positive feature, and the ability to engage or not as desired was appreciated. Some participants acknowledged that they just were not "group" people but still felt it was a useful feature to have available.

...basically people telling stories about their lives and what works and what doesn't work for them, so that's like my favorite model of gaining wisdom about the human condition. I think it's because I've been doing it for so long, and people have interesting ways that they try to get more steps in and connecting and stuff like that. [age 40-49 years; localized disease]

One participant commented on group size, suggesting that they had really enjoyed an initial small group that was then merged with a larger one, including people who were much more established, and the participant felt less comfortable in this larger group.

I really like the idea of the group and I felt like the group was very weight loss focused which I liked, I had a small group then got combined with another group ...and it was also like fifty people which made me feel pretty exposed about being vulnerable, like I would feel more comfortable in a group of 10 to 15 but that may be hard when people aren't actually posting. [age 40-49 years; metastatic disease]

There were some interesting discussions around the presentation of only positive outcomes (especially around weight loss), and how this could be disheartening if someone was not losing weight. For example, 1 participant mentioned that they had gained a little weight, and after announcing this in the group, the participant received a private message from another participant saying they had too but felt uncomfortable sharing. The participant suggested that this could be mitigated by encouraging people to share when things had not gone so well and for others to empathize and share solutions.

I had a couple people contacted me, one on app and two off app, (be)cause the breast cancer community is small so folks knew who I was to say that they had – they didn't feel comfortable posting publicly that they had also gained weight and were pretty upset about it. [age 40-49 years; metastatic disease]

Mixed Views on Including Early Stage and Metastatic Disease Together

There was an interesting juxtaposition between those with early and metastatic disease on the benefits of mixing people with

different cancer stages in groups. Participants with earlier-stage disease felt anxious and self-conscious about discussing certain things like "getting back to normal" as they were concerned about upsetting those with metastatic disease.

I got a little anxious in the group. I think most of us had early stage disease, but there was a woman with metastatic disease, and I feel, I become very anxious about being insensitive with someone who has metastatic. [age 40-49 years; localized disease]

In contrast, 1 woman with metastatic disease really appreciated being included in groups with those with earlier-stage cancers and felt this was a much needed opportunity to break down barriers.

I really really appreciated that this app put people together that were both metastatic and early disease, but I'm involved in a cancer advocate program, and I chose the young advocate program because I really believe we need to break down barriers between early stage and late-stage people. [age 40-49 years; metastatic disease]

This participant expressed that she was really pleased that women with metastatic cancer were being included in this research and that the app was designed for them as well as those with early stage disease.

I know there are women who have better response to their therapy who will probably – there are more and more women who are living 10-15 years with metastatic breast cancer and yet there's a very little for us because the discourse is still meant assuming we're all gonna be dead in two years, which of course many many women still are, but not all of us. [age 40-49 years; metastatic disease]

Discussion

Summary of the Findings

This early phase user experience study found that an app-based intervention with peer and coach support was an acceptable and appealing method of self-management for women after breast cancer diagnosis. However, participants expressed that they would have found this most helpful early in their cancer journey because they had already instilled lifestyle habits after active cancer treatment, and their use of the app declined over the 4 weeks, implying that it became less useful to them over time. The areas in which they particularly wanted support were managing the side effects of their treatment and behaviors that would lead to weight loss. They mostly valued the "emotional" content when this was linked to their weight management behaviors and highlighted that they were looking for content that was more tailored to women with breast cancer and dealt with challenges specific to this group.

Comparison With Other Studies

Participants expressed a strong desire for weight management support. This may have been particularly prominent in this study because of their prior knowledge of Noom as a weight loss program. However, it is in line with previous work that has

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48170
```

shown that weight gain after diagnosis is a source of concern in many women with breast cancer and that those living with and beyond cancer want to focus on their behaviors in order to play an active role in their health management [6,7,17,32]. In addition, weight gain, overweight, and obesity are associated with worse treatment side-effects and higher mortality after breast cancer diagnosis [33], so it is encouraging that the women we interviewed viewed an app-based intervention as an appealing method of accessing support with weight management. While the previous literature focuses mainly on early stage breast cancer, in our study, patients with metastatic disease also felt strongly that they desired weight or self-management programs and behavioral support. This reflects the changing landscape of treatment since patients with metastatic disease can live for many years; thus, future research should consider how to support those with metastatic disease to live as well as possible [34,35].

In this study, participants reported that they would have preferred the app content to be more tailored to the specific needs of those living with and beyond breast cancer, and the desire for tailoring in apps is consistent with other qualitative studies exploring app preferences [13,22,23]. This presents a challenge in terms of design and cost, and highlights the need to involve relevant cancer specialists in the design of apps intended for this population [16]. The strength of an app-based intervention is that it can successfully tailor a program to the end user, and further development of the program will consider how this could be incorporated. It is exceptionally challenging to develop dietary recommendations that not only encompass general healthy eating guidelines but also account for treatment side effects. However, app content could be continually updated to incorporate the newest evidence, and eventually, back-end data of dietary tracking from the cancer app could help inform tailoring algorithms.

In line with previous research, a recommendation to use the app from oncologists was considered to be most valued, and although health care professionals have reported a lack of confidence and time to provide health behavior support [13], they may feel able to recommend an app to participants that can provide what their patients are looking for. This would fit with reported views that the delivery of behavioral advice should be framed as part of treatment and must be cost-effective [9].

The overall style of the app was popular with participants. They particularly liked the tracking features and the one-to-one coaches. Self-monitoring is known to be an important tool in weight management [36], and there are many apps that can be used for this, but they vary in their usability [37]. Interacting with the one-to-one coaches gave participants a sense of accountability as they felt someone was monitoring whether they acted on their plans and goals. Previous work has also highlighted the importance of this component of interventions in this group [38].

Our previous work suggested that social support was a desired or important feature [13,23], and this was supported by most participants in this study. Discussion groups with other women living with and beyond breast cancer also provide accountability as well as social support, encouragement, and ideas for ways

XSL•FO RenderX

to manage thoughts and behaviors [36]. These were used more by some participants than others, but it was generally agreed to be a useful app feature. Some challenges of these groups were raised. These included a feeling of not being able to discuss perceived failures in weight management. This could be a feature of the particular group that these participants were in, but it does highlight that apps that use a group coach could include coaching that encourages the sharing of setbacks. Some of the participants with localized disease were concerned about sharing their feelings with women with metastatic disease because they felt it might be insensitive, but the women with metastatic disease really valued being included and felt that this was important. As some women with localized disease will go on to have metastatic disease, building relationships in this group would potentially be helpful; however, more work is needed to find ways to meet the needs of both groups of women.

Participants in this study felt that physical activity needed to be more prominent in the app as they were aware of the benefits that this can have. Increasing physical activity is something that women can do to improve their mental and physical health and is something that they can control at a time when things can feel out of control [39]. Participants seemed to be using the automatic adjustable step targets rather than setting their own targets and found these to be too low. This suggests that the option to overwrite this with your own targets needs to be highlighted in the app and that the starting point for automatic targets needs to be better individualized. Participants were happy to track their calories, and only one participant expressed concerns about the calorie target (the participant felt it was too high). It could be further explored whether app users should be able to adjust the calorie target or if coaches could do this for participants. The medication adherence feature was not used, but this might have been because these women already had systems in place to take their medications. As medication adherence can be suboptimal [40], more work is needed to see if this would be a helpful feature for those closer to their diagnosis when they were first taking their medications.

This study adds to previous work suggesting that there is interest in apps that support women with breast cancer [15-17] and highlights that what these women wanted most was help with weight management that is specifically tailored to the breast cancer experience. The themes identified could be used to develop this intervention to better fit these needs and to inform other interventions for this population, as user feedback is an essential component in intervention development [16].

There are however some limitations of this study. In particular, this was a small sample of predominantly white, married, and employed women who were interested in trying out this app, and therefore, the findings may not be transferrable to women from other sociodemographic groups. Findings related to the views of patients with metastatic cancer are potentially important. However, only 2 participants in our sample had metastatic disease; thus, more work investigating the views of this group is crucial. The interviews were conducted by a member of Noom, which could have introduced some bias. However, participants were made aware that this was a very early prototype and that we wanted to understand positive and negative views in order to make changes before further development (and many suggestions for changes were indeed made in interviews). This work was conducted as an industry-academic partnership. This benefitted both sides of the partnership. The industry team benefitted from the expertise of the academics in conducting rigorous high-quality research. The academics benefitted from the opportunity to understand user experiences of a high-quality app, with a higher likelihood of this research being taken forward than when working independently of the industry.

Conclusion

This early user experience work showed that women with breast cancer found an app with integrated social and psychological support appealing to receive support for behavior change and weight management or self-management. However, many features were recommended for further development. This work is the first step in an academic-industry collaboration that would ultimately aim to develop and empirically test a supportive app that could be integrated into the cancer care pathway. Although further work is required, the results suggest that this approach has the potential to make an important contribution to cancer care for this group.

Authors' Contributions

Conceptualization – All authors Formal analysis – PL, AF Investigation – MM Methodology – PL, AF Project administration – CNM, ESM, AM, MM Resources – AF Writing – original draft – PL, AF Writing – review & editing – All authors

Conflicts of Interest

PL and AF had consultancy time paid by Noom Inc. for working on this project. CM, ESM, MM and AM are, or were previously, employees of NOOM Inc.

Multimedia Appendix 1

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48170

Interview schedule. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 53 KB - cancer_v10i1e48170_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Breast cancer now most common form of cancer: WHO taking action. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/03-02-2021-breast-cancer-now-most-common-form-of-cancer-who-taking-action</u> [accessed 2024-09-03]
- 2. Key Statistics for Breast Cancer. American Cancer Society. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/breast-cancer/about/</u> <u>how-common-is-breast-cancer.html</u> [accessed 2024-09-03]
- 3. Breast cancer statistics. Cancer Research UK. URL: <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/</u> <u>statistics-by-cancer-type/breast-cancer</u> [accessed 2024-09-03]
- 4. Ewertz M, Jensen AB. Late effects of breast cancer treatment and potentials for rehabilitation. Acta Oncologica 2011 Jan 13;50(2):187-193. [doi: 10.3109/0284186x.2010.533190]
- 5. Breast Cancer Survivorship. American Institute for Cancer Research. URL: <u>https://www.aicr.org/research/the-continuous-update-project/breast-cancer-survivorship/</u>[accessed 2024-09-03]
- Kelly KM, Bhattacharya R, Dickinson S, Hazard H. Health behaviors among breast cancer patients and survivors. Cancer Nurs 2015;38(3):E27-E34. [doi: <u>10.1097/NCC.00000000000167</u>] [Medline: <u>25905912</u>]
- Turner K, Tookman A, Bristowe K, Maddocks M. 'I am actually doing something to keep well. That feels really good': Experiences of exercise within hospice care. Prog Palliat Care 2016 Jul 03;24(4):204-212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/09699260.2015.1123441] [Medline: 27453639]
- Keogh JW, Olsen A, Climstein M, Sargeant S, Jones L. Benefits and barriers of cancer practitioners discussing physical activity with their cancer patients. J Cancer Educ 2017 Mar 12;32(1):11-15. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-015-0893-1</u>] [Medline: <u>26264391</u>]
- Koutoukidis DA, Lopes S, Fisher A, Williams K, Croker H, Beeken RJ. Lifestyle advice to cancer survivors: a qualitative study on the perspectives of health professionals. BMJ Open 2018 Mar 27;8(3):e020313 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020313] [Medline: 29593021]
- 10. Mobile Fact Sheet. Pew Research Center. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2022-03-03]
- 11. Sleepio to treat insomnia and insomnia symptoms. NICE. URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/mtg70</u> [accessed 2024-09-03]
- Phillips SM, Conroy DE, Keadle SK, Pellegrini CA, Lloyd GR, Penedo FJ, et al. Breast cancer survivors' preferences for technology-supported exercise interventions. Support Care Cancer 2017 Oct 3;25(10):3243-3252 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-017-3735-3</u>] [Medline: <u>28470368</u>]
- Roberts AL, Potts HW, Koutoukidis DA, Smith L, Fisher A. Breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer survivors' experiences of using publicly available physical activity mobile apps: qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jan 04;7(1):e10918 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10918] [Medline: 30609982]
- 14. Pinto B, Stein K, Dunsiger S. Psychosocial outcomes of peer-mentorship to promote physical activity among cancer survivors (A-145). Annals of Behavioral Medicine 2014;47(1):S37.
- Jongerius C, Russo S, Mazzocco K, Pravettoni G. Research-tested mobile apps for breast cancer care: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Feb 11;7(2):e10930 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/10930</u>] [Medline: <u>30741644</u>]
- Giunti G, Giunta D, Guisado-Fernandez E, Bender J, Fernandez-Luque L. A biopsy of breast cancer mobile applications: state of the practice review. Int J Med Inform 2018 Feb;110:1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.10.022] [Medline: 29331247]
- Kapoor A, Nambisan P, Baker E. Mobile applications for breast cancer survivorship and self-management: A systematic review. Health Informatics J 2020 Dec 25;26(4):2892-2905 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458220950853] [Medline: 32842830]
- Kalke K, Ginossar T, Bentley JM, Carver H, Shah SFA, Kinney AY. Use of evidence-based best practices and behavior change techniques in breast cancer apps: systematic analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jan 24;8(1):e14082 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14082] [Medline: 32012084]
- 19. Qin M, Chen B, Sun S, Liu X. Effect of mobile phone app-based interventions on quality of life and psychological symptoms among adult cancer survivors: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2022 Dec 19;24(12):e39799 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/39799] [Medline: 36534460]
- Kelley M, Kue J, Brophy L, Peabody A, Foraker R, Yen P, et al. Mobile health applications, cancer survivors, and lifestyle modification: an integrative review. Comput Inform Nurs 2021 Jun 02;39(11):755-763 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000781] [Medline: 34074873]
- 21. Adam R, McMichael D, Powell D, Murchie P. Publicly available apps for cancer survivors: a scoping review. BMJ Open 2019 Sep 30;9(9):e032510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032510] [Medline: 31575584]
- Robertson MC, Tsai E, Lyons EJ, Srinivasan S, Swartz MC, Baum ML, et al. Mobile health physical activity intervention preferences in cancer survivors: A qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Jan 24;5(1):e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6970] [Medline: 28119278]

- 23. Puszkiewicz P, Roberts AL, Smith L, Wardle J, Fisher A. Assessment of cancer survivors' experiences of using a publicly available physical activity mobile application. JMIR Cancer 2016 May 31;2(1):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.5380] [Medline: 28410168]
- 24. Lally P, Miller N, Roberts A, Beeken RJ, Greenfield DM, Potts HWW, et al. An app with brief behavioural support to promote physical activity after a cancer diagnosis (APPROACH): study protocol for a pilot randomised controlled trial. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2022 Mar 29;8(1):74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-022-01028-w] [Medline: 35351187]
- 25. Institutional Review Board. Advarra. URL: <u>https://www.advarra.com/review-services/institutional-review-board/</u>[accessed 2024-09-03]
- 26. Beck JS. Cognitive Behavior Therapy: Basics and Beyond. New York, NY: Guilford Press; 1995.
- 27. Beck AT. Thinking and depression: I. Idiosyncratic content and cognitive distortions. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1963 Oct 01;9(4):324-333. [doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1963.01720160014002] [Medline: 14045261]
- 28. Hayes S, Strosahl K, Wilson K. Acceptance and commitment therapy: An experiential approach to behavior change. New York, NY: Guilford Press; 1999.
- 29. Chapman A. Dialectical behavior therapy: current indications and unique elements. Psychiatry (Edgmont) 2006 Sep;3(9):62-68 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20975829]
- 30. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 31. Braun V, Clarke V. One size fits all? What counts as quality practice in (reflexive) thematic analysis? Qualitative Research in Psychology 2020 Aug 12;18(3):328-352. [doi: 10.1080/14780887.2020.1769238]
- Ee C, Cave AE, Naidoo D, Bilinski K, Boyages J. Weight management barriers and facilitators after breast cancer in Australian women: a national survey. BMC Womens Health 2020 Jul 06;20(1):140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12905-020-01002-9] [Medline: <u>32631302</u>]
- Lee K, Kruper L, Dieli-Conwright CM, Mortimer JE. The impact of obesity on breast cancer diagnosis and treatment. Curr Oncol Rep 2019 Mar 27;21(5):41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11912-019-0787-1] [Medline: 30919143]
- Mosher CE, Johnson C, Dickler M, Norton L, Massie MJ, DuHamel K. Living with metastatic breast cancer: a qualitative analysis of physical, psychological, and social sequelae. Breast J 2013 Mar 26;19(3):285-292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/tbj.12107] [Medline: 23528206]
- 35. Oostra DL, Burse NR, Wolf LJ, Schleicher E, Mama SK, Bluethmann S, et al. Understanding nutritional problems of metastatic breast cancer patients. Cancer Nurs 2020 Feb 3;44(2):154-162. [doi: 10.1097/ncc.00000000000788]
- 36. Cavero-Redondo I, Martinez-Vizcaino V, Fernandez-Rodriguez R, Saz-Lara A, Pascual-Morena C, Álvarez-Bueno C. Effect of behavioral weight management interventions using lifestyle mHealth self-monitoring on weight loss: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutrients 2020 Jul 03;12(7):1977 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu12071977] [Medline: 32635174]
- 37. Ferrara G, Kim J, Lin S, Hua J, Seto E. A focused review of smartphone diet-tracking apps: usability, functionality, coherence with behavior change theory, and comparative validity of nutrient intake and energy estimates. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 May 17;7(5):e9232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9232] [Medline: 31102369]
- Fazzino TL, Sporn NJ, Befort CA. A qualitative evaluation of a group phone-based weight loss intervention for rural breast cancer survivors: Themes and mechanisms of success. Support Care Cancer 2016 Jul 2;24(7):3165-3173 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-016-3149-7] [Medline: 26932848]
- Burke S, Wurz A, Bradshaw A, Saunders S, West MA, Brunet J. Physical activity and quality of life in cancer survivors: a meta-synthesis of qualitative research. Cancers (Basel) 2017 May 20;9(5):53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers9050053] [Medline: 28531109]
- 40. Lin C, Clark R, Tu P, Bosworth HB, Zullig LL. Breast cancer oral anti-cancer medication adherence: a systematic review of psychosocial motivators and barriers. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2017 Sep 1;165(2):247-260. [doi: 10.1007/s10549-017-4317-2] [Medline: 28573448]

Abbreviations

HHC: Healthy Habits after Cancer



Edited by J Bender; submitted 14.04.23; peer-reviewed by IC Hou, S Liu; comments to author 08.11.23; revised version received 31.05.24; accepted 06.08.24; published 20.12.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Lally P, May CN, Mitchell ES, McCallum M, Michaelides A, Fisher A Prototype of an App Designed to Support Self-Management for Health Behaviors and Weight in Women Living With Breast Cancer: Qualitative User Experience Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48170 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48170 doi:10.2196/48170 PMID:

©Phillippa Lally, Christine N May, E Siobhan Mitchell, Meaghan McCallum, Andreas Michaelides, Abigail Fisher. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 20.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Engagement With Daily Symptom Reporting, Passive Smartphone Sensing, and Wearable Device Data Collection During Chemotherapy: Longitudinal Observational Study

Sean McClaine¹, MD; Jennifer Fedor¹, MS; Christianna Bartel¹, BS; Leeann Chen¹, MPS; Krina C Durica¹, MA; Carissa A Low¹, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Corresponding Author: Carissa A Low, PhD University of Pittsburgh 5051 Centre Avenue, Suite 5002 Pittsburgh, PA, 15213 United States Phone: 1 4126235973 Email: lowca@upmc.edu

Email: <u>Ioweac up</u>

Abstract

Background: Chemotherapy can cause symptoms that impair quality of life and functioning. Remote monitoring of daily symptoms and activity during outpatient treatment may enable earlier detection and management of emerging toxicities but requires patients, including older and acutely ill patients, to engage with technology to report symptoms through smartphones and to charge and wear mobile devices.

Objective: This study aimed to identify factors associated with participant engagement with collecting 3 data streams (ie, daily patient-reported symptom surveys, passive smartphone sensing, and a wearable Fitbit device [Google]) during chemotherapy.

Methods: We enrolled 162 patients receiving outpatient chemotherapy into a 90-day prospective study. Patients were asked to install apps on their smartphones to rate daily symptoms and to collect passive sensor data and to wear a Fitbit device for the duration of the study. Participants completed baseline demographic and quality of life questionnaires, and clinical information was extracted from the electronic medical record. We fit a series of logistic generalized estimating equations to evaluate the association between demographic and clinical factors and daily engagement with each data stream.

Results: Participants completed daily surveys on 61% (SD 27%) of days and collected sufficient smartphone data and wearable sensor data on 73% (SD 35%) and 70% (SD 33%) of enrolled days, respectively, on average. Relative to White participants, non-White patients demonstrated lower odds of engagement with both symptom surveys (odds ratio [OR] 0.49, 95% CI 0.29-0.81; P=.006) and wearable data collection (OR 0.35, 95% CI 0.17-0.73; P=.005). Patients with stage 4 cancer also exhibited lower odds of engagement with earlier stage disease (OR 0.69, 95% CI 0.48-1.00; P=.048), and patients were less likely to complete symptom ratings on the weekend (OR 0.90, 95% CI 0.83-0.97; P=.008). Older patients (OR 1.03, 95% CI 1.01-1.06; P=.01) and those who reported better cognitive functioning at study entry (OR 1.18, 95% CI 1.03-1.34; P=.02) were more likely to engage with Fitbit data collection, and patients who reported higher levels of depressive symptoms were less likely to engage with smartphone data collection (OR 1.18, 95% CI 1.03-1.36; P=.02).

Conclusions: Remote patient monitoring during chemotherapy has the potential to improve clinical management, but only if patients engage with these systems. Our results suggest significant associations between demographic and clinical factors and long-term engagement with smartphone and wearable device assessments during chemotherapy. Non-White participants, those with metastatic cancer, or those with existing cognitive impairment may benefit from additional resources to optimize engagement. Contrary to hypotheses, older adults were more likely than younger adults to engage consistently with wearable device assessments.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e57347) doi:10.2196/57347

KEYWORDS

RenderX

cancer; chemotherapy; remote monitoring; mobile health; wearable device; mobile phone; oncology; metastases; chemo; mHealth; mobile application; digital health; digital intervention

Introduction

Patients with cancer undergoing chemotherapy often experience numerous adverse effects, including fatigue, nausea and vomiting, peripheral neuropathies, and more [1]. These symptoms can have a significant negative impact on the patient's quality of life and can lead to early discontinuation or reduction of treatment.

Growing evidence suggests that patients who used symptom-reporting software during chemotherapy continued their treatment for longer, required fewer hospital admissions, and survived longer than those who were not randomized to report symptoms [2-4]. Symptom monitoring systems associated with improved clinical outcomes use patient-generated data to trigger alerts to clinicians and to enable the treating oncology team to manage symptoms earlier. To achieve these potential benefits, patients, including those who are older, acutely ill, or with low digital or health literacy, must engage with technological systems to report symptoms and provide other patient-generated health data for remote monitoring purposes. This paper's goal is to characterize patient engagement with a system aimed at capturing daily patient-reported symptoms and continuous wearable and smartphone sensor data during chemotherapy.

Smartphones and other technologies provide a unique opportunity for remote patient monitoring as they allow patients to record their symptoms and other patient-reported outcomes quickly and easily. Clinicians can benefit from patients electronically recording and sharing their symptoms, as they can use this information to track their patient's symptom progression and identify concerning symptoms in real time. Several studies have investigated patient adherence to daily or weekly symptom surveys on the patient's smartphone or by email [5-9]. Typical adherence rates in the literature have varied depending on the technology used, the frequency and duration of assessments, how adherence is defined, and whether participants were given reminders to answer symptom surveys. A systematic review of 33 different electronic symptom self-reporting systems reported response rates ranging from 45% to 92% [5].

Wearable devices such as Fitbits (Google) and other activity monitors as well as passive data from smartphones may also be useful for patient monitoring, as they allow for the continuous collection of physiological and behavioral data related to sleep, activity, geographic mobility, and more. These data may also be helpful to clinicians, as studies have shown a correlation between lower step counts and negative patient outcomes including greater symptom burden, lower quality of life and performance status, and worse clinical outcomes among oncology patients [10-12]. The growing literature in this area suggests that patient adherence to wearable data collection during cancer treatment has been relatively robust [13,14]. A systematic review of 38 studies that investigated adherence of patients with cancer to wearable devices reported adherence rates ranging from 60%-100% [14]. Collecting data from a wearable device may require less active involvement from participants but requires the participant to keep the device

XSL•FC

charged, wear it consistently and correctly, and sync the wearable to an internet-connected device. Indeed, there is evidence that patient adherence to wearable devices may be limited when the patient is not given reminders to wear and sync the device [15]. Other barriers to wearable device data collection reported in the literature include limited technical literacy and limited access to a reliable internet connection [16]. Passive smartphone sensor data collection is less common, and to our knowledge, no studies to date have examined patient adherence to passive smartphone sensing during chemotherapy. In addition, there has been little research done on the sociodemographic and medical factors that affect a participant's engagement with these technology-based monitoring systems during cancer treatment.

The objective of this study was to identify factors that impacted participant engagement with collecting 3 data streams over 90 days during chemotherapy, that is, daily patient-reported symptom surveys, passive smartphone sensing, and a wearable Fitbit device.

Methods

Participants

Potential study participants were identified for the study by their medical oncology care team. Men and women aged 18 years or older who were undergoing chemotherapy for any solid tumor at a large academic cancer center, who owned a smartphone, who could read and write in English, and who had at least 2 chemotherapy cycles remaining were eligible to participate. In addition, 7 participants were recruited from a community research registry, and these participants were asked to self-report on if they met the above eligibility criteria.

Ethical Considerations

The institutional review board of the University of Pittsburgh reviewed and approved all study activities (study 19070011). The study team conducted informed consent by explaining each study app, what specific data passive sensors would collect, how the data from the Fitbit and mobile apps would be used for the purpose of the study, how information was deidentified, potential risks, and asking participants for permission to install each study app on their phone. All data were stored in secure locations and identified only by anonymized study ID numbers. Participants were compensated US \$100 and given the option to keep the Fitbit (approximate value US \$100) upon completion of the study.

Study Procedure

First, participants had the MoSHI Surveys app (Carissa Low) installed on their smartphones; this free commercially available app was developed by our research team and is used to configure notifications to remind study participants to complete web-based surveys. This app delivered a daily and weekly (weekly data not reported) symptom survey. We focused on daily symptom surveys given that daily symptom assessments are more burdensome to participants but also potentially beneficial for capturing rapidly developing symptoms sooner [17]. The daily survey asked about symptoms experienced in the past 24 hours, was based on the National Cancer Institute's Patient Reported
Outcome-Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events [18], and included the following symptoms, selected to represent common side effects of cytotoxic chemotherapy: nausea, vomiting, decreased appetite, abdominal pain, constipation, diarrhea, shortness of breath, insomnia, fatigue, rash, dizziness, numbness or tingling in hands or feet, anxiety, sad or unhappy feelings, and "other symptoms." Participants were able to set times for daily notifications to remind them to complete the surveys. These notifications would occur once a day at the set time, and alert sounds and other settings were determined by the participant's notification settings for their phone.

The AWARE app (developed by Denzil Ferreira and Yuuki Nishiyama) [19], another free and commercially available app developed by our research collaborators, was also installed on participants' Android (Google) or iOS (Apple Inc) smartphones. AWARE runs in the background to record information about movement and location of the phone, screen on and off events, nearby Bluetooth devices and Wi-Fi networks, and metadata about calls and SMS text messages exchanged using the smartphone. Participants were asked to keep the app open and running in the background of their phones for the duration of the study. Finally, participants were provided with a Fitbit Inspire device that recorded the patient's activity, heart rate, and sleep patterns, and the Fitbit app was installed on their smartphone to enable frequent syncing with the wearable device and upload of data to our research server. Participants were asked to wear the Fitbit at all times except when charging (approximately every 10 days). After installation and setup, a study team member taught each participant how to use all study apps and Fitbit (ie, how to change notification settings, sync their Fitbit device with their phone, view data, and so on).

Data were collected from each participant for 3 months. Incoming data quality was monitored with a secure web-based study dashboard throughout the study. The study dashboard had a column for each of the data sources, and a flag would appear after 3 consecutive days without data from a participant. This dashboard was reviewed at least 3 times a week by study team members. Generally, the participant would be contacted through phone, text, email, or in person according to their preferred method of communication and treatment schedule. If the flag remained for over a week, the participant would be called or visited in person at their next treatment. If the participant did not respond after 3 contacts, we would continue to attempt to reach out every 1 to 2 weeks if the flag remained. All communication with the participants was logged in a record of communication containing pertinent notes that all study team members had access to and updated. There was some subjective judgment around when or if a participant was contacted based on notes from previous contacts (eg, if participants were very sick, if they were receiving surgery, and if they were hospitalized).

At baseline, participants completed a demographic questionnaire as well as the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System Profile (PROMIS-29+2 v2.1). Information about participants' cancer and its treatment was extracted from the electronic medical record (EMR).

Measures

Demographics

Demographic variables were self-reported by participants in a baseline questionnaire and included age (in years), gender or sex (male, female, and non-binary), race (White or Caucasian, Black or African American, Asian, other, more than 1 race), highest level of education (less than a high-school diploma, high-school diploma or equivalent, some college but no degree, Associates of arts or other 2-year degree, Bachelor's degree, and Graduate degree). Residential zip code was used to classify participants as rural (yes or no) based on eligible zip code data from the Federal Office of Rural Health Policy [20]. Smartphone model information was recorded by the study team and verified against data collected by AWARE. Phone type was categorized as iOS if the device brand was "iPhone" (Apple Inc) and as Android otherwise.

Clinical

Insurance plan type was extracted from the EMR in June 2023 and categorized by the study team as public; private; mixed public, private, or other; or none, if no insurance was listed. Because we were unable to determine if a lack of available insurance information was due to the participant not having insurance coverage, removal of insurance information from the system upon death, or another reason, we subsequently chose to treat no insurance listed as missing. Cancer type (biliary, bone, breast, gastrointestinal tract, gynecologic, liver, lung, multiple myeloma, pancreas, salivary gland, and urogenital), stage (0, 1, 2, 3, and 4), and diagnosis date were extracted from the EMR at enrollment. For consistency, the cancer diagnosis date was defined as the date listed beside the cancer type in the participant's outpatient progress notes. Time in days since cancer diagnosis at enrollment was calculated by subtracting the cancer diagnosis date from the study enrollment date and was rescaled to time in months for interpretability of analyses.

Quality of Life

To assess quality of life, participants completed the PROMIS Profile 29+2 v2.1 [21] as part of the baseline questionnaire. From each participant's item-level responses, we obtained domain-level theta values from the HealthMeasures Scoring Service [22] and used these values to generate PROMIS preference-based scores [23]. Theta values from the pain interference, cognitive function, depression or sadness, ability to participate in social roles or activities, anxiety or fear, fatigue, physical function, and sleep disturbance domains were used to compute one overall ("PROPr [PROMIS-Preference scoring system]") and 7 domain-specific preference-based scores. Possible scores range from 0 (reflecting death) to 1 (reflecting full health).

Time-Related

Time-varying, day-level variables included an index for study day (with 0 corresponding to the date of enrollment), an indicator for weekday or weekend days, and the time in days since the participant's last known chemotherapy treatment. Dates on which the participant received chemotherapy treatment were extracted from the EMR where available. For each day for each participant, we computed the number of days that had

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57347
```

XSI•FC

elapsed since the participant's last known chemotherapy treatment as the difference in days between the study day date and the most recent previous treatment date; the value of this variable was 0 on treatment days and was missing on days before the participant's first known treatment day.

Daily Symptom Survey Completion

To evaluate associations between demographic, clinical, quality of life, and time-related factors, and adherence to daily surveys, we created a day-level, binary outcome variable reflecting daily symptom survey completion. For each day for each participant, adherence to daily symptom survey completion was defined as the presence of a recorded survey response that was started at any time on the given day and was at least 50% complete. This threshold was selected based on the literature [24,25].

Smartphone and Fitbit Data Collection

To evaluate associations between demographic, clinical, quality of life, and time-related factors and adherence to smartphone and Fitbit data collection, we created separate day-level, binary outcome variables reflecting the presence of at least 8 valid hours of phone or Fitbit data, respectively. This threshold was also based on the literature as well as our previous work [26-28]. We first used our Reproducible Analysis Pipeline for Data Streams (RAPIDS) [29] to extract day-level (24 hours from midnight to midnight) phone and Fitbit data yield features for each participant. Data yield features approximate the proportion of each day during which the device was sensing data from any of the specified sensors. For each day for each participant, adherence to phone data collection was defined as at least 8 valid hours of data from any AWARE sensor (activity recognition, app crashes, apps foreground, apps notifications, battery, Bluetooth, calls, keyboard, light, locations, SMS text messages, screen, Wi-Fi-connected, and Wi-Fi-visible), and adherence to Fitbit data collection was defined as at least 8 valid hours of Fitbit intraday heart rate data. Valid hours were defined as 60-minute windows in which at least 1 row of raw data from any of the specified sensors was recorded in at least 30 of those minutes.

Statistical Analysis

We first computed descriptive statistics of demographic, clinical, quality of life, and time-related measures to characterize our sample. For continuous variables, Wilcoxon rank sum tests, and for categorical variables, chi-square or Fisher exact tests were used to determine if these measures significantly differed between participants who completed the full study protocol and those who withdrew early. In addition, to characterize overall adherence in our sample, for each participant, we calculated the proportions of days with adherence to daily symptom survey completion, smartphone data collection, and Fitbit data collection as the ratio between the respective number of adherent days and the number of days the participant was enrolled in the study and computed descriptive statistics. For statistical models, we evaluated the day-level, binary outcomes.

For interpretability of analyses, age was centered at the mean age of the sample. Due to low frequencies of some categories, nonbinary gender was treated as missing, and race and highest level of education were collapsed into binary variables

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57347
```

XSL•FC

(respectively, White or Caucasian, not White or Caucasian; less than a college degree, college degree or higher). In addition, cancer types with frequency <10 were collapsed into a single other category, and the cancer stage was collapsed into a binary variable representing stage 4 cancer (yes or no). Baseline PROMIS preference-based scores were rescaled for interpretability by multiplying each score by 10.

To evaluate the associations between demographic, quality of life, clinical, and time-related factors and daily adherence to daily survey completion and smartphone and Fitbit data collection, we first fit a series of univariable logistic generalized estimating equations (GEE) [30] using the geepack package for R (v1.3.9; R Core Team) [31], with each binary, day-level outcome as the dependent variable and, separately, each factor as the independent variable. Due to a small proportion of missing values for some predictors, we analyzed model-wise complete cases. Because phone data yield was systematically lower among participants using Android devices compared with those using iOS devices due to differences in sensor data sampling frequencies across platforms, all models for the phone data yield outcome were additionally adjusted for phone type. GEE is a method for modeling clustered data, such as those from a longitudinal study, where observations within a cluster (ie, participants) are correlated. Either an exchangeable or first-order autoregressive (ar1) working correlation structure was selected by minimizing the quasi-information criterion (QIC). Robust SEs for parameter estimates were obtained using the sandwich estimator. Estimates were exponentiated to obtain odds ratios (OR) and 95% CIs. Because likelihood-based methods are not available for GEE, we used a series of Wald tests to conduct single- and multi-parameter inference. We accounted for multiple comparisons for each outcome by controlling for the false discovery rate [32] when evaluating global predictor effects across univariable models (Q values). An α level of .05 was used as a strict cutoff for determining statistical significance.

Finally, for each outcome, we fit a single multivariable GEE containing a purposefully selected subset of predictors which were determined a priori. For the sufficient Fitbit data yield outcome, we defaulted to an independent working correlation structure because unstable and extreme parameter estimates were obtained under both exchangeable and ar1 correlation structures; an ar1 correlation structure was selected for all other outcomes based on QIC, with the exception of an exchangeable working correlation structure for the sufficient phone data yield outcome.

All analyses were performed using R (v4.2.3) [33]. All code for data management and analysis is available on GitHub [34].

Results

Participant Characteristics

Of the 320 potential participants approached about the study through March 8, 2023, a total of 167 (52.2%) participants enrolled. Reasons for not participating in the study included concerns about technology, feeling overwhelmed, being too busy, not feeling well, and not being interested. Data collection for this prospective cohort study is ongoing; this analysis focuses

on 162 patients who had completed (146/162, 90.1%) or withdrawn from (16/162, 9.9%) the 90-day study protocol between March 2020 and June 2023. Participant characteristics are summarized in Table 1. Participants were aged 59.47 (SD 11.84, range 28-92) years on average, and were mostly female (101/162, 62.3%), White or Caucasian (135/162, 83.3%), had obtained a bachelor's degree (42/162, 25.9%), did not live in a rural zip code (145/162, 89.5%), and used an iOS smartphone (98/162, 60.5%). Most participants had a private insurance plan (79/162, 48.8%), gastrointestinal tract cancer (57/162, 35.2%), stage 4 cancer (103/162, 63.6%), and enrolled in the study 10.88

(SD 22.01, range 0-124) months after their cancer diagnosis, on average. Furthermore, 1 participant enrolled through the community research registry was diagnosed with multiple myeloma rather than a solid tumor. With the exception of insurance plan type (P=.02), participant characteristics did not significantly differ between participants who completed the study and those who withdrew early (all P>.08). Participants were enrolled in the study for a grand total of 13,954 days, with an average of 86 (SD 17, range 8-92) days per participant. Day-level characteristics are summarized in Table 2.



Table 1. Participant characteristics.

McClaine et al

Characteristic	Study completion stat	us		
	Overall, N=162	Completed, n=146	Withdrawn, n=16	P value ^a
Age (years), mean (SD)	59.47 (11.84)	59.97 (11.90)	54.94 (10.54)	.11
Sex, n (%)				.09
Female	101 (62.3)	87 (59.6)	14 (88)	
Male	60 (37.0)	58 (39.7)	2 (13)	
Nonbinary	1 (0.6)	1 (0.7)	0 (0)	
Race, n (%)				.71
White or Caucasian	135 (83.3)	122 (83.6)	13 (81)	
Black or African American	21 (13)	18 (12.3)	3 (19)	
Asian	1 (0.6)	1 (0.7)	0 (0)	
Other	2 (1.2)	2 (1.4)	0 (0)	
More than 1 race	3 (1.9)	3 (2.1)	0 (0%)	
Ethnicity, n (%)				.34
Non-Hispanic	158 (97.5)	143 (97.9)	15 (94)	
Hispanic	1 (0.6)	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	
Unknown	3 (1.9)	2 (1.4)	1 (6)	
Education, n (%)				.09
Less than a high-school diploma	2 (1.2)	1 (0.7)	1 (6)	
High-school diploma or equivalent	32 (19.8)	30 (20.5)	2 (13)	
Some college but no degree	32 (19.8)	28 (19.2)	4 (25)	
Associate of arts or other 2-year degree	15 (9.3)	13 (8.9)	2 (13)	
Bachelor's degree	42 (25.9)	37 (25.3)	5 (31)	
Graduate degree	37 (22.8)	36 (24.7)	1 (6)	
Unknown	2 (1.2)	1 (0.7)	1 (6)	
Rural zip code, n (%)				.38
No	145 (89.5)	132 (90.4)	13 (81)	
Yes	17 (10.5)	14 (9.6)	3 (19)	
Phone type, n (%)				.71
iPhone	98 (60.5)	89 (61)	9 (56)	
Android	64 (39.5)	57 (39)	7 (44)	
Baseline PROMIS ^b preference score, mean (SD) ^c				
PROPr ^d	0.43 (0.23)	0.43 (0.23)	0.38 (0.19)	.51
Cognition	0.83 (0.20)	0.83 (0.20)	0.85 (0.13)	>.99
Depression	0.88 (0.15)	0.89 (0.13)	0.80 (0.28)	.26
Fatigue	0.77 (0.15)	0.76 (0.15)	0.79 (0.12)	.57
Pain	0.85 (0.21)	0.85 (0.21)	0.82 (0.16)	.23
Physical	0.76 (0.18)	0.76 (0.18)	0.77 (0.18)	.63
Sleep	0.77 (0.16)	0.77 (0.16)	0.76 (0.13)	.56
Social	0.79 (0.18)	0.79 (0.18)	0.78 (0.17)	.55
Insurance plan type, n (%)				.02
Private	79 (48.8)	68 (46.6)	11 (69)	

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57347

XSL•FO RenderX

```
JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e57347 | p.256
(page number not for citation purposes)
```

Characteristic	Study completion status							
	Overall, N=162	Completed, n=146	Withdrawn, n=16	P value ^a				
Public	51 (31.5)	49 (33.6)	2 (13)					
Mixed	21 (13)	21 (14.4)	0 (0)					
Unknown	11 (6.8)	8 (5.5)	3 (19)					
Cancer type, n (%)				.67				
Biliary	7 (4.3)	7 (4.8)	0 (0)					
Bone	1 (0.6)	1 (0.7)	0 (0)					
Breast	24 (14.8)	23 (15.8)	1 (6)					
Gastrointestinal tract	57 (35.2)	49 (33.6)	8 (50)					
Gynecologic	9 (5.6)	7 (4.8)	2 (13)					
Liver	2 (1.2)	2 (1.4)	0 (0)					
Lung	6 (3.7)	6 (4.1)	0 (0)					
Multiple myeloma	1 (0.6)	1 (0.7)	0 (0)					
Pancreas	40 (24.7)	35 (24)	5 (31)					
Salivary gland	1 (0.6)	1 (0.7)	0 (0)					
Urogenital	14 (8.6)	14 (9.6)	0 (0)					
Cancer stage, n (%)				.81				
0	1 (0.6)	1 (0.7)	0 (0)					
1	10 (6.2)	10 (6.8)	0 (0)					
2	25 (15.4)	23 (15.8)	2 (13)					
3	20 (12.3)	19 (13)	1 (6)					
4	103 (63.6)	90 (61.6)	13 (81)					
Unknown	3 (1.9)	3 (2.1)	0 (0)					
Time since diagnosis (months), mean (SD)	10.88 (22.01)	11.69 (23.00)	3.50 (4.62)	.15				

^aWilcoxon rank sum test; Fisher exact test; Pearson chi-square test.

^bPROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System.

^cData missing for 3/162 participants (1.8%).

^dPROPr: PROMIS-Preference scoring system.

Table 2. Day-level characteristics.

Characteristic	N=13,954
Study day, mean (SD), (range)	44.18 (26.28), (0-91)
Weekend, n (%)	
No	9976 (71.49)
Yes	3978 (28.51)
Time since last chemotherapy (days), mean (SD), (range) ^a	11.21 (12.04), (0-90)

^aData missing for 1257/13954 days (9.01%).

Overall Adherence

Across participants, 41.7% (5816/13,954) of days had valid data from all 3 data streams; 33.6% (4694/13,954) had valid data from 2 data streams (1090/4694, 23.2% daily survey and smartphone, 1417/4694, 30.2% daily survey and Fitbit, and 2187/4694, 46.6% smartphone and Fitbit), 17.1% (2391/13,954) had valid data from a single data stream (449/2391, 18.8% daily

XSL•FO RenderX survey only, 1257/2391, 52.6% smartphone only, and 685/2391, 28.6% Fitbit only), and 7.6% (1053/13,954) had valid data from no data streams. Overall adherence was higher for passive smartphone and Fitbit data streams than for patient-reported daily symptom surveys (Table 3). On average, participants were adherent to daily survey completion on 60.96% (SD 27.24%, range 0%-100%), smartphone data collection on 73.06% (SD

34.94%, range 0%-100%), and Fitbit data collection on 70.07%

of enrolled days (SD 33.45%, range 0%-100%).

Outcome	N=162, mean (SD), (range) ^a
Daily survey adherence	60.96 (27.24), (0-100)
Smartphone adherence	73.06 (34.94), (0-100)
Fitbit adherence	70.07 (33.45), (0-100)

^aPercent of enrolled days per participant.

On average, participants included in analyses were contacted 3.67 times throughout the duration of the study with a range of 0-12 contacts per participant and the majority of contacts taking place over text. No participants had to be withdrawn due to complete noncompliance.

Univariable Models

Results of the univariable models characterizing associations between each demographic, quality of life, clinical, and time-related factor and daily adherence to daily survey completion and smartphone and Fitbit data collection are summarized in Table 4.



	Table 4.	Summary	of results	of univariable	e generalized	estimating e	quations.
--	----------	---------	------------	----------------	---------------	--------------	-----------

Predictor ^a	Ν	Daily survey ad	lherence		Smartphone add	herence		Fitbit adherence	e	
		OR (95% CI) ^b	P value ^c	Q value ^d	OR (95% CI) ^b	P value ^c	Q value ^d	OR (95% CI) ^b	P value ^c	Q value ^d
Age (years, centered at mean)	13,954	1.01 (0.99- 1.02)	.34	.51	1.00 (0.97- 1.02)	.81	.94	1.02 (1.00- 1.05)	.03	.13
Sex	13,863	e	.55	.67	_	.32	.51	_	.92	.95
Female	8485	Reference			Reference		_	Reference		_
Male	5378	0.89 (0.62- 1.29)	.55	—	1.35 (0.75- 2.42)	.32	—	1.03 (0.62- 1.71)	.92	_
Race (collapsed)	13,954	_	.004	.02	_	.91	.94	_	.002	.02
White or Cau- casian	11,631	Reference	_	_	Reference	_	—	Reference	_	_
Not White or Caucasian	2323	0.48 (0.29- 0.80)	.004	—	1.04 (0.54- 2.00)	.91	—	0.36 (0.19- 0.68)	.002	
Education (col- lapsed)	13,820	_	.41	.54	_	.57	.75	_	.15	.39
College degree or higher	6883	Reference	—	_	Reference	—	—	Reference	—	_
Less than col- lege degree	6937	0.86 (0.61- 1.22)	.41	_	0.85 (0.49- 1.48)	.57	_	0.70 (0.43- 1.14)	.15	_
Rural zip code	13,954	_	.80	.88	_	.94	.94	_	.88	.95
No	12,510	Reference	_	_	Reference	_	_	Reference	_	_
Yes	1444	1.08 (0.61- 1.92)	.80	_	1.02 (0.60- 1.73)	.94	_	0.94 (0.45- 2.00)	.88	_
Phone type	13,954	_	.85	.89	—	<.001	<.001	—	.10	.30
iPhone	8433	Reference	_		Reference	_	_	Reference	_	_
Android	5521	0.96 (0.66- 1.40)	.85	—	0.07 (0.04- 0.12)	<.001	—	0.65 (0.40- 1.08)	.10	—
Baseline PROMIS ^f , PROPr ^g	13,756	1.08 (1.00- 1.17)	.06	.25	1.07 (0.95- 1.21)	.28	.49	1.06 (0.94- 1.19)	.35	.58
Baseline PROMIS, cognition	13,756	0.98 (0.89- 1.06)	.57	.67	0.92 (0.81- 1.04)	.18	.49	1.14 (1.00- 1.31)	.05	.19
Baseline PROMIS, depression	13,756	1.06 (0.96- 1.16)	.25	.41	1.14 (1.00- 1.29)	.046	.32	1.11 (0.94- 1.31)	.21	.44
Baseline PROMIS, fatigue	13,756	1.07 (0.96- 1.19)	.24	.41	1.11 (0.95- 1.30)	.19	.49	1.08 (0.91- 1.28)	.40	.59
Baseline PROMIS, pain	13,756	1.07 (0.99- 1.17)	.10	.34	1.11 (0.98- 1.25)	.09	.49	1.06 (0.95- 1.19)	.31	.58
Baseline PROMIS, physical	13,756	1.06 (0.96- 1.16)	.25	.41	1.09 (0.94- 1.26)	.27	.49	1.00 (0.88- 1.15)	.95	.95
Baseline PROMIS, sleep	13,756	1.07 (0.97- 1.19)	.19	.41	1.04 (0.91- 1.20)	.55	.75	0.97 (0.86- 1.11)	.70	.86
Baseline PROMIS, social	13,756	1.04 (0.95- 1.13)	.41	.54	1.08 (0.92- 1.26)	.38	.57	0.94 (0.83- 1.07)	.36	.58
Insurance plan type	13,063	_	.94	.94	_	.19	.49	_	.76	.88
Private	6621	Reference		_	Reference		_	Reference		_
Mixed	1911	0.98 (0.63- 1.53)	.94	_	0.55 (0.28- 1.08)	.08	—	1.15 (0.51- 2.62)	.73	—

XSL•FO RenderX

Predictor ^a	Ν	Daily survey ad	lherence		Smartphone adl	nerence		Fitbit adherence	e	
		OR (95% CI) ^b	P value ^c	Q value ^d	OR (95% CI) ^b	P value ^c	Q value ^d	OR (95% CI) ^b	P value ^c	Q value ^d
Public	4531	0.93 (0.64- 1.36)	.73	_	0.70 (0.37- 1.33)	.28	_	1.23 (0.70- 2.17)	.47	_
Cancer type (col- lapsed)	13,954	_	.11	.34	_	.69	.85	_	.66	.86
Gastrointestinal tract	4810	Reference	_	_	Reference	_	_	Reference	_	_
Pancreas	3313	0.69 (0.46- 1.04)	.08	_	0.75 (0.33- 1.72)	.50	_	1.24 (0.65- 2.36)	.51	_
Breast	2158	1.25 (0.81- 1.94)	.31	_	0.74 (0.36- 1.52)	.41	_	1.54 (0.70- 3.37)	.28	_
Urogenital	1275	1.09 (0.59- 2.03)	.78	_	0.48 (0.17- 1.31)	.15	_	0.92 (0.37- 2.32)	.87	_
Other	2398	1.20 (0.74- 1.95)	.45	_	0.76 (0.39- 1.48)	.42	_	1.54 (0.75- 3.15)	.24	_
Cancer stage 4	13,681	_	.25	.41	_	.91	.94	_	.52	.72
No	4959	Reference	_		Reference	_	_	Reference	_	_
Yes	8722	0.81 (0.56- 1.16)	.25	_	1.03 (0.62- 1.72)	.91	_	0.84 (0.51- 1.41)	.52	_
Time since cancer diagnosis (months)	13,954	1.01 (1.00- 1.01)	.18	.41	1.01 (0.99- 1.02)	.23	.49	1.01 (1.00- 1.02)	.21	.44
Study day	13,954	0.99 (0.99- 0.99)	<.001	<.001	1.00 (0.99- 1.00)	.27	.49	1.00 (0.99- 1.00)	.03	.13
Weekend	13,954	_	<.001	.002	_	.20	.49	_	.007	.05
No	9976	Reference	_	_	Reference	_	_	Reference	_	_
Yes	3978	0.89 (0.84- 0.95)	<.001	_	0.94 (0.86- 1.03)	.20	_	0.93 (0.89- 0.98)	.007	_
Time since last chemotherapy (days)	12,697	0.99 (0.98- 0.99)	<.001	<.001	0.98 (0.97- 1.00)	.02	.22	0.99 (0.98- 0.99)	<.001	.002

^aFor smartphone adherence outcome, adjusted for phone type.

^bOR: odds ratio.

^cUnadjusted Wald test *P* value for single- or multi-parameter inference.

^dAdjusted global Wald test *P* value, corrected for multiple comparisons. ^eNot applicable.

^fPROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System.

^gPROPr: PROMIS-Preference scoring system.

For the daily survey adherence outcome, there were statistically significant effects of race, weekends, time in the study, and time since last chemotherapy treatment. The odds of completing a daily survey were significantly lower for non-White or non-Caucasian participants relative to White or Caucasian participants (OR 0.48, 95% CI 0.29-0.80; P=.004), on weekend days relative to weekday days (OR 0.89, 95% CI 0.84-0.95; P<.001), with each additional day in the study following enrollment (OR 0.99, 95% CI 0.99-0.99; P<.001), and with each additional day since the participant's last chemotherapy treatment (OR 0.99, 95% CI 0.98-0.99; P<.001).

For the smartphone adherence outcome, there were statistically significant effects of baseline depression and time since last chemotherapy treatment, after adjusting for phone type. Each 10 percentage-point increase (ie, an increase of 0.1) in baseline

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57347
```

XSL•FO

PROMIS preference depression subscale score, reflecting less depression, was associated with higher odds of adherence (OR 1.14, 95% CI 1.00-1.29; P=.046), while each additional day since the participant's last chemotherapy treatment was associated with lower odds of adherence to smartphone data collection (OR 0.98, 95% CI 0.97-1.00; P=.02). These effects did not survive correction for multiple comparisons (baseline depression Q=.32, time since last chemotherapy treatment Q=.22).

For the Fitbit adherence outcome, there were statistically significant effects of age, race, weekends, time in the study, and time since last chemotherapy treatment. Odds of adherence to Fitbit data collection increased with each additional year of age relative to the mean age of the sample (OR 1.02, 95% CI 1.00-1.05; P=.03). Odds of adherence to Fitbit data collection

were significantly lower for non-White or non-Caucasian participants relative to White or Caucasian participants (OR 0.36, 95% CI 0.19-0.68; P=.002), on weekend days relative to weekday days (OR 0.93, 95% CI 0.89-0.98; P=.007), with each additional day in the study following enrollment (OR 1.00, 95% CI 0.99-1.00; P=.03), and with each additional day since the participant's last chemotherapy treatment (OR 0.99, 95% CI 0.98-0.99; P<.001). Effects of age (Q=.13), weekends (Q=.05), and time in the study (Q=.13) did not survive correction for multiple comparisons.

Multivariable Models

To determine how a purposeful subset of these predictors were together associated with adherence, we fit a single multivariable GEE, separately for each data stream. Predictors chosen a priori included (1) age; (2) gender; (3) race; (4) education; (5) rural zip code; (6) baseline PROMIS preference scores, cognition and depression subscales; (7) stage 4 cancer; (8) study day; (9) weekends; and (10) time since last chemotherapy. As with the

univariable models, we additionally adjusted for phone type in the model for the smartphone data collection adherence outcome only.

Results of the multivariable models were generally consistent with those of the univariable models. For the daily survey adherence outcome (Figure 1), we again found that, adjusting for other predictors in the model, non-White or non-Caucasian participants were less likely to complete a daily survey relative to White or Caucasian participants (OR 0.49, 95% CI 0.29-0.81; P=.006), and participants were less likely to complete surveys on weekend days relative to weekday days (OR 0.90, 95% CI 0.83-0.97; P=.008). In addition, participants with stage 4 cancer were significantly less likely to be adherent to daily survey completion relative to participants with cancer in stages 0-3 (OR 0.69, 95% CI 0.48-1.00; P=.048). Controlling for the other predictors in the model, time in the study and time since last chemotherapy treatment were no longer significantly associated with daily survey adherence.

Figure 1. Results of the multivariable model for the daily survey adherence outcome. Each row corresponds to a predictor or predictor category, with separate predictors delineated by alternating gray and white bands. The center panel displays the adjusted odds ratio point estimate and 95% CI. Adjusting for other predictors in the model, odds of adherence to daily survey completion were significantly lower among non-White or Caucasian participants, participants with stage 4 cancer, and on weekend days. PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System.

	n	Association with daily survey adherence	Odds ratio (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value
mean)	12,160	•	1.01 (0.99-1.03)	.18
emale	7666	•	Reference	
/lale	4494		0.85 (0.58-1.23)	.39
Vhite or Caucasian	10,207	•	Reference	
lot White or Caucasian	1953	⊢	0.49 (0.29-0.81)	.006
College degree or higher	5914	•	Reference	
ess than college degree	6246		0.85 (0.60-1.21)	.37
lo	10,990	•	Reference	
⁄es	1170		1.03 (0.60-1.76)	.92
ition	12,160		0.97 (0.90-1.05)	.46
ession	12,160		1.10 (1.00-1.21)	.06
lo	4273	•	Reference	
′es	7887	⊢	0.69 (0.48-1.00)	.048
	12,160	•	1.00 (0.99-1.00)	.13
lo	8702	•	Reference	
/es	3458	H O -1	0.90 (0.83-0.97)	.008
nerapy (days)	12,160	•	1.00 (0.99-1.01)	.94
	hean) emale ale thite or Caucasian of White	n nean) 12,160 amale 7666 ale 4494 theor Caucasian 10,207 of White or Caucasian 1953 of White or Caucasian 10,900 of White or Caucasian 12,160 of Sision 12,160 of All or Sision 3458 of All or Sision 3458	n Association with daily survey adherence nean) 12,160 emale 7666 ale 4494 thite or Caucasian 10,207 ot White or Caucasian 1953 ollege degree or higher 5914 ess than college degree 6246 oo 10,990 ess than college degree 6246 oo 12,160 oo 12,160 oo 12,160 oo 4273 ess 7887 12,160 6 oo 8702 ess 3458 erapy (days) 12,160	n Association with daily survey adherence Odds ratio (95% Cl) nean) 12,160 1.01 (0.99-1.03) emale 7666 Reference ale 4494 0.85 (0.58-1.23) thite or Caucasian 10,207 Reference ot White or Caucasian 1953 0.49 (0.29-0.81) polege degree or higher 5914 Reference oss than college degree 6246 8 o 10,990 Reference oss 1170 1.03 (0.60-1.76) oss 12,160 0.97 (0.90-1.05) sision 12,160 0.97 (0.90-1.05) os 7887 0.69 (0.48-1.00) os 7887 0.69 (0.48-1.00) os 7887 0.69 (0.48-1.00) os 8702 0.90 (0.83-0.97) os 3458 0.90 (0.83-0.97) os 3458 0.90 (0.83-0.97)

For the smartphone adherence outcome (Figure 2), we again found that there were significant effects of phone type, baseline depression, and time since last chemotherapy treatment. Relative to participants with iPhone devices, participants with Android devices were less likely to be adherent to smartphone data collection, defined as at least 8 valid hours of data collected from any AWARE sensor, due to differences in sampling rates across device platforms (OR 0.10, 95% CI 0.05-0.19; P<.001). In the adjusted model, each 10 percentage-point increase (ie, an increase of 0.1) in baseline PROMIS preference depression subscale score, reflecting less depression, was again associated with higher odds of adherence (OR 1.18, 95% CI 1.03-1.36; P=.02), while each additional day since the participant's last chemotherapy treatment was associated with lower odds of

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57347

adherence to smartphone data collection (OR 0.98, 95% CI 0.97-0.99; P=.001).

Figure 2. Results of the multivariable model for the smartphone adherence outcome. Each row corresponds to a predictor or predictor category, with separate predictors delineated by alternating gray and white bands. The center panel displays the adjusted odds ratio point estimate and 95% CI. Adjusting for other predictors in the model, odds of adherence to smartphone data collection were significantly lower among participants with Android devices and with each additional day since the participant's last known chemotherapy treatment; odds of adherence were higher among participants with higher PROMIS depression subscale scores (reflecting less depression). PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System.

Predictor		n	Association with smartphone adherence	Odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Age (years, centere	d at mean)	12,160	•	1.01 (0.98-1.03)	.65
Sex	Female	7666	•	Reference	
	Male	4494		1.53 (0.70-3.36)	.29
Race	White or Caucasian	10,207	•	Reference	
	Not White or Caucasian	1953		1.26 (0.54-2.94)	.60
Education	College degree or higher	5914	•	Reference	
	Less than college degree	6246		0.87 (0.43-1.74)	.70
Rural zip code	No	10,990	•	Reference	
	Yes	1170		1.13 (0.52-2.46)	.76
Phone type	iPhone	7437	•	Reference	
	Android	4723	•	0.10 (0.05-0.19)	<.001
Baseline PROMIS, C	Cognition	12,160	⊢⊕ [0.90 (0.79-1.04)	.14
Baseline PROMIS, D	Depression	12,160	-	1.18 (1.03-1.36)	.02
Cancer stage 4	No	4273	• •	Reference	
	Yes	7887		0.99 (0.50-1.95)	.97
Study day		12,160	•	1.00 (0.99-1.01)	.84
Weekend	No	8702	• •	Reference	
	Yes	3458		0.95 (0.86-1.04)	.28
Time since last che	motherapy (days)	12,160	•	0.98 (0.97-0.99)	<.001
			0.20.40.60.8 1 2 3		

For the Fitbit adherence outcome (Figure 3), we again found that there were significant effects of age, race, and time since last chemotherapy treatment. Odds of adherence to Fitbit data collection increased with each additional year of age relative to the mean age of the sample (OR 1.03, 95% CI 1.01-1.06; P=.01). Odds of adherence to Fitbit data collection were significantly lower for non-White or non-Caucasian participants relative to White or Caucasian participants (OR 0.35, 95% CI 0.17-0.73; P=.005) and with each additional day since the participant's

last chemotherapy treatment (OR 0.98, 95% CI 0.96-0.99; P=.002). In addition, adjusting for other predictors in the model, there was a significant effect of baseline cognition, with each 10 percentage-point increase in baseline PROMIS preference cognition subscale score (ie, an increase of 0.1), reflecting better cognitive abilities, associated with 18% higher odds of adherence to Fitbit data collection (OR 1.18, 95% CI 1.03-1.34; P=.02). Controlling for other predictors, the effects of time in the study and weekends were no longer statistically significant.



McClaine et al

Figure 3. Results of the multivariable model for the Fitbit adherence outcome. Each row corresponds to a predictor or predictor category, with separate predictors delineated by alternating gray and white bands. The center panel displays the adjusted odds ratio point estimate and 95% CI. Adjusting for other predictors in the model, odds of adherence to Fitbit data collection were significantly lower among non-White or Caucasian participants and with each additional day since the participant's last known chemotherapy treatment; odds of adherence were higher among older participants and those with higher PROMIS cognitive subscale scores (reflecting better cognitive abilities). PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System.

Predictor		n	Association with Fitbit adherence	Odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Age (years, centered a	at mean)	12,160	•	1.03 (1.01-1.06)	.01
Sex	Female	7666	•	Reference	
	Male	4494		1.00 (0.56-1.80)	.99
Race	White or Caucasian	10,207	•	Reference	
	Not White or Caucasian	1953	⊢ ●−−−−1	0.35 (0.17-0.73)	.005
Education	College degree or higher	5914	•	Reference	
	Less than college degree	6246		0.79 (0.44-1.42)	.43
Rural zip code	No	10,990	∮ i	Reference	
	Yes	1170		1.02 (0.47-2.22)	.96
Baseline PROMIS, Co	gnition	12,160	↓ → ↓	1.18 (1.03-1.34)	.02
Baseline PROMIS, De	pression	12,160		1.06 (0.89-1.27)	.51
Cancer stage 4	No	4273		Reference	
	Yes	7887		0.61 (0.33-1.13)	.12
Study day		12,160	•	1.00 (0.99-1.00)	.30
Weekend	No	8702	•	Reference	
	Yes	3458	•	0.94 (0.88-1.01)	.08
Time since last chemo	otherapy (days)	12,160		0.98 (0.96-0.99)	.002

Discussion

Principal Findings

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine participant engagement with multiple, concurrent methods of remote patient monitoring during chemotherapy, including daily symptom reporting through smartphone, passive smartphone sensing, and wearable device data collection over a 90-day observational study. In addition, our study examined the effects that different sociodemographic, quality of life, clinical, and time-related factors had on patient engagement with each of the 3 different data streams.

Overall adherence rates support the feasibility of mobile technology–based data collection during chemotherapy, with higher rates of adherence to both smartphone sensing and wearable data collection relative to daily symptom surveys. This is likely because the daily symptom surveys required active engagement from the participant compared with the passive smartphone and wearable data collection. Upon enrollment, a member of our team worked with each participant individually to set up their Fitbit and ensure that it was working properly, which may have contributed to this difference. However, adherence metrics were lower for some participants due to various technical issues (eg, AWARE app crashing, phone being broken or replaced, and Fitbit device not syncing automatically). Overall, our results are consistent with other studies that have shown that daily symptom reporting and continuous collection of wearable device data are feasible during chemotherapy [8-15]. In our study, overall engagement with daily symptom reporting (61%) fell between adherence rates observed among other symptom tracking studies (55%-83%) [9,17], and overall adherence to collecting wearable device data (70%) similarly fell between those previously observed (45%-85%) [13,15].

Our results suggest that adherence varied based on demographic factors (age and race), clinical factors (cancer stage and patient-reported depression and cognition), and timing (including days since last chemotherapy treatment, time in study, and weekend vs weekday). Relative to White participants, non-White patients demonstrated lower levels of engagement with both the daily symptom surveys and wearable data collection, suggesting that we need new methods of engaging patients with cancer from racial and ethnic minority groups in technology-based monitoring. Patients with stage 4 cancer exhibited lower rates of engagement with daily symptom reporting than those with earlier stage disease, likely due to greater disease burden and associated life disruption. In addition, time since last chemotherapy treatment was associated with both smartphone and wearable device engagement, with participants more likely to engage with both data streams the less time that had elapsed since their last chemotherapy

XSL•FO RenderX

treatment. This association was likely due to several factors, including coordinators being able to meet with participants and troubleshoot technology difficulties during treatments. The treatments also likely served as reminders for participants to engage with the study. Consistent with previous work, participants were also less likely to complete symptom surveys on weekend days relative to weekdays [17]. Patients may have more "routine" schedules during the week, and thus are more easily able to remember to fill out the surveys. In addition, many participants had work responsibilities during the week, and thus interference related to symptoms such as fatigue may have been more salient and served as a reminder to report their symptoms.

One surprising finding was that older age was associated with better adherence to wearable device data collection, which contradicts beliefs that older adults are less likely to adopt or engage with health technology. There remains a false belief within the scientific community that older patients are unable or unwilling to engage with digital health assessments and interventions [35]. Unfortunately, due to this stigma, there is a relative lack of research in this patient population regarding their engagement with mobile health technology. Perhaps older participants, who may have been less likely than younger participants to be working or caring for children, had fewer competing demands on their time and attention and were better able to focus on the research project. We also found that better self-reported cognitive abilities at study entry predicted greater engagement with wearable Fitbit data collection, suggesting that while older adults may be more adherent, additional reminders or strategies may need to be implemented to support patients with any cognitive impairments in collecting wearable data. Interestingly, a study among patients with breast and prostate cancer of engagement levels with a symptom tracking app, similar to the survey app used in our study, also showed a positive association between age and engagement [9].

Limitations

This study is not without limitations. First, participants needed to own a smartphone that was compatible with study apps and be able to read and write in English to enroll in the study. This likely skewed our sample population to be more "tech literate" than the general population of patients receiving chemotherapy. Second, there was likely a selection bias present in our sample, as participants who were less likely to engage in our study would be more likely to decline enrollment. Third, we assessed engagement in the context of a research study where we were monitoring incoming data closely and reaching out to participants to troubleshoot technical or compliance issues frequently; it is likely that we would have lower rates of engagement without these interactions with research staff. Fourth, a participant's day-to-day symptom burden may have affected their survey response rate. Participants may have been more or less likely to fill out the surveys on days where they had particularly high (or low) symptom burden, which could skew our results; future research should examine the association

between symptom burden and patient-reported outcome completion. We set a priori thresholds based on the literature and our previous work to define a day as having a completed survey (at least 50%) or sufficient wearable or smartphone sensor data (at least 8 hours), and studies that select different thresholds may draw different conclusions. We were lacking information about cancer treatments, including information about chemotherapy type and dose as well as additional treatments patients may have been receiving, such as immunotherapy or targeted therapy. The different findings observed for participants with iOS versus Android smartphones suggest there may be significant measurement bias in smartphone sensing and differences in how each operating system collected smartphone sensor data. Finally, it is important to note that the remote assessments collected as part of the current study were not shared with clinicians or used to inform clinical care, and participants were advised upon consent that data would not be shared or accessed by their clinicians. This is different from other symptom monitoring studies that incorporated clinician alerts or other communication with the care team [7]. Participants may be more motivated to engage with remote technology-based assessments when they know this information is being used to guide their cancer care. Future studies should also explore the feasibility of similar data collection methods in broader populations, including adolescents and young adults with cancer, patients receiving other forms of cancer treatment (radiation, immunotherapy, etc), and patients with nonsolid tumor cancers.

Conclusion

Despite these limitations, our study showed feasible levels of engagement with all 3 of our data streams over 90 days. These results demonstrate that collecting patient-reported symptom ratings through smartphone, passive smartphone sensor data, and wearable device data over long periods of time is feasible in cancer trials, even among older patients and patients with advanced cancer receiving active treatment. Findings provide some support for the idea that the digital divide may widen existing health disparities, with non-White participants demonstrating lower levels of engagement, but also challenge the idea that older adults will be less likely to adopt or engage with technology, as least with regard to wearable devices. Future work should experiment with different ways of optimizing engagement for all groups, including different delivery formats and schedules of reminders, onboarding and training procedures, and levels of integration with the clinical care team. More pragmatic studies should also explore levels of engagement with symptom reporting and other patient-generated health data collection in the context of routine clinical care, without research staff monitoring or intervening with participants. To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine patterns and predictors of participant engagement with daily symptom reporting, smartphone sensing, and wearable device data collection during outpatient chemotherapy, and results provide encouragement and guidance for additional work in this area.



This project was supported in part by the Hillman Fellows for Innovative Cancer Research Program funded by the Henry L. Hillman Foundation and by the National Cancer Institute (NCI; grant R37CA242545) and also benefitted from resources supported by the Clinical and Translational Science Institute at the University of Pittsburgh (UL1TR001857) and the NCI Cancer Center Support Grant (P30CA047904). We are grateful to Michaela Danko, Eddie Lasker, Elizabeth Kairis, Hersh Parikh, Anthony Zygmunt, Nikita Kalathur, Akila Sanjay, Irene Hong, and Isabella Hernandez for assistance with participant recruitment and data collection; to Abhineeth Kunta, Julio Vega, Weiyu Huang, and Meng Li for their technical expertise; to Drs Heidi Donovan, Afsaneh Doryab, Anind Dey, and Nathan Bahary for their support conceptualizing the study and obtaining funding; and to the patients who participated in this study for their time and contributions. Generative artificial intelligence was not used in the writing or revising of this manuscript.

Data Availability

The datasets generated and analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

SM, JF, and CAL conceptualized the analyses reported in this manuscript. CAL planned the study and obtained funding. JF performed the data analyses. CB, LC, and KCD coordinated and managed the study. SM, JF, and CAL wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and CB, LC, and KCD reviewed and edited the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Reilly CM, Bruner DW, Mitchell SA, Minasian LM, Basch E, Dueck AC, et al. A literature synthesis of symptom prevalence and severity in persons receiving active cancer treatment. Support Care Cancer 2013;21(6):1525-1550 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-012-1688-0] [Medline: 23314601]
- Chen J, Ou L, Hollis SJ. A systematic review of the impact of routine collection of patient reported outcome measures on patients, providers and health organisations in an oncologic setting. BMC Health Serv Res 2013;13(1):211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-13-211] [Medline: 23758898]
- Basch E, Deal AM, Kris MG, Scher HI, Hudis CA, Sabbatini P, et al. Symptom monitoring with patient-reported outcomes during routine cancer treatment: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2016;34(6):557-565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.63.0830] [Medline: 26644527]
- Basch E, Deal AM, Dueck AC, Scher HI, Kris MG, Hudis C, et al. Overall survival results of a trial assessing patient-reported outcomes for symptom monitoring during routine cancer treatment. JAMA 2017;318(2):197-198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.7156] [Medline: 28586821]
- Cho Y, Zhang H, Harris MR, Gong Y, Smith EL, Jiang Y. Acceptance and use of home-based electronic symptom self-reporting systems in patients with cancer: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2021;23(3):e24638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24638] [Medline: <u>33709929</u>]
- Solk P, Gavin K, Fanning J, Welch W, Lloyd G, Cottrell A, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of intensive longitudinal data collection of activity and patient-reported outcomes during chemotherapy for breast cancer. Qual Life Res 2019;28(12):3333-3346. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-019-02278-7] [Medline: <u>31493269</u>]
- Patt D, Wilfong L, Hudson KE, Patel A, Books H, Pearson B, et al. Implementation of electronic patient-reported outcomes for symptom monitoring in a large multisite community oncology practice: dancing the texas two-step through a pandemic. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2021;5:615-621 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/CCI.21.00063] [Medline: 34085537]
- 8. Teckie S, Solomon J, Kadapa K, Sanchez K, Orner D, Kraus D, et al. A mobile patient-facing app for tracking patient-reported outcomes in head and neck cancer survivors: single-arm feasibility study. JMIR Form Res 2021;5(3):e24667 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24667] [Medline: 33739291]
- 9. Crafoord MT, Fjell M, Sundberg K, Nilsson M, Langius-Eklöf A. Engagement in an interactive app for symptom self-management during treatment in patients with breast or prostate cancer: mixed methods study. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(8):e17058 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17058] [Medline: 32663140]
- Low CA. Harnessing consumer smartphone and wearable sensors for clinical cancer research. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-00351-x] [Medline: 33134557]
- Kos M, Pijnappel EN, Buffart LM, Balvers BR, Kampshoff CS, Wilmink JW, et al. The association between wearable activity monitor metrics and performance status in oncology: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer 2021;29(11):7085-7099 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06234-5] [Medline: <u>34117567</u>]

- 12. Kos M, Brouwer CG, van Laarhoven HW, Hopman MTE, van Oijen MGH, Buffart LM. The association between wearable device metrics and clinical outcomes in oncology: a systematic review with evidence synthesis and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2023;185:103979 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2023.103979] [Medline: 37001837]
- Miyaji T, Kawaguchi T, Azuma K, Suzuki S, Sano Y, Akatsu M, et al. Patient-generated health data collection using a wearable activity tracker in cancer patients-a feasibility study. Support Care Cancer 2020;28(12):5953-5961. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05395-z] [Medline: 32281031]
- Huang Y, Upadhyay U, Dhar E, Kuo LJ, Syed-Abdul S. A scoping review to assess adherence to and clinical outcomes of wearable devices in the cancer population. Cancers (Basel) 2022;14(18):4437 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers14184437] [Medline: 36139602]
- 15. Dreher N, Hadeler EK, Hartman SJ, Wong EC, Acerbi I, Rugo HS, et al. Fitbit usage in patients with breast cancer undergoing chemotherapy. Clin Breast Cancer 2019;19(6):443-449.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.clbc.2019.05.005] [Medline: 31285177]
- Leader AE, Capparella LM, Waldman LB, Cammy RB, Petok AR, Dean R, et al. Digital literacy at an urban cancer center: implications for technology use and vulnerable patients. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2021;5:872-880 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/CCI.21.00039] [Medline: <u>34428075</u>]
- 17. Daly B, Nicholas K, Flynn J, Silva N, Panageas K, Mao JJ, et al. Analysis of a remote monitoring program for symptoms among adults with cancer receiving antineoplastic Therapy. JAMA Netw Open 2022;5(3):e221078 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.1078] [Medline: 35244701]
- Basch E, Reeve BB, Mitchell SA, Clauser SB, Minasian LM, Dueck AC, et al. Development of the National Cancer Institute's Patient-Reported Outcomes version of the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (PRO-CTCAE). J Natl Cancer Inst 2014;106(9):dju244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/dju244] [Medline: 25265940]
- 19. Ferreira D, Kostakos V, Dey AK. AWARE: mobile context instrumentation framework. Frontiers in ICT. 2015. URL: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fict.2015.00006 [accessed 2023-10-13]
- 20. Federal Office of Rural Health Policy (FORHP) Data Files | HRSA. URL: <u>https://www.hrsa.gov/rural-health/about-us/</u> what-is-rural/data-files [accessed 2023-10-13]
- Cella D, Choi SW, Condon DM, Schalet B, Hays RD, Rothrock NE, et al. PROMIS adult health profiles: efficient short-form measures of seven health domains. Value Health 2019;22(5):537-544 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2019.02.004] [Medline: 31104731]
- 22. HealthMeasures Scoring Service. URL: <u>https://www.assessmentcenter.net/ac_scoringservice</u> [accessed 2023-10-13]
- 23. Dewitt B, Feeny D, Fischhoff B, Cella D, Hays RD, Hess R, et al. Estimation of a preference-based summary score for the patient-reported outcomes measurement information system: the PROMIS-preference (PROPr) scoring system. Med Decis Making 2018;38(6):683-698 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0272989X18776637] [Medline: 29944456]
- 24. Batra A, Yang L, Boyne DJ, Harper A, Cheung WY, Cuthbert CA. Associations between baseline symptom burden as assessed by patient-reported outcomes and overall survival of patients with metastatic cancer. Support Care Cancer 2021;29(3):1423-1431. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05623-6] [Medline: 32676854]
- 25. Nagpal C, Sharma A, Bakhshi S, Malik PS, Gupta H, Mittal C, et al. SMART-ESAS: smartphone monitoring and assessment in real time of Edmonton Symptom Assessment System scores for patients with cancer. JCO Glob Oncol 2024;10(10):e2300447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/GO.23.00447] [Medline: 38386957]
- 26. Gresham G, Schrack J, Gresham LM, Shinde AM, Hendifar AE, Tuli R, et al. Wearable activity monitors in oncology trials: current use of an emerging technology. Contemp Clin Trials 2018;64:13-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2017.11.002] [Medline: 29129704]
- Low CA, Danko M, Durica KC, Vega J, Li M, Kunta AR, et al. A real-time mobile intervention to reduce sedentary behavior before and after cancer surgery: pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Perioper Med 2023;6:e41425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/41425] [Medline: 36633893]
- 28. Low CA, Bartel C, Fedor J, Durica KC, Marchetti G, Rosso AL, et al. Associations between performance-based and patient-reported physical functioning and real-world mobile sensor metrics in older cancer survivors: a pilot study. J Geriatr Oncol 2024;15(2):101708. [doi: 10.1016/j.jgo.2024.101708] [Medline: 38277879]
- Vega J, Li M, Aguillera K, Goel N, Joshi E, Khandekar K, et al. Reproducible analysis pipeline for data streams: open-source software to process data collected with mobile devices. Front Digit Health 2021;3:769823 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2021.769823] [Medline: 34870271]
- 30. Liang KY, Zeger SL. Longitudinal data analysis using generalized linear models. Biometrika 1986;73(1):13-22. [doi: 10.1093/biomet/73.1.13]
- 31. Halekoh U, Højsgaard S, Yan J. The R package geepack for generalized estimating equations. J. Stat. Soft 2006;15(2):1-11. [doi: <u>10.18637/jss.v015.i02</u>]
- 32. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological) 2018;57(1):289-300. [doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x]
- 33. Core Team R. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. 2023. URL: <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u> [accessed 2024-11-02]
- 34. MoSHI. Carissalow/rosa-adherence. 2024. URL: https://github.com/carissalow/rosa-adherence [accessed 2024-02-12]

35. Mace RA, Mattos MK, Vranceanu AM. Older adults can use technology: why healthcare professionals must overcome ageism in digital health. Transl Behav Med 2022;12(12):1102-1105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibac070] [Medline: 36073770]

Abbreviations

ar1: first-order autoregressive
EMR: electronic medical record
GEE: generalized estimating equations
OR: odds ratio
PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System
PROPr: PROMIS-Preference scoring system
QIC: quasi-information criterion
RAPIDS: Reproducible Analysis Pipeline for Data Streams

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 13.02.24; peer-reviewed by J Geeraerts, E Roeland; comments to author 09.05.24; revised version received 15.07.24; accepted 29.10.24; published 10.12.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

McClaine S, Fedor J, Bartel C, Chen L, Durica KC, Low CA Engagement With Daily Symptom Reporting, Passive Smartphone Sensing, and Wearable Device Data Collection During Chemotherapy: Longitudinal Observational Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e57347 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57347</u> doi:<u>10.2196/57347</u> PMID:<u>39656513</u>

©Sean McClaine, Jennifer Fedor, Christianna Bartel, Leeann Chen, Krina C Durica, Carissa A Low. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 10.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Artificial Intelligence for Optimizing Cancer Imaging: User Experience Study

Iman Hesso¹, MSc, PhD; Lithin Zacharias¹, MSW, MPhil, PhD; Reem Kayyali¹, MSc Biopharmacy, PhD; Andreas Charalambous², MSc, PhD; Maria Lavdaniti³, PhD; Evangelia Stalika³, MSc, PhD; Tarek Ajami⁴, MD; Wanda Acampa⁵, MD, PhD; Jasmina Boban⁶, MD, PhD; Shereen Nabhani-Gebara¹, PharmD

²Department of Nursing, Cyprus University of Technology, Limassol, Cyprus

Corresponding Author:

Shereen Nabhani-Gebara, PharmD Pharmacy Department Faculty of Health, Science, Social Care and Education Kingston University London Penrhyn Road Kingston Upon Thames, KT1 2EE United Kingdom Phone: 44 2084177413 Email: <u>S.Nabhani@kingston.ac.uk</u>

Abstract

Background: The need for increased clinical efficacy and efficiency has been the main force in developing artificial intelligence (AI) tools in medical imaging. The INCISIVE project is a European Union–funded initiative aiming to revolutionize cancer imaging methods using AI technology. It seeks to address limitations in imaging techniques by developing an AI-based toolbox that improves accuracy, specificity, sensitivity, interpretability, and cost-effectiveness.

Objective: To ensure the successful implementation of the INCISIVE AI service, a study was conducted to understand the needs, challenges, and expectations of health care professionals (HCPs) regarding the proposed toolbox and any potential implementation barriers.

Methods: A mixed methods study consisting of 2 phases was conducted. Phase 1 involved user experience (UX) design workshops with users of the INCISIVE AI toolbox. Phase 2 involved a Delphi study conducted through a series of sequential questionnaires. To recruit, a purposive sampling strategy based on the project's consortium network was used. In total, 16 HCPs from Serbia, Italy, Greece, Cyprus, Spain, and the United Kingdom participated in the UX design workshops and 12 completed the Delphi study. Descriptive statistics were performed using SPSS (IBM Corp), enabling the calculation of mean rank scores of the Delphi study's lists. The qualitative data collected via the UX design workshops was analyzed using NVivo (version 12; Lumivero) software.

Results: The workshops facilitated brainstorming and identification of the INCISIVE AI toolbox's desired features and implementation barriers. Subsequently, the Delphi study was instrumental in ranking these features, showing a strong consensus among HCPs (W=0.741, P<.001). Additionally, this study also identified implementation barriers, revealing a strong consensus among HCPs (W=0.705, P<.001). Key findings indicated that the INCISIVE AI toolbox could assist in areas such as misdiagnosis, overdiagnosis, delays in diagnosis, detection of minor lesions, decision-making in disagreement, treatment allocation, disease prognosis, prediction, treatment response prediction, and care integration throughout the patient journey. Limited resources, lack of organizational and managerial support, and data entry variability were some of the identified barriers. HCPs also had an explicit interest in AI explainability, desiring feature relevance explanations or a combination of feature relevance and visual explanations within the toolbox.

¹Pharmacy Department, Faculty of Health, Science, Social Care and Education, Kingston University London, Kingston Upon Thames, United Kingdom

³Department of Nursing, International Hellenic University, Thessaloniki, Greece

⁴Urology Department, Hospital Clinic de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

⁵Department of Advanced Biomedical Science, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy

⁶Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Novi Sad, Novi Sad

Conclusions: The results provide a thorough examination of the INCISIVE AI toolbox's design elements as required by the end users and potential barriers to its implementation, thus guiding the design and implementation of the INCISIVE technology. The outcome offers information about the degree of AI explainability required of the INCISIVE AI toolbox across the three services: (1) initial diagnosis; (2) disease staging, differentiation, and characterization; and (3) treatment and follow-up indicated for the toolbox. By considering the perspective of end users, INCISIVE aims to develop a solution that effectively meets their needs and drives adoption.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52639) doi:10.2196/52639

KEYWORDS

artificial intelligence; cancer; cancer imaging; UX design workshops; Delphi method; INCISIVE AI toolbox; user experience

Introduction

Background

Cancer offers a unique context for medical decisions because of its diverse forms and disease evolution, as well as the requirement to consider each patient's illness, their ability to receive medical care, accurate treatment responses, early detection, tumor classification or characterization, prediction of local, recurrent, or metastatic tumor progression, precise assessment of treatment strategies and the follow-up monitoring of cancer. These hindrances persist despite advancements in technology [1].

Medical imaging plays a crucial role in the comprehensive treatment of cancer procedures as it provides valuable insights into the morphology, structure, metabolism, and functions of cancers [2,3]. Notably, medical imaging assists health care providers in defining treatment plans, assessing their effectiveness, and guiding follow-up interventions. The increasing amount and availability of collected data (cancer imaging data) and the development of novel technological tools based on artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning, provide unprecedented opportunities for better cancer detection and classification, image optimization, radiation reduction, and clinical workflow enhancement [2].

The current imaging methods may be improved by identifying findings that are either detectable or not by the human eye and moving from a subjective perceptual skill to a more objective one [2]. To date, related existing research and innovation initiatives, are only limited to small-scale demonstrations, without adequately being validated for reproducibility and generalizability and without exploring large datasets [4]. Therefore, the INCISIVE project [5-10] has been designed to explore the full potential of AI-based solutions or technologies in cancer imaging. The main outcome of this project is to design and develop an improved AI-based technology to address the ongoing challenges of accurate and early detection of cancer, recurrence, and treatment success or failure.

The design and functionalities of the INCISIVE AI toolbox were developed by incorporating the users' perspectives and experiences. Therefore, the main objective of this study was to gain a comprehensive understanding of the needs of the users, with a specific focus on health care professionals (HCPs) who would use the INCISIVE AI toolbox. Additionally, insights from HCPs were sought to achieve consensus on crucial features of the toolbox, barriers to implementation, and potential users.

XSL•FO

Overview of the INCISIVE Project

The INCISIVE project [5], funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 program across 9 European nations, aims to develop and validate an AI-based toolbox to enhance the accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, interpretability, and cost-effectiveness of cancer imaging methods. The project focuses on breast, prostate, lung, and colorectal cancers [5].

Methods

Study Design

This was a 2-phase study conducted concurrently. Phase 1 entailed conducting user experience (UX) design workshops, whereas phase 2 entailed leading a Delphi study with HCPs who were the potential users of the INCISIVE AI toolbox.

Phase 1: UX Design Workshops for INCISIVE AI Toolbox Potential Users, That Is, HCPs

Study Design

A qualitative research approach was used to facilitate UX design workshops across the 5 validation countries of the INCISIVE project (Greece, Cyprus, Spain, Italy, and Serbia), in addition to the United Kingdom, which is also a partner of the INCISIVE project. The workshops followed a structured design thinking [11,12] approach, using various methodological tools to guide participants through the problem-solving process. Techniques such as empathizing with users, defining the problem, brainstorming ideas, prototyping, and testing were used. As the project was in the concept stage, the design thinking method was applied up to the ideate stage, focusing on generating innovative solutions for the development of the INCISIVE AI toolbox for cancer care.

Participants and Recruitment

A purposive sampling strategy based on the network of the INCISIVE consortium was used to recruit participants. Eligibility criteria included being a medical professional, specifically a general practitioner, radiologist, oncologist, or nuclear medicine physician. Participants were also required to have no prior involvement or affiliation with the INCISIVE project. Through nominations from the INCISIVE partners, potential participants were invited to the workshops via email, receiving a detailed participant information sheet (PIS), a consent form, and a link to access the workshop meetings. The PIS outlined this study's objectives and workshop agenda, while the consent form ensured volunteer participation. The

participants were required to send their consent forms before conducting the workshops.

Data Collection Tool

Different use case scenarios (Multimedia Appendix 1) were prepared to facilitate discussion for each workshop with potential users of the AI toolbox. The use case scenarios focused on the patient journey and aimed to elicit information about practice challenges, needs, design features for the AI toolbox, and the level of AI explainability required for the different services suggested to be offered by the toolbox, which were: initial diagnosis, disease staging and characterization, and treatment and follow-up. The use case scenarios were circulated by the research team among the consortium for feedback and refinement. The definite issues (practice challenges, needs, INCISIVE AI toolbox design features, and the level of AI explainability required from the toolbox across potential services) that emerged during various work packages in the INCISIVE project were included in the workshops.

Sample Size

The sample size in this study did not depend on statistical power, but on group dynamics among experts [13]. Group discussions in UX design workshops allowed for the exploration of user's experiences, concerns, and opinions about specific topics and were distinguished by the explicit use of group interaction to generate rich experiential data. Therefore, this study involved a small number of representative end users in each workshop. This approach ensured that there was adequate time for in-depth discussions when addressing requirements. Importantly, this method followed a qualitative approach that relied on the concept of data saturation rather than on sample size.

Data Collection

Data collection took place between August and September 2021. Workshops were conducted via Microsoft Teams in a web-based format. The meeting link was sent via email by the research team. In total, 4 workshops were conducted, 1 workshop for each cancer type targeted by INCISIVE (breast, lung, colorectal, and prostate cancer). The research team facilitated and moderated workshops. Each workshop consisted of a panel of 4 participants. Some members from the INCISIVE consortium joined as observers and were able to ask questions and contribute to the discussion in the workshops via the chat functionality. Each workshop lasted an average of 60-90 (SD 20.90) minutes. The participants were provided with a small presentation about various techniques and terminologies to facilitate discussion about AI explainability during the workshops.

Data Analysis

The workshops were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim for analysis. Transcripts were entered into the NVivo (version 12) software for data organization and management. This was followed by collating, synthesizing, and editing emergent ideas to achieve consistent terminology among items expressing similar ideas. The final step involved grouping the generated ideas and items into emerging categories.

Phase 2: Delphi Study—Identification and Prioritization of INCISIVE Features, Implementation Barriers, and Potential User Groups

Study Design

This phase used a mixed methods approach, specifically a modified Delphi approach. The Delphi approach is a systematic method for obtaining, exchanging, and developing informed opinions on a specific issue or set of issues [14]. In this study, a modified ranking-type Delphi approach was used, which aimed at developing group consensus on the relative importance of INCISIVE features, barriers, and potential user groups [13]. It consisted of four rounds. Round 1 involved administering an open-ended questionnaire to the HCPs (Multimedia Appendix 2). Round 2 entailed circulating the anonymized summaries of responses back to the experts for verification. Rounds 3 and 4 involved distilling the most important items chosen by the participants followed by ranking these items.

Participants and Recruitment

HCPs involved in cancer care were included in this phase. The recruitment of HCPs was carried out through nominations by INCISIVE partners, following the same inclusion criteria of the UX workshops. The nominated participants received the necessary documentation, including the consent form and the PIS from the research team, and were required to sign the consent form before starting this study.

Sample Size

The sample size in the Delphi method does not depend on statistical power but on group dynamics for achieving consensus among experts [13]. Thus, the Delphi literature recommends 10-18 experts for a panel or group of experts within a specific discipline [13,15].

Data Collection and Data Collection Tools

Overview

Data collection took place between August and September 2021. Delphi is a form of iterative inquiry that builds on ongoing data collection. Its primary research tool is a series of questionnaires built from participants' stepwise input [15]. Questionnaires were electronically administered via email. The sequence of administration of these questionnaires (ie, data collection) was per the Delphi literature as highlighted in Figure 1 [13,15]. The first questionnaire was sent once the participant agreed to take part and signed the consent form. Questionnaire 1, focused on item generation, required a maximum of 15 minutes to complete, while questionnaires 2 to 4, which involved verification and ranking, took no more than 10 minutes unless participants chose to provide additional explanations for their answers.



Figure 1. Delphi study administration process (adapted from [8,10]).

Phase 1: Brainstorming (discovery)	Phase 2: Narrowing down (prioritizing)	Phase 3: Ranking
ŧ	¥	
Round 1: Questionnaire 1: Ask experts to list barriers, features, and users, separately and not in any order.	Round 3: Questionnaire 3: Send the consolidated lists to each expert.	Round 4: Questionnaire 4: Ask experts to rank the items on each list (priority ranking)
+	+	+
Consolidate these lists from all experts.	Each expert selects at least 10 items (the most important) on each list—no ranking at this stage.	Descriptive statistics (mean rank scores) are calculated for each item.
ŧ	4	
Remove exact duplicates and unify terminology.	For each group, retain items selected by 50% (n=6) of experts.	Assess level of consensus for each list within each group using Kendall W (coefficient of concordance)
ŧ	¥	
Round 2: Questionnaire 2: Send consolidated lists for the experts for revision and validation.	Selected items are consolidated into revised lists not exceeding 20 items per list.	If no consensus achieved as indicated by Kendall W, then share feedback with experts in each group and ask them to rerank each list
+		+
Refine final version of the consolidated lists.		Reiterate untill consesus is reached or third iteration (ie, round 6)
		+
		Final result: 3 ranked lists for health care

Questionnaire 1: Generation of Items or Initial Collection of Items

This questionnaire included 3 open-ended questions (Multimedia Appendix 2), about anticipated barriers to the toolbox implementation, essential features required in the INCISIVE AI toolbox, and HCPs who should use the INCISIVE AI toolbox. HCPs were asked to list at least 6 items for each question, followed by a brief explanation of their choices.

Questionnaire 2: Validation of Categorized Items

This questionnaire was designed based on the responses obtained from the first round and aimed to strengthen the construct validity according to the concept of "member checking" [15]. This questionnaire included all the consolidated lists obtained from the first questionnaire, with the corresponding categorization. For each list, each item was presented with a brief explanation based on information provided by HCPs in the first round. HCPs were sent questionnaire 2 alongside an exact copy of their responses to the first questionnaire and were asked to (1) verify their responses and confirm that items have

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52639
```

RenderX

been placed in an appropriate category and (2) review the categorizations and suggest refinements or additional items if necessary.

Questionnaire 3: Prioritizing Items or Choosing the Most Important Items

Questionnaire 3 presented the refined, consolidated lists produced from questionnaire 2. Each participant was asked to select (not rank) 10 items from each list that they considered the most important.

Questionnaire 4: Ranking Items

The questionnaire was designed based on the responses obtained in round 3. The experts were sent the relevant lists with the most important items. Each expert was instructed to rank items in numerical order (importance ranking) by putting the number 1 for the first most important item, 2 for the second most important item, 3 for the third most important item, and so on, with a lower ranking indicating more importance, hence higher ranking. Hence, each expert individually submitted a rank order of the

items of each list, one for each of the relevant lists. They were also requested to provide comments justifying their rankings.

Data Analysis

Questionnaire 1

All data (items and explanations) were entered into the NVivo (version 12) software for data organization and management. The analysis entailed the removal of identical responses, and then collating, synthesizing, and editing the remaining ideas to achieve consistent terminology among items expressing similar ideas. The final step entailed grouping items into emerging categories. As a result, a consolidated preliminary version of the lists with relevant categories was created.

Questionnaire 2

Based on responses from questionnaire 1, items were further refined. This resulted in the formation of the final consolidated lists.

Questionnaire 3

Items selected by over 50% (n=6) of the experts in the panel were retained. According to the literature, the list size should not exceed 20 items to avoid burdening the participants in the next round [13,15].

Questionnaire 4

Descriptive statistics, such as mean rank scores, were calculated to assess the relative importance of items within each list, and the Kendall W coefficient of concordance was used to measure consensus among the experts. The ranking process was repeated until a strong level of agreement (W \geq 0.7) was achieved or until the third iteration was reached. The research team obtained 3 ranked lists, providing valuable insights and consensus on important aspects of INCISIVE implementation and the AI toolbox.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval for conducting this study was granted by the Research Ethics Committee at Kingston University on August 11, 2021 (reference 2877), for the UX Design Workshops and on August 16, 2021 (reference 2863), for the Delphi study. All other INCISIVE partners did not require any extra layer of ethics for this study. Informed consent forms were provided to participants before the commencement of this study. Participant information was safeguarded through coding, encryption, and secure storage practices. No compensation was provided for study participants. All methods were performed per the Declaration of Helsinki.

Results

Phase 1: UX Design Workshops for INCISIVE AI Toolbox Potential Users, That Is, HCPs

In total, 4 workshops were conducted for the INCISIVE AI toolbox; 1 workshop for each cancer type targeted in the project: breast, lung, colorectal, and prostate cancer. A total of 16 HCPs participated in the 4 workshops. Table 1 provides a summary of the participants' characteristics.

Table 1. Characteristics of health care professionals who participated in the INCISIVE AI^a toolbox workshops (N=16).

Participants' characteristics	Number, n
Gender	
Male	8
Female	8
Country	
United Kingdom	1
Serbia	1
Italy	5
Greece	6
Spain	1
Cyprus	1
Specialty or occupation	
General practitioner or doctor	3
Radiologist	5
Oncologist	4
Radiation oncologist, therapeutic radiographer, or radiotherapist	1
Nuclear medicine physician	2
Urologist	1

^aAI: artificial intelligence.

Features of the INCISIVE AI Toolbox, Irrespective of Cancer Type: Generic Features Required for the INCISIVE AI Toolbox

Overview

The section below details the practice challenges, needs, and generic design features required from the INCISIVE AI toolbox across the 3 main potential services.

Service 1: Initial Diagnosis

Several challenges were highlighted by the participants at this stage. These included a lack of resources for necessary tests in primary care, especially in rural areas, misdiagnosis, delay in diagnosis, lack of expertise or failure to recognize potential cancer symptoms, and low sensitivity of some imaging modalities. To tackle these issues, the participants envisaged that the INCISIVE AI toolbox can help in several ways including guiding HCPs in primary care in the management and referral of patients mainly in providing a clear protocol on the next steps to be carried out based on the available data at this stage, reduce the chances of misdiagnosis, reduce the chances of overdiagnosis as well avoiding unnecessary anxiety among patients. To promote the efficiency of the pathway, it was discussed that if all HCPs involved in the pathway have access to the INCISIVE AI toolbox, secondary care health professionals can view the tests and images that have already been performed in primary care and take appropriate action to prevent work duplication and loss of time and money. A detailed explanation of this can be found in Multimedia Appendix 3.

Service 2: Disease Staging, Differentiation, and Characterization

At this point, several issues were also brought to light, including a lack of resources, particularly imaging equipment, which can cause delays in obtaining the necessary images in a timely manner. Additionally, the proficiency of radiologists in interpreting imaging results and histopathologists in interpreting biopsy results was emphasized as a critical component. Consequently, finding the most accessible, suitable site, or area to do a biopsy, lack of experience among some radiologists and histopathologists, certain imaging modalities such as computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, and ultrasound, have low sensitivity, making it difficult for HCPs to distinguish between benign and malignant lesions. The participants anticipated that the INCISIVE AI toolbox would benefit them in several ways, such as enhancing the accuracy of the current imaging tests by identifying small lesions that HCPs might otherwise overlook or lesions that are difficult or confusing for them to identify using the current imaging modalities, assistance with TNM staging and categorization, advice regarding the best places to biopsy, guidance regarding the best imaging tests to run on the patient, support decision-making in cases of disagreement or contradiction of the results generated by the different imaging modalities and tests. For instance, when the

results of an imaging test and a biopsy contradict. An extensive overview of this service can be found in Multimedia Appendix 4. The specific features needed for each type of tumor are detailed in Multimedia Appendix 5.

Service 3: Treatment and Follow-Up

The challenges in this stage were disease treatment for timing, best treatment options/choices and response, in addition to disease prognosis. Certain participants asserted that treatment options were typically decided on at multidisciplinary team (MDT) board meetings, which could be cumbersome to set up and coordinate per paperwork and board member availability, among other factors. This in return might lead to delay in treatment initiation for patients. Fragmentation of care occurs when HCPs are unable to see or do not have access to the detailed work performed by other HCPs, which is crucial for supporting treatment decisions.

The INCISIVE AI toolkit was envisaged by the participants to be helpful in a variety of ways at this point, such as aiding in the allocation of treatments, serving as a guide for decision support, predicting the prognosis of the disease and the response to treatment, assisting in risk stratification, and supporting MDT board meetings at institutions in both physical and web-based formats. It also enables all MDT board members to access the patient's holistic profile simultaneously. Thus again, the vision is that the INCISIVE toolbox can support electronic access to patient profiles across the journey thus promoting the integration of care allowing for continuity and efficiency. A detailed description of this service can be found in Multimedia Appendix 6.

Data Input and Output Requirements of INCISIVE AI Toolbox, Irrespective of Cancer Type

Several input and output requirements were identified for each of the 3 services proposed for the INCISIVE AI toolbox. Interestingly, the participants articulated some suggestions that would make the INCISIVE toolbox more HCP-friendly across the 3 services. The data input and output requirements for the 3 services are summarized in Multimedia Appendix 7.

Explainable AI: Explainability of the INCISIVE AI Toolbox, Irrespective of Cancer Type

Participants were asked about the explainability techniques they would like to have in the INCISIVE AI toolbox at each stage or service. During the workshops, the participants were prompted with three different explainable AI techniques: (1) feature relevance explanation which attempts to explain a model's decision by quantifying the influence of each input variable (importance of input features in predicting the output), (2) visual explanation aims at generating visualizations that facilitate the understanding of a model, and (3) explanations by simplification refers to the techniques that approximate an opaque model using a simpler one, which is easier to interpret. Figure 2 explains the options selected by most participants.



Figure 2. Explainability techniques preference in the INCISIVE AI toolbox across the 3 proposed services. AI: artificial intelligence.



Potential Users or Access to INCISIVE AI Toolbox

At Initial Diagnosis

According to the participants, GPs were highlighted as the potential users of the INCISIVE toolbox at this stage and the best HCPs to access and upload information into the system. Some participants highlighted that radiologists would also benefit from having access to the INCISIVE AI toolbox at this stage especially if basic imaging modalities are carried out in primary care, for example, chest x-rays in case of lung cancer.

At Disease Staging, Differentiation, and Characterization

Radiologists, pathologists, and nuclear medicine physicians were among the suggested users at this stage. The participants highlighted a very important point which is the need for minimal data input by HCPs to make the INCISIVE AI toolbox as much HCP friendly as possible. About this, some participants suggested assigning the responsibility of data uploading to a nurse or a junior doctor/HCP in order not to increase workload. Nevertheless, the participants envisaged radiologists, pathologists, and nuclear medicine physicians as the most appropriate HCPs for accessing and data processing at this stage. This is because processing images before uploading requires expertise from radiologists and nuclear medicine physicians to identify which images are to be processed and uploaded to the system (ie, the areas of concern) and to identify which parts of the image are to be contoured. The same applies to pathologists for processing histopathological results.

At Treatment and Follow-Up

Radiologists, radiation oncologists, oncologists, and surgeons were among the suggested users at this stage. Another interesting finding that emerged out of the 4 workshops was the importance of using INCISIVE at the MDT meetings when deciding treatment options for each patient. According to the participants, all HCPs involved in patient care need to have access to the INCISIVE AI toolbox and to be able to see what other HCPs have performed during the patient's journey. According to the participants, if the INCISIVE AI toolbox can provide a comprehensive profile for the patient during the MDT meeting including all tests and imaging conducted with the relevant time points, to have all that information in 1 screen, then this would facilitate these meetings to a great extent. Again, these findings are interesting and related to features requested or desired by the participants mainly: the provision of a comprehensive profile for each patient or a complete portfolio and the ability to see the history of all entries carried out by all HCPs involved in the care of the patient.

Holistic Concerns Emanating From the Workshops

Several concerns were identified throughout the workshops. One main concern was closely intertwined with the minimal data input requirement identified earlier. The concern was related to the amount of time that HCPs will need to dedicate to the INCISIVE AI toolbox. According to participants, currently HCPs are increasingly becoming involved in what they consider nonmedical work (mainly data entry) which is affecting their workload. As such, if the INCISIVE toolbox requires too much data input and attention from HCPs (attention theft) then this would affect HCPs' willingness to use the proposed toolbox. Another concern was related to the fear that AI technologies such as the INCISIVE AI toolbox can be perceived as a replacement to HCPs in clinical decisions.

Phase 2: Delphi Study—Identification and Prioritization of Implementation Barriers, INCISIVE Features and User Groups

A total of 12 of the 16 HCPs completed the Delphi study. Participants' characteristics are summarized in Table 2.



Table 2. Characteristics of health care professionals who completed the Delphi study (N=12).

Participants' characteristics	Participants, n
Gender	
Male	6
Female	6
Country	
Serbia	2
Italy	3
Greece	5
Cyprus	2
Specialty or occupation	
General practitioner or doctor	1
Radiologist	4
Oncologist	3
Radiation oncologist, therapeutic radiographer, or radiotherapist	1
Nuclear medicine physician	2
Surgeon	1

Features of INCISIVE AI Toolbox

Overview

The first and second rounds of questionnaires (questionnaires 1 and 2) involved brainstorming potential features of the INCISIVE AI toolbox and validation. In the first questionnaire,

a total of 20 features were generated by the participants and then subsequently validated with no change (via questionnaire 2). In the third round (questionnaire 3) which entailed narrowing down the list, a total of 11 features were retained and prioritized for the INCISIVE AI toolbox. In the fourth round, those 11 features were ranked by importance with a strong consensus among the participating HCPs (W=0.741, P<.001; Table 3).

Table 3. List of the features in order of importance (priority ranking). A lower mean ranking score indicates a more important feature.

Item importance	Item description	Rank score, mean (SD)
1	Ability to classify the lesion as benign or malignant and the probability of lesion malignancy	2.25 (2.41)
2	Automated lesion spotting and contouring (ie, annotation)	3 (1.9)
3	Automated grading and staging of the disease	3.83 (1.85)
4	Ability to suggest an appropriate course of action during diagnosis and treatment (while keeping the final decision for the clinician)	4.08 (1.37)
5	Ability to link proposed suggestions to established clinical evidence (studies or guidelines)	4.58 (1.72)
6	Ability to predict prognosis	4.75 (1.86)
7	Ability to define response to therapy or treatment	6.92 (1.56)
8	Ability to compare imaging tests and laboratory tests at different time points	7.33 (1.92)
9	Ability to predict the possibility of recurrence	8.75 (1.48)
10	Integration and display of a comprehensive patient profile	9.92 (0.79)
11	Multimodality	10.58 (0.9)

Implementation Barriers

HCPs were asked about the barriers that would affect the successful implementation of the AI toolbox proposed by INCISIVE to identify why similar AI solutions usually fail. The first and second rounds of questionnaires (questionnaires 1 and 2) involved brainstorming potential barriers to the successful

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52639

RenderX

implementation of the INCISIVE AI toolbox and validation. In the first questionnaire, a total of 23 barriers were identified and then subsequently validated with no change (via questionnaire 2). In the third round, a total of 10 barriers were distilled. In the fourth round, those 10 barriers were ranked by importance with a strong consensus among the participating HCPs (W=0.705, P<.001; Table 4).

Table 4. List of barriers to the successful implementation of INCISIVE AI^a toolbox by importance (with priority ranking). A lower mean ranking score indicates a more important barrier.

Item importance	Item description	Rank score, mean (SD)
1	Lack of resources	1.17 (0.38)
2	Requirement of too much data input from health care professionals	2.75 (2.22)
3	Lack of organizational and management support	3.58 (1.08)
4	Medico-legal issues or concerns: accountability and liability in case of disagreement	4.25 (0.96)
5	Lack of visible advantage of the AI toolbox	5.92 (1.44)
6	Compatibility and integration concerns	6.08 (1.92)
7	Complexity and difficulty of operating the AI toolbox	6.67 (1.37)
8	Concerns related to General Data Protection Regulation (patients' privacy and con- fidentiality) and further legal matters in individual countries	6.92 (1.78)
9	Hardware requirements	8.33 (1.77)
10	Data entry bias and variability	9.33 (2.3)

^aAI: artificial intelligence.

User Groups for INCISIVE AI Toolbox

The first and second rounds (questionnaires 1 and 2) involved a brainstorming of potential user groups of the INCISIVE AI toolbox and validation. In the first round, a preliminary list of 20 potential user groups was identified. After response validation in the second round, a final consolidated list of 18 potential user groups was identified. In the third round (questionnaire 3) a total of 13 user groups were retained. In the fourth round, those 13 user groups ranked by importance with a strong consensus among the participating HCPs (W=0.767, P<.001; Table 5). As expected, higher importance was given to physicians who are common across all tumor types starting from radiologists to nuclear medicine physicians. Whereas lower importance or ranking was provided to tumor-specific HCPs or specialists mainly: pneumologists, gastroenterologists, urologists, and gynecologists.

Table 5. The list of INCISIVE AI^a toolbox users by priority (with priority ranking). A lower mean ranking score indicates a more important user group.

Item importance	Item description	Rank score, mean (SD)
1	Radiologists	1.5 (0.9)
2	Oncologists	2.5 (1.08)
3	Surgeons (specialized in oncology)	3.42 (1.5)
4	Radiotherapists or radiation oncologists	4.67 (2.77)
5	General medicine practitioners	5.75 (1.76)
6	Multidisciplinary team board	6.17 (2.4)
7	Pathologists	6.58 (1.44)
8	Nuclear medicine physicians	7.83 (1.85)
9	Internists (specializing in oncology)	8.92 (1.5)
10	Pneumologists	10.08 (0.9)
11	Urologists	10.33 (3.33)
12	Gastroenterologists	11.08 (0.51)
13	Gynecologists	12.17 (2.32)

^aAI: artificial intelligence.

Discussion

RenderX

Principal Findings

The results of this study focused on the specification and prioritization of features guided by the design of the INCISIVE platform. The key findings indicated that the INCISIVE AI toolbox could assist in areas such as misdiagnosis,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52639
```

overdiagnosis, delays in diagnosis, detection of minor lesions, decision-making in disagreement, treatment allocation, disease prognosis, prediction, treatment response prediction, and care integration throughout the patient journey. In addition, the results also provide insight into the implementation barriers that affect the success of solutions such as limited resources, lack

The UX design workshops were an answer to many challenges and problems identified. During the stage of initial diagnosis, HCPs highlighted that the toolbox could help in reducing the chances of misdiagnosis and overdiagnosis. Studies highlighted a lack of measures to address diagnostic errors [16,17] and the far-reaching implications of misdiagnosis [18-20] and overdiagnosis [21,22]. The AI toolbox can also guide HCPs in primary care in patient management, thus addressing challenges related to delays in diagnosis, accuracy of imaging modalities, and lack of expertise. During the disease staging, differentiation, and characterization stages, HCPs highlighted that the toolbox could aid in the identification of small lesions that would otherwise be missed by HCPs or lesions that are not very straightforward or easily identified by HCPs, guidance in TNM classification and staging, and the most suitable areas for biopsy, in addition to supporting decisions in cases of disagreement among HCPs or results of the different imaging modalities and tests. HCPs also stressed that the INCISIVE AI toolbox can assist in treatment allocation, disease prognosis prediction, treatment response prediction, and MDT meetings during the third stage of the pathway, which is treatment and follow-up, by addressing issues such as lack of expertise, inaccurate imaging methods, and delays in treatment initiation. An interesting finding emanating from the current work is the vision that AI can support the integration of care across the patient journey, allowing for continuity and efficiency. A feature that proved successful in other chronic conditions in health care [22-24] but has yet to be fully adopted in cancer care in the future.

Several desired features for the INCISIVE AI toolbox were outlined through the Delphi study and the UX design workshops. Interestingly, it can be argued that some of these features apply to the patient's journey regardless of the journey stage; these include (1) integration and display of a comprehensive patient profile, (2) ability to link proposed suggestions to established clinical evidence (studies or guidelines), (3) ability to check drug interactions, (4) notification of the user of the outcome at each stage, (5) ability to see detailed input from the other HCPs involved in the care of each case, and (6) multimodality. On the other hand, and as highlighted earlier in the results section, some of the features desired by the participants are not feasible within the timeframe of INCISIVE. However, these findings are important and may be considered or viewed within the context of the future sustainability of AI in cancer care.

Some features were commonly identified from the Delphi study and the UX design workshops, and the Delphi study provided a chance to prioritize these features by importance from HCPs' perspective, which in return would guide the design of the INCISIVE AI toolbox. Mapping of these features against the users' requirements identified in the INCISIVE project is detailed in Multimedia Appendix 8.

Several barriers were identified to affect the successful implementation of the proposed INCISIVE AI toolbox, thus giving an insight into why similar solutions to the one proposed by INCISIVE usually fail. The participants initially highlighted

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52639
```

23 barriers, which were then distilled down to 10 barriers. Among the most important barriers were lack of resources, lack of organizational and management support, and data entry variability, which are barriers related to the organizational environment. This is not surprising given previous findings in the literature about technology implementation in health care [24]. In previous research by Odeh et al [24] exploring nurses' perceptions toward a telehealth service, the nurses reported a lack of resources, a lack of organizational support, and a lack of technical support to be among the major issues impacting the service's implementation. On the other hand, 5 of the 10 barriers were related to the technology itself, mainly hardware requirements, a lack of proven or established advantages of the AI toolbox, compatibility and integration concerns, the complexity and difficulty of operating the AI toolbox, and the requirement of too much data input from HCPs.

The concern expressed by workshop participants about the possible replacement of HCPs if the INCISIVE system or similar technologies proved successful was a noteworthy finding. This apprehension was further echoed in a cross-sectional web-based survey [23] conducted to investigate physicians' perceptions of Chatbots in health care. Another study [25] has made a positive observation, noting that clinicians demonstrate significant openness when it comes to considering the use of AI-based decision support. This finding emphasizes that AI-based technologies should not be seen as a replacement for HCPs' expertise in decision-making processes. Instead, it should be regarded as a complementary tool that can assist and augment HCPs' abilities, ultimately improving the quality and efficiency of health care delivery.

Regarding data input, the HCPs recognized the need for multiple data inputs throughout the patient journey, which can be argued to be essential for creating a holistic personalized profile for each patient. These data inputs include medical history, laboratory results, histopathological results, imaging results, etc. However, during the workshops, one recommendation made by the HCPs was to entrust the duty of data uploading to a nurse or a junior HCP. The remaining 2 barriers were related to medical and legal issues, including medico-legal issues per accountability and liability in case of disagreement and concerns related to General Data Protection Regulation (patients' privacy and confidentiality) and further legal matters in individual countries. However, this is not new; similar ethical and legal challenges posed by AI in health care have been reported in the literature [26].

Interestingly per the explainability of the proposed AI toolbox, the HCPs expressed interest in having a feature relevance explanation or a hybrid approach that combines feature relevance with visual explanation. This preference aligns with another study [27] that emphasizes the significance of visually directive data-centric explanation methods. In some instances, this preference was driven by specialty and expertise. For instance, during disease staging and characterization (ie, service 2), radiologists were more interested in a visual explanation given their specialty and as a lot of imaging tests take place during this stage of the pathway.

XSL•FO

Strengths and Limitations

This study used both quantitative (Delphi study) and qualitative (UX design workshops) methodologies, which aided in triangulating the data and improved the reliability of the findings. HCPs from a variety of specializations participated in this study from several countries. This diverse perspective is guaranteed to be reflective of a broad spectrum of possible users and situations.

It is also essential to recognize this study's limitations. This study focused only on the specification and prioritization of features guided by the design of the INCISIVE platform, without taking into consideration what would be defined as success criteria for the overall implementation. Another notable constraint is the lack of a comparison to evaluate if the perspectives about the suggested INCISIVE AI toolkit were better or distinct from those regarding other AI solutions. Due to the limited sample size and geographical representation, the findings may not be universally applicable. The cross-sectional assessment of the user requirements sets the stage for continuous monitoring and evaluation of the user demands across time.

Conclusions

This paper outlined analysis with regards to the user requirements' definitions of the INCISIVE system. The current work has identified several features for the INCISIVE AI toolbox that are deemed important to guide in the development of the toolbox. Although some of these features may not be pertinent within the remit and duration of the INCISIVE project, they ensure the sustainability of AI in meeting user needs in the future. These features were prioritized and distilled down according to the universal MoSCoW [28] prioritization technique into 4 categories: "must-have," "should-have," "could-have," and "won't-have," or "not have right now" in follow-up research on the INCISIVE project. This step determined the features that would be achievable within the life span of the INCISIVE project and which features are part of the futuristic development of AI in cancer care. Data input and output requirements were also elicited for the INCISIVE AI toolbox. Similarly, these requirements will be prioritized according to the universal MoSCoW prioritization technique to determine what is feasible and can be achieved within the timeframe of the INCISIVE project. Additionally, this paper identified several barriers that would affect the successful implementation of INCISIVE. These barriers will be taken into consideration during the development and implementation phases of the project. Additionally, this paper provided an insight into the level of explainability required from the toolbox and potential users across the 3 services suggested for the toolbox, which are also crucial for guiding the design of the toolbox.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all data providers within the INCISIVE consortium for their contribution to participants' recruitment. The authors would also like to thank all HCPs who participated in this study. This work was supported by the European Commission under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (grant 952179).

Data Availability

The datasets used or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

IH, SN-G, and RK were involved in this study's design and conceptualization. IH conducted the research and collected the data. AC, ML, ES, WA, JB, and TA were also involved in data collection. Data analysis was completed by IH, SN-G, and RK. IH and LZ were responsible for drafting and finalizing this paper. All authors were involved in data interpretation, manuscript writing, and critical review. All authors read and approved the final paper.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Use case scenarios for AI toolbox users' workshops. AI: artificial intelligence. [DOCX File, 26 KB - cancer_v10i1e52639_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 The first Delphi questionnaire for health care professionals. [DOCX File, 19 KB - cancer v10i1e52639 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Practice challenges, needs, and generic features of the INCISIVE AI toolbox at initial diagnosis. AI: artificial intelligence. [DOCX File , 16 KB - cancer v10i1e52639 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Practice challenges, needs, and generic features of the INCISIVE AI toolbox at disease staging, differentiation, and characterization. AI: artificial intelligence.

[DOCX File, 16 KB - cancer_v10i1e52639_app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Specific features required for the INCISIVE AI toolbox at disease staging, differentiation, and characterization. AI: artificial intelligence.

[DOCX File, 15 KB - cancer_v10i1e52639_app5.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Practice challenges, needs, and generic features of the INCISIVE AI toolbox at treatment and follow-up. AI: artificial intelligence. [DOCX File, 16 KB - cancer v10i1e52639 app6.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 7

Data input and output requirements of INCISIVE AI toolbox. AI: artificial intelligence. [DOCX File , 17 KB - cancer v10i1e52639 app7.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 8

Mapping user requirements related to features of the INCISIVE AI toolbox. AI: artificial intelligence. [DOCX File , 19 KB - cancer_v10i1e52639_app8.docx]

References

- Bi WL, Hosny A, Schabath MB, Giger ML, Birkbak NJ, Mehrtash A, et al. Artificial intelligence in cancer imaging: clinical challenges and applications. CA Cancer J Clin 2019;69(2):127-157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21552] [Medline: 30720861]
- Pesapane F, Codari M, Sardanelli F. Artificial intelligence in medical imaging: threat or opportunity? Radiologists again at the forefront of innovation in medicine. Eur Radiol Exp 2018;2(1):35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s41747-018-0061-6] [Medline: 30353365]
- Langlotz CP, Allen B, Erickson BJ, Kalpathy-Cramer J, Bigelow K, Cook TS, et al. A roadmap for foundational research on artificial intelligence in medical imaging: from the 2018 NIH/RSNA/ACR/the academy workshop. Radiology 2019;291(3):781-791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1148/radiol.2019190613] [Medline: 30990384]
- 4. Miller DD, Brown EW. Artificial intelligence in medical practice: the question to the answer? Am J Med 2018;131(2):129-133. [doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2017.10.035] [Medline: 29126825]
- 5. Home—INCISIVE project. URL: <u>https://incisive-project.eu/</u> [accessed 2024-08-10]
- 6. Hesso I, Kayyali R, Dolton D, Joo K, Zacharias L, Charalambous A, et al. Cancer care at the time of the fourth industrial revolution: an insight to healthcare professionals' perspectives on cancer care and artificial intelligence. Radiat Oncol 2023 Oct 09;18(1):167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13014-023-02351-z] [Medline: 37814325]
- Hesso I, Kayyali R, Zacharias L, Charalambous A, Lavdaniti M, Stalika E, et al. Cancer care pathways across seven countries in Europe: What are the current obstacles? And how can artificial intelligence help? J Cancer Policy 2024 Mar;39:100457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jcpo.2023.100457] [Medline: 38008356]
- Hesso I, Kayyali R, Charalambous A, Lavdaniti M, Stalika E, Lelegianni M, et al. Experiences of cancer survivors in Europe: Has anything changed? Can artificial intelligence offer a solution? Front Oncol 2022;12:888938 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.888938] [Medline: 36185207]
- 9. Lazic I, Agullo F, Ausso S, Alves B, Barelle C, Berral J, et al. The holistic perspective of the INCISIVE project—artificial intelligence in screening mammography. Appl Sci 2022 Aug 31;12(17):8755. [doi: 10.3390/app12178755]
- Tsave O, Kosvyra A, Filos D. Data validation in cancer imaging repositories: the INCISIVE approach. 2023 Presented at: 2023 IEEE EMBS Special Topic Conference on Data Science and Engineering in Healthcare, Medicine and Biology; December 7-9, 2023; Malta p. 75-76.
- 11. Wolniak R. The design thinking method and its stages. Syst Wspomagania W Inż Prod 2017;6(6):1-9 [FREE Full text]
- 12. Ambrose G, Harris P. Basics Design 08: Design Thinking. New York City: Bloomsbury Publishing; 2009.
- 13. Okoli C, Pawlowski SD. The Delphi method as a research tool: an example, design considerations and applications. Inf Manage 2004;42(1):15-29. [doi: 10.1016/j.im.2003.11.002]
- 14. Rayens MK, Hahn EJ. Building consensus using the policy Delphi method. Policy Polit Nurs Pract 2000;1(4):308-315. [doi: 10.1177/152715440000100409]
- Blaschke S, O'Callaghan CC, Schofield P. Identifying opportunities for nature engagement in cancer care practice and design: Protocol for four-round modified electronic delphi. BMJ Open 2017;7(3):e013527 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013527] [Medline: 28274965]

- 16. Wachter RM. Why diagnostic errors don't get any respect—and what can be done about them. Health Aff (Millwood) 2010;29(9):1605-1610. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0513] [Medline: 20820015]
- Croskerry P. Perspectives on diagnostic failure and patient safety. Healthc Q 2012;15 Spec No:50-56. [doi: 10.12927/hcq.2012.22841] [Medline: 22874447]
- Kang J, Clarke SE, Abdolell M, Ramjeesingh R, Payne J, Costa AF. The implications of missed or misinterpreted cases of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma on imaging: A multi-centered population-based study. Eur Radiol 2021;31(1):212-221. [doi: 10.1007/s00330-020-07120-0] [Medline: 32785768]
- Swords DS, Mone MC, Zhang C, Presson AP, Mulvihill SJ, Scaife CL. Initial misdiagnosis of proximal pancreatic adenocarcinoma is associated with delay in diagnosis and advanced stage at presentation. J Gastrointest Surg 2015;19(10):1813-1821. [doi: 10.1007/s11605-015-2923-z] [Medline: 26286368]
- 20. Del Ciello A, Franchi P, Contegiacomo A, Cicchetti G, Bonomo L, Larici AR. Missed lung cancer: when, where, and why? Diagn Interv Radiol 2017;23(2):118-126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5152/dir.2016.16187] [Medline: 28206951]
- Morris E, Feig SA, Drexler M, Lehman C. Implications of overdiagnosis: impact on screening mammography practices. Popul Health Manag 2015;18 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S3-S11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/pop.2015.29023.mor] [Medline: 26414384]
- 22. Kale MS, Korenstein D. Overdiagnosis in primary care: framing the problem and finding solutions. BMJ 2018;362:k2820 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.k2820] [Medline: 30108054]
- Palanica A, Flaschner P, Thommandram A, Li M, Fossat Y. Physicians' perceptions of chatbots in health care: cross-sectional web-based survey. J Med Internet Res 2019;21(4):e12887 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/12887</u>] [Medline: <u>30950796</u>]
- 24. Odeh B, Kayyali R, Nabhani-Gebara S, Philip N. Implementing a telehealth service: nurses' perceptions and experiences. Br J Nurs 2014;23(21):1133-1137. [doi: 10.12968/bjon.2014.23.21.1133] [Medline: 25426527]
- Biller-Andorno N, Ferrario A, Joebges S, Krones T, Massini F, Barth P, et al. AI support for ethical decision-making around resuscitation: proceed with care. J Med Ethics 2022;48(3):175-183. [doi: <u>10.1136/medethics-2020-106786</u>] [Medline: <u>33687916</u>]
- 26. Gerke S, Minssen T, Cohen IG. Ethical and legal challenges of artificial intelligence-driven healthcare. Artif Intell Healthc 2020:295-336. [doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3570129]
- Bhattacharya A, Ooge J, Stiglic G, Verbert K. Directive explanations for monitoring the risk of diabetes onset: introducing directive data-centric explanations and combinations to support what-if explorations. 2023 Presented at: Proceedings of the 28th International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces; 2023 March 27-31; Sydney, NSW, Australia p. 204-219. [doi: 10.1145/3581641.3584075]
- 28. Rida A, Nazir S, Tabassum A, Asim S. The impact of analytical assessment of requirements prioritization models: an empirical study. Int J Adv Comput Sci Appl 2017;8(2):1-11. [doi: 10.14569/ijacsa.2017.080240]

Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence HCP: health care professional MDT: multidisciplinary team PIS: participant information sheet UX: user experience

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 11.09.23; peer-reviewed by A Bate, V Kara; comments to author 19.12.23; revised version received 23.02.24; accepted 28.06.24; published 10.10.24.

Please cite as:

Hesso I, Zacharias L, Kayyali R, Charalambous A, Lavdaniti M, Stalika E, Ajami T, Acampa W, Boban J, Nabhani-Gebara S Artificial Intelligence for Optimizing Cancer Imaging: User Experience Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52639 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52639 doi:10.2196/52639 PMID:

©Iman Hesso, Lithin Zacharias, Reem Kayyali, Andreas Charalambous, Maria Lavdaniti, Evangelia Stalika, Tarek Ajami, Wanda Acampa, Jasmina Boban, Shereen Nabhani-Gebara. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 10.10.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,

provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Toxic Relationships Described by People With Breast Cancer on Reddit: Topic Modeling Study

Cara Anne Davidson¹, MSc; Richard Booth², PhD; Kimberley Teresa Jackson², PhD; Tara Mantler³, PhD

¹Department of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, Western University, London, ON, Canada ²Arthur Labatt Family School of Nursing, Faculty of Health Sciences, Western University, London, ON, Canada ³School of Health Studies, Faculty of Health Sciences, Western University, London, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author: Cara Anne Davidson, MSc Department of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences Faculty of Health Sciences Western University 1151 Richmond St London, ON, N6A 3K7 Canada Phone: 1 519 661 2111 ext 85541 Email: <u>cdavid53@uwo.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Social support is essential to promoting optimal health outcomes for women with breast cancer. However, an estimated 12% of women with breast cancer simultaneously experience intimate partner violence (IPV; physical, psychological, or sexual abuse by an intimate partner). Women who experience IPV during breast cancer may lack traditional social support, and thus seek out alternative sources of support. Online community forums, such as Reddit, can provide accessible social connections within breast cancer–specific communities. However, it is largely unknown how women with breast cancer use Reddit to describe and seek support for experiences of IPV.

Objective: This study aims to explore how patients with breast cancer describe toxic relationships with their partners and immediate family members on Reddit.

Methods: This exploratory, cross-sectional, topic-modeling study analyzed textual data from 96 users in the r/breastcancer subreddit in February 2023. The meaning extraction method, inclusive of principal component analysis, was used to identify underlying components. Components were subjected to sentiment analysis and summative content analysis with emergent categorical development to articulate themes.

Results: Seven themes emerged related to toxic relationships: (1) contextualizing storytelling with lymph nodes, (2) toxic behavior and venting emotions, (3) abandonment and abuse following diagnosis, (4) toxic relationships and social-related fears, (5) inner strength and navigating breast cancer over time, (6) assessing social relationships and interactions, and (7) community advice and support. Toxic relationships were commonly characterized by isolation, abandonment, and emotional abuse, which had profound emotional consequences for patients. Reddit facilitated anonymous venting about toxic relationships that helped patients cope with intense feelings and stress. Exchanging advice and support about navigating toxic relationships during breast cancer were core functions of the r/breastcancer community.

Conclusions: Findings emphasized the value of Reddit as a source of social support for patients with breast cancer experiencing toxic relationships. Clinicians who understand that many patients with breast cancer experience toxic relationships and considerable psychological sequelae are better prepared to support their patients' holistic well-being. Further investigation of Reddit as a possible resource for advice, information, and support has the potential to help inform clinical practice and subsequently, patient health outcomes.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48860) doi:10.2196/48860

KEYWORDS

RenderX

breast cancer; intimate partner violence; meaning extraction method; Reddit; sentiment analysis; social media; social support; toxic relationships; topic modelling

Introduction

Breast cancer has a way of making existing cracks in relationships even wider. Just like water will fill a crack in the road, freeze, and create a larger gap, breast cancer tends to permeate all parts of our lives and distance us from people with whom we have troubled relationships. [Original poster #85]

Projected rates of breast cancer in Canada have remained consistent over the past 5 years, with estimates that approximately 1 in 8 women will develop breast cancer in their lifetime and breast cancer will account for 25% of all new cancer cases [1-3]. Women's experiences of breast cancer are influenced by the social determinants of health, particularly their social environment [4,5]. Among patients with breast cancer, strong social relationships have been found to act as a buffer to stress [6] and help to improve treatment effectiveness, psychological functioning, coping, survival, and quality of life, as well as prevent cancer recurrence [7-9]. Conversely, weak or nonexistent social relationships have been broadly linked to long-term psychological distress [10] and an increased risk of breast cancer progression, recurrence, and mortality [11,12]. However, there is a need for research that explores connections between social relationships and breast cancer outcomes among diverse populations and social contexts.

Intimate partners (eg, spouses and significant others) and immediate family members (eg, parents and siblings) are perceived as the most important social supports for patients with breast cancer [13,14], as they provide essential social-emotional, tangible, affection, and positive social interaction support [15]. For example, partners commonly serve as the primary caregivers of patients with cancer [16]. However, not all social relationships are supportive [17]. Patients who experience intimate partner violence (IPV) may face a lack of support due to the abusive behaviors of their partner [18]. IPV, understood as physical, psychological, or sexual abuse within the context of coercive control by an intimate partner [19], concurrently affects an estimated 12.5% of patients with breast cancer [20]—and this is likely to be an underestimation given underreporting of IPV [21]. Similarly, patients may be negatively affected by an unsupportive (but not necessarily abusive) partner [22], as well as abusive or unsupportive family members [23,24]. Aside from the patients themselves, immediate female family members are often most affected by a breast cancer diagnosis; unsupportive reactions often include being in denial about the diagnosis and abandoning the patient [25].

Toxic relationships are characterized by conflict, competition, undermining, disrespect, and a lack of cohesiveness [26]. Toxic relationships encompass unsupportive and abusive dynamics in both romantic (eg, a partner) and platonic (eg, a family member) contexts and are associated with emotional distress [26], which imparts numerous downstream mental and physical health consequences [27]. To compensate for unmet support needs, patients with breast cancer may expand their social networks via the internet, including social media [28]. Online forums are a popular means of accessing information and support related to breast cancer awareness, literacy, and

XSL•FO

treatment [29-33]. The use of online breast cancer forums grew exponentially between 2006 and 2010, growing from an estimated 282,000 new posts per year to over 1,270,000 new posts per year [34] and continues to increase over a decade later [35,36]. Despite data availability and the potential for knowledge advancement [33], research on patient social media use, particularly in the context of toxic relationships, is underexplored.

Reddit, the world's third most popular social media platform, is an online forum dedicated to community-building, news dissemination, and discussion facilitation [37]. The Reddit platform consists of topic-specific subreddits (ie, forums), where all content is user-generated. Users subscribe to subreddits that interest them to see more related content. Users can post content, as well as comment and vote on others' content. To join Reddit, users create a username and password-no identifiable information is required. Reddit's capacity for anonymous participation and long-form, conversational content makes the platform a rich source of self-reported textual data [38]. The Reddit platform includes breast cancer-specific spaces that offer access to psychosocial support (eg, r/breastcancer), presenting a unique and valuable opportunity to explore how patients with breast cancer navigate toxic relationships after diagnosis. Previous research has provided preliminary insights into how patients with breast cancer use Reddit [39], but there is a notable gap in the literature regarding how patients with breast cancer describe toxic relationships and their psychosocial impacts on Reddit. Studying social media data has the potential to generate significant advances in knowledge [33], which can inform improvements to psychosocial support for patients with breast cancer experiencing toxic relationships and enhance care providers' ability to promote patient well-being. Accordingly, this study sought to explore how people with breast cancer describe toxic relationships with their partners and immediate family members on Reddit.

Methods

Design

This exploratory, cross-sectional, topic-modeling study was conducted from December 2022 to February 2023 and aimed to explore how patients with breast cancer describe toxic relationships with their partners and immediate family members on Reddit. As of February 2023, the public r/breastcancer subreddit, established in 2011, included 13,900 subscribers and self-identified as a support and information group for people who have been diagnosed with breast cancer and their caregivers and loved ones. While Reddit generally attracts young White men of high socioeconomic status [38], demographics vary by subreddit and r/breastcancer is hypothesized to be largely composed of women [40].

Ethical Considerations

This study was deemed exempt from oversight by the author's institutional ethics review board because all data were gathered from the public domain (per Article 2.2 of the Tri-Council Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans). The subreddit at the center of this study was public at the time of data collection and writing, meaning that any person could

Davidson et al

access its content at any time. It was therefore determined that r/breastcancer users had no expectation of privacy, negating the need for oversight by an ethics review board.

Data Collection

This subreddit was scraped for textual data from posts and comments using the Python Reddit application programming interface wrapper. No date limits were imposed. An iterative approach to keyword-based searching extracted posts (n=187) related to toxic relationships with partners and immediate family

Textbox 1. Keywords included in the final iteration of the search strategy.

members. Two keyword strings were combined to scrape data: String 1 included words associated with a toxic relationship (eg, narcissist, boundaries, abuse, violence, assault, unsupportive, cheater, affair, divorce, toxic, abandon, and manipulate) and string 2 included words that identified people of interest in the immediate family of the user (eg, abuser, spouse, partner, marriage, significant other, parent, and sibling). To be scraped, posts were required to include a minimum of 1 keyword from both string 1 and string 2 (see Textbox 1).

String 1

narcissist; boundaries; abusie; abusie; abusing; abused; violent; violence; assault; assaulting; assaulted; harass; harassed; harassing; lie; lied; neglect; unsupportive; not supportive; not supporting; no support; cheater; cheated; cheating; affair; divorce; divorcing; break up; breaking up; broke up; toxic; abandoned; manipulate; manipulated; emotionally unavailable; disown; alone; selfish; strained

String 2

abuser; husband; wife; partner; hubby; marriage; girlfriend; boyfriend; gf; bf; SO; significant other; spouse; mom; mother; mum; dad; father; parent; parents; sibling; sis; sister; brother

The scraped posts were then screened for eligibility by one of the authors (CAD), such that posts were ineligible if they addressed anyone other than a partner or immediate family member, were of an administrative nature posted by a moderator, were posted by a user who did not have breast cancer, aimed to exclusively seek or share medical information, or described toxic relationships outside of the context of breast cancer. After screening, 36 posts were eligible for inclusion. Eligible posts were scraped for comments (n=601), of which 98 were relevant (as determined by CAD using the eligibility criteria described above used to filter posts). Textual data were compiled into packets, where 1 packet represented the total relevant contributions (ie, posts and comments) from a single user, with an average of 260 words per packet. The final data corpus included 96 unique users with 36 posts and 98 comments (see Figure 1).

Figure 1. Final data corpus diagram.



Reddit users have no expectation of privacy in public subreddits and have agreed to the platform's end user license agreement; all Reddit user content is subject to use by third parties at any time [41]. However, recommended ethical practices aim to protect participant privacy by censoring usernames and avoiding direct quotes through exclusion or paraphrasing to prevent reverse-searching [38,42]. Accordingly, within this study, users were assigned an original poster (OP) number, and reported quotes were reworded to convey their original meaning and style but protect the OP's identity. For example (fictitious), "My

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48860

mom has *never* bothered checking on me" could become "My mother doesn't *ever* ask how I'm doing."

Analysis

Multistaged Approach

A 2021 systematic analysis by Proferes et al [39] identified that computational-driven textual analysis (which includes topic

Figure 2. The 3 stages of analysis. PC: principal component.

modeling) was the primary means of knowledge generation using Reddit data. However, the authors also identified that such analyses are enhanced by the addition of qualitative and mixed methods analyses that account for contextual details [39]. Accordingly, the data corpus was subjected to a 3-stage, mixed methods analysis that used (1) the meaning extraction method (MEM), (2) qualitative sentiment analysis, and (3) summative content analysis (Figure 2).



Stage 1: Meaning Extraction Method

The MEM is a form of topic modeling useful for social media data exploration [43] and for generating large sample sizes of participants that are traditionally difficult to recruit [38]. Within other breast cancer–related research using Reddit data, the MEM has been described as a cost-effective means of identifying common themes described by patients [39]. The results of this method have been found to be similar in content and utility to those of traditional research methods in this domain (focus groups) [39].

The MEM identifies word clusters that co-occur in a data corpus, providing an efficient means of extracting meaningful patterns in language within high volumes of natural language data [38,43]. The Meaning Extraction Helper developed by Boyd [44] was used to analyze the textual packet data corpus, inclusive of the removal of common closed and open class words (<7.5%) and content word retention (\geq 5%), producing a binary output of each retained content word per OP (eg, 0=absent and 1=present). Boyd [45] also developed an open-access script for the R open-access statistical software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing), which was adapted for a principal component analysis (using a varimax rotation [43]). This produced a 9-component model that was considered acceptable (K^2 =3357.40, df=304, P<2.2e–16, and KMO=0.538 [43]). Using a scree plot analysis, components 1 to 7 were retained. The 7

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48860

retained components explained 84.16% of the variance—a high proportion for a natural language application [43]. A high loading threshold of 0.50 was imposed on the content words within each component to promote thematic clarity and reduce cross-loading. The final components with refined content words were considered sufficiently strong (\geq 3 content words per component [46]).

Stage 2: Qualitative Sentiment Analysis

Qualitative sentiment analysis aims to assess the affective valence of components and their content words [47]. Modern qualitative sentiment analysis (ie, internet-based) is an increasingly popular and effective method of interpreting user-generated social media content [48]. Using the *syuzhet* R package [49] and Afinn sentiment lexicon of -5 (negative sentiment) to 5 (positive sentiment [50]), a total model and 7 component-specific sentiment scores were computed based on content words. The content word *tchp* was changed to *combination drug cancer therapy* for the algorithm because it cannot assess acronyms.

Stage 3: Summative Content Analysis

Summative content analysis with emergent categorical development was used to articulate patterns and themes within the textual data packets for each of the 7 refined components [51]. Component categories (referred to as themes) were

inductively developed to describe their overall message, inclusive of the use of sentiment scores to contextualize positioning. The 6-step approach to trustworthy thematic analysis by Nowell et al [52], rooted in the trustworthiness theory of Lincoln and Guba [53,54] was adopted.

Summary of Analysis

Quantitative topic modeling (with MEM) was combined with qualitative sentiment and content analysis to produce a comprehensive analytical framework capable of providing an overall interpretive assessment of the data corpus. The r/breastcancer subreddit includes thousands of textual data sources, requiring the combination of complex methods to efficiently target and isolate meaningful, manageable patterns from the large volume of natural language data [38,43]. The MEM is a computational method specifically developed to facilitate efficient filtering of large textual data sets, however, a second stage of qualitative or mixed methods-based analysis is recommended to facilitate deeper exploration and interpretation in context [39]. Accordingly, sentiment analysis was applied within MEM-generated principal components to facilitate the assessment and incorporation of considerations of user's emotions and situational contexts. Following MEM and sentiment analysis, content analysis was used to deeply explore principal components through the lens of their socioemotional contexts to enrich interpretation and understanding. In sum, this combined mixed methods framework aimed to produce holistic, contextualized insights from MEM-generated categories, which is well-suited to complex, dynamic social media data.

Results

Overview of Themes

Seven distinct but related themes emerged from descriptions of toxic relationships by patients with breast cancer on Reddit, presented in order of explained variance proportion (highest to lowest) as follows: (1) contextualizing storytelling with lymph nodes, (2) toxic behavior and venting emotions, (3) abandonment and abuse following diagnosis, (4) toxic relationships and social-related fears, (5) inner strength and navigating breast cancer over time, (6) assessing social relationships and interactions, and (7) community advice and support. The overall corpus sentiment score was –4, indicative of very negative sentiment. Theme-specific sentiment scores

 (\boxtimes) reflect the average valence of retained content words within each component.

Theme 1: Contextualizing Storytelling With Lymph Nodes

I'll have to get my lymph nodes removed next, among other things. Treatment is lonely and miserable. [OP 2]

The first theme was classified as neutral $(\square = 0.00)$ and included *lymph*, *node*, and *pick* as key content words. Lymph nodes functioned as context indicators in users' stories about toxic relationships to highlight their temporality within cancer treatment. For example, one user was undergoing chemotherapy while navigating a toxic relationship with their mother. This

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48860
```

OP prefaced their post by sharing, "After a lot of treatment, my cancer went from grade 3 to grade 1. My lymph nodes shrunk as well" (OP 66).

They then went on to disclose unsupportive behavior from their mother, stating, "My mom doesn't think I'm capable of making my own decisions–but I am. I've picked excellent physicians and made it to all of my appointments" (OP 66).

Theme 2: Toxic Behavior and Venting Emotions

I'm going to vent because I think it's better to write than to cry... [OP 65]

The second theme was classified as neutral ($[\square]=0.00$) and described toxic relationships that the user experienced a strong emotional reaction to, which prompted them to vent their emotions on Reddit. Key content words included *boundary*, *effort*, *vent*, *upset*, and *stress*. Users reported a variety of toxic behaviors, such as boundary violations and disrespectful or abusive actions. Venting was commonly used to cope with powerful negative emotions associated with toxic relationships.

Users felt unsupported when their partners or families reacted to their diagnosis by becoming detached or distressed to the extent of relying on the patient for support. To illustrate, one user expressed disappointment in their father's silence after diagnosis, stating, "My dad isn't there for me. I guess I shouldn't be surprised, he's always been like this" (OP 45).

Other users were frustrated with bearing the emotional burden for others regarding their cancer. For example, one OP resented their husband for expecting them to manage his emotions, sharing, "I did my best to explain that I needed him to be my rock. He got upset... he wanted us to be mutually supportive. But he doesn't have cancer.... I do!" (OP 62).

Some OPs described being disrespected and emotionally abused following their diagnosis. For instance, one OP shared that their partner told them, "Lately, you aren't sexually desirable to me without your natural breasts. I miss them and how they felt... probably even more than you do" (OP 65).

Similarly, another OP disclosed experiencing emotional and verbal abuse from their partner both before and after their breast cancer diagnosis. This OP shared feeling extremely upset that just 2 weeks after their diagnosis, their partner asked them, "How long are you going to pull the breast cancer card?" (OP 85).

Toxic relationships described within this theme were strongly associated with venting, that is, posting negative, emotionally charged content. For example, an OP trying to cope with being isolated by their family prefaced their story by writing, "Heads up that this is a massive, sad vent post. Sorry but I feel like I need to shout into the void" (OP 34).

Theme 3: Abandonment and Abuse Following Diagnosis

Anyone else dealing with an emotionally abusive spouse before and during cancer? I'm trying to get away and he's being awful. [OP 40]

Theme 3 was classified as slightly negative ($[\square] = -1.00$) and captured how patients in toxic relationships were abandoned or emotionally abused by their partners following their diagnosis. Key content words included *devastate*, *experience*, and *abuse*. Patients who navigated abandonment or abuse concurrently with a breast cancer diagnosis reported feeling emotionally devastated.

Abandonment was especially common after disclosing a breast cancer diagnosis. For example, one OP shared that their husband abandoned them on the way home from their diagnosis appointment, stating, "He said he won't look after the kids and plans on leaving" (OP 9). Other users were abandoned as treatment began. Many users who shared stories of abandonment described emotional whiplash, characterized by a sudden, unexpected transition from feeling secure in their relationship to feeling betrayed following abandonment. As illustrated by one user, "He made me feel cared for, loved, and safe... until I said I was considering a mastectomy. Then he shut me out" (OP 12).

The emotional impacts of betrayal were devastating. An OP whose long-term partner unexpectedly broke their promise to stick by them during treatment shared, "I am completely devastated. I am infuriated. He and my body betrayed me. I am so furious" (OP 86).

Of partners who stayed following a diagnosis, many subjected the patient to emotional abuse. One OP was told that they deserved their cancer, recounting, "He used my cancer against me by saying I got it because I'm weak and that's just natural selection at work. He told me not to bother with treatment and to just let nature run its course" (OP 76).

Other experiences involved infidelity, threats of child abandonment, accusations of faking symptoms, and coercion in treatment choices. Emotional abuse was repeatedly described as devastating. For example, an OP whose spouse had been emotionally abusive for years posted, "What can I do to stop feeling devastated that my husband feels I should be punished all the time?" (OP 40).

Theme 4: Toxic Relationships and Social-Related Fears

Do any of you also feel like the emotional consequences of breast cancer are almost worse to deal with than the physical? [OP 66]

The fourth theme was classified as slightly negative ($\square = -0.75$) and focused on social-related fears associated with breast cancer. Key content words included *biopsy, tchp*, and *scare*. Patients' fear stemmed from anticipating or experiencing a negative reaction to their breast cancer by a toxic family member or partner. For example, an OP who disclosed a toxic family shared dreading their reaction to their cancer, expressing, "The fear of how my family will react to my breast cancer diagnosis is nearly as overwhelming as the actual diagnosis" (OP 81).

Other users felt scared because they had already experienced an unsupportive reaction by a toxic family member or partner to their cancer. For example, one OP felt scared and hopeless after being gaslit by their partner about their diagnosis, sharing, "He was trying to tell me that my breast cancer was all in my

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48860

head, despite having seen my biopsy results and meeting with multiple members of my medical team" (OP 3). Similarly, an OP whose family neglected to support them after learning of their diagnosis expressed, "My family doesn't care about me or my breast cancer. It makes me feel scared and alone" (OP 34).

Theme 5: Inner Strength and Navigating Breast Cancer Over Time

I thought to myself that if my cancer ever came back, I'd rather deal with it alone than with a person like that. [OP 32]

Theme 5 was classified as slightly positive ($\square = 1.00$) and highlighted how breast cancer was disruptive to the lives of patients. Key content words included *future*, *matter*, and *strength*. Users described how health and social adversity influenced their inner strength. Toxic relationships that emerged after diagnosis were especially trying for patients. For instance, one OP expected their partner's support as they began cancer treatment (as their partner had promised). However, the OP's partner abruptly took back their commitment, leaving the OP to navigate cancer alone: "They sent me a message the next day and said they don't want anything to do with me" (OP 12).

Inner strength emerged as a dynamic construct that was both challenged by experiencing a breast cancer diagnosis and toxic relationships and enhanced by surviving these adverse experiences. Many users believed that surviving breast cancer concurrently with exposure to toxic relationships was a testament to their inner strength. For example, one OP attributed their inner strength to recovering from breast cancer while navigating a lack of empathy and support from their spouse. This OP stated, "I feel 100% confident that I am a strong, intelligent woman who can face almost anything" (OP 64), while sharing that they had received a new cancer diagnosis. Inner strength also enabled users to regain a sense of control over how they were going to navigate living with a breast cancer diagnosis. For example, an OP who was abandoned by their partner after being diagnosed stated, "I finally felt strong enough to delete his contact information because I couldn't stop myself from calling him-it was the best choice I could have made" (OP 47).

Theme 6: Assessing Social Relationships and Interactions

I am immensely grateful for you all for helping me navigate a chaotic and frustrating moment. [OP 85]

The sixth theme was classified as marginally positive ($\boxtimes = 0.20$) and described how OPs assessed their social relationships and interactions. Key content words included *conversation, response, listen, regret*, and *grateful*. Users assessed the quality of social support from family based on whether they felt judged, subjected to toxic positivity, or made to listen to unsolicited advice. For example, an OP with an emotionally unsupportive family shared, "I think a lot of family think it's helpful when they shove positivity down our throats. What we really need is support and someone to listen without trying to solve all our problems" (OP 82).

For some users, responses to breast cancer unveiled toxic relationships that they regretted having to face. For example, an OP with unsupportive parents shared, "I regret that my breast cancer forced me to confront that my parents never have and still don't support me how I need them to" (OP 4). However, OPs who discovered both toxic and supportive relationships during cancer expressed gratitude for the sources of support they did have. As one OP stated, "Sometimes I get jealous of people whose parents love and support them, but then I remember the rest of my friends and family who showed up for me when I needed them, and I'm grateful" (OP 32). The subreddit community was repeatedly praised by users because it was such a valuable source of support. For instance, one OP shared, "I am endlessly grateful for the knowledge and resilience of this community" (OP 53).

Theme 7: Community Advice and Support

I know what it feels like to be abandoned. I could tell you all the red flags in a man's behavior... but just trust me-it's better to be alone. You dodged a MASSIVE bullet. A person who lacks compassion about your breast cancer is NOT a good life partner. Please message me if you need someone to vent to. I really do understand...and you've got this. [OP 89]

The seventh theme was classified as marginally negative

 $(\square = -0.17)$ and characterized a core function of r/breastcancer: providing advice and support. Key content words included *money*, *quit*, and *follow*. The subreddit facilitated advice regarding various topics, especially related to navigating financial matters and treatment options in the context of a toxic relationship.

Numerous users offered money-related advice to OPs facing difficult financial situations because of toxic relationships. Situations included financial coercion, exploitation, and manipulation following cancer disclosure and managing finances during separation from a toxic partner. For instance, one OP was abandoned by their partner during a joint real estate purchase. A community member with self-professed real estate expertise strongly advised the OP against continuing with the investment, writing, "I'm begging you... please do NOT sign anything else! Lose your money... that's not important... please do not continue with this purchase" (OP 89).

Members also counseled OPs about postmastectomy reconstruction by offering advice on how to reduce social pressure and prioritize personal preferences. For example, one OP shared how they resisted their partner's pressure to follow reconstruction, stating, "I made him look at photos of reconstruction to show him that it's not a free boob job and can be ugly. He changed his tune real quick" (OP 39).

Members who were ultimately pressured into reconstruction strongly encouraged OPs to follow their instincts. For example, one member who was coerced into reconstruction by their husband advised, "I constantly wish I went flat instead. If I had to do it again I would listen to my gut and go flat" (OP 8).

Similarly, it was common to share advice about treatment adherence. Many OPs struggling with a lack of support expressed wanting to quit treatment. While members empathized

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48860
```

with users and understood their feelings, they ultimately encouraged continuing. For example, one OP shared, "I'm just sick of this. I'm pretty sure I'm done with it all" (OP 34).

The community offered empathy, such as, "When I was in the middle of your treatment, I was frustrated too and tried to quit every week" (OP 7), as well as advice, for example, "Don't stop treatment without a good reason. It's a gift in spite of tough side effects because it keeps us alive" (OP 48).

Discussion

Principal Results

This study explored the use of the r/breastcancer subreddit by patients to describe toxic relationships with their partners and immediate family members. Themes highlighted patients' lived experiences of toxic relationships, emotional impacts, and support from the subreddit community. A key finding was that many people with breast cancer sought out the r/breastcancer subreddit to share their experiences of toxic relationships, often including descriptions of abandonment, isolation, and emotional abuse within this context. Further, this study presented compelling evidence that toxic relationships impart profound emotional consequences for patients and that some patients cope with these strong emotions through online venting. This work also emphasized the value of online communities like Reddit as alternative, complementary sources of support for patients experiencing toxic relationships.

Comparison With Prior Work

Abandonment and Betrayal as Common Experiences

These findings suggest that abandonment is a common experience for patients with breast cancer following diagnosis. Prior research has lacked consensus regarding the risk of abandonment among patients with breast cancer after diagnosis [55,56]. Generally, however, women are more likely to be abandoned by a partner after being diagnosed with a serious medical illness [57]. Further, distancing is the most prevalent unsupportive response experienced by a patient following their breast cancer diagnosis [23]. Fears and feelings of abandonment following diagnosis are also well-documented within breast cancer research [58-60]. Given this understanding, and considering that Reddit data can be regarded as an authentic representation of user experiences [61], it is reasonable to conclude that these findings are suggestive of an increased risk of abandonment for patients with breast cancer.

A novel finding was the occurrence of emotional whiplash, where a patient was initially promised support by their partner but was later abandoned unexpectedly. The emotional transition from security to betrayal was repeatedly reported as devastating. There is limited research describing betrayal in the context of abandonment and breast cancer, but it is known that feelings of betrayal in this context can reduce the desire for future relationships [62]. Broadly, the loss, disruption, and deterioration of social ties are some of the most stressful experiences a patient with cancer can face [6], which makes abandonment a serious risk factor for reduced mental health [63]. Comprehensive cancer care entails stress-reducing psychosocial interventions [63], but

XSL•FO RenderX
a limited understanding of the psychological effects of betrayal hinders clinicians' ability to optimally manage abandonment-related stress.

Anonymous Venting Enables Disclosure of Toxic Relationships

The central role of venting within the r/breastcancer community highlighted the unique socioemotional needs of patients with breast cancer in the context of toxic relationships. Toxic relationships impart emotional consequences that can be difficult to navigate and cope with [26]. Venting is a disinhibitory, emotion-focused strategy for coping with stress [64,65]. Venting can be considered a form of expressive writing, that is, writing that describes a deeply personal experience [66], which is well-evidenced to facilitate coping with psychological distress [67]. Online venting was consistently described as cathartic among patients in this study, aligning with prior evidence of patients with breast cancer seeking support in online communities during periods of stress [68] and perceiving reduced stress after they vent online [69]. Further, patients with breast cancer who self-manage their emotions by narrating their experiences are known to experience strong psychological benefits [70].

It might be expected that the stigma attached to breast cancer and toxic relationships would hinder disclosure [58,71], however, seeking out group-oriented support is reportedly most common for diseases considered stigmatizing [72]. The latter position is consistent with this study, as venting posts often included stigmatized thoughts and feelings (eg, wanting to 'give in' to cancer or discussing abuse without wanting to leave the relationship). Further, it appeared that Reddit's capacity for anonymity created a sense of safety that made patients comfortable disclosing information considered stigmatizing, which is consistent with existing evidence [73]. Overall, patients appeared to perceive anonymous venting via Reddit as an effective, safe strategy for coping with stress from toxic relationships. Interventions that aim to promote coping among this patient population would likely benefit from integrating anonymity to encourage uninhibited self-expression.

Advice About Navigating Toxic Relationships

Validating the feelings of other users, as well as soliciting and providing advice regarding toxic relationships, were core activities within r/breastcancer. It was previously known that participation in online forums contributes to the practical, informative, and emotional empowerment of patients with breast cancer [74]. However, this study uniquely identified that community members on Reddit often urged OPs to leave or go against the wishes of their abusive partner. While well-intentioned, this advice may not always be safe or practical. Leaving an abusive partner can be the most dangerous time in the relationship due to an increased risk of retaliation [75]. Similarly, acting in a manner that might antagonize an abuser can initiate or escalate relationship discord and consequently increase the risk of violence [76]. Furthermore, patients who depend on an abusive partner (eg, for caregiving, access to health insurance, and transportation to appointments [77]) may be unable to leave or risk the relationship by acting defiantly [78]. Resultantly, relationship advice received on Reddit by

XSL•FO

patients with abusive partners may have been incompatible with their reality or suboptimal in promoting their safety.

This indicates a knowledge gap concerning safety planning within r/breastcancer; safety planning can be understood as the development of strategies to reduce the risk of abuse and enhance support [79]. Safety planning is a proven, widely endorsed health promotion intervention that is effective both within an abusive relationship and after leaving [80,81]. Considering the prevalence of abuse among patients with breast cancer [20] and that many seek support in online forums such as Reddit [39], it could be useful to raise awareness of safety planning within r/breastcancer as a health promotion strategy. Further, considering the importance attributed to inner strength by patients in this study, building awareness of strengths-based approaches to safety planning [82] could be particularly useful. For example, community moderators could pin relationship-related resources (eg, hotlines and informative websites) as the top comment under posts about challenging, potentially toxic relationships. However, a needs assessment would be best suited to developing an IPV-related intervention considered acceptable and effective within r/breastcancer.

Clinical Implications

Psycho-oncology care teams play a critical role in optimizing health outcomes for patients with breast cancer, yet the emotional well-being of patients with cancer is often underreported and underexplored [83]. Patient-reported social media data offers real-time insights into patient experiences and needs which can be beneficial for informing clinical practice [33,83].

Clinicians who understand that many of their patients with breast cancer are negatively affected by toxic relationships are better prepared to support their emotional well-being. Acquiring knowledge about practices and resources that foster coping and inner strength, including venting and safety planning, can contribute to improved patient outcomes.

Some clinicians may be unfamiliar with the advantages of online forums for patients, but recognizing the potential benefits could enhance care [84]. Recommending Reddit as a possible source of advice, information, and support could be a valuable addition to clinical practice for patients navigating breast cancer and toxic relationships. However, because digital literacy is often overlooked in breast cancer care [85], clinicians who concurrently promote digital literacy can empower their patients to access online communities and ultimately, improve their health outcomes.

Limitations

There are limitations to this work. First, the analysis was conducted by a single researcher, which may have introduced bias in data interpretation. The analysis also relied heavily on automated methods that may have been inadequate in fully capturing nuance or interpreting context cues in textual data. Second, these data are self-reported, which may have resulted in biased perspectives. While users in this sample self-identified as patients with breast cancer, it was not possible to validate this. These data may have inadvertently included content from online robots or people without breast cancer, and thus may not

accurately reflect the experiences of the target population. Additionally, these data were scraped from a single social media platform and may not be representative of the experiences of patients who use other social media platforms, do not use Reddit to discuss their personal lives, or lack access to an internet-enabled device. No demographic information was available to further contextualize findings. It is important to note that these results only relate to experiences of emotional abuse, as physical and sexual abuse were not represented in the data. Furthermore, all participants could write in English, were digitally literate, and had access to the internet, meaning that the findings may not represent the experiences of patients who are nonanglophone or lack technological access or literacy. Caution should be used when applying these findings to other patients with breast cancer.

Conclusions

This study identified that toxic relationships described by patients with breast cancer on Reddit were common and characterized by abandonment, abuse, and unsupportive behaviors. Patients often experienced profound emotional reactions to this form of social stress and anonymous venting on Reddit was described as an effective coping mechanism. Some patients described breast cancer and toxic relationships as adverse experiences that ultimately enhanced their inner strength. Overall, the r/breastcancer community appeared to be a means of exchanging advice, information, and support for patients experiencing toxic relationships. Clinicians who understand that their patients may be negatively affected by toxic relationships are better prepared to support their holistic well-being. Further investigation of Reddit as a possible source of advice, information, and support has the potential to help inform clinical practice and subsequently, improve patient health outcomes.

Data Availability

The data sets generated or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

CAD was involved in the conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, and both original draft preparation and review and editing of the manuscript. RB, KTJ, and TM contributed to the conceptualization, supervision, methodology, and review and editing of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory in collaboration with the Canadian Cancer Society, Statistics Canada, and the Public Health Agency of Canada. Canadian cancer statistics: A 2022 special report on cancer prevalence. Canadian Cancer Society. 2022. URL: <u>https://cancer.ca/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2022-EN</u> [accessed 2023-03-14]
- 2. Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee. Canadian cancer statistics 2019. Canadian Cancer Society. 2019. URL: https://cancer.ca/canadian-cancer-statistics-2019-en [accessed 2023-03-14]
- 3. Canadian cancer statistics 2021. Canadian Cancer Society. URL: <u>https://cancer.ca/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2021-EN</u> [accessed 2023-03-14]
- 4. Coughlin SS, Ekwueme DU. Breast cancer as a global health concern. Cancer Epidemiol 2009;33(5):315-318. [doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2009.10.003] [Medline: 19896917]
- Kroenke CH, Michael Y, Tindle H, Gage E, Chlebowski R, Garcia L, et al. Social networks, social support and burden in relationships, and mortality after breast cancer diagnosis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2012;133(1):375-385 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-012-1962-3] [Medline: 22331479]
- Wortman CB. Social support and the cancer patient. conceptual and methodologic issues. Cancer 1984;53(10 Suppl):2339-2362 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.1984.53.s10.2339] [Medline: 6367944]
- Bloom JR, Spiegel D. The relationship of two dimensions of social support to the psychological well-being and social functioning of women with advanced breast cancer. Soc Sci Med 1984;19(8):831-837. [doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(84)90400-3] [Medline: 6505749]
- 8. Hosseini L, Dehghani M, Tahmasebi S, Akrami M, Shokrpour N, Ravangard R. Social support and breast cancer recurrence: is there any association? Open Public Health J 2020;13(1):30-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2174/1874944502013010030]
- 9. McLean B. Social support, support groups, and breast cancer: a literature review. Can J Commun Ment Health 1995;14(2):207-227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7870/cjcmh-1995-0026] [Medline: 10163398]
- 10. Vachon MLS. A comparison of the impact of breast cancer and bereavement: personality, social support, and adaptation. In: Hobfoll SE, editor. Stress, Social Support, and Women. Washington, DC: Hemisphere Publishing; 1986:187-204.

- Kroenke CH, Michael YL, Poole EM, Kwan ML, Nechuta S, Leas E, et al. Postdiagnosis social networks and breast cancer mortality in the after breast cancer pooling project. Cancer 2017;123(7):1228-1237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.30440] [Medline: 27943274]
- 12. Nausheen B, Gidron Y, Peveler R, Moss-Morris R. Social support and cancer progression: a systematic review. J Psychosom Res 2009;67(5):403-415. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2008.12.012] [Medline: 19837203]
- Drageset S, Lindstrøm TC, Giske T, Underlid K. "The support i need": women's experiences of social support after having received breast cancer diagnosis and awaiting surgery. Cancer Nurs 2012;35(6):E39-E47. [doi: 10.1097/NCC.0b013e31823634aa] [Medline: 22134160]
- 14. Salakari M, Pylkkänen L, Sillanmäki L, Nurminen R, Rautava P, Koskenvuo M, et al. Social support and breast cancer: a comparatory study of breast cancer survivors, women with mental depression, women with hypertension and healthy female controls. Breast 2017;35:85-90. [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2017.06.017] [Medline: 28667868]
- Kroenke CH, Kubzansky LD, Schernhammer ES, Holmes MD, Kawachi I. Social networks, social support, and survival after breast cancer diagnosis. J Clin Oncol 2006;24(7):1105-1111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.04.2846] [Medline: 16505430]
- 16. Ockerby C, Livingston P, O'Connell B, Gaskin CJ. The role of informal caregivers during cancer patients' recovery from chemotherapy. Scand J Caring Sci 2013;27(1):147-155. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1471-6712.2012.01015.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22616952</u>]
- 17. Bloom JR. Social support, accommodation to stress and adjustment to breast cancer. Soc Sci Med 1982;16(14):1329-1338. [doi: <u>10.1016/0277-9536(82)90028-4</u>] [Medline: <u>7123275</u>]
- Sawin EM, Laughon K, Parker BJ, Steeves RH. Breast cancer in the context of intimate partner violence: a qualitative study. Oncol Nurs Forum 2009;36(6):686-692. [doi: <u>10.1188/09.ONF.686-692</u>] [Medline: <u>19887356</u>]
- 19. Tjaden P, Thoennes N. Full report of the prevalence, incidence and consequences of violence against women survey. US Department of Justice. 2000. URL: <u>https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/183781.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-01-31]
- 20. Johnson WA, Pieters HC. Intimate partner violence among women diagnosed with cancer. Cancer Nurs 2016;39(2):87-96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCC.0000000000265] [Medline: 25950584]
- Garcia-Moreno C, Jansen HAFM, Ellsberg M, Heise L, Watts CH, WHO Multi-country Study on Women's Health and Domestic Violence against Women Study Team. Prevalence of intimate partner violence: findings from the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence. Lancet 2006;368(9543):1260-1269. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69523-8] [Medline: 17027732]
- 22. Pistrang N, Barker C. The partner relationship in psychological response to breast cancer. Soc Sci Med 1995;40(6):789-797. [doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(94)00136-h] [Medline: 7747213]
- 23. Figueiredo MI, Fries E, Ingram KM. The role of disclosure patterns and unsupportive social interactions in the well-being of breast cancer patients. Psychooncology 2004;13(2):96-105. [doi: 10.1002/pon.717] [Medline: 14872528]
- 24. Peters-Golden H. Breast cancer: varied perceptions of social support in the illness experience. Soc Sci Med 1982;16(4):483-491. [doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(82)90057-0] [Medline: 7079803]
- 25. Raveis VH, Pretter S. Existential plight of adult daughters following their mother's breast cancer diagnosis. Psychooncology 2005;14(1):49-60. [doi: 10.1002/pon.819] [Medline: 15386788]
- 26. Glass L. Toxic People: 10 Ways of Dealing with People Who Make Your Life Miserable. London, United Kingdom: MacMillan; 1997.
- 27. Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Layton JB. Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review. PLoS Med 2010;7(7):e1000316 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316] [Medline: 20668659]
- 28. Mikal JP, Beckstrand MJ, Grande SW, Parks E, Oyenuga M, Odebunmi T, et al. Online support seeking and breast cancer patients: changes in support seeking behavior following diagnosis and transition off cancer therapy. Health Commun 2021;36(6):731-740. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2020.1712519] [Medline: 31931628]
- 29. Almoajel A, Alshamrani S, Alyabsi M. The relationship between e-Health literacy and breast cancer literacy among Saudi women. Front Public Health 2022;10:841102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.841102] [Medline: 35462821]
- Qin L, Zhang X, Wu A, Miser JS, Liu YL, Hsu JC, et al. Association between social media use and cancer screening awareness and behavior for people without a cancer diagnosis: matched cohort study. J Med Internet Res 2021;23(8):e26395 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26395] [Medline: 34448708]
- 31. Sharma C, Whittle S, Haghighi PD, Burstein F, Keen H. Sentiment analysis of social media posts on pharmacotherapy: a scoping review. Pharmacol Res Perspect 2020;8(5):e00640 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/prp2.640] [Medline: 32813329]
- Attai DJ, Cowher MS, Al-Hamadani M, Schoger JM, Staley AC, Landercasper J. Twitter social media is an effective tool for breast cancer patient education and support: patient-reported outcomes by survey. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(7):e188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4721] [Medline: 26228234]
- 33. Falisi AL, Wiseman KP, Gaysynsky A, Scheideler JK, Ramin DA, Chou WYS. Social media for breast cancer survivors: a literature review. J Cancer Surviv 2017;11(6):808-821. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-017-0620-5</u>] [Medline: <u>28601981</u>]
- Quinn EM, Corrigan MA, McHugh SM, Murphy D, O'Mullane J, Hill AD, et al. Who's talking about breast cancer? analysis of daily breast cancer posts on the internet. Breast 2013;22(1):24-27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2012.05.001] [Medline: 22683246]

- 35. Anderson AB. It doesn't make sense, but we do: framing disease in an online metastatic breast cancer support community. Qual Res Med Healthc 2019;3(2):82-91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4081/qrmh.2019.7007]
- 36. Littlechild SA, Barr L. Using the internet for information about breast cancer: a questionnaire-based study. Patient Educ Couns 2013;92(3):413-417. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.06.018] [Medline: 23891419]
- 37. Xie DX, Boss EF, Stewart CM. An exploration of otolaryngology in the reddit community. Laryngoscope 2022;132(2):284-286. [doi: 10.1002/lary.29696] [Medline: 34319587]
- Currin-McCulloch J, Stanton A, Boyd R, Neaves M, Jones B. Understanding breast cancer survivors' information-seeking behaviours and overall experiences: a comparison of themes derived from social media posts and focus groups. Psychol Health 2021;36(7):810-827. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2020.1792903] [Medline: 32654515]
- 39. Proferes N, Jones N, Gilbert S, Fiesler C, Zimmer M. Studying reddit: a systematic overview of disciplines, approaches, methods, and ethics. Soc Media Soc 2021;7(2):20563051211019004 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/20563051211019004]
- 40. Thomas J, Zheng R, Prabhu AV, Heron DE, Beriwal S. Content analysis of posts about cancer on the social media website reddit. Int J of Radiat Oncol 2019;105(1):E461-E462. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2019.06.1420]
- 41. Reddit user agreement. Reddit. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.redditinc.com/policies/user-agreement-september-12-2021</u> [accessed 2023-03-23]
- 42. Reagle J. Disguising Reddit sources and the efficacy of ethical research. Ethics Inf Technol 2022;24(3):41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10676-022-09663-w] [Medline: 36105629]
- 43. Chung CK, Pennebaker JW. Revealing dimensions of thinking in open-ended self-descriptions: an automated meaning extraction method for natural language. J Res Pers 2008;42(1):96-132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2007.04.006] [Medline: 18802499]
- 44. Boyd RL. MEH: Meaning Extraction Helper (Version 2.3.02). Ryanboid.io. URL: <u>https://www.ryanboyd.io/software/meh</u> [accessed 2023-02-10]
- 45. Boyd RL. PCA-Template-for-MEM.R. Ryanboid.io. URL: <u>https://www.ryanboyd.io/software/meh/Supplemental/</u> <u>PCA-Template-for-MEM.R</u> [accessed 2023-02-10]
- 46. Costello AB, Osborne JW. Best practices in exploratory factor analysis: four recommendations for getting the most from your analysis. Pract Assess Res 2005;10(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4135/9781412995627.d8]
- 47. Gaspar R, Pedro C, Panagiotopoulos P, Seibt B. Beyond positive or negative: qualitative sentiment analysis of social media reactions to unexpected stressful events. Comput Hum Behav 2016;56:179-191. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.11.040]
- 48. Mäntylä MV, Graziotin D, Kuutila M. The evolution of sentiment analysis—a review of research topics, venues, and top cited papers. Comput Sci Rev 2018;27:16-32. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cosrev.2017.10.002</u>]
- 49. Honnibal M. Syuzhet: extracts sentiment and sentiment-derived plot arcs from text. CRAN R project. 2020. URL: <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=syuzhet</u> [accessed 2023-04-14]
- 50. Nielsen F. A new ANEW: evaluation of a word list for sentiment analysis in microblogs. ArXiv Preprint posted online on 15 Mar 2011 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.48550/arXiv.1103.2903]
- 51. Hsieh HF, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- 52. Nowell LS, Norris JM, White DE, Moules NJ. Thematic analysis: striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. Int J Qual Methods 2017 Oct 02;16(1):160940691773384. [doi: 10.1177/1609406917733847]
- 53. Guba EG, Lincoln YS. Fourth Generation Evaluation. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 1989.
- 54. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic Inquiry. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 1985.
- 55. Lees BF, Stewart TP, Rash JK, Baron SR, Lindau ST, Kushner DM. Abuse, cancer and sexual dysfunction in women: a
- potentially vicious cycle. Gynecol Oncol 2018;150(1):166-172. [doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2018.04.002] [Medline: 29661496]
 56. Taylor-Brown J, Kilpatrick M, Maunsell E, Dorval M. Partner abandonment of women with breast cancer. myth or reality? Cancer Pract 2000;8(4):160-164. [doi: 10.1046/j.1523-5394.2000.84004.x] [Medline: 11898254]
- Glantz MJ, Chamberlain MC, Liu Q, Hsieh CC, Edwards KR, Van Horn A, et al. Gender disparity in the rate of partner abandonment in patients with serious medical illness. Cancer 2009;115(22):5237-5242 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.24577] [Medline: 19645027]
- 58. Elobaid Y, Aw TC, Lim JNW, Hamid S, Grivna M. Breast cancer presentation delays among Arab and national women in the UAE: a qualitative study. SSM Popul Health 2016;2:155-163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.02.007] [Medline: 29349136]
- 59. Jones CE, Maben J, Jack RH, Davies EA, Forbes LJ, Lucas G, et al. A systematic review of barriers to early presentation and diagnosis with breast cancer among black women. BMJ Open 2014;4(2):e004076 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004076] [Medline: 24523424]
- Victorson D, Garcia SF, Sanford S, Snyder MA, Lampert S, Salsman JM. A qualitative focus group study to illuminate the lived emotional and social impacts of cancer and its treatment on young adults. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2019;8(6):649-659 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2019.0028] [Medline: 31329494]
- 61. Garg R, Rebić N, De Vera MA. Information needs about cancer treatment, fertility, and pregnancy: qualitative descriptive study of reddit threads. JMIR Cancer 2020;6(2):e17771 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17771] [Medline: 33263547]

- 62. Ashing-Giwa KT, Padilla G, Tejero J, Kraemer J, Wright K, Coscarelli A, et al. Understanding the breast cancer experience of women: a qualitative study of African American, Asian American, Latina and Caucasian cancer survivors. Psychooncology 2004;13(6):408-428 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.750] [Medline: 15188447]
- 63. Borgi M, Collacchi B, Ortona E, Cirulli F. Stress and coping in women with breast cancer: unravelling the mechanisms to improve resilience. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2020;119:406-421. [doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.10.011] [Medline: 33086128]
- 64. Karekla M, Panayiotou G. Coping and experiential avoidance: unique or overlapping constructs? J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 2011;42(2):163-170. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2010.10.002] [Medline: 21315877]
- 65. Suler J. The online disinhibition effect. Cyberpsychol Behav 2004;7(3):321-326. [doi: <u>10.1089/1094931041291295</u>] [Medline: <u>15257832</u>]
- 66. Pennebaker JW, Chung CK. Expressive writing, emotional upheavals, and health. In: Friedman HS, editor. The Oxford Handbook of Health Psychology. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2007:417-437.
- 67. Tim LS. Expressive writing improves psychological and physical health among breast cancer survivors: a review of journal articles. J Educ Soc Behav Sci 2015;6(1):9-23. [doi: <u>10.9734/bjesbs/2015/14831</u>]
- 68. Bender JL, Katz J, Ferris LE, Jadad AR. What is the role of online support from the perspective of facilitators of face-to-face support groups? a multi-method study of the use of breast cancer online communities. Patient Educ Couns 2013;93(3):472-479. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.07.009] [Medline: 23928354]
- 69. Wendorf JE, Yang F. Benefits of a negative post: effects of computer-mediated venting on relationship maintenance. Comput Hum Behav 2015;52:271-277. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.05.040]
- Merolli M, Gray K, Martin-Sanchez F. Health outcomes and related effects of using social media in chronic disease management: a literature review and analysis of affordances. J Biomed Inform 2013;46(6):957-969 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2013.04.010] [Medline: 23702104]
- 71. Merritt-Gray M, Wuest J. Counteracting abuse and breaking free: the process of leaving revealed through women's voices. Health Care Women Int 1995;16(5):399-412. [doi: 10.1080/07399339509516194] [Medline: 8576012]
- 72. Hogan BE, Linden W, Najarian B. Social support interventions: do they work? Clin Psychol Rev 2002;22(3):383-442. [doi: 10.1016/s0272-7358(01)00102-7] [Medline: 17201192]
- 73. Adams NN. 'Scraping' reddit posts for academic research? addressing some blurred lines of consent in growing internet-based research trend during the time of Covid-19. Int J Soc Res Method 2022:1-16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13645579.2022.2111816]
- 74. Montali L, Zulato E, Frigerio A, Frangi E, Camussi E. Mirroring, monitoring, modelling, belonging, and distancing: psychosocial processes in an online support group of breast cancer patients. J Community Psychol 2022;50(2):992-1007 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jcop.22696] [Medline: 34428308]
- 75. Campbell JC, Webster D, Koziol-McLain J, Block C, Campbell D, Curry MA, et al. Risk factors for femicide in abusive relationships: results from a multisite case control study. Am J Public Health 2003;93(7):1089-1097 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/ajph.93.7.1089] [Medline: 12835191]
- 76. Capaldi DM, Knoble NB, Shortt JW, Kim HK. A systematic review of risk factors for intimate partner violence. Partner Abuse 2012;3(2):231-280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1891/1946-6560.3.2.231] [Medline: 22754606]
- 77. Nosek MA, Hughes RB, Taylor HB, Taylor P. Disability, psychosocial, and demographic characteristics of abused women with physical disabilities. Violence Against Women 2006;12(9):838-850. [doi: <u>10.1177/1077801206292671</u>] [Medline: <u>16905676</u>]
- 78. Kalmuss DS, Straus MA. Wife's marital dependency and wife abuse. In: Straus MA, Gelles RJ, editors. Physical Violence in American Families. Milton Park, UK: Routledge; 2017:369-382.
- 79. Sabri B, Tharmarajah S, Njie-Carr VPS, Messing JT, Loerzel E, Arscott J, et al. Safety planning with marginalized survivors of intimate partner violence: challenges of conducting safety planning intervention research with marginalized women. Trauma Violence Abuse 2022;23(5):1728-1751 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/15248380211013136] [Medline: 33955283]
- Ford-Gilboe M, Varcoe C, Scott-Storey K, Wuest J, Case J, Currie LM, et al. A tailored online safety and health intervention for women experiencing intimate partner violence: the iCAN plan 4 safety randomized controlled trial protocol. BMC Public Health 2017;17(1):273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4143-9] [Medline: 28327116]
- Wood SN, Glass N, Decker MR. An integrative review of safety strategies for women experiencing intimate partner violence in low- and middle-income countries. Trauma Violence Abus 2021;22(1):68-82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1524838018823270] [Medline: 30669943]
- 82. Hamby S. Battered Women's Protective Strategies: Stronger Than You Know, 1st Edition. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2021.
- Moraliyage H, De Silva D, Ranasinghe W, Adikari A, Alahakoon D, Prasad R, et al. Cancer in lockdown: impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on patients with cancer. Oncologist 2021;26(2):e342-e344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/onco.13604] [Medline: <u>33210442</u>]
- 84. Hargreaves S, Bath PA, Duffin S, Ellis J. Sharing and empathy in digital spaces: qualitative study of online health forums for breast cancer and motor neuron disease (amyotrophic lateral sclerosis). J Med Internet Res 2018;20(6):e222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9709] [Medline: 29903695]

85. Melhem SJ, Nabhani-Gebara S, Kayyali R. Digital trends, digital literacy, and e-Health engagement predictors of breast and colorectal cancer survivors: a population-based cross-sectional survey. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2023;20(2):1472 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph20021472] [Medline: 36674237]

Abbreviations

IPV: intimate partner violence **MEM:** meaning extraction method **OP:** original poster

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 09.05.23; peer-reviewed by A AL-Asadi, D Carvalho; comments to author 09.11.23; revised version received 18.12.23; accepted 29.01.24; published 23.02.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Davidson CA, Booth R, Jackson KT, Mantler T Toxic Relationships Described by People With Breast Cancer on Reddit: Topic Modeling Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48860 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48860</u> doi:10.2196/48860 PMID:<u>38393769</u>

©Cara Anne Davidson, Richard Booth, Kimberley Teresa Jackson, Tara Mantler. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 23.02.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Scope, Findability, and Quality of Information About Music-Based Interventions in Oncology: Quantitative Content Analysis of Public-Facing Websites at National Cancer Institute–Designated Cancer Centers

Carol Ann Blank¹, PhD; Sarah Biedka¹, MMT; Abigail Montalmant², BS; Katelyn Saft¹, BA; Miranda Lape¹, BM; Kate Mao³; Joke Bradt¹, PhD; Kevin T Liou⁴, MD

¹Music, Creativity and Wellness Lab, College of Nursing and Health Professions, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA, United States

²The City University of New York School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States

³Hunter College High School, New York, NY, United States

⁴Integrative Medicine Service, Bendheim Integrative Medicine Center, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, 321 East 61st Street, 4th Floor, New York, NY, United States

Corresponding Author:

Kevin T Liou, MD

Integrative Medicine Service, Bendheim Integrative Medicine Center, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, , 321 East 61st Street, 4th Floor, New York, NY, , United States

Abstract

Background: Music-based interventions (MBIs) are evidence-based, nonpharmacological treatments that include music therapy (MT) delivered by board-certified music therapists, as well as music services (MS) delivered by other health professionals and volunteers. Despite MBI's growing evidence base in cancer symptom management, it remains unclear how MBI-related information is presented to the public. Over 80% of people with cancer use the internet to find health-related information. In the United States, the National Cancer Institute (NCI) identifies certain Cancer Centers (CCs) as NCI-designated CCs or Comprehensive Cancer Centers (CCCs) based on their excellence in research. As NCI-designated CCs are considered the gold standard in cancer care, their websites are viewed by the public as important sources of information.

Objective: We aimed to determine scope, findability, and quality of MBI-related information on public-facing websites of NCI-designated CCs/CCCs.

Methods: We reviewed 64 NCI-designated CC/CCC websites (excluding basic laboratories) between November 2022 and January 2023. We extracted data on the scope of information: (1) type of MBI offered (MT or MS), (2) format (individual, group), (3) method of delivery (in person or remotely delivered), (4) setting (inpatient or outpatient), (5) target population (pediatric or adult), (6) MBI practitioner qualifications, (7) clinical indications or benefits, (8) presence of testimonials, (9) cost, and (10) scheduling or referral information. We also extracted data on findability (ie, presence of direct link or drop-down menu and the number of clicks to locate MBI-related information). Based on the scope and findability data, we rated the information quality as high, moderate, or low using an adapted scale informed by prior research.

Results: Thirty-one (48%) of the 64 CC/CCCs described MBIs on their websites. Of these, 6 (19%) mentioned both MT and MS, 16 (52%) mentioned MT only, and 9 (29%) mentioned MS only. The most common format was hybrid, involving individuals and groups (n=20, 65%). The most common delivery method was in person (n=16, 52%). The most common target population was adults (n=12, 39%). The most common MBI practitioners were board-certified music therapists (n=21, 68%). The most described indications or benefits were psychological. Twenty-eight (90%) websites lacked testimonials, and 26 (84%) lacked cost information. Twenty-six (84%) websites provided scheduling or referral information. MBI-related information was found with an average of 4 (SD 1) clicks. Nine (29%) websites were of high quality, 18 (58%) were moderate, and 4 (13%) were low.

Conclusions: Based on public websites, MBIs were most commonly delivered in person by board-certified music therapists to outpatient and inpatient adults, using individual and group formats to provide psychological benefits. The findability and quality of this information should be improved to promote the dissemination of MBIs for cancer symptom management.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53440) doi:10.2196/53440

KEYWORDS

music-based interventions; cancer; oncology; symptom management; music therapy; music services; National Cancer Institute

Introduction

Management of symptoms and treatment-related side effects are a key priority in oncology [1]. Undertreatment of symptoms may contribute to worse cancer-related outcomes, including treatment nonadherence, higher health care use, and increased mortality [2-9]. Medications are commonly used for managing symptoms. However, polypharmacy represents a major concern in the cancer population, with approximately 64% already taking five or more medications [10]. Polypharmacy is associated with financial toxicity, higher risk of side effects and adverse medication interactions, and poor quality of life [10,11]. These risks of polypharmacy underscore the need for effective nonpharmacological approaches for cancer symptom management [11-13]. Various nonpharmacological interventions (eg, exercise and cognitive-behavioral therapy) have demonstrated effectiveness for cancer-related symptoms, such as fatigue or psychological distress [14,15], but these options may not be optimal for all individuals. For example, barriers to physical activity are well documented in cancer populations [16]. Furthermore, some cultures view conventional psychotherapy, such as cognitive behavioral therapy, as stigmatizing [17,18]. Due to these limitations, there is a critical need for more nonpharmacological options to address the diverse needs of patients with cancer.

Music-based interventions (MBIs) are evidence-based, nonpharmacological treatment options that include music therapy (MT) and music services (MS) [19,20]. MT is delivered in individual or group-based formats by board-certified music therapists who guide patients through music experiences to achieve therapeutic goals. These music experiences may include listening to live, improvised, or prerecorded music; playing instruments; improvising music using voice or instruments; and songwriting [20]. Board-certified music therapists are trained to design and facilitate personalized therapeutic processes to address individual needs [21]. In contrast to MT, MS are not delivered by board-certified music therapists; MS is a broad category that includes music performances by volunteer musicians in medical settings and listening to prerecorded music offered by medical personnel [22].

MBIs have a robust evidence base for cancer symptom management [20], particularly for symptoms that have been identified by the National Cancer Institute (NCI) as high priority [1]. A recent Cochrane review found that MBIs demonstrated effectiveness for anxiety, depression, pain, fatigue, and quality of life [20] As a result, MBIs are recommended in several clinical guidelines for cancer symptom management [23-26]. In a recently published joint guideline from the Society for Integrative Oncology and the American Society of Clinical Oncology, MT was recommended for anxiety and depression during active cancer treatments [25]. MBIs are thought to improve cancer-related symptoms through music's effects on brain regions (eg, amygdala), psychosocial processes, as well as biological systems (eg, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, autonomic nervous system) [27-31]. Given that music is a potent inducer of reward responses [32-34], MBIs could also potentially be more engaging for patients with cancer who find it difficult to adhere to other nonpharmacological interventions. Finally,

XSL•FC

music is found in nearly all cultures around the world [35,36]. This multicultural presence supports the unique potential of MBIs to appeal to diverse cancer populations as an option for symptom management.

Despite the growing evidence of MBIs, the availability of information about MBIs in the public sphere remains unclear. Gaps in knowledge about MBIs could limit the adoption and uptake of this evidence-based modality by patients, families, and their health care providers. One study found that most people search for health-related information online, and nearly 60% experience frustration during the online search process [37]. Another study found that over 80% of people with cancer use the internet to find health-related information [38], and they most commonly search for information related to treatment options and complementary therapies [39].

In the United States, NCI identifies certain Cancer Centers (CCs) around the country as NCI-designated CCs or NCI-designated Comprehensive Cancer Centers (CCCs) based on their scientific excellence and research capacities. NCI-designated CCs demonstrate excellence in laboratory, clinical, or population science research, whereas NCI-designated CCCs meet additional rigorous standards, including greater depth and breadth of research, access to more extensive resources, and greater transdisciplinary collaboration across basic, clinical, and population science research. Since NCI-designated CCs and CCCs are considered the gold standard in cancer care, their websites are often viewed as an important resource for health-related information. However, prior research has demonstrated key information gaps on these websites for topics relevant to patients with cancer [40,41]. Therefore, we investigated the scope, findability, and quality of MBI-related information on the public-facing websites of NCI-designated CCs and CCCs.

Methods

Study Design

This study is a quantitative content analysis of information about MBIs found on public-facing web pages of NCI-designated CCs [42,43]. Content analysis is a systematic method to code and quantify written, visual, or oral content [44]. For ease of reading, we will use the term "CC" to refer to both CCs and CCCs, except in instances where the distinction between CCs and CCCs is important to highlight.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria for Websites

Websites were included in this study based on these criteria: (1) they belonged to an NCI-designated CCC or an NCI-designated CC. and (2) they contained MBI-related information. Websites were excluded from this study based on this criterion: (1) they were from an NCI-designated CC that was categorized as a basic laboratory.

Search Strategy

Six members of our research team executed the search strategy and data extraction (CAB, SB, AM, KS, ML, and KM). These team members included a postdoctoral researcher, as well as high school, undergraduate, and graduate students. Data

extraction was completed in pairs with one person handling the initial data extraction and the second person checking the data extraction for accuracy. We reviewed 64 NCI-Designated CCs listed on the NCI website [45] between November 2022 and January 2023, excluding the seven CCs identified as basic laboratories. Following the methods from similar studies, [46,47] we used three different search strategies to identify CCs that offer MBIs: (1) keyword searching with search terms "music," "music therapy," "musician," "therapeutic music," "harp," and "sing" using the CC website's search function; (2) tab searching, which entailed systematically reviewing each menu tab or link on the website's home page (eg, "patient information" tab or

"services" tab) for MBI-related information; and (3) the first page of results from Google searching using the aforementioned search terms combined with the name of the CC (Figure 1). Mentions of music that were irrelevant to MBI (eg, music fundraisers) were removed. Duplicate web pages were also removed. Individual web pages within each specific website were consolidated. Two coders used each search strategy. An Excel (Microsoft Corp) spreadsheet was used for data abstraction, with a priori determined categorical data entries as well as open text fields to allow for entry of more detailed descriptions. The team met biweekly to peer-check the coding and resolve search discrepancies through discussion.

Figure 1. Search strategy for identifying National Cancer Institute–designated Cancer Center websites containing information related to music-based interventions.



Evaluating the Scope of MBI-Related Information

We extracted the following MBI-related information from the public-facing websites of NCI-designated CCs: (1) type of MBI offered (eg, MT or MS) and the specific music activities involved (eg, music listening or group drumming), (2) format (eg, individual or group), (3) method of delivery (eg, in person or remotely delivered), (4) setting (eg, inpatient or outpatient), (5) target population (eg, pediatric or adult), (6) MBI practitioner qualifications (eg, board-certified music therapist, volunteer musician, etc), (7) clinical indications or treatment benefits (eg, reducing anxiety), (8) presence of testimonials about MBIs, (9) cost or fees, and (10) information about scheduling MBIs or referring patients for MBI.

We used the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) to inform our data extraction [48]. The TPB posits that an individual engages in a specific health behavior (eg, use of MBI) as a result of three key factors: (1) expected benefits or outcomes of the behavior (eg, symptom burden reduction), (2) perceived barriers to engaging in the behavior (eg, unfamiliarity or lack of knowledge about what MBIs entail, high costs associated with MBI use, limited availability of qualified MBI providers), and (3) social norms regarding the behavior (eg, information regarding for which patient populations MBIs are intended, testimonials from other patients with cancer, and recommendations from oncologists). Prior research demonstrated that these TPB factors predict the use of complementary alternative medicine by patients with cancer [49,50]. Thus, by extracting information across the three TPB domains, we were able to not only capture

the scope of MBIs offered at CCs but also determine whether websites contain the critical information that influences patients' decision to seek MBIs.

Evaluating Findability of MBI-Related Information

Given that over 60% of patients experience frustration while searching for health-related information online [38,39], we evaluated findability of MBI-related information by first identifying CCs with a website home page that contained an easily identifiable link or drop-down menu to direct patients to MBI-related information. For CCs that did not contain an easily identifiable direct link or drop-down menu, we quantified the success path, a common website navigation metric, which we define here as the number of clicks needed to reach MBI-related information from a CC's home page [51,52]. Similar approaches have been used in other research to evaluate the findability of information on CC websites [41].

Evaluating Quality of MBI-Related Information

We used the scope and findability of MBI-related information to assign an overall information quality rating for each CC website (Table 1). Our scale for rating the quality of MBI-related information was adapted from the approach used by Silver et al [41] who similarly used findability and scope of information to assign a quality rating.

Table . Quality rating scale for information about music-based interventions found on National Cancer Institute-designated Cancer Center websites.

Rating	Findability	Scope of information provided
High	Success path ≤3 clicks	Web pages provide the following information: (1) type of music-based interventions offered; (2) clinical indications or treatment benefits; and (3) at least two of the following: (a) practitioner qualification, (b) referral information, (c) cost of service, (d) testimonials, (e) video of music-based intervention patient encounter, and (f) research evidence.
Moderate	Success path >3 clicks	Web pages provide the following information: (1) types of music-based interventions offered; (2) clinical indications or treatment benefits; and (3) only one of the following: (a) practitioner qualification, (b) referral information, (c) cost of service, (d) testimonials, (e) video of music-based intervention patient encounter, and (f) research evidence.
Low	Success path >5 clicks or no success locating the information with a keyword search	Web pages state that music-based interventions are offered but contain no details regarding type of music-based interventions offered; clinical indications or treatment benefits; practitioner qualifications; referral information; cost of ser- vice; testimonials; video of music-based interven- tion patient encounter; or research evidence.

Ethical Considerations

This study analyzed publicly available information from websites in the public domain. No human subjects were involved in this study, and no personal identifiers or confidential data were collected. Therefore, approval from an institutional review board was not required for this type of research.

Results

Characteristics of CCs With MBIs

Of the 64 CCs, we identified 31 (48%) CCs that had information about MBIs on their public-facing website. Table 2 summarizes the NCI designation and regions for the 31 CCs that offered MBIs at the time of data collection. Links to the websites of these CCs can be found at this NCI directory [45].



Blank et al

Table . Characteristics of 31 Cancer Centers mentioning music-based interventions on their websites.

Characteristics	Cancer Centers, n (%)
National Cancer Institute-designation	
Cancer Center	8 (26)
Comprehensive Cancer Center	23 (74)
Region	
Midwest	5 (16)
Northeast	7 (23)
Southeast	9 (29)
Southwest	3 (10)
West	7 (23)

Scope of Information About MBIs

Overview

The scope of information about MBIs found on the NCI-designated CC websites is summarized in Table 3.



Table . Scope of information about music-based interventions presented on the 31 National Cancer Institute-designated Cancer Center websites.

Characteristics	Cancer Center websites, n (%)
Type of music-based intervention	
Music therapy only	16 (52)
Music services only	9 (29)
Music therapy and music services	6 (19)
Format of music-based intervention	
Individual	2 (6)
Group	4 (13)
Both	20 (65)
Not reported	5 (16)
Method of delivery	
In person	16 (52)
Telehealth	2 (6)
Both	6 (19)
Not reported	7 (23)
Setting	
Inpatient	5 (16)
Outpatient	1 (3)
Both	19 (61)
Not reported	6 (19)
Target population	
Adult	12 (39)
Pediatric	5 (16)
Both	10 (32)
Not reported	4 (13)
Music-based intervention practitioners	
Board-certified music therapists	21 (68)
Other health professional	1 (3)
Musician	4 (13)
Other volunteers	5 (16)
Patient testimonials	
Yes	3 (10)
No	28 (90)
Cost or fee	
Free	2 (6)
Partially funded	3 (10)
No information provided	26 (84)
Scheduling or referral information	
Yes	26 (84)
No	5 (16)

XSL•FO RenderX

Types of MBIs

Sixteen (52%) CCs listed MT services on their websites and did not appear to offer MS by nonmusic therapists. Nine mentioned only MS. Six CCs offered both MT and MS. Twenty-eight (90%) CCs provided information about the specific activities involved with MBIs. We grouped these activities into broad categories, such as listening to prerecorded music, songwriting, and lyric discussion (Table 4). The most frequently offered activities were music improvisation, playing instruments, music-guided relaxation, and songwriting.

Table . Specific music-based intervention activities described on National Cancer Institute-designated Cancer Center websites.

Interventions	Music therapy programs (n=23), n (%)	Music services programs (n=14), n (%)
Listening to prerecorded music	11 (48)	0 (0)
Music-guided relaxation	18 (78)	5 (36)
Singing	14 (61)	1 (7)
Lyric discussion	12 (52)	0 (0)
Music-guided movement	5 (22)	0 (0)
Learning or performing music	6 (26)	0 (0)
Music improvisation or playing instruments	21 (91)	2 (14)
Music making with family	5 (22)	0 (0)
Recording legacy music	6 (26)	0 (0)
Songwriting	18 (78)	0 (0)
None listed	2 (9)	1 (7)
Other ^a	7 (30)	9 (64)

^aIncludes listening to music in public spaces, neurologic music therapy, nonspecified music-based practices, and watching music videos.

Format

Twenty (65%) CCs offered MBIs in both individual and group formats. Two (6%) CCs only offered MBIs in an individual format; four (13%) CCs offered only group sessions. Five (16%) CCs did not report format information.

Method of Delivery

Sixteen (52%) CCs offered MBIs only in person. Six (19%) CCs offered both in-person and remotely offered MBIs. Two (6%) CCs offered MBIs exclusively through remote means. Seven (23%) CCs did not report on the method of delivery.

Setting

Nineteen (61%) CCs offered MBIs to inpatients and outpatients. Five (16%) CCs reported offering MBIs only in the inpatient setting; one (3%) CC reported offering MBIs only in the outpatient setting. Six (19%) CCs did not report this information.

Population

Five (16%) CCs offered MBIs to pediatric patients, 12 (39%) offered MBIs to adult patients, and 10 (32%) offered MBIs to both pediatric and adult patients. Four (13%) CCs did not specify the population.

MBI Practitioner Qualifications or Backgrounds

Twenty-one (68%) CCs had board-certified music therapists on staff. Four (13%) CCs had MBI programs that were staffed with a musician. One (3%) CC reported MBIs were provided by other health professionals. Five (13%) CCs were staffed with volunteers (including medical students). Only one (3%) CC described a relationship with a national organization that trained volunteers to provide MBIs to hospitalized patients [53]. All other centers lacked information about the type of training provided to volunteers delivering MBIs.

Clinical Indications and Treatment Benefits

Table 5 summarizes MBI treatment benefits or clinical indications described on CC websites. Due to the wide range of described benefits and indications, we grouped them into broad categories: physical (eg, symptom management, physical rehabilitation, or procedural support), psychological or emotional (eg, mood or coping, relaxation, quality of life, grief, or medical trauma), spiritual (eg, spirituality), and social (eg, communication, familial or care bond, or sense of community). Only two (6%) CCs offered a summary of research evidence for MBIs.



Treatment benefit or clinical indicationMusic therapy programs (n=23), n (%)Music services programs (n=14), n (%)Physical18 (78)4 (29)Psychological21 (91)11 (79)Spiritual6 (26)2 (14)Social18 (78)5 (36)

Table . Treatment benefits or clinical indications of music-based interventions described on National Cancer Institute-designated Cancer Center websites.

Patient Testimonials

Patient testimonials about treatment benefits were included on three (10%) web pages. We found a single testimonial by a health care provider on one (3%) website and one (3%) by a caregiver on another website. Twelve (39%) CCs provided video examples of patient encounters with MBIs.

Costs

Most of the websites did not include information about costs or fees associated with MBI services. Three (10%) websites stated MBIs were partially funded. Only two (6%) websites specified that MBIs were offered free of cost.

Scheduling and Referrals

Of the 31 CCs that offered MBIs, 26 (84%) provided referral information. MT was available via clinician referral or patient self-referral at 19 (61%) CCs. Eight (26%) websites instructed patients to contact the department responsible for offering MS.

Findability of MBI-Related Information

Of the 31 CCs that offered MBIs, none (0%) had a tab or link on their home page that led directly to information about MBI. Relevant information about MBIs was found with an average of 4 (SD 1) clicks for 29 (94%) websites. Tab searching for MBIs was unsuccessful for two (6%) CCs. The success path for finding information about MBIs through tab searching took many forms but most often started in the "for patients" tab on the home page, then to "support services," "integrative services," or "rehabilitative services" tabs where MBI-related links were often present. Information regarding MBIs was sometimes found in additional tabs such as "child life," "creative arts," "palliative care," or "wellness." Keyword searching using the home page search function led to successful identification of information about MBIs for 28 (90%) CCs. For three (10%) CCs, keyword searching yielded marketing or media stories and event calendars but no further information about the types of MBIs provided or how to access them. Finally, Google searching (entering the name of the CC and the aforementioned keywords) produced MBI-related search results for 29 (94%) CCs. However, Google searching often produced results irrelevant to finding center-specific MBI-related information, such as benefit concerts, news reports, fundraising events for the hospital, or outdated promotional materials.

Quality of MBI-Related Information

Using our quality rating scale (Table 1), we found that 9 (29%) CCs qualified for a high rating, 18 (58%) for a moderate rating, and 4 (13%) for a low rating.

Discussion

Principal Results

People with cancer often experience high symptom burden and are increasingly turning to the internet to find treatment options [37,54]. MBIs have a growing evidence base for cancer symptom management and are currently offered in various oncology settings [19,20,25,26,46,47,55], but there is a paucity of research on what types of MBI-related information are available on the internet. This is the first comprehensive study to examine the scope, findability, and quality of MBI-related information on the public-facing websites of NCI-designated CCs.

At the time of this study, the public-facing websites of 31 of 64 NCI-designated CCs offered information about MBIs at their respective CC. MBIs described on the CC websites varied widely by activities offered, practitioner, format, target population, and settings. These findings highlight the clinical versatility and adaptability of MBIs but also underscore the need for developing strategies and resources to help patients and families navigate the wide range of MBI-related options.

While the evidence base for MBIs continues to grow, additional research is still necessary to better understand the role of MBIs in cancer symptom management. Most websites indicated that MBIs improve outcomes in physical, psychological, spiritual, and social domains. Evidence from recent systematic reviews demonstrate that MBIs improve some physical (eg, pain or fatigue) and psychological (eg, anxiety or quality of life) outcomes listed on the websites [20,55]. However, several listed outcomes related to physical (eg, respiratory outcomes) and psychological (eg, sense of self, bereavement, self-expression, or executive function skills) domains are not yet supported by randomized controlled trials in oncology. Some CC websites also claimed that MBIs can improve outcomes in social (eg, familial bonds) and spiritual domains. These claims, however, are not yet supported by research evidence. Further, only two websites supported their stated treatment benefits with research evidence. As patients attempt to make informed treatment decisions for cancer symptom management, it is important for CCs to present accurate, evidence-informed information about the treatment benefits and clinical indications of MBIs in oncology.

At most centers, MBIs were provided by board-certified music therapists. These centers may additionally have volunteers, musicians, or other nonmusic therapist health care professionals who offered MS to patients such as listening to prerecorded or live music. Offering MS can increase access to MBIs,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53440
```

particularly in settings with limited availability of board-certified music therapists. However, prior research has shown that MS may produce inconsistent benefits relative to MT [19,20]. Furthermore, without proper guidance from a trained therapist, musical engagement can evoke strong emotions and memories that are undesirable or even harmful to people with cancer [19,56]. Public-facing websites often neglected to mention these risks when offering services by nonmusic therapists. Greater emphasis should be placed on educating patients about the distinction between MT and MS, as well as their relative benefits and risks.

The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the adoption of telehealth. However, only eight centers mentioned remotely delivered MBIs as an option on their websites. A growing body of research has documented that people with cancer experience time toxicity, which is conceptualized as the substantial amount of time spent in coordinating medical care, undergoing tests and treatments, and traveling to and from in-person appointments [57-63]. Offering more remotely delivered MBI options and emphasizing online services on CC websites may reduce time toxicity barriers and encourage patients with cancer to seek supportive care in the form of MBIs.

In parallel to increasing adoption of telehealth services, patients and families are more frequently turning to online sources for health-related information. Despite these trends in digitalization, the paucity of direct links to MBI-related information may result in fragmentation of information across multiple pages, increasing frustration for people who search online for MBI information. Furthermore, 22 CCs received a moderate or low rating for quality of MBI-related information, indicating that key pieces of information were lacking on their public-facing websites. For example, four or more websites lacked information on MBI format, delivery method, setting, target population, practitioner qualifications, scheduling, or referrals. Moreover, only three websites included patient testimonials even though testimonials have been shown to affect health behavior change [64-67]. Similarly, only five websites included information on the cost of MBIs despite costs being a well-described factor when considering the use of complementary therapies [68,69].

CCs should continually evaluate their websites for scope, findability, and quality of MBI-related information. Behavioral frameworks, such as the TPB, can help identify the key pieces of information that drive patients' treatment decision-making and their willingness to seek MBIs [70]. We recommend that CCs have a dedicated web page for MBI that is easily findable from the CC home page and includes the following information:

- Brief descriptions of MBIs, what patient participation involves, and specificity regarding whether interventions are offered individually or in group.
- Clinical indications or treatment benefits of MBIs with references to research literature and links to evidence-based resources (eg, American Music Therapy Association or Cochrane Library).
- Target populations, location of services, and method of delivery (in person or remote).

- Details about the qualifications and training of MBI practitioners, particularly those who are not board-certified music therapists.
- Costs of service.
- Instructions for scheduling MBI appointments or referring patients to MBIs.
- Testimonials by patients or health care providers, including example videos of patients engaging in MBIs.

While websites represent a key source of information that may drive treatment-seeking behavior, it is also important to consider other factors (eg, health care providers' knowledge and beliefs) that may influence the use of MBIs. For example, one study found that only 56% of health care providers in oncology settings knew about the role of MT in cancer symptom management and knew how to make referrals to MT [71]. Since most patients with cancer look to their primary oncology team to provide information about complementary or integrative health options [72], future dissemination efforts should focus on targeting health care professionals' knowledge about MBIs and establishing clear pathways for referring patients to MBIs. Fostering more seamless interprofessional collaboration between music therapists and other health care providers may also help to increase knowledge of MBIs and promote greater uptake of MBIs in oncology settings [73].

Limitations

Our study has some limitations. First, the time period of data extraction may not reflect the current website landscape. Next, descriptions on the websites may not be indicative of real-world availability of MBIs at the NCI-designated CCs. Additionally, the search strategy we employed was limited to the websites made publicly available by the CCs. Several CCs were also housed within multiple hospitals. Therefore, we may have missed some descriptions of MBIs. Furthermore, CCs may have not updated their websites with their current MBI offerings. In addition, the generalizability of our findings may be limited because we only searched the websites of NCI-designated CCs, all of which are located in the United States. Finally, a validated scale for rating the quality of MBI-related information found on websites does not exist in the literature, so we adapted a rating scale that other researchers used to evaluate public-facing websites of NCI-designated CCs [41]. While the findings should be interpreted as preliminary, our study could potentially inform future research to develop a rigorous, validated scale for rating health information found on public-facing websites.

Conclusions

Despite these limitations, our study is the first to provide a comprehensive review of MBI-related information on public-facing websites at NCI-designated CCs. NCI-designated CCs are often viewed by patients, families, and community providers as the gold standard for sources of information. In an increasingly digital world, it is critical for NCI-designated CCs to maintain a robust online presence and update their public-facing websites with evidence-informed information about MBIs. As the evidence for MBIs grows, translation of this research into accessible, actionable knowledge is critical to the real-world delivery and use of MBIs. While our study showcases the wide range of MBIs described in various

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53440
```

oncology settings, the findings also highlight that NCI-designated CCs need to provide more detailed information about MBIs on their public-facing websites to promote the dissemination and implementation of this evidence-based option for cancer symptom management [20].

In addition to NCI-designated CC websites, future research should evaluate other key avenues through which information about MBIs is disseminated to the public. Most patients with cancer receive care in community settings [74], so it will be important to research how MBI-related information is presented in community-based clinics, hospitals, and cancer advocacy organizations. Music represents a multicultural resource [35,36], and research on the use of MBIs in cancer care has been conducted in various countries around the world [20]. Future studies should examine how MBIs are presented to the public in this global context. Researchers should also strive to develop culturally attuned approaches to disseminating MBI-related information so that patients with cancer from all cultures and backgrounds could learn about this evidence-based modality.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported in part by the National Institutes of Health's Cancer Center Support Grant (P30-CA008748-53) to Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center and the National Cancer Institute's Mentored Clinical Scientist Research Career Development Award (K08CA266927) to KTL.

Authors' Contributions

CAB, AM, JB, and KTL conceptualized the study. CAB, SB, JB, and KTL handled the methodology. CAB, SB, AM, KS, ML, and KM worked on the data extraction. CAB, SB, AM, KS, and ML carried out the data management. CAB and SB conducted the data analysis. CAB, SB, AM, KM, JB, and KTL wrote the original draft of this paper. KS and ML reviewed and edited the writing. JB and KTL supervised the team.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- National Cancer Institute. 2015 strategic priorities: symptom management & quality of life steering committee (SxQoL SC). National Cancer Institute. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-nci/organization/ccct/steering-committees/</u> 2015-sxqolsc-strategicpriorities [accessed 2024-10-29]
- 2. Greco MT, Roberto A, Corli O, et al. Quality of cancer pain management: an update of a systematic review of undertreatment of patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 2014 Dec 20;32(36):4149-4154. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.56.0383] [Medline: 25403222]
- Erdoğan Yüce G, Döner A, Muz G. Psychological distress and its association with unmet needs and symptom burden in outpatient cancer patients: a cross-sectional study. Semin Oncol Nurs 2021 Oct;37(5):151214. [doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2021.151214] [Medline: 34483014]
- 4. Firkins J, Hansen L, Driessnack M, Dieckmann N. Quality of life in "chronic" cancer survivors: a meta-analysis. J Cancer Surviv 2020 Aug;14(4):504-517. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-020-00869-9] [Medline: 32162194]
- Hershman DL, Shao T, Kushi LH, et al. Early discontinuation and non-adherence to adjuvant hormonal therapy are associated with increased mortality in women with breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2011 Apr;126(2):529-537. [doi: 10.1007/s10549-010-1132-4] [Medline: 20803066]
- 6. Nipp RD, El Jawahri A, Moran SM, et al. The relationship between physical and psychological symptoms and health care utilization in hospitalized patients with advanced cancer. Cancer 2017 Dec;123(23):4720-4727. [doi: 10.1002/cncr.30912]
- Haskins CB, McDowell BD, Carnahan RM, et al. Impact of preexisting mental illness on breast cancer endocrine therapy adherence. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2019 Feb;174(1):197-208. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10549-018-5050-1</u>] [Medline: <u>30465157</u>]
- Davis NE, Hue JJ, Kyasaram RK, et al. Prodromal depression and anxiety are associated with worse treatment compliance and survival among patients with pancreatic cancer. Psychooncology 2022 Aug;31(8):1390-1398. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5945</u>] [Medline: <u>35470512</u>]
- 9. Chim K, Xie SX, Stricker CT, et al. Joint pain severity predicts premature discontinuation of aromatase inhibitors in breast cancer survivors. BMC Cancer 2013 Sep 3;13:401. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-401] [Medline: 24004677]
- Murphy CC, Fullington HM, Alvarez CA, et al. Polypharmacy and patterns of prescription medication use among cancer survivors. Cancer 2018 Jul;124(13):2850-2857. [doi: <u>10.1002/cncr.31389</u>]
- Vyas A, Alghaith G, Hufstader-Gabriel M. Psychotropic polypharmacy and its association with health-related quality of life among cancer survivors in the USA: a population-level analysis. Qual Life Res 2020 Aug;29(8):2029-2037. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-020-02478-6]
- Choi DW, Kang H, Zhang HS, Jhang H, Jeong W, Park S. Association of polypharmacy with all-cause mortality and adverse events among elderly colorectal cancer survivors. Cancer 2023 Sep 1;129(17):2705-2716. [doi: <u>10.1002/cncr.34813</u>] [Medline: <u>37118834</u>]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53440

- Mohamed MR, Mohile SG, Juba KM, et al. Association of polypharmacy and potential drug-drug interactions with adverse treatment outcomes in older adults with advanced cancer. Cancer 2023 Apr 1;129(7):1096-1104. [doi: <u>10.1002/cncr.34642</u>] [Medline: <u>36692475</u>]
- 14. Berger AM, Mooney K, Alvarez-Perez A, et al. Cancer-related fatigue, version 2.2015. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2015 Aug;13(8):1012-1039. [doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2015.0122] [Medline: 26285247]
- Andersen BL, DeRubeis RJ, Berman BS, et al. Screening, assessment, and care of anxiety and depressive symptoms in adults with cancer: an American Society of Clinical Oncology guideline adaptation. J Clin Oncol 2014 May 20;32(15):1605-1619. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.52.4611] [Medline: 24733793]
- 16. Romero SAD, Brown JC, Bauml JM, et al. Barriers to physical activity: a study of academic and community cancer survivors with pain. J Cancer Surviv 2018 Dec;12(6):744-752. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-018-0711-y] [Medline: 30182150]
- Eylem O, de Wit L, van Straten A, et al. Stigma for common mental disorders in racial minorities and majorities a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 2020 Jun 8;20(1):879. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12889-020-08964-3</u>] [Medline: <u>32513215</u>]
- 18. McGuire TG, Miranda J. New evidence regarding racial and ethnic disparities in mental health: policy implications. Health Aff (Millwood) 2008;27(2):393-403. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.27.2.393] [Medline: 18332495]
- Bradt J, Potvin N, Kesslick A, et al. The impact of music therapy versus music medicine on psychological outcomes and pain in cancer patients: a mixed methods study. Support Care Cancer 2015 May;23(5):1261-1271. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-014-2478-7] [Medline: 25322972]
- Bradt J, Dileo C, Myers-Coffman K, Biondo J. Music interventions for improving psychological and physical outcomes in people with cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2021 Oct 12;10(10):CD006911. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD006911.pub4</u>] [Medline: <u>34637527</u>]
- 21. AMTA official definition of music therapy. American Music Therapy Association. 1998. URL: <u>https://www.musictherapy.org/</u> <u>about/musictherapy</u> [accessed 2024-10-29]
- 22. Dileo C. A proposed model for identifying practices: a content analysis of the first 4 years of Music and Medicine. Mus Med 2013 Apr 1;5(2):110-118. [doi: 10.1177/1943862113481064]
- 23. NCCN guidelines: treatment by cancer type. National Comprehensive Cancer Network. 2023. URL: <u>https://www.nccn.org/guidelines/category_1</u> [accessed 2024-10-29]
- 24. Greenlee H, DuPont-Reyes MJ, Balneaves LG, et al. Clinical practice guidelines on the evidence-based use of integrative therapies during and after breast cancer treatment. CA Cancer J Clin 2017 May 6;67(3):194-232. [doi: 10.3322/caac.21397] [Medline: 28436999]
- Carlson LE, Ismaila N, Addington EL, et al. Integrative oncology care of symptoms of anxiety and depression in adults with cancer: Society for Integrative Oncology-ASCO guideline. J Clin Oncol 2023 Oct 1;41(28):4562-4591. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.23.00857] [Medline: <u>37582238</u>]
- Carlson LE, Ismaila N, Addington EL, et al. Integrative oncology care of symptoms of anxiety and depression in adults with cancer: SIO-ASCO guideline summary and Q&A. JCO Oncol Pract 2023 Oct;19(10):847-851. [doi: 10.1200/OP.23.00358] [Medline: <u>37582242</u>]
- 27. Koelsch S. Brain correlates of music-evoked emotions. Nat Rev Neurosci 2014 Mar;15(3):170-180. [doi: 10.1038/nrn3666] [Medline: 24552785]
- 28. Overy K, Molnar-Szakacs I. Being together in time: musical experience and the mirror neuron system. Music Percept 2009 Jun 1;26(5):489-504. [doi: 10.1525/mp.2009.26.5.489]
- 29. Finn S, Fancourt D. The biological impact of listening to music in clinical and nonclinical settings: a systematic review. Prog Brain Res 2018;237:173-200. [doi: 10.1016/bs.pbr.2018.03.007] [Medline: 29779734]
- 30. Chanda ML, Levitin DJ. The neurochemistry of music. Trends Cogn Sci 2013 Apr;17(4):179-193. [doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.02.007] [Medline: 23541122]
- McPherson T, Berger D, Alagapan S, Fröhlich F. Active and passive rhythmic music therapy interventions differentially modulate sympathetic autonomic nervous system activity. J Music Ther 2019 Aug 13;56(3):240-264. [doi: <u>10.1093/jmt/thz007</u>] [Medline: <u>31175814</u>]
- Mas-Herrero E, Dagher A, Farrés-Franch M, Zatorre RJ. Unraveling the temporal dynamics of reward signals in music-induced pleasure with TMS. J Neurosci 2021 Apr 28;41(17):3889-3899. [doi: <u>10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0727-20.2020</u>] [Medline: <u>33782048</u>]
- Menon V, Levitin DJ. The rewards of music listening: response and physiological connectivity of the mesolimbic system. Neuroimage 2005 Oct 15;28(1):175-184. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.05.053</u>] [Medline: <u>16023376</u>]
- 34. Zatorre RJ, Salimpoor VN. From perception to pleasure: music and its neural substrates. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013 Jun 18;110 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):10430-10437. [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1301228110] [Medline: 23754373]
- 35. Mehr SA, Singh M, Knox D, et al. Universality and diversity in human song. Science 2019 Nov 22;366(6468):eaax0868. [doi: 10.1126/science.aax0868] [Medline: 31753969]
- Savage PE, Brown S, Sakai E, Currie TE. Statistical universals reveal the structures and functions of human music. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015 Jul 21;112(29):8987-8992. [doi: <u>10.1073/pnas.1414495112</u>] [Medline: <u>26124105</u>]

- Finney Rutten LJ, Blake KD, Greenberg-Worisek AJ, Allen SV, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Online health information seeking among US adults: measuring progress toward a Healthy People 2020 objective. Pub Health Rep 2019;134(6):617-625. [doi: 10.1177/0033354919874074] [Medline: 31513756]
- 38. van Eenbergen M, Vromans RD, Boll D, et al. Changes in internet use and wishes of cancer survivors: a comparison between 2005 and 2017. Cancer 2020 Jan 15;126(2):408-415. [doi: <u>10.1002/cncr.32524</u>] [Medline: <u>31580497</u>]
- Vlooswijk C, Husson O, Krahmer EJ, et al. Differences in internet use and eHealth needs of adolescent and young adult versus older cancer patients; results from the PROFILES Registry. Cancers (Basel) 2021 Dec 16;13(24):6308. [doi: 10.3390/cancers13246308] [Medline: <u>34944928</u>]
- 40. Rolland B, Eschler J. Searching for survivor-specific services at NCI-designated comprehensive cancer centers: a qualitative assessment. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2018 Jul;16(7):839-844. [doi: <u>10.6004/jnccn.2018.7019</u>] [Medline: <u>30006426</u>]
- 41. Silver JK, Raj VS, Fu JB, et al. Most national cancer institute-designated cancer center websites do not provide survivors with information about cancer rehabilitation services. J Canc Educ 2018 Oct;33(5):947-953. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-016-1157-4]
- 42. Wechsler S, Ma M, El-Jawahri A, et al. Employment-related education and support for cancer survivors: a content analysis of employment resources offered on National Cancer Institute-designated cancer center websites. J Canc Educ 2024 Apr;39(2):139-146. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-023-02386-6]
- 43. Geissler KH, Evans V, Cooper MI, Shaw SJ, Yarrington C, Attanasio LB. Content analysis of patient-facing information related to preeclampsia. Womens Health Issues 2023;33(1):77-86. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.whi.2022.09.003</u>] [Medline: <u>36328927</u>]
- 44. Huxley K. Content analysis, quantitative. In: Atkinson P, Delamont S, Cernat A, Sakshaug JW, Williams RA, editors. SAGE Research Methods Foundations: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2020. [doi: <u>10.4135/9781526421036</u>]
- 45. Find a cancer center. National Cancer Institute. 2023. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/research/infrastructure/cancer-centers/</u><u>find</u> [accessed 2024-10-29]
- Desai K, Liou K, Liang K, Seluzicki C, Mao JJ. Availability of integrative medicine therapies at National Cancer Institute-designated comprehensive cancer centers and community hospitals. J Altern Complement Med 2021 Nov;27(11):1011-1013. [doi: <u>10.1089/acm.2021.0102</u>] [Medline: <u>34339283</u>]
- Yun H, Sun L, Mao JJ. Growth of integrative medicine at leading cancer centers between 2009 and 2016: a systematic analysis of NCI-designated comprehensive cancer center websites. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2017 Nov 1;2017(52):lgx004. [doi: <u>10.1093/jncimonographs/lgx004</u>] [Medline: <u>29140485</u>]
- 48. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behaviour: reactions and reflections. Psychol Health 2011 Sep;26(9):1113-1127. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2011.613995] [Medline: 21929476]
- 49. Hirai K, Komura K, Tokoro A, et al. Psychological and behavioral mechanisms influencing the use of complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) in cancer patients. Ann Oncol 2008 Jan;19(1):49-55. [doi: <u>10.1093/annonc/mdm494</u>] [Medline: <u>17965113</u>]
- Bauml JM, Chokshi S, Schapira MM, et al. Do attitudes and beliefs regarding complementary and alternative medicine impact its use among patients with cancer? A cross-sectional survey. Cancer 2015 Jul 15;121(14):2431-2438. [doi: 10.1002/cncr.29173] [Medline: 26011157]
- 51. Perez SL, Kravitz RL, Bell RA, Chan MS, Paterniti DA. Characterizing internet health information seeking strategies by socioeconomic status: a mixed methods approach. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016 Dec;16(1). [doi: 10.1186/s12911-016-0344-x]
- Perez SL, Paterniti DA, Wilson M, et al. Characterizing the processes for navigating internet health information using real-time observations: a mixed-methods approach. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jul 20;17(7):e173. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.3945</u>] [Medline: <u>26194787</u>]
- 53. Music for Healing & Transition Program. 2023. URL: <u>https://www.mhtp.org</u> [accessed 2024-10-29]
- 54. George GC, Iwuanyanwu EC, Buford AS, et al. Cancer-related internet use and its association with patient decision making and trust in physicians among patients in an early drug development clinic: a questionnaire-based cross-sectional observational study. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 14;21(3):e10348. [doi: 10.2196/10348] [Medline: 30869638]
- 55. Li Y, Xing X, Shi X, et al. The effectiveness of music therapy for patients with cancer: a systematic review and meta analysis. J Adv Nurs 2020 May;76(5):1111-1123. [doi: 10.1111/jan.14313] [Medline: 32017183]
- 56. Murakami B. The music therapy and harm model (MTHM). Conceptualizing harm within music therapy practice. Rev Cient Musicoter Discip Afines 2021;6(1):e003. [doi: 10.24215/27186199e003]
- 57. Gupta A, Eisenhauer EA, Booth CM. The time toxicity of cancer treatment. J Clin Oncol 2022 May 20;40(15):1611-1615. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.21.02810</u>] [Medline: <u>35235366</u>]
- 58. Cheng AC, Levy MA. Measures of treatment workload for patients with breast cancer. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2019 Feb;3:1-10. [doi: 10.1200/CCI.18.00122] [Medline: 30715929]
- 59. Yabroff KR, Davis WW, Lamont EB, et al. Patient time costs associated with cancer care. J Natl Cancer Inst 2007 Jan 3;99(1):14-23. [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djk001] [Medline: 17202109]
- 60. Yabroff KR, Guy GP Jr, Ekwueme DU, et al. Annual patient time costs associated with medical care among cancer survivors in the United States. Med Care 2014 Jul;52(7):594-601. [doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000151] [Medline: 24926706]

- Yabroff KR, Mariotto A, Tangka F, et al. Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, part 2: patient economic burden associated with cancer care. J Natl Cancer Inst 2021 Nov 29;113(12):1670-1682. [doi: <u>10.1093/jnci/djab192</u>] [Medline: <u>34698839</u>]
- 62. Rocque GB, Williams CP, Miller HD, et al. Impact of travel time on health care costs and resource use by phase of care for older patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 2019 Aug 1;37(22):1935-1945. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.00175] [Medline: 31184952]
- 63. Rocque GB, Williams CP, Ingram SA, et al. Health care-related time costs in patients with metastatic breast cancer. Cancer Med 2020 Nov;9(22):8423-8431. [doi: <u>10.1002/cam4.3461</u>] [Medline: <u>32955793</u>]
- 64. Dillard AJ, Main JL. Using a health message with a testimonial to motivate colon cancer screening: associations with perceived identification and vividness. Health Educ Behav 2013 Dec;40(6):673-682. [doi: 10.1177/1090198112473111] [Medline: 23355445]
- Dillard AJ, Ferrer RA, Welch JD. Associations between narrative transportation, risk perception and behaviour intentions following narrative messages about skin cancer. Psychol Health 2018 May;33(5):573-593. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2017.1380811] [Medline: 28975805]
- 66. Shaffer VA, Brodney S, Gavaruzzi T, et al. Do personal stories make patient decision aids more effective? An update from the international patient decision aids standards. Med Decis Making 2021 Oct;41(7):897-906. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X211011100] [Medline: 34027739]
- 67. Woudstra AJ, Suurmond J. How narratives influence colorectal cancer screening decision making and uptake: a realist review. Health Expect 2019 Jun;22(3):327-337. [doi: 10.1111/hex.12892] [Medline: 31025444]
- 68. Khan HM, Ramsey S, Shankaran V. Financial toxicity in cancer care: implications for clinical care and potential practice solutions. J Clin Oncol 2023 Jun 1;41(16):3051-3058. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.22.01799</u>] [Medline: <u>37071839</u>]
- 69. Smith GL, Banegas MP, Acquati C, et al. Navigating financial toxicity in patients with cancer: a multidisciplinary management approach. CA Cancer J Clin 2022 Sep;72(5):437-453. [doi: 10.3322/caac.21730] [Medline: 35584404]
- 70. Jia X, Pang Y, Liu LS. Online health information seeking behavior: a systematic review. Healthcare (Basel) 2021;9(12):1740. [doi: 10.3390/healthcare9121740]
- Esplen MJ, Foster B, Pearson S, et al. A survey of oncology healthcare professionals' knowledge and attitudes toward the use of music as a therapeutic tool in healthcare. Supp Care Cancer 2020 Jan;28(1):381-388. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-019-04812-2] [Medline: 31053972]
- Bari S, Chineke I, Darwin A, et al. Awareness, use and outlook of complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) options in an underserved, uninsured minority cancer patient population. Integr Cancer Ther 2021;20:15347354211051622. [doi: 10.1177/15347354211051622] [Medline: <u>34923869</u>]
- 73. Lacson C. Interprofessional collaboration between pediatric music therapists and multidisciplinary team members in hospitals: an explanatory sequential mixed methods study. Dissertation.: Drexel University; 2022. [doi: 10.17918/00001329]
- 74. Hughes-Halbert C. Bringing research to the community to reduce cancer disparaties. National Cancer Institute. 2017. URL: https://www.cancer.gov/research/areas/disparities/chanita-hughes-halbert-clinical-trials-community-access [accessed 2024-10-29]

Abbreviations

CC: Cancer Center CCC: Comprehensive Cancer Center MBI: music-based intervention MS: music services MT: music therapy NCI: National Cancer Institute TPB: Theory of Planned Behavior

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 07.10.23; peer-reviewed by E Addington, LI Huiyuan; revised version received 16.09.24; accepted 30.09.24; published 22.11.24.

Please cite as:

Blank CA, Biedka S, Montalmant A, Saft K, Lape M, Mao K, Bradt J, Liou KT Scope, Findability, and Quality of Information About Music-Based Interventions in Oncology: Quantitative Content Analysis of Public-Facing Websites at National Cancer Institute–Designated Cancer Centers JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53440 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53440 doi:10.2196/53440



© Carol Ann Blank, Sarah Biedka, Abigail Montalmant, Katelyn Saft, Miranda Lape, Kate Mao, Joke Bradt, Kevin T Liou. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 22.11.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Exploring Racial Disparities in Awareness and Perceptions of Oncology Clinical Trials: Cross-Sectional Analysis of Baseline Data From the mychoice Study

Ariel Hoadley¹, MPH, PhD; Linda Fleisher², MPH, PhD; Cassidy Kenny², MBA; Patrick JA Kelly¹, MPH; Xinrui Ma³, MPH; Jingwei Wu³, MS, PhD; Carmen Guerra⁴, MD; Amy E Leader⁵, MPH, DrPH; Mohammed Alhajji¹, MPH, PhD; Paul D'Avanzo¹, MS, PhD; Zoe Landau², MPH; Sarah Bauerle Bass¹, MPH, PhD

¹Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Temple University College of Public Health, Philadelphia, PA, United States

²Cancer Prevention and Control, Fox Chase Cancer Center, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁵Division of Population Science, Department of Medical Oncology, Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Ariel Hoadley, MPH, PhD Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences Temple University College of Public Health 9th Fl 1301 Cecil B Moore Ave Philadelphia, PA, 19122 United States Phone: 1 215 204 0377 Email: ariel.hoadley@temple.edu

Abstract

Background: Black/African American adults are underrepresented in oncology clinical trials in the United States, despite efforts at narrowing this disparity.

Objective: This study aims to explore differences in how Black/African American oncology patients perceive clinical trials to improve support for the clinical trial participation decision-making process.

Methods: As part of a larger randomized controlled trial, a total of 244 adult oncology patients receiving active treatment or follow-up care completed a cross-sectional baseline survey on sociodemographic characteristics, clinical trial knowledge, health literacy, perceptions of cancer clinical trials, patient activation, patient advocacy, health care self-efficacy, decisional conflict, and clinical trial intentions. Self-reported race was dichotomized into Black/African American and non–Black/African American. As appropriate, 2-tailed *t* tests and chi-square tests of independence were used to examine differences between groups.

Results: Black/African American participants had lower clinical trial knowledge (P=.006), lower health literacy (P<.001), and more medical mistrust (all P values <.05) than non–Black/African American participants. While intentions to participate in a clinical trial, if offered, did not vary between Black/African American and non–Black/African American participants, Black/African American participants indicated lower awareness of clinical trials, fewer benefits of clinical trials, and more uncertainty around clinical trial decision-making (all P values <.05). There were no differences for other variables.

Conclusions: Despite no significant differences in intent to participate in a clinical trial if offered and high overall trust in individual health care providers among both groups, beliefs persist about barriers to and benefits of clinical trial participation among Black/African American patients. Findings highlight specific ways that education and resources about clinical trials could be tailored to better suit the informational and decision-making needs and preferences of Black/African American oncology patients.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e56048) doi:10.2196/56048



³Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Temple University College of Public Health, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁴Abramson Cancer Center, University of Pennsylvania Medical Center, Philadelphia, PA, United States

KEYWORDS

oncology clinical trial; cancer; decision-making; racial disparity; medical mistrust

Introduction

Background

The underrepresentation of racial and ethnic minoritized populations in cancer clinical trials is well-established [1-4], particularly among Black/African American adults [5-10]. Despite federal initiatives and policies aimed at increasing cancer clinical trial enrollment and participation rates of underrepresented groups, rates have not improved among people from racial and ethnic minoritized groups, and in some cases, the rates have even declined [11]. Attributable to factors across multiple levels of influence [12], the underrepresentation of Black/African American adults in cancer clinical trials means that drugs and interventions are developed, tested, and disseminated to populations not reflective of the broader US cancer population, perpetuating health inequities [13].

For example, 1 study found that Black/African American adults comprised only 7.4% of all participants in US Food and Drug Administration clinical trials that led to new, approved cancer drugs from 2014 to 2018 [8]. The participation-to-prevalence ratio reflects the representation of Black/African American adults in the clinical trial population relative to the general cancer population, where a ratio of 1 means there is identical or equal representation between groups. Across cancer types, the estimated participation-to-prevalence ratio for Black/African American US adults was 0.31, indicating significant underrepresentation in clinical trials that result in Food and Drug Administration approvals for cancer drugs [8]. Importantly, Black/African American adults are also less likely to participate in trials of novel treatments and technologies, such as precision oncology [4,14]. These disproportionately low rates of clinical trial participation among racial and ethnic minorities result in limited understanding by medical professionals and the greater research community of how well new diagnostic technology, treatment options, and supportive care services are working for racial and ethnic minorities in comparison to the predominantly White clinical trial participant population [15,16].

In addition to underrepresentation in cancer clinical trials, inequities in cancer care and survival rates persist [17-19]. Greater inclusion of Black/African American patients in cancer clinical trials is, therefore, essential to design and test interventions to address inequities in cancer care among Black/African American patients. For example, non-Hispanic Black/African American patients have significantly greater cancer diagnosis delay [17], treatment delay [17], and likelihood of diagnosis at an advanced cancer stage [18] compared with non-Hispanic White patients. Even after accounting for cancer stage, cancer type, and other relevant covariates, Black/African American patients still have significantly lower survival rates than White patients [19].

Prior studies have found that non-Hispanic, Black/African American patients have less awareness of cancer clinical trials and hold specific attitudes and beliefs about trial participation relative to non-Hispanic, White patients [20,21]. For example,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56048
```

in a qualitative study of Black/African American cancer survivors who received cancer treatment at a safety-net hospital, the primary clinical trial participation barriers were (1) limited knowledge and understanding of cancer clinical trials and (2) medical mistrust, fears, and other negative perceptions of cancer clinical trials. Participants also described wanting a peer (cancer survivor of a concordant race or ethnicity group) patient navigator who was well-versed in clinical trials knowledge and who could provide other forms of social support (eg, social or emotional, faith-based or spiritual, and instrumental support) [22]. These results were consistent with other studies emphasizing the roles of knowledge or awareness, medical mistrust, and social support in clinical trial enrollment; study participation; and retention over time [23-25].

Other specific attitudes held by Black/African American patients with cancer more than White patients include lower perceived cancer susceptibility and greater doubt about the usefulness and feasibility of translating cancer clinical trial results into clinical practice [23]. Other patient-level factors associated with less knowledge and awareness of cancer clinical trials include living in a rural area [26], living farther away from universities or large hospital networks [27], older age [28], limited English language proficiency [29], lower educational attainment [21], and less annual household income [21]. Conversely, greater cancer clinical trial knowledge and the likelihood of trial participation are associated with a prior cancer diagnosis [30], having a routine source of health care (ie, primary care access) [31], and higher educational attainment [30]. Trial populations' clinical knowledge and awareness are essential constructs for researchers to be aware of because the quality of communication between clinical trial staff and prospective trial participants is, in part, dependent upon patients' clinical trial knowledge and confidence [32].

Negative attitudes toward cancer clinical trials, particularly having greater concerns, are associated with cancer fatalism [33]. Other concerns cited by Black/African American patients with cancer associated with decreased cancer clinical trial intentions are greater fear of the unknown [33], fear of death [33], prior negative health care or clinical trial experiences [22,34,35], fear of receiving an inferior treatment or placebo [22], lower health literacy [36,37], anticipated discrimination [33], and medical mistrust [33,38]. Structural racism, historical injustices, and unethical research practices have disproportionately affected Black/African American people and have perpetuated concerns of anticipated mistreatment by research personnel and broader medical mistrust [39-41]. However, levels of cancer-related knowledge and specific attitudes toward cancer clinical trials are associated with cancer clinical trial participation rates among Black/African American patients with cancer. For example, a qualitative study among Black men found that perceptions of greater research integrity and transparency were positively associated with willingness to participate in prostate cancer surveillance screening and clinical trials [38]. Other factors positively associated with willingness to participate in cancer research were having a

XSL•FO RenderX

At the interpersonal level, Black/African American patients with cancer have differential access to cancer clinical trial information attributable to provider biases and patient-provider communication quality. For example, clinical trials are often initially discussed with patients by their health care providers, but provider bias, including racism and discrimination, results in less information sharing and discussion about cancer screenings, clinical trials, and cancer treatment options for Black/African American patients than for White patients [42]. At the clinic level, limited hiring of providers with language fluency beyond English reduces clinic access and decreases the feasibility of within-session information sharing about clinical trials for patients and families with limited English language proficiency [43]. Importantly, many Black/African American patients report not being offered a trial during their cancer care [44-46], despite overall positive perceptions of clinical trials, further exacerbating the inequity [47].

Finally, it should be noted that individual-level awareness of clinical trials is only minimally helpful as an interventional target when structural and systemic factors more strongly drive participation rates. For example, studies have repeatedly demonstrated that some of the greatest barriers to clinical trial enrollment are inequitable clinical trial referrals and enrollment practices [48] and stringent trial eligibility criteria [49-52]. Recent programs and initiatives implemented to increase awareness of cancer clinical trials among Black/African American patients have recognized that awareness must be addressed at multiple levels of influence to advance health equity. For example, a June 2022 article published by the American Society of Clinical Oncology suggests that clinics and health care facilities use 1 of 2 standardized clinic self-assessment tools to review their enrollment practices and patient-, provider-, and system-level barriers to clinical trial enrollment [52-56].

This study is a cross-sectional analysis of the baseline data from a parent randomized controlled trial (RCT) designed to evaluate the impact of a multicultural, clinical trial preparatory digital health tool (mychoice) or standard National Cancer Institute information for patients with cancer. mychoice was conceptualized and developed by a team of investigators at Fox Chase Cancer Center and the Temple University College of Public Health through extensive formative research with Black/African American patients, expertise in health disparities and clinical trial participation, commercial marketing techniques (perceptual mapping and vector message modeling), and best practices in digital health and patient engagement [47,57]. Although founded on clinical trial participation barriers significant to underrepresented patients, the tool is designed to be appropriate for all patients with cancer and to represent diverse patient perspectives.

Objectives

XSL•FC

A diverse sample of patients enrolled in the parent RCT completed a baseline survey before viewing the decision-making tool, providing an opportunity to explore racial disparities in a

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56048
```

variety of factors previously linked to clinical trial participation rates and the clinical trial participation decision-making process. On the basis of the conducted formative work with Black/African American patients to inform the digital health tool used in the parent RCT, this study sought to confirm whether factors identified in the formative work were, in fact, salient to Black/African American patients with cancer relative to non-Black/African American patients with cancer at baseline. Findings will help explain Black/African American versus non-Black/African American participant responses to the culturally tailored, clinical trial decision-making tool and also help identify factors that could help further refine the decision-making tool. In addition, findings can be used to tailor and prioritize topics in provider education and training to better support the needs of Black/African American patients with cancer in cancer clinical trial decision-making.

Methods

Participants

The analytical sample at baseline included patients with cancer from 4 leading cancer centers in Philadelphia (Fox Chase Cancer Center, Temple University Hospital, University Pennsylvania's Abramson Cancer Center, and Thomas Jefferson University's Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center) who consented to participate in the parent RCT (NCT03427177) and completed the baseline survey. Moreover, 3 of the 4 recruitment sites are National Cancer Institute-designated cancer centers. Eligible patients were actively being treated for cancer or in follow-up care (ie, within 6 months of definitive treatment), aged ≥ 18 years, able to speak and read English, and had not participated in a therapeutic clinical trial. The parent RCT had been planned to enroll 270 participants. In total, 257 participants consented and 249 (96.9%) completed the baseline survey. Patients of all racial and ethnic groups were eligible for the RCT, but only 244 (98%) of the 249 completed baselines reported valid or nonmissing data for their race and were analyzed in this study.

Instruments

Overview

The survey was developed using both validated instruments and study-related measures from formative work, including both qualitative interviews and surveys with Black/African American patients with cancer [47,57-59]. Variables included in the present analyses were sociodemographic characteristics (ie, age, race, ethnicity, gender, income, educational attainment, insurance type, and cohabitation status), dichotomized race group (Black/African American vs non–Black/African American), clinical characteristics (ie, cancer stage and treatment status), general clinical trial knowledge, health literacy, cancer clinical trial perceptions (awareness, benefits, concerns, and cancer and health care experiences beliefs about health care providers and health), patient activation in cancer care, patient self-advocacy, self-efficacy in health care interactions, decisional conflict, and clinical trial intentions.

General Knowledge of Clinical Trials

General knowledge of clinical trials was assessed using 16 revised items from Knowledge of Clinical Trials scale by

Campbell et al [60]. Response options were "true" or "false" and were scored for accuracy. Scores were generated using the percentage of questions answered correctly, ranging from 0% to 100%.

Health Literacy

Health literacy was assessed with a single item from the Single Item Literacy Screener, which specifically identifies adults who may need assistance reading and understanding health materials [61]. The item says, "How often do you need to have someone help you when you read instructions, pamphlets, or other written material from your doctor or pharmacy?" Response options were rated on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from a score of "1" reflecting "never" to "5" reflecting "always." On the basis of psychometric testing, scores >"2" reflect people with limited health literacy in reading and comprehending written health information [61].

Cancer Clinical Trial Perceptions

Perceptions of cancer clinical trials were evaluated using 48 items developed by the primary investigators through formative work, reflecting domains of (1) awareness, (2) benefits, (3) concerns, (4) cancer and health care experiences, and (5) beliefs about health care providers and health [47,57-59]. Response options were rated on an 11-point Likert scale ranging from 0 to 10 where "0" indicated strong disagreement and "10" indicated strong agreement. Item-level analyses were conducted in this study.

Patient Activation in Cancer Care

Patient activation for cancer care decision-making was measured with 10-item Decisional Engagement Scale [62]. This instrument was developed specifically to understand patients' level of involvement in their cancer care and engagement with active decision-making processes around treatment and care options [62]. Response options were rated on an 11-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 to 10 where "0" meant "doesn't describe you at all" and "10" meant "perfectly describes you." In psychometric evaluation, the 10-item Decisional Engagement Scale has demonstrated strong factor structure, reliability, and concurrent validity with health-related quality of life, shared decision-making preferences, and clarity about cancer care preferences [62].

Patient Self-Advocacy

Patient self-advocacy was measured with 12-item Patient Self-Advocacy Scale [63]. Response options were rated on an 11-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 to 10. In addition, 1 item ("I don't get what I need from my physician because I am not assertive enough") was reverse coded before calculating an average summary score. The scale has demonstrated good internal consistency, construct validity, and criterion validity [63].

Health Care Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy to engage with health care providers was measured with 10-item Perceived Self-Efficacy in Patient-Physical Interactions scale [64]. Items asked about confidence to do specific health care–related tasks, such as confidence to get a physician to listen to them, confidence in ability to know what

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56048

questions to ask a physician, and confidence in ability to get a physician to take their health concerns seriously. Response options ranged from 1 to 5, where "1" indicated least confidence and "5" indicated most confidence [64].

Decisional Conflict

Decisional conflict about clinical trial participation was measured with 13-item Decisional Conflict scale proposed by O'Connor [65]. Response options were rated on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 to 4 where "0" reflected "strongly agree" and "4" reflected "strongly disagree." Scoring of 4 subscales (uncertainty, informed, value clarity, and decision support) was done by summing the items within the subscale, dividing by the number of items within that subscale, and multiplying by 25. This resulted in a score ranging from 0 to 100. A total score for all items was also calculated by summing all items, dividing by 13, and multiplying by 25. This, too, led to a total score ranging from 0 to 100. In psychometric testing, the scale had good discriminant validity between those who choose versus those who do not choose to engage in a health behavior. Other psychometric properties were determined to be acceptable [65].

Clinical Trial Participation Intentions

Intentions to participate in a cancer clinical trial were assessed with a single, modified item from the Choice Predisposition Scale proposed by O'Connor [66]. The item read, "We would like to know what your opinion is about your cancer treatment options at present. When your doctor asks you to make a choice about treatment methods, please indicate how strongly you agree or disagree that you would choose to participate in a clinical trial, if offered." Response options ranged from 0 to 10, where "0" indicated strongly disagree," a "5" meant "neither agree nor disagree," and "10" indicated "strongly agree." This scale has good psychometric properties, such as high test-retest validity, good construct validity, high sensitivity to change, and discriminant validity [66].

Procedures

Prospective participants were screened for eligibility (aged ≥ 18 years, cancer diagnosis, receiving current or follow-up care, English speaking, and had not previously participated in a clinical trial). Participants provided verbal informed consent either in person or over the phone. Consent was verified via an e-consent using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University), a web-based application developed to capture data for research [67,68]. Consented patients were randomized to intervention conditions via REDCap and completed a baseline survey prior to viewing any intervention content. The baseline survey assessments were web-based and were conducted through REDCap. Patients could either complete the study at the hospital using a study iPad (Apple Inc) or at home on their own devices. The baseline survey took approximately 45 minutes.

Statistical Analysis

Univariate statistics using means, SDs, and percentages are presented to characterize the participant sample. Differences in sociodemographic and clinical characteristics between dichotomous race groups (ie, Black/African American and non–Black/African American patients) were evaluated using

chi-square tests of independence and independent sample 2-tailed *t* tests, as appropriate. Independent sample *t* tests were also used to examine for differences between Black/African American and non–Black/African American patients' clinical trial knowledge, attitudes toward cancer clinical trials, and intentions to participate in a clinical trial. While some variables (eg, health literacy and self-efficacy in health care interactions) were highly skewed, *t* tests were still used as opposed to nonparametric testing because *t* tests are robust to skewed distributions when the sample size is >200 [69]. Homogeneity of variances between groups was evaluated for each item before running independent samples *t* tests, and the appropriate *t* test assumptions were applied accordingly. All data analyses were conducted in StataSE (version 17.0; StataCorp).

Ethical Considerations

The study protocol was approved by the Fox Chase Cancer Center's institutional review board (#17-8013). All procedures involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional or national research committee and with the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. All participants provided verbal informed consent. Verification of consent with e-consent and all other study data were collected in REDCap, a secure web-based application developed to collect and store research data [67,68]. To protect participants' privacy, the data were coded before analysis using unique participant study identifiers and no direct identifiers were in the analytic data set. Participants were compensated US \$25 for completing the baseline survey, educational intervention, and the posttest survey. However, this paper describes results from the baseline survey data only.

Results

Overview

Table 1 compares sociodemographic and clinical characteristics by dichotomous race group. Tables 2-4 show results of all remaining independent sample *t* tests for differences in average general clinical trials knowledge, health literacy, perceptions of cancer clinical trials, patient activation, patient advocacy, health care self-efficacy, decisional conflict, and clinical trial intentions by race group.

Table 1.	Sociodemographic an	l clinical characteristics	of study participants	by race at baseline (N=244)
----------	---------------------	----------------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------------

Characteristics	Total ^a (N=244)	Non–Black/African American (n=149)	Black/African American (n=95)	Chi-square (df) or t test (df)	P value
Gender, n (%)				7.465 (1)	.006
Female	154 (63.1)	84 (56.4)	70 (73.7)		
Male	90 (36.9)	65 (43.6)	25 (26.3)		
Age (y), mean (SD)	60.89 (10.24)	61.62 (11.13)	59.28 (10.24)	1.866 (242)	.06
Educational attainment, n (%)				59.509 (2)	<.001
Less than high school	29 (11.9)	8 (5.4)	21 (22.1)		
High school or GED ^b	74 (30.3)	26 (17.4)	48 (50.5)		
Some college or more	141 (57.8)	115 (77.2)	26 (27.4)		
Insurance type, n (%)				17.379 (1)	<.001
Private	92 (38.3)	72 (48.7)	20 (21.7)		
Medicare or Medicaid	148 (61.7)	76 (51.3)	72 (78.3)		
Race, n (%)				c	_
American Indian or Alaskan Native	1 (0.4)	1 (0.7)	0 (0)		
Asian	2 (0.8)	2 (1.3)	0 (0)		
Black/African American	95 (38.9)	0 (0)	95 (100)		
White	136 (55.7)	136 (91.3)	0 (0)		
More than 1 race	10 (4.1)	10 (6.7)	0 (0)		
Ethnicity, n (%)				2.775 (1)	.09 ^d
Hispanic/Latino	10 (4.7)	9 (6.5)	1 (1.4)		
Non-Hispanic/Latino	202 (95.3)	130 (93.5)	72 (98.6)		
Annual household income (US \$), n (%))			78.660 (2)	<.001
<15,000	60 (26.7)	13 (9.5)	47 (53.4)		
15,000-50,000	66 (29.3)	34 (24.8)	32 (36.4)		
>50,000	99 (44)	90 (65.7)	9 (10.2)		
Cohabitation status, n (%)				2.697 (1)	.10
No	55 (22.9)	28 (19.3)	27 (28.4)		
Yes (lives with >1 people)	185 (77.1)	117 (80.7)	68 (71.6)		
Cancer stage, n (%)				0.020 (1)	.89
Early	108 (56)	65 (55.6)	43 (56.6)		
Late	85 (44)	52 (44.4)	33 (43.4)		
Treatment status ^e , n (%)				8.993 (1)	.003
Receiving treatment	165 (73)	88 (65.7)	77 (83.7)		
Receiving follow-up care	61 (27)	46 (34.3)	15 (16.3)		

^aPercentages are rounded and, therefore, may not add up to 100%. Missing or invalid data were excluded from this table for insurance type (n=4), ethnicity (n=32), income (n=19), cohabitation status (n=4), cancer stage (n=51), and treatment status (n=18).

^bGED: General Educational Development.

^cNot applicable. This was because the table is split by binary race, so examining race by race is nonsensical.

 d Fisher exact test was used when one or more of the expected cell counts was <5.

^eReceiving treatment includes treatment types, such as chemotherapy, radiation, surgery, and any other types of cancer treatment. Follow-up care includes posttreatment care within 6 months of the last receipt of treatment.

XSL•FO **RenderX**

Hoadley et al

 Table 2.
 Baseline knowledge, health literacy, awareness of clinical trials for Black/African American versus non–Black/African American oncology patients (N=244).

	Non–Black/Afric tients (n=149)	an American pa-	Black/African An (n=95)	nerican patients	t test (df)	P value
	Mean (SD)	95% CI	Mean (SD)	95% CI		
General clinical trial knowledge ^a	80.70 (14.73)	78.32-83.09	75.59 (12.86)	72.97-78.21	2.775 (242)	.006
Health literacy ^{b,c}	1.47 (0.72)	1.35-1.58	2.06 (1.11)	1.84-2.29	-4.650 (145.36)	<.001
Awareness of clinical trials ^d						
I had heard about clinical trials befor I was diagnosed.	7.61 (3.33)	7.06-8.15	5.19 (3.96)	4.39-6.01	5.075 (238)	<.001
I know where to get information about clinical trials.	5.30 (3.59)	4.71-5.89	4.44 (3.70)	3.68-5.19	1.801 (237)	.07
I know someone who has been part of a clinical trial who I can talk to about whether I should participate or not.	3.42 (3.69)	2.81-4.02	2.78 (3.53)	2.05-3.50	1.335 (238)	.18
I understand what clinical trials are and how they work.	4.41 (3.68)	3.80-5.02	4.31 (3.83)	3.52-5.09	0.204 (236)	.84
I do not have enough information about clinical trials to make a deci- sion.	5.93 (3.55)	5.35-6.51	4.55 (3.63)	3.80-5.29	2.920 (238)	.004
My doctor gave me enough informa- tion to make a decision about being part of a clinical trial.	3.68 (3.70)	3.06-4.29	3.76 (3.60)	3.02-4.51	-0.179 (233)	.86
Being part of a clinical trial means I get all or part of my medical care and medication for free ^d .	4.99 (3.38)	4.44-5.55	4.65 (4.15)	3.79-5.50	0.677 (167.75)	.50

^aClinical trials knowledge was a percentage ranging from 0 to 100.

^bHealth literacy ranged from 0 to 4, where higher values reflected lower health literacy.

^cVariances were not equal between groups, so an independent sample *t* test with unequal variances was used.

^dResponse options for awareness items ranged from 0 to 10, where 0 indicated strong disagreement and 10 indicated strong agreement.



Hoadley et al

 $\label{eq:stable} \textbf{Table 3.} Baseline perceived benefits and concerns about cancer clinical trials for Black/African American versus non-Black/African American oncology patients (N=244).$

	Non-Black/African Amer-		Black/African American		t test (df)	P value
	Ican patients	(n=149) 95% CI	patients (n=9	95% CI		
Ponefite of elinical trial narrieination ⁸					. <u>.</u>	
I have a better chance of living longer if I am part of a clinical trial ^b .	5.37 (2.79)	4.91-5.83	4.30 (3.74)	3.53-5.06	2.396 (158.44)	.02
Being part of a clinical trial improves my quality of life ^b .	5.16 (2.69)	4.72-5.60	4.24 (3.45)	3.53-4.95	2.184 (161.70)	.03
I believe the benefits of being in a clinical trial outweigh the possible side effects ^b .	5.37 (2.73)	4.92-5.82	4.43 (3.56)	3.71-5.16	2.176 (164.88)	.03
Being part of a clinical trial offers the best treatment available for my cancer ^b .	5.48 (2.87)	5.01-5.95	4.43 (3.78)	3.65-5.20	2.299 (160.87)	.02
Being part of a clinical trial can give a person a sense of purpose in life ^b .	6.15 (2.57)	5.73-6.57	4.76 (3.62)	4.01-5.50	3.246 (152.86)	.001
If my doctor said a clinical trial was the best option for me, I would follow their advice ^b .	7.91 (2.37)	7.52-8.30	6.93 (3.45)	6.22-7.63	2.429 (151.87)	.02
Being part of a clinical trial will improve my community's trust in medical research ^b	5.94 (2.74)	5.49-6.39	5.17 (3.55)	4.44-5.90	1.785 (162.08)	.08
Being part of a clinical trial could help find a cure for cancer ^b .	8.24 (1.77)	7.95-8.53	6.99 (3.21)	6.34-7.64	3.468 (131.55)	<.001
Being part of a clinical trial would help my doctor and their research ^b .	8.05 (2.05)	7.71-8.38)	7.27 (3.18)	6.61-7.92	2.103 (141.08)	.04
Being part of a clinical trial could help my children or grandchildren in the future ^b .	8.27 (2.05)	7.94-8.61	7.27 (3.10)	6.63-7.91	2.760 (142.89)	.007
Being part of a clinical trial could help other people with my type of cancer ^b .	8.51 (1.82)	8.21-8.80	7.84 (2.73)	7.29-8.40	2.090 (148.21)	.04
Concerns of cancer clinical trial participation ^a						
I am worried that my health insurance won't pay for me to be part of a clinical trial.	5.00 (3.31)	4.46-5.54	5.27 (3.66)	4.53-6.02	-0.602 (240)	.55
I believe that taking part in a clinical trial will cause more side effects than my current treatment.	4.47 (2.54)	4.06-4.89	3.82 (3.04)	3.20-4.44	1.798 (238)	.07
I believe that my medical care is not as good if I take part in a clinical trial.	2.77 (2.78)	2.31-3.23	2.70 (3.00)	2.09-3.32	0.181 (236)	.86
My religious beliefs could keep me from taking part in a clinical trial ^b .	0.58 (1.72)	0.30-0.86	1.73 (2.92)	1.13-2.33	-3.445 (132.69)	<.001
God has already decided what will happen so being part of a clinical trial would not help ^b .	0.84 (2.10)	0.50-1.19	2.95 (3.70)	2.19-3.71	-5.015 (132.15)	<.001
No one talked to me about being part of a clinical trial.	5.23 (4.07)	4.56-5.90	4.49 (3.80)	3.72-5.27	1.402 (236)	.16
I'm too upset about my cancer diagnosis to think about being part of a clinical trial.	1.70 (2.71)	1.25-2.14	2.23 (2.82)	1.66-2.81	-1.474 (237)	.14
I'm afraid I'll get a sugar pill (placebo) instead of real medicine in a clinical trial.	4.00 (3.66)	3.40-4.60	2.72 (3.35)	2.03-3.40	2.750 (239)	.006
I'd worry that I'd be treated like a number, not a person, in a clinical trial.	2.66 (2.85)	2.20-3.13	2.84 (3.27)	2.18-3.51	-0.446 (239)	.66
I believe I would be treated like a "guinea pig" in a clinical trial ^b .	2.30 (2.74)	1.85-2.75	3.12 (3.39)	2.42-3.82	-1.944 (166.51)	.05
I believe I would not be told important information about my health if I was part of a clinical trial ^b .	2.23 (2.74)	1.79-2.69	2.67 (3.29)	2.00-3.34	-1.066 (172.53)	.29

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56048

JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e56048 | p.316 (page number not for citation purposes)



^aResponse options for perception items ranged from 0 to 10, where 0 indicated strong disagreement and 10 indicated strong agreement. ^bVariances were not equal between groups, so independent sample *t* test with unequal variances was used.

Hoadley et al

Table 4. Baseline health care experiences, health care beliefs, patient self-advocacy, patient activation, health care self-efficacy, decisional conflict, and intentions to participate in cancer clinical trials for Black/African American versus non–Black/African American oncology patients (N=244).

		Non-Black/African Amer-		Black/African American		t test (df)	<i>P</i> value
		Ican patients Values,	(n=149) 95% CI	values,	95% CI		
		mean (SD)		mean (SD)	<u>,</u>		
Ca	ncer health care experiences and perceptions ^a						
	I feel confident in my decisions about treatment ^b .	8.57 (1.90)	8.26-8.88	8.32 (2.51)	7.81-8.83	0.836 (160.96)	.41
	I have someone close to me I can talk to about my diagnosis and treatment options.	8.15 (2.97)	7.66-8.65	8.35 (2.72)	7.79-8.90	-0.508 (236)	.61
	I have a lot of support from my family and friends. ^b	9.06 (1.94)	8.74-9.37	8.48 (2.69)	7.94-9.03	1.790 (157.03)	.08
	I have a pastor or other religious leader that I trust and can talk to.	5.29 (3.96)	4.63-5.95	7.03 (3.88)	6.24-7.83	-3.336 (234)	.001
	I have had someone close to me die of cancer.	8.12 (3.19)	7.59-8.64	7.55 (3.65)	6.80-8.30	1.260 (238)	.21
	I have family members or close friends who have had cancer and been successfully treated.	7.58 (3.48)	7.01-8.15	6.59 (3.90)	5.79-7.39	2.038 (236)	.04
	I trust the doctor treating me for my cancer. ^b	9.13 (1.70)	8.85-9.41	8.71 (2.38)	8.23-9.20	1.476 (153.83)	.14
	It is important to get treated as soon as you are diagnosed to help prevent the cancer from coming back. ^b	9.26 (1.51)	9.01-9.51	9.05 (2.05)	8.63-9.47	0.849 (157.67)	.40
	I researched information on my own about treatment op- tions.	7.27 (3.11)	6.76-7.78	6.38 (3.55)	5.66-7.10	2.050 (237)	.04
	I feel confident being able to research information on my own about treatment options.	6.65 (3.19)	6.12-7.17	6.78 (3.44)	6.07-7.48	-0.294 (237)	.77
Be	liefs about health care providers and health ^a						
	I go to the doctor for regular checkups.	9.11 (2.01)	8.78-9.44	9.04 (1.70)	8.70-9.39	0.271 (239)	.79
	I get my cancer screenings whenever they are recommended. ^b	9.23 (1.66)	8.95-9.50	8.91 (2.02)	8.49-9.32	1.296 (173.79)	.20
	Growing up we used a lot of home remedies.	3.56 (3.28)	3.02-4.10	6.03 (3.54)	5.30-6.77	-5.485 (235)	<.001
	I believe using alternative therapies is important while being treated for cancer.	5.56 (3.38)	5.10-6.12	5.42 (3.86)	4.64-6.21	0.292 (236)	.77
	I think that doctors mislead patients ^b .	1.37 (2.32)	0.99-1.75	2.50 (3.15)	1.85-3.15	–2.991 (156.97)	.003
	I don't trust medical researchers ^b .	1.23 (2.40)	0.83-1.62	2.69 (3.02)	2.07-3.31	-3.956 (167.01)	<.001
	I believe racial/ethnic minorities are discriminated against in medical research studies ^b .	1.64 (2.66)	1.21-2.08	3.27 (3.46)	2.56-3.97	-3.876 (162.46)	<.001
	I don't trust drug (pharmaceutical) companies.	3.84 (3.27)	3.31-4.38	3.98 (3.25)	3.31-4.64	-0.316 (238)	.75
Pa	tient activation in cancer care (DES-10 ^c) ^a	8.00 (1.33)	7.78-8.22	7.85 (1.51)	7.54-8.15	0.841 (239)	.40
Pa	tient self-advocacy (PSAS ^d) ^a	6.07 (1.49)	5.82-6.31	6.07 (1.69)	5.73-6.41	-0.009 (238)	.99
Не	alth care self-efficacy (PEPPI ^e)	4.45 (0.64)	4.34-4.55	4.44 (0.76)	4.28-4.59	0.109 (239)	.91
De	cisional conflict ^f						
- •	Certainty (range 0-100)	36.24 (25.76)	32.08- 40.46	25.62 (22.17)	21.08- 30.16	3.284 (237)	.001
	Informed (range 0-100)	31.91 (20.75)	28.51- 35.30	36.44 (24.95)	31.32- 41.55	-1.523 (238)	.13
	Values clarity (range 0-100)	37.84 (27.67)	33.32- 42.37	41.31 (28.58)	35.46- 47.17	-0.936 (238)	.35

 $\label{eq:linear} https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56048\\ XSL \bullet FO$

RenderX

JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e56048 | p.318 (page number not for citation purposes)

		Non–Black/African Amer- ican patients (n=149)		Black/African American patients (n=95)		t test (df)	P value
		Values, mean (SD)	95% CI	Values, mean (SD)	95% CI		
Support (range 0-100)		21.52 (20.94)	18.09- 24.94	22.61 (21.54)	18.19- 27.02	-0.389 (238)	.70
Overall decisional conflict (range 0-100)		31.74 (19.80)	28.50- 34.98	30.81 (19.66)	26.78- 34.83	0.357 (238)	.72
Intentions to participate in clinical trial, if of	fered ^{a,b}	7.03 (2.60)	6.60-7.46	6.38 (3.16)	5.73-7.02	1.662 (174.01)	.10

^aResponse options for perception items, patient activation, patient self-advocacy, and clinical trial intentions ranged from 0 to 10, where "0" indicated strong disagreement and "10" indicated strong agreement.

^bVariances were not equal between groups, so an independent sample t test with unequal variances was used.

^cDES-10: 10-item Decisional Engagement Scale.

^dPSAS: Patient Self-Advocacy Scale.

^ePEPPI: Perceived Efficacy in Patient-Physician Interactions; health care self-efficacy ranged from 1 to 5, where higher values reflected greater self-efficacy.

^fDecisional conflict was a percentage ranging from 0 to 100.

Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristics

More than a third (95/244, 38.9%) of participants self-identified as Black/African American. Participants were aged a mean 60.89 (SD 10.24) years but did not vary by dichotomous race group. More than half (141/244, 57.8%) had at least some college or more, but educational attainment varied significantly between Black/African American and non-Black/African American participants (P<.001). Moreover, 63.1% (154/244) of the sample included female participants, but a greater percentage of the Black/African American patients were female (70/95, 73%) compared to the non-Black/African American patients (84/149, 56.4%; P=.006). Other significant differences between groups were observed for insurance type (ie, a greater percentage of Black/African American patients on Medicare or Medicaid), annual household income (ie, higher household income reported by non-Black/African American patients), and treatment status (ie, greater percentage of Black/African American patients still receiving treatment as opposed to follow-up care compared with non-Black/African American patients).

General Clinical Trials Knowledge and Health Literacy

Compared to the Black/African American patients (mean 75.6, SD 12.7), the non–Black/African American patients (mean 80.7, SD 14.7) had significantly higher general clinical trial knowledge scores (t_{242} =2.775; *P*=.006). Health literacy (greater values reflect lower health literacy) was also higher among non–Black/African American patients (mean 1.47, SD 0.72) than Black/African American patients (mean 2.06, SD 1.11; $t_{145.36}$ =–4.650; *P*<.001).

Awareness of Cancer Clinical Trials

Non-Black patients (mean 7.61, SD 3.33) were significantly more likely to have heard about clinical trials before their cancer diagnosis compared with Black/African American patients (mean 5.19, SD 3.96; t_{238} =5.075; *P*<.001). However, non–Black/African American patients (mean 5.93, SD 3.55) felt more strongly than Black/African American patients (mean

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56048
```

XSL•FO

4.55, SD 3.63) that they did not have sufficient information to decide whether to participate in a cancer clinical trial (t_{238} =2.920; *P*=.004). There were no differences between groups on all other awareness-related items, including information gathering, support for accessing and consuming cancer-related health information, and receiving sufficient information about cancer clinical trials from their health care providers.

Benefits of Clinical Trial Participation

Black/African American patients consistently rated the benefits of cancer clinical trial participation lower than non-Black/African American patients. Specifically, Black/African American patients rated 10 out of 11 items about perceived benefits lower than non-Black/African American patients, all of which were statistically significant (P values were .02, .03, .03, .02, .001, .02, <.001, .04, .007, and .04). Benefits of cancer clinical trial participation rated lower included having better survival odds, improving quality of life, increasing access to high-quality treatment, having a greater sense of purpose, and helping to find treatments and cures for family members or the public. In fact, the only benefits-related item that did not yield significant differences between groups at α =.05 level was belief that clinical trial participation would improve their community's trust in medical research ("Being part of a clinical trial will improve my community's trust in medical research").

Concerns of Clinical Trial Participation

Concerns about cancer clinical trials that varied between racial groups were religious beliefs as barriers, fatalistic beliefs about cancer, and fears of receiving a placebo or sugar pill. Compared to non-Black patients, Black/African American patients with cancer were significantly more likely to believe that their religion or fatalistic beliefs (ie, "God has already decided what will happen so being part of a clinical trial would not help") would keep them from participating in a clinical trial. However, non–Black/African American patients (mean 4.00, SD 3.66) were significantly more concerned than Black/African American

patients (mean 2.72, SD 3.35) about potentially receiving a placebo and not real medicine ($t_{239}=2.750$; P=.006).

Cancer and Health Care Experiences

Religious leaders were more strongly endorsed as a form of social support for Black/African American patients than non-Black patients. For example, non-Black patients (mean 5.29, SD 3.96) were less likely than Black/African American patients (mean 7.03, SD 3.88) to say they have a pastor or other religious leader that they trusted and could talk to (t_{234} =-3.336; *P*=.001). However, non-Black patients (mean 7.27, SD 3.11) were more likely to report independently researching treatment options than Black/African American patients with cancer (mean 6.38, SD 3.55; t_{237} =2.050; *P*=.04). In addition, non-Black patients (mean 7.58, SD 3.48) more strongly endorsed agreement with having family or close friends who had been diagnosed with cancer and who were successfully treated than Black/African American patients (mean 6.59, SD 3.90; t_{236} =2.038; *P*=.04).

Beliefs About Health and Health Care Providers

Non-Black patients reported less frequent use of home remedies for medical care growing up than Black/African American patients (t_{236} =-5.485; *P*<.001). In addition, 3 items of distrust of health care providers and medical mistrust were also endorsed more strongly by Black/African American patients ("I think that doctors mislead patients," "I don't trust medical researchers," and "I believe racial/ethnic minorities are discriminated against in medical research studies"). However, ratings in both groups remained low and below a score of neutral (ie, "5"), reflecting overall low levels of medical mistrust in this sample.

Patient Activation, Patient Self-Advocacy, and Health Care Self-Efficacy

There were no significant differences in average patient activation in cancer care, patient self-advocacy, or health care self-efficacy between Black/African American and non–Black/African American patients (all *P*>.05).

Decisional Conflict

Of the 4 domains of decisional conflict, only certainty was significantly different between Black/African American and non–Black/African American patient groups. Black/African American patients with cancer (mean 25.62, SD 22.17) reported lower certainty in their clinical trial decision-making than non–Black/African American patients (mean 36.24, SD 25.76; t_{237} =3.284; *P*=.001). The remaining 3 decisional conflict domains (informed, value clarity, and support) and summary decisional conflict score were nonsignificant between groups at the α =.05 level.

Intentions to Participate in Clinical Trial, if Offered

Intentions to participate in a cancer clinical trial, if offered, did not differ significantly between Black/African American patients (mean 6.38, SD 3.16) and non–Black/African American patients (mean 7.03, SD 2.60) at the α =.05 level (t_{174.01}=1.662; *P*=.10).

Discussion

Principal Findings

This analysis of baseline data from the mychoice randomized control study focused on patient perceptions regarding cancer clinical trials comparing Black/African American patients to non-Black patients. Some results are consistent with other research while also suggesting some unexpected findings that might shift the focus on how best to increase participation among Black/African American patients with cancer. Results indicate that addressing preparation for decision-making, community context, and the opportunity to reframe perceptions about interest in considering clinical trials are important constructs to target in efforts to reduce barriers to participation for Black/African American patients.

Comparisons to Prior Work

Clinical trial decision-making is complex. As suggested by Wenzel et al [70], the Model of Cancer Clinical Trial Decision-Making provides a framework to explore these findings from the patient perspective including information gathering, intrapersonal and interpersonal factors that influence the decision-making process, all of which ultimately impact decisional outcomes.

Our findings suggest that there are differences at the start of the clinical trial decision-making process between Black/African American and non-Black patients. We found non-Black/African American patients had significantly higher levels of clinical trial knowledge, health literacy, and positive experiences with cancer outcomes, while Black/African American patients were less likely to hear about clinical trials before their diagnosis, creating inequities from the start. More challenging is combating the realities of later-stage disease at diagnosis and unequal oncology care in many communities of color where cancer outcomes are less positive [71,72]. These findings are consistent with the current literature and highlight the need for more community education and awareness about clinical trials using plain language and health communication approaches appropriate for all levels of health literacy [73]. As progress is made to address these inequities, it is important to emphasize these gains in our educational initiatives and share stories from survivors and clinical trial participants from these communities [74].

Our study findings are also consistent with other research highlighting that the potential benefits of participation are less likely to resonate with Black patients, including the notion that participation is a benefit to their community. One factor is a higher level of level of general medical mistrust found in the Black/African American community [75], which is associated with expectations of lower care quality and poorer treatment experiences [76].

Consistent with existing literature, Black/African American patients with cancer more frequently endorse fatalistic beliefs about the condition [77]. As noted in the model proposed by Wenzel et al [70], increased fatalism is an important factor in this decision-making process. Addressing these deep-rooted beliefs and experiences requires deeper, authentic discussions

with community leaders, providers, and other stakeholders. Religious leaders, specifically, can be messengers to balance these beliefs because they can play an important role in individuals' decision-making process [78]. To improve self-efficacy in cancer clinical trial decision-making and to improve clinical trial experiences overall, prior evidence-based recommendations have been made to establish long-term partnerships between not only the health care providers but also with other patients, patient advocates, researchers, clinical trial sponsors, and other community-based organizations (eg, faith-based groups and social services organizations) [55,79] as well as to form community advisory boards [80].

We found few differences in facilitators to clinical trial participation by race. Indeed, patients reported that they were confident in gathering support, trusted their physicians, and could get information from their physicians about clinical trials. Although general mistrust was more prevalent in Black/African American patients, their trust in their physician and their ability to get information about clinical trials was similar to non-Black patients. This was a much more nuanced view of medical mistrust and may vary significantly among Black/African American patients, depending on a range of sociodemographic factors and life experiences. In addition, it is important to note that general mistrust might be mitigated by the providers providing direct care, which could include providers from a variety of specialties and primary care. Therefore, initiatives and interventions to educate a broad range of providers about clinical trials and emphasize their role in this decision-making process are essential to increasing participation.

An unexpected finding was that non-Black patients reported higher levels of concerns about receiving a placebo and felt they did not have sufficient information to decide about participation. This may be related to their higher levels of clinical trial knowledge that might initially raise more questions and concerns, recognizing the complexity of the process. As more comprehensive education is conducted in Black/African American communities, we might expect that these will be issues that need to be specifically addressed.

Perhaps most importantly, there were no differences between Black/African American and non-Black patients in their intention to participate if offered a clinical trial. This was true despite having found important differences in perceived barriers to participation by race. However, provider and system barriers may impact the ability of patients to turn intention into decision-making and participation. If a trial were available and yet not offered, there is an unwarranted bias that they would not be interested. If a trial is not available, then there is no decision to make. This expands the Wenzel model beyond the patient [70], focusing on the multilevel influences on this decision-making process. Future research could include both the mychoice patient tool and provider training and interventions to increase cultural competency and change the knowledge and attitudes of providers and study staff, as well as providing culturally tailored education initiatives to increase education and awareness of clinical trials among racial and ethnic minoritized populations [81-83]. Our own work developing the mychoice web-based tool to assist diverse patients in the decision-making process serves as an example [58].

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56048
```

XSL•FO

Future Directions

We recognize that patients' knowledge, attitudes, and interest in clinical trial participation are only one facet of this complex process. Availability of clinical trials in local settings, systematic barriers to care, language and cultural barriers, provider attitudes, and trial eligibility requirements all must be addressed as well. To date, many programs and interventions have been implemented at multiple levels or at the organization or systems levels to address systemic factors that drive the continued underrepresentation of people from racial and ethnic minoritized groups in research. For example, 1 system-level approach is the creation of the US Cancer Centers of Excellence and an inventory of successful strategies for increased inclusion of people from racial and ethnic minoritized groups in clinical trials [84,85]. Specifically, leaders from 8 US cancer centers met to determine best practices for increasing enrollment and retention of clinical trial participants from racial and ethnic minoritized groups. Topics discussed included hiring practices; cultural changes in research organizations; and education or training on equity, diversity, and inclusion among people who study and work in cancer clinical trials [55,84,85]. These changes are important because patient-provider identity concordance can motivate greater interpersonal trust, cancer care engagement, and care quality [86-88], yet Black oncologists remain significantly underrepresented within the health care workforce, with Black oncologists making up only 3% of all oncologists in the United States as of 2021 [87].

Finally, studies should also publish data more frequently on the racial and ethnic composition of their study participants in their published clinical trial reports and in registry results [55]. While applicable to public health and medical fields beyond oncology, increased transparency about the demographic composition of clinical trials will assist with monitoring of diversity, equity and inclusion progress and support future meta-analytic research. For example, among the 197 precision oncology clinical trials in the United States from 2004 to 2017 reported on ClinicalTrials.gov, fewer than half (n=97, 49.2%) provided race or ethnicity data [4]. Similarly, recent systematic reviews found that only 57% of the 155 head and neck cancer clinical trials between 2010 and 2020 [89] and only 4.4% of the 544 bladder cancer clinical trials published between 1970 and 2020 had race or ethnicity demographic data [90].

Limitations

This study has several limitations. First, this was a cross-sectional analysis that limits inferences to causality. Second, generalizability is limited to people already receiving care for cancer. This is noteworthy because cancer disparities exist before this point (ie, detection, treatment provision, etc), meaning that there may be different beliefs and attitudes associated with patients who have not engaged with cancer treatment services. This may also limit generalization to some specific patient populations, such as recent immigrants, without adequate health insurance and health care access. Moreover, this was a baseline sample of patients diagnosed with cancer recruited from cancer treatment centers for an RCT. Thus, this sample of participants likely already has higher acceptance of clinical trials because they had already consented to be in a

behavioral trial. In addition, results also suggest that these participants may have higher acceptance of Western medicine and health care providers because they are already receiving care at a cancer treatment center. This sample reported low levels of health care provider medical mistrust and few reports of negative health care experiences across both the Black/African American and non-Black groups, which is likely not representative of the US adult cancer population, especially Black adults [46,91,92].

While social desirability bias can contribute to underreporting of negative health care experiences and other negative health care attitudes and beliefs, the web-based, self-administered survey format may have mitigated the extent to which social desirability bias could have impacted the validity of participant responses. Another potential limitation is that these analyses did not control for multiple comparisons made on the same data set. While some researchers suggest using the Bonferroni adjustment to control for the possibility of finding false positives when making multiple comparisons, there is criticism of its unilateral use in multiple comparison studies [93]. That said, there remains some potential for inflated type 1 error (ie, false positives) given the number of hypotheses tested. Finally, there are also additional barriers to cancer clinical trial participation that are not accounted for in the present analysis. For example, older age, insurance type (ie, Medicaid and uninsured vs private

insurance), greater medical comorbidities, and greater distance to treatment are associated with lower rates of clinical trial participation [94] and high-quality, guideline-concordant cancer care [95]. Thus, covariate-adjusted analysis methods should be considered for subsequent work.

Conclusions

The findings from the baseline survey of the mychoice randomized trial highlight that although clinical trial participation among diverse populations remains low, there were no significant differences in interest in clinical trials, and trust in individual providers was high in both Black/African American and non-Black patients with cancer. However, persistent beliefs about barriers to and benefits of participation in clinical trials exist. Our findings suggest that we need more outreach, discussion, and introduction of clinical trials to diverse oncology patients who may be more interested than presumed. This does not preclude the considerable work that needs to be done to address access to clinical trials and addressing the systemic barriers to participation. Importantly, the findings from this study suggest that current interventions have not significantly moved the needle in broadening the appeal of clinical trials in Black/African American patients with cancer, and further work in effectively increasing participation rates is still needed.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the patients who participated in this research.

This work was supported by Merck Pharmaceuticals (Merck Investigator Studies Program grant 56174). Authors SBB and LF are co-principal investigators. Publication of this paper was funded in part by the Temple University Libraries Open Access Publishing Fund.

Data Availability

The data sets generated during and analyzed during this study are not publicly available because they contain information that could potentially identify patients but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

AH contributed to formal analysis, writing the original draft, and reviewing and editing the manuscript. LF contributed to conceptualization, data curation, funding acquisition, investigation, methodology, project administration, supervision, writing the original draft, and reviewing and editing the manuscript. CK contributed to project administration, supervision, reviewing and editing the manuscript. PJAK contributed to project administration and reviewing and editing the manuscript. XM contributed to formal analysis. JW contributed to methodology and formal analysis. CG contributed to conceptualization and reviewing and editing the manuscript. MA and PD contributed to investigation. ZL contributed to reviewing and editing the manuscript. SBB contributed to conceptualization, data curation, funding acquisition, investigation, methodology, project administration, supervision, writing the original draft, and reviewing and editing the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

RenderX

1. Baquet CR, Henderson K, Commiskey P, Morrow JN. Clinical trials: the art of enrollment. Semin Oncol Nurs 2008 Nov;24(4):262-269 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2008.08.006] [Medline: 19000600]

- Unger JM, Cook E, Tai E, Bleyer A. The role of clinical trial participation in cancer research: barriers, evidence, and strategies. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book 2016;35:185-198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/EDBK 156686] [Medline: 27249699]
- 3. Cancer facts and figures for African American/Black people 2022-2024. American Cancer Society. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-statistics/cancer-facts-and-figures-for-african-americans/2022-2024-cff-aa.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-04-28]
- Aldrighetti CM, Niemierko A, Van Allen E, Willers H, Kamran SC. Racial and ethnic disparities among participants in precision oncology clinical studies. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Nov 01;4(11):e2133205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.33205] [Medline: <u>34748007</u>]
- 5. Murthy VH, Krumholz HM, Gross CP. Participation in cancer clinical trials: race-, sex-, and age-based disparities. JAMA 2004 Jun 09;291(22):2720-2726. [doi: 10.1001/jama.291.22.2720] [Medline: 15187053]
- Stewart JH, Bertoni AG, Staten JL, Levine EA, Gross CP. Participation in surgical oncology clinical trials: gender-, race/ethnicity-, and age-based disparities. Ann Surg Oncol 2007 Dec;14(12):3328-3334. [doi: <u>10.1245/s10434-007-9500-y</u>] [Medline: <u>17682824</u>]
- Duma N, Vera Aguilera J, Paludo J, Haddox CL, Gonzalez Velez M, Wang Y, et al. Representation of minorities and women in oncology clinical trials: review of the past 14 years. J Oncol Pract 2018 Jan;14(1):e1-10. [doi: 10.1200/JOP.2017.025288] [Medline: 29099678]
- Al Hadidi S, Mims M, Miller-Chism CN, Kamble R. Participation of African American persons in clinical trials supporting U.S. food and drug administration approval of cancer drugs. Ann Intern Med 2020 Aug 18;173(4):320-322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M20-0410] [Medline: 32568574]
- Camidge DR, Park H, Smoyer KE, Jacobs I, Lee LJ, Askerova Z, et al. Race and ethnicity representation in clinical trials: findings from a literature review of phase I oncology trials. Future Oncol 2021 Aug;17(24):3271-3280. [doi: 10.2217/fon-2020-1262] [Medline: <u>34047192</u>]
- Polite BN, Adams-Campbell LL, Brawley OW, Bickell N, Carethers JM, Flowers CR, et al. Charting the future of cancer health disparities research: a position statement from the American Association for Cancer Research, the American Cancer Society, the American Society of Clinical Oncology, and the National Cancer Institute. Cancer Res 2017 Sep 01;77(17):4548-4555. [doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0623] [Medline: 28739629]
- 11. Mutale F. Inclusion of racial and ethnic minorities in cancer clinical trials: 30 years after the NIH revitalization act, where are we? J Adv Pract Oncol 2022 Nov;13(8):755-757 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.6004/jadpro.2022.13.8.2] [Medline: 36727023]
- Hamel LM, Penner LA, Albrecht TL, Heath E, Gwede CK, Eggly S. Barriers to clinical trial enrollment in racial and ethnic minority patients with cancer. Cancer Control 2016 Oct;23(4):327-337 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/107327481602300404] [Medline: 27842322]
- 13. Loree JM, Anand S, Dasari A, Unger JM, Gothwal A, Ellis LM, et al. Disparity of race reporting and representation in clinical trials leading to cancer drug approvals from 2008 to 2018. JAMA Oncol 2019 Oct 01;5(10):e191870 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.1870] [Medline: 31415071]
- 14. Riaz IB, Islam M, Ikram W, Naqvi SA, Maqsood H, Saleem Y, et al. Disparities in the inclusion of racial and ethnic minority groups and older adults in prostate cancer clinical trials: a meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol 2023 Feb 01;9(2):180-187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2022.5511] [Medline: 36416812]
- Goss E, Lopez AM, Brown CL, Wollins DS, Brawley OW, Raghavan D. American society of clinical oncology policy statement: disparities in cancer care. J Clin Oncol 2009 Jun 10;27(17):2881-2885. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2008.21.1680</u>] [Medline: <u>19403885</u>]
- Ahaghotu C, Tyler R, Sartor O. African American participation in oncology clinical trials--focus on prostate cancer: implications, barriers, and potential solutions. Clin Genitourin Cancer 2016 Apr;14(2):105-116. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.clgc.2015.12.003</u>] [Medline: <u>26786562</u>]
- 17. Jones CE, Maben J, Jack RH, Davies EA, Forbes LJ, Lucas G, et al. A systematic review of barriers to early presentation and diagnosis with breast cancer among Black women. BMJ Open 2014 Feb 12;4(2):e004076 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004076] [Medline: 24523424]
- Hunter CP. Epidemiology, stage at diagnosis, and tumor biology of breast carcinoma in multiracial and multiethnic populations. Cancer 2000 Mar 01;88(5 Suppl):1193-1202. [doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0142(20000301)88:5+<1193::aid-cncr3>3.3.co;2-4] [Medline: 10705354]
- Silvestri GA, Jemal A, Yabroff KR, Fedewa S, Sineshaw H. Cancer outcomes among medicare beneficiaries and their younger uninsured counterparts. Health Aff (Millwood) 2021 May;40(5):754-762. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01839</u>] [Medline: <u>33939501</u>]
- 20. Albain KS, Unger JM, Crowley JJ, Coltman CAJ, Hershman DL. Racial disparities in cancer survival among randomized clinical trials patients of the southwest oncology group. J Natl Cancer Inst 2009 Jul 15;101(14):984-992 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djp175] [Medline: 19584328]
- Langford A, Resnicow K, An L. Clinical trial awareness among racial/ethnic minorities in HINTS 2007: sociodemographic, attitudinal, and knowledge correlates. J Health Commun 2010;15 Suppl 3(0 3):92-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2010.525296] [Medline: 21154086]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56048
```

- 22. Hernandez ND, Durant R, Lisovicz N, Nweke C, Belizaire C, Cooper D, et al. African American cancer survivors' perspectives on cancer clinical trial participation in a safety-net hospital: considering the role of the social determinants of health. J Cancer Educ 2022 Dec;37(6):1589-1597 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-021-01994-4] [Medline: 33728872]
- Kumar G, Kim J, Farazi PA, Wang H, Su D. Disparities in awareness of and willingness to participate in cancer clinical trials between African American and White cancer survivors. BMC Cancer 2022 Sep 15;22(1):983 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-022-10082-9] [Medline: 36109780]
- 24. Shelby RA, Crespin TR, Wells-Di Gregorio SM, Lamdan RM, Siegel JE, Taylor KL. Optimism, social support, and adjustment in African American women with breast cancer. J Behav Med 2008 Oct;31(5):433-444 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10865-008-9167-2] [Medline: 18712591]
- 25. Rieder S, Burgess E, Rutledge T, Sussman A, Pankratz V, Boyce T, et al. Critical decisions: a mixed-methods study investigating decision-making and disparities among diverse gynecologic cancer patients considering therapeutic clinical trial enrollment (014). Gynecol Oncol 2022 Aug;166(1):S11-S12. [doi: 10.1016/s0090-8258(22)01232-x]
- 26. Jones AR, Shipp M, Thompson CJ, Davis MK. Prostate cancer knowledge and beliefs among Black and White older men in rural and urban counties. J Cancer Educ 2005;20(2):96-102. [doi: 10.1207/s15430154jce2002_10] [Medline: 16083373]
- 27. Wallington SF, Luta G, Noone AM, Caicedo L, Lopez-Class M, Sheppard V, et al. Assessing the awareness of and willingness to participate in cancer clinical trials among immigrant Latinos. J Community Health 2012 Apr;37(2):335-343 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10900-011-9450-y] [Medline: 21805372]
- 28. Curbow B, Fogarty LA, McDonnell K, Chill J, Scott LB. Can a brief video intervention improve breast cancer clinical trial knowledge and beliefs? Soc Sci Med 2004 Jan;58(1):193-205. [doi: 10.1016/s0277-9536(03)00162-x] [Medline: 14572931]
- 29. Ford JG, Howerton MW, Lai GY, Gary TL, Bolen S, Gibbons MC, et al. Barriers to recruiting underrepresented populations to cancer clinical trials: a systematic review. Cancer 2008 Jan 15;112(2):228-242 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23157] [Medline: 18008363]
- 30. Langford AT, Orellana KT, Buderer N. Correlates of knowledge of clinical trials among U.S. adults: findings from the 2020 health information national trends survey. Contemp Clin Trials 2022 Mar;114:106676. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cct.2022.106676</u>] [Medline: <u>35026434</u>]
- 31. Fayanju OM, Oyekunle T, Thomas SM, Ingraham KL, Fish LJ, Greenup RA, et al. Modifiable patient-reported factors associated with cancer-screening knowledge and participation in a community-based health assessment. Am J Surg 2023 Apr;225(4):617-629 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2022.10.059] [Medline: 36411107]
- Clark LT, Watkins L, Piña IL, Elmer M, Akinboboye O, Gorham M, et al. Increasing diversity in clinical trials: overcoming critical barriers. Curr Probl Cardiol 2019 May;44(5):148-172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2018.11.002] [Medline: 30545650]
- Somayaji D, Cloyes KG. Cancer fear and fatalism: how African American participants construct the role of research subject in relation to clinical cancer research. Cancer Nurs 2015;38(2):133-144. [doi: <u>10.1097/NCC.00000000000144</u>] [Medline: <u>24945262</u>]
- 34. Breland-Noble AM, Bell CC, Burriss A, AAKOMA Project Adult Advisory Board. "Mama just won't accept this": adult perspectives on engaging depressed African American teens in clinical research and treatment. J Clin Psychol Med Settings 2011 Sep 22;18(3):225-234 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10880-011-9235-6] [Medline: 21512751]
- 35. Thompson T, Pérez M, Yan Y, Kreuter MW, Margenthaler JA, Colditz GA, et al. Randomized controlled trial of a breast cancer Survivor Stories intervention for African American women. Soc Sci Med 2021 Feb;270:113663 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113663] [Medline: 33454539]
- Langford AT, Hawley ST, Stableford S, Studts JL, Byrne MM. Development of a plain language decision support tool for cancer clinical trials: blending health literacy, academic research, and minority patient perspectives. J Cancer Educ 2020 Jun 09;35(3):454-461 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-019-1482-5] [Medline: 30739270]
- Carpenter A, Morris HN, Opoku A, Hilton A, Carda-Auten JA, Teal R, et al. Research team perspectives on engaging Black patients with cancer in biospecimen research. Cancer Res 2023;83(7_Supplement):5535. [doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2023-5535]
- Rogers CR, Rovito MJ, Hussein M, Obidike OJ, Pratt R, Alexander M, et al. Attitudes toward genomic testing and prostate cancer research among Black men. Am J Prev Med 2018 Nov;55(5 Suppl 1):S103-S111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2018.05.028] [Medline: 30670195]
- George S, Duran N, Norris K. A systematic review of barriers and facilitators to minority research participation among African Americans, Latinos, Asian Americans, and Pacific Islanders. Am J Public Health 2014 Feb;104(2):e16-e31. [doi: 10.2105/ajph.2013.301706]
- Scharff DP, Mathews KJ, Jackson P, Hoffsuemmer J, Martin E, Edwards D. More than Tuskegee: understanding mistrust about research participation. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2010 Aug;21(3):879-897 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1353/hpu.0.0323] [Medline: 20693733]
- 41. Jaiswal J, Halkitis PN. Towards a more inclusive and dynamic understanding of medical mistrust informed by science. Behav Med 2019 Jul 25;45(2):79-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08964289.2019.1619511] [Medline: 31343962]
- Crittendon DR, LaNoue M, George B. Does perceived racism affect prostate cancer screening rates and patient-provider shared discussions among Black and White men? J Health Care Poor Underserved 2022;33(1):5-19. [doi: <u>10.1353/hpu.2022.0003</u>] [Medline: <u>35153202</u>]
- 43. Niranjan SJ, Martin MY, Fouad MN, Vickers SM, Wenzel JA, Cook ED, et al. Bias and stereotyping among research and clinical professionals: perspectives on minority recruitment for oncology clinical trials. Cancer 2020 Jan 01;126(9):1958-1968 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.32755] [Medline: 32147815]
- 44. Fuerst ML. Many Black patients with metastatic breast cancer not offered clinical trials. Oncol Times 2022 Jul 5;44(13):20. [doi: 10.1097/01.cot.0000852828.33428.a8]
- 45. Simon MS, Du W, Flaherty L, Philip PA, Lorusso P, Miree C, et al. Factors associated with breast cancer clinical trials participation and enrollment at a large academic medical center. J Clin Oncol 2004 Jun 01;22(11):2046-2052. [doi: 10.1200/jco.2004.03.005]
- 46. Riggan KA, Rousseau A, Halyard M, James SE, Kelly M, Phillips D, et al. "There's not enough studies": views of Black breast and ovarian cancer patients on research participation. Cancer Med 2023 Apr 16;12(7):8767-8776 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.5622] [Medline: 36647342]
- 47. Alhajji M, Bass SB, Nicholson A, Washington A, Maurer L, Geynisman DM, et al. Comparing perceptions and decisional conflict towards participation in cancer clinical trials among African American patients who have and have not participated. J Cancer Educ 2022 Apr 11;37(2):395-404. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-020-01827-w] [Medline: 32654038]
- Mittal N, Saha A, Avutu V, Monga V, Freyer DR, Roth M. Shared barriers and facilitators to enrollment of adolescents and young adults on cancer clinical trials. Sci Rep 2022 Mar 09;12(1):3875 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-07703-5] [Medline: 35264642]
- 49. Eggly S, Senft N, Kim S, Heath EI, Jang H, Moore TF, et al. Addressing multilevel barriers to clinical trial participation among Black and White men with prostate cancer through the PACCT study. Cancer Med 2023 Apr 20;12(7):8604-8613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.5552] [Medline: 36540051]
- 50. Unger JM, Vaidya R, Hershman DL, Minasian LM, Fleury ME. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the magnitude of structural, clinical, and physician and patient barriers to cancer clinical trial participation. J Natl Cancer Inst 2019 Mar 01;111(3):245-255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djy221] [Medline: 30856272]
- 51. Mudaranthakam DP, Gajewski B, Krebill H, Coulter J, Springer M, Calhoun E, et al. Barriers to clinical trial participation: comparative study between rural and urban participants. JMIR Cancer 2022 Apr 21;8(2):e33240 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33240] [Medline: 35451964]
- 52. Guerra CE, Fleury ME, Byatt LP, Lian T, Pierce L. Strategies to advance equity in cancer clinical trials. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book 2022 Apr;42:1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/EDBK_350565] [Medline: 35687825]
- 53. Dimond EP, St Germain D, Nacpil LM, Zaren HA, Swanson SM, Minnick C, et al. Creating a "culture of research" in a community hospital: strategies and tools from the National Cancer Institute Community Cancer Centers Program. Clin Trials 2015 Jun 17;12(3):246-256 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1740774515571141] [Medline: 25691600]
- 54. Dimond EP, Zon RT, Weiner BJ, St Germain D, Denicoff AM, Dempsey K, et al. Clinical trial assessment of infrastructure matrix tool to improve the quality of research conduct in the community. J Oncol Pract 2016 Jan;12(1):63-4, e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JOP.2015.005181] [Medline: 26627979]
- 55. Oyer RA, Hurley P, Boehmer L, Bruinooge SS, Levit K, Barrett N, et al. Increasing racial and ethnic diversity in cancer clinical trials: an American Society of Clinical Oncology and Association of Community Cancer Centers joint research statement. J Clin Oncol 2022 Jul 01;40(19):2163-2171. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.22.00754] [Medline: 35588469]
- 56. Foster D. The Diversity Site Assessment Tool (DSAT), reliability and validity of the industry gold standard for establishing investigator site ranking. Integr J Med Sci 2020 Oct;7. [doi: 10.15342/ijms.7.266]
- 57. Fleisher L, Bass SB, Shwarz M, Washington A, Nicholson A, Alhajji M, et al. Using theory and user-centered design in digital health: the development of the mychoice communication tool to prepare patients and improve informed decision making regarding clinical trial participation. Psychooncology 2020 Jan 02;29(1):114-122. [doi: 10.1002/pon.5254] [Medline: 31654442]
- 58. Bass SB, Fleisher L, Washington A, Nicholson A, Maurer L, Geynisman D. Use of perceptual mapping to encourage informed decision making on clinical trials in African American cancer patients. Society of Behavioral Medicine. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.sbm.org/UserFiles/file/PaperSession48_BauerleBass.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-04-28]
- 59. Geynisman DM, Fleisher L, Bass SB, Washington A, Nicholson A, Maurer L. Perceptions of clinical trial participation in African American cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2015 May 20;33(15_suppl):6550. [doi: 10.1200/jco.2015.33.15_suppl.6550]
- 60. Campbell HM, Raisch DW, Sather MR, Segal AR, Warren SR, Naik R. Impact of a clinical trials information handbook on patient knowledge, perceptions, and likelihood of participation. IRB 2008;30(1):6-14. [Medline: <u>18306954</u>]
- Morris NS, MacLean CD, Chew LD, Littenberg B. The Single Item Literacy Screener: evaluation of a brief instrument to identify limited reading ability. BMC Fam Pract 2006 Mar 24;7(1):21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2296-7-21] [Medline: 16563164]
- 62. Hoerger M, Chapman BP, Mohile SG, Duberstein PR. Development and psychometric evaluation of the Decisional Engagement Scale (DES-10): a patient-reported psychosocial survey for quality cancer care. Psychol Assess 2016 Sep;28(9):1087-1100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/pas0000294] [Medline: 27537003]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56048
```

- Brashers DE, Haas SM, Neidig JL. The patient self-advocacy scale: measuring patient involvement in health care decision-making interactions. Health Commun 1999 Apr;11(2):97-121. [doi: <u>10.1207/s15327027hc1102_1</u>] [Medline: <u>16370972</u>]
- 64. Maly RC, Frank JC, Marshall GN, DiMatteo MR, Reuben DB. Perceived efficacy in patient-physician interactions (PEPPI): validation of an instrument in older persons. J Am Geriatr Soc 1998 Jul 27;46(7):889-894. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1998.tb02725.x] [Medline: 9670878]
- 65. O'Connor AM. Validation of a decisional conflict scale. Med Decis Making 1995;15(1):25-30. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X9501500105] [Medline: 7898294]
- 66. O'Connor AM. User manual measures of decision/choice predisposition. Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. 1996. URL: https://decisionaid.ohri.ca/docs/develop/User_Manuals/UM_ChoicePredisposition_Decision.pdf [accessed 2024-04-28]
- 67. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, et al. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019 Jul;95:103208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208] [Medline: 31078660]
- 69. Fagerland MW. t-tests, non-parametric tests, and large studies--a paradox of statistical practice? BMC Med Res Methodol 2012 Jun 14;12(1):78 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-12-78] [Medline: 22697476]
- 70. Wenzel JA, Mbah O, Xu J, Moscou-Jackson G, Saleem H, Sakyi K, et al. A model of cancer clinical trial decision-making informed by African-American cancer patients. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities 2015 Jun 23;2(2):192-199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40615-014-0063-x] [Medline: 25960945]
- Wang F, Luo L, McLafferty S. Healthcare access, socioeconomic factors and late-stage cancer diagnosis: an exploratory spatial analysis and public policy implication. Int J Public Pol 2010;5(2-3):237-258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1504/IJPP.2010.030606] [Medline: 23316251]
- 72. Zavala VA, Bracci PM, Carethers JM, Carvajal-Carmona L, Coggins NB, Cruz-Correa MR, et al. Cancer health disparities in racial/ethnic minorities in the United States. Br J Cancer 2021 Jan;124(2):315-332 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-01038-6] [Medline: 32901135]
- 73. Taani MH, Zabler B, Fendrich M, Schiffman R. Lessons learned for recruitment and retention of low-income African Americans. Contemp Clin Trials Commun 2020 Jan 22;17:100533 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2020.100533] [Medline: 32211558]
- McQueen A, Kreuter MW, Kalesan B, Alcaraz KI. Understanding narrative effects: the impact of breast cancer survivor stories on message processing, attitudes, and beliefs among African American women. Health Psychol 2011 Nov;30(6):674-682 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0025395] [Medline: 21895370]
- Schmotzer GL. Barriers and facilitators to participation of minorities in clinical trials. Ethn Dis 2012;22(2):226-230. [Medline: <u>22764647</u>]
- 76. Hall OT, Jordan A, Teater J, Dixon-Shambley K, McKiever ME, Baek M, et al. Experiences of racial discrimination in the medical setting and associations with medical mistrust and expectations of care among black patients seeking addiction treatment. J Subst Abuse Treat 2022 Feb;133:108551. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108551] [Medline: 34244014]
- 77. Advani AS, Atkeson B, Brown CL, Peterson BL, Fish L, Johnson JL, et al. Barriers to the participation of African-American patients with cancer in clinical trials: a pilot study. Cancer 2003 Mar 15;97(6):1499-1506 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.11213] [Medline: 12627515]
- Robinson BN, Newman AF, Wallington SF, Swain SM. Focus on you: cancer clinical trials perspectives. Contemp Clin Trials Commun 2016 Dec 15;4:170-178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2016.09.004] [Medline: 28770256]
- Woodcock J, Araojo R, Thompson T, Puckrein GA. Integrating research into community practice toward increased diversity in clinical trials. N Engl J Med 2021 Oct 07;385(15):1351-1353. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp2107331</u>] [Medline: <u>34596981</u>]
- Hirschey R, Getachew B, Coleman KJ, Lea D, Milner J, Bryant AL, et al. Development of a community advisory board to guide research about cancer disparities in the Black and African American community. Nurs Res 2023;72(2):123-131
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NNR.0000000000631] [Medline: 36450360]
- Michaels M, Weiss ES, Guidry JA, Blakeney N, Swords L, Gibbs B, et al. "The promise of community-based advocacy and education efforts for increasing cancer clinical trials accrual". J Cancer Educ 2012 Mar;27(1):67-74. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-011-0271-6] [Medline: 21938600]
- Robinson BN, Newman AF, Tefera E, Herbolsheimer P, Nunes R, Gallagher C, et al. Video intervention increases participation of Black breast cancer patients in therapeutic trials. NPJ Breast Cancer 2017 Sep 18;3:36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41523-017-0039-1] [Medline: 28944289]
- Niranjan SJ, Wenzel JA, Martin MY, Fouad MN, Vickers SM, Konety BR, et al. Perceived institutional barriers among clinical and research professionals: minority participation in oncology clinical trials. JCO Oncol Pract 2021 May;17(5):e666-e675 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/OP.20.00970] [Medline: 33974821]

- Regnante JM, Richie NA, Fashoyin-Aje L, Vichnin M, Ford M, Roy UB, et al. US cancer centers of excellence strategies for increased inclusion of racial and ethnic minorities in clinical trials. J Oncol Pract 2019 Apr;15(4):e289-e299. [doi: 10.1200/JOP.18.00638] [Medline: <u>30830833</u>]
- 85. Regnante JM, Richie N, Fashoyin-Aje L, Hall LL, Highsmith Q, Louis J, et al. Operational strategies in US cancer centers of excellence that support the successful accrual of racial and ethnic minorities in clinical trials. Contemp Clin Trials Commun 2020 Jan 22;17:100532 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2020.100532] [Medline: 32055746]
- 86. Bhutani M, Blue BJ, Cole C, Badros AZ, Usmani SZ, Nooka AK, et al. Addressing the disparities: the approach to the African American patient with multiple myeloma. Blood Cancer J 2023 Dec 18;13(1):189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41408-023-00961-0] [Medline: 38110338]
- Winkfield KM, Levit LA, Tibbits M, Melnick E, Schenkel C, Kirkwood K, et al. Addressing equity, diversity, and inclusion of Black physicians in the oncology workforce. JCO Oncol Pract 2021 May;17(5):224-226. [doi: <u>10.1200/OP.21.00079</u>] [Medline: <u>33974831</u>]
- Hassan AM, Ketheeswaran S, Adesoye T, Shah SA, Cox SE, Kapur SK, et al. Association between patient-surgeon race and gender concordance and patient-reported outcomes following breast cancer surgery. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2023 Feb;198(1):167-175. [doi: 10.1007/s10549-022-06858-z] [Medline: 36622543]
- 89. Sauer AB, Daher GS, Lohse CM, Glasgow AE, Habermann EB, Douse DM, et al. Underreporting and underrepresentation of race and ethnicity in head and neck cancer trials, 2010-2020: a systematic review. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2022 Jul 01;148(7):662-669. [doi: 10.1001/jamaoto.2022.1028] [Medline: 35653143]
- 90. Freudenburg E, Bagheri I, Srinivas S, Martinez A, Putluri N, Klaassen Z, et al. Race reporting and disparities regarding clinical trials in bladder cancer: a systematic review. Cancer Causes Control 2022 Aug;33(8):1071-1081. [doi: 10.1007/s10552-022-01593-8] [Medline: 35699798]
- 91. Angelo F, Veenstra D, Knerr S, Devine B. Prevalence and prediction of medical distrust in a diverse medical genomic research sample. Genet Med 2022 Jul;24(7):1459-1467 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.gim.2022.03.007] [Medline: 35384843]
- 92. Lillard JWJ, Moses KA, Mahal BA, George DJ. Racial disparities in Black men with prostate cancer: a literature review. Cancer 2022 Nov 01;128(21):3787-3795 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.34433] [Medline: 36066378]
- 93. Nakagawa S. A farewell to Bonferroni: the problems of low statistical power and publication bias. Behav Ecol 2004 Nov;15(6):1044-1045. [doi: 10.1093/beheco/arh107]
- 94. Eskander MF, Gil L, Beal EW, Li Y, Hamad A, Oppong B, et al. Access denied: inequities in clinical trial enrollment for pancreatic cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2022 Feb 16;29(2):1271-1277. [doi: 10.1245/s10434-021-10868-4] [Medline: 34655352]
- 95. Spees LP, Wheeler SB, Varia M, Weinberger M, Baggett CD, Zhou X, et al. Evaluating the urban-rural paradox: the complicated relationship between distance and the receipt of guideline-concordant care among cervical cancer patients. Gynecol Oncol 2019 Jan;152(1):112-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2018.11.010] [Medline: 30442384]

Abbreviations

RCT: randomized controlled trial **REDCap:** Research Electronic Data Capture

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 03.01.24; peer-reviewed by D Kukadiya, W Tang, A Weinberg; comments to author 04.04.24; revised version received 28.04.24; accepted 30.07.24; published 30.09.24.

Please cite as:

Hoadley A, Fleisher L, Kenny C, Kelly PJA, Ma X, Wu J, Guerra C, Leader AE, Alhajji M, D'Avanzo P, Landau Z, Bass SB Exploring Racial Disparities in Awareness and Perceptions of Oncology Clinical Trials: Cross-Sectional Analysis of Baseline Data From the mychoice Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e56048 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56048 doi:10.2196/56048 PMID:

©Ariel Hoadley, Linda Fleisher, Cassidy Kenny, Patrick JA Kelly, Xinrui Ma, Jingwei Wu, Carmen Guerra, Amy E Leader, Mohammed Alhajji, Paul D'Avanzo, Zoe Landau, Sarah Bauerle Bass. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 30.09.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Development of an Educational Website for Patients With Cancer and Preexisting Autoimmune Diseases Considering Immune Checkpoint Blockers: Usability and Acceptability Study

Maria A Lopez-Olivo¹, MD, PhD; Maria E Suarez-Almazor^{1,2}, MD, PhD; Gabrielle F Duhon³, MPH; McKenna Cherry⁴, BS; Huifang Lu², MD, PhD; Cassandra Calabrese⁵, DO; Mehmet Altan⁶, MD; Hussain Tawbi⁷, MD, PhD; Alexa Meara⁸, MD; Clifton O Bingham⁹, MD; Adi Diab⁷, MD; Viola B Leal¹, MPH; Robert J Volk¹, PhD

¹Department of Health Services Research, MD Anderson Cancer Center, The University of Texas, Houston, TX, United States

²Section of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology of the Department of General Internal Medicine, MD Anderson Cancer Center, The University of Texas, Houston, TX, United States

³OCHIN, Inc, Portland, OR, United States

⁴Texas Woman's University, Houston, TX, United States

⁵Department of Rheumatologic & Immunologic Disease, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, TX, United States

⁶Department of Thoracic-Head & Neck Medical Oncology, MD Anderson Cancer Center, The University of Texas, Houston, TX, United States

⁷Department of Melanoma Medical Oncology, MD Anderson Cancer Center, The University of Texas, Houston, TX, United States

⁸Division of Internal Medicine, Wexner Medical Center, Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States

⁹Division of Rheumatology, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States

Corresponding Author:

Maria A Lopez-Olivo, MD, PhD Department of Health Services Research MD Anderson Cancer Center The University of Texas 1515 Holcombe Boulevard Houston, TX, TX 77030 United States Phone: 1 7135630020 Email: amlopezo@mdanderson.org

Abstract

Background: Patients with cancer and an underlying autoimmune disease who are considering immune checkpoint blockers (ICBs) need to know about the benefits and risks of severe immune-related adverse events and flares of the autoimmune condition.

Objective: This study aims to develop and alpha test an educational website for patients with cancer.

Methods: Learning topics, images, and website architecture (including flow and requirements) were developed and iteratively reviewed by members of a community scientist program, a patient advisory group, and content experts. Alpha testing was performed, measuring the site's usability using the Suitability Assessment of Materials and its acceptability using the Ottawa Acceptability Measure.

Results: The website included a home page; general information about ICBs; comprehensive modules on the benefits and risks of ICBs for patients with cancer and preexisting autoimmune diseases; general wellness information; and features such as a quiz, additional resources, and a glossary. For the alpha testing, 9 users assessed the newly developed website. Patient reviewers (n=5) had rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn disease, Sjogren syndrome, or vasculitis. Health care provider reviewers (n=4) were medical oncologists or rheumatologists. The median Suitability Assessment of Materials rating was 75 (IQR 70-79; range 0-100) for patients versus 66 (IQR 57-72; range 0-100) for providers (scores \geq 70 indicate no substantial changes needed). Recommendations for improvement, mostly involving navigation and accessibility, were addressed. All participants expressed that the website was acceptable and balanced in terms of discussion of benefits and harms. Because half (2/4, 50%) of the providers suggested we increase the amount of information, we extended the content on the impact of having an autoimmune disease when considering ICB treatment, the probability of flares, and the management of flares in this context.

Conclusions: The feedback led to minor revisions to enhance readability, navigation, and accessibility, ensuring the website's suitability as a decision-making aid. The newly developed website could become a supporting tool to facilitate patient-physician discussion regarding ICBs.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53443) doi:10.2196/53443

KEYWORDS

immune checkpoint inhibitors; patient education; usability testing; cancer; autoimmune diseases; mobile phones; user testing; usability; user experience; immunotherapy; websites; development; acceptability; autoimmune; immunology; oncology; architecture; iterative; vasculitis; Crohn disease; Sjogren syndrome; educational; web-based resource; health information; rheumatology; arthritis; web design; eHealth; adverse events; patient care; treatment

Introduction

Health information can motivate patients to become involved in their health care and facilitate discussions between patients and health care providers [1]. Informed patients also have better treatment adherence and satisfaction with their care [2,3]. Although web-based information can be helpful, it can also be harmful as it may contain conflicting, biased, or incomplete information, causing confusion on the part of the patient. For instance, requests for interventions that may not be appropriate or may have unforeseen harms may emerge from unbalanced, poor-quality information that presents an overly positive picture [4].

Immune checkpoint blockers (ICBs) are immunotherapy drugs that enhance the immune system's ability to target cancer by inhibiting specific pathways that regulate immune cell activity, such as programmed cell death protein 1, programmed death ligand 1, and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte–associated protein 4 [5]. These pathways are often exploited by cancer cells to evade immune detection. By blocking these checkpoints, ICBs unleash T-cells to attack cancer more effectively, significantly benefiting patients with various malignancies, including melanoma, nonsmall cell lung cancer, renal cell carcinoma, and others [6]. However, this approach can also trigger immune-related adverse events, as the heightened immune response may affect normal tissues [7].

Because ICBs have the potential to cause severe immune-related adverse events or exacerbate underlying autoimmune conditions, patients with cancer and a preexisting autoimmune disease who undergo treatment with ICBs need balanced information about ICBs [8-10]. Results from our prior learning needs assessment in this population suggest that some patients like to learn on their own to allow time to digest information and ask questions later [11]. We found that most patients preferred educational materials in multiple formats (eg, video, audio, graphics, and text), suggesting that websites or smartphone apps would be the most convenient delivery channels [11]. Clinicians also agreed that the optimal delivery of health information should include multiple formats; however, crucial requirements identified by providers were accuracy, simplicity, and standardized information (as opposed to individualized or nonlinear information) [12].

To our knowledge, there currently exists no web-based information containing specific content for patients with cancer and a preexisting autoimmune disease who are considering ICBs. Current websites provide only general information about cancer and ICBs, with few providing balanced information between benefits and potential risks [13]. We developed and alpha tested an educational website designed to inform patients with cancer and underlying autoimmune diseases who are considering ICBs and to facilitate patient-provider discussions.

Methods

Design

We followed a user-centered approach to develop and test our website [14]. Our study process, depicted in Figure 1, involved 3 main sequential phases: identification of learning topics, website development, and user testing.



Figure 1. Study design.



Identification of Learning Topics

The process for identification of the key points to include in the educational content has been described elsewhere [12,13]. Briefly, an environmental scan was conducted to assess the quality and content of web-based information about ICBs [13]. Concurrently, we interviewed patients with cancer and a preexisting autoimmune disease who were considering or already had received ICBs, as well as the providers caring for these patients [11,12]. We asked both patients and providers about their preferred formats and channels to deliver information.

Website Development

Two review authors (ME and MALO) created educational content based on the identified learning needs and current informational gaps. Two patient health education specialists helped to ensure that the content readability was at a sixth-grade level or below. We then focused on the website architecture and design requirements, including colors, layout, and text formatting. We identified the main components and special features to be included (ie, medical illustrations, glossary of terms, quiz based on the educational content, and links to other relevant URLs). For the mockup website, the informational components were categorized into basic, key, and other health-related information. A medical illustrator created visual representations of the concepts related to the immune system,

immune cells, immune checkpoint proteins, and autoimmune diseases.

The learning topics; images that were relevant to the educational content; and website architecture, including flow and requirements, were iteratively reviewed by health education specialists, members of a community scientist program, a patient advisory group (ie, 3 patients who had received ICBs and 2 caregivers), and content experts (ie, 3 oncologists, 4 rheumatologists, and 1 decision scientist). Four Zoom (Zoom Video Communications, Inc) meetings were held with members of the community scientist program (an institutional resource to gain consumers' input on research projects), which includes patients with cancer, survivors, and caregivers (the number of participants in each of these groups differed for every meeting, n=8-12). Moderators of the meetings took written notes, and this information was used to modify the website content. Feedback on the mockup website from the patient advisory group and the content experts was received through individual interviews and email communications, and a disposition report was created that summarized all comments and how they were addressed. Screenshots of the mockup website are shown in the Multimedia Appendix 1.

Patient and Provider Testing of the Prototype

After developing the mockup website, we conducted an extensive evaluation of the prototype (alpha testing). Nielsen studies suggest that 5 users from any user group will elicit 80%

of interface usability problems [15]. The purpose of the testing was primarily to assess visual elements, content of the website, navigation, functionality, acceptability, and usability.

Recruitment

Participants were recruited from a large comprehensive cancer center. We posted flyers in participating clinics. In addition, research staff identified potentially eligible patients by reviewing clinic schedules and through a chart review. Patients met eligibility criteria if they were diagnosed with an underlying autoimmune disease, had already received ICBs, were fluent in English, and had access to a device with Zoom conferencing capabilities. Providers were eligible if they were medical oncologists or internal medicine specialists caring for these patients. Potential participants were contacted by phone, message, or email by a member of the research team and invited to participate.

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the institutional review board at The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center (protocol #2020-0843). All participants provided verbal consent to participate. Informed consent was obtained from all participants involved in the study. Members of the patient advisory board and patients completing the alpha testing were compensated (\$180 gift card for members of the advisory board and \$30 for patients). Study data were collected and managed using a secure, web-based software platform, REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University) hosted at The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center [16,17].

Procedures

After providing informed consent, participants navigated the website using computers connected to the internet at their homes using Zoom or in the clinic on mobile devices. Two investigators (MALO and GFD or VT) led the user testing session, with MALO sitting in on most sessions to take notes. We used 3 different approaches for testing as follows.

- Navigation testing: During cognitive interviews, we asked participants to describe how they were navigating through the website [18]. Written notes were taken of participant reactions and behaviors. We asked questions about the general look and feel of the mockup website (eg, language and terminology, information layout, and images), menu options and pathways, and how they would normally access the website (smartphone or PC). We instructed participants to complete some basic tasks to find information on the website to test its functionality. In addition, we asked about the appropriateness of the content and images (see Section S1 inMultimedia Appendix 2). Navigation sessions lasted between 52 and 64 minutes for patients and 30 to 60 minutes for providers. They were conducted between March 2023 and July 2023.
- Usability: We used the Suitability Assessment of Materials (SAM) to evaluate the adequacy of the content, literacy demand, graphics, layout and typography, learning stimulation and motivation, and cultural appropriateness [19]. Each item in SAM has 3 possible responses: "not adequate," "adequate," and "superior." A "superior"

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53443
```

response scores 2 points for that item; an "adequate" response scores 1 point; and a "not adequate" response scores 0 points. These points are then added up and divided by the maximum possible total score (ie, 44) to obtain a percentage rating (hereafter referred to as the SAM score). A SAM score of 70 to 100 is considered superior with no need for revisions. A SAM score of 40 to 60 is considered suitable, but revisions may be needed for any items considered unsuitable. A SAM score of less than 40 is considered not suitable [20,21].

Acceptability: The Ottawa Acceptability Measure was used to obtain patient ratings of various features of the educational tool, including length and amount of information, type of information (balanced or not), and likelihood to help people with cancer and autoimmune diseases who are considering ICBs. Responses can be reported descriptively in terms of proportions responding positively or negatively on each criterion. The scale also includes an open-ended question about the overall satisfaction with the website [22].

Other measures collected included patient demographics (ie, age, sex, race, ethnicity, language, and education), health literacy using the Single Item Literacy Screener to identify patients who have difficulty reading health-related materials [23], and preferred decision-making role (the patient is the primary decision maker [active], the provider is the primary decision-maker [passive], or the provider and patient make the decision together [collaborative]) using the Control Preferences Scale [24].

Analysis

We used a mixed methods approach for data analysis. Notes from the navigation testing with participants and the responses to the Ottawa Acceptability Measure open-ended questions were collated and categorized into themes related to acceptability, usability, accessibility, navigation, and functionality of the website. Changes were made if more than 2 patients or providers suggested areas of improvement. We used descriptive statistics to summarize the characteristics of the participants and the data from the usability and acceptability scales.

Results

Website Components

Figure 2 shows the components included in the website. The final site map includes a page with general information about ICBs (ie, "What cancer is?" "What the immune system is?" "What T-cells are?" "How the immune system responds to cancer?" "What immunotherapy is?" "What immune checkpoints are?" ICB mechanisms of action, and types of ICBs) and learning modules covering (1) benefits of ICBs (ie, choice of treatment, benefits of ICBs, ICB treatment vs other cancer treatments, and ICB therapy vs chemotherapy); (2) receipt of ICBs in the context of autoimmune disease (ie, "What autoimmune diseases are?" "What flares are?" "How can ICBs affect autoimmune diseases?" importance of autoimmune disease control when considering ICB treatment, risk of flares during ICB treatment with autoimmune disease specialist); (3)

possible side effects (ie, side effects that are not flares of the autoimmune disease, symptoms that require immediate attention, permanent or fatal side effects, and when to call a doctor); and (4) what patients should expect before, during, and after treatment with ICBs (ie, discussion with doctor, tumor markers, ICB treatment process, length of ICB treatment, ICB monotherapy vs combination, ICB combined with other cancer treatments, and causes of ICB discontinuation). An additional page includes information about the potential impact of ICBs

on quality of life as well as exercise and daily activities, support groups, and maintaining a healthy diet. The site also includes a quiz, a values clarification booklet with possible questions to ask doctors, a glossary page with definitions of the medical terminology used throughout the site, and a resources page with links to downloadable documents and related sites. The "About Us" page includes the names and affiliations of those involved in the development and production of the website, a health information disclaimer, and the sources of funding.

Figure 2. Site map for the newly developed website. ICB: immune checkpoint blocker.



Website Maintenance

The website displays an update date to inform users of the most recent revisions. To ensure the website remains up-to-date and relevant, the content will be reviewed and updated every 24 months or more frequently as new evidence emerges. Updates will be managed by the research team, which maintains a database of relevant medical literature on the topic [25,26]. Specific updates will include incorporating new ICB indications, advances in toxicity management, and any critical findings relevant to autoimmune disease risks.

Patient and Provider Testing of the Prototype

Patient participants (n=5) had a mean age of 59.2 (SD 11.6) years; 3 (60%) were female, 2 (40%) had diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis, 1 (20%) had Crohn disease, 1 (20%) had Sjogren syndrome, and 1 (20%) had granulomatosis with polyangiitis. The following malignancies reported were each reported once (n=1, 20%): lung cancer, prostate cancer, melanoma, colon cancer, and breast cancer. The ICB administered, education level, race, ethnicity, health literacy, and preferred decision-making role of the participants are summarized in Table 1.



Table 1. Characteristics of patient participants (n=5).

Characteristic	Values
Age (years), mean (SD)	59.2 (11.6)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	3 (60)
Education level, n (%)	
Less than high school diploma	1 (20)
High school diploma or higher degree	4 (80)
Race or ethnicity, n (%)	
Hispanic White	1 (20)
Non-Hispanic White	4 (80)
Health literacy, n (%)	
Adequate	3 (60)
Inadequate	2 (40)
Preferred decision-making role , n (%)	
Collaborative	4 (80)
Active	1 (20)
Immune checkpoint blocker administered , n (%)	
Durvalumab	2 (40)
Nivolumab	2 (40)
Pembrolizumab	1 (20)

Provider participants (n=5) comprised 4 (80%) melanoma medical oncologists and 1 (20%) rheumatologist. Three (60%) were female, 3 (60%) were White, and 2 (40%) were Asian, with a median of 18 (IQR 16-20) years of practice. The median SAM score for patient participants was 75 (IQR 70-79; range 0-100). For provider participants, the median SAM score was 66 (IQR 57-72; range 0-100). Providers reported seeing an average of 20-200 patients who are receiving ICBs, and providers spent 20% to 75% of their time in clinical practice. All reported being confident in managing patients with cancer and preexisting autoimmune diseases.

Usability

The median SAM score for patient participants was 75 (IQR 9.1; range 0-100). For provider participants, the median SAM score was 64 (IQR 14.2; range 0-100). The number of patients and providers rating specific items on SAM as adequate or superior is shown in Table 2 [19]. Only 2 items were considered for revision: consistently providing context before presenting new information and adding step-by-step directions for the interpretation of medical illustrations used. We did not consider making changes to the typography because our text met the criteria for suitability (ie, consistent use of upper and lower case with serif font type, font size of at least 12 points, bolding and change of color, and size used to emphasize key points).



Table 2. Proportion of participants rating each item on the Suitability Assessment of Materials as adequate or superior.

Item	Patients (n=5), n (%)	Providers (n=4 ^a), n (%)	
Content subscale			
Purpose is evident	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Content	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Scope is limited	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Summary of review included	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Literacy demand subscale			
Reading grade level	5 (100)	3 (75)	
Writing style, active voice	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Vocabulary with common words	5 (100)	3 (75)	
Context given first	4 (80)	4 (100)	
Learning aids via "road signs"	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Graphics subscale			
Cover graphic showing purpose	5 (100)	3 (75)	
Type of graphics	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Relevance of illustrations	5 (100)	3 (75)	
Lists and tables explained	4 (80)	3 (75)	
Captions used for graphics	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Layout and typography subscale			
Layout easy to follow	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Typography appropriate	4 (80)	4 (100)	
Subheading "chunking" used	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Learning stimulation and motivation subscale			
Interaction used	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Behaviors modeled and specific	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Motivation and self-efficacy	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Cultural appropriateness subscale			
Match in logic, language, experience	5 (100)	4 (100)	
Cultural image and examples	5 (100)	4 (100)	

^aOne clinician provided only verbal suggestions after navigation.

Acceptability

Patient participants agreed that the website was acceptable, with good or excellent information regarding the impact of preexisting autoimmune diseases in the context of ICB therapy and risk of flares (Table 3). Patients perceived the information as balanced (benefits or harms ratio) and containing enough

information to be helpful for making a decision regarding the use of ICBs (Table 3). Providers were neutral about the length of information, preferring more information in general, especially about treatment options. As a result of this feedback, we expanded the amount of information provided about treatment options, ICB infusions, and disease flares of underlying autoimmune diseases.



Table 3. Proportion of participants rating each item on the Ottawa Acceptability Measure as good or excellent.

Ottawa Acceptability Measure item	Patients (n=5), n (%)	Providers (n=4 ^a), n (%)
Type of information presented		
Impact of preexisting autoimmune disease	5 (100)	2 (50)
Risk of flares	4 (80)	2 (50)
Treatment options	3 (60)	2 (50)
Right length of information	4 (80)	2 (50)
Right amount of information	4 (80)	2 (50)
Balanced information	5 (100)	4 (100)
Educational tool useful at the time of first discussing treatment with immune check- point inhibitors	5 (100)	4 (100)
Enough information to help patients decide whether to use immune checkpoint in- hibitors	5 (100)	3 (75)

^aOne clinician provided only verbal suggestions after navigation.

Qualitative Synthesis of Suggestions

Patient participants appreciated the ICB overview. Most comments were favorable; patients expressed that having this website before starting ICB therapy would have made it easier to understand the information and their decisions. One participant commented, "It was really informative. I wish I had it to know what I was getting into." Another commented, "I was able to read it. I like it was in common words that I could understand." Other participants commented on the amount of information. For example, a participant stated, "I think it was just right what was in there. Not too much, not too little. It gave enough info to decide." Others commented on the additional pages, such as the glossary of terms and features of the site ("crisp" images, breakdown of the content, and ability to move from 1 module to another).

Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 contains a summary of the suggested website changes. Recommendations for improvement mostly involved minor changes to the content to improve readability and expand information to include more details about the immune system and autoimmune diseases and treatment. Other recommendations involved navigation (eg, adding a home page button and site map), accessibility (eg, enlarging images and including activities), and functionality (eg, adding a link to the institutional patient portal for direct messaging to the clinic).

Discussion

Principal Findings

This paper details the design, development, and evaluation of an educational website with information tailored for patients with cancer and preexisting autoimmune diseases considering treatment with ICBs. The website included comprehensive information on ICBs, their benefits and risks, and the implications for patients with autoimmune conditions, alongside tools such as a quiz and a glossary. Both patient and provider participants found the website usable and acceptable. Patients appreciated the clarity and relevance of the content, while providers suggested expanding information on treatment options. Minor improvements were recommended to enhance readability,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53443
```

RenderX

navigation, and functionality, indicating the website's potential as a valuable resource for informed decision-making in this patient population.

In the United States, more than 1 in 3 individuals currently access web-based health information [27], and its use has grown substantially over the past decade [28,29]. Therefore, the creation of a dedicated website for patients with cancer and preexisting autoimmune disease appears to be a cost-effective and widely accessible solution to address some of the unmet informational needs of this patient population [11]. Reliable web-based information can complement the role of clinicians in health education, making web-based information a valuable supportive tool in the overall health care process [30-32]. Furthermore, web-based information platforms can play a crucial role in supporting individuals in remote areas and those without access to health care education services. In clinical settings with vast demand and insufficient time to allocate to ensure that patients comprehend the information received by the health care team, web-based information can also play an important role.

Relying on Google or other search engines for health information can cause problems when the information available is inaccurate, of low quality, not relevant to the individual's needs, or inconsistent across various sources. In fact, such poor information may have negative effects on communication between patients and health care providers [30,31]. In our previous research, patients expressed a desire for trustworthy sources of information that align with their health care provider's recommendations. Similarly, health care providers welcomed patients sharing web-based health information if it was accurate and relevant to their medical needs [11,12].

Based on the previous research findings, we designed our website to address the specific needs of patients with cancer and preexisting autoimmune diseases. Our research indicated that these patients face challenges in obtaining comprehensive and reliable information about ICBs and the potential for immune-related adverse events and autoimmune disease flares [11,13]. Both patients and clinicians expressed a desire for a trustworthy and easily accessible source of evidence-based information, which our website aims to provide [12,13]. Our

past research has also shown that although patients are given information about immune-related adverse events and flares from their clinicians at the time of the first encounter, patients often fail to understand or remember it [11]. In addition, current information about ICBs is not specific for patients with preexisting autoimmune disease, thus clinicians cannot offer resources with specific information for patients to review after their encounter [13].

During the design and development phases, the research team recommended creating a user-friendly site with content that met the plain language guidelines for patients with low health literacy, in addition to presenting high-quality, evidence-based information. The objectives were achieved successfully because the design, content, illustrations, and language used were well received by the users. The prototype testing revealed that the website was user-friendly and easy to navigate. Additionally, participants found the content highly suitable for their needs.

A strength of our study was the adoption of a user-centered design approach, effectively addressing users' requirements for a website that was easy to use, comprehensive, evidence-based, and backed by reputable experts and health care providers. Another strength was the engagement of a diverse group of multidisciplinary expert clinical advisors and a design team with extensive knowledge and experience in user-centered design.

As with any research study, ours also had some limitations. First, our team has limited representation of participants with low health literacy, who may have provided different feedback than that from our participants. However, we addressed this by including health literacy experts among the production group. Second, for assessing the website's usability and acceptability, patients were deliberately selected from individuals who had already received ICBs to ensure an in-depth experience. However, it is important to acknowledge that this sampling approach may not fully represent the feedback that we could have received from individuals who have not yet been exposed to ICBs. Nonetheless, the recommendations collected closely aligned with those from our patient advisory board and the community scientist program, both of which include individuals without previous knowledge of immunotherapy or autoimmune diseases. Finally, the type of web-based platform chosen to address users' needs was predetermined before the study began because previous research indicated a preference for channels that would allow delivery of the information in multiple formats [33]. It is possible that a smartphone app or the electronic health record system could have been used to deliver text and illustrations and include interactions but the chosen format was based on our preliminary work [11,12].

Ongoing data collection will provide more information to evaluate the effectiveness of the newly developed website in enhancing knowledge, facilitating patient-provider discussions, and continuing to meet the end users' needs. Additionally, further research is planned to enhance specific sections of the website, incorporating more complex features to address users' requests. To improve accessibility, we also aim to translate the content into other languages.

Conclusions

We used a human-centered design approach, involving the user throughout the design process to ensure that the final website met the needs and requirements of the targeted population. The research team, encompassing multiple stakeholders (ie, patients, caregivers, educators, physicians, and researchers), was involved throughout the design process. Our newly developed website was acceptable for patients and has the potential to become a supporting tool to facilitate patient-provider discussions regarding ICBs.

Acknowledgments

This study was presented in a conference abstract at the National Cancer Institute, Center to Reduce Cancer Health Disparities Professional Development Workshop. Editorial support was provided by Erica Goodoff and Bryan F Tutt of the Research Medical Library at The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center. The authors would like to thank David Diep and Sheryl Ness from the Patient Education Office at MD Anderson, the Community Scientist Program at MD Anderson, and the Community Health Program from Texas A&M University for their contributions to the creation of the content and feedback on the website. Medical illustrations were created by Jordan T Pietz from the Biomedical Visualization section in the office of Creative Communications at MD Anderson. Finally, the authors are thankful to James D Alexander, a senior web developer from the Decision Support Laboratory at MD Anderson, for his design and programming contributions during the development of the website, and Virgilia Tipaz, senior research data coordinator from the Decision Support Laboratory at MD Anderson Cancer Center Support Grant funded by the National Cancer Institute (project CA237619); The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center Support Grant funded by the National Institutes of Health/National Cancer Institute under award P30CA016672 (using the Shared Decision-Making Core); the Rheumatology Research Foundation; and the Center for Community-Engaged Translational Research, a resource of The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center.

Data Availability

The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

MALO conceptualized the study, obtained funding, managed the project, conducted all statistical analyses, conducted provider interviews, and drafted the original manuscript; MESA contributed to the study's conceptualization and critically reviewed website

content; GFD recruited patient participants and conducted interviews; MC drafted the original website content; HL, CC, MA, HT, AM, COB, and AD provided feedback during website content and contributed by reviewing and editing the manuscript; VBL assisted with regulatory compliance, website production, and contributed to reviewing and editing the manuscript; and RJV developed the study methodology, website production, and participated in reviewing and editing the manuscript. All authors reviewed the final manuscript and approved it for submission.

Conflicts of Interest

CC reports speakers' bureau from AstraZeneca and Sanofi, and consulting fees from AstraZeneca, Sanofi, and Lilly. MA received research funding (to institution) from Genentech, Nektar Therapeutics, Merck, GlaxoSmithKline, Novartis, Jounce Therapeutics, Bristol Myers Squibb, Eli Lilly, Adaptimmune, Shattuck Lab, Gilead, Verismo therapeutics, Lyell. In addition, he is part of Advisory Boards from GlaxoSmithKline, Shattuck Lab, Bristol Myers Squibb, AstraZeneca, Insightec, Regeneron and has received speaker fees from AstraZeneca, Nektar Therapeutics, SITC. He reports participation in the safety review committee for Nanobiotix-MDA Alliance, Henlius.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Screenshots of the mockup website. [DOCX File, 950 KB - cancer v10i1e53443 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Interview guides and website design recommendations. [DOCX File, 22 KB - cancer_v10i1e53443_app2.docx]

References

- Paterick TE, Patel N, Tajik AJ, Chandrasekaran K. Improving health outcomes through patient education and partnerships with patients. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent) 2017;30(1):112-113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08998280.2017.11929552] [Medline: 28152110]
- Anderson PM, Krallman R, Montgomery D, Kline-Rogers E, Bumpus SM. The relationship between patient satisfaction with hospitalization and outcomes up to 6 months post-discharge in cardiac patients. J Patient Exp 2020;7(6):1685-1692 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2374373520948389] [Medline: 33457631]
- 3. Taibanguay N, Chaiamnuay S, Asavatanabodee P, Narongroeknawin P. Effect of patient education on medication adherence of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized controlled trial. Patient Prefer Adherence 2019;13:119-129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S192008] [Medline: 30666095]
- 4. Coulter A. Evidence based patient information. BMJ 1998;317(7153):225-226. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.317.7153.225</u>] [Medline: <u>9677206</u>]
- 5. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2012;12(4):252-264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nrc3239] [Medline: 22437870]
- 6. Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. Cancer Cell 2015;27(4):450-461 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.03.001] [Medline: 25858804]
- Postow MA, Sidlow R, Hellmann MD. Immune-related adverse events associated with immune checkpoint blockade. N Engl J Med 2018;378(2):158-168. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMra1703481</u>] [Medline: <u>29320654</u>]
- 8. Aung WY, Lee CS, Morales J, Rahman H, Seetharamu N. Safety and efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors in cancer patients and preexisting autoimmune disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis in non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 2023;24(7):598-612. [doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2023.05.006] [Medline: <u>37328320</u>]
- 9. Tang H, Zhou J, Bai C. The efficacy and safety of immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with cancer and preexisting autoimmune disease. Front Oncol 2021;11:625872 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.625872] [Medline: 33692958]
- Tison A, Quéré G, Misery L, Funck-Brentano E, Danlos FX, Routier E, et al. Safety and efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors in patients with cancer and preexisting autoimmune disease: a nationwide, multicenter cohort study. Arthritis Rheumatol 2019;71(12):2100-2111. [doi: 10.1002/art.41068] [Medline: 31379105]
- Lopez-Olivo MA, Kachira JJ, Buni M, Kim ST, Lu H, Tayar JH, et al. Learning needs of patients with cancer and a pre-existing autoimmune disease who are candidates to receive immune checkpoint inhibitors. Cancers 2023;15(15):382 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers15154004] [Medline: 37568819]
- 12. Lopez-Olivo MA, Duhon GF, Ruiz JI, Altan M, Tawbi H, Diab A, et al. Physician views on the provision of information on immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy to patients with cancer and pre-existing autoimmune disease: a qualitative study. Cancers 2023;15(10):2690 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers15102690] [Medline: 37345026]
- Ruiz JI, Singh G, Erck M, Geng Y, Suarez-Almazor ME, Lopez-Olivo MA. Quality and content evaluation of websites with information about immune checkpoint inhibitors: an environmental scan. PLoS One 2022;17(10):e0275676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0275676] [Medline: 36215234]

- 14. IOf: ISO 9241-210:2010—ergonomics of human-system interaction—part 210: human-centred design for interactive systems. International Organization for Standardization. URL: <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/77520.html</u> [accessed 2023-07-12]
- 15. Saad M, Zia A, Raza M, Kundi M, Haleem M. A comprehensive analysis of healthcare websites usability features, testing techniques and issues. IEEE Access 2022;10:97701-97718. [doi: 10.1109/access.2022.3193378]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)—a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, et al. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019;95:103208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208] [Medline: 31078660]
- Nakić J, Burčul A, Marangunić N. User-centred design in content management system development: the case of EMasters. Int. J. Interact. Mob. Technol 2019;13(08):43-59. [doi: <u>10.3991/ijim.v13i08.10727</u>]
- Tian C, Champlin S, Mackert M, Lazard A, Agrawal D. Readability, suitability, and health content assessment of web-based patient education materials on colorectal cancer screening. Gastrointest Endosc 2014;80(2):284-290. [doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.01.034] [Medline: 24674352]
- 20. Doak CC, Doak LG, Root JH. Teaching patients with low literacy skills. Am J Nurs 1996;96(12):16M. [doi: 10.1097/00000446-199612000-00022]
- 21. Suitability Assessment of Material. Ohio State University. 2023. URL: <u>https://oggosuedu/media/documents/health_lit/HOSAM2006pdf</u> [accessed 2023-07-20]
- 22. O'Connor A, Cranney A. User manual—acceptability. Ottawa Health Research Institute. 1996. URL: <u>https://decisionaid.ohri.ca/docs/develop/User_Manuals/UM_Acceptability.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-06-25]
- Chew LD, Griffin JM, Partin MR, Noorbaloochi S, Grill JP, Snyder A, et al. Validation of screening questions for limited health literacy in a large VA outpatient population. J Gen Intern Med 2008;23(5):561-566 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-008-0520-5] [Medline: 18335281]
- 24. Degner LF, Sloan JA, Venkatesh P. The Control Preferences Scale. Can J Nurs Res 1997;29(3):21-43. [doi: 10.1037/t22188-000] [Medline: 9505581]
- Lopez-Olivo MA, James J, James J, Krause KJ, Roth M, Palos GR, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of e-cigarette use among cancer survivors. J Cancer Surviv 2024;18(3):1059-1074. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-023-01357-6</u>] [Medline: <u>36952212</u>]
- 26. Corps KN, Terry O, Lopez-Olivo MA. Patient voices in rheumatic immune-related adverse events. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2024;50(2):241-254. [doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2024.01.006] [Medline: 38670723]
- 27. Jia X, Pang Y, Liu LS. Online health information seeking behavior: a systematic review. Healthcare 2021;9(12):1740. [doi: 10.3390/healthcare9121740] [Medline: 34946466]
- Akakpo MG. The role of care-seeking behavior and patient communication pattern in online health information-seeking behavior—a cross-sectional survey. Pan Afr Med J 2022;42:124 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.11604/pamj.2022.42.124.33623] [Medline: 36060849]
- 29. Bundorf MK, Wagner TH, Singer SJ, Baker LC. Who searches the internet for health information? Health Serv Res 2006;41:819-836 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2006.00510.x] [Medline: 16704514]
- Lee K, Hoti K, Hughes JD, Emmerton L. Dr Google is here to stay but health care professionals are still valued: an analysis of health care consumers' internet navigation support preferences. J Med Internet Res 2017;19(6):e210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7489] [Medline: 28615156]
- 31. Murray E, Lo B, Pollack L, Donelan K, Catania J, Lee K, et al. The impact of health information on the internet on health care and the physician-patient relationship: National U.S. Survey among 1.050 U.S. physicians. J Med Internet Res 2003;5(3):e17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5.3.e17] [Medline: 14517108]
- 32. Lleras de Frutos M, Casellas-Grau A, Sumalla EC, de Gracia M, Borràs JM, Ochoa Arnedo C. A systematic and comprehensive review of internet use in cancer patients: psychological factors. Psychooncology 2020;29(1):6-16. [doi: 10.1002/pon.5194] [Medline: 31385400]
- Khoong EC, Le GM, Hoskote M, Rivadeneira NA, Hiatt RA, Sarkar U. Health information-seeking behaviors and preferences of a diverse, multilingual urban cohort. Med Care 2019;57:S176-S183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000001050] [Medline: <u>31095058</u>]

Abbreviations

ICB: immune checkpoint blocker REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture; SAM: Suitability Assessment of Materials



Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 06.10.23; peer-reviewed by SK Suthar; comments to author 10.01.24; revised version received 20.09.24; accepted 26.09.24; published 25.10.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Lopez-Olivo MA, Suarez-Almazor ME, Duhon GF, Cherry M, Lu H, Calabrese C, Altan M, Tawbi H, Meara A, Bingham CO, Diab A, Leal VB, Volk RJ Development of an Educational Website for Patients With Cancer and Preexisting Autoimmune Diseases Considering Immune Checkpoint Blockers: Usability and Acceptability Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53443 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53443 doi:10.2196/53443 PMID:

©Maria A Lopez-Olivo, Maria E Suarez-Almazor, Gabrielle F Duhon, McKenna Cherry, Huifang Lu, Cassandra Calabrese, Mehmet Altan, Hussain Tawbi, Alexa Meara, Clifton O Bingham, Adi Diab, Viola B Leal, Robert J Volk. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 25.10.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Designing Positive Psychology Interventions for Social Media: Cross-Sectional Web-Based Experiment With Young Adults With Cancer

Allison J Lazard^{1,2}, PhD; Rhyan N Vereen^{1,3}, MPH, PhD; Jieni Zhou⁴, PhD; Hazel B Nichols^{2,5}, PhD; Marlyn Pulido², MPH; Catherine Swift², LCSW; Nabarun Dasgupta⁶, PhD; Barbara L Fredrickson⁷, PhD

¹Hussman School of Journalism and Media, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

²Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

⁵Department of Epidemiology, Gillings School of Global Public Health, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, NC, United States ⁶Injury Prevention Research Center, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, NC, United States

⁷Department of Psychology and Neuroscience, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

Corresponding Author:

Allison J Lazard, PhD Hussman School of Journalism and Media, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

Abstract

Background: Young adults (ages 18 - 39 years) with cancer face unique risks for negative psychosocial outcomes. These risks could be lessened with positive psychology interventions adapted for social media if intervention messages encourage intentions to do the activities and positive message reactions and if young adults with cancer perceive few downsides.

Objective: This study aimed to assess whether social media messages from evidence-based positive psychology interventions encouraged intentions to do the intervention activities and intended positive message reactions, overall and among sociodemographic or cancer characteristic subgroups. We also aimed to identify perceived downsides of the activity that would negatively impact the interventions' feasibility.

Methods: Young adults (ages 18 - 39 years, cancer diagnosis ages 15 - 39 years) were randomized to a between-persons web-based experiment. Participants viewed a social media message with social context cues (vs not) for 1 of 2 types of intervention (acts of kindness vs social connectedness). Participants reported intentions to do the activity, along with their perceived social presence in the message (how much they felt the sense of others) and forecasted positivity resonance (whether they would experience socially connected positive emotions when doing the activity), with 5-point items. Participants also reported their self-efficacy (how certain they can do the intervention activity) with a 0 - 100 item and potential downsides of the activity categorically.

Results: More than 4 out of 5 young adults with cancer (N=396) reported they "somewhat" (coded as 3) to "extremely" (5) intended to do the intervention activity (336/396, 84.8%; mean ranged from 3.4 - 3.6, SD 0.9-1.0), perceived social presence in the messages (350/396, 88.4%; mean 3.8, SD 0.7), and forecasted positivity resonance (349/396, 88.1%; mean 3.8 - 3.9, SD 0.8). Participants reported having self-efficacy to complete the activity (mean 70.7% of possible 100%, SD 15.4% - 17.2%). Most (320/396, 80.8%) did not think of the downsides of the interventions. Messages with social context cues (vs not) and both intervention types were rated similarly (all P>.05). Black young adults reported lower intentions, perceived social presence, and forecasted positivity resonance than White young adults (all P<.001). Participants in active treatment (vs completed) reported greater intentions to do the activities (P<.001).

Conclusions: Positive psychology intervention messages adapted for social media were perceived as acceptable and feasible among young adults with cancer. The social media–based messages encouraged increasing one's social connectedness and performing acts of kindness. Young adults with cancer also predicted they would have feelings of positive social engagement (positivity resonance) when doing the interventions—the key ingredient for experiencing the health benefits of these activities. This study provides promising evidence for the development of age-appropriate, highly scalable interventions to improve psychosocial health among young adults with cancer.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48627) doi:10.2196/48627



³Department of Health Behavior, Gillings School of Global Public Health, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, NC, United States ⁴Department of Psychology, Yale University, New Haven, CT, United States

KEYWORDS

young adult; cancer survivors; social media; positive psychology; acceptability; feasibility; youth; cancer; psychosocial; self-efficacy; social connection; positive emotion; social engagement

Introduction

Young adults (ages 18 - 39 years) with cancer need tailored interventions to improve their psychosocial health. Young adults who receive any cancer diagnosis often struggle with poor psychosocial health [1,2], more than non-cancer peers [3-5]. Young adults with cancer experience social isolation that is made worse by debilitating life disruptions (eg, extended school and work absences [6-9]) throughout the cancer experience and into survivorship [10,11]. Lack of social connectedness in this population is linked with poor psychological functioning, greater sensitivity to stressors, lower physical functioning, and worse quality of life [12]. Conversely, young adults with cancer who have frequent positive, in-person social interactions have better psychological and health outcomes [13].

The science of positive psychology offers a roadmap to meet the needs of young adults with cancer. Ample evidence demonstrates how behavioral interventions, collectively termed "positive psychology interventions," can increase people's day-to-day positive activities to improve their psychosocial health [14-18]. Among the most widely studied is an act of kindness intervention: a meta-analysis of 27 randomized controlled trials (combined N=4045) found people who increase their everyday kind acts show reliable increases in well-being [19].

Recent work identifies positive experiences of social connectedness as a key active ingredient in acts of kindness interventions [20], a result consistent with other large-scale studies showing that socially engaged pursuits predict increases in well-being [18]. Social connectedness interventions target this active ingredient directly, by assigning people to increase their positive connections with others, even brief ones with acquaintances and strangers encountered in person in daily life [21]. These interventions stem from recent theory and evidence that the collective emotional state of "positivity resonance" functions to build individual psychosocial health and caring communities [21-27]. In-person social connections vary in their positivity resonance, with high quality marked by a fusion of shared positive emotions, mutual kindness, and synchrony [25,28]. A recent randomized controlled trial of various social connectedness interventions produced increases in nightly reports of positivity resonance across 35 days and demonstrated links between this socially engaged state and altruism and other prosocial tendencies [21]. Despite the promise of positive psychology to meet the unique psychosocial needs of young adults with cancer, there are currently few age-appropriate resources available [29,30].

Evidence-based positive psychology interventions should be adapted for young adults with cancer in their design and delivery. Young adults with cancer consistently report needing digital support and reducing social isolation as top priorities [31,32]. Most young adults in the United States (94%) own a smartphone [33], 85% are on the internet daily [34], and 71%

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48627
```

use more than 1 social media platform [35]. Daily, millions of young adults turn to social media, to seek health information and lifestyle advice to improve their well-being [36], including those seeking cancer support [37-39]. Delivered via social media, positive psychology interventions designed for young adults with cancer can reach isolated populations where they are *online* to offer advice on how to foster meaningful, in-person social interactions [40].

Visuals and text about others (termed "social context cues") are important social media message elements to increase motivation to engage with digital interventions [41,42]. Social context cues that are visual (eg, peer photographs) and text-based (eg, personal stories) communicate psychosocial information about others' thinking and experiences [43]. Visuals of people are social context cues that provide rich peer information, which may be especially important for young adults with cancer who want to see images of peers' positive experiences or success stories (eg, enjoying life despite treatment or posttreatment) to feel hopeful [37,38]. Personal stories are text-based social context cues that provide salient cause-and-effect stories [44-47], which can include life advice young adults with cancer are looking for: managing negative mental health (eg, a reminder to stop doomscrolling and get out to connect in real life) or adjusting to a new "normal" of reconnecting and building community (eg, offer a sincere compliment to brighten someone's day) [37,38].

Social context cues increase young adults' perceived social presence in digital interventions [43,48]. Social presence is the feeling of being with others in mediated contexts. Social presence is driven by exposure to social context cues that signal information about peers and allow individuals to feel the personalness and human sensitivity of others through mediated channels. Social context cues increase motivation and use of web-based information for health behaviors because advice is perceived as more useful when it is from or endorsed by a community of peers [41,49], especially from young adults who "get it" because of a cancer diagnosis [42].

In this study, we adapted social media messages to include enhanced social context cues (ie, peer images, stories) for 2 different positive psychology interventions—acts of kindness and social connectedness—and assessed message reactions. This work is guided by our conceptual framework that our existing positive psychology interventions [21,50] can be optimized for young adults with cancer with the addition of attention-getting, relevant social context cues [41,43]. Social context cues are an important motivator for engagement with and intentions to do the behavior in intervention messages [41,51]. Following the advice to create more in-person social encounters allows for the emergence of positivity resonance [25,28], which in turn builds psychosocial health, a vital asset for young adults with cancer [52-54].

Our goal was to assess whether our social media messages encouraged intentions to do the intervention activities with the

XSL•FO RenderX

attendant positive reactions. We conducted a cross-sectional web-based experiment with 396 young adults with cancer (ages 18 - 39 years) viewing mock Instagram intervention messages. We hypothesized that enhanced social context cues (vs not) would lead to greater intentions to do the activity (hypothesis 1), greater perceived social presence in the messages (hypothesis 2), higher forecasted positivity resonance for the activity (hypothesis 3), and higher self-efficacy for the activity (hypothesis 4) across 2 different intervention types. We examined whether the type of intervention activity (acts of kindness vs social connectedness) impacted acceptability, asking (research question 1) whether intervention type impacted intentions. We also examined (research question 2) whether intervention type impacted perceived social presence, forecasted positivity resonance, or self-efficacy. We explored the feasibility of (research question 3) whether social cues or intervention type increased perceived downsides of the activity. Last, we explored whether intervention message reception (with enhanced cues vs not) differed by sociodemographic or cancer characteristics.

Methods

Participants

We recruited young adults with cancer, ages 18 - 39 years, to participate in a cross-sectional web-based experiment in December 2021. This experiment to assess reactions to evidence-based positive psychology interventions optimized for social media was part of a larger, unrelated study to better understand support needs of young adults with cancer. The sample size was calculated for the parent study where participants viewed a peer support app prototype and shared their social media use for cancer support (396 participants had 80% power to detect a small-to-medium effect, Cohen d=0.25, with a 2-tailed, independent samples t test and a critical α of 0.05) before participating in this experiment; results of those efforts will be reported elsewhere.

Young adults were eligible if they (1) were 18 - 39 years old and (2) had received any cancer diagnosis between 15 - 39 years. Participants had to report a cancer diagnosis from a multiselect list (see Measures) or select "other" and fill in their cancer type and select "yes" to receiving a cancer diagnosis between ages 15 - 39 years to be considered eligible. There were no eligibility restrictions for number of years since diagnosis or current treatment status (eg, completed treatment). There were no other exclusion criteria. Eligible participants were recruited by market research companies Opinions for Good and Slice MR [55]. Opinions for Good and Slice MR use their propriety web-based panels of survey respondents to reach a wide range of health care audiences and provide customized recruitment for each research study. Opinions for Good and Slice MR also use unique recruitment incentive methods to reach cancer populations through organization partnerships; participants can directly give back some of their incentive to benefit a nonprofit and advocacy organization of their choice,

which encourages partnership among Opinions for Good and Slice MR with advocacy organizations to connect with individuals interested in participating in research.

Ethical Considerations

This study was reviewed and determined exempted by the University of North Carolina Institutional Review Board (#19 - 2715). We preregistered the procedure and analyses on AsPredicted (#79697). After accessing the survey link, participants provided informed consent by reading the approved consent form. Participants then had to respond "Yes" to participate in the research study, and to confirm they had (1) read the consent form, (2) voluntarily agreed to participate, (3) were 18 - 39 years of age, and (4) had a previous cancer diagnosis. Participants received incentives based on the reward amount set by the Opinions for Good and Slice MR (eg, approximately US \$20) with the opportunity to give a portion to a nonprofit of their choice. To protect the privacy and confidentiality of participants, all publicly available quantitative data are deidentified, and open-ended responses are not included in those public repositories.

Stimuli

Four different posts were created using a mock Instagram interface and accounts created by the team (all shown in Figure 1 with black bars to anonymize the stimuli). To assess the impact of enhanced social context cues on social media posts, we paired the intervention instructions with different post images. In the social context cues conditions, each activity was paired with an image of a smiling young adult. In the image, we also added a personal story with specific examples of their positive experiences (eg, giving a compliment to make someone smile, or having a dog brighten someone's day). In the no cues conditions, positive activity instructions were paired with nonhuman imagery (eg, hearts) without any additional text (ie, no testimonial). All other elements of the mock Instagram posts were the same, including who posted, the number of interactions (eg, likes, comments), and the social media background.

The post message text was adapted from the emailed verbal instructions used in 2 types of evidence-based positive psychology interventions encouraging acts of kindness [50] or social connectedness [21]. All messages suggested that young adults with cancer do 3 positive actions the following day. In the acts of kindness conditions, messages shared, "Research shows acts of kindness can improve your and others' well-being. Tomorrow, try to do three nice things you wouldn't normally do for others." In the social connectedness conditions, messages shared, "Research shows connecting with people you barely know can improve your and others' well-being. Tomorrow, try to create three positive connections with people, beyond what would be your norm." Each post then had a few examples, a statement about next-day follow-up (as would occur in an intervention), and a commonsense caution to not put oneself in danger.



Figure 1. Stimuli.



Procedure

After accessing the Qualtrics link from Opinions for Good and Slice MR invitations, participants answered eligibility questions (current age, diagnosis, age at diagnosis) and provided informed consent. Participants then completed items for the parent support app needs experiment (noted above) before beginning this study. Participants were given a transition prompt to set up this study: "In this next section, we want to show you a social media message for an activity and get your thoughts. Below is an example message for activities that involve social interaction. Please read the message and respond to the items below."

Young adults with cancer were then randomized to view an intervention message from 1 of 2 options for the first manipulation of social context cues (enhanced social context cues vs no enhanced cues) and for 1 of 2 options in the second manipulation of intervention types (acts of kindness vs social connectedness). Participants viewed one of the 4 messages from the respective social cue or intervention type conditions shown in Figure 1 (ie, acts of kindness message with and without social context cues). Participants were randomized to their study conditions, and which message they would view, with the randomization feature in the Qualtrics survey flow.

Participants were shown the intervention message at the top of the survey web page. With the stimuli shown, participants were

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48627

RenderX

asked to report (1) their intentions to do the activity, (2) perceived social presence in the message, (3) forecasted positivity resonance for emotions they would feel if they engaged in the activity, (4) their self-efficacy for undertaking the activity, and (5) any downsides for the activity. Items within scales were shown in a randomized order.

Measures

Intentions

We captured intentions to do the activity with an adapted single item [56]: "If this activity was assigned to you, how likely would you be to complete it tomorrow?" Response options were "not at all" (coded as 1), "a little" (2), "somewhat" (3), "quite a bit" (4), or "extremely" (5).

Perceived Social Presence

Participants rated the feelings of others in the message with 5 established items [57,58], including "There is a sense of personalness in the message." Response options were "not at all" (1), "a little" (2), "somewhat" (3), "quite a bit" (4), or "extremely" (5).

Forecasted Positivity Resonance

We assessed the degree to which participants anticipated socially engaged positive emotions by inquiring about forecasted personal enjoyment and adapting (for forecasted vs experienced affect) the Perceived Positivity Resonance Scale [23,27]. Items

were "If you were to do this activity tomorrow, to what degree would you anticipate...," followed by 3 items: "...personally enjoying the activity?," "...experiencing a mutual sense of warmth and concern toward one another?," and "feeling 'in sync' with the other(s)?" Response options were "not at all" (1), "a little" (2), "somewhat" (3), "quite a bit" (4), or "extremely" (5).

Self-Efficacy

Participants reported their self-efficacy or confidence in their ability to complete the activity with the single item [59]: "Please indicate how certain you are that you can do the activity from the message." Responses were captured with a slider that was labeled with "cannot do at all" (0), "moderately can do" (50), and "highly certain can do" (100).

Potential Downsides

To better understand potential unintended consequences of the intervention messages we developed new items for this study. Specifically, we asked, "Do any downsides immediately come to mind when thinking about doing this activity?" Response options: "yes" (1), "no" (2), and "not sure" (3). If participants responded yes or not sure, they were asked to select from a multiselection item all the relevant downsides, including "would take too much time" (1), "would cost too much money" (2), "I already do these things and don't need this prompt" (3), and given a chance to "fill in any other downsides not listed" (4) in an open-ended text box.

Cancer Characteristics

Participants reported their cancer diagnosis with a multiselect item: "What cancer diagnosis have you received?" Response options included 15 cancers ("brain tumor," "breast," "cervical", "colon," "Hodgkin Lymphoma," "Leukemia," "lung," "non-Hodgkin Lymphoma," "ovarian," "rectal," "sarcoma," "testicular," "thyroid," "uterine/endometrial"), an "other" option with text entry, "prefer not to answer" (not eligible), or "I never had a cancer diagnosis" (not eligible). In addition to confirming eligibility ("yes"/"no") for a cancer diagnosis between ages 15 - 39 years, participants also reported their age of diagnosis for all cancer types selected. For each cancer selected, participants also reported their cancer stage, "If your [cancer] diagnosis was staged, with which stage were you diagnosed," and response options of "I," "II," "III," "IV," and "unknown/not applicable." For each cancer selected, participants reported their current treatment status, "Which of the following best describes your current treatment status with your [cancer] diagnosis?" Participants had either "completed treatment" or were considered in active treatment (ie, "in treatment," "ongoing therapies (hormonal, immunotherapy, etc)," "chronic disease (in/out of treatment)," or "not yet started treatment").

Data Analyses

We first ensured reliability via Cronbach α for the multi-item outcome scales was sufficient (>0.70). We also ensured our continuous variables were within normal distribution thresholds (skewness within SD 2, kurtosis within SD 7) [60]. We then inspected distributions to exclude extreme outliers (>3 SDs from the mean) and then computed descriptive statistics for all outcomes (ie, means, SDs, and proportions) by study condition. For all our predictions with continuous outcomes, we conducted ANOVAs, one for each outcome. The predictors were social context cues (present vs absent) and intervention type (acts of kindness vs social connectedness). We conducted chi-square tests for categorical outcomes (ie, downsides). We used a Bonferroni-corrected critical α of 0.005 and 2-tailed statistical tests for planned comparisons.

We next explored participant characteristics as moderators where sufficient subgroup sample sizes were allowed. This included age (18-24, 25-29, 30-34, and 35-39 years), race (Black vs White), gender (women vs men), and treatment status (completed vs active treatment). Each subgroup was included as a predictor, along with social context cues condition (present vs absent), in separate ANOVAs for intentions, social presence, forecasted affect, or self-efficacy. We omitted the intervention type and used a Bonferroni-corrected critical α of 0.002 and 2-tailed statistical tests for exploratory moderation. Per our preregistration, we conducted serial mediation analyses with PROCESS (SPSS macro) to examine mediated effects of social presence on our outcomes, but only reported in the web-based Multimedia Appendix 1, since we did not have main effects on our proposed mediator.

Results

Participant Characteristics

Young adult participants' (N=396) average age was 31 (SD 5.2) years, with an average age of 27 (SD 5.1) years at diagnosis (Table 1). Participants mostly identified as male (251/396, 63.4%), White (246/396, 62.1%), or Black or African American (95/396, 24%). Young adults were from all 50 United States (392/396, 99%) and Canada. Cancer diagnoses included lung cancer (85/396, 21.5%), brain tumors (62/396, 15.7%), leukemia (37/396, 9.3%), breast cancer (32/396, 8.1%), testicular cancer (32/396, 8.1%), colon cancer (30/396, 7.6%), cervical cancer (30/396, 7.6%), rectal cancer (28/396, 7.1%), and thyroid cancer (20/396, 5.1%), among others. Participants had either completed treatment (73/396, 18.4%) or were in active treatment, including reporting they were in treatment (160/396, 40.4%), ongoing therapies (139/396, 35.1%), in and out of treatment (15/396, 3.8%), and not yet started treatment (11/396, 2.8%). Participants did not differ by age, race and ethnicity, gender, or treatment status across experimental conditions.



Table . Participant demographics (N=396).

Demographics	Values
Current age (in years), mean (SD)	31.1 (5.2)
18 - 24, n (%)	45 (11.4)
25 - 29, n (%)	90 (22.7)
30 - 34, n (%)	121 (30.6)
35 - 39, n (%)	132 (33.3)
Age at diagnosis (years), mean (SD)	26.8 (5.1)
Gender, n (%)	
Women	131 (33.1)
Men	251 (63.4)
Nonbinary, gender queer, or questioning	2 (0.6)
Transgender, n (%)	
Yes, transgender	38 (9.6)
No, not transgender	345 (87.1)
Race and ethnicity, n (%)	
White	246 (62.1)
Black or African American	95 (24.0)
Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish	26 (6.6)
Asian	9 (2.3)
American Indian or Alaska Native	8 (2.0)
Some other race or ethnicity	2 (0.5)
Multiracial	10 (2.5)
Diagnosis ^a , n (%)	
Brain tumor	62 (15.7)
Breast cancer	32 (8.1)
Cervical cancer	30 (7.6)
Colon cancer	30 (7.6)
Hodgkin lymphoma	18 (4.5)
Leukemia	37 (9.3)
Lung cancer	85 (21.5)
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	2 (0.5)
Ovarian cancer	15 (3.8)
Rectal cancer	28 (7.1)
Sarcoma	6 (1.5)
Testicular cancer	32 (8.1)
Thyroid cancer	20 (5.1)
Uterine/endometrial cancer	14 (3.5)
Other cancers	9 (2.3)
Stage ^a , n (%)	
I	140 (35.4)
П	188 (47.5)
III	54 (13.6)

XSL•FO RenderX

Demographics	Values
IV	16 (4.1)
Treatment status, n (%)	
Active (in treatment, ongoing therapies, in/out of treatment, or not yet started)	322 (81.3)
Completed	73 (18.4)

^aMost (95%) participants reported one diagnosis; 20 participants reported between 2 and 4 diagnoses.

Most Young Adults With Cancer Reported Intending to Do the Intervention Activity (Hypothesis 1, Research Question 1a)

Most young adults with cancer (336/396, 84.8%) reported that they were "somewhat" (3) to "extremely" (5) likely to carry out the recommended intervention activity with means ranging from 3.4 to 3.6 on a 5-point scale. See Table 2 for condition means, SDs, and results from ANOVAs. Messages with social context cues (peer images, personal stories) and those without cues encouraged young adults to intend to enact the intervention behavior similarly. Although the highest means were observed when cues were shown, this condition difference was not significant, P=.05 (hypothesis 1 unsupported). Young adult participants were similarly encouraged to engage in the activity regardless of intervention type; there were no differences in intentions between acts of kindness activity (eg, do a chore for someone, write a thank you letter) and a social connectedness activity (eg, making eye contact and smiling, offering a sincere thank you), P=.36 (research question 1a).

Table . Effects of social context cues and type of intervention (N=396).

	Social context cue condi- tion		$F \text{ test } (df) \qquad \text{Chi-squa} \\ (df)$		equare <i>P</i> value	Intervention type condi- tion		F test (df)	Chi-square (<i>df</i>)	P value
	With en- hanced cues	No en- hanced cues				Acts of kindness	Social con- nected-ness			
Intentions, mean (SD)	3.6 (0.9)	3.4 (0.9)	3.8 (1,388)	a	.05	3.6 (0.9)	3.5 (1.0)	0.8 (1,388)	_	.36
Social pres- ence, mean (SD)	3.8 (0.7)	3.8 (0.7)	0.1 (1,392)	_	.75	3.8 (0.7)	3.8 (0.7)	0.1 (1,392)	_	.72
Forecasted positivity resonance, mean (SD)	3.9 (0.8)	3.8 (0.8)	1.0 (1,392)	_	.32	3.9 (0.8)	3.8 (0.8)	0.4 (1,392)	_	.51
Self-effica- cy, mean (SD)	72.0 (15.9)	69.5 (16.6)	2.3 (1,369)	_	.13	70.5 (15.4)	71.0 (17.2)	0.1 (1,369)	_	.75
Downsides,	n (%)			2.6 (2)	.27				3.3 (2)	.19
Yes	11.6 (23)	31 (15.8)	_			28 (14.3)	26 (13.1)	_		
No	167 (84.3)	153 (78.1)	—			162 (82.7)	158 (79.8)	_		
Not sure	8 (4.0)	12 (6.1)				6 (3.1)	14 (7.1)			

^aNot applicable.

Participants' race and treatment status influenced intentions to do any of the intervention activities, with main effects for these subgroups (Table 3). Overall, Black participants had lower intentions to engage in any of the activities from the messages compared with White participants, $F_{1,333}$ =18.8, P<.001.

Participants in active treatment, including in treatment, ongoing therapies, in/out of treatment, or not yet started, had greater intentions to do any of the activities shown compared with participants who completed treatment, $F_{1,387}$ =20.2, P<.001.



Table . Outcomes by participant characteristic subgroups.

	Intentions, mean (SD)	Social presence, mean (SD)	Forecasted positivity reso- nance, mean (SD)	Self-efficacy, mean (SD)
Age (years)				
18 - 24	3.4 (0.9)	3.8 (0.7)	3.8 (0.9)	70.0 (16.6)
25 - 29	3.4 (1.0)	3.7 (0.7)	3.7 (0.9)	68.1 (17.1)
30 - 34	3.5 (0.9)	3.7 (0.7)	3.8 (0.8)	70.3 (17.0)
35 - 39	3.7 (0.9)	4.0 (0.6)	4.0 (0.6)	73.1 (14.4)
Race				
Black or African Ameri- can	3.2 (0.8)	3.6 (0.6)	3.7 (0.7)	68.3 (15.5)
White	3.6 (0.9)	4.0 (0.6)	4.0 (0.8)	72.1 (16.3)
Gender				
Women	3.6 (1.0)	3.7 (0.8)	3.8 (0.9)	69.7 (17.3)
Men	3.5 (0.9)	3.9 (0.6)	3.9 (0.7)	71.8 (15.4)
Treatment status				
Active treatment	3.6 (0.9)	3.8 (0.7)	3.9 (0.8)	70.6 (16.2)
Completed treatment	3.1 (0.9)	3.7 (0.8)	3.7 (0.8)	70.7 (16.3)

Alongside these significant subgroup differences, we note that mean intention ratings remained above 3 (on our 1 - 5 scale) for Black participants (mean 3.2) and those who had completed treatment (mean 3.1). There were no main effects for age or gender. There were no interactions for social context cues and any subgroups for intentions to do the activity.

Most Young Adults With Cancer Reported Perceived Social Presence, Forecasted Positivity Resonance, and Self-Efficacy for the Intervention Messages (Hypotheses 2-4, Research Question 2)

Over 4 of 5 young adults with cancer (350/396, 88.4%) reported "somewhat" (3) to "extremely" (5) feeling the presence of someone in the messages (perceived social presence) with a mean of 3.8 across all conditions and reliability of α =.8 across items. There were no differences for perceived social presence with the enhanced social context cues (vs no cues), P=.75(hypothesis 2 unsupported). Perceived social presence was also similar across intervention type, P=.72 (research question 1b). There was a main effect and interaction by race for perceived social presence in the messages. Black participants had lower perceived social presence across all messages than White participants, $F_{1,337}=28.7$, P<.001; when decomposing the interaction we find that whereas White participants reported higher social presence with enhanced social context cues (vs not), P=.02, no effect for cues emerged for Black participants, P=.33. There were no main effects of age, gender, nor treatment status, as well as no interactions with age, gender, nor treatment status for social presence.

Most young adults with cancer (349/396, 88.1%) also forecasted they would be "somewhat" (3) to "extremely" (5) likely to experience feeling states linked to positivity resonance, that is, enjoying the activity, feeling mutual warmth, and feeling "in sync" with others, with reliability of α =.7 across items. Means

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48627
```

RenderX

for forecasted positivity resonance ranged from 3.8 to 3.9, on our 1 - 5 response scale. Messages were rated similarly with (vs without) social context cues, P=.32 (hypothesis 3 unsupported), and for both intervention types, P=.51 (research question 1c). There was a main effect for race on forecasted positivity resonance, with Black participants forecasting lower positivity resonance (mean 3.7) across all messages than White participants (mean 4.0), $F_{1,337}=10.9$, P=.001. There were no main effects for age, gender, or treatment status on forecasted positivity resonance, nor were there interactions among any subgroups.

Young adults with cancer, on average, reported having self-efficacy to complete the intervention activity, with a mean of 70.7% on a 0 - 100 scale (excluding 3 outliers of >3 SDs). There were no differences in self-efficacy with the enhanced social context cues (vs no cues), P=.13 (hypothesis 4 unsupported) nor intervention type, P=.75 (research question 1d). There were no main effects nor interaction by age, race, gender, or treatment status for self-efficacy.

Few Young Adults With Cancer Reported Downsides to the Intervention Activities (Research Question 3)

Most young adults with cancer (320/396, 80.8%) did not report downsides to doing the intervention activity. Potential downsides did not differ with the enhanced social context cues (vs no cues), P=.27, nor for intervention type, P=.19 (research question 2). Among participants who thought of downsides (n=54) or were not sure (n=20), reasons included the following: would cost too much money (n=41), would take too much time (n=38), and not needing prompt because already doing these things (n=24).

Discussion

Overview

Young adults with cancer are an underserved population with few age-appropriate support resources for their unique psychosocial health needs [29,30]. To address this need, we adapted evidence-based positive psychology interventions for presentation to young adults with cancer via social media. We found intervention messages adapted for social media were well received among young adults with cancer. More than 80% of young adults with cancer reported they would do the intervention activity if prompted (intentions), reported intended message reactions (perceived social presence, forecasted positivity resonance, self-efficacy), and did not think of downsides.

Principal Findings for Positive Psychology Interventions as Social Media Messages

Young adults were largely willing to engage in both intervention activities-to carry out acts of kindness or increase their social connectedness. Evidence for the positive reception of 2 interventions is valuable because positive activity assignments are known to be most effective when they involve variety and good "person-activity fit" [16]. Young adults in cancer treatment, inclusive of those in-and-out of treatment, not yet having started treatment, and in ongoing therapies, had greater intentions to do the intervention activity compared with those who had completed treatment. This promisingly signals these positive psychology interventions could be adapted for people at all stages of the cancer experience. With highly scalable distribution through social media, the interventions would not need to be "saved" or held for a later date when young adults have completed their cancer treatment. Given the unmet needs of young adults with cancer for interventions to improve psychosocial health, our initial evidence for 2 low-cost, age-appropriate interventions is encouraging. Both intervention types provide researchers, clinicians, and practitioners with valuable options to disseminate through their organization's presence on the web.

Most young adults with cancer also thought the messages signaled peers (perceived social presence), which increases trust and motivation to use web-based health interventions [41,42]. We did not find differences in perceived social presence between intervention messages with enhanced social context cues and those without. This could be because, with messages designed to mimic Instagram posts, the control condition included many standard social context cues (eg, profile pictures, post likes) known to signal others and peer communities among young adults [41,49].

Most young adults with cancer expected to enjoy the recommended activities and anticipated that doing them would bring feelings of mutual warmth and of being "in sync" with others, core facets of the uplifting, socially connected state of positivity resonance. Growing evidence shows that the frequency of people's daily experiences of positivity resonance promotes health and well-being [26] and is linked to better mental health, increased resilience, and a greater sense of meaning [22-24].

Lazard et al

Most young adults with cancer were confident they could do these intervention activities with few perceived downsides. Their reported self-efficacy to do the activities is encouraging with the COVID-19 pandemic and related psychological pressure contributing to poor psychosocial outcomes in young adults with cancer [61]. Fewer than one in seven participants thought of any downsides. The few downsides reported were resource concerns—money or time—that could be alleviated by revising intervention activity prompts (eg, shorter activities) and providing financial support for costs incurred (eg, coffee or meal gift cards).

Moderation by Race for Positive Psychology Interventions as Social Media Messages

Although the positive psychology interventions developed for young adults with cancer, broadly, were well received, these messages did not work equally well for all. We should prioritize critical frameworks in intervention development to reach health disparity populations who may receive great benefit [62], such as Black young adults who face a disproportionate burden of disease compared with White young adults [63]. All too often, evaluations of interventions do not disaggregate data to address inequalities by race—a critical step to reduce health disparities. Looking at differences by race in this study, Black young adults had lower intentions and forecasted positivity resonance for the activities in the messages compared with White young adults. Moreover, our interaction for perceived social presence indicates social context cues only had an impact among White participants when images of individuals who appeared White were shown. These findings highlight a need to prioritize optimizing intervention messages for Black young adults. Literature supports the development of culturally tailored messages across the cancer continuum [64-66]. Culturally tailored messages should be designed with visuals and text that incorporate shared beliefs, language, and representation of the cancer experience as a Black young adult. A failure to account for cultural context may lead to ineffective health communication messages for some of the most vulnerable youth, further exacerbating existing cancer disparities. Enhancing the effectiveness of positive psychology interventions requires intentional efforts to ensure Black young adults and members of other disparate subgroups, not examined here due to subgroup size, can "see" themselves in the messages, to increase relevance and potential impact.

Strengths and Limitations

Our recruitment methods allowed us to reach a large, diverse sample of participants willing to engage in research about web-based cancer support, including those with cancers that have disproportionately poor outcomes (eg, lung cancer). However, our recruitment had limitations. First, this is a convenience sample that should not be interpreted as representative of young adults with cancer in the United States. Second, research with young adults with other demographics, cancer characteristics, or more variability in their willingness to use social media for cancer support may yield different results. Third, while we used measures from previous research, when possible, the adapted versions of these items for our specific study context were not pre-tested among young adults with cancer. Fourth, for our study design, a limited number of

social context cues (ie, peer images, personal stories) were used in these messages; other message content with more culturally or age-relevant behavioral tips, stories, and peer images could have greater or different effects. Future research should include young adults with cancer in the image selection and personal story generation process to identify effective content with a human-centered process for intervention message optimization. Specifically, Black young adults with cancer and other disparate groups should be directly involved in the content creation, refinement, and selection of message images and text to ensure the message images and text are optimized to reach and have the intended impact among our most vulnerable populations.

Conclusion

This study provides promising evidence that positive psychology intervention messages adapted for social media were perceived as acceptable and feasible among young adults. More than 4 in 5 participants thought they would do the activity, with confidence in their ability to do so, and did not perceive downsides. Moreover, young adults with cancer thought the interventions delivered on social media would improve their psychosocial health. Most participants anticipated doing these intervention activities would raise their positive emotions and feelings of social connection. As the need for age-appropriate resources for young adults with cancer continues, this encouraging evidence for 2 low-cost, highly scalable interventions provides options to address their unique needs and improve psychosocial health.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Tushar Varma for his design work to create the study stimuli. This project was supported by the American Cancer Society (133694-PEP-19-154-01-PCSM) and the National Cancer Institute (R01CA276176). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official view of the American Cancer Society or National Institutes of Health. RNV was supported by a T32 Cancer Health Disparities Training Grant from the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health (T32CA128582).

Data Availability

The datasets generated or analyzed during this study are available in the Carolina Digital Repository [67].

Authors' Contributions

AJL, HBN, CS, ND, and BLF contributed to the conceptualization of the study. Data curation and formal analysis were conducted by AJL, who also secured funding for the project. The investigation was carried out by AJL, RNV, and MP. The methodology was developed by AJL, JZ, and BLF. Project administration was managed by MP, with supervision provided by AJL and BLF. AJL and RNV wrote the original draft, and the manuscript was reviewed and edited by AJL, RNV, JZ, HBN, MP, CS, ND, and BLF.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Preregistered mediation analyses. [DOCX File, 37 KB - cancer v10i1e48627 app1.docx]

References

- Howden K, Yan AP, Glidden C, et al. Loneliness among adolescents and young adults with cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional survey. Support Care Cancer 2022 Mar;30(3):2215-2224. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-021-06628-5</u>] [Medline: <u>34708310</u>]
- Glidden C, Howden K, Romanescu RG, et al. Psychological distress and experiences of adolescents and young adults with cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional survey. Psychooncology 2022 Apr;31(4):631-640. [doi: 10.1002/pon.5849] [Medline: 34989053]
- Lane B, Fowler K, Eaton G, Chalifour K, Garland SN. Prevalence and factors associated with high levels of distress in young adult cancer survivors compared to matched peers. Support Care Cancer 2021 May;29(5):2653-2662. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05785-3] [Medline: 32970230]
- Schulte FSM, Chalifour K, Eaton G, Garland SN. Quality of life among survivors of adolescent and young adult cancer in Canada: a young adults with cancer in their prime (YACPRIME) study. Cancer 2021 Apr 15;127(8):1325-1333. [doi: 10.1002/cncr.33372] [Medline: 33332603]

- Lang MJ, Giese-Davis J, Patton SB, Campbell DJT. Does age matter? comparing post-treatment psychosocial outcomes in young adult and older adult cancer survivors with their cancer-free peers. Psychooncology 2018 May;27(5):1404-1411. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.4490</u>] [Medline: <u>28672093</u>]
- Goldfarb M, Casillas J. Unmet information and support needs in newly diagnosed thyroid cancer: comparison of adolescents/young adults (AYA) and older patients. J Cancer Surviv 2014 Sep;8(3):394-401. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-014-0345-7] [Medline: 24570216]
- Kent EE, Smith AW, Keegan THM, et al. Talking about cancer and meeting peer survivors: social information needs of adolescents and young adults diagnosed with cancer. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2013 Jun;2(2):44-52. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2012.0029] [Medline: 23781400]
- Zebrack B, Kent EE, Keegan THM, Kato I, Smith AW, AYA HOPE Study Collaborative Group. "Cancer sucks," and other ponderings by adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. J Psychosoc Oncol 2014;32(1):1-15. [doi: 10.1080/07347332.2013.855959] [Medline: 24428248]
- 9. Haase JE, Phillips CR. The adolescent/young adult experience. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2004;21(3):145-149. [doi: 10.1177/1043454204264385] [Medline: 15296043]
- Howard AF, Tan de Bibiana J, Smillie K, et al. Trajectories of social isolation in adult survivors of childhood cancer. J Cancer Surviv 2014 Mar;8(1):80-93. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-013-0321-7</u>] [Medline: <u>24202698</u>]
- 11. Docherty SL, Kayle M, Maslow GR, Santacroce SJ. The adolescent and young adult with cancer: a developmental life course perspective. Semin Oncol Nurs 2015 Aug;31(3):186-196. [doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2015.05.006] [Medline: 26210197]
- 12. Smith AW, Parsons HM, Kent EE, et al. Unmet support service needs and health-related quality of life among adolescents and young adults with cancer: the AYA HOPE study. Front Oncol 2013;3:1-11. [doi: 10.3389/fonc.2013.00075] [Medline: 23580328]
- 13. Trevino KM, Fasciano K, Block S, Prigerson HG. Correlates of social support in young adults with advanced cancer. Support Care Cancer 2013 Feb;21(2):421-429. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-012-1536-2</u>] [Medline: <u>22790223</u>]
- 14. Bolier L, Haverman M, Westerhof GJ, Riper H, Smit F, Bohlmeijer E. Positive psychology interventions: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. BMC Public Health 2013 Feb 8;13(119):1-20. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-119] [Medline: 23390882]
- 15. Carr A, Cullen K, Keeney C, et al. Effectiveness of positive psychology interventions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Posit Psychol 2021 Nov 2;16(6):749-769. [doi: 10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807]
- 16. Lyubomirsky S, Layous K. How do simple positive activities increase well-being? Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2013 Feb;22(1):57-62. [doi: 10.1177/0963721412469809]
- 17. Sin NL, Lyubomirsky S. Enhancing well-being and alleviating depressive symptoms with positive psychology interventions: a practice-friendly meta-analysis. J Clin Psychol 2009 May;65(5):467-487. [doi: 10.1002/jclp.20593] [Medline: 19301241]
- Rohrer JM, Richter D, Brümmer M, Wagner GG, Schmukle SC. Successfully striving for happiness: socially engaged pursuits predict increases in life satisfaction. Psychol Sci 2018 Aug;29(8):1291-1298. [doi: <u>10.1177/0956797618761660</u>] [Medline: <u>29775423</u>]
- Curry OS, Rowland LA, Van Lissa CJ, Zlotowitz S, McAlaney J, Whitehouse H. Happy to help? a systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of performing acts of kindness on the well-being of the actor. J Exp Soc Psychol 2018 May;76:320-329. [doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2018.02.014]
- 20. Regan A, Margolis S, Ozer DJ, Schwitzgebel E, Lyubomirsky S. What is unique about kindness? exploring the proximal experience of prosocial acts relative to other positive behaviors. Affec Sci 2022;4(1):1-9. [doi: 10.1007/s42761-022-00143-4]
- 21. Zhou J, Prinzing MM, Le Nguyen KD, West TN, Fredrickson BL. The goods in everyday love: positivity resonance builds prosociality. Emotion 2022 Feb;22(1):30-45. [doi: 10.1037/emo0001035] [Medline: 34843302]
- 22. Prinzing MM, Zhou J, West TN, Le Nguyen KD, Wells JL, Fredrickson BL. Staying 'in sync' with others during COVID-19: perceived positivity resonance mediates cross-sectional and longitudinal links between trait resilience and mental health. J Posit Psychol 2022 May 4;17(3):440-455. [doi: 10.1080/17439760.2020.1858336]
- Major BC, Le Nguyen KD, Lundberg KB, Fredrickson BL. Well-being correlates of perceived positivity resonance: evidence from trait and episode-level assessments. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2018 Dec;44(12):1631-1647. [doi: 10.1177/0146167218771324] [Medline: 29756547]
- 24. Prinzing M, Le Nguyen KD, Fredrickson B. Does shared positivity make life feel meaningful? longitudinal links between positivity resonance and perceived meaning in life are mediated by perceived social resources. J Pers Soc Psychol 2023;125(2). [doi: 10.1037/pspi0000418]
- 25. Brown CL, Fredrickson BL. Characteristics and consequences of co-experienced positive affect: understanding the origins of social skills, social bonds, and caring, healthy communities. Curr Opin Behav Sci 2021 Jun;39:58-63. [doi: 10.1016/j.cobeha.2021.02.002]
- Wells JL, Haase CM, Rothwell ES, et al. Positivity resonance in long-term married couples: multimodal characteristics and consequences for health and longevity. J Pers Soc Psychol 2022 Nov;123(5):983-1003. [doi: <u>10.1037/pspi0000385</u>] [Medline: <u>35099204</u>]

- 27. West TN, Le Nguyen K, Zhou J, Prinzing MM, Wells JL, Fredrickson BL. How the affective quality of social connections may contribute to public health: prosocial tendencies account for the links between positivity resonance and behaviors that reduce the spread of COVID-19. Affect Sci 2021;2(3):241-261. [doi: <u>10.1007/s42761-021-00035-z</u>] [Medline: <u>33870213</u>]
- 28. Love FBL. Positivity resonance as a fresh, evidence-based perspective on an age-old topic. In: Barrett LF, Lewis M, Haviland-Jones JM, editors. Handbook of Emotions: Guilford Press; 2016:847-858.
- 29. Keegan THM, Lichtensztajn DY, Kato I, et al. Unmet adolescent and young adult cancer survivors information and service needs: a population-based cancer registry study. J Cancer Surviv 2012 Sep;6(3):239-250. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-012-0219-9] [Medline: 22457219]
- Zebrack BJ, Corbett V, Embry L, et al. Psychological distress and unsatisfied need for psychosocial support in adolescent and young adult cancer patients during the first year following diagnosis. Psychooncology 2014 Nov;23(11):1267-1275. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.3533</u>] [Medline: <u>24664958</u>]
- 31. Rabin C, Simpson N, Morrow K, Pinto B. Intervention format and delivery preferences among young adult cancer survivors. Int J Behav Med 2013 Jun;20(2):304-310. [doi: 10.1007/s12529-012-9227-4] [Medline: 22328444]
- 32. Benedict C, Victorson D, Love B, et al. The audacity of engagement: hearing directly from young adults with cancer on their attitudes and perceptions of cancer survivorship and cancer survivorship research. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2018 Feb;7(1):103-111. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2017.0038] [Medline: 29022839]
- 33. Mobile fact sheet. Pew Research Center. 2021. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2024-12-05]
- 34. Perrin A, Atske S. About three-in-ten US adults say they are 'almost constantly' online. Pew Research Center. 2021. URL: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/03/26/about-three-in-ten-u-s-adults-say-they-are-almost-constantly-online/ [accessed 2024-12-05]
- 35. Auxier B, Anderson M. Social media use in 2021. Pew Research Center. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/</u> 2021/04/07/social-media-use-in-2021/ [accessed 2024-12-05]
- Bekalu MA, McCloud RF, Viswanath K. Association of social media use with social well-being, positive mental health, and self-rated health: disentangling routine use from emotional connection to use. Health Educ Behav 2019 Dec;46(2_suppl):69S-80S. [doi: 10.1177/1090198119863768]
- 37. Lazard AJ, Collins MKR, Hedrick A, et al. Using social media for peer-to-peer cancer support: interviews with young adults with cancer. JMIR Cancer 2021 Sep 2;7(3):e28234. [doi: 10.2196/28234] [Medline: 34473063]
- Lazard AJ, Collins MKR, Hedrick A, et al. Initiation and changes in use of social media for peer support among young adult cancer patients and survivors. Psychooncology 2021 Nov;30(11):1859-1865. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5758</u>] [Medline: <u>34165848</u>]
- Song S, Zhao YC, Yao X, Ba Z, Zhu Q. Short video apps as a health information source: an investigation of affordances, user experience and users' intention to continue the use of TikTok. Internet Res 2021 Nov 12;31(6):2120-2142. [doi: 10.1108/INTR-10-2020-0593]
- 40. Wesley KM, Fizur PJ. A review of mobile applications to help adolescent and young adult cancer patients. Adolesc Health Med Ther 2015;6:141-148. [doi: 10.2147/AHMT.S69209] [Medline: 26316835]
- 41. Lazard AJ, Brennen JS, Troutman Adams E, Love B. Cues for increasing social presence for mobile health app adoption. J Health Commun 2020 Feb 1;25(2):136-149. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2020.1719241] [Medline: 32026759]
- 42. Lazard AJ, Saffer AJ, Horrell L, Benedict C, Love B. Peer-to-peer connections: perceptions of a social support app designed for young adults with cancer. Psychooncology 2020 Jan;29(1):173-181. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5220</u>] [Medline: <u>31483913</u>]
- 43. Biocca F, Harms C, Burgoon JK. Toward a more robust theory and measure of social presence: review and suggested criteria. Pres Teleoperators Virtual Environ 2003 Oct;12(5):456-480. [doi: <u>10.1162/105474603322761270</u>]
- 44. Krause RJ, Rucker DD. Strategic storytelling: when narratives help versus hurt the persuasive power of facts. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2020 Feb;46(2):216-227. [doi: 10.1177/0146167219853845] [Medline: 31179845]
- 45. Collins MKR, Lazard AJ. How narrative engagement with young adult literature influences perceptions of anorexia nervosa. Health Commun 2021 Nov;36(13):1646-1655. [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2020.1785375</u>] [Medline: <u>32615042</u>]
- 46. Ooms J, Hoeks J, Jansen C. "Hey, that could be me": the role of similarity in narrative persuasion. PLoS One 2019;14(4):e0215359. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0215359] [Medline: 30998694]
- 47. Green MC. Narratives and cancer communication. J Commun 2006 Aug 1;56(suppl_1):S163-S183. [doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2006.00288.x]
- 48. Oh CS, Bailenson JN, Welch GF. A systematic review of social presence: definition, antecedents, and implications. Front Robot AI 2018;5:114. [doi: 10.3389/frobt.2018.00114] [Medline: 33500993]
- 49. Feng B, Li S, Li N. Is a profile worth a thousand words? how online support-seeker's profile features may influence the quality of received support messages. Communic Res 2016 Mar;43(2):253-276. [doi: 10.1177/0093650213510942]
- Nelson SK, Layous K, Cole SW, Lyubomirsky S. Do unto others or treat yourself? the effects of prosocial and self-focused behavior on psychological flourishing. Emotion 2016 Sep;16(6):850-861. [doi: 10.1037/emo0000178] [Medline: 27100366]
- 51. Miranda SM, Saunders CS. The social construction of meaning: an alternative perspective on information sharing. Inf Syst Res 2003 Mar;14(1):87-106. [doi: 10.1287/isre.14.1.87.14765]
- 52. Catalino LI, Fredrickson BL. A tuesday in the life of a flourisher: the role of positive emotional reactivity in optimal mental health. Emotion 2011 Aug;11(4):938-950. [doi: 10.1037/a0024889] [Medline: 21859208]

- Fredrickson BL, Grewen KM, Coffey KA, et al. A functional genomic perspective on human well-being. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2013 Aug 13;110(33):13684-13689. [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1305419110]
- 54. Fredrickson BL, Grewen KM, Algoe SB, et al. Psychological well-being and the human conserved transcriptional response to adversity. PLoS One 2015;10(3):e0121839. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0121839] [Medline: 25811656]
- 55. Complex survey data collection made simple. Slice MR. 2024. URL: <u>https://slicemr.com/</u> [accessed 2024-12-05]
- 56. Webb TL, Sheeran P. Does changing behavioral intentions engender behavior change? a meta-analysis of the experimental evidence. Psychol Bull 2006 Mar;132(2):249-268. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.132.2.249] [Medline: 16536643]
- 57. Gefen D, Straub DW. Managing user trust in B2C e-Services. e-Serv J 2003;2(2):7-24. [doi: 10.1353/esj.2003.0011]
- 58. Crutzen R, Cyr D, Larios H, Ruiter RAC, de Vries NK. Social presence and use of internet-delivered interventions: a multi-method approach. PLoS One 2013;8(2):e57067. [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0057067</u>] [Medline: <u>23437310</u>]
- 59. Bandura A. Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. In: Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Adolescents: Information Age Publishing, Incorporated; 2006, Vol. 5:307-337.
- 60. Byrne BM. Structural Equation Modeling with Mplus: Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming: Routledge; 2013.
- 61. Wang Y, Duan Z, Ma Z, et al. Epidemiology of mental health problems among patients with cancer during COVID-19 pandemic. Transl Psychiatry 2020 Jul 31;10(1):263. [doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-00950-y] [Medline: 32737292]
- 62. Bowleg L. "The Master's Tools Will Never Dismantle the Master's House": ten critical lessons for Black and other health equity researchers of color. Health Educ Behav 2021 Jun;48(3):237-249. [doi: 10.1177/10901981211007402]
- 63. Murphy CC, Lupo PJ, Roth ME, Winick NJ, Pruitt SL. Disparities in cancer survival among adolescents and young adults: a population-based study of 88 000 patients. J Natl Cancer Inst 2021 Aug 2;113(8):1074-1083. [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djab006]
- 64. Joo JY, Liu MF. Culturally tailored interventions for ethnic minorities: a scoping review. Nurs Open 2021 Sep;8(5):2078-2090. [doi: <u>10.1002/nop2.733</u>] [Medline: <u>34388862</u>]
- Torres-Ruiz M, Robinson-Ector K, Attinson D, Trotter J, Anise A, Clauser S. A portfolio analysis of culturally tailored trials to address health and healthcare disparities. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018 Aug 28;15(9):1859. [doi: 10.3390/ijerph15091859] [Medline: 30154333]
- 66. Huang Y, Shen F. Effects of cultural tailoring on persuasion in cancer communication: a meta-analysis. J Commun 2016 Aug;66(4):694-715. [doi: 10.1111/jcom.12243]
- 67. Lazard A. Dataset | Young adult cancer, positive psychology intervention messages December 2021. Carolina Digital Repository. URL: <u>https://cdr.lib.unc.edu/concern/data_sets/k930c7146?locale=en</u> [accessed 2024-12-05]

Abbreviations

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 02.05.23; peer-reviewed by J Zhu, K Na; revised version received 26.07.24; accepted 30.09.24; published 20.12.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Lazard AJ, Vereen RN, Zhou J, Nichols HB, Pulido M, Swift C, Dasgupta N, Fredrickson BL

Designing Positive Psychology Interventions for Social Media: Cross-Sectional Web-Based Experiment With Young Adults With Cancer

JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48627 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48627</u> doi:<u>10.2196/48627</u>

© Allison J Lazard, Rhyan N Vereen, Jieni Zhou, Hazel B Nichols, Marlyn Pulido, Catherine Swift, Nabarun Dasgupta, Barbara L Fredrickson. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 20.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Exploring Web-Based Information and Resources That Support Adolescents and Young Adults With Cancer to Resume Study and Work: Environmental Scan Study

Clarissa E Schilstra¹, BA, PhD; Sarah J Ellis¹, DClinPsy, PhD; Jennifer Cohen^{2,3}, MSc, PhD; Alana Gall⁴, MSc, PhD; Abbey Diaz⁵, MSc, PhD; Kristina Clarke³, BCom, PGDipSci; Gadiel Dumlao¹, BSc; Jennifer Chard⁶, MBBS; Therese M Cumming^{7,8}, MEd, PhD; Esther Davis³, BSc, PhD; Haryana Dhillon⁹, BSc, MA, PhD; Mary Anne Burns⁹, BSc; Kimberley Docking¹⁰, BSPath, MSPA, CPSP, PhD; Eng-Siew Koh^{11,12,13}, MBBS; Josephine O'Reilly¹⁴; Ursula M Sansom-Daly^{1,15}, BSc, PhD, MAPS; Joanne Shaw⁹, BApplSc, BPsych, PhD; Nicole Speers¹⁴; Natalie Taylor², PhD; Anthea Warne²; Joanna E Fardell^{1,6}, BSc, M Clin Neuropsych, PhD

⁹School of Psychology, Faculty of Science, University of Sydney, Camperdown, Australia

- ¹¹South West Sydney Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of New South Wales Sydney, Liverpool, Australia
- ¹²Liverpool and Macarthur Cancer Therapy Centres, Liverpool, Australia
- ¹³Ingham Institute for Applied Medical Research, Liverpool, Australia
- ¹⁴Cancer survivor representative, New South Wales, Australia

¹⁵Sydney Youth Cancer Service, Nelune Comprehensive Cancer Centre, Prince of Wales Hospital, Randwick, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Clarissa E Schilstra, BA, PhD Behavioural Sciences Unit, Kids Cancer Centre, Sydney Children's Hospital Faculty of Medicine and Health, Randwick Clinical Campus University of New South Wales Sydney Behavioural Sciences Unit, Kids Cancer Centre Level 1 South, Sydney Children's Hospital, High St Randwick, 2031 Australia Phone: 61 405679809 Email: c.schilstra@unsw.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Adolescents and young adults (AYAs) diagnosed with cancer experience physical, cognitive, and psychosocial effects from cancer treatment that can negatively affect their ability to remain engaged in education or work through cancer treatment and in the long term. Disengagement from education or work can have lasting implications for AYAs' financial independence, psychosocial well-being, and quality of life. Australian AYAs with cancer lack access to adequate specialist support for their education and work needs and report a preference for web-based support that they can access from anywhere, in their own time. However, it remains unclear what web-based resources exist that are tailored to support AYAs with cancer in reaching their educational or work goals.

¹Behavioural Sciences Unit, Kids Cancer Centre, Sydney Children's Hospital, Faculty of Medicine and Health, Randwick Clinical Campus, University of New South Wales Sydney, Randwick, Australia

²Faculty of Medicine and Health, Randwick Clinical Campus, University of New South Wales Sydney, Kensington, Australia

³Canteen Australia, Newtown, Australia

⁴National Centre for Naturopathic Medicine, Faculty of Health, Southern Cross University, Lismore, Australia

⁵School of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia

⁶Western Sydney Youth Cancer Service, Crown Princess Mary Cancer Centre, Westmead Hospital, Westmead, Australia

⁷Faculty of Arts, Design and Architecture, University of New South Wales Sydney, Kensington, Australia

⁸Disability Innovation Institute, University of New South Wales Sydney, Kensington, Australia

¹⁰Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Camperdown, Australia

Objective: This study aimed to determine what web-based resources exist for Australian AYAs with cancer to (1) support return to education or work and (2) identify the degree to which existing resources are age-specific, cancer-specific, culturally inclusive, and evidence-based; are co-designed with AYAs; use age-appropriate language; and are easy to find.

Methods: We conducted an environmental scan by searching Google with English search terms in August 2022 to identify information resources about employment and education for AYAs ever diagnosed with cancer. Data extraction was conducted in Microsoft Excel, and the following were assessed: understandability and actionability (using the Patient Education and Materials Tool), readability (using the Sydney Health Literacy Laboratory Health Literacy Editor), and whether the resource was easy to locate, evidence-based, co-designed with AYAs, and culturally inclusive of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. The latter was assessed using 7 criteria previously developed by members of the research team.

Results: We identified 24 web-based resources, comprising 22 written text resources and 12 video resources. Most resources (21/24, 88%) were published by nongovernmental organizations in Australia, Canada, the United States, and the United Kingdom. A total of 7 resources focused on education, 8 focused on work, and 9 focused on both education and work. The evaluation of resources demonstrated poor understandability and actionability. Resources were rarely evidence-based or co-designed by AYAs, difficult to locate on the internet, and largely not inclusive of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations.

Conclusions: Although web-based resources for AYAs with cancer are often available through the websites of hospitals or nongovernmental organizations, this environmental scan suggests they would benefit from more evidence-based and actionable resources that are available in multiple formats (eg, text and audio-visual) and tailored to be age-appropriate and culturally inclusive.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e47944) doi:10.2196/47944

KEYWORDS

adolescent; cancer; education; employment; information needs; oncology; online information; quality of life; resource; return to work; school; study; supportive resources; treatment; young adult

Introduction

A diagnosis of cancer in adolescence and the young adult years can lead to significant and long-lasting disruptions to key developmental milestones [1-3]. Adolescents and young adults (AYAs) with cancer are at risk of poor long-term medical and psychosocial outcomes due to delays in diagnosis and lagging improvements in survival rates compared with those diagnosed as children or adults [1]. Symptoms and late effects from cancer treatment can negatively impact AYAs' education and work engagement [4-7]. A weakened immune system, nausea, fatigue, neuropathy, poor cognitive functioning, poor social well-being, and mental health challenges such as depression and social anxiety are just some of the physical symptoms and late effects AYAs must contend with [3-9]. Challenges with education and work engagement may also drive distressing symptoms such as poor social well-being and depression [3,9,10].

Poorer outcomes are exacerbated by the limited age-appropriate services targeting their unique needs [11]. During adolescence and the young adult years, broadly defined as the ages of 15-39 years, young people are expected to participate in and complete education and training, obtain employment, and achieve financial independence, all while navigating social and intimate relationships to develop and evolve their identity [12]. A cancer diagnosis and treatment during adolescence and the young adult years can interrupt or delay these developmental tasks [12].

Extended absences and difficulties engaging with education or work are common for survivors of AYA cancer and can have a lifelong negative impact on AYAs' educational and work goals, quality of life, and psychosocial and financial well-being [2]. survivors of AYA cancer miss significantly more days of school than their peers [11]. AYAs may miss 40-60 days of

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47944
```

school within the first year following their diagnosis [13], and Australian data suggest nearly 50% of survivors of AYA cancer have not fully returned to education or work up to 24 months post diagnosis [14]. Nearly 40% of AYAs report their employment goals were negatively affected by cancer [15], and survivors of AYA cancer are more likely than peers without a history of cancer to report an increased number of missed workdays as a result of illness or disability (11.9% of survivors vs 6.7% of controls) [16]. survivors of AYA cancer are also more likely than peers without a history of cancer to report employment disability (being unable to carry out employment or work requirements at all or needing to do so with disability provisions; 34.1% of survivors vs 23.9% of controls) [16]. However, qualitative studies suggest that survivors of AYA cancer experience trouble navigating public support, education, and employment systems, which puts them at a disadvantage by contributing to increased financial hardship, fear, and uncertainty around their education and employment situations. Financial hardship in itself serves as a barrier to AYAs achieving their education goals by making it difficult for AYAs to afford education, particularly at a university level, or to keep up with repayment of education-related debts [17].

In contrast, AYAs who are able to remain more engaged with their education or work report decreased psychological distress [18] and improved social well-being [1,19]. Yet, few interventions supporting AYAs to remain engaged with education or work have been systematically evaluated [2]. The only such service evaluated in Australia is an educational and vocational counseling service based in a major cancer center in Victoria, Australia, which provides in-depth, tailored support through trained advisors to AYAs diagnosed with cancer between the ages of 15 and 25 years [20]. To date, 209 AYAs have received support through this program. By completion,

XSL•FO RenderX

73% of AYAs were able to engage in education or vocation or were receiving support through an external source [20]. Access to such personalized programs may be limited due to cancer centers' resources and AYAs' distance to their treatment centers [21,22]. Individualized consultation requires synchronous engagement, usually during school or work hours, which may further prevent uptake for AYAs who have some level of participation in education or work [23].

The average Australian AYA spends approximately 14 hours per week on the internet, and survivors of AYA cancer are highly engaged with social media as well as web-based cancer resources [24,25]. Many Australians with cancer living in rural or remote locations rely on web-based resources to navigate the impacts of a cancer diagnosis and its treatment on their education or career [26,27]. Given this reliance on web-based information, it is critical to consider the extent to which web-based information resources are equitably accessible by Australian AYAs. Previous studies and reviews have defined equity of access to web-based information as the provision of web-based information that is easy to find, provided in a range of formats (eg, text, video, and audio), understandable or readable for individuals with varying abilities and health literacy levels, and culturally and linguistically inclusive [28-30]. The importance of equitable access to health information for Australians is paramount, considering how many people live in rural locations and the cultural and linguistic diversity of the country. Approximately 3.2% of the population identify as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, 30% were born overseas, and 21% of families speak a language other than English at home [31].

Ensuring equitable access to web-based information resources requires consultation with target populations (ie, co-design of information resources with a culturally and linguistically diverse group of AYAs diagnosed with cancer), as well as a focus on providing information that is evidence-based. However, no previous research has assessed what web-based information resources exist to support Australian survivors of AYA cancer in their engagement with education or work, and to what extent resources are equitably accessible. Therefore, this study aimed to determine the following: (1) What web-based resources exist for engaging with education or work after a cancer diagnosis that AYAs with cancer are likely to encounter when conducting a Google search? and (2) Of the identified resources, to what degree are they understandable, actionable, readable, easy to locate, evidence-based, co-designed with survivors of AYA cancer, and culturally inclusive?

Methods

Overview

Web-based resources for AYAs with cancer are typically provided through hospitals and nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) rather than through academic journals or research databases. Therefore, we chose to conduct an environmental scan rather than a systematic review, using a standard search engine rather than academic databases. Environmental scans have demonstrated usability in identifying health information resources across a range of health disciplines [32,33]. While there is no consensus regarding optimal methods for conducting an environmental scan of health information resources, environmental scans take a higher-level approach than systematic reviews or qualitative evaluation studies to identify available resources, tabulate yes or no responses to whether web-based resources possess certain qualities, and determine the basic usability of resource content [33,34]. We opted to follow similar methods used by Ruble et al [32] in their 2019 publication assessing web-based resources to support children returning to school during or after cancer treatment and methods used by Schiffman et al [35] in their 2006 study on internet use among survivors of AYA cancer. In keeping with these previous studies, 2 researchers led the search and data extraction, and we used validated measures of understandability, actionability, and readability to conduct a basic assessment of available resources. We also tabulated whether resources were easy to locate, evidence-based, developed through co-design with AYAs, and culturally inclusive of Indigenous populations. We conducted structured searches through Google and extracted data in Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation).

Consumer Involvement

Consumer involvement in the design of this study was central to our methods. Chief investigators included the researcher and clinician chief investigators in addition to 2 survivors of AYA cancer (authors CES and NS) and 1 parent of a survivor (author JO). Together, the chief investigator team met in November 2021, March 2022, and May 2022, to develop the environmental scan protocol, including search terms and methods.

Searches

We searched Google Australia with English search terms between August 8 and 19, 2022 (Textbox 1). No limits were applied to the country, as we wanted to replicate the way survivors of AYA cancer currently access information to support their return to education or work.



Textbox 1. Environmental scan search terms as per both themes.

Adolescents and young adults with or surviving cancer

- AYA cancer
- Teen cancer
- Adolescent cancer
- Young adult cancer

Returning to study or work

- Study
- School
- Education
- University
- College
- Work
- Employment
- Career

Search terms were created by combining search words from 2 themes. The first theme designated the target population of AYAs with or surviving cancer, and the second designated information and resource content related to "returning to study or work." Using the words listed in Textbox 1, CES and GD independently conducted 24 unique searches combining the 2 groups of search terms with "AND" (eg, "adolescent cancer AND school"). Before and between each new search, the browser cache was reset. All searches were conducted from Sydney, New South Wales, Australia. However, to identify whether there may be any difference in search results based on location in Australia, GD also conducted 6 of the 24 searches using a virtual private network and changed the search location to Perth, Western Australia, which is located on the opposite side of Australia from Sydney.

Resource Selection

Typically, a Google search will present 10 results per page, meaning 50 results would be presented across 5 pages. Although the average internet user will only click on results appearing in the first 10 Google search results [36], we opted to maximize, the identification of relevant results by reviewing the first 50 results for eligibility (CES and GD) [37]. Eligible websites, documents, videos, and audio-visual resources were those that provided text-based information, video, or audio-visual information in English and were directed primarily toward AYAs returning to study (any level) or work after a cancer diagnosis. Websites, documents, and videos or audio-visual resources targeting parents or family members of AYAs were excluded. Academic papers, media stories, and blogs were also excluded.

Data Extraction

An Excel spreadsheet was developed to include drop-down menus to record key data (Table 1). Data extraction fields were partially based on a previous review of web-based resources conducted by Ruble et al [32] in 2020.

CES and GD independently conducted data extraction and recorded the addresses of websites meeting eligibility criteria in separate Excel spreadsheets, reconciled their searches, and removed duplicates.



Table 1. Data extraction fields and response options.

Schilstra et al

Field	Response option
Target audience	AYA ^a -specific or other
Setting	Education (inclusive of secondary or tertiary) or employment
Source creator	 Nongovernmental organization Cooperative group or professional organization Health care institution State or federal government organizations Media publications
Country of origin	Country name
Access to website	Publicly available, subscription, or user profile
Purpose of website	Information, advertising, support, or intervention
Date of last review of information	Date
Cancer type	Diagnosis name, resource designed for AYAs with chronic illness more broadly but includes cancer, or no cancer type specified
Media used to convey information	Written descriptive text, video or YouTube, images, stories or vignettes, quotes from consumers, or other
Support, tools, or information provided by the resource	Checklists, letter templates, strategies, access to career or education counseling, support group or network, or other
Evidence-based	Yes or no
Co-designed	Yes, no, or unclear: describes consultation with survivors but not methods for this consultation

^aAYA: adolescent and young adult.

Assessment of Resources and Data Synthesis

Was the Resource Understandable and Actionable?

For both text and audio-visual resources, we used the Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT) [38] to assess the understandability and actionability of the resources. Understandability refers to whether the meaning is comprehensible, taking multiple elements into account, such as word complexity and the layout or structure of the information [38]. Actionability refers to whether or not a resource provides content in a way that consumers can easily determine what they need to act on or do based on the content presented [38]. PEMAT for written materials consists of 17 items assessing understandability and 17 items assessing actionability, all of which are scored as agree, disagree, or unsure [38]. The PEMAT for audio-visual materials includes 13 items assessing understandability and 4 assessing actionability. The PEMAT generates percentage scores (0%-100%) which is the proportion of the responses assessed as having been met (agree). Scores of 100% indicate optimal understandability or actionability; scores of 70% indicate adequate understandability or actionability [38,39]. The PEMAT has been used previously in a review of information resources for students with cancer [32] and an evaluation of other web-based information for many illnesses, including cancer [37]. The PEMAT demonstrates good reliability and ease of use, with interrater reliability scores of 0.92 for understandability and 0.93 for actionability, and 92% of raters agreeing on its ease of use [40].

Was the Resource Readable?

We also assessed the readability (reading level) of text resources using the Sydney Health Literacy Laboratory (SHeLL) Health Literacy Editor. Optimal readability on the SHeLL Editor is indicated by a score of 8 or below, equating to a grade 8 reading level [41,42]. Generally, health information designed for the general population or patients is recommended to be readable at a grade 8 level or lower [43]. The SHeLL Editor enables the pasting of exact text from a resource into its reading level calculator to provide a specific reading level for text.

How Easy Was It to Locate the Resource?

The ease of locating the resource was assessed by determining whether a resource appeared within the first 10 search results on the first page of results on Google. This is based on evidence suggesting the average internet user will only click on results appearing in the first 10 Google search results [36].

Was the Resource Evidence-Based?

Resources were evaluated as being evidence-based according to whether or not supporting evidence was cited and accurately represented to support the information they provided, or if they indicated in any background content whether research was involved in the development of the resource content.

Was the Resource Developed Through Co-Design With Survivors of AYA Cancer?

Co-design refers to methods used to engage, consult, and work in collaboration with young people to develop research questions, resource content, or interventions [44]. We assessed whether resources were co-designed with survivors of AYA cancer based on whether or not they described using a co-design

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47944
```

method to develop the information they provide. We note as "unclear" any resources indicating content was developed in consultation with AYAs with cancer, but the exact co-design methods used or extent of engagement with AYAs is not clearly described.

Was the Resource Culturally Inclusive?

To our knowledge, no tool exists to assess the cultural inclusivity of international web-based health resources. Therefore, to measure the cultural inclusivity of the resources we identified, we used 7 criteria that were codeveloped by 3 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander researchers (including AG) and 2 non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander researchers (including AD) [45]. All researchers involved in the development of these criteria have a strong track record in Indigenous health research [45-51]. Due to the criteria being designed solely for the evaluation of the cultural inclusivity of resources for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples in Australia, we only evaluate the cultural inclusivity of resources created by and for Australians [45].

The criteria for cultural inclusivity were as follows [45]: (1) Does the resource include any visual aids (photos, animations, infographics, or charts) that depict or contain information about Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples? (2) Does the resource include any information or data about Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples? (3) Does the resource include any Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander design or artwork? (4) Does the resource provide any evidence of leadership, involvement, or governance by peoples, communities, or organizations that identify as or represent populations that are Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander? (5) Is the resource available in any Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander languages? (6) Is any of the language used strengths-based and respectful to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples? and (7) Does the resource include a contact (phone number, email, or website) for any culturally relevant or personalized support and information for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples?

AG, a Pakana woman from Lutruwita (Tasmania), reviewed all resources to determine their relevancy to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. As this tool is not validated, there is no clear minimum number of criteria that should be achieved to determine the cultural competency of a resource. As such, we report the number of criteria that were met descriptively and describe the strengths and shortfalls of the resources.

Results

Research Question 1: What Web-Based Resources Exist for Engaging With Education or Work After a Cancer Diagnosis, That AYAs With Cancer Are Likely to Encounter When Conducting a Google Search?

A total of 24 AYA-specific resources met eligibility criteria and were included (Table 2). Most were published by NGOs (n=19, 79%). All resources focused on information provision rather than advertising, support, or intervention, with content shared through text information, text and video stories from other AYAs with cancer, contact details for support organizations, or lists of strategies to navigate education and work challenges. A total of 8 resources were from the United States [52-59], 8 from Australia [60-67], 6 from the United Kingdom [68-73], and 2 from Canada [74,75]. A total of 7 resources focused on education, 8 on work, and 9 on both. There was no difference in search results between searches conducted in Sydney and Perth.

Most resources did not target specific cancer types or stages of the cancer trajectory, although 4 were developed for people diagnosed with blood cancer [59,66,69,74]. There was little consistency in the topics covered across resources, with only a few common topics covered (Table 3).

Table 2. Cultural inclusivity of resources identified through the environmental scan [45].

Criteria	Resources meeting each criterion, n
Does the resource include any visual aids (photos, animations, infographics, or charts) that depict or contain information about Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander peoples?	0
Does the resource include any information or data about Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander peoples?	0
Does the resource include any Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander designs or artwork?	4
Does the resource provide any evidence of leadership, involvement, or governance by people, commu- nities, or organizations that identify as or represent populations that are Aboriginal or Torres Strait Is- lander?	0
Is the resource available in Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander languages?	0
Is any of the language used strengths-based and respectful to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples?	6
Does the resource include a contact (phone number, email, or website) for any culturally relevant or personalized support and information for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples?	2



Table 3. Common information and strategies covered in resources.

Topic covered	Resource explored topic in relation to education, work, or both
Disability rights and accessing accommodations or provisions (n=16) [52-55,58,61-63,65-67,71,72,74]	Both
Telling people or talking about your cancer (n=13) [52-55,60-63,65-67,70-72]	Both
Applying for jobs or changing careers (n=11) [52,61,64,66,67,69,71-75]	Both
Managing physical or cognitive impacts of cancer treatment (n=7) [54,57,65-67,71,75]	Both

Research Question 2a: Were Resources Understandable?

Understandability of all text and resources was very good, with all but 1 resource [68] scoring 80% or more on the PEMAT (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 [52-75]).

Research Question 2b: Were Resources Actionable?

Actionability varied greatly across resources, ranging from 40%-100% on the PEMAT (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 [52-75]). Less actionable text resources tended to be those focused on broad information and strategies, such as tips on how to tell your employer about your diagnosis and the suggestion to seek counseling support through a university campus student services center, rather than advice on when and how AYAs can take specific steps to address their concerns. In general, video resources were the least actionable in that most involved AYA survivors telling their own personal stories related to education and work challenges after a cancer diagnosis, rather than providing advice or strategies to other AYAs.

Research Question 2c: Were Text Resources Also Readable?

Readability for all 23 text resources was very poor, with reading levels ranging between grades 8.5 and 16.0 (mean 12, SD 1.97), indicating that, on average, the included resources require completion of a high school degree to comprehend. No resources were assessed to be the optimal reading level of grade 8 or lower (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 [52-75]).

Research Question 2d: Were Resources Easy to Locate?

Resources were difficult to locate, with 22 out of 24 (90%) relevant resources appearing on the second or third page of the Google search results (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 [52-75]). Results of the Google search prioritized resources related to younger children diagnosed with cancer and their engagement with school, as well as older adults returning to work. AYA-specific resources were scattered in between these less relevant results, as well as other, less relevant results, such as academic journal publications, links to hospital-based cancer services, and information about specific types of cancer.

Research Question 2e: Were Resources Evidence-Based?

No resources cited any research-based evidence to support the information provided (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 [52-75]). Most resources did not describe how the content was developed. Where any description was provided, resources

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47944
```

RenderX

tended to be developed through consultation with expert informants, such as career counselors, oncologists, hematologists, and social workers.

Research Question 2f: Were Resources Co-Designed?

No resources specifically discussed co-design methods used to develop resource content in collaboration with AYAs.

Research Question 2g: Were Resources Culturally Inclusive?

The number of cultural inclusivity criteria each resource addressed is summarized in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 [52-75]. The number of resources meeting specific criteria in the cultural inclusivity checklist is summarized in Table 2. Generally, cultural inclusivity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples was very poor, with only 2 out of 7 inclusivity criteria met by 1 or more resources: inclusion of Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander cultural design or artwork and an acknowledgment on the web page recognizing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples (minimally reflecting the use of strengths-based language that is respectful of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples).

In reviewing all resources, both Australian and internationally-designed, we noticed several further equity, access, diversity, and representative issues with resources that were not initially part of our aims, that are important to highlight. Pictures and videos presented in resources almost exclusively portrayed heterosexual relationships, women were more commonly represented in pictures than men, and women were more commonly shown to be young, White, and of thinner build. Settings also showed middle-class, suburban, or urban areas rather than lower-socioeconomic, rural, or remote settings. Most resources also primarily assumed internet access and support from family or friends were available to AYAs. Lastly, language was not gender neutral and tended to assume heterosexual, 2-parent families.

Discussion

Overview

This environmental scan aimed to (1) determine what web-based resources exist to support survivors of AYA cancer in their engagement with education or work and (2) assess the understandability, readability, actionability, and cultural inclusivity of resources, as well as how easy resources were to locate, whether they provide evidence-based information, and whether they were co-designed with survivors of AYA cancer. We found few high-quality resources on the topic of returning to education or working for AYAs with cancer in Australia.

Although the understandability of most resources was high, the readability of text-based resources was poor, with most text resources requiring reading levels at the university education level or higher. This discrepancy may be due to the understandability criteria being quite broad (eg, text "material uses common, everyday language" or "material 'chunks' information into short sections") and not directly providing criteria against which age-appropriate understandability could be assessed. For example, a resource might include everyday language for a young adult in small sections, but sentence structures or legal terminology related to education or work rights may be more complicated, thus affecting readability. Our findings on poor readability of resources are consistent with literature indicating most AYAs with cancer who access web-based resources report the resources require high health literacy and present information that is difficult to understand, critically evaluate, and act on [76,77].

We also found most web-based resources limited in their modes of information provision, primarily using text to provide lists of information and strategies. Few resources involved audio-visual content that may be preferable for the AYA population [35]. Where audio-visual content was provided, it was often focused on individual stories and experiences rather than the provision of guidance to AYAs and actionable strategies to navigate the return to education or work after cancer.

It is therefore unsurprising that the actionability of resources was moderate, with resources scoring 60%-100% on actionability. The focus on broad information and strategies in most of the resources reviewed may feel overwhelming to AYAs, given that it can be difficult for a young person to review a long list of suggestions and determine what they should act on given their individual health status, needs, and education or work goals [25]. Previous studies have provided evidence that Australian survivors of AYA cancer report low confidence in their ability to assess the reliability and validity of health-related information [77]. From a developmental standpoint, adolescents may not have fully developed their critical thinking skills yet [77]. This underscores the importance of providing information to AYAs that is both understandable and actionable.

It is also important to note that no resources cited an evidence base (ie, peer-reviewed scientific literature) for their information or recommendations, nor did any resource specify co-design of any content with survivors of AYA cancer. Instead, most resources assumed a certain level of understanding and self-motivation to act on the provided information or strategies. Most resources were also difficult to locate, appearing on multiple pages in a Google search. However, reliance on evidence-based information and co-design of resources with AYA survivors are widely acknowledged as critical to ensuring that information content and delivery methods are optimized for the specific needs of this age group [78-81].

Lastly, few resources met more than 1 criterion for cultural inclusivity. The lack of culturally inclusive resources for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples may exacerbate existing health inequalities in people with cancer [82]. While there is no research, to our knowledge, describing specific concerns related to return to work or education for Aboriginal

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47944
```

and Torres Strait Islander AYAs with cancer, financial distress is a common area of unmet need for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander adults with cancer in Queensland [83]. Considering the employment and educational disparities that are known within this population broadly [84,85], it stands to reason that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander AYAs with cancer may be in particular need of information to support their educational and employment endeavors. However, resources were generally not inclusive of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. In turn, the literature suggests that such limited inclusivity in health information can lead to feelings of isolation, feeling misunderstood by health services, and reduced self-efficacy in patients to follow medical advice [86]. There is an urgent need to address this gap in resources available to Australian AYAs through co-designing and testing the impact of resources with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander survivors of AYA cancer.

Comparison to Previous Work

While some NGOs and health care institutions provide lists of web-based resources for AYAs with cancer on their website, no previous research has specifically collated and evaluated web-based resources to support AYAs' return to education or work after cancer. This environmental scan is the first to evaluate the age appropriateness, accessibility, understandability, and cultural inclusivity of web-based resources specifically targeting the education and work needs of AYAs with cancer in Australia.

Limitations

There were some limitations worth noting. The search strategies used were constructed to mirror typical searches AYAs might conduct with a select set of keywords. However, these strategies may not capture all modes of searches AYAs might conduct, such as asking questions in the Google search or using other terms not featured, and we did not include results such as blogs or social media posts from which AYAs may also seek information. We only conducted searches in English and did not find or include resources published in other languages that may be relevant. Furthermore, there are some limitations associated with assessing the cultural inclusivity of international resources using a tool designed specifically for Australia. However, it is important to note that, to our knowledge, no international tools exist to assess the cultural inclusivity of web-based health information resources, and we, therefore, opted to use the Australian tool and focus specifically on assessing the cultural inclusivity of resources for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians. We also aimed to optimize the reach of our searches by using 24 unique search term combinations, as well as by conducting the searches from both Sydney (where the investigators are located) and Perth (through a virtual private network). Finally, given that AYAs use web-based resources and information, an important next step will be understanding what AYAs themselves think about available web-based resources in terms of appropriateness or usefulness, which was beyond the scope of the current environmental scan conducted here.

XSL•FO RenderX
AYAs diagnosed with cancer frequently turn to the internet to seek information related to their diagnosis, treatment, and psychosocial needs [24,25,76,87]. Information accessed on the internet can play a major role in AYAs' decisions to seek care or support to address their specific needs and concerns [24,25,76,87]. Findings from this environmental scan suggest AYAs diagnosed with cancer in Australia would benefit from more tailored, evidence-based, and culturally inclusive

web-based resources that are easy to locate, are provided in multiple formats (eg, text as well as audio-visual), are presented at the reading level of someone in year 8 or below and are easy to act on. While some resources describe their development as being done in consultation with survivors of AYA cancer, it is unclear to what extent a co-design approach was taken. A co-design approach would be beneficial to at least ensure the understandability, readability, actionability, and cultural inclusivity of any future resources developed.

Acknowledgments

This paper was prepared with funding support from the Cancer Australia Supporting People With Cancer grant (CA-ITA-2021/01) and the Kids Cancer Project and Canteen. JEF is a Maridulu Budyari Gumal (SPHERE) Cancer CAG Senior Research Fellow and is supported by a cancer institute NSW Research Capacity Building grant (2021/CBG003). AD is funded by a University of Queensland Faculty of Medicine Fellowship. UMS-D is supported by an Early Career Fellowship from the Cancer Institute of New South Wales (2020/ECF1163). The Behavioral Sciences Unit is proudly supported by the Kids with Cancer Foundation, by the Kids Cancer Alliance, as well as a Cancer Council New South Wales Program grant (PG16-02) with the support of the estate of the late Harry McPaul.

Data Availability

The data sets generated during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

All authors contributed to project conceptualization, methodology, writing, reviewing, and editing. Authors CES, JEF, GD, AD, and AG contributed to data curation and formal analysis. CES wrote the original manuscript with supervision from JEF.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Resources identified. [DOCX File, 23 KB - cancer_v10i1e47944_app1.docx]

References

- Warner EL, Kent EE, Trevino KM, Parsons HM, Zebrack BJ, Kirchhoff AC. Social well-being among adolescents and young adults with cancer: a systematic review. Cancer 2016;122(7):1029-1037 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.29866] [Medline: 26848713]
- 2. Fardell JE, Wakefield CE, Patterson P, Lum A, Cohn RJ, Pini SA, et al. Narrative review of the educational, vocational, and financial needs of adolescents and young adults with cancer: recommendations for support and research. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2018;7(2):143-147. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2017.0086] [Medline: 29125906]
- Schilstra CE, Fardell JE, Burns MA, Ellis SJ, Anazodo AC, Trahair TN, et al. Determinants of social functioning among adolescents and young adults with cancer: a systematic review. Psychooncology 2021;30(10):1626-1642. [doi: 10.1002/pon.5740] [Medline: <u>34081823</u>]
- 4. Park JL, Brandelli Y, Russell KB, Reynolds K, Li Y, Ruether D, et al. Unmet needs of adult survivors of childhood cancers: associations with developmental stage at diagnosis, cognitive impairment, and time from diagnosis. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2018;7(1):61-71. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2017.0023] [Medline: 28795857]
- Magrath CM, Critoph DJ, Smith LAM, Hatcher HM. "A different person entirely": adolescent and young adults' experiences returning to education after cancer treatment. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2021;10(5):562-572. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2020.0168] [Medline: 33689455]
- Elsbernd A, Pedersen KJ, Boisen KA, Midtgaard J, Larsen HB. "On your own": adolescent and young adult cancer survivors' experience of managing return to secondary or higher education in Denmark. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2018;7(5):618-625. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2018.0058] [Medline: 29985720]
- Pedersen KJ, Boisen KA, Midtgaard J, Elsbernd A, Larsen HB. Facing the maze: young cancer survivors' return to education and work-a professional expert key informant study. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2018;7(4):445-452. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2017.0128] [Medline: 29641360]

- Schilstra CE, Fardell JE, Ellis SJ, Jones KM, Anazodo AC, Trahair TN, et al. Social anxiety symptoms in survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2022;11(2):129-137. [doi: <u>10.1089/jayao.2021.0050</u>] [Medline: <u>34252287</u>]
- Geue K, Göbel P, Leuteritz K, Nowe E, Sender A, Stöbel-Richter Y, et al. Anxiety and depression in young adult German cancer patients: time course and associated factors. Psychooncology 2019;28(10):2083-2090. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5197</u>] [Medline: <u>31397041</u>]
- Park EM, Rosenstein DL. Depression in adolescents and young adults with cancer. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2015;17(2):171-180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2015.17.2/epark] [Medline: 26246791]
- Fardell JE, Patterson P, Wakefield CE, Signorelli C, Cohn RJ, Anazodo A, et al. A narrative review of models of care for adolescents and young adults with cancer: barriers and recommendations. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2018;7(2):148-152. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2017.0100] [Medline: 29298105]
- 12. Docherty SL, Kayle M, Maslow GR, Santacroce SJ. The adolescent and young adult with cancer: a developmental life course perspective. Semin Oncol Nurs 2015;31(3):186-196. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.soncn.2015.05.006</u>] [Medline: <u>26210197</u>]
- Pini S, Hugh-Jones S, Gardner PH. What effect does a cancer diagnosis have on the educational engagement and school life of teenagers? A systematic review. Psychooncology 2012;21(7):685-694 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.2082] [Medline: 22006640]
- Kosola S, McCarthy MC, McNeil R, Orme LM, Drew S, Sawyer SM. Early education and employment outcomes after cancer in adolescents and young adults. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2018;7(2):238-244. [doi: <u>10.1089/jayao.2017.0045</u>] [Medline: <u>29131705</u>]
- Bellizzi KM, Smith A, Schmidt S, Keegan THM, Zebrack B, Lynch CF, et al. Positive and negative psychosocial impact of being diagnosed with cancer as an adolescent or young adult. Cancer 2012;118(20):5155-5162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.27512] [Medline: 22415815]
- Guy GP, Yabroff KR, Ekwueme DU, Smith AW, Dowling EC, Rechis R, et al. Estimating the health and economic burden of cancer among those diagnosed as adolescents and young adults. Health Aff (Millwood) 2014;33(6):1024-1031 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1425] [Medline: 24889952]
- 17. Education expenses. Cancer Council. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.cancercouncil.com.au/cancer-information/</u> legal-work-and-financial-issues/finances/reducing-debts-and-expenses/education-expenses/ [accessed 2024-02-21]
- Kwak M, Zebrack BJ, Meeske KA, Embry L, Aguilar C, Block R, et al. Trajectories of psychological distress in adolescent and young adult patients with cancer: a 1-year longitudinal study. J Clin Oncol 2013;31(17):2160-2166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.45.9222] [Medline: 23650425]
- 19. Husson O, Zebrack BJ, Aguilar C, Hayes-Lattin B, Cole S. Cancer in adolescents and young adults: who remains at risk of poor social functioning over time? Cancer 2017;123(14):2743-2751 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.30656] [Medline: 28319256]
- 20. Dax V, Edwards N, Doidge O, Morkunas B, Thompson K, Lewin J. Evaluation of an educational and vocational service for adolescent and young adults with cancer: a retrospective review. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2021;10(1):56-65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2020.0009] [Medline: 32392441]
- 21. van der Kruk SR, Butow P, Mesters I, Boyle T, Olver I, White K, et al. Psychosocial well-being and supportive care needs of cancer patients and survivors living in rural or regional areas: a systematic review from 2010 to 2021. Support Care Cancer 2022;30(2):1021-1064 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06440-1] [Medline: 34392413]
- Medlow S, Patterson P. Determining research priorities for adolescent and young adult cancer in Australia. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2015;24(4):590-599. [doi: <u>10.1111/ecc.12291</u>] [Medline: <u>25684198</u>]
- Davis EL, Clarke KS, Patterson P, Cohen J. Using intervention mapping to develop an education and career support service for adolescents and young adults diagnosed with cancer: identification of the contextual factors that influence participation in education and employment. Cancers (Basel) 2022;14(19):4590 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers14194590] [Medline: 36230511]
- 24. Perales MA, Drake EK, Pemmaraju N, Wood WA. Social media and the Adolescent and Young Adult (AYA) patient with cancer. Curr Hematol Malig Rep 2016;11(6):449-455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11899-016-0313-6] [Medline: 26893061]
- 25. Cheung CK, Zebrack B. What do adolescents and young adults want from cancer resources? Insights from a Delphi panel of AYA patients. Support Care Cancer 2017;25(1):119-126. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-016-3396-7</u>] [Medline: <u>27580714</u>]
- 26. Gunn K, Turnbull D, McWha JL, Davies M, Olver I. Psychosocial service use: a qualitative exploration from the perspective of rural Australian cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2013;21(9):2547-2555. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-013-1812-9</u>] [Medline: <u>23636646</u>]
- 27. Fennell KM, Turnbull DA, Bidargaddi N, McWha JL, Davies M, Olver I. The consumer-driven development and acceptability testing of a website designed to connect rural cancer patients and their families, carers and health professionals with appropriate information and psychosocial support. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2017;26(5):e12533. [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12533] [Medline: 27405399]
- 28. Zhang Y. Beyond quality and accessibility: source selection in consumer health information searching. J Assoc Inf Sci Technol 2014;65(5):911-927. [doi: 10.1002/asi.23023]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47944
```

- 29. Cline RJ, Haynes KM. Consumer health information seeking on the internet: the state of the art. Health Educ Res 2001;16(6):671-692 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/16.6.671] [Medline: 11780707]
- Stvilia B, Mon L, Yi YJ. A model for online consumer health information quality. J Am Soc Inf Sci Technol 2009;60(9):1781-1791. [doi: <u>10.1002/asi.21115</u>]
- 31. Census. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2021. URL: https://www.abs.gov.au/census [accessed 2024-02-21]
- Ruble KJ, Paré-Blagoev EJ, Cooper SL, Jacobson LA. Assessment of online resources for returning to school during and after treatment of childhood cancer. J Cancer Educ 2020;35(5):876-884. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-019-01537-y</u>] [Medline: <u>31049872</u>]
- 33. Rowel R, Moore ND, Nowrojee S, Memiah P, Bronner Y. The utility of the environmental scan for public health practice: lessons from an urban program to increase cancer screening. J Natl Med Assoc 2005;97(4):527-534. [Medline: <u>15868772</u>]
- Charlton P, Doucet S, Azar R, Nagel DA, Boulos L, Luke A, et al. The use of the environmental scan in health services delivery research: a scoping review protocol. BMJ Open 2019;9(9):e029805 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029805] [Medline: 31494613]
- 35. Schiffman JD, Csongradi E, Suzuki LK. Internet use among Adolescent and Young Adults (AYA) with cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2008;51(3):410-415. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.21616] [Medline: 18506753]
- 36. Why (almost) everything you knew about Google CTR is no longer valid. Sistrix. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.sistrix.com/blog/why-almost-everything-you-knew-about-google-ctr-is-no-longer-valid/</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- Bonner C, Fajardo MA, Hui S, Stubbs R, Trevena L. Clinical validity, understandability, and actionability of online cardiovascular disease risk calculators: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018;20(2):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8538] [Medline: 29391344]
- Shoemaker SJ, Wolf MS, Brach C. Development of the Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT): a new measure of understandability and actionability for print and audiovisual patient information. Patient Educ Couns 2014;96(3):395-403 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2014.05.027] [Medline: 24973195]
- 39. Eysenbach G, Köhler C. How do consumers search for and appraise health information on the world wide web? Qualitative study using focus groups, usability tests, and in-depth interviews. BMJ 2002;324(7337):573-577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.324.7337.573] [Medline: 11884321]
- 40. Vishnevetsky J, Walters CB, Tan KS. Interrater reliability of the Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT). Patient Educ Couns 2018;101(3):490-496 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2017.09.003] [Medline: 28899713]
- Mac O, Ayre J, Bell K, McCaffery K, Muscat DM. Comparison of readability scores for written health information across formulas using automated vs manual measures. JAMA Netw Open 2022;5(12):e2246051 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.46051] [Medline: 36508219]
- 42. Ayre J, Muscat D, Bonner C, Mouwad D, Dalmazzo J, Eliza H, et al. Sydney Health Literacy Lab (SHLL) health literacy editor. The University of Sydney. 2021. URL: <u>https://ses.library.usyd.edu.au/handle/2123/24642</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 43. Engaging with consumers, carers and the community. Government of South Australia. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.sahealth.sa.gov.au/wps/wcm/connect/6dead9da-d1c2-4cbf-9568-74d2131df162/</u> EngagingwithConsumersCarersandCommunityGuide%26Resources_Apr+2021+%281%29. pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CACHEID=ROOTWORKSPACE-6dead9da-d1c2-4cbf-9568-74d2131df162-nYE-POS [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 44. Greenhalgh T, Hinton L, Finlay T, Macfarlane A, Fahy N, Clyde B, et al. Frameworks for supporting patient and public involvement in research: systematic review and co-design pilot. Health Expect 2019;22(4):785-801 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12888] [Medline: 31012259]
- 45. Diaz A, McErlane J, Jeon MH, Cunningham J, Sullivan V, Garvey G. Patient information resources on cardiovascular health after cancer treatment: an audit of Australian resources. JCO Glob Oncol 2023;9:e2200361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/GO.22.00361] [Medline: 37018632]
- 46. Butler T, Gall A, Garvey G, Ngampromwongse K, Hector D, Turnbull S, et al. A comprehensive review of optimal approaches to co-design in health with first nations Australians. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022;19(23):16166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph192316166] [Medline: 36498237]
- 47. Gall A, Anderson K, Howard K, Diaz A, King A, Willing E, et al. Wellbeing of indigenous peoples in Canada, Aotearoa (New Zealand) and the United States: a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;18(11):5832 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18115832] [Medline: 34071636]
- 48. Gall A, Anderson K, Adams J, Matthews V, Garvey G. An exploration of healthcare providers' experiences and perspectives of traditional and complementary medicine usage and disclosure by indigenous cancer patients. BMC Complement Altern Med 2019;19(1):259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12906-019-2665-7] [Medline: 31533782]
- 49. Elder-Robinson E, Diaz A, Howard K, Parikh DR, Kar G, Garvey G. Quality of life in the first year of cancer diagnosis among aboriginal and non-aboriginal people living in regional and remote areas of Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;19(1):330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19010330] [Medline: 35010591]
- 50. Griffiths K, Diaz A, Whop LJ, Cunningham J. The health and wellbeing of indigenous and tribal peoples around the globe: ensuring and promoting best practice in research. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;19(1):261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19010261] [Medline: 35010521]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47944
```

- Diaz A, Bernardes CM, Garvey G, Valery PC. Supportive care needs among indigenous cancer patients in Queensland, Australia: less comorbidity is associated with greater practical and cultural unmet need. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2016;25(2):242-253. [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12471] [Medline: 26918689]
- 52. School and work during cancer. Cancer.net. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.net/navigating-cancer-care/young-adults-and-teenagers/</u> school-and-work-during-cancer [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 53. Cancer and Careers. URL: <u>https://www.cancerandcareers.org/en</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 54. Keep up with school. St. Jude Children's Research Hospital. URL: <u>https://together.stjude.org/en-us/teensand20s/keep-up-with-school.html</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 55. Adulting with cancer. St. Jude Children's Research Hospital. URL: <u>https://together.stjude.org/en-us/teensand20s/</u> adulting-with-cancer.html [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 56. High school resources. Seattle Children's Hospital. URL: <u>https://www.seattlechildrens.org/globalassets/documents/clinics/</u> <u>school-services/hs-resources-and-schedules.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 57. College students living with a chronic condition. Center for Online Education. URL: <u>https://www.onlinecolleges.net/</u> for-students/chronic-health-issues/ [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 58. College and career. Stupid Cancer. URL: https://stupidcancer.org/school-and-career/ [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 59. Work, school, and finances. Leukemia and Lymphoma Society. URL: <u>https://www.lls.org/children-and-young-adults/young-adults/work-school-finances</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 60. Uni / TAFE and cancer treatment. Canteen. URL: <u>https://www.canteen.org.au/young-people/with-cancer/uni-tafe-and-cancer-treatment</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 61. Going back to work. Canteen. URL: <u>https://www.canteen.org.au/young-people/after-cancer/going-back-to-work</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 62. Employment and cancer treatment. Canteen. URL: <u>https://www.canteen.org.au/young-people/with-cancer/</u> employment-and-cancer-treatment [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 63. Returning to school or study. Canteen. URL: <u>https://www.canteen.org.au/young-people/after-cancer/</u><u>returning-to-school-or-study</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 64. Young people going back to work with cancer. Government of South Australia. URL: <u>https://www.sahealth.sa.gov.au/wps/</u> wcm/connect/public+content/sa+health+internet/conditions/cancer/youth+cancer/young+people+living+with+cancer/ young+people+going+back+to+work+with+cancer [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 65. Cancer in the school community. Cancer Council. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org.au/cancer-information/types-of-cancer/</u> <u>childhood-cancers/cancer-in-the-school-community</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 66. Returning to work or study. Leukaemia Foundation. URL: <u>https://www.leukaemia.org.au/blood-cancer/journey/living-well-with-blood-cancer/practical-matters/returning-to-work-or-study/</u> #:~:text=Some%20things%20you%20may%20like,to%20advocate%20on%20your%20behalf [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 67. Holland L. Thinking ahead: your guide to school, study and work. PeterMac. Melbourne, Victoria: Murdoch Childrens Research Institute; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.petermac.org/patients-and-carers/information-and-resources/</u> <u>children-adolescents-and-young-adults/thinking-ahead-your-guide-to-school-study-and-work</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 68. What should be considered when planning to return to work after cancer? Shine Cancer Support. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=f5_4IwEthOE</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 69. Study, university, and work. Blood Cancer UK. URL: <u>https://bloodcancer.org.uk/support-for-you/young-adults-blood-cancer/study-university-work/</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 70. Back to education after cancer. Teenage Cancer Trust. URL: <u>https://www.teenagecancertrust.org/information-about-cancer/</u> <u>back-education-after-cancer</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 71. Returning to work after cancer treatment. Teenage Cancer Trust. URL: <u>https://www.teenagecancertrust.org/</u> information-about-cancer/returning-work-after-cancer-treatment [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 72. Going back to work after cancer treatment. Young Lives vs. Cancer. URL: <u>https://www.younglivesvscancer.org.uk/</u> <u>life-with-cancer/i-have-cancer/work/going-back-to-work-after-cancer-treatment/</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 73. Work and cancer. Trekstock. URL: <u>https://www.trekstock.com/how-your-employment-may-be-affected-by-cancer</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 74. Returning to work or school after cancer treatment. Leukemia and Lymphoma Society. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=BHVleZotXBk [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 75. The POGO school and work transitions program. Pediatric Oncology Group of Ontario. URL: <u>https://www.pogo.ca/</u> programs-support/survivor-care/transitions-school-work-counselling/ [accessed 2024-02-21]
- Cheung CK, Norlander MG, Vest AN, Thomas BN, Zebrack BJ. A thin line between helpful and harmful internet usage: embodied research on internet experiences among adolescent and young adult cancer patients. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2022;11(5):478-485. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2021.0113] [Medline: 34882036]
- 77. Lin M, Sansom-Daly UM, Wakefield CE, McGill BC, Cohn RJ. Health literacy in adolescents and young adults: perspectives from Australian cancer survivors. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2017;6(1):150-158. [doi: <u>10.1089/jayao.2016.0024</u>] [Medline: <u>27656761</u>]

- Hawke LD, Relihan J, Miller J, McCann E, Rong J, Darnay K, et al. Engaging youth in research planning, design and execution: practical recommendations for researchers. Health Expect 2018;21(6):944-949 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12795] [Medline: 29858526]
- 79. Thabrew H, Fleming T, Hetrick S, Merry S. Co-design of eHealth interventions with children and young people. Front Psychiatry 2018;9:481 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00481] [Medline: 30405450]
- Jones RB, Stallard P, Agha SS, Rice S, Werner-Seidler A, Stasiak K, et al. Practitioner review: co-design of digital mental health technologies with children and young people. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2020;61(8):928-940 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13258] [Medline: 32572961]
- 81. Mulvale A, Miatello A, Hackett C, Mulvale G. Applying experience-based co-design with vulnerable populations: lessons from a systematic review of methods to involve patients, families and service providers in child and youth mental health service improvement. Patient Exp J 2016;3(1):117-129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.35680/2372-0247.1104]
- 82. Bygrave A, Whittaker K, Aranda S. Inequalities in cancer outcomes by indigenous status and socioeconomic quintile: an integrative review. Cancer Council Australia. Sydney URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org.au/assets/pdf/inequalities-in-cancer-outcomes</u> [accessed 2024-02-21]
- 83. Garvey G, Beesley VL, Janda M, O'Rourke PK, He VYF, Hawkes AL, et al. Psychometric properties of an Australian supportive care needs assessment tool for indigenous patients with cancer. Cancer 2015;121(17):3018-3026 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.29433] [Medline: 25946658]
- 84. Deravin L, Francis K, Anderson J. Closing the gap in indigenous health inequity—is it making a difference? Int Nurs Rev 2018;65(4):477-483. [doi: 10.1111/inr.12436] [Medline: 29493777]
- Spinner JR, Haynes E, Nunez C, Baskerville S, Bravo K, Araojo RR. Enhancing FDA's reach to minorities and under-represented groups through training: developing culturally competent health education materials. J Prim Care Community Health 2021;12:21501327211003688 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/21501327211003688] [Medline: 33764196]
- Scanlon B, Brough M, Wyld D, Durham J. Equity across the cancer care continuum for culturally and linguistically diverse migrants living in Australia: a scoping review. Global Health 2021;17(1):87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12992-021-00737-w] [Medline: 34321015]
- 87. Grace JG, Schweers L, Anazodo A, Freyer DR. Evaluating and providing quality health information for adolescents and young adults with cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2019;66(10):e27931 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.27931] [Medline: 31322817]

Abbreviations

AYA: adolescent and young adult NGO: nongovernmental organization PEMAT: Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool SHeLL: Sydney Health Literacy Laboratory

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 09.04.23; peer-reviewed by L Guccione, S Arya; comments to author 04.10.23; revised version received 14.11.23; accepted 06.02.24; published 25.03.24.

Please cite as:

Schilstra CE, Ellis SJ, Cohen J, Gall A, Diaz A, Clarke K, Dumlao G, Chard J, Cumming TM, Davis E, Dhillon H, Burns MA, Docking K, Koh ES, O'Reilly J, Sansom-Daly UM, Shaw J, Speers N, Taylor N, Warne A, Fardell JE Exploring Web-Based Information and Resources That Support Adolescents and Young Adults With Cancer to Resume Study and Work: Environmental Scan Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e47944 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47944 doi:10.2196/47944 PMID:38526527

©Clarissa E Schilstra, Sarah J Ellis, Jennifer Cohen, Alana Gall, Abbey Diaz, Kristina Clarke, Gadiel Dumlao, Jennifer Chard, Therese M Cumming, Esther Davis, Haryana Dhillon, Mary Anne Burns, Kimberley Docking, Eng-Siew Koh, Josephine O'Reilly, Ursula M Sansom-Daly, Joanne Shaw, Nicole Speers, Natalie Taylor, Anthea Warne, Joanna E Fardell. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 25.03.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Evaluation of the e–Mental Health Intervention Make It Training From Patients' Perspectives: Qualitative Analysis Within the Reduct Trial

Julia Barbara Krakowczyk^{1,2,3}, MSc; Femke Truijens⁴, PhD; Martin Teufel^{1,2,3}, MD; Tania Lalgi^{1,2,3}, BSc; Jana Heinen^{5,6}, MSc; Caterina Schug^{7,8}, MSc; Yesim Erim^{7,8}, MD; Michael Pantförder⁹, MSc; Johanna Graf^{5,6}, PhD; Alexander Bäuerle^{1,2,3}, PhD

¹Clinic for Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, LVR-University Hospital Essen, University of Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany

⁴Department of Psychology, Educational and Child Studies, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Rotterdam, Netherlands

⁵Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, University Hospital Tübingen, Eberhard Karls University Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany ⁶Comprehensive Cancer Center, University Hospital Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany

⁹Fraunhofer Institute for Software and Systems Engineering, Dortmund, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Julia Barbara Krakowczyk, MSc Clinic for Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy LVR-University Hospital Essen University of Duisburg-Essen Virchowstraße 174 Essen Germany Phone: 49 201438755216 Email: julia.krakowczyk@uni-due.de

Abstract

Background: Make It Training is an e-mental health intervention designed for individuals with cancer that aims to reduce psychological distress and improve disease-related coping and quality of life.

Objective: This study evaluated the experienced usefulness and usability of the web-based Make It Training intervention using a qualitative approach.

Methods: In this study, semistructured interviews were conducted with participants at different cancer stages and with different cancer entities. All participants had previously taken part in the Reduct trial, a randomized controlled trial that assessed the efficacy of the Make It Training intervention. The data were coded deductively by 2 independent researchers and analyzed iteratively using thematic codebook analysis.

Results: Analysis of experienced usefulness resulted in 4 themes (developing coping strategies to reduce psychological distress, improvement in quality of life, Make It Training vs traditional psychotherapy, and integration into daily life) with 11 subthemes. Analysis of experienced usability resulted in 3 themes (efficiency and accessibility, user-friendliness, and recommendations to design the Make It Training intervention to be more appealing) with 6 subthemes. Make It Training was evaluated as a user-friendly intervention helpful for developing functional coping strategies to reduce psychological distress and improve quality of life. The consensus regarding Make It Training was that it was described as a daily companion that integrates well into daily life and that it has the potential to be routinely implemented within oncological health care either as a stand-alone intervention or in addition to psychotherapy.

Conclusions: e-Mental health interventions such as Make It Training can target both the prevention of mental health issues and health promotion. Moreover, they offer a cost-efficient and low-threshold option to receive psycho-oncological support.

²Comprehensive Cancer Center, University Hospital Essen, Essen, Germany

³Center for Translational Neuro- and Behavioral Sciences, University of Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany

⁷Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, University Hospital Erlangen, Friedrich-Alexander-University Erlangen-Nürnberg, Erlangen, Germany

⁸Comprehensive Cancer Center, University Hospital Erlangen, Erlangen, Germany

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53117) doi:10.2196/53117

KEYWORDS

psycho-oncology; eHealth; digital health; cancer; Reduct trial; oncology

Introduction

Background

Cancer is one of the leading causes of death worldwide, and its prevalence is constantly increasing [1]. Worldwide, 19.3 million new cases of cancer were diagnosed in 2020 [2]. By 2024, a total of 27.5 million new cases of cancer are expected each year [2]. Receiving a cancer diagnosis and undergoing cancer treatment are associated with a high psychological burden [3,4]. Approximately every second individual diagnosed with cancer experiences high psychological distress, and one-third of all individuals across different cancer stages and types meet the criteria for at least one mental health disorder [5-7].

Due to the high psychological burden associated with cancer, a significant number of individuals seek psycho-oncological support [8-10]. Previous research has proven the efficacy of psycho-oncological treatment on different outcomes such as distress, fatigue, depression, anxiety, and quality of life [11-16]. However, receiving proper psycho-oncological support is difficult due to various barriers within the health care system [10,17,18]. These include geographic barriers, the stigma of seeking mental health services, financial constraints, continuity of health care, and the limited availability of mental health professionals [19-21]. Thus, efforts are required to expand access to mental health support for patients with cancer [4,8].

eHealth interventions offer a cost-efficient approach to overcome barriers in psycho-oncological care [16,22,23]. Most of these eHealth interventions consist of (web) applications that are based on psychotherapeutic approaches such as cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) [24-28]. Existing research has demonstrated the efficacy of psychological eHealth interventions for individuals with cancer on outcomes such as distress, depression, anxiety, fatigue, and quality of life [16,25-27].

Most of the studies evaluating psycho-oncological eHealth interventions have proven their efficacy by adapting a quantitative research approach [16,25-27], wherein statistical analyses are conducted to investigate the pre- and postintervention scores of standardized questionnaires to assess statistically significant differences [29]. Although this approach is considered the gold standard for efficacy research, it does have some limitations [30]. These limitations include missing information on individual experiences, as well as missing in-depth information on the mechanisms behind the change that led to the statistical significance displayed in the data [31]. The inclusion of qualitative research offers an in-depth understanding of these mechanisms [32-34]. Considering research findings from both qualitative and quantitative approaches allows for a more holistic understanding of not only whether an intervention works but also how and why [35,36]. Thus, it offers in-depth knowledge of change mechanisms and the possibility of optimizing existing interventions. Moreover, assessment of eHealth interventions using a mixed methods approach is

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53117

associated with increased adaptation to patients' needs and demands compared to solely using quantitative assessments [37-39].

This paper reports qualitative analyses conducted as part of the Reduct trial (German Clinical Trial Register DRKS00025213) [40]. The Reduct trial is a multicenter randomized controlled trial to assess the efficacy of the web-based Make It Training intervention (mindfulness and skill-based distress reduction training in oncology). To date, it is one of the largest efficacy trials in the field of psycho-oncology. Make It Training is a self-guided (web-based) application aimed at reducing distress in individuals with cancer [40,41]. It is based on CBT, acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT), and mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR). Over 4 months, individuals are supported by Make It Training through skill training, psychoeducation, interactive exercises, mindfulness, and psychotherapeutic techniques. Make It Training aims to reduce psychological distress, improve disease-related coping, and improve quality of life. It was developed to bridge the gap in the lack of psycho-oncological support in the health care system that currently exists in certain regions. The papers by Bäuerle et al [40] and Heinen et al [41] outline the study and intervention protocols, respectively.

Study Objectives

Taking on a qualitative stance, this study examined the experienced usefulness and usability of Make It Training from patients' perspectives. The aim of this study was to obtain a more holistic view and enrich the understanding of individuals' experiences concerning Make It Training beyond the boundaries of quantitative data [35,36]. When referring to the experience of usefulness, this study took on a psychotherapeutic perspective and referred to the patients' general evaluation of Make It Training, changes experienced while completing the intervention, attribution of these changes, specific aspects of the intervention that they found particularly useful or hindering, and recommendation to other individuals with cancer. On the basis of the study by Gould and Lewis [42] and the Health IT Usability Evaluation Model [43], the term usability comprises the patients' experienced user-friendliness, efficiency, accessibility, and practicability of the intervention.

Methods

Study Design and Procedure

This study was based on the guidelines of Levitt et al [44] and the COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) guidelines [45]. It consisted of one-on-one semistructured interviews. The interviews were conducted by a trained female interviewer who was experienced with qualitative research. To avoid any potential bias, the interviewer was not part of the core research team of the Reduct trial. There was no previous relationship established between the interviewer and the participants before the study began. Moreover, the

XSL•FO RenderX

participants did not have personal knowledge of the researcher. In total, 33% (2/6) of the participants completed the interviews in person, and 67% (4/6) did so digitally. Apart from the interviewer and the interviewee, there was no other person present during the interviews. All participants were interviewed once. To focus on the dialogue between the interviewee and the interviewer, no field notes were taken during the interviews. No transcripts were returned to the participants for comments or corrections. The COREQ checklist can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1 [45].

Recruitment

The participants of 1 study center that completed the Make It Training intervention within the Reduct trial [40] between May 2022 and September 2022 were contacted via email and telephone and invited to participate in this study. Purposive sampling (ie, completion of Make It Training) was carried out to obtain information-rich participants as well as in-depth experiences with Make It Training [34,46,47]. Recruitment took place in an early phase of the Reduct trial, so 11 participants were eligible to be contacted in total. Of these 11 participants, 5 (45%) either did not respond or could not participate for personal reasons. The final sample consisted of 6 participants. On the basis of Crouch and McKenzie [48], a small sample size was selected to put emphasis on the relationship between the researcher and the participant, as well as to explore the patients' lived experiences with Make It Training in depth.

For the inclusion, exclusion, and completion criteria (eg, current cancer diagnosis, command of the German language, internet connection, age of >18 years, and no psychotherapy during the intervention period) of the Reduct trial, we refer to the study protocol by Bäuerle et al [40]. This study was based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria of the Reduct trial.

Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Duisburg-Essen (22-10,902-BO). All interviews were conducted on the premises of the university and audiotaped with the interviewees' consent.

The data were pseudonymized. The data protection–compliant audio files and identifying information were stored in a password-protected database. After providing written informed consent, the participants were interviewed. The participants had the option to be interviewed either in person at the clinic or digitally through a data protection–compliant software for clinicians [49]. There was no compensation or any form of reimbursement.

Semistructured Interview

The interview questions were divided into 9 segments. The first segment focused on explaining the study background and gathering sociodemographic information. In the second to ninth segments, interviewees were asked about the following: general experience with Make It Training, changes that they noticed since completing the intervention, attribution of these changes, content of the intervention that they perceived as particularly helpful or not helpful, content that was perceived as missing, the motivation to participate in the intervention, usability, and recommendation of the intervention to other individuals with cancer.

The interview questions were developed based on the Client Change Interview (CCI) [50] and the Health IT Usability Evaluation Scale (Health ITUES) [51]. The CCI was chosen as it is an established interview within psychotherapy research to assess self-perceived changes and attribution of changes related to psychotherapy [50]. In addition, it helps to identify perceived helpful or unhelpful components of psychotherapeutic interventions [50].

The Health ITUES is a questionnaire used to evaluate the usability of eHealth technologies among people with chronic diseases [52]. It was chosen as it is a validated assessment instrument to evaluate the feasibility and usability of eHealth interventions.

The full version of the semistructured interview is provided in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 [50,51].

In addition, self-generated questions were included (Textbox 1).

Textbox 1. Self-generated questions of the semistructured interview.

• How did you perceive the operation and user-friendliness of the Make It Training?

• How did you perceive the additional service in the form of reminder emails and contacts in the event of technical difficulties?

Data Analysis

The data were analyzed using thematic codebook analysis [53,54]. Thematic analysis was chosen due to its wide application across paradigms [54-56]. An overall deductive approach was chosen because it is an established approach to evaluate user experiences with digital interventions [57]. Moreover, it is helpful in organizing and categorizing meaningful data in conjunction with the existing literature [34,35,54]. The data were coded partly deductively by 2 independent researchers in 2 rounds of analysis. As the research team was interested in the participants' in-depth lived experiences with Make It Training rather than general thematic

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53117
```

cohesion over the sample, a bottom-up inductive analysis was conducted first, which was then captured in the deductive structure in the second round of analysis.

The analyses were conducted iteratively; that is, they were carried out in a cyclical manner to refine and deepen the understanding of the data through the following steps:

- 1. Each coder open coded the first 2 transcripts, and individual memos were written.
- The codes were compared and revised through multiple iterative rounds among the research team to obtain different perspectives. Both coders met to compare their findings, particularly regarding the codes; discuss discrepancies to

ensure consensus on the application of finalized codes and, if applicable, add new codes; and develop a codebook.

- 3. Both coders agreed that saturation had been attained in the first 2 open-coded transcripts.
- 4. The finalized codes were divided into categories and themes [56] and tested on the 4 remaining transcripts.

Chronemics (such as hesitation or silence) were taken into account as nonverbal information in the analysis. Overall, there was a high level of agreement (approximately 70%) between the researchers during the evaluation process, and discrepancies were critically discussed during meetings with the research team to reach a consensus. For publishing purposes, all interview quotes were translated from German into English, and the analysis process was reviewed by the research team. All interviews were transcribed using the f4x transcription software and then analyzed using the MAXQDA computer program (VERBI GmbH) [58]. On the basis of the decision to include a small sample size, the research team defined saturation according to Legard et al [59], meaning that saturation was assessed based on whether there was a consensus among the participants regarding the general evaluation of Make It Training and whether the research team felt that they had reached an understanding of the participants' lived experiences with Make It Training.

Quality Control

All researchers involved had a background in clinical psychology, psycho-oncology, psychosomatic medicine, and psychotherapy with different research experiences (full-time professors, assistant professors, postdoctoral researchers, PhD candidates, and graduate students).

On the basis of Creswell and Miller [60], validity guidelines were followed to ensure the validity of this study. These included triangulation by searching for convergence among diverse sources of information (eg, the lens of the researcher and systematic paradigm) to form themes or categories in a study [60]. Finally, validation procedures included seeking assistance through peer debriefing, which was realized by involving an auditor. The auditor was a senior qualitative researcher with extensive experience in clinical psychology and efficacy research but without familiarity with the Reduct trial and the Make It Training intervention. They audited the first round of findings by reading written findings, questioning the researchers on their procedures, and challenging interpretations and thematic structure. Subsequently, the researchers conducted another iterative round of analysis to synthesize and sensitize the data and fine-tune the findings accordingly. To establish credibility, we ensured to provide a thick and rich description of the setting, participants, and themes of the qualitative study [<mark>61</mark>].

Results

Overview

A total of 6 (mean 34 min, SD 7 min 56 s; range 20-45 min) one-on-one interviews were conducted. The demographic characteristics of the participants are presented in Table 1.



 Table 1. Sociodemographic and diagnosis-related characteristics of the participants (N=6).

Participants, n (%)
4 (67)
2 (33)
4 (67)
2 (33)
1 (17)
1 (17)
2 (33)
1 (17)
1 (17)
1 (17)
1 (17)
1 (17)
2 (33)
1 (17)
5 (83)
1 (17)
3 (50)
3 (50)

^aSociodemographic characteristic.

^bMedical characteristic and etiopathology.

Theme Classification

Overview

The previously selected categories were divided into 7 themes that were used to focus the qualitative analyses. The themes were used deductively to select excerpts in the interviews that appeared relevant to these themes. Within the selections per theme, excerpts were coded using line-by-line coding and grouped to form information-rich subthemes. All themes and subthemes are reported in the following sections using representative quotes. Further information on the theme classification can be found in Figure 1, whereas Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2 summarizes all representative quotes.

The consensus regarding the Make It Training intervention was that it was described as a "daily companion" that integrates well into daily life and that it has the potential to be routinely implemented within oncological health care either as an intervention itself or in addition to psychotherapy (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 1).



Krakowczyk et al

Figure 1. Themes and subthemes from the codebook analysis. Graphic display of the overarching categories, themes, and subthemes that emerged during the data analysis process. The term daily companion refers to the term that was commonly used by the participants to describe the Make It Training intervention. QoL: quality of life.



Category 1: Experienced Usefulness

Theme 1: Developing Coping Strategies to Reduce Psychological Distress

Overview Theme 1

This theme is centered on the development of functional coping strategies that participants described as a change related to Make It Training. All participants reported that Make It Training helped them develop a repertoire of coping strategies, which was helpful in reducing psychological distress.

For example, the improvement in emotion regulation was described as such a strategy (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 2). Another commonly described coping strategy was redefining the relationship with cancer (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 3).

Subtheme 1.1: Mindfulness Exercises

The increased practice of mindful behavior stood out as a described coping strategy, and it was attributed to the mindfulness exercises provided in Make It Training. The participants strongly embraced the variety of mindfulness exercises provided in the intervention. Interviewee 6 would have preferred even more exercises within Make It Training (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 4).

The mindful breathing exercises were most commonly described as helpful. They were perceived as a new coping skill that could be integrated into daily life for stress management and tension reduction. One of the participants also positively noted the long-term advantages of breathing exercises (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 5). This statement illustrates the advantages of mindful breathing exercises as part of the coping repertoire. Moreover, it demonstrates the practical application of the techniques in daily life as well as the interviewees' subjective perception of improvement.

Subtheme 1.2: Initiating Introspection

Most participants reported that Make It Training helped initiate introspection, which was described as supportive in dealing with difficult situations. It was further described as developing the skill to observe and interpret one's own thinking patterns, emotions, and behavior and not just be overwhelmed by them (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 6 and 7). Moreover, being able to observe one's inner world (ie, introspection) can help shift attention to positive aspects in difficult phases (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 8).

Subtheme 1.3: Psychoeducation Increased Understanding of Psychological Distress Associated With Cancer and Communication About the Illness

Many participants experienced the psychoeducational components within the intervention as helpful because they led to a better understanding of cancer and its associated psychological distress and somatic restrictions. The participants reported that they were able to learn not only about personal circumstances but also how to communicate better and more effectively approach family members. In this regard, the expert videos provided, where health care professionals reported on each topic, were perceived as useful (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 9).

Theme 2: Improvement in Quality of Life

Overview Theme 2

All participants reported that Make It Training helped increase their quality of life. This was described as redefining



perspectives on life circumstances and cancer. Moreover, health-related behavior change, increase in resilience, and enhanced practice of mindful behavior were described as positively contributing to quality of life (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 10).

Subtheme 2.1: Cognitive Restructuring and Changing Perspective on Life With Cancer

Participants reported that Make It Training helped modulate existing thinking patterns. This was commonly described as changing perspectives on life with cancer, as well as on the cancer diagnosis itself (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 11). Another participant described a redefined relationship with pain (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 12).

Subtheme 2.2: Building Resilience

Participants reported that Make It Training helped them become more resilient, which was described as developing the ability to better deal with unpleasant situations such as chemotherapy (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 13).

Subtheme 2.3: Initiating a More Relaxed State in Daily Life

The participants described that the intervention was helpful to experience a more relaxed state in daily life, which positively contributed to their quality of life (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 14 and 15).

Theme 3: Make It Training Versus Traditional Psychotherapy

Overview Theme 3

While evaluating the Make It Training intervention, some participants drew a comparison between Make It Training and traditional psychotherapy. In total, 33% (2/6) of the participants had previous psychotherapeutic experience. Even though Make It Training was perceived as a helpful and easily accessible format to receive psycho-oncological support, 83% (5/6) of the patients reported that it did not replace traditional psychotherapy (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 16). In contrast, one participant reported preferring Make It Training to traditional face-to-face psychotherapy (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 17).

Subtheme 3.1: Recommendation to Other Patients

All participants had been diagnosed with different cancer entities and stages (Table 1). Overall, all reported recommending Make It Training to others as they were convinced that other individuals with cancer could benefit from the intervention as well. Some of them suggested that a psycho-oncological eHealth intervention such as Make It Training should be offered as a routine intervention within oncological health care.

Multiple participants argued that particularly individuals with a first-time cancer diagnosis would substantially benefit from the intervention. One participant hypothesized that providing individuals with a first-time diagnosis of cancer with an eHealth application such as Make It Training would help them process and better deal with the cancer diagnosis (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 18 and 19).

Subtheme 3.2: Communication With Therapist and Request for Blended Therapy Format

Make It Training is a purely self-guided eHealth intervention. Some participants wished for more communication with a therapist. In this context, they stressed the importance of a patient-therapist interaction. Some participants reported that Make It Training might be even more beneficial with additional therapist guidance. In this regard, additional therapist consultations via phone or email were suggested. Moreover, participants reported that these options would offer the opportunity to better voice challenges, misunderstandings, and questions. A total of 50% (3/6) of the participants expressed a preference for a blended format (ie, a combination of Make It Training with traditional face-to-face psychotherapy; Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 20).

Theme 4: Integration Into Daily Life

Overview Theme 4

The intervention was described as a "daily companion" (interviewee 4) or "a wonderful companion for everyday life" (interviewee 2) that could help a lot of individuals with cancer. Make It Training provided participants with a variety of psychoeducational information, psychotherapeutic exercises, and skill training that were perceived as suitable for integration into daily life. All participants reported that they had incorporated the received information or skills that they found valuable and implementable (see Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 21 and 22, for examples of how participants integrated the skills into their daily lives).

Subtheme 4.1: Motivation

In the initial phase, all participants reported being motivated to complete the intervention. However, there were divided opinions regarding motivation after that initial phase. Some experienced Make It Training to be action activating because "it was a meaningful engagement with the disease" (interviewee 2). For others, the motivation gradually declined.

One participant brought up an analogy from sports to describe their motivation. They addressed the fact that, over time, they lacked the motivation to continue through Make It Training. However, the reminder emails helped keep the participant motivated (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 23). In contrast, there were participants who did not need an external motivator (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 24-26).

Subtheme 4.2: Difficulty Level of Yoga Exercises

Make It Training comprised physical exercises in the form of yoga. There were mixed opinions on the difficulty level of these exercises as some participants perceived them as physically exhausting, whereas others did not. An older participant reported that some physical exercises were too straining due to restrictions caused by a lack of mobility because of the cancer (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 27).

Subtheme 4.3: High Curiosity When Completing the Make It Training Intervention

Curiosity was high among all participants to see "what's new there?" (interviewee 1) when a new module was unlocked. Curiosity was described as high because one had to wait a week



to unlock a new module, which was perceived as exciting (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 28-30). Overall, participants seemed to support the format in which content is unlocked incrementally as it generates curiosity.

Category 2: Usability

Theme 5: Efficiency and Accessibility of the Make It Training Intervention

Overview Theme 5

The digital setup allowed all participants to work through the modules independent of time and place. Because of that, Make It Training was perceived as an efficient and easily accessible format to receive psycho-oncological support (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 31).

Subtheme 5.1: Low-Threshold and Trustworthy Accessibility of Psychological Support

The content provided during the intervention was perceived as professional and trustworthy. It was reported that having access to Make It Training was not associated with barriers that were previously experienced by some participants when seeking psychotherapy. This was perceived as very positive (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 32-34).

Subtheme 5.2: Retrievability of Content Independent of Time and Place

All participants positively outlined the retrievability of the content. This refers to the possibility to flexibly retrieve the contents of Make It Training independent of time and place. When a module is activated, the participants can choose when and for how long they want to work on it, as well as on what parts. This was perceived as useful as it offers the flexibility to work on the modules independently of physicians' appointments, operations, or other medical examinations. Thus, Make It Training was considered "really timely-ideal" (interviewee 4; Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 35).

Participants also reported that the retrievability of the content helped them assess whether a skill that was learned could actually be internalized as well, which was perceived as a benefit (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 36 and 37).

Theme 6: User-Friendliness

Overview Theme 6

There were mixed opinions regarding the user-friendliness of Make It Training. Overall, participants considered the application user-friendly. One of the most common reasons why the intervention was described as user-friendly was that it was perceived as not requiring much guidance when using it (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 38).

One participant criticized the user-friendliness of Make It Training because they perceived the software interface as confusing (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 39).

Subtheme 6.1: Customization of the Modules

Make It Training follows a certain chronology in the order of the modules, which is not customizable. This was experienced by most participants as very limiting, and they would have liked to be able to work through the modules in their own order (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 40).

Subtheme 6.2: Software Interface

There were mixed opinions regarding the software interface of Make It Training. Some participants perceived the layout of Make It Training as clear and stimulating. In contrast, others pointed out the unclear and childish presentation of the modules. One participant also came up with an analogy to a "kids board game" (interviewee 5). In general, the rather playful approach was appreciated (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 41 and 42).

Subtheme 6.3: Email Reminder to Increase Adherence

There were mixed opinions regarding the reminder emails that all participants received throughout the intervention. Most perceived them as a helpful addition that encouraged them; however, some of the participants perceived them as a bother (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 43).

Subtheme 6.4: Technical Aspects

Most of the participants did not report any significant technical difficulties or perceived deficiencies. Common technical issues included internet connection or low-resolution quality of the videos.

Theme 7: Recommendations to Design the Make It Training Intervention to Be More Appealing

The participants gave feedback on how to design the Make It Training intervention to be more appealing. One module that focused on the family members of individuals with cancer was regarded by 33% (2/6) of the participants as lacking sensitivity. They reported that working through this module seemed inappropriate and upsetting for those without family members (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 44 and 45).

As another recommendation, some participants expressed the need to adapt the modules to the stage of cancer and the current treatment phase (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quote 46).

Regarding usability, participants reported minor technical issues or design shortcomings that affected their navigation of and interaction with the program (eg, struggle to remember their position or progress within the program and challenges in finding the right areas to click or interact with). Clearer indicators or visual cues to help users track their progress and easily identify their current location within the program's content or structure were suggested (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2, quotes 47-49).

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study examined the experienced usefulness and usability of Make It Training from patients' perspectives using a qualitative approach, which was accomplished through thematic analysis of interviews conducted with individuals with cancer at different stages of severity. Analysis of their experience of the usefulness of Make It Training resulted in 4 themes (developing coping strategies to reduce psychological distress,



improvement in quality of life, Make It Training vs traditional psychotherapy, and integration into daily life) with 11 subthemes. Analysis of their experienced usability resulted in 3 themes (efficiency and accessibility, user-friendliness, and recommendations to design the Make It Training intervention to be more appealing) with 6 subthemes. All participants positively evaluated Make It Training. Moreover, all participants reported that they experienced positive changes while completing the Make It Training intervention and attributed these changes to the intervention itself. The overall usability of Make It Training was experienced as positive as well, although the experiences showed variation due to personal preferences. Overall, the results of this study point to a high satisfaction with Make It Training.

The themes that were discussed as perceived changes during the Make It Training intervention are consistent with its overall goal, which is to support individuals with cancer with disease-related coping, improvement in quality of life, and reduction in psychological distress [40,41]. Moreover, the aforementioned results are in line with those of the study by Ringwald et al [62], who assessed the acceptance of and satisfaction with a previous version of the Make It Training intervention in a pilot study. In this study, the acceptance and satisfaction rates of Make It Training were high, and 87% of the participants reported that they would recommend the intervention to other individuals with cancer [62]. Overall, the results from both the study by Ringwald et al [62] and our study point to a high acceptance of and satisfaction with Make It Training. Because of their satisfaction with Make It Training, the participants stated that it should be implemented as a routine intervention within health care. Previous research has shown that there is a relationship between acceptance of eHealth interventions and their actual use [63-67]. Acceptance is also an important factor for adherence [68]. Thus, given the acceptance of and satisfaction with Make It Training, it might have potential as an eHealth intervention to be routinely implemented in oncological health care as a medical device. In Germany, for example, there is a more recent regulation that eHealth interventions can be prescribed by health care professionals.

The Make It Training was described as a low-threshold and efficient format to receive psycho-oncological support. This was perceived as extraordinarily helpful as some participants had previously experienced difficulties with receiving proper psycho-oncological support, which is known to be a common problem in certain regions [10,17,18]. In this regard, the retrieval of content independent of time and place was described as being helpful with internalizing learned skills and accessing psychological support quickly when needed. These results further support the implementation of eHealth interventions such as Make It Training as an integral part of oncological health care. Digital interventions, if they are accepted among users, can overcome barriers associated with receiving psychological support, thereby improving mental health care and aftercare in oncology [19-21]. As individuals with cancer show elevated levels of distress both during and after cancer treatment, access to (digital) mental health care within this field is of great importance for both prevention and health promotion [4,8].

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53117

Despite mixed opinions regarding the software interface, Make It Training was generally rated as user-friendly. The participants most commonly argued for the usability of Make It Training by discussing that high technological literacy was not a requirement for completing the intervention. This finding is consistent with those of previous research showing a link between the use and acceptance of eHealth interventions and users' technological literacy [23,66,67]. Even though eHealth interventions have the potential to improve health care and aftercare, their implementation often fails because patients face barriers when wanting to make use of these interventions [23,66,67,69]. These barriers include low technological literacy, limitations in technological access, limitations in usability, and limited education in digital advice [69-72]. In addition, there are demographic barriers based on differences in age, socioeconomic status, educational level, language, and culture. Overall, existing barriers to receiving digital interventions due to demographic or structural differences can foster insensitivity within health care [72-74]. Certain individuals with cancer are at risk of being excluded from digital interventions because this population tends to have a higher median age (>60 y) [75], whereas the disease affects individuals with all kinds of demographic characteristics (ie, different cultural backgrounds, socioeconomic statuses, and educational levels). In addition, individuals commonly experience cognitive and physical restrictions during cancer treatment [76]. Thus, for more inclusive health care for individuals with cancer, eHealth interventions need to be designed as barrier free as possible (ie, they should depend less on the user's technological literacy as well as on other potentially exclusive factors).

Make It Training was compared by the participants to traditional face-to-face therapy even though it was not a specific topic in the interviews. In this regard, Make It Training was described as a helpful intervention, although it was noted that it could not replace traditional psychotherapy. The participants reported the missing therapist interaction as the main reason. In this regard, there was a desire for more therapist interaction within the Make It Training. In addition, a blended therapy format (ie, a combination of the Make It Training with additional face-to-face psychotherapy) was described as the "ideal" format to receive psycho-oncological support. This is in line with previous research supporting the adaptation of blended therapy approaches in psycho-oncology as well [77]. Efficacy research shows that purely self-guided eHealth interventions are associated with smaller effect sizes with a lower completion rate compared to blended therapy interventions, which can be attributed to the missing therapist interaction [78,79]. The results of this study, along with existing research, indicate that it is highly important to adapt eHealth interventions to the patients' needs [80]. Thus, it is suggested to put emphasis on therapist interaction (ie, blended format) in psycho-oncological eHealth interventions.

In this study, a qualitative approach was chosen as we believe that the inclusion of qualitative analyses within efficacy research (ie, the Reduct trial; Bäuerle et al [40]) provides more scientifically sound and transportable results. In this regard, it is important to look beyond surface or aggregate-level evidence to allow for inter- and intrapersonal nuances [81]. These are

XSL•FO RenderX

often missed in efficacy research but are rather important for a holistic understanding of usefulness in clinical practice [81]. Including qualitative research allows for an investigation of these inter- and intrapersonal nuances as well as for scrutiny of the level of experience, which is an important aspect when evaluating health care interventions such as the Make It Training. Another important strength of this study is the heterogeneity of the sample (ie, all participants were diagnosed with different cancer types and stages), which positively contributed to the generalizability of the evaluation of the Make It Training. In addition, this study provided the research team with information-rich descriptions of the participants' lived experiences regarding the Make It Training. It was also possible to obtain in-depth feedback on how to design the Make It Training intervention to be more appealing from a patient's perspective. Practical implications derived from this study are, from patients' perspectives, the potential of psycho-oncological eHealth interventions such as the Make It Training to improve oncological health care by offering a low-threshold option that provides psychological support independent of time and place and does not interfere with the already time-consuming oncological treatment. However, for routine implementation, they need to be adapted to the patients' needs and designed to be barrier free and should not require high technological literacy to interact with them. Moreover, even though eHealth interventions do offer efficient psycho-oncological support, they do not replace traditional psychotherapy, and it is suggested to use them as a first-step psychological support in a stepped-care health care approach.

Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

This study has some limitations. Even though a qualitative approach offers valuable insights into participants' in-depth experiences, there are limitations regarding qualitative research itself, particularly concerning its generalizability and objectivity [82]. In this study, the decision to use a small sample size might

have had a negative impact on the generalizability of the results even though the research team made efforts to select a highly heterogeneous sample. Moreover, a small sample size leads to a smaller data corpus, which can negatively impact the achievement of full thematic saturation. Other limitations include the use of a deductive analysis approach [54] and the risk of selection bias. Moreover, most of the research team members have a background primarily in quantitative methodology. Even though attempts were made to reduce this potential bias by actively involving an expert in qualitative research, this should still be considered a limitation. On the basis of the results of this study, it is suggested that future research put more emphasis on the barrier-free design of interventions and include patients' perspectives when designing and evaluating eHealth interventions. Moreover, it is suggested that future research investigate blended therapy approaches (ie, a combination of digital psycho-oncological interventions and face-to-face psychotherapy) as this format seems to be appealing for individuals with cancer.

Conclusions

The Make It Training was evaluated as a user-friendly intervention that is helpful for developing functional coping strategies to reduce psychological distress and improve quality of life among individuals with cancer. It has the potential to be implemented as a routine eHealth intervention in oncological health care. Overall, the results of this study, along with the existing literature, support the paradigm shift of including digital mental health care in the treatment of somatic and mental health disorders. e-Mental health interventions such as Make It Training can target both prevention of mental health issues and health promotion and offer a cost-efficient and low-threshold option to receive psycho-oncological support. Moreover, they allow for the retrieval of mental health support content independent of time and place. However, for psycho-oncological eHealth interventions to be actually used, they need to be designed to be barrier free and adapted to the users' needs.

Acknowledgments

This research was financially sponsored by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (01KG2021). The authors thank all participants for taking part in this study.

Data Availability

The data sets generated during and analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

JBK contributed to conceptualization, methodology, data curation, writing—original draft preparation, and investigation. FT contributed to conceptualization, methodology, writing—review and editing, and supervision. MT contributed to conceptualization, investigation, writing—review and editing, and supervision. TL contributed to data curation, investigation, and writing—original draft preparation. JH, CS, YE, and JG contributed to conceptualization, investigation, and writing—review and editing. MP contributed to software and writing—review and editing. AB contributed to conceptualization, methodology, writing—original draft preparation, investigation, and writing—original draft preparation, investigation, and supervision.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1 COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 420 KB - cancer v10i1e53117 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Semistructured interview questions and quotes. [DOCX File, 36 KB - cancer v10i1e53117 app2.docx]

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2022. CA Cancer J Clin 2022 Jan;72(1):7-33. [doi: 10.3322/caac.21708] [Medline: 35020204]
- 2. Worldwide cancer statistics. Cancer Research UK. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/</u> <u>cancer-statistics/worldwide-cancer#heading-Zero</u> [accessed 2024-02-29]
- Fortin J, Leblanc M, Elgbeili G, Cordova MJ, Marin MF, Brunet A. The mental health impacts of receiving a breast cancer diagnosis: a meta-analysis. Br J Cancer 2021 Nov;125(11):1582-1592 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41416-021-01542-3] [Medline: 34482373]
- 4. Mehnert A, Hartung TJ, Friedrich M, Vehling S, Brähler E, Härter M, et al. One in two cancer patients is significantly distressed: prevalence and indicators of distress. Psychooncology 2018 Jan;27(1):75-82. [doi: 10.1002/pon.4464] [Medline: 28568377]
- Mehnert A, Brähler E, Faller H, Härter M, Keller M, Schulz H, et al. Four-week prevalence of mental disorders in patients with cancer across major tumor entities. J Clin Oncol 2014 Nov 01;32(31):3540-3546. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2014.56.0086</u>] [Medline: <u>25287821</u>]
- Mitchell AJ, Chan M, Bhatti H, Halton M, Grassi L, Johansen C, et al. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and adjustment disorder in oncological, haematological, and palliative-care settings: a meta-analysis of 94 interview-based studies. Lancet Oncol 2011 Feb;12(2):160-174. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70002-X] [Medline: 21251875]
- Singer S, Das-Munshi J, Brähler E. Prevalence of mental health conditions in cancer patients in acute care--a meta-analysis. Ann Oncol 2010 May;21(5):925-930 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdp515] [Medline: 19887467]
- Dilworth S, Higgins I, Parker V, Kelly B, Turner J. Patient and health professional's perceived barriers to the delivery of psychosocial care to adults with cancer: a systematic review. Psychooncology 2014 Jun;23(6):601-612. [doi: 10.1002/pon.3474] [Medline: 24519814]
- 9. Jacobsen PB, Holland JC, Steensma DP. Caring for the whole patient: the science of psychosocial care. J Clin Oncol 2012 Apr 10;30(11):1151-1153. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.41.4078] [Medline: 22412125]
- Günther MP, Kirchebner J, Schulze JB, von Känel R, Euler S. Towards identifying cancer patients at risk to miss out on psycho-oncological treatment via machine learning. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2022 Mar;31(2):e13555 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ecc.13555] [Medline: 35137480]
- Faller H, Schuler M, Richard M, Heckl U, Weis J, Küffner R. Effects of psycho-oncologic interventions on emotional distress and quality of life in adult patients with cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol 2013 Feb 20;31(6):782-793. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.40.8922] [Medline: 23319686]
- 12. Greer JA, Traeger L, Bemis H, Solis J, Hendriksen ES, Park ER, et al. A pilot randomized controlled trial of brief cognitive-behavioral therapy for anxiety in patients with terminal cancer. Oncologist 2012;17(10):1337-1345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2012-0041] [Medline: 22688670]
- 13. Li M, Fitzgerald P, Rodin G. Evidence-based treatment of depression in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 2012 Apr 10;30(11):1187-1196. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.39.7372] [Medline: 22412144]
- 14. Rodin G, Lo C, Rydall A, Shnall J, Malfitano C, Chiu A, et al. Managing cancer and living meaningfully (CALM): a randomized controlled trial of a psychological intervention for patients with advanced cancer. J Clin Oncol 2018 Aug 10;36(23):2422-2432 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.77.1097] [Medline: 29958037]
- 15. Traeger L, Greer JA, Fernandez-Robles C, Temel JS, Pirl WF. Evidence-based treatment of anxiety in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 2012 Apr 10;30(11):1197-1205. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.39.5632] [Medline: 22412135]
- 16. van de Wal M, Thewes B, Gielissen M, Speckens A, Prins J. Efficacy of blended cognitive behavior therapy for high fear of recurrence in breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer survivors: the sword study, a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2017 Jul 01;35(19):2173-2183. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.70.5301] [Medline: 28471726]
- Gurren L, O'Sullivan E, Keogh I, Dunne S. Barriers to accessing psycho-oncological support in head and neck cancer: a qualitative exploration of healthcare professionals' perspectives. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2022 Jun;58:102145 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2022.102145] [Medline: 35504233]
- Martin F, Wright H, Moody L, Whiteman B, McGillion M, Clyne W, et al. Help to overcome problems effectively for cancer survivors: development and evaluation of a digital self-management program. J Med Internet Res 2020 May 19;22(5):e17824 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17824] [Medline: 32209529]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53117

- Christensen H. Increasing access and effectiveness: using the internet to deliver low intensity CBT. In: Bennett-Levy J, Richards D, Farrand P, Christensen H, Griffiths K, Kavanagh D, et al, editors. Oxford Guide to Low Intensity CBT Interventions. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2010:53-68.
- Beatty L, Lambert S. A systematic review of internet-based self-help therapeutic interventions to improve distress and disease-control among adults with chronic health conditions. Clin Psychol Rev 2013 Jun;33(4):609-622. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2013.03.004] [Medline: 23603521]
- 21. Fairburn CG, Patel V. The impact of digital technology on psychological treatments and their dissemination. Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ) 2018 Oct;16(4):449-455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.16405] [Medline: 32021582]
- Berry DL, Nayak MM, Abrahm JL, Braun I, Rabin MS, Cooley ME. Clinician perspectives on symptom and quality of life experiences of patients during cancer therapies: implications for eHealth. Psychooncology 2017 Aug;26(8):1113-1119. [doi: 10.1002/pon.4455] [Medline: 28497471]
- 23. Leykin Y, Thekdi SM, Shumay DM, Muñoz RF, Riba M, Dunn LB. Internet interventions for improving psychological well-being in psycho-oncology: review and recommendations. Psychooncology 2012 Sep;21(9):1016-1025 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.1993] [Medline: 21608075]
- Beatty L, Kemp E, Coll JR, Turner J, Butow P, Milne D, et al. Finding my way: results of a multicentre RCT evaluating a web-based self-guided psychosocial intervention for newly diagnosed cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 2019 Jul;27(7):2533-2544. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4526-1] [Medline: 30411239]
- Compen F, Bisseling E, Schellekens M, Donders R, Carlson L, van der Lee M, et al. Face-to-Face and internet-based mindfulness-based cognitive therapy compared with treatment as usual in reducing psychological distress in patients with cancer: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2018 Aug 10;36(23):2413-2421. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.76.5669] [Medline: 29953304]
- 26. Urech C, Grossert A, Alder J, Scherer S, Handschin B, Kasenda B, et al. Web-Based stress management for newly diagnosed patients with cancer (STREAM): a randomized, wait-list controlled intervention study. J Clin Oncol 2018 Mar 10;36(8):780-788 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.74.8491] [Medline: 29369731]
- 27. van den Berg SW, Gielissen MF, Custers JA, van der Graaf WT, Ottevanger PB, Prins JB. BREATH: web-based self-management for psychological adjustment after primary breast cancer--results of a multicenter randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2015 Sep 01;33(25):2763-2771. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.54.9386] [Medline: 26169621]
- 28. Chambers SK, Ritterband LM, Thorndike F, Nielsen L, Aitken JF, Clutton S, et al. Web-delivered cognitive behavioral therapy for distressed cancer patients: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jan 31;20(1):e42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8850] [Medline: 29386173]
- 29. Gelo O, Braakmann D, Benetka G. Quantitative and qualitative research: beyond the debate. Integr Psychol Behav Sci 2008 Sep;42(3):266-290. [doi: 10.1007/s12124-008-9078-3] [Medline: 18795385]
- 30. Westen D, Novotny CM, Thompson-Brenner H. The empirical status of empirically supported psychotherapies: assumptions, findings, and reporting in controlled clinical trials. Psychol Bull 2004 Jul;130(4):631-663. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.130.4.631] [Medline: 15250817]
- 31. Truijens FL. Do the numbers speak for themselves? a critical analysis of procedural objectivity in psychotherapeutic efficacy research. Synthese 2016 Aug 22;194(12):4721-4740. [doi: 10.1007/s11229-016-1188-8]
- 32. Bartholomew TT, Lockard AJ. Mixed methods in psychotherapy research: a review of method(ology) integration in psychotherapy science. J Clin Psychol 2018 Oct;74(10):1687-1709. [doi: <u>10.1002/jclp.22653</u>] [Medline: <u>29900532</u>]
- Lutz W, Hill CE. Quantitative and qualitative methods for psychotherapy research: introduction to special section. Psychother Res 2009 Jul;19(4-5):369-373. [doi: <u>10.1080/10503300902948053</u>] [Medline: <u>20183397</u>]
- 34. Overcash JA. Narrative research: a review of methodology and relevance to clinical practice. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2003 Nov;48(2):179-184. [doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2003.04.006] [Medline: 14607381]
- Creswell JW, Hanson WE, Clark Plano VL, Morales A. Qualitative research designs. Couns Psychol 2016 Jun 30;35(2):236-264. [doi: <u>10.1177/0011000006287390</u>]
- 36. Elliott R, Fischer CT, Rennie DL. Evolving guidelines for publication of qualitative research studies in psychology and related fields. Br J Clin Psychol 1999 Sep;38(3):215-229. [doi: <u>10.1348/014466599162782</u>] [Medline: <u>10532145</u>]
- 37. Vaisson G, Provencher T, Dugas ME, Trottier M, Chipenda Dansokho S, Colquhoun H, et al. User involvement in the design and development of patient decision aids and other personal health tools: a systematic review. Med Decis Making 2021 Apr;41(3):261-274. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X20984134] [Medline: 33655791]
- 38. Ward R, Taha KM. Patient involvement as experts in the development and assessment of a smartphone app as a patient education tool for the management of thalassemia and iron overload syndromes. Hemoglobin 2016 Sep;40(5):323-329. [doi: 10.1080/03630269.2016.1217875] [Medline: 27535692]
- Hurmuz MZ, Jansen-Kosterink SM, Beinema T, Fischer K, Op den Akker H, Hermens HJ. Evaluation of a virtual coaching system eHealth intervention: a mixed methods observational cohort study in the Netherlands. Internet Interv 2022 Mar;27:100501 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2022.100501] [Medline: 35198411]
- 40. Bäuerle A, Martus P, Erim Y, Schug C, Heinen J, Krakowczyk JB, et al. Web-based mindfulness and skills-based distress reduction for patients with cancer: study protocol of the multicentre, randomised, controlled confirmatory intervention trial reduct. BMJ Open 2022 Jun 01;12(6):e056973 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-056973] [Medline: 35649607]

- 41. Heinen J, Bäuerle A, Schug C, Krakowczyk JB, Strunk SE, Wieser A, et al. Mindfulness and skills-based eHealth intervention to reduce distress in cancer-affected patients in the Reduct trial: intervention protocol of the make it training optimized. Front Psychiatry 2022;13:1037158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1037158] [Medline: 36387004]
- 42. Gould JD, Lewis C. Designing for usability: key principles and what designers think. Commun ACM 1985;28(3):300-311. [doi: 10.1145/3166.3170]
- 43. Brown W, Yen PY, Rojas M, Schnall R. Assessment of the health IT usability evaluation model (Health-ITUEM) for evaluating mobile health (mHealth) technology. J Biomed Inform 2013 Dec;46(6):1080-1087 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2013.08.001] [Medline: 23973872]
- 44. Levitt HM, Motulsky SL, Wertz FJ, Morrow SL, Ponterotto JG. Recommendations for designing and reviewing qualitative research in psychology: promoting methodological integrity. Qual Res Psychol 2017 Feb;4(1):2-22. [doi: 10.1037/qup0000082]
- 45. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- 46. Mackenzie MJ, Carlson LE, Munoz M, Speca M. A qualitative study of self perceived effects of mindfulness based stress reduction (MBSR) in a psychosocial oncology setting. Stress Health 2006 Nov 28;23(1):59-69. [doi: 10.1002/smi.1120]
- 47. Brennan C, Stevens J. A grounded theory approach towards understanding the self perceived effects of meditation on people being treated for cancer. Aust J Holist Nurs 1998 Oct;5(2):20-26. [Medline: <u>10428890</u>]
- 48. Crouch M, McKenzie H. The logic of small samples in interview-based qualitative research. Soc Sci Info 2016 Jun 29;45(4):483-499. [doi: 10.1177/0539018406069584]
- 49. samedi: Die smarte Software für Praxen, MVZ und Kliniken. samedi. URL: https://www.samedi.com [accessed 2023-07-01]
- 50. Elliott R, Slatick E, Urman ML. Qualitative change process research on psychotherapy: alternative strategies. Semantic Scholar. 2001. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/496sfy9u</u> [accessed 2024-02-29]
- 51. Yen PY, Wantland D, Bakken S. Development of a customizable health IT usability evaluation scale. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2010 Nov 13;2010:917-921 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21347112]
- Schnall R, Cho H, Liu J. Health information technology usability evaluation scale (Health-ITUES) for usability assessment of mobile health technology: validation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 05;6(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8851] [Medline: 29305343]
- 53. Braun V, Clarke V. Thematic Analysis: A Practical Guide. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2022.
- 54. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 55. Nowell LS, Norris JM, White DE, Moules NJ. Thematic Analysis. Int J Qual Methods 2017 Oct 02;16(1):160940691773384. [doi: 10.1177/1609406917733847]
- 56. Boyatzis RE. Transforming Qualitative Information: Thematic Analysis and Code Development. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 1998.
- 57. Hyde KF. Recognising deductive processes in qualitative research. Qual Mark Res 2000;3(2):82-90. [doi: 10.1108/13522750010322089]
- 58. Die #1 Software für qualitative Datenanalyse mit der besten KI-Integration. MAXQDA. URL: <u>https://www.maxqda.com/</u> <u>de/</u> [accessed 2023-11-18]
- 59. Legard R, Keegan J, Ward K. In-depth interviews. In: Ritchie J, Lewis J, editors. Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2011:139-169.
- 60. Creswell JW, Miller DL. Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. Theory Pract 2000 Aug;39(3):124-130. [doi: 10.1207/s15430421tip3903_2]
- 61. Hussy W, Schreier M, Echterhoff G. Forschungsmethoden in Psychologie und Sozialwissenschaften für Bachelor. Berlin, Germany: Springer; 2013.
- Ringwald J, Gerstner L, Junne F, Ziser K, Schäffeler N, Wallwiener M, et al. Mindfulness and skills based distress reduction in oncology: the web-based psycho-oncological make it training. Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol 2019 Oct;69(9-10):407-412. [doi: 10.1055/a-0835-6905] [Medline: 30731509]
- 63. Lin J, Faust B, Ebert DD, Krämer L, Baumeister H. A web-based acceptance-facilitating intervention for identifying patients' acceptance, uptake, and adherence of internet- and mobile-based pain interventions: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Aug 21;20(8):e244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9925] [Medline: 30131313]
- 64. Baumeister H, Nowoczin L, Lin J, Seifferth H, Seufert J, Laubner K, et al. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on diabetes patients' acceptance of Internet-based interventions for depression: a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2014 Jul;105(1):30-39. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.04.031] [Medline: 24862240]
- 65. Ebert DD, Berking M, Cuijpers P, Lehr D, Pörtner M, Baumeister H. Increasing the acceptance of internet-based mental health interventions in primary care patients with depressive symptoms. A randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord 2015 May 01;176:9-17. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.056] [Medline: 25682378]
- 66. Terp R, Kayser L, Lindhardt T. Older patients' competence, preferences, and attitudes toward digital technology use: explorative study. JMIR Hum Factors 2021 May 14;8(2):e27005 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27005] [Medline: 33988512]

- Lee J, Tak SH. Factors associated with eHealth literacy focusing on digital literacy components: a cross-sectional study of middle-aged adults in South Korea. Digit Health 2022;8:20552076221102765 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/20552076221102765] [Medline: 35615270]
- 68. Lang C, Voigt K, Neumann R, Bergmann A, Holthoff-Detto V. Adherence and acceptance of a home-based telemonitoring application used by multi-morbid patients aged 65 years and older. J Telemed Telecare 2022 Jan;28(1):37-51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X20901400] [Medline: 32009577]
- Herrera S, Salazar A, Nazar G. Barriers and supports in eHealth implementation among people with chronic cardiovascular ailments: integrative review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022 Jul 07;19(14):8296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19148296] [Medline: 35886149]
- 70. Scott Kruse C, Karem P, Shifflett K, Vegi L, Ravi K, Brooks M. Evaluating barriers to adopting telemedicine worldwide: a systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2018 Jan;24(1):4-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16674087] [Medline: 29320966]
- 71. Kim S, Chow BC, Park S, Liu H. The usage of digital health technology among older adults in Hong Kong and the role of technology readiness and eHealth literacy: path analysis. J Med Internet Res 2023 Apr 12;25:e41915 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/41915] [Medline: 37043274]
- 72. Ruiz-Cosignani D, Chen Y, Cheung G, Lawrence M, Lyndon MP, Ma'u E, et al. Adaptation models, barriers, and facilitators for cultural safety in telepsychiatry: a systematic scoping review. J Telemed Telecare 2022 Jan 06:1357633X211069664 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X211069664] [Medline: 34989643]
- 73. Yellowlees P, Marks S, Hilty D, Shore JH. Using e-health to enable culturally appropriate mental healthcare in rural areas. Telemed J E Health 2008 Jun;14(5):486-492 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2007.0070] [Medline: 18578685]
- 74. Bakitas M, Cheville AL, Mulvey TM, Peppercorn J, Watts K, Dionne-Odom JN. Telehealth strategies to support patients and families across the cancer trajectory. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book 2021 Mar;41:413-422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/EDBK_320979] [Medline: 34010046]
- 75. Age and cancer risk. National Cancer Institute. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/causes-prevention/risk/</u> <u>age</u> [accessed 2024-02-29]
- 76. Richardson A, Ream E. The experience of fatigue and other symptoms in patients receiving chemotherapy. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 1996 Jun;5(2 Suppl):24-30. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.1996.tb00248.x] [Medline: 9117040]
- 77. Compen FR, Bisseling EM, Schellekens MP, Jansen ET, van der Lee ML, Speckens AE. Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for cancer patients delivered via internet: qualitative study of patient and therapist barriers and facilitators. J Med Internet Res 2017 Dec 18;19(12):e407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7783] [Medline: 29254912]
- 78. Golita S, Baban A. A systematic review of the effects of internet-based psychological interventions on emotional distress and quality of life in adult cancer patients. J Evid Based Psychother 2019 Sep 01;19(2):47-78. [doi: 10.24193/jebp.2019.2.13]
- 79. Spijkerman MP, Pots WT, Bohlmeijer ET. Effectiveness of online mindfulness-based interventions in improving mental health: a review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Clin Psychol Rev 2016 Apr;45:102-114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.03.009] [Medline: 27111302]
- 80. Webb TL, Joseph J, Yardley L, Michie S. Using the internet to promote health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of theoretical basis, use of behavior change techniques, and mode of delivery on efficacy. J Med Internet Res 2010 Feb 17;12(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1376] [Medline: 20164043]
- Truijens F, De Smet M, Vandevoorde M, Desmet M, Meganck R. What is it like to be the object of research? on meaning making in self-report measurement and validity of data in psychotherapy research. Methods Psychol 2023 Nov;8:100118. [doi: 10.1016/j.metip.2023.100118]
- Anderson C. Presenting and evaluating qualitative research. Am J Pharm Educ 2010 Oct 11;74(8):141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5688/aj7408141] [Medline: 21179252]

Abbreviations

ACT: acceptance and commitment therapy CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy CCI: Client Change Interview COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research Health ITUES: Health IT Usability Evaluation Scale MBSR: mindfulness-based stress reduction



Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 26.09.23; peer-reviewed by J Graf, S Kim, D Finitsis; comments to author 07.11.23; revised version received 23.11.23; accepted 10.01.24; published 09.04.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Krakowczyk JB, Truijens F, Teufel M, Lalgi T, Heinen J, Schug C, Erim Y, Pantförder M, Graf J, Bäuerle A Evaluation of the e–Mental Health Intervention Make It Training From Patients' Perspectives: Qualitative Analysis Within the Reduct Trial JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53117 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53117 doi:10.2196/53117 PMID:38592764

©Julia Barbara Krakowczyk, Femke Truijens, Martin Teufel, Tania Lalgi, Jana Heinen, Caterina Schug, Yesim Erim, Michael Pantförder, Johanna Graf, Alexander Bäuerle. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 09.04.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Differing Content and Language Based on Poster-Patient Relationships on the Chinese Social Media Platform Weibo: Text Classification, Sentiment Analysis, and Topic Modeling of Posts on Breast Cancer

Zhouqing Zhang¹, ME; Kongmeng Liew^{1,2}, PhD; Roeline Kuijer², PhD; Wan Jou She^{1,3}, PhD; Shuntaro Yada¹, PhD; Shoko Wakamiya¹, PhD; Eiji Aramaki¹, PhD

¹Graduate School of Science and Technology, Nara Institute of Science and Technology, Ikoma, Japan

²School of Psychology, Speech and Hearing, University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand

³Department of Information Science, Kyoto Institute of Technology, Kyoto, Japan

Corresponding Author:

Kongmeng Liew, PhD School of Psychology, Speech and Hearing University of Canterbury Private Bag 4800 Christchurch, 8140 New Zealand Phone: 64 3 369 4333 Email: kongmeng.liew@canterbury.ac.nz

Abstract

Background: Breast cancer affects the lives of not only those diagnosed but also the people around them. Many of those affected share their experiences on social media. However, these narratives may differ according to who the poster is and what their relationship with the patient is; a patient posting about their experiences may post different content from someone whose friends or family has breast cancer. Weibo is 1 of the most popular social media platforms in China, and breast cancer–related posts are frequently found there.

Objective: With the goal of understanding the different experiences of those affected by breast cancer in China, we aimed to explore how content and language used in relevant posts differ according to who the poster is and what their relationship with the patient is and whether there are differences in emotional expression and topic content if the patient is the poster themselves or a friend, family member, relative, or acquaintance.

Methods: We used Weibo as a resource to examine how posts differ according to the different poster-patient relationships. We collected a total of 10,322 relevant Weibo posts. Using a 2-step analysis method, we fine-tuned 2 Chinese Robustly Optimized Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers (BERT) Pretraining Approach models on this data set with annotated poster-patient relationships. These models were lined in sequence, first a binary classifier (no_patient or patient) and then a multiclass classifier (post_user, family_members, friends_relatives, acquaintances, heard_relation), to classify poster-patient relationships. Next, we used the Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count lexicon to conduct sentiment analysis from 5 emotion categories (positive and negative emotions, anger, sadness, and anxiety), followed by topic modeling (BERTopic).

Results: Our binary model (F_1 -score=0.92) and multiclass model (F_1 -score=0.83) were largely able to classify poster-patient relationships accurately. Subsequent sentiment analysis showed significant differences in emotion categories across all poster-patient relationships. Notably, negative emotions and anger were higher for the "no_patient" class, but sadness and anxiety were higher for the "family_members" class. Focusing on the top 30 topics, we also noted that topics on fears and anger toward cancer were higher in the "no_patient" class, but topics on cancer treatment were higher in the "family_members" class.

Conclusions: Chinese users post different types of content, depending on the poster-poster-patient relationships. If the patient is family, posts are sadder and more anxious but also contain more content on treatments. However, if no patient is detected, posts show higher levels of anger. We think that these may stem from rants from posters, which may help with emotion regulation and gathering social support.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51332) doi:10.2196/51332

KEYWORDS

cancer; social media; text classification; topic modeling; sentiment analysis; Weibo

Introduction

Background

Breast cancer is 1 of the most common forms of cancer, with an estimated 2 billion people being affected worldwide in 2020 (according to statistics released by the World Health Organization [WHO]), and is consequently a disease familiar to many people. It is a chronic disease with a high mortality rate, which poses a serious threat to human life [1]. For this reason, breast cancer is often viewed negatively, and new trigger fear, diagnoses often sadness, and even psychopathological comorbidities, such as depression [2]. In recent decades, the number of new diagnoses has continued to rise, despite important improvements in medical technologies worldwide [1]. In China, more than 400,000 people were diagnosed with breast cancer in 2020, with approximately 100,000 deaths (according to WHO) [1]. Behind these diagnoses are numerous stories emerging from the experiences of patients or the people around them who are closely intertwined [3]. Therefore, it is not unusual for one to come across discussions on breast cancer in daily life-be it learning about the diagnosis of a loved one or acquaintance or coming across news on a celebrity with breast cancer or even struggling to accept the diagnosis of a close relative. Therefore, a lot of these breast cancer-related narratives take place on social media-lived experiences of people who may have been diagnosed with or who know of someone struggling with breast cancer.

Social media is indispensable in the daily life of billions worldwide; almost everyone is a user of a social media platform [4]. On these platforms, people can share snippets of their lives with other people around them, which double as autobiographical records of their life events. As a social tool, one can smoothly interact and communicate with one's friends and family over the internet, be it synchronously or asynchronously [5,6]. Such activity leaves digital traces all over the internet, and researchers have since begun using social media posts as resources for uncovering social phenomena [5]. Particularly in the medical field, social media analyses have also been used to great effect, for example, in examining and predicting the epidemiological spread of infectious diseases, such as seasonal influenza and COVID-19 [7,8]. Recently, researchers have also analyzed social media to learn about the perspectives and needs of patients with certain diseases. For example, Kamba et al [9] analyzed a Japanese social media forum (Yahoo Japan) for posts relating to breast cancer and found that the most frequently mentioned concerns pertain to symptoms, screening, and lack of knowledge, to name a few (see also Refs. [10,11]).

However, much of this research has been conducted on Western social media platforms, such as Twitter and Reddit, which have limited penetration in the Chinese market. Chinese internet users have their own social media ecosystems and platforms: Sina Weibo is 1 of the most widely used and popular social platforms

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51332
```

in China and has been called by some as the "Chinese version of Twitter" [12]. Given our research interest in Chinese social media users, we focused our paper specifically on Weibo. As a widely used platform, the number of monthly active users reached 511 million in 2020; Weibo is known by almost everyone in China [13], and posts are known to reflect the diversity of opinions and perspectives by everyday Chinese [14]. Often, users discuss and post about all kinds of topics on Weibo, including topics pertaining to breast cancer. With the large number of users and the diversity of content, Weibo data appear to be a valuable corpus for research on Chinese perspectives from the bottom-up.

Sentiment Analysis on Social Media

To accommodate the large volume of data on the internet, conventional methods, such as qualitative coding, may be too time-consuming and costly. Therefore, modern sociological researchers frequently use computational methods, such as sentiment analysis and topic modeling, to analyze the data. Originating from the field of natural language processing (NLP), sentiment analysis is optimized to deal with the detection and classification of sentiments in (a large number of) texts. By using sentiment analysis, we can infer whether a given text has a positive, negative, or more fine-grained emotional orientation in a given context [15]. In studying social media, researchers analyze the data on social media to obtain public perceptions on a specific topic in contribution to the study and advancement of society [16]. Some researchers have also applied sentiment analysis to measure customers' needs from their social media posts, thereby obtaining unique insight to improve a brand's products or services [15]. Researchers have also applied sentiment analysis on social media to predict mental health issues, for example, Wang et al [17] used sentiment analysis to detect users with depression on social networking services.

Regarding breast cancer, sentiment analysis may play a more important role in exploring the patients' psychological state, such as their perceptions, cognitions, and emotions [18]. Through analyses of tweet sentiments, previous research has confirmed that patients with breast cancer have different polarities (valence) of emotional expression for topics related to breast cancer [19]. For example, support seeking and treatments are associated with positive sentiment, but health care and insurance are associated with negative sentiment. Moreover, posters may not necessarily be patients themselves posting about their experiences or concerns but could be posting about a loved one, a relative, or an acquaintance with breast cancer. Accordingly, posters' emotional expressions on social media may not only display differences in sentiment, depending on their specified content or aspects (eg, treatment stage or success), but also show differences, depending on their relationship with the patient [20] or if the posters themselves are the patients. In this paper, we define this as the "poster-patient relationship." Therefore, in studying the usage of social media for emotional expression in the context of breast

XSL•FO RenderX

cancer, we propose the necessity to distinguish the poster-patient relationships for each post—whether posts originate from patients themselves or from their friends and relatives or other people.

The Research

Before examining emotional expressions and sentiment, we intended to discern the relationships between poster and patient through the post. Due to the large volume of data, we turned to machine learning for this task. "Machine learning" is the term used to describe both the academic discipline and the collection of techniques that allow computers to undertake complex tasks, and recent advances in machine learning have driven advances in the development of NLP and artificial intelligence (AI) [21]. In NLP, the past 5 years have seen rapid advances in the transformer-based framework, resulting in cutting-edge pretrained language models, such as Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers (BERT) [22], Robustly Optimized BERT Pretraining Approach (RoBERTa) [23], and Generative Pretrained Transformer (GPT)-3 [24], which have greatly improved the effectiveness of downstream tasks (eg, text classification), opening up new avenues for researchers to study society and language [25].

Our aim was to study how users on the Chinese social media platform Weibo post about breast cancer-related topics on social media. Although we took a hypothesis-blind, exploratory approach to data analysis, we focused our discussion on topics surrounding the issue of emotional expression by examining differences in emotional expression, depending on poster-patient relationships. In step 1, we collected data from Weibo and determined poster-patient relationships through 2 stages of classification: first, we identified whether a post references a patient with breast cancer (as opposed to posts that mention breast cancer without naming a specific patient), followed by the poster-patient relationship classification that determined the relationship between the mentioned patient and the author of the post (poster). Ultimately, these 2 stages in step 1 constituted a single classification pipeline to identify poster-patient relationships: whether the post authors are themselves the patients or (1) a family member (family_members); (2) a friend or relative (friends_relatives); (3) an acquaintance (acquaintances); (4) from a parasocial relationship, such as a celebrity or public figure (heard_relation); or (5) no patient mentioned (no_patient). In step 2, we used the LIWC-based dictionary to count the word frequency for each post, with 5 emotional categories (sadness, anger, anxiety, positive, and negative), thereby expanding our target beyond just positive and negative sentiments. Despite the lack of discreet positive emotion categories in the LIWC dictionary, we chose it because it is 1 of the most widely used and accessible sentiment dictionaries in psycholinguistic research. Next, we used topic modeling to further examine the main topics discussed between each class and how these topics differ across classes. This will allow us to see how social media narratives for patients and posters differ, while shedding light on possible implications for emotional expression via social media.

Methods

Ethical Considerations

As all data used in this study are publicly available and no personal identifiers were obtained, our study was exempt from institutional ethics review. Where applicable, all posts included in this analysis have been paraphrased so that they cannot be traced back to the user. No identifying information (eg, usernames, IDs, or pictures) are included in the main manuscript or in the supplementary material.

Step 1: Poster-Patient Relationship Classification

Data Collection

Since Sina Weibo does not maintain a public application programming interface (API), we used a previously constructed web crawler to request publicly available Weibo posts. Our web crawler simulates a user visiting Weibo's official website and searches for relevant posts (see the next paragraph for the search procedure). Through this approach, each web search request can obtain up to 50 posts before reinitiating a new search request to retrieve a new set of posts. In our crawler, we were able to set adjustable parameters to specify keywords, the publishing date, location, and interval times between 2 search requests.

We conducted 2 searches with different queries: "breast cancer ('乳腺癌')" and "sadness ('悲伤')", as well as "breast cancer ('乳腺癌')" and "record ('记录')" in Chinese, from January 1, 2018, to December 31, 2021. For both queries, the interval time was set to 15 seconds and the location was unspecified, meaning that we searched for posts from across China. Finally, for the 2 searches with different queries, we obtained 160,182, and 144,125 posts, respectively. For each post, we additionally obtained the user id, username, user type, publish time, post text, location, number of comments, likes, and reposts, which were removed before commencement of analyses.

Next, for the data-cleaning phase, we combined the search results of the 2 queries into a single data set. Duplicate posts were removed through string matching, and obvious advertisements and irrelevant posts were removed by manually checking the data set. This was to ensure the posts were related to narrative accounts pertaining to breast cancer. Finally, this resulted in a cleaned data set containing relevant breast cancer–related narratives from individual users, for a total of 10,322 posts.

Poster-Patient Relationship Classification Criteria

First, we set up 6 categories based on the relationship of the mentioned patient and the author of the post: "post_user," where the authors are themselves the patients (coded as 0); "family_members," where the authors mention a family member (eg, parent) as the patient (coded as 1); "friends_relatives," where a friend or nonimmediate relative (eg, cousins, aunt) is the patient (coded as 2); "acquaintances," where a colleague or neighbor (social relationships) is the patient (coded as 3); "heard_relation," where the author may be posting about a celebrity or a famous patient with cancer (coded as 4); and "no_patient," where breast cancer is mentioned generally without being associated with a specific person (coded as 5).

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51332
```

Data Annotation

We randomly portioned 3000 (29.1%) of the 10,322 posts for manual annotation based on the classification criteria, with each data point (post) assigned a label from the 6 aforementioned categories. In the process of labeling, first we determined whether there was a patient in the post (binary classification task), and then we determined whether the poster-patient relationship could be inferred and labeled according to the prespecified classification criteria (multiclass classification task). All data labeling was performed by 1 of the authors who is a native Chinese speaker. See Table 1 for the annotation proportions, and Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 for examples of annotated posts.

To verify that our annotations were objectively labeled and free of subjective bias, we randomly selected 600 (20%) of the 3000 annotated posts, and these were reannotated in the same procedure by another native Chinese annotator who was not part of the research team. Across the 6 categories, the interannotator agreement was good (Cohen κ =0.67) [26], and the original annotations were used to train the classification model.

Table 1. Distribution of annotated posts.

	Posts, n
No_patient	1089
Heard_relation	509
Family_members	443
Acquaintances	356
Post_user	338
Friends_relatives	265

Data Preprocessing

study, we the In our chose pretrained Chinese-RoBERTa-wwm-ext (Chinese RoBERTa) [27] model as our classification model. The Chinese RoBERTa is a large language transformer model based on the RoBERTa architecture [23], trained on a large corpus of the in house-collected extended data containing an encyclopedia, news articles, and web forums, which has 5.4 billion words and is over 10 times bigger than the Chinese Wikipedia [27], and is frequently used for Chinese NLP tasks. To improve the accuracy of the multiclass text classification, we decomposed the classification task over 2 stages (see Ref. [28]): a binary classification task to determine whether a patient was mentioned, followed by a multiclass classifier on posts where a patient was mentioned in order to identify the poster-patient relationship.

The pretrained language model (Chinese RoBERTa) has a limited input character length of 512, and 522 posts in our data set were longer than this character length limit. As such, we used automated text summarization to condense the text length to within 512 characters for these 522 posts using SnowNLP, a Python library that can perform Chinese word segmentation, part-of-speech tagging, sentiment analysis, text categorization, pinyin conversion, traditional simplification, text keyword extraction, text summarization, sentence segmenting, and text similarity estimation [29]. The SnowNLP tool segments posts by sentence and using the TextRank algorithm [30] calculates the weight of each sentence in the post according to the extent to which the content of the sentence represents the content of the text. Finally, all the small units are sorted in reverse order according to their weight scores. When implementing this tool, by setting a number parameter, the corresponding number of sentences is output accordingly, resulting in summarized texts. In Multimedia Appendix 2, we included some examples of automatic summarization.

Classifier Training

Following annotation and data preprocessing, 2 classifiers were constructed for this study in a 2-stage process. In the first stage, a binary classification model was trained to identify whether a patient is mentioned. This was followed by training a multiclass classification model to identify the poster-patient relationship for each post where a patient was mentioned in 1 of 5 classes: post_user, family_members, friends_relatives, acquaintances, and heard_relation. This resulted in a total of 6 classes corresponding to the annotations, with the inclusion of the "no_patient" class from the earlier binary classification model. In constructing the 2 classifiers, we specified the task of the RoBERTa model as classification. We monitored the training performance for each epoch through cross-entropy loss. Fine-tuning was implemented under the Pytorch framework, where we used the Amda Optimizer to optimize and update model parameters for training purposes. For testing, sklearn metrics were used to evaluate the binary classification and multiclass classification. In addition, 2400 (80%) of the 3000 annotated posts were used to train the model, and the main parameters for the model training were as follows: batch size=16, learning rate= 1.0×10^{-5} , and training epochs=5. We used 600 (20%) posts to test the fine-tuned model.

In the second stage, we removed the "no_patient" class from the annotated data. In total, 1515 (50.5%) posts were used to fine-tune the Chinese RoBERTa model. The main parameters were similar to the binary classifier, with batch size=16, learning rate= 1.0×10^{-5} , and training epochs=5. For validation, we used 396 (13.2%) posts to test the trained model.

Step 2: Examining Differences in Emotional Expression

Analysis 1: Sentiment Analysis Based on the LIWC

The LIWC program is a text analysis program that calculates the degree of use for different categories of words across a wide

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51332

array of texts [31]. This tool was originally developed in English, but researchers have since produced a Chinese version of the LIWC dictionary based on the same criteria [32]. We used an open source Python package to access the Chinese LIWC dictionary. The LIWC dictionary has proved extremely useful in a number of different disciplines and has had a large impact on our understanding of how lexical elements related to cognition, affect, and personal concerns can be used to better understand human behavior [33].

In our study, we focused on the emotion categories to implement the sentiment analysis in our corpus of Weibo posts. We used the LIWC program and its Chinese dictionary to examine 5 emotion categories available in the Chinese LIWC dictionary: positive emotions, negative emotions, sadness, anger, and anxiety. The LIWC dictionary operates by counting the number of terms in each post that corresponds to its internal dictionary for each emotion category, and outputs a score representing the ratio of relevant terms to all identified terms in the post. We then conducted Kruskal-Wallis tests to determine whether positive emotion terms, negative emotion terms, anxiety terms, sadness terms, and anger terms significantly differed between each poster-patient relationship class. If there was a significant effect of the emotion category, we conducted post hoc Dwass-Steel-Critchlow-Fligner (DSCF) pairwise comparisons to compare differences between specific categories.

In this paper, our data are in Chinese, so we had to tokenize our data. We used Jieba for tokenization, which is 1 of the most popular Chinese tokenization tools in NLP [34]. To clean out the noise, we excluded more than 2000 stop words, which were collected from an open source Chinese dictionary of stop words.

Analysis 2: Topic Modeling

Making sense of a large unstructured corpus through qualitative means is difficult. Therefore, we used topic modeling to better assist us in interpreting data. Topic modeling is a widely used approach to extract common, recurring themes from large amounts of text data through identification and clustering of repeated patterns in words and sentences. In this paper, we adopted the open source BERTopic algorithm [35] to achieve this. BERTopic leverages transformers and class-based term

Table 2. Binary classifier's metrics report.	Table 2.	Binary	classifier's	metrics	report.
---	----------	--------	--------------	---------	---------

frequency-inverse document frequency (c-TF-IDF) to create dense clusters of words, allowing for easily interpretable topics, while keeping important words in the topic descriptions [35]. Past research [36] has also found that BERTopic-based topic modeling generally yields more theoretically interpretable results than other forms of topic modeling (eg, latent Dirichlet allocation or Top2Vec). As the BERTopic algorithm only assigns 1 topic to every document (post), we were able to compute topics per class, which allowed uniform comparison of topic distribution for every class (poster-patient relationships), enabling us to observe general trends: which topics are more frequently observed in which class of poster-patient relationship. As long texts are more suitable for modeling and there is no limit to the length of input sentences, during the topic modeling, we replaced the summarized sentences with the original ones. For identified topics, we deliberated on the schema associated with as many words in the topic as possible. Note that this process is largely subjective, so we encourage readers to additionally reference the words contained in each topic, rather than relying solely on the authors' labels.

In this paper, our data are in Chinese and because the BERTopic model is based on the clustering of individual words to implement topic modeling; therefore, in the process of topic modeling, similar to the sentiment analysis, we needed to tokenize our Chinese data. We again used Jieba for tokenization [34]. To obtain meaningful entities from the topic models, we excluded more than 2000 stop words, which were collected from an open source Chinese dictionary of stop words.

Results

Step 1: Poster-Patient Relationship Classification

Binary Classifier

This model was trained to distinguish each post as either mentioning ("patient" class) or not mentioning ("no_patient" class) a patient. We merged the "post_user," "family_members," "friends_relatives," "acquaintances," and "heard_relation" classes into a superordinate "patient" class. The model achieved a high F_1 -score (see Table 2).

Class	Precision	Recall	F ₁ -score	Support
no_patient	0.90	0.90	0.90	204
patient	0.95	0.95	0.95	396
Macro average	0.92	0.92	0.92	600

Multiclass Classifier

Next, we constructed a multiclass classifier to focus on patient classification: "post_user," "family_members,"

"friends_relatives," "acquaintances," and "heard_relation." Results are reported in Table 3.



Table 3. Multiclass classifier's metric report.

Class	Precision	Recall	F ₁ -score	Support
acquaintances	0.76	0.67	0.71	75
heard_relation	0.83	0.83	0.83	102
famliy_members	0.93	0.90	0.91	86
post_user	0.86	0.91	0.89	82
friends_relatives	0.74	0.84	0.79	51
Macro average	0.82	0.83	0.83	396

Post Classification

After excluding the annotated data, we were left with 7322 (70.9%) of the 10,322 data points (posts). These posts then underwent the 2-stage classification process. The first stage included a binary classifier to determine whether patient information was identifiable from the post (patient and no_patient), and if a patient was detected, the post then passed to the second stage. This included a multiclass classifier to classify the relationship between the patient and the Weibo poster. In the first stage, 4494 (61.4%) posts were classified as having a patient and 2828 (38.6%) posts as having no patient. Of the former, the relation classifications were as follows (Table 4): the patient was identified as a friend or relative (friends_relatives; n=667, 14.8%), as the poster (post_user; n=705, 15.7%), as an acquaintance (acquaintances; n=961, 21.4%), 17.4%), as a family member (family_members; n=961, 21.4%),

Table 4.	Distribution	of	predicted	posts.
----------	--------------	----	-----------	--------

and as someone they had only heard about (heard_relation; n=1380, 30.7%).

As Tables 1 and 4 show, the rankings of categories by the number of relevant posts were similar regardless of whether the data were manually labeled or predicted by our classifier. The ranking list was no_patient > heard_relation > family_members > acquaintances > post_user > friends_relatives. We noted that the "no_patient" class that did not mention a specific patient was the majority class, which accounted for one-third of the total number of posts (n=2828, 38.6%). We think that posters use the target words ("breast cancer") to share some personal thoughts, not necessarily about specific instances of breast cancer or for a targeted patient. Alternatively, they may feel no need to talk about the patient due to the content and style of the post. Except for this class, the distribution of the other poster-patient relationship classes was relatively balanced in the data set.

	Posts, n
No_patient	2828
Heard_relation	1380
Family_members	961
Acquaintances	781
Post_user	705
Friends_relatives	667

Step 2: Examining Differences in Emotional Expressions

Sentiment Analysis

For subsequent analyses, our aim was to maximize the information we could extract from the data, so manual annotations were combined with the machine-learned predictions for a total of 10,322 posts. We applied the LIWC and the matched Chinese dictionary to count the emotion-related words for each tokenized post. We mainly focused on positive emotion, negative emotion, sadness, anger, and anxiety categories. We calculated the ratio of each emotion category in each post (number of emotion words/number of all tokens). To visualize broad emotional differences among the classified poster-patient

relationship classes, we plotted the mean scores for 6 identity categories in each of the 5 emotion categories.

For positive emotions, the "friends_relatives" class had a relatively higher value than the other 5 classes (Table 5). For negative emotions, the "no_patient" class had a relatively higher value than the other 5 classes. For angry terms, the "no_patient" class had a significantly higher value than the other 5 classes, which had almost the same values. For anxiety terms, the "family_members," "no_patient," and "post_user" classes had a higher value than the other 3 classes; the "heard_relation" class had the lowest value. For sadness terms, the "family_members," "no_patient," and "post_user" classes had a relatively higher value than the other 3 classes.

Table 5. Emotion distribution for each class in the 5 emotion categories (positive emotions, negative emotions, anger, anxiety, and sadness).

		Mean ratio of each emotion category in each post ^a
Pos	itive emotions	
	no_patient	0.05567
	heard_relation	0.05785
	family_members	0.05469
	acquaintances	0.06581
	post_user	0.05382
	friends_relatives	0.07490
Ne	gative emotions	
	no_patient	0.11920
	heard_relation	0.09202
	family_members	0.09933
	acquaintances	0.09118
	post_user	0.09759
	friends_relatives	0.09386
An	ger	
	no_patient	0.01020
	heard_relation	0.00490
	family_members	0.00467
	acquaintances	0.00479
	post_user	0.00469
	friends_relatives	0.00489
An	xiety	
	no_patient	0.00699
	heard_relation	0.00389
	family_members	0.00674
	acquaintances	0.00465
	post_user	0.00595
	friends_relatives	0.00430
Sac	lness	
	no_patient	0.01094
	heard_relation	0.00894
	family_members	0.01107
	acquaintances	0.00845
	post_user	0.01110
	friends_relatives	0.00928

^aNumber of emotion words/number of all tokens.

Next, we statistically examined differences in emotions across poster-patient relationships. Kruskal-Wallis tests showed significant effects for positive emotions (posemo: $\chi^2_5=185.9$, *P*<.001), negative emotions (negemo; $\chi^2_5=156.8$, *P*<.001), anxiety (anx; $\chi^2_5=50.6$, *P*<.001), anger (anger; $\chi^2_5=38.2$, *P*<.001), and sadness (sad; $\chi^2_5=56.8$, *P*<.001). This suggests

that for all emotion categories, significant effects were detected across the 6 poster-patient relationship classes. Table 6 reports the post hoc DSCF pairwise comparisons.

Although there were a number of significant effects, here we comment primarily on consistent patterns of results that may be indicative of broader trends in Weibo users with respect to the emotional language used when posting about breast cancer.

XSL•FO RenderX

We noticed that the "friends_relatives" class had significantly higher positive emotions than all other poster-patient relationship classes, and this was followed closely by the "acquaintances" class, which had higher positive emotions than the other remaining poster-patient relationship classes.

Table 6.	Pairwise	comparisons	for the	5 emotion	categories.
----------	----------	-------------	---------	-----------	-------------

Class 1	Class 2	Positive e	motions	Negative	emotions	Anxiety		Anger		Sadness	
		W ^a	P value	W	P value	W	P value	W	P value	W	P value
acquaintances	family_members	-7.87	<.001 ^b	3.94	.06	7.55	<.001 ^b	1.05	.98	6.42	<.001 ^b
acquaintances	friends_relative	5.67	<.001 ^b	1.87	.77	1.29	.94	1.75	.82	3.02	.27
acquaintances	heard_relation	-6.75	<.001 ^b	0.64	0.99	0.91	.98	1.81	.79	2.47	.50
acquaintances	no_patient	-10.73	<.001 ^b	12.13	<.001 ^b	2.65	.42	6.38	<.001 ^b	-0.46	.99
acquaintances	post_user	-8.49	<.001 ^b	3.13	.23	5.15	.004 ^b	1.74	.82	5.16	.004 ^b
family_mem- bers	friends_relatives	13.42	<.001 ^b	-1.83	.79	-5.90	<.001 ^b	0.86	.99	-3.01	.27
family_mem- bers	heard_relation	1.78	.81	-3.96	.06	-7.94	<.001 ^b	0.81	.99	-4.81	.01 ^b
family_mem- bers	no_patient	-2.62	.43	8.63	<.001 ^b	-6.92	<.001 ^b	5.71	<.001 ^b	-8.88	<.001 ^b
family_mem- bers	post_user	-1.08	.97	-0.61	.99	-2.13	.66	0.86	.99	-0.87	.99
friends_relative	heard_relation	-12.65	<.001 ^b	-1.54	.89	-0.57	.99	-0.21	.99	-1.04	.98
friends_relative	no_patient	-16.21	<.001 ^b	9.41	<.001 ^b	0.94	.98	4.01	.05	-4.23	.03 ^b
friends_relative	post_user	-13.68	<.001 ^b	1.19	.96	3.69	.09	-0.07	.99	2.02	.71
heard_relation	no_patient	-5.15	.004 ^b	14.14	<.001 ^b	2.01	.72	5.55	.001 ^b	-4.14	.04 ^b
heard_relation	post_user	-2.76	.37	2.98	.28	5.02	.005 ^b	0.12	.99	3.47	.14
no_patient	post_user	1.29	.94	-8.31	<.001 ^b	3.76	.08	-4.23	.03 ^b	6.98	<.001 ^b

^aStandardized Wilcoxon statistic from Dwass-Steel-Critchlow-Fligner (DSCF) pairwise comparisons.

^bSignificant *P* values.

In addition, we found that "no_patient" posts had consistently higher negative emotions than the posts in all other poster-patient relationship classes, but no strong and consistent pattern of difference was observed between other poster-patient relationship classes. This pattern was mirrored strongly in the anger emotion category, suggesting that "no_patient" posts were higher on anger compared to posts in the other poster-patient relationship classes. As "negative emotions" is a broad emotion category containing many other negative emotion words in its dictionary, we think that strong differences observed in anger could be driving the significant difference found in the negative emotions category.

Furthermore, we noticed that with the exception of the "post_user" class, the "family_members" class was generally significantly higher in anxiety than the "acquaintances," "friends_relatives," "no_patient," and "heard_relation" poster-patient relationship classes and higher in sadness than the "acquaintances," "no_patient," and "heard_relation" poster-patient relationship classes.

Clustered Topics

To gain an overview of why some poster-patient relationship classes were consistently higher in some emotions than other classes, we turned to topic modeling. Using the *topics per class* function of the BERTopic model, we aimed to compare topical relationships that mirrored some of the identified effects from the sentiment analysis.

We initially found that 139 topics were automatically generated from BERTopic, but this included several topics of low significance, where post counts numbered less than 50. As we wanted to focus on topics of greater relevance, we narrowed our analysis to include only the top 30 (21.6%) topics by topic prevalence across the entire data set, which was sufficient to cover more than 6000 (58.1%) posts. In Table 7 and in Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 3, we list the top 30 topics with top 30 representative terms and provide a summarized theme for each topic. These are represented by an ID, which represents the ranked prevalence of each topic, while the topic number represents the topic labels assigned for the initial generation. We also visualized the distribution of (poster-patient relationship) classes per topic, which was used to identify topics

that were more prevalent in a particular class for the analysis. These visualizations are available in our GitHub repository [37].

 Table 7. Top 30 terms of top 30 topics from topic modeling.

ID	Topic number	Label	Top 30 representative words (Chinese)	Top 30 representative words (translated into English)
0	0	Anger	生气,脾气,气死我了,情绪,真的	angry, temper, I'm angry, emotions, really
1	1	Laments	去世,家里,回来,生活,记得	passed away, at home, come back, life, remember
2	3	Symptoms	乳腺,乳房,肿块,增生,结节,	breast, breast, lump, hyperplasia, node
3	4	Hospital stays	医生,病人,主任,医院,手术	doctor, patient, director, hospital, surgery
4	7	Hope and prayers	希望,幸福,生活,人生,幸运	hope, happiness, life, life, lucky
5	6	Hospitalization	手术,医院,化疗,住院,医生	surgery, hospital, chemotherapy, hospitalization, doctor
6	8	Lamenting hospitalization	病房,医院,病人,恐惧,患者	ward, hospital, patient, fear, patient
7	2	Dreams and nightmares	梦里,梦见,梦到,昨晚,做梦	dream, dreaming, dreaming, last night, dreaming
8	10	Diagnosis	一年,手术,去年,确诊,希望	a year, surgery, last year, diagnosed, hope
9	5	Chinese dramas	刘静,女主,男主,欢喜,英子	Liu Jing, heroine, hero, cheerful, Yingzi
10	13	School	老师,学生,家长,班主任,上课	teacher, student, parent, classroom, lesson
11	20	Friends	朋友,闺蜜,离婚,聊天,命理	friend, bestie, divorce, chat, numerology
12	18	Sleep-wake cycles	熬夜,睡觉,晚上,睡不着,睡着	stay up, sleep, night, sleepless, sleep
13	12	Passing	去世,消息,难过,死者,刚刚	passed away, news, sad, deceased, just
14	26	Treatment processes	放疗,化疗,结束,治疗,转移	radiotherapy, chemotherapy, end, treatment, metastasis
15	33	Treatment effects	治愈,治疗,方案,效果,患者	cure, treatment, protocol, effect, patient
16	113	Appeal to emotion	开心,心情,事情,几率,难过	happy, mood, things, odds, sad
17	42	Initiative	面对,压力,生活,健康,人生	face, pressure, life, health, life
18	11	A Little Red Flower (a popular Chinese movie released in 2020)	小花,一朵,千惠,小红花,病魔	little flower, a, Chie, little red flower
19	45	Suspicion of breast cancer	怀疑,焦虑症,返祖,胸痛,检查	suspicion, anxiety, revert, chest pain, examina- tion
20	48	Other cancers	肺癌,肝癌,胃癌,肠癌,吸烟	lung cancer, liver cancer, stomach cancer, bowel cancer
21	64	Anxiety	焦虑,担心,烦躁,考研,心情	anxiety, worry, irritable, exam, mood
22	17	Metastasis of cancer cells	转移,癌症,癌细胞,患者,闫宏微	transfer, cancer, cancer cells, patient, Yan Hongwei
23	22	Weibo follows	关注,微博,抗癌,荔枝,记录	concern, microblogging, anti-cancer, lychee
24	23	Weibo usage	微博,媽媽,努力做到,更新,不想	microblogging, mom, trying to do, update, don't want
25	85	Treatment side effects	头发,假发,化疗,光头,掉头发	hair, wig, chemotherapy, bald, lose hair
26	27	Check-up	姐夫,电话,昨天,医生,回去	brother-in-law, phone, yesterday, doctor, go back
27	63	Female physiology	没事,预防,增生,例假,一去	Nothing, prevention, hyperplasia, period, a go
28	9	Public figures	陈晓旭,李明,伤官,林黛玉,李婷	Chen Xiaoxu, Li Ming, hurt official, Lin Daiyu, Li Ting
29	58	Treatment stages	化疗,第二次,第三次,结束,白细胞	chemotherapy, second, third, end, white blood cells

XSL•FO RenderX

Notable Topics

Negative Emotions and Anger

The sentiment analysis suggested that the "no_patient" class had consistently higher negative emotions and anger than all other poster-patient relationship classes. Next, we examined the top 30 topics to identify topics with a similar pattern, which were topics 0, 2, 3, 18, 13, 23, 42, 45, 48, 64, and 113. These spanned a number of overlapping themes. Topic 0, for example, contained terms that directly expressed anger and also appeared to carry the speculation that anger is a cause of breast cancer. Similarly, topics 42, 64, and 113 comprised emotive posts about being positive or hopeful in the face of breast cancer, as well as the anxiety and stress it causes. Posts on topics 3, 48, and 63 contained physiological and medical terms, particularly cancer-related terms, their comorbidities, and their antecedents, and posts on topic 45 appeared to express anxiety at the poster facing a possible cancer diagnosis. Finally, topics 2 and 18 contained posts about the user having a nightmare about breast cancer while sleeping, and topics 13 and 20 were about cancer in everyday life. A guiding theme for these topics is that they seem to relate to the posters' fears and anger toward cancer in general.

Sadness and Anxiety

Topics 26 and 58 resembled the patterns of relationship classes for sadness and anxiety, in that with the exception of the "post_user" class, the "family_members" class was more prevalent than the other poster-patient relationship classes. These topics shared a common theme, in that they discussed treatment options for breast cancer (eg, chemotherapy, immunotherapy). One explanation could be that immediate family members, as caregivers, were more concerned about breast cancer treatment.

Error Analysis for Machine Learning Classification

Although our classifiers predicted posts well to some extent, we noticed that some cases were mistakenly classified into other categories, according to the metrics from Tables 3 and 6. To explore the possible reasons behind this misclassification, we implemented error analysis.

We found that 1 common reason for these errors was when the patient in a post was unclear and what they said needed to be inferred through semantic understanding. In Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 4, for example, in post I, the breast cancer patient in the post was the post author (we inferred that the patient should be the poster from reading the post), so according to our classification definition, the true label would be "post_user," but the predicted label from our classifiers was "acquaintances." We think that this could be attributed to a mention of a colleague at the beginning of the post and was mistakenly classified into the "acquaintances" class instead. We observed another reason for errors was when the patient was clearly mentioned but there were multiple other actors mentioned in the post as well. Such appearances can greatly affect the classifiers' prediction. In post II, based on our understanding, the patient appeared to be the poster, but there were many other family members present (eg, father, baby, son, daughter-in-law, granddaughter, grandma). Therefore, post II

was mistakenly classified into the "family_members" class instead of the "post_user" class.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Step 1: Poster-Patient Relationship Classification

We fine-tuned the pretrained language model Chinese RoBERTa on our annotations on poster-patient relationships to construct a classification model capable of identifying patients' relationships with the posters of Weibo posts concerning breast cancer. We subsequently used those classifiers to implement a 2-stage classification process. Both classifiers performed well, and we were generally able to classify poster-patient relationships with moderate-to-high accuracy. This comprised step 1, the poster-patient relationship classification, which was essential to our research question of examining differing Weibo posting styles across poster-patient relationships.

Step 2: Principal Results for Sentiment Analysis and Topic Modeling

In step 2, we used sentiment analysis to compare emotion expressiveness across the 6 poster-patient relationship classes, followed by topic modeling to connect topic content with the emotional difference among identity categories in order to gain an overall understanding. Although this offers only an approximate attempt to interpret the findings of the sentiment analysis, it nevertheless offers an early window into how Weibo posts on breast cancer differ according to the relationship the patient has with the poster. Here, we remind readers that (1) sentiment analysis was calculated based on broad trends in emotion categories, in that for a specific emotion category, having a higher performance in a relationship class meant that it had a higher frequency across all data, and (2) the distribution of topics per class was performed using the corresponding frequency number of each category across all data, which effectively presented the participation for each relationship class in each topic. In other words, among the 6 relationship classes, the correspondence between each relationship class for each emotion category and the correspondence between each relationship class for each topic can only approximately connect both results to contextualize the emotion from the topic when the relevance is consistent. It does not, however, directly represent the actual relationships between topics and emotion terms, so we caution readers against overinterpreting these results.

Anger and Negative Emotions in "no_patient" Posts

One strong result observed from the sentiment analysis was that "no_patient" posts were consistently higher on anger and negative emotions in general. Considering the topics that are more closely associated with the "no_patient" posts, our interpretation is that posts that omit explicit mentions of patients could indicate the poster's apprehension, anxiety, or anger toward breast cancer. For example, this could come in the form of a rant. Ranting on social media is a common behavior for expressing stress and dissatisfaction with certain aspects of life. For some users, ranting on a social media platform encourages

XSL•FO RenderX

social support from other users [38] and is therefore more preferable than ranting in closed media (eg, a diary). Second, ranting on social media has a cathartic effect on the individual with regard to anger reduction [39]. This may thus be a constructive outlet [40] for posters to reduce their negative emotions when feeling particularly angry or anxious toward breast cancer. In these types of posts, we think that the poster may omit explicit mentions of the patient, as these posts are not necessarily of an autobiographical nature but of an expressive nature instead (eg, flow-of-thought writing) and may occur in any situation in which the poster may have a reason to be angry at cancer. For example, posters may be angry at a diagnosis (or prospect) of cancer in themselves or their loved ones, or they may be angry at the problems in society that arise from cancer and associated treatments, which do not necessarily need a target patient.

Sadness and Anxiety in "family_members" Posts

In contrast, sadness and anxiety were consistently higher in posts where close family members (eg, parents) were the patients. This also corresponded with more mentions of treatment options. Past research has documented the significant emotional burden placed on close family members as caregivers of patients with cancer [41]. Moreover, this could be exacerbated by cultural factors: family members are more closely linked to the concept of the self in China, which is largely consistent with interdependent self-construal and collectivistic cultural orientation [42]. In Chinese society, the burden of caregiving often falls to family members, such as adult children [43]. Moreover, (lack of) familial support has been linked to depression and loneliness in elderly Chinese, suggesting the importance of family ties as relational aspects of one's well-being (eg, interdependent happiness [44]). This may explain the greater mentions of treatment options, and the sadness and anxiety, in Weibo posts where the patient was identified as a family member of the poster; the patient was considered relationally closer and more important to their self-identity, and the poster would also more likely be engaged in caregiving.

This could also be a unique cultural aspect of Chinese individuals. Previous studies have shown that American individuals (elderly) have more independent self-construal, and familial ties, being obligatory, are often less important to the self than friendship ties [44,45]. However, more research is needed to examine similar posts on Western social media platforms for proper cross-cultural examination.

Implications and Future Directions

Our research identified how emotion expression and content change according to the poster's relationship with the patient, and aligns closely with past research on the stresses and risks family caregivers face for depression and anxiety disorders [36]. This is particularly exacerbated in Chinese culture, where the strain of caregiving is often intensified through cultural norms surrounding filial piety [46]: this means that caregivers often must maintain a patient and positive outlook when interacting with their patients so as not to put an additional burden on the patients. Moreover, discussions about cancer are often seen as taboo in Chinese society, so caregivers cannot easily access social support from their friends and family. However, as social

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51332
```

media provides an opportunity for sharing experiences and outreach, it holds immense potential for community building and social support, particularly for familial caregivers (see Ref. [47]). Therefore, we think that social media opens up new opportunities for caregivers (and patients) to seek social support, with reduced fears of breaking social norms and facing judgment from their community. This may even be above and beyond the benefits of social media–based social support in comparatively open Western societies, and we encourage further studies to examine how Chinese internet spaces should be designed to facilitate such social support.

Limitations

To obtain our target data set (long narratives pertaining to breast cancer), we needed to contextualize our initial Weibo queries with additional keywords, in this case "sadness." Although this enhanced the quality of our data set, it would have biased the data toward more negative sentiments. Nevertheless, despite the overt bias toward negative posts in our sample, significant differences were still observed in poster-patient relationship classes.

During our classification process, we constructed 2 classifiers based on language models. For the binary classifier, the model reached an F_1 -score of 0.9, and for the multiclass classifier, the model reached an F_1 -score of 0.8 on average. Although these values are good, there is still some room for improvement for our classifiers. One possibility would be to use a better model for multiclass classification.

In sentiment analysis, we implemented a LIWC-based tool based on the lexical matching of terms for word frequency. Moreover, since only 5 broad affective categories (positive emotions, negative emotions, anger, anxiety, and sadness) were included in this tool, we focused only on these in our study. We think that with newer and more powerful sentiment analysis tools and a larger number of affect categories, the accuracy and granularity of sentiment analysis can be further improved for more valuable insight from the text corpus.

For topic modeling, we used the BERTopic tool to cluster topics, and we found that all the generated topics only had subtle distinctions, which led to several overlaps in similar content among topics. For a better understanding of topics, a qualitative assessment of posts would have yielded deeper insights into the data, but this would not have been practical, given the size of the data set.

Conclusion

In this paper, we studied breast cancer-related narratives on the Chinese social media platform Weibo. Using a pretrained transformer language model (Chinese RoBERTa) as the base model, we fine-tuned 2 models on an annotated subset of the data to classify poster-patient relationships in those posts in a sequential process. Ultimately, we classified all posts according to the identified poster-patient relationships (post_user, family_members, friends_relatives, acquaintances, heard_relation, or, if no patient was identified, no_patient).

Next, we implemented sentiment analysis. We used the Chinese LIWC lexicon to examine the sentiment among 6 categories,

focusing on positive emotions, negative emotions, anger, anxiety, and sadness. Through statistical comparisons, we found that emotional expressions present differences among different poster-patient relationship classes. For example, the "no_patient" class had a significantly higher level of anger compared to other classes.

To contextualize these results, we also conducted topic modeling using BERTopic. This showed that posts had different topical content according to the different poster-patient relationships. For example, the "no_patient" class presented more anger in the discussions, while the "family_members" class showed more care for hospitalization and treatment. In sum, our results indicate that patient-poster relationships show differing content and language on Weibo.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Cross-ministerial Strategic Innovation Promotion Program (SIP) on "Integrated Health Care Systems" (grant number JPJ012425), the JST-Mirai Program (grant number JPMJMI21J2), and JST CREST (grant number JPMJCR22N1), Japan. We thank the annotators for their contribution to the data annotation work.

Data Availability

As data contain social media posts that may be linked to individuals, data will be made available upon request to the authors.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Annotation sample. [DOCX File , 18 KB - cancer_v10i1e51332_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Examples of automatic summarization of long Weibo posts. [DOCX File , 37 KB - cancer v10i1e51332 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Top 30 terms of top 30 topics from topic modeling. [DOCX File, 31 KB - cancer v10i1e51332 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Examples of error analysis. [DOCX File, 15 KB - cancer_v10i1e51332_app4.docx]

References

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021 May 04;71(3):209-249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21660] [Medline: 33538338]
- 2. Consedine, Nathan S. Fear, anxiety, worry, and breast cancer screening behavior: a critical review. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2004;13(4):501-510. [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.501.13.4]
- 3. Zhao X, Wang X, Ma Z, Ma R. Primacy effect of emotions in social stories: user engagement behaviors with breast cancer narratives on Facebook. Comput Hum Behav 2022 Dec;137:107405. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2022.107405]
- 4. Valkenburg PM. Social media use and well-being: what we know and what we need to know. Curr Opin Psychol 2022 Jun;45:101294 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2021.12.006] [Medline: 35016087]
- 5. Murarka A, Radhakrishnan B, Ravichandran S. Detection and classification of mental illnesses on social media using RoBERTa. arXiv Preprint posted online Nov 23, 2020. [doi: <u>10.48550/arXiv.2011.11226</u>]
- 6. Sakaki T, Okazaki M, Matsuo Y. Tweet analysis for real-time event detection and earthquake reporting system development. IEEE Trans Knowl Data Eng 2013 Apr;25(4):919-931. [doi: 10.1109/tkde.2012.29]
- Santoro E, Castelnuovo G, Zoppis I, Mauri G, Sicurello F. Social media and mobile applications in chronic disease prevention and management. Front Psychol 2015 May 07;6:567 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00567] [Medline: 25999884]
- Li C, Chen LJ, Chen X, Zhang M, Pang CP, Chen H. Retrospective analysis of the possibility of predicting the COVID-19 outbreak from internet searches and social media data, China, 2020. Euro Surveill 2020 Mar;25(10):2000199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.10.2000199] [Medline: 32183935]

- Kamba M, Manabe M, Wakamiya S, Yada S, Aramaki E, Odani S, et al. Medical needs extraction for breast cancer patients from question and answer services: natural language processing-based approach. JMIR Cancer 2021 Oct 28;7(4):e32005 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/32005] [Medline: 34709187]
- Watanabe T, Yada S, Aramaki E, Yajima H, Kizaki H, Hori S. Extracting multiple worries from breast cancer patient blogs using multilabel classification with the natural language processing model bidirectional encoder representations from transformers: infodemiology study of blogs. JMIR Cancer 2022 Jun 03;8(2):e37840 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/37840] [Medline: 35657664]
- 11. Basch CH, Hillyer GC, Yalamanchili B, Morris A. How TikTok is being used to help individuals cope with breast cancer: cross-sectional content analysis. JMIR Cancer 2022 Dec 06;8(4):e42245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/42245] [Medline: 36472899]
- 12. Xinyue Y, Li S, Yang X, Qin C. Use of social media for the detection and analysis of infectious diseases in China. IJGI 2016 Aug 30;5(9):156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijgi5090156]
- 13. Ye B, Krishnan P, Jia S. Public concern about air pollution and related health outcomes on social media in China: an analysis of data from Sina Weibo (Chinese Twitter) and air monitoring stations. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022 Dec 01;19(23):16115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph192316115] [Medline: 36498189]
- 14. Luqiu LR, Schmierbach M, Ng Y. Willingness to follow opinion leaders: a case study of Chinese Weibo. Comput Hum Behav 2019 Dec;101:42-50. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2019.07.005]
- Neri F, Aliprandi C, Capeci F, Cuadros M, By T. Sentiment analysis on social media. 2012 Presented at: 2012 IEEE/ACM International Conference on Advances in Social Networks Analysis and Mining; 2012; Istanbul, Turkey p. 919-926. [doi: 10.1109/asonam.2012.164]
- 16. Dandannavar PS, Mangalwede SR, Deshpande SB. SA proposed framework for evaluating the performance of government initiatives through sentiment analysis. In: Cognitive Informatics and Soft Computing: Proceeding of CISC 2017. Singapore: Springer; 2019.
- 17. Wang X, Zhang C, Ji Y, Sun L, Wu L, Bao Z. A depression detection model based on sentiment analysis in micro-blog social network. In: Trends and Applications in Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining. PAKDD 2013. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 7867. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2013.
- Cabling ML, Turner JW, Hurtado-de-Mendoza A, Zhang Y, Jiang X, Drago F, et al. Sentiment analysis of an online breast cancer support group: communicating about tamoxifen. Health Commun 2018 Sep 05;33(9):1158-1165 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2017.1339370] [Medline: 28678549]
- Clark EM, James T, Jones CA, Alapati A, Ukandu P, Danforth CM, et al. A sentiment analysis of breast cancer treatment experiences and healthcare perceptions across Twitter. arXiv Preprint posted online May 25, 2012. [doi: <u>10.48550/arXiv.1805.09959</u>]
- 20. Ben-Zur H, Gilbar O, Lev S. Coping with breast cancer: patient, spouse, and dyad models. Psychosom Med 2001;63(1):32-39. [doi: <u>10.1097/00006842-200101000-00004</u>] [Medline: <u>11211062</u>]
- Jordan MI, Mitchell TM. Machine learning: trends, perspectives, and prospects. Science 2015 Jul 17;349(6245):255-260. [doi: <u>10.1126/science.aaa8415</u>] [Medline: <u>26185243</u>]
- 22. Devlin J, Chang MW, Lee K, Toutanova K. BERT: pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. arXiv Preprint posted online Oct 11, 2018. [doi: <u>10.48550/arXiv.1810.04805</u>]
- 23. Liu Y, Ott M, Goyal N, Du J, Joshi M, Chen D, et al. Roberta: a robustly optimized BERT pretraining approach. arXiv Preprint posted online Jul 26, 2019. [doi: <u>10.48550/arXiv.1907.11692</u>]
- 24. Brown TB, Mann B, Mann N, Subbiah M, Kaplan J, Dhariwal P. Language models are few-shot learners. 2020 Presented at: NeurIPS 2020: 34th Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems; December 6-12, 2020; Vancouver, Canada p. 1877-1901.
- 25. Kalyan KS, Rajasekharan A, Sivanesan S. Ammus: a survey of transformer-based pretrained models in natural language processing. arXiv Preprint posted online Aug 12, 2021. [doi: <u>10.48550/arXiv.2108.05542</u>]
- 26. Byrt T. How good is that agreement? Epidemiology 1996 Sep;7(5):561. [doi: <u>10.1097/00001648-199609000-00030</u>] [Medline: <u>8862998</u>]
- 27. Cui Y, Che W, Liu T, Qin B, Wang S, Hu G. Revisiting pre-trained models for Chinese natural language processing. arXiv Preprint posted online Apr 29, 2020. [doi: <u>10.18653/v1/2020.findings-emnlp.58</u>]
- 28. Lorena AC, de Carvalho ACPLF, Gama JMP. A review on the combination of binary classifiers in multiclass problems. Artif Intell Rev 2009 Aug 13;30(1-4):19-37. [doi: 10.1007/s10462-009-9114-9]
- 29. Chen C, Chen J, Shi C. Research on credit evaluation model of online store based on SnowNLP. E3S Web Conf 2018 Sep 14;53:03039. [doi: 10.1051/e3sconf/20185303039]
- 30. Mihalcea R, Tarau P. Textrank: bringing order into text. 2004 Presented at: 2004 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing; July 2004; Barcelona, Spain.
- 31. Pennebaker JW, Francis ME, Booth RJ. Linguistic inquiry and word count: LIWC. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 2001.
- 32. Huang CL, Chung CK, Hui N, Lin YC, Seih YT, Lam B. ?The development of the Chinese linguistic inquiry and word count dictionary. Chin J Psychol 2012;54(2):185-201.

- Crossley SA, Kyle K, McNamara DS. Sentiment Analysis and Social Cognition Engine (SEANCE): an automatic tool for sentiment, social cognition, and social-order analysis. Behav Res Methods 2017 Jun 18;49(3):803-821. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-016-0743-z] [Medline: 27193159]
- 34. Sun J. fxsjy / jieba. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/fxsjy/jieba</u> [accessed 2024-04-17]
- 35. Grootendorst M. BERTopic: neural topic modeling with a class-based TF-IDF procedure. arXiv Preprint posted online Mar 11, 2022. [doi: <u>10.48550/arXiv.2203.05794</u>]
- 36. Blum K, Sherman DW. Understanding the experience of caregivers: a focus on transitions. Semin Oncol Nurs 2010 Nov;26(4):243-258. [doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2010.08.005] [Medline: 20971405]
- 37. zhang9711/Topic_Modeling_Results. URL: https://github.com/zhang9711/Topic_Modeling_Results [accessed 2024-04-16]
- 38. Radovic A, Gmelin T, Stein BD, Miller E. Depressed adolescents' positive and negative use of social media. J Adolesc 2017 Feb 18;55(1):5-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.12.002] [Medline: 27997851]
- Martin RC, Coyier KR, VanSistine LM, Schroeder KL. Anger on the internet: the perceived value of rant-sites. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2013 Feb;16(2):119-122. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2012.0130] [Medline: 23249241]
- 40. Bushman BJ. Does venting anger feed or extinguish the flame? Catharsis, rumination, distraction, anger, and aggressive responding. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2016 Jul 02;28(6):724-731. [doi: <u>10.1177/0146167202289002</u>]
- 41. Kim Y, Carver CS. Unmet needs of family cancer caregivers predict quality of life in long-term cancer survivorship. J Cancer Surviv 2019 Oct 24;13(5):749-758 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-019-00794-6] [Medline: 31342303]
- 42. Zhang Y. Individualism or collectivism? Cultural orientations in Chinese TV commercials and analysis of some moderating factors. JMCQ 2009 Sep 01;86(3):630-653. [doi: 10.1177/107769900908600311]
- 43. Wong ST, Yoo GJ, Stewart AL. The changing meaning of family support among older Chinese and Korean immigrants. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2006 Jan 01;61(1):S4-S9. [doi: <u>10.1093/geronb/61.1.s4</u>] [Medline: <u>16399949</u>]
- Poulin J, Deng R, Ingersoll TS, Witt H, Swain M. Perceived family and friend support and the psychological well-being of American and Chinese elderly persons. J Cross Cult Gerontol 2012 Dec 19;27(4):305-317. [doi: 10.1007/s10823-012-9177-y] [Medline: 22903533]
- 45. Fiori KL, Antonucci TC, Cortina KS. Social network typologies and mental health among older adults. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2006 Jan 01;61(1):P25-P32. [doi: <u>10.1093/geronb/61.1.p25</u>] [Medline: <u>16399938</u>]
- 46. He L, Wu H, Li M, Deng X. A qualitative meta-synthesis of the caregiving experiences of adult children providing care for cancer patients in China: implications for multidisciplinary healthcare teams. Health Soc Care Community 2022 Nov 19;30(6):e3829-e3842. [doi: 10.1111/hsc.14073] [Medline: 36259247]
- Warner EL, Kirchhoff AC, Ellington L, Waters AR, Sun Y, Wilson A, et al. Young adult cancer caregivers' use of social media for social support. Psychooncology 2020 Jul 19;29(7):1185-1192. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5402</u>] [Medline: <u>32364665</u>]

Abbreviations

BERT: Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers **DSCF:** Dwass-Steel-Critchlow-Fligner **LIWC:** Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count **NLP:** natural language processing **RoBERTa:** A Robustly Optimized BERT Pretraining Approach **WHO:** World Health Organization

Edited by A Mavragani; submitted 28.07.23; peer-reviewed by J Li, S Matsuda; comments to author 11.10.23; revised version received 19.10.23; accepted 04.04.24; published 09.05.24.

Please cite as:

Zhang Z, Liew K, Kuijer R, She WJ, Yada S, Wakamiya S, Aramaki E Differing Content and Language Based on Poster-Patient Relationships on the Chinese Social Media Platform Weibo: Text Classification, Sentiment Analysis, and Topic Modeling of Posts on Breast Cancer JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51332 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51332 doi:10.2196/51332 PMID:38723250

©Zhouqing Zhang, Kongmeng Liew, Roeline Kuijer, Wan Jou She, Shuntaro Yada, Shoko Wakamiya, Eiji Aramaki. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 09.05.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete

bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Evaluating the Quality of Cancer-Related WeChat Public Accounts: Cross-Sectional Study

Peng Pan¹, PhD; Changhua Yu¹, MD; Tao Li¹, BA; Tingting Dai¹, MD; Hanhan Tian¹, MD; Yaozu Xiong¹, MD; Jie Lv¹, MD; Xiaochu Hu¹, MD; Weidong Ma¹, MD; Wenda Yin¹, MD

Department of Radiation Oncology, The Affiliated Huaian No.1 People's Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Huai'an, China

Corresponding Author:

Changhua Yu, MD Department of Radiation Oncology The Affiliated Huaian No.1 People's Hospital of Nanjing Medical University Radiotherapy Department Building, 4th floor 1 Huanghexilu Huai'an, 223300 China Phone: 86 517 8490 7286 Email: <u>1131603215@qq.com</u>

Abstract

Background: WeChat (Tencent) is one of the most important information sources for Chinese people. Relevantly, various health-related data are constantly transmitted among WeChat users. WeChat public accounts (WPAs) for health are rapidly emerging. Health-related WeChat public accounts have a significant impact on public health. Because of the rise in web-based health-seeking behavior, the general public has grown accustomed to obtaining cancer information from WPAs. Although WPAs make it easy for people to obtain health information, the quality of the information is questionable.

Objective: This study aims to assess the quality and suitability of cancer-related WeChat public accounts (CWPAs).

Methods: The survey was conducted from February 1 to 28, 2023. Based on the WPA monthly list provided by Qingbo Big Data, 28 CWPAs in the WeChat communication index were selected as the survey sample. Quality assessment of the included CWPAs was performed using the HONcode instrument. Furthermore, suitability was measured by using the Suitability Assessment of Materials. A total of 2 researchers conducted the evaluations independently.

Results: Of the 28 CWPAs, 12 (43%) were academic and 16 (57%) were commercial. No statistical difference was found regarding the HONcode scores between the 2 groups (P=.96). The quality of the academic and commercial CWPAs evaluated using the HONcode instrument demonstrated mean scores of 5.58 (SD 2.02) and 5.63 (SD 2.16), respectively, corresponding to a moderate class. All CWPAs' compliance with the HONcode principles was unsatisfactory. A statistically significant difference between the 2 groups was observed in the Suitability Assessment of Materials scores (P=.04). The commercial WPAs reached an overall 55.1% (SD 5.5%) score versus the 50.2% (SD 6.4%) score reached by academic WPAs. The suitability of academic and commercial CWPAs was considered adequate.

Conclusions: This study revealed that CWPAs are not sufficiently credible. WPA owners must endeavor to create reliable health websites using approved tools such as the HONcode criteria. However, it is necessary to educate the public about the evaluation tools of health websites to assess their credibility before using the provided content. In addition, improving readability will allow the public to read and understand the content.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52156) doi:10.2196/52156

KEYWORDS

cancer; big data; social media; health literacy; WeChat; China; public health

Introduction

RenderX

According to the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), cancer is the first or second

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52156

leading cause of premature mortality in over 90 countries. China accounts for 23.7% of global new cases and 30% of deaths. In China, the age-standardized incidence and mortality rates of all cancers were 201.7 per 100,000 and 130.1 per 100,000 in 2018,
respectively [1]. In recent decades, the cancer burden in China has increased, posing a serious threat to public health.

Moreover, with the rapid development of the internet, social media has remarkably changed people's lifestyles [2]. Similar to Facebook, WeChat, released in 2011 by Tencent Inc, has become the most widely used social networking platform in China, reporting 1299 million users in 2022 [3]. WeChat public accounts (WPA) are application accounts supplied bv administrators that can be used for communication and interaction with specific groups via text, pictures, videos, and so forth. Members can follow the WPAs of interest to receive relevant information or messages. In early 2020, more than 1 million papers were posted daily on WeChat [4]. WeChat is one of the most important sources of information for the Chinese public. Pertinently, various health-related information is continuously transmitted among WeChat users. Health-related WeChat public accounts (HWPAs) are being rapidly developed [5]. HWPAs have an important impact on public health status. Although it is convenient for people to obtain health information from WPAs, the quality of the health information is questionable [6]. Therefore, it is important to evaluate the quality of the HWPAs. Previous studies have explored the use of WPAs in health education [7-9]. However, few have focused on the quality of HWPAs. Wang et al [10] examined 93 HWPAs to evaluate their quality and found that they were substandard according to the Net Foundation Code of Conduct (HONcode) conformity. Furthermore, there is still a lack of general understanding regarding the quality of cancer-related WeChat public accounts (CWPAs). Owing to increasing web-based health-seeking behaviors, the public has become accustomed to obtaining cancer information through WPAs. Therefore, this study was conducted to evaluate the quality of CWPAs. Our study aims to assess the quality and suitability of CWPAs.

Methods

Data Collection

The data used in this study were derived from the Qingbo Big Data platform, the largest third-party evaluation platform for new media in China. Qingbo Big Data Technology Co, Ltd (Beijing, China) was established in October 2014. The company provides big data technology services to the Chinese government, top Chinese news media, and large multinational enterprises [11]. The WeChat communication index (WCI), proposed by Qingbo Big Data, is the most widely used standard for evaluating the influence of WPAs [10]. The WCI comprises 4 primary indicators (the overall paper spread rate, average spread rate of each paper, title spread rate, and peak spread rate), 8 secondary indicators, and a set of calculation formulas for standardized scores [12]. A higher WCI value indicates a larger WPA influence. We searched for new media in the cancer category of the WPA monthly list (February 1 to 28, 2023) provided by Qingbo Big Data. The CWPAs in the WCI were selected as the survey sample. The exclusion criteria for CWPAs were as follows: (1) having been completed for commercial purposes, and (2) no papers released during the survey period. As a result, 18 CWPAs were excluded according to the criteria. Finally, 28 CWPAs were included in this study (Multimedia

Appendix 1). We analyzed 1503 papers released by each CWPA on the survey dates.

Evaluation Tools

Quality assessment of the included CWPAs was performed using the HONcode instrument. Health on the Internet is an independent organization that provides health information guidelines for websites based on 8 principles: authoritativeness, complementarity, attribution, privacy, justifiability, transparency, financial disclosure, and advertising policies [13] (Multimedia Appendix 2). The introduction of the HONcode in 1996 was a milestone for web-based health information, as evidenced by the numerous references to the HONcode in the Health Informatics literature. The HONcode has often been used as a major indicator of content accuracy in scientific studies [14]. As CWPAs are used to disseminate cancer-related health knowledge to the public, these WPAs should also comply with the HONcode principles. Thus, we believe analyzing the credibility and reliability of the information on CWPAs using the HONcode instrument is appropriate. We adopted a similar HONcode scoring system to that previously published [15]. For each CWPA, the respect or no respect to each HONcode principle was scored as 0 (nonconformity) or 1 (conformity). As a result, the quality of the CWPAs was classified as low (HONcode 0-2), moderate (HONcode 3-5), or high (HONcode 6-8).

The Suitability Assessment of Materials (SAM) created by Doak et al [16] was designed to assess educational material. Applying the SAM can pinpoint specific deficiencies in suitability, and if the material is still in the developmental stage, these deficiencies can be corrected. The SAM comprises 22 criteria in 6 categories: content, literacy demand, graphics, layout and typography, learning stimulation and motivation, and cultural appropriateness (Multimedia Appendix 3). Within these categories, according to how well they meet the criteria for each item, individual items are rated as follows: not applicable, 0 (not suitable), 1 (adequate), or 2 (superior). The sum of the ratings obtained was divided by the total possible score and transformed into percentages. A total of 3 levels are used to categorize the percentage score: 70%-100%, "superior"; 40%-69%, "adequate"; and 0%-39%, "not suitable" [16]. The SAM has been tested and validated in individuals of various cultural backgrounds [17]. In a study by Chang et al [18], the SAM was proven valid and reliable for evaluating the suitability of health-education materials in Chinese. Therefore, in this study, we used the SAM to evaluate health information released by CWPAs. These CWPAs were classified into academic WPAs and commercial WPAs according to a study by Valizadeh-Haghi et al [19]. The findings of this study revealed that there was a significant association between the website category and the credibility of health websites.

A total of 2 researchers conducted the evaluations. These 2 raters independently evaluated CWPAs' compliance with the principles of the HONcode and the suitability of the papers released by the CWPAs using the SAM scale. Any controversial assessment results were resolved through real-time negotiations. Cohen κ test assessed interrater reliability, with a score of 0.83 indicating almost perfect agreement [20].

XSL•FO

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS (version 26.0; IMB Corp). Numerical variables are reported as mean (SD) or median (IQR) values. We tested the normality of the distribution of the numerical variables using the Shapiro-Wilk test before proceeding with a parametric or nonparametric test. Parametric variables were compared using the Student t test and nonparametric continuous variables were evaluated with the Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical variables were presented as numbers (n) and percentages (%). Fisher exact test was used to compare categorical variables. Statistical significance was set at P<.05.

Ethical Considerations

According to Article 32 of the ethical review guideline of life science and medical research, which was issued by the National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China on February 18, 2023, because only publicly available data were involved in our study, the ethical review could be exempted [21]. All data were anonymized.

Results

Characteristics of the CWPAs

The general characteristics of the CWPAs are listed in Table 1. Of the 28 CWPAs, 12 (43%) were academic and 16 (57%) were commercial. A statistically significant difference between the 2 groups was observed in the SAM scores (P=.04). The commercial WPAs reached an overall 55.1% (SD 5.5%) score versus the 50.2% (SD 6.4%) score reached by academic WPAs. The suitability of academic and commercial CWPAs was considered adequate. Statistical differences were also found regarding views (P=.04), likes (P=.03), and WCI (P=.03). Notably, the numbers of views, likes, and WCI were higher for commercial WPAs than for academic WPAs. Although no statistical difference was found regarding the HONcode scores between the 2 groups (P=.96), commercial WPAs seemed more compliant than academic WPAs. The quality of the academic and commercial CWPAs evaluated using the HONcode instrument demonstrated mean scores of 5.58 (SD 2.02) and 5.63 (SD 2.16), respectively, corresponding to a moderate class.

 Table 1. Analysis of cancer-related WeChat public account characteristics by ownership.

Characteristics	Academic CWPAs ^a	Commercial CWPAs	<i>P</i> value
Number of papers	322	1181	N/A ^b
Number of views, median (IQR)	59,109 (1534.2-60,643.2)	420,237.75 (19,762-439,999.75)	.04
Number of likes, median (IQR)	226.25 (5.25-231.5)	1640.25 (82.75-1723)	.03
WCI ^c , mean (SD)	453.57 (255.46)	700.09 (300.20)	.03
HONcode scores, mean (SD)	5.58 (2.02)	5.63 (2.16)	.96
SAM ^d scores (%), mean (SD)	50.2 (6.4)	55.1 (5.5)	.04

^aCWPA: cancer-related WeChat public account.

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cWCI: WeChat communication index.

^dSAM: Suitability Assessment of Materials.

Health on the Net Foundation Code of Conduct Conformity

The HONcode compliances of the 28 CWPAs according to ownership are listed in Table 2. Except for the advertising principle (P=.02), there were no statistical differences regarding the other 7 principles between the academic and commercial groups. CWPAs' compliance with the HONcode principles was not ideal. Most academic and commercial WPAs failed to meet the principles of transparency and financial disclosure (58% vs 62% and 58% vs 69%, respectively). One-third of academic (4/12, 33%) and almost half of the commercial WPAs (7/16,

44%) did not respect this attribution principle. All academic WPAs and 94% (n=15) of the commercial WPAs received a full score on the justifiability principle. Compliance was also uneven for authoritative and complementarity principles. A greater proportion of academic WPAs achieved full scores in the authoritative and complementarity principles (10/12, 83% and 11/12, 92%, respectively), compared with commercial WPAs (11/16, 69%). Finally, only 25% (n=3) of academic WPAs received a full score in the advertising policy principle, compared with commercial WPAs (12/16, 75%); that is, three-quarters of the academic WPAs did not clearly distinguish advertising from editorial content.



Table 2. Evaluating HONcode scores according to ownership.

HONcode principles	Proportion of academic CWPAs ^a with full score (n=12), n (%)	Proportion of commercial CWPAs with full score (n=16), n (%)	<i>P</i> value
Authoritative	10 (83)	11 (69)	.66
Complementarity	11 (92)	11 (69)	.19
Privacy	12 (100)	16 (100)	N/A ^b
Attribution	8 (67)	9 (56)	.71
Justifiability	12 (100)	15 (94)	.38
Transparency	5 (42)	6 (38)	.82
Financial disclosure	5 (42)	5 (31)	.69
Advertising policy	3 (25)	12 (75)	.02

^aCWPA: cancer-related WeChat public account.

^bN/A: not applicable.

Suitability of Papers From WPAs

Table 3 presents the analysis of the CWPAs' readability using the SAM. Among the 6 categories, a statistically significant difference was found between academic and commercial WPAs in literacy demand (P=.02). In most cases, the mean scores of academic WPAs were lower than those of commercial WPAs, except for the cultural appropriateness items. However, no statistical differences were found between the 2 groups regarding content (P=.53), graphics (P=.07), layout and typography (P=.84), learning stimulation and motivation (P=.95), or cultural appropriateness (P=.78). None of the CWPAs achieved a superior score on the SAM items. The percentages of criteria met in each of the 6 SAM categories ranged from the lowest for learning stimulation and motivation to the highest for content.

Table 3. Evaluating Suitability Assessment of Materials scores of papers on the cancer-related WeChat public account according to ownership.

SAM ^a items	Academic CWPAs ^b , mean (SD)	Commercial CWPAs, mean (SD)	P value
Content (purpose is evident, content regarding behavior, scope is limited, and summary or review included)	5.08 (0.51)	5.25 (0.86)	.53
Literacy demand (reading grade level, writing style, active voice, vocabulary uses common words, context is given first, and learning aids via "road signs")	4.58 (0.79)	5.56 (1.15)	.02
Graphics (cover graphic shows purpose; type of graphics; relevance of illustrations; list, tables, etc explained; and captions used for graphics)	4.67 (1.15)	5.63 (1.41)	.07
Layout and typography (layout factors, typography, and subheads used)	3.83 (0.58)	3.88 (0.50)	.84
Learning stimulation and motivation (interaction used, be- haviors are modeled and specific, and motivation [self-effi- cacy])	1.67 (0.98)	1.69 (0.79)	.95
Cultural appropriateness (match in logic, language, and experience; cultural image; and examples)	2.25 (0.62)	2.19 (0.54)	.78

^aSAM: Suitability Assessment of Materials.

^bCWPA: cancer-related WeChat public account.

In the content category, most WPAs stated their purpose in the titles and contained related information within the necessary scope. However, some (8/28, 28.6%) of the WPAs contained behavior-related context in presenting content; that is, the content mainly included facts about cancers and not guides for readers' behavior or decision-making. Additionally, 14% (n=4) of WPAs did not include a summary or review. Regarding literacy demand, 1 WPA was classified as not suitable, 26 as adequate, and only 1 was superior. The cover graphics for most papers released by the WPAs were rated as superior. However, 68% (n=19) of the WPAs used illustrations inappropriately.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52156
```

RenderX

Moreover, one-quarter (7/28, 25%) of the papers did not include captions that detailed the information in the tables and graphs. The layouts of most papers received high scores; for example, most were adequate and superior regarding typography and font size. Lower ratings were caused by the tendency to include too much information under the subheadings. The learning stimulation and motivation categories had the lowest ratings. None of the studies provided web-based learning stimulation. The content for behavioral modeling and self-efficacy of 93% (n=26) of the WPAs was adequate or not suitable. Most WPAs (26/28, 93%) were rated as adequate or superior for using

positive images and examples for the cultural appropriateness category.

Discussion

Principal Findings

WeChat is the most popular platform for acquiring health information. Health information acquisition via WeChat is more convenient, timely, and cost-effective; moreover, it protects privacy and avoids embarrassment. Furthermore, the technical development of big data and the Internet of Things allows individuals to access, track, and customize health information. To a certain extent, WeChat contributes to greater freedom regarding individual health decisions.

The public encounters problems through the internet via an overload of information. In our study, searching for "cancer" in the Qingbo search engine generated 46 WPAs. Worryingly, the information presented in these WPAs is not sufficiently credible; that is, valid and valuable information is obscured by irrelevant and misleading information. To our knowledge, this was the first study to evaluate the quality and readability of WPAs concerning cancer. Our study mirrored other studies' findings on various topics [22-24].

The HONcode instrument for health-related web resources has been available for 20 years. A failure to comply with the HONcode criteria indicates that users may encounter websites that are not sufficiently reliable. These websites may contain inaccurate, misleading, and inadequate information, which can influence preventive actions and decision-making regarding cancer treatment choices.

This study's findings revealed that all CWPAs' compliance with the HONcode principles was unsatisfactory. Although one could intuit that the information found in academic CWPAs would yield the highest quality information, our study found this was not always true. Specifically, there was no statistical difference between academic WPAs and commercial CWPAs regarding HONcode sum scores and most HONcode categories. Thus, academic institutions must take substantial steps to improve the credibility of their WPAs to comply with the HON principles.

Compliance with the authority criterion reflects the credibility of the information source because this principle proves that the information provided by experts is reliable [25]. In this study, one-quarter (7/28, 25%) of the surveyed CWPAs did not specify the names or expertise of the authors. In a similar study evaluating Persian language health websites on Ebola, the authorities obtained the lowest score [22]. While the public needs sufficient information about the author's identity to assess the trustworthiness of information, CWPAs must pay more attention to this criterion to increase trustworthiness for their readers. The complementarity aspect of web-based medical information should be clearly stated on health websites as such information is intended to provide support and training for readers and should not be a substitute for direct medical advice [19]. Nevertheless, 21.4% (n=6) of the surveyed CWPAs did not consider this criterion, which may have led to misuse of information. Moreover, CWPAs should describe their privacy

policies and define how they handle users' private information such as email addresses and content. This policy is among the 7 core issues in website usability design and is particularly important for creating effective websites [26]. Satisfactorily, all CWPAs assessed in this study identified their privacy policies. According to the attribution principle, the publication date and most recent content updates should be posted on the website. Adherence to this principle can ensure the credibility of health websites. This study revealed that the attribution principle was considered in more than half (17/28, 61%) of the CWPAs. Nevertheless, 39% (n=11) of the CWPAs did not pay sufficient attention to this principle. The justifiability criterion indicates that any information on a website must support claims regarding the benefits or performance of a particular treatment, medication, or medical device. Overall, in this study, the adherence to the justifiable principle was good. The transparency principle states that when additional information is required, people must be able to connect with content editors and communicate with webmasters. Unfortunately, based on the present findings, this principle was only considered in 39% (n=11) of the CWPAs. Financial disclosure and advertising principles imply that there should be a clear distinction between commercial and scientifically edited content presented on CWPAs. If advertising is a source of funding for a WPA, the financial disclosure policy for presenting such content should be clearly stated. Moreover, failure to comply with advertising policies indicates that individuals may be unable to distinguish advertisement information from the main content. Access to such WPAs may guide readers toward unreliable information that may threaten their health. However, only 36% (n=10) of the surveyed CWPAs considered financial disclosure principles. More importantly, 75% (n=9) of the academic WPAs failed to comply with the advertising policy. In contrast, only 25% (n=4) of commercial WPAs failed to comply with this principle.

The content provided to the public must not only meet the reliability standard but also be at the required reading level that allows people of all educational levels to understand and process information related to their disease and treatment options [27]. Notably, lower overall health literacy is associated with increased complications, hospitalizations, poor understanding of the disease, and increased health care costs [28]. This study determined the CWPAs' information suitability to be "adequate." Cultural and linguistic differences inevitably lead to differences in people's health-related behaviors and understanding of web-based health information. Thus, website owners must consider additional acculturation factors when publishing health information. However, this creates higher requirements for user cultural literacy [11].

Regarding scoring dimensions, most papers published by the CWPAs had appropriate cover pictures and attractive titles that clearly described the paper's purpose, a good layout and typography, and were culturally suitable. However, the nonstandard use of charts and the lack of charts used as illustrations were common problems. More than half of the papers included pictures with weak relevance to the content of the papers or even harmful overstatements and stereotypical cultural characteristics. In addition, regarding vocabulary,

XSL•FO RenderX

readers had difficulty reading papers generated by professional WPAs because they usually use more scientific terms.

The cultural appropriateness of health-education materials is enhanced when readers view illustrations and graphics that are easily recognizable and depict people similar to themselves and those around them. Many factors affect health care including cultural beliefs and practices [17]. Thus, it is important to consider these factors when designing health education materials.

We are particularly interested in examining the facilitation of self-efficacy. Applying the concept of self-efficacy is an effective means of promoting positive health behaviors and informed decision-making. Self-efficacy theory explains and predicts how people influence their motivation and behavior; to enhance self-efficacy, materials must model the desired behavior using someone similar to the intended audience [17]. Very few of the reviewed materials used appropriate methods to enhance readers' self-efficacy.

Based on our findings, although the suitability of health information released by CWPAs was at a moderate level, the overall quality of accessible information on CWPAs was inadequate. Failure to comply with all HONcode criteria in these CWPAs shows that while searching for WPAs, users will encounter impressive websites, and consequently, low-quality information that can affect their health care practices for cancer. Reliable and readable information is essential for overcoming the potential negative aspects of web-based health information. Providing information in shorter sentences with simple words and using figures or videos may help improve the public's understanding of cancer and cater to people with varying levels of health literacy. This highlights the importance of understanding the quality of CWPAs by providers and guiding the public toward reliable sources. Finally, it is recommended that the papers of CWPAs be subjected to some form of peer review, similar to those used for journal paper submissions, before the final upload. This would create a core set of high-quality, publicly available information.

Limitations

This study has some limitations. The study was conducted between February 1 and 28, 2023; therefore, it does not completely and comprehensively represent other studies conducted at different times. However, owing to the dynamic characteristics of the web, search results vary at different times and places. New websites are constantly being created, while some websites are being disbanded. Second, there are many evaluation indices for WPAs; however, horizontal comparisons of these indices are lacking. We chose the WCI proposed by Qingbo Big Data as the ranking basis for the influence of WPAs, which may have resulted in selection bias. Finally, this study was conducted only on Chinese websites. Therefore, the results of this study may differ from those conducted in other languages.

Conclusions

This study revealed that CWPAs are not sufficiently credible. WPA owners must endeavor to create reliable health websites using approved tools such as the HONcode criteria. However, it is necessary to educate the public about the evaluation tools of health websites to assess their credibility before using the provided content. In addition, improving readability will allow the public to read and understand the content.

Data Availability

The data sets generated or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

PP and CY participated in the conceptualization of the paper. TD, HT, XH, and WM conducted the data searches on the internet. JL and WY conducted data evaluation. YX performed statistical analysis. TL critically reviewed the manuscript for important intellectual content. PP structured and wrote the paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Raw data of the cancer-related WeChat public accounts. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 16 KB - cancer v10i1e52156 app1.xlsx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 The HONcode principles. [DOCX File, 17 KB - cancer_v10i1e52156_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 The Suitability Assessment of Materials criteria and descriptions. [DOCX File, 20 KB - cancer_v10i1e52156_app3.docx]

- 1. Stewart BW, Wild C, Weiderpass E, editors. World Cancer Report: Cancer Research for Cancer Prevention. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2020.
- Zhang X, Wen D, Liang J, Lei J. How the public uses social media WeChat to obtain health information in china: a survey study. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2017;17(Suppl 2):66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0470-0] [Medline: 28699549]
- 3. 2022 Second quarter results presentation. Tencent Holdings Limited. URL: <u>https://static.www.tencent.com/uploads/2022/</u>08/17/d0d74555dfe436e57a9a3c05a0ded87b.pdf [accessed 2022-08-17]
- 4. WeChat public accounts data report of 2020. NEWRANK CN. 2020. URL: <u>https://baijiahao.baidu.com/</u> <u>s?id=1688554348526024173&wfr=spider&for=pc</u> [accessed 2021-01-11]
- 5. Jin Y, Zhang QY. Research on factors affecting the attention degree on health public WeChat account: based on root theory. Library Theor Pract 2018(4):48-52. [doi: 10.14064/j.cnki.issn1005-8214.2018.04.011]
- Ma X, Lu J, Liu W. Influencing factors on health information to improve public health literacy in the official WeChat account of Guangzhou CDC. Front Public Health 2021;9:657082 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.657082] [Medline: 34414152]
- Li Y, Cheng XH, Xu WT, Tan LP, Gou XJ. A WeChat-based mobile platform for perioperative health education for gastrointestinal surgery. Emerg Med Int 2021;2021:6566981 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2021/6566981] [Medline: 34868685]
- 8. Sun M, Yang L, Chen W, Luo H, Zheng K, Zhang Y, et al. Current status of official WeChat accounts for public health education. J Public Health (Oxf) 2021;43(3):618-624 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdz163] [Medline: 31974552]
- Li W, Han LQ, Guo YJ, Sun J. Using WeChat official accounts to improve malaria health literacy among Chinese expatriates in Niger: an intervention study. Malar J 2016;15(1):567 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/s12936-016-1621-y</u>] [Medline: <u>27881122</u>]
- 10. Wang F, Wang Z, Sun W, Yang X, Bian Z, Shen L, et al. Evaluating the quality of health-related WeChat public accounts: cross-sectional study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(5):e14826 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14826] [Medline: 32383684]
- 11. Qingbo bigdata company profile. Beijing Qingbo Bigdata Technology Co Ltd. URL: <u>http://home.gsdata.cn/about-us.html</u> [accessed 2022-12-11]
- 12. Measurement description of WCI Beijing. Qingbo Bigdata Technology Co Ltd. URL: <u>http://www.gsdata.cn/site/usage-1</u> [accessed 2022-12-11]
- Boyer C, Selby M, Scherrer JR, Appel RD. The health on the net code of conduct for medical and health websites. Comput Biol Med 1998;28(5):603-610 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s0010-4825(98)00037-7] [Medline: 9861515]
- 14. Boyer C, Geissbuhler A. A decade devoted to improving online health information quality. Stud Health Technol Inform 2005;116:891-896. [Medline: <u>16160371</u>]
- Fialho I, Beringuilho M, Madeira D, Ferreira JB, Faria D, Ferreira H, et al. Acute myocardial infarction on YouTube is it all fake news? Rev Port Cardiol (Engl Ed) 2021;40(11):815-825 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.repce.2021.10.001] [Medline: 34857152]
- Doak CC, Doak LG, Root JH. Teaching patients with low literacy skills. Am J Nurs 1996;96(12):16M [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/00000446-199612000-00022]
- Weintraub D, Maliski SL, Fink A, Choe S, Litwin MS. Suitability of prostate cancer education materials: applying a standardized assessment tool to currently available materials. Patient Educ Couns 2004;55(2):275-280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2003.10.003] [Medline: 15530765]
- Chang MC, Chen YC, Gau BS, Tzeng YF. Translation and validation of an instrument for measuring the suitability of health educational materials in Taiwan: suitability assessment of materials. J Nurs Res 2014;22(1):61-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/jnr.00000000000018] [Medline: 24517901]
- Valizadeh-Haghi S, Rahmatizadeh S, Soleimaninejad A, Shirazi SFM, Mollaei P. Are health websites credible enough for elderly self-education in the most prevalent elderly diseases? BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2021;21(1):31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-021-01397-x] [Medline: 33509183]
- 20. Viera AJ, Garrett JM. Understanding interobserver agreement: the kappa statistic. Fam Med 2005;37(5):360-363 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15883903]
- 21. Ethical review guideline of life science and medical research. National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. URL: <u>https://www.gov.cn/zhengce/zhengceku/2023-02/28/content_5743658.htm</u> [accessed 2023-02-18]
- 22. Ansari M, Hamzehei R, Valizadeh-Haghi S. Persian language health websites on Ebola disease: less credible than you think? J Egypt Public Health Assoc 2020;95(1):2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s42506-019-0027-4] [Medline: 32813057]
- 23. Lee S, Shin JJ, Haro MS, Song SH, Nho SJ. Evaluating the quality of internet information for femoroacetabular impingement. Arthroscopy 2014;30(10):1372-1379 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.arthro.2014.04.102] [Medline: 24997746]
- 24. Özistanbullu D, Weber R, Kleemann J, Jäger M, Kippenberger S, Kaufmann R, et al. Exploring the most visible websites on cutaneous T-cell lymphoma-revealing limited quality of patient health information on the internet. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2022;36(11):2008-2015 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jdv.18439] [Medline: 35842932]

- Evaluating Health Information. University of California San Francisco Health. 2016. URL: https://www.ucsfhealth.org/ 25. education/evaluating health information/ [accessed 2024-05-10]
- Badre AN. Shaping Web Usability: Interaction Design in Context. Boston: Addison-Wesley; 2002. 26.
- 27. Berland GK, Elliott MN, Morales LS, Algazy JI, Kravitz RL, Broder MS, et al. Health information on the internet: accessibility, quality, and readability in English and Spanish. JAMA 2001;285(20):2612-2621 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.285.20.2612] [Medline: 11368735]
- Rayess N, Li AS, Do DV, Rahimy E. Assessment of online sites reliability, accountability, readability, accessibility, and 28. translation for intravitreal injections. Ophthalmol Retina 2020;4(12):1188-1195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.oret.2020.05.019] [Medline: 32497854]

Abbreviations

CWPA: cancer-related WeChat public account HWPA: health-related WeChat public account IARC: International Agency for Research on Cancer SAM: Suitability Assessment of Materials WCI: WeChat communication index WPA: WeChat public account

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 24.08.23; peer-reviewed by F Wang, L Lin; comments to author 05.10.23; revised version received 19.11.23; accepted 07.05.24; published 30.05.24.

Please cite as: Pan P, Yu C, Li T, Dai T, Tian H, Xiong Y, Lv J, Hu X, Ma W, Yin W Evaluating the Quality of Cancer-Related WeChat Public Accounts: Cross-Sectional Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52156 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52156 doi:<u>10.2196</u>/52156 PMID: 38814688

©Peng Pan, Changhua Yu, Tao Li, Tingting Dai, Hanhan Tian, Yaozu Xiong, Jie Lv, Xiaochu Hu, Weidong Ma, Wenda Yin. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 30.05.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Engagement With a Relaxation and Mindfulness Mobile App Among People With Cancer: Exploratory Analysis of Use Data and Self-Reports From a Randomized Controlled Trial

Sonja Schläpfer¹, MSc; Fabian Schneider², BSc; Prabhakaran Santhanam², MSc; Manuela Eicher^{3,4}, Prof Dr; Tobias Kowatsch^{2,5,6}, Prof Dr; Claudia M Witt¹, MBA, Prof Dr Med; Jürgen Barth¹, PhD

¹Institute for Complementary and Integrative Medicine, University Hospital Zurich and University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

²Centre for Digital Health Interventions, Department of Management, Technology, and Economics, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

³Institute of Higher Education and Research in Healthcare, Faculty of Biology and Medicine, University of Lausanne and Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland

⁴Department of Oncology, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland

⁵Institute for Implementation Science in Health Care, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

⁶School of Medicine, University of St.Gallen, St.Gallen, Switzerland

Corresponding Author:

Sonja Schläpfer, MSc Institute for Complementary and Integrative Medicine University Hospital Zurich and University of Zurich Sonneggstrasse 6 Zurich, 8091 Switzerland Phone: 41 44 255 94 51 Email: <u>sonja.schlaepfer@usz.ch</u>

Abstract

Background: Mobile health (mHealth) apps offer unique opportunities to support self-care and behavior change, but poor user engagement limits their effectiveness. This is particularly true for fully automated mHealth apps without any human support. Human support in mHealth apps is associated with better engagement but at the cost of reduced scalability.

Objective: This work aimed to (1) describe the theory-informed development of a fully automated relaxation and mindfulness app to reduce distress in people with cancer (CanRelax app 2.0), (2) describe engagement with the app on multiple levels within a fully automated randomized controlled trial over 10 weeks, and (3) examine whether engagement was related to user characteristics.

Methods: The CanRelax app 2.0 was developed in iterative processes involving input from people with cancer and relevant experts. The app includes evidence-based relaxation exercises, personalized weekly coaching sessions with a rule-based conversational agent, 39 self-enactable behavior change techniques, a self-monitoring dashboard with gamification elements, highly tailored reminder notifications, an educational video clip, and personalized in-app letters. For the larger study, German-speaking adults diagnosed with cancer within the last 5 years were recruited via the web in Switzerland, Austria, and Germany. Engagement was analyzed in a sample of 100 study participants with multiple measures on a micro level (completed coaching sessions, relaxation exercises practiced with the app, and feedback on the app) and a macro level (relaxation exercises practiced without the app and self-efficacy toward self-set weekly relaxation goals).

Results: In week 10, a total of 62% (62/100) of the participants were actively using the CanRelax app 2.0. No associations were identified between engagement and level of distress at baseline, sex assigned at birth, educational attainment, or age. At the micro level, 71.88% (3520/4897) of all relaxation exercises and 714 coaching sessions were completed in the app, and all participants who provided feedback (52/100, 52%) expressed positive app experiences. At the macro level, 28.12% (1377/4897) of relaxation exercises were completed without the app, and participants' self-efficacy remained stable at a high level. At the same time, participants raised their weekly relaxation goals, which indicates a potential relative increase in self-efficacy.

Conclusions: The CanRelax app 2.0 achieved promising engagement even though it provided no human support. Fully automated social components might have compensated for the lack of human involvement and should be investigated further. More than

one-quarter (1377/4897, 28.12%) of all relaxation exercises were practiced without the app, highlighting the importance of assessing engagement on multiple levels.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52386) doi:10.2196/52386

KEYWORDS

mobile health; mHealth; digital health; eHealth; smartphone; mobile phone; implementation; adherence; self-guided; unguided; fully automated; conversational agent; chatbot; behavior change; tailoring; self-care; cancer; app development

Introduction

Background

Mobile health (mHealth) apps offer unique opportunities to deliver self-care interventions and support behavior change, but poor user engagement and retention rates pose substantial challenges. mHealth apps are a convenient approach to facilitate behavior change with the potential to reach large numbers of people [1-3]. However, in the same manner that mHealth apps provide easy access with a low barrier to start an intervention, they also provide a low barrier to stop using an intervention, turning a great advantage of mHealth apps into a fundamental challenge [2]. Low engagement is problematic because mHealth apps that support healthy behaviors can only be effective if people take an active role, learn the necessary skills to change their behavior, and apply the skills to everyday life, making engagement a pivotal prerequisite to health behavior change [4-8]. In studies using mHealth apps, poor engagement can also confound the outcome and impact the validity of the results as study dropouts may differ from completers [2,9]. While many mHealth apps have significant issues with sustained engagement [10-17], this is particularly true for fully automated mHealth apps without any human support, also termed unguided or self-guided mHealth apps. A high level of human support in guided mHealth apps is typically associated with better engagement rates but at the cost of reduced scalability [18,19]. Hence, to increase the effectiveness of behavior change interventions and improve mHealth studies, it is critical to better understand what makes people stay engaged with mHealth apps [2,20-22] and especially with fully automated mHealth apps as the latter are more likely to be disseminated widely [23].

User engagement has been conceptualized differently across disciplines, but there is a consensus that engagement with an mHealth app needs to be examined on different levels [7,24]. The different levels stem from the crucial distinction between moment-to-moment engagement with the intervention at the micro level (ie, app use and user experience) and engagement with the broader intervention goal at the macro level (ie, target behavior) [5,7]. The micro and macro levels are closely interlinked, and engagement at the different levels can vary over time [5]. For example, during the initial use phase of mHealth apps, moment-to-moment engagement with the app may serve as preparation for behavior change. In a later phase, when people apply the skills they learned to everyday life, use of the app may no longer be required for engagement with the targeted behavior. Hence, reduced app use could be a sign of success rather than failure [2], highlighting the importance of comprehensively assessing engagement.

Most mHealth studies assess engagement with system use data at the micro level but do not consider engagement measures at the macro level. At the micro level, system use data such as the number of log-ins or the amount and type of content used are frequently applied as the only measure of engagement with an mHealth app. However, although system use data undoubtedly provide valuable information on certain aspects of microlevel engagement, these data are not considered a valid measure of engagement on their own [24]. Greater efforts are needed to combine different data sources, such as pairing system use data with self-report data or qualitative methods, to better understand the user experience [5,6,17,24]. At the macro level, assessing engagement remains a challenge and is often neglected in mHealth studies. To support research in this area, recent reviews have provided a valuable overview of available measures for exploring engagement in the behavior change process in daily life [5,6,24]. The listed measures to assess macrolevel engagement include sensor data to track behavior in real-life settings, analysis of social media patterns, and the repeated assessment of psychological constructs that are hypothesized to be important determinants of behavior change (eg, self-efficacy) [24]. Changes over time in psychological constructs such as self-efficacy could indicate engagement in the behavior change process [24]. Given the complexity of engagement as a construct, other measures of macrolevel engagement might be useful depending on the specific research context. Thus far, little research has been conducted applying these or other measures at the macro level of engagement and exploring their use in an mHealth behavior change setting [24].

Objectives

We examined engagement at both a micro and a macro level with a newly developed relaxation and mindfulness app to reduce distress in people with cancer (CanRelax app 2.0) within a fully automated randomized controlled trial (RCT) over 10 weeks. The CanRelax app 2.0 is based on a first app version piloted in a feasibility study [25] and now includes more relaxation resources, a conversational agent, gamification elements, and 39 behavior change techniques (BCTs) translated into designed app features. The aims of this paper were to (1) describe the theory-informed development of the CanRelax app 2.0, (2) describe engagement with the app over 10 weeks as total app use and user feedback (micro level) and as self-efficacy and reported relaxation practices without using the app (macro level), and (3) examine whether engagement was related to user characteristics.



XSL•F() RenderX

Methods

Study Design

The presented data originated from a larger RCT with an additional nonrandomized third arm. The study aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of the CanRelax app 2.0 in reducing distress in people with cancer who experience high distress compared with a waitlist control group. The primary end point was distress after 10 weeks assessed using the Patient Health Questionnaire Anxiety and Depression Scale [25]. Secondary outcomes were well-being (5-item World Health Organization Well-Being Index [26]), self-regulation (Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness Self-Regulation subscale [27]), and the course of distress over time (4-item Patient Health Questionnaire [28] and Distress Thermometer [29]; Multimedia Appendix 1 [25-31]). Eligible participants who self-reported high distress at baseline (Distress Thermometer score of ≥ 5 [29]) were randomized using 1:1 block randomization stratified by sex; those who self-reported low distress at baseline (Distress Thermometer score of <5 [29]) were included in a third arm as a nonrandomized intervention group to further explore user engagement. This nonrandomized intervention group received immediate access to the app (the same app as the randomized intervention group); the waitlist control group received full access to the app after 10 weeks. All groups were allowed to continue usual care and other interventions (including self-care interventions) as needed. As per sample size calculation, the target sample size was 210 participants in the randomized study arms (105 per arm); the sample size was not predefined for the nonrandomized third arm. The study was registered a priori at the German Clinical Trials Register (DRKS00027546; registration date: February 23, 2022). For this paper, data were taken from participants randomly assigned to the intervention group and participants assigned to the nonrandomized third arm. Further information on the study design and assessments is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1 [25-31]. The results of the RCT will be reported elsewhere.

Inclusion Criteria

People were eligible to participate in the study if they (1) had received a cancer diagnosis within the last 5 years regardless of the type of cancer or stage at diagnosis, (2) were aged ≥ 18 years, (3) were fluent in German, (4) had a smartphone with regular internet access, and (5) gave informed consent to participate in the study. The exclusion criteria were suicidal ideation and known pregnancy according to participants' self-reports. For this study, we analyzed an exploratory sample of the first 100 study participants who received full access to the CanRelax app 2.0 at inclusion. This corresponds to the sample needed to detect a meaningful difference (effect size d=0.8) in engagement between subgroups (high, 67/100, 67%, vs low, 33/100, 33%, distress) with a power of 0.95 (α =.05). The study was advertised for distressed individuals with cancer. Hence, we expected more high-distress than low-distress participants and assumed a ratio of approximately 2:1. Participants were excluded from the analysis if they withdrew from the study and requested that we exclude their data. In these cases, we included the next participant who received full access

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52386

to the app at inclusion so that we had data from 100 participants for analysis.

Recruitment Procedure

We launched the app in July 2022 through the Apple App Store and Google Play Store in Switzerland, Germany, and Austria. At the same time, we established a project website to facilitate recruitment. The website presented a summary of the study with key information such as the eligibility criteria, pictures of the app, and audio samples. It also included OR codes containing web links to the CanRelax app 2.0 in both app stores. We used social media sites (ie, Facebook, Twitter, and LinkedIn) and more traditional approaches (eg, consultations with health care providers, printed flyers, newsletters, and a press release by the University Hospital Zurich) to recruit study participants. Interested individuals could download the app free of charge and start by completing the app onboarding process as a first introduction to the app and the study. From the beginning, users were explicitly informed that they were interacting with a conversational agent, not a person. All study processes were fully automated; screening questions, study information and consent, enrollment, data collection, and all steps up to completion of follow-up were managed entirely through the CanRelax app 2.0. Participants had no contact with the research team at any time during the study unless they contacted the research team to ask questions before consenting or in case of technical issues. The RCT completed recruitment successfully in February 2023. Data collection was ongoing at the time of writing this paper.

Intervention

Overview

The intervention was a fully automated mHealth app designed specifically to improve distress in adults with cancer through one type of self-care behavior (relaxation). Participants had access to the CanRelax app 2.0 over 20 weeks (10 weeks of intervention and 10 weeks of follow-up). On day 1, participants selected an outcome goal from a 5-item list in the app, including "find inner peace" (default if no choice was made), "improve coping strategies," "build self-confidence," "increase joy in life," and "just curious." Participants were periodically reminded of this goal during the intervention, and it was displayed in the dashboard of the app. During the intervention, participants could also set weekly relaxation goals in terms of a targeted number of relaxation exercises per week (with 1 exercise per week at minimum and a default of 3 exercises per week irrespective of the type of exercise). Weekly coaching sessions with a text-based conversational agent called Lumy provided motivational input for effective and lasting behavior change (integration of relaxation into daily life). Participants were encouraged to set small, realistic relaxation goals for themselves, choose and practice any relaxation exercise at their convenience to meet their goals, and chat with Lumy each week. The minimum expectation for participation in this intervention was completing at least one relaxation exercise and one coaching session per week over the 10-week intervention period.

Technical Implementation of the CanRelax App 2.0

The app was built using MobileCoach (version 21.9.1), an open-source software platform for digital biomarker and health intervention research [32,33]. Conceptually, the app implements the Talk-and-Tools paradigm, which was applied successfully in the domain of mHealth behavior change interventions [34]. The app offers a user interface with a conversational agent (the *talk*) and a broad range of *tools* (Multimedia Appendix 2). Our conversational agent Lumy is visually represented by a neutral (nonhuman) avatar (Multimedia Appendix 3). By choosing a

nonhuman avatar, we aimed to create an inclusive experience for all app users and followed best practices and design principles of popular commercial mindfulness and relaxation apps (eg, Headspace). The tools include evidence-based relaxation exercises, a self-monitoring dashboard with metrics on participants' goals and progress, an educational video clip, personalized in-app letters, frequently asked question (FAQ) sections on the mechanisms and benefits of relaxation as well as on creating healthy habits, and tailored reminder notifications to support regular relaxation practice and engagement with the app. Screenshots of the app can be found in Figures 1-3.

Figure 1. Screenshot of the CanRelax app 2.0—resource library with relaxation exercises. (1) Filter for exercise characteristics (male or female voice with or without background music), (2) search results (can be scrolled for further exercises), (3) audio files, and (4) breathing training.





Figure 2. Screenshot of the CanRelax app 2.0—interaction with the conversational agent Lumy (reviewing and adjusting goals). (1) Lumy: "Well done, Robin. Now let's talk about the goal you want to set for yourself in the coming weeks." (2) Answer options: "Okay" or "I prefer to skip this part.".



Figure 3. Screenshot of the CanRelax app 2.0—dashboard. (1) Intervention start date, current week, and next chat appointment with Lumy; (2) collected points in the current and previous week and in total; and (3) personal relaxation goals (number of relaxation exercises) in the current and previous week and outcome goal of the participant.



XSL•FO RenderX

Theoretical Principles and Operationalization

Overview

The CanRelax app 2.0 implements clinical practice guidelines [35,36]; is grounded in mind-body medicine (MBM) [37,38], the Health Action Process Approach (HAPA) [39], and self-determination theory (SDT) [40]; and includes 39 BCTs (Multimedia Appendix 4 [41]) translated into app features and content. BCTs are active components of behavior change interventions [42] that can influence users' engagement at both the micro and macro levels. At the micro level, BCTs such as prompts or cues can increase user engagement with the app

itself. At the macro level, BCTs can increase engagement with the target behavior (relaxation practice), for example, by using goal setting or self-monitoring features [6,7]. The underlying concept of the intervention flow and the structure of the coaching sessions are informed by generic principles of face-to-face coaching sessions, and we used motivational interviewing (MI) [43,44] aspects as a communication approach. To support the integration of relaxation into everyday routines, we applied the complementing principles of MBM, the HAPA, and SDT as outlined in Figure 4 and detailed in the following sections.

Figure 4. Theoretical framework and operationalization of the CanRelax app 2.0.



Clinical Practice Guidelines

The CanRelax app 2.0 aims to identify and address distress according to clinical practice guideline recommendations on distress management in people with cancer [35,36] by offering a relaxation and mindfulness intervention specifically designed for individuals with cancer, including initial assessment and monitoring of distress using validated tools such as the Distress Thermometer [29].

MBM Approach

MBM is a resource-oriented approach centered on empowering individuals and supporting healthy, sustainable behaviors [37,38]. Relaxation and mindfulness are widely used self-care interventions in MBM. The CanRelax app 2.0, being a mind-body intervention, provides the opportunity to learn different relaxation techniques along with educational material on distress during cancer, relaxation, and creating healthy habits.

HAPA Framework

Healthy behavior change is at the core of the HAPA. The HAPA focuses on the difficulty of behaving according to one's intentions and suggests to bridge this intention-behavior gap

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52386
```

through perceived self-efficacy, action planning, and coping planning [39]. The CanRelax app 2.0 seeks to enhance self-efficacy and self-management skills through self-enactable BCTs with practical examples of use, such as problem-solving, positive reframing, behavioral experiments, graded tasks, prompts, and self-kindness [41]. Among automatically preselected themes and BCTs (triggered by participants' interaction with the app), participants can pick the components and topics most relevant to them. The app encourages participants to try new BCTs, determine what works for them, and use these techniques in their daily lives to stay motivated. Participants can also set their own relaxation goals and choose the support they wish to receive from Lumy.

SDT Approach

SDT sees healthy behavior change as closely linked to the satisfaction of basic psychological needs for autonomy, competence, and relatedness [40]. The CanRelax app 2.0 supports these basic needs by offering meaningful rationales and choices, using autonomy-supportive language, acknowledging people's preferences, recognizing their efforts, and promoting a feeling of being cared for through supportive

coaching sessions and peer support. Peer support is implemented through personalized letters in the app from semifictional people with cancer sharing their struggles and strategies for overcoming obstacles. Personal preferences are acknowledged, for example, by tailoring emojis to participants' preferred skin tone and providing all chat content in 3 gender options (woman; man; and a gender-neutral option using the gender star, an asterisk placed within German words such as in "Liebe*r Andrea"). Participants select both the skin tone of their emoji and their preferred gender option during the onboarding process. We also let individuals choose their nickname and a form of address they are comfortable with (formal or informal), showing respect for their personal preferences in relation to language use [45].

MI Approach

MI is a person-centered communication approach that relates to the selected behavior change theories in that it aims to create a collaborative environment, draws on people's own goals and values, and supports their autonomy [43,44]. Examples illustrating the integration of MI principles into the app are provided in the *Coaching Sessions and Tailoring* section.

Relaxation Exercises

The app offers 7 different types of relaxation exercises recommended as evidence-based interventions to reduce distress in people with cancer [35,36,46,47]. The relaxation exercises include guided audio recordings of a short meditation (5 minutes), walking meditation (5 minutes), mindfulness meditation (15 minutes), guided imagery (15 minutes), progressive muscle relaxation (15 minutes), body scan (40 minutes), and slow-paced breathing training with visual guidance through gameful visualizations (2-5 minutes; Breeze 2 [48]). The audio files are available in male and female voices with and without background music. The FAQ sidebar submenu in the app provides a selection aid with more information about the different types of relaxation exercises.

Self-Monitoring Dashboard With Gamification Elements

The CanRelax app 2.0 tracks relaxation exercises and rewards participants with points as a gamification element. Earned points count toward participants' self-set weekly relaxation goals. Participants can also earn points by practicing relaxation exercises without the CanRelax app 2.0 (using a different app or without using any app) provided they add this information manually when prompted by Lumy during the coaching sessions. A self-monitoring dashboard illustrates earned points as progress circles. It also provides an overview of the relaxation goals and includes other useful information such as the date and time of the next coaching session.

Coaching Sessions and Tailoring

Lumy was developed as a friendly conversational agent that guides participants through the intervention via a series of rule-based, predefined, and personalized conversational turns that simulate the back-and-forth of a real-life conversation. A full coaching session consists of approximately 60 conversational turns (counted in pairs, with one conversational turn consisting of one message from Lumy and one from the participant in response). The conversational flow adapts to the responses chosen by the participants and is enhanced through various ways of tailoring (Textbox 1).

We adopted the structure of a typical face-to-face behavioral coaching session to build the chat sessions in the app [51]. The sessions start with a greeting, followed by small talk about a neutral topic (eg, about the weather) or a "how are you?" sequence and an introduction to the session (including a snooze option to postpone the session). The core part includes assessing the participants' current state, reviewing previously discussed topics and experiences with BCTs (if applicable), and applying coaching techniques based on MI [43,44]. The implemented techniques focus on building confidence for change (eg, scaling questions, shifting focus away from obstacles and barriers, reframing to offer new and positive interpretations, expressing empathy, affirming, and expressing respect by asking for permission before the conversation starts or before information is shared). After participants have set new relaxation goals, the sessions are summarized to reflect back the main points of the session. An outlook serves as a bridge to the next session, and participants are again encouraged to try out the selected BCTs before the next session (if applicable). The sessions close with the option to adjust the reminder settings and a farewell.



Textbox 1. Implementation of tailoring concepts according to the extended model of tailoring [49].

Tailoring concepts and their implementation in the CanRelax app 2.0

- Feedback: Lumy gives *feedback* on goal setting, goal achievement, and participants' self-efficacy toward goal achievement. When participants reach their relaxation goals, Lumy celebrates their achievements, and when things do not go well, Lumy tries to offer support.
- Interhuman interaction: in case of urgent need, Lumy encourages *interhuman interaction* through built-in support to contact relevant services that offer advice and support. Inspired by human coaches, we programmed Lumy to show great attention and commitment, listen with curiosity, reflect, and encourage participants to overcome obstacles. When participants report a challenge they came up against in their practice, they have the option to learn about tips and techniques (behavior change techniques [BCTs]) that can help overcome that challenge. They can choose to skip this section or pick a topic they find interesting among 3 preselected BCTs. Selected BCTs are delivered through personalized in-app letters from semifictional peers, which is another way of supporting *interhuman interaction*.
- Adaptation: the BCTs are *adapted* precisely to the reported challenge, and the preselected options are renewed in each coaching session to help keep the sessions interesting.
- User targeting: the concept of *user targeting* attempts to give participants the impression that the conversation was designed especially for them [49]. We incorporated this concept by identifying participants by their nicknames. We also regard participants' chosen pronouns (formal or informal), gender identity terms, and emojis as expressions of how participants construct their web identity in the context of the CanRelax app 2.0 [50] and match the chat conversations and the app accordingly.
- Goal setting: *goal setting* is a BCT that can be used to tailor an intervention and give participants a feeling of progress over time [49]. In CanRelax 2.0, participants' own weekly relaxation goals and objectives are at the center of the intervention.
- Context awareness: the tailoring concept *context awareness* aims at providing relevant information considering participants' (external) situation [49]. We incorporated this by tailoring greeting and farewell messages to the time of day and small talk topics to the season of the year, where applicable.
- Self-learning: CanRelax 2.0 is a *self-learning* app in the sense that it *learns* from the interactions with the participants and updates the intervention accordingly. For example, it records the obstacles that participants report and the BCTs they select and uses this information as a bridge to future sessions. To give continuity, the subsequent coaching sessions take up previously discussed topics and include a recap of experiences and learnings (if any) with the new BCTs between sessions.

Iterative Development and Testing

We developed the CanRelax app 2.0 in iterative processes involving input from people with cancer, health professionals, and an interdisciplinary team. The CanRelax app 2.0 builds on a basic app version, which provided relaxation exercises and a reminder function but no other tools or a conversational agent [52]. In version 2.0, we included new features, enhanced functionality, and a solid theory base. During the development process, we conducted usability testing with people with cancer to determine whether they understood and enjoyed the app and whether the app features met their needs. We submitted the usability testing study synopsis to the ethics committee of Zurich, Switzerland, and after review, they stated that the study did not fall under the regulation of the Human Research Act of Switzerland (ethics ID: 2020-00224). A total of 9 individuals with cancer consented to test a prototype of the app, of whom 3 provided detailed feedback, 3 did not test the app in the given time frame, and 3 had technical issues or privacy concerns regarding the test environment. Originally, we planned to conduct the usability tests in person, but due to circumstances related to COVID-19, we had to switch to a fully web-based approach using self-reports. In addition, we thoroughly and repeatedly pretested the app content and features with a multidisciplinary team. The team consisted of professionals with expertise in software engineering, computer science, psychology, psychotherapy, medicine, MBM, nursing, and teaching. Most user feedback was centered on the scripted coaching dialogues with Lumy. We clustered the comments into two main categories and iteratively implemented (1) more variety, in-depth responses, and tailored follow-up questions in the conversation (eg, adjusted the wording of unsatisfactory

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52386

conversational turns, extended sets of predefined answer options, added links to previously discussed topics, and created unique session openings); and (2) more active choice options with possibilities to skip parts of the conversation, the ability to select topics of personal relevance and interest, the ability to formulate own reminders, and a snooze feature. All improvements were continually refined and tested over 2 years until user satisfaction was achieved.

Assessments

We collected self-reported data (through Lumy and structured in-app questionnaires) and objective app use data at different time points during the 10-week study period. Only the relevant measures considered for this analysis are described in detail in this paper; the measures of the larger study are reported in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Distress and Sociodemographics

At screening and baseline, we collected participants' self-reported level of distress using a well-known and validated instrument (Distress Thermometer [29]) and sociodemographics such as age, educational attainment, and sex assigned at birth using a structured in-app questionnaire. In the first chat with Lumy, we stored the selected gender identity terms, emoji skin tone modifiers, and preference for formal or informal pronouns ("Du" or "Sie" for "you" in German) to personalize the chat sessions and assessed participants' initial motivation for downloading the app (outcome goal; 5 forced-choice answer options; see the *Intervention* section).

XSL•FO RenderX

Macrolevel Engagement

To answer the research questions of this paper, we combined engagement data on different levels. Data on macrolevel engagement were gathered in the weekly coaching sessions with Lumy. In each session, we asked about relaxation techniques practiced without using the CanRelax app 2.0. The exact wording changed slightly from week to week to help keep the conversation natural (example wording if at least one relaxation exercise was completed in the app: "Did you practice in any other way last week, besides using the CanRelax app?" If no relaxation exercise was completed in the app, the wording was as follows: "Have you practiced in a different way instead, without the CanRelax app?" An example follow-up question if participants answered "yes" would be the following: "In the past seven days, how often have you practiced without using the CanRelax app?"). We assessed reasons for practicing relaxation exercises without the app (if applicable) once per participant and participants' self-efficacy toward self-set relaxation goals biweekly using a single-item measure developed with the recommended wording for assessing a specific health behavior [53] ("How confident are you that you will reach your relaxation goal next week, even if it gets difficult?"; participants responded on a visual analog scale implemented as a horizontal slider with values from 0 [not at all confident] to 10 [very confident]).

Microlevel Engagement

At the micro level, we collected participants' feedback on the app at week 10 with single-choice questions about their favorite feature and the features they would like to change in the app (7 forced-choice answer options in random order) and an option to provide additional information in a free-text field. In addition, the CanRelax app 2.0 tracked the use of different app components (relaxation exercises in the app and coaching sessions with Lumy) over the entire intervention period. Relaxation exercises were considered completed when they were played for 66% of their total run time, and weekly coaching sessions were considered completed when the session closing was reached. We counted the chat sessions 1 to 11 as coaching sessions but not session 0 (onboarding) as completing this session was a requirement for enrollment.

Adherence Definition

We used an adherence definition of at least one relaxation exercise or one coaching session per week for 80% of the weeks during the study period to identify participants who complied fully with the app use suggestions.

Analyses

We conducted descriptive and exploratory data analyses to investigate the data set and thematic analysis of free-text comments. Descriptive statistics were used to report the baseline characteristics of the participants, participants' self-set goals and self-efficacy, and quantitative in-app feedback. Data visualization methods, supplemented by numerical measures, were used to summarize the main characteristics of the data collected on engagement. We tested for differences in the number of completed relaxation exercises and coaching sessions between prespecified subgroups (distress level at baseline, sex,

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52386
```

educational attainment, and age). For this purpose, we conducted a Mann-Whitney U test (in the case of 2 groups) or a Kruskal-Wallis test (for >2 groups) after a detailed investigation of descriptive statistics, checking for outliers using box plots and testing normality using a Shapiro-Wilk normality test and Q-Q plots. Qualitative free-text feedback was analyzed thematically using an inductive approach with the feedback statements as a coding unit, coded into multiple categories where applicable [54].

All analyses were conducted for the entire sample, including those participants who never used the app after onboarding, except for the comparison of relaxation exercises completed using the app versus without using the app. We expected no missing values in baseline variables as completing the questionnaires was a prerequisite for enrollment and participants could not skip questions. Nevertheless, 1 educational attainment response was missing from 1 participant for unknown reasons. Missing values related to the number of exercises or coaching sessions were treated as 0 (no exercise or coaching session completed). Other missing values (educational attainment, self-efficacy, reasons for practicing without the app, and participants' feedback on the app) were not considered in the analyses.

Statistical analyses and visualizations were conducted using R language (version 4.2.2; R Foundation for Statistical Computing) [55] through RStudio (version 2023.06.0+421; Posit, PBC) [56] using *dplyr* [57] for data manipulation and summary statistics; *ggplot2* [58] for box plots and bar plots; *qqplotr* [59] for *Q-Q* plots; *DescTools* [60] for median CIs; and the base R *stats* package to compute the Wilcoxon, Shapiro-Wilks, and Kruskal-Wallis tests.

Ethical Considerations

We submitted the study synopsis to the ethics committee of Zurich, Switzerland, and after review, they stated that the study did not fall under the regulation of the Human Research Act of Switzerland (ethics ID: 2021-01071). The study was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki, the Human Research Act, and the Human Research Ordinance. Informed consent was obtained via the app from each participant before enrollment. All data were collected and stored in secure databases and analyzed in a pseudonymized form. Participants did not receive any compensation. Only participants in the intervention group and the nonrandomized third arm received immediate access to the app's primary features (ie, the relaxation exercises, weekly coaching sessions with Lumy, BCTs, dashboard, reminder notifications, educational video clip, peer support letters, and FAQs), but everyone who downloaded the app had access to a sidebar submenu with useful links (ie, cancer and mental health information leaflets and links to organizations offering support and counseling) and crisis numbers in case urgent help was needed. By using a rule-based conversational agent, we adopted a highly transparent and safe approach compared to artificial intelligence chatbots and had complete control over the content and flow of the coaching sessions [61-63].

```
XSL•FO
```

Results

Baseline Characteristics

The sample included 77% (77/100) of individuals assigned female at birth and 23% (23/100) of individuals assigned male at birth, and 70% (70/100) self-identified as women, 22% (22/100) self-identified as men, and 8% (8/100) preferred not to disclose their gender. Participants were aged 26 to 79 years (mean 55.6, SD 10.7 years), and 51% (51/100) had a bachelor's degree or higher. The baseline mean distress level (Distress Thermometer [29]) was 5.6 (SD 2.2), with a mean of 6.9 (SD

Table 1. Descriptive information about the study sample (N=100).

1.3) in the high-distress (intervention) group versus 3.1 (SD 0.9) in the low-distress (nonrandomized) group. Baseline characteristics between participants in the high-distress (intervention) group (67/100, 67%) and low-distress (nonrandomized) group (33/100, 33%) were generally comparable except that the high-distress group had fewer participants who installed the app because they were "just curious" (5/67, 7% vs 7/33, 21%). Overall, the most common motivations for installing the app were to improve coping strategies (37/100, 37%) and find inner peace (35/100, 35%; Table 1).

	Total	High-distress group (n=67)	Low-distress group (n=33)
Distress level ^a , mean (SD)	5.6 (2.2)	6.9 (1.3)	3.1 (0.9)
Sex assigned at birth, n (%)			
Female	77 (77)	53 (79)	24 (73)
Male	23 (23)	14 (21)	9 (27)
Gender, n (%)			
Woman	70 (70)	48 (72)	22 (67)
Man	22 (22)	13 (19)	9 (27)
Other	8 (8)	6 (9)	2 (6)
Age (years), n (%)			
18-44	12 (12)	8 (12)	4 (12)
45-64	68 (68)	47 (70)	21 (64)
>64	20 (20)	12 (18)	8 (24)
Educational attainment, n (%)			
Nontertiary	48 (48)	34 (51)	14 (42)
Tertiary	51 (51)	32 (48)	19 (58)
Missing	1 (1)	1 (1)	0 (0)
Outcome goal, n (%)			
Coping resources	37 (37)	26 (39)	11 (33)
Inner peace	35 (35)	24 (36)	11 (33)
Just curious	12 (12)	5 (7)	7 (21)
Joy in life	10 (10)	8 (12)	2 (6)
Self-confidence	6 (6)	4 (6)	2 (6)

^aDistress measured using the Distress Thermometer [29] with a rating scale ranging from 0 (no distress) to 10 (extreme distress).

App Engagement

A visual description of the participants' app use (completed relaxation exercises and coaching sessions) is presented in Multimedia Appendix 5 and Figures 5 and 6, supplemented by the numerical measures in Table 2. During the 10-week study period, 95% (95/100) of the participants used the app at least once after onboarding. These 95 participants completed a total of 4897 relaxation exercises (median 38, IQR 18-73.5) and 714 coaching sessions (median 9, IQR 4-11) over 10 weeks. Of the total number of relaxation exercises, 71.88% (3520/4897) were completed using the CanRelax app 2.0 (95/100, 95% of the participants; median 25.5, IQR 13-55), and 28.12% (1377/4897)

were reported as completed without using the app (median 10, IQR 3-19). Among those participants who reported having completed relaxation exercises without using the app, 28% (21/76) specified that they had used different relaxation recordings, 18% (14/76) did not have their smartphones near them, 16% (12/76) knew the exercises by heart, 4% (3/76) preferred to relax without audio recordings, and 34% (26/76) had other reasons for relaxing without using the CanRelax app 2.0.

The proportion of participants who completed at least one relaxation exercise or one coaching session per week ("active app users") dropped from 88% (88/100) in the first week to

62% (62/100) in week 10. A total of 64% (64/100) of the participants complied with the app use suggestions per our adherence definition.

Participants' perceived self-efficacy toward self-set relaxation goals stayed at a median of 8 (0=very low; 10=very high) throughout the 10-week study period, whereas participants raised their relaxation goals. The level of the self-set goals increased from a median of 3 relaxation exercises per week in the first half of the study period (sessions 1 and 3) to a median of 4 exercises per week in the second half (sessions 5, 7, and 9).

App engagement did not vary across prespecified subgroups (ie, distress level at baseline, sex, educational attainment, and age). Mean rank comparisons showed no substantial difference in the number of completed relaxation exercises or coaching sessions among these subgroups (Table 2).

Of the 100 participants, 52 (52%) provided in-app feedback after the 10-week study period (during session 11; Multimedia Appendix 6). A total of 88% (46/52) of the respondents indicated that they "really enjoyed" or "quite enjoyed" chatting with Lumy, and all respondents rated the overall app experience as "very satisfactory" (41/52, 79%) or "quite satisfactory" (11/52, 21%). The favorite app features of the respondents were relaxation exercises (37/52, 71%) and coaching sessions (12/52, 23%). Elements of the app that respondents felt could be improved included "nothing" (29/52, 56%), "something else"

than the answer options provided (7/52, 13%), letters from semifictional peers (5/52, 10%), relaxation exercises (4/52, 8%), and in-app questionnaires related to the RCT (4/52, 8%). Of the 52 completed feedback questionnaires, 41 (79%) contained optional free-text comments from participants contextualizing their selected favorite (41 comments) and least favorite (20 comments) app features. Respondents particularly enjoyed the collection of relaxation exercises (12 mentions), liked the format and voices of the exercises (11 mentions), and found that the exercises helped them relax (8 mentions). For example, one respondent stated that the relaxation exercises "are well constructed, with pleasant voices and short." However, 20% (8/41) of the respondents would have appreciated a wider selection of exercises to choose from. Another main topic that emerged from the analysis was a positive experience of the interaction with Lumy (9 mentions). The coaching sessions were experienced as friendly, uplifting, and encouraging, as seen in the following example:

It is a very friendly chat with a sense of humor, and it always motivates me.

Another respondent appreciated "the conscious reflection and looking back. The feeling of being accompanied and encouraged." However, 5% (2/41) of the respondents also felt that the interaction with Lumy sounded too robotic or was not interactive enough (1 mention each). Tables S1 and S2 in Multimedia Appendix 7 provide an overview of all free-text comments.

Figure 5. Comparison of completed relaxation exercises and completed coaching sessions in the high-distress group versus the low-distress group (N=100).





Schläpfer et al

Figure 6. Comparison of completed relaxation exercises and completed coaching sessions in the high-distress group versus the low-distress group for 3 subgroups (N=100).



Table 2. Use of the CanRelax app 2.0 in the first 100 study participants with immediate access to the app, stratified by subgroup (N=100).

	Participants, n (%)	Completed relaxation exercises over 10 weeks		Completed coaching sessions over 10 weeks	
		Values, median (IQR)	P value ^a	Values, median (IQR)	P value ^a
Entire sample	100 (100)	34.5 (14-70.75)	b	8 (4-11)	_
Subgroup					
Distress					
High	67 (67)	41 (15.5-77)	.21	9 (4-11)	.84
Low	33 (33)	30 (8-61)	—	8 (2-11)	_
Sex assigned at birth					
Female	77 (77)	40 (15-70)	.47	9 (3-11)	.64
Male	23 (23)	30 (8.5-64.5)	_	7 (4.5-11)	_
Educational attainment ^c					
Nontertiary	48 (48)	31.5 (12.75-64.75)	.20	8 (2.75-11)	.49
Tertiary	51 (51)	41 (18-78)	_	9 (3-11)	—
Age group (years)					
18-44	11 (11)	27 (12.5-39.5)	.34	9 (3.5-10)	.16
45-64	68 (68)	34.5 (13.25-73.25)	—	8 (3-11)	—
>64	20 (20)	52.5 (19.25-72.25)	_	11 (6.75-11)	

^a2-sided *P* values derived from the Mann-Whitney *U* test (distress, sex, and educational attainment) and Kruskal-Wallis test (age group). ^bNot applicable.

^c1 missing value.

XSL•FO RenderX

Discussion

Principal Findings

Overall, engagement with the CanRelax app 2.0 declined over the study period but stayed relatively high, with 62% (62/100)

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52386

of participants actively using the app in week 10. Engagement was unrelated to participant characteristics such as level of distress at baseline, sex assigned at birth, educational attainment, or age. More than one-quarter (1377/4897, 28.12%) of the relaxation exercises were completed without using the app, supporting the need for assessing engagement on a macro level.

Participants' self-efficacy remained stable at a high level. At the same time, participants raised their relaxation goals, which indicates a potential relative increase in self-efficacy. Participants who completed the intervention highly valued the app. Free-text comments suggested that a wider variety of relaxation exercises would further enhance the user experience.

Comparison With Prior Work

Engagement rates with cancer-related digital interventions tend to be higher than in other populations, but high variability in engagement measures and intervention components and lack of a threshold for acceptable engagement make it difficult to compare findings across studies. Reviews of empirical studies using cancer-related digital interventions have reported use rates between 70% and 100% [64,65]. These high use rates contrast with the generally low engagement with mHealth apps reported for individuals with other health conditions [2,10,11,13-15] and suggest that people with cancer might be particularly inclined to improve their health and change certain health behaviors through mHealth apps. Stressful life events such as the diagnosis and treatment of cancer potentially serve as catalysts for behavior change [66,67]. Nonetheless, comparing engagement across studies is difficult as there are no standards regarding the assessment, reporting, and interpretation of engagement with mHealth apps. In a recent review, every primary study stated that their apps achieved good engagement despite large differences in criteria used to assess engagement and a range of reported engagement rates from 35% to 100% [16]. This shows an urgent need for standards for assessing, reporting, and interpreting engagement with mHealth apps [16].

Fully automated mHealth studies with no human support are prone to low engagement rates, but there is great potential for increasing engagement using fully automated social components, behavior change theory, and design principles of successful commercial apps. Most mHealth apps in research settings provide human support, whereas popular commercial apps are typically unguided. Human support is known to positively influence engagement and effectiveness but drastically limits the scalability of mHealth apps [3,18]. Despite this limitation, most mHealth apps in research settings provide human support at varying levels-from high support through guided interventions (ie, involving guidance from a trained professional, eg, through live videoconferencing or web-based workshops) to lower levels of support through study processes (eg, screening visits or telephone surveys conducted by the study team). In the rare studies available on unguided cancer-related mHealth apps with no human support [68-70], engagement rates were <50%. One reason could be that existing researcher-developed apps are not engaging enough and, therefore, need human support to motivate participants [18,71]. This may be less the case for popular commercial apps, which are typically unguided (eg, Headspace and Calm) [18]. Thus, there is great potential for unguided research apps to improve user engagement and the generalizability of research findings to real-life settings if they learn from successful commercial apps. An example of an mHealth study with a low level of human support is the CanRelax 1.0 feasibility study [52]. The CanRelax app 1.0 was a fully automated mHealth app, but study processes such as enrollment were supported by study staff. The authors classified

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52386

54% (54/100) of participants as continuous app users in week 10 [52]. In comparison, engagement with the enhanced CanRelax app 2.0 in week 10 improved to 62% (62/100) even though we provided no human support and used stricter definitions of engagement. It is possible that the fully automated social components in the CanRelax app 2.0, such as the weekly coaching sessions with Lumy, compensated for the lack of human support. This aligns with recent research underscoring the potential of conversational agents to positively impact engagement with mHealth apps [3,72-77]. We demonstrated this potential by combining a conversational agent with a theoretical foundation and incorporating key design principles inspired by highly engaging commercial apps (eg, inclusive avatar and visuals).

Existing findings on the impact of participant characteristics on engagement are inconsistent [78]. In our analyses, engagement was not associated with the demographics (sex assigned at birth, educational attainment, and age) or psychological characteristics (level of distress) of the participants. These results contradict the findings of earlier studies that showed higher engagement in female individuals [6,52], individuals with higher educational attainment [6,15], younger [15] or older individuals [6], and individuals with higher baseline distress [15,52]. In the CanRelax app 2.0, the content and design features implemented to increase engagement might have succeeded in reaching those groups of people who needed a little extra encouragement and possibly helped level out differences in engagement among subgroups. Given the inconsistencies in the literature, identifying participant characteristics and other factors that influence engagement is an exciting topic for future studies.

Our findings support the feasibility and value of assessing macrolevel engagement in mHealth behavior change interventions. Although the conceptualization of engagement as a multifaceted construct is widely accepted, macrolevel engagement is rarely assessed in mHealth app studies. We approached this gap by examining engagement on multiple levels and showed considerable engagement with the target behavior (ie, relaxation) beyond app use. First, nearly one-third of all completed relaxation exercises (1377/4897, 28.12%) were practiced without using the CanRelax app 2.0. Relaxation techniques can be practiced in different ways depending on one's experiences, needs, and preferences; for example, beginners could start with guided relaxation via audio recordings (or in-person sessions) and later move on to more silent, self-guided relaxation exercises. In our study, examining only those exercises practiced using the app would have given an incomplete and potentially misleading picture of participants' engagement with relaxation practices. Second, median self-efficacy remained high even as relaxation goals increased, indicating that participants felt encouraged to tackle challenging tasks and were engaged in the behavior change process [24].

Data on macrolevel engagement are necessary to understand how engagement with an mHealth app changes over time and how these engagement patterns relate to the intended health outcomes. Baglione et al [17] found that high baseline distress was associated with initially higher engagement that declined over time, whereas the engagement of the group of participants with lower baseline distress increased over the course of a

XSL•FO RenderX

7-week intervention, resulting in similar engagement levels in both groups at week 7. Siebenhüner et al [79] examined the associations between distress and adherence (ie, app use) in the CanRelax app 1.0 and showed that a decrease in the level of distress over time (ie, an improvement in health outcomes) was associated with lower adherence. However, the authors did not assess engagement with the target behavior in daily life. Without this information, it remains unclear whether participants with improved distress stopped using the app because they disengaged from the intervention or no longer needed the app's support to continue the new behavior [5]. As lower app use could be associated with higher engagement at the macro level, the suggested "adherence benefit paradox" [79] might not be a paradox after all but could even be considered the goal of a successful mHealth app [2].

Limitations

Our study is subject to common sources of bias that can affect the internal validity and generalizability of the findings. One potential source of bias is the use of self-reported data. To mitigate potential self-reporting bias, we combined self-reported and objectively tracked data in the assessment of engagement. Feedback was only collected from participants who completed the coaching session with Lumy in week 11. As it is possible that only those who enjoyed the app completed this session, feedback might be positively biased. Another potential source of bias is selection bias as our study focused on a group of highly motivated participants. Initial motivation for study participation was needed as participants had no contact with the research team but self-downloaded the app and self-enrolled in the study if they fulfilled the inclusion criteria. Selection bias is also indicated by female individuals being overrepresented in our sample. To improve the generalizability of our study, we used broad recruitment strategies and successfully recruited participants with lower than tertiary education. We also abstained from using research strategies to increase motivation and engagement (eg, compensation for study participation) that would differ from usual real-world app use settings. Another limitation is that we did not consider past engagement with relaxation in our analyses. Participants could have already

established a regular relaxation practice before the study; still, engagement with a new app is not necessarily linked to previous experience with relaxation. A third limitation is due to technical issues with the CanRelax app 2.0 during the study, which could have reduced engagement. For example, we did not provide an easy solution to transfer the CanRelax app 2.0 to a new smartphone. Participants with new smartphones had to reach out for technical support and usually had to wait several weeks until they could continue to use the app where they left off. To avoid this problem, individuals must create an account in the future.

Clinical Implications

For a positive impact on health outcomes on a large scale, mHealth apps need to be scalable, engaging to users, and effective. Scalability is a great advantage of fully automated mHealth apps, but these apps tend to suffer from low engagement rates threatening their effectiveness. Our findings show that successful engagement can be achieved with fully automated mHealth apps that are highly tailored, include fully automated social components and BCTs based on theory and evidence, and are developed with design principles used by popular commercial apps. These results provide a valuable context for subsequent outcome evaluations and add to research on optimizing fully automated digital health interventions.

Conclusions

The CanRelax app 2.0 achieved similar engagement to that of other cancer-related mHealth apps even though we used stricter criteria for engagement than other studies and provided no human support. The implemented theory- and evidence-based design principles and fully automated social components, such as a conversational agent that simulated human support, might have compensated for the lack of human involvement and contributed to enhanced engagement at both a micro and a macro level. Our findings underline that engagement is a complex and multifaceted construct and that measures at the macro level are particularly valuable to assess engagement not only with the app itself but also with the larger target behavior, which is, ultimately, the goal of an mHealth app.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank and acknowledge all study participants for their time and responses and all usability test participants for contributing throughout the app development process. The authors thank all organizations and individuals who contributed to facilitating or conducting recruitment. The authors thank Anita Thomae (University Hospital Zurich) for creating the app's educational video and participating in usability testing. The authors thank Manuela Oehler (University Hospital Zurich) for designing the visual representation of Lumy and the project website and flyers and for participating in multiple rounds of usability testing. The authors thank Isabelle Wyder (University of Zurich) for participating in multiple rounds of usability testing. This work was supported by the Swiss Cancer Research foundation (KFS 4556-08-2018).

Authors' Contributions

JB, CMW, ME, TK, and SS conceptualized the study. SS and JB conceptualized the intervention. SS created the intervention, designed the conversational flow, wrote the scripts for the chatbot coaching sessions and the letters from semifictional peers, and implemented the app on the MobileCoach platform. JB reviewed and contributed to the intervention content. CMW provided audio recordings of relaxation exercises. FS and PS set up the MobileCoach infrastructure, developed project-specific features, deployed the app, and provided technical support during the study. SS, FS, PS, JB, ME, and TK were involved in app testing. SS

drafted the manuscript and conducted the analyses. JB helped interpret the results and contributed to reviewing and finalizing the manuscript. All authors reviewed and contributed to the manuscript and approved the final version.

Conflicts of Interest

ME received institutional research grants from Kaiku Health, reports grants from Bristol Myers Squibb and Roche, and institutional fees as a Scientific Advisory. ME is also a Board Member and Consultant from Roche, outside the submitted work. CMW has active research grants to the university for digital health projects from the DIZH, the Swiss Cancer Research foundation, the German health care Innovation Fund, and Newsenselab GmbH. CMW also received honoraria from Swiss hospitals for scientific presentations on digitalization and AI in medicine and integrative oncology. TK, FS, and PS are developers and promoters of the open-source software platform MobileCoach. TK, FS, and PS are affiliated with the Centre for Digital Health Interventions, a joint initiative of the Institute for Implementation Science in Health Care, University of Zurich; the Department of Management, Technology, and Economics at ETH Zurich; and the Institute of Technology Management and the School of Medicine at the University of St. Gallen. The Centre for Digital Health Interventions is funded in part by CSS, a Swiss health insurer, Mavie Next, an Austrian health insurer, and MTIP, a Swiss digital health investor. TK was also a cofounder of Pathmate Technologies, a university spin-off company that creates and delivers digital clinical pathways. However, neither CSS, Mavie Next, MTIP, nor Pathmate Technologies was involved in this study. JB received honoraria for workshops on digital health. The remaining authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CanRelax randomized controlled trial study design and assessments. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 227 KB - cancer_v10i1e52386_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 CanRelax coaching structure. [PNG File, 22 KB - cancer_v10i1e52386_app2.png]

Multimedia Appendix 3 CanRelax avatar icon. [PNG File, 11 KB - cancer v10i1e52386 app3.png]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Behavior change techniques in the CanRelax app 2.0. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 173 KB - cancer v10i1e52386 app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Active app users over 10 weeks (N=100). [PNG File, 7 KB - cancer_v10i1e52386_app5.png]

Multimedia Appendix 6 CanRelax in-app feedback. [PNG File, 22 KB - cancer_v10i1e52386_app6.png]

Multimedia Appendix 7 CanRelax free-text feedback. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 153 KB - cancer_v10i1e52386_app7.pdf]

References

- Dao KP, De Cocker K, Tong HL, Kocaballi AB, Chow C, Laranjo L. Smartphone-delivered ecological momentary interventions based on ecological momentary assessments to promote health behaviors: systematic review and adapted checklist for reporting ecological momentary assessment and intervention studies. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Nov 19;9(11):e22890 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22890] [Medline: 34806995]
- Amagai S, Pila S, Kaat AJ, Nowinski CJ, Gershon RC. Challenges in participant engagement and retention using mobile health apps: literature review. J Med Internet Res 2022 Apr 26;24(4):e35120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35120] [Medline: 35471414]
- 3. Mair JL, Salamanca-Sanabria A, Augsburger M, Frese BF, Abend S, Jakob R, et al. Effective behavior change techniques in digital health interventions for the prevention or management of noncommunicable diseases: an umbrella review. Ann Behav Med 2023 Sep 13;57(10):817-835 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kaad041] [Medline: 37625030]

- Hankonen N. Participants' enactment of behavior change techniques: a call for increased focus on what people do to manage their motivation and behavior. Health Psychol Rev 2021 Jun;15(2):185-194. [doi: <u>10.1080/17437199.2020.1814836</u>] [Medline: <u>32967583</u>]
- 5. Yardley L, Spring BJ, Riper H, Morrison LG, Crane DH, Curtis K, et al. Understanding and promoting effective engagement with digital behavior change interventions. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):833-842. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.015] [Medline: 27745683]
- 6. Perski O, Blandford A, West R, Michie S. Conceptualising engagement with digital behaviour change interventions: a systematic review using principles from critical interpretive synthesis. Transl Behav Med 2017 Jun;7(2):254-267 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-016-0453-1] [Medline: 27966189]
- Milne-Ives M, Homer S, Andrade J, Meinert E. Associations between behavior change techniques and engagement with mobile health apps: protocol for a systematic review. JMIR Res Protoc 2022 Mar 29;11(3):e35172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35172] [Medline: 35348460]
- Beattie MM, Hankonen NE, Konttinen HM, Volanen SM. Uptake of and motivational responses to mental health-promoting practices: comparing relaxation and mindfulness interventions. Front Psychol 2022 Jul 14;13:869438 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.869438] [Medline: 35911055]
- 9. Bell ML, Kenward MG, Fairclough DL, Horton NJ. Differential dropout and bias in randomised controlled trials: when it matters and when it may not. BMJ 2013 Jan 21;346:e8668 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.e8668] [Medline: 23338004]
- Grady A, Yoong S, Sutherland R, Lee H, Nathan N, Wolfenden L. Improving the public health impact of eHealth and mHealth interventions. Aust N Z J Public Health 2018 Apr;42(2):118-119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1753-6405.12771] [Medline: 29384248]
- Baumel A, Muench F, Edan S, Kane JM. Objective user engagement with mental health apps: systematic search and panel-based usage analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Sep 25;21(9):e14567 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14567] [Medline: 31573916]
- Roberts AL, Fisher A, Smith L, Heinrich M, Potts HW. Digital health behaviour change interventions targeting physical activity and diet in cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cancer Surviv 2017 Dec;11(6):704-719 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-017-0632-1] [Medline: 28779220]
- 13. Yeager CM, Benight CC. If we build it, will they come? Issues of engagement with digital health interventions for trauma recovery. Mhealth 2018;4:37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2018.08.04] [Medline: 30363749]
- 14. Vaghefi I, Tulu B. The continued use of mobile health apps: insights from a longitudinal study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 29;7(8):e12983 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12983] [Medline: 31469081]
- Meyerowitz-Katz G, Ravi S, Arnolda L, Feng X, Maberly G, Astell-Burt T. Rates of attrition and dropout in app-based interventions for chronic disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Sep 29;22(9):e20283 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20283] [Medline: 32990635]
- 16. Ng MM, Firth J, Minen M, Torous J. User engagement in mental health apps: a review of measurement, reporting, and validity. Psychiatr Serv 2019 Jul 01;70(7):538-544 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201800519] [Medline: 30914003]
- 17. Baglione AN, Cai L, Bahrini A, Posey I, Boukhechba M, Chow PI. Understanding the relationship between mood symptoms and mobile app engagement among patients with breast cancer using machine learning: case study. JMIR Med Inform 2022 Jun 02;10(6):e30712 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30712] [Medline: 35653183]
- Wasil AR, Venturo-Conerly KE, Shingleton RM, Weisz JR. A review of popular smartphone apps for depression and anxiety: assessing the inclusion of evidence-based content. Behav Res Ther 2019 Dec;123:103498. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2019.103498] [Medline: <u>31707224</u>]
- Jakob R, Harperink S, Rudolf AM, Fleisch E, Haug S, Mair JL, et al. Factors influencing adherence to mHealth apps for prevention or management of noncommunicable diseases: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2022 May 25;24(5):e35371 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35371] [Medline: 35612886]
- 20. Davis SW, Oakley-Girvan I. Achieving value in mobile health applications for cancer survivors. J Cancer Surviv 2017 Aug;11(4):498-504. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-017-0608-1</u>] [Medline: <u>28342093</u>]
- Hernandez Silva E, Lawler S, Langbecker D. The effectiveness of mHealth for self-management in improving pain, psychological distress, fatigue, and sleep in cancer survivors: a systematic review. J Cancer Surviv 2019 Mar;13(1):97-107. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-018-0730-8</u>] [Medline: <u>30635865</u>]
- 22. Mustafa AS, Ali NA, Dhillon JS, Alkawsi G, Baashar Y. User engagement and abandonment of mHealth: a cross-sectional survey. Healthcare (Basel) 2022 Jan 24;10(2):221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare10020221] [Medline: 35206837]
- Bolier L, Haverman M, Westerhof GJ, Riper H, Smit F, Bohlmeijer E. Positive psychology interventions: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. BMC Public Health 2013 Mar 08;13:119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-119] [Medline: 23390882]
- 24. Short CE, DeSmet A, Woods C, Williams SL, Maher C, Middelweerd A, et al. Measuring engagement in eHealth and mHealth behavior change interventions: viewpoint of methodologies. J Med Internet Res 2018 Nov 16;20(11):e292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9397] [Medline: 30446482]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52386

- 25. Kroenke K, Baye F, Lourens SG. Comparative validity and responsiveness of PHQ-ADS and other composite anxiety-depression measures. J Affect Disord 2019 Mar 01;246:437-443. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2018.12.098</u>] [Medline: <u>30599366</u>]
- 26. Bech P, Olsen LR, Kjoller M, Rasmussen NK. Measuring well-being rather than the absence of distress symptoms: a comparison of the SF-36 Mental Health subscale and the WHO-Five Well-Being Scale. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 2003;12(2):85-91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/mpr.145] [Medline: 12830302]
- Mehling WE, Price C, Daubenmier JJ, Acree M, Bartmess E, Stewart A. The multidimensional assessment of interoceptive awareness (MAIA). PLoS One 2012;7(11):e48230 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0048230</u>] [Medline: <u>23133619</u>]
- 28. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Löwe B. An ultra-brief screening scale for anxiety and depression: the PHQ-4. Psychosomatics 2009;50(6):613-621. [doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.50.6.613] [Medline: 19996233]
- 29. Mehnert A, Müller D, Lehmann C, Koch U. Die Deutsche version des NCCN distress-thermometers. Z fur Psychiatr Psychol Psychother 2006 Jan;54(3):213-223. [doi: 10.1024/1661-4747.54.3.213]
- Barth J, Kern A, Lüthi S, Witt CM. Assessment of patients' expectations: development and validation of the Expectation for Treatment Scale (ETS). BMJ Open 2019 Jun 17;9(6):e026712 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026712] [Medline: 31213446]
- Gómez Penedo JM, Berger T, Grosse Holtforth M, Krieger T, Schröder J, Hohagen F, et al. The working alliance inventory for guided internet interventions (WAI-I). J Clin Psychol 2020 Jun;76(6):973-986. [doi: <u>10.1002/jclp.22823</u>] [Medline: <u>31240727</u>]
- 32. Filler A, Kowatsch T, Haug S, Wahle F, Staake T, Fleisch E. MobileCoach: a novel open source platform for the design of evidence-based, scalable and low-cost behavioral health interventions: overview and preliminary evaluation in the public health context. In: Proceedings of the 2015 Wireless Telecommunications Symposium. 2024 Presented at: WTS '15; April 15-17, 2015; New York, NY p. 1-6 URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7117255 [doi: 10.1109/wts.2015.7117255]
- 33. Kowatsch T, Volland D, Shih I, Rüegger D, Künzler F, Barata F, et al. Design and evaluation of a mobile chat app for the open source behavioral health intervention platform MobileCoach. In: Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on Designing the Digital Transformation. 2017 Presented at: DESRIST '17; May 30-June 1, 2017; Karlsruhe, Germany p. 485-489 URL: <u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-59144-5_36</u> [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-59144-5_36]
- 34. Beun RJ, Fitrianie S, Griffioen-Both F, Spruit S, Horsch C, Lancee J, et al. Talk and tools: the best of both worlds in mobile user interfaces for E-coaching. Pers Ubiquit Comput 2017 May 19;21(4):661-674. [doi: 10.1007/s00779-017-1021-5]
- 35. Riba MB, Donovan KA, Andersen B, Braun I, Breitbart WS, Brewer BW, et al. Distress management, version 3.2019, NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2019 Oct 01;17(10):1229-1249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2019.0048] [Medline: 31590149]
- 36. Psychoonkologische diagnostik, beratung und behandlung von erwachsenen krebspatient innen. Leitlinienprogramm Onkologie. URL: <u>https://www.leitlinienprogramm-onkologie.de/fileadmin/user_upload/Downloads/Leitlinien/Psychoonkologie/Version_2/LL_Psychoonkologie_Langversion_2.1.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-05-14]
- 37. Dobos GJ, Paul A. Mind-Body-Medizin: Die moderne Ordnungstherapie in Theorie und Praxis. Munich, Germany: Urban & Fischer; 2011.
- Esch T, Stefano GB. The BERN framework of mind-body medicine: integrating self-care, health promotion, resilience, and applied neuroscience. Front Integr Neurosci 2022;16:913573 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnint.2022.913573] [Medline: 35910341]
- 39. Schwarzer R. Modeling health behavior change: how to predict and modify the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors. Appl Psychol 2008 Jan 30;57(1):1-29. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00325.x]
- 40. Deci EL, Ryan RM. Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior. New York, NY: Springer; 1985.
- Knittle K, Heino M, Marques MM, Stenius M, Beattie M, Ehbrecht F, et al. The compendium of self-enactable techniques to change and self-manage motivation and behaviour v.1.0. Nat Hum Behav 2020 Mar 13;4(2):215-223. [doi: 10.1038/s41562-019-0798-9] [Medline: 31932687]
- 42. Michie S, Johnston M. Theories and techniques of behaviour change: developing a cumulative science of behaviour change. Health Psychol Rev 2012 Mar;6(1):1-6. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2012.654964]
- 43. Shingleton RM, Palfai TP. Technology-delivered adaptations of motivational interviewing for health-related behaviors: a systematic review of the current research. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Jan;99(1):17-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2015.08.005] [Medline: 26298219]
- 44. Lundahl BW, Kunz C, Brownell C, Tollefson D, Burke BL. A meta-analysis of motivational interviewing: twenty-five years of empirical studies. Res Soc Work Pract 2010 Jan 11;20(2):137-160. [doi: 10.1177/1049731509347850]
- 45. Ollier J, Nißen M, von Wangenheim F. The terms of "you(s)": how the term of address used by conversational agents influences user evaluations in French and German linguaculture. Front Public Health 2021 Jan 5;9:691595 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.691595] [Medline: 35071147]
- 46. Carlson LE. Psychosocial and integrative oncology: interventions across the disease trajectory. Annu Rev Psychol 2023 Jan 18;74(1):457-487 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-032620-031757] [Medline: 36104001]

- 47. Weis J. Psychosocial care for cancer patients. Breast Care (Basel) 2015 Apr;10(2):84-86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000381969] [Medline: 26195935]
- Lukic YX, Teepe GW, Fleisch E, Kowatsch T. Breathing as an input modality in a gameful breathing training app (Breeze 2): development and evaluation study. JMIR Serious Games 2022 Aug 16;10(3):e39186 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/39186] [Medline: 35972793]
- 49. op den Akker H, Jones VM, Hermens HJ. Tailoring real-time physical activity coaching systems: a literature survey and model. User Model User-adapt Interact 2014 Jun 25;24(5):351-392. [doi: 10.1007/s11257-014-9146-y]
- 50. Robertson A, Magdy W, Goldwater S. Black or white but never neutral: how readers perceive identity from yellow or skin-toned emoji. Proc ACM Hum Comput Interact 2021 Oct 18;5(CSCW2):1-23. [doi: 10.1145/3476091]
- 51. Bickmore TW, Schulman D, Sidner CL. A reusable framework for health counseling dialogue systems based on a behavioral medicine ontology. J Biomed Inform 2011 Apr;44(2):183-197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2010.12.006] [Medline: 21220044]
- 52. Mikolasek M, Witt CM, Barth J. Adherence to a mindfulness and relaxation self-care app for cancer patients: mixed-methods feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Dec 06;6(12):e11271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11271] [Medline: 30522990]
- 53. Schwarzer R, Luszczynska A. Self-efficacy. In: Ruch W, Bakker AB, Tay L, Gander F, editors. Handbook of Positive Psychology Assessment. Göttingen, Germany: Hogrefe Publishing; 2022:207-217.
- 54. Joffe H, Yardley L, Marks D. Content and thematic analysis. In: Marks DF, Yardley L, editors. Research Methods for Clinical and Health Psychology. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2004:56-68.
- 55. R Core Team. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.r-project.org/</u> [accessed 2024-04-29]
- 56. Team Posit. RStudio: integrated development environment for R. Posit Software. URL: <u>https://posit.co/products/open-source/</u> rstudio/ [accessed 2024-04-29]
- 57. Wickham HF, Henry L, Müller K, Vaughan D. dplyr: a grammar of data manipulation. rdrr. 2023. URL: <u>https://rdrr.io/cran</u>/<u>dplyr/</u> [accessed 2024-04-29]
- 58. Wickham H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis (3e). Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2016.
- 59. Almeida A, Loy A, Hofmann H. ggplot2: compatible quantile-quantile plots in R. R J 2019;10(2):248-261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.32614/rj-2018-051]
- 60. Signorell A. DescTools: tools for descriptive statistics. Version 0.99.48. Cran R. URL: <u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/pack</u> <u>ages/DescTools/index.html</u> [accessed 2024-04-29]
- 61. Dhinagaran DA, Martinengo L, Ho MR, Joty S, Kowatsch T, Atun R, et al. Designing, developing, evaluating, and implementing a smartphone-delivered, rule-based conversational agent (DISCOVER): development of a conceptual framework. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2022 Oct 04;10(10):e38740 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/38740] [Medline: 36194462]
- 62. Gilbert S, Harvey H, Melvin T, Vollebregt E, Wicks P. Large language model AI chatbots require approval as medical devices. Nat Med 2023 Oct 30;29(10):2396-2398. [doi: 10.1038/s41591-023-02412-6] [Medline: 37391665]
- 63. Lee P, Bubeck S, Petro J. Benefits, limits, and risks of GPT-4 as an AI Chatbot for medicine. N Engl J Med 2023 Mar 30;388(13):1233-1239. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMsr2214184] [Medline: 36988602]
- 64. Escriva Boulley G, Leroy T, Bernetière C, Paquienseguy F, Desfriches-Doria O, Préau M. Digital health interventions to help living with cancer: a systematic review of participants' engagement and psychosocial effects. Psychooncology 2018 Dec;27(12):2677-2686. [doi: 10.1002/pon.4867] [Medline: 30152074]
- 65. Dhar E, Bah AN, Chicchi Giglioli IA, Quer S, Fernandez-Luque L, Núñez-Benjumea FJ, et al. A scoping review and a taxonomy to assess the impact of mobile apps on cancer care management. Cancers (Basel) 2023 Mar 15;15(6):1775 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers15061775] [Medline: 36980661]
- 66. Tsay SL, Ko WS, Lin KP. The lifestyle change experiences of cancer survivors. J Nurs Res 2017 Oct;25(5):328-335. [doi: 10.1097/JNR.000000000000178] [Medline: 28877119]
- 67. Demark-Wahnefried W, Aziz NM, Rowland JH, Pinto BM. Riding the crest of the teachable moment: promoting long-term health after the diagnosis of cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005 Aug 20;23(24):5814-5830 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.01.230] [Medline: 16043830]
- 68. LeBlanc MR, LeBlanc TW, Yang Q, McLaughlin J, Irish K, Smith SK. A mobile app to support self-management in patients with multiple myeloma or chronic lymphocytic leukemia: pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Cancer 2023 Jul 06;9:e44533 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/44533] [Medline: 37410541]
- Spahrkäs SS, Looijmans A, Sanderman R, Hagedoorn M. How does the Untire app alleviate cancer-related fatigue? A longitudinal mediation analysis. Psychooncology 2022 Jun;31(6):970-977 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5886</u>] [Medline: <u>35060222</u>]
- 70. Greer S, Ramo D, Chang YJ, Fu M, Moskowitz J, Haritatos J. Use of the chatbot "Vivibot" to deliver positive psychology skills and promote well-being among young people after cancer treatment: randomized controlled feasibility trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Oct 31;7(10):e15018 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15018] [Medline: 31674920]
- 71. Sezgin E. Can we use commercial mobile apps instead of research mobile apps in healthcare research? Front Public Health 2021;9:685439 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.685439] [Medline: 34368058]

- Perski O, Crane D, Beard E, Brown J. Does the addition of a supportive chatbot promote user engagement with a smoking cessation app? An experimental study. Digit Health 2019;5:2055207619880676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207619880676] [Medline: 31620306]
- 73. Szinay D, Jones A, Chadborn T, Brown J, Naughton F. Influences on the uptake of and engagement with health and well-being smartphone apps: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2020 May 29;22(5):e17572 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17572] [Medline: 32348255]
- 74. Provoost S, Lau HM, Ruwaard J, Riper H. Embodied conversational agents in clinical psychology: a scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 09;19(5):e151 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6553] [Medline: 28487267]
- 75. Keller R, Hartmann S, Teepe GW, Lohse K, Alattas A, Tudor Car L, et al. Digital behavior change interventions for the prevention and management of type 2 diabetes: systematic market analysis. J Med Internet Res 2022 Jan 07;24(1):e33348 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33348] [Medline: 34994693]
- 76. Castro O, Mair JL, Salamanca-Sanabria A, Alattas A, Keller R, Zheng S, et al. Development of "LvL UP 1.0": a smartphone-based, conversational agent-delivered holistic lifestyle intervention for the prevention of non-communicable diseases and common mental disorders. Front Digit Health 2023;5:1039171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2023.1039171] [Medline: 37234382]
- 77. Karekla M, Kasinopoulos O, Neto DD, Ebert DD, Van Daele T, Nordgreen T, et al. Best practices and recommendations for digital interventions to improve engagement and adherence in chronic illness sufferers. Eur Psychol 2019 Jan;24(1):49-67. [doi: 10.1027/1016-9040/a000349]
- 78. Armbruster C, Knaub M, Farin-Glattacker E, von der Warth R. Predictors of adherence to cancer-related mHealth apps in cancer patients undergoing oncological or follow-up treatment-a scoping review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022 Oct 21;19(20):13689 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph192013689] [Medline: 36294265]
- Siebenhüner AR, Mikolasek M, Witt CM, Barth J. Improvements in health might contradict adherence to mobile health interventions: findings from a self-care cancer app study. J Altern Complement Med 2021 Mar;27(S1):S115-S123. [doi: 10.1089/acm.2020.0111] [Medline: <u>33788602</u>]

Abbreviations

BCT: behavior change technique FAQ: frequently asked question HAPA: Health Action Process Approach MBM: mind-body medicine mHealth: mobile health MI: motivational interviewing RCT: randomized controlled trial SDT: self-determination theory

Edited by J Bender; submitted 06.09.23; peer-reviewed by A Looijmans, J Drott; comments to author 18.12.23; revised version received 01.02.24; accepted 14.04.24; published 31.05.24.

Please cite as:

Schläpfer S, Schneider F, Santhanam P, Eicher M, Kowatsch T, Witt CM, Barth J Engagement With a Relaxation and Mindfulness Mobile App Among People With Cancer: Exploratory Analysis of Use Data and Self-Reports From a Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52386 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52386 doi:10.2196/52386 PMID:38819907

©Sonja Schläpfer, Fabian Schneider, Prabhakaran Santhanam, Manuela Eicher, Tobias Kowatsch, Claudia M Witt, Jürgen Barth. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 31.05.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Association of Family-Centered Care With Psychological Distress Among Caregivers of Children With Cancer at a Tertiary-Level Hospital in Ethiopia: Cross-Sectional Study

Leul Deribe^{1*}, MPH; Eshetu Girma^{2*}, PhD; Nataliya Lindström^{3*}, PhD; Abdulkadir Gidey^{4*}, MD; Solomon Teferra^{4*}, PhD; Adamu Addissie^{2*}, PhD

¹School of Nursing and Midwifery, College of Health Sciences, Addis Ababa University, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

²School of Public Health, College of Health Sciences, Addis Ababa University, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

³Department of Applied Information Technology, University of Gothenburg, Goteborg, Sweden

⁴School of Medicine, College of Health Sciences, Addis Ababa University, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Nataliya Lindström, PhD Department of Applied Information Technology University of Gothenburg Forskningsgången Goteborg Sweden Phone: 46 733268716 Email: <u>nataliya.berbyuk.lindstrom@ait.gu.se</u>

Abstract

Background: Psychological distress (PD) is a common mental health problem faced by caregivers of children with cancer. The involvement of families in childcare was found to be associated with lower levels of distress.

Objective: The study aims to determine the associations between family-centered care (FCC) and PD among caregivers of children with cancer receiving treatment at Tikur Anbessa Specialized Hospital (TASH), Ethiopia.

Methods: An institution-based, cross-sectional study was conducted from June to December 2022. Caregivers of children with cancer aged 0-14 years receiving cancer treatment at the pediatric oncology unit completed a face-to-face, interviewer-administered, structured questionnaire during a routine inpatient or outpatient visit. The questionnaire included questions on the characteristics of the child and caregiver, PD (measured by the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale [K10]), FCC (measured by the Measure of Processes of Care [MPOC-20]), and social support (measured by the Oslo-3 Social Support Scale [OSS-3]). Data were collected using the Kobo toolbox and exported to SPSS (version 26; IBM Corp) for cleaning and analysis. A multivariable logistic regression model was used. An odds ratio with a 95% CI was calculated, and a *P* value less than .05 was considered statistically significant.

Results: A total of 384 caregivers of children with cancer participated in the study. The total PD score ranged from 10 to 50, with a mean score of 17.30 (SD 8.96; 95% CI 16.84-18.60). The proportion of caregivers found to have mild, moderate, and severe levels of PD was 43 (11.2%), 35 (9.1%), and 51 (13.3%), respectively. The overall prevalence of mild to severe PD symptoms was 33.6% (95% CI 28.9%-38.3%). A statistically significant negative association was found between FCC and PD (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] 0.68, 95% CI 0.53-0.86). In addition, having no formal education (AOR 2.87, 95% CI 1.28-6.45), having a history of relapse (AOR 3.24, 95% CI 1.17-9.02), beginning cancer treatment at TASH (AOR 2.82, 95% CI 1.4-4.85), beginning treatment within the last 3 months (AOR 3.99, 95% CI 1.73-9.23), and beginning treatment within the last 4 to 18 months (AOR 2.68, 95% CI 1.25-5.76) were significantly associated with higher level of PD.

Conclusions: A total of 1 in 3 caregivers have reported PD. FCC was found to be protective of PD. The finding of this study suggests the need for FCC intervention to improve the mental health condition of caregivers. In addition, the intervention needs to consider the educational status of the caregivers, the time since the cancer diagnosis, and the history of relapse.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e54715) doi:10.2196/54715



KEYWORDS

child cancer; psychological distress; Ethiopia; parent; caregivers; family

Introduction

A diagnosis of childhood cancer has been described as a life-changing experience for caregivers that causes significant disruptions in a child's and family's life. Caregivers face multiple and inescapable stressors associated with their child's illness, diagnostic procedures, and cancer treatment [1]. Childhood cancer increases the risk of long-term emotional strain [2] and the risk of developing psychosocial distress [3]. Psychological distress (PD) often refers to an undifferentiated combination of symptoms, which is a state of emotional distress characterized by symptoms of depression and anxiety [4]. Distress is defined by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) [5] as follows:

an unpleasant experience of a mental, physical, social, or spiritual nature. This affects the way people think, feel, or act and interferes with the ability to cope with cancer, its physical symptoms, and its treatment.

Caregivers of children with cancer have a higher risk of developing negative emotional states and poor health behaviors [6]. Thus, the prevalence of PD was higher at the time of diagnosis and remained significant during and even after the end of treatment [3,7,8]. It was also found that PD universally affects caregivers of children with cancer. In the United States, 50% of pediatric cancer caregivers are highly distressed and 16% meet the criteria for serious PD [8]. In the United Kingdom, 66% of caregivers of children with cancer have PD [9]. Similarly, 56.0% and 70.5% of caregivers in Lebanon [10] and in Iraq [11] were depressed, respectively. In African studies, PD was reported by 45% and 66.7% of caregivers of children with cancer in Uganda [12] and Tanzania [13], respectively. According to a study conducted in Ethiopia, 72.4% of caregivers of children with cancer had depression [14].

It has also been indicated that parental PD can be affected by various factors. These factors include prognosis and stage of child cancer, child symptom level, treatment status, side effects of chemotherapy, knowledge about treatment modality, treatment cost, employment status, sex of the parent, number of hospital admissions, and family support [8,15-19]. Studies have reported that family-centered care (FCC), which provides holistic care and is planned around the family, is associated with lower PD [20]. Caregivers receiving FCC have been found to have better parental psychosocial health scores, decreased psychological stress, and higher levels of psychological well-being [21-23]. Improved communication and receiving enough information, which are the main components of FCC, are also indicated to have an association with enhanced levels of psychological health in families of children with cancer [24,25].

Although childhood cancer is becoming a significant health burden in Africa [26] and Ethiopia in particular [26], few studies have explicitly examined the level of PD and underlying factors among caregivers of children with cancer. Research on FCC primarily focuses on defining and surveying families and health

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54715

care providers, with limited exploration of its relationship with family outcomes [20]. To this end, understanding the degree of association between PD and the level of perceived FCC will help to improve the care provided for caregivers of children with cancer. In addition, better insight into factors associated with PD may help to design and implement supportive interventions for caregivers, which reflect their needs in low-income countries. Accordingly, the objective of this study was to describe PD and examine the association between PD and FCC among caregivers of children with cancer receiving treatment at Tikur Anbessa Specialized Hospital (TASH), Ethiopia.

Methods

Study Area and Study Design

This study used a cross-sectional design from June to December 2022. The hospital is situated in Addis Ababa, the capital city of Ethiopia. With more than 800 beds, TASH is the largest tertiary university teaching hospital. The hospital offers the most thorough cancer care with over 120 million people nationwide. Patients with cancer from every region were referred to this hospital. The pediatric oncology unit has 26 beds, along with nurses, residents, hemato-oncologists, and hematopathologists. According to pediatric oncology unit registration, between 500 and 600 new children with cancer get both inpatient and outpatient care each year [27].

Study Participants

Caregivers of children with cancer aged 0-14 years receiving cancer treatment at the TASH pediatric oncology unit were recruited for the study. Due to the restricted number of patients seen during the study period, we did not precalculate the sample size. Instead, we consecutively invited all caregivers who visited the unit during the study period to participate in the study. Accordingly, 393 caregivers of children with cancer were interviewed in this study. A mother or father was selected if they were available with other family members during data collection. If both mothers and fathers were available, the parent who reported spending more time with the child and more frequently visited the health facility was selected.

The inclusion criteria for this study were caregivers or guardians of children with all types of cancer visiting the TASH pediatric oncology unit, having at least 1 previous visit, attending either an inpatient or outpatient department, and at least 1 month had passed since the child's diagnosis. The term "caregiver" or "guardian" refers to the person who decides on most things for the child daily, both inside and outside the medical environment. The study excluded caregivers or guardians of children with known mental health problems before their child's cancer diagnosis. A total of 3 caregivers were excluded because they identified themselves as being in treatment for mental health conditions before knowing their child's cancer diagnosis and 4 caregivers did not provide complete data for the dependent variable.

XSL•FO RenderX

Data Collection

The study used a face-to-face, interviewer-administered, structured questionnaire (see Multimedia Appendix 1). The questionnaire was prepared in English and independently translated into Amharic by 2 bilingual translators. A third reviewer, who provided feedback at a reconciliation meeting, checked the translated version. After obtaining the agreement, another language checker translated the Amharic version into English. Any inconsistencies were corrected, and a final Amharic translation was used to collect the data. The caregivers were recruited to the interview consecutively as they come to the pediatric oncology unit for regular visits. The participants' responses were instantly entered into a Kobo toolbox data collection tool by the data collector at the time of the interview. The face-to-face interviews were approximately 20 minutes.

Measurements

Overview

The survey included questions regarding caregivers' sociodemographic characteristics, children's health status, parental distress, and caregivers' satisfaction with the treatment received. Information on sociodemographic characteristics was obtained by interviewing caregivers using a standard questionnaire. Data regarding the children's clinical characteristics were obtained from their medical records using a structured data-retrieving checklist with the assistance of an MSc oncology nurse in the pediatric oncology unit.

Kessler Psychological Distress Scale

The Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) is a tool consisting of 10 items originally developed to measure PD [28]. It is made of a 5-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1=none of the time to 5=all of the time. The tool assesses the experience of symptoms of mental distress over the past 30 days. The total score of the tool ranges from 10 to 50. Owing to the lack of a universally accepted method for categorizing K10 scores, various methods were used based on the purpose and context of the study. Considering the absence of a specific threshold in Ethiopia's setting and our aim to screen caregivers of children with cancer for the likelihood of having a mental disorder, we chose the most commonly used grouping for K10 scores to assess PD in primary health care settings. Therefore, the total score was categorized as 10-19, indicating "likely to be well"; 20-24, "likely to have a mild mental disorder"; 25-29, "likely to have a moderate mental disorder"; and above 30, "likely to have a severe mental disorder" [29-32]. Finally, a score less than or equal to 19 was coded as 0 for no mental disorder, and the presence of likelihood of mental disorder for a score greater than or equal to 20 was coded as 1. The K10 scale has been validated and confirmed to effectively assess PD in Ethiopian settings, with Cronbach α of 0.86 and 0.83 reliability [33,34].

Measure of Processes of Care

To evaluate the family-centeredness of care, the Measure of Processes of Care (MPOC-20) was used [35]. MPOC-20 can assess both families' experiences and perceptions of the family-centeredness of services received. The tool is translated and validated in about 14 languages [36]. The MPOC-20 contains 20 items and five scales and they are (1) enabling and

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54715
```

partnership (3 items), (2) providing general information (3 items), (3) providing specific information about the child (5 items), (4) coordinated and comprehensive care for the family and child (4 items), and (5) respectful and supportive care (5 items). Patients respond using a 7-point scale that ranges from "not at all" (score=1) to "to a very great extent" (score=7) [35]. MPOC-20 is a widely used tool in different setups to evaluate the level of FCC. For this study, the Cronbach α was found to be 0.92.

Oslo-3 Social Support Scale

The 3 questions of the Oslo-3 Social Support Scale (OSS-3) cover the reported number of close friends, perceived concern, and practical help from others, and the sum score ranges from 3 to 12. Scores 3-7 are considered poor, scores 8-10 as moderate, and scores 11-12 as strong social support [37].

Data Quality Control

The principal investigator guided the data collection process. A total of 2 nurses with MSc in nursing were recruited as supervisors. Six MPH or MSc holders were used as the data collectors. Data collectors and supervisors were not a part of the childcare team. Both supervisors and data collectors received training before data collection. During the training, the need for confidentiality and privacy was emphasized. Different pediatric oncology units at St. Paul Millennium Medical College were used as pretest sites.

Data Processing and Analysis

The data were collected using the Kobo toolbox data collection tool and exported to SPSS (version 26). Missing values and outliers were checked and corrected. Descriptive statistics were calculated, and the data were presented as tables, graphs, and frequencies. Variables such as family size, number of children in the household, child's age, duration in months since the child fell ill, and duration in months since the child was diagnosed with cancer were categorized using the first and third quartiles. The strength of the association between the independent and dependent variables was described using the odds ratio with 95% CI. All variables with P values less than .20 during binary logistic regression were considered candidates for the final model. In addition, we considered the clinical relevance of the variables in the multivariate model. The final fitted multivariable logistic regression model was constructed using the enter method. Variables with P values less than .05 were regarded as having a statistically significant association.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical clearance was obtained from the Addis Ababa University College of Health Science institutional review board (protocol 022/22/SPH). Permission was also obtained from the TASH pediatric oncology unit. Written informed consent for the interviewee was obtained from each study participant. A private place was used for the interview session to keep the respondents' privacy. Participants were assured of their right to withdraw from the interview at any time, and participation in this study or refusal to participate would not affect their ability to access health services or any other services. Names and other personal information, which can violate the confidentiality of the study

participants, were not recorded. In addition, no compensation was paid to the interviewed participants.

Results

Sociodemographic Characteristics of Caregivers

A total of 393 caregivers of children with cancer were approached and 384 caregivers provided complete responses (response rate of 97.7%). The caregivers' ages ranged from 18

to 75 years, with a median of 35.17 (IQR 28-40) years; 176 (45.8%) were fathers. From 384 caregivers, the majority of the participants were from urban areas (n=233, 60.7%), attended secondary school (n=135, 35.2%), and were employed (n=232, 60.4%). Most of the families (n=350, 91.1%), were married or living together and 267 (30.5%) had a family size of 5 people or more. A total of 64% (248) of the families had 2 to 4 children. The number of caregivers who stated they could save money was 53 (13.8%). Table 1 provides a detailed overview of the participants.

 Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of caregivers of children with cancer at the Tikur Anbessa Specialized Hospital pediatric oncology unit from June to December 2022 (n=384).

Variables and category	Values, n (%)
Caregivers' gender	
Mother	158 (41.1)
Father	176 (45.8)
Others ^a	50 (13)
Sex	
Male	205 (53.4)
Female	179 (46.6)
Age of the caregiver or guardian (years)	
≤29	106 (27.6)
30-39	161 (41.9)
≥40	117 (30.5)
Place of residence	
Urban	233 (60.7)
Rural	151 (39.3)
Employment status	
Housewife	90 (23.4)
Currently not employed	62 (16.1)
Currently employed	232 (60.4)
Caregiver or guardian's educational level	
No formal education	62 (16.1)
Primary education (grades 1 to 8)	88 (22.9)
Secondary education (grades 9 to 12)	135 (35.2)
College and above	99 (25.8)
Marital status	
Currently married or cohabiting	350 (91.1)
Not married or not cohabiting	34 (8.9)
Family size	
≤4 family size	117 (30.5)
≥5 family size	267 (69.5)
Number of children	
Single child	56 (14.6)
2-4 children	248 (64.6)
≥5 children	80 (20.8)
Looking after siblings at home	
Yes	288 (75)
No	19 (4.9)
No one is left at home	77 (20.1)
Income and household expenses ^b	
Your household can save money	53 (13.8)
Your household spends what it earns	215 (56)
Your household eats into its assets and savings	68 (17.7)

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54715

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e54715 | p.427 (page number not for citation purposes)

JMIR CANCER	Deribe et al
Variables and category	Values, n (%)
Your household gets into debt	48 (12.5)

^aGrandparent, brother, sister, uncle, and aunt.

^bThe variable was intended to assess the income and expenses of a household, and it is adapted from the Swiss Household Panel survey questionnaire [38].

Social Support

The OSS-3 was used to evaluate the extent of social support among caregivers of children with cancer, with 381 participants offering comprehensive responses. Among them, 282 (72.5%) indicated poor social support, 98 (25.2%) reported moderate support, and 1 caregiver reported high social support.

Characteristics of Children

Regarding characteristics of children, from the 384 children receiving treatment, the majority (n=227, 59.1%) were male

and 78 (20.3%) were older than 10 years. The majority (n=251, 65.4%) of the children were referred to TASH, 357 (93.0%) had no history of relapse, and 325 (84.7%) were receiving treatment. Of 325 children receiving treatment, 247 (69.6%) were getting chemotherapy. Leukemia was the most common cancer type (n=115, 29.6%). From 211 staged cancer cases, 62 (16.1%) were stage IV and 28 (7.3%) were stage III. The median time since the child was ill and diagnosed with cancer was 12 and 7 months, respectively (Table 2).



 Table 2. Characteristics of children receiving cancer treatment at the Tikur Anbessa Specialized Hospital pediatric oncology unit from June to December 2022 (n=384).

Variables and category	Values, n (%)
Child's sex	
Male	227 (59.1)
Female	157 (40.9)
Child age (years)	
≤4	153 (39.8)
5-9	153 (39.8)
≥10	78 (20.3)
Place child started treatment	
In this hospital	133 (34.6)
Referred from other hospital	251 (65.4)
History of relapse	
Yes	27 (7)
No	357 (93)
Time in months since the child is ill	
≤6	103 (26.8)
7-25	204 (53.1)
≥26	77 (20.1)
Time in months since your child is diagnosed with cancer	
≤3	104 (27.1)
4-18	191 (49.7)
≥19	89 (23.2)
Child cancer type	
Solid cancer	207 (53.9)
Hematological	177 (46.1)
Type of malignancy	
Leukemia	115 (29.9)
Wilms' tumor	64 (16.7)
Sarcoma	53 (13.8)
Hodgkin's lymphoma	45 (11.7)
Retinoblastoma	32 (8.3)
Central nervous system	30 (7.8)
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	9 (2.3)
Others	36 (9.4)
Cancer stage	
Not staged	173 (45.2)
Stage I	59 (15.4)
Stage II	62 (16.1)
Stage III	28 (7.3)
Stage IV	62 (16.1)
Treatment status	
On treatment	325 (84.6)

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54715

XSL•FO RenderX

Variables and category	Values, n (%)
Waiting to start treatment	19 (4.9)
Off treatment	40 (10.4)
Type of treatment (n=325)	
Chemotherapy only	247 (76)
Other treatment type	78 (24)

Level of Perceived FCC

The detailed results related to caregivers' perception of the level of FCC were published [38]. Families provided feedback on the MPOC-20, yielding scores ranging from 1.00 to 6.90 and a mean score of 3.71 (SD 1.04). Among the original 5 domains of the MPOC-20, the highest mean score of 4.81 (SD 1.32) was attributed to respectful and supportive care, followed by coordinated and comprehensive care, with a mean score of 4.64 (SD 1.19). The lowest mean scores were recorded for providing specific information (2.33, SD 0.80) and general information (2.70, SD 1.23).

Caregivers' PD

The total K10 score reported by caregivers ranged from 10 to 50. It was skewed to the right with a mean of 17.30 (SD 8.96; 95% CI 16.84-18.60) and a median of 14 (IQR 10-23). Of a total of 384 interviewed caregivers, 43 (11.2%) had mild, 35 (9.1%) had moderate, and 51 (13.3%) of the caregivers had severe PD. The overall prevalence of mild to severe PD symptoms was 33.6% (95% CI 28.9-38.3)

Association of FCC and PD

Logistic regression was used to examine the association of FCC and PD while controlling other variables. During bivariate logistic regression analysis, FCC, place of residence, educational level, level of income and expense, referral from other facilities, history of relapse, time since the child was diagnosed, type of cancer, and treatment status were found to have a significant association with caregivers PD. Variables such as sex of the caregivers, caregiver age, relationship with the child, working status, marital status, child sex, child age, number of children, perceived social support, and family size did not show any association.

The final multiple logistic regression model included 9 variables with *P* values less than .05 from the bivariate logistic regression analysis. The model, as explained between 20.3% (Cox and Snell R^2) and 28.1% (Nagelkerke R^2) of the variance in PD, correctly classified 76.0% of cases. The model fitness test used the Hosmer-Lemeshow statistic, indicating a good model fit (*P*=.46).

After controlling for other variables using multiple logistic regression analysis, FCC was significantly associated with PD. Accordingly, caregivers who reported a unit increase in the level of FCC received were found to reduce PD by 32% (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] 0.68, 95% CI 0.53-0.86). In addition, having no formal education (AOR 2.87, 95% CI 1.28-6.45), having a history of relapse (AOR 3.24, 95% CI 1.17-9.02), starting cancer treatment at TASH (AOR 2.82, 95% CI 1.4-4.85), starting treatment within the last 3 months (AOR 3.99, 95% CI 1.73-9.23), and starting treatment within the last 4 to 18 months (AOR 2.68, 95% CI 1.25-5.76) were significantly associated with higher level of PD (see Table 3).



Deribe et al

Table 3. Logistic regression analysis for factors affecting the level of psychological distress among caregivers of children with cancer.

Variables or characteristics	Distressed		Crud OR ^a (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	P value
	Yes	No			
Family-centered care (MPOC ^b -20 mean score), mean (SD)	3.45 (1.07)	3.85 (1.01)	0.69 (0.56-0.85)	0.68 (0.53-0.86)	.001
Residential place, n (%)					
Urban	63 (27)	170 (73)	0.47 (0.31-0.73)	0.73 (0.42-1.25)	.25
Rural	66 (43.7)	85 (56.3)	Reference	Reference	
Educational status, n (%)					
No formal education	30 (48.4)	32 (51.6)	3.28 (1.65-6.53)	2.87 (1.28-6.45)	.01
Primary education	37 (42.0)	51 (58.0)	2.54 (1.35-4.79)	1.83 (0.87-3.83)	.10
Secondary education	40 (29.6)	95 (70.4)	1.47 (0.80-2.69)	1.38 (0.71-2.67)	.35
College and above	22 (22.2)	77 (77.8)	Reference	Reference	
Household income and expenses, n (%)					
Household can save money	13 (24.5	40 (75.5)	Reference	Reference	
Household spends what it earns	69 (32.1)	164 (67.9)	1.45 (0.73-2.89)	1.54 (0.70-3.38)	.29
Household eats into its assets and savings	19 (27.9)	49 (72.1)	1.19 (0.53-2.71)	0.70 (0.26-1.87)	.48
Household gets into debt	28 (58.3)	20 (41.7)	4.31 (1.84-10.1)	2.35 (0.88-6.29)	.09
Child cancer type, n (%)					
Solid cancer	81 (39.1)	126 (60.9)	1.73 (1.12-2.67)	1.54 (0.94-2.53)	.09
Hematological	48 (27.1	129 (72.9)	Reference	Reference	
History of relapse, n (%)					
Yes	14 (51.9)	13 (51.9)	2.26 (1.03-4.98)	3.24 (1.17-9.02)	.02
No	115 (32.2)	242 (32.2)	Reference	Reference	
Time since diagnosis (months), n (%)					
Below 3	47 (45.2)	57 (54.8)	3.49 (1.82-6.72)	3.99 (1.73-9.23)	.001
4-18	65 (34.0)	126 (66.0)	2.19 (1.19-4.01)	2.68 (1.25-5.76)	.01
Above 19	17 (19.1)	72 (80.9)	Reference	Reference	
Treatment status, n (%)					
Waiting or off treatment	11 (18.6)	48 (81.4)	0.40 (0.20-0.80)	0.55 (0.25-1.23)	.15
On treatment	118 (36.3)	207 (63.7)	Reference	Reference	
Place of starting treatment, n (%)					
In this hospital	68 (51.1)	65 (48.9)	3.26 (2.09-5.09)	2.82 (1.64-4.85)	<.001
Referred from other hospital	61 (24.3)	190 (75.7)	Reference	Reference	

^aOR: odds ratio.

^bMPOC: a measure of process of care.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this study, the relationships between the perception of FCC and PD in caregivers of children with cancer visiting inpatient and outpatient pediatric oncology units were examined. It is the first study to investigate the level of PD using a locally validated standard tool and investigate its association with FCC. To our knowledge, no study has focused on PD among caregivers of children with cancer receiving treatment in both inpatient and

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54715

XSL•FO RenderX outpatient settings in Ethiopia. The study also evaluated the effect of factors related to caregivers' sociodemographic, child health, and health facility–related factors on PD among caregivers of children with cancer. The findings from this study provide information on the burden of PD and identify the factors contributing to PD among caregivers.

Our findings show that 1 in 3 interviewed caregivers reported mild to severe PD, which indicates that parenting a child with cancer can profoundly affect caregivers' mental health. This finding is higher than the 0.3% mild to severe level of distress reported among the general population scored using the K10 in

Ethiopia [33]. This justifies the need to include screening for PD as a critical element of comprehensive psychosocial care for caregivers of children with cancer [39]. This is supported by previous studies that state mental health screening and care for caregivers help to improve child health by facilitating communication among health care providers and caregivers [40].

The level of mild to severe PD in this study was found to be lower than studies conducted in the United States [8], Lebanon [10], Tanzania [13], and Uganda [12]. This difference in the level of PD may be attributed to sociodemographic differences and differences in the measurement tools used. Notably, in this study, unlike in previous studies, most of the participants were fathers. Since the study was conducted in the leading referral hospitals in Ethiopia, the children came from distant parts of the country. Because of this, primarily fathers bring their sick children to hospitals. Multiple studies have reported that fathers have lower levels of parental distress than mothers [41,42]. Another reason might be due to the fact that this study was conducted in a hospital setting where caregivers consider starting treatment as the main achievement in the cancer care process [43]. In Ethiopia, as caregivers have to wait and go through long bureaucracy and referral systems, starting treatment at TASH may have created a sense of satisfaction and increased hope for a cure. This is supported by previous research, which states that beginning treatment is the main reason for lower stress levels [43].

In this study, caregivers' perceptions of FCC were found to be protective against PD. Our finding is consistent with other studies that reported the association of a higher level of perceived FCC with decreased mental health problems [21,22]. Similarly, previous studies indicated improved psychological health among caregivers who received FCC-based intervention [24,25]. The main components of FCC, such as the provision of specific and general cancer-related information [43,44], enabling caregivers to participate in childcare and decision-making [45,46], having good communication [24,25], and providing coordinated and comprehensive care, were found to decrease caregivers' PD. FCC also reduced parental distress caused by lack of information [43], underscoring the importance of considering the complex nature of caregivers' needs and integrating FCC into pediatric oncology care. FCC can be incorporated into child cancer treatment by offering information and education, preparing families before a child's procedures, enhancing communication between caregivers and the health care team, and providing adequate support and empowerment for caregivers [24,25,49-53].

Our findings show caregivers of children with lower educational levels were more likely to have higher levels of PD than more educated caregivers (college and above), which aligns with previous research [11,16]. Education enables individuals to develop fundamental skills, abilities, and resources for more effective health behaviors, helping them to acquire or create effective means of achieving better health [54,55]. On the contrary, a lower educational level may lead to a higher economic burden, a lower understanding of the information provided to caregivers, and a decreased sense of control over an individual's surroundings [56,57]. In addition, lower

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54715

education levels might affect caregivers coping mechanisms; more educated people may be better equipped (have better cognitive skills) to deal with the consequences of childhood cancer [4]. This finding indicates the education level of caregivers needs to be considered when preparing and delivering information and care.

The results of this study also indicated caregivers of children with a history of relapse had higher levels of PD. This is similar to previous studies [58,59]. Caregivers of children with cancer have uncertainties associated with the fear of negative consequences such as relapse or death [60]. The relapse of children with cancer could lead to prolonged uncertainty, negative expectations about disease progression, increased fear of losing their child, and causing poor emotional and mental health [61,62]. Facing the trajectories of childhood cancer for the second time might also be associated with feelings of sadness and frustration, which increases the sense of helplessness, vulnerability, and lack of control over the events [58,62]. All these conditions are associated with adverse mental health conditions.

Furthermore, relapse may be considered a sign of treatment failure, complications, or poor disease progression [63]. This perception may also play a role in higher levels of distress. Consequently, the overwhelming distress of relapse has the potential to compromise families' information-processing abilities and further increase their level of PD. Despite this, previous studies have reported that caregivers of children with relapse reported lower levels of distress than the onset of child cancer because of caregivers' ability to learn faster and having prior information about the possibility of relapse [64]. Therefore, establishing a screening mechanism for caregivers of children with relapse, creating good communication, and providing adequate information about the possibility and management of relapse will help to reduce caregivers' PD.

Another child health-related factor that serves as an independent predictor of PD is the duration since diagnosis. Our study revealed caregivers with a shorter period since diagnosis reported higher levels of PD. Similar findings from previous studies show PD is typically higher during the initial diagnosis and gradually decreases over time [2,3,7,8]. This could be attributed to the highly demanding nature of care provided to children with cancer at the time of diagnosis. Caregivers from low-income countries such as Ethiopia have little or no information about what to do when they first hear their child's diagnosis. As time passes, caregivers gain more understanding and develop some of the skills required to care for their sick child [43]. Thus, this study indicates the importance of providing well-designed psychosocial support, focusing on the time of diagnosis. Caregivers who started treatment for the first time in their current hospital were also found to have more PD than those referred from other hospitals. According to a qualitative study [43] conducted in a similar setting, hospital-related factors such as long waiting time for both diagnosis and treatment, shortage of chemotherapy drugs, and high patient load might be the reason why patients who started treatment at TASH had higher levels of PD.

XSL•FO RenderX
Limitation

This study should be understood in the setting of potential limitations. Because caregivers participated in the study after their child was diagnosed with cancer, the baseline distress level before the diagnosis of their child was not known. To minimize this limitation, caregivers were asked for known mental health conditions and excluded from the study. But still, it was not possible to identify subclinical and undiagnosed cases before a diagnosis of child cancer. Because of the cross-sectional nature of the study design, it is impossible to formulate cause-and-effect relationships among variables. It will be necessary for follow-up studies to include more detailed relationships among variables. Finally, social desirability bias might be introduced since we conducted interview-based surveys.

Conclusions and Recommendation

In this study, the mean K10 was 17.30 (SD 8.96). A total of 1 in 3 caregivers has reported mild to severe levels of PD.

Receiving a higher level of FCC was found to be protective for parental PD. In addition, lower educational status, history of relapse, and shorter time since diagnosis and starting treatment at TASH were associated with higher levels of PD. The results suggest that screening for PD following a child's diagnosis may help to identify distressed caregivers early and potentially lead to earlier psychosocial intervention. Furthermore, in developing evidence-based interventions for caregivers of ill children, it is important to understand the potential risk factors for increased parental distress. The risk factors associated with PD found in this study suggest that interventions need to address the needs of lower socioeconomic conditions, caregivers who had children with relapse, and during the early stage of child diagnosis. Furthermore, conducting further studies, including siblings, will help to get more detailed insight into the mental health effects of childhood cancer at the family level.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge all study participants for providing their information and tolerance during the interview. The authors would also like to acknowledge pediatric oncology unit staff for their data collection assistance. This work was supported by the Swedish Research Council (Vetenskapsrådet; grant 2017-05410).

Data Availability

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Structured questionniare. [DOCX File , 57 KB - cancer v10i1e54715 app1.docx]

References

- Price J, Kassam-Adams N, Alderfer MA, Christofferson J, Kazak AE. Systematic review: a reevaluation and update of the integrative (trajectory) model of pediatric medical traumatic stress. J Pediatr Psychol 2016;41(1):86-97. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsv074</u>] [Medline: <u>26319585</u>]
- 2. Wijnberg-Williams BJ, Kamps WA, Klip EC, Hoekstra-Weebers JEHM. Psychological adjustment of parents of pediatric cancer patients revisited: five years later. Psychooncology 2006;15(1):1-8. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.927</u>] [Medline: <u>15880477</u>]
- Vrijmoet-Wiersma CMJ, van Klink JMM, Kolk AM, Koopman HM, Ball LM, Maarten Egeler R. Assessment of parental psychological stress in pediatric cancer: a review. J Pediatr Psychol 2008;33(7):694-706. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsn007</u>] [Medline: <u>18287109</u>]
- 4. Drapeau A, Marchand A, Beaulieu-Prevost D. Epidemiology of psychological distress. In: Mental Illnesses Understanding, Prediction and Control. United Kingdom: INTECH Open Access Publisher; 2012.
- 5. NCCN guidelines version 1.2022 distress management. National Comprehensive Cancer Network. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nccn.org/docs/default-source/patient-resources/nccn_distress_thermometer.pdf?sfvrsn=ef1df1a2_4</u> [accessed 2023-10-27]
- 6. Tsai MH, Hsu JF, Chou WJ, Yang CP, Jaing TH, Hung IJ, et al. Psychosocial and emotional adjustment for children with pediatric cancer and their primary caregivers and the impact on their health-related quality of life during the first 6 months. Qual Life Res 2013;22(3):625-634. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-012-0176-9] [Medline: 22528241]
- Hardy KK, Bonner MJ, Masi R, Hutchinson KC, Willard VW, Rosoff PM. Psychosocial functioning in parents of adult survivors of childhood cancer. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2008;30(2):153-159. [doi: <u>10.1097/MPH.0b013e31815814d9</u>] [Medline: <u>18376269</u>]

- Rosenberg AR, Dussel V, Kang T, Geyer JR, Gerhardt CA, Feudtner C, et al. Psychological distress in parents of children with advanced cancer. JAMA Pediatr 2013;167(6):537-543 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.628] [Medline: 23545569]
- 9. Cassidy T, McLaughlin M. Psychological distress of female caregivers of significant others with cancer. Cogent Psychology 2015;2(1):12. [doi: 10.1080/23311908.2014.999405]
- 10. Lakkis NA, Khoury JM, Mahmassani DM, Ramia MS, Hamadeh GN. Psychological distress and coping strategies in parents of children with cancer in Lebanon. Psychooncology 2016;25(4):428-434. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.3934</u>] [Medline: <u>26332297</u>]
- Al-Maliki SK, Al-Asadi J, Al-Waely A, Agha S. Prevalence and levels of depression among parents of children with cancer in Basrah, Iraq. Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J 2016;16(3):e329-e334 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18295/squmj.2016.16.03.011] [Medline: 27606113]
- 12. Katende G, Nakimera L. Prevalence and correlates of anxiety and depression among family carers of cancer patients in a cancer care and treatment facility in Uganda: a cross-sectional study. Afr Health Sci 2017;17(3):868-876 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4314/ahs.v17i3.30] [Medline: 29085415]
- Malangwa G, Mangi EJ. Psychological distress factors among caregivers of children receiving cancer therapy, at Muhimbili National Hospital. East Afr Health Res J 2022;6(1):70-77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.24248/eahrj.v6i1.681] [Medline: 36424942]
- 14. Mekonnen H, Gebreyohannis GT, Cherie A. Depression and associated factors among parents of children diagnosed with cancer at Tikur Anbessa Specialized Hospital, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. Psycho-Oncology 2020;29(7):1141-1147. [doi: 10.1002/pon.5389]
- Haverman L, van Oers HA, Limperg PF, Houtzager BA, Huisman J, Darlington AS, et al. Development and validation of the distress thermometer for parents of a chronically ill child. J Pediatr 2013;163(4):1140-1146.e2. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.06.011] [Medline: 23910979]
- Choi EK, Yoon SJ, Kim JH, Park HJ, Kim JY, Yu ES. Depression and distress in caregivers of children with brain tumors undergoing treatment: psychosocial factors as moderators. Psychooncology 2016;25(5):544-550. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.3962</u>] [Medline: <u>26426911</u>]
- 17. Al Qadire M, Aloush S, Alkhalaileh M, Qandeel H, Al-Sabbah A. Burden among parents of children with cancer in Jordan: prevalence and predictors. Cancer Nurs 2020;43(5):396-401. [doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000724] [Medline: 31274639]
- Cusinato M, Calvo V, Bisogno G, Viscardi E, Pillon M, Opocher E, et al. Attachment orientations and psychological adjustment of parents of children with cancer: a matched-group comparison. J Psychosoc Oncol 2017;35(6):726-740. [doi: <u>10.1080/07347332.2017.1335365</u>] [Medline: <u>28569621</u>]
- Sultan S, Leclair T, Rondeau E, Burns W, Abate C. A systematic review on factors and consequences of parental distress as related to childhood cancer. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2016;25(4):616-637 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12361] [Medline: 26354003]
- 20. Smith W. Concept analysis of family-centered care of hospitalized pediatric patients. J Pediatr Nurs 2018;42:57-64. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2018.06.014] [Medline: 30219300]
- 21. Morishita M, Kamibeppu K. Quality of life and satisfaction with care among family caregivers of patients with recurrent or metastasized digestive cancer requiring palliative care. Support Care Cancer 2014;22(10):2687-2696. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-014-2259-3] [Medline: 24789422]
- 22. Acri M, Bornheimer LA, Jessell L, Flaherty HB, McKay MM. The impact of caregiver treatment satisfaction upon child and parent outcomes. Child Adolesc Ment Health 2016;21(4):201-208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/camh.12165] [Medline: 27833456]
- 23. Dix DB, Klassen AF, Papsdorf M, Klaassen RJ, Pritchard S, Sung L. Factors affecting the delivery of family-centered care in pediatric oncology. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2009;53(6):1079-1085. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.22168</u>] [Medline: <u>19743517</u>]
- 24. Ivéus K, Eklund R, Kreicbergs U, Lövgren M. Family bonding as a result of the family talk intervention in pediatric oncology: siblings' experiences. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2022;69(3):e29517. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.29517</u>] [Medline: <u>34971075</u>]
- 25. Feraco AM, McCarthy SR, Revette AC, Stevens SE, Das PJ, Al-Sayegh H, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of the "Day 100 Talk": an interdisciplinary communication intervention during the first six months of childhood cancer treatment. Cancer 2021;127(7):1134-1145 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.33362] [Medline: 33320337]
- Memirie ST, Habtemariam MK, Asefa M, Deressa BT, Abayneh G, Tsegaye B, et al. Estimates of cancer incidence in Ethiopia in 2015 using population-based registry data. J Glob Oncol 2018;4:1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JGO.17.00175] [Medline: 30241262]
- Hailu D, Fufu Hordofa D, Adam Endalew H, Karimi Mutua D, Bekele W, Bonilla M, et al. Training pediatric hematologist/oncologists for capacity building in Ethiopia. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2020;67(12):e28760. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.28760] [Medline: 33049116]
- Kessler RC, Andrews G, Colpe LJ, Hiripi E, Mroczek DK, Normand SLT, et al. Short screening scales to monitor population prevalences and trends in non-specific psychological distress. Psychol Med 2002;32(6):959-976. [doi: <u>10.1017/s0033291702006074</u>] [Medline: <u>12214795</u>]

- 29. Information paper: use of the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale in ABS health surveys, Australia, 2007-08. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2007. URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/4817.0.55.001Chapter92007-08</u> [accessed 2024-05-26]
- 30. Andrews G, Slade T. Interpreting scores on the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10). Aust N Z J Public Health 2001;25(6):494-497 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-842x.2001.tb00310.x] [Medline: 11824981]
- Donker T, Comijs H, Cuijpers P, Terluin B, Nolen W, Zitman F, et al. The validity of the Dutch K10 and extended K10 screening scales for depressive and anxiety disorders. Psychiatry Res 2010;176(1):45-50. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2009.01.012] [Medline: 20071036]
- 32. Merson F, Newby J, Shires A, Millard M, Mahoney A. The temporal stability of the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale. Aust Psychol 2021;56(1):38-45. [doi: 10.1080/00050067.2021.1893603]
- Milkias B, Ametaj A, Alemayehu M, Girma E, Yared M, Kim HH, et al. Psychometric properties and factor structure of the Kessler-10 among Ethiopian adults. J Affect Disord 2022;303:180-186 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2022.02.013] [Medline: 35151678]
- Tesfaye M, Hanlon C, Wondimagegn D, Alem A. Detecting postnatal common mental disorders in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: validation of the edinburgh postnatal depression scale and Kessler scales. J Affect Disord 2010;122(1-2):102-108. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.06.020] [Medline: 19615753]
- 35. King G, Kertoy M, King S, Law M, Rosenbaum P, Hurley P. A measure of parents' and service providers' beliefs about participation in family-centered services. Children's Health Care 2003;32(3):191-214. [doi: 10.1207/s15326888chc3203_2]
- 36. Cunningham BJ, Rosenbaum PL. Measure of processes of care: a review of 20 years of research. Dev Med Child Neurol 2014;56(5):445-452 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12347] [Medline: 24283936]
- Dalgard OS, Bjørk S, Tambs K. Social support, negative life events and mental health. Br J Psychiatry 1995;166(1):29-34. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.166.1.29</u>] [Medline: <u>7894872</u>]
- Panczak R, Galobardes B, Voorpostel M, Spoerri A, Zwahlen M, Egger M, et al. A Swiss neighbourhood index of socioeconomic position: development and association with mortality. J Epidemiol Community Health 2012;66(12):1129-1136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech-2011-200699] [Medline: 22717282]
- Carlson LE, Waller A, Mitchell AJ. Screening for distress and unmet needs in patients with cancer: review and recommendations. J Clin Oncol 2012;30(11):1160-1177. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2011.39.5509</u>] [Medline: <u>22412146</u>]
- 40. Velikova G, Booth L, Smith AB, Brown PM, Lynch P, Brown JM, et al. Measuring quality of life in routine oncology practice improves communication and patient well-being: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2004;22(4):714-724. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.06.078] [Medline: 14966096]
- 41. Masa'Deh R, Collier J, Hall C. Parental stress when caring for a child with cancer in Jordan: a cross-sectional survey. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2012;10:88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-10-88] [Medline: 22838940]
- 42. Lindahl Norberg A, Pöder U, Ljungman G, von Essen L. Objective and subjective factors as predictors of post-traumatic stress symptoms in parents of children with cancer--a longitudinal study. PLoS One 2012;7(5):e36218 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036218] [Medline: 22567141]
- Deribe L, Addissie A, Girma E, Abraha A, Adam H, Berbyuk Lindström N. Stress and coping strategies among parents of children with cancer at Tikur Anbessa Specialized Hospital paediatric oncology unit, Ethiopia: a phenomenological study. BMJ Open 2023;13(1):e065090 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-065090] [Medline: 36609328]
- 44. Gårdling J, Törnqvist E, Edwinson Månsson M, Hallström I. Parents' lived experiences during their children's radiotherapy. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2017;34(2):140-147. [doi: 10.1177/1043454216646540] [Medline: 27207991]
- 45. Wang J, Howell D, Shen N, Geng Z, Wu F, Shen M, et al. mHealth supportive care intervention for parents of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: quasi-experimental pre- and postdesign study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018;6(11):e195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9981] [Medline: 30455166]
- 46. Khosrobeigi M, Hafezi F, Naderi F, Ehteshamzadeh P. The effectiveness of reality therapy on resilience and psychological distress in parents of children with cancer. Clin Schizophr Relat Psychoses 2021;15:1-13. [doi: 10.3371/CSRP.HFKM.260521]
- 47. Deribe L, Addissie A, Girma E, Gidey A, Teferra S, Lindström NB. Level of family centered care and associated factors among parents of children with cancer at tertiary level hospital, Ethiopia. J Pediatr Nurs 2024;76:e69-e76. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2024.01.020] [Medline: <u>38307760</u>]
- Krisnana I, Sulistyarini H, Diyan Rachmawati P, Arief YS, Dwi Kurnia I. Reducing acute stress disorders in mothers of leukemic children by means of the family centered empowerment module (FACE). Cent Eur J Nurs Midw 2019;10(2):1035-1040. [doi: <u>10.15452/cejnm.2019.10.0011</u>]
- 49. Ångström-Brännström C, Lindh V, Mullaney T, Nilsson K, Wickart-Johansson G, Svärd AM, et al. Parents' experiences and responses to an intervention for psychological preparation of children and families during the child's radiotherapy. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2018;35(2):132-148. [doi: 10.1177/1043454217741876] [Medline: 29172925]
- Shoghi M, Shahbazi B, Seyedfatemi N. The effect of the family-centered empowerment model (FCEM) on the care burden of the parents of children diagnosed with cancer. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2019;20(6):1757-1764 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.31557/APJCP.2019.20.6.1757] [Medline: 31244297]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54715
```

- Hockenberry M, Haugen M, Slaven A, Skeens M, Patton L, Montgomery K, et al. Pediatric education discharge support strategies for newly diagnosed children with cancer. Cancer Nurs 2021;44(6):E520-E530 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000947] [Medline: <u>33813530</u>]
- 52. Boshagh F, Hakim A, Alghasi A, Haghighizadeh MH. Effect of family-centered empowerment model on knowledge and caring performance of mothers of children with leukemia: a randomized clinical trial. Jundishapur J Chronic Dis Care 2022;11(3):e116854. [doi: 10.5812/jjcdc-116854]
- 53. Porter LS, Baucom DH, Bonner M, Linardic C, Kazak AE. Parenting a child with cancer: a couple-based approach. Transl Behav Med 2019;9(3):504-513 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibz016] [Medline: 31094434]
- 54. Mirowsky J. Education, Social Status, and Health. New York: Routledge; 2017.
- 55. Muñoz IG, Santos-Lozada AR. Educational attainment and psychological distress among working-age adults in the United States. SSM Ment Health 2021;1:100003 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ssmmh.2021.100003] [Medline: 38571576]
- 56. Akgul N, Ozdemir L. Caregiver burden among primary caregivers of patients undergoing peripheral blood stem cell transplantation: a cross sectional study. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2014;18(4):372-377. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejon.2014.03.013</u>] [Medline: <u>24948524</u>]
- 57. Lau S, Lu X, Balsamo L, Devidas M, Winick N, Hunger SP, et al. Family life events in the first year of acute lymphoblastic leukemia therapy: a children's oncology group report. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2014;61(12):2277-2284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.25195] [Medline: 25175168]
- Jurbergs N, Long A, Ticona L, Phipps S. Symptoms of posttraumatic stress in parents of children with cancer: are they elevated relative to parents of healthy children? J Pediatr Psychol 2009;34(1):4-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsm119] [Medline: 18073235]
- 59. Bruce M, Gumley D, Isham L, Fearon P, Phipps K. Post-traumatic stress symptoms in childhood brain tumour survivors and their parents. Child Care Health Dev 2011;37(2):244-251. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2010.01164.x] [Medline: 21083688]
- 60. Davies J, O'Connor M. Mothers' experiences post-childhood cancer treatment: a qualitative study. J Child Fam Stud 2022;32(9):2614-2624. [doi: 10.1007/s10826-022-02379-x]
- 61. Björk M, Wiebe T, Hallström I. Striving to survive: families' lived experiences when a child is diagnosed with cancer. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2005;22(5):265-275. [doi: 10.1177/1043454205279303] [Medline: 16079362]
- 62. Arruda-Colli MNFD, Lima RAGD, Perina EM, Santos MAD. A recidiva do câncer pediátrico: um estudo sobre a experiência materna. Psicol. USP 2016;27(2):307-314. [doi: 10.1590/0103-656420140078]
- 63. de Graves S, Aranda S. Living with hope and fear--the uncertainty of childhood cancer after relapse. Cancer Nurs 2008;31(4):292-301. [doi: 10.1097/01.NCC.0000305745.41582.73] [Medline: 18600116]
- 64. Carlsson T, Kukkola L, Ljungman L, Hovén E, von Essen L. Psychological distress in parents of children treated for cancer: an explorative study. PLoS One 2019;14(6):e0218860 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0218860] [Medline: 31226159]

Abbreviations

AOR: adjusted odds ratio FCC: family-centered care K10: Kessler Psychological Distress Scale MPOC-20: Measure of Processes of Care NCCN: National Comprehensive Cancer Network OSS-3: Oslo-3 Social Support Scale PD: psychological distress TASH: Tikur Anbessa Specialized Hospital

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 20.11.23; peer-reviewed by M Jarfelt, AW Abate; comments to author 17.04.24; revised version received 26.05.24; accepted 30.07.24; published 10.10.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Deribe L, Girma E, Lindström N, Gidey A, Teferra S, Addissie A Association of Family-Centered Care With Psychological Distress Among Caregivers of Children With Cancer at a Tertiary-Level Hospital in Ethiopia: Cross-Sectional Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e54715 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54715</u> doi:10.2196/54715 PMID:



©Leul Deribe, Eshetu Girma, Nataliya Lindström, Abdulkadir Gidey, Solomon Teferra, Adamu Addissie. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 10.10.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Rina S Fox^{1,2}, MPH, PhD; Tara K Torres³, MA; Terry A Badger^{1,2}, PMHCNS-BC, RN, PhD; Emmanuel Katsanis^{2,4}, MD; DerShung Yang⁵, PhD; Stacy D Sanford^{6,7}, PhD; David E Victorson^{6,7}, PhD; Betina Yanez^{6,7}, PhD; Frank J Penedo^{8,9}, PhD; Michael H Antoni^{8,9}, PhD; Laura B Oswald¹⁰, PhD

¹Division of Advanced Nursing Practice and Science, University of Arizona College of Nursing, Tucson, AZ, United States

¹⁰Department of Health Outcomes and Behavior, Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL, United States

²University of Arizona Cancer Center, Tucson, AZ, United States

⁵BrightOutcome, Inc., Buffalo Grove, IL, United States

⁶Department of Medical Social Sciences, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States

⁷Robert H. Lurie Comprehensive Cancer Center of Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

⁸Department of Psychology, University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States

⁹Cancer Control Research Program, Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center, Miami, FL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Rina S Fox, MPH, PhD

Division of Advanced Nursing Practice and Science, University of Arizona College of Nursing, , Tucson, AZ, , United States

Abstract

Background: Young adult (YA) cancer survivors frequently report unmet health information and peer support needs, as well as poor health-related quality of life (HRQOL). YAs also have expressed a desire that behavioral interventions be convenient. In response to this, our team has developed a 10-week, group-based, supportive care intervention titled TOGETHER to improve YA cancer survivors' HRQOL. TOGETHER is delivered via videoconference and has shown initial feasibility, acceptability, and promise for improving HRQOL among YA survivors.

Objective: In an effort to increase convenience, the goal of this 2-part study was to design and test a website to host the TOGETHER intervention for YA cancer survivors aged 18 - 39 years at the time of participation and aged 15 - 39 years at the time of initial cancer diagnosis.

Methods: In part 1, we leveraged an existing web-based platform and adapted it to meet the needs of TOGETHER. We conducted 3 iterative waves of usability testing with 3 YAs per wave to refine the website. In part 2, we conducted a single-group feasibility trial of TOGETHER using the website. Primary outcomes were feasibility (ie, recruitment, retention, and attendance) and acceptability (ie, satisfaction).

Results: Usability testing participants (n=9) indicated that the TOGETHER website was easy to use (mean 5.9, SD 1.3) and easy to learn (mean 6.5, SD 0.9; possible ranges 1 - 7). Qualitative feedback identified needed revisions to the aesthetics (eg, images), content (eg, session titles), function (eg, clarity of functionality), and structure (eg, expandable sections), which were implemented. In the feasibility trial, participants (n=7) were an average of 25 (SD 4.7) years old and mostly non-Hispanic White (n=4, 57%). Recruitment (58%) and retention (71%) rates and average session attendance (mean 7.1, SD 4.2) supported feasibility. Participant agreement with positive statements about TOGETHER and average satisfaction ratings (mean 5.06, SD 1.64; possible range: 1 - 7) demonstrated acceptability.

Conclusions: Results supported the usability, feasibility, and acceptability of the TOGETHER program and website. By providing the content digitally, the program effectively addresses YAs' expressed preference for convenience. Future studies are needed to increase TOGETHER's efficiency and explore its efficacy for improving targeted outcomes.

Trial Registration: NCT05597228, October 24, 2022; https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT05597228

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e58014) doi:10.2196/58014

KEYWORDS

RenderX

cancer survivors; survivorship; clinical trials; psychosocial intervention; usability testing; digital therapeutics; young adults; nonrandomized

³Department of Psychology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States

⁴Department of Pediatrics, University of Arizona College of Medicine - Tucson, Tucson, AZ, United States

Young adult (YA) cancer survivors diagnosed between the ages of 15 and 39 years are a rapidly growing population [1]. YAs face unique challenges, such as cancer-related disruptions to reaching normative developmental milestones (eg, education, career, financial independence, emotional and sexual intimacy) [2,3] and biopsychosocial late effects of disease (eg, infertility) that may not be as salient for survivors in other age cohorts [2,4-6]. Perhaps as a result, YAs are at elevated risk for depression, anxiety, and stress [7-9] and frequently report lower levels of health-related quality of life (HRQOL) relative to both older and younger cancer survivors [6,10]. In addition to these challenges, most YA cancer survivors report unmet health information needs, and many report unmet peer support needs, which can further exacerbate low HRQOL [11,12]. Past research among older cancer populations aged>50 years has identified evidence-based approaches, such as interventions grounded in cognitive behavioral therapy, that improve HRQOL [13-16]. However, evidence-based strategies to improve HRQOL that meet the unique needs and preferences of YA cancer survivors are limited.

To address this need, our team developed a supportive care intervention specifically designed to improve YA cancer survivors' HRQOL, called TOGETHER [17]. The TOGETHER content was derived and adapted for YAs from 2 supportive care interventions with established efficacy for improving HRQOL in other cancer survivor populations: Cognitive Behavioral Stress Management [18] and Health Education [19]. In addition to the strong support for their efficacy, these 2 interventions were selected, in part, because they can be remotely delivered via videoconference in a group setting, in accordance with YAs' documented preferences that interventions should be convenient [20-22] and that peer support should be available [22]. Program content was adapted with iterative input from YA cancer survivors via focus groups. In subsequent preliminary testing, 2 intervention groups demonstrated that TOGETHER was feasible and acceptable [17].

Although the first iteration of TOGETHER was well received, it was available only as a static, noninteractive, PDF manual, which diminished the intervention's convenience. In response to this and building on our foundational work, we conducted a 2-part study to design and test a website to host and deliver TOGETHER. In the first part of this study, we leveraged an existing digital platform that has historically been used to deliver similar supportive care interventions to other cancer survivor populations and adapted it to meet the needs of the TOGETHER program. Consistent with a rapid prototyping approach [23], we iteratively refined the platform based on feedback gathered from YA cancer survivors in 3 waves of usability testing. In the second part of the study, we tested the feasibility and acceptability of delivering TOGETHER via the adapted website in a single-arm, single-group feasibility trial. We hypothesized that TOGETHER would be feasible and acceptable based on predetermined benchmarks for recruitment, retention, average session attendance, and average participant satisfaction.

RenderX

Part 1: Building the TOGETHER Website

Methods

Participants

Participants were YA cancer survivors aged 15 - 39 years at the time of initial cancer diagnosis and aged 18 - 39 years at the time of participation in this study. All participants had completed curative treatment at least 1 month but no more than 5 years before enrollment. Participants were also fluent in English, able to give informed consent, and not currently experiencing a psychiatric or neurological disorder that could impair their participation. YAs were recruited from the University of Arizona Comprehensive Cancer Center and community-based cancer advocacy groups in Tucson, Arizona.

Ethical Considerations

Study procedures were reviewed and approved by the University of Arizona Institutional Review Board (IRB #STUDY00000717). All participants provided written informed consent.

Procedures

To build the initial version of the TOGETHER website, we leveraged an existing digital platform developed by BrightOutcome Inc. [24]. The platform is a customizable, Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act–compliant, mobile-friendly, password-protected website designed to facilitate remote delivery of course-based supportive care interventions and host live group videoconference sessions. We began by inputting the TOGETHER content into the platform's infrastructure. Subsequently, we held 3 waves of usability testing with 3 participants per wave (n=9 total) based on prior research showing that 9 usability testers are needed to find moderately hard-to-find problems with 75% certainty [25].

Individual usability testing sessions were held in person and each lasted approximately 60 minutes. During these sessions, participants were introduced to a prototype of the TOGETHER website and asked to think aloud while completing a series of prescribed tasks (eg, log in, navigate from the home dashboard to session content). Participants were then asked to provide feedback on the appeal, clarity, comprehensibility, and aesthetic of the website. After each wave of testing, participant feedback was integrated into the website, and testers in the subsequent wave were shown the modified version. We iteratively incorporated stakeholder feedback in this way to maximize user engagement with TOGETHER [26]. Usability testing participants were compensated US \$30 for their time.

Measures

Participants completed the 11-item Ease of Use subscale and 4-item Ease of Learning subscale from the Usefulness, Satisfaction, and Ease of Use (USE) questionnaire [27,28]. Items are rated on a 7-point scale ranging from 1 (*Strongly Disagree*) to 7 (*Strongly Agree*) and averaged to yield a total score. Higher scores indicate better usability. Usability testing participants also self-reported demographic and medical information.

Analysis

Audio recordings of the usability testing sessions were transcribed verbatim by a third-party service (GMR Transcription Services, Inc.). Each transcript was reviewed by at least 2 reviewers using an analytic approach similar to Gale and colleagues' [29] rapid qualitative analytic method to identify actionable feedback. Reviewers identified suggested changes to the website and supporting quotes using an analysis template in Microsoft Excel. The audio recordings were revisited as needed for content and wording clarifications. After independent review, coders compared and discussed results to achieve consensus. This process was completed after each round of usability testing, and changes to the website were implemented rapidly in response to participant feedback. In addition, descriptive statistics were used to summarize the demographic and clinical characteristics of study participants and to describe website usability per the USE individual items and subscale scores.

Results

Participant Characteristics

Information about usability testers' demographic and medical characteristics can be found in Table 1. Participants were an average of 27 years old (range 23 - 37) at the time of study participation and predominantly White (n=8, 89%), with two-thirds identifying as Hispanic or Latine (n=6, 67%). Slightly more than half were female, had completed some college or specialized training, and were working full-time (n=5, 56% each). The most common cancer diagnoses reported were breast cancer (n=3, 33%) and leukemia (n=2, 22%), and the average age at diagnosis was 24 (range 19 - 34) years.



Table . Sample characteristics. Unless otherwise specified, all variables represent patient-reported information at the time of study participation. Six participants were included in both the usability testing and feasibility trial samples.

Variable	Statistic	
	Usability testing	Feasibility trial
	(n=9)	(n=7)
Age at study participation in years, mean (range)	27.8 (23-37)	25.1 (18-33)
Age at diagnosis in years, mean (range)	24.7 (19-34)	22.0 (17-32)
Gender, n (%)		
Male	3 (33)	2 (29)
Female	5 (56)	5 (71)
Nonbinary	1 (11)	0 (0)
Race, n (%)		
White	8 (89)	7 (100)
Native American or Alaskan Native	1 (11)	0 (0)
Hispanic or Latine, n (%)	6 (67)	3 (43)
Education, n (%)		
Partial high school	0 (0)	1 (14)
High school graduate	1 (11)	1 (14)
Partial college or specialized training	5 (56)	3 (43)
College or university graduate	3 (33)	2 (29)
Relationship status, n (%)		
Never married	4 (44)	4 (57)
Married or partnered	4 (44)	3 (43)
Divorced	1 (11)	0 (0)
Employment, n (%) ^a		
Working full time	5 (56)	3 (43)
Working part time	0 (0)	2 (29)
Not employed	2 (22)	2 (29)
Student	1 (11)	0 (0)
Missing	1 (11)	0 (0)
Household income, n (%)		
<us \$10,000<="" td=""><td>1 (11)</td><td>1 (14)</td></us>	1 (11)	1 (14)
US \$10,000-US \$39,999	3 (33)	2 (29)
US \$40,000-US \$59,999	2 (22)	1 (14)
US \$60,000-US \$100,000	3 (33)	2 (29)
>US \$100,000	0 (0)	1 (14)
Cancer type at diagnosis, n (%)		
Bone and soft tissue	1 (11)	2 (29)
Breast	3 (33)	2 (29)
Colorectal	1 (11)	0 (0)
Leukemia	2 (22)	1 (14)
Lymphoma	1 (11)	1 (14)
Thyroid and endocrine	1 (11)	1 (14)
Stage at diagnosis, n (%)		

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e58014

XSL•FO RenderX

Variable	Statistic		
	Usability testing	Feasibility trial	
	(n=9)	(n=7)	
I	3 (33)	2 (29)	
П	0 (0)	0 (0)	
III	2 (22)	2 (29)	
IV	1 (11)	1 (14)	
Unknown or not reported	3 (33)	2 (29)	

^aFor employment, participants were instructed to select the response that they felt most closely aligned with their employment status at the time of study participation.

Usability: Quantitative Results

The frequency and means of item-level usability ratings for both USE subscales can be found in Table 2. Mean scores on the Ease of Use subscale of the USE questionnaire (mean 5.94, SD 1.27) and each of the 10 items contained therein (means ranged from 5.22 to 6.33) supported the website's usability. Results for the Ease of Learning subscale demonstrated it was also easy to learn based on both the overall subscale score (mean 6.50, SD 0.89) and the 4 individual item scores (means ranged from 6.44 to 6.56).

Table . Usability ratings.

Item	Mean (SD)	Number of participants that endorsed each response						
		1 (Strongly Disagree)	2	3	4 (Neu- tral–Neither Agree nor Dis- agree)	5	6	7 (Strongly Agree)
Ease of use		·		·		·	·	
Easy	6.00 (1.32)	0	0	1	0	1	3	4
Simple	6.22 (1,30)	0	0	1	0	0	3	5
User-friendly	6.33 (1.00)	0	0	0	1	0	3	5
Fewest steps possible	5.67 (1.50)	0	1	0	0	1	5	2
Flexible	5.78 (1.30)	0	0	1	0	2	3	3
Effortless	6.00 (1.32)	0	0	1	0	1	3	4
Use without instructions	5.67 (1.94)	1	0	0	0	2	2	4
No inconsisten- cies	5.22 (2.05)	1	0	1	0	2	2	3
Users like	6.22 (1.30)	0	0	1	0	0	3	5
Recover mis- takes	6.11 (1.27)	0	0	1	0	0	4	4
Use successful- ly	6.11 (1.69)	0	1	0	0	1	1	6
Ease of learn- ing								
Learned quickly	6.44 (1.33)	0	0	1	0	0	1	7
Easily remem- ber	6.56 (0.88)	0	0	0	0	2	0	7
Easy to learn to use	6.44 (1.01)	0	0	0	1	0	2	6
Quickly skill- ful	6.56 (0.73)	0	0	0	0	1	2	6



XSL•FO RenderX

Usability: Qualitative Results

A screenshot of the TOGETHER website can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1. YA cancer survivors described the website as "clean," "neat," "visually pleasing," "user-friendly," "straightforward," "organized," "intuitive," and "easy to navigate." Participants particularly valued that there were multiple ways to access or complete various website functions. For example, participants expressed appreciation that program exercises and home practices could be completed digitally within the website or downloaded as a PDF to be completed offline. Participants identified several strengths related to the aesthetics, content, function, and structure of the website, as well as recommendations for how to improve the platform. Table 3 lists the modifications made to the website in response to these recommendations. Of note, not all feedback led to immediate changes to the website. For example, some participants requested a progress tracking feature that would enable them to quickly visualize which aspects of the program had already been completed. This change was not feasible immediately following usability testing; however, it has since been implemented in subsequent iterations of the website.

Table . Modifications made to the website in response to usability testing feedback.

Theme	Summary of issues identified by participants	Examples of website modifications
Aesthetics	 Not visually engaging Images are generic Text hard to read when insufficiently contrasted with background 	 Added bright, colorful, young adult–rele- vant, session-consistent images throughout Ensured images reflected broad sociodemo- graphic representation and ages Avoided business-like images Added colored text
Content	 Relevance to cancer not obvious Purpose of both overall program and specific components (eg, interactive exercises) unclear Acronyms unknown 	 Added cancer-specific images throughout Added more detailed instructions throughout Spelled out acronyms
Function	• Functionality of some aspects unclear (eg, interactive worksheets, achievements and events, favorites)	• Develop standardized preprogram website orientation for participants to complete prior to being granted an account
Structure	• Difficult to distinguish sections and topics	 Adjusted font colors throughout to identify section headers, instructions, etc Added descriptive section titles Presented session text in multiple expandable sections

Part 2: Examining the Feasibility and Acceptability of Delivering TOGETHER Through the Website

Methods

Participants

Eligibility and recruitment for the feasibility trial mirrored that of usability testing, although feasibility trial participants were also required to have access to internet or cellular connectivity with sufficient bandwidth to participate in videoconferences. Participants who completed usability testing were permitted to enroll in the feasibility trial if desired. In such cases, participants provided informed consent for each stage of the study.

Procedures

RenderX

The feasibility trial was preregistered on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT05597228) [30] and consisted of a single instance of the 10-week TOGETHER group intervention. After providing informed consent, participants completed a 1-time website orientation videoconference meeting with a member of the research team. Participants were also mailed a physical copy of the TOGETHER participant workbook. The physical copies

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e58014
```

were provided because YAs who contributed to the development of the intervention content [17] recommended providing both physical and digital copies of intervention materials to program users.

Participants then completed a full administration of the facilitator-led TOGETHER group intervention delivered via the adapted website. All intervention sessions were held on a Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act-compliant version of Zoom. The link to join each week's session was visible on the website beginning 36 hours before the session was scheduled to start and remained visible until 2 hours after the session was scheduled to end. Sessions each lasted approximately 2 hours and occurred on the same day of the week at the same time for the duration of the program. Immediately following each session, participants in attendance were sent a unique link to complete a brief electronic survey assessing the acceptability of that session's content and group dvnamics. Participants completed a similar survey postintervention assessing the acceptability of the overall program. Participants completed an individual exit interview with a member of the research team postintervention to provide qualitative feedback on their experience. Participants also completed a battery of patient reported outcome measures at

baseline and postintervention. The battery was consistent with the planned assessment protocol for a future, larger-scale trial; however, given the small sample size, we were not powered to detect effects and therefore did not analyze these data. Participants were compensated US \$50 for completing the baseline and post-intervention assessment batteries, US \$20 for completing the exit interview, and US \$5 for each of the 10 weekly surveys completed. In total, feasibility trial participants had the opportunity to earn up to US \$170.

TOGETHER Intervention

Details of the TOGETHER intervention have been previously published [17]. Briefly, each TOGETHER session consists of 3 main sections: learn and practice relaxation skills (first 30 min), practice skills derived from cognitive behavioral therapy principles (middle 60 min), and discuss YA-relevant health education topics (remaining 30 min). During each session, a facilitator guides participants through new content and leads interactive activities designed to reinforce the content and skills. Facilitators also create opportunities for participants to discuss their personal experiences and develop group rapport. Between sessions, participants complete home practice assignments to promote mastery of the intervention skills, and each session begins with a review of the prior week's home practice. For this feasibility trial, sessions were facilitated by a predoctoral clinical psychology trainee (TKT) under the supervision of the study Principal Investigator (RSF). Sessions were video- and audio-recorded and reviewed during weekly supervision meetings to ensure intervention fidelity.

Primary Outcomes: Feasibility and Acceptability

Feasibility was measured by calculating study recruitment and retention rates and tracking session attendance [31]. Feasibility was defined as achieving a 50% recruitment rate, a 70% retention rate, and average attendance of ≥ 6 of the 10 sessions. These benchmarks were based on rates observed in past studies of similar behavioral interventions in diverse cancer survivors [19,32,33] and in accordance with our prior investigation of the feasibility of TOGETHER content [17]. Acceptability was measured with study-specific weekly and postintervention surveys our team previously developed to assess the acceptability of the TOGETHER content [17]. Survey items assessed participant satisfaction with multiple aspects of TOGETHER and were rated on a Likert scale ranging from 0 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree). For this study, a new item was added to the postintervention acceptability survey assessing the acceptability of the study website. The study was considered acceptable if average scores on the weekly and postintervention survey items were ≥ 2 (ie, neutral or better). Participants also completed the Satisfaction subscale of the USE questionnaire [27,28] postintervention and self-reported demographic and medical information at baseline.

Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize feasibility and acceptability metrics.

Results

Participant Characteristics

Seven YA cancer survivors enrolled in the single-arm feasibility trial, 6 of whom had also participated in usability testing due to practicality reasons. Information about feasibility trial participants' demographic and medical characteristics can be found in Table 1. On average, feasibility trial participants were 25 years old at the time of participation (range 18 - 33) and were 22 years old at the time of incident cancer diagnosis (range 17 - 32). The majority were female (n=5, 71%), non-Hispanic White (n=4, 57%), and had never been married (n=4, 57%). The most well represented cancer types included bone and soft tissue (n=2, 29%) and breast (n=2, 29%).

Feasibility

All feasibility metrics were met. Of 12 seemingly eligible YA cancer survivors who were approached for participation, 7 (58%) consented and enrolled in the study (Multimedia Appendix 2). All 7 participants attended the first group session, after which 1 withdrew, and 1 was lost to follow-up. Of the remaining 5 participants, all were retained through the postintervention assessment (71% of enrolled). Across all 7 participants, the average attendance was 7.1 of the 10 intervention sessions (SD 4.2); however, among the 5 participants who attended at least 2 sessions, the average attendance was 9.6 of the 10 sessions (SD 0.5).

Acceptability

All acceptability metrics were met. Tables 4 and 5 show the average acceptability ratings for each of the 10 weekly sessions and for the overall program, respectively. Pooled average satisfaction with the individual weekly sessions was ≥ 3 for all items. Participants agreed to strongly agreed that they liked the sessions, the content was relevant and helpful, they felt confident with the content, and they felt comfortable and respected in the group. Similarly, at postintervention, the means for all items assessing overall program satisfaction were ≥ 3 , with the exception of an item assessing satisfaction with the website. Based on feedback gathered in exit interviews, low ratings for satisfaction with the website were due to a timing feature that prevented participants from viewing data they had entered (eg, responses to home practice prompts) in subsequent weeks even though the data had been saved. This led some participants to express frustration with the website, particularly when reviewing the prior week's home practice assignments at the start of each session. For example, when asked to share additional information about their experience in the program during exit interviews, one participant stated, "everything was great besides the homework assignments not saving" and another specified, "I would have liked using the website even more if it wouldn't have erased the data. Besides that glitch it seemed quite self-explanatory and would've been used more." This feature has since been fixed.

The Satisfaction subscale of the USE questionnaire supported the acceptability of the program website. The mean score on the overall subscale was 5.06 (SD 1.64), with individual item means ranging from 3.80 to 5.80. The item with the lowest average rating assessed if the website worked as desired, and

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

no items received the lowest possible rating from any participant. When asked to identify the website's most negative aspect(s), multiple participants identified the website not displaying past work properly. Conversely, when asked to identify the website's most positive aspect(s), participants identified the "clean, friendly interface," and described the website as "easy to navigate," and "straight to the point." Some participants also highlighted strengths of the overall program, including the exercises and home practice assignments as well as the value of meeting other YA cancer survivors and learning new tools and skills.

Table . Acceptability of TOGETHER's 10 weekly sessions as delivered through the website. Possible scores range from 0 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree).

Item	Mean (SD) ^a	Observed range ^b
Overall, I liked this session.	3.30 (0.58)	2.44 - 4.00
The content related to was relevant to me.		
a) Relaxation	3.54 (0.55)	2.67 - 4.00
b) Stress management	3.22 (0.77)	2.00 - 4.00
c) Health topics	3.45 (0.57)	2.56 - 4.00
The content related to was helpful to me.		
a) Relaxation	3.29 (0.57)	2.67 - 4.00
b) Stress management	3.25 (0.71)	2.00 - 4.00
c) Health topics	3.19 (0.81)	2.00 - 4.00
I feel confident with the new information and skills covered in this session.	3.37 (0.45)	3.00 - 4.00
I felt comfortable expressing my experiences and feelings in the group.	3.46 (0.73)	2.00 - 4.00
The other group members respected my experi- ences and feelings.	3.69 (0.41)	3.00 - 4.00

^aMeans and standard deviations for each item were pooled across the 10 weekly surveys.

^bObserved range of average values across the 10 weekly surveys.

Table . Acceptability of the overall TOGETHER program as delivered through the website. Possible scores range from 0 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree).

Item	Mean (SD)	Agreed or strongly agreed (%)
Overall, the content was relevant to me.	3.6 (0.5)	100
Overall, the content was helpful to me.	3.6 (0.9)	80
Overall, I liked the program content related to		
·		
a) Relaxation	3.4 (0.5)	100
b) Stress management	3.6 (0.5)	100
c) Health topics	3.2 (0.8)	80
I liked connecting with other YA ^a cancer survivors in the weekly sessions.	4.0 (0.0)	100
I liked using the study website	2.8 (1.3)	60
I plan to continue using the skills I learned.	3.6 (0.5)	100
I would recommend the program to other YA cancer survivors.	3.8 (0.4)	100
Overall, I am glad I decided to participate.	3.8 (0.4)	100

^aYA: young adult.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This manuscript describes the usability, feasibility, and acceptability of a website designed to host the TOGETHER group program for YA cancer survivors. We first adapted an existing digital platform to meet the needs of TOGETHER. Then, consistent with best practices for human-centered design [34], we conducted three waves of iterative usability testing to identify and address challenges with the website's functionality, structure, content, and aesthetics as experienced by YA cancer survivors. Finally, we established the preliminary feasibility and acceptability of the TOGETHER program as delivered through the adapted website.

Usability testing identified desired changes to the website. Interestingly, many of these changes were consistent with feedback provided by YA cancer survivors who evaluated the "Roadmap to Parenthood" web-based decision tool for family building after cancer [35]. For example, usability testers of "Roadmap to Parenthood" reported that pages containing large amounts of content were overwhelming. Therefore, the designers divided content into separate pages and adjusted content to only be visible when a header was clicked. Font sizes and colors were also changed to better clarify the division of text. In Part 1 of this study, we made almost identical adjustments to the TOGETHER website. The consistency of these results suggests that individuals developing digital therapeutics for YA cancer survivors may benefit from considering these findings early in the prototype design process. Of note, usability testing for "Roadmap to Parenthood" also yielded findings related to visibility and navigation that did not emerge in the present study. However, an important distinction between TOGETHER and many other digital health interventions [36] is that TOGETHER is designed to be led in real-time by a group facilitator rather than self-guided. Consequently, users can be oriented to the website's functionality prior to using it for the first time and the website does not need to stand alone, which may explain such discrepancies.

Although usability testing demonstrated that the TOGETHER website was easy to use and learn, the single-session nature of the usability testing precluded evaluation of time-based functionality of the website. This led to challenges during the feasibility trial. While the feasibility and acceptability of TOGETHER were generally strong, the website was the least acceptable aspect of the program. This low satisfaction was most likely due to participants being unable to view content they had previously input into the website at each group meeting. Contrary to participant understanding, the data had not been deleted; however, by the time each group meeting occurred, the prior week's data were no longer displayed back for participants to view. This challenge impacted participant experiences of the website. By identifying this challenge at an early stage of testing,

we have been able to adjust it prior to future, larger-scale testing of TOGETHER. We will re-evaluate the acceptability of the website following this change, consistent with the cyclic nature of user-centered design [37]. Despite this, the average reported acceptability of the website was still better than the identified threshold of 2.0, thus meeting this benchmark. Moreover, the overall acceptability of the website was comparable to what we found when testing the content as delivered via static, text-only PDF workbooks, further supporting the acceptability.

Implications for Health Care and Research

The TOGETHER intervention is one of the first supportive care interventions for YA cancer survivors that fulfills their expressed desires for convenience (eg, digital delivery) and peer connection. By providing the program digitally, we have further increased its convenience, taking a step toward fulfilling YAs' priorities and increasing dissemination potential. Future research is needed to test the intervention's efficacy for improving HRQOL, to explore approaches for increasing intervention efficiency, and to explore strategies for implementation both within and outside of the healthcare system.

Limitations

Usability testers were not given an opportunity to explore the website independently but rather were directed to complete prescribed tasks and answer specific questions. Although the prescribed tasks reflected what a YA would need to be able to do to engage with the intervention (eg, log in, navigate to session content), it is possible that additional opportunities to enhance usability could have been identified had the usability testers been given an opportunity for non-directed exploration. Of note, feasibility trial participants were given an opportunity to provide non-directed usability feedback during exit interviews. Another limitation is that the sample size for the feasibility trial was small, even when combined with our prior testing of the TOGETHER content. This is particularly true given that, due to practicality, 6 participants were included in both the usability testing sample and the feasibility trial sample, which could have impacted our findings. Further data are needed to confirm the observed results. The small sample size also precluded evaluation of the intervention's effects on theorized outcomes.

Conclusions

Study results support the usability, feasibility, and acceptability of the TOGETHER program and website. The incorporation of YA cancer survivors' feedback into the development of the intervention content and delivery platform is consistent with their expressed desires to be actively engaged in research [21] and likely contributed to the high observed acceptability. Additionally, by enabling digital delivery of TOGETHER, we have directly responded to YAs' expressed priority that interventions be convenient [20-22]. Larger-scale testing is needed to establish the efficacy of TOGETHER and explore alternative study designs to increase efficiency.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to gratefully acknowledge the young adult cancer survivors who participated in this study. We would also like to thank Marjorie Barrera and Ana Acuña Morales for their contribution to this work. This study was supported in part by

an Institutional Research Grant from the American Cancer Society (IRG-18-161-40, Pilot Project PI: RSF) and the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health (P30CA023074). RSF was supported by the National Cancer Institute (K08CA247973, PI: RSF). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Conflicts of Interest

DY is the President and chief executive officer of BrightOutcome Inc. MHA is a paid consultant for Blue Note Therapeutics. The authors declare there are no other conflicts of interest to disclose.

Multimedia Appendix 1 TOGETHER session 1 screenshot. [DOCX File, 127 KB - cancer_v10i1e58014_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Participant flow diagram. [DOCX File, 68 KB - cancer_v10i1e58014_app2.docx]

References

- 1. Cancer facts and figures 2020: special section: cancer in adolescents and young adults. American Cancer Society. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-statistics/annual-cancer-facts-and-figures/</u>2020/special-section-cancer-in-adolescents-and-young-adults-2020.pdf [accessed 2024-11-25]
- 2. Patterson P, McDonald FEJ, Zebrack B, Medlow S. Emerging issues among adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. Semin Oncol Nurs 2015 Feb;31(1):53-59. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.soncn.2014.11.006</u>]
- 3. Parsons HM, Harlan LC, Lynch CF, et al. Impact of cancer on work and education among adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol 2012 Jul 1;30(19):2393-2400. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.39.6333] [Medline: 22614977]
- 4. Kwak M, Zebrack BJ, Meeske KA, et al. Trajectories of psychological distress in adolescent and young adult patients with cancer: a 1-year longitudinal study. J Clin Oncol 2013 Jun 10;31(17):2160-2166. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.45.9222] [Medline: 23650425]
- 5. D'Agostino NM, Edelstein K. Psychosocial challenges and resource needs of young adult cancer survivors: implications for program development. J Psychosoc Oncol 2013 Nov;31(6):585-600. [doi: 10.1080/07347332.2013.835018]
- 6. Quinn GP, Gonçalves V, Sehovic I, Bowman ML, Reed DR. Quality of life in adolescent and young adult cancer patients: a systematic review of the literature. Patient Relat Outcome Meas 2015;6:19-51. [doi: <u>10.2147/PROM.S51658</u>] [Medline: <u>25733941</u>]
- Lang MJ, David V, Giese-Davis J. The age conundrum: a scoping review of younger age or adolescent and young adult as a risk factor for clinical distress, depression, or anxiety in cancer. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2015 Dec;4(4):157-173. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2015.0005] [Medline: 26697266]
- De R, Zabih V, Kurdyak P, et al. Psychiatric disorders in adolescent and young adult-onset cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2020 Feb;9(1):12-22. [doi: <u>10.1089/jayao.2019.0097</u>] [Medline: <u>31674879</u>]
- Kwak M, Zebrack BJ, Meeske KA, et al. Prevalence and predictors of post-traumatic stress symptoms in adolescent and young adult cancer survivors: a 1-year follow-up study. Psychooncology 2013 Aug;22(8):1798-1806. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.3217</u>] [Medline: <u>23135830</u>]
- Sanford SD, Zhao F, Salsman JM, Chang VT, Wagner LI, Fisch MJ. Symptom burden among young adults with breast or colorectal cancer. Cancer 2014 Aug 1;120(15):2255-2263. [doi: <u>10.1002/cncr.28297</u>] [Medline: <u>24890659</u>]
- DeRouen MC, Smith AW, Tao L, et al. Cancer-related information needs and cancer's impact on control over life influence health-related quality of life among adolescents and young adults with cancer. Psychooncology 2015 Sep;24(9):1104-1115. [doi: 10.1002/pon.3730] [Medline: 25611943]
- Kent EE, Smith AW, Keegan THM, et al. Talking about cancer and meeting peer survivors: social information needs of adolescents and young adults diagnosed with cancer. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2013 Jun;2(2):44-52. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2012.0029] [Medline: 23781400]
- 13. Bellver-Pérez A, Peris-Juan C, Santaballa-Beltrán A. Effectiveness of therapy group in women with localized breast cancer. Int J Clin Health Psychol 2019 May;19(2):107-114. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijchp.2019.02.001</u>] [Medline: <u>31193149</u>]
- Schellekens MPJ, Tamagawa R, Labelle LE, et al. Mindfulness-Based Cancer Recovery (MBCR) versus Supportive Expressive Group Therapy (SET) for distressed breast cancer survivors: evaluating mindfulness and social support as mediators. J Behav Med 2017 Jun;40(3):414-422. [doi: 10.1007/s10865-016-9799-6] [Medline: 27722908]
- Duncan M, Moschopoulou E, Herrington E, et al. Review of systematic reviews of non-pharmacological interventions to improve quality of life in cancer survivors. BMJ Open 2017 Nov 28;7(11):e015860. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjopen-2017-015860</u>] [Medline: <u>29187408</u>]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e58014

- Rehse B, Pukrop R. Effects of psychosocial interventions on quality of life in adult cancer patients: meta analysis of 37 published controlled outcome studies. Patient Educ Couns 2003 Jun;50(2):179-186. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0738-3991(02)00149-0</u>] [Medline: <u>12781933</u>]
- Oswald LB, Lyleroehr M, Gudenkauf LM, et al. Development and initial testing of TOGETHER-YA: an eHealth-delivered and group-based psychosocial intervention for young adult cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 2022 Dec;30(12):10067-10076. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-022-07382-y</u>] [Medline: <u>36229547</u>]
- Antoni MH. Stress management effects on psychological, endocrinological, and immune functioning in men with HIV infection: empirical support for a psychoneuroimmunological model. Stress 2003 Jan;6(3):173-188. [doi: 10.1080/1025389031000156727]
- 19. Penedo FJ, Fox RS, Oswald LB, et al. Technology-based psychosocial intervention to improve quality of life and reduce symptom burden in men with advanced prostate cancer: results from a randomized controlled trial. Int J Behav Med 2020 Oct;27(5):490-505. [doi: 10.1007/s12529-019-09839-7] [Medline: 31898309]
- 20. Rabin C, Simpson N, Morrow K, Pinto B. Intervention format and delivery preferences among young adult cancer survivors. Int J Behav Med 2013 Jun;20(2):304-310. [doi: 10.1007/s12529-012-9227-4] [Medline: 22328444]
- 21. Benedict C, Victorson D, Love B, et al. The audacity of engagement: hearing directly from young adults with cancer on their attitudes and perceptions of cancer survivorship and cancer survivorship research. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2018 Feb;7(1):103-111. [doi: 10.1089/jayao.2017.0038] [Medline: 29022839]
- 22. Oswald LB, Victorson DE, Fox RS. Young adult cancer survivors' preferences for supportive interventions. Psychooncology 2021 Jun;30(6):982-985. [doi: 10.1002/pon.5664] [Medline: 33624384]
- 23. Kinzie MB, Cohn WF, Julian MF, Knaus WA. A user-centered model for web site design: needs assessment, user interface design, and rapid prototyping. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2002;9(4):320-330. [doi: 10.1197/jamia.m0822] [Medline: 12087113]
- 24. Puccinelli M, Seay J, Otto A, et al. An adapted cognitive behavioral stress and self-management intervention for sexual minority men living with HIV and cancer using the SmartManage eHealth platform: protocol and study design. JMIR Res Protoc 2022 Jul 18;11(7):e37822. [doi: 10.2196/37822] [Medline: 35849435]
- 25. Sauro J, Lewis JR. Quantifying the User Experience: Practical Statistics for User Research: Morgan Kaufmann; 2016. [doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-802308-2.00002-3]
- 26. Graham AK, Lattie EG, Mohr DC. Experimental therapeutics for digital mental health. JAMA Psychiatry 2019 Dec 1;76(12):1223-1224. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.2075] [Medline: 31433448]
- 27. Lund AM. Measuring usability with the use questionnaire. Usability Interface 2001;8:3-6 [FREE Full text]
- Gao M, Kortum P, Oswald F. Psychometric evaluation of the USE (Usefulness, Satisfaction, and Ease of USE) Questionnaire for reliability and validity. Proc Hum Factors Ergon Soc Annu Meet 2018 Sep;62(1):1414-1418. [doi: 10.1177/1541931218621322]
- 29. Gale RC, Wu J, Erhardt T, et al. Comparison of rapid vs in-depth qualitative analytic methods from a process evaluation of academic detailing in the Veterans Health Administration. Implement Sci 2019 Feb 1;14(1):11. [doi: 10.1186/s13012-019-0853-y] [Medline: 30709368]
- 30. University of Arizona. Tech-TYA: eHealth platform to deliver group intervention for YA cancer survivors. ClinicalTrials.gov. 2024. URL: <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT05597228?intr=tech-tya&rank=1</u> [accessed 2024-08-19]
- 31. Bowen DJ, Kreuter M, Spring B, et al. How we design feasibility studies. Am J Prev Med 2009 May;36(5):452-457. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.02.002] [Medline: 19362699]
- Yanez B, McGinty HL, Mohr DC, et al. Feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of a technology-assisted psychosocial intervention for racially diverse men with advanced prostate cancer. Cancer 2015 Dec 15;121(24):4407-4415. [doi: <u>10.1002/cncr.29658</u>] [Medline: <u>26348661</u>]
- Antoni MH, Lechner SC, Kazi A, et al. How stress management improves quality of life after treatment for breast cancer. J Consult Clin Psychol 2006 Dec;74(6):1143-1152. [doi: <u>10.1037/0022-006X.74.6.1152</u>] [Medline: <u>17154743</u>]
- Lyon AR, Koerner K. User-centered design for psychosocial intervention development and implementation. Clin Psychol (New York) 2016 Jun;23(2):180-200. [doi: <u>10.1111/cpsp.12154</u>] [Medline: <u>29456295</u>]
- Benedict C, Dauber-Decker KL, Ford JS, et al. Development of a web-based decision aid and planning tool for family building after cancer (roadmap to parenthood): usability testing. JMIR Cancer 2022 May 31;8(2):e33304. [doi: <u>10.2196/33304</u>] [Medline: <u>35639461</u>]
- 36. Devine KA, Viola AS, Coups EJ, Wu YP. Digital health interventions for adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2018 Dec;2:1-15. [doi: 10.1200/CCI.17.00138] [Medline: 30652583]
- Mohr DC, Lyon AR, Lattie EG, Reddy M, Schueller SM. Accelerating digital mental health research from early design and creation to successful implementation and sustainment. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 10;19(5):e153. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7725] [Medline: 28490417]

Abbreviations

RenderX

HRQOL: health-related quality of life **USE:** Usefulness, Satisfaction, and Ease of Use questionnaire

YA: young adult

Edited by J Bender; submitted 06.03.24; peer-reviewed by K Devine, S Janssen; revised version received 21.08.24; accepted 16.09.24; published 04.12.24.

Please cite as:

Fox RS, Torres TK, Badger TA, Katsanis E, Yang D, Sanford SD, Victorson DE, Yanez B, Penedo FJ, Antoni MH, Oswald LB Delivering a Group-Based Quality of Life Intervention to Young Adult Cancer Survivors via a Web Platform: Feasibility Trial JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e58014 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e58014 doi:10.2196/58014

© Rina S Fox, Tara K Torres, Terry A Badger, Emmanuel Katsanis, DerShung Yang, Stacy D Sanford, David E Victorson, Betina Yanez, Frank J Penedo, Michael H Antoni, Laura B Oswald. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 4.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Implementation of Regular Lifestyle Counseling During Long-Term Follow-Up Care of Childhood Cancer Survivors: Monocentric Prospective Study

Franziska Richter¹, MA; Lea Louisa Kronziel², MSc; Inke König², Prof Dr; Thorsten Langer¹, Prof Dr Med; Judith Gebauer³, Dr Med

¹Department of Pediatric Oncology and Hematology, University Medical Center Schleswig-Holstein, Lübeck, Germany

²Institute of Medical Biometry and Statistics, University of Luebeck, Lübeck, Germany

³Department of Internal Medicine I, University Medical Center Schleswig-Holstein, Lübeck, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Franziska Richter, MA Department of Pediatric Oncology and Hematology, University Medical Center Schleswig-Holstein, Lübeck, Germany

Abstract

Background: Many childhood cancer survivors (CCS) develop treatment-related late effects, including an increased risk of obesity and metabolic syndrome. A healthy lifestyle can reduce the risk of associated comorbidities. Therefore, at-risk CCS could benefit from lifestyle counseling during regular long-term follow-up (LTFU).

Objective: We implemented a new form of care to decrease the long-term morbidity among CCS and to gain new insights into the lifestyle of those patients.

Methods: Over a 1-year study period, lifestyle counseling was integrated into LTFU care. Metabolic disorders, including hypercholesterolemia, diabetes mellitus, overweight or underweight, and low activity levels, were assessed as screening parameters for various risk groups. The perspectives of CCS, physicians, and sports scientists were compared to identify those with the highest needs. Each lifestyle counseling included general recommendations for physical activity, as well as an assessment of individual preferences for and barriers to the implementation of a healthy lifestyle. A follow-up appointment after 1 month was performed.

Results: Of the 155 CCS aged 18 to 63 years (n=100, 65% female and n=55, 35% male), 112 (72%) had an indication for lifestyle counseling, identified by physicians, sports scientists, or the CCS themselves. Metabolic disorders affected 45% (n=70) of these CCS, and 46% (n=72) did not meet recommended activity levels. A total of 120 (77%) CCS received lifestyle counseling, including 8 initially uninterested individuals who became open to recommendations. Those with intensive cancer treatment history showed the greatest need. A total of 65 (54%) CCS were advised to change their lifestyle in both areas (diet and exercise) while 51 (43%) CCS received recommendations for only exercise (n=43 CCS, 36%) or diet (n=8 CCS, 7%). A total of 4 (3%) CCS, although interested in counseling, received no advice, as they already met the recommendations. Follow-up revealed high adherence to recommendations and successful integration into daily lives. In total, 97% (n=150) of survivors indicated that the provision of lifestyle counseling during LTFU would be generally beneficial.

Conclusions: Incorporating specialized health care professionals such as sports scientists into survivorship care enhances the multidisciplinary approach of LTFU care. Promoting a healthy lifestyle by offering guideline-based lifestyle counseling is broadly accepted among CCS and may reduce long-term morbidity.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e59614) doi:10.2196/59614

KEYWORDS

lifestyle counseling; long-term follow-up; childhood cancer survivors; physical activity; metabolic disorders; cancer survivor; treatment-related; risk of obesity; metabolic syndrome; healthy lifestyle; morbidity; patient; hypercholesterolemia; diabetes mellitus; health care professionals

Introduction

RenderX

Due to improved treatment modalities, the proportion of patients surviving childhood and adolescent cancer has been steadily increasing in recent decades, and 5-year overall survival now

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e59614
```

exceeds 85% in German childhood cancer survivors (CCS) [1]. Currently, more than 40,000 former patients are included in the long-term follow-up (LTFU) cohort of the German Childhood Cancer Registry [2]. These CCS were diagnosed with cancer at least 5 years ago, so regular oncological follow-up has usually

already been completed. During their lifetime, many of these survivors are affected by further health problems and diseases caused by the cancer and its therapy, so-called late effects [3]. These can manifest in different organs of the entire body. Due to hormonal changes and altered body composition that may occur during or after therapy, the risk of obesity and associated diseases such as diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, and hypertension increases [4]. Cardiovascular disease, in turn, is among the most common nonmalignant causes of death in survivors of cancer, with some groups such as Hodgkin lymphoma survivors having a particularly high risk [5,6]. Long-term sequelae may not only manifest in physical form; many CCS develop psychological problems, particularly depression or fatigue syndrome, during or even years after cessation of cancer treatment [7,8]. For these CCS at risk, it is particularly important to develop interventions or treatments that can positively influence their long-term health.

According to Smith et al [9], over 70% of CCS do not meet the lifestyle guidelines of the World Cancer Research Fund. Furthermore, in more than 30% of the adult CCS (median age: 32.7 years, 1598 participants), metabolic syndrome was already prevalent, which is a combination of metabolic parameters associated with increased cardiovascular risk. Consequently, multiple studies evaluated the effect of counseling on CCS' lifestyle and could demonstrate a reduction in comorbidities, as well as a better quality of life due to a healthy lifestyle [10,11]. Furthermore, blood pressure in CCS improved due to lifestyle counseling in previous studies [12]. Therefore, a healthier lifestyle could result in less comorbidities including metabolic syndrome among CCS [10]. A healthy lifestyle in this context includes in general no smoking, the awareness of alcohol consumption, and regular physical activity, as well as a vitamin and nutrition-rich diet [13].

Additionally, previous studies demonstrated that the occurrence of late effects can be positively influenced by regular physical activity, exercise, and a healthy diet [14,15]. Especially avoiding overweight and obesity has a significant impact on the severity of late effects associated with the metabolic syndrome [11]. According to Hammoud et al [16], despite the available guidelines, many cardiometabolic risk factors in CCS remain underdiagnosed or undertreated although CCS have a 4-fold increased risk of cardiac-related mortality compared to the general population. The authors, therefore, recommend further studies that incorporate nutrition, as well as physical activity, taking into account the heterogeneity of late effects and the impact of cancer treatment on the individual's physical abilities. Both the type and intensity of exercise may differ from the type of sport practiced before the disease, but physical activity, in general, has a benefit [15] as it not only improves body composition and reduces the risk of future health conditions, it also often positively affects mental health [17]. Additional factors such as age, gender, and socioeconomic status (that correlate inversely with the risk of obesity) also need to be considered in lifestyle counseling [18-20]. As interest in lifestyle counseling may decrease with increasing time interval from diagnosis and late effects often do not manifest until adulthood, it is especially important to inform and counsel children, adolescents, and young adults about the importance of

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e59614
```

prevention in terms of a healthy lifestyle [21]. The earlier the education about a healthy lifestyle including physical activity and healthy nutrition starts, the more likely this behavior will be maintained in future life [22]. Therefore, the implementation of regular lifestyle counseling within the framework of LTFU care could be a useful and practical approach to informing CCS about a healthy lifestyle in order to prevent future diseases.

In 2014, an interdisciplinary LTFU clinic for CCS ("LTFU clinic") was established at the University Medical Center Schleswig-Holstein, Campus Luebeck [23]. Among others, we were a consortium partner in the multicenter study CARE for CAYA that took place from 2018 to 2021 and provided specialized lifestyle counseling for high-risk CCS [24]. Based on these experiences, we decided to implement lifestyle counseling as part of standard care for every CCS during their regular visit to our LTFU clinic. It included general, guideline-based recommendations, as well as individualized content based on the survivor's needs. Risk factors for cardiometabolic diseases such as cancer treatment, age, gender, and socioeconomic status were assessed to identify high-risk CCS. Additionally, we performed an analysis to determine how many CCS are in need of lifestyle counseling according to current guidelines [11,13] due to pre-existing metabolic diseases and how they accepted and implemented counseling into their daily life. A subgroup analysis was conducted to identify CCS who may escape standard inclusion criteria for lifestyle counseling. Furthermore, we aimed to develop and establish a lifestyle counseling program considering the physician's, the sports scientist's, and CCS' perspective on who could benefit most from counseling that, due to limited resources, would be mainly limited to at-risk CCS in most settings.

Methods

Study Population

In this study, lifestyle counseling as a routine care offer was implemented within regular LTFU care. All CCS visiting our late effects clinic from February 2022 to the end of January 2023 were offered to participate in lifestyle counseling. They were informed about this offer several weeks before their visit to the LTFU clinic by phone and asked to participate in this study during their stay in the clinic. Survivors who were 18 years or older at initial cancer diagnosis but had undergone cancer treatment in our local department for pediatric oncology, mainly young adults with medulloblastoma, were also transitioned to our late effects clinic and thus analyzed as part of the study group. Risk stratification into three different risk groups, based on survivors' initial cancer diagnosis and treatment, their risk for late effects, and their need for LTFU examinations, was performed according to Gebauer et al [25], with risk group 1 corresponding to a low, group 2 to a medium, and group 3 to a high risk for late effects.

Inclusion Criteria

Inclusion criteria were hypercholesterolemia (total cholesterol \geq 5.0 mmol/L), diabetes mellitus (preexisting or hemoglobin A_{1c} [HbA_{1c}] \geq 6.5%), BMI \leq 18.5 or \geq 30 kg/m², not reaching the recommended activity time (<150 minutes moderate or <75

XSL•FO

minutes vigorous activity time per week), or the need for counseling expressed by the survivor [11].

These inclusion criteria were based on three different perspectives on who would benefit most from counseling: the perspective of the survivor (expresses the need for counseling), the perspective of the sports scientist (focus on activity level and anthropometric data), and the perspective of the treating physician (focus on metabolic diseases).

Exclusion Criteria

CCS who were not interested in lifestyle counseling or study participation were excluded from this study.

Assessment of Inclusion Criteria

HbA_{1c} was assessed in order to check if CCS were in a diabetic or prediabetic condition (HbA_{1c} level between 5.7% and 6.4%) [26]. For BMI calculation, most CCS were measured wearing clothes, as well as with their prosthesis, if needed. Only one CCS came to the LTFU care without a prosthesis, therefore, we used a formula to correct the BMI for CCS with amputated limbs [27]. Additionally, we calculated the BMI with the Amputee Coalition BMI Calculator Widget.

Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the ethics committee of the University of Luebeck (registration 18 - 087) and conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975. Informed consent was obtained from all participants included in the study, with the ability to opt-out. Data were saved anonymously. Patients took part in the study voluntarily and received no compensation other than counseling.

Lifestyle Counseling

Every counseling was performed by the same sports scientist (FR) with several years of experience in counseling of CCS. It was scheduled for 30 minutes and took place in the LTFU clinic right after the regular LTFU visit. The CCS were informed about the appointment before they attended their appointment in the LTFU clinic. Medical and anthropometric data was documented in the clinic's database. Additionally, CCS were asked to answer a set of lifestyle questions (physical activity time, daily activity, and nutritional status) to evaluate to which extent the lifestyle recommendations from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Cancer Society (ASC) were already implemented [11]. Due to those guidelines, cancer survivors should be physically active for at least 150 minutes per week with moderate intensity or 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity. Physical activity should be performed for at least 10 minutes at a time, and sedentary activities should be avoided or reduced. It is also recommended that adults perform strength exercises at least twice a week for the major muscle groups [11,28]. Every CCS was asked to assess their subjective requirement for the need for nutrition or sports counseling. Sports behavior, as well as nutrition behavior, was assessed by subjective questioning.

During counseling, the sports scientist referred to the recommendations of the ASC and German Nutrition Society, considering the third, updated, and evidence-based ASC

nutrition and physical activity guideline for cancer survivors that was published early during the study period in 2022 [11,29]. In addition to pointing out general recommendations, the sports scientist emphasized individual aspects that were not in concordance with the guidelines. Consequently, although every CCS was asked the same set of questions, the content of lifestyle counseling depended on the CCS's individual needs (Multimedia Appendix 1). If CCS already met the recommendations for physical activity and were still interested in the counseling, counseling focused on general lifestyle advices according to the guidelines from Rock et al [11] such as smoking cessation and nutrition counseling.

After 4 weeks, every CCS received a remote follow-up appointment, to check whether they were able to implement the recommendations in their daily life and whether they benefited from the counseling (Multimedia Appendix 1). All statements were answered subjectively.

Statistical Analysis

For descriptive statistics, the median and range were calculated for continuous variables. For categorical variables, the absolute number, as well as the relative number of the respective category, is presented.

Qualitative data were analyzed descriptively. They were only collected for one question in a structured follow-up interview by phone ("effect of lifestyle counseling"). The first author (FR) made field notes during the interview. Afterward, the perceived effect was categorized into three different subcategories (weight loss, quality of life including more joy, balance, and satisfaction, or both). These categories were determined after obtaining an overview of patients' responses. This approach was supervised by JG. Reliability was tested by asking patients about their current weight and comparing this answer to the documented weight in the database.

The programming language R (version 4.2.2; R Core Team) was used for the entire analysis of the data.

Subgroup Analysis

For further analysis, three subgroup analyses were defined to gain a better overview of CCS who may escape standard inclusion criteria for lifestyle counseling. Subgroup 1 was considered to include the CCS who had a need for counseling based only on the criteria of the sports scientist and not from the physician's point of view. Subgroup 2 included CCS who requested lifestyle counseling but did not need it based on the inclusion criteria. Subgroup 3 included CCS who met the inclusion criteria but rejected the offer for counseling. We descriptively compared the subgroups regarding relevant characteristics using the chi-square test or Fisher exact test where appropriate.

Results

Survivors' Characteristics

Overall, lifestyle counseling was offered to 155 CCS (n=100, 65% female and n=55, 35% male), who had a median age of 30 years (IQR 24-39.5) with a range of 18 to 63 years. Most CCS underlying diseases were lymphoma (n=45, 29%),

leukemia (n=42, 27%), and brain tumors (34/155, 22%). The median age at first diagnosis was 12 years (IQR 5-16) with a range of 0 to 35 years. In terms of diagnosis and therapy, 18 (12%) CCS were assigned to risk group 1, 42 (27%) CCS to risk group 2, and 95 (61%) CCS to risk group 3. A total of 61% (11/18) of survivors assigned to risk group 1 had an indication for lifestyle counseling and 45% (19/42) of those assigned to risk group 2. In the group with the highest risk for late effects (risk group 3), 72% (68/95) had need for lifestyle counseling.

Detailed information on the characteristics of the CCS is shown in Table 1. In addition, 29 (19%) survivors were in a prediabetic condition, of which 10 (6%) survivors were not included in the needs analysis as they did not meet any inclusion criteria. Furthermore, 82 (53%) of all CCS already received previous nutrition or sports counseling, either organized by themselves, during rehabilitation stays, or while being part of the study CARE for CAYA [21].

Table . Characteristics of the study population (n=155).

Characteristics		Survivors (n=155)		
Sex, n (%)				
	Female	100 (64.5)		
	Male	55 (35.5)		
Age at counseling (years)				
	Median (IQR)	30 (24-39.5)		
	Range	18-63		
Age at cancer diagnosis (years)				
	Median (IQR)	12 (5-16)		
	Range	0-35		
Primary cancer diagnosis ^a , n (%	6)			
• • • • • •	Lymphomas	45 (29)		
	Leukemias	42 (27.1)		
	Brain tumors	34 (21.9)		
	Sarcomas	19 (12.3)		
	Embryonic tumors	7 (4.52)		
	Rare tumors	8 (5.2)		
Radiation, n (%)		95 (61.3)		
Total body or skull irradiation, n (%))	61 (39.4)		
Chemotherapy, n (%)		142 (91.6)		
Stem cell transplantation, n (%)		25 (16.1)		
Operation, n (%)		75 (48.4)		
Recurrence or relapse		27 (17.4)		
Risk group, n (%)				
	1	18 (11.6)		
	2	42 (27.1)		
	3	95 (61.3)		
Education level ^a , n(%)				
	No school degree	2 (1.3)		
	Lower secondary education or less (ISCED ≤ 2)	14 (9)		
	Upper secondary+ non-tertiary postsecondary education (ISCED 3 - 4)	48 (30.9)		
	Tertiary education (ISCED \geq 5)	91 (58.7)		
Previous lifestyle counseling, n (%)		82 (52.9)		
Desire for lifestyle counseling, n (%	%)			
	Sports and nutrition	39 (25.2)		
	Sports	27 (17.4)		
	Nutrition	15 (9.7)		
	None	74 (47.7)		
Lifestyle counseling performed, n (%	6)	120 (77.4)		
Recommendations, n (%)				
	Sports and nutrition	65 (54.2)		
	Sports	43 (35.8)		

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e59614

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e59614 | p.454 (page number not for citation purposes)

JMIR CANCER		Richter et al
Characteristics		Survivors (n=155)
	Nutrition	8 (6.7)
	None	4 (3.3)

^aAccording to the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) [30].

Needs Analysis and Lifestyle Counseling

Lifestyle counseling was provided to 120 survivors (response rate 77.4%) including 112 survivors with a need for counseling from either the physician's, the sports scientist's, or the CCS' perspective (Table 2). Additionally, 8 CCS opted for lifestyle counseling after receiving further study information although they initially did not indicate the need for it. They were open to recommendations and the talk turned into counseling.

For 27 (17%) survivors, there was no need for counseling, while the remaining 8 (5%) survivors did not want counseling even

though there was a need from either the physician's or the sports scientist's perspective.

As the inclusion criteria for this study were based on the perspective of the survivor, the sports scientist, and the treating physician on who would benefit most from lifestyle counseling, we analyzed the need for counseling considering these three approaches. The indication for lifestyle counseling based on these different perspectives only matched in 39 (35%) CCS (Figure 1).

Table. Percentage of survivors (n=155) meeting the different inclusion criteria (activity [<150 min per week], BMI [\leq 18.5 or \geq 30 kg/m²], diabetes mellitus [preexistent or HbA_{1c} \geq 6.5%], hypercholesterolemia [\geq 5 mmol/L], and desire by patient).

Inclusion criteria	Survivors (n=155), n (%)
Activity	72 (46.5)
BMI	38 (24.5)
Diabetes mellitus	9 (5.8)
Hypercholesterolemia	43 (27.7)
Desire by patient	81 (52.3)

The median duration of the consultation was 25 (IQR 15-30) minutes, with a range of 10 to 60 minutes. Most frequently, CCS (65/120, 54%) were advised to change their lifestyle in both areas (diet and exercise). Furthermore, 51 out of the 120 (43%) CCS received recommendations for only exercise

(43/120, 36%) or diet (8/120, 7%). There were 4 out of 120 (3%) CCS who, although interested in counseling, received no advice as they already met the lifestyle recommendations.

Almost all CCS (150/155, 97%) indicated that a general offer of lifestyle counseling would be useful in the context of LTFU.

Figure 1. Overlap in the indication for lifestyle counseling based on the different perspectives of the physician, sports scientist, and childhood cancer survivor.



Follow-Up Interview

For motivational reasons and to check whether CCS were able to implement the recommendations, all CCS with counseling were asked if they wanted a second interview. A total of 16 (14%) CCS did not want, or as they already met the lifestyle recommendations, were not selected for a second interview. In 53 (44%) CCS, it could not be performed due to difficulties with the appointment arrangement outside of the regular LTFU interval. A second interview was performed in 51 (43%) CCS within 1 month. Of these, 49 (96%) CCS reported to have implemented the recommendations of the sports scientist in at least one of the areas, consisting of exercise and diet (Table 3), and 33 (65%) CCS reported to have improved their lifestyle in both areas, although only 21 (41%) CCS received counseling in both areas. In addition, 33 out of 51 (65%) CCS desired further support and counseling. Moreover, 50 CCS attending the follow-up appointment initially indicated that lifestyle counseling should be part of the LTFU care and confirmed this statement in the second consultation. One CCS indicated only in the follow-up appointment that lifestyle counseling would be useful.



Table . Characteristics of CCS^a who participated in the follow-up interview 1 month after lifestyle counseling.

Assessed at first counseling		Survivors (n=51)
Inclusion criteria (sports scientist), n (%)		36 (71)
Inclusion criteria (physician), n (%)		30 (59)
Desire of counseling (CCS), n (%)		32 (63)
Characteristics at follow-up		
Subjective benefit, n (%)		
	No	2 (4)
	Yes	47 (92)
	Unclear	2 (4)
Implementation of the recomme	ndations, n (%)	
	Both	33 (65)
	Sports	8 (16)
	Nutrition	8 (16)
	No	2 (4)
Duration of the counseling (min	utes)	
	Median (IQR)	12 (10-19)
	Range	8 - 40
Effect perceived, n (%)		38 (75)
	Yes, weight loss	2 (4)
	Yes, quality of life	26 (51)
	Yes, both	8 (16)
	No	15 (29)

^aCCS: childhood cancer survivors.

Subgroup Analysis

Although the physicians' and sports scientists' inclusion criteria overlapped, 26 (17%) CCS need for counseling were only identified based on the sports scientist's perspective (subgroup 1). A second interview was conducted with 13 of these CCS 1 month later, during which 12 (92%) CCS reported having benefited from counseling.

In addition, 14 (9%) CCS expressed a need for counseling from a personal point of view, although they did not meet the

inclusion criteria from the physician's or sports scientist's perspective (subgroup 2). A second interview (recommended for 9 of these CCS) was conducted with 5 CCS, 4 (80%) of whom stated that they had benefited from the counseling.

Furthermore, 31 (20%) CCS did not express a need for counseling, although they met the inclusion criteria (subgroup 3). A total of 23 (74%) CCS agreed to receive lifestyle counseling. One month later, 15 of 16 (94%) participating CCS reported having benefited from counseling. These subgroups are also shown in more detail in Table 4.



Table . Characteristics of childhood cancer survivors in the subgroup analysis, subdivided into three subgroups.

Characteristics		Subgroup 1 ^a (n=26), n (%)	Subgroup 2 ^b (n=14), n (%)	Subgroup 3 ^c (n=31), n (%)	Descriptive <i>P</i> value ^d
Sex					.19
	Female	19 (73)	10 (71)	16 (52)	
	Male	7 (27)	4 (29)	15 (48)	
Risk group					.49
	1	3 (12)	3 (21)	2 (7)	
	2	7 (27)	4 (29)	6 (19)	
	3	16 (62)	7 (50)	23 (74)	
Indication for couns	eling by sports scientist	26 (100)	0 (0)	25 (81)	Not performed
Indication for couns	eling by physician	0 (0)	0 (0)	23 (74)	Not performed
Desire for counselir	g	18 (69)	14 (100)	0 (0)	Not performed
Counseling perform	ed	25 (96)	13 (93)	23 (74)	.05
Follow-up appoint	ment ^e				.59
	Performed	13 (50)	5 (36)	16 (52)	
	Not indicated by sports scientist or survivor	2 (8)	5 (36)	9 (29)	
	Not feasible	11 (42)	4 (29)	6 (19)	
Implementation of	the recommendations				.35
	Both	7 (27)	3 (21)	9 (29)	
	Sports	4 (15)	0 (0)	4 (13)	
	Nutrition	1 (4)	1 (7)	3 (10)	
	No	1 (4)	1 (7)	0 (0)	
	No follow-up	0 (0)	9 (64)	15 (48)	

^aSubgroup 1: survivors who have a need for counseling based only on the inclusion criteria of the sports scientist and not from the physician's point of view.

^bSubgroup 2: survivors who want lifestyle counseling but do not need it based on the criteria.

^cSubgroup 3: survivors who need counseling based on the criteria but did not express a desire for counseling.

^dDescriptive *P*-value from chi-square test (sex, follow-up appointment, implementation of the recommendations) and Fisher exact test (risk group, counseling performed).

^eFor follow-up appointment, we tested performed versus all other categories, and for implementation of the recommendations, we tested implementation of at least one recommendation versus all other categories.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Worldwide, as a result of advances in cancer treatment and diagnostics, the proportion of long-term cancer survivors is rapidly increasing [31]. As many of these survivors develop chronic health conditions later in life, prevention measures gain importance in follow-up care and management of these CCS in order to reduce long-term morbidity and maintain a good health-related quality of life. Regular physical activity can have a major impact on metabolic health and reduce risk factors for metabolic syndrome [11,17,32]. As shown in previous studies, long-term sequelae, like diabetes mellitus and obesity, occur more often in CCS than in the general population and contribute to elevated morbidity and mortality risk. This risk can be

RenderX

diminished by implementing a healthy lifestyle based on regular physical activity and a healthy diet [15,33].

In this study, indications for, as well as the feasibility of, regular lifestyle counseling in an unselected cohort of long-term CCS in a specialized LTFU care setting were prospectively evaluated. In addition, we aimed to identify CCS who could particularly benefit from counseling based on three different perspectives (physician's, CCS', and sports scientist's view).

During the study, over 77% (120 out of 155) of the CCS received lifestyle counseling with a special focus on physical activity and nutrition. About 48% (n=74) of these CCS expressed no need for counseling initially, but were either interested in lifestyle recommendations or had indicators for counseling (based on metabolic risk constellations or reduced physical activity). Consequently, 39 CCS received lifestyle counseling who initially did not state a need for it.

Due to difficulties in contacting, only 51 CCS received a follow-up appointment. Almost all of these CCS (48/51, 94%) indicated that they benefited from lifestyle counseling which is in line with previous studies that highlighted the importance of lifestyle counseling in an unselected CCS cohort as it resulted in higher activity levels after seeing a health practitioner [32]. Considering different perspectives on who would benefit from counseling resulted in a high participation rate and satisfaction with the offer. However, the overlap between the indications for counseling was poor. We classified CCS into three distinct subgroups. Our findings demonstrated that lifestyle counseling can be beneficial for CCS, even if only one perspective recognizes the indication for it. This highlights the relevance of a multidisciplinary approach in LTFU care including sports scientists to support a healthy lifestyle among this cohort [34,35].

Furthermore, our results show that especially CCS with a high risk for late effects (risk group 3 with radiotherapy exposure, according to Gebauer et al [25]) are in higher need of lifestyle counseling. According to Rock et al [36], survivors of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia have an increased risk of becoming overweight throughout their lives. Due to cancer treatment in childhood, like radiotherapy exposure, metabolic late effects such as overweight, obesity, and changes in body composition like an increase in fat mass are common in CCS. They could also be demonstrated in our cohort, with 46.5% (70/155) of the survivors being affected by metabolic disorders [9,37,38]. Cranial radiation often leads to endocrine disorders which in turn may result in overweight or obesity [38,39]. Of note, although the proportion of CCS with an indication for lifestyle counseling was high across all risk groups, CCS with the lowest risk for late effects (risk group 1 according to Gebauer et al [25]) appeared to be affected more often than CCS in risk group 2 (medium risk for late effects). This is most likely due to the small number of CCS in risk group 1 included in this study resulting in a selection bias. This finding should be verified in further studies with more participants representing the different risk groups (based on cancer treatment exposure) in a more balanced way. However, the study findings suggest that lifestyle counseling should be considered more strongly for individuals in higher-risk groups. Consequently, CCS in risk group 3, in particular, should be given serious consideration for regular lifestyle counseling as already proposed by Nathan et al [39].

The fact that almost all CCS (n=150, 97%) considered lifestyle counseling to be beneficial, and those who reported benefits from it in the follow-up appointment (47/51, 92%), support the idea of incorporating lifestyle counseling into regular LTFU care. In addition, 70% (36/51) of CCS receiving a second counseling stated a positive effect on weight or quality of life. These findings are consistent with previous studies that have shown high levels of acceptance and adherence to lifestyle counseling [10,33]. Zhang et al [15,40], suggest that it is crucial to educate CCS about weight management and healthy lifestyle counseling. Moreover, men may have a greater need for lifestyle counseling (based on the presence of metabolic diseases or a sedentary lifestyle) as demonstrated in this study but often do

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e59614

XSL•F(

not perceive this need. Furthermore, the study revealed that CCS with a normal weight who do not meet the inclusion criteria can still derive benefits from counseling. Additionally, there were 29 (19%) CCS with a prediabetic metabolic condition, who could benefit from counseling and should be included in future studies.

Given the constraints of limited resources, it is crucial to deliberate on the inclusion criteria for lifestyle counseling. As demonstrated in this study, factors such as the higher risk for late effects (risk group 3), based on treatment exposure, older age, male gender, and reduced physical activity, as well as established cardiovascular risk factors, such as the presence of obesity, diabetes mellitus, or hypercholesterolemia could serve as potential indicators for lifestyle counseling.

Limitations and Strengths of the Study

Limitations of this study included heterogeneity within the study cohort such as predominance of female gender (n=100, 65%) and risk group 3 (n=95, 61%). This was a result of an unselected inclusion of every CCS receiving regular LTFU care in our specialized clinic, which renders comparison of different risk groups more difficult. A higher proportion of women in LTFU has also been observed in previous studies performed in our cohort, as well as in different LTFU cohorts, and was discussed as a consequence of an increased engagement in preventive health behavior in women compared with men [41,42].

In addition, 53% (n=82) of all CCS already received previous nutrition or sports counseling which may have had an impact on their lifestyle. However, the content of previous counseling was not recorded in a structured way in this study. Furthermore, in 53 (43%) CCS, a follow-up appointment could not be performed due to organizational difficulties. Some measurements were based solely on information provided by the CCS such as nutrition habits and weight loss after counseling and could not be validated clinically. For future research, it would be useful to assess data more objectively and after a longer period of time to better assess the long-term effect on metabolic parameters and activity. A follow-up after 1 month, in this context, is not sufficient to fully capture the impact of lifestyle counseling. However, in the CARE for CAYA study that offered lifestyle counseling to a predefined proportion of CCS, no significant effect of the intervention in a follow-up after 1 year could be demonstrated. As a consequence of these results, for this analysis, we intended to investigate the short-term effect of counseling assuming that the effects might be most pronounced during the first weeks [43].

The small number of CCS experiencing nutritional issues (n=15) may be attributed to the fact that the assessment of nutritional parameters relied solely on subjective questioning. Especially for the evaluation of activity time, it would have been useful to collect either objective data by accelerometry or the moderate and vigorous activity minutes in the follow-up counseling. The assessment of the quality of life did not involve the use of questionnaires; instead, CCS provided subjective responses.

However, to our knowledge, this is the first study to implement regular lifestyle counseling for every CCS in a specialized setting with many years of experience within LTFU care. We

collected the data from an unselected cohort in a prospective manner, which allowed us to include all CCS receiving LTFU care and gain an overall understanding of their needs. For further research, it might be useful to analyze CCS after lifestyle counseling over a longer period to see whether they sustained a health-promoting lifestyle. Furthermore, it would be useful for future studies to promote a mobile health intervention for CCS that might increase adherence to adopting a healthier lifestyle [44].

Conclusions

Lifestyle counseling is feasible and considered useful by most CCS. However, due to limited resources, counseling might not be available for every CCS during LTFU. Therefore, it is

particularly important to identify CCS at risk for metabolic complications. Although early implementation of lifestyle changes is recommended in order to reduce long-term morbidity, as demonstrated in this study, older CCS, as well as male CCS, were especially in need of counseling. This group should be actively screened for established risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and hypercholesterolemia. Additionally, a more intensive cancer treatment exposure was confirmed as an independent risk factor for poor metabolic outcome and should prompt initiation of counseling. Consequently, as a healthy lifestyle including regular physical activity and a nutrient- and vitamin-rich diet can reduce survivors' increased risk of developing metabolic diseases, it should be part of regular LTFU care for CCS.

Acknowledgments

This manuscript has been published as a preprint before [45]. We thank Lea Hildebrand for her assistance with recruitment. This work was supported by Team DoppelPASS e.V.

Data Availability

The datasets generated and analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

FR, JG, and TL developed the study concept. FR collected the data. LLK and IK analyzed the data and created figures and tables. FR, JG, and LLK were in charge of writing, reviewing, and editing the manuscript. All authors did a critical revision and approval of final version. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Lifestyle counseling record sheet. [DOCX File, 24 KB - cancer_v10i1e59614_app1.docx]

References

- Wellbrock M, Spix C, Ronckers CM, et al. Temporal patterns of childhood cancer survival 1991 to 2016: a nationwide register-study based on data from the German Childhood Cancer Registry. Int J Cancer 2023 Aug 15;153(4):742-755. [doi: 10.1002/ijc.34556] [Medline: 37158619]
- 2. Erdmann F, Kaatsch P, Grabow D, Spix C. German childhood cancer registry—annual report 2019 (1980-2018). : Institut für Medizinische Biometrie, Epidemiologie und Informatik (IMBEI) URL: <u>https://www.kinderkrebsregister.de/fileadmin/kliniken/dkkr/pdf/jb/jb2019/Buch_DKKR_Jahresbericht_2019_komplett.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-11-27]
- Bhakta N, Liu Q, Ness KK, et al. The cumulative burden of surviving childhood cancer: an initial report from the St Jude Lifetime Cohort Study (SJLIFE). Lancet 2017 Dec 9;390(10112):2569-2582. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31610-0] [Medline: 28890157]
- 4. Gebauer J, Higham C, Langer T, Denzer C, Brabant G. Long-term endocrine and metabolic consequences of cancer treatment: a systematic review. Endocr Rev 2019 Jun 1;40(3):711-767. [doi: <u>10.1210/er.2018-00092</u>] [Medline: <u>30476004</u>]
- Jones LW, Liu Q, Armstrong GT, et al. Exercise and risk of major cardiovascular events in adult survivors of childhood hodgkin lymphoma: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. J Clin Oncol 2014 Nov 10;32(32):3643-3650. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.56.7511] [Medline: 25311213]
- Ehrhardt MJ, Leerink JM, Mulder RL, et al. Systematic review and updated recommendations for cardiomyopathy surveillance for survivors of childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer from the International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group. Lancet Oncol 2023 Mar;24(3):e108-e120. [doi: <u>10.1016/S1470-2045(23)00012-8</u>]
- Brinkman TM, Recklitis CJ, Michel G, Grootenhuis MA, Klosky JL. Psychological symptoms, social outcomes, socioeconomic attainment, and health behaviors among survivors of childhood cancer: current state of the literature. JCO 2018 Jul 20;36(21):2190-2197. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.76.5552]

- van Deuren S, Boonstra A, van Dulmen-den Broeder E, Blijlevens N, Knoop H, Loonen J. Severe fatigue after treatment for childhood cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2020 Mar 3;3(3):CD012681. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD012681.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>32124971</u>]
- 9. Smith WA, Li C, Nottage KA, et al. Lifestyle and metabolic syndrome in adult survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the St. Jude Lifetime Cohort Study. Cancer 2014 Sep 1;120(17):2742-2750. [doi: 10.1002/cncr.28670] [Medline: 25070001]
- de Lima Melo B, Vieira DCA, de Oliveira GC, et al. Adherence to healthy lifestyle recommendations in Brazilian cancer survivors. J Cancer Surviv 2023 Dec;17(6):1751-1759. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-022-01228-6</u>]
- Rock CL, Thomson CA, Sullivan KR, et al. American Cancer Society nutrition and physical activity guideline for cancer survivors. CA Cancer J Clin 2022 May;72(3):230-262. [doi: <u>10.3322/caac.21719</u>] [Medline: <u>35294043</u>]
- 12. Javalkar K, Huang Y, Lyon SM, et al. Clinical response to lifestyle counseling for dyslipidemia and elevated blood pressure in childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2023 Jan;70(1):e30034. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.30034] [Medline: 36326745]
- Clinton SK, Giovannucci EL, Hursting SD. The World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research third expert report on diet, nutrition, physical activity, and cancer: impact and future directions. J Nutr 2020 Apr 1;150(4):663-671. [doi: <u>10.1093/jn/nxz268</u>] [Medline: <u>31758189</u>]
- Oeffinger KC, Mertens AC, Sklar CA, et al. Chronic health conditions in adult survivors of childhood cancer. N Engl J Med 2006 Oct 12;355(15):1572-1582. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMsa060185</u>] [Medline: <u>17035650</u>]
- 15. Zhang FF, Kelly MJ, Must A. Early nutrition and physical activity interventions in childhood cancer survivors. Curr Obes Rep 2017 Jun;6(2):168-177. [doi: 10.1007/s13679-017-0260-0] [Medline: 28455678]
- Hammoud RA, Mulrooney DA, Rhea IB, et al. Modifiable cardiometabolic risk factors in survivors of childhood cancer: JACC: CardioOncology state-of-the-art review. JACC CardioOncol 2024 Feb;6(1):16-32. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaccao.2023.12.008</u>] [Medline: <u>38510292</u>]
- Ness KK, Leisenring WM, Huang S, et al. Predictors of inactive lifestyle among adult survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Cancer 2009 May 1;115(9):1984-1994. [doi: <u>10.1002/cncr.24209</u>] [Medline: <u>19224548</u>]
- Devries MC, Jakobi JM. Importance of considering sex and gender in exercise and nutrition research. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2021 Jun;46(6):iii-vii. [doi: <u>10.1139/apnm-2021-0298</u>]
- de Haas EC, Oosting SF, Lefrandt JD, Wolffenbuttel BH, Sleijfer DT, Gietema JA. The metabolic syndrome in cancer survivors. Lancet Oncol 2010 Feb;11(2):193-203. [doi: <u>10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70287-6</u>] [Medline: <u>20152771</u>]
- 20. Danielzik S, Czerwinski-Mast M, Langnäse K, Dilba B, Müller MJ. Parental overweight, socioeconomic status and high birth weight are the major determinants of overweight and obesity in 5-7 y-old children: baseline data of the Kiel Obesity Prevention Study (KOPS). Int J Obes 2004 Nov;28(11):1494-1502. [doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802756]
- Jones LW, Demark-Wahnefried W. Diet, exercise, and complementary therapies after primary treatment for cancer. Lancet Oncol 2006 Dec;7(12):1017-1026. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(06)70976-7] [Medline: 17138223]
- 22. Dimitri P, Joshi K, Jones N, Moving Medicine for Children Working Group. Moving more: physical activity and its positive effects on long term conditions in children and young people. Arch Dis Child 2020 Nov;105(11):1035-1040. [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2019-318017] [Medline: 32198161]
- 23. Gebauer J, Rieken S, Schuster S, et al. Multidisciplinary late effects clinics for childhood cancer survivors in Germany—a two-center study. Oncol Res Treat 2018;41(7-8):430-436. [doi: 10.1159/000488203] [Medline: 29902787]
- 24. Salchow J, Mann J, Koch B, et al. Comprehensive assessments and related interventions to enhance the long-term outcomes of child, adolescent and young adult cancer survivors—presentation of the CARE for CAYA-Program study protocol and associated literature review. BMC Cancer 2020 Jan 6;20(1):16. [doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-6492-5] [Medline: 31906955]
- 25. Gebauer J, Baust K, Bardi E, et al. Guidelines for long-term follow-up after childhood cancer: practical implications for the daily work. Oncol Res Treat 2020;43(3):61-69. [doi: 10.1159/000504200] [Medline: 31931503]
- 26. Zand A, Ibrahim K, Patham B. Prediabetes: why should we care? Methodist Debakey Cardiovasc J 2018;14(4):289-297. [doi: <u>10.14797/mdcj-14-4-289</u>] [Medline: <u>30788015</u>]
- Frost AP, Norman Giest T, Ruta AA, Snow TK, Millard-Stafford M. Limitations of body mass index for counseling individuals with unilateral lower extremity amputation. Prosthet Orthot Int 2017 Apr;41(2):186-193. [doi: 10.1177/0309364616650079] [Medline: 27440773]
- 28. Schmitz KH, Courneya KS, Matthews C, et al. American College of Sports Medicine roundtable on exercise guidelines for cancer survivors. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2010;42(7):1409-1426. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181e0c112</u>]
- 29. Arends J, Bertz H, Bischoff S, et al. S3-Leitline der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Ernährungsmedizin e. V. (DGEM) in Kooperation mit der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Hämatologie und Onkologie e. V. (DGHO), der Arbeitsgemeinschaft "Supportive Maßnahmen in der Onkologie, Rehabilitation und Sozialmedizin" der Deutschen Krebsgesellschaft (ASORS) und der Österreichischen Arbeitsgemeinschaft für klinische Ernährung (AKE) [Article in German]. Akt Ernahrungsmed 2015 Nov;40(5):e1-e74. [doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1552741]
- 30. Mogensen H, Tettamanti G, Frederiksen LE, et al. Educational attainment in survivors of childhood cancer in Denmark, Finland, and Sweden. Br J Cancer 2024 Feb;130(2):260-268. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41416-023-02499-1</u>] [Medline: <u>37993542</u>]

- Hudson MM, Bhatia S, Casillas J, Landier W, Section on Hematology/Oncology, Children's Oncology Group, American Society of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology. Long-term follow-upcare for childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer survivors. Pediatrics 2021 Sep;148(3):e2021053127. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2021-053127</u>] [Medline: <u>34462344</u>]
- 32. Myers J, Kokkinos P, Nyelin E. Physical activity, cardiorespiratory fitness, and the metabolic syndrome. Nutrients 2019 Jul 19;11(7):1652. [doi: 10.3390/nu11071652] [Medline: 31331009]
- 33. Tarasenko YN, Miller EA, Chen C, Schoenberg NE. Physical activity levels and counseling by health care providers in cancer survivors. Prev Med 2017 Jun;99:211-217. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.01.010] [Medline: 28131780]
- 34. Huang YJ, Lee SL, Wu LM. Health-promoting lifestyle and Its predictors in adolescent survivors of childhood cancer. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2021;38(4):233-241. [doi: 10.1177/1043454221992322] [Medline: 33595358]
- Bouwman E, Pluijm SMF, Stollman I, et al. Healthcare professionals' perceived barriers and facilitators of health behavior support provision: a qualitative study. Cancer Med 2023 Mar;12(6):7414-7426. [doi: <u>10.1002/cam4.5445</u>] [Medline: <u>36397667</u>]
- 36. Rock CL, Doyle C, Demark-Wahnefried W, et al. Nutrition and physical activity guidelines for cancer survivors. CA Cancer J Clin 2012;62(4):243-274. [doi: 10.3322/caac.21142] [Medline: 22539238]
- 37. Guolla L, Morrison KM, Barr RD. Adiposity in survivors of cancer in childhood: how is it measured and why does it matter? J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2021 Jan;43(1):1-11. [doi: 10.1097/MPH.000000000001988] [Medline: 33122586]
- Pradhan KR, Chen Y, Moustoufi-Moab S, et al. Endocrine and metabolic disorders in survivors of childhood cancers and health-related quality of life and physical activity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2019 Nov 1;104(11):5183-5194. [doi: 10.1210/jc.2019-00627] [Medline: 31287545]
- 39. Nathan PC, Ford JS, Henderson TO, et al. Health behaviors, medical care, and interventions to promote healthy living in the childhood cancer survivor study cohort. J Clin Oncol 2009 May 10;27(14):2363-2373. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.21.1441]
- 40. Zhang FF, Parsons SK. Obesity in childhood cancer survivors: call for early weight management. Adv Nutr 2015 Sep;6(5):611-619. [doi: 10.3945/an.115.008946] [Medline: 26374183]
- 41. Sleimann M, Balcerek M, Cytera C, et al. Implementation of a clinical long-term follow-up database for adult childhood cancer survivors in Germany: a feasibility study at two specialised late effects clinics. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2023 Nov;149(14):12855-12866. [doi: 10.1007/s00432-023-05145-8] [Medline: 37462771]
- 42. Tinner EME, Dogan O, Boesing M, et al. Characteristics and feedback of adult survivors of childhood cancer seen in Swiss comprehensive follow-up clinics led by general internists: a prospective cohort study. BMJ Open 2024 Jul 11;14(7):e081823. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2023-081823] [Medline: 38991689]
- 43. von Grundherr J, Elmers S, Koch B, et al. A multimodal lifestyle psychosocial survivorship program in young cancer survivors: the CARE for CAYA program—a randomized clinical trial embedded in a longitudinal cohort study. JAMA Netw Open 2024 Mar 4;7(3):e242375. [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2024.2375] [Medline: 38526495]
- 44. Kelley MM, Kue J, Brophy L, et al. Mobile health applications, cancer survivors, and lifestyle modification: an integrative review. Comput Inform Nurs 2021 Jun 2;39(11):755-763. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.00000000000781</u>] [Medline: <u>34074873</u>]
- 45. Richter F, Kronziel LL, König IR, Langer T, Gebauer J. High incidence of metabolic diseases and sedentary lifestyle underline the need for regular counseling in LTFU for CCS- results from a monocentric prospective study. Research Square. Preprint posted online on May 23, 2023. [doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-2947105/v1] [Medline: 36711555]

Abbreviations

ASC: American Cancer Society CCS: childhood cancer survivors HbA_{1c}: hemoglobin A_{1c} LTFU: long-term follow-up

Edited by K Prairie, L Ha; submitted 26.04.24; peer-reviewed by ACH de Vries, K Egger-Heidrich; revised version received 23.09.24; accepted 25.09.24; published 26.12.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Richter F, Kronziel LL, König I, Langer T, Gebauer J Implementation of Regular Lifestyle Counseling During Long-Term Follow-Up Care of Childhood Cancer Survivors: Monocentric Prospective Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e59614 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e59614</u> doi:<u>10.2196/59614</u>



© Franziska Richter, Lea Louisa Kronziel, Inke König, Thorsten Langer, Judith Gebauer. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 26.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Heart Rate Monitoring Among Breast Cancer Survivors: Quantitative Study of Device Agreement in a Community-Based Exercise Program

Lindsey L Page¹, MPH, PhD; Jason Fanning², PhD; Connor Phipps¹, PhD; Ann Berger³, APRN-CNS, AOCNS, FAAN, PhD; Elizabeth Reed⁴, MD; Diane Ehlers^{1,5}, PhD

Corresponding Author:

Diane Ehlers, PhD Department of Quantitative Health Sciences Division of Epidemiology Mayo Clinic Arizona 200 First Street SW Rochester, AZ, 55905 United States Phone: 1 408 574 2739 Email: ehlers.diane@mayo.edu

Abstract

Background: Exercise intensity (eg, target heart rate [HR]) is a fundamental component of exercise prescription to elicit health benefits in cancer survivors. Despite the validity of chest-worn monitors, their feasibility in community and unsupervised exercise settings may be challenging. As wearable technology continues to improve, consumer-based wearable sensors may represent an accessible alternative to traditional monitoring, offering additional advantages.

Objective: The purpose of this study was to examine the agreement between the Polar H10 chest monitor and Fitbit Inspire HR for HR measurement in breast cancer survivors enrolled in the intervention arm of a randomized, pilot exercise trial.

Methods: Participants included breast cancer survivors (N=14; aged 38-72 years) randomized to a 12-week aerobic exercise program. This program consisted of three 60-minute, moderate-intensity walking sessions per week, either in small groups or one-on-one, facilitated by a certified exercise physiologist and held at local community fitness centers. As originally designed, the exercise prescription included 36 supervised sessions at a fitness center. However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the number of supervised sessions varied depending on whether participants enrolled before or after March 2020. During each exercise session, HR (in beats per minute) was concurrently measured via a Polar H10 chest monitor and a wrist-worn Fitbit Inspire HR at 5 stages: pre-exercise rest; midpoint of warm-up; midpoint of exercise session; midpoint of cool-down; and postexercise recovery. The exercise physiologist recorded the participant's HR from each device at the midpoint of each stage. HR agreement between the Polar H10 and Fitbit Inspire HR was assessed using Lin concordance correlation coefficient (r_c) with a 95% CI. Lin rc ranges from 0 to 1.00, with 0 indicating no concordance and 1.00 indicating perfect concordance. Relative error rates were calculated to examine differences across exercise session stages.

Results: Data were available for 200 supervised sessions across the sample (session per participant: mean 13.33, SD 13.7). By exercise session stage, agreement between the Polar H10 monitor and the Fitbit was highest during pre-exercise seated rest (rc=0.76, 95% CI 0.70-0.81) and postexercise seated recovery (rc=0.89, 95% CI 0.86-0.92), followed by the midpoint of exercise (rc=0.63, 95% CI 0.55-0.70) and cool-down (rc=0.68, 95% CI 0.60-0.74). The agreement was lowest during warm-up (rc=0.39, 95% CI 0.27-0.49). Relative error rates ranged from -3.91% to 3.09% and were greatest during warm-up (relative error rate: mean -3.91, SD 11.92%).

¹Department of Neurological Sciences, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE, United States

²Department of Health and Exercise Science, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, United States

³College of Nursing, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE, United States

⁴Department of Internal Medicine, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE, United States

⁵Department of Quantitative Health Sciences, Division of Epidemiology, Mayo Clinic Arizona, Rochester, AZ, United States

Conclusions: The Fitbit overestimated HR during peak exercise intensity, posing risks for overexercising, which may not be safe for breast cancer survivors' fitness levels. While the Fitbit Inspire HR may be used to estimate exercise HR, precautions are needed when considering participant safety and data interpretation.

Trial Registration: Clinicaltrials.gov NCT03980626; https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT03980626?term=NCT03980626&rank=1

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51210) doi:10.2196/51210

KEYWORDS

wearable devices; exercise prescription; validity; photoplethysmography; monitoring; wearables; devices; exercise; heart rate; breast cancer; cancer; cancer survivor; community; chest monitor; Fitbit; recovery; safety

Introduction

Wearable sensors have gained traction in both commercial and research sectors [1], with a projected 156 million units to be purchased in 2024 [2]. These devices use microelectronic triaxial accelerometers to measure steps, energy expenditure, sleep, and time spent in different intensities of activity and photoplethysmography above the wrist to measure heart rate (HR). These data, along with options for goal setting, can be used to help individuals self-monitor and increase their daily physical activity (PA) [3]. The ease and utility of these devices have led to their adoption in health promotion research for continuous measurement of health behaviors and as behavior change tools [4].

Traditional research-grade monitors are costly, lack consumer-friendly designs, provide little opportunity for user interaction with the device, often evaluate only 1 dimension of daily activities (eg, HR, motion, or sleep only), and have limited, real-time data transfer capacity [3,5,6]. In contrast, consumer-grade monitors continuously collect and transfer data through Bluetooth and web-based platforms to allow for data collection across months or even years [3]. Additionally, participant data can be easily monitored and accessed via web-based platforms at any point during the data collection period. The increasing number of peer-reviewed publications and National Institutes of Health-funded grant proposals, which include consumer-grade, wrist-worn monitors, emphasizes the utility of these devices in research settings [1,7].

Many of these devices now measure HR, a key component of aerobic exercise prescription. Although electrocardiogram (ECG) is widely accepted as the gold standard for assessing HR during exercise, chest-worn monitors also have well-documented validity for measuring HR [8]. However, like ECG, they may be inconvenient or prohibitive in community-based and unsupervised exercise settings due to necessary receivers and participant discomfort. In contrast, newer devices are increasingly being designed for wear on the forearm or wrist. Commercially available wearable sensors, such as the Fitbit, represent an accessible, multifunctional alternative to HR monitoring in exercise. Appropriate exercise intensity, often expressed as a percentage of HR reserve, is a fundamental dimension of exercise prescription for achieving the health benefits of exercise [9]. For example, cancer survivors begin to reduce fatigue symptoms with a minimum dose of aerobic activity at 45% of their HR reserve, whereas benefits for other symptoms (ie, anxiety, depression, and physical function) begin at a minimum dose of 60% of their HR reserve [10]. To improve

dissemination and uptake of exercise prescriptions in clinical or community-based settings, it is critical that survivors have user-friendly methods to independently monitor exercise prescription components.

There is an increasing number of exercise oncology studies that use commercial wearable sensors to intervene in PA behaviors and reduce cancer-related symptom burden, particularly among breast cancer survivors, and evidence indicates that wearable sensors are effective, feasible, and user-friendly for breast cancer survivors in exercise interventions [11-13]. Although these studies have helped bolster the utility of wearable sensors in PA promotion research, they have failed to provide any detail on intensity or HR monitoring during their respective interventions. Many exercise interventions in cancer populations are adopting community-based, hybrid, and unsupervised designs [14]. Therefore, it is integral that researchers understand the capacity, and limitations, of commercially available wearable sensors in providing accurate measurements of HR to monitor participants' safety and compliance with the exercise prescription.

In the general population, the reliability of popular, commercially available activity and HR monitors has been previously examined with varying agreement between commercial products and traditional ECG monitoring [8,15-17]. Unfortunately, many of these data have been collected in controlled settings with predetermined treadmill speeds in young, healthy adult participants. The dearth of literature assessing commercially available, wrist-worn HR monitors in clinical populations during training sessions limits the utility of these devices in less controlled environments. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to examine the agreement between a commercially available, wrist-worn wearable sensor (Fitbit Inspire HR; Fitbit Inc) and a traditional chest-worn monitor (Polar H10; Polar Electro OY) for HR measurement in breast cancer survivors at different stages of exercise in a community-based program. It is hypothesized that HR monitor agreement in this study will be highest at periods of pre- and postexercise rest and lowest during the exercise session when participants were exercising at higher intensities.

Methods

Study Design and Participants

The Study on Physical Activity's Relationship with Cancer and Cognition (SPARCC) was a randomized exercise trial in which 30 women diagnosed with breast cancer were randomized to a 12-week moderate-intensity aerobic exercise program (n=15)

or usual care (n=15). Our study includes only those women randomized to the exercise group with valid Fitbit and Polar HR data (n=14), as exercise HR was not collected from women in the usual care control group.

Eligibility criteria for this study included the following: female participants aged 21 years or older; postmenopausal at the time of diagnosis; first, primary diagnosis of breast cancer (stage I-IIIa); within 3-24 months of completing surgery, chemotherapy, or radiation therapy; self-reported an average of <60 minutes of moderate to vigorous PA per week for the previous 6 months; having received physician's clearance to participate in an exercise program; and randomized to the 12-week aerobic exercise program in the SPARCC study. Participants were recruited from a midwestern academic medical center, a private cancer center, and the community (eg, via flyers to community organizations, social media posts, and word of mouth). Interested individuals were scheduled for a phone appointment to confirm eligibility, absence of neurological disorders, and interest in participating in the study. Eligible women were then asked to attend an in-person or Zoom-based orientation session to receive more information about the study, decide if they would like to participate, sign the Institutional Review Board (IRB)-approved informed consent, and schedule baseline testing appointments. After baseline data collection was complete, participants were randomized in a block design to the 12-week aerobic exercise program or usual care.

Table 1. Exercise prescription.

Participants were not instructed to change physical activity behaviors prior to beginning the exercise program.

Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by The University of Nebraska Medical Center IRB and is registered with the National Institutes of Health's ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT03980626). All participants provided written informed consent prior to participation. All data presented herein were deidentified using study identification numbers and stored separately from participants. identifiers. Data were collected and managed using applications hosted by the study institution (ie, Research Electronic Data Capture [REDCap] or Box Enterprise) [18,19]. Participants did not receive payment for their participation in this research but received a Fitbit Inspire HR that was theirs to keep. All participants were offered a 3-month membership to a local fitness center.

Exercise Protocol

Breast cancer survivors randomized to the exercise program engaged in small group or one-on-one, moderate-intensity walking sessions facilitated by a certified exercise physiologist. These sessions were held at local community fitness centers 3 times per week for 1 hour per session. All participants completed a treadmill-based submaximal cardiopulmonary exercise test prior to randomization to establish baseline fitness and safety and inform individualized exercise prescriptions (Table 1).

Week	Intensity (rating of perceived exertion), range	Intensity (% heart rate reserve), range	Duration (minutes), range
1	9-11	45-50	15-20
2	9-11	45-50	20-25
3	9-11	45-50	25-30
4	11-13	50-55	25-30
5	11-13	50-55	30-35
6	11-13	50-55	35-45
7	13-15	55-65	35-45
8	13-15	55-65	40-50
9	13-15	55-65	40-50
10	15-17	65-75	40-50
11	15-17	65-75	45-50
12	15-17	65-75	45-50

As originally designed, all 36 exercise sessions were scheduled to be delivered by the exercise physiologist in the supervised, community-based setting. However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the exercise program was modified for some participants to include both supervised and unsupervised sessions. Participants who were in the middle of the intervention in March 2020, were transitioned to unsupervised exercise with weekly Zoom-based counseling from their trainer. Participants enrolled after March 2020, engaged in only 4 supervised exercise sessions held once per week in the research team's exercise laboratory in weeks 1-4. All sessions in weeks 7-12 were unsupervised, home-based sessions with weekly Zoom-based exercise counseling. Across the study, 4 breast cancer survivors completed 36 supervised sessions as originally designed, 5 were in the middle of the intervention in March 2020, and 6 were enrolled after March 2020 and received 4 supervised sessions. Depending on the enrollment time (ie, before or after the COVID-19 public health restrictions), participants engaged in an average of 13.33 (SD 13.71) supervised sessions (range: 4-36). Participants who received the original intervention received their fitness center membership during the study. Those enrolled during or after the onset of the COVID-19 public health restriction for the study. Those enrolled a fitness center membership when it was safe to do so based on local IRB and public health

requirements. Only supervised sessions (n=200) were included in our analysis.

The exercise program was progressive in nature such that the volume of exercise increased across weeks from 15-20 minutes of walking in weeks 1-2 to 40-45 minutes in weeks 8-12 and from 40%-55% estimated HR reserve in week 1 to 65%-70%





Measures

HR Monitors

All participants received a Fitbit Inspire HR sensor to wear on their nondominant wrist for the duration of the study and a Polar H10 chest strap to wear during supervised exercise. The Fitbit was chosen for this study because it is one of the most popular wrist-worn activity trackers, represents approximately 20% of the commercial wearable sensor market, and has sold 63 million devices worldwide in the last decade [3]. The Fitbit Inspire HR measures HR via optical photoplethysmography, which is processed using proprietary algorithms. Briefly, this is done by shining a light on the skin, assessing the reflected light, using algorithms to determine changes in blood volume based upon reflected light, and calculating HR based on oscillations in blood volume [20,21]. The Polar H10 chest strap monitor was chosen as the comparator device because it has high validity with ECG, the gold standard for measuring exercise HR [8]. Exercise trainers fit participants with the Polar H10 monitors, placed on the distal sternum, at the start of each supervised exercise session and used Polar HR readings to adjust treadmill speed and grade to meet prescribed exercise intensity. HR was measured concurrently using the Fitbit and Polar monitors at 5 stages of the exercise session: pre-exercise seated rest; midpoint of the 5-minute warm-up; midpoint of the moderate-intensity exercise; midpoint of the 5-minute cool-down; and after a 5-minute seated recovery (Figure 1).

Demographic and Clinical Information

Participant demographics (ie, age, race, education, income, employment status, marital status, and comorbid conditions) were self-reported and collected via REDCap hosted by the study institution. Clinical information on breast cancer diagnosis and treatment were obtained via electronic medical records. BMI was calculated from height and weight measured via the Seca 703 scale and stadiometer (Seca Corp) by the study staff at a baseline testing visit.

Data Analysis

in cancer survivors [10].

HR from the Polar monitor was operationalized as the criterion measure and used to assess absolute and relative paired differences between monitors [8]. Agreement between HR measurements was assessed using Lin concordance correlation coefficient (r_c) with 95% CIs. This test measures the degree to which the paired observations fall on the identity line and defines statistical agreement as $r_c \ge 0.85$ [22]. The agreement was also represented visually across stages using Bland-Altman plots with upper and lower limits set using 95% CIs [23,24]. Absolute paired differences were calculated by subtracting the Fitbit-measured HR from the Polar-measured HR at each stage of the exercise session. Relative paired differences were calculated as relative error rate (RER) across exercise session stages [25,26], as follows:

HR reserve in weeks 9-12 (Table 1). All sessions began with a 5-minute light-intensity walking warm-up and ended with an

active cool-down including light walking and static stretches

(Figure 1). The exercise program was designed to follow

American College of Sports Medicine guidelines for exercise

$RER = (Polar HR measurement - Fitbit HR measurement) \times 100/Polar HR$

Negative resultant RERs are indicative of an overestimation of HR by the Fitbit, and positive RERs are indicative of an underestimation of HR by the Fitbit, as compared to the Polar monitor. Data were analyzed using SPSS (version 27; IBM Corp) and RStudio (version 1.3.1093; R Core Team).

Results

Participant Characteristics

Participants (mean age 63.1, SD 8.7 years) were White women with a history of early-stage breast cancer; on average, overweight; and physically inactive (Table 2). Additionally, more than 1 quarter of participants had a history of clinically diagnosed anxiety or depression at the time of enrollment. Breast cancer survivors in this study were enrolled approximately 17 months after their diagnosis. Participants' breast cancer treatments included surgery, radiation, and chemotherapy; however, most women in this study did not receive chemotherapy. One participant randomized to the exercise program did not have valid Polar data for supervised sessions and was, therefore, excluded from the analysis (N=14).



Table 2. Participant characteristics.

Characteristics	Values
Demographics	
Age (years), mean (SD)	63.07 (8.66)
Non-Hispanic White, n (%)	13 (93)
Bachelor's degree, n (%)	8 (57)
Income >US \$40,000 per year, n (%)	8 (57)
Employed full-time, n (%)	8 (57)
Married, n (%)	12 (86)
Comorbidities ^a , mean (SD)	2.38 (2.10)
β -Blocker medication use, n (%)	0 (0)
Antihypertensive medication use, n (%)	1 (7)
Diagnosed with depression, n (%)	4 (29)
Diagnosed with anxiety, n (%)	4 (29)
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	29.14 (4.71)
Clinical features	
Cancer stage, n (%)	
Ι	12 (86)
П	2 (14)
Time since diagnosis (months), mean (SD)	16.57 (7.97)
Chemotherapy, n (%)	3 (21)
Radiation, n (%)	9 (64)
Hormonal therapy, n (%)	9 (64)
Months of hormonal therapy, mean (SD)	13.44 (5.64)

^aComorbid conditions include diagnosed arthritis, osteoporosis, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, angina, heart failure, previous myocardial infarction, vascular disease, diabetes, tremors, gastrointestinal disease, visual impairment, hearing impairment, degenerative disk disease, anxiety, and depression.

HR Monitor Agreement

Agreement between the Fitbit and Polar HR monitors was highest during seated rest at postexercise (r_c =0.89, 95% CI 0.86-0.92) and pre-exercise (r_c =0.76, 95% CI 0.70-0.81). This was followed by the midpoint of the moderate-intensity exercise session (r_c =0.63, 95% CI 0.55-0.70) and cool-down (r_c =0.68, 95% CI 0.60-0.74). The warm-up was associated with the lowest

level of agreement between monitors (0.39, 95% CI 0.27-0.49). RERs ranged from -3.91% to 3.09% and were most pronounced during warm-up (RER: mean -3.91%, SD 11.92%). When inaccurate, the Fitbit overestimated HR during most stages of the exercise session (RER range: -3.91% to -0.52%), except at the midpoint of moderate-intensity exercise, where HR was underestimated (RER 3.09%). RERs and concordance coefficients are provided in Table 3, and Bland-Altman plots are provided in Figure 2.
Table 3.	Heart rate (beats per	minute)	monitor	differences	according	to the	stage of	the	exercise
----------	--------------	-----------	---------	---------	-------------	-----------	--------	----------	-----	----------

Activity	Heart rate, mean (SD)		Fitbit differences from Polar H10, mean (SD)				
	Polar H10	Fitbit	Paired difference	Percent difference (RER ^a)	Agreement $(r_c)^b$		
Pre-exercise rest	78.00 (7.68)	78.61 (8.74)	-1.34 (5.53)	-1.84 (7.51)	0.76		
Warm-up	94.78 (7.91)	96.26 (9.17)	-2.96 (10.27)	-3.91 (11.92)	0.39		
Exercise	117.04 (8.10)	115.15 (9.3)	3.77 (6.98)	3.09 (5.64)	0.63		
Cool-down	103.56 (6.68)	104.24 (7.90)	-0.72 (5.83)	-0.77 (5.74)	0.68		
Postexercise rest	85.86 (7.42)	85.99 (7.71)	-0.38 (3.53)	-0.52 (4.04)	0.89		

^aRelative error rate.

^bLin concordance correlation coefficient.

Figure 2. Bland-Altman plots. Bland-Altman plots depict the average heart rate (Polar H10 and Fitbit) by the relative difference between the two measures for each session by stage in the exercise protocol. Points on the plots indicate individual sessions, solid lines indicate the mean difference across the sample, and dashed lines indicate upper and lower bounds for each stage.



60

80

100

Heart Rate

120

140

Discussion

Principal Results

This study was the first to examine the agreement between the wrist-worn Fitbit Inspire HR and chest-worn Polar H10 HR monitors in cancer survivors and during an exercise intervention. Major findings from this study indicate that the Fitbit monitor did not produce statistically accurate measures of HR during most exercise stages, especially the warm-up stage; however, agreement during seated rest (pre- and postexercise), midpoint of exercise, and cool-down were associated with moderate agreement between devices. Data also suggest that the Fitbit underestimated HR only during the primary, aerobic portion of the exercise session (ie, the midpoint of the exercise session), which may have serious implications for safety and compliance monitoring in exercise programs. This study extends the current literature on consumer-grade, wrist-worn HR monitors and provides data to inform future studies hoping to use consume-grade sensors to monitor safety, exercise program compliance, and longitudinal behavioral patterns in cancer survivors [8,25,27]. This is particularly important as exercise interventions become less centralized and hybrid and unsupervised approaches increase in prevalence [28-30].

Comparison With Prior Work

The wrist-worn, Fitbit Inspire HR monitor accurately measured HR only during seated rest postexercise compared to the chest-worn Polar H10 monitor. Although pre-exercise seated rest, midpoint of moderate-intensity exercise, and cool-down also exhibited high levels of agreement, they did not reach statistical agreement as defined by Lin concordance correlation coefficient [22]. Results from previous studies have found that Fitbit devices are most accurate in measuring HR during low-intensity activities where the wrist is moving in a repetitive fashion [17]. Nevertheless, in contrast to these previous studies, warm-up represented the period of the poorest agreement. It is also unclear why the Fitbit accurately measured HR during postbut not pre-exercise seated rest; however, both pre-and postexercise seated rest reflected the highest levels of agreement with the Polar monitor, consistent with previous findings [8,16]

Although HR was highest during the midpoint of the exercise session and cool-down, these stages represented higher levels of agreement when compared to the warm-up stage. This may, in part, be due to the slower speeds at which breast cancer survivors were walking in this study, as compared to healthy, young, or middle-aged adults in other studies [8,16,17,31]. While previous research found that lower treadmill speeds showed the highest agreement, overall speeds in those studies ranged from 2 to 9 miles per hour [16,17]. In comparison, breast cancer survivors in this study did not reach speeds greater than 3.5 miles per hour. It is possible that speeds in this study were more similar to light-intensity walking in previous studies, which would align more closely with the results from this study [16,17]. This does not, however, explain the poor agreement during the warm-up and cool-down stages.

Of note, the RER at the midpoint of the exercise session indicates that the Fitbit monitor underestimated HR as compared to the Polar chest strap. Previous studies have reported similar

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51210
```

trends in Fitbit data as compared to traditional ECG monitoring [8,16,17,31]. One study found the Fitbit Ionic to be comparable to other wrist-worn monitors and statistically accurate at rest [17], while another found that the Fitbit Blaze provided the least accurate optically measured HR [8]. In contrast to the findings presented here, these studies also found that higher-intensity activity led to decreased accuracy in HR measurement [8,17]. However, differences in Fitbit accuracy at peak exercise intensity between previous studies and data presented in this study may be due to the lower absolute intensity in this study, as both previous studies were conducted among athletes [8,17]. Given the generally lower intensity of exercise prescribed to cancer survivors, participants may not reach an exercise intensity high enough for devices to decrease in accuracy during steady-state exercise. This should, theoretically, reinforce the utility of Fitbits in cancer survivor populations.

Despite this, underestimation of exercise HR may be problematic in programs using Fitbit to monitor intensity during exercise in cancer survivors for several reasons. First, participants may be asked to increase the intensity of a session to achieve the prescribed HR range. If the Fitbit monitor underestimates HR, as it did in this study, participants who reach the prescribed HR as measured by Fitbit may be exercising at an intensity higher than that prescribed, leading to concerns regarding participant safety—particularly if the session is unsupervised. In a previous analysis of exercise prescription adherence in this sample, data indicated that participants only met prescribed intensity during supervised sessions 57.5% of the time when assessed via Fitbit HR, as compared to 92.2% when measured via Polar. However, adherence to the prescribed intensity via Fitbit was 83.2% during unsupervised sessions after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic [32]. These data, when taken together with the findings of this study, suggest that participants may have been exercising above their prescribed HR range during unsupervised sessions. Although many breast cancer survivors may comfortably exercise at higher intensities, reliance upon consumer-grade wearable sensors only may introduce safety concerns not previously observed in more traditional, controlled exercise trials. Additionally, future studies that use Fitbit to measure the dose of exercise required to effect specific outcomes (eg, cancer-related fatigue and cognitive performance) may underestimate the required intensity of activity to elicit an effect. Although these devices may have utility in exercise oncology, it is critical that researchers and practitioners are aware of limitations that may increase the risk of adverse events or decrease methodological rigor in quantifying compliance with exercise prescriptions.

Limitations

Although this study is one of the first to investigate HR agreement between the Fitbit Inspire HR and Polar H10 chest monitor during community-based exercise in breast cancer survivors, it is not without limitations. First, this study was performed on a small sample of breast cancer survivors. Our sample was primarily comprised of White, educated women with early-stage breast cancer, which may not be representative of the larger breast cancer population. For example, women in this study were also not on any β -Blockers, and only 1 participant reported antihypertensive medication use. Although

XSL•FO RenderX

this improves the internal validity of this study due to the lack of HR suppression, it is likely not representative of the broader breast cancer survivor population in the United States [33]. Future studies would be strengthened by the inclusion of a larger, more diverse sample of breast cancer survivors with more supervised exercise sessions.

Additionally, exercise physiologists were available to help and provide feedback on using the devices during the exercise sessions, making it unclear to what extent user error would influence Fitbit's accuracy in unsupervised exercise settings. Fitbit HR measurements in this study were also compared to Polar chest strap monitors, rather than the gold standard ECG. This may have introduced systematic error in evaluating agreement. Finally, the total number of sessions observed in this study was fewer than originally planned (ie, 200 observed vs 540 planned) due to COVID-19 required adaptations. It is unclear whether additional observations would have changed or stabilized results relative to device agreement.

Conclusions

Overall, Fitbit devices with HR monitoring capabilities may be useful for participant monitoring in exercise oncology studies. Researchers should use caution when using these devices, however, as they likely do not provide accurate HR measurement during critical stages of exercise sessions. This study showed that Fitbit monitors were only statistically accurate during seated rest and likely underestimated HR during steady-state exercise. As a result, Fitbit HR measurements are likely best for estimating exercise intensity rather than evaluating compliance with exercise prescriptions. Because of their ease and potential utility in behavioral PA interventions, future studies should further examine the agreement between wrist-worn wearable sensors and a gold-standard measurement of HR, such as ECG, in a larger, more representative sample of breast cancer survivors. Additionally, studies should analyze agreement by relative HR intensity to determine whether Fitbit may be more appropriate for specific exercise prescriptions.

Acknowledgments

Funding for this study was provided by the University of Nebraska Medical Center Fred and Pamela Buffett Cancer Center Support Grant (P30CA036727) as well as the Nebraska Tobacco Settlement Biomedical Research Development Fund (NTSBRDF). The funders were not involved in the study design, implementation, or dissemination activities. The authors would like to acknowledge Tiffany Dudley, BS, American Collect of Sports Medicine (ACSM) Certified Exercise Physiologist (ACSM-EP), and Joseph Scharfenkamp, MS, ACSM Clinical Exercise Physiologist (ACSM-CEP) for the implementation of the exercise intervention and their flexibility in pivoting from in-person to remote delivery in March 2020.

Data Availability

The data sets generated during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

LLP carried out conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, project administration, and writing of the original draft. JF was in charge of data curation, methodology, and software, as well as reviewing and editing of the manuscript. CP contributed to the formal analysis and visualization as well as reviewing and editing of the manuscript; AMB and ECR carried out the methodology and contributed to the reviewing and editing of the manuscript. ECR also provided resources for the study. DKE was in charge of the conceptualization, funding acquisition, methodology, project administration, resources, and supervision, as well as reviewing and editing of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Wright SP, Hall BTS, Collier SR, Sandberg K. How consumer physical activity monitors could transform human physiology research. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2017 Dec 01;312(3):R358-R367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00349.2016] [Medline: 28052867]
- 2. Wrist-worn wearable shipments worldwide 2019-2024. Statista. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/296565/</u> wearables-worldwide-shipments/ [accessed 2024-09-02]
- Feehan LM, Geldman J, Sayre EC, Park C, Ezzat AM, Yoo JY, et al. Accuracy of Fitbit devices: systematic review and narrative syntheses of quantitative data. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2018 Aug 09;6(8):e10527 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10527] [Medline: 30093371]
- 4. Mercer K, Li M, Giangregorio L, Burns C, Grindrod K. Behavior change techniques present in wearable activity trackers: a critical analysis. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2016;4(2):e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4461] [Medline: 27122452]
- Imboden MT, Nelson MB, Kaminsky LA, Montoye AH. Comparison of four Fitbit and Jawbone activity monitors with a research-grade ActiGraph accelerometer for estimating physical activity and energy expenditure. Br J Sports Med 2018 Jul;52(13):844-850. [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-096990] [Medline: 28483930]

- Dominick GM, Winfree KN, Pohlig RT, Papas MA. Physical activity assessment between consumer- and research-grade accelerometers: a comparative study in free-living conditions. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Sep 19;4(3):e110 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6281] [Medline: 27644334]
- 7. NIH Reorter. URL: <u>https://reporter.nih.gov/</u> [accessed 2024-11-02]
- Gillinov S, Etiwy M, Wang R, Blackburn G, Phelan D, Gillinov AM, et al. Variable accuracy of wearable heart rate monitors during aerobic exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2017 Aug;49(8):1697-1703. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.000000000001284</u>] [Medline: <u>28709155</u>]
- 9. Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee I, et al. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2011;43(7):1334-1359. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318213fefb] [Medline: 21694556]
- Campbell KL, Winters-Stone KM, Wiskemann J, May AM, Schwartz AL, Courneya KS, et al. Exercise guidelines for cancer survivors: consensus statement from international multidisciplinary roundtable. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2019 Nov;51(11):2375-2390 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000002116] [Medline: 31626055]
- 11. Hartman SJ, Nelson SH, Weiner LS. Patterns of Fitbit Use and Activity LevPatterns of Fitbit use and activity levels throughout a physical activity intervention: exploratory analysis from a randomized controlled trialels Throughout a Physical Activity Intervention: Exploratory Analysis from a Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Feb 05;6(2):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8503] [Medline: 29402761]
- 12. Hardcastle SJ, Jiménez-Castuera R, Maxwell-Smith C, Bulsara MK, Hince D. Fitbit wear-time and patterns of activity in cancer survivors throughout a physical activity intervention and follow-up: Exploratory analysis from a randomised controlled trial. PLoS One 2020 Oct 19;15(10):e0240967 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0240967] [Medline: 33075100]
- Ringeval M, Wagner G, Denford J, Paré G, Kitsiou S. Fitbit-based interventions for healthy lifestyle outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 12;22(10):e23954 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23954] [Medline: 33044175]
- 14. Bluethmann SM, Vernon SW, Gabriel KP, Murphy CC, Bartholomew LK. Taking the next step: a systematic review and meta-analysis of physical activity and behavior change interventions in recent post-treatment breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2015 Jan;149(2):331-342 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-014-3255-5] [Medline: 25555831]
- 15. Reddy RK, Pooni R, Zaharieva DP, Senf B, El Youssef J, Dassau E, et al. Accuracy of wrist-worn activity monitors during common daily physical activities and types of structured exercise: evaluation study. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2018 Dec 10;6(12):e10338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10338] [Medline: 30530451]
- 16. Wang R, Blackburn G, Desai M, Phelan D, Gillinov L, Houghtaling P, et al. Accuracy of wrist-worn heart rate monitors. JAMA Cardiol 2017 Jan 01;2(1):104-106. [doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2016.3340] [Medline: 27732703]
- Pasadyn SR, Soudan M, Gillinov M, Houghtaling P, Phelan D, Gillinov N, et al. Accuracy of commercially available heart rate monitors in athletes: a prospective study. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther 2019 Aug;9(4):379-385 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/cdt.2019.06.05] [Medline: 31555543]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, REDCap Consortium. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019 Jul;95:103208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208] [Medline: 31078660]
- Haghayegh S, Khoshnevis S, Smolensky MH, Diller KR. Accuracy of PurePulse photoplethysmography technology of Fitbit Charge 2 for assessment of heart rate during sleep. Chronobiol Int 2019 Jul 16;36(7):927-933. [doi: 10.1080/07420528.2019.1596947] [Medline: 30990098]
- Allen J. Photoplethysmography and its application in clinical physiological measurement. Physiol Meas 2007 Mar;28(3):R1-39. [doi: <u>10.1088/0967-3334/28/3/R01</u>] [Medline: <u>17322588</u>]
- 22. Lin LI. A concordance correlation coefficient to evaluate reproducibility. Biometrics 1989 Mar;45(1):255-268. [Medline: 2720055]
- 23. Martin Bland J, Altman D. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. The Lancet 1986 Feb;327(8476):307-310. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(86)90837-8]
- 24. Bland JM, Altman DG. Measuring agreement in method comparison studies. Stat Methods Med Res 1999 Jun 02;8(2):135-160. [doi: 10.1177/096228029900800204] [Medline: 10501650]
- 25. Thomson EA, Nuss K, Comstock A, Reinwald S, Blake S, Pimentel RE, et al. Heart rate measures from the Apple Watch, Fitbit Charge HR 2, and electrocardiogram across different exercise intensities. J Sports Sci 2019 Jun 18;37(12):1411-1419. [doi: 10.1080/02640414.2018.1560644] [Medline: 30657025]
- 26. Shcherbina A, Mattsson CM, Waggott D, Salisbury H, Christle JW, Hastie T, et al. Accuracy in wrist-worn, sensor-based measurements of heart rate and energy expenditure in a diverse cohort. J Pers Med 2017 May 24;7(2):3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jpm7020003] [Medline: 28538708]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51210
```

- Coughlin SS, Caplan LS, Stone R. Use of consumer wearable devices to promote physical activity among breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer survivors: a review of health intervention studies. J Cancer Surviv 2020 Jun;14(3):386-392. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-020-00855-1] [Medline: 31933148]
- Phillips SM, Penedo FJ, Collins LM, Solk P, Siddique J, Song J, et al. Optimization of a technology-supported physical activity promotion intervention for breast cancer survivors: Results from Fit2Thrive. Cancer 2022 Mar 01;128(5):1122-1132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.34012] [Medline: 34812521]
- 29. Alfano CM, Leach CR, Smith TG, Miller KD, Alcaraz KI, Cannady RS, et al. Equitably improving outcomes for cancer survivors and supporting caregivers: a blueprint for care delivery, research, education, and policy. CA Cancer J Clin 2019 Jan;69(1):35-49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21548] [Medline: 30376182]
- Stout NL, Brown JC, Schwartz AL, Marshall TF, Campbell AM, Nekhlyudov L, et al. An exercise oncology clinical pathway: screening and referral for personalized interventions. Cancer 2020 Jun 15;126(12):2750-2758 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.32860] [Medline: 32212338]
- 31. Muggeridge DJ, Hickson K, Davies AV, Giggins OM, Megson IL, Gorely T, et al. Measurement of heart rate using the Polar OH1 and Fitbit Charge 3 wearable devices in healthy adults during light, moderate, vigorous, and sprint-based exercise: validation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Mar 25;9(3):e25313. [doi: 10.2196/25313] [Medline: 33764310]
- 32. Page LL, Berger A, Reed E, Ehlers DK. Feasibility of an aerobic exercise intervention before and during the COVID pandemic. Ann Behav Med 2021 Apr;55(Supplement_1):S229. [doi: 10.1093/abm/kaae014]
- Williams GR, Deal AM, Lund JL, Chang YK, Muss HB, Pergolotti M, et al. Patient-reported comorbidity and survival in older adults with cancer. Oncologist 2018 Apr;23(4):433-439 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2017-0404] [Medline: 29242282]

Abbreviations

ECG: electrocardiogram HR: heart rate IRB: Institutional review board PA: physical activity REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture RER: relative error rate SPARCC: Study on Physical Activity's Relationship with Cancer and Cognition

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 24.07.23; peer-reviewed by T Lund-Jacobsen, J Borrowman, M Fraser; comments to author 29.11.23; revised version received 03.04.24; accepted 08.05.24; published 20.06.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Page LL, Fanning J, Phipps C, Berger A, Reed E, Ehlers D Heart Rate Monitoring Among Breast Cancer Survivors: Quantitative Study of Device Agreement in a Community-Based Exercise Program JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51210 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51210</u> doi:10.2196/51210 PMID:38900505

©Lindsey L Page, Jason Fanning, Connor Phipps, Ann Berger, Elizabeth Reed, Diane Ehlers. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 20.06.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Do Measures of Real-World Physical Behavior Provide Insights Into the Well-Being and Physical Function of Cancer Survivors? Cross-Sectional Analysis

Shelby L Bachman¹, PhD; Emma Gomes², BS; Suvekshya Aryal¹, MPH; David Cella³, PhD; Ieuan Clay¹, PhD; Kate Lyden¹, PhD; Heather J Leach², PhD

¹VivoSense, Inc, Newport Coast, CA, United States

²Department of Health and Exercise Science, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO, United States

³Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Shelby L Bachman, PhD VivoSense, Inc 27 Dorian Newport Coast, CA, 92657 United States Phone: 1 8588768486 Email: shelby.bachman@vivosense.com

Abstract

Background: As the number of cancer survivors increases, maintaining health-related quality of life in cancer survivorship is a priority. This necessitates accurate and reliable methods to assess how cancer survivors are feeling and functioning. Real-world digital measures derived from wearable sensors offer potential for monitoring well-being and physical function in cancer survivorship, but questions surrounding the clinical utility of these measures remain to be answered.

Objective: In this secondary analysis, we used 2 existing data sets to examine how measures of real-world physical behavior, captured with a wearable accelerometer, were related to aerobic fitness and self-reported well-being and physical function in a sample of individuals who had completed cancer treatment.

Methods: Overall, 86 disease-free cancer survivors aged 21-85 years completed self-report assessments of well-being and physical function, as well as a submaximal exercise test that was used to estimate their aerobic fitness, quantified as predicted submaximal oxygen uptake (VO_2). A thigh-worn accelerometer was used to monitor participants' real-world physical behavior for 7 days. Accelerometry data were used to calculate average values of the following measures of physical behavior: sedentary time, step counts, time in light and moderate to vigorous physical activity, time and weighted median cadence in stepping bouts over 1 minute, and peak 30-second cadence.

Results: Spearman correlation analyses indicated that 6 (86%) of the 7 accelerometry-derived measures of real-world physical behavior were not significantly correlated with Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General total well-being or linked Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System-Physical Function scores ($Ps \ge .08$). In contrast, all but one of the physical behavior measures were significantly correlated with submaximal VO₂ ($Ps \le .03$). Comparing these associations using likelihood ratio tests, we found that step counts, time in stepping bouts over 1 minute, and time in moderate to vigorous activity were more strongly associated with submaximal VO₂ than with self-reported well-being or physical function ($Ps \le .03$). In contrast, cadence in stepping bouts over 1 minute and peak 30-second cadence were not more associated with submaximal VO₂ than with the self-reported measures ($Ps \ge .08$).

Conclusions: In a sample of disease-free cancer survivors, we found that several measures of real-world physical behavior were more associated with aerobic fitness than with self-reported well-being and physical function. These results highlight the possibility that in individuals who have completed cancer treatment, measures of real-world physical behavior may provide additional information compared with self-reported and performance measures. To advance the appropriate use of digital measures in oncology clinical research, further research evaluating the clinical utility of real-world physical behavior over time in large, representative samples of cancer survivors is warranted.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03781154; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03781154

KEYWORDS

accelerometer; cancer survivorship; cancer survivors; digital health technology; health-related quality of life; physical behavior; physical function

Introduction

Background

As a result of progress in early cancer detection and the development of effective anticancer therapies, the number of individuals who have survived cancer is increasing. As of 2022, >18 million individuals in the United States were living with a history of cancer [1]. In the future, this number is projected to increase as the aging population grows and cancer screening, treatment, and survivorship care continue to advance [2,3]. Although increases in cancer survivorship are cause for optimism, clinicians and regulators alike are increasingly interested in ensuring that increases in cancer survival rates translate to additional years of good quality life [4,5].

Cancer and its treatments have major impacts on health-related quality of life [6]. These effects persist long into survivorship, with more than one-third of cancer survivors reporting that symptoms persist after treatment ends [7-9]. Across studies, individuals off cancer treatment, henceforth referred to as cancer survivors, report reductions in physical performance, fatigue, sleep problems, mood disturbances, and pain as long-term symptoms, even years after being disease free [9-11]. The impacts of cancer and its treatments are also associated with poorer outcomes and survival in the long term. For instance, individuals who experience a greater health burden from cancer symptoms are at an elevated risk of developing chronic comorbidities [12]. Furthermore, among adults with a history of cancer, both depression [13,14] and reduced physical function [15-18] are associated with an increased risk of mortality after controlling for confounding variables. At the same time, there is accumulating evidence that in cancer survivorship, health-promoting behaviors have positive impacts; for instance, exercise interventions have been demonstrated to improve health-related quality of life, objectively assessed physical function, and aerobic fitness in cancer survivors [19-21].

Therefore, understanding and considering the long-term impacts of anticancer therapies on health-related quality of life should be an integral component of assessing risk-benefit profiles during both regulatory and medical decision-making. This necessitates methods to accurately and reliably capture features of health-related quality of life that are important to cancer survivors. Established methods to assess these constructs in oncology clinical research include patient-reported assessments of global and domain-specific well-being, clinician-reported assessments of functional capacity, and performance assessments that capture physical performance capacity [22,23]. Collectively, these assessments have a range of limitations: patient-reported outcome assessments are burdensome and prone to floor and ceiling effects [24], clinician-reported outcome assessments exhibit limited interobserver reliability [25,26], and performance outcome assessments do not reflect many of the day-to-day functional challenges experienced by those with a history of

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53180

XSL•FC

cancer. Together, these limitations raise the question of how to best capture how cancer survivors are feeling and functioning in their real-world environments.

In the midst of a digital transformation in medicine, there is a growing interest in digital health technologies as measurement tools in oncology clinical care and research [27,28]. In particular, wearable sensors such as accelerometers have the potential to address some of the limitations of the established assessments of health-related quality of life in oncology [29]. These technologies can capture aspects of everyday physical behavior remotely (in individuals' lived environment), passively (as individuals go about their daily lives), and continuously (with high granularity) [28,30]. These devices can furthermore capture many domains of physical behavior, including aspects of gait, mobility, posture, physical activity, and sedentary behavior [31-33]. Alongside established outcome assessments, these measures may provide rich insights into the real-world well-being and physical function in cancer survivorship [34-36].

The use of wearable sensors as monitoring tools in oncology clinical research is on the rise [37], but despite their potential for capturing how individuals feel and function in their real-world environments, these tools have not been widely adopted for assessing treatment efficacy or monitoring in cancer clinical research. Furthermore, across trials that have deployed wearable sensors, there is little standardization regarding which outcome measures are included, as well as the definitions of those measures [37]. Together with this lack of standardization, a potential reason for the limited adoption of digital measures derived from wearable sensors is that there is limited clinical validation evidence linking specific digital measures of real-world physical behavior to gold-standard outcome measures commonly used in oncology clinical research (ie, patient-reported, clinician-reported, and performance outcomes) [29].

Objectives

In this secondary analysis, we aimed to gain insight into how various digital measures of real-world physical behavior, captured with wearable sensors, can provide an additional understanding of health-related quality of life following cancer treatment. To do so, we leveraged data from 2 previous studies of individuals who had completed cancer treatment to test whether an array of digital measures of real-world physical behavior, measured with a wearable accelerometer over a 1-week period, were related to self-reported and performance measures of physical function. First, we examined associations between real-world physical behavior and self-reported well-being and physical function. Next, we examined how real-world physical behavior was related to aerobic fitness, captured with a submaximal exercise test performed in the clinic. Finally, we compared these patterns of associations to determine whether real-world physical behavior was more closely related

to self-reported well-being and physical function or to aerobic fitness.

Methods

Overview

Data were collected as part of 2 studies. Study 1 was a cross-sectional study conducted at Colorado State University between January 2020 and June 2021 and aimed to examine how reallocating time to physical activity affected body composition and quality of life in individuals who had completed cancer treatment [38,39]. Study 2 was a randomized clinical trial conducted at the University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus and Colorado State University and aimed to examine the feasibility and preliminary effects of a videoconference physical activity intervention in individuals who had completed treatment for colorectal cancer [40,41]. For study 2, only data collected at the baseline measurement time point (ie, before the initiation of the intervention) were used. These data were collected between February 2021 and July 2022. For increased statistical power, we combined data from studies 1 and 2.

Ethical Considerations

Study 1

The study protocol was approved by Colorado State University Institutional Review Board (IRB #19-8914H). All participants provided written, informed consent before participation and were compensated US \$25 for participation. When providing consent, participants consented to their deidentified data being used for future studies. Data were deidentified before analyses.

Study 2

The study protocol was approved by the University of Colorado Institutional Review Board (IRB #18-2436). Informed consent was obtained from all participants. As a part of this process, participants consented to their deidentified data being used for research purposes beyond the primary study aims. Participants were compensated up to US \$75 for participation. Data were deidentified before analyses.

Participants

Study 1

Participants in study 1 were recruited from local and regional cancer centers and the Colorado State University Center for Healthy Aging using flyers, presentations, and email postings. Eligible participants were aged >18 years at the time of their cancer diagnosis and within 60 months of treatment completion at the time of study participation.

Study 2

Participants in study 2 were recruited from the University of Colorado Cancer Center, survivor support organizations, and community outreach using mailed letters, flyers, and social media platforms. Eligible participants (1) were fluent in English, (2) had access to a computer or phone with internet and a camera, (3) stated willingness to comply with all study procedures and be available for the duration of the study, (4) were male or female individuals aged \geq 40 years at the time of

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53180
```

diagnosis, (5) had histologically confirmed cancer of the colon or rectum (stages II-IV) if treated with curative intent, completed resection or other surgery 3 to 60 months before enrollment, received chemotherapy and/or radiation therapy within the previous year with at least 1 cycle of intended chemotherapy completed (not necessary to have completed all cycles), and had no plans for additional chemotherapy or radiation therapy. Exclusion criteria were evidence of metastatic disease, existing participation in at least 150 minutes per week of at least moderate intensity physical activity, being pregnant or planning to become pregnant, and known contraindications for exercise.

Procedure

We aimed to test relationships between participants' real-world physical behavior, self-reported well-being and physical function, and aerobic fitness; therefore, we focused only on relevant assessments that were included in both studies. These assessments are described in subsequent sections.

Assessments of Self-Reported Well-Being and Physical Function

In the laboratory, participants completed a series of questionnaires in which they reported demographic information and information about their cancer diagnosis and types of treatment completed. They also completed the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General (FACT-G), a 27-item instrument designed to assess health-related quality of life in individuals with cancer along 4 dimensions: physical, functional, emotional, and social well-being [42]. For FACT-G and its subscales, higher scores indicate better well-being.

Assessment of Aerobic Fitness

Following the questionnaires, participants completed a submaximal exercise test that involved a modified Balke Treadmill Test. The modified Balke Treadmill protocol consisted of a 3-minute warm-up at a treadmill speed of 2.5 mph. Following the warm-up, participants entered stage 1 of the test at 0% grade and 2.5 mph. Every 3 minutes, participants entered a new stage, increasing the treadmill grade by 2.5% until 70% heart rate reserve was reached or until there was a safety indication to stop the exercise test. Heart rate was collected every minute throughout the protocol.

A measure of aerobic fitness, that is, predicted oxygen uptake (VO_2) at 70% heart rate reserve, was then calculated according to the following formula (for women [43]; for men [44]), where *T* denotes the test duration (ie, time to reach 70% heart rate reserve):

Predicted submaximal VO₂ (mL/kg/min) for women = 1.38 (T) + 5.22 (1)Predicted submaximal VO₂ (mL/kg/min) for men = 1.44 (T) + 14.99 (2)

Assessment of Real-World Physical Behavior

At the end of the laboratory visit, participants were instructed that during the subsequent 7-day period, their real-world behavior would be monitored continuously using an activPAL3 activity monitor (PAL Technologies Ltd), worn on the thigh [45]. Using an accelerometer to sense limb position and activity,

activPAL can discriminate between the activities of lying, sitting, standing, and stepping and therefore allows for the calculation of time spent in various physical activity categories [46-48]. The sensor identifies reciprocal leg movements as steps, and based on the detected steps, measures including cadence and time in stepping bouts of various durations can be calculated [49].

Participants were each given an activPAL and instructed regarding proper use and wear of the device. Each participant was instructed to wear the device on their thigh for 7 days in their real-world environments. A 7-day monitoring period has been demonstrated to provide sufficient accelerometer data for generating reliable estimates of various measures of real-world physical behavior [50-52]. After the remote monitoring period, participants returned their devices to the laboratory. If their appointment to return the device was >7 days after the beginning of the remote monitoring period, participants were permitted to wear the device longer than 7 days to avoid losing it. All available activPAL data were used for analysis.

Analysis

Linkage of PROMIS-Physical Function Scores

To assess self-reported physical function, we first calculated scores on a 5-item subset of the FACT-G physical well-being subscale. The 5 items in the subset were "I have a lack of energy," "Because of my physical condition, I have trouble meeting the needs of my family," "I have pain," "I feel ill," and "I am forced to spend time in bed." This 5-item subset excluded 2 items on the FACT-G physical well-being subscale: "I have nausea" and "I am bothered by the side effects of treatment." These 5-item subset scores were linked to T scores on a custom subset of the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System-Physical Function (PROMIS-PF) calibrated item bank, using an established linkage method [53]. PROMIS-PF is a tool for assessing physical function in oncology clinical research [54,55], for which higher T scores indicate better physical function. We used the linkage procedure described by Kaat et al [53] rather than administering the PROMIS-PF assessment directly.

Summarization of Self-Reported and Performance Measures in the Sample

For the purposes of analysis, FACT-G scores, linked PROMIS-PFT scores, and submaximal VO₂ values were treated as continuous variables. Summary statistics were used to summarize the sample in terms of FACT-G total well-being scores, FACT-G physical well-being subscale scores, scores on the 5-item subset of the FACT-G physical well-being subscale used for linkage to PROMIS-PF, linked PROMIS-PF T scores, and submaximal VO₂. Ceiling effects, defined as the percentage of the sample achieving the maximum possible score [56], were calculated for each self-reported measure's distribution were also calculated.

Calculation of Measures of Real-World Physical Behavior

Average daily nonwear time, defined as the time in which participants did not wear the activPAL monitor, was calculated for each participant. A valid day was considered as the one in which a participant wore the monitor for at least 10 hours; only participants with at least 4 valid days during the remote monitoring period were included for analysis [57].

The activPAL proprietary software, PALbatch (version 8.11.1.63; PAL Technologies), was used to access summaries of recorded data and whole recording outcomes from the real-world monitoring period. Measures of interest included average daily time spent sedentary (ie, secondary lying, defined as sitting or lying not classified as primary lying); time in light physical activity; time in moderate to vigorous physical activity; and step count. Average daily time in light and moderate to vigorous intensity activity was calculated using established approaches [47]. In addition, we calculated the average daily time that each participant spent in stepping bouts of ≥ 1 minute in duration. Finally, we extracted 2 measures of cadence: weighted median cadence in stepping bouts of ≥ 1 minute across all valid days, as well as the number of steps in any 30-second recording period ("peak 30 s cadence") across all valid days, a measure that is thought to reflect an individual's best natural effort [58-60]. Summary statistics were used to characterize the sample in terms of the various measures of real-world physical behavior.

Intercorrelations Among Related Measures

As preliminary tests for expected intercorrelations among the self-reported measures and among the measures of real-world physical behavior, we performed Spearman correlation analyses.

Associations With Measures of Real-World Physical Behavior

Pairwise Spearman correlation analyses were then used to test for associations between each measure of real-world physical behavior and (1) the self-reported measures and (2) aerobic fitness. These analyses were repeated in a partial Spearman correlation framework to account for the effects of age, sex, BMI, time since diagnosis, and cancer stage at diagnosis on each association. In addition, to test for differences in physical behavior based on the level of self-reported physical function and well-being, we first performed a tertile split of each self-reported measure and a median split of aerobic fitness. A median split instead of a tertile split was performed for aerobic fitness since fewer participants had values of submaximal VO₂ available compared with the self-reported measures. In cases where scores were equal to a tertile value, they were assigned such that the resulting splits reflecting high, medium, and low scores were approximately equal in size. Then, we used 2-tailed pairwise Welch t tests and Mann-Whitney U tests to compare the splits in terms of the various measures of real-world physical behavior. Welch t tests were used to compare splits in terms of measures that did not exhibit deviations from normality, whereas Mann-Whitney U tests were performed to compare splits in terms of measures that exhibited deviations from normality. Deviation from normality was indicated by a statistically

XSL•FC

significant Shapiro-Walk test result. For each comparison of the splits of self-reported measures, *P* values were adjusted for multiple comparisons using Holm method [61]. For comprehensiveness, we also performed Spearman correlation analyses to test for associations between aerobic fitness and each of the self-reported measures.

Comparison of Associations With Measures of Real-World Physical Behavior

A series of likelihood ratio tests was used to determine if the strength of associations with real-world physical behavior differed between the self-reported measures and aerobic fitness. The following steps were performed for each measure of real-world physical behavior. Here, we describe the process for FACT-G total well-being, but the same process was used for FACT-G physical well-being, FACT-G physical well-being 5-item subset, and linked PROMIS-PF T scores:

- One multiple linear regression model was fit, with all measures (FACT-G total well-being, submaximal VO₂, age, sex, BMI, time since diagnosis, and cancer stage) regressed onto the measure of real-world physical behavior.
- 2. A second multiple linear regression model was fit, which was identical to the first, with the exception that the regression coefficients for FACT-G total well-being and submaximal VO_2 were constrained to equality.
- 3. A likelihood ratio test was performed to compare the fits of the first (unconstrained) and second (constrained) models; a significant test result indicated that constraining the coefficients to equality led to a significantly poorer model fit.

Exploratory Analysis of Associations With Activity Fragmentation

For additional insights into real-world physical behavior, we calculated measures of activity fragmentation, reflecting how participants accumulated their total activity and sedentary time across the days of the remote monitoring period [62]. More fragmented activity patterns have been associated with increased mortality risk, reduced physical function as measured with in-clinic physical performance tests, and fatigability [63,64]. Using a similar approach as mentioned in the *Comparison of Associations With Measures of Real-World Physical Behavior* section, we tested whether the various measures of activity fragmentation were more associated with the self-reported measures or with aerobic fitness (Multimedia Appendix 1 [62,65,66]).

For each analysis comparing regression coefficients, data were restricted to include only those participants with no missing values for the respective measures being compared (ie, the self-reported measure of interest and submaximal VO₂). In addition, for all linear regression analyses, continuous variables were standardized, and binary variables were coded with a sum contrast coding scheme before analysis. All analyses were performed with R (version 4.1.2; The R Foundation).

Results

Overview

For study 1, we screened 101 individuals for participation and enrolled 59 (58.4%) individuals; 2 enrolled participants did not undergo remote monitoring. For study 2, we screened 1149 individuals and enrolled 29 (2.52%; screening details for study 2 are described fully in the study by Leach et al [41]). A total of 86 participants across both studies (study 1: n=57, 66%; study 2: n=29, 34%) completed remote monitoring of physical behavior and were included in the combined data set for analysis. Characteristics of participants included in the combined data set are summarized in Table 1. A comparison of participants in the 2 study samples in terms of demographics, cancer diagnosis, and treatment information is provided in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1. Across studies 1 and 2, the most common cancer types at diagnosis were breast (n=21, 24%), colon (n=20, 23%), and colorectal cancers (n=13, 15%). Detailed information on the distribution of cancer types across the 2 studies is presented in Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

All participants who underwent remote monitoring had valid activPAL data for least 4 days during the remote monitoring period. Participants had an average of 7.2 (SD 1.4; range 4-13) days of valid data and an average of 35.6 (SD 46.1; range 0-177.8) minutes of nonwear time per day. One participant in study 1 did not complete the FACT-G physical well-being subscale. Due to some in-person assessments being suspended during the COVID-19 pandemic, submaximal VO₂ values were only available for 37% (21/57) of the participants in study 1. Submaximal VO₂ values were available for all but 1 participant (28/29, 97%) in study 2 (due to an equipment malfunction). This yielded a total of 49 participants across both studies with available values for submaximal VO₂.

A summary of the measures of self-reported well-being and physical function, aerobic fitness, and real-world physical behavior is presented in Table 2. Although no ceiling effects were observed for FACT-G total well-being scores, moderate ceiling effects were observed for the FACT-G physical well-being subscale, the FACT-G physical well-being 5-item subset, and linked PROMIS-PF scores, with 19% (16/85), 22% (19/85), and 22% (19/85) of the participants having the maximum score, respectively. Three of the self-reported measures had skewness <-1; distributions of all measures are visualized in Figures S1 and S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

As expected, FACT-G total well-being, FACT-G physical well-being, FACT-G physical well-being 5-item subset, and linked PROMIS-PF T scores were significantly correlated (Figure S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Similarly, the various measures of real-world physical behavior exhibited mostly expected intercorrelations (Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1).



 Table 1. Participant characteristics (n=86).

Characteristics	Values
Age (y), mean (SD; range)	55.4 (12.9); 21-85
Sex, n (%)	
Female	61 (71)
Male	25 (29)
BMI, mean (SD; range)	27.4 (5.2; 18-43)
Education level, n (%)	
12th grade or less	0 (0)
High school graduate or GED	3 (4)
Some college, AA degree, or technical school	21 (24)
College graduate (Bachelor's)	29 (34)
Graduate degree (masters or doctorate)	32 (37)
Prefer not to answer	1 (1)
Time since diagnosis (mo), mean (SD; range)	32 (25.5; 2-211)
Time since last treatment (mo), mean (SD; range)	21.2 (17.0; 0-60)
Cancer stage at diagnosis, n (%)	
0^{a}	4 (5)
Ι	15 (17)
П	22 (26)
III	29 (34)
IV	9 (11)
Unsure	7 (8)
Cancer treatment	
Had any treatment	86 (100)
Had chemotherapy	65 (76)
Had radiation	42 (49)
Had surgery	76 (88)
Had other	12 (14)
Number of treatment types, n (%)	
1	13 (15)
2	41 (47.7)
3	28 (32.6)
4	4 (4.7)

^aStage 0 indicates evidence of abnormal cells in situ.



Table 2. Summary of measures of self-reported well-being and physical function, aerobic fitness, and real-world physical behavior.

Measures	Values, mean (SD; range)
Self-reported well-being and physical function	
FACT-G ^a total well-being (0-108)	87.9 (13.3; 41-107)
FACT-G physical well-being subscale (0-28)	24.4 (3.7; 12-28)
FACT-G physical well-being subscale 5-item subset (0-20)	17.4 (2.6; 9-20)
Linked PROMIS ^b -Physical Function <i>T</i> -score (19-61)	51.1 (7.1; 35-61)
Aerobic fitness	
Predicted submaximal VO ₂ ^c (mL/kg/min)	29.1 (9.9; 10.0-50.0)
Real-world physical behavior	
Daily sedentary time (min)	582.1 (102.8; 295.1-819.4)
Daily step count	6916.3 (2704.5; 1413-17,501)
Daily time in light activity (min)	305.1 (97.2; 103.8-551.3)
Daily time in moderate to vigorous activity (min)	4.0 (6.6; 0.0-58.2)
Daily time in stepping bouts ≥1 min (min)	25.3 (19.7; 0.2-107.7)
Weighted median cadence in stepping bouts $\geq 1 \min (\text{steps/min})$	98.7 (12.1; 56.5-126.2)
Peak 30-second cadence (steps/min)	67.2 (8.6; 42.0-86.0)

^aFACT-G: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General.

^bPROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System.

^cVO₂: submaximal oxygen uptake.

Most Measures of Real-World Physical Behavior Were Not Associated With Self-Reported Well-Being or Physical Function

Spearman correlations with real-world physical behavior are depicted in Figure 1. The various measures of real-world physical behavior were not significantly correlated with FACT-G total well-being ($Ps \ge .189$; section 5 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Average daily time in stepping bouts ≥ 1 minute was significantly correlated with FACT-G physical well-being ($\rho=0.22$; P=.046), FACT-G physical well-being 5-item subset ($\rho=0.29$; P=.007), and linked PROMIS-PF T scores ($\rho=0.29$; P=.007), but no other measures of physical behavior were associated with FACT-G physical well-being, FACT-G physical well-being 5-item subset, or linked PROMIS-PF T scores ($Ps \ge .08$; section 5 in Multimedia Appendix 1). When accounting for the effects of demographics and cancer characteristics on these associations using a partial Spearman correlation

framework, the pattern of significance was largely unchanged, except that the correlation between time in stepping bouts ≥ 1 minute and FACT-G physical well-being was no longer significant (Figure S5 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Individuals with high, medium, and low FACT-G total well-being scores did not differ significantly in terms of any of the measures of real-world physical behavior (Figure 2). Similarly, individuals with high, medium, and low levels of FACT-G physical well-being scores, FACT-G physical well-being 5-item subset scores, and linked PROMIS-PF T scores did not differ significantly in terms of sedentary time, step counts, time in moderate to vigorous activity, weighted median cadence, or peak 30-second cadence (Figure 2; Figure S6 in Multimedia Appendix 1). However, we did find that participants with high FACT-G physical well-being 5-item subset and linked PROMIS-PF T scores spent more time in stepping bouts ≥ 1 minute than those with medium (W=121; P=.001) and low scores (W=155; P=.004).



Bachman et al

JMIR CANCER

FACT-G Total	-0.01	0.12	0.02	0.14	0.14	0.03	-0.09	
FACT-G Physical	0.13	0.14	-0.15	0.08	0.22*	0.13	0.09	ρ 1.0
FACT-G Physical 5-item	0.08	0.19	-0.1	0.14	0.29**	0.13	0.12	0.5
Linked PROMIS-PF	0.08	0.19	-0.1	0.14	0.29**	0.13	0.12	0.5
Submaximal VO ₂ -	-0.32*	0.63***	0.4**	0.51***	0.54***	0.08	0.33*	
Sedentary time Light activity Noderate to vigorous activity Time in stepping bouts 21m Peak 30s cadence Peak 30s cadence								

Figure 1. Correlation matrix depicting pairwise Spearman correlations with measures of real-world physical behavior. FACT-G: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General; PROMIS-PF: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System-Physical Function. **P*<.05, ***P*<.01, ****P*<.001.



Bachman et al

Figure 2. Box plots depicting the measures of real-world physical behavior according to tertile splits of self-reported well-being and physical function and a median split of aerobic fitness. FACT-G: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General; PROMIS-PF: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System-Physical Function; submaximal VO₂: submaximal oxygen uptake. Significance labels refer to the results of Welch *t* tests and Mann-Whitney *U* tests. For ease of visualization, time in moderate to vigorous activity was transformed with a reverse inverse normal (RIN) transformation. *P<.05, **P<.01, ***P<.001.



Real-World Physical Behavior Was Associated With Aerobic Fitness

All but one of the accelerometry-derived measures of real-world physical behavior were significantly correlated with submaximal VO₂ ($Ps \le .03$; Figure 1; section 5 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53180

XSL•FO RenderX Weighted median cadence in stepping bouts ≥ 1 minute was the only measure not associated with submaximal VO₂ (ρ =0.08; P=.61). After accounting for the effects of demographics and cancer characteristics in a partial Spearman correlation framework (Figure S5 in Multimedia Appendix 1), average

daily step count was significantly correlated with submaximal VO₂ (ρ =0.46; *P*=.002), as was time in moderate to vigorous activity (ρ =0.33; *P*=.03).

A median split of submaximal VO₂ (Figure 2) indicated that compared with participants with low submaximal VO₂, participants with high submaximal VO₂ had significantly higher step counts (W=130; P<.001) and spent significantly more time in light intensity activity (t_{42.6}=2.23; P=.03), moderate intensity activity (W=128; P<.001), and stepping bouts ≥1 minute in duration (W=144; P=.002). Individuals with high and low submaximal VO₂ did not differ significantly in terms of sedentary time (W=367; P=.19), weighted median cadence (t_{42.7}=-0.07; P=.95), or peak 30-second cadence (W=212; P=.08).

Aerobic Fitness Was Not Associated With Self-Reported Well-Being or Physical Function

Spearman correlation analyses indicated that submaximal VO₂ was not significantly correlated with any of the self-reported measures ($Ps \ge .21$; section 7 in Multimedia Appendix 1). The pattern of significance was unchanged when using a partial correlation approach to account for the effects of demographic and cancer characteristics on these associations ($Ps \ge .27$; section 7 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Associations With Real-World Physical Behavior Were Stronger for Aerobic Fitness Than for Self-Reported Well-Being or Physical Function

Having found that the measures of real-world physical behavior were largely uncorrelated with self-reported well-being and physical function but correlated with aerobic fitness, we used likelihood ratio tests to compare these sets of associations (Figure 3; Figure S8 in Multimedia Appendix 1). These analyses indicated that step count was more strongly associated with submaximal VO₂ than with FACT-G total well-being (F_1 =12.29; P=.001), FACT-G physical well-being (F_1 =18.27; P<.001), FACT-G physical well-being 5-item subset (F_1 =16.32; P<.001), and linked PROMIS-PF T scores (F_1 =15.72; P<.001). Similarly, time in moderate to vigorous activity was more strongly associated with submaximal VO₂ than with FACT-G total well-being scores (F_1 =7.05; P=.01), FACT-G physical well-being (F_1 =8.78; P=.005), FACT-G physical well-being 5-item subset (F_1 =8.13; P=.007), and linked PROMIS-PF T scores (F_1 =9.30; P=.004). Time in stepping bouts \geq 1 minute was also more strongly associated with submaximal VO₂ than with any of the self-reported measures (FACT-G total: F_1 =4.87; P=.03; FACT-G physical: F_1 =8.34; P=.006; FACT-G physical 5-item subset: F_1 =7.16; P=.01; linked PROMIS-PF: F_1 =5.48; P=.03).

Sedentary time was more negatively associated with submaximal VO₂ than with FACT-G physical well-being (F_1 =7.49; P=.009), FACT-G physical well-being 5-item subset (F_1 =5.36; P=.03), and linked PROMIS-PF T scores (F_1 =7.02; P=.01), but not with FACT-G total well-being scores (F_1 =1.93; P=.17). Similarly, time in light activity was more positively associated with submaximal VO₂ than with FACT-G physical well-being (F_1 =4.86; P=.03) and linked PROMIS-PF T scores (F_1 =5.01; P=.03), but not with FACT-G total well-being scores (F_1 =1.57; P=.22) or physical well-being 5-item subset scores (F_1 =4.01; P=.05). For weighted median cadence and peak 30-second cadence, associations with submaximal VO₂ were not significantly different than those with any of the participant-reported measures (Ps≥.08; section 8 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

A similar pattern of results was observed when examining relationships with measures of activity fragmentation (Multimedia Appendix 1). Specifically, measures indicating a more fragmented activity pattern were correlated with lower submaximal VO₂ but were largely unrelated to measures of self-reported well-being and physical function (Figure S9 in Multimedia Appendix 1); furthermore, multiple measures of activity fragmentation were significantly more associated with aerobic fitness than with the self-reported measures (Figure S10 in Multimedia Appendix 1).



Figure 3. Comparison of associations of real-world physical behavior with (1) self-reported well-being and physical function and (2) aerobic fitness. FACT-G: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General; PROMIS-PF: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System-Physical Function; submaximal VO₂: submaximal oxygen uptake. Significance labels refer to the results of likelihood ratio (F) tests comparing standardized regression coefficients. *P<.05, **P<.001.



Discussion

XSL•FO RenderX

Principal Findings

Amid a digital revolution in medicine, the use of digital health technologies as evidence generation tools in oncology clinical trials and routine cancer care is gaining traction [27,67].

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53180

Wearable sensors are increasingly being used for assessing the efficacy of anticancer therapies and for posttreatment monitoring [29], but the clinical utility of measures of real-world behavior derived from these devices remains to be fully characterized. In this study, we examined how measures of real-world physical behavior, captured in real-world environments of cancer

survivors over a 1-week monitoring period using accelerometry, were related to self-reported and performance outcomes. We found that the volume and patterning of real-world physical behavior were more related to aerobic fitness than to self-reported well-being and physical function.

Previous studies assessing relationships between real-world measures of physical behavior and self-reported well-being and physical function in cancer survivors have reported mixed findings. In a study of prostate cancer survivors, accelerometer-assessed time spent sedentary, time in light activity, and time in moderate to vigorous activity were all associated with global well-being, but only at specific percentiles of well-being [68]. In colon cancer survivors, time spent sedentary was associated with quality of life [69], and among colorectal cancer survivors, time in moderate to vigorous activity was associated with quality of life and physical function [70]. However, one of these studies failed to find a significant association between sedentary time and either quality of life or physical function [70], and in a separate study, neither time in sedentary behavior nor time in moderate to vigorous activity was significantly associated with quality of life in prostate cancer survivors [71]. Our findings are in line with these prior reports of limited relationships with measures of real-world physical behavior and suggest that these measures are more reflective of objective physical capacity than of self-reported well-being and physical function in cancer survivors.

There are several potential explanations for why we did not observe many significant relationships between real-world physical behavior and the self-reported measures. One reason may be that ceiling effects in the self-reported measures limited our ability to detect associations with physical behavior. We observed ceiling effects for FACT-G physical well-being and linked PROMIS-PF T scores, which may be due to selection bias, as well as some participants being far out from diagnosis and treatment at the time of assessment. All participants in studies 1 and 2 had completed treatment, and participants in both the studies had been diagnosed an average of 32 months before data collection. Ceiling effects are a limitation of some participant-reported assessments, including FACT-G, its subscales, and PROMIS-PF short forms [24,54,72,73], with these effects challenging the ability of an assessment to detect changes over time [56]. These effects may be especially relevant when respondents have higher levels of functioning [24,54], which could occur when assessing cancer survivors (1) years out from diagnosis, (2) with cancer types that tend to be detected early, or (3) who experience relatively smaller declines in functioning. As fewer of the real-world physical behavior measures were highly skewed, these measures have the potential to capture aspects of functioning beyond those captured with self-reported measures.

Another reason may be that the real-world measures studied here do not capture the aspects of real-world physical behavior that are most associated with self-reported well-being and physical function. We included a range of measures of real-world physical behavior, with the aim of gaining insights into their differential clinical utility. Step count, time in moderate to vigorous activity, time spent sedentary, time in light activity, and time in stepping bouts ≥ 1 minute, all

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53180
```

demonstrated stronger associations with aerobic fitness than with the self-reported measures, suggesting that these particular measures may offer more insights into individuals' physical capacity than their well-being and perceived physical function. We found that weighted median cadence and peak 30-second cadence were largely unrelated to aerobic fitness, and their associations with aerobic fitness did not differ from those for the participant-reported measures. It is worth noting that we calculated time and weighted median cadence in stepping bouts ≥ 1 minute in duration (rather than longer-duration stepping) bouts), due to many participants not spending time in longer-duration stepping bouts. As most stepping bouts taken in day-to-day behavior tend to be <1 minute in duration [74], time and cadence in longer-duration stepping bouts may be more informative, but studies of larger samples are needed to examine the clinical utility of these measures. At the same time, with participants spending the most time in short-duration stepping bouts, aspects of gait such as gait speed and variability not explored here may be clinically relevant measures of day-to-day functioning and worth further investigation.

Beyond measures reflecting the absolute volume of physical behavior, we found that measures reflecting a more fragmented pattern of daily activity and sedentary time were negatively correlated with aerobic fitness but were mostly unrelated to self-reported well-being and physical function. Fragmented daily physical activity has been associated with poorer physical function as measured in the clinic, as well as higher fatiguability [63,64]. Additional research is needed to understand whether measures reflecting the fragmentation of real-world physical behavior can provide additional insights into real-world physical function, beyond measures reflecting the absolute volume of physical behavior, in cancer survivors. Taken together, it may be that further research is needed to define and validate measurable concepts and features of real-world physical behavior that are more closely related to perceived physical function.

We note several other important limitations. First, this was a cross-sectional analysis; results may differ if examining relationships with change in real-world physical behavior. Testing whether real-world physical behavior is associated with established measures of physical function and well-being over time will be necessary for establishing clinical validity of these measures. In addition, the sample size was small, with only 49 individuals included in the analyses involving aerobic fitness due to some in-person assessments being suspended during the COVID-19 pandemic. Furthermore, participants were mostly White and female, with high levels of educational attainment, limiting the ecological validity of results. In addition, most participants were diagnosed at cancer stage II or lower, with breast, colon, or rectal cancer, so results may not generalize to survivors of more advanced cancers or of other cancer types. Similarly, this analysis was focused on individuals who had completed treatment, which allowed us to consider questions of clinical utility without the confounding effects of disease and treatment on functioning; however, results may not generalize to individuals undergoing active cancer treatment. Further investigation of real-world physical behavior in larger, more

XSL•FO RenderX

representative samples of individuals during and after cancer treatment is warranted.

Another important limitation is that this was a secondary analysis of previously collected data, and so the studies were not designed to test the questions posed in this investigation. Related to this, it is possible that using other self-report and aerobic fitness measures might have yielded different results. Additional work to probe these relationships with other measures may help inform the clinical utility of wearable-derived digital measures in cancer survivorship.

Beyond these limitations, our findings speak to the potential utility of digital measures of real-world physical behavior to contribute to the assessment of functioning in cancer survivorship. That the digital measures did not exhibit many significant relationships with self-reported well-being and physical function suggests that these sets of measures provide different information. Furthermore, real-world physical behavior was significantly associated with submaximal VO₂; if further investigation reveals significant overlap in the clinical utility of these measures, wearable sensors could provide a lower-burden means of capturing information on aerobic fitness. Finally, compared with using any single type of measure, combining participant-reported, performance, and objective real-world measures could provide a more holistic picture of functioning in cancer survivorship [75]. Taking a comprehensive approach to assessing functioning could furthermore increase sensitivity to detect clinical change over time, enabling more efficient discovery of novel anticancer therapeutics or efficacious interventions for cancer survivors. This approach furthermore offers the possibility to better predict clinical outcomes, which could enable earlier disease detection and the personalization of both treatment and survivorship care [76,77]. As they can be captured remotely and passively, digital measures of real-world physical behavior can also enable decentralization of clinical trials, lower patient burden for participation, and facilitate the recruitment of underrepresented populations [78].

Although our findings indicate that digital measures of real-world physical behavior may add value for the measurement of functioning in cancer survivorship, further research is needed to evaluate the relative value and unique contributions of real-world physical behavior and self-reported physical function to the well-being of cancer survivors. Our approach and previous studies have been limited to cross-sectional analyses, but further work assessing how measures of real-world physical behavior relate to established clinical outcomes over time will be important for advancing the appropriate use of digital measures in oncology clinical research [79,80]. There are additional challenges with implementing wearable sensors in clinical populations, including acceptability and feasibility of these devices among participants. In addition, there is a growing regulatory emphasis on patient centricity in the development of clinical outcome assessments, such that digital measures derived from wearable sensors should reflect aspects of health that are meaningful to individuals in the target clinical population of interest [81]. Our findings suggest that digital measures may provide additional insights into physical function beyond those obtained with self-reported assessments, but whether these insights reflect aspects of everyday functioning that are meaningful remains to be determined. Gathering the evidence needed to demonstrate that digital measures are validated, meaningful, and feasible to capture will be important for promoting broad acceptance and proper use of digital measures in oncology clinical research [79,81,82].

Conclusions

Digital health technologies such as wearable sensors are increasingly used in oncology clinical research and offer potential for capturing aspects of real-world functioning in cancer survivors. In this secondary analysis, we investigated the clinical utility of accelerometry-derived measures of real-world physical behavior in a sample of individuals who had completed cancer treatment. We found that several measures of real-world physical behavior were more associated with aerobic fitness, assessed with a submaximal exercise test, than they were with self-reported measures of well-being and physical function. Our findings suggest that in cancer survivors who have completed treatment, measures of real-world physical behavior may be able to complement self-reported measures of well-being and physical function.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by contributions from the Department of Health and Exercise Science at Colorado State University and in part by the American Cancer Society (131629-MRSG-18-021-01-CPPB). The authors would like to thank Mary Hidde for assisting with data collection and management for both studies and participants for their willingness to contribute their time and efforts for the purpose of research.

Data Availability

The data sets generated and analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

SLB was responsible for methodology, formal analysis, software, validation, visualization, and writing the original draft. EG contributed to data curation, project administration, and writing—review and editing. SA and DC contributed to writing—review and editing. IC contributed to the methodology and writing—review and editing. KL participated in methodology, data curation,

and writing—review and editing. HL contributed to conceptualization, funding acquisition, supervision, project administration, resources, data curation, methodology, writing—review and editing.

Conflicts of Interest

SLB, SA, KL, and IC are employees of VivoSense, Inc. DC is the president of FACIT.org. IC is on the Editorial Board of Karger Digital Biomarkers and the Scientific Advisory Board for IMI IDEA FAST and has received fees for lectures and consulting on digital health at ETH Zürich and FHNW Muttenz. All the other authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Supplementary methods and results.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1193 KB - cancer_v10i1e53180_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Miller KD, Nogueira L, Devasia T, Mariotto AB, Yabroff KR, Jemal A, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2022. CA Cancer J Clin 2022 Sep 23;72(5):409-436 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21731] [Medline: 35736631]
- Cancer treatment and survivorship facts & figures 2022-2024. American Cancer Society. 2022. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/</u> <u>4hvhskw6</u> [accessed 2024-04-29]
- 3. Weir HK, Thompson TD, Stewart SL, White MC. Cancer incidence projections in the United States between 2015 and 2050. Prev Chronic Dis 2021 Jun 10;18:E59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd18.210006] [Medline: 34114543]
- 4. Ayanian JZ, Jacobsen PB. Enhancing research on cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol 2006 Nov 10;24(32):5149-5153. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.06.7207] [Medline: 17093278]
- 5. Jefford M, Howell D, Li Q, Lisy K, Maher J, Alfano CM, et al. Improved models of care for cancer survivors. Lancet 2022 Apr 16;399(10334):1551-1560 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00306-3] [Medline: 35430022]
- Joshy G, Thandrayen J, Koczwara B, Butow P, Laidsaar-Powell R, Rankin N, et al. Disability, psychological distress and quality of life in relation to cancer diagnosis and cancer type: population-based Australian study of 22,505 cancer survivors and 244,000 people without cancer. BMC Med 2020 Dec 01;18(1):372 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-020-01830-4] [Medline: 33256726]
- Firkins J, Hansen L, Driessnack M, Dieckmann N. Quality of life in "chronic" cancer survivors: a meta-analysis. J Cancer Surviv 2020 Aug;14(4):504-517. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-020-00869-9</u>] [Medline: <u>32162194</u>]
- 8. Harrington CB, Hansen JA, Moskowitz M, Todd BL, Feuerstein M. It's not over when it's over: long-term symptoms in cancer survivors—a systematic review. Int J Psychiatry Med 2010 Jul 07;40(2):163-181. [doi: 10.2190/pm.40.2.c]
- 9. Wu HS, Harden JK. Symptom burden and quality of life in survivorship: a review of the literature. Cancer Nurs 2015;38(1):E29-E54. [doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000135] [Medline: 24831042]
- Arndt V, Koch-Gallenkamp L, Jansen L, Bertram H, Eberle A, Holleczek B, et al. Quality of life in long-term and very long-term cancer survivors versus population controls in Germany. Acta Oncol 2017 Feb;56(2):190-197. [doi: <u>10.1080/0284186X.2016.1266089</u>] [Medline: <u>28055266</u>]
- Schmidt ME, Goldschmidt S, Hermann S, Steindorf K. Late effects, long-term problems and unmet needs of cancer survivors. Int J Cancer 2022 Oct 15;151(8):1280-1290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ijc.34152] [Medline: 35657637]
- Mahumud RA, Alam K, Dunn J, Gow J. The burden of chronic diseases among Australian cancer patients: evidence from a longitudinal exploration, 2007-2017. PLoS One 2020 Feb 12;15(2):e0228744 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0228744] [Medline: 32049978]
- Pinquart M, Duberstein PR. Depression and cancer mortality: a meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2010 Nov;40(11):1797-1810 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0033291709992285] [Medline: 20085667]
- 14. Satin JR, Linden W, Phillips MJ. Depression as a predictor of disease progression and mortality in cancer patients: a meta-analysis. Cancer 2009 Nov 15;115(22):5349-5361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.24561] [Medline: 19753617]
- Brown JC, Harhay MO, Harhay MN. Physical function as a prognostic biomarker among cancer survivors. Br J Cancer 2015 Jan 06;112(1):194-198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2014.568] [Medline: 25393366]
- Ezzatvar Y, Ramírez-Vélez R, Sáez de Asteasu ML, Martínez-Velilla N, Zambom-Ferraresi F, Izquierdo M, et al. Physical function and all-cause mortality in older adults diagnosed with cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2021 Jul 13;76(8):1447-1453. [doi: <u>10.1093/gerona/glaa305</u>] [Medline: <u>33421059</u>]
- Nakano J, Fukushima T, Tanaka T, Fu JB, Morishita S. Physical function predicts mortality in patients with cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Support Care Cancer 2021 Oct;29(10):5623-5634. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06171-3] [Medline: <u>33770257</u>]
- Sehl M, Lu X, Silliman R, Ganz PA. Decline in physical functioning in first 2 years after breast cancer diagnosis predicts 10-year survival in older women. J Cancer Surviv 2013 Mar 12;7(1):20-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-012-0239-5] [Medline: 23232922]

- Demark-Wahnefried W, Rogers LQ, Alfano CM, Thomson CA, Courneya KS, Meyerhardt JA, et al. Practical clinical interventions for diet, physical activity, and weight control in cancer survivors. CA Cancer J Clin 2015 Feb 13;65(3):167-189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21265] [Medline: 25683894]
- 20. Mishra SI, Scherer RW, Geigle PM, Berlanstein DR, Topaloglu O, Gotay CC, et al. Exercise interventions on health-related quality of life for cancer survivors. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Aug 15;2012(8):CD007566 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007566.pub2] [Medline: 22895961]
- Campbell KL, Winters-Stone KM, Wiskemann J, May AM, Schwartz AL, Courneya KS, et al. Exercise guidelines for cancer survivors: consensus statement from international multidisciplinary roundtable. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2019 Nov;51(11):2375-2390 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002116] [Medline: 31626055]
- 22. Blakeley JO, Coons SJ, Corboy JR, Kline Leidy N, Mendoza TR, Wefel JS. Clinical outcome assessment in malignant glioma trials: measuring signs, symptoms, and functional limitations. Neuro Oncol 2016 Mar;18 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):ii13-ii20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nov291] [Medline: 26989128]
- 23. Kluetz PG, Slagle A, Papadopoulos EJ, Johnson LL, Donoghue M, Kwitkowski VE, et al. Focusing on core patient-reported outcomes in cancer clinical trials: symptomatic adverse events, physical function, and disease-related symptoms. Clin Cancer Res 2016 Apr 01;22(7):1553-1558. [doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2035] [Medline: 26758559]
- 24. Murugappan MN, King-Kallimanis BL, Mangir C, Howie L, Bhatnagar V, Beaver JA, et al. Floor and ceiling effects in the EORTC QLQ-C30 physical functioning subscale among patients with advanced or metastatic breast cancer. Cancer 2022 Feb 15;128(4):808-818 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.33959] [Medline: 34634139]
- Chow R, Chiu N, Bruera E, Krishnan M, Chiu L, Lam H, et al. Inter-rater reliability in performance status assessment among health care professionals: a systematic review. Ann Palliat Med 2016 Apr;5(2):83-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/apm.2016.03.02] [Medline: 27121736]
- 26. Sørensen JB, Klee M, Palshof T, Hansen HH. Performance status assessment in cancer patients. An inter-observer variability study. Br J Cancer 1993 Apr;67(4):773-775 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.1993.140] [Medline: 8471434]
- Patel S, Goldsack JC, Cordovano G, Downing A, Fields KK, Geoghegan C, et al. Advancing digital health innovation in oncology: priorities for high-value digital transformation in cancer care. J Med Internet Res 2023 Jan 04;25:e43404 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/43404] [Medline: 36598811]
- 28. Coravos A, Goldsack JC, Karlin DR, Nebeker C, Perakslis E, Zimmerman N, et al. Digital medicine: a primer on measurement. Digit Biomark 2019;3(2):31-71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000500413] [Medline: 32095767]
- 29. Low CA. Harnessing consumer smartphone and wearable sensors for clinical cancer research. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-00351-x] [Medline: 33134557]
- 30. Landers M, Dorsey R, Saria S. Digital endpoints: definition, benefits, and current barriers in accelerating development and adoption. Digit Biomark 2021;5(3):216-223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000517885] [Medline: 34703976]
- 31. Stevens ML, Gupta N, Inan Eroglu E, Crowley PJ, Eroglu B, Bauman A, et al. Thigh-worn accelerometry for measuring movement and posture across the 24-hour cycle: a scoping review and expert statement. BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med 2020;6(1):e000874 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2020-000874] [Medline: 33408875]
- 32. Gorman E, Hanson HM, Yang PH, Khan KM, Liu-Ambrose T, Ashe MC. Accelerometry analysis of physical activity and sedentary behavior in older adults: a systematic review and data analysis. Eur Rev Aging Phys Act 2014;11(1):35-49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11556-013-0132-x] [Medline: 24765212]
- 33. Kavanagh JJ, Menz HB. Accelerometry: a technique for quantifying movement patterns during walking. Gait Posture 2008 Jul;28(1):1-15. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.gaitpost.2007.10.010</u>] [Medline: <u>18178436</u>]
- Czech MD, Psaltos D, Zhang H, Adamusiak T, Calicchio M, Kelekar A, et al. Age and environment-related differences in gait in healthy adults using wearables. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:127 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1038/s41746-020-00334-y</u>] [Medline: <u>33083562</u>]
- 35. Jain SH, Powers BW, Hawkins JB, Brownstein JS. The digital phenotype. Nat Biotechnol 2015 May;33(5):462-463. [doi: 10.1038/nbt.3223] [Medline: 25965751]
- Fujisawa D, Temel JS, Greer JA, El-Jawahri A, Traeger L, Jacobs JM, et al. Actigraphy as an assessment of performance status in patients with advanced lung cancer. Palliat Support Care 2019 Oct 11;17(5):574-578. [doi: 10.1017/S1478951518001074] [Medline: 30739635]
- 37. Beauchamp UL, Pappot H, Holländer-Mieritz C. The use of wearables in clinical trials during cancer treatment: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Nov 11;8(11):e22006 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22006] [Medline: 33174852]
- Hidde MC, Lyden K, Henry K, Leach HJ. Reallocating time to physical activity and sleep: associations with quality of life in cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 2022 Sep 06;30(9):7527-7534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-022-07187-z] [Medline: 35666303]
- Hidde MC, Lyden K, Henry K, Leach HJ. Reallocating time to physical activity and sleep: associations with body mass index in cancer survivors. Int J Behav Med 2024 Feb 28;31(1):109-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12529-023-10152-7] [Medline: 36854870]
- 40. Predictors of physical activity maintenance in colorectal cancer survivors. University of Colorado, Denver. 2023. URL: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03781154 [accessed 2023-05-23]

- 41. Leach HJ, Gomes EL, Hidde MC, Lyden K, Bryan AD, Cockburn MG, et al. A videoconference physical activity intervention for colorectal cancer survivors: a pilot randomized controlled trial. OBM Integr Complement Med 2023;8(4):2304060 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21926/obm.icm.2304060]
- 42. Cella DF, Tulsky DS, Gray G, Sarafian B, Linn E, Bonomi A, et al. The functional assessment of cancer therapy scale: development and validation of the general measure. J Clin Oncol 1993 Mar;11(3):570-579. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.1993.11.3.570] [Medline: 8445433]
- 43. Pollock ML, Foster C, Schmidt D, Hellman C, Linnerud AC, Ward A. Comparative analysis of physiologic responses to three different maximal graded exercise test protocols in healthy women. Am Heart J 1982 Mar;103(3):363-373. [doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(82)90275-7] [Medline: 7064770]
- Pollock ML, Bohannon RL, Cooper KH, Ayres JJ, Ward A, White SR, et al. A comparative analysis of four protocols for maximal treadmill stress testing. Am Heart J 1976 Jul;92(1):39-46. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0002-8703(76)80401-2</u>] [Medline: <u>961576</u>]
- 45. Edwardson CL, Winkler EA, Bodicoat DH, Yates T, Davies MJ, Dunstan DW, et al. Considerations when using the activPAL monitor in field-based research with adult populations. J Sport Health Sci 2017 Jun;6(2):162-178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2016.02.002] [Medline: 30356601]
- 46. Dahlgren G, Carlsson D, Moorhead A, Häger-Ross C, McDonough SM. Test-retest reliability of step counts with the ActivPALTM device in common daily activities. Gait Posture 2010 Jul;32(3):386-390. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.gaitpost.2010.06.022</u>] [Medline: <u>20655228</u>]
- Lyden K, Keadle SK, Staudenmayer J, Freedson PS. The activPALTM accurately classifies activity intensity categories in healthy adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2017 May;49(5):1022-1028 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000001177] [Medline: 28410327]
- Dowd KP, Harrington DM, Bourke AK, Nelson J, Donnelly AE. The measurement of sedentary patterns and behaviors using the activPAL[™] professional physical activity monitor. Physiol Meas 2012 Nov 31;33(11):1887-1899. [doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/33/11/1887] [Medline: 23111150]
- 49. Reciprocal leg movements: PAL knowledge base. PAL Technologies Ltd. URL: <u>https://kb.palt.com/articles/</u> reciprocal-leg-movements/ [accessed 2023-03-10]
- Matthews CE, Ainsworth BE, Thompson RW, Bassett DR. Sources of variance in daily physical activity levels as measured by an accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2002 Aug;34(8):1376-1381. [doi: <u>10.1097/00005768-200208000-00021</u>] [Medline: <u>12165695</u>]
- 51. Rowe DA, Kemble CD, Robinson TS, Mahar MT. Daily walking in older adults: day-to-day variability and criterion-referenced validity of total daily step counts. J Phys Act Health 2007 Oct;4(4):434-446. [Medline: <u>18209234</u>]
- Hart TL, Swartz AM, Cashin SE, Strath SJ. How many days of monitoring predict physical activity and sedentary behaviour in older adults? Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011 Jun 16;8:62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-62] [Medline: 21679426]
- 53. Kaat AJ, Schalet BD, Rutsohn J, Jensen RE, Cella D. Physical function metric over measure: an illustration with the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) and the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy (FACT). Cancer 2018 Jan 01;124(1):153-160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.30981] [Medline: 28885707]
- 54. Jensen RE, Potosky AL, Reeve BB, Hahn E, Cella D, Fries J, et al. Validation of the PROMIS physical function measures in a diverse US population-based cohort of cancer patients. Qual Life Res 2015 Oct 3;24(10):2333-2344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-015-0992-9] [Medline: 25935353]
- 55. Cella D, Riley W, Stone A, Rothrock N, Reeve B, Yount S, PROMIS Cooperative Group. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) developed and tested its first wave of adult self-reported health outcome item banks: 2005-2008. J Clin Epidemiol 2010 Nov;63(11):1179-1194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.011] [Medline: 20685078]
- 56. McHorney CA, Tarlov AR. Individual-patient monitoring in clinical practice: are available health status surveys adequate? Qual Life Res 1995 Aug;4(4):293-307. [doi: 10.1007/BF01593882] [Medline: 7550178]
- Tudor-Locke C, Camhi S, Troiano R. A catalog of rules, variables, and definitions applied to accelerometer data in the national health and nutrition examination survey, 2003-2006. Prev Chronic Dis 2012 Jun;9:E113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd9.110332] [Medline: 22698174]
- 58. Tudor-Locke C, Han H, Aguiar EJ, Barreira TV, Schuna Jr JM, Kang M, et al. How fast is fast enough? Walking cadence (steps/min) as a practical estimate of intensity in adults: a narrative review. Br J Sports Med 2018 Jun;52(12):776-788 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097628] [Medline: 29858465]
- 59. Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Kamada M, Bassett DR, Matthews CE, Buring JE. Association of step volume and intensity with all-cause mortality in older women. JAMA Intern Med 2019 Aug 01;179(8):1105-1112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.0899] [Medline: 31141585]
- 60. Saint-Maurice PF, Troiano RP, Bassett Jr DR, Graubard BI, Carlson SA, Shiroma EJ, et al. Association of daily step count and step intensity with mortality among US adults. JAMA 2020 Mar 24;323(12):1151-1160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.1382] [Medline: 32207799]
- 61. Holm S. A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. Scand J Stat 1979;6(2):65-70 [FREE Full text]

- 62. Di J, Leroux A, Urbanek J, Varadhan R, Spira AP, Schrack J, et al. Patterns of sedentary and active time accumulation are associated with mortality in US adults: the NHANES study. bioRxiv Preprint posted online on Aug 31, 2017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/182337]
- 63. Wanigatunga AA, Di J, Zipunnikov V, Urbanek JK, Kuo PL, Simonsick EM, et al. Association of total daily physical activity and fragmented physical activity with mortality in older adults. JAMA Netw Open 2019 Oct 02;2(10):e1912352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.12352] [Medline: 31577355]
- 64. Wanigatunga AA, Gresham GK, Kuo PL, Martinez-Amezcua P, Zipunnikov V, Dy SM, et al. Contrasting characteristics of daily physical activity in older adults by cancer history. Cancer 2018 Dec 15;124(24):4692-4699 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.31745] [Medline: 30276791]
- 65. Brondeel R, Anaraki JR, Fuller D, KhataeiPour SJ. activityCounts: generate ActiLife counts. GitHub. 2023. URL: <u>https://github.com/walkabillylab/activityCounts</u> [accessed 2024-04-29]
- 66. Di J, Muschelli J, zipunnikov V. ActFrag: activity fragmentation metrics extracted from minute level activity data. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/junruidi/ActFrag</u> [accessed 2024-04-29]
- 67. Dzimitrowicz HE, Blakely LJ, Jones LW, LeBlanc TW. Bridging new technology into clinical practice with mobile apps, electronic patient-reported outcomes, and wearables. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book 2022 Jul(42):94-99. [doi: 10.1200/edbk_350550]
- Trinh L, Alibhai SM, Culos-Reed N, Sabiston CM, Jones JM, Rosenberg DE, et al. Associations of light physical activity, moderate-to-vigorous physical activity and sedentary behavior with quality of life in men on androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer: a quantile regression analysis. J Behav Med 2022 Aug 21;45(4):533-543. [doi: 10.1007/s10865-022-00285-7] [Medline: 35061159]
- 69. van Roekel EH, Winkler EA, Bours MJ, Lynch BM, Willems PJ, Meijer K, et al. Associations of sedentary time and patterns of sedentary time accumulation with health-related quality of life in colorectal cancer survivors. Prev Med Rep 2016 Dec;4:262-269 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2016.06.022] [Medline: 27419042]
- Vallance JK, Boyle T, Courneya KS, Lynch BM. Associations of objectively assessed physical activity and sedentary time with health-related quality of life among colon cancer survivors. Cancer 2014 Sep 15;120(18):2919-2926 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.28779] [Medline: 24898175]
- Gaskin CJ, Craike M, Mohebbi M, Salmon J, Courneya KS, Broadbent S, et al. Associations of objectively measured moderate-to-vigorous physical activity and sedentary behavior with quality of life and psychological well-being in prostate cancer survivors. Cancer Causes Control 2016 Sep;27(9):1093-1103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10552-016-0787-5] [Medline: 27469939]
- 72. Reulen RC, Zeegers MP, Jenkinson C, Lancashire ER, Winter DL, Jenney ME, et al. The use of the SF-36 questionnaire in adult survivors of childhood cancer: evaluation of data quality, score reliability, and scaling assumptions. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2006 Oct 05;4:77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-4-77] [Medline: 17022814]
- 73. Song L, Tan X, Bredle J, Bennett AV, Northouse L. Psychometric properties of the FACT-G quality of life scale for family caregivers of cancer patients. Qual Life Res 2020 Aug 03;29(8):2241-2252 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-020-02477-7] [Medline: 32246432]
- 74. Orendurff MS, Schoen JA, Bernatz GC, Segal AD, Klute GK. How humans walk: bout duration, steps per bout, and rest duration. J Rehabil Res Dev 2008;45(7):1077-1089 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1682/jrrd.2007.11.0197] [Medline: 19165696]
- 75. Houts CR, Patrick-Lake B, Clay I, Wirth RJ. The path forward for digital measures: suppressing the desire to compare apples and pineapples. Digit Biomark 2020 Nov 26;4(Suppl 1):3-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000511586] [Medline: 33442577]
- Dadhania S, Williams M. What is so special about digital health in cancer? Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2023 Mar;35(3):147-149. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.clon.2022.12.002</u>] [Medline: <u>36581548</u>]
- 77. Skiba MB, Harker G, Guidarelli C, El-Gohary M, Horak F, Roeland EJ, et al. Using wearable inertial sensors to assess mobility of patients with hematologic cancer and associations with chemotherapy-related symptoms before autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplant: cross-sectional study. JMIR Cancer 2022 Dec 08;8(4):e39271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/39271] [Medline: 36480243]
- 78. Dockendorf MF, Hansen BJ, Bateman KP, Moyer M, Shah JK, Shipley LA. Digitally enabled, patient-centric clinical trials: shifting the drug development paradigm. Clin Transl Sci 2021 Mar;14(2):445-459 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/cts.12910] [Medline: 33048475]
- 79. Goldsack JC, Coravos A, Bakker JP, Bent B, Dowling AV, Fitzer-Attas C, et al. Verification, analytical validation, and clinical validation (V3): the foundation of determining fit-for-purpose for biometric monitoring technologies (BioMeTs). NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-0260-4] [Medline: 32337371]
- Goldsack JC, Dowling AV, Samuelson D, Patrick-Lake B, Clay I. Evaluation, acceptance, and qualification of digital measures: from proof of concept to endpoint. Digit Biomark 2021;5(1):53-64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000514730] [Medline: <u>33977218</u>]
- Manta C, Patrick-Lake B, Goldsack JC. Digital measures that matter to patients: a framework to guide the selection and development of digital measures of health. Digit Biomark 2020;4(3):69-77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000509725] [Medline: <u>33083687</u>]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53180
```

82. Byrom B, Watson C, Doll H, Coons SJ, Eremenco S, Ballinger R, ePRO Consortium. Selection of and evidentiary considerations for wearable devices and their measurements for use in regulatory decision making: recommendations from the ePRO consortium. Value Health 2018 Jun;21(6):631-639 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2017.09.012] [Medline: 29909867]

Abbreviations

FACT-G: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General **PROMIS-PF:** Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System-Physical Function

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 28.09.23; peer-reviewed by G Thanarajasingam, B Peterson, E Rubenstein; comments to author 09.01.24; revised version received 26.02.24; accepted 24.04.24; published 15.07.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Bachman SL, Gomes E, Aryal S, Cella D, Clay I, Lyden K, Leach HJ Do Measures of Real-World Physical Behavior Provide Insights Into the Well-Being and Physical Function of Cancer Survivors? Cross-Sectional Analysis JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53180 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53180 doi:10.2196/53180 PMID:39008350

©Shelby L Bachman, Emma Gomes, Suvekshya Aryal, David Cella, Ieuan Clay, Kate Lyden, Heather J Leach. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 15.07.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Tsai-Wing Ow^{1,2}, MBBS; Olga Sukocheva¹, BSc, PhD; Peter Bampton¹, MBBS; Guruparan Iyngkaran³, MBBS, PhD; Christopher K Rayner^{1,2}, MBBS, PhD; Edmund Tse^{1,2}, MBBS, PhD

¹Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Royal Adelaide Hospital, Adelaide, Australia

²Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia

³Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Royal Melbourne Hospital, Melbourne, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Tsai-Wing Ow, MBBS Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology Royal Adelaide Hospital Port Road Adelaide, 5000 Australia Phone: 61 70740000 Fax: 61 70746247 Email: tsai-wing.ow@sa.gov.au Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences University of Adelaide North Terrace Adelaide, 5005 Australia Phone: 61 83135208 Email: tsai-wing.ow@sa.gov.au

Abstract

Background: Australia's bowel cancer prevention guidelines, following a recent revision, are among the most complex in the world. Detailed decision tables outline screening or surveillance recommendations for 230 case scenarios alongside cessation recommendations for older patients. While these guidelines can help better allocate limited colonoscopy resources, their increasing complexity may limit their adoption and potential benefits. Therefore, tools to support clinicians in navigating these guidelines could be essential for national bowel cancer prevention efforts. Digital applications (DAs) represent a potentially inexpensive and scalable solution but are yet to be tested for this purpose.

Objective: This study aims to assess whether a DA could increase clinician adherence to Australia's new colorectal cancer screening and surveillance guidelines and determine whether improved usability correlates with greater conformance to guidelines.

Methods: As part of a randomized controlled crossover study, we created a clinical vignette quiz to evaluate the efficacy of a DA in comparison with the standard resource (SR) for making screening and surveillance decisions. Briefings were provided to study participants, which were tailored to their level of familiarity with the guidelines. We measured the adherence of clinicians according to their number of guideline-concordant responses to the scenarios in the quiz using either the DA or the SR. The maximum score was 18, with higher scores indicating improved adherence. We also tested the DA's usability using the System Usability Scale.

Results: Of 117 participants, 80 were included in the final analysis. Using the SR, the adherence of participants was rated a median (IQR) score of 10 (7.75-13) out of 18. The participants' adherence improved by 40% (relative risk 1.4, P<.001) when using the DA, reaching a median (IQR) score of 14 (12-17) out of 18. The DA was rated highly for usability with a median (IQR) score of 90 (72.5-95) and ranked in the 96th percentile of systems. There was a moderate correlation between the usability of the DA and better adherence (r_s =0.4; P<.001). No differences between the adherence of specialists and nonspecialists were found, either with the SR (10 vs 9; P=.47) or with the DA (13 vs 15; P=.24). There was no significant association between participants

who were less adherent with the DA (n=17) and their age (P=.06), experience with decision support tools (P=.51), or academic involvement with a university (P=.39).

Conclusions: DAs can significantly improve the adoption of complex Australian bowel cancer prevention guidelines. As screening and surveillance guidelines become increasingly complex and personalized, these tools will be crucial to help clinicians accurately determine the most appropriate recommendations for their patients. Additional research to understand why some practitioners perform worse with DAs is required. Further improvements in application usability may optimize guideline concordance further.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e46625) doi:10.2196/46625

KEYWORDS

colorectal cancer; guidelines; colorectal cancer screening; digital application; questionnaire; application; cancer prevention; prevention; cancer; surveillance; clinical vignette quiz; usability; Australia

Introduction

Australia's National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) screening and surveillance guidelines for colorectal cancer have become substantially more complex with their latest revision [1,2]. This is due to a shift toward personalized recommendations through detailed risk stratification based on an individual's history of polyps or a family history of cancer. As a result, the guidelines now describe up to 230 different screening or surveillance scenarios, requiring clinicians to navigate through multiple tables to determine an appropriate recommendation. While implementing these changes can considerably improve resource use, this complexity may be a barrier to adherence, limiting the benefits of the guidelines [3,4]. Consequently, there is a need for tools to support clinicians using these guidelines. However, few of these tools have been adequately evaluated.

Several approaches have previously been considered to assist clinicians in determining appropriate bowel cancer prevention guideline recommendations. In the United States, where the complexity of polyp surveillance guidelines is the most similar to those of Australia, researchers have primarily focused on developing methods to assist clinicians in determining the appropriate advice, with a particular emphasis on automating the extraction of clinical information from electronic records to determine guideline-concordant recommendations [5-7]. In clinical practice, this resulted in a small but significant the rate improvement in of guideline-concordant recommendations (84.6% vs 77.4%) [7]. In Australia, print-based educational interventions for screening and surveillance, targeted at patients and clinicians, respectively, have had a minimal impact on improving guideline adherence [8,9]. By contrast, a nurse-led decision-making model has been the most successful intervention, increasing the rate of guideline-concordant recommendations from 83% to 97% [10]. Although successful, these options are associated with substantial costs for setup and maintenance and are not easily scalable beyond individual health services. Furthermore, how they perform when applied to the recently revised Australian guidelines is unclear.

Smartphone- or web-based digital applications (DAs) can be developed cheaply and are readily scalable. However, there are limited studies evaluating their effectiveness in supporting clinician adherence to complex bowel cancer prevention

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46625
```

guidelines. Khan et al [11] showed that a DA was able to improve medical students' knowledge of US colorectal cancer screening guidelines. However, their study was not randomized and did not control for the improvement in scores merely due to repeated exposure to the same clinical questions. In another study, a DA was evaluated by 6 endoscopists assessing a total of 58 colonoscopies [12]. As this was a small pilot study primarily focused on assessing the attitudes of potential users to guide the development of a new DA, it is difficult to draw meaningful conclusions about the potential benefit of the tool in improving guideline concordance.

In Australia, some of the DAs developed in response to the complexity of the latest surveillance guidelines include polyp.guide, polyp.app, and CRCwebapp [13-15]. These 3 tools provide greater ease of use by not requiring users to work through the risk tables manually. To the best of our knowledge, only CRCwebapp has been validated against all 230 possible case scenarios due to its use as a research tool in a previously published study [3]. However, none of these have been evaluated for their ability to improve the rate of guideline concordance among clinicians.

We hypothesized that a DA could improve clinician adherence to Australian screening and surveillance guidelines. To test this, we conducted a randomized controlled crossover study to compare the proportion of guideline-concordant decisions made by clinicians using either the CRCwebapp DA or the standard resource (SR).

Methods

Study Design and Setting

We enrolled practicing Australian clinicians to our online randomized controlled crossover clinical vignette questionnaire between July 1, 2020, and August 1, 2021. Participants were asked to provide guideline-concordant recommendations for 2 sets of clinical vignettes using either the SR or the DA. All participants were provided with an orientation that was tailored according to their experience with the guidelines. The clinical vignettes and order in which the tools were used were randomized. A study portal was used to present the vignettes, and this provided participants with access to both the SR and DA. After completing questions related to the clinical vignettes with both the SR and DA, the System Usability Scale (SUS) questionnaire was administered.

Inclusion Criteria

We included medical, surgical, or specialist nurse practitioners who were actively practicing in Australia during the study period.

Exclusion Criteria

Participants who were not actively involved in making screening or surveillance decisions for colorectal cancer in their clinical work were excluded.

Participant Orientation

We classified participants into 2 groups according to their familiarity with the guidelines. The nonspecialist group comprised primary care practitioners who had limited experience with the terminology and structure of the published guidelines. The specialist group comprised gastroenterologists, colorectal surgeons, and specialist nurse practitioners who were routinely using the current screening and surveillance guidelines in clinical practice. The orientation program was tailored according to the experience of each group, in order to reduce the impact of experience on participant scores and to reduce barriers to participation.

For nonspecialists, the necessary terminology pertaining to screening and surveillance was defined during a web seminar. This included degree of relationship in family history for screening protocols and the individual risk characteristics and classification of lesions for surveillance protocols. The seminar also included a breakdown of every decision table in the SR and the most efficient methods to navigate to each of these. Participants were also introduced to the 4 main pages of the DA and shown how to input data and where the results were presented. In contrast, the specialist orientation did not define the terminology, and the introductions to the SR and the DA were presented as optional videos available before the questionnaire.

Primary Outcome

The primary outcome was the proportion of correct screening and surveillance recommendations issued by participants in response to the clinical vignettes. Each vignette could receive a maximum score of 6, resulting in each participant being graded with a score out of 18 for each of 2 sets of 3 clinical vignettes.

Secondary Outcome

The secondary outcome was the usability of the DA. This was assessed using each participant's response to the SUS. A score was determined for each participant and normalized in accordance with previously published methods [16].

Clinical Vignette Design

Three pairs of clinical vignettes were developed for the study (alpha and beta, gamma and theta, and delta and omega). Each vignette described the family history, medical comorbidities, and the number and characteristics of conventional adenomas or sessile serrated lesions identified over the preceding 2 colonoscopies. We avoided scenarios commonly highlighted in previous guidelines to reduce the likelihood that participants could answer according to their recollection of these [17]. Each pair of clinical vignettes focused participants on navigating identical sets of tables to balance for difficulty.

For each clinical vignette, participants were asked to determine the age and appropriate screening modality (stool testing or colonoscopy) based on the family history presented, the first and subsequent recommended surveillance intervals, and whether surveillance should be continued when considering the comorbidities of the patient if the age of the patient was >75 years at the time of the intended procedure. Each vignette received a score out of 6. Thus, each participant could receive a maximum score of 18 for each section.

Usability

We adapted the standard SUS questionnaire by changing the term "system" to "application" in order to focus participants on assessing the usability of the DA (Textbox 1). This comprised 10 standardized statements for which users were asked to indicate their level of agreement. Numerical scores provided by participants on a slider scale were translated into Likert scores: 0-20=strongly disagree (1); 21-40=disagree (2); 41-60=neither agree nor disagree (3); 61-80=agree (4); and 81-100=strongly agree (5). A total SUS score was calculated for each participant [18]. The scores were normalized to provide a percentile ranking of the usability of the DA, as described by Sauro and Lewis [16].

Textbox 1. System Usability Scale questionnaire adapted for the use of the digital application.

- 1. I think that I would like to use this application frequently.
- 2. I found the application unnecessarily complex.
- 3. I thought the application was easy to use.
- 4. I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use this application.
- 5. I found that the various functions in this application were well integrated.
- 6. I thought there was too much inconsistency in this application.
- 7. I would imagine that people would learn to use this application very quickly.
- 8. I found the application very cumbersome to use.
- 9. I felt very confident using the application.
- 10. I needed to learn a lot of things before I could get going with this application.

DA Design

Each NHMRC screening and surveillance recommendation was coded into an Excel (Microsoft Corp) spreadsheet. We eliminated redundant user data entry by determining the minimum number of inputs necessary to calculate each recommendation. For screening decisions, this included 4 fields relating to the number and age of relatives with colorectal cancer and their relation (first or second degree) to the patient. For surveillance intervals, this included the number, type, and characteristics of the lesions found during the initial procedure. Subsequent surveillance intervals required 2 additional inputs: the initial surveillance interval and the type of lesion previously identified. An additional section, incorporating a list of potential patient comorbidities, was used to determine stopping rules.

A graphical user interface was applied using an open-source platform (Open as App), which would allow for the distribution of the DA as either a web page or smartphone app. Each type of calculation (screening, first surveillance, second surveillance, or stopping rules) was identified by a tab on the bottom of the screen. Sliders were used to input data on the number of lesions, and drop-down menus were used to provide details regarding the accompanying risk characteristics. The recommendations for screening, surveillance interval, or cessation of surveillance were provided at the bottom of each respective page. The answers provided by the digital calculator were validated by individually calculating all possible scenarios covered by the updated guidelines before recruitment.

SR for Screening and Surveillance

The SR was the official web publication of the latest guidelines for screening and surveillance for bowel cancer prevention in Australia by the NHMRC [1,2]. In addition to a written summary, it provides details regarding the development of and evidence for each recommendation. Also included are a series of colored risk stratification tables to guide users through screening, initial and follow-up surveillance, and stopping rules. For screening, 90 possible scenarios are defined according to the number of relatives with colorectal cancer as well as how closely they are related to the patient.

For initial surveillance colonoscopy, 37 separate scenarios are described across 3 tables according to the various combinations of "conventional adenomas" or "clinically significant serrated polyps" identified. A total of 140 scenarios are similarly characterized across an additional 9 tables to account for the possible combinations of "conventional adenomas" and "clinically significant serrated polyps" between 2 consecutive procedures. Determining the correct surveillance interval can thus require users to successfully navigate 2 consecutive tables.

Lastly, the rules for cessation of surveillance colonoscopy are detailed in a text table that uses a modified Charlson score. Scores are allocated according to age and the presence of comorbidities. Depending on the combination of age and severity of comorbid conditions, the benefit of continuing surveillance for patients may be deemed too low to justify the potential risks of colonoscopy.

Recruitment

Advertising flyers were created and distributed to the 3 local Primary Health Networks, social media (Facebook: Adelaide GP Referral Network, Medical Mums, and Mums To Be), general practitioner education providers (GPEx and GP Synergy), and directly to practice managers located within metropolitan Adelaide. Additional flyers for specialists were distributed to members of the Departments of Gastroenterology and Hepatology and Colorectal Surgery Departments at 4 major teaching hospitals in Adelaide, as well as to private specialist practices. Snowball sampling was used to aid in the recruitment of additional participants. Continuing professional development points and a certificate of completion were awarded as an incentive to improve recruitment.

Data Collection

The questionnaire was programmed using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Vanderbilt University) tools hosted at the University of Technology, Sydney, and accessed through the Australian Access Federation [19,20]. We collected data including each participant's age, professional background (general practice, medical specialist or trainee, and surgical specialist or trainee), active affiliation with a university, and experience with tools supporting screening and surveillance guidelines. We scored the answers for each clinical vignette in the order in which they were completed and collected each participant's responses to the SUS questionnaire regarding their experience with the DA on a digital spreadsheet for analysis according to a previously described methodology [15].

Randomization

Two randomly permuted schedules (primary care and specialist groups) were created for a crossover study with 2 interventions (DA vs SR) with equal allocation over 8 strata (combinations 1-8; Table 1). A total of 14 allocations were generated per stratum with a total of 112 allocations. Participants were randomized to use either the DA or SR as the first aid in a 1:1 ratio. The 2 allocation schedules were programmed into the REDCap software using branching logic tools. The randomization schema was generated using Microsoft Excel (version 16.66.1; Microsoft Corp).



Table 1. Clinical vignette combinations used for randomization.

Ow et al

Combination	Section 1	Section 2
1	Alpha, gamma, and delta	Beta, theta, and omega
2	Alpha, gamma, and omega	Beta, theta, and delta
3	Alpha, theta, and delta	Beta, gamma, and omega
4	Alpha, theta, and omega	Beta, gamma, and delta
5	Beta, gamma, and delta	Alpha, theta, and omega
6	Beta, gamma, and omega	Alpha, theta, and delta
7	Beta, theta, and delta	Alpha, gamma, and omega
8	Beta, theta, and omega	Alpha, gamma, and delta

Statistics

Previously reported rates of adherence to Australian surveillance guidelines have ranged from 50.8% to 83% [4,10]. The impact of a nurse-led intervention improved the rate of guideline concordance by a factor of 1.17 relative to the non–nurse-led group [10]. On the basis of these results, we predicted a mean accuracy score of 60% with the SR and anticipated a 1.17 improvement in the rate of guideline concordance to 70% with the intervention (DA). Using an expected SD of 20%, an α of .05, and a statistical power of 0.8, the minimum necessary sample size required was calculated at 64 participants.

Descriptive statistics were used to characterize the data. A Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was applied to assess for normality of the data before the statistical analysis. A related-samples Wilcoxon signed rank test was used to compare the performances of participants with either the SR or the DA. An independent-samples Mann-Whitney *U* test was used to compare outcomes between specialists and nonspecialists. Spearman ρ was used to assess the relationship between usability and scores from the DA. χ^2 tests of independence were used to compare the allocation of participants between tools and clinical vignettes. The SPSS statistical software (version 22; IBM Corp) was used for all analyses.

Ethical Considerations

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Central Adelaide Local Health Network Human Research Ethics Committee (CALHN Research Office reference 13438). The background, procedures, and aims of the study were provided to prospective participants via a digital participant information sheet before the commencement of the survey. Participants were informed that their consent to participate would be implied via completion and submission of the online questionnaire. All data collected were deidentified. No participants received financial compensation.

Results

Participant Characteristics

In total, 117 participants initiated the questionnaire. The records of 37 participants were excluded from the primary analysis due to survey noncompletion. Of these, no components of the questionnaire were attempted in 8 cases, 25 participants completed the background survey but did not attempt the clinical vignette section, and 4 participants aborted the clinical vignette section before completion (Figure 1). These included 7 primary care doctors, 20 gastroenterologists, 1 surgeon, 1 nurse endoscopist, and 8 participants of unknown vocation. One additional participant aborted the study after completing the vignettes and was included in the primary analysis but not in the evaluation of the usability scores.



Figure 1. Study flowchart. *Included in the primary analysis but excluded from usability evaluation.



The remaining 80 participants, consisting of 43 primary care doctors and 37 specialist doctors (35 gastroenterologists and 2 surgeons), were included in the primary analysis. They had a median age of 38 (IQR 27-71) years. Fewer than half (35/80, 44%) held an affiliation with a university (27/37, 73% of specialists and 8/43, 19% of primary care doctors), and almost two-thirds (51/80, 64%) had previously used tools for screening and surveillance decisions in colorectal cancer (32/37, 87% of

specialists and 19/43, 44% of primary care doctors; Table 2). The study flowchart shows how participants were randomized to 1 of 8 sequences of vignettes (Figure 1). Of the 80 included participants, 38 (48%) were assigned to use the DA as the first aid (Figure 2). Alpha, gamma, and delta were the first vignettes in their respective pairs in 48% (38/80), 56% (45/80), and 51% (41/80) of cases (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Allocation of tools and vignettes for the first set of clinical vignettes after randomization. Pearson χ^2 tests of independence were used to assess the distribution order of tools (standard resource or digital application) and vignettes (alpha or beta, gamma or theta, and delta or omega) after excluding participants who did not complete the study. The analysis confirmed that the differences in the final allocation of participants at each stage after exclusions were not significant.





Table 2. Tools to aid decisions in colorectal cancer screening and surveillance (N=80).

Tool	Specialist (n=37), n (%)	Primary care (n=43), n (%)
Wiki.cancer Guideline (NHMRC ^a)	20 (54)	11 (26)
Polyp.guide	8 (22)	3 (7)
Digital calculator	6 (16)	1 (2)
Media in endoscopy suite	19 (51)	b
Polyp nurse support	3 (8)	_
Funding codes (Medicare)	2 (5)	_
The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners' Redbook	_	6 (14)
Other	1 (3)	2 (5%)

^aNHMRC: National Health and Medical Research Council.

^bNot available.

A Kolmogorov-Smirnov test of normality indicated that the scores of participants using the SR were normally distributed: D(80)=0.075; *P*=.20, while those of the DA were not: D(80)=0.152; *P*<.001. With the SR, the median (IQR) number of guideline concordant answers was 10 (7.75-13) out of 18. The use of the DA improved the number of correct

recommendations to a median (IQR) of 14 (12-17) out of 18 (relative risk 1.4, P<.001; Figures 3 and 4). Lower performance with the DA compared with SR (n=17) was not associated with previous experience with screening and surveillance decision tools (P=.51), affiliation with a university (P=.39), or age (P=.06).

Figure 3. Comparison of spread of clinical vignette scores with either the standard resource (SR) or the digital application (DA). The participant scores when using the SR showed a normal distribution. A rightward shift in the distribution of the scores was observed with the use of the DA.





Figure 4. Box and whisker plot of clinical vignette scores with either the standard resource or the digital application.



The median (IQR) SUS score for the DA was 90 (72.5-95), which equated to a top 4 percentile ranking among tested applications (Table 3). A moderate correlation between usability

grade and DA results was observed using Spearman ρ correlation coefficient (r_s =0.4; P<.001; n=79).

Tuble of System Osubility Scale (SOS) grades and percentiles for participants using the digital appreadon (n=7).						
Grade	SUS	Participants, n (%)	Percentile			
A	>78.8	51 (65)	85-100			
В	72.6-78.8	7 (9)	65-84			
С	62.7-72.5	11 (14)	35-64			
D	51.7-62.6	6 (8)	15-34			
F	0-51.7	4 (5)	0-15			

Table 3. System Usability Scale (SUS) grades and percentiles for participants using the digital application (n=79)

Sensitivity Analysis

After excluding those who did not complete the study, differences in the randomization of participants regarding order of use of the tools (SR vs DA) and clinical vignettes (alpha vs beta, gamma vs theta, and delta vs gamma) were not significant (Figure 2). Additionally, there was no difference (P=.55)

between the median number of guideline concordant recommendations according to whether the clinical vignettes were posed to participants: first (12, IQR 8.75-15) or second (13, IQR 9-16; Figure 5). Similarly, no difference was observed between the performance of specialists and primary care doctors, either with the SR (10 vs 9; P=.47) or with the DA (13 vs 15, P=.24; Figures 6 and 7).



Figure 5. Box and whisker plot of clinical vignette scores according to the order they were answered (first or second). A related-samples Wilcoxon signed rank test was used to compare the results achieved in the first and second set of questions indicating no significant difference (P=.55). Thus, increasing familiarity with the format of the questionnaire did not improve the scores achieved by participants.



Figure 6. Box and whisker plot of clinical vignette scores according to the vocational training of the participants (specialist or primary care) using the standard resource (SR). An independent-samples Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the results of specialists with primary care doctors using the SR. There was no significant difference (P=.47) in the performance of participants based on their previous training in either specialist or primary care.



Specialist

Primary care



Figure 7. Box and whisker plot of clinical vignette scores according to the vocational training of the participants (specialist or primary care) using the digital application (DA). An independent-samples Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the results of specialists with primary care doctors using the DA. There was no significant difference (P=.24) in the performance of participants based on their previous training in either specialist or primary care.



Discussion

Principal Findings

The findings of this study showed that the adherence of clinicians with Australia's current screening and surveillance guidelines in their current form is limited. This was significantly improved when clinicians used a DA to assist their navigation of these complex guidelines. These findings were independent of the clinicians' level of specialization, age, university affiliation, or experience with the use of other decision support tools. However, greater adherence was associated with better DA usability ratings, highlighting the importance of this attribute as a potential target to further bolster clinician guideline adherence.

Australia's screening and surveillance guidelines are among the most complex worldwide. With the increasing trend toward personalized health care and our growing knowledge of colorectal cancer risk factors, guidelines are likely to continue increasing in complexity. For clinicians, navigating these guidelines in busy practices can be challenging. Even under the controlled conditions of our testing environment, participants could only provide appropriate recommendations in slightly over half of the questions when evaluating the scenarios only with the SR. These findings are consistent with another recent report that assessed the concordance of surveillance recommendations with current guidelines [4]. Because the adherence to previous relatively more straightforward guidelines was already known to be suboptimal, it could be anticipated that rates of adherence may be even lower as their complexity increases. This could undermine their potential benefits in the care of patients and the allocation of limited colonoscopy resources in Australia.

DAs can play an important role in supporting the implementation of Australia's complex bowel cancer prevention guidelines. Not only do they improve the ability of clinicians to provide guideline-concordant recommendations, as demonstrated by our study, but they can be developed at a relatively low cost and are scalable to a national level. Furthermore, they can be updated with future revisions of the guidelines, ensuring that clinicians can continue to make decisions that are in keeping with the latest evidence.

Despite their clear advantages, the role of DAs in supporting complex guideline adoption has received little attention in the literature. To date, only 2 studies have evaluated DAs in assisting medical personnel with the application of bowel cancer screening and surveillance guidelines. However, these were assessed in relation to US guidelines and are limited by their small size and lack of a randomized controlled methodology. To our knowledge, our study is the first to evaluate a DA using a rigorous randomized controlled crossover design.

Participants provided discordant recommendations in 22% of clinical decisions despite assistance from the DA. However, as the DA used in this study had been validated across all the possible scenarios provided by the guidelines, we considered other factors that may have contributed to this. Our results showed that poor performance with the DA relative to the SR was not associated with participant age, academic experience, or prior experience with similar tools. One area that may have

contributed was DA usability. Although the DA scored very well in the SUS, ranking at or above the 96th percentile of tested systems, there was still a relatively large spread of scores (median 90, IQR 72.5-95) and a moderate correlation between SUS scores and participant performance. This suggests that improvements directed at improving usability for those who scored the DA less well could bolster the adherence rate of clinicians with guidelines; however, the magnitude of overall improvement may be small. Therefore, additional research to gather the opinions of participants who found the interface difficult to use and quantify the degree of progress achieved by addressing these is required.

Human error is another potential factor contributing to the rate of discordant answers. Despite simplifying the process of determining guideline-concordant recommendations, the DA still requires individuals to extract relevant and appropriate data from sometimes complex patient histories. Although human error remains an inevitable component of any interface requiring human input, natural language processing software, which has been used in prior US-based studies, could provide a valuable adjunct to a mobile app [5,6]. This would retain the scalability and portability of the DA but would require additional research, development, and testing before it could be implemented. Such a tool could provide a better balance of the advantages of the tools tested thus far.

Strengths

Our study design accounted for the possibility that participants could improve their performance in the clinical vignettes simply due to increasing experience with the questionnaire, by randomizing the order of use of the 2 aids (SR or DA). Furthermore, although the clinical vignettes were designed in pairs that were balanced for difficulty, the order in which each pair was presented to the participant was randomized to limit the risk of bias. The vignettes also focused on clinical scenarios with updated and distinct recommendations within the guidelines, requiring participants to determine the correct answer solely through navigation of the SR or DA.

Another strength of our study was the ability to cater for participants with varying levels of familiarity with guidelines. Our participants included specialists, who are accustomed to using colorectal cancer screening and surveillance guidelines in their everyday practice, and nonspecialists, whose breadth of clinical practice typically limits their experience with specialty guidelines. As these differences may have impacted participant vignette questionnaire scores, particularly those encountered without the DA, we tailored the introductory briefings to provide nonspecialists with additional information in the structured seminars. When the 2 groups were compared, no significant differences between them were observed, either with the SR or with the DA. Although this indicated that the potential effect of experience had been controlled for during our study, it is not possible to say whether this resulted from our differential approach to participant briefing, as this was not an outcome that was measured during our study.

Additionally, we were able to control successfully for potential confounders by randomizing both the order of the questions and the tools used by participants during the vignettes. This was used to address the possibility that participant scores may have improved over time and that the clinical vignettes may not have been completely balanced in their difficulty. Our sensitivity analysis showed that the distribution of questions and tools remained balanced, even after exclusion of participants, and that increasing participant experience with the questionnaire did not result in higher scores.

Limitations

While the vignettes intentionally challenged participants to navigate the breadth of the decision tables, only a limited number of scenarios are typically encountered in clinical practice. More than 95% of patients will be classified in the lowest risk category for screening based on family history, while most colonoscopies in Australia will detect few or no significant lesions [1]. Thus, participant performance in this study may not be indicative of real-world application. However, adherence rates to current surveillance guidelines, which have been reported at 50.8%, closely resemble the scores obtained using the SR in our study [4]. Clarification of the real-world efficacy of the DA will require further studies, for example, through prospective randomized nested case-controlled studies involving both primary and specialist group practices.

Our study was also prone to sampling bias. Despite efforts to circulate advertising material for the study via social media, education providers, and hospitals, only 117 participants visited the questionnaire website, and the recruitment rate was slow. The diversity of our sample group was also affected, with surgeons outnumbered by gastroenterologists in the specialist group (2-35). Due to our specific subject matter, it is possible that our participants held favorable views toward technology that may not be representative of the greater community of medical professionals. Although these challenges are not uncommon among studies recruiting clinical personnel as participants, the generalizability of our findings may be limited [21].

Finally, as both resources were readily available for public access at the time of the study, it was not possible to restrict participants to using the tools in the prerandomized order specified. Our intention-to-treat analysis may therefore have underestimated the potential differences in the scores obtained by users in the trial.

Conclusions

Australia's bowel cancer screening and surveillance guidelines have become increasingly complex, posing a challenge for clinicians trying to make appropriate recommendations. Currently, the available options to assist them are costly and need more scalability. DAs represent an inexpensive and scalable solution that enhances guideline concordance among clinicians. Further development and assessment of these tools could improve screening and surveillance outcomes and optimize resource use in an era of increasingly complex and personalized care.



Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the participants who kindly donated their time for this study, without which it would not have been possible.

Data Availability

The data sets generated during and/or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

TO was responsible for study conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, project administration, programming of the online questionnaire and digital application, and writing and review of the manuscript. OS was involved in the formal analysis and review and editing of the manuscript. PB and GI were involved in the conceptualization of the study. CR and ET were involved in the conceptualization, supervision, and review and editing of the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CONSORT checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 70 KB - cancer_v10i1e46625_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Clinical practice guidelines for the prevention, early detection and management of colorectal cancer. Cancer Council Australia Colorectal Cancer Guidelines Working Party. Sydney: Cancer Council Australia URL: <u>https://wiki.cancer.org.au/australia/Guidelines:Colorectal_cancer</u> [accessed 2022-11-14]
- 2. Clinical practice guidelines for surveillance colonoscopy. Cancer Council Australia Surveillance Colonoscopy Guidelines Working Party. Sydney: Cancer Council Australia URL: <u>https://wiki.cancer.org.au/australia/Guidelines:Colorectal_cancer/</u> <u>Colonoscopy_surveillance</u> [accessed 2022-11-14]
- 3. Ow TW, Angelica B, Burn S, Chu M, Lee SZ, Lin R, et al. Comparing the resource implications of old and new colorectal adenoma surveillance guidelines in Australia. Intern Med J 2023. [doi: <u>10.1111/imj.16149</u>] [Medline: <u>37287100</u>]
- 4. Fitzsimmons T, Jayasena W, Holden CA, Dono J, Hewett P, Moore J, et al. Assessing the impact of the 2018 National Health and Medical Research Council polyp surveillance guidelines on compliance with surveillance intervals at two public hospitals. ANZ J Surg 2022;92(11):2942-2948. [doi: 10.1111/ans.17965] [Medline: 36398340]
- Peterson E, May FP, Kachikian O, Soroudi C, Naini B, Kang Y, et al. Automated identification and assignment of colonoscopy surveillance recommendations for individuals with colorectal polyps. Gastrointest Endosc 2021;94(5):978-987. [doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2021.05.036] [Medline: <u>34087201</u>]
- Karwa A, Patell R, Parthasarathy G, Lopez R, McMichael J, Burke CA. Development of an automated algorithm to generate guideline-based recommendations for follow-up colonoscopy. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020;18(9):2038-2045.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019.10.013] [Medline: 31622739]
- Magrath M, Yang E, Ahn C, Mayorga CA, Gopal P, Murphy CC, et al. Impact of a clinical decision support system on guideline adherence of surveillance recommendations for colonoscopy after polypectomy. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2018;16(11):1321-1328 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2018.7050] [Medline: 30442733]
- Carey M, Sanson-Fisher R, Macrae F, Cameron E, Hill D, D'Este C, et al. Improving adherence to colorectal cancer surveillance guidelines: results of a randomised controlled trial. BMC Cancer 2017;17(1):106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3095-x] [Medline: 28166751]
- Carey M, Sanson-Fisher R, Macrae F, Cameron E, Hill D, D'Este C, et al. Can a print-based intervention increase screening for first degree relatives of people with colorectal cancer? a randomised controlled trial. Aust N Z J Public Health 2016;40(6):582-587 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1753-6405.12579] [Medline: 27625308]
- Symonds EL, Simpson K, Coats M, Chaplin A, Saxty K, Sandford J, et al. A nurse-led model at public academic hospitals maintains high adherence to colorectal cancer surveillance guidelines. Med J Aust 2018;208(11):492-496. [doi: <u>10.5694/mja17.00823</u>] [Medline: <u>29902396</u>]
- Khan Z, Darr U, Khan MA, Nawras M, Khalil B, Abdel-Aziz Y, et al. Improving internal medicine residents' colorectal cancer screening knowledge using a smartphone app: pilot study. JMIR Med Educ 2018;4(1):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mededu.9635] [Medline: 29535080]
- 12. Shafer LA, Restall G, Simms A, Lee E, Park J, Singh H. Clinician based decision tool to guide recommended interval between colonoscopies: development and evaluation pilot study. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2022;22(1):136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-022-01872-z] [Medline: 35581662]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46625
```
- 13. Colonoscopy surveillance. Polyp Guide. URL: <u>https://www.polyp.guide</u> [accessed 2023-11-14]
- 14. Haig A. Polyp.app. URL: <u>https://polyp.app</u> [accessed 2023-11-14]
- 15. Ow T. Colorectal Cancer Screening and Surveillance Resources. 2020. URL: <u>https://crcwebapp.com</u> [accessed 2023-11-14]
- 16. Sauro J, Lewis JR. Quantifying the User Experience: Practical Statistics for User Research. 2nd Edition. Cambridge, MA: Morgan Kaufmann; 2016.
- 17. Parkin CJ, Bell SW, Mirbagheri N. Colorectal cancer screening in Australia: an update. Aust J Gen Pract 2018;47(12):859-863 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.31128/AJGP-01-18-4472] [Medline: 31212405]
- 18. Brooke J. SUS: a 'quick and dirty' usability scale. In: Jordan PW, Thomas B, McClelland IL, Weerdmeester B, editors. Usability Evaluation in Industry. 1st Edition. London: CRC Press; 1996:6.
- 19. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap)—a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 20. Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, et al. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019;95:103208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208] [Medline: 31078660]
- 21. Hysong SJ, Smitham KB, Knox M, Johnson KE, SoRelle R, Haidet P. Recruiting clinical personnel as research participants: a framework for assessing feasibility. Implement Sci 2013;8:125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-8-125] [Medline: 24153049]

Abbreviations

DA: digital application NHMRC: National Health and Medical Research Council REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture SR: standard resource SUS: System Usability Scale

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 08.03.23; peer-reviewed by N Ribeiro, J Makin; comments to author 19.09.23; revised version received 28.11.23; accepted 18.01.24; published 22.02.24.

Please cite as:

Ow TW, Sukocheva O, Bampton P, Iyngkaran G, Rayner CK, Tse E Improving Concordance Between Clinicians With Australian Guidelines for Bowel Cancer Prevention Using a Digital Application: Randomized Controlled Crossover Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e46625 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46625 doi:10.2196/46625 PMID:38238256

©Tsai-Wing Ow, Olga Sukocheva, Peter Bampton, Guruparan Iyngkaran, Christopher K Rayner, Edmund Tse. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 22.02.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Implementation of Health IT for Cancer Screening in US Primary Care: Scoping Review

Constance Owens-Jasey^{1,2,3}, MPH, PhD; Jinying Chen^{4,5,6}, PhD; Ran Xu⁷, MD; Heather Angier⁸, MPH, PhD; Amy G Huebschmann⁹, MSc, MD; Mayuko Ito Fukunaga¹⁰, MD; Krisda H Chaiyachati^{11,12,13}, MPH, MSPH, MD; Katharine A Rendle¹¹, MSW, MPH, PhD; Kim Robien¹⁴, PhD; Lisa DiMartino^{15,16}, MPH, PhD; Daniel J Amante¹⁷, MPH, PhD; Jamie M Faro¹⁷, PhD; Maura M Kepper¹⁸, PhD; Alex T Ramsey¹⁹, PhD; Eric Bressman^{13,20}, MSHP, MD; Rachel Gold^{1,3,21}, MPH, PhD

³OCHIN, Inc, Portland, OR, United States

- ⁶iDAPT Implementation Science Center for Cancer Control, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston Salem, NC, United States
- ⁷Department of Medicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States

⁹Adult and Child Center for Outcomes Research and Delivery Science, Ludeman Family Center for Women's Health Research, Division of General Internal Medicine, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, United States

- ¹¹Penn Implementation Science Center in Cancer Control, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States ¹²Verily Life Sciences, South San Francisco, CA, United States
- ¹³Leonard Davis Institute of Health Economics, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States
- ¹⁴Milken Institute School of Public Health, George Washington University, Washington, DC, United States
- ¹⁵RTI International, Research Triangle Park, NC, United States
- ¹⁶UT Southwestern Medical Center, University of Texas, Dallas, TX, United States
- ¹⁷Department of Population and Quantitative Health Sciences, UMass Chan Medical School, Worcester, MA, United States
- ¹⁸Brown School, Washington University, St. Louis, MO, United States
- ¹⁹Department of Psychiatry, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, United States

²⁰Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

²¹Kaiser Permanente Center for Health Research, Portland, OR, United States

Corresponding Author:

Constance Owens-Jasey, MPH, PhD OCHIN, Inc PO Box 5426 Portland, OR, 97228-5426 United States Phone: 1 503 943 2500 Email: <u>owensc@ochin.org</u>

Abstract

Background: A substantial percentage of the US population is not up to date on guideline-recommended cancer screenings. Identifying interventions that effectively improve screening rates would enhance the delivery of such screening. Interventions involving health IT (HIT) show promise, but much remains unknown about how HIT is optimized to support cancer screening in primary care.

Objective: This scoping review aims to identify (1) HIT-based interventions that effectively support guideline concordance in breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening provision and follow-up in the primary care setting and (2) barriers or facilitators to the implementation of effective HIT in this setting.

RenderX

¹BRIDGE-C2 Implementation Science Center in Cancer Control, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR, United States

²Department of Health Administration and Policy, College of Public Health, George Mason University, Fairfax, VA, United States

⁴Department of Preventive Medicine and Epidemiology, Chobanian & Avedisian School of Medicine, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States ⁵Data Science Core, Chobanian & Avedisian School of Medicine, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States

⁸Department of Family Medicine, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR, United States

¹⁰Department of Medicine, UMass Chan Medical School, Worcester, MA, United States

Methods: Following scoping review guidelines, we searched MEDLINE, CINAHL Plus, Web of Science, and IEEE Xplore databases for US-based studies from 2015 to 2021 that featured HIT targeting breast, colorectal, and cervical cancer screening in primary care. Studies were dual screened using a review criteria checklist. Data extraction was guided by the following implementation science frameworks: the Reach, Effectiveness, Adoption, Implementation, and Maintenance framework; the Expert Recommendations for Implementing Change taxonomy; and implementation strategy reporting domains. It was also guided by the Integrated Technology Implementation Model that incorporates theories of both implementation science and technology adoption. Reporting was guided by PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews).

Results: A total of 101 studies met the inclusion criteria. Most studies (85/101, 84.2%) involved electronic health record–based HIT interventions. The most common HIT function was clinical decision support, primarily used for panel management or at the point of care. Most studies related to HIT targeting colorectal cancer screening (83/101, 82.2%), followed by studies related to breast cancer screening (28/101, 27.7%), and cervical cancer screening (19/101, 18.8%). Improvements in cancer screening were associated with HIT-based interventions in most studies (36/54, 67% of colorectal cancer–relevant studies; 9/14, 64% of breast cancer–relevant studies; and 7/10, 70% of cervical cancer–relevant studies). Most studies (79/101, 78.2%) reported on the reach of certain interventions, while 17.8% (18/101) of the included studies reported on the adoption or maintenance. Reported barriers and facilitators to HIT adoption primarily related to inner context factors of primary care settings (eg, staffing and organizational policies that support or hinder HIT adoption). Implementation strategies for HIT adoption were reported in 23.8% (24/101) of the included studies.

Conclusions: There are substantial evidence gaps regarding the effectiveness of HIT-based interventions, especially those targeting guideline-concordant breast and colorectal cancer screening in primary care. Even less is known about how to enhance the adoption of technologies that have been proven effective in supporting breast, colorectal, or cervical cancer screening. Research is needed to ensure that the potential benefits of effective HIT-based interventions equitably reach diverse primary care populations.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e49002) doi:10.2196/49002

KEYWORDS

cancer prevention; health information technology; implementation; implementation strategies; scoping review

Introduction

Background

For common cancer types such as cervical, colorectal, and breast cancer, routine screening provided in primary care settings can save lives [1]. Although evidence-based national guidelines exist for the provision of such screenings [1-4], patient receipt of guideline-concordant cancer screening is suboptimal nationally and varies substantially across clinical settings [5,6]. This is driven by multiple factors, including provider-level barriers such as the challenge of staying current on changing cancer screening guidelines [6] and the cognitive overload that providers can face when managing the needs of patients with complex conditions [7-11]. Patient-level barriers include lack of knowledge of screening recommendations [6], loss to follow-up [12], fear about screening procedures or outcomes, and financial and logistical challenges [13].

Understanding which interventions effectively address these challenges—and the barriers and facilitators to implementing such interventions—is needed to enhance the delivery of guideline-concordant cancer screening in primary care. The Community Preventive Services Task Force summary of evidence-based interventions for addressing barriers to guideline-concordant cancer screening [14] identifies health IT (HIT)–based interventions as showing particular promise [15-17]. Prior systematic reviews found that HIT-based interventions such as patient reminders and provider feedback tools can be effective in supporting cancer prevention care [15,17,18]. Such interventions can enhance provider-patient communication about cancer screening [19-22]. These

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49002

interventions can also help care teams identify patients due for screening with automated reminders embedded in the electronic health record (EHR) that can appear either at the point of care [23] and during panel or population management [24].

Yet HIT-based interventions targeting numerous health outcomes are underused in primary care settings [23,25]. One recent systematic review involving 55 studies showed that clinical decision support tools were adopted in <35% of eligible encounters [26]. The adoption of such interventions is impeded by multilevel barriers, such as the challenges inherent to integrating new tools into clinical workflows [27], and lack of training in how to use such tools [28,29]. There is a need to understand best practices for enhancing the adoption of effective HIT-based interventions targeting cancer prevention, including how barriers to the adoption of such interventions can best be addressed in primary care [17,18,30,31].

Objectives

In 2020, the National Cancer Institute's Consortium for Cancer Implementation Science (CCIS) "Technology in Implementation Science Action Group" identified a need for the scoping review presented here. This review aims to describe the specific knowledge gaps in this evidence base, that is, what is known and unknown about the implementation of effective HIT for cancer screening in primary care. Specifically, it aims to identify (1) HIT-based interventions that effectively support guideline concordance in breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening provision and follow-up in the primary care setting and (2) barriers or facilitators to the implementation of effective HIT in this setting. To refine the scope of this review, we focused

XSL•FO RenderX

on common cancer screenings that are in the purview of primary care: breast, colorectal, and cervical cancer screening. We note that earlier systematic reviews [15,17,18] assessed the effectiveness of HIT-based interventions at improving cancer screening rates in primary care, but the most recent included data up to June 2014 [15]. This review first summarizes related evidence accrued since 2014 and then assesses current knowledge on the adoption of such interventions. To our knowledge, this is the first scoping review to assess the implementation of HIT in cancer screening.

Methods

Overview

This scoping review was conducted by a multidisciplinary team of researchers from the CCIS with expertise in implementation science, health informatics, health services research, and cancer control. We followed the 6-stage scoping review methodology described by Arksey and O'Malley [32], with consideration of later modifications to this approach made by Levac et al [33]. This review was reported in accordance with the PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews) [34].

Ethical Considerations

Ethics approval from the George Mason University Institutional Review Board was not required for this review.

Research Questions

This scoping review was designed to answer two overarching questions: (1) What is known about how HIT-based interventions are used to enhance guideline concordance of cancer screening in primary care settings? (2) What is known about the barriers or facilitators to the implementation and dissemination of these interventions?

Identifying Relevant Studies

With assistance from a health sciences librarian, the first author (COJ) conducted a 3-step search process to identify relevant US-based peer-reviewed and gray literature studies. First, the following bibliographic databases were systematically searched: MEDLINE, CINAHL Plus, Web of Science, and IEEE Xplore. These databases were searched using a combination of search strings that included relevant controlled vocabulary (eg, Medical Subject Heading) and keywords with Boolean operators. The search terms were selected based on a review of the existing literature and refined based on the input of the coauthors. To ensure that the search yielded relevant studies, variations of the search strategy were pilot-tested by 3 authors (COJ, RG, and RX) and refined before the final search was conducted. Our final search strategy for bibliographic databases is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Second, this search was supplemented by a review of gray literature (eg, study protocols, unpublished empirical trials, dissertations, reports, and government publications) to consider studies that might not be indexed in bibliographic databases. This search primarily consisted of targeted website searching of cancer, HIT, public health organizations, and funding agencies recommended by the authors (COJ, RG, KHC). Our

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49002
```

final gray literature search strategy is provided in Multimedia Appendix 2. Additional gray literature databases (CQ Press Library, Policy File Index, Find Policy, and Harvard Kennedy School Think Tank Search), recommended by the health sciences librarian, were explored but did not yield useful results. Finally, we identified relevant studies with a snowball search technique, whereby the reference lists of sources selected for full-text review were also examined for additional studies to include in the final review sample.

Study Selection

Eligibility Criteria

Studies on HIT and cancer screening before January 2015 are covered in prior publications [15,17,18]. Our search was designed to build on that work, so it was limited to studies published from 2015 to 2021 (the time at which we started the review process). Studies were considered eligible for inclusion if they (1) were US-based, reported in the English language, and published between January 2015 and June 2021; (2) reported on activities conducted in the primary care setting; (3) focused on evidence-based cancer screening; (4) involved the use of HIT to support this screening; (5) were related to specific workflow steps involved in conducting cancer screening in primary care (identifying patients due for screening at the point of care or in panel management, obtaining results of past screenings through data exchange, or providing appropriate follow-up care); and (6) targeted screening for breast, colorectal, or cervical cancer. A checklist of these criteria was created to guide the selection of relevant studies and then pilot-tested in a subsample of articles (n=60) and refined (COJ, RG, and RX) to ensure that its criteria could be applied consistently. The checklist was supported by a glossary of key terms to ensure shared understanding across reviewers of potential studies. The final checklist and glossary are provided in Multimedia Appendices 3 and 4, respectively. All study designs were eligible for inclusion as long as the study included some description of how HIT was used to support breast, colorectal, and cervical cancer screening in primary care settings. If a study was an evidence review (eg, systematic review or narrative review), only studies included in the final sample of the review and published between January 2015 and June 2021 were assessed for potential inclusion. If multiple publications described a single intervention but described different approaches for using HIT, all applicable studies were assessed for inclusion.

Dual Screening Review

Results of the search strategies described above were imported and managed in Zotero [35]. The first author (COJ) removed duplicate studies. Then, reviewers in eight 2-person teams were assigned studies to dual screen [36] (team 1: COJ and RG; team 2: AH and HA; team 3: LD and RX; team 4: KR and JMF; team 5: KHC and EB; team 6: KAR and JC; team 7: MMK and ATR; and team 8: MIF and DJA). Dual screening was performed in 2 steps. First, study titles and abstracts were dual screened by each review team using the inclusion and exclusion checklist to assess eligibility. Second, studies included for full-text dual screening were assessed by the same review teams for final inclusion in the scoping review. Any discrepancies that emerged within a review team were reconciled by consensus. The first

XSL•FO RenderX

and senior authors (COJ and RG) provided final decisions for any studies that could not be reconciled by a review team.

Data Charting

A data charting form was developed using Qualtrics, a web-based survey software, to systematically extract information from studies selected for inclusion in the review analyses. The form was initially pilot-tested on 2 articles and refined (COJ, RG, and HA). Next, the review teams extracted information from their assigned studies. Extracted data elements included study citation, publication year, publication type, study design, study setting, sample composition by race or ethnicity, and cancer screening focus (breast, colorectal, and cervical cancer). Extracted characteristics of the relevant HIT tools involved in a given study included type, users, functions, purpose (intervention or implementation strategy supporting an intervention), and supported cancer screening activities. Data elements were extracted in multiple choice or free-text form, depending on the type of data. Multiple implementation frameworks [37-40] were used to guide data extraction. A check of at least 50% (49/101 studies) of extracted studies suggested that data charting quality was high and the agreement rate between the initial reviewers and the reviewers that conducted the quality check was >90%.

Multiple implementation frameworks [37-40] were used to guide data extraction. Specifically, the Reach, Effectiveness, Adoption, Implementation, and Maintenance (RE-AIM) framework [37] guided the extraction of dissemination and implementation outcomes: target end users (clinical staff and patients) of HIT (Reach), HIT impact on cancer screening in primary care (Effectiveness), the rate of HIT adoption (Adoption), the extent to which a given HIT-based intervention was implemented (Implementation), and the extent to which sustainability of HIT adoption was measured (Maintenance). Assessment of the evidence on barriers and facilitators of HIT adoption was guided by the Integrated Technology Implementation Model (ITIM), which includes 12 inner and outer context concepts known to be central to the implementation and adoption of technology in health care settings, and is based on the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research, adapted to HIT-based interventions [38]. Although technology frameworks have been used to investigate the usability and acceptance of HIT-based

interventions [41-43], to our knowledge, the ITIM is the only model that incorporates theories of both implementation science and technology adoption. The Expert Recommendations for Implementing Change (ERIC) compilation [39] guided the categorization of discrete implementation strategies identified in the studies. The implementation strategies reporting the framework by Proctor et al [40] guided the extraction and analysis of implementation strategies used to support the HIT adoption.

Collating, Summarizing, and Reporting Results

Descriptive data were compiled and interpreted using Stata/MP (version 15.1; StataCorp LLC) to quantify the frequencies of extracted data in discrete fields. Free text data charted in Qualtrics were exported to Excel (Microsoft Corp) for qualitative content analysis [44,45]. Authors (COJ, JC, RX, and RG) reviewed and categorized free text for HIT characteristics, RE-AIM domains, implementation barriers, facilitators, and core elements of implementation strategies (eg, actor and target of action). Most analyses used an iterative process, which involved initial coding and identification of themes (ie, categories) by 2 reviewers, resolving discrepancies and refining categories through team discussion, and recoding the text using finalized categories. Multimedia Appendix 5 provides details about these procedures.

Consultation

Authors (RG, JC, RX, HA, and AH) were consulted at each stage of the scoping review to provide input on the search, data abstraction, and interpretation of the results. We also consulted with implementation science experts about the conceptual frameworks selected for this study.

Results

Literature Search

The search yielded an initial total of 618 studies (Figure 1). After removing duplicates, 485 titles and abstracts were assessed for inclusion. Among these, 350 studies were excluded as not meeting the inclusion criteria. Full-text review was conducted on 135 records that met the inclusion criteria. A snowball search yielded an additional 115 studies that were assessed for eligibility. A final total of 101 studies met the inclusion criteria. Multimedia Appendix 6 provides a complete list of these studies.







Characteristics of the Included Studies

Included studies were published between January 2015 and June 2021 (Table 1). Most studies were peer-reviewed (92/101, 91.1%). Study design was mostly nonexperimental (descriptive: 18/101, 17.8% or observational: 15/101, 14.9%) in comparison to experimental (randomized controlled trials: 29/101, 28.7%), quasi-experimental (pre-post design: 21/101, 20.8%;

nonrandomized controlled trials: 5/101, 5%; or other quasi-experimental studies: 3/101, 3%), and other studies (10/101, 9.9%). Most studies covered HIT targeting colorectal cancer screening (83/101, 82.2%), followed by breast cancer screening (28/101, 27.7%) and cervical cancer screening (19/101, 18.8%); these sum up >101 as some addressed more >1 type of cancer screening.



Table 1. Characteristics of the included studies (N=101).

Characteristics	Colorectal cancer (n=83), n (%) ^a	Breast cancer (n=28), n (%)	Cervical cancer (n=19), n (%)	Total, (N=101), n (%)
Publication year ^b	·		-	
2015	13 (15.7)	4 (14.3)	1 (5.3)	15 (14.9)
2016	15 (18.1)	6 (21.4)	3 (15.8)	18 (17.8)
2017	15 (18.1)	5 (17.9)	4 (21.1)	21 (20.8)
2018	16 (19.3)	2 (7.1)	3 (15.8)	18 (17.8)
2019	10 (12)	5 (17.9)	4 (21.1)	13 (12.9)
2020	9 (10.8)	5 (17.9)	3 (15.8)	11 (10.9)
2021	5 (6)	1 (3.6)	1 (5.3)	5 (5)
Publication type				
Peer-reviewed article	78 (94)	26 (92.9)	16 (84.2)	92 (91.1)
Report	1 (1.2)	2 (7.1)	2 (10.5)	4 (4)
Study protocol	3 (3.6)	c	_	3 (3)
Other	1 (1.2)	_	1 (5.3)	2 (2)
Study design				
Nonexperimental				
Descriptive	15 (18.1)	5 (17.9)	4 (21.1)	18 (17.8)
Observational	11 (13.3)	9 (32.1)	4 (21.1)	15 (14.9)
Experimental				
RCT ^d	24 (28.9)	7 (25)	5 (26.3)	29 (28.7)
Quasi-experimental				
Pre-post study design	17 (20.5)	5 (17.9)	2 (10.5)	21 (20.8)
Non-RCT	3 (3.6)	1 (3.6)	3 (15.8)	5 (5)
Other quasi-experimental	3 (3.6)	_	_	3 (3.0)
Other study designs	10 (12)	1 (3.6)	1 (5.3)	10 (9.9)

^aPercentages were calculated based on column totals.

^bPublication year represents studies published from January 2015 to June 2021.

^cNot available.

^dRCT: randomized controlled trial.

Characteristics of the primary care settings where the research in the included studies was conducted are shown in Table 2. Approximately half of the included studies (52/101, 51.5%) reported on practice location. Most studies involving colorectal (22/83, 27%) or breast (6/28, 21%) cancer screening were conducted in urban areas, and most studies on cervical cancer screening (5/19, 26%) were conducted in rural areas. Studies on colorectal cancer screening were primarily conducted in federally qualified health centers (20/83, 24%); most of those on breast and cervical cancer screening were conducted in academic-based clinics (9/28, 32% and 5/19, 26%, respectively). More than half (59/101, 58.4%) of the included studies (colorectal: 47/83, 57%; breast cancer: 17/28, 61%; and cervical: 8/19, 42%) reported information on racial or ethnic minoritized participants (patients from racial or ethnic minority groups). Of these 59 studies, 34 (58%) reported that \leq 50% of study participants were members of racial or ethnic minority populations.



Table 2.	Primary care	e practice	characteristics	of the	included	studies	(N=101).
----------	--------------	------------	-----------------	--------	----------	---------	----------

Characteristics	Colorectal cancer (n=83), n (%) ^a	Breast cancer (n=28), n (%)	Cervical cancer (n=19), n (%)	Total, (N=101), n (%)
Practice location				
Urban	22 (26.5)	6 (21.4)	2 (10.5)	26 (25.7)
Rural	11 (13.3)	5 (17.9)	5 (26.3)	15 (14.9)
Combination of urban and rural	11 (13.3)	2 (7.1)	3 (15.8)	11 (10.9)
Not reported	39 (47)	15 (53.6)	9 (47.4)	49 (48.5)
Practice type				
Academic-based clinic	17 (20.5)	9 (32.1)	5 (26.3)	22 (21.8)
Federally Qualified Health Centers	20 (24.1)	1 (3.6)	3 (15.8)	21 (20.8)
Freestanding or other	18 (21.7)	4 (14.3)	3 (15.8)	21 (20.8)
Hospital-based clinic	10 (12)	2 (7.1)	1 (5.3)	12 (11.9)
Not reported	18 (21.7)	12 (42.9)	7 (36.8)	25 (24.8)
Sample percentage of racial or ethnic minority gr	oups			
≤50%	25 (30.1)	13 (46.4)	6 (31.6)	34 (33.7)
>50%	22 (26.5)	4 (14.3)	2 (10.5)	25 (24.8)
Not reported	36 (43.4)	11 (39.3)	11 (57.9)	42 (41.6)

^aPercentages were calculated based on column totals.

Characteristics of the HIT Interventions

Our definitions of HIT tool types and functions and the types of cancer screening activities they supported are provided in Multimedia Appendix 4. Of the 101 included studies, 66 (65.3%) reported on interventions involving 1 HIT tool and 35 (34.7%) reported on interventions involving >1 HIT tool (Table 3). In these studies, the HIT tool was either the intervention of focus, one component of a multicomponent intervention that also included non-HIT elements, or was used as an implementation strategy to support the intervention of focus.

Most of the included studies (85/101, 84.2%) involved EHR-based HIT tools (Table 3). Web-based (18/101, 17.8%) and other types of HIT tools (19/101, 18.8%) were less common. The HIT *function* most commonly involved in included studies was clinical decision support (CDS) across all cancer screening types (Table 3). CDS tools for panel management were most common in studies involving colorectal cancer screening (50/83,

60%). CDS at the point of care was commonly used in studies on breast (16/28, 57%) and cervical cancer screening (12/19, 63%). Other commonly studied HIT functions included risk identification (colorectal: 13/83, 16% and cervical: 6/19, 32%), patient decision aids (colorectal: 13/83, 16% and breast: 9/28, 32%), and tools for tracking patient adherence to recommended care (colorectal: 27/83, 33% and cervical: 6/19, 32%).

The *cancer screening activities* were primarily related to identifying patients for screening in panel management (colorectal: 50/83, 60%; breast: 8/28, 29%; and cervical: 7/19, 37%) and at the point of care (colorectal: 39/83, 47%; breast: 15/28, 54%; and cervical: 12/19, 63%). Other commonly supported cancer screening activities included follow-up care for referral (colorectal: 36/83, 43%; breast: 7/28, 25%; and cervical: 7/19, 37%) and for positive or abnormal screening results (colorectal: 12/83, 15% and cervical: 5/19, 26%; Table 3).

Owens-Jasey et al

Table 3. Characteristics of the health IT (HIT) sources and functions used to promote cancer screening in primary care, as represented in the included studies (N=101).

Characteristics	Colorectal cancer (n=83), n (%) ^a	Breast cancer (n=28), n (%)	Cervical cancer (n=19), n (%)	Total (N=101), n (%)
Using single or multiple HIT tools		·		
Single HIT tools	53 (63.9)	22 (78.6)	14 (73.7)	66 (65.3)
Multiple HIT tools	30 (36.1)	6 (21.4)	5 (26.3)	35 (34.7)
HIT sources				
EHR ^b based	74 (89.2)	20 (71.4)	18 (94.7)	85 (84.2)
Web based	11 (13.3)	9 (32.1)	3 (15.8)	18 (17.8)
Other or unclear	15 (18.1)	3 (10.7)	3 (15.8)	19 (18.8)
HIT functions				
CDS ^c panel management or outreach	50 (60.2)	7 (25)	9 (47.4)	57 (56.4)
CDS point of care	41 (49.4)	16 (57.1)	12 (63.2)	48 (47.5)
Risk identification	13 (15.7)	5 (17.9)	6 (31.6)	18 (17.8)
Patient decision aid	13 (15.7)	9 (32.1)	2 (10.5)	18 (17.8)
Provider assessment and feedback	11 (13.3)	1 (3.6)	1 (5.3)	12 (11.9)
Tracking patient adherence	27 (32.5)	4 (14.3)	6 (31.6)	30 (29.7)
Other	3 (3.6)	d	—	3 (3.0)
Cancer screening activities supported by HIT				
Panel management	50 (60.2)	8 (28.9)	7 (36.8)	56 (55.4)
Point of care	39 (47)	15 (53.6)	12 (63.2)	45 (44.6)
Follow-up (referral)	36 (43.4)	7 (25.0)	7 (36.8)	41 (40.6)
Follow-up (abnormal or positive result)	12 (14.5)	2 (7.1)	5 (26.3)	17 (16.8)
Acquire previous results	7 (8.4)	2 (7.1)	4 (21.1)	10 (9.9)
Other	21 (25.3)	11 (39.3)	5 (26.3)	24 (23.8)

^aPercentages were calculated based on column totals. Some studies featured >1 HIT source, function, and cancer screening activity. As a result, these categories are not mutually exclusive and will not necessarily sum to 100%. Refer to Multimedia Appendix 4 for definitions of the terms used in this table.

^bEHR: electronic health record.

^cCDS: clinical decision support.

^dNot available.

Reporting on RE-AIM Outcomes

Overview

A summary of reporting on RE-AIM outcomes is provided in Table 4.



Owens-Jasey et al

Table 4. Reporting on Reach, Effectiveness, Adoption, Implementation, and Maintenance (RE-AIM) outcomes for health IT (HIT) targeting cancer screening in primary care.

RE-AIM domains	Data charted	Cancer screening type				
		Colorectal cancer	Breast cancer	Cervical cancer		
Reach	Was the number of targeted staff or patients for HIT-based interven- tion reported	High ^a	High	High		
Effectiveness	Did the HIT tools show positive results in the cancer screening in- tervention	High	Moderate	High		
Adoption	Rate of HIT adoption	Low	Moderate	Low		
Implementation	Barriers, facilitators, and implementation strategies used related to HIT	Moderate	Low	Low		
Maintenance	Was the sustainment of HIT adoption measured	Low	Low	Low		

^aLow: <25% of the included studies for each cancer screening type category, moderate: 25% to 50% of the included studies for each cancer screening type category, and high: >50% of the included studies for each cancer screening type category. Percentages were calculated with respect to the included studies for each cancer screening type category.

Effectiveness

Of the 101 included studies, 24 (23.8%) reported on the effectiveness of HIT targeting breast (14/28, 50% of breast cancer-relevant studies) and cervical cancer screening (10/19, 53% of cervical cancer-relevant studies; Multimedia Appendix 7 includes a table with these results). Of the 101 included studies, 54 (53.5%) reported the effectiveness of HIT targeting colorectal cancer screening (54/83, 65% of colorectal cancer-relevant studies). Among studies reporting on effectiveness, most-reported positive outcomes (improved screening rate) associated with the use of HIT (36/54, 67% of colorectal cancer-relevant studies; 9/14, 64% of breast cancer-relevant studies; and 7/10, 70% of cervical cancer-relevant studies). This evidence mostly represented CDS used during panel management (22/83, 27% of colorectal cancer-relevant studies) or at the point of care (5/28, 18% of breast cancer-relevant studies and 5/19, 26% of cervical cancer-relevant studies; Multimedia Appendix 7).

Reach, Adoption, and Maintenance

Among the 101 included studies, 79 (78.2%) reported on the reach of HIT-based interventions. Most of the studies focused on reach involved HIT for colorectal cancer screening (63/83, 76% of colorectal cancer–relevant studies studies). The reach of HIT-based interventions targeting breast cancer screening was reported in 82% (23/28) of the breast cancer–relevant studies and in 74% (14/19) of the studies targeting cervical cancer screening. Overall, 15.8% (16/101) of the studies reported on HIT adoption (colorectal: 10/83, 12%; breast: 9/28, 32%; and cervical: 1/19, 5%), and 2% (2/101) of the studies reported on maintenance of HIT-based interventions. Of those that reported on adoption, there was mostly a low rate of adoption (\leq 50%) across all cancer screening types (Multimedia Appendix 8 includes a table with these results).

Implementation

The proportion of studies reporting on the implementation of the HIT ranged from 25% to 50% for those related to colorectal cancer screening (Table 4). It was reported in <25% of the studies related to HIT targeting breast and cervical cancer screening. Implementation barriers, facilitators, and strategies related to HIT adoption across all cancer screening types are described further in the next 2 sections.

Implementation Barriers and Facilitators of HIT Adoption

A total of 34 studies reported on barriers and 37 studies reported on facilitators to implementing the HIT-based interventions of focus in primary care (Table 5). The most-reported barriers and facilitators were related to the ITIM constructs inner context (barriers: 17/34, 50% and facilitators: 14/37, 38%), nature of the innovation (barriers: 15/34, 44% and facilitators: 17/37, 46%), and outer context (barriers: 11/34, 32% and facilitators: 9/37, 24%). Inner context barriers included limited staff time to use the HIT and adoption competing with other clinic priorities. Inner context facilitators included having dedicated staff assigned to operate and manage a given HIT tool, and organizational policies supporting HIT adoption. Barriers related to the nature of the innovation included inaccurate cancer screening data reported by the HIT intervention and the burden of HIT development and maintenance. Facilitators related to the nature of the innovation included that HIT automation and customization features reduced staff resources and time needed in providing care. Outer context barriers included challenges involved with working with an EHR vendor to activate and update the tool and challenges with accessing screening results conducted outside the clinics. Outer context facilitators included Medicaid expansion including cancer screening as an incentivized metric and the clinic being a Federally Qualified Health Center, which necessitated responsiveness to such metrics. A table with more examples of barriers and facilitators is provided in Multimedia Appendix 9.

Table 5.	Reporting on the barrie	ers and facilitators	of health IT	adoption al	ligned with the	e Integrated	Technology	Implementation	Model (ITIM)
	1 0			1	0	0	0,	1	· · · · ·

ITIM constructs	Barriers (n=34), n (%) ^a	Facilitators (n=37), n (%)
Adoption or adopters	2 (6)	1 (3)
Communication	6 (18)	5 (14)
Economic environment	5 (15)	6 (16)
Facilitators (boundary spanner)	b	4 (11)
Implementation	3 (9)	9 (24)
Inner context	17 (50)	14 (38)
Interfacing systems	5 (15)	2 (5)
Leadership	2 (6)	2 (5)
Nature of the innovation	15 (44)	17 (46)
Outer context	11 (32)	9 (24)
Users (adopters)	9 (26)	4 (11)
Workflow	9 (26)	11 (30)

^aPercentages were calculated with respect to the total studies that reported barriers or facilitators. Some studies featured both barriers and facilitators to health IT adoption for cancer screening in primary care. As a result, these categories are not mutually exclusive and will not necessarily sum to 100%. ^bNot available.

Implementation Strategies to Support HIT Adoption

Implementation strategies targeting HIT adoption were reported in 24% (24/101) of the included studies. Those reported were mapped to 22 implementation strategies from the ERIC compilation [39] (Multimedia Appendix 10). Of the studies reporting implementation strategies, >50% used \geq 2 strategies and >50% reported strategies promoting HIT use for colorectal cancer screening. Common strategies to promote HIT use among all cancer screening types included central technical assistance, conducting small tests of change, and educational meetings. A table with more examples is available in Multimedia Appendix 10. Reported evidence mapped to the domains formulated by Proctor et al [40] (Table 6) and were mostly focused on describing implementation strategies to support HIT adoption for colorectal cancer screening (22/83, 27% of colorectal cancer–relevant studies) in comparison to breast (6/28, 21% of breast cancer–relevant studies) and cervical cancer screening (4/19, 21% of cervical cancer–relevant studies). Overall, less than half of the included studies, for each cancer screening type, reported evidence in accordance with each implementation strategy domain.

 Table 6. Reporting on the implementation strategies used to support health IT adoption.

Implementation strategy domains by Proctor et al [40]	Data charted	Cancer screening type		
		Colorectal cancer	Breast cancer	Cervical cancer
Actor	Who delivers the strategy	Moderate ^a	Low	Low
Action	Procedures to conduct the strategy	Moderate	Low	Low
Target of action	Intent of action	Low	Low	Low
Temporality	When does the strategy happen	Low	Low	Low
Dose	Frequency or intensity	Low	Low	Low
Implementation outcomes affected	What will the strategy change	Low	Low	Low
Justification	Purpose of the strategy	Moderate	Low	Low

^aLow: <25% of the included studies for each cancer screening type category, moderate: 25% to 50% of the included studies for each cancer screening type category, and high: >50% of the included studies for each cancer screening type category.

Discussion

RenderX

Principal Findings

This scoping review summarizes the state of the science about the implementation of HIT-based interventions targeting breast, cervical, or colorectal cancer screening in primary care. Previous

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49002

reviews identified the positive impact of HIT-based interventions throughout the cancer care continuum, including cancer screening [15,17,18]. This review adds to prior evidence by bringing an implementation science perspective; this is needed because the impact of HIT-based interventions is limited by the extent to which such interventions are effectively integrated into practice. This scoping review provides updated evidence

up to 2021. This is not a systematic review; our goal was to identify knowledge gaps. Results indicate that key knowledge gaps related to the implementation of HIT in cancer screening in primary care include (1) the effectiveness of HIT targeting *breast and cervical* cancer screening, (2) HIT *adoption* in diverse primary care settings, (3) the *implementation strategies* that support the adoption of HIT, and (4) equitable reach or adoption of HIT. Addressing these evidence gaps may be critical to supporting the implementation of high-quality primary care [46].

Knowledge Gap 1: Limited Evidence on the Effectiveness of HIT Targeting Breast and Cervical Cancer Screening

This review emphasizes the need to improve the evidence on HIT effectiveness, especially HIT targeting breast and cervical cancer screening uptake, in diverse primary care settings. Effectiveness outcomes included, but were not limited to, improvements in cancer screening initiation by the patient or provider and patient completion of cancer screening. Although the use of HIT-based interventions was associated with improved screening outcomes for all 3 cancer types, there were far fewer studies of HIT effectiveness for breast and cervical cancer screening (a combined total of 24 studies) in comparison to the 54 studies involving colorectal cancer screening. Furthermore, most studies related to HIT targeting breast or cervical cancer prevention were conducted in academic medical centers and were not readily generalizable to other primary care settings. This limited evidence is concerning as both are common cancers, and evidence-based guidelines for such screenings are not met in many patient populations.

In addition, the lack of reporting on HIT effectiveness was especially common in studies in which HIT was part of a multicomponent intervention [14]; thus, even if the effectiveness of the overall intervention was reported, the impact of the HIT element of the intervention was not clear. More research is needed to establish the effectiveness of HIT targeting cancer screening in diverse primary care settings, including trials of the individual and combined effect of HIT within multicomponent interventions. The need for an improved understanding of the effectiveness of HIT is especially salient given that national programs (eg, Promoting Interoperability Program, formerly Meaningful Use) promote the use of HIT in health care settings [47] as a means to improve health outcomes.

Knowledge Gap 2: Limited Evidence of the Reach, Adoption, and Maintenance of Effective HIT Targeting Cancer Screening

The limited reporting on the reach, adoption, and maintenance of such interventions aligns with the known lack of reporting on these implementation outcomes in analyses of other interventions [48]; the need to improve such reporting is well known in implementation science. When HIT adoption is not reported, it is difficult to assess an intervention's population-level impact. In particular, if a limited number of potential users adopt an intervention, even when there is good reach and it is highly effective, population-level impacts may be low. Where adoption was reported, its rates were generally

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49002

low (\leq 50%), underscoring the need for further research on improving the uptake of effective HIT [49]. When implementation barriers and facilitators to HIT adoption were reported, most related to inner context, outer context, and the nature of the innovation (including a given HIT tool's function). Future research should assess which combination of these contextual factors is associated with the adoption of HIT with varied functions when used in different workflow steps (ie, panel management, point of care, and follow-up care). To further understand how contextual factors impact care teams' adoption of HIT for cancer screening, there is also a need for more widespread reporting on practice type, which was rarely noted in the studies included here. Similarly, few studies reported on the sustainment of tool adoption. This evidence gap is seen throughout the implementation science literature [50]; improved knowledge of how to sustain the use of effective interventions is critical to maximizing their impact. Knowledge gap 3 describes the need for evidence on how to improve the adoption and maintenance of HIT-based interventions targeting cancer screening in primary care. We also posit that the lack of evidence on such interventions' reach is relevant to how such interventions support equity in cancer screening, as discussed in knowledge gap 4.

Knowledge Gap 3: Limited Evidence on Implementation Strategies That Support the Adoption of HIT Targeting Cancer Screening in Primary Care

A total of 24 studies (<25% of the included studies) reported on strategies used to support the adoption of HIT-based interventions, and few of these assessed the effectiveness of the strategies. This is complicated by the fact that in some cases a given HIT tool was considered the intervention or an intervention component, and in others, it was considered an implementation strategy for supporting the adoption of a clinical intervention. In the implementation science literature, the boundaries between clinical intervention and implementation intervention strategies are not always clear, adding complexity to this reporting.

Research is needed on how to support the adoption of HIT-based interventions targeting cancer screening using implementation strategies, how to use HIT as an implementation strategy, and what types of support strategies are used even in reports on HIT-based interventions' impact. Reporting must strive to clearly differentiate between these approaches; the need for better reporting on implementation strategies is well known [51-53]. Although such reporting can be resource intensive, methods are emerging to facilitate it [40,54].

Research is also needed to specify how effectively different implementation strategies support the adoption of different HIT-based interventions in different care settings. Known barriers and facilitators to HIT adoption, in general, may also be impactful for HIT targeting cancer screening. For example, evidence indicates that barriers to HIT use include inadequate training for care teams on using EHR functions to their full potential [55-58]. Thus, effective implementation strategies for HIT targeting cancer prevention may involve training.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Knowledge Gap 4: Limited Evidence on the Reach and Equitable Implementation of HIT for Cancer Screening in Primary Care

The equitable reach of HIT tools for cancer screening is poorly described. A few studies specifically focused on racial or ethnic minority groups; many were conducted in federally qualified health centers, which often serve racial or ethnic minority groups. Relevant data were reported in just 58.4% (59/101) of the studies included here. However, where such data were reported, eligible patients reached by the HIT interventions had a lower percentage of non-White patients than would be expected for the populations served, suggesting inequities in reach or underreporting. This is concerning, as racial disparities in cancer screening persist [59-61], and previous research found that interventions targeting breast or cervical cancer screening are less likely to target patients considered most at risk, for example, those in socioeconomically and racial or ethnic minoritized groups [5]. Findings from this scoping review underscore the need to understand potential drivers of these inequities (eg, design flaws in algorithms used to identify eligible patients and clinician bias in applying the HIT tool) and solutions to mitigate these inequities. One step toward addressing this inequity must involve improved reporting on how HIT is used in diverse patient populations. The well-documented need to improve reporting of race or ethnicity in health care [62] likely exacerbates the lack of reporting on the comparative reach of the tools included in this review among different groups. Another step toward equitable reach of HIT is understanding and addressing barriers to the inclusion of racial or ethnic minoritized patients in research on HIT adoption and impact. Future research on HIT adoption for cancer screening should explore strategies that support documentation, recruitment, and retention of racial or ethnic minoritized patients [63].

Limitations

HIT-based interventions might be used to improve outcomes at each step of the cancer control continuum, such as risk assessment, prevention, detection, diagnosis, treatment, survivorship, and end-of-life care [15]. This review was limited to cancer screening. Furthermore, although breast, colorectal, and cervical cancer are highly prevalent cancers whose detection is in the purview of primary care, no other cancers recommended for screening in primary care (eg, lung cancer) were included; future research could assess whether the gaps identified in this study are seen for a broader set of cancers. This review was limited to US studies; therefore, the relevance of the findings is limited to the context of HIT policies and infrastructure as applicable to US primary care settings. Another potential limitation is that urban or rural status was defined based on what each study reported, and they may have used different methods for making this characterization.

In addition, the overlapping quality of some HIT characteristic categories (tool types and functions) made it difficult to execute related data charting. Similarly, content analysis of HIT functions was complicated when implementation strategies overlapped or when studies did not specify which cancers were targeted by the strategies. Our definition of effectiveness did not capture screening outcomes related to each clinical workflow (eg, an intervention using CDS for panel management showed improvements in colorectal cancer screening but did not clarify how improvements impacted screening initiation, completion, or follow-up care). Finally, we followed the PRISMA-ScR guidelines [34] to examine a broad array of literature to include studies that are heterogeneous in design and quality [64]. Although our search strategy followed an iterative process, it is possible that some relevant existing articles were not captured; we sought to mitigate this using a snowball search.

Conclusions

In what is, to our knowledge, the first scoping review of the implementation of HIT-based interventions for cancer screening in primary care settings, we identified critical knowledge gaps. Little is known about the effectiveness of HIT-based interventions specifically targeting guideline-concordant breast and cervical cancer screening. Clarity is needed on the individual and combined effectiveness of HIT when integrated into a multicomponent intervention targeting cancer screening. Even less is known about how to enhance the adoption of cancer-targeted HIT in primary care. The potential for inequities in the reach of HIT for cancer screening remains underexplored. Research is necessary on implementation strategies to promote equitable access, ensuring that the potential benefits of HIT for population health are realized across diverse patient populations.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to extend their gratitude to the Consortium for Cancer Implementation Science (CCIS). This research was conducted as part of the National Cancer Institute's CCIS Technology in Implementation Science Action Group. This research was supported by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health (P50CA244289, P50CA244693, P50CA244688, P50CA244690, P50CA244431), through funding provided as part of the Cancer Moonshot. This research was also supported by a doctoral scholarship award from the Provost Office of George Mason University. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Authors' Contributions

COJ and RG conceptualized the research questions. COJ conceptualized and led the data collection methods and analysis. COJ conducted a 3-step search process to identify relevant US-based peer-reviewed and gray literature studies. To ensure that the search yielded relevant studies, variations of the search strategy were pilot-tested by 3 authors (COJ, RG, and RX) and refined before the final search was conducted. COJ and RG conceptualized the eligibility criteria, and COJ, RG, and RX participated in

the pilot-testing of the eligibility criteria before study selection. All authors conducted dual screening and applied the eligibility criteria for study selection. COJ and RG developed the data charting form, and COJ, RG, and HA participated in pilot-testing the data charting form before data charting. All authors conducted data charting of the final sample of studies selected for inclusion. COJ, JC, RX, and RG synthesized the data and performed quality checks on the reported results. COJ led the manuscript development. All coauthors had the opportunity to read, edit, and approve the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Database search strategy. [DOCX File , 34 KB - cancer v10i1e49002 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Gray literature search strategy. [DOCX File , 35 KB - cancer_v10i1e49002_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria checklist. [DOCX File, 34 KB - cancer v10i1e49002 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Glossary of key terms. [DOCX File, 38 KB - cancer v10i1e49002 app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Stage 5 procedures for qualitative content analysis. [DOCX File , 33 KB - cancer v10i1e49002 app5.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 6 References to the included studies (N=101). [DOCX File , 55 KB - cancer v10i1e49002 app6.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 7 Reporting status of health IT (HIT) effectiveness by cancer screening activities and HIT functions as represented in the included studies. [DOCX File, 41 KB - cancer v10i1e49002 app7.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 8 Reporting of health IT adoption as represented in the included studies. [DOCX File , 35 KB - cancer_v10i1e49002_app8.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 9

Barriers and facilitators (with examples) of health IT adoption aligned with the Integrated Technology Implementation Model. [DOCX File, 39 KB - cancer v10i1e49002 app9.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 10 Expert Recommendations for Implementing Change implementation strategies used to support health IT adoption (n=24 studies). [DOCX File, 46 KB - cancer v10i1e49002 app10.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 11 PRISMA-ScR checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 81 KB - cancer v10i1e49002 app11.pdf]

References

RenderX

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49002

- Smith RA, Andrews KS, Brooks D, Fedewa SA, Manassaram-Baptiste D, Saslow D, et al. Cancer screening in the United States, 2017: a review of current American Cancer Society guidelines and current issues in cancer screening. CA Cancer J Clin 2017 Mar 07;67(2):100-121. [doi: 10.3322/caac.21392] [Medline: 28170086]
- Siu AL, U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for breast cancer: U.S. preventive services task force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med 2016 Feb 16;164(4):279-296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M15-2886] [Medline: 26757170]
- US Preventive Services Task Force, Curry SJ, Krist AH, Owens DK, Barry MJ, Caughey AB, et al. Screening for cervical cancer: US preventive services task force recommendation statement. JAMA 2018 Aug 21;320(7):674-686. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.10897] [Medline: 30140884]
- US Preventive Services Task Force, Davidson K, Barry MJ, Mangione CM, Cabana M, Caughey AB, et al. Screening for colorectal cancer: US preventive services task force recommendation statement. JAMA 2021 May 18;325(19):1965-1977. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2021.6238</u>] [Medline: <u>34003218</u>]
- 5. Martires KJ, Kurlander DE, Minwell GJ, Dahms EB, Bordeaux JS. Patterns of cancer screening in primary care from 2005 to 2010. Cancer 2014 Jan 15;120(2):253-261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.28403] [Medline: 24166081]
- Suk R, Hong YR, Rajan SS, Xie Z, Zhu Y, Spencer JC. Assessment of US preventive services task force guideline-concordant cervical cancer screening rates and reasons for underscreening by age, race and ethnicity, sexual orientation, rurality, and insurance, 2005 to 2019. JAMA Netw Open 2022 Jan 04;5(1):e2143582 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.43582] [Medline: 35040970]
- 7. Parchman ML, Pugh JA, Romero RL, Bowers KW. Competing demands or clinical inertia: the case of elevated glycosylated hemoglobin. Ann Fam Med 2007 May 01;5(3):196-201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.679] [Medline: 17548846]
- 8. Yawn B, Goodwin MA, Zyzanski SJ, Stange KC. Time use during acute and chronic illness visits to a family physician. Fam Pract 2003 Aug;20(4):474-477. [doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmg425] [Medline: 12876124]
- 9. Beasley JW, Wetterneck TB, Temte J, Lapin JA, Smith P, Rivera-Rodriguez AJ, et al. Information chaos in primary care: implications for physician performance and patient safety. J Am Board Fam Med 2011;24(6):745-751 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2011.06.100255] [Medline: 22086819]
- 10. Wickens CD. Multiple resources and mental workload. Hum Factors 2008 Jun 01;50(3):449-455. [doi: 10.1518/001872008x288394]
- Altmann EM, Gray WD. Forgetting to remember: the functional relationship of decay and interference. Psychol Sci 2002 Jan 06;13(1):27-33. [doi: 10.1111/1467-9280.00405] [Medline: 11892775]
- 12. Jones RM, Woolf SH, Cunningham TD, Johnson RE, Krist AH, Rothemich SF, et al. The relative importance of patient-reported barriers to colorectal cancer screening. Am J Prev Med 2010 May;38(5):499-507 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2010.01.020] [Medline: 20347555]
- Muthukrishnan M, Arnold LD, James AS. Patients' self-reported barriers to colon cancer screening in federally qualified health center settings. Prev Med Rep 2019 Sep;15:100896 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2019.100896] [Medline: 31193550]
- 14. CPSTF findings for cancer prevention and control. The Guide to Community Preventive Services. URL: <u>https://www.thecommunityguide.org/content/task-force-findings-cancer-prevention-and-control</u> [accessed 2022-06-09]
- 15. Tarver WL, Menachemi N. The impact of health information technology on cancer care across the continuum: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Mar;23(2):420-427 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv064] [Medline: 26177658]
- Hesse BW, Hanna C, Massett HA, Hesse NK. Outside the box: will information technology be a viable intervention to improve the quality of cancer care? J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2010 Apr 12;2010(40):81-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgq004] [Medline: 20386056]
- Jimbo M, Nease DE, Ruffin MT, Rana GK. Information technology and cancer prevention. CA Cancer J Clin 2006 Jan 01;56(1):26-49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/canjclin.56.1.26] [Medline: 16449184]
- Brouwers MC, De Vito C, Bahirathan L, Carol A, Carroll JC, Cotterchio M, et al. What implementation interventions increase cancer screening rates? A systematic review. Implement Sci 2011 Sep 29;6:111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-111] [Medline: 21958556]
- 19. Kreps GL. Strategic use of communication to market cancer prevention and control to vulnerable populations. Health Mark Q 2008 Jul 02;25(1-2):204-216. [doi: 10.1080/07359680802126327] [Medline: 18935885]
- Rupert DJ, Squiers LB, Renaud JM, Whitehead NS, Osborn RJ, Furberg RD, et al. Communicating risk of hereditary breast and ovarian cancer with an interactive decision support tool. Patient Educ Couns 2013 Aug;92(2):188-196. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.04.008] [Medline: 23664232]
- Kinney AY, Boonyasiriwat W, Walters ST, Pappas LM, Stroup AM, Schwartz MD, et al. Telehealth personalized cancer risk communication to motivate colonoscopy in relatives of patients with colorectal cancer: the family CARE randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2014 Mar 01;32(7):654-662 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.51.6765] [Medline: 24449229]
- 22. ElKefi S, Asan O. How technology impacts communication between cancer patients and their health care providers: a systematic literature review. Int J Med Inform 2021 May;149:104430 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2021.104430] [Medline: 33684711]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49002
```

RenderX

- Yabroff KR, Zapka J, Klabunde CN, Yuan G, Buckman DW, Haggstrom D, et al. Systems strategies to support cancer screening in U.S. primary care practice. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2011 Dec;20(12):2471-2479 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0783] [Medline: 21976292]
- 24. Klabunde CN, Lanier D, Breslau ES, Zapka JG, Fletcher RH, Ransohoff DF, et al. Improving colorectal cancer screening in primary care practice: innovative strategies and future directions. J Gen Intern Med 2007 Aug 30;22(8):1195-1205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-007-0231-3] [Medline: 17534688]
- Schapira MM, Sprague BL, Klabunde CN, Tosteson AN, Bitton A, Chen JS, PROSPR consortium. Inadequate systems to support breast and cervical cancer screening in primary care practice. J Gen Intern Med 2016 Oct 23;31(10):1148-1155 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3726-y] [Medline: 27251058]
- 26. Kouri A, Yamada J, Lam Shin Cheung J, Van de Velde S, Gupta S. Do providers use computerized clinical decision support systems? A systematic review and meta-regression of clinical decision support uptake. Implement Sci 2022 Mar 10;17(1):21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-022-01199-3] [Medline: 35272667]
- 27. Jimbo M, Shultz CG, Nease DE, Fetters MD, Power D, Ruffin MT. Perceived barriers and facilitators of using a web-based interactive decision aid for colorectal cancer screening in community practice settings: findings from focus groups with primary care clinicians and medical office staff. J Med Internet Res 2013 Dec 18;15(12):e286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2914] [Medline: 24351420]
- Police R, Foster T, Wong K. Adoption and use of health information technology in physician practice organisations: systematic review. Inform Prim Care 2010 Dec 01;18(4):245-258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14236/jhi.v18i4.780] [Medline: 22040851]
- 29. Gold R, Bunce A, Davis JV, Nelson JC, Cowburn S, Oakley J, et al. "I didn't know you could do that": a pilot assessment of EHR optimization training. ACI open 2021 Jun 27;5(1):e27-e35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1731005] [Medline: 34938954]
- Cialdella-Kam L, Sabado P, Bispeck MK, Silverman S, Bernstein L, Krawiec V, et al. Implementing cancer prevention into clinical practice. J Cancer Educ 2012 May 25;27(2 Suppl):S136-S143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-012-0331-6] [Medline: 22367592]
- 31. Hesse BW, Kwasnicka D, Ahern DK. Emerging digital technologies in cancer treatment, prevention, and control. Transl Behav Med 2021 Nov 30;11(11):2009-2017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibab033] [Medline: 34850933]
- 32. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- 33. Levac D, Colquhoun H, O'Brien KK. Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. Implement Sci 2010 Sep 20;5:69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-5-69] [Medline: 20854677]
- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Ann Intern Med 2018 Oct 02;169(7):467-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M18-0850] [Medline: 30178033]
- 35. Your personal research assistant. Zotero. URL: <u>https://www.zotero.org/</u> [accessed 2022-06-09]
- Waffenschmidt S, Knelangen M, Sieben W, Bühn S, Pieper D. Single screening versus conventional double screening for study selection in systematic reviews: a methodological systematic review. BMC Med Res Methodol 2019 Jun 28;19(1):132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-019-0782-0] [Medline: 31253092]
- 37. Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework. Am J Public Health 1999 Sep;89(9):1322-1327. [doi: <u>10.2105/ajph.89.9.1322</u>] [Medline: <u>10474547</u>]
- Schoville RR, Titler MG. Guiding healthcare technology implementation: a new integrated technology implementation model. Comput Inform Nurs 2015 Mar;33(3):99-E1. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.00000000000130</u>] [Medline: <u>25799235</u>]
- Powell BJ, Waltz TJ, Chinman MJ, Damschroder LJ, Smith JL, Matthieu MM, et al. A refined compilation of implementation strategies: results from the Expert Recommendations for Implementing Change (ERIC) project. Implement Sci 2015 Feb 12;10:21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-015-0209-1] [Medline: 25889199]
- 40. Proctor EK, Powell BJ, McMillen JC. Implementation strategies: recommendations for specifying and reporting. Implement Sci 2013 Dec 01;8:139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-8-139] [Medline: 24289295]
- 41. Hu PJ, Chau PY, Sheng OR, Tam KY. Examining the technology acceptance model using physician acceptance of telemedicine technology. J Manag Inf Syst 2015 Dec 02;16(2):91-112. [doi: 10.1080/07421222.1999.11518247]
- 42. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. MIS Q 2003;27(3):425-478. [doi: 10.2307/30036540]
- Holden RJ, Asan O, Wozniak EM, Flynn KE, Scanlon MC. Nurses' perceptions, acceptance, and use of a novel in-room pediatric ICU technology: testing an expanded technology acceptance model. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016 Nov 15;16(1):145 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-016-0388-y] [Medline: 27846827]
- 44. Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, Bondas T. Content analysis and thematic analysis: implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. Nurs Health Sci 2013 Sep 11;15(3):398-405. [doi: 10.1111/nhs.12048] [Medline: 23480423]
- 45. Elo S, Kyngäs H. The qualitative content analysis process. J Adv Nurs 2008 Apr;62(1):107-115. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x] [Medline: 18352969]

RenderX

- 46. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, Health and Medicine Division, Board on Health Care Services; Committee on Implementing High-Quality Primary Care, Implementing HPCRTFOHC, Robinson SK, Meisnere M, et al. Implementing High-Quality Primary Care: Rebuilding the Foundation of Health Care. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2021.
- 47. Promoting interoperability. The Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. URL: <u>https://www.healthit.gov/topic/meaningful-use-and-macra/promoting-interoperability</u> [accessed 2022-11-17]
- 48. Glasgow RE, Huebschmann AG, Brownson RC. Expanding the CONSORT figure: increasing transparency in reporting on external validity. Am J Prev Med 2018 Sep;55(3):422-430. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2018.04.044</u>] [Medline: <u>30033029</u>]
- Yen PY, McAlearney AS, Sieck CJ, Hefner JL, Huerta TR. Health information technology (HIT) adaptation: refocusing on the journey to successful HIT implementation. JMIR Med Inform 2017 Sep 07;5(3):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.7476] [Medline: 28882812]
- 50. Hailemariam M, Bustos T, Montgomery B, Barajas R, Evans LB, Drahota A. Evidence-based intervention sustainability strategies: a systematic review. Implement Sci 2019 Jun 06;14(1):57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-019-0910-6] [Medline: 31171004]
- 51. Wilson PM, Sales A, Wensing M, Aarons GA, Flottorp S, Glidewell L, et al. Enhancing the reporting of implementation research. Implement Sci 2017 Feb 08;12(1):13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-017-0546-3] [Medline: 28178987]
- 52. Lewis CC, Boyd MR, Walsh-Bailey C, Lyon AR, Beidas R, Mittman B, et al. A systematic review of empirical studies examining mechanisms of implementation in health. Implement Sci 2020 Apr 16;15(1):21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-020-00983-3] [Medline: 32299461]
- Lewis CC, Klasnja P, Powell BJ, Lyon AR, Tuzzio L, Jones S, et al. From classification to causality: advancing understanding of mechanisms of change in implementation science. Front Public Health 2018;6:136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00136] [Medline: 29868544]
- 54. Haley AD, Powell BJ, Walsh-Bailey C, Krancari M, Gruß I, Shea CM, et al. Strengthening methods for tracking adaptations and modifications to implementation strategies. BMC Med Res Methodol 2021 Jun 26;21(1):133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-021-01326-6] [Medline: 34174834]
- 55. Kim JG, Rodriguez HP, Estlin KA, Morris CG. Impact of longitudinal electronic health record training for residents preparing for practice in patient-centered medical homes. Perm J 2017;21:16-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7812/TPP/16-122] [Medline: 28746024]
- 56. Longhurst CA, Davis T, Maneker A, Eschenroeder Jr HC, Dunscombe R, Reynolds G, Arch Collaborative. Local investment in training drives electronic health record user satisfaction. Appl Clin Inform 2019 Mar 15;10(2):331-335 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1688753] [Medline: 31091545]
- Pantaleoni JL, Stevens LA, Mailes ES, Goad BA, Longhurst CA. Successful physician training program for large scale EMR implementation. Appl Clin Inform 2015 Dec 19;6(1):80-95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4338/ACI-2014-09-CR-0076] [Medline: 25848415]
- Robinson KE, Kersey JA. Novel electronic health record (EHR) education intervention in large healthcare organization improves quality, efficiency, time, and impact on burnout. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018 Sep;97(38):e12319 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000012319] [Medline: 30235684]
- 59. Tong M, Hill L, Artiga S. Racial disparities in cancer outcomes, screening, and treatment. KFF. URL: <u>https://www.kff.org/</u> <u>racial-equity-and-health-policy/issue-brief/racial-disparities-in-cancer-outcomes-screening-and-treatment/</u> [accessed 2022-06-21]
- Zavala VA, Bracci PM, Carethers JM, Carvajal-Carmona L, Coggins NB, Cruz-Correa MR, et al. Cancer health disparities in racial/ethnic minorities in the United States. Br J Cancer 2021 Jan 09;124(2):315-332 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-01038-6] [Medline: 32901135]
- 61. Mitchell EP. Declines in cancer screening during COVID-19 pandemic. J Natl Med Assoc 2020 Dec;112(6):563-564 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jnma.2020.12.004] [Medline: 33339569]
- 62. Institute of Medicine (US) Subcommittee on Standardized Collection of Race/Ethnicity Data for Healthcare Quality Improvement, Ulmer C, McFadden B, Nerenz DR. Race, Ethnicity, and Language Data: Standardization for Health Care Quality Improvement. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2009.
- Chinman M, Woodward EN, Curran GM, Hausmann LR. Harnessing implementation science to increase the impact of health equity research. Med Care 2017 Sep;55 Suppl 9 Suppl 2(Suppl 9 2):S16-S23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000769] [Medline: 28806362]
- Garg AX, Hackam D, Tonelli M. Systematic review and meta-analysis: when one study is just not enough. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2008 Jan 04;3(1):253-260. [doi: <u>10.2215/CJN.01430307</u>] [Medline: <u>18178786</u>]

Abbreviations

RenderX

CCIS: Consortium for Cancer Implementation Science **CDS:** clinical decision support **EHR:** electronic health record

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49002

ERIC: Expert Recommendations for Implementing Change
HIT: health IT
ITIM: Integrated Technology Implementation Model
PRISMA-ScR: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews
RE-AIM: Reach, Effectiveness, Adoption, Implementation, and Maintenance

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 15.05.23; peer-reviewed by X Ruan, A Durojaiye, C Pollack; comments to author 23.08.23; revised version received 29.09.23; accepted 04.03.24; published 30.04.24.

Please cite as:

Owens-Jasey C, Chen J, Xu R, Angier H, Huebschmann AG, Ito Fukunaga M, Chaiyachati KH, Rendle KA, Robien K, DiMartino L, Amante DJ, Faro JM, Kepper MM, Ramsey AT, Bressman E, Gold R Implementation of Health IT for Cancer Screening in US Primary Care: Scoping Review JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e49002 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49002 doi:10.2196/49002 PMID:38687595

©Constance Owens-Jasey, Jinying Chen, Ran Xu, Heather Angier, Amy G Huebschmann, Mayuko Ito Fukunaga, Krisda H Chaiyachati, Katharine A Rendle, Kim Robien, Lisa DiMartino, Daniel J Amante, Jamie M Faro, Maura M Kepper, Alex T Ramsey, Eric Bressman, Rachel Gold. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 30.04.2024. This is an under the open-access article distributed terms the Creative Commons Attribution of License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Pediatric Cancer Communication on Twitter: Natural Language Processing and Qualitative Content Analysis

Nancy Lau^{1,2}, PhD; Xin Zhao², PhD; Alison O'Daffer^{3,4}, BA; Hannah Weissman⁵; Krysta Barton⁶, PhD

¹Center for Child Health, Behavior and Development, Seattle Children's Research Institute, Seattle, WA, United States

²Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, United States

³Department of Psychiatry, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

⁴Center for Empathy and Technology, Sanford Institute for Empathy and Compassion, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

⁵Department of Psychology, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, United States

⁶Biostatistics Epidemiology and Analytics for Research (BEAR) Core, Seattle Children's Research Institute, Seattle, WA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Nancy Lau, PhD Center for Child Health, Behavior and Development Seattle Children's Research Institute 1920 Terry Avenue Seattle, WA, 98101 United States Phone: 1 2068840569 Email: nancy.lau@seattlechildrens.org

Abstract

Background: During the COVID-19 pandemic, Twitter (recently rebranded as "X") was the most widely used social media platform with over 2 million cancer-related tweets. The increasing use of social media among patients and family members, providers, and organizations has allowed for novel methods of studying cancer communication.

Objective: This study aimed to examine pediatric cancer–related tweets to capture the experiences of patients and survivors of cancer, their caregivers, medical providers, and other stakeholders. We assessed the public sentiment and content of tweets related to pediatric cancer over a time period representative of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: All English-language tweets related to pediatric cancer posted from December 11, 2019, to May 7, 2022, globally, were obtained using the Twitter application programming interface. Sentiment analyses were computed based on Bing, AFINN, and NRC lexicons. We conducted a supplemental nonlexicon-based sentiment analysis with ChatGPT (version 3.0) to validate our findings with a random subset of 150 tweets. We conducted a qualitative content analysis to manually code the content of a random subset of 800 tweets.

Results: A total of 161,135 unique tweets related to pediatric cancer were identified. Sentiment analyses showed that there were more positive words than negative words. Via the Bing lexicon, the most common positive words were support, love, amazing, heaven, and happy, and the most common negative words were grief, risk, hard, abuse, and miss. Via the NRC lexicon, most tweets were categorized under sentiment types of positive, trust, and joy. Overall positive sentiment was consistent across lexicons and confirmed with supplemental ChatGPT (version 3.0) analysis. Percent agreement between raters for qualitative coding was 91%, and the top 10 codes were awareness, personal experiences, research, caregiver experiences, patient experiences, policy and the law, treatment, end of life, pharmaceuticals and drugs, and survivorship. Qualitative content analysis showed that Twitter users commonly used the social media platform to promote public awareness of pediatric cancer and to share personal experiences with pediatric cancer from the perspective of patients or survivors and their caregivers. Twitter was frequently used for health knowledge dissemination of research findings and federal policies that support treatment and affordable medical care.

Conclusions: Twitter may serve as an effective means for researchers to examine pediatric cancer communication and public sentiment around the globe. Despite the public mental health crisis during the COVID-19 pandemic, overall sentiments of pediatric cancer–related tweets were positive. Content of pediatric cancer tweets focused on health and treatment information, social support, and raising awareness of pediatric cancer.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52061) doi:10.2196/52061

RenderX

KEYWORDS

cancer; COVID-19; Twitter; communication; child health; caregivers; social media; tweet; tweets; sentiment; oncology; cancers; pediatric; pediatric; pediatric; child; children' youth; experience; experiences; attitude; attitude; opinion; opinion; perception; perceptions; perspective; perspectives

Introduction

Social media platforms are widely used to exchange information and share resources. One such platform is Twitter (recently rebranded as "X"), a microblogging site with approximately 400 million global users. Social media platforms such as Twitter have been used by patients with health conditions, their caregivers, and other family members to connect with individuals in similar situations and learn from patients, researchers, and organizations worldwide. Patients with cancer, survivors of cancer, and their family members commonly use Twitter as a resource for treatment information and social support. Twitter users consist of a variety of cancer stakeholders including cancer centers, pharmaceutical companies, nonprofit organizations, medical providers, patients, and patients' family and friends [1]. Individuals and organizations also use Twitter and other social media platforms to increase awareness and reach of cancer-related messages [2]. The increasing use of social media among patients, providers, and organizations has allowed for novel ways of studying cancer communication [3].

The global COVID-19 pandemic led to major changes in lifestyle, social distancing, and isolation that uniquely affected patients with cancer, caregivers, and other stakeholders. They were negatively impacted by overly taxed health care infrastructure and medical systems, restricted access to medical care, and a mental health crisis. Research on cancer during the pandemic spanned a range of topics including the global impact of COVID-19 on cancer care management [4,5]. Cancer survivors' stressors during the pandemic included anxiety about in-person appointments, fear of cancer recurrence, medical care delays, uncertainty about future medical care, untreated symptoms, and mental health concerns [6]. Caregivers of patients with pediatric cancer experienced changes to their child's medical care, financial disruptions, and emotional stress related to COVID-19 [7]. The COVID-19 pandemic was also associated with an increased risk of depression and loneliness in people living with cancer [8].

Twitter has been the most frequently used social media platform for public health surveillance since 2006, and there were over 2 million cancer-related tweets during the pandemic [9,10]. Previous studies have examined changes in public sentiment and the increasing use of Twitter during the pandemic [11,12]. For example, an analysis of Twitter showed that patients with cancer expressed significant negative sentiment during the COVID-19 pandemic [9]. Recent studies have examined the content of cancer-related tweets for different types of cancer diagnoses including lung, breast, and prostate cancer [13-15]. We only identified 2 studies thus far that have examined the pediatric cancer experience on Twitter. The first was a cross-sectional study examining the use of Twitter to discuss childhood cancer during Childhood Cancer Awareness Month [16]. The second used Twitter data to conduct a lexicon-based sentiment analysis of patients with pediatric cancer using the

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52061
```

XSL•FO

hashtag #ChildhoodCancer and found generally positive sentiment scores [17].

Lexicon-based sentiment analytic approaches determine positive and negative sentiments based on individual words [18]. Recent behavioral health studies have used lexicon-based approaches to analyze short text messages on social media platforms such as Twitter [19-23]. In addition to determining the positive or negative sentiment of words, the "NRC" lexicon assigns a sentiment type using the following additional emotion categories: anger, anticipation, disgust, fear, joy, sadness, surprise, and trust [18]. Such analyses provide population-level insights into patterns of health information sharing and support-seeking on social media, and can inform the dissemination of time-critical information and resources during challenging times such as the COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, the launch of Open AI's chatbot, ChatGPT, provides a novel tool for nonlexicon-based sentiment analysis via text-based chat inquiries. Emerging research suggests that ChatGPT demonstrates superior performance in sentiment analysis of free-text responses [24].

In this study, we examined cancer-related tweets for pediatric cancer globally to capture the experiences of patients and survivors of cancer, their caregivers, medical providers, and other stakeholders. The objectives of our analysis using a Twitter data set over a time period representative of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic were two-fold: (1) to quantitatively analyze the public sentiment of tweets related to pediatric cancer via lexicon-based and nonlexicon-based sentiment analytic approaches; and (2) to qualitatively examine the topics relevant to cancer diagnosis, treatment, and survivorship covered with hashtags commonly associated with pediatric cancer via a directed content analysis.

Methods

Ethical Considerations

This study did not require institutional review board approval because we used publicly available social media data that do not involve human subjects and do not fall within the scope of Human Subjects Research. Seattle Children's Hospital's Institutional Review Board uses the US Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) definition of Human Subjects Research. Human Subjects Research under DHHS regulations is defined as the investigator obtaining information through intervention or interaction with living individuals; or obtaining, using, studying, analyzing, or generating identifiable private information. Our research is Nonhuman Subjects research according to the Seattle Children's HRP-101 Human Research Protection Program Plan, P. 3, which uses the DHHS definition of Human Subjects Research [25,26]. The publicly available social media data reported in this paper have been anonymized and contains no IDs, user names, or nonparaphrased tweets.

Data Collection

In this study, we examined pediatric cancer-related communication on Twitter encompassing a representative timeframe ranging from before to after the COVID-19 pandemic. We obtained a total of 182,628 publicly available global tweets from December 11, 2019, to May 7, 2022, using the Twitter application programming interface. An example of the query and timeline information using "#teenagecancer" is available in Multimedia Appendix 1. For this study, we restricted our collection to English-only tweets. We identified a list of hashtags commonly associated with pediatric cancer: #childhoodcancer, #childhoodcancerawareness, #childhoodcancerday, #internationalchildhoodcancerday, #kidsgetcancertoo, #pediatriccancer, #pediatriconcology, #teenagecancer. These 8 keywords were selected because they were representative of hashtags frequently used for pediatric cancer. The prepandemic period was designated as December 2019 to February 2020. The pandemic time period was designated as March 2020 to June 2020. Lockdown and mandatory stay-at-home orders were issued in 42 US states and territories across the United States between March and May 2020 during the height of the pandemic [27]. The postpandemic time period was designated as July 2020 to May 2022 after mandatory stay-at-home orders were lifted in all states across the United States. Removing duplicates resulted in a total of 161,135 tweets from 40,289 unique users. All unique tweets were used for lexicon-based sentiment analysis. Among the 161,135 tweets from 40,289 unique accounts, we then randomly sampled a subset of 800 tweets and analyzed them using a directed content approach. Of the subset of tweets, 300 were randomly sampled and proportionately stratified by pandemic period (prepandemic, during the pandemic, and postpandemic).

Sentiment Analysis

Overview

"Sentiment analysis" or "opinion mining" is a natural language processing technique used to analyze and extract insights from text data, enabling the identification and understanding of the sentiment, emotions, and subjective opinions expressed within the text, which can be valuable for various applications such as market research, customer feedback analysis, and social media monitoring. We used lexicon-based approaches to conduct analyses using the full data set of tweets. Nonlexicon-based approaches can be used to evaluate whether the results may align with lexicon-based analysis. Thus, we used ChatGPT to conduct supplemental analyses on a randomly selected subsample of tweets.

Lexicon-Based Approaches

All data preprocessing, cleaning, and analyses were performed in R (version 4.2.2; R Foundation for Statistical Computing). We used "saotd" for preprocessing and initial analyses [28]. Nonlanguage elements such as symbols, weblinks, punctuation, emojis, and stop words, such as "the" and "of," were removed. Sentiment scores were first computed based on the Bing lexicon, and we presented the most common positive and negative words within the data set. Additional analyses were conducted using the "syuzhet" package. We computed sentiments based on "Bing," "AFINN," and "NRC" lexicons. The "Bing" lexicon was developed by Liu [29] and categorizes 6788 English words into positive and negative categories. The "NRC" lexicon includes 6468 English words and classifies words as positive or negative sentiments and includes emotional categories of anger, anticipation, disgust, fear, joy, sadness, surprise, and trust [30]. The "AFINN" lexicon includes 2476 English words that were labeled with a value between -5 (negative sentiment) and +5 (positive sentiment) [31]. We used the "get_sentiment" function in the "syuzhet" package to calculate sentiment scores. Final sentiment scores were generated for each of the lexicons. All positive sentiment scores for "Bing," "AFINN," and "NRC" lexicons were recoded to 1 and all negative sentiment scores were recoded to -1. Weekly average scores were calculated to reflect the average sentiment of tweets in a given week. We used the "plot ly" function in the "plotly" package to visualize changes in weekly sentiment over time.

Supplemental Nonlexicon-Based Approach

ChatGPT (version 3.0) is a next-generation artificial intelligence–based chatbot optimized for using natural language processing to generate responses to user input [32]. We asked ChatGPT (version 3.0) to analyze the overall sentiments of a subset of 150 randomly sampled tweets, with 50 tweets each from our pre-, during-, and postpandemic data sets. We entered, "Can you provide the overall sentiments of the following tweets?" into the query box. ChatGPT responded: "I'd be happy to help you analyze the overall sentiments of the tweets you've provided" along with its conclusions on sentiment. We analyzed the sentiment of 50 tweets per data set which was below the maximum size data set allowed for the free version of ChatGPT.

Qualitative Coding

We explored the background literature related to cancer and other health conditions to identify a codebook based on directed content analysis for our project [13,33-36]. We identified Sutton et al [13] for lung cancer messages as the codebook that was most relevant and related to our sample of pediatric cancer tweets. We conducted a directed content analysis [37] using codes and coding definitions from Sutton et al's codebook. Further, 2 of the authors (NL and AO) coded tweets in sets of 10 to iteratively refine and adapt the Sutton et al codebook and definitions to correspond to pediatric cancer-related tweets. We expanded the preliminary codebook to include the emergence of 7 new coding categories that did not exist in the original codebook. We also added a not enough information coding category for tweets that were ambiguous and could not be coded. Furthermore, 2 of the authors (NL and AO) met weekly to discuss and address codebook discrepancies, and further refine the codebook. The entire authorship team met to discuss codebook development and refinement until it was stable and finalized. The same 2 coders (NL and AO) used the final codebook of content of tweets (adapted from Sutton et al [13]; Textbox 1) to independently double-code all 800 of the randomly sampled tweets.



Research

• Text that describes research on cancer at any point in the continuum, including study results, study in progress, conference presentations, journal publications, research gaps, news publications describing recent findings, and researcher profiles. Any media source, for example, internet blogs, WebMD, or consumer-focused articles apply.

Awareness

• Text that promotes awareness of cancer (eg, fundraising and prevalence), discusses potential symptoms and signs of cancer, activism, philanthropy, inequities, books, or memoirs about the cancer experience, or makes general references to cancer.

Policy and the law

• Text about insurance, benefits, legal issues, public policy, and government funding. Code policy and the law only if the tweet does not contain additional content that would lead you to double-code as awareness or another code.

Pharmaceuticals and drugs

• Text that mentions a generic or brand name drug or a pharmaceutical firm.

Prevention and risk information

• Text that describes cancer risk, behaviors that increase risk (eg, smoking and environmental causes), and behaviors that reduce risk or prevent cancer (eg, healthy diet and smoking cessation).

Early detection

• Text that describes screening tests (eg, low-dose computed tomography), warning signs, early symptoms, and family history.

Diagnosis

• Text that contains information about a diagnosis, such as tests (eg, imaging, tests, and biopsy) and results (eg, malignant or benign).

Treatment

• Text that describes attempts to medically remove or alter cancer or cancer symptoms (eg, chemotherapy and surgery), discusses treatment of symptoms, references individuals receiving treatment (eg, "fighting cancer"), or information about potential treatments.

Survivorship

• Text that describes life after cancer treatment, including remission, and long-term effects of treatment.

Mental health

• Text that describes the impact of the cancer journey on mental health, mental health treatment or resources, and mental health support.

End of life

• Text that discusses cancer-related deaths and legacy. Supportive messages, remembrances, and condolences regarding a patient who died. Parents tweeting about their own children who died of cancer.

Personal experiences

• Text that mentions a personal experience with cancer, including messages about the self and others who have experienced cancer or are worried about cancer. Includes publicized memoirs. If unclear identity of the tweet author (eg, patient, caregiver, and provider), only code personal experiences.

Patient experiences

• Text from individuals with pediatric cancer diagnosis regarding self-experiences. Double-code with personal experiences.

Caregiver experiences

• Text from caregiver of pediatric cancer regarding personal experiences. Double-code with personal experiences.

Health status

• Text that describes current health status, illness progression, and related effects (eg, worries, concerns, and hope).

Social support



Supportive messages to a patient or caregiver in their illness journey. Encouraging messages from survivors of cancer to other survivors.

Provider experiences

Supportive messages and appreciation for specific providers who care for patients with cancer or providers in general. Clinicians discussing their
experiences providing care. Double-code with personal experiences.

Not enough information

• Not enough information in the tweet to code content.

Interrater reliability was calculated as the percent agreement between raters before consensus meetings. Consensus conversations occurred weekly and we referenced the codebook to resolve any discrepancies. The qualitative data were analyzed using DeDoose (Sociocultural Research Consultants, LLC) software for code frequency counts and code co-occurrences. Data visualization of codes was represented by a word cloud generated in DeDoose.

Research Team

Authors' backgrounds included health services research (NL, XZ, AO, HW, and KB), digital health research (NL, XZ, and AO), analytics (XZ), implementation science (NL), clinical psychology (NL, XZ, and AO), pediatric psychology (NL and XZ), bioethics (KB), qualitative research (NL, XZ, and KB), and psychosocial oncology research (NL, AO, HW, and KB).

Results

Sentiment Analyses

Cancer was the most commonly mentioned word, as it was included in all hashtags that were used to collect the tweets.

Excluding "cancer," "Bing" lexicon-based sentiment analyses revealed that there were more positive words than negative words in the extracted tweets (Figure 1). The "Bing" lexicon was based on the largest lexicon among our 3 lexicons and was able to analyze the largest number of tweets. The 5 most commonly observed positive words in the "Bing" lexicon and our data set were "support," "love," "amazing," "heaven," and "happy." The 5 most commonly observed negative words in the "Bing" lexicon and our data set were "grief," "risk," "hard," "abuse," and "miss." Analyses from the "NRC" lexicon showed that most tweets were categorized under the sentiment types of "positive" (N=138,752), "trust" (N=101,036), and "anticipation" (N=100,635). Figure 2A-C displays weekly sentiment scores over a time period representative of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic for the "Bing," "AFINN," and "NRC" lexicons. The sentiment was overall positive. These findings were consistent across lexicons. Based on responses from ChatGPT (version 3.0), the randomly selected subsamples from the pre-, during-, and postpandemic periods demonstrated overall positive sentiment (Textbox 2). Although ChatGPT (version 3.0) analysis was exploratory, findings were consistent with our lexicon-based analyses.



Figure 1. Most common positive and negative words using the Bing lexicon.





Figure 2. Weekly sentiment using different lexicons from December 11, 2019, to May 7, 2022, a time period representative of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. (1) Pre–COVID-19 pandemic, (2) during–COVID-19 pandemic, and (3) post–COVID-19 pandemic.



Textbox 2. Overall sentiments provided by ChatGPT in supplemental analysis.

Pre-COVID-19 pandemic

• The overall sentiments in the provided texts are predominantly positive or neutral. The texts largely revolve around messages of support, encouragement, and raising awareness for childhood cancer, which are inherently positive causes. There is an emphasis on helping and supporting children with cancer and celebrating their milestones. Overall, the texts convey sentiments of empathy and goodwill toward individuals affected by childhood cancer, making the overall sentiment positive and empathetic.

During-COVID-19 pandemic

• Overall, the sentiment in most of these tweets is positive or neutral, as they primarily involve raising awareness, requesting support, or expressing gratitude for contributions to childhood cancer causes.

Post-COVID-19 pandemic

• Overall, this collection of tweets has a predominantly positive and neutral sentiment with some mixed and concerned sentiments. The positivity in these tweets largely stems from support for childhood cancer-related causes and achievements in the field.

Qualitative Coding

Percent agreement between coders was high (91%) before consensus meetings. Consensus meetings resolved all coding discrepancies. The top 5 codes were awareness (N=449), personal experiences (N=166), research (N=60), caregiver experiences (N=54), patient experiences (N=53), policy and the

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52061

RenderX

law (N=52), treatment (N=21), end of life (N=21), pharmaceuticals and drugs (N=17), and survivorship (N=15). Data visualization of code applications in a word cloud using DeDoose software is presented in Multimedia Appendix 2.

Twitter users predominantly used the social media platform to promote public awareness of pediatric cancer. In addition, Twitter users frequently use the social media platform to share

personal experiences with cancer. Many accounts were from the firsthand perspectives of caregivers of patients with pediatric cancer in active treatment, bereaved parents, and from patients or survivors of cancer themselves. Twitter was frequently used for health knowledge dissemination of research findings (topics included cancer prevention and risk information, early detection, diagnosis, treatment, and survivorship). Twitter was also frequently used to call attention to and lobby for government programs and federal policies that support pediatric cancer treatment and affordable medical care. Example tweets for the top 10 codes are presented in Textbox 3. DeDoose software displays the frequency of co-occurring codes using a heat map. Most frequently co-occurring codes are in red, moderately frequent co-occurring codes are in green, and less frequently co-occurring codes are in blue. The code co-occurrence chart of the top 10 codes is presented in Figure 3. Overwhelmingly, awareness and personal experiences were the most frequently cocoded (110 times). Moderately frequent co-occurring codes were caregiver experiences and personal experiences (cocoded 54 times), personal experiences and patient experiences (cocoded 53 times), awareness and caregiver experiences (cocoded 36 times), and awareness and caregiver experiences (cocoded 34 times).



Textbox 3. Example of paraphrased and deidentified tweets for Top 10 coding categories.

Awareness

- GOLD is the symbolic color for #ChildhoodCancerAwareness. Wearing GOLD to show your support for our children! From head-to-toe, we want to see how gold you can be for Spirit Day! Tag us in your photos
- We are grateful for the impact on the #pediatriccancer world! Every donation makes a difference.

Personal experiences

- Please help get [this] story out there. #CancerSucks #ChildhoodCancerAwareness. she needs our help!!! RT and donate if you can. Thank you! *Awareness
- FAMily Update» [Child's name] is back in the hospital. The medical team has ordered a 24 hour [inpatient stay]. #FAM #FightingAllMonsters #ChildhoodCancer *Caregiver Experiences; Health Status

Research

- Brain and spinal cord tumors are the 2nd most common cancers in children. In honor of #ChildhoodCancerAwareness month, here's a look at recent #Umich discoveries to help treat brain cancer in kids. *Awareness; Treatment
- With more than 10,000 experts worldwide and nearly 100 active clinical trials across the spectrum of childhood cancers, COG is committed to ending #childhoodcancer as we know it. #ChildhoodCancerAwareness #ChildhoodCancerAwarenessMonth *Treatment

Caregiver experiences

- I'm involved with many amazing groups for bereaved parents (like myself) and many other #ChildhoodCancer groups. I'd love to see you join us. *End of Life; Personal Experiences
- I am blessed to be the [caregiver] of one of the toughest kids in the world. Love you. #InternationalChildhoodCancerDay #teensvscancer *Personal Experiences

Patient experiences

- [Child's name] has [medical event] which landed him in the ER. Shout out your loudest prayers and coolest thoughts for [child's name] so he can return home #FAM #FightingAllMonsters #ChildhoodCancer *Personal Experiences; Social Support
- Agree friends get nervous of saying wrong thing so tend to say nothing I was lucky had a couple of mates there throughout. *Personal Experiences; Social Support
- [Child's name] finishes his radiotherapy tomorrow!! He put a smile on everyone's face with his [resilience/playfulness]! *Personal Experiences; Health Status

Policy and the law

- Please do not allow the Creating Hope Reauthorization Act S.4010 to die on YOUR watch! It has produced 28 drugs for rare pediatric diseases, My [child] received 1. *Pharmaceuticals & Drugs; Personal Experiences; Caregiver Experiences
- Please join Congressman Peter Welch VT-0 as a cosponsor of HR 6556 Gabriella Miller Kids First Research Act 2.0. No taxpayer funds required to help #ChildhoodCancer & rare diseases #GMKF2
- We need non-toxic therapies developed for #ChildhoodCancer which is not the same as adults. In the last 10 years, kid's cancers received only 4% of the budgeted govt research. Will you help? *Awareness

End of life

- This time of year can be especially difficult for those who are grieving, esp. for parents who have lost a child. This is my [personal experience]. Here is some advice to help us get through. Please RT. #ChildhoodCancer #Grief #Grieving *Mental Health; Personal Experiences; Caregiver Experiences
- Nothing will ever be so awful as [child's death]. I am very grateful to the NHS and @TeenageCancer for their efforts but they just couldn't save him. *Personal Experiences; Caregiver Experiences
- Missing [child's name] today. Please lend some support to this petition to fund research into childhood cancers #ChildhoodCancer #BrainTumourCharity *Awareness; Personal Experiences

Treatment

- A novel #CARTcelltherapy has shown promising early results in #children with #neuroblastoma, a rare form of ChildhoodCancer. #CancerImmunotherapy *Pharmaceuticals & Drugs
- Clear guidance for stem cell transplant patients, those who have had abdominal radiotherapy, and those who have had total body irradiation as part of transplant #coronavirus #COVID19 #childhoodcancer

Pharmaceuticals and drugs



- A NFCR partner working to advance new therapies for #childhoodcancer, @OncoHeroesBio, recently announced that the @US_FDA has granted Orphan Drug Designation and Rare Pediatric Disease Designation to one of its drugs. #Together4ACure
- Check out the article: "Leaving no child behind in the fight against cancer" A very good explanation on the current issues we face in #ChildhoodCancer drug development, as well as recommendations to solve the current issues! @SIOPEurope
- #ACCELERATEcure (virtual) Annual Conference 2021 REGISTRATION open next week! Looking forward to welcoming you to discover latest developments worldwide in #ChildhoodCancer drug development! Join us *Research

Survivorship

- The list of potential side effects of #ChildhoodCancer treatments includes future fertility problems, visual loss, dental complications. With the right testing these side effects can be guarded against #ChildhoodCancerAwarenessMonth #Pharmacogenomics *Awareness; Treatment
- Substantial progress has been made against the most common types of pediatric cancers and overall survival rates are up, but more hard work remains so more children with cancer not only survive but thrive. #GoldTogether #ChildhoodCancer *Treatment

Figure 3. Code co-occurrence chart of top 10 coding categories generated by DeDoose.

	Awareness	Caregiver experiences	End of life	Patient experiences	Personal experiences	Pharmaceuticals and drugs	Policy and the law	Research	Survivorship	Treatment
Awareness	0	34	11	36	110	3	17	12	4	6
Caregiver experiences	34	0	12	3	54	2	1	0	1	1
End of life	11	12	0	2	19	0	0	0	0	0
Patient experiences	36	3	2	0	53	1	0	0	4	2
Personal experiences	110	54	19	53	0	3	1	0	5	3
Pharmaceuticals and drugs	3	2	0	1	3	0	2	2	1	5
Policy and the law	17	1	0	0	1	2	0	15	0	1
Research	12	0	0	0	0	2	15	0	2	5
Survivorship	4	1	0	4	5	1	0	2	0	4
Treatment	6	1	0	2	3	5	1	5	4	0

Discussion

Principal Results

The purpose of this study was to examine the communication content of pediatric cancer–related tweets and the public sentiment of pediatric cancer tweets. The sentiment of tweets on pediatric cancer was overall positive, revealing the supportive, hopeful, and inspirational messages relayed by patients, caregivers, and other relevant stakeholders. Our findings were consistent with the only other study to examine the public sentiment of pediatric cancer–related tweets [17]. Despite previous research showing predominantly negative sentiments globally during the COVID-19 pandemic [38], our study describes a positive sentiment of pediatric cancer–related tweets during the COVID-19 pandemic. We found that pediatric cancer–related tweets predominantly focused on raising awareness about pediatric cancer and disseminating health

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52061

RenderX

knowledge. We found that both patients with pediatric cancer or survivors and their caregivers frequently used Twitter to provide updates on their health status, for social support, and to share messages of hope.

We only identified 2 studies thus far that have examined the pediatric cancer experience on Twitter. The current study expanded on the growing body of literature on social media use in patients with cancer, and early research on pediatric cancer-related use of Twitter. Previous research studies have discussed the importance of including caregiver experiences in addition to those of the patient for individual and family-based well-being and adaptive coping [39-41]. Our findings were consistent with previous studies that have shown that cancer-related tweets center on health communication and social support [36]. Similar to previous studies, there was a diverse array of Twitter users, representing perspectives from patients, family members, oncology providers, and health care,

pharmaceutical, nonprofit, and other organizations [2,36,42,43]. Additional studies may use combined sentiment analysis and qualitative approaches to better understand pediatric cancer communication and support resources on Twitter and other popular social media platforms. The current and future studies can help inform the development of novel patient- and caregiver-based social media interventions to improve health knowledge, change health behaviors, and improve health outcomes.

Limitations

Our study has several limitations. First, our analysis included only tweets in the English language which limits generalizability to populations that do not speak English as a primary language. Second, we analyzed tweets that contained prespecified keywords (ie, hashtags) and may have missed other pediatric cancer-related tweets during the specified study period. Third, we only examined social media use on Twitter which may differ from usage on other popular social media platforms. Fourth, we were unable to identify the account type (organization vs individual, patient or caregiver vs researcher) and extract sociodemographic information of users; this information may have further informed our research findings and the conclusions drawn. Fifth, our qualitative content analysis of Twitter only included a random sample of tweets from the full data set which may not be representative of all pediatric cancer-related tweets during the specified timeframe of our analysis. Sixth, our lexicon-based approaches have inherent limitations. Despite using multiple sentiment lexicons in our analyses, such approaches analyze sentiment based on individual words. We did not expand contractions and apply stemming in our analyses as they were not available in "saotd," the statistical package we used for data preprocessing. The lack of expanding contractions and applying stemming may have reduced the number of analyzable words and tweets. Twitter users commonly use contractions, abbreviations, slang, and sarcasm. Thus, we conducted supplemental analyses using ChatGPT (version 3.0), a next-generation artificial intelligence optimized for natural language processing, to validate our findings. Although exploratory, these findings were consistent with lexicon-based approaches. Research should further investigate the use of other recent innovative nonlexicon-based approaches that analyze entire sentences, such as embedding-based approaches or transformer-based approaches to analyze tweets related to

pediatric cancer. Seventh, our data were global tweets but our specified "pre-," "during-," and "post-" pandemic time periods were based on United States lockdowns and timelines. We acknowledge that pandemic timelines differ within the United States and certainly globally. Nonetheless, we think it is important to include all tweets regardless of geographic location for representativeness of experiences due to the pandemic being a global crisis.

Conclusions

Acute, ongoing, and evolving pediatric medical traumatic stress impacts the child in the context of their family, which emphasizes the importance of incorporating the perspectives and experiences of caregivers and other family members [44,45]. Social media use by patients with pediatric cancer, their families, and their medical providers has been well-described [46]. Uses and benefits include opportunities for social support, building collaborative networks, dissemination of health-related information, and treatment recommendations [46]. Researchers have increasingly turned to sentiment and content analyses of Twitter to capture real-time experiences of patients with a range of health conditions and other relevant stakeholders. Such research has included analyses of tweets about various cancer diagnoses.

Twitter, as a popular social media platform, may serve as an effective means for researchers to examine pediatric cancer communication and public sentiment around the world. This study used both quantitative and qualitative methods to examine the pediatric cancer experience on Twitter. Despite the global mental health crisis during the COVID-19 pandemic, we found overall positive sentiment of pediatric cancer-related tweets over a time period representative of the COVID-19 pandemic. The content of pediatric cancer tweets was posted by a range of users and centered on the delivery of health and treatment information, seeking and providing social support, and the amplification of awareness of pediatric cancer. Twitter may serve as a powerful platform for rapid communication with survivors of pediatric cancer and their caregivers, and facilitate the widespread dissemination of patient- and caregiver-targeted behavioral health interventions to improve well-being and quality of life. This would be well-matched to pediatric cancer survivors' and their caregivers' current preferences in social media use.

Acknowledgments

NL was supported by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health (K08CA263474). The opinions herein represent those of the authors and not necessarily the funders.

Data Availability

The publicly available data underlying this paper were accessed from Twitter. The derived data generated in this research will be shared on reasonable request to the corresponding author.

Authors' Contributions

Conceptualization was done by NL, XZ, AO, and KB. Data were curated by NL, XZ, AO, and HW. Formal analysis was handled by NL, XZ, and KB. Investigation was done by NL, XZ, AO, HW, and KB. Methodology was handled by NL, XZ, and KB.

Project administration and supervision were by NL. Visualization was done by XZ and HW. Writing of the original draft was by NL and XZ. Review and editing of the writing was by NL, XZ, AO, HW, and KB.

Conflicts of Interest

XZ has received consulting payments from FirstThen Inc for work unrelated to this paper. The other authors declare no conflict of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1 An example of the query and timeline information using the hashtag #teenagecancer. [DOCX File, 100 KB - cancer v10i1e52061 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Data visualization of code applications in a word cloud using DeDoose software. [PNG File , 244 KB - cancer v10i1e52061 app2.png]

References

- Khasnavis S, Rosenkrantz AB, Prabhu V. Using Twitter to assess the public response to the United States preventive services task force guidelines on lung cancer screening with low dose chest CT. J Digit Imaging 2017;30(3):323-327. [doi: 10.1007/s10278-016-9933-6] [Medline: 28091834]
- 2. Murthy D, Eldredge M. Who tweets about cancer? An analysis of cancer-related tweets in the USA. Digit Health 2016;2:2055207616657670 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207616657670] [Medline: 29942562]
- 3. Sinnenberg L, Buttenheim AM, Padrez K, Mancheno C, Ungar L, Merchant RM. Twitter as a tool for health research: a systematic review. Am J Public Health 2017;107(1):e1-e8. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303512] [Medline: 27854532]
- 4. Alhalabi O, Subbiah V. Managing cancer care during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. Trends Cancer 2020;6(7):533-535 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2020.04.005] [Medline: 32386875]
- Jazieh AR, Akbulut H, Curigliano G, Rogado A, Alsharm AA, Razis ED, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on cancer care: a global collaborative study. JCO Glob Oncol 2020;6:1428-1438 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/GO.20.00351] [Medline: 32986516]
- Leach CR, Kirkland EG, Masters M, Sloan K, Rees-Punia E, Patel AV, et al. Cancer survivor worries about treatment disruption and detrimental health outcomes due to the COVID-19 pandemic. J Psychosoc Oncol 2021;39(3):347-365. [doi: 10.1080/07347332.2021.1888184] [Medline: <u>33624572</u>]
- Wimberly CE, Towry L, Caudill C, Johnston EE, Walsh KM. Impacts of COVID-19 on caregivers of childhood cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2021;68(4):e28943. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.28943</u>] [Medline: <u>33565259</u>]
- Gallagher S, Bennett KM, Roper L. Loneliness and depression in patients with cancer during COVID-19. J Psychosoc Oncol 2021;39(3):445-451. [doi: 10.1080/07347332.2020.1853653] [Medline: 33274697]
- Moraliyage H, De Silva D, Ranasinghe W, Adikari A, Alahakoon D, Prasad R, et al. Cancer in lockdown: impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on patients with cancer. Oncologist 2021;26(2):e342-e344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/onco.13604] [Medline: <u>33210442</u>]
- Chong M, Park HW. COVID-19 in the Twitterverse, from epidemic to pandemic: information-sharing behavior and Twitter as an information carrier. Scientometrics 2021;126(8):6479-6503 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11192-021-04054-2] [Medline: 34188332]
- Valdez D, Ten Thij M, Bathina K, Rutter LA, Bollen J. Social media insights into US mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic: longitudinal analysis of Twitter data. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(12):e21418 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21418] [Medline: 33284783]
- Abd-Alrazaq A, Alhuwail D, Househ M, Hamdi M, Shah Z. Top concerns of tweeters during the COVID-19 pandemic: infoveillance study. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(4):e19016 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19016] [Medline: 32287039]
- Sutton J, Vos SC, Olson MK, Woods C, Cohen E, Gibson CB, et al. Lung cancer messages on Twitter: content analysis and evaluation. J Am Coll Radiol 2018;15(1 Pt B):210-217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2017.09.043] [Medline: 29154103]
- Thackeray R, Burton SH, Giraud-Carrier C, Rollins S, Draper CR. Using Twitter for breast cancer prevention: an analysis of breast cancer awareness month. BMC Cancer 2013;13:508 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-508] [Medline: 24168075]
- Johnson BS, Shepard S, Torgeson T, Johnson A, McMurray M, Vassar M. Using Google trends and Twitter for prostate cancer awareness: a comparative analysis of prostate cancer awareness month and breast cancer awareness month. Cureus 2021;13(2):e13325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.13325] [Medline: 33738168]
- 16. Nejad MY, Delghandi MS, Bali AO, Hosseinzadeh M. Using Twitter to raise the profile of childhood cancer awareness month. Netw Model Anal Health Inform Bioinforma 2020;9(1):3. [doi: 10.1007/s13721-019-0206-4]

RenderX

- 17. Robinson S, Vicha E. Twitter sentiment at the hospital and patient level as a measure of pediatric patient experience. Open J Pediatr 2021;11(4):706-722 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4236/ojped.2021.114066]
- Naldi M. A review of sentiment computation methods with R packages. arXiv Preprint posted online on January 24, 2019.
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1090/mbk/121/79]
- Park A. Tweets related to motivation and physical activity for obesity-related behavior change: descriptive analysis. J Med Internet Res 2022;24(7):e15055 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15055] [Medline: 35857347]
- 20. Li G, Li B, Huang L, Hou S. Automatic construction of a depression-domain lexicon based on microblogs: text mining study. JMIR Med Inform 2020;8(6):e17650 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17650] [Medline: 32574151]
- Cha J, Kim S, Park E. A lexicon-based approach to examine depression detection in social media: the case of Twitter and university community. Humanit Soc Sci Commun 2022;9(1):325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1057/s41599-022-01313-2] [Medline: 36159708]
- 22. Sarsam SM, Al-Samarraie H, Alzahrani AI, Alnumay W, Smith AP. A lexicon-based approach to detecting suicide-related messages on Twitter. Biomed Signal Process Control 2021;65:102355. [doi: 10.1016/j.bspc.2020.102355]
- 23. Nigam N, Yadav D. Lexicon-based approach to sentiment analysis of tweets using R language. In: Singh M, Gupta P, Tyagi V, Flusser J, Ören T, editors. Advances in Computing and Data Sciences: Second International Conference, ICACDS 2018, Dehradun, India, April 20-21, 2018, Revised Selected Papers, Part I. Singapore: Springer; 2018:154-164.
- 24. Lossio-Ventura JA, Weger R, Lee AY, Guinee EP, Chung J, Atlas L, et al. A comparison of ChatGPT and fine-tuned Open Pre-Trained Transformers (OPT) against widely used sentiment analysis tools: sentiment analysis of COVID-19 survey data. JMIR Ment Health 2024;11:e50150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/50150] [Medline: 38271138]
- 25. Federal Guidance. Seattle Children's Hospital Research Foundation. URL: <u>https://www.seattlechildrens.org/research/</u> resources/institutional-review-board/irb-resources/federal-guidance/ [accessed 2024-04-23]
- 26. Engagement of Institutions in Human Subjects Research (2008). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. URL: http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/policy/engage08.html [accessed 2024-04-24]
- 27. Moreland A, Herlihy C, Tynan MA, Sunshine G, McCord RF, Hilton C, et al. Timing of state and territorial COVID-19 stay-at-home orders and changes in population movement—United States, March 1-May 31, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69(35):1198-1203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6935a2] [Medline: 32881851]
- 28. Munson EL, Smith CM, Boehmke BC, Freels JK. Sentiment Analysis of Twitter Data (SAOTD). J Open Source Softw 2019;4(34):764. [doi: 10.21105/joss.00764]
- 29. Liu B. Sentiment Analysis: Mining Opinions, Sentiments, and Emotions, Second Edition. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press; 2020.
- 30. Mohammad SM, Kiritchenko S, Zhu X. NRC-Canada: Building the state-of-the-art in sentiment analysis of tweets. : Association for Computational Linguistics; 2013 Presented at: Second Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics (*SEM), Volume 2: Seventh International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation (SemEval 2013); June 14-15, 2013; Atlanta, Georgia p. 321-327.
- 31. Nielsen F. A new ANEW: evaluation of a word list for sentiment analysis in microblogs. arXiv Preprint posted online on March 15, 2011. [FREE Full text]
- 32. ChatGPT: Optimizing language models for dialogue. OpenAI. 2022. URL: <u>https://online-chatgpt.com/</u> [accessed 2024-04-20]
- Sugawara Y, Narimatsu H, Hozawa A, Shao L, Otani K, Fukao A. Cancer patients on Twitter: a novel patient community on social media. BMC Res Notes 2012;5:699 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-5-699] [Medline: 23270426]
- Abbasi-Perez A, Alvarez-Mon MA, Donat-Vargas C, Ortega MA, Monserrat J, Perez-Gomez A, et al. Analysis of tweets containing information related to rheumatological diseases on Twitter. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;18(17):9094 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18179094] [Medline: 34501681]
- Sinnenberg L, Mancheno C, Barg FK, Asch DA, Rivard CL, Horst-Martz E, et al. Content analysis of metaphors about hypertension and diabetes on twitter: exploratory mixed-methods study. JMIR Diabetes 2018;3(4):e11177 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11177] [Medline: 30578222]
- 36. Sedrak MS, Salgia MM, Bergerot CD, Ashing-Giwa K, Cotta BN, Adashek JJ, et al. Examining public communication about kidney cancer on Twitter. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2019;3:1-6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/CCI.18.00088] [Medline: 30860867]
- 37. Hsieh HF, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- Lwin MO, Lu J, Sheldenkar A, Schulz PJ, Shin W, Gupta R, et al. Global sentiments surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic on Twitter: analysis of Twitter trends. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020;6(2):e19447 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/19447</u>] [Medline: <u>32412418</u>]
- Foot E, Leonhard A, Majeski J, Zahn L, Li HH, Caruso Brown AE. "The stakes could not be higher": a mixed methods study of parental social media use in pediatric oncology. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2021;68(11):e29176. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.29176</u>] [Medline: <u>34133056</u>]
- 40. LaValley SA, Gage Bouchard EA, Mollica M, Beaupin L. Examining social media use among parents of children with cancer. Proc Assoc Info Sci Tech 2015;52(1):1-3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pra2.2015.145052010089]

RenderX

- Miller TT, Maurer SH, Felker JT. Searching for a cure on Facebook: patterns of social media use amongst caregivers of children with brain tumors. Cancer Med 2022;11(17):3323-3331 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.4693] [Medline: 35343641]
- Sedrak MS, Dizon DS, Anderson PF, Fisch MJ, Graham DL, Katz MS, et al. The emerging role of professional social media use in oncology. Future Oncol 2017;13(15):1281-1285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2217/fon-2017-0161] [Medline: 28589770]
- Pemmaraju N, Thompson MA, Qazilbash M. Disease-specific hashtags and the creation of Twitter medical communities in hematology and oncology. Semin Hematol 2017;54(4):189-192. [doi: <u>10.1053/j.seminhematol.2017.08.004</u>] [Medline: <u>29153079</u>]
- 44. Kazak AE, Kassam-Adams N, Schneider S, Zelikovsky N, Alderfer MA, Rourke M. An integrative model of pediatric medical traumatic stress. J Pediatr Psychol 2006;31(4):343-355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsj054] [Medline: 16093522]
- 45. Kazak AE, Baxt C. Families of infants and young children with cancer: a post-traumatic stress framework. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2007;49(7 Suppl):1109-1113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.21345] [Medline: 17943959]
- 46. Zadeh S, Tunick R. Social media use in pediatric oncology: tweets, blogs, and boundaries. In: Pediatric Psychosocial Oncology: Textbook for Multidisciplinary Care. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2016:339-349.

Abbreviations

DHHS: Department of Health and Human Services

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 21.08.23; peer-reviewed by M Zhou, S Pandey, C Zheng; comments to author 15.09.23; revised version received 30.11.23; accepted 16.04.24; published 07.05.24.

Please cite as:

Lau N, Zhao X, O'Daffer A, Weissman H, Barton K Pediatric Cancer Communication on Twitter: Natural Language Processing and Qualitative Content Analysis JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52061 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52061 doi:10.2196/52061 PMID:38713506

©Nancy Lau, Xin Zhao, Alison O'Daffer, Hannah Weissman, Krysta Barton. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 07.05.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Influence of Breast Cancer Awareness Month on Public Interest of Breast Cancer in High-Income Countries Between 2012 and 2022: Google Trends Analysis

Majed Ramadan¹, PhD; Doaa Aboalola², PhD; Sihem Aouabdi², PhD; Tariq Alghamdi², BSc; Mona Alsolami³, PhD; Alaa Samkari⁴, MD; Rawiah Alsiary², PhD

¹Population Health Research Section, King Abdullah International Medical Research Center, King Saud Bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Ministry of National Guard-Health Affairs, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

²Department of Cellular Therapy and Cancer Research, King Abdullah International Medical Research Center, King Saud Bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Ministry of National Guard-Health Affairs, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

³Department of Biology, College of Science, King Khalid Univerity, Abha, Saudi Arabia

⁴Pathology Department, King Abdulaziz Medical City, King Saud Bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Ministry of National Guard-Health Affairs, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

Corresponding Author:

Rawiah Alsiary, PhD Department of Cellular Therapy and Cancer Research, King Abdullah International Medical Research Center King Saud Bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences Ministry of National Guard-Health Affairs PO Box 9515 KSA Mail Code 6123 Jeddah, 21423 Saudi Arabia Phone: 966 122246666 ext 46628 Email: alsiaryr@kaimrc.edu.sa

Abstract

Background: Breast cancer is the most common cancer among women worldwide. High-income countries have a greater incidence and mortality rate of breast cancer than low-income countries. As a result, raising awareness about breast cancer is crucial in increasing the chances of early detection and treatment. Social media has evolved into an essential tool for Breast Cancer Awareness Month campaigns, allowing people to share their breast cancer stories and experiences while also providing a venue for education and support.

Objective: The aim of this study was to assess the level of public interest in searches linked to breast cancer among a sample of high-income nations with a sizable internet user base from 2012 to 2022. We also sought to compare the proportional search volume for breast cancer during Breast Cancer Awareness Month with that during other months of the year.

Methods: Google Trends was used to retrieve data on internet user search behaviors in the context of breast cancer from 2012 to 2022. Seven countries were evaluated in this study: Australia, Canada, Ireland, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, Saudi Arabia, and the United States, in addition to global data. Breast cancer relative search volume trends were analyzed annually, monthly, and weekly from 2012 to 2022. The annual percent change (APC) was calculated for each country and worldwide. Monthly and weekly data were used to identify potential trends.

Results: A fluctuating pattern in APC rates was observed, with a notable increase in 2018 and a significant decrease in 2020, particularly in Saudi Arabia. Monthly analysis revealed a consistent peak in search volume during October (Breast Cancer Awareness Month) each year. Weekly trends over a 20-year period indicated significant decreases in Australia, Canada, New Zealand, and the United States, while increases were noted in Ireland. Heatmap analysis further highlighted a consistent elevation in median search volume during October across all countries.

Conclusions: These findings underscore the impact of Breast Cancer Awareness Month and suggest potential influences of governmental COVID-19 pandemic control measures in 2020 on internet search behavior.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e49197) doi:10.2196/49197



Ramadan et al

JMIR CANCER

KEYWORDS

Google Trends; breast cancer; pandemic; awareness; public interest; cancer; cancer awareness; women; mortality rate; detection; treatment; social media; tool; education; support; internet users

Introduction

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among women globally, accounting for 25% of all cancer cases with an estimated 2.3 million new cases diagnosed each year [1]. In Saudi Arabia alone, there was a 5-fold increase in breast cancer incidence over 17 years [2]. Breast cancer is also the most common cancer type in the United States, with over 280,000 new cases and 43,600 deaths in 2020 [3]. The incidence of breast cancer varies among different countries and regions. High-income countries have relatively high incidence and mortality rates of breast cancer compared to low-income countries, with approximately 1 in 8 women being diagnosed with breast cancer during their lifetime [4]. A recent study on 148 countries showed that breast cancer mortality rates were lower in countries where universal health coverage for breast cancer was high [5] and the mortality rate was high in low-income countries [6]. Specifically, the number of women diagnosed with breast cancer in high-income countries is twice that in middle- and low-income countries [4]. This is partly due to better access to screening and health care, leading to earlier detection and treatment of the disease. In addition, lifestyle factors such as diet, physical activity, and alcohol consumption contribute to the incidence of breast cancer [7]. Therefore, breast cancer awareness is crucial in high-income countries given the high incidence rate, which can offer education and consequently potential for early detection and treatment [7].

A recent study in the United States showed a significant increase in public interest in breast cancer during the month of October, which is marketed as Breast Cancer Awareness Month (BCAM), from 2012 to 2021, reaching peaks in weekly relative search volume (RSV) [3]. This trend was even greater in 2020 at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic. Early detection of breast cancer through regular screening and self-examination can significantly improve the chances of successful treatment and survival. In particular, raising public awareness for breast cancer can decrease the breast cancer mortality rate by 20% [8]. Increased awareness of breast cancer symptoms and risk factors can also help women to identify any potential issues early on and seek appropriate medical advice [9].

BCAM is an annual campaign that takes place in October to raise awareness of breast cancer and encourage early detection and treatment. The campaign aims to educate women about the importance of self-examination, clinical examination, and mammography screening [10]. High-income countries have been at the forefront of BCAM campaigns, with various activities such as walks, runs, and fundraisers to support breast cancer research and treatment [11]. In addition, social media has become an essential tool for BCAM campaigns, allowing people to share their stories and experiences with breast cancer and providing a platform for education and support [12]. High-income countries with high rates of internet use have an advantage in using social media for breast cancer awareness campaigns, reaching a wider audience and providing more

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49197
```

significant opportunities for engagement and participation [13]. As mentioned above, the RSV was found to be higher during BCAM, especially with respect to breast cancer donations and related events [3].

High-income countries have high rates of individuals using the internet, with an average of 89% to 95% of the population using the internet in 2021 [14]. This has implications for breast cancer awareness, education, and prevention. The internet provides access to a vast amount of information on breast cancer, including risk factors, symptoms, screening, and treatment options. In addition, social media platforms such as Facebook and Twitter provide opportunities for breast cancer awareness campaigns to reach a wider audience and engage with the public [15]. Therefore, it is essential to evaluate the public interest in breast cancer awareness using widely usable online searching websites such as Google, particularly among high-income countries with high breast cancer incidence rates [16].

Google Trends can provide valuable insights into how people are searching for and engaging with information related to breast cancer. Google Trends enables tracking and analyzing search patterns and interest in specific topics over time, providing a useful tool for researchers and health care professionals to monitor public interest and awareness [17]. This information can be used to inform targeted awareness campaigns and public health interventions, as well as to evaluate the effectiveness of existing campaigns. This type of research can also help to identify opportunities for increased awareness and education, as well as to assess the potential impact of media coverage on the public perception of breast cancer. However, there have been very few studies on the effectiveness of BCAM to improve public awareness for breast cancer [3]. Therefore, the primary aim of this study was to evaluate the public interest of breast cancer-related searches among selected high-income countries with a large number of internet users between 2012 to 2022. We further aimed to compare the breast cancer RSV during BCAM with that during other months of the year.

Methods

Sample and Data

We used the web-based tool Google Trends [18] to assess the level of interest in specific search queries. Our methodology adhered to the Google Trends Methodology Framework in Infodemiology and Infoveillance [19,20]. Notably, Google Trends does not disclose exact RSV figures; rather, it presents the relative number of searches within a defined region and time frame for a given query based on a scale from 0 to 100. A score of 100 signifies the zenith of query popularity, while 0 denotes minimal search activity [21]. Data from Google Trends were compiled between January 2012 and December 2022. The following 7 countries were assessed in this study: Australia, Canada, Ireland, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, Saudi Arabia, and the United States, in addition to worldwide data. The rationale for the selection of these countries was to gain a

XSL•FO RenderX

Variables

The Google Trends tool [18] was used on November 29, 2022, to retrieve data on internet user search activities in the context of breast cancer. Saudi Arabia Google Trends indicators were retrieved from January 2012 to December 2022 onward using the search terms "breast cancer" and the Arabic translation "

". We used both English and Arabic languages as key term search indicators. Using weekly data, yearly average Google Trends indicators were calculated for 2012 to 2022, which were used to describe the annual trend in the data.

Ethical Considerations

We used publicly available data through Google Trends [18]. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of King Abdullah International Medical Research Center (SP24 J/009/03) with a waiver for informed consent as the study intended to analyze unidentified public data retrospectively. Notably, none of the queries in the Google database for this study can be associated with a particular individual. The database does not retain information about the identity, IP address, or specific physical location of any user. All research methods were performed following relevant guidelines and regulations.

Statistical Analysis

To assess the comprehensive temporal patterns of the breast cancer RSV throughout the study period, we performed analyses on an annual, monthly, and weekly basis. Initially, we calculated the annual percent change (APC) with the 95% CI to examine the characteristics of the trend in breast cancer RSV over the specific study period for each country and worldwide, spanning 2012 to 2022. Subsequently, monthly and weekly data on breast cancer RSVs were used to discern the potential trends in terms of direction and magnitude. Considering the anticipated seasonal trend and the nonnormal distribution of the data, we used the seasonal Mann-Kendall test for the trend analysis. As outlined by Hirsch et al [23], Gilbert [24], and Helsel et al [25], the seasonal Mann-Kendall test serves the purpose of examining a monotonic trend in a variable when the data collected over time are anticipated to represent consistent changes (either upward or downward) during one or more seasons, such as months. A monotonic upward trend indicates that the variable consistently increases over time, whereas a monotonic downward trend indicates a consistent decrease over time, with the trend not necessarily being linear. The identification of seasonality suggests that the data display distinct distributions during different seasons, such as months throughout the year [26-28].

The seasonal Mann-Kendall test statistic S_i is calculated as:

×

where *n* is the number of data points included in the analysis; x_i and x_j are the breast cancer monthly RSVs in the *i*th and *j*th month, respectively (*j*>*i*); and $sgn(x_j-x_i)$. This function takes on the value 1, 0, or -1 according to the sign of (x_i-x_i) as follows:

The variance is computed as:

×

where g_i is the number of tied groups for the *i*th month and t_{ip} is the number of data points in the *p*th group for the *j*th month; *n* is the number of months included in the analysis. A tied group is a set of sample data having the same value. As n>10, the standard normal test statistic Z_S was computed using the following formula:

A positive value of Z_{Sk} indicates that the data tend to increase over time, whereas a negative value indicates a decreasing trend over time [23-25].

×

The final step was to compare the RSV during BCAM to that of other months in the year over the study period. Toward this end, we reorganized the data by month of the year to compare between-group differences in month variables. The month variables followed neither a reliably normal nor log-normal distribution; thus, the Kruskal-Wallis test and pairwise multiple-comparisons test were used to compare the distributions of breast cancer RSVs between October (BCAM) and each other month of the year. A 2-sided P value <.05 was the threshold for statistical significance. All analyses were carried out in SAS 9.4.

Results

Trends in the APC for Breast Cancer RSVs

As shown in Table 1, from 2012 to 2022, there was substantial fluctuation in the APC for breast cancer RSVs across all countries and worldwide. In 2018, there was a significant increase in the percentage change in all countries, with the highest increase in the United Kingdom (65.9%, 95% CI 63.49%-68.32%), followed by Australia (60.58%, 95% CI 57.21%-63.94%). In 2020, there was a significant downturn in APC rates of breast cancer searches in all countries, with the highest decrease found in Saudi Arabia of -35.23% (95% CI -37.93% to -32.52%).

Figure 1 displays the monthly breast cancer RSVs from 2012 to 2022, exhibiting a consistent uptrend peak wave in the month of October (BCAM) in each year of the study period for all included countries and worldwide.



Table 1. Annual percentage change rates (95% CIs) of breast cancer relative search volume (2012 to 2022).^a

	1 0	U X	,			,		
Year	Australia	Canada	Ireland	New Zealand	Saudi Arabia	United King- dom	United States	Worldwide
2012	30.00 (55.53 to 62.26)	6.98 (4.22 to 9.74)	19.28 (16.34 to 22.21)	16.19 (14.07 to 18.31)	1.68 (-1.02 to 4.38)	5.49 (3.07 to 7.9)	12.95 (10.84 to 15.06)	7.34 (4.72 to 9.95)
2013	8.51 (5.14 to 11.87)	-5.77 (-8.53 to -3.01)	-4.54 (-7.47 to -1.6)	-2.43 (-4.54 to -0.31)	10.68 (7.97 to 13.38)	7.43 (5.01 to 9.84)	-8.84 (-10.95 to -6.73)	-5.36 (-7.97 to -2.74)
2014	0.5 (-2.86 to 3.86)	1.84 (-0.92 to 4.6)	-4.57 (-7.5 to -1.63)	1.05 (-1.06 to 3.16)	-4.47 (-7.17 to -1.76)	6.67 (4.2 to 9.08)	-4.75 (-6.8 to -2.64)	-5.00 (-7.61 to -2.38)
2015	-12.03 (-15.39 to -8.66)	-5.27 (-8.03 to -2.51	1.75 (1.18 to 4.68)	-9.02 (11.13 to -6.9)	21.7 (18.99 to 24.41)	-4.69 (-7.1 to -2.27)	-6.13 (-8.24 to -4.02)	-7.15 (-9.76 to -4.53)
2016	-0.72 (-4.08 to 2.64)	-2.72 (-5.48 to 0.03)	-0.15 (-3.08 to 2.78)	-3.05 (-5.16 to -0.93)	1.24 (-1.46 to 3.94)	-0.4 (-2.81 to 2.01)	-10.9 (-13.01 to -8.79)	-4.92 (-7.53 to -2.3)
2017	1.13 (-2.23 to 4.49)	1.13 (-1.63 to 3.89)	3.12 (0.18 to 6.05)	-1.9 (-4.01 to 0.21)	1.94 (-0.76 to 4.64)	0.26 (-2.15 to 2.67)	2.59 (0.48 to 4.7)	0.92 (-7.53 to -2.3)
2018	60.58 (57.21 to 63.94)	54.41 (51.65 to 57.17)	59.08 (56.14 to 62.01)	48.58 (46.46 to 50.69)	34.75 (32.04 to 37.45)	65.91 (63.49 to 68.32)	29 (26.89 to 31.11)	35.91 (33.29 to 38.52)
2019	2.48 (-0.88 to 5.84)	-8.58 (-11.34 to -5.82)	9.44 (6.51 to 12.3)	0.51 (-1.61 to 2.62)	0.72 (-1.98 to 3.42)	6.07 (3.6 to 8.48)	b	_
2020	-8.21 (-11.57 to -4.84)	-12.02 (-14.78 to -9.26)	2.63 (-0.3 to 5.56)	-12.40 (-14.51to -10.28)	-35.23 (-37.93 to -32.52)	-15.4 (-17.81 to -12.98)	-16.46 (-18.57 to -14.35)	-13.32 (-15.93 to -10.7)
2021	0.16 (-3.21 to 3.52)	-1.00 (-3.76 to 1.76)	6.61 (3.67–9.54)	0.35 (-1.76 to 2.46)	-1.19 (-3.89 to 1.51)	12.25 (9.83 to 14.66)	1.63 (-0.48 to 3.74)	0.25 (–2.3 to 2.86)
2022	5.23 (1.86 to 8.59)	7.26 (4.5 to 10.02)	-9.54 (-12.47 to -6.61)	6.62 (4.5 to 8.73)	20.69 (17.98 to 23.39)	-0.37 (-2.78 to 2.04)	8.91 (6.8 to 11.02)	31.76 (29.14 to 34.37)

^aSearch results were normalized to the time and location of a query by the following process: each data point was divided by the total searches of the geography and time range it represents to compare relative popularity. Otherwise, places with the highest relative search volume would always be ranked the highest. The resulting numbers were then scaled on a range of 0 to 100 based on a topic's proportion to all searches on all topics. ^bNo changes.

Figure 1. Monthly trends in breast cancer relative search volume.



RenderX
Weekly Breast Cancer RSV From 2012 to 2022

Table 2 and Figure 2 illustrate the long-term weekly trend over20 years. Using the Mann-Kendall trend test, 4 countries(Australia, Canada, New Zealand, and the United States) showed

a statistically significant decrease in the weekly breast cancer RSV. The highest decrease was in Canada. By contrast, 2 countries showed a statistically significant increase in weekly breast cancer RSV, with the highest increase found in Ireland.

Table 2. Mann-Kendall trend analysis for weekly breast cancer relative search volume from 2012 to 2022.

Country	S ^a (95% CI)	Mann-Kendall time trend ^b	P value
Australia	-0.18 (-0.34 to -0.018)	Decrease	.05
Canada	-0.42 (-0.55 to -0.27)	Decrease	<.001
Ireland	0.27 (0.11 to 0.42)	Increase	<.001
New Zealand	-0.24 (0.11 to 0.42)	Decrease	.004
Saudi Arabia	0.15 0.01 to 0.31)	Increase	.07
United Kingdom	0.17 (0.006 to 0.33)	Increase	.01
United States	-0.22 (-0.38 to -0.05)	Decrease	<.001
Worldwide	-0.27 (-0.42 to -0.11)	Decrease	<.001

^aSeasonal Mann-Kendall coefficient.

^bThe Mann-Kendall trend test was applied to determine the magnitude and significance of the time trends. The estimated slope indicates the number of weekly new searches during the study period.



Figure 2. Weekly breast cancer relative search volume from 2012 to 2022. The estimated slope indicates the direction of the number of weekly new searches during the study period. The statistical significance of the magnitude and time trends calculated by the Mann-Kendall trend test are as follows: (A) P=.004, (B) P<.001, (C) P<.001, (D) P=.07, (E) P<.001, (F) P=.05, (G) P<.001, (H) P=.01.



Comparison of the Breast Cancer Median RSV Between Months

As illustrated in the heatmaps in Figure 3, there was a clear and consistent elevation in the median breast cancer RSV during

the month of October every year across all included countries. The Kruskal-Wallis test, accompanied by pairwise multiple comparisons, confirmed that October exhibited a significantly higher median compared to every other month throughout the year.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49197
```

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 3. Heatmaps for median breast cancer relative search volume from 2012 to 2022 by month. The statistical significance in the trends for each country was confirmed at P<.001, as determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test with pairwise multiple comparisons between October and all other months. A darker color in the heatmap indicates a larger median value.

	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022		2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
	A-			Un	ited k	Kingd	om						в.				Can	ada					
Jan	63.00	62.80	63.56	63.38	64.00	64.33	64.40	64.50	63.00	63.00	68.00	Jan	57.64	56.70	56.78	56.38	56.29	54.33	52.00	52.50	53.00	50.50	53.00
Feb	63.64	64.30	64.89	64.75	65.71	66.17	66.60	66.50	64.00	66.50	67.00	Feb	59.45	58.90	58.89	58.63	58.71	58.33	56.80	57.25	57.00	51.50	53.00
March	66.18	67.00	68.00	64.00	63.71	63.17	63.60	63.50	61.67	68.00	64.00	March	57.09	56.40	56.56	54.88	54.57	54.17	53.00	53.00	51.33	53.00	56.00
April	62.27	63.10	63.67	63.13	63.86	63.50	62.40	61.75	59.67	66.50	68.00	April	54.55	53.70	52.89	51.75	51.00	50.33	49.60	49.75	47.00	51.00	53.00
May	63.82	64.50	63.89	63.88	63.14	62.83	63.20	59.75	57.00	62.00	65.00	May	54.82	54.50	52.78	52.00	51.57	51.17	50.00	48.25	44.67	47.00	49.00
June	58.45	59.50	59.22	58.63	57.71	59.17	58.80	58.25	56.33	59.00	62.00	June	52.55	51.90	51.56	51.00	50.57	50.67	49.40	48.25	46.67	49.00	49.00
Jul	56.91	57.90	58.00	58.00	57.71	58.33	57.80	58.50	58.33	60.00	60.00	Jul	50.45	50.00	49.44	48.75	48.14	47.50	46.60	47.00	47.00	46.50	47.00
Aug	57.19	57.30	57.89	58.25	59.00	59.50	59.80	60.75	61.67	62.00	68.00	Aug	52.45	51.90	51.78	50.88	50.43	49.33	49.80	49.75	49.67	50.50	54.00
Sep	64.27	64.60	65.11	66.13	66.57	65.50	67.00	66.25	67.00	70.50	63.00	Sep	62.36	60.90	59.89	58.88	57.86	57.33	56.20	55.00	53.33	54.00	57.00
Nov	//.55	//.30	/6./8	77.50	//.86	79.00	81.60	82.00	/9.6/	81.50	78.00	Nov	59.19	57.20	56.67	75.25	73.00	72.00 55.17	54.20	52.75	51.22	52.00	70.00
Dec	63.18 E4.45	55.80	64.33 55.56	64.63 56.29	54.85	57.22	55.00 58.00	62.75 52.00	59.00	59.00	55.00	Dec	50.01	50.70	50.67	50.25	40.42	40.17	49.90	49.00	47.67	48.00	51.00
Dec	C	33.40	55.50	J0.38	Inited	State	58.00	38.00	33.00	33.00	55.00		D.91	50.70	50.50	50.25	Incl	and	40.00	43.00	47.07	40.00	51.00
	c.			U	mieu	State	:5						D.				Irei	anu					
Jan	26.27	25.40	25.00	24.75	24.86	25.00	24.80	24.50	24.33	24.50	24.00	Jan	53.45	51.90	52.00	51.88	52.86	54.17	54.40	57.00	57.00	52.00	53.00
Feb	27.82	27.10	26.67	26.38	26.29	26.50	26.80	27.00	27.00	27.50	26.00	Feb	58.82	57.70	58.33	59.63	60.57	62.83	64.80	63.50	63.33	62.50	54.00
Anril	25.91	25.40	25.11	24.75	24.57	24.33	24.00	24.00	23.33	22.00	26.00	April	57.91	57.80	59.33	54.25	55.71	54.83	55.40	54.75	51.67	56.00	51.00
May	26.18	25.50	25.00	24.50	24.14	24.00	23.80	23.25	22.00	20.50	25.00	Max	58.27	59.30	59.11	60.50	62.00	62.83	63.60	62.25	64.00	73.50	75.00
lune	25.62	25.50	24.50	24.00	23.80	23.65	25.20	22.50	23.00	20.50	24.00	lune	52.00	52.00	52 78	53.50	53.43	54.33	55.80	56.50	59.67	59.50	57.00
Jul	25.00	25.00	24.90	24.15	24.00	24.67	24.60	24.50	24.00	22.00	25.00	Jul	49.00	49.10	49.33	50.25	51.29	52.17	53.20	53.25	56.00	49.00	51.00
Aug	26.64	26.10	25.78	25.50	25.43	25.67	25.40	25.25	25.00	23.50	28.00	Aug	52.18	53.20	54.00	55.13	55.86	56.50	58.00	58.00	58.33	52.00	53.00
Sep	35.91	34.90	34.44	33.50	32.57	32.17	32.00	31.50	30.00	29.50	31.00	Sep	59.00	59.50	61.11	63.75	65.43	66.67	68.00	70.00	70.67	74.50	64.00
Oct	66.64	63.30	60.22	57.38	54.43	53.17	51.80	50.25	48.33	47.00	51.00	Oct	73.36	72.60	73.00	74.25	73.29	74.50	77.20	77.75	77.67	77.00	71.00
Nov	27.00	26.50	26.11	26.00	25.57	25.83	25.80	25.50	24.67	24.00	26.00	Nov	58.27	58.50	57.78	58.63	58.57	60.50	60.00	61.75	61.33	61.50	61.00
Dec	24.00	23.80	23.44	23.50	23.57	23.83	23.80	23.75	22.67	22.00	24.00	Dec	47.55	47.20	46.78	48.63	49.86	50.83	52.40	51.75	54.00	56.00	52.00
	F			,	Work	dwide							F			N	ew Z	ealan	h				
	E.	22.20	21.00	24.62	** 011	uwiuc		24.50	20.67	20.00	20.00	1	F .	27.60	20.44	10.00		calan	u 	07.75	26.22	25.00	26.00
Jan Eeb	33.18	32.30	31.89	31.63	31./1	31.67	31.60	31.50	30.67	29.00	29.00	Jan	39.00	37.60	42.90	38.63	42.00	37.17	37.80	37.75	30.33	35.00	41.00
March	33.10	34.30	34.00	23.75	22.20	23.22	21.90	21.50	20.22	31.00	31.00	March	50.01	E1 70	43.03	49.15	49.71	43.30	49.00	45.25	41.07	46.50	52.00
Anril	34.00	33.50	33.00	32.38	32.29	31.83	31.60	31.00	30.00	32.00	33.00	Anril	49.45	47.50	46.44	46.75	40.71	42.50	40.00	40.75	40.00	40.50	40.00
May	33.55	33.10	32.11	31.63	31.29	31.00	30.40	30.00	28.67	29.50	30.00	May	58.27	58.90	58.00	57.38	58.00	57.33	56.00	52.75	51.33	58.50	62.00
June	31.91	31.60	31.33	31.00	30.86	31.00	31.00	30.75	30.00	30.00	30.00	June	50.18	48.60	47.33	47.13	46.71	47.67	47.60	46.75	47.00	49.00	47.00
Jul	32.18	32.00	31.33	31.25	31.14	31.17	31.00	30.75	30.33	29.50	30.00	Jul	44.45	44.90	45.11	43.88	43.29	43.83	45.00	44.00	43.67	43.00	42.00
Aug	33.00	32.60	32.33	32.13	32.14	32.00	31.80	31.25	30.67	31.00	32.00	Aug	47.82	47.10	46.89	46.13	45.43	45.00	45.80	46.50	45.67	45.00	46.00
Sep	41.36	40.10	39.56	38.88	38.29	37.67	37.60	37.00	35.67	36.00	35.00	Sep	54.45	53.00	51.56	50.75	49.43	48.83	47.80	46.75	45.67	43.00	45.00
Oct	69.27	66.20	63.67	61.00	58.71	57.83	56.60	55.00	52.67	53.50	54.00	Oct	76.73	74.60	71.78	69.38	68.14	68.50	67.20	67.00	65.00	63.50	66.00
Nov	34.73	34.20	33.67	33.38	33.14	33.00	32.40	31.75	30.67	31.50	31.00	Nov	47.27	47.20	47.22	47.75	47.71	47.50	48.60	48.50	47.00	45.50	47.00
Dec	30.27	30.10	29.78	29.88	29.86	30.00	30.00	29.75	28.67	28.50	28.00	Dec	38.55	38.70	38.44	39.25	40.00	40.33	40.80	43.00	43.00	45.00	44.00
	G.				Aust	ralia							н.			S	audi 🛛	Arabi	a				
Jan	50.64	50.10	50.11	62.63	50.00	50.83	51.40	52.00	51.33	49.50	49.00	Jan	25.36	27.90	26.00	27.13	27.43	27.00	26.60	25.25	24.67	20.50	20.00
Feb	56.91	57.20	57.67	71.50	57.29	56.67	56.00	55.50	54.67	52.50	51.00	Feb	27.36	30.10	28.67	29.25	29.71	29.17	29.60	29.75	28.33	27.50	32.00
March	60.73	61.00	61.00	76.25	57.43	57.33	56.40	55.75	55.67	59.50	60.00	March	28.36	31.20	29.00	29.50	28.71	29.00	28.40	28.25	27.67	27.50	30.00
April	58.64	58.80	57.78	73.50	56.57	55.33	54.20	52.50	51.00	53.50	52.00	April	29.00	31.90	30.11	30.63	29.43	28.50	28.00	27.75	24.33	24.00	25.00
May	68.00	68.10	66.11	85.13	64.14	63.50	62.80	61.75	59.33	60.00	63.00	May	25.09	27.60	25.22	25.38	24.57	24.33	22.40	23.00	23.33	25.00	31.00
June	58.36	58.20	57.56	72.75	57.14	57.33	56.40	56.00	55.00	55.50	55.00	June	21.82	24.00	22.56	23.75	23.43	23.83	24.60	25.25	26.00	28.50	30.00
Jul	55.36	55.40	54.67	69.25	54.71	55.33	56.20	56.00	55.67	51.00	50.00	Jul	18.00	19.80	19.11	20.25	21.43	22.33	22.40	22.75	22.00	21.00	19.00
Aug	59.91	60.40	59.89	75.50	59.29	59.17	59.20	57.50	57.00	59.00	64.00	Aug	22.73	25.00	24.11	25.00	24.86	24.33	24.60	25.75	26.33	27.00	31.00
Sep	63.00	63.20	63.00	79.00	62.86	63.67	64.00	64.75	64.33	65.50	69.00	Sep	31.36	34.50	31.89	32.38	32.43	33.67	34.80	33.75	27.67	31.00	34.00
Nov	81.91	80.50	78.33	100.63	76.43	76.00	76.40	77.00	74.00	73.00	73.00	Nev	73.64	81.00	78.00	80.25	81.57	82.83	82.00	78.75	71.67	77.50	91.00
Dee	58.45	58.60	57.78	73.25	57.14	57.33	57.60	56.00	55.67	57.50	60.00	Dee	37.82	41.60	39.33	39.88	38.86	37.00	35.80	33.75	31.00	33.50	35.00
	47 LIM	a / a1	n / n /	54 /5	0111	0×1/	48 AL	A1 14	44.4 1111	2010/01/01	5510	1 2020	ALC: NO. 10.	ALC: 121	44.00	A 4 1 M				13.0 f 3m	100 110		2 X 2 X 1

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study demonstrated that the APCs in the breast cancer RSV on Google from 2012 to 2022 exhibited substantial fluctuations across all selected countries, with a significant drop in 2020, particularly in Saudi Arabia. Despite these changes, a constant upward peak wave in breast cancer relative searches was observed in October.

The significant fluctuations in APCs internationally and across each selected country were possibly affected by substantial global events such as the COVID-19 pandemic, which may have shifted user preferences [29]. The drop in 2020, particularly in Saudi Arabia, can be assigned to the various policy steps implemented by governments to combat the pandemic; Saudi Arabia's rigorous policies likely deflected public interest away from breast cancer searches [30].

Internet searches for health-related topics have proven to be a very effective approach to spread knowledge of all health issues, particularly breast cancer [31].

Using Google Trends allows us to better understand the impact of BCAM on RSV, especially the trends in infoveillance, a branch of infodemiology based on observations of

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49197
```

RenderX

information-seeking behavior [32]. This will provide insight for the better management of BCAM. Previous Google Trends research demonstrated an increase in public interest and engagement in breast, colon, and oral cancer awareness campaigns, as seen by the evolving search volumes [32-34]. However, past studies have shown that BCAM regularly boosts the breast cancer RSV when compared to cancer awareness efforts for men's cancers such as prostate cancer and testicular cancer [33,35]. In general, compared to men, women tend to seek more health-related information using electronically available tools [36-40].

Breast cancer is the most common cancer in women worldwide, including both high- and low-income countries [41]. However, based on an infographic published by the World Health Organization in 2019, breast cancer was shown to be twice as frequently diagnosed in women in high-income countries than in low- and middle-income countries [42]. Consistently, Coccia [43] demonstrated that wealthier countries have a higher incidence of breast cancer, which could be due to more efficient mammography screening [44,45]. Previous studies indicate that a lack of availability and accessibility to mammography services may account for a portion of cases going undetected, which would explain the lower incidence of breast cancer reported in some less-developed nations [45-47]. Screening and early diagnosis of breast cancer have proven to be efficient means to

initiate appropriate treatment and achieve a cure for patients with cancer [48]. Therefore, we used Google Trends to track the number of searches for breast cancer in 7 high-income nations and globally between 2012 and 2022. We anticipated that the breast cancer–related RSV would be more common in high-income countries owing to the higher literacy and internet availability. Another reason could be the large public events and celebrities commissioned to increase awareness [35]. Funds allocated for BCAM marketing and the use of the pink ribbon campaign impacts the public interest in breast cancer [3]. For instance, the United States has seen higher rates of breast cancer during BCAM [45], indicating the significant impact these events have on promoting awareness, early detection, and prevention of advanced-stage disease.

The analysis of the long-term weekly trend in the breast cancer RSV from 2012 to 2022 reveals fascinating insights regarding search behaviors across countries. We discovered significant variances in search volume patterns among the studied countries. Specifically, a significant decrease in Australia, Canada, New Zealand, and the United States and a significant increase in Ireland and the United Kingdom over the 20-year period warrants further investigation into potential contributing factors such as changes in public awareness, access to health care, impact of landmark academic publications, or shifts in search engine algorithms [49,50]. Kastora et al [51] argued that analyzing geotemporal oscillations in Twitter and Google Trends for breast cancer hashtags might provide early insights into information diffusion and user involvement. These findings highlight the dynamic nature of breast cancer-related internet search activity, as well as the need for monitoring and interpreting patterns over time. More study is needed to determine the underlying causes of these observed changes and their possible implications for public health initiatives and awareness efforts. Furthermore, comparative analyses across geographies and socioeconomic circumstances may offer useful insights into the worldwide landscape of breast cancer awareness and information-seeking behaviors.

A previous study demonstrated that BCAM stimulated online searches for breast cancer [33]. Our results also confirm the importance and effectiveness of BCAM campaigns in October, as we found a correlation between the breast cancer RSV and BCAM across high-income countries and globally based on the striking seasonal increased tendency during the month of October. This implies that the awareness initiatives during this month consistently generate interest and engagement worldwide. This finding also emphasizes the importance of infoveillance to evaluate the outcome of health campaigns in general and for breast cancer in particular.

Moreover, our study revealed that over the last 10 years, the volume of searches for breast cancer varied among high-income

nations that have universal health care coverage, with a significant and descending trend in the number of weekly breast cancer–related searches in Australia, Canada, New Zealand, the United States, and globally. By contrast, Ireland and the United Kingdom showed a significantly increased search volume. Despite the positive impact of BCAM in spreading awareness for breast cancer, other factors are playing a role in wealthier nations to contribute to a high breast cancer incidence, such as delayed childbearing age, obesity, smoking, hormone replacement therapy, and a higher rate of screening [44,52-54].

Limitations

This study has several limitations that warrant consideration. First, as an ecological study, there is a risk of ecological fallacy, where trends in the specific regions we targeted might not have represented true subnational or other national trends. Second, the absence of demographic and other potential confounding factors in our analysis leaves room for the possibility of confounding bias. These unaccounted variables could influence public interest and their corresponding Google search behavior, potentially affecting the study outcomes. Third, it is acknowledged that the population seeking health information on breast cancer online may differ from the offline population. For example, not everyone searching for information on breast cancer may be connected online or use search engines, and the number of individuals connected to the internet has fluctuated over the study period (2012-2022). Therefore, this study does not precisely map the online behavior of all individuals searching for breast cancer information in the selected countries.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the variations in the APC in the breast cancer RSV can largely be attributed to major global events such as the COVID-19 pandemic, which have the potential to shift user interest. The decrease in the APC in 2020 may be associated with variances in governmental policy measures aimed at controlling the pandemic. The uncertainty surrounding the pandemic and its impact on businesses and consumer behavior could have also contributed to the decrease in the APC. The consistent and significant peak in the breast cancer RSV during October across all countries and globally throughout the study period suggests a notable impact of BCAM on the level of public interest, as reflected by the RSV of Google Trends users. We advocate increasing the number of BCAM initiatives and spreading them throughout the year and in multiple countries to generate more awareness and reach a larger population in the countries with a downward trend. Increasing the funding toward marketing for breast cancer education will improve public awareness. This will in turn improve the screening rate and help more people eradicate the disease in its early stages.

Acknowledgments

We would like to express our gratitude to King Abdullah International Medical Research Center for providing the research environment.



Data Availability

The data sets generated during and/or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

MR and RA conceptualized the study. DA and MR were responsible for the methodology and software. RA, MR, and SA contributed to data curation. MR and MA wrote the original draft of the manuscript. MR and RA performed the visualization and investigation. MR and AS supervised the study. MR, RA, TA, and SA were responsible for software and validation. MR, RA, and SA reviewed and edited the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Giaquinto AN, Sung H, Miller KD, Kramer JL, Newman LA, Minihan A, et al. Breast cancer statistics, 2022. CA Cancer J Clin 2022 Nov 03;72(6):524-541 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21754] [Medline: <u>36190501</u>]
- 2. Abusanad A. Breast cancer stage migration in Saudi Arabia: examining the influence of screening. Glob J Qual Saf Healthc 2022 Feb 08;5(1):24-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.36401/JQSH-21-15] [Medline: 37260558]
- Nishimura Y, Acoba JD. Impact of breast cancer awareness month on public interest in the United States between 2012 and 2021: a Google Trends analysis. Cancers 2022 May 21;14(10):2534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers14102534] [Medline: 35626141]
- 4. Sopik V. International variation in breast cancer incidence and mortality in young women. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2021 Apr 03;186(2):497-507. [doi: 10.1007/s10549-020-06003-8] [Medline: 33145697]
- Duggan C, Trapani D, Ilbawi AM, Fidarova E, Laversanne M, Curigliano G, et al. National health system characteristics, breast cancer stage at diagnosis, and breast cancer mortality: a population-based analysis. Lancet Oncol 2021 Nov;22(11):1632-1642. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(21)00462-9] [Medline: 34653370]
- 6. Newman LA. Breast cancer screening in low and middle-income countries. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2022 Sep;83:15-23. [doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2022.03.018] [Medline: 35589536]
- Li N, Deng Y, Zhou L, Tian T, Yang S, Wu Y, et al. Global burden of breast cancer and attributable risk factors in 195 countries and territories, from 1990 to 2017: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. J Hematol Oncol 2019 Dec 21;12(1):140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13045-019-0828-0] [Medline: 31864424]
- 8. Myers ER, Moorman P, Gierisch JM, Havrilesky LJ, Grimm LJ, Ghate S, et al. Benefits and harms of breast cancer screening: a systematic review. JAMA 2015 Oct 20;314(15):1615-1634. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.13183] [Medline: 26501537]
- 9. Lovelace DL, McDaniel LR, Golden D. Long-term effects of breast cancer surgery, treatment, and survivor care. J Midwifery Womens Health 2019 Nov 19;64(6):713-724. [doi: 10.1111/jmwh.13012] [Medline: 31322834]
- Antonini M, Pinheiro DJPDC, Salerno GRF, Matos ABTDMB, Ferraro O, Mattar A, et al. Does Pink October really impact breast cancer screening? Public Health Pract 2022 Dec;4:100316 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.puhip.2022.100316] [Medline: 36570401]
- Britt KL, Cuzick J, Phillips K. Key steps for effective breast cancer prevention. Nat Rev Cancer 2020 Aug 11;20(8):417-436. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41568-020-0266-x</u>] [Medline: <u>32528185</u>]
- Miller CA, Guidry JPD, Fuemmeler BF. Breast cancer voices on Pinterest: raising awareness or just an inspirational image? Health Educ Behav 2019 Dec 19;46(2_suppl):49-58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1090198119863774] [Medline: 31742451]
- Elghazaly H, Aref AT, Anderson BO, Arun B, Yip C, Abdelaziz H, et al. The first BGICC consensus and recommendations for breast cancer awareness, early detection and risk reduction in low- and middle-income countries and the MENA region. Int J Cancer 2021 Aug 01;149(3):505-513. [doi: 10.1002/ijc.33506] [Medline: 33559295]
- 14. Population, total. World Bank Group. URL: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL</u> [accessed 2024-07-09]
- Coffin T, Bowen D, Lu K, Swisher EM, Rayes N, Norquist B, et al. Using social media to facilitate communication about women's testing: tool validation study. JMIR Form Res 2022 Sep 26;6(9):e35035 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/35035</u>] [Medline: <u>36155347</u>]
- 16. Arora VS, McKee M, Stuckler D. Google Trends: opportunities and limitations in health and health policy research. Health Policy 2019 Mar;123(3):338-341. [doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2019.01.001] [Medline: 30660346]
- 17. Mavragani A, Ochoa G. Google Trends in infodemiology and infoveillance: methodology framework. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2019 May 29;5(2):e13439 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13439] [Medline: 31144671]
- 18. Google Trends. URL: <u>https://trends.google.com/trends/</u> [accessed 2024-07-09]
- Lemoine P, Ebert D, Koga Y, Bertin C. Public interest and awareness regarding general health, sleep quality and mental wellbeing during the early COVID-19 pandemic period: an exploration using Google trends. Sleep Epidemiol 2022 Dec;2:100017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.sleepe.2021.100017] [Medline: 35673330]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49197
```

- 20. Pullan S, Dey M. Vaccine hesitancy and anti-vaccination in the time of COVID-19: a Google Trends analysis. Vaccine 2021 Apr 01;39(14):1877-1881 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.03.019] [Medline: 33715904]
- Zattoni F, Gül M, Soligo M, Morlacco A, Motterle G, Collavino J, et al. The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on pornography habits: a global analysis of Google Trends. Int J Impot Res 2020 Dec 28;33(8):824-831 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41443-020-00380-w] [Medline: <u>33249423</u>]
- 22. Yang H, Wang S, Zheng Y. Spatial-temporal variations and trends of internet users: assessment from global perspective. Infor Dev 2021 Aug 18;39(1):136-146. [doi: 10.1177/026666669211035479]
- 23. Hirsch RM, Slack JR, Smith RA. Techniques of trend analysis for monthly water quality data. Water Resources Research 2010 Jul 09;18(1):107-121. [doi: 10.1029/wr018i001p00107]
- 24. Gilbert RO. Statistical methods for environmental pollution monitoring. Biometrics 1988 Mar;44(1):319. [doi: 10.2307/2531935]
- 25. Helsel D, Hirsch RM, Ryberg KR, Archfield SA, Gilroy EJ. Statistical methods in water resources. In: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 4, chap. A3. Reston, VA: US Geological Survey Publications Warehouse; 2020.
- 26. Thas O, Van Vooren L, Ottoy JP. Selection of nonparametric methods for monotonic trend detection in water quality. ResearchGate. 2007. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/3d5a3dxn</u> [accessed 2024-07-09]
- 27. Gocic M, Trajkovic S. Analysis of changes in meteorological variables using Mann-Kendall and Sen's slope estimator statistical tests in Serbia. Global Planet Change 2013 Jan;100:172-182. [doi: 10.1016/j.gloplacha.2012.10.014]
- Zheng J, Zhang N, Shen G, Liang F, Zhao Y, He X, et al. Spatiotemporal and seasonal trends of class A and B notifiable infectious diseases in China: retrospective analysis. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2023 Apr 27;9:e42820 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/42820] [Medline: 37103994]
- 29. Tan SY, Tang MSS, Ong CJ, Tan VKM, Shannon NB. Impact of COVID-19 on public interest in breast cancer screening and related symptoms: Google Trends analysis. JMIR Cancer 2023 Jun 06;9:e39105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/39105] [Medline: 37163461]
- Nurunnabi M. The preventive strategies of COVID-19 pandemic in Saudi Arabia. J Microbiol Immunol Infect 2021 Feb;54(1):127-128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2020.07.023] [Medline: 32807687]
- Mattsson S, Olsson EMG, Johansson B, Carlsson M. Health-related internet use in people with cancer: results from a cross-sectional study in two outpatient clinics in Sweden. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 15;19(5):e163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6830] [Medline: 28506959]
- 32. Ling R, Lee J. Disease monitoring and health campaign evaluation using Google search activities for HIV and AIDS, stroke, colorectal cancer, and marijuana use in Canada: a retrospective observational study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2016 Oct 12;2(2):e156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.6504] [Medline: 27733330]
- Glynn RW, Kelly JC, Coffey N, Sweeney KJ, Kerin MJ. The effect of breast cancer awareness month on internet search activity--a comparison with awareness campaigns for lung and prostate cancer. BMC Cancer 2011 Oct 12;11(1):442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-11-442] [Medline: 21993136]
- 34. Murray G, O'Rourke C, Hogan J, Fenton J. Detecting internet search activity for mouth cancer in Ireland. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2016 Feb;54(2):163-165. [doi: 10.1016/j.bjoms.2015.12.005] [Medline: 26774361]
- 35. Patel MS, Halpern JA, Desai AS, Keeter MK, Bennett NE, Brannigan RE. Success of prostate and testicular cancer awareness campaigns compared to Breast Cancer Awareness Month according to internet search volumes: a Google Trends analysis. Urology 2020 May;139:64-70. [doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2019.11.062] [Medline: 32001306]
- 36. Tennant B, Stellefson M, Dodd V, Chaney B, Chaney D, Paige S, et al. eHealth literacy and Web 2.0 health information seeking behaviors among baby boomers and older adults. J Med Internet Res 2015 Mar 17;17(3):e70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3992] [Medline: 25783036]
- Nangsangna RD, da-Costa Vroom F. Factors influencing online health information seeking behaviour among patients in Kwahu West Municipal, Nkawkaw, Ghana. Online J Public Health Inform 2019 Sep 20;11(2):e13. [doi: 10.5210/ojphi.v11i2.10141] [Medline: 31632607]
- Jia X, Pang Y, Liu LS. Online health information seeking behavior: a systematic review. Healthcare 2021 Dec 16;9(12):1740 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare9121740] [Medline: 34946466]
- 39. Demirci Ş, Uğurluoğlu Ö, Konca M, Çakmak C. Socio-demographic characteristics affect health information seeking on the internet in Turkey. Health Info Libr J 2021 Dec;38(4):304-312. [doi: 10.1111/hir.12358] [Medline: 33524222]
- 40. Maon SN, Hassan NM, Seman SAA. Online health information seeking behavior pattern. Adv Sci Lett 2017 Nov 01;23(11):10582-10585. [doi: 10.1166/asl.2017.10107]
- 41. Vasconcellos-Silva PR, Carvalho DBF, Trajano V, de La Rocque LR, Sawada ACMB, Juvanhol LL. Using Google Trends data to study public interest in breast cancer screening in Brazil: why not a Pink February? JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Apr 06;3(2):e17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.7015] [Medline: 28385679]
- 42. Breast Cancer Awareness Month 2019: inequalities in incidence and mortality. International Agency for Research on Cancer. URL: <u>https://iarc.spherical.horse/featured-news/breast-cancer-awareness-month-2019</u> [accessed 2024-07-09]
- 43. Coccia M. The effect of country wealth on incidence of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2013 Sep;141(2):225-229. [doi: 10.1007/s10549-013-2683-y] [Medline: 24036692]

- 44. Harris R, Yeatts J, Kinsinger L. Breast cancer screening for women ages 50 to 69 years a systematic review of observational evidence. Prev Med 2011 Sep;53(3):108-114. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2011.07.004] [Medline: 21820465]
- 45. Gathers D, Pankratz V, Kosich M, Tawfik B. Using big data to gauge effectiveness of breast cancer awareness month. Prev Med 2021 Sep;150:106695 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106695] [Medline: 34166676]
- 46. Anderson BO, Cazap E, El Saghir NS, Yip C, Khaled HM, Otero IV, et al. Optimisation of breast cancer management in low-resource and middle-resource countries: executive summary of the Breast Health Global Initiative consensus, 2010. Lancet Oncol 2011 Apr;12(4):387-398. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70031-6] [Medline: 21463833]
- 47. Agarwal G, Ramakant P, Forgach ERS, Rendón JC, Chaparro JM, Basurto CS, et al. Breast cancer care in developing countries. World J Surg 2009 Oct 05;33(10):2069-2076. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00268-009-0150-z</u>] [Medline: <u>19653033</u>]
- 48. Walters S, Maringe C, Butler J, Rachet B, Barrett-Lee P, Bergh J, ICBP Module 1 Working Group. Breast cancer survival and stage at diagnosis in Australia, Canada, Denmark, Norway, Sweden and the UK, 2000-2007: a population-based study. Br J Cancer 2013 Mar 19;108(5):1195-1208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.6] [Medline: 23449362]
- 49. Sugrue R, Carthy E, Kelly ME, Sweeney KJ. Science or popular media: What drives breast cancer online activity? Breast J 2018 Mar 26;24(2):189-192. [doi: 10.1111/tbj.12864] [Medline: 28744998]
- 50. Greiner B, Lee M, Nelson B, Hartwell M. The pink elephant in the room: declining public interest in breast cancer and the impact of marketing efforts. J Cancer Policy 2021 Jun;28:100287. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jcpo.2021.100287</u>] [Medline: <u>35559903</u>]
- 51. Kastora SL, Karakatsanis A, Masannat YA. Comprehending the impact of #Breastcancer, #Breastsurgery and related hashtags on Twitter: a content and social network cross-sectional analysis #Breastcancer#Breastsurgery. Eur J Surg Oncol 2023 Apr;49(4):716-723 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2023.01.016] [Medline: 36690530]
- 52. Botha J, Bray F, Sankila R, Parkin D. Breast cancer incidence and mortality trends in 16 European countries. Eur J Cancer 2003 Aug;39(12):1718-1729. [doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(03)00118-7] [Medline: 12888367]
- DeRoo LA, Vlastos AT, Mock P, Vlastos G, Morabia A. Comparison of women's breast cancer risk factors in Geneva, Switzerland and Shanghai, China. Prev Med 2010 Dec;51(6):497-501. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.09.013</u>] [Medline: <u>20920521</u>]
- Barnes BB, Steindorf K, Hein R, Flesch-Janys D, Chang-Claude J. Population attributable risk of invasive postmenopausal breast cancer and breast cancer subtypes for modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors. Cancer Epidemiol 2011 Aug;35(4):345-352. [doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2010.11.003] [Medline: 21159569]

Abbreviations

APC: annual percent change BCAM: Breast Cancer Awareness Month RSV: relative search volume

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 22.05.23; peer-reviewed by H Ghamdi, M Coccia; comments to author 19.12.23; revised version received 13.02.24; accepted 28.02.24; published 12.08.24.

Please cite as:

Ramadan M, Aboalola D, Aouabdi S, Alghamdi T, Alsolami M, Samkari A, Alsiary R Influence of Breast Cancer Awareness Month on Public Interest of Breast Cancer in High-Income Countries Between 2012 and 2022: Google Trends Analysis JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e49197 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49197 doi:10.2196/49197 PMID:

©Majed Ramadan, Doaa Aboalola, Sihem Aouabdi, Tariq Alghamdi, Mona Alsolami, Alaa Samkari, Rawiah Alsiary. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 12.08.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Health Information Seeking on the Internet Among Patients With and Without Cancer in a Region Affected by the 2011 Fukushima Triple Disaster: Cross-Sectional Study

Yudai Kaneda¹; Akihiko Ozaki^{2,3,4}, MD, DrPH; Michio Murakami^{5,6}, PhD; Toyoaki Sawano^{2,7,8}, MD, PhD; Shuhei Nomura^{2,9}, PhD; Divya Bhandari³, MHS; Hiroaki Saito^{8,10}, MD, PhD; Masaharu Tsubokura^{2,8}, MD, PhD; Kazue Yamaoka^{11,12}, PhD; Yoshinori Nakata¹¹, MD, PhD; Manabu Tsukada¹³, MD; Hiromichi Ohira¹³, MD

⁵Department of Health Risk Communication, Fukushima Medical University, Fukushima, Japan

- ⁷Department of Surgery, Jyoban Hospital of Tokiwa Foundation, Iwaki, Japan
- ⁸Department of Radiation Health Management, Fukushima Medical University School of Medicine, Fukushima, Japan
- ⁹Keio University Global Research Institute (KGRI), Tokyo, Japan

¹¹Graduate School of Public Health, Teikyo University, Tokyo, Japan

Corresponding Author:

Akihiko Ozaki, MD, DrPH Research Center for Community Health Minamisoma Municipal General Hospital 2-54-6 Takamicho, Haramachi Minamisoma, 975-0033 Japan Phone: 81 244223181 Fax: 81 244228853 Email: ozakiakihiko@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Health information seeking via the internet among patients with cancer in disaster-affected areas is underresearched.

Objective: This study aims not only to assess the extent and means of web-based health information seeking among patients with cancer living in the disaster-affected area of the 2011 Fukushima triple disaster but also to compare these patterns with those without cancer, identifying distinct and shared factors influencing their web-based health information behaviors.

Methods: We surveyed 404 patients (263 with and 141 without cancer) from the surgery department outpatient office at Minamisoma Municipal General Hospital, from October 2016 to January 2017. The survey included self-administered questions on internet and digital device use. Descriptive analyses were performed to examine the use patterns of digital devices and the internet and their impact on health information seeking across different age groups of patients with and without cancer. Multivariable logistic regression was used to examine factors associated with web-based health information seeking, stratifying by cancer diagnosis.

Results: The proportion of participants who sought health information on the internet was comparable between patients with cancer and patients without cancer (19% vs 17.4%; P=.71). Digital device use varied significantly with age, with peak smartphone use occurring among the youngest cohorts for both groups. Multivariable logistic regression revealed that patients with cancer using smartphones or tablets daily were significantly more likely to gather web-based health information (odds ratio [OR] for smartphones 3.73, 95% CI 1.58-8.80; OR for tablets 5.08, 95% CI 1.27-20.35). Trust in institutional websites also significantly

¹School of Medicine, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan

²Research Center for Community Health, Minamisoma Municipal General Hospital, Minamisoma, Japan

³Breast and Thyroid Center, Jyoban Hospital of Tokiwa Foundation, Iwaki, Japan

⁴Department of Thyroid and Endocrinology, Fukushima Medical University, Fukushima, Japan

⁶Center for Infectious Disease Education and Research, Osaka University, Suita, Japan

¹⁰Department of Internal Medicine, Soma Central Hospital, Soma, Japan

¹²Tetsuyu Clinical Research Center, Tetsuyu Healthcare Holdings Pte Ltd., Tokyo, Japan

¹³Department of Surgery, Minamisoma Municipal General Hospital, Minamisoma, Japan

influenced web-based health information gathering among patients with cancer (OR 2.87, 95% CI 1.13-7.25). Conversely, among patients without cancer, unemployment was associated with a lower likelihood of seeking web-based health information (OR 0.26, 95% CI 0.08-0.85), whereas trust in both institutional and personal websites significantly increased this likelihood (OR for institutional websites 6.76, 95% CI 2.19-20.88; OR for personal websites 6.97, 95% CI 1.49-32.58).

Conclusions: This study reveals that a small proportion of both patients with cancer and patients without cancer engage in health information seeking via the internet, influenced by age, digital device use, and trust in institutional websites. Given the growing prevalence of digital literacy, strategies to enhance accessible and reliable web-based health information should be developed, particularly for patients with cancer in postdisaster settings. Future efforts should focus on tailored health communication strategies that address the unique needs of these populations.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e49897) doi:10.2196/49897

KEYWORDS

health information; patients with cancer; disaster; Japan; internet; patient with cancer; cancer; internet health; mobile phone

Introduction

Individuals diagnosed with cancer require a wealth of health information to effectively manage their daily lives and the course of their treatment [1]. Seeking such information has been shown to yield a magnitude of beneficial health effects within this patient group [2,3]. Nonmedical information sources, especially those available via the internet, have become increasingly significant to these individuals in recent years [4]. In the United States, there has been a notable rise in patients with cancer seeking web-based health information, with the percentage increasing from 10% in 2005 to 62% in 2018 [5,6]. However, the frequency of internet use among this patient group varies widely based on several sociodemographic factors including age, gender, educational level, and socioeconomic status [4,7-9].

Not only do individual characteristics impact the extent of health information seeking via the internet but external circumstances also play a vital role [10]. Crises and disasters serve as a particularly relevant context to explore this phenomenon due to the expansive range and magnitude of health information needs they instigate among patients with cancer, as evidenced during events such as the 2011 Japan triple disaster and the recent COVID-19 pandemic [11-15]. Furthermore, there is emerging evidence indicating the internet's efficacy and growing popularity as a medium for transmitting health information to patients with cancer [16,17]. In summary, the internet is a highly convenient and useful tool to access health information among patients with cancer. Medical institution staff often face overwhelming responses from the sick and injured, making the internet a valuable resource. However, the accuracy and reliability of web-based health information have been subject to debate, especially in the acute phase [10,16,18]. It is worth noting that there is a lack of empirical studies investigating

health information seeking specifically through the internet for patients with cancer, especially in non–COVID-19 contexts [19].

In this sense, the 2011 Japan triple disaster provides an unprecedented case study for examining the use of internet-based health information in disaster settings. On March 11, 2011, a significant earthquake triggered a tsunami, which in turn precipitated a nuclear accident at the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power plant (FDNPP; Figure 1 [20]). The ensuing fallout significantly impacted the nearby city of Minamisoma, situated between 14 and 38 km north of the FDNPP [21]. In the aftermath of the accident, sections of Minamisoma City were designed as mandatory evacuation and sheltering zones by the central government. This order, the first issued on March 12, 2011, and later revised [22], precipitated a rapid depopulation and an acceleration in the aging of the city's population [21,23]. Irrespective of radiation exposure as a secondary consequence of the disaster, including evacuations, an increase in various secondary health issues, such as the increased prevalence of chronic diseases including diabetes and delays in hospital visits, has been observed among the residents [24].

Simultaneously, the disaster had a noticeable impact on the societal structures of Minamisoma, weakening the community and familial support systems. This change was particularly pronounced in the context of health care, where the residents found themselves increasingly isolated and underserved [14]. Notably, the triple disaster also led to a reduction in the number of medical facilities within the city [25]. In light of these circumstances, the internet has emerged as a vital lifeline for residents, particularly for those diagnosed with cancer. The accessibility and convenience of web-based health information platforms have potentially increased their relevance in this health-challenged community.



Figure 1. The geographical location of Minamisoma City and the FDNPP, with the transition of evacuation zones over time. Minamisoma City is located 14-38 km to the north of the FDNPP. Following the earthquake and subsequent tsunami on March 11, 2011, an initial hydrogen explosion occurred at reactor 1 of the nuclear power plant on March 12, 2011, and the areas within 20 and 30 km radius of the power plant were designated as mandatory evacuation and sheltering zones, respectively. The evacuation zone was expanded (in border, red) on April 22, 2011, and again at later dates, lifting orders from certain places (in border) with the progress of restoration work; however, the order remained in effect primarily in areas with severe contamination near the power plant (in red), as of June 1, 2019. Minamisoma Municipal General Hospital (triangle) is located 23 km north of the power plant, which is within the sheltering zone. Permission for the use of this image has been granted by ESRI Japan Corporation. This figure was reproduced from our previous open-access study under the CC BY-NC license [25]. FDNPP: Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power plant.



Our initial investigation not only evaluated the scope of health information exposure (HIE) among the local patients with cancer at Minamisoma Municipal General Hospital (MMGH) but also included a comparative analysis with patients without cancer to assess differences in HIE between the two groups in the aftermath of the disaster. We found that most participants were regularly exposed to health information [20]. However, our study did not specifically explore HIE facilitated through the internet. We posit that using the residual data from our previous study could provide insight into additional queries in this follow-up study. First, foundational data on the internet use for health information seeking, an active and major form of HIE, such as frequency and the devices used to gain internet access, is vital for understanding the role of the internet in health information seeking. Second, identifying factors associated with health information seeking through the internet is a crucial investigative area for elucidating the demographics accessible and those inaccessible via the internet in postdisaster settings. Our particular interest is the impact of age on digital device use and internet access in these settings, given existing reports indicating a decrease in digital device use among older individuals in nondisaster settings [26].

The primary objectives of this study were to assess the extent and distinctive characteristics of health information seeking through the internet among the patients with cancer at MMGH, located in the area affected by the 2011 Fukushima triple disaster with a particular focus on the presence or absence of cohabitants. This is because it is plausible that family members living with the patient may have learned how to use the internet and have developed the habit of gathering health information on the internet. We also examined the factors associated with health information seeking through the internet. We believe that the findings will aid health care professionals, media, and government entities in tailoring health information delivery to patients with cancer in the aftermath of disasters.

Methods

Settings and Participants

The study setting was a surgery department outpatient office at MMGH (Figure 1 [20]), which is located 23 km to the north of the FDNPP. MMGH is the central hospital of this and treats most of the patients with cancer in these areas. Details of the disaster experience, the subsequent recovery process, and the

care of patients at MMGH and its surgical department can be obtained in our previously published papers [20,27].

Following a previous study [28], this study included all 404 adult patients (18 years old or older) among the total of 493 patients who visited this surgical department outpatient office and agreed to participate in the study from October 17, 2016, to January 31, 2017, with more details on the survey period and the characteristics of patients with cancer and patients without cancer are also available in our previously published paper [20]. The cohort consisted of 263 patients with cancer (median age 67 years; male 30%, n=79) and 141 patients without cancer (median age 63 years; male 46.1%, n=65) who agreed to participate in the study, providing a basis for a comparative analysis of health information seeking via the internet [20]. Individuals without consent or younger than 18 years of age were excluded from this study. As previously reported, to represent the population of 2 million people in Fukushima Prefecture with a 5% margin of error and a 95% CI, a sample size of 384 individuals is required [29]. The number of patients who participated in this study exceeded that amount. Given that the overall study project primarily sought to provide a comprehensive overview of HIE among both patients with and those without cancer in areas affected by disaster, we did not establish inclusion or exclusion criteria predicated on clinical variables among the patient with cancer cohort, encompassing disease stage or the nature of active treatments [20]. The logistic regression analysis was stratified by the presence or absence of cancer.

Survey

We created the survey items by revising previous literature in accordance with the local and postdisaster context of cancer care in Minamisoma City [28,30,31]. Patients who visited the MMGH surgical outpatient department during the study period were included in the study. The survey comprised 3 sections: the first section covered items for health information gathering, internet use, and digital device use; the second section covered items for health status and attitudes toward health care; and the third section covered items for sociodemographic and disaster-related characteristics. In this study, we primarily focused on the answers to items for internet use, digital device use, and sociodemographic and disaster-related characteristics. The detailed survey complication process and outpatient operations were both described in our previous study [20].

Variables

RenderX

Primary Diagnosis and Sociodemographic Factors

When collecting the survey, participants' primary disease was extracted from their medical records and classified as cancer (eg, breast cancer or gastric cancer) or noncancer (eg, trauma and inguinal hernia). Those who were assigned as patients with cancer had already been diagnosed at the time of recruitment into this study.

Use of the Internet and Digital Devices

Frequency of internet use was assessed with the item "How often do you use the internet?" (everyday, once every few days, once per week, once per month, or never). Further, among those

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49897
```

who used the internet at least once per month, we evaluated the purposes by which they use the internet, with the item "For what purposes do you use the internet?" The patients responded whether they used the internet for general information seeking, health information seeking, social networking services, emailing, internet banking, and other purposes, using the 2-point scale (yes or no). Similarly, we assessed the daily use of digital devices with the item "Do you use the following digital devices every day?" for cellular phones (other than smartphones), smartphones, tablet devices, and personal computers. The variables are listed in the results table.

Health Information Seeking Using the Internet

We used the items "How often do you use the internet?" (everyday, once every few days, once per week, once per month, or never) and "For what purposes do you use the internet?" to assess the health information seeking using the internet. We combined the responses to these items and created a variable addressing the participants who use the internet at least once per month for health information seeking, "Health information seeking using the internet," with a 2-point scale (yes or no).

Cohabitant Status

With regard to cohabitant status, we considered a partner, children, family members other than a partner and children, and any type of family member. Those who answered that they lived with these people before or after the earthquake were classified as "Living together with at least one family member either preor postdisaster."

Data Analysis

We performed 3 analyses. First, we made descriptive analyses for variables relating to the internet and digital devices both among patients with cancer and patients without cancer, namely the proportion of those who relied on each source of information, frequency of internet use, and the purposes of the internet use among the patients with cancer who seek information on the internet. Further, we evaluated a proportion of the patients who sought health information using the internet. We used the Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variables and the Fisher exact test or chi-square test for categorical variables, as appropriate, comparing patients with cancer and patients without cancer.

Second, to clarify whether there were any age effects on daily digital device use and health information–seeking behavior on the internet among patients with cancer, we calculated the proportion of those who were engaged in these behaviors, both patients with cancer and patients without cancer. The patients were then categorized according to their age with a 10-year age unit (49 years or younger, 50-59 years, 60-69 years, 70-79 years, and 80 years or older).

Third, to clarify the characteristics of patients with cancer who seek health information using the internet, we constructed a logistic regression model for the binary variable "Health information seeking using the internet." As covariates, we considered all sociodemographic and health-related factors, and daily use of digital devices, using the backward stepwise variable selection method (inclusion criteria P=.05). The primary

interest of this analysis was to detect any association between the exposure to health information and cohabitant status, and covariates other than cohabitant status were also examined in an exploratory manner. The covariates with a small number of participants were regrouped as necessary. We constructed the same model for patients without cancer for comparison. We estimated the variation inflation factor for the variables used in the final model to assess multi-collinearity, using the Stata command "Collin" [32].

As we aimed to examine whether a diagnosis of cancer influences health information seeking via the internet, "Health information seeking using the internet" was set as the primary outcome, with the remaining factors being the independent variables. All analyses were performed using Stata/IC 15.0 (StataCorp LLC).

Ethical Considerations

This study received ethical approval from the MMGH ethics committee (approval 30-10) and Fukushima Medical University (approval 3064). Hospital staff trained for the study briefly explained it to patients who consented to participate and distributed the materials. They were notified that their data would be anonymized and used for academic purposes, and they were also informed that they could withdraw their consent at any time before the paper was submitted to journals. As such, participants in the original study consented to the use of their data obtained in the survey; thus, for this secondary analysis, which used the same data set as the original study, the original informed consent and Institutional Review Board approval sufficiently covered the use of anonymized data without requiring additional consent. No financial compensation was provided to participants, and the study adhered to stringent privacy and confidentiality measures to protect participant information.

Results

Table 1 shows the participants' reliance and use of the internet and digital devices. There was a significant difference in the frequency of internet use between patients with cancer and patients without cancer (P=.05); 39.9% (n=99) of the patients with cancer and 52.2% (n=72) of the patients without cancer used the internet at least once per month, respectively. In patients with cancer, the most popular purpose of internet use was seeking general information (n=85, 86%), followed by seeking health information (n=47, 47%) and emailing (n=33, 33%). In contrast, in patients without cancer, the most popular purpose was seeking general information (n=61, 85%), followed by the use of social networking services (n=30, 42%) and seeking health information (n=24, 33%). With regard to use of the digital devices, the proportion of patients who use smartphones on a daily basis was significantly smaller in patients with cancer than in patients without cancer (n=58, 22.1% vs n=61, 43.3%; P<.001). A proportion of the participants who sought health information on the internet did not differ between patients with cancer and patients without cancer (n=47, 19% vs n=24, 17.4%; P=.71).

Table 2 shows the proportions of the patients with daily digital device use and regular health information seeking on the internet in patients with cancer and those without cancer, with classifications of the patients by 10-year age unit. Among patients with cancer, daily cell phone use peaked at ages 70-79 years (n=39, 53%), while patients without cancer had the highest rates of use at ages 60-69 years (n=25, 66%). In addition, the percentage of tablet use peaked among patients with cancer aged 50-59 years (n=4, 9%), whereas the patients without cancer had the highest percentage of use among those aged 49 years or younger (n=6, 14%). The percentage of patients with cancer who gather health information on the internet peaked at age 49 years or younger (n=13, 46%), while among patients without cancer, the percentage of those who gather health information on the internet peaked at age 50-59 years (n=7, 33%). Personal computer use was highest among patients with cancer at age 49 years or younger (n=13, 46%), whereas it was highest among patients without cancer at age 50-59 years (n=8, 38%). The age groups with the highest percentage of each of the above devices were different for patients with cancer and patients without cancer, but for smartphone use, the highest percentage of both was 49 years old or younger (patients with cancer: n=23, 82%; patients without cancer: n=36, 86%).



Table 1. Participants' reliance and use on the internet and digital devices.

Kaneda et al

	Patients without cancer (n=141)	Patients with cancer (n=263)	P value
Reliance on newsletter, n (%)			.07
Yes	0 (0)	6 (2.3)	
No	141 (100)	257 (97.7)	
Reliance on personal websites, n (%)			.06
Yes	10 (7.1)	8 (3)	
No	131 (92.9)	255 (97)	
Reliance on institutional websites, n (%)			.23
Yes	25 (17.7)	35 (13.3)	
No	116 (82.3)	228 (86.7)	
Reliance on social networking services, n (%)			.37
Yes	4 (2.8)	4 (1.5)	
No	137 (97.2)	259 (98.5)	
Frequency of the internet use ^a , n (%)			.05
Everyday	49 (35.5)	53 (21.4)	
Once per 2 or 3 days	12 (8.7)	24 (9.7)	
Once per week	7 (5.1)	12 (4.8)	
Once per month	4 (2.9)	10 (4)	
None	66 (47.8)	149 (60.1)	
Purposes of internet use (among those who regularly use the internet) ^b , n (%)			
Seeking of general information	61 (84.7)	85 (85.9)	.84
Seeking of health information	24 (33.3)	47 (47.5)	.06
Use of social networking service	30 (41.7)	25 (25.3)	.02
Emailing	22 (30.6)	33 (33.3)	.70
Internet banking	7 (9.7)	4 (4)	.14
Other purposes	4 (5.6)	4 (4)	.64
Daily use of digital devices			
Cellular phones (other than smartphones)	57 (40.4)	116 (44.1)	.48
Smartphones	61 (43.3)	58 (22.1)	<.001
Tablet devices	11 (7.8)	13 (4.9)	.25
Personal computers	28 (19.9)	40 (15.2)	.23
Health information seeking using the internet ^a			.71
Yes	24 (17.4)	47 (19)	
No	114 (82.6)	201 (81)	

^aInformation missing for 3 patients without and 15 patients with cancer.

 b Patients without cancer n=72, and patients with cancer n=99.



Kaneda et al

Table 2.	Proportions of th	e patients v	with daily digital	device use a	and regular h	nealth inforr	nation seeking	on the ir	nternet in j	patients wi	th cancer a	nd
patients w	ithout cancer, wit	th classifica	tions of 10-year	age unit.								

	Cellular phone	Smartphone	Tablet device	Personal computer	Health information collec- tion on the internet
Patients with cancer (age in year	s), n (%)		·		
49 or younger (n=28)	4 (14)	23 (82)	2 (7)	13 (46)	13 (46)
50-59 (n=45)	20 (44)	17 (38)	4 (9)	17 (38)	16 (36)
60-69 (n=79)	42 (53)	13 (16)	5 (6)	5 (6)	12 (15)
70-79 (n=73)	39 (53)	3 (4)	2 (3)	5 (7)	5 (8)
80-89 (n=38)	11 (29)	2 (5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (3)
Patients without cancer, (age in y	ears) n (%)				
49 or younger (n=42)	7 (17)	36 (86)	6 (14)	11 (26)	8 (19)
50-59 (n=21)	5 (24)	16 (76)	1 (5)	8 (38)	7 (33)
60-69 (n=38)	25 (66)	7 (18)	4 (10)	7 (18)	8 (23)
70-79 (n=18)	10 (56)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (6)	0 (0)
80-89 (n=22)	10 (45)	2 (9)	0 (0.0)	1 (5)	1 (5)

Table 3 shows the findings of the multivariable logistic regression analyses for health information seeking using the internet among patients with cancer and patients without cancer. With regard to family cohabitation, patients with cancer who lived together with at least one family member either pre- or postdisaster tended to seek health information using the internet though a difference was not statistically significant (odds ratio [OR] 0.33, 95% CI 0.09-1.17). However, this was not the case for patients without cancer (OR 0.47, 95% CI 0.10-2.17). With regards to other covariates, patients with cancer who used smartphones (OR 3.73, 95% CI 1.58-8.80) or tablet devices (OR 5.08, 95% CI 1.27-20.35) on a daily basis were significantly

more likely to seek health information using the internet. This was also true for patients with cancer who trusted institutional websites (OR 2.87, 95% CI 1.13-7.25). Furthermore, this was also the case for patients with cancer who generally seek information (OR 6.30, 95% CI 2.44-16.29). On the other hand, among patients without cancer, those with no occupation were less likely to seek health information using the internet (OR 0.26, 95% CI 0.08-0.85). In addition, patients without cancer who trusted institutional websites (OR 6.76, 95% CI 2.19-20.88) and personal websites (OR 6.97, 95% CI 1.49-32.58) were more likely to seek health information using the internet.



Kaneda et al

Table 3. Multivariable logistic regression models for health information seeking using the internet among patients with and those without cancera.

Covariates	Patients without car	ncer (n=136) ^b	Patients with cancer (n=243) ^c		
	OR ^d (95% CI)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value	
Living together with at least one family members either pre- or post- disaster		.33		.09	
No	Reference		Reference		
Yes	0.47 (0.10-2.17)		0.33 (0.09-1.17)		
Employment status		.03			
Employed	Reference				
Not employed	0.26 (0.08-0.85)				
Daily use of smartphones				.003	
No			Reference		
Yes			3.73 (1.58-8.80)		
Daily use of tablet devices				.02	
No			Reference		
Yes			5.08 (1.27-20.35)		
Reliance on institutional websites		.001		.03	
No	Reference		Reference		
Yes	6.76 (2.19-20.88)		2.87 (1.13-7.25)		
Reliance on personal websites		.01			
No	Reference				
Yes	6.97 (1.49-32.58)				
General information seeking using the internet				<.001	
No			Reference		
Yes			6.30 (2.44-16.29)		

^aOnly the variables which were kept in the final models for the patients with cancer and patients without cancer are presented in the table. ^bVariation inflation factor of the variables included in the final model ranged from 1.06 to 1.10 and was judged to be sufficiently low. ^cVariation inflation factor of the variables included in the final model ranged from 1.01 to 1.60 and was judged to be sufficiently low. ^dOR: odds ratio.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our study assessing both patients with cancer and patients without cancer in the area affected by the Fukushima triple disaster revealed that fewer than 20% of patients with cancer sourced health information using the internet. It should be noted that the proportion was similar among the patients without cancer, with no statistically significant difference detected. Residing with at least one family member before and after the disaster was associated with the internet use for health information seeking among patients with cancer in a clinically meaningful way, though the difference itself was not statistically significant. On the other hand, daily use of smartphones and tablet devices, reliance on newsletters and institutional websites, and general information seeking were positively associated with this behavior. Additionally, younger individuals seeking web-based health information were more reliant on internet-based sources than older individuals.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49897
```

RenderX

Studies conducted in the United States between 2007 and 2013 indicated that approximately 60% of patients with cancer search for web-based health information under normal circumstances, a finding that was echoed in a study carried out in Singapore from 2015 to 2016 [5,9,33]. However, in this study, we observed a notably lower percentage of patients with cancer using the internet to gather health information. Several explanations are possible for this discrepancy. First, the median age of the patients with cancer in this study was approximately 67, around 10 years older than in the previous studies. Previous studies have identified older age as a barrier to gathering web-based health information [4,7,9]. It is possible that this is also influencing this study, however, in our multiple variable analysis, this factor did not show a statistically significant effect. This indicates that the age of the participants does not completely explain the lower internet use. Hence, it is likely that our patients are not as active in using the internet for information gathering as patients in previous studies. Second, only a small proportion of our patients with cancer used digital devices suitable for internet use, including smartphones (n=58,

22.1%), tablets (n=13, 4.9%), and personal computers (n=40, 15.2%). Given the significant association between daily digital device use and web-based health information seeking, the limited use of these devices likely contributed to the reduced internet use for health information seeking. Third, our study was conducted in a remote area. Minamisoma City was originally remote before the disaster and its remoteness was exacerbated afterward [25]. Studies have indicated that remoteness predicts less frequent internet use for health information seeking [10], suggesting that the city's environment may have affected our findings.

We also found that patients with cancer living with family members tended to seek health information on the internet. Although this association was not statistically significant, we considered this difference as clinically meaningful. Our original hypothesis was that the patients' coliving family members may have helped the patients learn how to use the internet and gain the custom of seeking health information on the internet, and thus, the obtained findings were basically consistent with what we hypothesized. This could be interpreted as patients having extra support in learning how to use the internet from their family members. However, given that there was no significant association between the presence of family members and health information seeking via internet use, the finding does not rule out the possibility that patients with cancer may have gained necessary health information directly from their cohabiting family members simultaneously. Indeed, family members are reported to be key providers of health information for patients with cancer [34], and more likely to seek web-based health-related information, which behavior can even predict family health outcomes [35].

In addition, our results suggested a correlation between patients' information-gathering habits and their use of digital devices, such as smartphones and tablets, as well as their reliance on institutional websites and newsletters. This connection likely stems from the convenience and accessibility of digital devices. With a smartphone or tablet, information is readily available at any time and place, making them crucial tools for staying informed about one's health condition. Additionally, the prevalence of these habits indicates a certain level of digital literacy among the patient population, signifying that these patients can navigate web-based resources to gather pertinent information about their condition. The reliance on newsletters and institutional websites also suggests a preference for curated, reputable, and possibly personalized sources of health-related information. The combination of these factors implies that these habits not only allow patients with cancer to stay informed but also provide them with the tools to take an active role in managing their condition.

There were strong age effects on daily digital device use and web-based health information seeking among patients with cancer. In this study, younger patients showed higher engagement in these behaviors, reflecting potentially enhanced access to digital devices and web-based health information. As such, therefore, as reported in another study [36], it is expected that health information seeking via the internet will become more common among patients with cancer in the future, regardless of whether it is during a disaster or a nondisaster situation.

These circumstances urge the relevant stakeholders, including health care professionals, policy makers, and media outlets, to establish proper strategies to deliver necessary health information on the internet including and beyond the aftermath of the 2011 Fukushima triple disaster. Especially, the delivery of information should not be a one-way process but rather requires tailoring and optimization that consider patients' unique needs, preferences, and digital device use patterns. Moreover, recognizing and implementing these measures not just in crisis situations but also under normal circumstances could serve as a vital approach to enhancing the quality of health care services.

Limitations

There are several limitations to this study. First, the study assessed data from only a single institution and focused exclusively on patients with breast cancer. This may have introduced a gender bias or cultural background influences, potentially affecting the results. Furthermore, the study was not conducted in the context of comparing conditions before and after the disaster, nor did it evaluate the types of health information that patients with cancer sought on the internet. To gain a comprehensive understanding of the information needs of patients with breast cancer, further research, including qualitative studies, is necessary. Moreover, given that this survey was conducted during 2016-2017, its results might not fully capture the impact of recent advancements in information acquisition such as social media and artificial intelligence Although these limitations chatbots. constrain the generalizability of the findings, it is important to note that the majority of patients with cancer are older people and may not be familiar with these new methods of information gathering [37-39], which is particularly relevant in the context of global aging [40]. Therefore, although the robustness of these insights may have limitations, they are deemed potentially valuable for improving strategies to provide health information in environments affected by disasters, especially in regions with advancing aging populations.

Conclusions

In this study, we assessed the prevalence and other characteristics of health information seeking among patients with cancer affected by the 2011 Fukushima triple disaster. We primarily found that only limited patients with cancer sought health information on the internet. In addition, factors, such as treatment status, use of digital devices, reliance on institutional websites and newspapers, and living with family, were identified as significant determinants influencing internet use for health information gathering among patients with cancer compared to patients without cancer. Given that both daily digital device use and health information seeking on the internet were more prevalent in the younger population, their prevalence would increase in the future. Considering these patterns and the likelihood of increased internet use for health information in the future, health care professionals, policy makers, and media outlets should think about specific strategies to deliver necessary health information to patients with cancer in postdisaster settings. Therefore, we believe that health care professionals,

XSL•FO

policy makers, and media outlets should conceive of specific strategies to deliver necessary health information to patients with cancer in postdisaster settings. The present findings should be used to tailor the health information delivery among patients with cancer in disaster settings beyond and including the aftermath of the 2011 Fukushima triple disaster.

Acknowledgments

We express our gratitude to Mr Masatsugu Tanaki and other staff at the Minamisoma Municipal General Hospital for data collection and management. We also express our gratitude to Ms Yuka Harada, Ms Kayo Harada, and Ms Hitomi Sasaki for their constructive opinion on the study. This study was supported by grants from the Toyota Foundation (D17-R-0540), the program of the Network-type Joint Usage/Research Center for Radiation Disaster Medical Science of Hiroshima University, Nagasaki University, and Fukushima Medical University and MRT Inc. The funding sponsors had no role in the design of the study, collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, or in the decision to publish the results. During the preparation of this work, the authors used ChatGPT in order to proofread the manuscript. After using this tool or service, the authors reviewed and edited the content as needed and took full responsibility for the content of the publication.

Data Availability

The data sets generated during or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

YK conducted the analysis and wrote the initial manuscript. AO contributed to patient care, helped conceive and design the study, and managed data collection, cleaning, and analysis. MM contributed to the conception and design of the study. TS contributed to patient care and the study's conception and design and managed data collection. SN, DB, and HS each contributed to the conception and design of the study. M Tsubokura contributed to the study's conception and design and provided financial support. KY and YN similarly contributed to the conception and design of the study, and managed data collection. All authors critically revised the study and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

AO receives personal fees from Medial Network Systems, MNES Inc, outside the submitted work.

References

- Galarce EM, Ramanadhan S, Weeks J, Schneider EC, Gray SW, Viswanath K. Class, race, ethnicity and information needs in post-treatment cancer patients. Patient Educ Couns 2011;85(3):432-439. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2011.01.030</u>] [Medline: <u>21354761</u>]
- 2. Jung M. Determinants of health information-seeking behavior: implications for post-treatment cancer patients. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2014;15(16):6499-6504 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7314/apjcp.2014.15.16.6499] [Medline: 25169477]
- 3. Moldovan-Johnson M, Martinez L, Lewis N, Freres D, Hornik RC. The role of patient-clinician information engagement and information seeking from nonmedical channels in fruit and vegetable intake among cancer patients. J Health Commun 2014;19(12):1359-1376 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2014.906521] [Medline: 24875456]
- 4. Mattsson S, Olsson EMG, Johansson B, Carlsson M. Health-related internet use in people with cancer: results from a cross-sectional study in two outpatient clinics in Sweden. J Med Internet Res 2017;19(5):e163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6830] [Medline: 28506959]
- 5. George GC, Buford A, Hess K, Piha-Paul SA, Zinner R, Subbiah V, et al. Cancer-related internet use and online social networking among patients in an early-phase clinical trials clinic at a comprehensive cancer center. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2018;2:1-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/CCI.17.00030] [Medline: 30652565]
- Helft PR, Eckles RE, Johnson-Calley CS, Daugherty CK. Use of the internet to obtain cancer information among cancer patients at an urban county hospital. J Clin Oncol 2005;23(22):4954-1962. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2005.09.621</u>] [Medline: <u>16051948</u>]
- Nölke L, Mensing M, Krämer A, Hornberg C. Sociodemographic and health-(care-)related characteristics of online health information seekers: a cross-sectional German study. BMC Public Health 2015;15:31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1423-0] [Medline: 25631456]
- Girault A, Ferrua M, Lalloué B, Sicotte C, Fourcade A, Yatim F, et al. Internet-based technologies to improve cancer care coordination: current use and attitudes among cancer patients. Eur J Cancer 2015;51(4):551-557. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2014.12.001] [Medline: 25661828]
- 9. Castleton K, Fong T, Wang-Gillam A, Waqar MA, Jeffe DB, Kehlenbrink L, et al. A survey of internet utilization among patients with cancer. Support Care Cancer 2011;19(8):1183-1190. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-010-0935-5</u>] [Medline: <u>20556435</u>]

- 10. Hale TM, Cotten SR, Drentea P, Goldner M. Rural-urban differences in general and health-related internet use. Am Behav Sci 2010;53(9):1304-1325. [doi: 10.1177/0002764210361685]
- Lee LY, Cazier J, Angelis V, Arnold R, Bisht V, Campton NA, et al. COVID-19 mortality in patients with cancer on chemotherapy or other anticancer treatments: a prospective cohort study. Lancet 2020;395(10241):1919-1926 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31173-9] [Medline: 32473682]
- 12. Lee LYW, Starkey T, Ionescu MC, Little M, Tilby M, Tripathy AR, et al. Vaccine effectiveness against COVID-19 breakthrough infections in patients with cancer (UKCCEP): a population-based test-negative case-control study. Lancet Oncol 2022;23(6):748-757 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(22)00202-9] [Medline: 35617989]
- Shibata A, Saji S, Kamiya K, Yasumura S. Trend in cancer incidence and mortality in Fukushima from 2008 through 2015. J Epidemiol 2021;31(12):653-659 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2188/jea.JE20200202] [Medline: 32963211]
- Ozaki A, Nomura S, Leppold C, Tsubokura M, Tanimoto T, Yokota T, et al. Breast cancer patient delay in Fukushima, Japan following the 2011 triple disaster: a long-term retrospective study. BMC Cancer 2017;17(1):423 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3412-4] [Medline: 28629330]
- Ozaki A, Nomura S, Leppold C, Tsubokura M, Sawano T, Tsukada M, et al. Breast cancer provider interval length in Fukushima, Japan, after the 2011 triple disaster: a long-term retrospective study. Clin Breast Cancer 2020;20(2):e127-e150. [doi: 10.1016/j.clbc.2019.07.008] [Medline: 31980405]
- 16. Monaghesh E, Hajizadeh A. The role of telehealth during COVID-19 outbreak: a systematic review based on current evidence. BMC Public Health 2020;20(1):1193 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09301-4] [Medline: 32738884]
- Holderried TAW, Hecker K, Reh L, Kirschner M, Walter J, Brossart P, et al. The potential of eHealth for cancer patients—does COVID-19 pandemic change the attitude towards use of telemedicine services? PLoS One 2023;18(2):e0280723 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0280723] [Medline: <u>36763640</u>]
- Tsubokura M, Onoue Y, Torii HA, Suda S, Mori K, Nishikawa Y, et al. Twitter use in scientific communication revealed by visualization of information spreading by influencers within half a year after the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power plant accident. PLoS One 2018;13(9):e0203594 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203594] [Medline: 30192829]
- Jin R, Lim HJ, Hamilton S, Ingledew P. Viral disease goes viral: characterizing how cancer patients use internet resources for COVID-19 information. J Cancer Educ 2023;38(2):431-439 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-022-02136-0] [Medline: 35022989]
- 20. Ozaki A, Murakami M, Nomura S, Sawano T, Tsubokura M, Ono K, et al. Overall health information exposure, its barriers and impacts on attitude toward healthcare among cancer patients. the long-term aftermath of the 2011 triple disaster in Fukushima, Japan: a single institution cross-sectional study. Health Inf J 2021;27(2):1460458221996420 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458221996420] [Medline: 33878956]
- Zhang H, Yan W, Oba A, Zhang W. Radiation-driven migration: the case of Minamisoma City, Fukushima, Japan, after the Fukushima nuclear accident. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2014;11(9):9286-9305 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph110909286] [Medline: 25207491]
- 22. Nomura S, Blangiardo M, Tsubokura M, Ozaki A, Morita T, Hodgson S. Postnuclear disaster evacuation and chronic health in adults in Fukushima, Japan: a long-term retrospective analysis. BMJ Open 2016;6(2):e010080 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010080] [Medline: 26846896]
- 23. Morita T, Nomura S, Furutani T, Leppold C, Tsubokura M, Ozaki A, et al. Demographic transition and factors associated with remaining in place after the 2011 Fukushima nuclear disaster and related evacuation orders. PLoS One 2018;13(3):e0194134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194134] [Medline: 29538442]
- 24. Tsubokura M. Exposure and current health issues in Minamisoma. Ann ICRP 2016;45(2_suppl):129-134. [doi: 10.1177/0146645316666708] [Medline: 27630157]
- Ochi S, Tsubokura M, Kato S, Iwamoto S, Ogata S, Morita T, et al. Hospital staff shortage after the 2011 triple disaster in Fukushima, Japan—an earthquake, tsunamis, and nuclear power plant accident: a case of the soso district. PLoS One 2016;11(10):e0164952 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0164952] [Medline: 27788170]
- 26. Inouye SK, Ganguli I, Jacobs EA. Enhancing aging and ending ageism: JAMA network open call for papers. JAMA Netw Open 2021;4(6):e2117621. [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.17621] [Medline: 34132798]
- 27. Kodama Y, Oikawa T, Hayashi K, Takano M, Nagano M, Onoda K, et al. Impact of natural disaster combined with nuclear power plant accidents on local medical services: a case study of Minamisoma municipal general hospital after the great east Japan earthquake. Disaster Med Public Health Prep 2014;8(6):471-476. [doi: 10.1017/dmp.2014.112] [Medline: 25427564]
- 28. Shim M, Kelly B, Hornik R. Cancer information scanning and seeking behavior is associated with knowledge, lifestyle choices, and screening. J Health Commun 2006;11 Suppl 1:157-172. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730600637475</u>] [Medline: <u>16641081</u>]
- Serdar CC, Cihan M, Yücel D, Serdar MA. Sample size, power and effect size revisited: simplified and practical approaches in pre-clinical, clinical and laboratory studies. Biochem Med (Zagreb) 2021;31(1):010502 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.11613/BM.2021.010502] [Medline: <u>33380887</u>]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49897
```

- 30. Kelly B, Hornik R, Romantan A, Schwartz JS, Armstrong K, DeMichele A, et al. Cancer information scanning and seeking in the general population. J Health Commun 2010;15(7):734-753 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2010.514029] [Medline: 21104503]
- 31. Levine DM, Lipsitz SR, Linder JA. Trends in seniors' use of digital health technology in the United States, 2011-2014. JAMA 2016;316(5):538-540. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.9124] [Medline: 27483069]
- 32. Williams R. Multicollinearity. 2015. URL: https://www3.nd.edu/~rwilliam/stats2/111.pdf [accessed 2024-04-27]
- Chua GP, Tan HK, Gandhi M. Information sources and online information seeking behaviours of cancer patients in Singapore. Ecancermedicalscience 2018;12:880 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2018.880] [Medline: 30483360]
- 34. Ozaki A, Leppold C, Sawano T, Tsubokura M, Tsukada M, Tanimoto T, et al. Social isolation and cancer management—advanced rectal cancer with patient delay following the 2011 triple disaster in Fukushima, Japan: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2017;11(1):138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13256-017-1306-3] [Medline: 28506309]
- 35. Jia X, Pang Y, Liu LS. Online health information seeking behavior: a systematic review. Healthcare (Basel) 2021;9(12):1740 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare9121740] [Medline: 34946466]
- 36. Holmes MM. Why people living with and beyond cancer use the internet. Integr Cancer Ther 2019;18:1534735419829830 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1534735419829830] [Medline: 30741026]
- 37. Cinar D, Tas D. Cancer in the elderly. North Clin Istanb 2015;2(1):73-80 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14744/nci.2015.72691] [Medline: 28058345]
- 38. Reyes EPG, Kelly R, Buchanan G, Waycott J. Understanding older adults' experiences with technologies for health self-management: interview study. JMIR Aging 2023;6:e43197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/43197] [Medline: 36943333]
- Zaman SB, Khan RK, Evans RG, Thrift AG, Maddison R, Islam SMS. Exploring barriers to and enablers of the adoption of information and communication technology for the care of older adults with chronic diseases: scoping review. JMIR Aging 2022;5(1):e25251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25251] [Medline: <u>34994695</u>]
- 40. Lunenfeld B, Stratton P. The clinical consequences of an ageing world and preventive strategies. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2013;27(5):643-659 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2013.02.005] [Medline: 23541823]

Abbreviations

FDNPP: Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power plant **HIE:** health information exposure **MMGH:** Minamisoma Municipal General Hospital **OR:** odds ratio

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 13.06.23; peer-reviewed by YT Chang, Z Ping; comments to author 28.02.24; revised version received 21.03.24; accepted 31.05.24; published 21.08.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Kaneda Y, Ozaki A, Murakami M, Sawano T, Nomura S, Bhandari D, Saito H, Tsubokura M, Yamaoka K, Nakata Y, Tsukada M, Ohira H

Health Information Seeking on the Internet Among Patients With and Without Cancer in a Region Affected by the 2011 Fukushima Triple Disaster: Cross-Sectional Study

JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e49897 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e49897</u> doi:<u>10.2196/49897</u> PMID:

©Yudai Kaneda, Akihiko Ozaki, Michio Murakami, Toyoaki Sawano, Shuhei Nomura, Divya Bhandari, Hiroaki Saito, Masaharu Tsubokura, Kazue Yamaoka, Yoshinori Nakata, Manabu Tsukada, Hiromichi Ohira. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 21.08.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Digital Smoking Cessation Intervention for Cancer Survivors: Analysis of Predictors and Moderators of Engagement and Outcome Alongside a Randomized Controlled Trial

Rosa Andree¹, MSc; Ajla Mujcic², PhD; Wouter den Hollander¹, PhD; Margriet van Laar¹, PhD; Brigitte Boon^{3,4,5}, PhD; Rutger Engels⁶, PhD; Matthijs Blankers^{1,7}, PhD

¹Trimbos Institute, Netherlands Institute of Mental Health and Addiction, Utrecht, Netherlands

²PsyQ, Parnassia Groep, The Hague, Netherlands

⁶Erasmus School of Social and Behavioural Sciences, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Rotterdam, Netherlands

⁷Department of Research, Arkin Mental Health Care, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Corresponding Author:

Rosa Andree, MSc Trimbos Institute Netherlands Institute of Mental Health and Addiction Da Costakade 45 Utrecht, 3521 VS Netherlands Phone: 31 30 29 59 267 Email: <u>randree@trimbos.nl</u>

Abstract

Background: Recent studies have shown positive, though small, clinical effects of digital smoking cessation (SC) interventions for cancer survivors. However, research on associations among participant characteristics, intervention engagement, and outcomes is limited.

Objective: This study aimed to explore the predictors and moderators of engagement and outcome of MyCourse-Quit Smoking (in Dutch: "MijnKoers-Stoppen met Roken"), a digital minimally guided intervention for cancer survivors.

Methods: A secondary analysis of data from the randomized controlled trial was performed. The number of cigarettes smoked in the past 7 days at 6-month follow-up was the primary outcome measure. We analyzed interactions among participant characteristics (11 variables), intervention engagement (3 variables), and outcome using robust linear (mixed) modeling.

Results: In total, 165 participants were included in this study. Female participants accessed the intervention less often than male participants (B=-11.12; *P*=.004). A higher Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test score at baseline was associated with a significantly higher number of logins (B=1.10; *P*<.001) and diary registrations (B=1.29; *P*<.001). A higher Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence score at baseline in the intervention group was associated with a significantly larger reduction in tobacco use after 6 months (B=-9.86; *P*=.002). No other associations and no moderating effects were found.

Conclusions: Overall, a limited number of associations was found between participant characteristics, engagement, and outcome, except for gender, problematic alcohol use, and nicotine dependence. Future studies are needed to shed light on how this knowledge can be used to improve the effects of digital SC programs for cancer survivors.

Trial Registration: Netherlands Trial register NTR6011/NL5434; https://onderzoekmetmensen.nl/nl/trial/22832

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e46303) doi:10.2196/46303

KEYWORDS

RenderX

smoking cessation; cancer survivors; engagement; digital intervention; eHealth; smoking; intervention; randomized controlled trial; predictor; RCT; smoking; smoker; addict; cessation; quit; cancer; oncology

³Siza, Center for Long-term Care for People with Disabilities, Arnhem, Netherlands

⁴Academy Het Dorp, Research & Advisory on Technology in Long-term Care, Arnhem, Netherlands

⁵Tranzo, Tilburg School of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Tilburg University, Tilburg, Netherlands

Introduction

Background

In the past decade, digital interventions have commonly been used to target addictive behaviors, including smoking cessation (SC). Several systematic reviews have shown that these SC interventions can be effective, albeit with generally small effect sizes [1-4]. For example, the Cochrane review by Taylor et al [4] showed that the use of web-based SC interventions resulted in significantly higher rates of smoking abstinence compared to nonactive control groups, 6 months after randomization (risk ratio=1.15). Cancer survivors are a growing population who can benefit considerably from SC. Yet, the prevalence of people who smoke is about the same as in the general population, and research on effective digital SC interventions for cancer survivors is scarce [3]. Accordingly, not much is known about active ingredients or engagement factors of SC interventions targeting cancer survivors [5], despite engagement being an important moderator of the effect of digital SC interventions [6]. It is therefore important to look more closely into the predictors and moderators of engagement and outcome among this target group.

Although the primary effects of digital SC interventions are moderately positive on average, there is room for improvement. One possible explanation for the modest effects of digital SC interventions is the generally low adherence rates. Taylor et al [4] found that 18 out of 34 web-based SC studies had more than 50% attrition at follow-up. Analyzing whether the uptake of specific intervention components is related to better intervention outcomes increases the understanding of primary intervention effects [7]. Some studies on addictive behaviors investigated the relationship between intervention engagement and outcome [8-10]. A study by Perski et al [8] found that participants who completed more (varied) exercises had 64% higher odds of SC compared to participants who almost exclusively set an SC goal. Siemer et al [10], examining adherence to a blended SC intervention, revealed a dose-response relationship between the number of executed activities and smoking abstinence. Another study by Ramos et al [9] also found that intervention engagement, in terms of number of logins, forum visits, and number of participation badges, was a strong predictor of successful SC. Not all studies have shown that intervention engagement predicts intervention effectiveness, even contradictory effects are found. For example, Smith et al [11] showed that engagement with particular components of a digital SC intervention can be counterproductive when the content does not fit the participants' needs.

Behavior change programs targeting SC notoriously encounter challenges when trying to reach target groups with the highest smoking rates (eg, groups with lower socioeconomic status [12] and groups with low literacy [13]). In addition, it could be useful for the improvement of intervention content and implementation to identify which characteristics predict engagement. This will help to improve the content and design of the intervention for the right target group [7,14]. Several studies have related digital SC intervention use to participant characteristics [8,15-17]. These studies showed that digital SC interventions were used longer or more frequently by older participants [8,15] and women [16]. Participants who had lower education, smoked more heavily, and had depressive symptoms were found to be less engaged with the digital SC intervention [17].

There is some evidence on the effects of digital SC interventions for cancer survivors. For example, a meta-analytic study by Mujcic et al [3] showed that digital and nondigital distance-based SC interventions for cancer survivors led to significantly reduced smoking rates compared to baseline (risk difference=0.29). However, research on the predictors and moderators of engagement and outcome of digital SC studies for cancer survivors is limited, while cancer survivors are a growing and diverse population [18]. A pilot study by Bricker et al [18] of an application on SC for cancer survivors showed greater acceptability, use, and effectiveness when compared to the national SC app for the general population.

This Study

In this study, we aim to investigate the predictors and moderators of engagement and outcome of a minimally guided digital intervention for cancer survivors called MyCourse-Quit Smoking (in Dutch "MijnKoers-Stoppen met Roken") in a secondary analysis. The main effects study did not find a differential effect on SC between intervention and control at 6 months. In both groups, around a quarter abstained from smoking, and the number of cigarettes smoked was cut back by half [19]. With this secondary analysis, we aim to answer the following research questions: (1) Are participant characteristics related to intervention engagement at 6-month follow-up? (2) Is intervention engagement associated with tobacco use at 6-month follow-up? (3) Are participant characteristics related to tobacco use at 6-month follow-up?

Methods

Design

For this paper, an exploratory secondary data analysis was carried out using data from a randomized controlled trial on the MyCourse-Quit Smoking digital intervention. The data used for this study were collected between November 2016 and September 2019.

Ethical Considerations

Ethics approval for the trial was acquired from an accredited medical research and ethics committee in The Netherlands (Toetsingscommissie Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Rotterdam e.o. NL55921.101.16). Participants provided digital informed consent before inclusion in the trial [20]. Data were deidentified before processing or analysis. Identifying data were stored separately from research data. For each completed follow-up assessment, they were reimbursed €25 (approximately US \$30).

Procedure

A web-based screening questionnaire on the study website determined whether people were able to participate in the study. Eligible participants received an informed consent form via mail and had 30 days to sign the form. In the meantime, participants had the possibility to contact the research team or an independent physician for more information. After signing

the informed consent form, they were asked to fill out a baseline questionnaire and were allocated to either the MyCourse group or the control group. Individuals in the control group were provided access to a noninteractive web-based informational brochure regarding the hazards associated with smoking and strategies for SC. The informational content encompassed both general SC information and content tailored to the unique needs of cancer survivors. Follow-up measurements were conducted at 3, 6, and 12 months after randomization. The study was conducted completely over the web, but after continued nonresponse, participants received a reminder by telephone. A more extensive description of the randomized controlled trial

study procedures can be found elsewhere [20].

Participants

For the study, 165 adults who were diagnosed with any form of cancer in the past 10 years were recruited. Other eligibility criteria included having a PC or laptop in addition to an internet connection at home, having smoked 5 or more cigarettes per day in the past 7 days, having the intention and ability to participate in the 12-month study, and having the intention to quit smoking cigarettes. People who were pregnant; had insufficient mastery of the Dutch language; or self-reported suicidal ideation, dementia, severe depression, severe alcohol dependence, or acute psychosis were not eligible to participate in the study.

MyCourse Intervention

MyCourse-Quit Smoking is a digital minimally guided intervention that provides support for SC among cancer survivors. The intervention is based on empirically evaluated therapeutic approaches for SC in the general population: cognitive behavioral therapy [21], motivational interviewing [22], and acceptance and commitment therapy [23]. The intervention can be accessed via PC, tablet, and smartphone. At first login, participants receive instructions to set up a quit plan and gain access to 13 different exercises, information about smoking, quitting, and cancer, a web-based diary to track their tobacco use, and a peer support platform [20]. Exercises focused on different topics including previous experiences, high-risk situations, self-control measures, reinforcement, relapse prevention, and acceptance and commitment therapy. For the complete structure of the intervention, see Figure 3 in the protocol paper [20]. After the first login, all parts of the intervention could be accessed, and participants were free to choose how often and which parts of the intervention they wanted to use. Participants were only advised to use the intervention daily for 4 weeks.

Measures

XSL•FO

The primary outcome measure in this study was the number of cigarettes smoked in the past 7 days at 6-month follow-up. Intervention engagement was measured using 3 indicators: the number of logins into the MyCourse-Quit Smoking intervention, the number of self-monitoring registrations of smoking urges and smoked cigarettes, and the number of completed intervention exercises. The following participant characteristics were extracted from the participant records: gender, age, educational level (higher or lower, where the minimum for the

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46303
```

higher educational level was an academic university or university of applied sciences degree), and living situation (alone or together). We specifically looked at the presence of lung cancer and breast cancer (yes or no) among the participants in the analyses because lung cancer has a direct relationship with smoking and breast cancer was the most common type of cancer in the sample. In addition, patients with cancer at other sites were included in the analyses. Furthermore, the number of cancer sites (1 or >1) distinguished participants who reported that they had received multiple cancer diagnoses. The severity of nicotine dependence was measured by the 6-item Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence (FTND) [24]. Problematic alcohol use was measured using the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) [25], a 10-item questionnaire on alcohol consumption patterns and problems experienced due to alcohol consumption. The AUDIT score was included as a variable because research has shown that people with a high risk of problematic alcohol use have a harder time quitting smoking and may benefit from different types of SC treatment [26,27]. The EQ-5D was used to measure the quality of life [28]. Comorbid anxiety, depression, and somatic symptoms were indicated using the Brief Symptom Inventory-18 questionnaire [29].

Statistical Analysis

Imputation of Missing Data

Missing data for primary (ie, cigarettes smoked in the past 7 days) and secondary (ie, participant characteristics) outcome measures were multiple imputed (number of imputations=50) based on the intention-to-treat principle using the predictive mean matching method from the mice package in R (R Foundation for Statistical Computing) [29]. At the 6-month follow-up, the nonresponse rate (ie, participants who did not complete the 6-month questionnaire) was 27.7% (23/83) in the intervention group and 25.6% (21/82) in the control group. Data on intervention usage were not imputed. For the analyses containing engagement measures, participants who did not log in once were excluded.

Regression Analyses

Data were analyzed using R [30]. Bonferroni correction was applied in all analyses. The association between intervention engagement and participant characteristics within the intervention group was analyzed with a robust linear regression using the MASS package [31]. Whether participant characteristics and intervention engagement predicted intervention outcome within the intervention group was analyzed using robust linear mixed modeling (RLMM) with a random intercept using the robustlmm package [32]. RLMM is an effective analytical approach to account for outliers or skewed data [32]. The moderation analyses to investigate whether the study condition moderated the effect between participant characteristics and outcome were performed using RLMM with a random intercept and study condition × participant characteristics as the interaction term. This analysis is performed to assess whether the study condition (ie, being in the intervention group compared to the control group) moderates the association between participant characteristics and outcome. Model estimates, 95% CIs, and P values are reported. All base

case analyses followed the intention-to-treat principle and used multiple imputed data sets. Sensitivity analyses were performed using observed data only.

Results

Sample Characteristics

Participant characteristics are shown in Table 1. The majority of participants were female (136/165, 82.4%), the mean age

Table 1.	Baseline	characteristics.
----------	----------	------------------

was 54.2 (SD 11.2) years, 29.1% (48/165) were living alone, and 41.2% (68/165) had completed higher education. On average, participants had smoked for 34.5 (SD 12.0) years and smoked 100 (SD 51.2) cigarettes per week. The main clinical effects of the MyCourse intervention and the results of the cost-effectiveness analysis can be found elsewhere [19].

Characteristics	MyCourse (n=83) ^a	Control (n=82)	Total (N=165) ^a
Sex, n (%)			
Female	70 (84.3)	66 (80.5)	136 (82.4)
Male	13 (15.7)	16 (19.5)	29 (17.6)
Age (years), mean (SD)	55.0 (12.1)	53.3 (10.3)	54.2 (11.2)
Higher education, n (%)			
Yes	25 (30.1)	19 (23.2)	44 (26.7)
No	49 (59.0)	48 (58.5)	97 (58.8)
Living situation, n (%)			
Living alone	22 (26.5)	26 (31.7)	48 (29.1)
Living together	61 (73.5)	56 (68.3)	117 (70.9)
Smoking behavior , mean (SD)			
Years smoked	34.4 (11.8)	34.6 (12.2)	34.5 (12)
Number of cigarettes in past 7 days	101.8 (54.3)	98.2 (48.2)	100 (51.2)
FTND ^b	4.9 (2.4)	4.9 (2.3)	4.9 (2.4)
Drinking behavior			
Drank alcohol in last month, n (%)	55 (66.3)	55 (67.1)	110 (66.7)
Number of drinks in past 7 days, mean (SD)	6.9 (13.1)	5.6 (8.7)	6.2 (11.2)
AUDIT ^c , mean score (SD)	3.7 (5.1)	3.6 (4.2)	3.6 (4.7)
Cancer diagnosis, ^d n (%)			
Breast	42 (42.9)	33 (34)	75 (38.5)
Lung	14 (14.3)	9 (9.3)	23 (11.8)
Uterine	7 (7.1)	12 (12.4)	19 (9.7)
Head and neck	10 (10.2)	8 (8.2)	18 (9.2)
Colon	5 (5.1)	5 (5.2)	10 (5.1)
Other (including bladder, lymphatic, melanoma, skin, kidney, prostate)	20 (20.4)	30 (30.9)	50 (25.6)
Cancer sites, n (%)			
1	69 (83.1)	68 (82.9)	137 (83)
2 or 3	14 (16.9)	14 (17.1)	28 (17)

Participant Characteristics and Intervention Engagement

baseline characteristics mentioned in Table 1, only the number of patients with uterine cancer differed significantly between the 2 groups (P<.05), with 5 patients with uterine cancer who did not log in once and 2 patients with uterine cancer that logged in at least once. In total, 82 participants in the control group were not included in the analysis. Among the 56 MyCourse users, the average number of logins was 21 (SD 41.0; median

Of all 83 participants of the intervention group, 56 people logged into the MyCourse portal at least once and thus were included in the analysis. When comparing the 56 people who logged in at least once with the 27 people who did not log in once at all

5.5, IQR 3-18.5), the average amount of self-monitoring registrations was 31 (SD 53.9; median 5, IQR 2-22), and the average amount of completed exercises was 6.5 (SD 5.1; median 4, IQR 2-12). As shown in Table 2, female participants showed a significantly lower number of logins in the MyCourse-Quit Smoking intervention than male participants (P=.004). The

relationship between sex and other indicators of intervention engagement was nonsignificant. Furthermore, a higher AUDIT score at baseline was associated with a significantly higher number of logins (P<.001) and diary registrations (P<.001) but not with the number of completed exercises (P=.05).

Table 2.	The association between	baseline participar	nt characteristics and	intervention engagemen	t (N=56).
Table 2.	The association between	buseline purticipui	it characteristics and	miler vention engagemen	

	1 1		00	. ,		
	Logins		Diary entries		Exercises	
	B (95% CI)	P values ^a	B (95% CI)	P values ^a	B (95% CI)	P values ^a
Age (years)	0.25 (-0.10 to 0.60)	.16	0.40 (-0.16 to 0.96)	.16	0.08 (-0.06 to 0.22)	.28
Sex						
Male (n=8)	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Female (n=48)	-11.12 (-18.70 to -3.55)	.004 ^b	-11.85 (-24.25 to 0.54)	.06	-2.24 (-6.43 to 1.94)	.29
Higher education						
No (n=40)	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Yes (n=16)	3.08 (-4.10 to 10.26)	.40	4.43 (-4.71 to 13.57)	.34	1.71 (-1.24 to 4.67)	.26
Living situation						
Alone (n=11)	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Together (n=45)	0.32 (-7.46 to 8.11)	.94	0.72 (-10.64 to 12.08)	.90	-0.43 (-3.90 to 3.04)	.81
FTND ^c	-0.15 (-1.51 to 1.22)	.83	-0.33 (-2.32 to 1.66)	.75	0.15 (-0.46 to 0.75)	.64
EQ-5D	-4.88 (-21.59 to 11.84)	.57	-9.43 (-33.30 to 14.44)	.44	-4.25 (-11.37 to 2.87)	.24
BSI-18 ^d	-3.57 (-8.36 to 1.23)	.15	-5.07 (-11.46 to 1.32)	.12	-1.30 (-3.48 to 0.87)	.24
AUDIT ^e	1.10 (0.60 to 1.61)	<.001 ^f	1.29 (0.62 to 1.95)	<.001	0.25 (0.00 to 0.50)	.05
Diagnosis of lung cancer						
No (n=47)	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Yes (n=9)	-2.19 (-10.48 to 6.09)	.60	-3.01 (-15.04 to 9.02)	.62	1.30 (-2.36 to 4.96)	.49
Diagnosis of breast cancer						
No (n=25)	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Yes (n=31)	3.70 (-2.59 to 9.99)	.25	5.94 (-1.87 to 13.74)	.14	1.65 (-1.07 to 4.37)	.24
Cancer sites						
1 (n=47)	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
2 or 3 (n=9)	-2.75 (-11.29 to 5.79)	.53	-3.88 (-17.73 to 9.98)	.58	0.64 (-3.04 to 4.31)	.73

 ^{a}A Bonferroni correction was applied based on 11 tests resulting in an α of .0045.

^bFemale participants showed a significantly lower number of logins in the MyCourse-Quit Smoking intervention than male participants.

^cFTND: Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence.

^dBSI-18: Brief Symptom Inventory-18.

^eAUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test.

 $^{\rm f}$ A higher AUDIT score at baseline was associated with a significantly higher number of logins and diary registrations but not with the number of completed exercises.

Intervention Engagement, Participant Characteristics, and Smoking Behavior

Table 3 shows the outcomes of the analysis on the association between intervention engagement and smoking behavior among the 56 participants who logged in to the MyCourse portal at least once. No significant effects were found between intervention engagement and smoking behavior. Table 3 also

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46303

shows the association between several participant characteristics and smoking behavior among the 83 participants of the intervention group. The results show that a higher FTND score at baseline is associated with a significantly greater reduction of the 7-day sum of smoked cigarettes after 6 months in the intervention group (P=.002). None of the other participant characteristics or measures of engagement predicted smoking behavior at 6 months.

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 3. The relationship between participant characteristics and intervention engagement with smoking behavior.

Characteristics	Effect on 7-day tobacco use at 6-month follow-up						
	B (95% CI)	<i>P</i> values ^a					
Age (years) (n=83)	0.70 (-0.89 to 2.29)	.39					
Sex							
Male (n=13)	Reference	Reference					
Female (n=70)	-5.71 (-51.07 to 39.65)	.81					
Higher education							
No (n=58)	Reference	Reference					
Yes (n=25)	-2.16 (-37.12 to 32.80)	.90					
Living situation							
Alone (n=22)	Reference	Reference					
Together (n=61)	-1.04 (-38.13 to 36.05)	.96					
FTND ^b (n=83)	-9.86 (-15.95 to -3.76)	.002 ^c					
EQ-5D (n=83)	17.28 (-64.19 to 98.74)	.68					
BSI-18 ^d (n=83)	1.25 (-27.43 to 29.94)	.93					
AUDIT ^e (n=83)	2.38 (-0.76 to 5.53)	.14					
Diagnosis of lung cancer							
No (n=69)	Reference	Reference					
Yes (n=14)	19.84 (-10.95 to 50.62)	.21					
Diagnosis of breast cancer							
No (n=41)	Reference	Reference					
Yes (n=42)	11.77 (-32.27 to 55.81)	.60					
Cancer sites							
1 (n=69)	Reference	Reference					
2 or 3 (n=14)	53.77 (13.70 to 93.83)	.009					
Number of logins (n=56)	-0.13 (-0.55 to 0.30)	.56					
Number of diary entries (n=56)	-0.02 (-0.35 to 0.30)	.88					
Number of exercises (n=56)	0.19 (-3.31 to 3.69)	.92					

 aA Bonferroni correction was applied based on 14 tests resulting in an α of .004.

^bFTND: Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence.

 ^{c}A higher FTND score at baseline is associated with a significantly greater reduction of the 7-day sum of smoked cigarettes after 6 months in the intervention group.

^dBSI-18: Brief Symptom Inventory-18.

^eAUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test.

Moderation Analysis

Table 4 reports the outcomes of the moderation analysis on the interaction effect of participant characteristics and study

condition on the number of cigarettes smoked in the past 7 days among the 165 participants at 6-month follow-up. No significant effects were found in this analysis.



Andree et al

Table 4. Moderation analysis of study condition on the relationship between participant characteristics and smoking behavior.

Characteristic Participant characteristic × randomized controlled trial condition 7-day tobacco use at 6-n follow-up (N=165)				
	B (95% CI)	P values ^a		
Age (years)	1.229 (-1.06 to 3.52)	.29		
Sex				
Male (n=29)	Reference	Reference		
Female (n=136)	-11.7 (-73.76 to 50.36)	.71		
Higher education				
No (n=121)	Reference	Reference		
Yes (n=44)	-25.21 (-77.18 to 26.76)	.34		
Living situation				
Alone (n=48)	Reference	Reference		
Together (n=117)	7.989 (-43.59 to 59.57)	.76		
FTND ^b	-3.624 (-12.20 to 4.95)	.41		
EQ-5D	45.117 (-75.26 to 165.49)	.46		
BSI-18 ^c	-12.024 (-55.66 to 31.61)	.59		
AUDIT ^d	4.155 (-1.04 to 9.35)	.12		
Diagnosis of lung cancer				
No (n=142)	Reference	Reference		
Yes (n=23)	42.98 (-24.59 to 110.55)	.21		
Diagnosis of breast cancer				
No (n=90)	Reference	Reference		
Yes (n=75)	9.25 (-36.89 to 55.39)	.69		
Cancer sites				
1 (n=137)	Reference	Reference		
2 or 3 (n=28)	81.71 (22.50 to 140.91)	.007		

 aA Bonferroni correction was applied based on 11 tests resulting in an α of .0045.

^bFTND: Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence.

^cBSI-18: Brief Symptom Inventory-18.

^dAUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test.

Sensitivity Analysis

The association between sex and the number of logins on the nonimputed data did not reach significance after the Bonferroni correction (P=.006). The association between the FTND and 7-day cigarette smoking at 6-month follow-up in the nonimputed data did not reach significance after Bonferroni correction (P=.10). In the moderation analysis, after Bonferroni correction on the nonimputed data, the interaction effect of the number of cancer sites and study condition on smoking behavior reached significance (P=.002). For all other analyses, the results did not change significantly. Detailed results of the sensitivity analyses can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this study, we evaluated hypothesized predictors and moderators of intervention engagement and smoking behavior in MyCourse-Quit Smoking, a digital SC intervention for cancer survivors. With regard to the relationship between participant characteristics and intervention engagement, it was found that female participants logged on significantly less often than male participants. This effect should nevertheless be interpreted with caution since the number of male participants in the sample was low (n=8). Moreover, previous research shows that female participants are generally more engaged in digital SC interventions than male participants [16,33-37]. A significant positive association between the baseline AUDIT score at intervention engagement was found; a higher AUDIT score at

XSL∙F() RenderX

baseline was related to a higher number of logins and diary registrations in the MyCourse intervention. There was no effect of the baseline AUDIT score on the number of completed exercises. Previous studies showed that participants with a higher risk of alcohol dependence had a harder time to quit smoking, and therefore needed more support from the intervention, as demonstrated in several previous studies [26,27]. Toll et al [27] showed that people who drink more heavily were less likely to quit smoking, but problematic alcohol use was not measured. Sells et al [26] pointed out that people with a high risk of problematic alcohol use may need more intensive intervention in order to quit smoking, whereas people with a high risk of problematic alcohol use were defined with an AUDIT score higher than 7. However, in this study, we did not find an effect of the AUDIT score on smoking behavior. Furthermore, participants of the MyCourse-Quit Smoking trial had generally low AUDIT scores (mean 3.6, SD 4.7), and few participants with a score higher than 7 (21/165).

Regarding the association between participant characteristics and smoking behavior, we found that participants of the MyCourse intervention who had higher nicotine dependence scores at baseline showed a greater reduction in the number of smoked cigarettes in the past 7 days at the 6-month follow-up. This negative association between nicotine dependence at baseline and tobacco use at follow-up is a reasonable finding because it is likely that less addicted participants at baseline already smoke fewer cigarettes than highly addicted participants, and therefore, a smaller reduction of cigarettes at 6 months is possible. This finding does not indicate whether heavier nicotine dependence predicts SC, as participants can greatly reduce the number of smoked cigarettes but not enough to completely quit smoking. Previous research shows that, in general, less severe nicotine dependence is associated with a higher SC rate [38,39].

The analyses on the association between intervention engagement (ie, the number of logins, self-monitoring registrations, and exercises) and the outcome did not yield any significant effects. This study showed the overall prevailing pattern of the majority of participants quitting the use of the intervention in the first few days and a smaller group that uses the intervention for a longer period [40]. However, other studies on digital SC interventions have shown a dose-response relationship between intervention engagement and outcome [9,10,41], with higher engagement predicting greater SC rates, although this is sometimes limited to certain engagement measures [34] or with low quality of the evidence due to low follow-up rates [9]. For example, Heminger et al [34] did not find a significant association between program dose and SC, but the use of specific intervention elements (eg, making a pledge toward a smoke-free life and tracking saved money and health benefits gained after quitting) was associated with SC. For future research, it is therefore important to properly define engagement, differentiate between indicators of engagement,

and use empirically effective intervention techniques in order to enhance engagement [6].

The moderation analysis did not yield any significant effects. This indicates that being in the intervention group, compared to the control group, does not amplify the effect between any of the participant's characteristics and tobacco use, and hence no specific participant characteristic renders participants more or less likely to be successful when participating in the MyCourse intervention.

Limitations

The initial study was 80% powered to detect a relative risk of 2.1 in SC [20], while this explored different outcome variables, potential moderator effects herein, and made comparisons other than between treatment arms. Hence, the initial sample size calculation might not be applicable. Post hoc power analyses were omitted, as these would merely reflect the already obtained P value [42]. While the applied Bonferroni correction accounted for multiple comparisons, it might be overly strict in our case [43]. Furthermore, the tendency to overfit data might also be a problem for linear mixed modeling analyses. The study had missing data, which might have caused bias in the results. On the other hand, as a strength of this study, multiple imputation was applied to compensate for the missing values, and the sensitivity analysis did not reveal any substantial differences in the analyses without imputation. Another limitation is the sample size of the analyses for the first research question, especially for the subgroup analyses of sex and living situation. Since some of the categories of these variables had small group sizes, the outcomes of the analyses should be interpreted with caution.

Clinical Implications

The MyCourse intervention is presumably more engaging for people who smoke and people with moderate to high alcohol dependence. Furthermore, this study did not identify any specific subgroups where the MyCourse-Quit Smoking intervention might be particularly effective or ineffective.

Conclusions

This study aimed to provide more insight into predictors and moderators of engagement and outcome for a digital SC intervention targeting cancer survivors. Overall, a limited number of associations was found between participant characteristics, engagement, and smoking behavior. Female participants accessed the intervention less often than male participants, and participants with higher AUDIT scores accessed the intervention more often and had more diary registrations than participants with lower AUDIT scores. Greater nicotine dependence at baseline was associated with a greater reduction in number of cigarettes at 6 months. Future studies in a larger sample and with a preregistered analysis plan are needed to corroborate these findings and shed light on how this knowledge can be used to improve the effects of digital SC programs.



Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the Dutch Cancer Institute (KWF kankerbestrijding; grant TBOS2014–7169). The sponsors did not have influence on the design, data collection, analysis, and interpretation of the data, nor in writing the paper or the decision to submit it for publication. The authors would like to thank Diede Kesler for her assistance in the recruitment and follow-up assessments of the participants and Yvonne Borghans for her assistance in the follow-up assessments of the participants.

Authors' Contributions

AM, MvL, BB, RE, and MB contributed to the conception and data collection of the original research. RA, AM, WdH, and MB conceived the research questions and design for this study. ML, BB, and RE commented on or rewrote the design and research questions. RA and WdH performed the statistical analyses. RA wrote the first draft of the manuscript. AM, WdH, MvL, BB, RE, and MB commented on the draft and rewrote sections of the draft. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Sensitivity analysis of all performed analyses. [DOCX File , 38 KB - cancer v10i1e46303 app1.docx]

References

- Do HP, Tran BX, Le Pham Q, Nguyen LH, Tran TT, Latkin CA, et al. Which eHealth interventions are most effective for smoking cessation? A systematic review. Patient Prefer Adherence 2018;12:2065-2084 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S169397] [Medline: 30349201]
- Graham AL, Carpenter KM, Cha S, Cole S, Jacobs MA, Raskob M, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of internet interventions for smoking cessation among adults. Subst Abuse Rehabil 2016;7:55-69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/SAR.S101660] [Medline: 27274333]
- Mujcic A, Blankers M, Bommelé J, Boon B, Berman AH, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, et al. The effectiveness of distance-based interventions for smoking cessation and alcohol moderation among cancer survivors: a meta-analysis. Psychooncology 2020;29(1):49-60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5261] [Medline: <u>31663182</u>]
- Taylor GMJ, Dalili MN, Semwal M, Civljak M, Sheikh A, Car J. Internet-based interventions for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017;9(9):CD007078 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007078.pub5] [Medline: 28869775]
- 5. Sheeran P, Jones K, Avishai A, Symes YR, Abraham C, Miles E, et al. What works in smoking cessation interventions for cancer survivors? A meta-analysis. Heal Psychol 2019;38(10):855-865. [doi: 10.1037/hea0000757]
- Perski O, Blandford A, West R, Michie S. Conceptualising engagement with digital behaviour change interventions: a systematic review using principles from critical interpretive synthesis. Transl Behav Med 2017;7(2):254-267 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-016-0453-1] [Medline: 27966189]
- 7. Sieverink F, Kelders S, Poel M, van Gemert-Pijnen L. Opening the black box of electronic health: collecting, analyzing, and interpreting log data. JMIR Res Protoc 2017;6(8):e156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.6452] [Medline: 28784592]
- 8. Perski O, Watson NL, Mull KE, Bricker JB. Identifying content-based engagement patterns in a smoking cessation website and associations with user characteristics and cessation outcomes: a sequence and cluster analysis. Nicotine Tob Res 2021;23(7):1103-1112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntab008] [Medline: 33433609]
- Ramos LA, Blankers M, van Wingen G, de Bruijn T, Pauws SC, Goudriaan AE. Predicting success of a digital self-help intervention for alcohol and substance use with machine learning. Front Psychol 2021;12:734633 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.734633] [Medline: 34552539]
- Siemer L, Brusse-Keizer MG, Postel MG, Allouch SB, Bougioukas AP, Sanderman R, et al. Blended smoking cessation treatment: exploring measurement, levels, and predictors of adherence. J Med Internet Res 2018;20(8):e246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9969] [Medline: 30068503]
- 11. Smith W, Ploderer B, Wadley G, Webber S, Borland R. Trajectories of engagement and disengagement with a story-based smoking cessation app. New York, NY, United States: Association for Computing Machinery; 2017 Presented at: CHI '17: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 6-11, 2017; Denver Colorado USA p. 3045-3056 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/doi/proceedings/10.1145/3025453</u> [doi: <u>10.1145/3025453.3026054</u>]
- van Wijk EC, Landais LL, Harting J. Understanding the multitude of barriers that prevent smokers in lower socioeconomic groups from accessing smoking cessation support: a literature review. Prev Med 2019;123:143-151 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.03.029] [Medline: 30902700]



- 13. Nouri SS, Avila-Garcia P, Cemballi AG, Sarkar U, Aguilera A, Lyles CR. Assessing mobile phone digital literacy and engagement in user-centered design in a diverse, safety-net population: mixed methods study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7(8):e14250 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14250] [Medline: 31469083]
- Beintner I, Görlich D, Berger T, Ebert DD, Zeiler M, Camarano RH, et al. Interrelations between participant and intervention characteristics, process variables and outcomes in online interventions: a protocol for overarching analyses within and across seven clinical trials in ICare. Internet Interv 2019;16:86-97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.05.001] [Medline: 30775268]
- Bricker JB, Sridharan V, Zhu Y, Mull KE, Heffner JL, Watson NL, et al. Trajectories of 12-month usage patterns for two smoking cessation websites: exploring how users engage over time. J Med Internet Res 2018;20(4):e10143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10143] [Medline: 29678799]
- Iacoviello BM, Steinerman JR, Klein DB, Silver TL, Berger AG, Luo SX, et al. Clickotine, a personalized smartphone app for smoking cessation: initial evaluation. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017;5(4):e56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7226] [Medline: 28442453]
- 17. Zeng EY, Vilardaga R, Heffner JL, Mull KE, Bricker JB. Predictors of utilization of a novel smoking cessation smartphone app. Telemed J E Health 2015;21(12):998-1004 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2014.0232</u>] [Medline: <u>26171733</u>]
- Bricker JB, Watson NL, Heffner JL, Sullivan B, Mull K, Kwon D, et al. A smartphone app designed to help cancer patients stop smoking: results from a pilot randomized trial on feasibility, acceptability, and effectiveness. JMIR Form Res 2020;4(1):e16652 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16652] [Medline: 31951215]
- Mujcic A, Blankers M, Boon B, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Smit F, van Laar M, et al. Effectiveness, cost-effectiveness, and cost-utility of a digital smoking cessation intervention for cancer survivors: health economic evaluation and outcomes of a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2022;24(3):e27588 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27588] [Medline: 35297777]
- 20. Mujcic A, Blankers M, Boon B, Engels R, van Laar M. Internet-based self-help smoking cessation and alcohol moderation interventions for cancer survivors: a study protocol of two RCTs. BMC Cancer 2018;18(1):364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4206-z] [Medline: 29609554]
- 21. Perkins KA, Conklin CA, Levine MD. Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy for Smoking Cessation: A Practical Guidebook to the Most Effective Treatments. Milton Park, UK: Routledge; 2013.
- 22. Lindson N, Thompson TP, Ferrey A, Lambert JD, Aveyard P. Motivational interviewing for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019;7(7):CD006936 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006936.pub4] [Medline: 31425622]
- 23. McCallion EA, Zvolensky MJ. Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) for smoking cessation: a synthesis. Curr Opin Psychol 2015;2:47-51. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.02.005</u>]
- Heatherton TF, Kozlowski LT, Frecker RC, Fagerström KO. The Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence: a revision of the Fagerström tolerance questionnaire. Br J Addict 1991;86(9):1119-1127. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1360-0443.1991.tb01879.x</u>] [Medline: <u>1932883</u>]
- Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, de la Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption--II. Addiction 1993;88(6):791-804. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1993.tb02093.x] [Medline: 8329970]
- 26. Sells JR, Waters AJ, MacLean RR. Evaluating the influence of at-risk alcohol use on factors associated with smoking cessation: combining laboratory and ecological momentary assessment. Drug Alcohol Depend 2017;179:267-270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.06.003] [Medline: 28822262]
- Toll BA, Martino S, O'Malley SS, Fucito LM, McKee SA, Kahler CW, et al. A randomized trial for hazardous drinking and smoking cessation for callers to a quitline. J Consult Clin Psychol 2015;83(3):445-454 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0038183] [Medline: 25419583]
- 28. Rabin R, de Charro F. EQ-5D: a measure of health status from the EuroQol Group. Ann Med 2001;33(5):337-343. [doi: 10.3109/07853890109002087] [Medline: 11491192]
- 29. Derogatis LR, Fitzpatrick M. The SCL-90-R, the Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI), and the BSI-18. In: Maruish ME, editor. The use of Psychological Testing for Treatment Planning and Outcomes Assessment: Instruments for Adults, Vol 3, 3rd Edition. Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers; 2004:1-41.
- 30. A language and environment for statistical computing (version 3.0.1). R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Austria; 2022. URL: <u>http://www.r-project.org</u> [accessed 2024-04-03]
- 31. Ripley B, Venables B, Bates DM, Hornik K, Gebhardt A, Firth D, et al. Package 'mass'. Cran r 2013;538:113-120 [FREE Full text]
- 32. Koller M. Robustlmm: an R package for robust estimation of linear mixed-effects models. J Stat Soft 2016;75(6):1-24. [doi: <u>10.18637/jss.v075.i06</u>]
- 33. Balmford J, Borland R, Benda P. Patterns of use of an automated interactive personalized coaching program for smoking cessation. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(5):e54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1016] [Medline: 19097975]
- Heminger CL, Boal AL, Zumer M, Abroms LC. Text2Quit: an analysis of participant engagement in the mobile smoking cessation program. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 2016;42(4):450-458. [doi: <u>10.3109/00952990.2016.1149591</u>] [Medline: <u>27120396</u>]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46303
```

- Nash CM, Vickerman KA, Kellogg ES, Zbikowski SM. Utilization of a web-based vs integrated phone/web cessation program among 140,000 tobacco users: an evaluation across 10 free state quitlines. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(2):e36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3658] [Medline: 25673013]
- Strecher VJ, McClure J, Alexander G, Chakraborty B, Nair V, Konkel J, et al. The role of engagement in a tailored web-based smoking cessation program: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(5):e36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1002] [Medline: 18984557]
- 37. Wangberg SC, Bergmo TS, Johnsen JAK. Adherence in internet-based interventions. Patient Prefer Adherence 2008;2:57-65 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19920945]
- 38. Lindberg A, Niska B, Stridsman C, Eklund BM, Eriksson B, Hedman L. Low nicotine dependence and high self-efficacy can predict smoking cessation independent of the presence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a three year follow up of a population-based study. Tob Induc Dis 2015;13(1):27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12971-015-0055-6] [Medline: 26321897]
- Rojewski AM, Tanner NT, Dai L, Ravenel JG, Gebregziabher M, Silvestri GA, et al. Tobacco dependence predicts higher lung cancer and mortality rates and lower rates of smoking cessation in the national lung screening trial. Chest 2018;154(1):110-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2018.04.016] [Medline: 29793736]
- 40. Chen J, Houston TK, Faro JM, Nagawa CS, Orvek EA, Blok AC, et al. Evaluating the use of a recommender system for selecting optimal messages for smoking cessation: patterns and effects of user-system engagement. BMC Public Health 2021;21(1):1749 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11803-8] [Medline: 34563161]
- Perski O, Crane D, Beard E, Brown J. Does the addition of a supportive chatbot promote user engagement with a smoking cessation app? An experimental study. Digit Health 2019;5:2055207619880676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207619880676] [Medline: 31620306]
- 42. Lakens D. Sample size justification. Collabra Psychol 2022;8(1):33267 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1525/collabra.33267]
- 43. VanderWeele TJ, Mathur MB. Some desirable properties of the Bonferroni correction: is the Bonferroni correction really so bad? Am J Epidemiol 2019;188(3):617-618 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwy250] [Medline: 30452538]

Abbreviations

AUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test FTND: Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence RLMM: robust linear mixed modeling SC: smoking cessation

Edited by J Bender; submitted 07.02.23; peer-reviewed by K Pebley; comments to author 03.10.23; revised version received 26.01.24; accepted 25.02.24; published 20.06.24.

Please cite as:

Andree R, Mujcic A, den Hollander W, van Laar M, Boon B, Engels R, Blankers M Digital Smoking Cessation Intervention for Cancer Survivors: Analysis of Predictors and Moderators of Engagement and Outcome Alongside a Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e46303 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e46303 doi:10.2196/46303 PMID:

©Rosa Andree, Ajla Mujcic, Wouter den Hollander, Margriet van Laar, Brigitte Boon, Rutger Engels, Matthijs Blankers. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 20.06.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Theory and Evidence-Informed e-Cycling Intervention for Individuals Diagnosed With Cancer: Development Study

Jessica E Bourne^{1,2}, PhD; Paul Kelly³, PhD; Miranda E G Armstrong⁴, PhD

¹Bristol Medical School, Population Health Sciences, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom
 ²School of Health and Exercise Sciences, University of British Columbia, Kelowna, BC, Canada
 ³Physical Activity for Health Research Centre, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom
 ⁴Centre for Exercise, Nutrition and Health Sciences, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Miranda E G Armstrong, PhD Centre for Exercise, Nutrition and Health Sciences University of Bristol School for Policy Studies 8 Priory Road Bristol, BS8 1TZ United Kingdom Phone: 44 117 455 2103 Email: miranda.armstrong@bristol.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Physical activity engagement following a cancer diagnosis is positively associated with survival, reduced risk of disease recurrence, and reduced cancer-specific and all-cause mortality. However, rates of physical activity engagement are low among individuals diagnosed with and being treated for breast cancer or prostate cancer.

Objective: The purpose of this study was to describe the systematic process of developing an e-cycling intervention aimed at increasing physical activity among individuals living with prostate cancer or breast cancer and outline the key components to be implemented.

Methods: The Medical Research Council guidance for developing complex interventions and the Behaviour Change Wheel were used to guide intervention development. Information was gathered from the literature and through discussions with end users to understand factors influencing e-cycling. These factors were mapped onto the Theoretical Domains Framework to identify potential mechanisms of action. Behavior change techniques were selected from theory and evidence to develop intervention content. Interested parties, including cycling instructors, end users, and behavior change experts, reviewed and refined the intervention.

Results: Anticipated barriers and facilitators to e-cycling engagement were mapped onto 11 of the 14 domains of the Theoretical Domains Framework. A total of 23 behavior change techniques were selected to target these domains over 4 one-to-one e-cycling sessions delivered by trained cycling instructors in the community. Cycling instructors were provided a 3-hour classroom training session on delivering the intervention and a 3-hour practical session with feedback. The outcome of this work is a theory and evidence-informed intervention aimed at promoting e-cycling behavior among individuals being treated for breast cancer or prostate cancer, which is currently being implemented and evaluated.

Conclusions: Transparent intervention development and reporting of content is important for comprehensively examining intervention implementation. The implementation of this intervention package is currently being evaluated in a pilot randomized controlled trial. If the intervention is found to be effective and the content and delivery are acceptable, this intervention will form a basis for the development of e-cycling interventions in other survivors of cancer.

Trial Registration: ISRCTN Registry ISRCTN39112034 https://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN39112034; and IRSCTN Registry ISRCTN42852156; https://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN42852156

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e54785) doi:10.2196/54785



KEYWORDS

prostate cancer; breast cancer; electrically assisted cycling; physical activity promotion; behavior change techniques; BCTs; Behaviour Change Wheel; Medical Research Council; Theoretical Domains Framework; TDF; physical activity; e-cycling intervention; e-cycling; cancer; risk of disease; all-cause mortality; behavioral health; instructor; instructors; cancer survivor; patient with cancer; healthy lifestyle; intervention; physical fitness; exercise

Introduction

Globally, cancer is one of the leading causes of mortality [1]. Specifically in the United Kingdom, prostate cancer and breast cancer are the most common male and female cancers, respectively [2]. Physical activity engagement following a cancer diagnosis is positively associated with survival, reduced risk of disease recurrence, and reduced cancer-specific and all-cause mortality [3-10]. Furthermore, physical activity engagement during cancer treatment positively impacts quality of life and is associated with reduced fatigue, a common side effect of treatment [11-14]. Despite these positive benefits, rates of physical activity engagement are low among individuals diagnosed and being treated for breast cancer and prostate cancer [15-17], with rates decreasing following diagnosis and during treatment [18,19]. The extent to which individuals diagnosed with cancer are willing to engage in physical activity varies greatly due to differences in the type of treatment, the time scale of treatment, and the number and severity of mental and physical side effects resulting from treatment including fatigue and depression [7,20]. In addition, lack of equipment or facilities as well as lack of time, motivation, and confidence are common barriers to physical activity engagement in this population [21-25]. The lack of clinical guidance on appropriate physical activity to undertake and a limited clinical emphasis on the importance of engaging in physical activity during this time are also barriers to engagement [26].

There is a need for novel interventions to encourage the initiation and maintenance of physical activity in this population. Electrically assisted bicycles (e-bikes; also known as pedelecs) have been highlighted as a potential means through which to increase physical activity, particularly among inactive and older individuals [27,28]. Despite the electrical assistance, e-cycling engagement provides physical activity of at least a moderate intensity [29,30] with the potential to positively impact physical and mental health outcomes [27]. Furthermore, e-cycling has been reported to be an enjoyable activity, an affect response that is considered important for the long-term sustainability of physical activity behavior [31]. To date, the use of e-bikes to increase physical activity in individuals being treated for cancer has yet to be explored.

Developing effective interventions and associated implementation strategies requires an understanding of the target behavior and the factors that influence engagement in that behavior [32]. Specifically, the intervention design and selection of active ingredients with the potential to bring about behavior change should be guided by theory and the context in which the intervention is to be delivered [33,34]. To date, the majority of e-cycling interventions have involved the provision of an e-bike; however, no additional behavior change mechanisms have been reported [35-37]. While the provision of an e-bike provides the opportunity to ride, it may not be sufficient to

XSL•FO

encourage sustained behavior change [32]. The inclusion of theory-driven behavioral support can help increase the effectiveness of physical activity interventions [38] and engagement with e-cycling in a real-world setting [39]. A recent e-cycling intervention delivered to individuals with type 2 diabetes (T2D; PEDAL2) incorporated behavioral counseling components and demonstrated the potential to improve cardiorespiratory fitness and mental and physical quality of life [40]. The development of the PEDAL2 behavioral counseling was guided by qualitative interview findings in the same population following an e-bike loan [41,42]. While informative, these interviews were designed to assess individuals' ability to manage their diabetes rather than factors associated with e-cycling engagement [42]. Building on this, qualitative interviews with PEDAL2 participants were conducted after the intervention to ascertain specific barriers and facilitators to e-cycling engagement, and an associated conceptual model was developed [43]. This conceptual model provides a starting point from which to design future e-cycling interventions in other clinical populations. In addition to using this conceptual understanding, the end users of an intervention should be involved in the design of an intervention and implementation strategies to determine factors specific to the population in which the behavior change is targeted [44].

The aim of this study was to develop and refine a theory and evidence-based intervention and associated implementation strategies to promote e-cycling engagement in individuals with prostate cancer or breast cancer (the intervention was named CRANK). The development of the CRANK intervention was guided by formalized intervention development approaches, specifically the Medical Research Council (MRC) guidance for developing and evaluating complex interventions [34] and the Behaviour Change Wheel (BCW) [32], drawing upon the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF) [45] and stakeholder input [33].

Methods

Design

The MRC guidance emphasizes the incorporation of both theory and best available evidence to develop complex interventions [34], while the BCW provides a systematic process through which to develop such interventions by completing a series of activities in stages [32]. This research was guided by stage 1 (understand the behavior) and stage 3 (identify content and implementation options) of the BCW. Stage 2 (identify intervention options) was not conducted, as an appropriate behavior change strategy was identified in phase 1 (stage 1 of the BCW guidance), which was directly mapped to behavior change techniques (BCTs) in phase 2 (stage 3 of the BCW guidance). In phase 3, the intervention and implementation strategies were refined through engagement with patient and

public involvement (PPI) group members, cycling instructors, and experts in the field of behavior change. Figure 1 [40,43,46] outlines the process of intervention development. PEDAL2 interviews were conducted between August 2019 and November 2020, and the findings from these interviews and the development of the conceptual framework are reported elsewhere [43]. Intervention development, including PPI discussions with individuals living with breast or prostate cancer, expert review and feedback, and instructor workshops and

feedback, took place between September 2021 and March 2022. Patient partners with breast cancer (n=4) were recruited through an existing patient and partner group established for a wider research program, while patient partners with prostate cancer (n=6) were recruited through a local prostate cancer charity. Instructors (n=5) were recruited through Life Cycle, the community organization involved in delivering an e-cycling intervention to another clinical population (PEDAL2) [40].

Figure 1. Outline of the CRANK intervention development. APEASE: Acceptability, Practicability, Effectiveness, Affordability, Side-Effects, and Equity; BCT: behavior change technique; PA: physical activity; PPI: patient and public involvement; T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus [40,43,50].



Phase 1: Understanding the Behavior

Define the Problem in Behavioral Terms and Select the Target Behavior

Step 1 focused on the specific problem that the intervention was aiming to address: low levels of physical activity in individuals being treated for breast cancer or prostate cancer. The social and environmental contexts in which the behavior occurs and the individual factors that affect physical activity engagement were considered to identify the major barriers and facilitators to increasing physical activity in this population. Following this, the potential ways in which physical activity could be increased in this population by overcoming some of the identified barriers and facilitators to engagement were considered, and this formed the basis from which this e-cycling intervention was conceived and was based on reviews of the literature and previous work conducted by the authors in a different clinical population.

Specify the Target Behavior

Upon selection of the target behavior, we specified who needed to perform the behavior, what needed to be done differently to achieve the change, where and when they needed to do it, and how often and with whom.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54785
```

RenderX

Identify What Needs to Change

To identify what needs to change in the individual or the environment to bring about the desired change in behavior (ie, engagement in e-cycling), we drew from multiple sources of information, as suggested by the MRC guidance to ensure that theory and research evidence identified are relevant to this context [34]. First, a conceptual model identifying barriers and facilitators to e-cycling, guided by the Capability, Opportunity, Motivation-Behavior (COM-B) model, among individuals with T2D was used to identify the factors that impact e-cycling in clinical populations [43]. Given that e-cycling has yet to be explored among individuals living with cancer, this conceptual model provided a good position from which to begin CRANK intervention development. Second, PPI group discussions took place to gain insight into the factors that may specifically impact e-cycling among individuals living with cancer. In total, 2 web-based discussion groups, 1 each for individuals being treated for prostate and breast cancer, were facilitated and lasted approximately 120 minutes. The groups discussed potential factors that could impact cycling in this population, specifically e-cycling. By the end of the discussion, the group had identified several factors that they felt would impact e-cycling engagement and identified the most important factors based on consensus decisions. Third, the literature was reviewed to identify

interventions that were deemed to be successful at increasing physical activity engagement in individuals with cancer (specifically prostate cancer and breast cancer). The theoretical underpinnings of these interventions were identified to advance our understanding of the likely mechanisms of change.

Information obtained from these 3 sources was mapped onto the constructs of the TDF, which is an expansion of the COM-B model, to identify the key constructs that need to change to encourage engagement in e-cycling behavior. The TDF is comprised of 14 theoretical domains that summarize the theoretical constructs from 33 theories of behavior change [45]. In line with the MRC guidance, a program theory was developed to present the hypothesized theoretical underpinning of the intervention.

Phase 2: Identifying Behavioral Content and Implementation Options

Identify Behavior Change Techniques

Having hypothesized the theoretical components required to achieve change in the target behavior, intervention content was developed by the selection of BCTs. The 93-item behavior change technique taxonomy (BCTTv1) [47] was used to provide detailed definitions of BCTs. BCTs were chosen from (1) an examination of systematic reviews that have identified specific BCTs that have been shown to be effective at promoting physical activity behavior in adults living with cancer, with a focus on breast cancer and prostate cancer [48,49] and (2) using the theory and techniques' web-based tool to identify specific BCTs linking the proposed mechanisms of action identified using the TDF that should be targeted in this intervention [46]. The use of these BCTs in this intervention was considered with regard to acceptability, practicality, effectiveness, cost-effectiveness, affordability, side effects, safety, and equity (APEASE [Acceptability, Practicability, Effectiveness, Affordability, Side-Effects, and Equity] criteria [32]).

Identify the Best Mode of Delivery

The mode of delivery including the provider, intensity, and duration was based on previous feasibility findings from participants and instructors of PEDAL2 reported by Bourne et al [40] and from feedback from the CRANK PPI group (n=10) and cycling instructors (n=5). Feedback was elicited through web-based open group discussions. The modes of intervention implementation were considered using the APEASE criteria to assess suitability within the constraints and resources of the trial. Intervention materials were created alongside training manuals for cycle instructors.

Phase 3: Intervention Feedback and Refinement

The intervention was refined following feedback from CRANK PPI members (n=10), instructors (n=5), and the expert group (n=3). Specifically, the intervention material was sent to PPI members initially for review. After review of these documents, group members met on the web, with 3 group discussions for each of the 3 groups, where feedback on the intervention content and delivery method was provided to the research team. All discussions were recorded in order for the researcher to listen back to the discussion, and notes were taken throughout the

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54785

discussions. These discussions lasted up to 120 minutes. For instructors, the intervention material was sent for review prior to a 2-hour web-based meeting. At this meeting, the research team presented the intervention material, and instructors were asked to provide feedback on both the instructor training and participant intervention material. Any disagreements within the groups were discussed in the session until a consensus was reached regarding the required intervention changes. The intervention was sent to members of the CRANK trial steering committee with expertise in behavior change. These individuals provided written feedback on the intervention content. The information from CRANK PPI members, instructors, and the trial steering committee was collated and reviewed by 2 researchers, and consensus decisions were made on appropriate changes to be made based on the APEASE criteria.

Ethical Considerations

The National Health Service Health Research Authority Southwest/Central Bristol Research Ethics Committee provided ethics approval to conduct qualitative interviews among individuals living with T2D as part of PEDAL2 (reference 18/SW/0164). While ethical practice was upheld, formal ethical approval was not obtained for these PPI activities, as advised by the National Institute for Health Research. PPI contributors were involved in the design, implementation, and management of the research process itself. Patient partners were informed of what engagement in the PPI activities would entail prior to agreeing to participate. Ethics approval for the pilot randomized controlled trials to evaluate the intervention (named CRANK) was granted by the National Health Service Health Research Authority Dulwich Research Ethics Committee (REC: 22/LO/0036; CRANK-P) and the Nottingham Research Ethics Committee (REC: 22/EM/0010; CRANK-B), and the protocol for this study is reported by Bourne et al [50].

Results

Define the Problem and Select the Target Behavior

Justification for this research is provided in the Introduction section and summarized here for completeness. Individuals living with cancer are less physically active than their healthy counterparts [15,17,51,52]. Specifically, it has been estimated that adherence to the physical activity guidelines among individuals living with cancer ranges from 10% to 47% [15,16,52-56]. Engagement in regular physical activity can help recovery from cancer, reduce the side effects associated with treatment, and reduce the chances of recurrence [3,5,10,11,57]. Several physical activity interventions have been developed for individuals living with and recovering from cancer, with varied success [58-61]. Common barriers to engagement in regular physical activity for individuals with cancer include cancer-related physical symptoms (eg, fatigue), lack of equipment or facilities, lack of knowledge of what to do or support or advice on how to engage in physical activity, lack of motivation and time, and low confidence [21-25].

e-Cycling has been identified as an activity that may overcome some of the identified barriers to engaging in physical activity and promote long-term adherence [28]. The potential of e-cycling to increase physical activity in individuals being

treated for or recovering from cancer has not been explored but warrants further investigation. As such, the target behavior of this intervention was to increase physical activity specifically through e-cycling in individuals being treated for breast cancer or prostate cancer.

Specify the Target Behavior

The aim was to increase individual's weekly physical activity through engagement in e-cycling. No specific weekly e-cycling targets were imposed by the research team, as we wanted participants to have autonomy over their e-cycling goals. The e-cycling behavior will need to be performed by individuals aged 18 years or older with a diagnosis of prostate cancer or breast cancer on a regular basis, whenever possible with the mantra that every move counts. e-Cycling can be conducted for any purpose (ie, exercise, travel, social, and leisure) in an outdoor setting. e-Cycling can be performed alone or with others.

Identify What Needs to Change

Drawing on the conceptual model developed from PEDAL2 and incorporating information from PPI discussions with patients being treated for breast cancer or prostate cancer, the intervention team identified key mechanisms of action to target in the intervention to bring about engagement in e-cycling (Tables 1-3).

Table 1. Behavioral analysis identifying what needs to change to encourage e-cycling within the capability component of COM-B^a model, associated behavior change techniques, and how this will be incorporated into the CRANK intervention.

COM-B component and TDF ^b domains	What is needed for change?	Behavior change techniques	Description of how this will be incorporated into the intervention-implementation strategy
Physical capability	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		·
Skills	• Must feel physically capable to e-cycle, despite potential physical limitations	 4.1 Instruction on how to perform the behavior 6.1 Demonstration of the behavior 8.1 Behavioral practice or rehearsal 8.7 Graded tasks 	 Provide instruction on how to ride the bike and instructor to demonstrate the behavior. Prompt individuals to practice riding during training sessions and at home, starting with riding in quiet locations with minimal sur- rounding risk and building up to busier loca- tions.
Psychological capability			
Knowledge	 Must have the knowledge of how to perform the activity using the correct and safe technique Knowledge of how to ride safely in traffic or through awareness of cycle paths 	 4.1 Instruction on how to perform the behavior 2.2 Feedback on behavior 	 Advise the individual on how to ride correctly and how to ride safely in traffic. Provide information on where to ride (eg, where the nearest cycle paths are located and how to ride a specific journey without traffic). Provide feedback on e-cycling behavior regarding safety and route chosen.
Memory, attention, and decision process- es	• e-Cycling must be perceived as not complicated in order to compete with the car	 7.1 Prompts or cues 8.4 Habit reversal 11.3 Conserving mental resources 	 Individuals encouraged to gather and organize all e-cycling equipment ahead of riding in one obvious location to reduce mental resources and prompt the behavior. Individuals encouraged to e-cycle for a journey that would normally be made by the car.
Behavioral regula- tion	• Engaging in physical activity is difficult, setting e-cycling targets and monitoring their behavior helps promote en- gagement	 1.1. Goal setting (behavioral) 1.4 Action planning 2.3 Self-monitoring of behavior 	 Individuals prompted to set their own goals, which they feel are achievable taking fitness levels, readiness to change, and lifestyle into account (goals will be SMART^c). Individuals prompted to develop specific planning on how they will achieve each goal set (eg, when and where they will e-bike). Individuals encouraged to monitor their activity using a paper logbook or GPS watch.

^aCOM-B: Capability, Opportunity, Motivation-Behavior.

^bTDF: Theoretical Domains Framework.

^cSMART: Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, and Time-Bound.

Table 2. Behavioral analysis identifying what needs to change to encourage e-cycling within the opportunity component of COM-B^a model, associated behavior change techniques, and how this will be incorporated into the CRANK intervention.

	•		
COM-B component and TDF ^b domains	What is needed for change?	Behavior change techniques	Description of how this will be incorporated into the intervention-implementation strategy
Physical opportunity			·
Environmental context and resources	 Provision of maintenance service will encourage activi- ty engagement Perceived access to safe cy- cling and parking infrastruc- ture Provision of suitable equip- ment (e-bike itself and acces- sories) 	 3.2 Social support (practical) 1.2 Problem-solving 12.5 Adding objects to the environment 	 Individuals will be provided with the details of an e-bike maintenance service that can be contacted in case of emergency. Individuals will be encouraged to identify common barriers to e-cycling (eg, weather and access to infrastructure) and plan ways to overcome these problems. Instructor to offer practical solutions based on experience and what other individuals have reported. Individuals to be properly fitted with an e-bike, and adjustments to be made by the instructor to ensure the bicycle is comfortable. Individuals to be provided with basic accessories (bicycle lock, helmet, lights, and pannier). Individuals to be provided with maps of cycle routes to outline safe riding routes.
Social opportunity			
Social support	 Support from friends and family regarding e-cycling engagement Watching others engage in the activity and having the opportunity to engage with others while riding and with a similar condition will promote engagement 	 3.1 Social support (emotional) 3.2 Social support (practical) 	 Individuals encouraged to seek verbal support from friends and family if they are struggling with the behavior. Individuals will be invited to attend group riding sessions. Individuals encouraged to seek practical support from friends and family if they are struggling to engage in the behavior (eg, going on a bike ride with a friend). Instructor to offer verbal and practical support during loan period with riding catch-ups.

^aCOM-B: Capability, Opportunity, Motivation-Behavior. ^bTDF: Theoretical Domains Framework.
Table 3. Behavioral analysis identifying what needs to change to encourage e-cycling within the motivation component of COM-B^a model, associated behavior change techniques, and how this will be incorporated into the CRANK intervention.

COM-B component and TDF ^b What is needed for change? Behavior change techniques domains		Behavior change techniques	Description of how this will be incorporated into the intervention-implementation strategy			
Reflective motivation						
Belief about capabilities	 Confidence to engage in e-cycling Confidence to e-cycle in traffic and on roads 	 8.1 Behavioral practice or rehearsal 8.7 Graded tasks 15.1 Verbal persuasion about capability 15.3 Focus on past success 	 Individuals encouraged to practice riding, particularly in areas where they are comfortable to build confidence. Individuals encouraged to build up to riding in areas in which there is traffic. Instructor to encourage individuals and tell them they are capable of engaging in e-cycling during all sessions. Individuals asked to review their logbooks or e-cycling behavior. Instructor to focus on successful e-cycling experiences to provide motivation and encouragement. 			
Belief about consequences	 Hold beliefs that engaging in e-cycling will positively impact various facets of physical and mental health Hold beliefs that e-cycling will enable the individual to ride further, longer, and on hiller terrain due to the assistance 	 5.1 Information about health consequences 5.3 Information about the social and environmental consequences 	 The instructors will share information with participants about the importance of engaging in physical activity in general and specifically during cancer recovery and the impact this can have on physical and mental health. Instructors will also share information about how the e-bike can enable individuals to ride further, faster, and on hillier terrain than a conventional bicycle and how the e-bike may open up previously unconsidered journeys. 			
Goals	• Setting e-cycling targets will encourage engage- ment	 1.1 Goal setting (behavior) 1.5 Review behavior goal 	 Individuals will decide (with help from the instructor) upon goals for e-cycling. These goals will be recorded in their intervention booklet. These goals will be SMART^c in nature and tailored to the individual's circumstances. Goals will not be prescribed; individuals will be encouraged to think about them for themselves. At the end of each follow-up session, the instructor and individual will review the goals set at the previous session and together will agree to either keep the goal the same, modify the goal, or create a new goal. 			
Automatic motivation						
Reinforcement	• Creating established routines and habits for e-cycling	7.1 Prompts or cues10.9 Self-reward	 Individuals are advised to prepare for e-cycling ahead of time and leave equipment together in a visible location to prompt engagement. Individuals are advised to reward themselves, primarily through self-praise, for meeting their weekly e-cycling goals or making progress toward them and record this reward. 			
Emotion	 Sense of enjoyment associated with e-cycling Reduced fear of riding on roads, in traffic, or with other road users 	 5.6 Information about emo- tional consequences 11.2 Reduce negative emo- tions 	 Instructor to provide information on the potential positive emotions that can be gained from e-cycling and to discuss how others have felt from e-cycling. Encourage individuals to record how they feel after e-cycling. Individuals encouraged to try out riding in quiet locations to reduce fear response before building up to busier locations. 			

^aCOM-B: Capability, Opportunity, Motivation-Behavior. ^bTDF: Theoretical Domains Framework.

XSL•FO RenderX

^cSMART: Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, and Time-Bound.

In addition, a review of the literature identified the use of Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) and Transtheoretical Model of Behavior Change as appropriate theoretical models to explain why people adopt physical activity behavior, particularly those with breast cancer and prostate cancer [60-63]. The key constructs of these theoretical models were considered when identifying what needs to change for e-cycling to take place. SCT uses the techniques of mastery, vicarious experiences, and modeling to develop skills and build self-efficacy [64]. SCT also highlights the importance of others when changing behaviors. The Transtheoretical Model is a comprehensive model of behavior change [65]. The 10 processes of change focus on "how" individuals change their behavior. In addition, 2 intervening variables of self-efficacy and decisional balance have been identified as impacting movement between the 6 stages of change.

Overall, 11 of the 14 domains of the TDF were identified as needing to be targeted to encourage engagement in e-cycling. These are shown in Tables 1-3 and summarized below. Specifically, ensuring individuals had the physical skill and knowledge to ride the e-bike and navigate traffic was identified as essential for e-cycling engagement, as was having high confidence to ride the e-bike itself and among traffic (belief about capabilities). To compete with the car as a mode of transport, individuals noted that systems must be in place to ensure e-cycling is perceived as the "easy" option (memory, attention, and decision processes) and that establishing a routine was key (reinforcement). In addition, ensuring individuals have the correct equipment and access to a breakdown service would facilitate e-cycling engagement (environmental context and resources). Setting goals, monitoring the process toward these goals (behavioral regulation), and encouraging individuals to seek out support from family and friends (social support) were seen as important factors that will increase the likelihood of e-cycling behavior. Furthermore, holding positive beliefs about the impact of e-cycling both in regard to physical and mental health and social and environmental outcomes (belief about consequences; emotions) was important to influence behavioral engagement.

Identify BCTs

A total of 23 BCTs linked to the theoretical domains, as identified through the theory and techniques of web-based tool [46], psychological theories, and literature on BCTs effective at increasing physical activity among individuals being treated for breast cancer or prostate cancer were identified as shown in Tables 1-3. There was significant overlap in the BCTs identified as potentially useful to target the underlying mechanisms of change. The techniques fall across 12 of the 16 BCT categories of goals and planning, feedback and monitoring, social support, shaping knowledge, natural consequences, comparison of behavior, associations, repetition and substitutions, rewards, regulation, antecedents, and self-belief.

Identify the Mode of Delivery

Intervention Provider

Community-based cycling instructors were considered the most suitable individuals to deliver the intervention due to their nationally recognized cycle training certification. However, interviews with instructors who delivered the previous PEDAL2 intervention revealed that instructors desired more specific training on the intervention content prior to delivery [40]. As such, this intervention (known as CRANK) will involve 2 face-to-face intervention training sessions (3 hours each) for instructors incorporating both education and practice, designed to increase confidence in delivering the specific intervention content. Specifically, the training will focus on (1) providing education on the importance of physical activity for individuals with cancer and the general physical and mental health benefits of engaging in physical activity, (2) teaching instructors motivational interviewing techniques that can be used during training sessions to engage with participants, (3) providing information on specific intervention content, and (4) practicing intervention delivery through role play. The training will take place in the community at the cycling organization headquarters, a location familiar to the instructors. The training will be run by 2 researchers. Instructors will also receive a training manual outlining intervention content.

Intervention Intensity and Duration

For participants, the intervention will involve 2 face-to-face e-bike skill training sessions and behavioral discussions prior to taking the e-bike home, with no longer than 2 weeks apart between training sessions. The 2 training sessions were found to be appropriate for a clinical population engaging in e-cycling as reported by the cycling instructors and so will be incorporated into this intervention [40]. Training sessions will last approximately 2 hours each. Training session 1 will be mandatory for all participants, while session 2 will be optional and based on the needs and desires as perceived by the participant and the instructor. Participants will then receive a 12-week e-bike loan. The cycling sessions will be delivered at a community center where the cycling organization is based. It is situated in a central urban location easily accessible by multiple forms of transport. This location was deemed desirable to the patient group who had spent a considerable amount of time in clinical settings.

During the e-bike loan period, 2 additional face-to-face sessions will be conducted with the instructor, each for approximately 90 minutes. More face-to-face meetings have been incorporated into CRANK based on feedback from PEDAL2 that interacting with the instructor was motivational and made participants feel supported in their e-cycling journey [43]. These additional sessions will occur at a location of the participant's choice approximately 4 and 8 weeks into the 12-week e-bike loan. More training and support sessions will be offered if the individual has specific concerns about riding.

Throughout the loan period, the cycling organization will provide a callout e-bike maintenance service. If required,

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

participants will be instructed to call the maintenance number, and a mechanic will come and repair the e-bike.

Intervention Fidelity

To ensure the intervention is delivered as intended, a series of fidelity check materials will be incorporated into the intervention as proposed by Lambert et al [66]. Specifically, instructors will be provided intervention content training, and an associated instructor manual will be developed. As part of the training, instructors will engage in a series of role-playing activities, which will be observed by the researchers, and feedback will be provided. The purpose of these role-playing activities is to ensure that instructors understand and are able to deliver the proposed intervention content. In addition, researchers will observe a minimum of 2 training sessions with participants at the start of the intervention. During the observations, the researchers will complete observation checklists and will provide feedback to the instructors. Throughout the intervention, instructors will complete session checklists. These checklists provide detailed information about the specific content that is intended to be covered, including BCTs, during each session including the skill level obtained by the participant and discussions that took place. At the end of the intervention, instructors will be invited to participate in qualitative interviews, in which they can share their experiences of delivering the intervention.

To assess the participant's engagement with the intervention, a workbook has been created, in which the participant can record their goals, barriers faced, and thoughts on the sessions. Participants will also be provided with a wearable activity tracker to record their activity. The degree to which self-monitoring tools are engaged with will be ascertained. In addition, at the end of the intervention, participants will be invited to participate in qualitative interviews, in which they will be asked about the extent to which they engaged in the intervention activities.

Intervention Feedback and Refinement

The intervention was refined based on feedback from PPI members, cycling instructors, and experts.

Instructor Intervention Training

It was felt, by PPI members and instructors, that instructors delivering the intervention would benefit from meeting with individuals with prostate cancer and breast cancer to discuss their lived experience as part of the training package. This will enable the instructors to understand the potential barriers to physical activity that this clinical population faces and thereby increase empathy. Instructors felt that the adaptability of the intervention needed to be made explicit throughout the training in order to meet the needs of the individual. As such, the training was tweaked to ensure that the ability to adapt the program to individual needs was emphasized. Instructors highlighted the importance of being reimbursed for administration time (eg, contacting participants), which was not part of regular cycling lessons, and that this needed to be made explicit in the training manual. This would encourage instructors to spend more time engaging with the individuals. As such, an agreement with Life

Cycle was made to allow instructors to bill for administration hours in addition to instruction hours.

Instructors felt that it was important to provide sufficient training on how to conduct the behavioral counseling component of the intervention in order to increase their confidence and build buy-in from instructors for this component. To ensure sufficient time was given to review and practice these behavioral components, the second training session was extended by 1 hour. In addition, the ability to trial the self-monitoring tools as part of the training was deemed essential prior to instructing participants on how to effectively use these tools. To address this need, all self-monitoring tools were provided to the instructors prior to delivering CRANK for familiarization. The research team answered any questions or concerns about these devices. The instructors also commented that having allocated time to connect with other instructors, also delivering CRANK, was deemed important to share experiences through the incorporation of peer support sessions. As such, bimonthly instructor peer support sessions were specified.

Intervention Content and Delivery Mode

Instructors felt that the behavioral counseling should occur at the end of an e-cycling skills training session in a location that was comfortable for both the participant and the instructor (eg, a seated location) rather than trying to incorporate such discussions during skills training. Instructors felt that this would encourage participants to engage more with the behavioral techniques (eg, setting of goals and action planning) and would not become an "inferior add-on" to teaching participants the skills of e-cycling. This was echoed by members of the PPI group who emphasized that these discussions should occur after skill training, enabling participants to think about the information they are receiving and complete the workbook.

The ability to connect with others, with the same diagnosis, was also deemed as highly important to this group. As such, while general group rides were important, having group rides just for individuals with prostate cancer and breast cancer, separately, was seen as potentially more important. These clinical group–specific rides were seen as an opportunity to connect with others in a similar situation, which could help increase motivation and feelings of social support. As such, clinical group–specific rides were incorporated into the intervention. In addition, a WhatsApp group will be formed for the different clinical groups. The ability to connect with others in a similar situation was highlighted as being of great importance, particularly for male participants.

Members of the PPI group felt that support and practice were needed to encourage participants to engage in self-monitoring and that time to practice should be built into training to increase engagement with this technique. In addition, members of the PPI group identified the potential option of using mobile apps to plan routes, in addition to paper maps.

These changes were considered and incorporated into the intervention material. The final program theory, including mechanisms of action and delivery mode, is provided in a logic model in Figure 2.



Bourne et al

Figure 2. CRANK logical model. The constructs of the TDF targeted in this intervention are color-coded to the intervention components used to target them. PA: physical activity; TDF: Theoretical Domains Framework.



Discussion

Principal Findings

This study reports on the development of a behavioral intervention designed to increase e-cycling behavior in individuals living with prostate cancer or breast cancer. The systematic approach to intervention development involved drawing on theory, evidence, and end-user insights to identify appropriate factors to target in this intervention. It is believed that this process will increase the potential efficacy of the intervention and will allow for an in-depth evaluation of the intervention content to gain an understanding of the intervention effects.

In total, 11 of the 14 domains of the TDF, covering all components of the COM-B model, were found to be relevant to increasing physical activity behavior through e-cycling among individuals living with prostate cancer or breast cancer. Constructs of the TDF not targeted in this intervention were professional or role identity, optimism, and intentions. The 11 TDF constructs identified will be targeted through the use of 23 BCTs from 12 overarching BCT categories [47]. The categories of BCTs selected for use in this intervention are similar to those identified by McVicar et al [67] in their development of an e-cycling intervention for overweight and obese adults using participant workshops. In this intervention, the categories of rewards and regulations were incorporated, which were not part of the intervention developed by McVicar et al [67]. Specifically, in this intervention, individuals were encouraged to reward themselves, primarily through self-praise if they met, or made progress toward, their e-cycling goals. The use of self-rewards has been associated with sustained physical activity behavior at least 6 months after intervention [68]. In addition, participants were encouraged to prepare cycling

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54785
```

equipment ahead of time to reduce stress and increase the likelihood of e-cycling over using a motorized vehicle. Ways to assist with behavioral regulation were included in this intervention, as interviews with PEDAL2 participants revealed that trying to remember everything needed for a commute via e-bike was stressful and decreased the likelihood of riding. Overall, McVicar et al [67] identified 16 BCTs for inclusion in their intervention, while the current development process identified 23, of which 12 overlapped. The additional 11 unique BCTs used in this intervention were likely due to the incorporation of sources of information that identified the mechanisms of action that broadly impact PA behavior in the current clinical population as well as those that impact e-cycling specifically. For example, BCT 15.3 focus on past success was incorporated as this technique directly aligns with bolstering self-efficacy, a key component of SCT [64], which has been used in previous physical activity interventions among individuals living with cancer. In addition, BCT 6.5 information about emotional consequences was included due to the conceptual model of e-cycling engagement among individuals with T2D and the finding that individuals are more likely to engage in e-cycling because it is perceived as enjoyable [43]. The BCT 2.3 self-monitoring was found to be an important component to prompt behavior change from a theoretical perspective, from the PEDAL2 conceptual model, and based on discussions with end users and was therefore included in this intervention.

Several of the techniques identified for use in this intervention align with action types identified by Kelly et al [69] in a scoping review of 145 initiatives reporting on intervention content, at the organization and individual levels, aimed at increasing cycling behavior. The review identified commonly used action categories, which will also be used in this intervention. These

XSL•FO RenderX

include knowledge of the benefits of cycling and cycle safety and route planning (ie, education), practical cycling training courses (ie, training), provision of bike accessories and bikes, and access to bike maintenance services (ie, enablement). While the review identified a series of actions associated with restructuring the environment, the majority of these were not suitable for this intervention (eg, provide bike storage facilities and bike wheel channels on stairs or workplace or organizational policies). These components are likely more achievable for organization-based interventions.

Strengths and Limitations

The behavioral analysis conducted in this study outlines the systematic process used to develop a theoretical understanding of the behavior we are seeking to impact and the mechanisms that may influence this behavior. From here, we were able to identify the theoretical constructs to target and the techniques through which to target these mechanisms in the current population. This transparent method demonstrates the multifactorial nature of this behavior and the complexity of developing a behavioral intervention. However, documenting this process is important, as it allows others to fully understand how the active ingredients of the intervention were selected.

To gain an in-depth understanding of the behavior of e-cycling and the factors that influence engagement, we drew on theory and literature and engaged stakeholders including individuals living with prostate cancer or breast cancer, cycling instructors, and experts in the field of behavior change. It is hoped that gathering information from multiple sources to guide intervention development will increase the chances of developing an intervention that can effectively increase physical activity behavior through e-cycling participation.

The BCTs selected to target each TDF construct were selected using the links proposed by the Theory and Techniques tool, which links BCTs and mechanisms of action based on evidence in the literature [70] and expert consensus [71] and triangulation of these 2 processes [46]. The use of this tool is more appropriate than the use of the BCW guidance, which links BCTs to mechanisms of action based on the "most used" techniques [32].

A potential limitation of this intervention development is that the conceptual model used to guide this intervention was based on findings from 1 city, the same city in which this intervention will be delivered (Bristol, United Kingdom). While appropriate for this intervention, mechanisms of change identified and associated intervention active components may not be applicable to individuals from other cities in the United Kingdom or internationally. A second limitation is that one intervention has been designed for 2 clinical populations, specifically breast cancer and prostate cancer. These cancers generally impact different genders, and there is the potential that these individuals have different barriers and facilitators to e-cycling engagement that may not have been parsed out in this process. However, this work included PPI discussions with both individuals living with breast cancer or prostate cancer, and no outstanding differences were noted between the 2 PPI groups.

Future Research

This process has led to the development of an intervention with associated participant intervention materials to address some of the barriers identified to e-cycling engagement. In addition, an instructor manual has been created to ensure instructors address these barriers and engage in activities that facilitate e-cycling through training and discussion. The intervention package is currently being tested in a pilot randomized controlled trial [50]. Specifically, the feasibility of delivering this intervention and specific BCTs is being assessed through observations of sessions delivered by instructors with feedback as well as intervention checklists completed during each contact session. The frequency with which each BCT is delivered will be determined and reported. Through workbooks and self-monitoring tools, we will be able to establish the extent to which participants engaged with the BCTs. The impact of omission of BCTs can be compared to effectiveness data and may give insight into the potential efficacy of individual or groups of BCTs selected. In addition, qualitative one-to-one interviews will be conducted with instructors and participants to understand the acceptability of intervention delivery and participation. Testing the delivery of the intervention components is a critical part of intervention development to ensure refinements can be made where required prior to full-scale implementation if suitable. The intervention developed, if appropriate, can be adapted to other groups of individuals being treated for different cancers using the most potent BCTs identified.

Conclusions

This study presents the process of designing a behavior change intervention targeting physical activity behavior using electrically assisted bicycles for individuals living with breast cancer or prostate cancer. The explicit reporting of the development process and program theory with associated intervention content facilitates the application of in-depth evaluation to determine the efficacy of the BCTs included. This evaluation is currently being conducted and will enable future refinement of the intervention as appropriate.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by Cancer Research UK (grant C18281/A29019). Coauthors of this study are also supported by the National Institute for Health and Care Research Bristol Biomedical Research Center (MEGA). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the National Institute for Health and Care Research or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Data Availability

Data sharing is not applicable to this paper as no data sets were generated or analyzed during this study.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2
```

Authors' Contributions

All authors were involved in designing the study. JEB and MEGA conducted the stakeholder discussions. JEB conducted the behavioral analysis and discussed the findings with MEGA and PK. JEB drafted the manuscript and MEGA and PK reviewed the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Bray F, Laversanne M, Weiderpass E, Soerjomataram I. The ever-increasing importance of cancer as a leading cause of premature death worldwide. Cancer 2021;127(16):3029-3030 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.33587] [Medline: 34086348]
- 2. Cancer registration statistics, England 2019. National Statistics. 2021. URL: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/</u> publications/statistical/cancer-registration-statistics/england-2019 [accessed 2024-06-21]
- Bonn SE, Sjölander A, Lagerros YT, Wiklund F, Stattin P, Holmberg E, et al. Physical activity and survival among men diagnosed with prostate cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2015;24(1):57-64. [doi: <u>10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0707</u>] [Medline: <u>25527697</u>]
- 4. Borch KB, Braaten T, Lund E, Weiderpass E. Physical activity before and after breast cancer diagnosis and survival—the Norwegian women and cancer cohort study. BMC Cancer 2015;15:967 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1971-9] [Medline: 26672980]
- 5. Friedenreich CM, Neilson HK, Farris MS, Courneya KS. Physical activity and cancer outcomes: a precision medicine approach. Clin Cancer Res 2016;22(19):4766-4775. [doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0067] [Medline: 27407093]
- Friedenreich CM, Wang Q, Neilson HK, Kopciuk KA, McGregor SE, Courneya KS. Physical activity and survival after prostate cancer. Eur Urol 2016;70(4):576-585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2015.12.032] [Medline: 26774959]
- Misiag W, Piszczyk A, Szymańska-Chabowska A, Chabowski M. Physical activity and cancer care—a review. Cancers (Basel) 2022;14(17):4154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers14174154] [Medline: 36077690]
- Spei ME, Samoli E, Bravi F, La Vecchia C, Bamia C, Benetou V. Physical activity in breast cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis on overall and breast cancer survival. Breast 2019;44:144-152. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.breast.2019.02.001</u>] [Medline: <u>30780085</u>]
- Thorsen L, Courneya KS, Stevinson C, Fosså SD. A systematic review of physical activity in prostate cancer survivors: outcomes, prevalence, and determinants. Support Care Cancer 2008;16(9):987-997. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-008-0411-7</u>] [Medline: <u>18274783</u>]
- Wang Y, Jacobs EJ, Gapstur SM, Maliniak ML, Gansler T, McCullough ML, et al. Recreational physical activity in relation to prostate cancer-specific mortality among men with nonmetastatic prostate cancer. Eur Urol 2017;72(6):931-939. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.eururo.2017.06.037</u>] [Medline: <u>28711382</u>]
- Baumann FT, Zopf EM, Bloch W. Clinical exercise interventions in prostate cancer patients—a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Support Care Cancer 2012;20(2):221-233. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-011-1271-0</u>] [Medline: <u>21989678</u>]
- Speck RM, Courneya KS, Mâsse LC, Duval S, Schmitz KH. An update of controlled physical activity trials in cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cancer Surviv 2010;4(2):87-100. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-009-0110-5</u>] [Medline: <u>20052559</u>]
- Vashistha V, Singh B, Kaur S, Prokop LJ, Kaushik D. The effects of exercise on fatigue, quality of life, and psychological function for men with prostate cancer: systematic review and meta-analyses. Eur Urol Focus 2016;2(3):284-295. [doi: 10.1016/j.euf.2016.02.011] [Medline: 28723375]
- Yang B, Wang J. Effects of exercise on cancer-related fatigue and quality of life in prostate cancer patients undergoing androgen deprivation therapy: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Chin Med Sci J 2017;32(1):13-21. [doi: <u>10.24920/j1001-9242.2007.002</u>] [Medline: <u>28399980</u>]
- 15. Coups EJ, Ostroff JS. A population-based estimate of the prevalence of behavioral risk factors among adult cancer survivors and noncancer controls. Prev Med 2005;40(6):702-711. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.09.011] [Medline: 15850868]
- Nayak P, Holmes HM, Nguyen HT, Elting LS. Self-reported physical activity among middle-aged cancer survivors in the United States: behavioral risk factor surveillance system survey, 2009. Prev Chronic Dis 2014;11:E156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd11.140067] [Medline: 25211504]
- 17. Troeschel AN, Leach CR, Shuval K, Stein KD, Patel AV. Physical activity in cancer survivors during "Re-Entry" following cancer treatment. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:E65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd15.170277] [Medline: 29806579]
- Fassier P, Zelek L, Partula V, Srour B, Bachmann P, Touillaud M, et al. Variations of physical activity and sedentary behavior between before and after cancer diagnosis: results from the prospective population-based NutriNet-Santé cohort. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;95(40):e4629 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000004629] [Medline: 27749527]

- Fox L, Wiseman T, Cahill D, Beyer K, Peat N, Rammant E, et al. Barriers and facilitators to physical activity in men with prostate cancer: a qualitative and quantitative systematic review. Psychooncology 2019;28(12):2270-2285. [doi: 10.1002/pon.5240] [Medline: 31617635]
- 20. Way KM, Bourne JE, Armstrong MEG. "I'm hooked on e-cycling, I can finally be active again": perceptions of e-cycling as a physical activity intervention during breast cancer treatment. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2023;20(6):5197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph20065197] [Medline: 36982111]
- Brunet J, Taran S, Burke S, Sabiston CM. A qualitative exploration of barriers and motivators to physical activity participation in women treated for breast cancer. Disabil Rehabil 2013;35(24):2038-2045. [doi: <u>10.3109/09638288.2013.802378</u>] [Medline: <u>23772995</u>]
- 22. Craike MJ, Livingston PM, Botti M. An exploratory study of the factors that influence physical activity for prostate cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 2011;19(7):1019-1028. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-010-0929-3] [Medline: 20623146]
- 23. Eng L, Pringle D, Su J, Shen X, Mahler M, Niu C, et al. Patterns, perceptions, and perceived barriers to physical activity in adult cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 2018;26(11):3755-3763. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-018-4239-5</u>] [Medline: <u>29808379</u>]
- 24. Keogh JWL, Patel A, MacLeod RD, Masters J. Perceived barriers and facilitators to physical activity in men with prostate cancer: possible influence of androgen deprivation therapy. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2014;23(2):263-273. [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12141] [Medline: 24134506]
- 25. Sheill G, Guinan E, Neill LO, Hevey D, Hussey J. The views of patients with metastatic prostate cancer towards physical activity: a qualitative exploration. Support Care Cancer 2018;26(6):1747-1754. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-017-4008-x</u>] [Medline: <u>29243168</u>]
- 26. Browall M, Mijwel S, Rundqvist H, Wengström Y. Physical activity during and after adjuvant treatment for breast cancer: an integrative review of women's experiences. Integr Cancer Ther 2018;17(1):16-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1534735416683807] [Medline: 28008778]
- 27. Bourne JE, Kelly P, Mutrie N. The rise of the electrically assisted bicycle and the individual, social and environmental impacts of use. In: Advances in Transport Policy and Planning. Massachusetts: Elsevier; 2022:27-64.
- 28. Bourne JE, Cooper AR, Kelly P, Kinnear FJ, England C, Leary S, et al. The impact of e-cycling on travel behaviour: a scoping review. J Transp Health 2020;19:100910 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jth.2020.100910] [Medline: 32904492]
- 29. Bourne JE, Sauchelli S, Perry R, Page A, Leary S, England C, et al. Health benefits of electrically-assisted cycling: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2018;15(1):116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-018-0751-8] [Medline: 30463581]
- McVicar J, Keske MA, Daryabeygi-Khotbehsara R, Betik AC, Parker L, Maddison R. Systematic review and meta-analysis evaluating the effects electric bikes have on physiological parameters. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2022;32(7):1076-1088 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/sms.14155] [Medline: 35274374]
- 31. Rhodes RE, Kates A. Can the affective response to exercise predict future motives and physical activity behavior? A systematic review of published evidence. Ann Behav Med 2015;49(5):715-731. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-015-9704-5] [Medline: 25921307]
- 32. Michie S, Atkins L, West R. The Behaviour Change Wheel: A Guide to Designing Interventions. London: Silverback; 2014.
- O'Cathain A, Croot L, Duncan E, Rousseau N, Sworn K, Turner KM, et al. Guidance on how to develop complex interventions to improve health and healthcare. BMJ Open 2019;9(8):e029954 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029954] [Medline: 31420394]
- Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2021;374:n2061 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2061] [Medline: 34593508]
- 35. de Geus B, Kempenaers F, Lataire P, Meeusen R. Influence of electrically assisted cycling on physiological parameters in untrained subjects. Eur J Sport Sci 2013;13(3):290-294 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17461391.2011.606845] [Medline: 23679145]
- Höchsmann C, Meister S, Gehrig D, Gordon E, Li Y, Nussbaumer M, et al. Effect of e-bike versus bike commuting on cardiorespiratory fitness in overweight adults: a 4-week randomized pilot study. Clin J Sport Med 2018;28(3):255-265. [doi: 10.1097/JSM.00000000000438] [Medline: 29095201]
- 37. Peterman JE, Morris KL, Kram R, Byrnes WC. Pedelecs as a physically active transportation mode. Eur J Appl Physiol 2016;116(8):1565-1573. [doi: 10.1007/s00421-016-3408-9] [Medline: 27299435]
- Michie S, West R, Sheals K, Godinho CA. Evaluating the effectiveness of behavior change techniques in health-related behavior: a scoping review of methods used. Transl Behav Med 2018;8(2):212-224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibx019] [Medline: 29381786]
- 39. Bourne JE. The use of electrically assisted bicycles for promoting active transport and health. University of Bristol. 2021. URL: <u>https://research-information.bris.ac.uk/en/studentTheses/the-use-of-electrically-assisted-bicycles-for-promoting-active-tr</u> [accessed 2024-06-25]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54785
```

- 40. Bourne JE, Leary S, Page A, Searle A, England C, Thompson D, et al. Electrically assisted cycling for individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2023;9(1):60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-023-01283-5] [Medline: 37072802]
- Cooper AR, Tibbitts B, England C, Procter D, Searle A, Sebire SJ, et al. Potential of electric bicycles to improve the health of people with type 2 diabetes: a feasibility study. Diabet Med 2018;35(9):1279-1282 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/dme.13664] [Medline: 29738609]
- 42. Searle A, Ranger E, Zahra J, Tibbitts B, Page A, Cooper A. Engagement in e-cycling and the self-management of type 2 diabetes: a qualitative study in primary care. BJGP Open 2019;3(2):bjgpopen18X101638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgpopen18X101638] [Medline: 31366669]
- 43. Bourne JE, Leary S, England C, Searle A. "I felt marvellous e-cycling. If I had long hair I would have flicked it": a qualitative investigation of the factors associated with e-cycling engagement among adults with type 2 diabetes. Front Sports Act Living 2023;5:1150724 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fspor.2023.1150724] [Medline: 37841890]
- 44. Slattery P, Saeri AK, Bragge P. Research co-design in health: a rapid overview of reviews. Health Res Policy Syst 2020;18(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12961-020-0528-9] [Medline: 32046728]
- Cane J, O'Connor D, Michie S. Validation of the theoretical domains framework for use in behaviour change and implementation research. Implement Sci 2012;7:37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-7-37] [Medline: 22530986]
- 46. Johnston M, Carey RN, Connell Bohlen LE, Johnston DW, Rothman AJ, de Bruin M, et al. Development of an online tool for linking behavior change techniques and mechanisms of action based on triangulation of findings from literature synthesis and expert consensus. Transl Behav Med 2021;11(5):1049-1065 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibaa050] [Medline: 32749460]
- 47. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. Ann Behav Med 2013;46(1):81-95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6] [Medline: 23512568]
- 48. Hailey V, Rojas-Garcia A, Kassianos AP. A systematic review of behaviour change techniques used in interventions to increase physical activity among breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer 2022;29(2):193-208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12282-021-01323-z] [Medline: 34989962]
- 49. Hallward L, Patel N, Duncan LR. Behaviour change techniques in physical activity interventions for men with prostate cancer: a systematic review. J Health Psychol 2020;25(1):105-122. [doi: <u>10.1177/1359105318756501</u>] [Medline: <u>29446325</u>]
- 50. Bourne JE, Foster C, Forte C, Aning J, Potter S, Hart EC. Study protocol for two pilot randomised controlled trials aimed at increasing physical activity using electrically assisted bicycles to enhance prostate or breast cancer survival. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2023;9(1):68. [Medline: 10124052]
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Cancer survivors and physical activity, national health interview survey, 1997-2018. National Center for Health Statistics. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/1997-2018.htm</u> [accessed 2023-06-10]
- 52. Speed-Andrews AE, Rhodes RE, Blanchard CM, Culos-Reed SN, Friedenreich CM, Belanger LJ, et al. Medical, demographic and social cognitive correlates of physical activity in a population-based sample of colorectal cancer survivors. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2012;21(2):187-196. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2011.01290.x] [Medline: 21902736]
- Blanchard CM, Courneya KS, Stein K. Cancer survivors' adherence to lifestyle behavior recommendations and associations with health-related quality of life: results from the American Cancer Society's SCS-II. J Clin Oncol 2008;26(13):2198-2204. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.14.6217] [Medline: 18445845]
- Courneya KS, Katzmarzyk PT, Bacon E. Physical activity and obesity in Canadian cancer survivors: population-based estimates from the 2005 Canadian community health survey. Cancer 2008;112(11):2475-2482 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23455] [Medline: 18428195]
- 55. Forbes CC, Blanchard CM, Mummery WK, Courneya KS. A comparison of physical activity correlates across breast, prostate and colorectal cancer survivors in Nova Scotia, Canada. Support Care Cancer 2014;22(4):891-903. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-013-2045-7] [Medline: 24240648]
- 56. Smith SG, Chagpar AB. Adherence to physical activity guidelines in breast cancer survivors. Am Surg 2010;76(9):962-965. [Medline: 20836343]
- Kenfield SA, Stampfer MJ, Giovannucci E, Chan JM. Physical activity and survival after prostate cancer diagnosis in the health professionals follow-up study. J Clin Oncol 2011;29(6):726-732 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.31.5226] [Medline: 21205749]
- Sheeran P, Abraham C, Jones K, Villegas ME, Avishai A, Symes YR, et al. Promoting physical activity among cancer survivors: meta-analysis and meta-CART analysis of randomized controlled trials. Health Psychol 2019;38(6):467-482. [doi: <u>10.1037/hea0000712</u>] [Medline: <u>30973743</u>]
- 59. Grimmett C, Corbett T, Brunet J, Shepherd J, Pinto BM, May CR, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of maintenance of physical activity behaviour change in cancer survivors. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2019;16(1):37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-019-0787-4] [Medline: 31029140]
- 60. Finlay A, Wittert G, Short CE. A systematic review of physical activity-based behaviour change interventions reaching men with prostate cancer. J Cancer Surviv 2018;12(4):571-591. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-018-0694-8] [Medline: 29770953]

- 61. Bluethmann SM, Vernon SW, Gabriel KP, Murphy CC, Bartholomew LK. Taking the next step: a systematic review and meta-analysis of physical activity and behavior change interventions in recent post-treatment breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2015;149(2):331-342 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-014-3255-5] [Medline: 25555831]
- 62. Finne E, Glausch M, Exner AK, Sauzet O, Stölzel F, Seidel N. Behavior change techniques for increasing physical activity in cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Cancer Manag Res 2018;10:5125-5143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S170064] [Medline: 30464612]
- Liu MG, Davis GM, Kilbreath SL, Yee J. Physical activity interventions using behaviour change theories for women with breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cancer Surviv 2022;16(5):1127-1148. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-021-01104-9] [Medline: 34491527]
- 64. Bandura A. Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall; 1986.
- 65. Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC. Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: toward an integrative model of change. J Consult Clin Psychol 1983;51(3):390-395. [doi: 10.1037//0022-006x.51.3.390] [Medline: 6863699]
- 66. Lambert JD, Greaves CJ, Farrand P, Cross R, Haase AM, Taylor AH. Assessment of fidelity in individual level behaviour change interventions promoting physical activity among adults: a systematic review. BMC Public Health 2017;17(1):765 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4778-6] [Medline: 28969669]
- 67. McVicar J, Nourse R, Keske MA, Maddison R. Development of a behavioural support intervention for e-bike use in Australia. BMC Public Health 2022;22(1):2399 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-14693-6] [Medline: 36544125]
- 68. Howlett N, Trivedi D, Troop NA, Chater AM. Are physical activity interventions for healthy inactive adults effective in promoting behavior change and maintenance, and which behavior change techniques are effective? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Transl Behav Med 2019;9(1):147-157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/iby010] [Medline: 29506209]
- 69. Kelly P, Williamson C, Baker G, Davis A, Broadfield S, Coles A, et al. Beyond cycle lanes and large-scale infrastructure: a scoping review of initiatives that groups and organisations can implement to promote cycling for the Cycle Nation Project. Br J Sports Med 2020;54(23):1405-1415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2019-101447] [Medline: 32269057]
- Carey RN, Connell LE, Johnston M, Rothman AJ, de Bruin M, Kelly MP, et al. Behavior change techniques and their mechanisms of action: a synthesis of links described in published intervention literature. Ann Behav Med 2019;53(8):693-707 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kay078] [Medline: 30304386]
- Connell LE, Carey RN, de Bruin M, Rothman AJ, Johnston M, Kelly MP, et al. Links between behavior change techniques and mechanisms of action: an expert consensus study. Ann Behav Med 2019;53(8):708-720 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kay082] [Medline: 30452535]

Abbreviations

APEASE: Acceptability, Practicability, Effectiveness, Affordability, Side-Effects, and Equity BCT: behavior change technique BCW: Behaviour Change Wheel COM-B: Capability, Opportunity, Motivation-Behavior MRC: Medical Research Council PPI: patient and public involvement REC: Research Ethics Committee SCT: Social Cognitive Theory T2D: type 2 diabetes TDF: Theoretical Domains Framework

Edited by L Ha; submitted 21.11.23; peer-reviewed by Z Ehtesham, M Lock; comments to author 20.02.24; accepted 07.06.24; published 16.08.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Bourne JE, Kelly P, Armstrong MEG A Theory and Evidence-Informed e-Cycling Intervention for Individuals Diagnosed With Cancer: Development Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e54785 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54785</u> doi:<u>10.2196/54785</u> PMID:

©Jessica E Bourne, Paul Kelly, Miranda E G Armstrong. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 16.08.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,

provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Assessing the Quality, Privacy, and Security of Breast Cancer Apps for Arabic Speakers: Systematic Search and Review of Smartphone Apps

Dari Alhuwail^{1,2}, PhD; Aisha Alhouti¹, MSc; Latifah Alsarhan¹, BS

¹Information Science Department, College of Life Sciences, Kuwait University, Sabah AlSalem University City, Kuwait ²Health Informatics Unit, Dasman Diabetes Institute, Dasman, Kuwait

Corresponding Author: Dari Alhuwail, PhD Information Science Department College of Life Sciences Kuwait University P.O. Box 5969 Sabah AlSalem University City, Safat 13060 Kuwait Phone: 965 24633214 Email: dari.alhuwail@ku.edu.kw

Abstract

Background: Breast cancer is a widespread disease, and its incidence is rapidly increasing in the Middle East and North Africa region. With the increasing availability of smartphone apps for various health purposes, breast cancer apps have emerged as tools for raising awareness, providing support, and empowering women affected by this disease. These apps offer many features, including information on breast cancer risk factors, self-examination guides, appointment reminders, and community support groups or hotlines. Using apps raises the risk of privacy and security issues, and we hope that examining these features of the apps will contribute to the understanding of how technology can be used to improve these apps and provide insights for future development and improvement of breast cancer apps.

Objective: This study aims to critically review the quality, privacy, and security of breast cancer apps available to Arabic speakers.

Methods: Similar to several recent studies, we used a systematic search for apps available in Google Play and Apple App stores using both the web interface and the built-in native stores installed on smartphones. The search was conducted in mid-December 2022 in Arabic using the following keywords: - - - - - - - - (breast cancer, breast cancer treatment, breast cancer disease, breast cancer symptoms, breast cancer screening, and breast test). These preidentified search terms are based on earlier work concerning the top searched breast cancer topics by Arabic speakers through Google's search engine. We excluded apps that did not have an Arabic interface, were developed for non-Arabic speakers, were paid, needed a subscription, or were directed toward health care workers. The Mobile App Rating Scale was used to evaluate the quality of the apps concerning their engagement, functionality, aesthetics, and information. A risk score was calculated for the apps to determine their security risk factors.

Results: Only 9 apps were included, with most (6/9, 67%) being supported by advertisements and categorized as informational. Overall, the apps had low numbers of downloads (>10 to >1000). The majority of the included apps (8/9, 89%) requested dangerous access permissions, including access to storage, media files, and the camera. The average security score of the included apps was 3.22, while only 2 apps provided information about data security and privacy. The included apps achieved an overall average quality score of 3.27, with individual dimension scores of 4.75 for functionality, 3.04 for information, 3.00 for aesthetics, and 2.32 for engagement.

Conclusions: The limited availability of breast cancer apps available to Arabic speakers should be a call to action and prompt health care organizations and developers to join forces and collaboratively develop information-rich, usable, functional, engaging, and secure apps.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48428) doi:10.2196/48428



KEYWORDS

apps; Arabic; awareness; breast cancer; consumer health informatics; education; mHealth; mobile health; privacy; quality; security; smartphone; women

Introduction

Female breast cancer is among the most commonly diagnosed cancers worldwide, with a rate of approximately 2.3 million new cases [1]. Over the past decade, breast cancer incidence has been on the rise in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region [2]. Breast cancer is the most frequently diagnosed cancer (17.7%-19% of all types of cancer) in the region [3], and it accounts for 30% of all cancer cases [4]. The lack of cancer education and barriers to cancer screening are seen as major health problems [5]. Education is one of the most effective tools in the fight against female breast cancer; it can have positive effects on women's practices, attitudes, and knowledge of the disease [6]. However, recent studies suggest a lack of resources and poor awareness of breast cancer in women in the MENA region [7]. While the digital delivery of health education content has been on the rise through different digital media (eg, websites and social media), the quality of Arabic content for female breast cancer remains poor [8-10].

Smartphone proliferation, ubiquity, and affordability, as well as the increasing availability of mobile apps, may be the long-awaited for "digiceuticals" or digital therapeutics [11-13]. Today, the number of health apps in smartphone app stores exceeds 325,000 [14] and will continue to rise, with estimates of more than 200 apps being added daily to app stores [15], covering a wide spectrum of health purposes, such as well-being, education, and disease management, including chronic conditions [16]. Several apps are available that can help individuals with breast cancer manage their condition. These apps have been used for the purposes of education [17-19], care management [20,21], prevention [22-24], and well-being [25,26]. These apps can be a valuable resource for individuals with breast cancer, helping them stay informed and connected to their care team and manage the symptoms and challenges associated with the disease.

The use of mobile health (mHealth) apps contributes to improving health literacy and facilitating communication between patients and their care providers [27]. Moreover, it improves patient well-being and helps caregivers make informed clinical decisions [28]. In fact, the use of such apps not only benefits patients while receiving treatment but also provides tools such as follow-up care and self-management for breast cancer survivors [29]. Patients' need for self-management techniques is crucial, as it helps them to make their lives better by complying with the treatment needed and, as a result, accepting the disease [30].

However, despite the high number of downloads and star ratings of health apps, including those specifically targeting breast cancer, several challenges remain with respect to their quality and security. Evidence from the literature reports on the existence of poor-quality health apps that fall short with respect to (1) following evidence-based health guidelines and best practices, (2) involving experts and consumers in their development, and (3) demonstrating effectiveness based on empirical evidence, all of which ultimately can be potentially harmful to their users [14,31-33].

Additionally, health apps have been facing critical challenges related to their privacy, confidentiality, and security [14,34,35], especially given their nature of handling sensitive, personal, and health-related data [36]. These challenges have been magnified with the rise of cyberattacks through apps and mobile devices [37] and further highlighted by recent regulations such as the General Data Protection Regulation for member states of the European Union [38]. Such a regulation assesses the privacy score of mobile apps and identifies or measures apps' privacy based on 14 components [39].

As the uptake of these apps increases, it becomes imperative for users to evaluate their quality and safety [40]. Despite the high prevalence of breast cancer among the population of the MENA region, evidence regarding the quality, privacy, and security of breast cancer apps available to Arabic speakers remains poor. This study aimed to conduct a systematic assessment of mobile breast cancer apps available for Arabic speakers to evaluate their functionality, quality, security, and data safety. To the best of our knowledge, no previous study has addressed this gap.

Methods

Overview

Using a similar approach to several recent studies [41-45] and to ensure scientific rigor, this study conducted a systematic search and content analysis of mobile breast cancer apps available for Arabic speakers. We searched both Google Play and Apple App stores between December 18 and 24, 2022.

Search Strategy

Initially, we used the Arabic search terms highlighted in Table 1 to search Google Play and Apple App stores. These search terms were selected based on earlier work that was published concerning the top searched breast cancer topics by Arabic speakers using Google's search engine [8]. To ensure rigor, the researchers searched the app stores both through (1) the web interface and (2) natively on devices running the relevant operating system, thus mimicking how end users will discover such apps.



Alhuwail et al

Table 1. The terms used to search for breast cancer apps available to Arabic speakers and their English translations.

Arabic term	Translated term
	Breast cancer
	Breast cancer screening
	Breast cancer treatment or therapy
	Breast cancer detection or screening
	Breast cancer disease
	Symptoms of breast cancer
	Breast screening

Eligibility

App eligibility was determined by 2 independent researchers blinded to each other's decisions, and the apps were initially screened based on the app's name, the provided screenshots, and the app's description. Discrepancies between researchers were resolved through consensus. Apps were included if they

Textbox 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for the apps.

Inclusion criteria

- Free of charge
- Available on Google Play or Apple App store
- Designed for use by consumers or patients
- Support Arabic speakers
- Considered regardless of release or last update dates

Exclusion criteria

- Paid or subscription based
- Designed for use by clinicians or health care workers
- Does not support Arabic speakers

Data Extraction and Evaluation

Initially, all information provided by the app developers in the app stores was extracted to evaluate the descriptive features and the general characteristics of the included apps, which included the platform, developer name, update date, ratings, number of reviews, number of downloads, app category, and app permissions, as reported by the app developers. Afterward, 2 independent researchers downloaded the apps on their smartphones to assess the quality and privacy risks of the included apps.

We evaluated the quality of the included apps using a standardized form, the Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS), focusing on the following 4 dimensions: engagement, functionality, aesthetics, and information quality [46,47]. All scores were compared among 2 researchers, and the average score for each dimension was reported. To evaluate the apps' privacy risks, we assigned scores to the permissions requested by the apps as reported by the app developers. The scores were informed by previous research, where the score risk is 0 for nonthreatening, 0.5 for potentially threatening, and 1 for threatening permissions [48]. Such permissions include access

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48428
```

RenderX

were free of charge, provided content and support for Arabic speakers, and were designed for use by consumers or patients; all apps were considered regardless of release or last update dates (Textbox 1). Apps were excluded if they were paid or were subscription-based, did not support Arabic speakers, or were designed for use by clinicians or health care workers.

to restricted data, such as system state and user contact information, and restricted actions, such as connecting to a paired device and recording audio [49]. The 2 researchers independently carried out this evaluation and were unaware of each other's scores; any discrepancies were resolved through consensus.

Results

Overview

The researchers followed the systemic steps, highlighted in Figure 1, resulting in the inclusion of 9 apps, all of which are Android apps found on the Google Play store.

Overall, the included apps were indicated to be appropriate for all ages and were either in the medical, education, lifestyle, personalization, or health and fitness categories as per Google Play store categorization (Table 2). Our investigation suggests that the apps were all informational in nature, mainly providing information about breast cancer. None of the included apps had a language option to make it available in more than 1 language.

At the time of data collection, the results show that the included apps had low overall downloads (>10 to >1000) and more than half (6/9, 67%) were supported by advertisements. Only 5 apps

had reviews, with an average of 10.60 reviews and an average star rating of 4.78. Only 1 app was last updated in 2019, while the remaining apps were updated in the past 2 years.





 Table 2. Characteristics of the included breast cancer apps in the Google Play store.

App number ^a	Stars	Reviews, n	Advertisement supported	Downloads, n	Rating ^{b,c}	Updated on ^d	Category ^b
1	5	10	No	>100	3+	May 11, 2021	Medical
2	4.9	23	Yes	>1000	3+	July 26, 2019	Medical
3	e	_	Yes	>100	3+	April 18, 2020	Health and fit- ness
4	4.2	6	Yes	>1000	3+	November 3, 2020	Education
5	5	8	No	>500	3+	May 11, 2021	Medical
6	4.8	6	No	50	3+	July 11, 2022	Medical
7	_	_	Yes	500	3+	August 9, 2021	Lifestyle
8	_	_	Yes	10	3+	October 8, 2022	Personalization
9	_	_	Yes	10	3+	October 8, 2022	Personalization

^aArbitrary number to mask app name.

^bBased on Google Play store.

^cContent of apps considered suitable for age group indicated per Google Play store rating.

^dAt data collection.

^eNot available.

App Permissions and Controls

As described in the Google Play store, the majority of the included apps (8/9, 89%) were requesting dangerous access permissions, including access to storage, media files, and camera permissions (Table 3). Additional permissions were exposed after the researchers downloaded the apps on the testing devices. These permissions included receiving data from the internet; viewing network connections; having full network access; running at start-up; controlling flashlight and vibration; preventing the device from sleeping; reading badge notifications; running foreground services; advertising permissions; reading location from media; playing and installing referrer application programming interface; and lastly, pairing with Bluetooth

devices (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1). The researchers considered all permissions and added them up to calculate the final risk score (Table 4).

On average, the security score for the included apps is 3.22 (total points possible: 9.5). The security scores ranged between 0 and 7.5; only 2 apps had a total security score of 0. The apps requested potentially dangerous permissions, namely full network access, advertising ID permission, read location from media collection, precise location (GPS and network-based), take pictures and videos, read the contents of the USB storage, modify or delete the contents of the USB storage, and view Wi-Fi connections.

Table 3. Included apps' permissions as described in the Google Play store.

App number	Location		Camera	Photos and a	media	Storage		Wi-Fi connec- tion
	Approximate location (net- work based)	Precise loca- tion (GPS and network based)	Take pic- tures and videos	Read the contents of your USB storage	Modify or delete the contents of your USB storage	Read the contents of your USB stor- age	Modify or delete the con- tents of your USB storage	View Wi-Fi connections
1					·			
2								✓
3	✓	✓	1	1	1	1	\checkmark	✓
4								
5								
6			1			1		1
7						1		1
8								
9								



Table 4. The security score per app based on its permissions requested or declared.

Permission	Weight ^a	App								
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Receive data from the internet	0.5	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1
View network connections	0.5	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1
Full network access	1	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
Run at start-up	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1
Control flashlight	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Control vibration	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1
Prevent device from sleeping	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1
Read badge notification	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	1
Run foreground service	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	1
Advertising ID permission	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	1
Read location from media collection	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0
Play install referrer API ^b	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0
Pair with Bluetooth devices	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0
Approximate location (network-based)	0.5	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Precise location (GPS and network-based)	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Take pictures and videos	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0
Modify or delete the contents of your USB storage	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Read the contents of your USB storage	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0
Modify or delete the contents of your USB storage	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
View Wi-Fi connections	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0
Total security score per app	9.5	0	2.5	7.5	2	0	6	5	3	3

^aThe threat weight was calculated following the guidance provided by Olmstead and Atkinson [48].

^bAPI: application programming interface.

Data Safety

Apps' Quality Rating

Only 3 apps provided information about data safety and how the data are handled (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Specifically, only 2 apps reported not sharing user data with other companies or organizations; the same apps reported that their apps do not collect user data. On the other hand, only 1 reported sharing information such as location, health and fitness messages, as well as photos and videos. The 3 apps that declared information about data safety reported that the data are encrypted in transit. Only 1 app reported that the users can request to delete the data. The researchers used MARS to evaluate the included apps' quality. MARS uses 4 dimensions to assess the apps: engagement, functionality, aesthetics, and information. The average overall score rating of the included apps was 3.27 (Table 5). Notably, the evaluation showed that all the apps had a high rate in the functionality dimension, where they all scored 4.75; as for the engagement dimension, all apps had a meager score with an average of 2.32. Considering the other 2 dimensions, aesthetics and information, we can see that the scores vary between apps, where some have a high score and others have a low score, with an average of 3.00 and 3.04, respectively.



Table 5. Mobile App Rating Scale evaluation for Arabic breast cancer apps.

App number	Engagement	Functionality	Aesthetics	Information	Overall
1	2.30	4.75	3.67	3.87	3.60
2	2.40	4.75	3.00	3.00	3.30
3	2.40	4.75	3.00	2.25	3.10
4	2.40	4.75	3.33	2.50	3.20
5	2.40	4.75	3.33	3.50	3.50
6	2.40	4.75	3.67	4.00	3.70
7	2.20	4.75	3.00	2.75	3.20
8	2.20	4.75	2.00	2.75	2.90
9	2.20	4.75	2.00	2.75	2.90
Total mean score	2.32	4.75	3.00	3.04	3.27

Discussion

Principal Findings

To the best of our knowledge, this work summarizes the most extensive collection of the currently available free-of-charge breast cancer apps for Arabic speakers on the Google Play and Apple App stores. Interestingly, this systematic investigation reveals that, at the time of data collection, no breast cancer apps were identified as available to Arabic speakers in the Apple App store. Additionally, none of the apps at the time of data collection provided language options, which can hinder the possibility of translating to multiple languages. Overall, the results of this research showed a lack of breast cancer apps available to Arabic speakers compared to apps available in Turkish [50] and Korean [51] for example.

The analyzed apps in this study are available for free, with the majority of these apps (6/9, 67%) being supported by advertisements. The apps varied in what they are able to access and control on the devices, as shown in Table 3. A total of 44% (4/9) apps use Wi-Fi, 33% (3/9) can access the device's storage, 22% (2/9) have access to the device's camera, and 11% (1/9) are able to access the media as well as the location. Only 33% (3/9) of the apps stated how the collected data would be used (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1), while the rest of the apps did not specify any information.

The results of this study demonstrate that the quality of the considered apps is highly "functional" but less "engaging" (Table 5). The average overall score rating of the included apps (3.27) is slightly above average, suggesting that the majority of the apps may not be considered exceptional by consumers. While there seem to be positive aspects to the included apps, there is still room for improvement. Considering Arabic content related to breast cancer, recent evidence suggests the low quality of informational videos available on YouTube despite the high number of views [9]. Our findings provide evidence suggesting that nearly average-quality information content about breast cancer is available to Arabic speakers.

A recent Spanish study tested 6 apps (2 on iOS, 5 on Android, and 1 on both) using the MARS framework. The results of the study showed relatively diverse scores, with an objective quality

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48428
```

XSL•F() RenderX mean score of 3.06 and a subjective quality mean score of 1.96 [52]. Another study evaluated the quality of mHealth apps for educational purposes in Iran using the MARS framework. The study reported a mean score of 4.01 for quality and 3.08 for subjective quality [53]. Turkish apps were also evaluated using the MARS framework, and the study found an average score of 3.31 [50], which is similar to the Spanish study's results.

Although many research papers have addressed the importance of using mHealth apps to improve patients' health, provide educational materials, enhance communication between patients and caregivers, and achieve a successful recovery, these studies have stated that such apps are exposed to several challenges and threats as well. For instance, middle- and high-income households had more access to the internet on their mobile devices compared to those with low incomes [28]. Therefore, patients and caregivers who have no or limited access to the internet may not be able to use the app's features effectively, or they might not prefer to use a mobile phone for health-related purposes in general.

Another concern is that the process of storing and transferring personal health data through a mobile app could be insecure and might cause serious security and privacy issues [28,54]. Thus, mobile apps should be designed to accommodate a wide range of possible users while considering health knowledge, different levels of cultural needs, and linguistic requirements. Additionally, recent research suggests that assessing the apps' quality, safety, and usability by involving patients and health care professionals will result in an ideal app that meets patients' requirements and enhances the app's overall safety as well [20].

The literature on breast cancer smartphone apps suggests that these apps can be a valuable resource of information for individuals with the disease [55]. These apps provide information on treatment options, support groups, and local resources. The apps also allow individuals to track their symptoms, set reminders for appointments, and record their progress throughout treatment [56]. Such features can significantly contribute to enhancing patients' well-being [57]. Additionally, studies have found that these apps can improve communication with health care providers and improve self-efficacy and quality of life [30,58]. However, it is important to note that the quality and accuracy of the information provided

by these apps can vary, and it is recommended to consult with a health care professional before using any app for managing a medical condition.

A recent study on breast health and breast cancer apps notes that although apps appear to be competitive and useful for patients, some major features have to be considered while developing these apps [59]. The features include notifications, reminders, symptoms tracking, and recording. The study also suggests designing the apps to be user-friendly, even for low-literacy patients, by adding an audio feature (text-to-speech). Developing features with audio support will not only help patients with low literacy but can also support multiple languages.

Recommendations and Implications for Practice

Privacy and Security

We would recommend that the developers of the apps be more transparent and state how the data will be used and that they should not have access to unnecessary data. We recommend that future breast cancer apps be available to Arabic speakers to justify the need for the permissions requested while also transparently disclosing the data safety handling measures to the app users. Security and privacy of apps are considered major requirements as they are accountable for sensitive patient data such as prescriptions, treatments, etc. Thus, to come up with robust apps that could ensure privacy and security appropriately, more evaluation techniques, as well as security mechanisms, should be analyzed and implemented on Arabic apps, in particular, to assess, measure, and control the apps' security and privacy [60].

Quality and Engagement

Involving patients and health professionals in the app design phase is crucial. Several studies have addressed the idea that health applications should be developed and designed based on the combined efforts of health professionals, related academics, and patients [61]. To raise the quality of breast cancer apps, the inclusion of utility features such as appointment booking for mammograms and web-based consultations becomes necessary. In addition, it is recommended to improve health apps' engagement by focusing on specific components such as personalized content, data visualization, reminders and notifications, educational material, self-management functions, and goal-setting features [62]. Providing users and patients with proper communication features and a well-designed interface leads to an ideal user experience as a result [30].

Study Strengths and Limitations

Similar to other studies, a rigorous multistep methodology mimicking systematic reviews is used in this study to assess the breast cancer apps that are available to Arabic speakers. Apps were thoroughly searched through both the web interface as well as the app stores natively on the devices, mimicking how end users will discover such apps. While the results provide an indication of the quality of the evaluated apps, additional investigations are required to consider patients' perspectives about their views about the quality as well as the utility of such apps. Future studies can also involve rigorous assessments with respect to the security measures applied by breast cancer apps available to Arabic speakers.

This study only considered the publicly available apps and may have missed apps that are "prescribed" to patients or consumers or those that are developed locally by health care organizations. Another limitation, which is inherent to the search strategy used in this work as well as similar other work [63], is the fact that the search algorithms used by the app stores are nontransparent and can change without the public's knowledge, potentially undermining the reproducibility of the outcomes. Lastly, the current state of the results as revealed by this work is likely to change quite rapidly since apps are regularly released, updated, and retired.

Conclusions

The battle against breast cancer is not over yet, and breast cancer apps can serve as valuable resources in this ongoing fight. The results of this systematic and thorough examination of breast cancer apps available for Arabic speakers reveal their limited existence at the time of study. The investigations evaluated these apps through the lenses of quality, privacy, and security, revealing that the included apps are rated as highly "functional" but at the same time are less "engaging." The investigations also reveal that some apps were accessing unnecessary data and collecting information that was not relevant to the purpose of the app.

Developers of breast cancer apps that cater to Arabic speakers must focus on consumers' preferences, demographics, usability, and the interface of their apps, as well as enhance measures and mechanisms of privacy and security for their apps. The low number of breast cancer apps available to Arabic speakers, as revealed in this study, should be a call to action for many health care organizations and developers to collaboratively develop information-rich, usable, functional, engaging, and secure apps.

Data Availability

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this paper and its supplementary information files.

Authors' Contributions

DA conceptualized the study design and supervised the study. DA and AA participated in data assembly, analysis, and interpretation, and in the writing of the paper. LA contributed to data interpretation and in the writing of the paper. All authors read and approved the final paper.



Conflicts of Interest

Multimedia Appendix 1 Included apps' declared permission and safety declarations. [DOCX File, 17 KB - cancer v10i1e48428 app1.docx]

References

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021;71(3):209-249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21660] [Medline: 33538338]
- Hashim MJ, Al-Shamsi FA, Al-Marzooqi NA, Al-Qasemi SS, Mokdad AH, Khan G. Burden of breast cancer in the Arab world: findings from Global Burden of Disease, 2016. J Epidemiol Glob Health 2018;8(1-2):54-58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2991/j.jegh.2018.09.003] [Medline: 30859788]
- 3. Fearon D, Hughes S, Brearley SG. Experiences of breast cancer in Arab countries. a thematic synthesis. Qual Life Res 2020;29(2):313-324 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-019-02328-0] [Medline: 31646417]
- Johnson RH, Anders CK, Litton JK, Ruddy KJ, Bleyer A. Breast cancer in adolescents and young adults. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2018;65(12):e27397 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.27397] [Medline: 30156052]
- 5. AlHarthi FS, Qari A, Edress A, Abedalthagafi M. Familial/inherited cancer syndrome: a focus on the highly consanguineous Arab population. NPJ Genom Med 2020;5:3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41525-019-0110-y] [Medline: 32025336]
- 6. Alsaraireh A, Darawad MW. Impact of a breast cancer educational program on female university students' knowledge, attitudes, and practices. J Cancer Educ 2019;34(2):315-322. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-017-1304-6</u>] [Medline: <u>29230686</u>]
- Madkhali NA, Santin O, Noble H, Reid J. Breast health awareness in an Arabic culture: a qualitative exploration. J Adv Nurs 2019;75(8):1713-1722. [doi: 10.1111/jan.14003] [Medline: 30895639]
- Jasem Z, AlMeraj Z, Alhuwail D. Evaluating breast cancer websites targeting Arabic speakers: empirical investigation of popularity, availability, accessibility, readability, and quality. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2022;22(1):126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-022-01868-9] [Medline: 35534816]
- 9. Ayoub G, Chalhoub E, Sleilaty G, Kourie HR. YouTube as a source of information on breast cancer in the Arab world. Support Care Cancer 2021;29(12):8009-8017. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-021-06403-6</u>] [Medline: <u>34224018</u>]
- 10. Alnaim L. Evaluation breast cancer information on the internet in Arabic. J Cancer Educ 2019;34(4):810-818. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-018-1378-9] [Medline: 29923058]
- 11. Jongerius C, Russo S, Mazzocco K, Pravettoni G. Research-tested mobile apps for breast cancer care: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7(2):e10930 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10930] [Medline: 30741644]
- 12. Wu X, Guo X, Zhang Z. The efficacy of mobile phone apps for lifestyle modification in diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7(1):e12297 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12297] [Medline: 30664494]
- Alhuwail D. Diabetes applications for Arabic speakers: a critical review of available apps for Android and iOS operated smartphones. Stud Health Technol Inform 2016;225:587-591. [Medline: <u>27332269</u>]
- 14. Grundy Q. A review of the quality and impact of mobile health apps. Annu Rev Public Health 2022;43:117-134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-052020-103738] [Medline: 34910582]
- 15. Adam R, McMichael D, Powell D, Murchie P. Publicly available apps for cancer survivors: a scoping review. BMJ Open 2019;9(9):e032510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032510] [Medline: 31575584]
- Kalke K, Ginossar T, Bentley JM, Carver H, Shah SFA, Kinney AY. Use of evidence-based best practices and behavior change techniques in breast cancer apps: systematic analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(1):e14082 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14082] [Medline: 32012084]
- 17. Kim HJ, Kim SM, Shin H, Jang JS, Kim YI, Han DH. A mobile game for patients with breast cancer for chemotherapy self-management and quality-of-life improvement: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018;20(10):e273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9559] [Medline: 30578205]
- Ghanbari E, Yektatalab S, Mehrabi M. Effects of psychoeducational interventions using mobile apps and mobile-based online group discussions on anxiety and self-esteem in women with breast cancer: randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021;9(5):e19262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19262] [Medline: 34003138]
- Yusuf A, Iskandar YHP, Ab Hadi IS, Nasution A, Keng SL. Breast awareness mobile apps for health education and promotion for breast cancer. Front Public Health 2022;10:951641 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.951641] [Medline: 36324460]
- Petrocchi S, Filipponi C, Montagna G, Bonollo M, Pagani O, Meani F. A breast cancer smartphone app to navigate the breast cancer journey: mixed methods study. JMIR Form Res 2021;5(5):e28668 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28668] [Medline: <u>33970120</u>]
- 21. Wanchai A, Anderson EA, Armer JM. A systematic review of m-health apps on managing side effects of breast cancer treatment. Support Care Cancer 2022;31(1):86. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-022-07464-x] [Medline: 36574048]

- 22. Houghton LC, Howland RE, McDonald JA. Mobilizing breast cancer prevention research through smartphone apps: a systematic review of the literature. Front Public Health 2019;7:298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00298] [Medline: 31781525]
- 23. Salmani H, Ahmadi M, Shahrokhi N. The impact of mobile health on cancer screening: a systematic review. Cancer Inform 2020;19:1176935120954191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1176935120954191] [Medline: 33116352]
- 24. Błajda J, Barnaś E, Kucab A. Application of personalized education in the mobile medical app for breast self-examination. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022;19(8):4482 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph19084482] [Medline: 35457349]
- 25. Egbring M, Far E, Roos M, Dietrich M, Brauchbar M, Kullak-Ublick GA, et al. A mobile app to stabilize daily functional activity of breast cancer patients in collaboration with the physician: a randomized controlled clinical trial. J Med Internet Res 2016;18(9):e238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6414] [Medline: 27601354]
- 26. Monteiro-Guerra F, Signorelli GR, Tadas S, Zubiete ED, Romero OE, Fernandez-Luque L, et al. A personalized physical activity coaching app for breast cancer survivors: design process and early prototype testing. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(7):e17552 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17552] [Medline: 32673271]
- Cruz FOAM, Vilela RA, Ferreira EB, Melo NS, Reis PEDD. Evidence on the use of mobile apps during the treatment of breast cancer: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7(8):e13245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13245] [Medline: 31456578]
- Kim H, Goldsmith JV, Sengupta S, Mahmood A, Powell MP, Bhatt J, et al. Mobile health application and e-health literacy: opportunities and concerns for cancer patients and caregivers. J Cancer Educ 2019;34(1):3-8. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-017-1293-5] [Medline: 29139070]
- 29. Kapoor A, Nambisan P, Baker E. Mobile applications for breast cancer survivorship and self-management: a systematic review. Health Informatics J 2020;26(4):2892-2905 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458220950853] [Medline: 32842830]
- Jebraeily M, Eghtedar S, Ayatollahi H, Mohammadzadeh Z. Identifying educational contents and technical features of a self-management smartphone application for women with breast cancer. J Adv Med Biomed Res 2022;30(139):129-137. [doi: <u>10.30699/jambs.30.139.129</u>]
- Larsen ME, Nicholas J, Christensen H. A systematic assessment of smartphone tools for suicide prevention. PLoS One 2016;11(4):e0152285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152285] [Medline: 27073900]
- 32. Nicholas J, Larsen ME, Proudfoot J, Christensen H. Mobile apps for bipolar disorder: a systematic review of features and content quality. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(8):e198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4581] [Medline: 26283290]
- Alnasser AA, Amalraj RE, Sathiaseelan A, Al-Khalifa AS, Marais D. Do Arabic weight-loss apps adhere to evidence-informed practices? Transl Behav Med 2016;6(3):396-402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-015-0347-7] [Medline: 27528528]
- Dehling T, Gao F, Schneider S, Sunyaev A. Exploring the far side of mobile health: information security and privacy of mobile health apps on iOS and Android. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(1):e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3672] [Medline: 25599627]
- 35. Benjumea J, Ropero J, Rivera-Romero O, Dorronzoro-Zubiete E, Carrasco A. Privacy assessment in mobile health apps: scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(7):e18868 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18868] [Medline: 32459640]
- 36. Alfawzan N, Christen M, Spitale G, Biller-Andorno N. Privacy, data sharing, and data security policies of women's mHealth apps: scoping review and content analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2022;10(5):e33735 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33735] [Medline: 35522465]
- Almaiah MA, Al-Zahrani A, Almomani O, Alhwaitat AK. Classification of cyber security threats on mobile devices and applications. In: Maleh Y, Baddi Y, Alazab M, Tawalbeh L, Romdhani I, editors. Artificial Intelligence and Blockchain for Future Cybersecurity Applications. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2021:107-123.
- Papageorgiou A, Strigkos M, Politou E, Alepis E, Solanas A, Patsakis C. Security and privacy analysis of mobile health applications: the alarming state of practice. IEEE Access 2018;6:9390-9403 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2799522]
- Benjumea J, Dorronzoro E, Ropero J, Rivera-Romero O, Carrasco A. Privacy in mobile health applications for breast cancer patients. 2019 Presented at: 2019 IEEE 32nd International Symposium on Computer-Based Medical Systems (CBMS); June 05-07, 2019; Cordoba, Spain p. 634-639. [doi: <u>10.1109/cbms.2019.00131</u>]
- 40. Roberts AE, Davenport TA, Wong T, Moon HW, Hickie IB, LaMonica HM. Evaluating the quality and safety of health-related apps and e-tools: adapting the mobile app rating scale and developing a quality assurance protocol. Internet Interv 2021;24:100379 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100379] [Medline: 33777705]
- Lau N, O'Daffer A, Colt S, Yi-Frazier JP, Palermo TM, McCauley E, et al. Android and iPhone mobile apps for psychosocial wellness and stress management: systematic search in app stores and literature review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(5):e17798 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17798] [Medline: 32357125]
- 42. Wu KL, Alegria R, Gonzalez J, Hu H, Wang H, Page R, et al. Characteristics and quality of mobile apps containing prenatal genetic testing information: systematic App Store search and assessment. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021;9(10):e30404 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30404] [Medline: 34647898]
- 43. Merolli M, Francis JJ, Vallance P, Bennell KL, Malliaras P, Hinman RS. Patient-facing mobile apps to support physiotherapy care: protocol for a systematic review of apps within app stores. JMIR Res Protoc 2021;10(12):e29047 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/29047] [Medline: 34889767]

- 44. Wu X, Xu L, Li P, Tang T, Huang C. Multipurpose mobile apps for mental health in Chinese app stores: content analysis and quality evaluation. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2022;10(1):e34054 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34054] [Medline: 34982717]
- Paripoorani D, Gasteiger N, Hawley-Hague H, Dowding D. A systematic review of menopause apps with an emphasis on osteoporosis. BMC Womens Health 2023;23(1):518 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12905-023-02612-9] [Medline: 37773133]
- Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile App Rating Scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- 47. Terhorst Y, Philippi P, Sander LB, Schultchen D, Paganini S, Bardus M, et al. Validation of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (MARS). PLoS One 2020;15(11):e0241480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241480] [Medline: 33137123]
- 48. Olmstead K, Atkinson M. Chapter 3: an analysis of Android app permissions. Pew Research Center. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2015/11/10/an-analysis-of-android-app-permissions/</u> [accessed 2023-01-30]
- 49. Permissions on Android. Android Developers. URL: <u>https://developer.android.com/guide/topics/permissions/overview</u> [accessed 2023-01-25]
- 50. Aydin A, Gursoy A. Breast cancer-related apps in Google Play and App Store: evaluate their functionality and quality. J Cancer Surviv 2023;17(4):1251-1257. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-022-01290-0] [Medline: 36447005]
- 51. Yang S, Bui CN, Park K. Mobile health apps for breast cancer: content analysis and quality assessment. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2023;11:e43522 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/43522] [Medline: 36821352]
- 52. Martín-Payo R, Ferreras-Losilla L, González-Méndez X, Leirós-Díaz C, Martínez-Urquijo A, Del Mar Fernández-Álvarez M. Apps for individuals diagnosed with breast cancer: a preliminary assessment of the content and quality of commercially available apps in Spanish. Mhealth 2021;7:2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth-19-191] [Medline: 33634185]
- Rezaee R, Asadi S, Yazdani A, Rezvani A, Kazeroon AM. Development, usability and quality evaluation of the resilient mobile application for women with breast cancer. Health Sci Rep 2022;5(4):e708 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/hsr2.708] [Medline: 35782301]
- 54. Wright A. Evaluation of two mobile health apps for patients with breast cancer using the mobile application rating scale. Mhealth 2021;7:60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth-20-161] [Medline: 34805391]
- 55. Nasution A, Yusuf A, Iskandar YHP, Soon LK, Ab Hadi IS. Mobile health application applying the health belief model for breast cancer awareness: what is missing? Malays J Med Health Sci 2021;17(4):384-398 [FREE Full text]
- 56. Mobasheri MH, Johnston M, King D, Leff D, Thiruchelvam P, Darzi A. Smartphone breast applications—what's the evidence? Breast 2014;23(5):683-689 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2014.07.006] [Medline: 25153432]
- 57. Sohrabei S, Atashi A. The impact of mobile health on breast cancer patient's life and treatment: a systematic review. Front Health Inform 2021;10(1):88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.30699/fhi.v10i1.295]
- 58. Dougan M, Korani T, Castle A, Dang K. Developing a mobile application to improve the quality of life among breast cancer survivors. Research Square Preprint posted online on November 2, 2021. [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-992412/v1]
- Kanodia S, Thalabard JC, Lhoste K. Categorization and analysis of primary care mHealth apps related to breast health and breast cancer: systematic search in App Stores and content analysis. JMIR Cancer 2023;9:e42044 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/42044] [Medline: <u>37676704</u>]
- 60. Nurgalieva L, O'Callaghan D, Doherty G. Security and privacy of mHealth applications: a scoping review. IEEE Access 2020;8:104247-104268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/access.2020.2999934]
- 61. Cai T, Huang Y, Zhang Y, Lu Z, Huang Q, Yuan C. Mobile health applications for the care of patients with breast cancer: a scoping review. Int J Nurs Sci 2021;8(4):470-476 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnss.2021.07.003] [Medline: 34631997]
- 62. Oakley-Girvan I, Yunis R, Longmire M, Ouillon JS. What works best to engage participants in mobile app interventions and e-health: a scoping review. Telemed J E Health 2022;28(6):768-780 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2021.0176] [Medline: 34637651]
- 63. Kim BY, Sharafoddini A, Tran N, Wen EY, Lee J. Consumer mobile apps for potential drug-drug interaction check: systematic review and content analysis using the Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS). JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018;6(3):e74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8613] [Medline: 29592848]

Abbreviations

MARS: Mobile App Rating Scale MENA: Middle East and North Africa mHealth: mobile health



Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 23.04.23; peer-reviewed by L Alnaim, CL Sánchez Bocanegra, B Alaa; comments to author 18.09.23; revised version received 13.11.23; accepted 20.11.23; published 16.01.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Alhuwail D, Alhouti A, Alsarhan L Assessing the Quality, Privacy, and Security of Breast Cancer Apps for Arabic Speakers: Systematic Search and Review of Smartphone Apps JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48428 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48428 doi:10.2196/48428 PMID:38227353

©Dari Alhuwail, Aisha Alhouti, Latifah Alsarhan. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 16.01.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

An mHealth App to Support Caregivers in the Medical Management of Their Child With Cancer: Beta Stage Usability Study

Emily L Mueller^{1,2}, MD, MSc; Anneli R Cochrane^{1,2*}, MPH; Madison E Campbell^{3*}, BSc; Sarah Nikkhah^{4*}, PhD; Richard J Holden^{5*}, PhD; Andrew D Miller^{4*}, PhD

¹Pediatric Accelerator for Careers Engaged in Research, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN, United States

²Section of Pediatric Hematology Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN, United States
 ³Indiana University-Purdue University Indianapolis, Indianapolis, IN, United States

⁴Human-Centered Computing Department, School of Informatics and Computing, Indiana University-Purdue University Indianapolis, Indianapolis, IN, United States

⁵Health & Wellness Design, School of Public Health, Indiana University-Bloomington, Bloomington, IN, United States

Corresponding Author:

Emily L Mueller, MD, MSc Section of Pediatric Hematology Oncology Department of Pediatrics Indiana University School of Medicine 705 Riley Hospital Drive ROC 4340 Indianapolis, IN, 46202 United States Phone: 1 3123990245 Fax: 1 3179443107 Email: elmuelle@iu.edu

Abstract

Background: Previous research demonstrated that caregivers of children with cancer desired a mobile health (mHealth) tool to aid them in the medical management of their child. Prototyping and alpha testing of the Cope 360 app (Commissioning Agents, Inc) resulted in improvements in the ability to track symptoms, manage medications, and prepare for urgent medical needs.

Objective: This study aims to engage caregivers of children with cancer in beta testing of a smartphone app for the medical management of children with cancer, assess acceptance, identify caregivers' perceptions and areas for improvement, and validate the app's design concepts and use cases.

Methods: In this pilot, study caregivers of children with cancer used the Cope 360 mHealth app for 1 week, with the goal of daily logging. Demographics and a technology acceptance survey were obtained from each participant. Recorded semistructured interviews were transcribed and analyzed iteratively using NVivo (version 12, QSR International) and analyzed for information on usage, perceptions, and suggestions for improvement.

Results: A total of 10 caregivers participated in beta testing, primarily women (n=8, 80%), married, with some college education, and non-Hispanic White (n=10, 100%). The majority of participants (n=7, 70%) had children with acute lymphocytic leukemia who were being treated with chemotherapy only (n=8, 80%). Overall, participants had a favorable opinion of Cope 360. Almost all participants (n=9, 90%) believed that using the app would improve their ability to manage their child's medical needs at home. All participants reported that Cope 360 was easy to use, and most would use the app if given the opportunity (n=8, 80%). These values indicate that the app had a high perceived ease of use with well-perceived usefulness and behavioral intention to use. Key topics for improvement were identified including items that were within the scope of change and others that were added to a future wish list. Changes that were made based on caregiver feedback included tracking or editing all oral and subcutaneous medications and the ability to change the time of a symptom tracked or medication administered if unable to do so immediately. Wish list items included adding a notes section, monitoring skin changes, weight and nutrition tracking, and mental health tracking.

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Conclusions: The Cope 360 app was well received by caregivers of children with cancer. Our validation testing suggests that the Cope 360 app is ready for testing in a randomized controlled trial to assess outcome improvements.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52128) doi:10.2196/52128

KEYWORDS

oncology; supportive care; mHealth; children; caregivers; mobile phones

Introduction

The necessary changes a parent or guardian has to make in caregiving when a child is diagnosed with cancer are immense and overwhelming [1-3]. In the home setting, caregivers must oversee complicated symptom management and medication administration needs. One viable avenue to address the complex needs of caregivers of children with cancer is through mobile health (mHealth) technology, defined as the application of mobile or wireless communication technologies to health and health care [4]. Many apps have been developed to address the needs of children and adolescents with cancer, yet few focus on the unique needs of caregivers who are overseeing the medical management of a child with cancer [5]. mHealth tools have the unique ability to support caregivers through their portability and ability to share data between multiple parties in real time.

Caregivers of children with cancer are known to use mHealth tools and in a recent survey study, the majority desired a tool to help with medical management [6]. Specifically, they desired a tool that would help with medical knowledge, symptom tracking, and medication reminders [6]. To ensure an effective tool is developed to respond to the gaps identified by caregivers, it is imperative to study and incorporate intended end users' specific perspectives and needs during mHealth tool development [7-9]. Involving end users increases the likelihood the app will both work for them and be used by them.

Developers and researchers of mHealth technology must also address the future acceptance of their product through direct interaction with the end users during the development process. Nadal et al [10] explored the important differences in acceptance versus acceptability and proposed the Technology Acceptance Lifecycle model, which highlights the evolving nature of technology acceptance across different stages of the user journey with the technology tool [10]. The Technology Acceptance Lifecycle explores the preuse acceptability, initial use acceptance, and sustained use acceptance which align with a shift in initial use acceptance from preadoption to postadoption of the tool in use.

To understand and address the needs of caregivers, our team engaged directly with the intended users to create the Cope 360 mHealth tool (Commissioning Agents, Inc). Thus far, caregivers have been involved in the co-design, prototyping, and initial refinement [11,12]. The objective of this study is to evaluate the initial use acceptance, and functionality of the Cope 360 app in a week-long trial by caregivers of children with cancer. The significance of this work is to demonstrate the importance of including the intended end users in acceptance testing outside the research environment in order to inform further refinements of mHealth tools such as Cope 360.

Methods

Study Design

In this pilot study, we performed qualitative interviews and used a validated acceptance survey to engage directly with end users (ie, caregivers of children with cancer) to test an app to support caregivers in the medical management of their child with cancer. There were 3 phases of this project: prototyping of the app (phase 1), followed by alpha testing directly with caregivers (phase 2), and finally, initial use beta testing with caregivers (phase 3), which we evaluate here. Alpha and beta testing are validation methodologies that help researchers and designers assess the initial use acceptance and perceptions of end users. These tests provide opportunities for refinement before launching the product on a larger scale and result in greater success of the product for regular use [13]. In this final phase (phase 3), we collected measures of acceptance of the technology tool and performed qualitative semistructured interviews between May 2021 and October 2021.

Brief Summary of Cope 360 Features

The overall intent of the app is to assist caregivers in the medical management aspects of their child with cancer while they are outside of the hospital setting. It was not intended to be used while patients were being actively treated by a medical professional or under the direct care of an oncologist (such as during hospital admissions for therapy). After developing and prototyping the app, known as Cope 360, we performed alpha testing of the app with 6 nurse coordinators and 8 caregiver participants [12]. Alpha testing of Cope 360 resulted in improvements in clarity of medical information and terminology, improvement in the design of tasks, and tracking of symptoms including adjusting the look and feel of certain buttons and changing the visual graph used to monitor symptoms to include date anchors.

The symptom tracking feature is located on the home screen, where there is a cartoon representation of the patient that can be personalized by sex and 3 skin colors. The three key functions of the app are (1) symptom tracking, (2) medication management, and (3) emergency preparedness. The symptom tracking had nine options for tracking, including (1) temperature, (2) breathing, (3) nausea and vomiting, (4) poop, and pain in the following areas: (5) head, (6) mouth and throat, (7) back, (8) arms, and (9) legs. Each symptom has an individualized tracking scale based on previously published or validated scales. The temperature input from the caregiver. The medication management portion includes all current medications the patient

XSL•FO

is taking including oral chemotherapy and supportive medications that are entered by the nurse coordinators. The emergency preparedness plan allows the caregiver to create, practice, and enact a plan for seeking care for an urgent medical issue. Screenshots of the app key screens are included in Figure 1. The Cope 360 app was a fully functioning app that was downloaded by the caregiver onto either Apple or Android smartphones using a web-based download link provided to the participants upon consent.

Figure 1. Screenshots of Cope 360 key screens: (A) home screen, (B) symptom tracking, and (C) symptom monitoring.



Study Population

Participants were caregivers of a child with cancer (the child had to be younger than 21 years), had adequate English-language proficiency with grossly normal cognitive function, and had a child who was currently receiving cancer therapy at Riley Hospital for Children in Indianapolis, Indiana, and at least 1 month had passed after the initial diagnosis. We included caregivers of children up to the age of 21 due to most of our Children's Oncology Group clinical trials allowing for patients up to that age. Caregivers were contacted by phone for recruitment and interview scheduling; interviews were

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52128
```

RenderX

conducted and recorded over Zoom (Zoom Video Communications) videoconferencing due to COVID-19 precautions.

Measurements

For the beta test, demographic information was collected from participants using a web-based survey, including caregiver sex, age, race and ethnicity, marital status, yearly household income, and education. Additional questions included the relationship of the caregiver to the child, the child's type of cancer, and the child's therapy. After enrollment, the physician on the study team (ELM) reviewed the electronic medical record of the

patient and added the documented medications into the Cope 360 app; caregivers were able to confirm and correct all medications. The caregivers were then asked to use the app for either actual or simulated situations for a period of 1 week, logging in at least once per day. At the end of the week, they were asked to participate in an audio-recorded semistructured qualitative interview by the research assistant (ARC) during which caregivers were asked open-ended questions including their use of the app, any problems they experienced, recommendations for improvement, and how useful they found the app during the week. See Multimedia Appendix 1 for semistructured interview guide.

At the end, the participants completed a web-based survey that included the modified Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) to measure their perceptions and acceptance of the app [14-16]. TAM is a behavioral model of end-user acceptance of new technologies. The use of TAM in the health care field has been relatively widespread and justified [16]. In this model, 3 factors are needed to explain and predict the actual use of information technology:

- Perceived usefulness: the end user's perception of whether the tool will accomplish its intended purpose.
- Perceived ease of use: the end user's perception of how easy it is to navigate within a tool and their reactions to the overall "look or feel" of the interface.
- Behavioral intention to use: the end user's perceived likelihood that they will engage and use a given tool.

Due to the small number of participants, the Likert scale categories collapsed into agree, neutral, and disagree. Items for this questionnaire were adapted from a study conducted by Venkatesh and Davis [17], which showed high reliability and strong construct validity.

Ethical Considerations

Development and refinement of the app were made possible through a partnership with Coactive Business Solutions of Indianapolis, Indiana. The Indiana University institutional review board approved this study (1903250567). Potential participants received a study information sheet via email that described the project and their ability to withdraw at any point in the interview. This was reviewed and then they consented to enrollment verbally. All data collected from caregivers were saved on a secure, HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act) safe server with access only by the research team. Caregiver participants were compensated with a US \$60 gift card for the 1-week use of the Cope 360 app, survey, and semistructured interview.

Analysis

Characteristics of study participants were summarized by frequency and range. Descriptive statistics of the acceptance survey were performed. To analyze the semistructured interview data, the research team focused on both (1) the usability and functioning of the app and (2) evaluated key caregiver-derived topics related to future improvement. The evaluation of the usability and function included open-ended questions about the following: app usage by the caregiver, including log-in and account creation, symptom tracking experience, perceptions of emergency planning, overall experience, and suggestions for future improvements.

The team conducted deductive and inductive analysis on the interview transcripts. Caregiver semistructured interviews were transcribed by a HIPAA-compliant service and then analyzed using NVivo (version 12; QSR International). First, an initial codebook was created deductively using the interview question topics listed above as the primary themes. In this study, the main themes were focused on the user experience during the beta testing phase of the Cope 360 app, with an emphasis on positive attributes of usability and function and key elements for improvement. Transcription and coding were performed as interviews were conducted and interviews continued until no new information was gathered and thematic saturation was achieved [18,19]. Two team members (ARC and MC) independently reviewed each transcript and assigned codes based on themes using an initial codebook. The codebook was revised based on new themes that emerged through data review [18,19]. The main inductive codes that were added during iterative analysis were the identification of issues with the intended app features, such as the lack of push notifications. A final review was performed by 3 team members (ARC, MC, and ELM) until an agreement on codes and themes was attained. A total of 58 codes were in the finalized codebook.

Results

Demographic Information of Study Participants

A total of 23 caregivers were contacted with 10 caregivers (females: n=8, 80% and males: n=2, 20%) participating in beta testing. All were married parents, and non-Hispanic White (n=10, 100%). Seven (70%) had children with acute lymphocytic leukemia and 3 (30%) had solid tumors. The majority had children being treated with chemotherapy only (n=8, 80%), 1 patient being treated using both chemotherapy and radiation and 1 (10%) with another form of treatment. All caregivers had at least some college education. All caregivers reported a yearly household income of at least US \$50,000 to US \$74,999 (Table 1).



Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the Cope 360 app beta testing participants (N=10).

Characteristics	Caregivers
Caregiver sex, n (%)	
Male	2 (20)
Female	8 (80)
Caregiver age (years; n=8), median (IQR) 37 (34-43)	38 (8.25; 33-47)
Child age (years; n=10), median (IQR) 6 (4-7)	6 (2.75; 2-9)
Caregiver race and ethnicity, n (%)	
Non-Hispanic White	10 (100)
Type of cancer, n (%)	
Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	7 (70)
Solid tumor	3 (30)
Type of therapy, n (%)	
Chemotherapy only	8 (80)
Chemotherapy and radiation	1 (10)
Other	1 (10)
Type of caregiver, n (%)	
Parent	10 (100)
Caregiver marital status, n (%)	
Married	10 (100)
Caregiver yearly household income (US \$), n (%)	
Less than 49,999	0 (0)
50,000-74,999	1 (10)
75,000-99,999	4 (40)
100,000-150,000	1 (10)
Greater than 150,000	3 (30)
Prefer not to answer	1 (10)
Caregiver education, n (%)	
Less than high school	0 (0)
High school or GED ^a	0 (0)
Some college	1 (10)
College graduate	6 (60)
Graduate degree	3 (30)

^aGED: general educational development.

Participant Initial Use Acceptance

A summary of participants' TAM overall favorability rating is presented in Figure 2. Overall, participants had a favorable opinion of Cope 360. Almost all (n=9, 90%) felt that using the app would improve their ability to manage their child's medical needs at home. The majority agreed that using the app would

increase their effectiveness (n=7, 70%) and make it easier for them to manage their child's needs at home (n=8, 80%). All participants felt that Cope 360 was easy to use. Most felt they would use the app if given the opportunity (n=8, 80%) with neutral (n=1, 10%) and disagree (n=1, 10%). These scores indicate that the app had a high perceived ease of use with good perceived usefulness and behavioral intention to use.





Participant Interviews

Analysis of the participant interviews revealed several general themes related to the user experience including initial setup, overall experience, experience with logging in, creating an account, symptom tracking, emergency planning, and a concluding category with questions such as future use of the app if publicly available and caregiving apps currently used.

Perceptions of Initial Set-Up

Participants were asked to use the app at least once a day throughout their week of using the app. When questioned about their actual usage, 9 (90%) participants said they used it every day or tried to use it every day; 1 (10%) participant said they used it about 10 times during the 7-day period. When asked about their experience logging in, 9 (90%) stated that they had no difficulties logging into the app. Two (20%) of the participants mentioned they had difficulties figuring out how to log out. One participant suggested moving the logout button to a more obvious area. All participants mentioned that creating a caregiver account as well as an account for their child was easy. When asked if they added other caregivers to their caregiver team, 3 (30%) did perform this task with no difficulty, while 7 (70%) did not add anyone.

Perception of Symptom Tracking

All participants used the symptom tracking feature of the app when asked what symptoms they had tracked: 8 (80%) tracked poop, 7 (70%) tracked nausea or vomiting, 4 (40%) tracked head pain, 3 (30%) tracked temperature, 2 (20%) tracked arm pain, and 3 (30%) tracked leg pain. When questioned on ease of use, all participants thought symptom tracking was easy to use, with 1 (10%) participant suggesting that they would like the ability to edit previous entries and another mentioning that they had some confusion about the meaning of the nausea or vomiting scale. Features of symptom tracking that were viewed

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52128
```

RenderX

positively included reminders (n=4, 40%), scales (n=4, 40%), and graphing (n=2, 20%). Noted issues or suggestions while using symptom tracking included not receiving notifications (n=9, 90%) and wanting to see more symptoms added (n=1, 10%).

Pulsing heart on symptom tracking shows that a symptom is actively being tracked. When asked if participants preferred a different method for showing they are tracking a symptom, 8 (80%) participants said they had no preference for a different method, while 1 (10%) suggested making it a color scheme instead of a pulsing icon, and 1 (10%) suggested making the icon a clock or timer since there is a time component to the symptom tracking. Finally, when asked about how they stopped tracking a symptom, 4 (40%) participants stated they did not stop tracking, 3 (30%) said stopping symptom tracking was easy for them and made sense, and 3 (30%) suggested other ways to stop tracking, such as an alarm clock you can snooze (n=1, 10%), and moving the tracking on or off to the overview page instead of having to enter a final symptom (n=2, 20%).

Perception of Emergency Planning

Participants were then asked about their experience with the emergency planning part of the app. Eight participants (80%) stated that they set up their emergency plans, but 2 (20%) did not set up the emergency plan. Of those who set it up, all thought it was easy to set up and helpful to them. A total of 6 participants (60%) mentioned that they experienced no issues with their emergency plan. One participant (10%) expressed concern about the phone number to the hospital in their emergency plan and stated it would be helpful to know if it goes to someone directly when it is off hours or if it is voicemail regulated, and 1 participant (10%) was unsure of how to execute the plan after setting it up. Included in the app is an electronic "card" that a caregiver can reference when in contact with a health care provider not familiar with caring for a child with cancer, and 9

participants (90%) felt there was nothing more necessary to add to that section.

Overall Perception of the Cope 360 App

All participants said that they would use or would possibly use Cope 360 if it was publicly available. Those who would possibly use it said that it would depend on whether their child was experiencing symptoms or not. Eight (80%) participants stated that the app assisted with or potentially assisted with the care of their child.

Table 2. Key quotes from Cope 360 improvement suggestions.

Key Topics for Improvement and Summary of Caregiver Feedback

In Table 2, we present the key topics for improvement along with key quotes from caregivers. Regarding medications, caregivers desired the ability to track and edit medication names or doses and the ability to change the time of a tracked symptom or medication if they did not perform the tracking in real-time. Additionally, they requested to be able to have a notes section to keep track of thoughts and ideas related to the child's clinical experience. They also desired tracking capabilities for skin changes, weight or nutrition, and mental health.

Themes	Examples of codes
Tracking all medications	• "For medications when we give him, there's not really a journal or a diary that we have the option on this app to put him in. It's more like you have a headache, okay, you should take Tylenol, or you can take this. It gives you the options. Whereas I give him daily medicine and I need to be able to be like, this is the medicine I'm giving him at this time. You know what I mean?" [Mother of a 6-year-old boy with neuroblastoma]
	• "I was thinking that like if maybe his daily meds that he has to take, maybe that don't like have to do with any of these other things like nausea and vomiting and that sort of thing. If there was a way to track that he had taken those, that would be helpful. Like administering his daily medications, knowing that we took those somehow that would be helpful in there. For me at least. I don't know about everybody else. And then I was thinking that somewhere on there, if there was an area to track, maybe some other symptoms maybe just put like other on there." [Mother of a 5-year-old boy with ALL ^a]
Editing medications	• "In the patient info, I know that [a healthcare provider] had to enter in the medications. I do think that's something that would be also be helpful if that was like either up-to-date or that I could edit them or something because I think that comes up a lot. Every time we come to clinic, we are talking about medications yesterday. We had a conversation about medications. And so I think if that was up-to-date or easier to edit would be helpful to just like [update] that record. Or if they were constantly, I don't know, it seems like a lot of work for them to constantly update everybody - but yeah, if I could add in stuff here that would be helpful." [Father of a 2-year-old girl with ALL]
Changing the time of tracked symptom or medication	• "There are parts of it that I would maybe change in that like I can't manually input the time post hoc after the event. It would make it appear as though it just happened then versus sometimes it's maybe you're somewhere else and they have to go to the bathroom, or you take their temperature but then you don't write it down for an hour or so. So maybe having something where you could actually like input the time or create kind of a note within the event." [Father of a 3-year-old girl with ALL]
Adding a notes section	• "Well, I like the reminders and that you can see like where you were last time when you go back in. I thought that was good. It might have been good place to have a place to put some notes in because it's very like, just click on a picture. I didn't think of this until now, but it might be handy to be able to put a note in if you wanted to. [Mother of a 7-year-old girl with ALL]
	• "So maybe having something where you could actually like input the time or create kind of a note within the event. And if that is a possibility that would, I didn't see it, but that would be maybe one thing that I would improve upon, kind of having a note section to kind of further explicate or be able to manually say hey you know, this happened at noon." [Father of a 3-year-old girl with ALL]
Monitoring skin changes	• "Obviously, I just primarily know from our experience and then the experience of some other cancer families that we've gotten to know. Rashes are something that pops up, I wouldn't say fairly regularly, but it has popped up. She's probably had 10 different rashes over the last eight months, so that may be rashes or bruising. Maybe if there was a health tracker for skin where you can then get into, is it rashes and bruising? I would maybe add another health tracker and just maybe call it skin, and then you have it so you could put in if there was a rash, if there was a cut, if there was a bruise because the rashes, especially with all the medicines pop up quite a bit. Then the bruising, especially when blood counts are low, immunity is low, the bruising can become a pretty significant symptom." [Mother of a 9-year-old girl with ALL]

^aALL: acute lymphoblastic leukemia.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In the initial use beta testing of an app to support caregivers in the medical management of children with cancer, our team found that the Cope 360 app was well received by caregivers and offers the potential to impact the outpatient medical care of children with cancer. Specifically, caregivers were able to successfully track the most common symptoms experienced by their child with cancer. Initial use beta testing was able to identify a limitation and several key areas for refinement based on caregivers' usage and needs. Specifically, it was identified that having access to and the ability to adjust medications was desired by caregivers therefore this was prioritized as an improvement in the Cope 360 app refinement. The next step for the Cope 360 app will be to test the feasibility and sustained use acceptance over a longer period with additional emphasis on how a tool to support caregivers could improve their perceptions of their medically focused caregiving roles.

Beta Testing Success and Tradeoffs

The success of the beta testing of the Cope 360 app likely was impacted by the continuous engagement of key stakeholders from conception through prototyping and refining. During the initial work with co-design and creation, we had focused on preparing caregivers for when medical emergencies arose, but the insight and contribution of caregivers helped clarify that providing tracking and overall medical management was integral [12,20]. Allowing caregivers to directly interact with the app outside of the formative testing sessions shed light on the participants' initial use acceptance and created a great opportunity for wider exposure to how the app could be used.

One key challenge in beta testing that was noted, as compared with previous prototyping and alpha testing, was the gap in clarity of the intended notifications and features of the app. For example, many caregivers did not know that they were supposed to be receiving push notifications for medications, which were found to be not working well. One recommendation to overcome this challenge would be to improve clarity for first-time app users by offering a comprehensive review of the app features [12]. Another opportunity to overcome this challenge is to create a notifications section within the user interface that would alert the user to the intention to receive notifications.

Changes Made and Future Directions for Cope 360

Engagement with end users demonstrated the need for further refinement to address the desires of caregivers of children with cancer. The changes we were able to make to the app included the end user (eg, caregivers) are now able to adjust medication names and doses. They are also able to adjust the time of the medication administration if they do not document it in real-time. This was important to caregivers and our team because it allows caregivers to continue to use the app even during holds or adjustments of medications due to patient illness or based on chemotherapy adjustment strategies for toxicity. This ability to adjust medications adds an additional layer of protection to ensure accurate medication dosages in that both health care professionals will be capable of inputting the medications and

XSL•FC

caregivers will be able to adjust in real time. This is especially important since holds or adjustments can occur overnight or on a weekend when team members are not available. There were several desires for changes by caregivers that were not within the scope of the current project budget but will be incorporated into future research endeavors including adding a notes section and monitoring for skin changes, weight or nutrition, and mental health.

The Cope 360 app performed well in initial use acceptance and has the ability to meaningfully impact both patient and caregiver outcomes. However, before deploying widely, future research on the Cope 360 app will be needed to explore feasibility, usability, and caregiver outcomes using mixed methods to get a more robust understanding of the experience of caregivers as they manage their child's medical needs in the community setting. Building off Van Houtven organizing framework for caregiver interventions [21], our research team plans to evaluate 3 caregiver outcomes and engage with end users through semistructured interviews. The elements of the Van Houtven framework that we believe the Cope 360 app can address are clinical knowledge and caregiver self-efficacy. Therefore, we will be assessing caregiver self-efficacy [22], mastery of caregiving [23], and caregiver stress [24]. We also intend to dive deeper into the feasibility of this app in real-life setting over a prolonged period of time by evaluating which symptoms are most commonly tracked and the frequency of app usage.

Recommendation for mHealth App Development

The process of co-design, creation, and refinement of an mHealth tool holds many lessons for health care professionals interested in engaging in the design and use of mHealth tools for their patient populations. First, incorporating the end users from inception highlighted their unique needs and desires. These were then brought to the forefront of all testing. Evaluation in a controlled research environment allowed an increased understanding of the users' needs related to the interface of the tool. However, evaluation of practical acceptability was best achieved through the initial use testing period. The challenge we found was the missed opportunity for feedback on features the participants were unaware of. There are several ways to overcome this challenge including through a more detailed orientation process with the mHealth tool prior to the initial use testing and through period monitoring of use during the trial period.

Limitations

There are several limitations to the initial use testing of the Cope 360 app in this study. The primary limitation was the small sample size which limited the ability to fully evaluate the TAM. Therefore, general statements about acceptability were included. The qualitative feedback obtained through this sample was robust and covered many key features and future design suggestions. Yet our team appreciates that the sample was lacking in diversity, which may have highlighted other findings not included in this analysis. This study occurred at a single institution with the investment of the study team to incorporate the patient's current medications into the app upon enrollment. Currently, the app is designed to be used by caregivers but has medications generated by health care providers.

Conclusions

The initial use evaluation of the Cope 360 app by caregivers of children with cancer confirmed its acceptability and usability of aid in medical management in the home setting. The next phase will be to perform a randomized controlled trial to evaluate the longitudinal feasibility and impact on outcomes that matter to caregivers. Specifically, we will focus on the caregiver's sense of self-efficacy, mastery of caregiving, and stress and evaluate the frequency of app use over time and the types of features most used by caregivers.

Acknowledgments

ELM and ARC were funded in part by an NIH K08 career development award (5K08CA230218).

Generative artificial intelligence was not used in the writing or revising of this manuscript.

Data Availability

The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

ELM and ARC participated in the conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, investigation, funding acquisition, writing, and revising of the manuscript. MEC participated in the data curation, formal analysis, investigation, and revision of the manuscript. SN, RJH, and ADM participated in the methodology, resources, supervision, and revision of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Semistructured interview guide. [DOCX File, 17 KB - cancer_v10i1e52128_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Klassen A, Raina P, Reineking S, Dix D, Pritchard S, O'Donnell M. Developing a literature base to understand the caregiving experience of parents of children with cancer: a systematic review of factors related to parental health and well-being. Support Care Cancer 2007;15(7):807-818. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-007-0243-x] [Medline: 17390154]
- Amador DD, Gomes IP, Reichert APDS, Collet N. [Impact of childhood cancer for family caregivers: integrative review]. Rev Bras Enferm 2013;66(2):264-270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/s0034-71672013000200017] [Medline: 23743848]
- Creswell PD, Wisk LE, Litzelman K, Allchin A, Witt WP. Parental depressive symptoms and childhood cancer: the importance of financial difficulties. Support Care Cancer 2014;22(2):503-511 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-013-2003-4] [Medline: 24101152]
- Istepanian R, Jovanov E, Zhang YT. Introduction to the special section on M-Health: beyond seamless mobility and global wireless health-care connectivity. IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed 2004;8(4):405-414. [doi: <u>10.1109/titb.2004.840019</u>] [Medline: <u>15615031</u>]
- Mehdizadeh H, Asadi F, Mehrvar A, Nazemi E, Emami H. Smartphone apps to help children and adolescents with cancer and their families: a scoping review. Acta Oncol 2019;58(7):1003-1014. [doi: <u>10.1080/0284186X.2019.1588474</u>] [Medline: <u>30915872</u>]
- Mueller EL, Cochrane AR, Bennett WE, Carroll AE. A survey of mobile technology usage and desires by caregivers of children with cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2018;65(11):e27359 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.27359] [Medline: 30015371]
- 7. Buley L. The User Experience Team of One: A Research Design Survival Guide. Brooklyn, NY: Rosenfeld Media; 2013:202-203.
- 8. Sanematsu H, Wiehe S. How do you do? Design research methods the hows of community based participatory research. In: McTavis L, Brett-MacLean P, editors. Insight 2: Engaging the Health Humanities. Alberta, CA: University of Alberta Department of Art & Design; 2013:68-70.
- Matheson GO, Pacione C, Shultz RK, Klügl M. Leveraging human-centered design in chronic disease prevention. Am J Prev Med 2015;48(4):472-479. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2014.10.014</u>] [Medline: <u>25700655</u>]
- 10. Nadal C, Sas C, Doherty G. Technology acceptance in mobile health: scoping review of definitions, models, and measurement. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(7):e17256 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17256] [Medline: 32628122]
- 11. Mueller EL, Cochrane AR, Moore CM, Miller AD, Wiehe SE. Title: the Children's Oncology Planning for Emergencies (COPE) tool: prototyping with caregivers of children with cancer. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2020;2020:896-905 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>33936465</u>]

- 12. Mueller EL, Cochrane AR, Campbell ME, Nikkhah S, Miller AD. An mHealth app to support caregivers in the medical management of their child with cancer: co-design and user testing study. JMIR Cancer 2022;8(1):e33152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33152] [Medline: 35293867]
- 13. Mohd CKNCK, Shahbodin F. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences 2015 Jul;195:837-843 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.06.319]
- 14. Davis FD. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Q 1989;13(3):319-340. [doi: 10.2307/249008]
- 15. Davis FD, Bagozzi RP, Warshaw PR. User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models. Manage Sci 1989;35(9):982-1003. [doi: 10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982]
- 16. Holden RJ, Karsh BT. The Technology Acceptance Model: its past and its future in health care. J Biomed Inform 2010;43(1):159-172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2009.07.002] [Medline: 19615467]
- 17. Venkatesh V, Davis FD. A theoretical extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: four longitudinal field studies. Manage Sci 2000;46(2):186-204. [doi: 10.1287/mnsc.46.2.186.11926]
- 18. Aronson J. A pragmatic view of thematic analysis. Qual Rep 1995;2(1):1-3 [FREE Full text]
- 19. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 20. Mueller EL, Cochrane AR, Moore CM, Jenkins KB, Bauer NS, Wiehe SE. Assessing needs and experiences of preparing for medical emergencies among children with cancer and their caregivers. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2020;42(8):e723-e729 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MPH.00000000001826] [Medline: 32427703]
- Van Houtven CH, Voils CI, Weinberger M. An organizing framework for informal caregiver interventions: detailing caregiving activities and caregiver and care recipient outcomes to optimize evaluation efforts. BMC Geriatr 2011;11:77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-11-77] [Medline: 22107600]
- 22. Porter LS, Keefe FJ, Garst J, McBride CM, Baucom D. Self-efficacy for managing pain, symptoms, and function in patients with lung cancer and their informal caregivers: associations with symptoms and distress. Pain 2008;137(2):306-315 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.09.010] [Medline: 17942229]
- 23. Pearlin LI, Schooler C. The structure of coping. J Health Soc Behav 1978;19(1):2-21. [doi: 10.2307/2136319]
- 24. Streisand R, Braniecki S, Tercyak KP, Kazak AE. Childhood illness–related parenting stress: the pediatric inventory for parents. J Pediatr Psychol 2001;26(3):155-162. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/26.3.155] [Medline: 11259517]

Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile health **HIPAA:** Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act **TAM:** Technology Acceptance Model

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 23.08.23; peer-reviewed by CT Hung, M Iio, H Alsalhi; comments to author 11.12.23; revised version received 06.02.24; accepted 15.08.24; published 17.10.24.

Please cite as:

Mueller EL, Cochrane AR, Campbell ME, Nikkhah S, Holden RJ, Miller AD An mHealth App to Support Caregivers in the Medical Management of Their Child With Cancer: Beta Stage Usability Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52128 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52128 doi:10.2196/52128 PMID:

©Emily L Mueller, Anneli R Cochrane, Madison E Campbell, Sarah Nikkhah, Richard J Holden, Andrew D Miller. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 17.10.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Needs of Patients With Gynecologic Cancer and Their Caregivers for Obtaining mHealth-Supported Self-Management: Focus Group Study

Grace B Campbell^{1,2,3}, RN, MSW, PhD; Hansol Kim³, PhD; Tara C Klinedinst^{3,4,5}, PhD, OTR/L; Julie Klinger³, MA; Young Ji Lee^{6,7}, PhD, RN; Heidi S Donovan⁶, PhD, RN

¹School of Nursing, Duquesne University, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

²Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Sciences, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

³National Rehabilitation Research & Training Center on Family Support, Office of the Senior Vice Chancellor of the Schools of the Health Sciences, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

⁴Department of Rehabilitation Sciences, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Tulsa, OK, United States

⁵Department of Internal Medicine, OU-TU School of Community Medicine, Tulsa, OK, United States

⁶Department of Health and Community Systems, School of Nursing, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

⁷Department of BIomedical Informatics, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Grace B Campbell, RN, MSW, PhD School of Nursing Duquesne University 600 Forbes Avenue Pittsburgh, PA, 15282 United States Phone: 1 412 417 8804 Email: campbellg2@duq.edu

Abstract

Background: Family caregivers of individuals with gynecologic cancer experience high levels of distress. Web-based caregiver support interventions have demonstrated efficacy in improving caregiver outcomes. However, the lack of portability could be a limitation. Mobile health (mHealth) apps could fill this gap and facilitate communication between patient-caregiver dyads.

Objective: We sought to obtain information on desired usage and features to be used to design an mHealth self-management support app targeting both patients with gynecologic cancer and their caregivers.

Methods: We conducted Zoom focus groups with women who had been treated for gynecologic cancers (ovarian, fallopian, primary peritoneal, uterine, endometrial, cervical, and vulvar); patients were also asked to invite a self-identified "closest support person" (caregiver). A semistructured focus group guide was used to elicit information on patients' and caregivers' perceived gaps in information and support, desired features of an mHealth app, and interest in and preferences for app usage. After transcription, rapid qualitative analysis using a thematic matrix was used to identify common themes across groups.

Results: A total of 8 groups were held. The final sample included 41 individuals with gynecologic cancer and 22 support persons or caregivers (total n=63). Patients were aged between 32 and 84 years, and most (38/41, 93%) were White and married. For caregivers (n=22), 15 (68%) identified as male and 7 (32%) as female, with ages ranging between 19 and 81 years. Overall, 59% (n=13) of caregivers were spouses. Questions geared at eliciting 3 a priori topics yielded the following themes: topic 1—gaps in information and support: finding relevant information is time-consuming; patients and caregivers lack confidence in deciding the urgency of problems that arise and from whom to seek information and guidance; topic 2—desired features of the mHealth app: patients and caregivers desire centralized, curated, trustworthy information; they desire timely recommendations tailored to specific personal and cancer-related needs; they desire opportunities to interact with clinical and peer experts through the app; and topic 3—interest and preferences for app usage: need for private space in the app for patients and caregivers to get information and support without the others' knowledge; patients and caregivers desire having control over sharing of information with other family members.

Conclusions: Designing a single mHealth app to be used by patients and caregivers presents unique challenges for intervention designers and app developers. Implications of the study suggest that app developers need to prioritize flexibility in app functionality and provide individuals the ability to control information sharing between patients and caregivers.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48465) doi:10.2196/48465

KEYWORDS

gynecologic oncology; gynecologic cancer; self-management support; user-centered design; cancer distress; self-management; caregiver support; cancer information; women's health; family support; informal caregivers; informal care; mhealth

Introduction

Caregivers of a family member with cancer experience high levels of distress and anxiety [1]. Caregivers of those with gynecologic cancer are particularly prone to high levels of distress [2], largely because these cancers are relatively rare, and for most (eg, ovarian, fallopian, and primary peritoneal cancers), no reliable screening exists. Thus, diagnosis is often not made until late stages, requiring intensive treatments with many side effects.

A growing literature documents the needs of caregivers of those with cancer in general and caregivers of those with gynecologic cancer in particular. Top-ranked needs include obtaining information about the cancer and treatment, finding ways to support individuals with gynecologic cancer, and maintaining their own health and well-being while providing care [3]. In busy gynecologic oncology practices where the focus is necessarily on treating the patient's cancer, caregiver needs frequently are not prioritized or addressed [3], leaving caregivers without a dedicated support mechanism. Moreover, caregivers and patients exhibit a high degree of congruence regarding unmet needs for information and support [4].

A potential scalable solution for supporting individuals with cancer and their caregivers during treatment is the use of technology-based information, professional and/or peer support, and self-management coaching interventions. In particular, web-based self-management interventions that guide participants to develop their own plan of care, and monitor and manage their health proactively, are associated with positive effects on patient and caregiver well-being [5,6].

Our team has carried out a series of self-management support interventions based on the Representational Approach to Patient Education [7,8]; the WRITE Symptoms efficacy trial [9] among women with recurrent ovarian cancer; the SmartCare efficacy trial among caregivers of patients with a primary malignant brain tumor [10]; and a clinical implementation project to integrate family caregiver support into gynecologic oncology practice [11]. Each of these interventions followed the Representational Approach to guide patients or caregivers through self-management problem-solving. Key action steps include (1) representational assessment of symptoms or needs in the care situation; (2) identification of gaps, confusions, or misconceptions; (3) provision of targeted psychoeducation to address gaps in knowledge or correct misconceptions; (4) development of participant-generated goals and strategies to meet their goals; and (5) regular review of goal progress,

strategy effectiveness, or barriers encountered and revision of goals and strategies as needed [9,12].

In the WRITE Symptoms 3-arm randomized clinical trial (N=497), the self-directed and nurse-delivered symptom self-management interventions (both computer mediated) were superior in improving patients' symptom control compared to those receiving enhanced usual care at 8- and 12-week after baseline [13]. Furthermore, there was no difference in outcomes between the nurse-delivered and self-directed arms, and those in the self-directed arm were able to get through more symptoms more efficiently than those in the nurse-delivered arm. In the SmartCare randomized clinical trial, also based on the Representational Approach, caregivers of patients with primary malignant brain tumors receiving the SmartCare intervention reported significantly lower caregiving-specific distress and improved mastery over caregiving tasks compared to those receiving care as usual [10].

Despite the demonstrated benefits of web-based interventions in both patients with gynecologic cancer and in caregivers of individuals with primary malignant brain tumors, their lack of portability may be a limitation. Web-based interventions designed to be delivered via computer may be difficult to access during times of the most acute need. Mobile devices (eg, smartphones, tablets) could fill this gap. Such devices have become ubiquitous in American society: more than 70% of Americans use mobile devices (eg, smartphones) [14], and over 300,000 mobile health (mHealth) apps are available [15], presenting distinct scalability advantages over web-based interventions. Second, mobile platforms offer greater flexibility than computer web-based interventions for providing access to real-time feedback and resources [16]. Studies indicate that patients gain empowerment for managing their health and have positive health outcomes with the use of well-designed mHealth apps [17]. Translating web-based interventions into mHealth platforms presents challenges related to including key intervention ingredients in a mobile device, yet it presents opportunities to offer additional functionality and features not present in the original intervention.

As the first step in translating the SmartCare web-based intervention to an mHealth app, the research questions underlying this study were as follows: (1) What are the gaps in information and support in cancer care perceived by patients with cancer and family caregivers? (2) What are the features and functionality desired by patients and caregivers in an mHealth self-management support app? and (3) Would patients and caregivers use the mHealth app for day-to-day management, and if so, how would they prefer to use it (together or individually)? The objective of this study was therefore to obtain

information on needed information and support, as well as desired usage and features, to inform the design of an mHealth self-management support app.

Methods

Sample and Setting

We recruited a convenience sample of women who had been treated for gynecologic cancers (ovarian, fallopian, primary peritoneal, uterine, endometrial, cervical, and vulvar) from a large quaternary care, university-affiliated health system in Western Pennsylvania. Women were also asked to invite a self-identified "closest support person" to participate. Using the health system's honest broker system (HB015 University of Pittsburgh Medical Center [UPMC] Hillman Cancer Center, Pitt Biospecimen Core, and UPMC Enterprises), members of the cancer registry who had been treated for gynecologic cancer during the previous 5 years received a letter with information about the study from the Chair of the Division of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Sciences inviting interested individuals to participate. The invitation letter permitted recipients to define "family support person" as they wished; we did not specify a required relationship to an individual with cancer. We permitted individuals with cancer and family support people to participate in the same groups to permit identifying information needs and desired app features for both groups of users. Joint participation was also intended to elicit critical information about preferences for using the app individually or in partnership with the patient or caregiver.

Ethical Considerations

The University of Pittsburgh's Human Research Protections Office (institutional review board) approved this study as an exempt investigation (STUDY19110158). Participants provided informed consent to participate in the focus groups and were paid US \$50 each.

Procedure

Recruitment letters were prepared and mailed by registry staff to maintain confidentiality from research team members. Individuals interested in participating in the study after receiving the recruitment letter were asked to telephone the study coordinator to indicate interest in participating in the study.

A series of focus groups were conducted over 6 weeks using a secure, Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA)–compliant Zoom account. Each group lasted approximately 90 minutes and was recorded using the built-in Zoom record feature. Patients and caregivers/support persons were scheduled for groups based on their convenience. The principal investigators (GBC and HSD) developed a semistructured focus group guide and conducted the focus groups to elicit information on the stated research questions. The focus group guide was designed specifically to elicit critical gaps in the information currently provided to patients with cancer and their families, desired features of a mobile app, and interest in and preference for an mHealth app for information and support.

After briefly sharing their cancer story to establish rapport, participants were asked about gaps in currently available information and support. Subsequently, they received a brief description of a potential mHealth information and support app and were asked about whether or not such an app would interest them; desired content, features, and functionality of such an app; and preferred ways of engaging with an app (ie, individually or in partnership with a caregiver/support person). Participants were also encouraged to verbalize any lack of interest in mHealth apps or in the potential content being discussed, to voice reasons for their disinterest, and for suggestions to make the app and content more appealing to them. A total of 8 groups were initially scheduled. The team debriefed after each focus group to identify any new information identified in each group. After the seventh group, no new themes had been identified. The eighth group was then held as scheduled; subsequently, the team agreed that saturation had been reached and no additional groups were scheduled. A priori topics and sample questions appear in Table 1.



Table 1. Sample focus group questions.

Topics	Sample focus group questions
Gaps in information and support	 How do you currently obtain information and support for your cancer journey? Have you had difficulty obtaining the information and support you need? How might you use an app like this for your day-to-day information needs or support?
Desired features of a mobile app	 If you are receiving most of your cancer care in your home community, how would you feel about a nurse from Pittsburgh—that is, not from your own community—reaching out to you to provide information and support? Tell us about reasons why you might not use such an app? Are there features or content that might make you more interested in it? Are there other things that you imagine that you might want to use it for, or other aspects or features that might make it more useful? Do you prefer to receive reminders to answer questions every several days, or would you rather answer questions only when you want to?
Interest in and preferences for a mobile app	 Would you prefer to use the app yourself (meaning as a patient or a caregiver, you would use the app to manage your own most important concerns), or with your caregiver/patient together (meaning you would work on it together on shared goals)? Do you have thoughts about how that might work? This app would be a program that you could use on your own. You could also use it to get information and additional support from a nurse. How interesting would this be to you? Describe how you could see this app being used by the nurses or other staff in the clinic during the diagnosis and treatment process you experienced. Would you like a nurse to reach out to you after each time you answer questions through the app, or less frequently than that?

Analysis

Each group's recording was transcribed verbatim by the Qualitative Data Analysis Program at the University of Pittsburgh's Center for Social and Urban Research. Individual speakers were neither identified nor delineated in transcripts to preserve the focus on the group, rather than on individuals, as the unit of analysis [18]. Following transcription, we used rapid qualitative analysis [19] to elicit thematic feedback from focus groups in a relatively short amount of time. Rapid qualitative analysis is a technique that uses a coding template initially developed from a subset of the data. The template is then expanded iteratively as additional themes are identified during coding of additional data and permits clustering of themes to help organize the data [20]. Rapid analysis thus provides a preliminary understanding of key themes, which can then be used to inform intervention development and implementation [21-23]. Initially, a preliminary codebook of themes was developed by the research team. Four investigators (HK, TK, HSD, and GBC) then independently coded the same transcript and compared agreement regarding transcript codes. The ReCal Reliability Calculator [24] was used to calculate intercoder reliability coefficients. Conflicts were adjudicated by the research team until agreement was achieved, and the preliminary codebook was finalized. Four team members then independently coded 2 more transcripts, and intercoder reliability coefficients were calculated for these 2 transcripts. We achieved a mean Cohen κ of 0.80 for these 2 transcripts. Following a common rapid qualitative analysis paradigm, once acceptable interrater

reliability had been achieved, each remaining transcript was then coded by one validated coder. A thematic matrix was constructed using all raters' identified themes to quickly identify common themes across focus groups. These themes will be used to inform the future design of app functionality and implementation strategies.

Results

Sample Characteristics

A total of 86 individuals called the study coordinator after receiving an invitation to participate. Of those 86 individuals, 15 could not be reached further to be scheduled for a focus group. In total, 71 participants were ultimately scheduled to attend a group, although some (4 dyads, n=8) did not attend their scheduled session. The final sample included 41 individuals with gynecologic cancer and 22 family support persons/caregivers (total n=63). The focus group patients were aged between 32 and 84 years, and most (38/41, 93%) were White and married. Patients' cancer diagnoses were endometrial (n=16, 39%), ovarian (n=9, 22%), uterine (n=9, 22%), cervical (n=4, 10%), and other (n=3, 7%). For caregivers (n=22), 15 (68%) individuals identified as male and 7 (32%) as female, with ages ranging between 19 and 81 years. Overall, 59% (n=13) of caregivers were spouses, followed by children, partners, siblings, and parents. Diagnoses of caregivers' loved ones (patients) were endometrial (n=11, 50%), ovarian (n=6, 27%), uterine (n=1, 5%), cervical (n=3, 14%), and other (n=1, 5%). A recruitment diagram appears in Figure 1.


Figure 1. Study enrollment diagram.



Themes

We identified 3 a priori overarching topics to guide focus group conversations (Gaps in information and support; Desired features of a mobile app; and Preferences for app usage). Topics and themes are depicted in Figure 2 and are discussed in detail below. Exemplar quotes that best embody the discussion across groups are provided.







Topic 1: Current Gaps in Information and Support in Cancer Care

Theme 1.1: Finding Relevant Information and Resources is Time-Consuming

Patients and caregivers in all groups reported seeking information and formal support from their doctors and oncology nurses through phone calls, emails, or text messages when they were experiencing symptoms. Doctors and nurses provided assistance and support to patients who had medical questions. Yet, groups acknowledged still feeling a lack of information, so they sought information outside the clinical setting. One participant even noted that it felt like it was in her "own hands" to locate the help she needed. Participants simultaneously acknowledged that seeking support independently was time consuming, frustrating, and challenging. Consensus across groups suggests that much of the information that patients and caregivers found on their own had limited applicability to their specific situation, so they spent extensive time sifting through irrelevant information in search of something that might apply to them.

We spend a lot of time doing external research and kind of like trying to find, just, the information that kind of exists out there in the academic literature on the internet. [Patient, focus group 7]

If there was a library that I knew I could log into and look up subjects...something dependable. Not something thrown on the internet. I don't trust a lot of that stuff. [Patient, focus group 6]

Theme 1.2: Patients and Caregivers Lack Confidence in Deciding Urgency of Problems That Arise, and From Whom to Seek Information and Guidance

Participants noted that when patients experienced new or concerning problems, such as worsening symptoms, it was difficult to self-triage—that is, to decide who to contact and where to find relevant resources. Patients and caregivers wanted to discuss their health concerns with their health care providers at the earliest onset of new symptoms. However, they were unclear as to what warranted an immediate phone call or visit to the clinic and what could be brought up at the next scheduled appointment. Despite their overall reluctance to seek web-based information, when making decisions about symptom urgency, many participants turn to searching for digital information. Examples from participants highlight how anxiety-provoking it could be to make these kinds of decisions in the middle of the night:

I'm just thinking—that at 2:30 in the morning, you look at something, and it specifically says, 'Yes, this is something to be very concerned with,' now you have to—what are you going to do at 3:00 in the morning?...That the level of anxiety is constantly being stirred, and it's a challenge. [Caregiver, focus group 1]

Finally, participants expressed needing extra reassurance and information about what was normal and not normal when dealing with cancer, particularly for family caregivers who may not have experience with cancer.

I would have liked to have known, 'Well, what do I—what happens if she's bleeding? Or take her to the hospital'? Or, you know...the tiredness, it's not

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

something terrible, it's something just happening. [Caregiver, focus group 8]

Topic 2: Desired Features of a Mobile App

Theme 2.1: Caregivers and Patients Desire Centralized, Curated, Trustworthy Information

According to participants, they were filled with uncertainty regarding the reliability of web-based information. Patients and caregivers spoke about turning to Facebook support groups, the internet, and library resources to obtain information about cancer (eg, nutrition, exercise programs, wigs, meditation, counseling services, etc). Yet many spoke of needing assurance that the information being provided is high quality, trustworthy, and curated by a team of gynecologic oncology experts. They acknowledged that what can be found on the internet is not necessarily helpful or true.

So it's like, a place for medical science and psychology and social work, and all that, I think it's important to engage librarians in all of this. Librarians are expert in assessing information, and compiling resources, so involve librarians. [Patient, focus group 3]

I love the fact that there'll be accurate supported research data information out there for the cancer patient and her support person. [Patient, focus group 1]

One request was that the app provide glossaries of health terms with easily understood language. These glossaries would provide gynecological cancer-related information, such as chemotherapy agents and side effects, stages of cancer, symptom management, or medication and drug information, in a single place.

For the lay person, and make it easily understood, and they can apply it to what their pathology report, or what they learned at the doctor's office. They have a lot to gain from knowing just the medical terminology, and the meaning behind it. People have no idea what that meant...So, like a glossary, I think, would be good. [Patient, focus group 4]

Family caregivers also expressed a desire for anticipatory information on how to care for an individual with gynecologic cancer:

What do you expect during chemo? What do you expect during radiation? What can you do to help them through this process? That's the information I think I would be most interested in through that app. [Caregiver, focus group 6]

It should be noted that not all participants thought they would use the app, largely because of a lack of technological proficiency. Because of this, there was consensus that the information on an app would need to be accessible to all users, regardless of their level of technology skills. Participants also suggested that there should be alternative methods for those who are not tech-savvy to engage with needed information and support, such as a call center that can respond to calls or texts.

Theme 2.2: Patients and Caregivers Desire Timely Recommendations Tailored to Specific Personal and Cancer-Related Needs

Group participants, regardless of whether they were patients or caregivers, overwhelmingly voiced a desire for the app to provide specific information about cancer and treatment that is tailored, or "customizable," to their place on the cancer trajectory. For example, participants who were early in the cancer journey wanted to receive information about the most common cancer symptoms, side effects of drugs and chemotherapy, alternative treatments, and nutritional information during treatment. Those who were further along the trajectory expressed the need for information regarding topics such as family genetic history and testing, as well as how to manage "survivor guilt," the feeling that occurs when a person feels guilty after surviving a life-threatening situation while others they meet are not so fortunate.

There's an immediate need for information when you're first diagnosed, and then there's a second tier of information after that of after you've gone through your surgery and your treatments. And then there's a third level after that of, you've recovered...what are the information resources that help somebody be okay about the ongoing threat of cancer still being out there...That's gotta be really rough. And so it requires a whole new range of information resources. [Patient, focus group 3]

I was happy, and thankful, that I was recovering, and I only had three radiation treatments and no chemotherapy treatments. But my survivor guilt was bigtime...I'm the only one surviving this cancer. And I had a hard time, I still have a hard time with survivor's guilt. So I think an app that would be customizable to survivor's guilt would be good for me. [Patient, focus group 5]

One topic for which no clear consensus emerged concerned built-in reminders (eg, to complete assessments and learning activities). Some group members noted that reminders would be especially helpful at certain times in the care trajectory, such as at diagnosis, because there are so many new things to remember and keep track of but less helpful during other times (eg, after treatment was completed and symptoms were stable). Those who endorsed reminders talked about the importance of reminders and personalized support for exercise, diet, and other activities related to recovery from cancer. They suggested that the app should send push notifications to remind patients of upcoming appointments or activities and offer personalized support based on their stage of recovery.

if it's a push that's coming out—it would be more interesting to me. It could then basically require me to respond, so that I would be able to say, 'Yes, I've got the rash,'or, 'No, I haven't, but my hair is falling out,'or some other reaction. [Patient, focus group 4]

Some even noted that the reminder could help them to talk with their partner in the cancer journey about topics of interest.



If, the same little reminder, or bit of information was being sent to both the patient and the caregiver, it might help to even open conversation. "Oh, did you see what the app sent on us our phone at lunch time today? What do you think about that?" [Patient, focus group 3]

However, other respondents in our study noted that they would prefer not to have reminders, perceiving them to be intrusive because "Reminders...can come at awkward time..." or can cause unwanted emotions, especially during times when they are able to forget the cancer and go about their daily lives:

You're pulling on emotions that've been subdued while you're making the spaghetti. [Caregiver, focus group 1]

Groups thus agreed that the ability for individual users to customize reminders according to what was most helpful to them is an important app feature. Flexibility to be able to change reminder frequency based on needs was also noted.

Theme 2.3: Patients and Caregivers Desire Opportunities to Interact With Clinical and Peer Experts Through the App

Timeliness was also reflected in the request by several dyads to be able to communicate with a health care professional via the mHealth app. A key stipulation was that the communication should be with someone knowledgeable about the type of cancer and treatment. Group members felt that professionals or providers did not need to be members of the patient's own treatment team; however, they noted that it should be someone who is familiar with the cancer and the treatment trajectory for their particular type of cancer.

A nurse or somebody that you would be able to, like, reach out to and talk to...that's an important aspect that should be included no matter what...So having somebody was empathetic, and understood the situation, and would be willing to talk with you and walk through questions. That would be an important thing. It would've been really appreciated by us. [Patient, focus group 7]

They also recognized the potential of interacting with peers through the app. Participants noted that mHealth platforms could enable them to share concerns and experiences, as well as to receive both practical and emotional support from other cancer patients and their caregivers.

I like chat groups for some practical down-to-Earth advice, because those women went through what I'm going through... somebody from a chat room would say, you know, "Put a thick cream on it. That's what helped me in the past." That's the kind of support I need. [Patient, focus group 2]

If like maybe caregivers could connect to other caregivers, or patients could connect to other patients. I think it would be really nice if I could like post a question in a forum, or something...like someone could share an article with me, I think that would be really nice. [Patient, focus group 8] Their recommended formats for communication included question-and-answer or chat room features that can be monitored and moderated by health care providers to ensure accuracy, provide practical cancer advice, or share concerns.

Topic 3: Interest in and Preferences for App Usage

Theme 3.1: The Need for Private Space in the App for Patients and for Caregivers to Get Information and Support Separately, Without the Other's Knowledge

Consensus across groups indicates that most people would be interested in an app provided it met their previously voiced concerns regarding trustworthiness, efficiency, ability to tailor information gleaned, and ability to interact with peers and knowledgeable clinicians through the app. Both patients and caregivers resoundingly endorsed the need for a private place to commiserate with peers and to have autonomy and privacy from the other member of the dyad when seeking information. Patients and caregivers alike spoke about wanting a place to express themselves openly and confidentially, without concern for how the other might feel if they could see what was being shared.

One participant made the analogy of "separate rooms...to sit on comfy sofas:"

It would give the cancer survivor an opportunity to commiserate with other cancer survivors...Sometimes I think the cancer survivors just need a way to be able to express their trepidation and fears with like-minded other survivors. If it can have a separate room—a separate room where survivors can go to commiserate...to sit on comfy sofas digitally, and commiserate...to have an 'adult tantrum! [Patient, focus group 3]

Caregivers recognized the importance of giving patients privacy and autonomy to make their own decisions on what to share and what not to share. Patients similarly recognized that family members also need a private space to share frustrations or other emotions without the fear of upsetting the patient.

I was just thinking about my mother. She passed of cancer. [she] was very private, though. So she would not always want me to know what was going on, much to my frustration, but she does have that right... [Caregiver, focus group 6]

And he [the caregiver] may want to share a grievance or a frustration, or, you know, ask a question, or need help, that he might not want me to know that he's seeking out. 'Cause he doesn't want to upset me, or whatever. So I would want him to have autonomy in it also, so that he could feel comfortable sharing and saying what he needed without me being privy to it. [Patient, focus group 6]

Theme 3.2: Patients and Caregivers Both Desire Ability to Control Sharing of Information With Other Family Members

Several participants mentioned that they would like the ability to share information with family members that they wished to

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48465

discuss later. They spoke of using app topics as a way to open potentially difficult conversations with a family member. One patient commented on the ability to share articles and information with family caregivers to access at their own convenience:

I'd want to...send a link to my husband, or send a link to my daughter. Because when I want to [read information] might not be when they want to do it. So to sit down and say, "Okay, we have to do this together now," would be burdensome. So I think it would be more helpful to have access themselves, then they can go look up whenever it's convenient for each individual. [Patient, focus group 4]

However, the desire to share information was far from universal; other participants spoke about the dynamic and changing nature of their desires for information sharing and wanting to have ultimate control. Some spoke of the ability to share different information with different support persons:

I think it would be helpful to have levels set up. You could designate this person has access to everything; this person has access to this amount of information. [Patient, focus group 4]

Loss of privacy and control during cancer treatment was a strong theme that resonated with most participants. They felt that the app could empower them to control a small amount of privacy during a process that leaves many feeling as if they no longer have any privacy left:

Well—at one point I'm like, "I don't need you to know everything," [laughs]—I don't need him to know that I'm not drinking, because then he's gonna give me a hard time about it. [laughs] But then—I like the idea that your caregiver—your partner—would have the ability to get a snapshot, "How are you doing today." I do appreciate that... Because there's so much loss of privacy already going through this treatment, that like, "I have to tell you [providers] everything?"... you know what I mean? Like, "I have nothing for me?" Patient, focus group 7]

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this study, we endeavored to identify gaps in information and support in cancer care perceived by patients with cancer and their caregivers; features and functionality desired by patients and caregivers in an mHealth self-management support app; and whether patients and caregivers would prefer to use an mHealth app for support together or individually. A novel finding is that patients and caregivers desire help in determining the urgency of symptoms and concerns in order to "self-triage" regarding whether and when to seek care. Patients and caregivers also want trustworthy, vetted, curated information and support to supplement the care that they receive from their clinicians, and this information should be tailored to their point in the treatment trajectory and to their preferences. Our results suggest that mHealth self-management support apps are a useful and acceptable way to receive such support, provided that specific

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48465
```

needs, concerns, desired features, and customizability were included in the app. A second notable novel finding of this study is that both patients and caregivers each desire to have a space that is their own, private from the other, and they each desire to have control over what information about their symptoms and information seeking is shared with the other. We discuss implications of these novel findings for app designers below.

Among our sample of patients with gynecologic cancer, we found nearly universal agreement that getting appropriate, personalized information and support throughout the cancer care trajectory is time-consuming. Patients and caregivers note having spent an extreme amount of time searching for information without any assurance as to the quality of information they located. They also noted a sense of "information overload," consistent with prior literature suggesting that the volume and complexity of internet cancer information is overwhelming [25], leaving them confused and overwhelmed [26]. One study found that 91% of web-based health information seekers either need or want navigational support to locate relevant information. This underscores the importance of designing our app to provide effective navigation for patients with gynecologic cancer and their caregivers [27].

In a novel finding, patients and caregivers expressed feelings of uncertainty as to how to self-triage; that is, they lacked confidence in determining whether a particular symptom warranted an immediate call to the provider or not. They articulated the need for a decision support aid for symptoms to help determine urgency and identify appropriate care, especially during hours when the oncology clinic is closed. These findings extend prior work on electronic support [28], which has primarily focused on treatment-related decision-making.

Designing a single mHealth app to be used by both patients and caregivers presents unique challenges for intervention designers and app developers. Results of this study highlight the need for flexibility in app functionality. Both patients and caregivers spoke of needing "a place of their own" to gather information and get peer and professional support without worrying or burdening their partner. Congruent with our findings, a recent systematic review [29] noted that patients desire the ability to control the sharing of information from health systems' patient portals. Our findings extend this work by describing caregivers' desires to similarly control the sharing of information about their concerns and information needs with their partner (the patient).

Privacy remains a key concern when designing sharing functionality for mHealth apps. Krebs and Duncan [30] found that 29% of US mobile phone users discontinue using mHealth apps due to lack of privacy stemming from apps sharing data with family members or friends. Our dyads noted that they specifically wanted the flexibility to share information and data when *they* chose to do so. Both caregivers and patients voiced the desire to maintain ultimate control over what is shared with their family members. Interestingly, these results contradict a recent study noting that patient and caregiver dyads preferred to use an official health system portal together, rather than individually [31]; this discrepancy could be because patients and caregivers may perceive our app as more personal and more

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

focused on their individual needs, as opposed to a health system portal perceived as an extension of the hospital rather than as a personalized support space. Furthermore, our participants noted that the desire to share information through the app is not static—it may vary among patient or caregiver partners and may also vary over time as they move through the cancer trajectory. Thus, app developers will need to be cognizant of the need for flexibility in app functionality, allowing customization by users as often as desired.

Implications

Our study highlights several key considerations for the development of mHealth apps to support patients with gynecologic cancer and their caregivers in self-management. As patients and caregivers struggle with finding relevant information and lack confidence in deciding the urgency of problems, future apps should prioritize providing easily accessible, reliable information tailored to individual needs. This can be achieved through the development of recommendation algorithms that streamline decision-making processes. While recommender algorithms have existed for years, current algorithms are primarily targeted toward clinicians rather than being patient centered [32,33]. Our findings can inform components that should be incorporated into the recommender algorithms to permit optimal customization for patients and caregivers.

Additionally, our study sheds light on the issue of data sharing between patients and caregivers. Despite ongoing debate about the HIPAA considerations involved in such data sharing [34], there is currently no policy supporting and clarifying data sharing in this context. Our findings can inform policy makers about the need for guidelines on information sharing and flexibility, especially through consumer-centered technology such as web-based or patient portals and mobile apps. This can help ensure that patients and caregivers have the necessary control over sharing information while receiving the support they need.

Strengths and Limitations

Our study has several notable strengths and a few limitations that must be considered. Participants for this study were recruited from a cancer registry at a National Cancer Institute-designated cancer center housed within а university-affiliated tertiary care health system. The cancer center is comprised of urban, suburban, and rural satellite centers and serves individuals from a wide geographic area, yielding a diverse pool of potential participants. We targeted patients currently receiving treatment as well as those who may have completed cancer treatment up to 5 years in the past. This approach provided important perspective regarding the diverse and dynamic needs of cancer dyads throughout the care trajectory. Despite these strengths, respondents to the recruitment letter for this study were largely those who had received care at the urban campus, even though a number lived an hour or more outside the city. Such individuals may differ from those who choose to receive care in rural areas closer to their residence; these differences could reduce the applicability of our results to mHealth design for these individuals.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48465

Additionally, our study sample was 94% (59/63) White, reflecting a higher percentage of White individuals than in the overall region (63.8%) [35]. Generalizing our results to non-White and rural-dwelling individuals should therefore be done with caution, and future work should purposively sample for a more diverse sample.

Focus group participants were overwhelmingly positive about the care they had received through the gynecologic oncology practice and were eager to discuss their experiences. The group facilitators (GC and HSD) maintain a clinical affiliation at the gynecologic oncology clinic and were perceived as extensions of a place of trust by participants. Thus, a sense of openness was achieved quickly at each group session, leading to rich discussion related to unmet needs and suggestions for important features. Such an open discussion may not have been achieved in a focus group that was perceived to be conducted by researchers with little clinical benefit for participants. Despite this strength, it must be noted that the presence of both patients and caregivers in the same groups may have inhibited full disclosure of concerns, stresses, and feelings by some participants. Further, patients that attended without a caregiver may have felt reluctant to express opinions about their caregivers' experiences, not wanting to be perceived as speaking for someone who was not present while in the presence of other caregivers. This potential limitation is congruent with our finding that universal sharing of information and concerns is not desirable, but that sharing controlled by each individual within their comfort level, would be a desirable app feature.

An important limitation concerns the timing of this study. Our focus groups were conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic, which may have contributed to our finding that most participants would appreciate an mHealth self-management support option. Because traditional options for face-to-face interaction with the health care team were limited during the pandemic, this may have driven participants' desire for more and better information and opportunities for interaction with others through an app. Yet, the timing of this study could also be a strength: the salience of information and support shortcomings among cancer dyads during the pandemic and the resultant desire for more effective mHealth solutions may have provided deeper insights into this topic than we could have gained outside the pandemic.

Conclusions

Randomized controlled trials have demonstrated that mHealth interventions encourage proactive self-management skills and improve well-being while reducing secondary disease complications and health care costs [36-38]. mHealth apps can also improve adherence to treatment regimens for chronic conditions [39] and can positively impact long-term self-management [40,41]. However, for mHealth interventions to achieve widespread use in real world clinical settings, app developers must focus on end users' desired uses, features, and functionality. Our study provides novel input from potential end users regarding components of a self-management support app for dyads with cancer in a gynecologic oncology program that will spearhead development and testing of a future mobile app.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Ms. Sharon B. Winters, MS, CTR, Director of Registry Information Services at Hillman Cancer Center, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, for her team's assistance in recruiting participants for this study. Funding for this study was provided by the Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Community Living award #90RTGE-0002 (GBC, HK, TCK, JK, YJL, and HSD). The contents of this manuscript were developed under a grant from the National Institute on Disability, Independent Living, and Rehabilitation Research (NIDILRR grant number 90RTGE0002). NIDILRR is a Center within the Administration for Community Living (ACL), Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). The contents of this manuscript do not necessarily represent the policy of NIDILRR, ACL, or HHS, and endorsement by the Federal Government should not be assumed.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Northouse LL, Katapodi MC, Schafenacker AM, Weiss D. The impact of caregiving on the psychological well-being of family caregivers and cancer patients. Semin Oncol Nurs 2012;28(4):236-245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2012.09.006] [Medline: 23107181]
- 2. Hand LC, Thomas TH, Belcher S, Campbell G, Lee YJ, Roberge M, et al. Defining essential elements of caregiver support in gynecologic cancers using the modified Delphi method. J Oncol Pract 2019;15(4):e369-e381. [doi: <u>10.1200/JOP.18.00420</u>] [Medline: <u>30849004</u>]
- 3. Campbell G, Thomas TH, Hand L, Lee YJ, Taylor SE, Donovan HS. Caring for survivors of gynecologic cancer: assessment and management of long-term and late effects. Semin Oncol Nurs 2019;35(2):192-201. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.soncn.2019.02.006</u>] [Medline: <u>30867102</u>]
- 4. Sato T, Fujisawa D, Arai D, Nakachi I, Takeuchi M, Nukaga S, et al. Trends of concerns from diagnosis in patients with advanced lung cancer and their family caregivers: a 2-year longitudinal study. Palliat Med 2021;35(5):943-951. [doi: 10.1177/02692163211001721] [Medline: <u>33761790</u>]
- 5. Buhrman M, Fältenhag S, Ström L, Andersson G. Controlled trial of internet-based treatment with telephone support for chronic back pain. Pain 2004;111(3):368-377. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pain.2004.07.021</u>] [Medline: <u>15363881</u>]
- Ploeg J, Ali MU, Markle-Reid M, Valaitis R, Bartholomew A, Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, et al. Caregiver-focused, web-based interventions: systematic review and meta-analysis (Part 2). J Med Internet Res 2018;20(10):e11247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11247] [Medline: 30368439]
- Donovan HS, Ward S. A representational approach to patient education. J Nurs Scholarsh 2001;33(3):211-216. [doi: 10.1111/j.1547-5069.2001.00211.x] [Medline: 11552546]
- Leventhal H, Phillips LA, Burns E. The common-sense model of self-regulation (CSM): a dynamic framework for understanding illness self-management. J Behav Med 2016;39(6):935-946. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10865-016-9782-2</u>] [Medline: <u>27515801</u>]
- 9. Donovan HS, Sereika SM, Wenzel LB, Edwards RP, Knapp JE, Hughes SH, et al. Effects of the WRITE symptoms interventions on symptoms and quality of life among patients with recurrent ovarian cancers: an NRG oncology/GOG study (GOG-0259). J Clin Oncol 2022;40(13):1464-1473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.21.00656] [Medline: 35130043]
- Boele FW, Weimer JM, Marsland AL, Armstrong TS, Given CW, Drappatz J, et al. The effects of SmartCare on neuro-oncology family caregivers' distress: a randomized controlled trial. Support Care Cancer 2022 Mar;30(3):2059-2068 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06555-5] [Medline: 34655326]
- Campbell GB, Boisen MM, Hand LC, Lee YJ, Lersch N, Roberge MC, et al. Integrating family caregiver support into a gynecologic oncology practice: an ASCO quality training program project. JCO Oncol Pract 2020;16(3):e264-e270. [doi: 10.1200/JOP.19.00409] [Medline: <u>31496394</u>]
- Donovan HS, Ward SE, Sereika SM, Knapp JE, Sherwood PR, Bender CM, et al. Web-based symptom management for women with recurrent ovarian cancer: a pilot randomized controlled trial of the WRITE symptoms intervention. J Pain Symptom Manage 2014;47(2):218-230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2013.04.005] [Medline: 24018206]
- 13. Donovan HS, Sereika SM, Wenzel LB, Edwards RP, Knapp JE, Hughes SH, et al. Effects of the WRITE symptoms interventions on symptoms and quality of life among patients with recurrent ovarian cancers: an NRG oncology/GOG study (GOG-0259). J Clin Oncol 2022;40(13):1464-1473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.21.00656] [Medline: 35130043]
- 14. Internet, broadband fact sheet. Pew Research Center. 2021. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/3bzpdm9a</u> [accessed 2024-01-31]
- 15. Markus P. mHealth economics 2017 current status and future trends in mobile health. Research 2 Guidance. 2017. URL: https://tinyurl.com/2u46p3u7 [accessed 2022-01-21]
- 16. Onwumere J, Amaral F, Valmaggia LR. Digital technology for caregivers of people with psychosis: systematic review. JMIR Ment Health 2018;5(3):e55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.9857] [Medline: 30185402]

RenderX

- 17. Parmanto B, Pramana G, Yu DX, Fairman AD, Dicianno BE, McCue MP. iMHere: a novel mHealth system for supporting self-care in management of complex and chronic conditions. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2013;1(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.2391] [Medline: 25100682]
- Carlsen B, Glenton C. What about N? A methodological study of sample-size reporting in focus group studies. BMC Med Res Methodol 2011;11:26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-11-26] [Medline: 21396104]
- Keith RE, Crosson JC, O'Malley AS, Cromp D, Taylor EF. Using the consolidated framework for implementation research (CFIR) to produce actionable findings: a rapid-cycle evaluation approach to improving implementation. Implement Sci 2017;12(1):15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-017-0550-7] [Medline: 28187747]
- 20. Brooks J, McCluskey S, Turley E, King N. The utility of template analysis in qualitative psychology research. Qual Res Psychol 2015;12(2):202-222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/14780887.2014.955224] [Medline: 27499705]
- 21. Beebe J. Rapid Assessment Process: An Introduction. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield; 2001.
- 22. Ash JS, Sittig DF, McMullen CK, Guappone K, Dykstra R, Carpenter J. A rapid assessment process for clinical informatics interventions. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2008;2008:26-30 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18999075</u>]
- 23. Nagawa CS, Lane IA, McKay CE, Kamberi A, Shenette LL, Kelly MM, et al. Use of a rapid qualitative method to inform the development of a text messaging intervention for people with serious mental illness who smoke: formative research study. JMIR Form Res 2022;6(11):e40907 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/40907] [Medline: 36342765]
- 24. Freelon DG. ReCal: intercoder reliability calculation as a web service. Int J Internet Sci 2010;5(1):20-33. [doi: 10.4135/9781526421036905572]
- 25. Maddock C, Lewis I, Ahmad K, Sullivan R. Online information needs of cancer patients and their organizations. Ecancermedicalscience 2011;5:235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2011.235] [Medline: 22276067]
- 26. Chae J, Lee CJ, Jensen JD. Correlates of cancer information overload: focusing on individual ability and motivation. Health Commun 2016;31(5):626-634. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2014.986026] [Medline: 26512760]
- 27. Papadakos J, Trang A, Cyr AB, Abdelmutti N, Giuliani ME, Snow M, et al. Deconstructing cancer patient information seeking in a consumer health library toward developing a virtual information consult for cancer patients and their caregivers: a qualitative, instrumental case study. JMIR Cancer 2017;3(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.6933] [Medline: 28539305]
- DuBenske LL, Gustafson DH, Shaw BR, Cleary JF. Web-based cancer communication and decision making systems: connecting patients, caregivers, and clinicians for improved health outcomes. Med Decis Making 2010;30(6):732-744 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0272989X10386382] [Medline: 21041539]
- 29. Reynolds TL, Ali N, Zheng K. What do patients and caregivers want? A systematic review of user suggestions to improve patient portals. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2021;2020:1070-1079 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>33936483</u>]
- 30. Krebs P, Duncan DT. Health app use among US mobile phone owners: a national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(4):e101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4924] [Medline: 26537656]
- Longacre ML, Chwistek M, Keleher C, Siemon M, Egleston BL, Collins M, et al. Patient-caregiver portal system in palliative oncology: assessment of usability and perceived benefit. JMIR Hum Factors 2023;10:e47624 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/47624] [Medline: <u>37917129</u>]
- 32. Verbert K, Parra D, Brusilovsky P. Agents Vs. Users: visual recommendation of research talks with multiple dimension of relevance. ACM Trans Interact Intell Syst 2016;6(2):1-42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/2946794]
- Kumar A, Aikens RC, Hom J, Shieh L, Chiang J, Morales D, et al. OrderRex clinical user testing: a randomized trial of recommender system decision support on simulated cases. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020;27(12):1850-1859. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa190] [Medline: 33106874]
- 34. Applebaum AJ, Kent EE, Lichtenthal WG. Documentation of caregivers as a standard of care. J Clin Oncol 2021;39(18):1955-1958 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.21.00402] [Medline: 33945287]
- 35. Quick facts: Pittsburgh city, Pennsylvania; United States. US Census. 2024. URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/pittsburghcitypennsylvania,US/PST045223</u> [accessed 2024-09-04]
- 36. Klasnja P, Pratt W. Healthcare in the pocket: mapping the space of mobile-phone health interventions. J Biomed Inform 2012;45(1):184-198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2011.08.017] [Medline: 21925288]
- Fiordelli M, Diviani N, Schulz PJ. Mapping mHealth research: a decade of evolution. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(5):e95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2430] [Medline: 23697600]
- Marcolino MS, Oliveira JAQ, D'Agostino M, Ribeiro AL, Alkmim MBM, Novillo-Ortiz D. The impact of mHealth interventions: systematic review of systematic reviews. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018;6(1):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8873] [Medline: 29343463]
- de Jongh T, Gurol-Urganci I, Vodopivec-Jamsek V, Car J, Atun R. Mobile phone messaging for facilitating self-management of long-term illnesses. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;12(12):CD007459 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007459.pub2] [Medline: 23235644]
- 40. Clark NM. Management of chronic disease by patients. Annu Rev Public Health 2003;24:289-313. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.24.100901.141021] [Medline: 12415147]
- 41. Middleton KR, Anton SD, Perri MG. Long-term adherence to health behavior change. Am J Lifestyle Med 2013;7(6):395-404 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1559827613488867] [Medline: 27547170]

RenderX

Abbreviations

HIPAA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act mHealth: mobile health UPMC: University of Pittsburgh Medical Center

Edited by J Bender; submitted 25.04.23; peer-reviewed by M Gasmi, J Galica, D Llovet; comments to author 24.11.23; revised version received 07.03.24; accepted 30.07.24; published 03.10.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Campbell GB, Kim H, Klinedinst TC, Klinger J, Lee YJ, Donovan HS Needs of Patients With Gynecologic Cancer and Their Caregivers for Obtaining mHealth-Supported Self-Management: Focus Group Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48465 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48465</u> doi:10.2196/48465 PMID:39361371

©Grace B Campbell, Hansol Kim, Tara C Klinedinst, Julie Klinger, Young Ji Lee, Heidi S Donovan. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 03.10.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Evaluating Online Cannabis Health Information for Thai Breast Cancer Survivors Using the Quality Evaluation Scoring Tool (QUEST): Mixed Method Study

Thanarpan Peerawong¹, MD; Tharin Phenwan², MD, PhD; Meiko Makita², MSc, PhD; Sojirat Supanichwatana¹, MA; Panupong Puttarak³, PharmD, PhD; Naowanit Siammai⁴, RN; Prakaidao Sunthorn⁵, MPA

¹Radiation Oncology Unit, Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University, 15 Kanjanavanich Rd., Songkhla, Thailand ²School of Health Sciences, University of Dundee, Dundee, United Kingdom

³Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Prince of Songkla University, Songkhla, Thailand

⁴Tanyawej Breast Center, Songklanagarind Hospital, Prince of Songkla University, Songkhla, Thailand

⁵Chom-rom-nom-yen, Breast Cancer Survivors Support Group, Songklanagarind Hospital, Prince of Songkla University, Songkha, Thailand

Corresponding Author:

Thanarpan Peerawong, MD

Radiation Oncology Unit, Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University, 15 Kanjanavanich Rd., Songkhla, Thailand

Abstract

Background: Following medical cannabis legalization in Thailand in 2019, more people are seeking medical cannabis–related information, including women living with breast cancer. The extent to which they access cannabis-related information from internet sources and social media platforms and the quality of such content are relatively unknown and need further evaluation.

Objective: This study aims to analyze the factors determining cannabis-related content quality for breast cancer care from internet sources and on social media platforms and examine the characteristics of such content accessed and consumed by Thai breast cancer survivors.

Methods: A mixed methods study was conducted between January 2021 and May 2022, involving a breast cancer survivor support group. The group identified medical cannabis–related content from frequently accessed internet sources and social media platforms. The contents were categorized based on content creators, platforms, content category, and upload dates. Four researchers used the Quality Evaluation Scoring Tool (QUEST) to assess content quality, with scores ranging from 0 to 28. Contents were expert-rated as either high or poor. The QUEST interobserver reliability was analyzed. Receiver-operating characteristic curve analysis with the Youden index was used to determine the QUEST score cut-off point. Statistical significance was set at P<.05. Fairclough Critical Discourse Analysis was undertaken to examine the underlying discourses around poor-quality content.

Results: Sixty-two Thai-language cannabis-related items were evaluated. The content sources were categorized as follows: news channels (21/62, 34%), government sources (16/62, 26%), health care providers (12/62, 19%), and alternative medicine providers (12/62, 19%). Most of the contents (30/62, 48%) were uploaded to YouTube, whereas 31% (19/62) appeared on websites and Facebook. Forty of 62 content items (64%) were news-related and generic cannabis advertisements while 8 of 62 (13%) content items had no identifiable date. The interobserver QUEST score correlation was 0.86 (P<.001). The mean QUEST score was 12.1 (SD 7.6). Contents were considered "high" when the expert rating was >3. With a QUEST score of 15 as the threshold, the sensitivity and specificity for differentiating between high and poor content quality were 81% and 98%, respectively. Content creation was the only significant factor between high- and poor-quality content. Poor-quality contents were primarily created by alternative medicine providers and news channels. Two discourses were identified: advocacy for cannabis use normalization and cannabis romanticization as a panacea. These discourses overly normalize and romanticize the use of cannabis, focusing on indications and instructions for cannabis use, and medical cannabis promotion, while neglecting discussions on cannabis contraindications and potential side effects.

Conclusions: The varying quality of medical cannabis–related information on internet sources and social media platforms accessed and shared by Thai breast cancer survivors is an issue of concern. Given that content creators are the sole predictive factors of high content quality, future studies should examine a wider range of cannabis-related sources accessible to both the public and patients to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the issue.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e55300) doi:10.2196/55300



KEYWORDS

cannabis; medical cannabis; Thailand; critical discourse analysis; mixed method study; breast cancer; digital literacy; legislation; health literacy

Introduction

Globally, breast cancer is the most common cancer in women, with an age-standardized rate of 46.8 per 100,000 individuals [1]. The number of new cases is expected to rise from 2.3 million in 2020 to 3.2 million by 2040 [2]. In Thailand, about 21,600 new cases were reported in 2022, with a projection of 25,600 by 2040 [2]. Breast cancer treatments often involve a combination of surgery, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, and targeted therapy. These interventions have proven effective, with a trade-off between side effects, including nausea, vomiting, hair loss, fatigue, neuropathy, and decreased immunity [3].

Currently, alternative medicine approaches are gaining attention as potential complementary therapies to alleviate these side effects and improve patient well-being [4,5]. Hence, medical cannabis use, a complementary therapy, has gained traction in mitigating the side effects of breast cancer treatment [5,6].

Medical cannabis refers to the use of *Cannabis sativa* L. or its extracts for medicinal purposes [5]. The main chemical compounds in cannabis are tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol, which demonstrated anticancer properties in a pre-clinical study [7]. Clinically, there are clear medical indications for cannabis use, including the treatment of intractable chronic pain, nausea, and vomiting [5,8-12].

In Thailand, cannabis has been used as a part of traditional medicine for centuries. The most commonly used forms of cannabis in nontraditional medicine involve the oral intake of crude oil extracts, raw plants (flowers, leaves, or whole plants with roots and stems), and topical skin products.

There are 3 categories of cannabis-based products legalized for medicinal purposes in Thailand. The first category is medicinal grade, which refers to substances that meet rigorous standards of purity, potency, and safety, making them suitable for use in medical treatments and pharmaceutical formulations, with three formulae: (1) high tetrahydrocannabinol concentration (13 mg/mL tetrahydrocannabinol), (2) high cannabidiol concentration (100 mg/mL cannabidiol), and (3) the tetrahydrocannabinol-cannabidiol mixture in a 1:1 ratio (27 mg/mL tetrahydrocannabinol and 25 mg/mL cannabidiol) [13]. The second category comprises 16 formulae of Thai traditional medicine products containing cannabis as an active ingredient. The third category is made of folk medicines produced by folk healers (traditional medicines that are not yet listed by the national Thai traditional medicine formulary). These are currently under development and categorization. [13].

No study has specifically reported the use of medical cannabis in breast cancer survivors. However, the prevalence of cannabis use in Thailand increased from 2.2% in 2019 to 4.2% by 2021, following the legalization of cannabis for recreational use [14]. A study conducted in Northern Thailand showed that 40% of women with breast cancer had requested the use of medical

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55300

cannabis from their physician, indicating an increasing interest in medical cannabis [15].

Moreover, a law was passed in 2019 which allowed the use of cannabis for medical purposes [14,16]. This law positioned cannabis on the national agenda and was amended in June 2022, allowing cannabis use for any purpose, including home cultivation and recreation [14]. However, the legalization of cannabis use has caused several problems in Thailand. First, the phrase "medical cannabis" remains confusing for Thais, who tend to use it without clear medical indications. They can purchase cannabis from several channels including illegal sources, home growers, traditional medicine providers, and modern medicine providers [16], making it more challenging to determine the safety of these products.

According to Kalayasiri and Boonthae [14], the prevalence of cannabis use in Thailand doubled after the legalization, overshadowing the use of illegal substances, such as kratom and methamphetamine. This is concerning since cannabis use can cause serious adverse effects in patients with breast cancer and reduce the therapeutic efficacy. In particular, the reduced therapeutic efficacy is evident in patients undergoing tamoxifen treatment [17,18].

Second, a person's decision to use medical cannabis should rely on valid medical advice. However, owing to the lack of reliable resources, patients typically make an uninformed choice or rely on advice from their social circle, which can be misleading [16,19]. Further, people often seek cannabis-related information from easily accessible internet sources and social media platforms, rather than government-validated resources [16,19]. Previous studies on cannabis use, wherein data were collected from social networks, have faced skepticism due to a lack of rigorous scrutiny, allowing for potential bias or misinformation [19]. Moreover, the media has attempted to normalize cannabis use without a critical discussion of safety issues [20-22]. For instance, a content analysis study on cannabis-related information on Facebook in Thailand concluded that there was no discussion of the potential dangers of cannabis use [23].

The current trend of access to medical cannabis in Thailand is problematic since patients with breast cancer may access unvalidated information, which might be harmful, with reduced treatment efficacy. Furthermore, it appears unclear why people with breast cancer choose to seek medical cannabis–related content from internet sources and social media platforms. There is an urgent need to investigate the extent to which patients access cannabis-related information from internet sources and social media and evaluate the quality of the content available on these platforms.

This study aimed to (1) analyze the factors determining the quality of cannabis-related content for breast cancer care on internet sources and social media platforms and (2) examine the characteristics of cannabis-related content on internet sources

and social media platforms accessed and used by Thai breast cancer survivors following cannabis legalization in 2019.

Methods

Study Design and Patient and Public Involvement Process

This mixed methods sequential study was conducted in 2 phases between January 2021 and May 2022 at a tertiary hospital in Southern Thailand (Figure 1). We included members of the breast cancer support group "Chom-rom-nom-yen," for patients and public involvement [24], to ensure representation of people with lived experiences of breast cancer. Chom-rom-nom-yen is a social enterprise of women living with breast cancer that aims to raise awareness, provide education, and advocate for and support women living with breast cancer. The organization was established in 2015 and currently comprises 397 breast cancer survivors and their caregivers from diverse socioeconomic backgrounds. The members were aged 30 - 75 years, with the majority aged 50 - 60 years. Most of the members resided in Southern Thailand.

The research began with a discussion of the initial ideas and the conceptualization of the problems and study design with the group in October 2020 at their in-person monthly meetings. Any group member could participate in the study as needed. A

Figure 1. Study timeline.

researcher (T Peerawong) joined the monthly meetings and discussed with Chom-rom-nom-yen members regarding the potential use of medical cannabis in Thai women with breast cancer postlegislation given that knowledge about medical cannabis use in breast cancer care in Thailand was limited at the time. The group was skeptical about the use of medical cannabis. However, some members indicated that they had already used cannabis-containing products, for example, cannabis tea and cannabis oil with no understanding of potential adverse and side effects. The group reached a consensus that using medical cannabis was worth further exploration. The subsequent group discussions via LINE, the most commonly used instant messaging platform in Thailand, further refined the focus of the study; 2 representatives agreed to join the study as core members to explore and evaluate the trustworthiness of medical cannabis-related information.

The subsequent activities were conducted and coordinated through Chom-rom-nom-yen; other members were contacted by a researcher (PS), the Chom-rom-nom-yen president. This direct involvement from the group helped ensure a focused and cohesive group participation.

The support group confirmed that they typically sought information from websites and popular social media platforms in Thailand namely Facebook, LINE, and YouTube.



Ethical Considerations

The feedback from Chom-rom-nom-yen discussions was collated and included in the study design and ethical application. Ethical approval was obtained from the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University (REC.63-531-7-1). Since the study involved the use of electronic and unidentifiable private information from internet sources and social media platforms, the ethical committee waived the requirement for informed consent [25].

The Institutional Review Board allowed the secondary analysis without additional consent. Pseudonyms were used to anonymize the content creators that were included in the data analysis process. Collected data were deidentified.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55300
```

The data were securely stored in encrypted form in the Microsoft OneDrive storage of the university affiliation of the principal researcher, password-protected, and rendered compliant with the Thailand Personal Data Protection Act. Only the researchers (T Peerawong and T Phenwan) had access to the dataset. All the data will be deleted 5 years after the study completion, in compliance with the local regulations. Participants were not compensated.

Procedure

Between April 2021 and December 2021, internet sources and social media content were gathered from women living with breast cancer who were members of the support group. Owing to the organic nature of Chom-rom-nom-yen, which acts as a

social support group, demographic details of women participating in the research were not recorded, as anyone from the group could participate or opt out at any time.

The women were instructed to identify the information about medical cannabis that they found relevant from the available platforms during the study period (any websites, Facebook, LINE messages and posts, and YouTube). The unit of analysis included Facebook posts, blog posts, website articles, news updates, LINE messages, and videos. Participants then shared the URLs of these units of analysis with a researcher (NS) who collated all the data. This process was repeated twice over a 6-month period. The collected links were anonymized, merged, screened, and listed for further analysis by another researcher (T Peerawong).

Quantitative Data Analysis

The first phase of the study involved quantitative content analysis and comprised a 3-part evaluation. The first part involved the collection of general information about the social network, such as its creators, platform type, content category, and upload date. The second part involved content quality analysis using the Quality Evaluation Scoring Tool (QUEST) and the Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA) benchmarks. The QUEST is a validated tool that evaluates the quality of web-based health information. The instrument comprises 7 items: authorship, attribution, study type, conflicts of interest, currency, complementarity, and tone. Each item is scored on a scale of 0 - 28 [26]. The JAMA benchmark is a 5-point scale that assesses: authorship, attribution, disclosure, and currency, with scores ranging from 0 to 4 [27]. Higher scores on both tools indicate higher quality. The third part of the evaluation involved expert assessment of several aspects of the content, such as the tone, accuracy, usefulness, and quality level, with scores ranging from 1 to 5.

The initial evaluation was performed by 2 research team members: one with more than 10 years of experience in radiation oncology and quality of life research (T Peerawong) and the other with 5 years of experience in social sciences research (SS). In this process, T Peerawong navigated the contents received from internet sources and social media platforms and discussed with SS until a consensus was reached. All selected content from internet sources and social media platforms was evaluated for content quality evaluation and expert analysis. All reviewers then independently followed the QUEST and JAMA evaluation guidelines. When necessary, questions were addressed to T Peerawong for clarification. The reviewers included a pharmacist specializing in herbal medicine with over a decade of experience (PP), a radiation oncologist (PT), and a general practitioner (NB), each with 3 years of experience. Additionally, a sixth-year medical student (PW) was included in the review team to provide variability in opinion.

Descriptive statistics were used to analyze the characteristics of social networks. Intraclass correlation was used to assess the interobserver reliability of the QUEST and JAMA benchmarks. The mean QUEST score among the 4 reviewers correlated with the expert opinion score for each aspect. A cut-off point for the QUEST score was determined by comparing QUEST scores with expert opinion scores, and a score of 3 or higher was

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55300

considered to indicate high quality. After receiver-operating characteristic curve analysis, the Youden index was used to determine the optimal cut-off point owing to the simplicity of its calculation and interpretation [28]. Based on the QUEST scores, internet sources, and social media characteristics were categorized as high or poor content quality. Statistical significance was set at a *P* value <.05, and data analysis was conducted using R program (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

Qualitative Data Analysis

Overview

The content deemed of poor quality in the first phase was further analyzed in the second phase of the study using Fairclough Critical Discourse Analysis approach [29]. The analysis aimed to identify visible or hidden discourses within the poor-quality datasets, as well as the ideologies, values, and assumptions of the content creators. The analysis was performed by T Phenwan, a family medicine doctor, and a qualitative researcher with expertise and research interests in breast cancer, quality of life research, and policy analysis. datasets were uploaded to Atlas.Ti to facilitate analysis. The researcher read or watched the content and analyzed the datasets using coding and memo features in Atlas.Ti. The analysis was conducted using the following 3 interrelated dimensions of critical discourse analysis.

Text Analysis (Description)

The microelements of the linguistic discourse in the datasets were examined. This included identifying the use of sensitizing words, linguistic devices (such as metaphors), choice of words, content structures, tones, and sentiments, and how discourses around the use of medical cannabis were framed.

Processing Analysis (Interpretation)

The situational context of the content was also explored, including how the content was produced and enabled the construction of new discourses or the sustainability of existing discourses. This involved examining content distributors and contributors, as well as considering who was included or excluded in content production, along with their positionalities towards medical cannabis.

Social Analysis (Explanation)

The socio-historical contexts and content producers were identified, along with overt and covert ideologies and hegemonies. The slant or style, intended audience, and intended purpose of the content creation were analyzed, along with the how and why of content structure, to explore how certain stakeholders or historical changes in cannabis-related policies influenced the created content.

The initial analysis was discussed among researchers (T Phenwan, MM [a sociologist specializing in social media analysis], and T Peerawong) via Microsoft Team meetings and email communications. The discussion continued until a consensus was reached.

Results

Quantitative Results

Between April 2021 and December 2021, 62 internet content items were included and evaluated, all of which were in Thai. The most accessed content was created by news channels (21/62, 34%), followed by governmental sources (16/62, 26%), health care professionals (HCPs, 12/62, 19%), and alternative medicine providers (12/62, 19%). The most common internet sources and social media platforms were YouTube (30/62, 48%) and websites (19/62, 31%). Video content constituted 36 of the 62 content items (59%), with news (23/62, 37%) and advertisements (17/62, 27%) being the most frequent types (Table 1 and Figure 2).

Most of the contents were uploaded in 2019, with only 2 items uploaded prior to that year. These included news channel updates (sharing experience with cannabis) and a narrative review [30]. Most of the contents with unidentified uploading dates were created by alternative medicine providers. The URLs were sent to the reviewers, who individually evaluated the internet sources and social media content. Some internet sources and social media content were inaccessible and were not included during this stage. Four experts have reviewed, rated 62 websites, and provided 241 responses (Table 2). The evaluated content generally supported the use of cannabis, displaying fair information accuracy and usefulness. Only 64 of 241 expert opinion responses (26.5%) deemed the evaluated contents as high-quality.

The interobserver correlation of the QUEST score and JAMA benchmark between the 4 reviewers was 0.86 (P<.001) and 0.55 (P=.002), respectively. The QUEST score was 11.9 (SD 6), whereas the JAMA benchmark score was 2.5 (SD 1). The mean QUEST score was positively correlated with the mean JAMA benchmark score, as well as information accuracy, usefulness, and quality (Table 3). Additionally, the mean QUEST score showed a negative correlation with content tone. The correlation between the mean JAMA benchmark score and expert opinions was consistent with these findings.

For univariate analysis, a content quality score >3 based on expert opinion was considered indicative of high quality. To determine the optimal cut-off point of the content quality score, the receiver-operating characteristic curve was used to find a balance between sensitivity and specificity for binary classification. The area under the curve was 0.93, and the confidence interval ranged from 0.86 to 1.01. After applying the Youden index, a QUEST score of 15 was identified as the optimal cut-off point for differentiating between high and poor content quality. The sensitivity and specificity of this cut-off point were 81% and 98%, respectively. Univariate analysis of internet sources and social media characteristics revealed that content creator was the only variable with a significant difference between high and poor content quality, with high-quality content mostly originating from the government and HCPs (Table 4).

Twenty-eight contents were considered of poor quality and were mainly created by alternative medicine providers and news channels. These contents covered a range of topics, from instructions on how to plant cannabis to contraindications for medical cannabis use. Most contents (23/28, 82%) focused on the indications for cannabis use, instructions for medical cannabis use, and the general promotion of cannabis use. Only 1 news channel topic addressed the contraindications and side effects of medical cannabis. Of all contents from alternative medicine providers (9/11, 82%) were advertisements, with 8 out of 11 (73%) focusing on indications and instructions for cannabis use. No content from alternative medicine providers addressed the side effects or disadvantages of cannabis use. Of all content from news channels 11 out of 21 (52%) favored medical cannabis use. The information included the personal experiences of cannabis users, advertisements and discussions on cannabis cultivation, interviews with medical cannabis users, and interviews with HCPs. In terms of topics, 14 out of 21 (41%) of the contents were on indications and instructions regarding cannabis use, whereas 4 out of 21 (20%) were on pro-medical cannabis use.



Table . Baseline content characteristics (N=62).

Characteristic	Values, n (%)
Creators	
Alternative medicine provider	12 (19)
Government	16 (26)
Health care provider	12 (19)
Insurance company	1 (2)
Media (news channel)	21 (34)
Internet sources and social media platforms	
Facebook	12 (19)
YouTube	30 (48)
Website	19 (31)
Scientific journal	1 (2)
Content category	
Video	36 (58)
Text	20 (32)
Both	6 (10)
Content type	
News	23 (37)
Advertisement	17 (27)
How to grow cannabis	2 (3)
Academic article	2 (3)
General information on medical cannabis	5 (8)
Instruction of cannabis use	3 (5)
Experience of cannabis use	10 (16)

Figure 2. Distribution of content-uploading date categorized by content creators and years. HCP: health care professional.



Table . Expert evaluation of internet and social media content (n=241).

•	
Category	Values, n (%)
Support tone	190 (78.8)
Information accuracy	117 (48.5)
Usefulness	103 (42.7)
High quality	64 (26.5)

Table	. Correlation of Journal of the Ameri	can Medical Association	(JAMA) bench	hmark and Quality	Evaluation Scoring	Tool (QUEST) so	core with
expert	opinion scores for tone, information a	ccuracy, usefulness, and a	quality. Statisti	cal analysis with P	earson correlation.		

	JAMA	Quest	Tone	Information accura- cy	Usefulness	Quality
JAMA	1	0.79 ^a	-0.61 ^a	0.77 ^a	0.74 ^a	0.82 ^a
QUEST	0.79 ^a	1	-0.87 ^a	0.86 ^a	0.90 ^a	0.92 ^a
Tone	-0.61 ^a	-0.87 ^a	1	-0.74 ^a	-0.73 ^a	-0.72 ^a
Information accura- cy	0.77 ^a	0.86 ^a	-0.74 ^a	1	0.93 ^a	0.91 ^a
Usefulness	0.74 ^a	0.92 ^a	-0.73 ^a	0.93 ^a	1	0.93 ^a
Quality	0.82 ^a	0.92 ^a	-0.72 ^a	0.91 ^a	0.93 ^a	1

^aP<.001.

Table .	Univariate analysis of the	Quality Evaluation Sco	oring Tool (QUEST) se	core between high and poor content.
---------	----------------------------	------------------------	-----------------------	-------------------------------------

		Poor, n (%)	High, n (%)	<i>P</i> value
Creators				<.001 ^a
	Alternative medicine provider	11 (28)	0 (0)	
	Government	7 (17)	8 (50)	
	Health care provider	4 (10)	6 (38)	
	insurance company	1 (2)	0 (0)	
	Media (news channel)	17 (43)	2 (12)	
Internet sources and social m	edia			.14 ^a
	Facebook	8 (20)	3 (19)	
	Scientific journal	0 (0)	1 (6)	
	Website	10 (25)	7 (44)	
	YouTube	22 (55)	5 (31)	
Content category				.13 ^a
	Both	5 (12)	0 (0)	
	Text	10 (25)	8 (50)	
	Video	25 (63)	8 (50)	

^aStatistical analysis with Fisher exact test.

Qualitative Results

All poor-quality contents were created between 2018 and 2021, with 5 contents having unspecified dates. Pseudonyms are used throughout this section to protect the identities of the content creators. Almost all content targeted members of the public;

one content was explicitly created for policymakers and 4 contents were created for the public and HCPs.

Most content creators were anonymous, making it impossible to authenticate their identities. The creators almost always claimed undue credibility, including a cannabis merchant who claimed to have "five PhDs" and had "graduated from a

university in the United States," a farmer who was self-proclaimed as a "doctor," or individuals who claimed to have had "cancer" that was cured by cannabis. The majority (21) of the poor-quality content portrayed a positive sentiment towards medical and general cannabis use. Seven contents had a neutral sentiment towards cannabis. Only 1 website created by the government superficially described the routes of administration of cannabis, with limited information regarding the contraindications and adverse effects of medical cannabis oil use (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Two main discourses were identified as follows: (1) advocacy for the normalization of cannabis use and (2) romanticization of cannabis as a panacea. The first discourse positions and normalizes cannabis as an everyday commodity for the public. In a YouTube video created by a university, a matter-of-fact detailed description of how to cultivate cannabis at home or in industrial-scale greenhouses is indicated by the following content:

...There are 3 ways to cultivate cannabis. First, you can grow them outdoors. This method requires a minimal budget since we will be dependent on the natural sunlight as well as the weather. The drawback is that the crop is highly seasonal. There are also issues around insects and locusts... [Excerpt from a Facebook post from the Institute of Agricultural Study, Weed University, which was linked to YouTube]

The university also provided extensive information regarding cannabis cultivation on its Facebook page and website, further normalizing cannabis use for the public. Content from news outlets also empowered this discourse, since they tended to provide updates regarding cannabis, such as the impact of cannabis legislation at the time, newly opened cannabis clinics nationwide, or places to access free cannabis.

Great news! After [date], the geriatric clinic at temple A will provide free cannabis for 10,000 older people. 4,000 have already been enrolled so there are only 6,000 slots left. The registration slot is open twice a day so you should go there in the afternoon since the officers said it is not so packed. You have to be older than 65 to be eligible and it [cannabis oil] can cure your vision, hearing, tremors too!...[cannabis] is also free! [Excerpt from "Cannabis clinic with new formula to be opened in 15 hospitals" on YouTube]

In the second discourse, all content creators used similar tones to persuade their target audiences, including the use of persuasive arguments with unsupported claims, obfuscations, or emotive statements. The content creators made claims to suit their underlying support for cannabis without providing appropriate evidence. For instance, one website claimed that cannabis oil can "completely cure 14 illnesses," ranging from nausea and hemorrhoids to Alzheimer disease:

... in terms of benefits of cannabis, abundant articles report various benefits of cannabis which includes [...] Curing of asthma. All anti-asthmatic drugs are bad and have limitations due to their side effects [to your body], unlike cannabis which helps dilate your

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55300
```

windpipe [...] [cannabis] cures Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease [...] reducing the size of your hemorrhoid, once applied topically. [Excerpt from a blog post from "14 benefits of cannabis. Extremely useful! What can cannabis cure?"]

The content creator, an anonymous administrator, provided evidence supporting the claims; however, the source of the claims was not clarified.

Even content created by academic institutions used similar techniques to persuade the public to use medical cannabis, as seen in a YouTube video titled "Cannabis root helps with joint pain."

...[cannabis root] can help with your joint pain so well. Like, we still have limited use in the country, but it has been widely used overseas, like, by Persian doctors, Polish and English. They used cannabis root to help with joint pain, gouts, burns, like, everything really. Mix it with butter, all [of its use is] recorded. You can just boil the root and either apply it on your skin or even ingest it... [these benefits] are all evidence-based by modern medicine! And, like, it is super safe since it is, like, not addictive at all. [Excerpt from "Cannabis root helps with joint pain" on YouTube]

The next section discusses the findings from both phases of the study.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The study results align with the existing literature, revealing a significant shift in public sentiment regarding cannabis views and the use of internet sources and social media platforms. Prior to 2019, public sentiment from internet sources and social media platforms over cannabis use in Thailand was positive overall, with no discussion around its potential harm [23]. However, after 2019, there was a growing positive sentiment from both the public and patients towards medical cannabis use [15,31].

Research indicates that the legalization of medical cannabis use is linked to a reduced perception of its related risks and an increase in the frequency of cannabis use for both medical and recreational purposes [32]. In the United States, with the majority of cannabis legalization-related research, Melchior et al [33] concluded that the presence of medical cannabis-related laws and policies neither affects the first recreational use nor is correlated with reduced cannabis use, particularly among people younger than 25 years. However, the cannabis use frequency has increased among adults (aged at least 26 y) following its medical legalization [32,34]. Given that medical cannabis-related policies are nonhomogenous and subject to change, analyses that overlook heterogeneity in the key elements of these policies may inaccurately represent their effects on both recreational and medical cannabis use [34].

Furthermore, the legalization of medical cannabis use may reduce its associated stigma, thereby enhancing its acceptance and normalization among adults [35]. Additionally, the

Peerawong et al

JMIR CANCER

liberalization of cannabis-related laws has created new opportunities for individuals and businesses to promote their products, leading to a proliferation of advertisement and marketing efforts for cannabis-containing products, especially on the internet. This surge may be associated with increased cannabis use [36,37].

In Thailand, breast cancer survivors now have much greater access to various sources of cannabis-related information on internet sources and social media platforms. Notably, there has been a trend of survivors requesting more medical cannabis prescriptions over the years, despite a limited understanding of its potential adverse effects on their treatment [15].

This trend reflects a broader societal shift where individuals, including breast cancer survivors, increasingly rely on internet sources and social media platforms for health information [19,22,23,38]. The advantage of this information source is that the user has direct information access without geographical restrictions [38]. However, it is crucial to consider the quality and reliability of the health-related information available on internet. The lack of integration of information between mainstream health care and medical cannabis use may lead to adverse situations, particularly compounded by the often limited knowledge of cannabis use among both HCPs and medical cannabis users [39]. Moreover, web-based sources may vary in the quality of information provided, with some disseminating inaccurate or misleading information regarding medical cannabis use, a common pitfall associated with web-based health information [38].

As confirmed by the quantitative analysis, content creators are pivotal elements that can enable patients to accurately evaluate the veracity of web-based health information. This study identified an inverse relationship between the tonality of the content and its corresponding QUEST score, which is similar between medical cannabis use and glaucoma treatment [40]. That is, the content created by HCPs typically advises against the use of medical cannabis for glaucoma, which has superior quality over those created by non-HCPs. Jia et al [40] quantitatively analyzed the content quality and characteristics of popular internet search results related to glaucoma and medical cannabis use. The Sandvik score was used to quantitatively evaluate the content quality included in their study. This differs from our study because QUEST has been validated as an exclusive tool for mitigating web-based misinformation, demonstrating a significant positive correlation with the Sanvik scale. The QUEST incorporates additional evaluation criteria, including content tone, potential conflicts of interest, and extent of complementary information provided, thereby rendering the analysis more robust [26].

Our qualitative analysis generated 2 interrelated concerning discourses that underpin the poor-quality content accessed by breast cancer survivors. These 2 discourses validate, normalize, and somewhat romanticize the prevailing public perception of medical cannabis before its legalization in 2019 [14,23]. The first discourse tended to objectively update the public with information regarding cannabis use and cultivation in Thailand; nevertheless, it posed issues of concern as it did not discuss the potential adverse effects of cannabis. Instead, the first discourse

XSL•FO

implied that cannabis use should be normalized postlegislation, and its cultivation should be further encouraged.

This encouragement was compounded by the second discourse. The content creators used several persuasive techniques and false information to present cannabis as a "panacea" that cures or alleviates symptoms of various diseases, thereby downplaying its potential risks and side effects and contradicting its actual medical indications, such as intractable chronic pain, nausea, and vomiting [5]. Cannabis use is commonly perceived in internet sources and social media platforms as the last resort when modern medicine has failed in patient treatment or symptom alleviation [19,41]; nonetheless, this discourse repositions cannabis as the preferred therapy and is held in high esteem by all poor-quality content creators. This is alarming given these content creators claim to be "experts" in issues pertaining to cannabis and make false assertions without evidence.

This raises concerns about the potential impact of such narratives in shaping societal attitudes, particularly as they gain traction through their reproduction on internet sources and social media platforms. However, the quality and credibility of the information disseminated through these channels exacerbate this concern.

The influence of these discourses on fostering a more accepting stance towards medical cannabis use in the public is disconcerting, particularly because of the lack of discussion on the potential adverse effects of cannabis on cancer treatment. This information gap poses a considerable risk, as patients with breast cancer and the general public can access content created by anyone on the internet. While this accessibility empowers individuals, it also introduces the possibility that people may accidentally hurt themselves through uninformed cannabis use. Safeguarding the well-being of those seeking guidance and insight requires addressing this misinformation and ensuring that individuals are equipped with the knowledge needed to make informed decisions regarding cannabis use [36,42], particularly in the context of cancer treatment.

In Thailand, individuals who create and share such content face no legal repercussions because cannabis use is legal for medical and recreational purposes [16]. Findings from this study suggest that the Thai Government needs to address the varying cannabis-related content on the internet. This could be achieved by implementing stricter advertising and marketing policies for cannabis promoted through web-based sources and social media platforms or establishing mechanisms for accountability [37]. This approach could help protect the public and those living with breast cancer who may be more influenced by misleading or inaccurate information about cannabis products.

To our knowledge, this is the first mixed method study to analyze the quality of cannabis-related internet sources and social media content in Thailand. Although not all the findings are generalizable, certain aspects could be transferred to other contexts [43]. Specifically, we discussed the varying quality of medical cannabis-related internet content that requires mitigation and the need to regulate such content, which are more applicable to this field of study.

Peerawong et al

JMIR CANCER

The integrated results from both study phases provide more contextual insights into the medical cannabis–related contents shared over the internet, and the underlying postlegislation discourses in Thailand. To this end, our interdisciplinary team members, including one person with lived experiences, offer a more comprehensive understanding and insight.

Moreover, this is the first study in Thailand to include people with lived experiences of breast cancer as research partners throughout the project. Preliminary results from this study have been shared with the breast cancer support group via short lay summaries and group representatives.

Future Implications

One way to tackle the internet flood of biased information on cannabis is to promote health literacy. Health literacy refers to "the personal characteristics and social resources needed for individuals and communities to access, understand, appraise, and use information and services to make decisions about health" [44]. Health literacy has a direct correlation with better health outcomes and health-seeking information behavior [45,46]; hence, it should be promoted. However, approximately half of the Global Southern population, including the Thai population, have inadequate health literacy levels. Low health literacy levels are more prevalent among people from rural areas and those with low educational levels [45]. This highlights the importance of addressing health literacy divides, particularly in regions with limited access to health care resources and educational opportunities.

Another relevant aspect to consider is the notion of electronic health literacy, which is particularly significant in today's society where individuals have easy access to vast amounts of information via the internet [47-49]. Therefore, it is imperative to promote public health literacy and digital health literacy to ensure that people, including patients with breast cancer, can critically evaluate the quality and validity of any content they access [50]. This can be achieved through several strategies, such as addressing the unmet needs of patients with breast cancer or developing easily accessible and user-friendly educational materials [50,51]. These recommendations are equally applicable to medical cannabis–related content.

As revealed by this study and supported by existing literature, there is a notable scarcity of validated educational resources on medical cannabis [52]. This deficiency poses a challenge as HCPs may lack the necessary knowledge to offer well-informed advice to their patients. Conversely, patients driven by a growing interest in medical cannabis use may resort to unvalidated sources, exposing themselves to inaccurate information. To mitigate this, the government should establish a dedicated task force that would prioritize the development of validated educational resources for both HCPs and the public. Future research should also focus on benchmarking and validating cannabis-related content for HCPs and end users.

In Thai contexts, most patients still rely on HCPs for health-related information [45,46]. Therefore, it may be beneficial to begin with educational resources specifically tailored to HCPs. This strategic approach recognizes the pivotal role that HCPs play in disseminating accurate information and ensures that they are well-equipped with the necessary knowledge about medical cannabis.

It is noteworthy to further explore the unmet needs and expectations of patients that drive them to seek out additional information from the internet. This could be explored using qualitative research designs, which would allow for a deeper understanding of patient's needs and expectations, thereby improving the ability of HCPs to meet their informational needs more effectively.

Finally, although the study predominantly focused on identifying "poor-quality" content, it may lack an in-depth exploration of sources or characteristics associated with high-quality content. This limits a comprehensive understanding of the factors contributing to reliable medical cannabis–related information. Therefore, "high-quality" content should be further explored in the future.

Limitations

This study has some limitations. First, the analyzed contents were exclusively obtained from a single group of women living with breast cancer. The contents may not fully represent all publicly available cannabis-related content in Thailand. However, the results offer valuable insights into the current state of publicly available information on cannabis in the country. Future studies should explore a broader range of cannabis-related sources available to the public, as well as patients, to provide a fuller picture of the situation. Additionally, future research should encompass a more diverse range of sources and larger sample sizes to ensure a more comprehensive analysis of cannabis-related content.

Second, the study faced challenges in determining content quality due to accessibility issues. Some experts could not access certain content pages (n=6), albeit the reasons for these difficulties were not documented by participants from Chom-rom-nom-yen. This barrier potentially compromised the thoroughness of our evaluation, raising concerns regarding the accuracy and completeness of our content quality analysis. This emphasizes the critical need to ensure that all pertinent contents are readily accessible to researchers and experts for effective and comprehensive evaluation.

In the qualitative analytical phase, the study specifically focused on Thai cannabis-related content shared on internet sources and social media platforms. Therefore, the results may not be fully generalizable to other populations with different cultural backgrounds, health care systems, or attitudes towards cannabis. This study primarily analyzed content quality based on the creator's identity. However, it may have overlooked other factors, such as audience engagement, context, and evolving social media trends, which could have influenced the perception of content quality. The categorization of contents as "high" or "poor" may have been subjective and influenced by the perspectives of the project members. Different individuals or groups may have varying opinions on what constitutes reliable and accurate information regarding medical cannabis. Furthermore, internet sources and social media content are highly dynamic, and this study may not have captured the evolving nature of information over time.

Conclusions

This study highlights the varying quality of medical cannabis-related information accessed and shared on internet sources and social media platforms among Thai breast cancer

survivors. Given that content creators are the primary predictors of high content quality, future studies should explore a broader range of cannabis-related sources available to the public and patients for a more comprehensive understanding of the situation.

Acknowledgments

We express gratitude to the members of Chom-rom-nom-yen for their generous contributions to this study. Their goodwill and active engagement have been pivotal to the success of our research. Additionally, we extend our heartfelt thanks to Dr Pitchaya Thongkhao, Dr Nat Boonsasomsub, and Dr Porraphan Wannakul for their content quality evaluations. This study did not receive specific funding from any agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Authors' Contributions

Conceptualization was led by T Peerawong, with contributions from SS and PS. Methodology was developed by T Peerawong and T Phenwan. Validation efforts were equally shared between T Peerawong and T Phenwan. Formal analysis was conducted by T Peerawong and T Phenwan. Investigation was carried out by PS and SS. Resources were provided by PS and NS. Data curation was handled by T Peerawong. T Phenwan took the lead in writing the original draft, with contributions from T Peerawong. Review and editing of the manuscript were conducted by T Phenwan, T Peerawong, SS, MM, and PP. Visualization was prepared by T Peerawong, and project administration was managed by T Peerawong.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Bad content characteristics and identified discourses. [DOCX File, 22 KB - cancer v10i1e55300 app1.docx]

References

- 1. Bray F, Laversanne M, Sung H, et al. Global cancer statistics 2022: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2024 May;74(3):229-263. [doi: <u>10.3322/caac.21834</u>]
- 2. Cancer tomorrow. International Agency for Research on Cancer. 2024. URL: <u>https://gco.iarc.who.int/tomorrow</u> [accessed 2024-12-20]
- 3. Tepper JE, Foote RL, Michalski J. Gunderson & Tepper's Clinical Radiation Oncology, 5th edition: Elsevier; 2020.
- 4. Sasaki Y, Cheon C, Motoo Y, et al. Complementary and alternative medicine for breast cancer patients: an overview of systematic reviews. Yakugaku Zasshi 2019;139(7):1027-1046. [doi: <u>10.1248/yakushi.18-00215</u>] [Medline: <u>31257250</u>]
- 5. Abrams DI. Cannabis, cannabinoids and cannabis-based medicines in cancer care. Integr Cancer Ther 2022;21:15347354221081772. [doi: 10.1177/15347354221081772] [Medline: 35225051]
- Cooper ZD, Abrams DI, Gust S, Salicrup A, Throckmorton DC. Challenges for clinical cannabis and cannabinoid research in the United States. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2021 Nov 28;2021(58):114-122. [doi: <u>10.1093/jncimonographs/lgab009</u>] [Medline: <u>34850896</u>]
- 7. Lal S, Shekher A, Narula AS, Abrahamse H, Gupta SC. Cannabis and its constituents for cancer: history, biogenesis, chemistry and pharmacological activities. Pharmacol Res 2021 Jan;163:105302. [doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2020.105302]
- 8. Chong WWY, Acar ZI, West ML, Wong F. A scoping review on the medical and recreational use of cannabis during the COVID-19 pandemic. Cannabis Cannabinoid Res 2022 Oct;7(5):591-602. [doi: 10.1089/can.2021.0054] [Medline: 34981958]
- Jugl S, Okpeku A, Costales B, et al. A mapping literature review of medical cannabis clinical outcomes and quality of evidence in approved conditions in the USA from 2016 to 2019. Med Cannabis Cannabinoids 2021 Jun;4(1):21-42. [doi: 10.1159/000515069] [Medline: <u>34676348</u>]
- Liang AL, Gingher EL, Coleman JS. Medical cannabis for gynecologic pain conditions: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol 2022 Feb 1;139(2):287-296. [doi: <u>10.1097/AOG.00000000004656</u>] [Medline: <u>35104069</u>]
- Shoshan S, Solt I. Medical cannabis for gynecologic pain conditions: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol 2022 May 1;139(5):937-938. [doi: <u>10.1097/AOG.00000000004777</u>] [Medline: <u>35576357</u>]
- Vinette B, Côté J, El-Akhras A, Mrad H, Chicoine G, Bilodeau K. Routes of administration, reasons for use, and approved indications of medical cannabis in oncology: a scoping review. BMC Cancer 2022 Mar 24;22(1):319. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12885-022-09378-7</u>] [Medline: <u>35331185</u>]
- Zinboonyahgoon N, Srisuma S, Limsawart W, Rice ASC, Suthisisang C. Medicinal cannabis in Thailand: 1-year experience after legalization. Pain 2021 Jul 1;162(Suppl 1):S105-S109. [doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001936] [Medline: 33009244]

RenderX

- Kalayasiri R, Boonthae S. Trends of cannabis use and related harms before and after legalization for recreational purpose in a developing country in Asia. BMC Public Health 2023 May 19;23(1):911. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12889-023-15883-6</u>] [Medline: <u>37208663</u>]
- Sukrueangkul A, Sirisuwan P, Sanguankittiphan P, et al. Factors associated with demand for medical cannabis use among breast cancer patients in Northern Thailand: a cross-sectional study. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2023;24:1351-1357. [doi: 10.31557/APJCP.2022.23.4.1309]
- 16. Assanangkornchai S, Thaikla K, Talek M, Saingam D. Medical cannabis use in Thailand after its legalization: a respondent-driven sample survey. PeerJ 2022;10(10):e12809. [doi: <u>10.7717/peerj.12809</u>] [Medline: <u>35047242</u>]
- Parihar V, Rogers A, Blain AM, Zacharias SRK, Patterson LL, Siyam MAM. Reduction in tamoxifen metabolites endoxifen and N-desmethyltamoxifen with chronic administration of low dose cannabidiol: a CYP3A4 and CYP2D6 drug interaction. J Pharm Pract 2022 Apr;35(2):322-326. [doi: 10.1177/0897190020972208] [Medline: 33191836]
- 18. Schoeman R, de la Harpe A, Beukes N, Frost CL. Cannabis with breast cancer treatment: propitious or pernicious? 3 Biotech 2022 Feb;12(2):54. [doi: 10.1007/s13205-021-03102-1]
- 19. Khademi S, Hallinan CM, Conway M, Bonomo Y. Using social media data to investigate public perceptions of cannabis as a medicine: narrative review. J Med Internet Res 2023 Feb 27;25:e36667. [doi: 10.2196/36667] [Medline: 36848191]
- 20. Cavazos-Rehg PA, Krauss MJ, Sowles SJ, Murphy GM, Bierut LJ. Exposure to and content of marijuana product reviews. Prev Sci 2018 Feb;19(2):127-137. [doi: 10.1007/s11121-017-0818-9] [Medline: 28681195]
- Krauss MJ, Sowles SJ, Stelzer-Monahan HE, Bierut T, Cavazos-Rehg PA. "It Takes Longer, but When It Hits You It Hits You!": videos about marijuana edibles on YouTube. Subst Use Misuse 2017 May 12;52(6):709-716. [doi: 10.1080/10826084.2016.1253749] [Medline: 28145799]
- 22. Yang Q, Sangalang A, Rooney M, Maloney E, Emery S, Cappella JN. How is marijuana vaping portrayed on YouTube? content, features, popularity and retransmission of vaping marijuana YouTube videos. J Health Commun 2018;23(4):360-369. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2018.1448488] [Medline: 29533139]
- Thaikla K, Pinyopornpanish K, Jiraporncharoen W, Angkurawaranon C. Cannabis and Kratom online information in Thailand: Facebook trends 2015-2016. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy 2018 May 9;13(1):15. [doi: 10.1186/s13011-018-0155-4] [Medline: 29743100]
- 24. Jackson T, Pinnock H, Liew SM, et al. Patient and public involvement in research: from tokenistic box ticking to valued team members. BMC Med 2020 Apr 13;18(1):79. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12916-020-01544-7</u>] [Medline: <u>32279658</u>]
- 25. Internet Research: Ethical Guidelines 3.0. Association of Internet Researchers. 2019. URL: <u>https://aoir.org/reports/ethics3.</u> pdf [accessed 2024-12-20]
- 26. Robillard JM, Jun JH, Lai JA, Feng TL. The QUEST for quality online health information: validation of a short quantitative tool. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2018 Oct 19;18(1):87. [doi: 10.1186/s12911-018-0668-9] [Medline: 30340488]
- 27. Azer SA. Are DISCERN and JAMA suitable instruments for assessing YouTube videos on thyroid cancer? methodological concerns. J Cancer Educ 2020 Dec;35(6):1267-1277. [doi: 10.1007/s13187-020-01763-9] [Medline: 32472374]
- Schisterman EF, Perkins NJ, Liu A, Bondell H. Optimal cut-point and its corresponding Youden Index to discriminate individuals using pooled blood samples. Epidemiology 2005 Jan;16(1):73-81. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.ede.0000147512.81966.ba</u>] [Medline: <u>15613948</u>]
- 29. Fairclough N. Critical discourse analysis and critical policy studies. Crit Pol Stud 2013 Jul;7(2):177-197. [doi: 10.1080/19460171.2013.798239]
- 30. Kamkaen N, Treesak C. Medical cannabis for cancer. Cancer J Chulabhorn Royal Acad 2019;1:16-29.
- Sukrueangkul A, Phimha S, Panomai N, Laohasiriwong W, Sakphisutthikul C. Attitudes and beliefs of cancer patients demanding medical cannabis use in North Thailand. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2022 Apr 1;23(4):1309-1314. [doi: 10.31557/APJCP.2022.23.4.1309] [Medline: <u>35485690</u>]
- Cerdá M, Wall M, Keyes KM, Galea S, Hasin D. Medical marijuana laws in 50 states: investigating the relationship between state legalization of medical marijuana and marijuana use, abuse and dependence. Drug Alcohol Depend 2012 Jan 1;120(1-3):22-27. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2011.06.011</u>] [Medline: <u>22099393</u>]
- Melchior M, Nakamura A, Bolze C, et al. Does liberalisation of cannabis policy influence levels of use in adolescents and young adults? a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open 2019 Jul 10;9(7):e025880. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025880] [Medline: 31296507]
- 34. Pacula RL, Powell D, Heaton P, Sevigny EL. Assessing the effects of medical marijuana laws on marijuana use: the devil is in the details. J Policy Anal Manage 2015;34(1):7-31. [doi: <u>10.1002/pam.21804</u>] [Medline: <u>25558490</u>]
- 35. Skliamis K, Benschop A, Korf DJ. Cannabis users and stigma: a comparison of users from European countries with different cannabis policies. Eur J Crim 2022 Nov;19(6):1483-1500. [doi: 10.1177/1477370820983560]
- 36. Berg CJ, LoParco CR, Cui Y, et al. A review of social media platform policies that address cannabis promotion, marketing and sales. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy 2023 Jun 19;18(1):35. [doi: <u>10.1186/s13011-023-00546-x</u>] [Medline: <u>37337216</u>]
- 37. Whitehill JM, Trangenstein PJ, Jenkins MC, Jernigan DH, Moreno MA. Exposure to cannabis marketing in social and traditional media and past-year use among adolescents in states with legal retail cannabis. J Adolesc Health 2020 Feb;66(2):247-254. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2019.08.024] [Medline: <u>31708374</u>]



- 38. Jafar Z, Quick JD, Larson HJ, et al. Social media for public health: reaping the benefits, mitigating the harms. Health Promot Perspect 2023;13(2):105-112. [doi: 10.34172/hpp.2023.13] [Medline: <u>37600540</u>]
- Kruger DJ, Moffet IM, Seluk LC, Zammit LA. A content analysis of internet information sources on medical cannabis. J Cannabis Res 2020 Sep 18;2(1):29. [doi: <u>10.1186/s42238-020-00041-1</u>] [Medline: <u>33526127</u>]
- 40. Jia JS, Mehran N, Purgert R, et al. Marijuana and glaucoma: a social media content analysis. Ophthalmol Glaucoma 2021;4(4):400-404. [doi: 10.1016/j.ogla.2020.11.004] [Medline: 33242684]
- 41. Deng S, Slutskiy P, Boonchutima S. The Chinese media narrative of Thailand as a tourist destination after the legalisation of cannabis. Heliyon 2023 Apr;9(4):e15478. [doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e15478] [Medline: 37128329]
- 42. Shi S, Brant AR, Sabolch A, Pollom E. False news of a cannabis cancer cure. Cureus 2019 Jan 19;11(1):e3918. [doi: 10.7759/cureus.3918] [Medline: 30931189]
- 43. Smith B. Generalizability in qualitative research: misunderstandings, opportunities and recommendations for the sport and exercise sciences. Qual Res Sport Exerc Health 2018 Jan;10(1):137-149. [doi: <u>10.1080/2159676X.2017.1393221</u>]
- 44. Health Literacy Toolkit for Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Series of Information Sheets to Empower Communities and Strengthen Health Systems: World Health Organization; 2015.
- Buawangpong N, Sirikul W, Anukhro C, Seesen M, La-Up A, Siviroj P. Health Information sources influencing health literacy in different social contexts across age groups in Northern Thailand citizens. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022 May 16;19(10):6051. [doi: <u>10.3390/ijerph19106051</u>] [Medline: <u>35627585</u>]
- 46. Khampang R, Kloyiam S, Butchon R. Relationship between socioeconomic, demographic, health and social characteristics and ability to access reliable information on herbal and food supplements: analysis of Thai Health Literacy Survey 2019. BMC Public Health 2022 May 26;22(1):1054. [doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-13454-9] [Medline: 35619106]
- 47. Intarakamhang U, Khammungkul J, Boocha P. General health literacy scale for Thais and comparison between age groups. Heliyon 2022 May;8(5):e09462. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e09462</u>] [Medline: <u>35620621</u>]
- 48. Kachentawa K. The development of e-health literacy indicators for older Thai adults in adjusting to live with the new normal lifestyle. J Behav Sci 2023;18:49-64 [FREE Full text]
- 49. Rojanasumapong A, Jiraporncharoen W, Nantsupawat N, Gilder ME, Angkurawaranon C, Pinyopornpanish K. Internet use, electronic health literacy, and hypertension control among the elderly at an urban primary care center in Thailand: a cross-sectional study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Sep 11;18(18):9574. [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18189574] [Medline: 34574499]
- 50. Zhang Y, Xu P, Sun Q, Baral S, Xi L, Wang D. Factors influencing the e-health literacy in cancer patients: a systematic review. J Cancer Surviv 2023 Apr;17(2):425-440. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-022-01260-6] [Medline: 36190672]
- Hasannejadasl H, Roumen C, Smit Y, Dekker A, Fijten R. Health literacy and eHealth: challenges and strategies. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2022 Sep;6(6):e2200005. [doi: 10.1200/CCI.22.00005] [Medline: 36194843]
- 52. Zolotov Y, Metri S, Calabria E, Kogan M. Medical cannabis education among healthcare trainees: a scoping review. Complement Ther Med 2021 May;58:102675. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ctim.2021.102675</u>] [Medline: <u>33539943</u>]

Abbreviations

HCP: health care professional JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association QUEST: Quality Evaluation Scoring Tool

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 08.12.23; peer-reviewed by J Jia, W Tawanwongsri; revised version received 25.10.24; accepted 27.10.24; published 24.12.24.

Please cite as:

Peerawong T, Phenwan T, Makita M, Supanichwatana S, Puttarak P, Siammai N, Sunthorn P Evaluating Online Cannabis Health Information for Thai Breast Cancer Survivors Using the Quality Evaluation Scoring Tool (QUEST): Mixed Method Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e55300 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55300 doi:10.2196/55300

© Thanarpan Peerawong, Tharin Phenwan, Meiko Makita, Sojirat Supanichwatana, Panupong Puttarak, Naowanit Siammai, Prakaidao Sunthorn. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 24.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer,

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55300

RenderX

is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Comparison of the Real-World Reporting of Symptoms and Well-Being for the HER2-Directed Trastuzumab Biosimilar Ogivri With Registry Data for Herceptin in the Treatment of Breast Cancer: Prospective Observational Study (OGIPRO) of Electronic Patient-Reported Outcomes

Andreas Trojan^{1,2}, MD; Sven Roth³, BSc; Ziad Atassi², MD; Michael Kiessling², MD, PhD; Reinhard Zenhaeusern⁴, MD; Yannick Kadvany⁵, MA; Johannes Schumacher⁶, PhD; Gerd A Kullak-Ublick¹, Prof Dr Med; Matti Aapro⁷, MD; Alexandru Eniu⁸, MD

¹Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology, University Hospital Zurich, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

²BrustZentrum Zürichsee, Horgen, Switzerland

⁴Onkologie, Spital Oberwallis, Brig, Switzerland

- ⁵Mobile Health AG, Zurich, Switzerland
- ⁶Palleos Healthcare, Wiesbaden, Germany

⁷Cancer Center, Clinique de Genolier, Genolier, Switzerland

⁸Hôpital Riviera-Chablais, Rennaz, Switzerland

Corresponding Author:

Andreas Trojan, MD Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology University Hospital Zurich University of Zurich Rämistrasse 100 Zurich, 8091 Switzerland Phone: 41 76 34 30 200 Email: trojan@1st.ch

Abstract

Background: Trastuzumab has had a major impact on the treatment of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2)-positive breast cancer (BC). Anti-HER2 biosimilars such as Ogivri have demonstrated safety and clinical equivalence to trastuzumab (using Herceptin as the reference product) in clinical trials. To our knowledge, there has been no real-world report of the side effects and quality of life (QoL) in patients treated with biosimilars using electronic patient-reported outcomes (ePROs).

Objective: The primary objective of this prospective observational study (OGIPRO study) was to compare the ePRO data related to treatment side effects collected with the medidux app in patients with HER2-positive BC treated with the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri (prospective cohort) to those obtained from historical cohorts treated with Herceptin alone or combined with pertuzumab and/or chemotherapy (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02004496 and NCT03578731).

Methods: Patients were treated with Ogivri alone or combined with pertuzumab and/or chemotherapy and hormone therapy in (neo)adjuvant and palliative settings. Patients used the medidux app to dynamically record symptoms (according to the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events [CTCAE]), well-being (according to the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status scale), QoL (using the EQ-5D-5L questionnaire), cognitive capabilities, and vital parameters over 6 weeks. The primary endpoint was the mean CTCAE score. Key secondary endpoints included the mean well-being score. Data of this prospective cohort were compared with those of the historical cohorts (n=38 patients; median age 51, range 31-78 years).

Results: Overall, 53 female patients with a median age of 54 years (range 31-87 years) were enrolled in the OGIPRO study. The mean CTCAE score was analyzed in 50 patients with available data on symptoms, while the mean well-being score was evaluated in 52 patients with available data. The most common symptoms reported in both cohorts included fatigue, taste disorder,

RenderX

³Faculty of Medicine, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

nausea, diarrhea, dry mucosa, joint discomfort, tingling, sleep disorder, headache, and appetite loss. Most patients experienced minimal (grade 0) or mild (grade 1) toxicities in both cohorts. The mean CTCAE score was comparable between the prospective and historical cohorts (29.0 and 30.3, respectively; mean difference -1.27, 95% CI -7.24 to 4.70; P=.68). Similarly, no significant difference was found for the mean well-being score between the groups treated with the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri and Herceptin (74.3 and 69.8, respectively; mean difference 4.45, 95% CI -3.53 to 12.44; P=.28).

Conclusions: Treatment of patients with HER2-positive BC with the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri resulted in equivalent symptoms, adverse events, and well-being as found for patients treated with Herceptin as determined by ePRO data. Hence, integration of an ePRO system into research and clinical practice can provide reliable information when investigating the real-world tolerability and outcomes of similar therapeutic compounds.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT05234021; https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT05234021

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e54178) doi:10.2196/54178

KEYWORDS

breast cancer; biosimilar; trastuzumab; electronic patient-reported outcome; ePRO; medidux; app

Introduction

Biosimilars and reference biologics play a key role in the treatment of cancer and account for approximately 70% of the growth in costs of drugs from 2010 to 2015 [1]. Therefore, pricing is an important challenge for the medical society and biosimilars offer an attractive option for a value-based care environment with cost-saving potential [2].

Trastuzumab (Herceptin), a human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) antibody, has had a major impact on the treatment of patients with HER2-positive breast cancer (BC) worldwide, which now has indications for the treatment of small tumors in both (neo)adjuvant and palliative settings [3,4]. This provides a good opportunity to compare the efficacy and safety of trastuzumab biosimilars to those of trastuzumab in clinical trials. For several anti-HER2 biosimilars, safety and clinical equivalence to the reference product have been demonstrated [2,5]. In a randomized, parallel-group phase 3 equivalence study of patients with HER2-positive metastatic BC, Rugo et al [6] demonstrated equivalent efficacy and similar safety profiles between the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri (MYL-1401O) and trastuzumab (Herceptin) [6].

The enhanced assessment of electronic patient-reported outcomes (ePROs) in clinical routine and cancer trials is of growing interest [7-9]. Several studies indicate that the proactive use of PROs can identify otherwise undetected symptoms and improve symptom management for patients with various types of cancer [9] as well as offer improvements in well-being and awareness of adverse events (AEs) between outpatient visits. Using a mobile app, especially in collaboration with the treating physician, might improve clinical care in patients with early or advanced disease [10-13]. In addition, the benefits of digital patient monitoring have been demonstrated during immune and targeted cancer therapies in terms of more efficient symptom assessment and patient-physician communication as well as a reduced need for telephone consultations [14].

Medidux is an interactive patient empowerment app that enables physicians, especially oncologists, to monitor the progression of well-being and symptoms of patients undergoing cancer treatment. Based on the documented symptom progression, the software notifies patients to contact the treatment team if

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54178
```

symptoms defined according to the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) standards are outside the acceptable range. More than 110 available symptoms and severity classifications (according to the CTCAE), as well as high numbers of standardized symptom reports from patients, contribute to the collection of high-quality ePRO data for the timely management of treatment-related AEs and toxicities and their communication to treatment teams [11,13]. Thus, the medidux smartphone app is helpful to stabilize daily functional activities and leads to more frequent reporting of AEs and more precise entries regarding symptoms [11]. The continuous measurement of ePROs enables structured and standardized data recording of patients' daily health state.

An increased level of concordance (κ =0.68) for common symptoms, including pain, fever, diarrhea, constipation, nausea, vomiting, and stomatitis, between the patient and treating physician was recently demonstrated for the medidux platform [13].

However, to the best of our knowledge, no real-world observation of side effects, tolerability, and quality of life (QoL) has been performed using ePRO data collected from patients treated with anti-HER2 biosimilars. Thus, the aim of this observational study was to investigate real-word data on daily functional activity, symptoms, and therapy side effects recorded with the medidux smartphone app in patients undergoing Ogivri antibody therapy. In addition, historical ePRO data of 38 patients with HER2-positive BC treated with Herceptin from two previous studies [7,13] were used for comparative analysis.

Methods

Study Design

OGIPRO was a noninterventional, multicenter, prospective, observational study conducted at 5 study sites in Switzerland over a duration of 20 months.

Patients 18 years and older with a histologically or cytologically proven diagnosis of HER2-positive primary, locally advanced, or metastatic BC were eligible to participate after providing written informed consent. In addition, patients had to own a personal iOS or Android smartphone.

Eligible patients received anti-HER2 treatment containing the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri (initial dose of 8 mg/kg body weight [BW] intravenously, followed by 6 mg/kg BW) with or without pertuzumab and/or chemotherapy and hormone therapy in (neo)adjuvant and palliative settings. At the beginning of the study, patients were provided with the medidux app and were prompted to record their symptoms, well-being, EQ-5D-5L questionnaires, cognitive capabilities, and vital parameters every day. Patients underwent 3 regular study visits scheduled on days 1, 21, and 42 during their 3 weekly chemotherapeutic interventions. All anticancer treatments used in this study were approved drugs, and the therapy was compliant with national treatment guidelines.

The observational period for each patient was 6 weeks. At the end of the observational period, patients decided whether to continue their therapy with the biosimilar Ogivri or with the reference substance Herceptin.

After the study observational period, prospectively collected data of patients treated with Ogivri (prospective cohort) were compared to historical ePRO data of patients treated with Herceptin (historical cohort) in two previous studies: a prospective randomized controlled trial (PRO1 study; ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02004496) of 139 patients with early stage BC who underwent chemotherapy [7] and an observational noninterventional trial (Consilium1 study; ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03578731) of patients with breast, colon, prostate, or lung cancer undergoing cancer treatment [13]. In both studies, patients were encouraged to document data on well-being and standardized symptoms using earlier versions of the medidux app during the course of their therapies. More than 5000 continuously measured data entries from 38 patients overall (14 from Consilium1 and 24 from PRO1) were available for the comparative analysis [7,13]. The historical ePRO data were recorded in the same manner using the earlier versions of the mobile app [11] and were therefore comparable to the prospective ePRO data.

Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the Swiss Institutional Review Board (KEK-ZH: 2021-D0051) and was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki (current version). The study was also registered on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT05234021). All patients in the prospective and historical cohorts provided written informed consent prior to enrollment and were informed that participation in the study is voluntary and can be revoked at any time. All study documents were deidentified by assigning a unique ID to each patient. Functional data security was ensured by identification only made possible via the patient's ID. The data on the patients' devices were encapsulated in the app and the data exchange was encrypted with the patient's ID. There was no compensation provided to participants.

Objectives

Primary Objective

The primary objective of the study was to evaluate ePRO data reported in the medidux app by patients with HER2-positive BC treated with the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri with respect

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54178
```

to their treatment side effects and to compare these data with ePRO data obtained from a historical cohort of 38 patients treated with Herceptin in two previous studies (NCT02004496, NCT03578731) [7,11,13]. No difference was expected for the CTCAE score between the two cohorts. The aims of the study were therefore to confirm that the average CTCAE scores were similar in both cohorts and that the recording of side effects with the app was reliable.

Secondary Objectives

Secondary objectives included well-being in both cohorts as well as electronically reported symptoms with respect to the therapy regimen and demographic characteristics only in the prospective cohort.

Mobile App

The medidux app (version 3.2) used in the study is a patient-centered, therapy-accompanying app that supports the structured, standardized, and dynamic documentation of symptoms and therapy side effects. Use of this tool does not represent an invasive intervention on the patient and consequently did not pose any specific risks of physical injury.

Data Collection

The app has two basic components: (1) a browser-based app for the treatment team (web app) and (2) a mobile app for cancer patients. There was no need for 24-hour monitoring by medical staff in connection with use of the app.

The medidux app for patients enabled recording symptoms, vital signs, and well-being in a structured and standardized manner. Patients were encouraged to regularly enter data on symptoms according to the CTCAE (version 4.0), general well-being according to the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status (ECOG PS), EQ-5D-5L questionnaire (weekly), vital signs (weight, blood glucose, blood pressure, and pulse), and optionally a neuropsychological cognitive test (Trail Making Test [TMT]), concomitant medications, and private notes. Patients were asked daily about their general well-being and symptoms using a visual analog scale. Recording usually started on the day of therapy initiation (or the change in therapy) and continued through an observational period of 6 weeks. The frequency of app use and data entry was logged throughout the course of the study treatment, which served as an indicator of patients' active participation in the study and as a relevant process parameter for evaluating the usability of the app itself.

The mobile app also recommended contacting the investigator or treatment site in case of high intensity of symptoms (ie, treatment side effects). Furthermore, the app provided patients with self-efficacious recommendations and tips on how to treat and reduce treatment side effects.

Recording of AEs

AEs in the app were classified according to the CTCAE (version 4.0). For the app, grade 5 "Death related to AE" had been removed. Instead, category 0 was added, representing no or very mild symptoms. The 5 severity levels were translated into a visual analog scale from 0.1 to 10, with 0.1 representing the weakest possible symptom and 10 representing the strongest

possible symptom. Scores 0.1-2.0 corresponded to grade 0, scores 2.1-4.0 corresponded to grade 1, scores 4.1-6 corresponded to grade 2, scores 6.1-8 corresponded to grade 3, and scores 8.1-10 corresponded to grade 4 AEs. When patients selected a score between 0.1 and 10, they received a summary and information for the selected range, which was displayed in the app. Classification into adapted grades based on the CTCAE resulted in the following categories: minimal symptoms (0), mild symptoms (1), moderate symptoms (2), severe symptoms (3), and very severe symptoms (4).

Well-Being Assessment

Self-assessment of well-being was carried out in the medidux app with the help of a slider on a visual analog scale that allows for the continuous selection from 0 to 100. At the same time, short definitions appear for the standardized and structured reporting of the gradings, which should help the patient to correctly categorize their well-being. Selected values between 81 and 100 correspond to an ECOG PS of 0, values of 61-80 correspond to ECOG PS 1, values of 41-60 correspond to ECOG PS 2, values of 21-40 correspond to ECOG PS 3, and values of 0-20 correspond to ECOG PS 4. As mentioned above, grade 5 "Dead" was removed for the app.

Statistical Analyses

Sample Size Calculation

The research objective was to investigate the difference between prospective and historical cohorts regarding patient-reported side effects, operationalized by the CTCAE score over a period of 6 weeks. To assess the hypothesis of equal CTCAE scores in both cohorts, the method of interval estimation was selected using the 95% CI for the mean difference between cohorts. A statistical analysis plan (SAP) prospectively determined the required sample size for a prospective cohort based on the data from the historical cohort (as available from the previous studies NCT02004496 and NCT03578731 [7,11,13]; see the Study Design section above for further details). First, the SD for the CTCAE scores of the 38 patients in the historical cohort was calculated retrospectively as 9.7 and the assumption of an equal SD in the prospective cohort was made. Second, the sample size for the prospective cohort was chosen to achieve a certain minimum precision in estimating the mean difference between cohorts (width of the 95% CI). For a range of feasible sample sizes, the SAP reported 95% CI precisions based on the t distribution (calculated using the R package presize [15]), assuming an equal SD of 9.7 in both cohorts and using a pooled variance estimate. From this range, a sample size of 60 patients was prospectively selected in the SAP to achieve 51 evaluable patients, given an expected dropout rate of 15%. The corresponding 95% CI for the mean difference between the historical and prospective cohorts was estimated to have a precision of 8.3, which was deemed acceptable for the planned assessment in the given study context.

Statistical Methods

All analyses of the primary and secondary endpoints (CTCAE score, well-being score) were performed using univariate

analyses, followed by multivariate linear regression to report (adjusted) mean differences between historical and prospective cohorts, with the *P* values based on *t* tests and corresponding 95% CIs. All multivariate models extended the respective univariate models in a supplementary fashion to adjust for potential imbalances in patient age, tumor stage, and therapy setting. These covariates were prospectively defined in the study's SAP; no model selection procedures were employed. All analyses were performed using R version 4.2.0 (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing) [16]. Two-sided *P* values \leq .05 were considered statistically significant.

Primary Endpoint

The primary endpoint, a CTCAE score based on the severity grades of the 10 most relevant side effects (sensory disturbance, diarrhea, fatigue, nausea, vomiting, headache, fever, edema of the limbs, joint pain, and loss of appetite) after 6 weeks, was compared between the prospective and historical cohorts. The CTCAE score was calculated by averaging the score per patient and symptom and then averaging the score per patient over all symptoms. The mean difference in the CTCAE scores between cohorts was estimated using univariate linear regression with 95% CIs. To adjust for potential differences between the two cohorts in covariates relevant for the primary outcome, a supplementary multivariate patient age, tumor stage, and therapy setting.

Secondary Endpoint

The well-being score according to the ECOG PS was collected continuously using a visual analog scale (range 0-100) implemented in the medidux app and averaged across measurements during the observational period. The analysis protocol was analogous to that described above for the primary endpoint.

Additional Analysis

Cognitive tests in the prospective cohort were collected continuously throughout the observation period and descriptively assessed by administering a modified version of the TMT. The time (in seconds) to complete each task (execution time) was used in the analysis.

Results

Baseline Characteristics

Overall, 53 female patients were enrolled in the OGIPRO study. The median age was 57 (range 34-87) years in the prospective cohort and 51 (range 31-78) years in the historical cohort. Most patients (38.9%) had tumor stage 2 (Table 1). With regard to the treatment setting, relatively fewer patients (22.2%) received palliative treatment than neoadjuvant or adjuvant treatment. More than half of the patients (59.3%) received dual anti-HER2 blockade with trastuzumab and pertuzumab (Table 1).

Table 1. Baseline characteristics.

Parameter	Historical cohort (n=38)	Prospective cohort (n=53)	Total (N=91)	P value
Age (years)				.001 ^a
Mean (SD)	51.3 (10) ^b	59.09 (12.193)	55.89 (11.924) ^b	
Median (range)	51 (31-78)	57 (34-87)	54 (31-87)	
Tumor stage (T), n (%)				.07 ^c
T1	8 (21.05)	10 (19.23) ^b	18 (20.0) ^b	
T2	19 (50.0)	16 (30.77) ^b	35 (38.89) ^b	
T3	8 (21.05)	11 (21.15) ^b	19 (21.11) ^b	
T4	3 (7.89)	15 (28.85) ^b	18 (20.0) ^b	
Treatment setting, n (%)				.02 ^c
Neoadjuvant	17 (44.74)	18 (34.62) ^b	35 (38.89) ^b	
Adjuvant	18 (47.37)	17 (32.69) ^b	35 (38.89) ^b	
Palliative	3 (7.89)	17 (32.69) ^b	20 (22.22) ^b	
Treatment, n (%)				.01 ^c
Trastuzumab	1 (2.63)	10 (18.87)	11 (12.09)	
Trastuzumab+pertuzumab	21 (55.26)	33 (62.26)	54 (59.34)	
Trastuzumab+pertuzumab+paclitaxel	13 (34.21)	10 (18.87)	23 (25.27)	
Ado-trastuzumab emtansine	3 (7.89)	0 (0)	3 (3.3)	
ECOG PS ^d , n (%)				.26 ^c
0	13 (34.21)	16 (30.77) ^b	29 (32.22) ^b	
1	15 (39.47)	29 (55.77) ^b	44 (48.89) ^b	
2	6 (15.79)	4 (7.69) ^b	10 (11.11) ^b	
3	2 (5.26)	3 (5.77) ^b	5 (5.56) ^b	
4	2 (5.26)	0 (0) ^b	2 (2.22) ^b	

^aStudent *t* test.

^bData missing for 1 participant.

 $^{c}\chi^{2}$ test.

^dECOG PS: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status.

ePRO Data

In the prospective cohort, 84 of the 92 available different symptoms were entered (average >4 symptoms/day), resulting in a total of 9680 symptoms, whereas 54 of the 82 different symptoms were reported in the historical cohort (average >3

symptoms/day), resulting in a total of 6904 symptom entries. The most common symptoms reported in both groups included fatigue, taste disorder, nausea, diarrhea, dry mucosa, joint discomfort, tingling, sleep disorder, headache, and appetite loss (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Frequency of the 10 most common symptoms recorded with the app by patients treated with the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri (prospective cohort) and patients treated with Herceptin (historical cohort). Absolute numbers of symptom entries are presented.



Overall, the distribution of symptom grades in the Ogivri cohort revealed that most patients experienced minimal (grade 0) and mild (grade 1) toxicities, followed by grade 2, grade 3, and grade 4 toxicities (Table 2). The results for QoL (based on the EQ-5D-5L questionnaire), which was also assessed in this study, will be reported elsewhere.

Table 2. Distribution of symptom grades in the Ogivri prospective cohort (N=9680 symptoms reported).

App symptom score and grade	Entries $\mathbf{p}(0/2)$
App symptom score and grade	
≤2 (Grade 0=minimal)	4167 (43.1)
>2 to ≤4 (Grade 1=mild)	4040 (41.7)
>4 to ≤6 (Grade 2=moderate)	1268 (13.1)
>6 to ≤8 (Grade 3=severe)	164 (1.7)
>8 to ≤10 (Grade 4=very severe)	41 (0.4)

CTCAE Score

The primary endpoint was analyzed in 50 patients (3 patients were excluded due to missing data on symptoms) treated with Ogivri (prospective cohort) and in all 38 patients treated with Herceptin (historical cohort). The mean CTCAE scores were

comparable between the two cohorts (Table 3) with a mean difference of -1.27 (95% CI -7.24 to 4.70; *P*=.68) (Figure 2). In the multivariate analysis, the adjusted mean CTCAE scores also did not differ between the two cohorts (2.51, 95% CI -3.27 to 8.29) (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1).



Figure 2. CTCAE score in the prospective (Ogivri) and historical (Herceptin) cohorts. The CTCAE score (primary endpoint) was analyzed in 50 patients (3 patients were excluded due to missing data on symptoms) treated with Ogivri and in all 38 patients treated with Herceptin. CTCAE: Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events.



Table 3. Descriptive statistics of treatment side effects according to Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) scores and well-being according to the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status (ECOG PS).

Parameter	Historical cohort (n=38)	Prospective cohort (n=53)	Total (N=91)	P value ^a
CTCAE score ^b				.68
Mean (SD)	30.29 (11.618)	29.02 (15.804)	29.57 (14.088)	
Median (range)	32 (1-61)	28 (1-100)	29.5 (1-100)	
ECOG PS ^c				.28
Mean (SD)	69.82 (23.006)	74.27 (15.66)	72.39 (19.117)	
Median (range)	76 (0-100)	74.5 (35-100)	76 (0-100)	

^aReported *P* values correspond to mean differences between cohorts. ^bMissing scores for 3 participants in the prospective cohort.

^cMissing score for 1 participant in the prospective cohort.

Well-Being Score

The secondary endpoint, the well-being score, was analyzed in 52 patients (one patient was excluded due to missing data on well-being) from the OGIPRO study and in all 38 patients from the historical cohort. The mean well-being score did not differ significantly between patients treated with Ogivri and those treated with Herceptin (Table 3), with a mean difference of 4.45 (95% CI –3.53 to 12.44; P=.28). The adjusted mean well-being scores also did not differ between the two cohorts (3.78, 95% CI –4.64 to 12.19) (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Cognitive Abilities in the Prospective Cohort

A total of 767 cognitive tests were entered and the data of 37 patients (70%) who had performed at least one test were included in the analysis (see Figure S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Overall, the mean execution time was 42.9 (SD 26.3) with an absolute difference between the maximum and minimum execution time of 197 seconds. Because of the low sample size and limited number of cognitive tests recorded, no correlation analysis between cognitive abilities and treatment was performed.

Discussion

The treatment of patients with HER2-positive BC with the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri resulted in equivalent symptoms, AEs, and well-being to those experienced under treatment with Herceptin as determined by ePROs. Ogivri treatment in the context of HER2-positive BC was well tolerated and no new important safety risks were observed. The results of this study are consistent with previously reported evidence on the safety comparability of the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri to the reference product Herceptin for the treatment of HER2-positive BC [6,17].

The use of biosimilars in oncology could reduce health care costs and thus expand access to drugs worldwide. The European Medicines Agency as well as the US Food and Drug Administration have developed guidelines requiring biosimilars to demonstrate comparable results in relevant clinical trials to those obtained using the original product [18]. Recent studies have demonstrated that anti-HER2 therapy can be switched safely to trastuzumab biosimilars and successfully implemented in clinical practice [19].

In our study, the incidence and distribution of symptoms associated with Ogivri were similar to those reported with Herceptin. However, the slightly lower mean symptom score related to Ogivri might be attributed to the higher number of treatments in this cohort for advanced cancer stages, including antihormone treatments and dual HER2 blockade.

To our knowledge, this study represents the first real-world evaluation on efficacy and safety in patients treated with HER2 biosimilars using ePRO data. Use of the app in this study was intended to help patients gain a better overview of their disease history and improve their symptom management. Our analysis of ePRO data demonstrated comparable CTCAE scores between the prospective Ogivri cohort and the historical Herceptin cohort. These findings further support the previously reported similar safety profiles between the trastuzumab biosimilar and the corresponding reference product [6,17] with no new safety concerns observed.

Importantly, the well-being score based on the ECOG PS did not differ between the two cohorts. In a pooled analysis of data from three randomized clinical trials including patients with HER2-positive advanced BC, PROs were identified as an independent prognostic factor for both survival and toxicity outcomes. In addition, patient-reported physical well-being and clinically interpreted ECOG PS provided independent prognostic information [20]. In our prospective Ogivri cohort, we did not focus on the prognostic value of the ePRO with regard to clinical outcomes, but we were able to demonstrate that an eHealth patient empowerment app can provide reliable information on side effects and well-being when comparing a biosimilar with reference treatments. Hence, the use of continuous eHealth-based symptom reporting together with biosimilars can result in a potential economic benefit by reducing the cost of drug treatment and hospitalization. Further detailed analyses of randomized trials with biosimilars will help to quantify these resources more comprehensively.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54178

In general, the diary characteristic of apps might appear helpful to capture and recall disease-related information such as cognitive impairments [21]. In the OGIPRO study, patients had the possibility to complete a TMT, which is one of the most widely used neuropsychological tests in clinical practice; this test is perceptive, easy to understand for patients, has a short administration time, and has shown consistent results in multiple clinical populations [22-24]. A study investigating the impact of chemotherapy on cognitive functions of patients with BC demonstrated increased cognitive impairment throughout chemotherapy treatment, which did not recover 2 months after chemotherapy was completed [25]. In contrast, in the OGIPRO study, the cognitive performance of the patients receiving Ogivri showed potential improvement throughout the study treatment. However, due to the low number of cognitive tests recorded during app use, the cognitive abilities were analyzed descriptively and no association could be made with regard to the trastuzumab biosimilar treatment. Further analyses are needed to evaluate the electronically collected cognitive test results in patients treated with biosimilars and corresponding reference products.

Our study has several strengths and limitations. The limitations of the study included the design that lacked a prospective control group so that the study was not randomized. However, the comparison between prospectively collected data of patients treated with Ogivri and the historical ePRO data of patients treated with Herceptin in two previous studies [7,13] demonstrated no difference with regard to symptoms, well-being, and AEs. The earlier versions of the mobile app used in the historical cohort were developed to record symptoms and treatment side effects continuously and according to the CTCAE in patients with cancer, but were not designed to send questionnaires to patients. Nevertheless, the ePRO data of the historical cohort were recorded in the same way in the earlier versions of the mobile app [11] and are thus comparable to those of the prospective cohort. An exploratory analysis on cognitive abilities was performed only in the prospective cohort as these data were not available in the historical cohort. Further studies that are randomized and sufficiently powered to evaluate the real-word cognitive functions in patients with HER2-positive BC treated with anti-HER2 biosimilars are needed.

The major strength of our proof-of-concept study is that it was able to provide the first evidence that data collected via an autonomous eHealth app can also be used longitudinally to determine the similarity of a trastuzumab biosimilar to the reference product for the treatment of HER2-positive BC. Furthermore, our study has reached its primary endpoint, showing a similar average CTCAE score between patients treated with the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri and those treated with the reference drug Herceptin. Our results suggest that the use of a patient empowerment eHealth app in patients treated with anti-HER2 biosimilars is reliable and can support therapy management.

In conclusion, in patients with HER2-positive BC, treatments with the trastuzumab biosimilar Ogivri and the reference drug Herceptin resulted in equivalent symptoms, AEs, and well-being reported by ePRO. Hence, the integration of an ePRO tool into research and clinical practice can provide reliable information

when investigating the real-world tolerability and safety outcomes of similar therapeutic compounds.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all patients who participated in this study along with the investigators and their teams. We also thank Palleos Healthcare for the continued support of the trial; Dr. Stefanie von Felten at University of Zurich, Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Prevention Institute for the assistance with data analysis; and Swiss Tumor Institute, Zurich, Switzerland for the financial support for the trial.

Data Availability

The data sets generated and/or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Conflicts of Interest

AT received medical writing support from Palleos Healthcare, funding from the Swiss Tumor Institute, payment or honoraria for presentations from Viatris, support for attending ESMO 2023 from Viatris, and is the founder and stock owner of Mobile Health AG. YK reports stock or stock options from Viatris and is the Head of Project Management at Mobile Health AG. GAKU reports stock or stock options from Novartis. MA reports consulting fees from Aptar. AE reports consulting fees from Daiichi-Sankyo, Gilead, Merck, Novartis, and Seagen, and institutional financial support for clinical trials from AstraZeneca, Roche, Pfizer, and Novartis. All other authors have declared no conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Multivariate analyses of Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) scores (Table S1) and well-being scores (Table S2); distribution of cognitive performance scores (Figure S1). [DOCX File , 294 KB - cancer_v10i1e54178_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Green AK, Ohn JA, Bach PB. Review of current policy strategies to reduce US cancer drug costs. J Clin Oncol 2020 Feb 01;38(4):372-379 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.01628] [Medline: 31804856]
- 2. Nabhan C, Parsad S, Mato AR, Feinberg BA. Biosimilars in oncology in the United States: a review. JAMA Oncol 2018 Feb 01;4(2):241-247. [doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.2004] [Medline: 28727871]
- Mejri N, Boussen H, Labidi S, Benna F, Afrit M, Rahal K. Relapse profile of early breast cancer according to immunohistochemical subtypes: guidance for patient's follow up? Ther Adv Med Oncol 2015 May 15;7(3):144-152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1758834015576141] [Medline: 26674096]
- 4. Stocker A, Hilbers M, Gauthier C, Grogg J, Kullak-Ublick GA, Seifert B, et al. HER2/CEP17 ratios and clinical outcome in HER2-positive early breast cancer undergoing trastuzumab-containing therapy. PLoS One 2016 Jul 27;11(7):e0159176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159176] [Medline: 27463363]
- Cargnin S, Shin JI, Genazzani AA, Nottegar A, Terrazzino S. Comparative efficacy and safety of trastuzumab biosimilars to the reference drug: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2020 Nov 01;86(5):577-588. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00280-020-04156-3</u>] [Medline: <u>33005979</u>]
- 6. Rugo HS, Barve A, Waller CF, Hernandez-Bronchud M, Herson J, Yuan J, Heritage Study Investigators. Effect of a proposed trastuzumab biosimilar compared with trastuzumab on overall response rate in patients with ERBB2 (HER2)-positive metastatic breast cancer: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2017 Jan 03;317(1):37-47. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.18305] [Medline: 27918780]
- Egbring M, Far E, Roos M, Dietrich M, Brauchbar M, Kullak-Ublick GA, et al. A mobile app to stabilize daily functional activity of breast cancer patients in collaboration with the physician: a randomized controlled clinical trial. J Med Internet Res 2016 Sep 06;18(9):e238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6414] [Medline: 27601354]
- Basch E, Deal AM, Kris MG, Scher HI, Hudis CA, Sabbatini P, et al. Symptom monitoring with patient-reported outcomes during routine cancer treatment: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2016 Feb 20;34(6):557-565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.63.0830] [Medline: 26644527]
- Basch E, Deal AM, Dueck AC, Scher HI, Kris MG, Hudis C, et al. Overall survival results of a trial assessing patient-reported outcomes for symptom monitoring during routine cancer treatment. JAMA 2017 Jul 11;318(2):197-198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.7156] [Medline: 28586821]
- Trojan A, Huber U, Brauchbar M, Petrausch U. Consilium smartphone app for real-world electronically captured patient-reported outcome monitoring in cancer patients undergoing anti-PD-L1-directed treatment. Case Rep Oncol 2020 May 12;13(2):491-496. [doi: 10.1159/000507345] [Medline: 32518544]

RenderX

- Trojan A, Bättig B, Mannhart M, Seifert B, Brauchbar MN, Egbring M. Effect of collaborative review of electronic patient-reported outcomes for shared reporting in breast cancer patients: descriptive comparative study. JMIR Cancer 2021 Mar 17;7(1):e26950 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26950] [Medline: 33729162]
- Pircher M, Winder T, Trojan A. Response to vemurafenib in metastatic triple-negative breast cancer harbouring a BRAF V600E mutation: a case report and electronically captured patient-reported outcome. Case Rep Oncol 2021 Mar 29;14(1):616-621. [doi: 10.1159/000513905] [Medline: 33976643]
- Trojan A, Leuthold N, Thomssen C, Rody A, Winder T, Jakob A, et al. The effect of collaborative reviews of electronic patient-reported outcomes on the congruence of patient- and clinician-reported toxicity in cancer patients receiving systemic therapy: prospective, multicenter, observational clinical trial. J Med Internet Res 2021 Aug 05;23(8):e29271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/29271] [Medline: 34383675]
- Schmalz O, Jacob C, Ammann J, Liss B, Iivanainen S, Kammermann M, et al. Digital monitoring and management of patients with advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer treated with cancer immunotherapy and its impact on quality of clinical care: interview and survey study among health care professionals and patients. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 21;22(12):e18655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18655] [Medline: 33346738]
- 15. Haynes A, Lenz A, Stalder O, Limacher A. presize: An R-package for precision-based sample size calculation in clinical research. J Open Source Soft 2021 Apr;6(60):3118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21105/joss.03118]
- 16. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. URL: <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u> [accessed 2024-03-08]
- Rugo HS, Pennella EJ, Gopalakrishnan U, Hernandez-Bronchud M, Herson J, Koch HF, et al. Final overall survival analysis of the phase 3 HERITAGE study demonstrates equivalence of trastuzumab-dkst to trastuzumab in HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2021 Jul;188(2):369-377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-021-06197-5] [Medline: 34125340]
- 18. Triantafyllidi E, Triantafillidis JK. Systematic review on the use of biosimilars of trastuzumab in HER2+ breast cancer. Biomedicines 2022 Aug 21;10(8):2045 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10082045] [Medline: 36009592]
- Hester A, Gaß P, Fasching PA, Krämer AK, Ettl J, Diessner J, et al. Trastuzumab biosimilars in the therapy of breast cancer - "real world" experiences from four Bavarian university breast centres. Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd 2020 Sep 02;80(9):924-931 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/a-1226-6666] [Medline: 32905322]
- 20. Modi N, Danell N, Perry R, Abuhelwa A, Rathod A, Badaoui S, et al. Patient-reported outcomes predict survival and adverse events following anticancer treatment initiation in advanced HER2-positive breast cancer. ESMO Open 2022 Jun;7(3):100475 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.esmoop.2022.100475] [Medline: 35490579]
- 21. Reeve BB, McFatrich M, Pinheiro LC, Freyer DR, Basch EM, Baker JN, et al. Cognitive interview-based validation of the patient-reported outcomes version of the common terminology criteria for adverse events in adolescents with cancer. J Pain Symptom Manage 2017 Apr;53(4):759-766 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.11.006] [Medline: 28062347]
- Ashendorf L, Jefferson AL, O'Connor MK, Chaisson C, Green RC, Stern RA. Trail Making Test errors in normal aging, mild cognitive impairment, and dementia. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 2008 Mar 21;23(2):129-137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.acn.2007.11.005] [Medline: 18178372]
- 23. Periáñez JA, Ríos-Lago M, Rodríguez-Sánchez JM, Adrover-Roig D, Sánchez-Cubillo I, Crespo-Facorro B, et al. Trail Making Test in traumatic brain injury, schizophrenia, and normal ageing: sample comparisons and normative data. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 2007 May;22(4):433-447. [doi: 10.1016/j.acn.2007.01.022] [Medline: 17336493]
- 24. Linari I, Juantorena GE, Ibáñez A, Petroni A, Kamienkowski JE. Unveiling Trail Making Test: visual and manual trajectories indexing multiple executive processes. Sci Rep 2022 Aug 22;12(1):14265. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41598-022-16431-9</u>] [Medline: <u>35995786</u>]
- 25. Rodríguez Martín B, Fernández Rodríguez EJ, Rihuete Galve MI, Cruz Hernández JJ. Study of chemotherapy-induced cognitive impairment in women with breast cancer. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Nov 30;17(23):8896 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17238896] [Medline: 33265966]

Abbreviations

AE: adverse event BC: breast cancer BW: body weight CTCAE: Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events ECOG PS: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status ePRO: electronic patient-reported outcome HER2: human epidermal growth factor 2 QoL: quality of life SAP: statistical analysis plan TMT: Trail Making Test



Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 01.11.23; peer-reviewed by HC Kohlberg, E Fiorio; comments to author 18.12.23; revised version received 22.12.23; accepted 27.02.24; published 04.04.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Trojan A, Roth S, Atassi Z, Kiessling M, Zenhaeusern R, Kadvany Y, Schumacher J, Kullak-Ublick GA, Aapro M, Eniu A Comparison of the Real-World Reporting of Symptoms and Well-Being for the HER2-Directed Trastuzumab Biosimilar Ogivri With Registry Data for Herceptin in the Treatment of Breast Cancer: Prospective Observational Study (OGIPRO) of Electronic Patient-Reported Outcomes JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e54178

JMIK Cancer 2024;10:E94178 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54178</u> doi:<u>10.2196/54178</u> PMID:<u>38573759</u>

©Andreas Trojan, Sven Roth, Ziad Atassi, Michael Kiessling, Reinhard Zenhaeusern, Yannick Kadvany, Johannes Schumacher, Gerd A Kullak-Ublick, Matti Aapro, Alexandru Eniu. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 04.04.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Assessing the Relationship Between Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage and Telemedicine Use Among Patients With Breast Cancer and Examining Differential Provisions of Oncology Services Between Telehealth and In-Person Visits: Quantitative Study

Jincong Q Freeman^{1,2,3}, MPH, MS; Fangyuan Zhao¹, MA; Frederick M Howard⁴, MD; Rita Nanda⁴, MD; Olufunmilayo I Olopade^{4,5}, MD; Dezheng Huo^{1,5}, MD, PhD

⁵Center for Clinical Cancer Genetics and Global Health, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Dezheng Huo, MD, PhD Department of Public Health Sciences University of Chicago MC2000 5841 S Maryland Ave Chicago, IL, 60637 United States Phone: 1 773 702 2453 Fax: 1 773 702 2453 Email: dhuo@health.bsd.uchicago.edu

Abstract

Background: Since the COVID-19 pandemic began, we have seen rapid growth in telemedicine use. However, telehealth care and services are not equally distributed, and not all patients with breast cancer have equal access across US regions. There are notable gaps in existing literature regarding the influence of neighborhood-level socioeconomic status on telemedicine use in patients with breast cancer and oncology services offered through telehealth versus in-person visits.

Objective: We assessed the relationship between neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and telemedicine use among patients with breast cancer and examined differential provisions of oncology services between telehealth and in-person visits.

Methods: Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage was measured using the Area Deprivation Index (ADI), with higher scores indicating greater disadvantages. Telemedicine and in-person visits were defined as having had a telehealth and in-person visit with a provider, respectively, in the past 12 months. Multivariable logistic regression was performed to examine the association between ADI and telemedicine use. The McNemar test was used to assess match-paired data on types of oncology services comparing telehealth and in-person visits.

Results: The mean age of the patients with breast cancer (n=1163) was 61.8 (SD 12.0) years; 4.58% (52/1161) identified as Asian, 19.72% (229/1161) as Black, 3.01% (35/1161) as Hispanic, and 72.78% (845/1161) as White. Overall, 35.96% (416/1157) had a telemedicine visit in the past 12 months. Of these patients, 65% (266/409) had a videoconference visit only, 22.7% (93/409) had a telephone visit only, and 12.2% (50/409) had visits by both videoconference and telephone. Higher ADI scores were associated with a lower likelihood of telemedicine use (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] 0.89, 95% CI 0.82-0.97). Black (AOR 2.38, 95% CI 1.41-4.00) and Hispanic (AOR 2.65, 95% CI 1.07-6.58) patients had greater odds of telemedicine use than White patients. Compared to patients with high school or less education, those with an associate's degree (AOR 2.67, 95% CI 1.33-5.35), a bachelor's degree (AOR 2.75, 95% CI 1.38-5.48), or a graduate or professional degree (AOR 2.57, 95% CI 1.31-5.04) had higher odds of telemedicine use in the past 12 months. There were no significant differences in providing treatment consultation (45/405,

RenderX

¹Department of Public Health Sciences, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

²Center for Health and the Social Sciences, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

³Cancer Prevention and Control Program, UChicago Medicine Comprehensive Cancer Center, Chicago, IL, United States

⁴Section of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Medicine, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

11.1% vs 55/405, 13.6%; P=.32) or cancer genetic counseling (11/405, 2.7% vs 19/405, 4.7%; P=.14) between telehealth and in-person visits. Of the telemedicine users, 95.8% (390/407) reported being somewhat to extremely satisfied, and 61.8% (254/411) were likely or very likely to continue using telemedicine.

Conclusions: In this study of a multiethnic cohort of patients with breast cancer, our findings suggest that neighborhood-level socioeconomic disparities exist in telemedicine use and that telehealth visits could be used to provide treatment consultation and cancer genetic counseling. Oncology programs should address these disparities and needs to improve care delivery and achieve telehealth equity for their patient populations.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e55438) doi:10.2196/55438

KEYWORDS

telemedicine; telehealth equity; Area Deprivation Index; neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage; disparities; oncology services; treatment consultation; genetic counseling; in-person visits; breast cancer; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

In the United States, telemedicine use has risen over the years. According to the 2019 American Hospital Association annual survey, the percentage of telehealth programs implemented across hospitals increased from 43.1% in 2015 to 61.2% in 2017 [1]. Since the COVID-19 pandemic began, we have seen rapid and unprecedented growth in the demand for, and use of, telemedicine. A recent report from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention has documented that the frequency of telehealth visits increased by 50% from 2019 to 2020 [2]. The increase in the use of telemedicine is also observed in populations of patients with cancer; for example, several studies conducted during 2020 and 2021 estimated that the prevalence of telemedicine use ranges from 34.9% to 64.9% among patients with breast or other cancers [3-11]. In 2020, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services introduced policies that offered regulatory waivers and flexible reimbursement to Medicaid and Medicare providers for telehealth, contributing in part to the observed increase in telemedicine use and implementation [12,13]. In 2021, the American Society of Clinical Oncology performed a systematic literature review on telemedicine and published standards and recommendations for telehealth services and practices in the oncology setting [14]. Telemedicine helps facilitate access to health care and services for patients with cancer and their caregivers or family members. However, telehealth care and services are not equally distributed, and not all patients with cancer have equal access to telehealth care and services across different US regions. There are notable gaps in existing literature regarding the influence of neighborhood-level socioeconomic status (SES) on telemedicine use in patients with breast cancer and oncology services offered through telehealth versus in-person visits.

Neighborhood-level SES is a fundamental component of the social determinants of health framework [15,16]. Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage has been shown to negatively affect health outcomes [17,18], access to care and preventive services [19,20], survival outcomes [18,21], and quality of life [22] among patients with cancer [23]. Previous investigations have also found neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage to be associated with a lower likelihood of telemedicine use among patients in primary care and hematology or oncology clinics, as well as among outpatients [8,24-28]. A study of 627 patients

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55438

with cancer experiencing financial distress during the COVID-19 pandemic reported a 3% decrease in the rate of telemedicine use per 10-unit increase in the Area Deprivation Index (ADI) [8], a validated composite measure of neighborhood-level SES [29,30]. Fassas et al [27] conducted a univariate analysis of 64 patients with head and neck cancer, revealing no significant differential interest in telehealth visits based on the ADI. Another study noted a higher percentage of telehealth visits among patients residing in the least socioeconomically deprived neighborhoods (54%) than those in the most deprived neighborhoods (46.1%) in a large cohort of patients with hematologic malignancies and patients with cancer from Kaiser Permanente [28]. These prior studies either lacked significant sample sizes or included heterogeneous populations of patients with cancer. Therefore, these findings may not be generalizable to the population of patients with breast cancer.

In addition, whether provisions or receipts of oncology services differ between telemedicine and in-person office visits among patients with breast cancer is unclear. A recent retrospective analysis of 311 patients with cancer indicated that clinical practices, such as molecular test ordering and palliative care referrals, conducted through telehealth visits achieve similar efficiency to in-person visits [31]. A pilot study of 45 patients with advanced cancer in Mexico has suggested the feasibility of supportive care delivery via telemedicine [32]. Multiple studies have found telehealth provisions or visits to be feasible, effective, and safe for patient follow-ups after ambulatory or breast surgeries [33-36]. Earlier research has also demonstrated that, when comparing telehealth to in-person visits, patients with cancer in the United States, Canada, and Europe reported similar communication experiences or satisfaction with the oncology care consultations they received [7,37,38]. Moreover, telemedicine-based cancer genetic counseling has been shown to be feasible and effective and to achieve high degrees of satisfaction among providers as well as patients with colorectal, breast, or gynecologic cancer residing in remote or rural areas [39-42]. Although prior studies have elucidated the successful implementation of telemedicine and shown that certain types of cancer care and services delivered through telemedicine are equivalent to in-person office settings in mixed cohorts of patients with cancer, the results may not be applicable to patients with breast cancer. Furthermore, most of these studies were not able to examine the distributions of oncology services comparing telehealth and in-person visits because of small sample sizes
and therefore are primarily descriptive. Understanding these associations can help oncology programs identify telehealth disparities and patient's unmet needs, improve telemedicine practice and care delivery, reduce health disparities and inequities, and provide optimal support to patients with breast cancer.

Objectives

To fill these critical gaps in the literature, we undertook this study primarily seeking to evaluate (1) the association between neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and telemedicine use and (2) the differences in provisions of oncology services comparing telehealth and in-person office visits. The secondary objectives of this study were to describe (1) common perceived challenges or concerns related to telehealth visits and (2) patient satisfaction with oncology services delivered via telemedicine in this cohort of patients with breast cancer.

Methods

Study Design and Population

This study used a cross-sectional design and analyzed data from patients with breast cancer enrolled in the ongoing Chicago Multiethnic Epidemiologic Breast Cancer Cohort (ChiMEC), which is a hospital-based cohort established at the University of Chicago Medicine in 1993 [43]. From July to September 2022, a total of 1868 questionnaires were sent to ChiMEC participants who consented to follow-up surveys, of whom 1236 (66.17%) responded. The study survey is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1. For this analysis, of the 1236 respondents, we included 1163 (94.09%) patients who reported having had either telemedicine or in-person visits in the past 12 months.

Ethical Considerations

The University of Chicago Institutional Review Board reviewed and approved this study (approval 16352A). All participants provided written informed consent before taking part in the ChiMEC study and follow-up surveys.

Measures

Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage was defined by the ADI, a composite measurement of patients' neighborhood-level income, education, employment, and housing quality based on linked zip codes and US Census block groups [29,30]. For this study, participants' residential addresses were geocoded to census block groups and then linked with the corresponding ADI national ranking percentile, which ranks neighborhoods by socioeconomic disadvantage at the national level in the United States. ADI scores range from 1 to 100, with higher scores reflecting higher levels of neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation. We further categorized ADI scores into quartiles. The first quartile represented the least socioeconomically deprived neighborhoods, whereas the fourth quartile represented the most deprived neighborhoods.

Telemedicine use was defined as having had a telehealth visit with a physician or other health providers in any specialty in the past 12 months and dichotomized as *yes* or *no*. For patients who used telemedicine, we asked whether their visits were

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55438
```

conducted through telephone, videoconferencing, or both. Similarly, in-person visits were assessed by asking participants whether they had had an in-person office visit with a physician or other health providers in the past 12 months. Furthermore, participants were asked whether their telemedicine or in-person visits were related to 6 different types of oncology services: treatment consultation; review of laboratory, screening, and pathology test results; management of cancer symptoms and treatment side effects; cancer genetic counseling; cancer clinical trial follow-up; and informed consent for a cancer clinical trial. Common cancer symptoms and treatment side effects discussed during telehealth or in-person visits were also assessed, including hot flashes; chemotherapy-induced neuropathy, nausea, and vomiting; pain related to cancer or cancer treatment; depressive symptoms or mood changes; fatigue or tiredness; anxiety or stress; lymphedema; and insomnia or sleep problems.

In addition, we asked participants to report any challenges or concerns when using telemedicine, such as technology difficulty or lack of comfort with technology, lack of electronic device (eg, desktop computer, laptop computer, smartphone, or iPad), lack of high-speed internet or slow internet connection at home, compromised patient-provider communication, compromised patient-provider relationship, telemedicine not being offered at the clinic or by a provider, cost, and telemedicine not being covered by health insurance. We then asked how satisfied participants were with their telehealth or in-person visits, using a 5-point Likert scale (ie, *not at all, a little, somewhat, very*, and *extremely satisfied*). Participants were also asked how likely they were to continue using telemedicine, using another 5-point Likert scale (ie, *very unlikely, unlikely, neutral, likely*, and *very likely*).

Individual-level sociodemographic and clinicopathologic characteristics included age at survey, race, ethnicity, highest level of education, marital status, type of health insurance coverage, duration from cancer diagnosis to survey, Charlson comorbidity index (excluding breast cancer diagnoses), histologic type, American Joint Committee on Cancer stage group, molecular subtype, tumor grade, receipt of cancer treatment (chemotherapy, hormone therapy, or radiotherapy), and type of surgery. We obtained patients' clinicopathologic information from electronic health records and the hospital cancer registry. Distance from residence to hospital (in miles) was geocoded and calculated by taking the differences of coordinates (longitudes or latitudes) between the patient's address and the University of Chicago Medicine Comprehensive Cancer Center's address based on the Haversine formula.

Statistical Analysis

We described patients' characteristics using summary statistics. Means and SDs or medians and IQRs were calculated for continuous variables, and we used 2-tailed t tests, Wilcoxon rank sum tests, or Kruskal-Wallis tests to conduct bivariate analyses. For nominal data, we tabulated frequencies and percentages and compared the distributions using Pearson chi-square or Fisher exact tests. To examine the association between neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage (continuous ADI scores) and telemedicine use, we fitted 3 separate multivariable logistic regression models. For modeling, we

implemented a stepwise regression approach. Potential confounders were selected and adjusted for in the models based on a P value of <.10 from bivariate analyses or a priori knowledge. Model 1 included ADI, age at survey, race, ethnicity, duration from cancer diagnosis to survey, highest level of education, marital status, type of health insurance coverage, Charlson comorbidity index, and distance from residence to hospital. Model 2 was controlled for histologic type, American Joint Committee on Cancer stage, molecular subtype, and tumor grade, in addition to the covariates in model 1. Model 3 contained all variables in model 2 plus receipt of chemotherapy, hormone therapy, or radiotherapy, as well as type of surgery. Adjusted odds ratios (AORs) and corresponding 95% CIs were calculated. To evaluate the differences in types of oncology services between telemedicine and in-person office visits, we conducted McNemar tests on match-paired data of patients having both visit modalities. P values (2-tailed) <.05 were considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using Stata 17 (StataCorp LLC).

Results

Patient Characteristics

Overall, the 1868 study surveys received 1236 (66.17%) responses. Of the 1236 participants who responded, 1163 (94.09%) had had either telemedicine or in-person visits in the past 12 months. These participants' mean age was 61.8 (SD 12.0) years; 4.48% (52/1161) identified as Asian, 19.72% (229/1161) as Black, 3.01% (35/1161) as Hispanic, and 72.78% (845/1161) as White. Furthermore, 69.94% (747/1068) were married, 38.73% (450/1162) had a graduate or professional degree, 70.77% (823/1163) were privately insured, and 22.96% (267/1163) were on Medicaid or Medicare. The median distance from residence to hospital was 19.9 (IQR 9.5-32.3) miles, and the median duration from cancer diagnosis to survey was 6.5 (IQR 3.6-11.0) years. By ADI quartile, patients with breast cancer living in the most socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods (fourth quartile) tended to be older, Black, at a lower level of education, and on Medicaid or Medicare (Table 1).

Freeman et al

Table 1. Characteristics of patients with breast cancer overall and by neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage (n=1163).

Variable		Total (n=1163)	Area Deprivation Index ^a				P value ^b
			First quartile (n=381)	Second quartile (n=376)	Third quartile (n=252)	Fourth quartile (n=99)	
Ag	e (y) at survey, mean (SD)	61.8 (12.0)	60.9 (11.5)	61.6 (11.7)	62.0 (12.9)	64.2 (12.5)	.68
Ag	e (y) at survey, n (%)						.03
	<45	107 (10.2)	33 (9.5)	37 (10.8)	26 (11.4)	7 (7.8)	
	45-54	179 (17)	64 (18.4)	59 (17.3)	38 (16.7)	12 (13.3)	
	55-64	308 (29.2)	116 (33.3)	99 (28.9)	58 (25.4)	22 (24.4)	
	≥65	460 (43.6)	135 (38.8)	147 (43)	106 (46.5)	49 (54.4)	
Ra	ce and ethnicity, n (%)						<.001
	Asian	52 (4.5)	26 (6.8)	14 (3.7)	6 (2.4)	3 (3)	
	Black	229 (19.7)	16 (4.2)	40 (10.7)	98 (38.9)	56 (56.6)	
	Hispanic	35 (3)	5 (1.3)	20 (5.3)	5 (2)	4 (4)	
	White	845 (72.8)	333 (87.6)	301 (80.3)	143 (56.7)	36 (36.4)	
Hig	ghest level of education, n (%	()					<.001
	High school, GED ^c , or less	115 (9.9)	12 (3.1)	45 (12)	37 (14.7)	16 (16.2)	
	Associate's degree or some college	259 (22.3)	52 (13.6)	86 (22.9)	70 (27.8)	44 (44.4)	
	Bachelor's degree	338 (29.1)	127 (33.3)	102 (27.2)	69 (27.4)	20 (20.2)	
	Graduate or professional degree	450 (38.7)	190 (49.9)	142 (37.9)	76 (30.2)	19 (19.2)	
Ma	urital status, n (%)						<.001
	Married	747 (69.9)	282 (80.3)	259 (73.4)	136 (59.6)	36 (40.4)	
	Single or not married	192 (18)	44 (12.5)	53 (15)	59 (25.9)	30 (33.7)	
	Divorced, separated, or widowed	129 (12.1)	25 (7.1)	41 (11.6)	33 (14.5)	23 (25.8)	
Ty	pe of health insurance, n (%)					<.001
	Private	823 (70.8)	302 (79.3)	276 (73.4)	162 (64.3)	49 (49.5)	
	Medicaid	50 (4.3)	5 (1.3)	8 (2.1)	17 (6.7)	15 (15.2)	
	Medicare	217 (18.7)	54 (14.2)	74 (19.7)	55 (21.8)	24 (24.2)	
	Other or unknown	73 (6.3)	20 (5.2)	18 (4.8)	18 (7.1)	11 (11.1)	
Dis tal	tance from residence to hospi- (miles) ^d , median (IQR)	19.9 (9.5-32.3)	20.5 (10.9-31.9)	22.5 (13.3-33.2)	16.4 (4.6-30.5)	11.9 (3.3-27.6)	<.001
Du sis	ration (y) from cancer diagno- to survey, median (IQR)	6.5 (3.6-11.0)	6.8 (3.7-10.9)	6.2 (3.6-10.3)	6.5 (3.6-11.5)	8.3 (4.2-11.6)	.61
Du	ration (y) from cancer diagn	osis to survey, n (%)				.63
	≤3	199 (17.1)	58 (15.2)	68 (18.1)	48 (19)	14 (14.1)	
	4-6	319 (27.4)	107 (28.1)	107 (28.5)	67 (26.6)	23 (23.2)	
	≥7	645 (55.5)	216 (56.7)	201 (53.5)	137 (54.4)	62 (62.6)	
Ch	arlson comorbidity index, n	(%)					.03
	0	994 (88.5)	333 (90.5)	335 (91.5)	209 (85)	77 (82.8)	
	1	62 (5.6)	19 (5.2)	11 (3)	21 (8.5)	6 (6.5)	
	≥2	67 (6.0)	16 (4.3)	20 (5.5)	16 (6.5)	10 (10.8)	
His	stologic type, n (%)						.08

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55438

XSL•FO RenderX

Variable	Total (n=1163)	Area Deprivatio		P value ^b		
		First quartile (n=381)	Second quartile (n=376)	Third quartile (n=252)	Fourth quartile (n=99)	
Ductal	742 (80.2)	247 (77.9)	238 (79.9)	159 (81.1)	64 (88.9)	
Lobular	92 (10)	38 (12)	34 (11.4)	15 (7.7)	1 (1.4)	
Ductal and lobular	55 (6)	19 (6)	18 (6)	12 (6.1)	3 (4.2)	
Other	36 (3.9)	13 (4.1)	8 (2.7)	10 (5.1)	4 (5.6)	
AJCC ^e stage group, n (%)						.002
0	200 (18.1)	51 (14.2)	69 (19)	51 (21.1)	21 (22.6)	
Ι	515 (46.5)	189 (52.5)	160 (44.1)	104 (43)	36 (38.7)	
II	271 (24.5)	88 (24.4)	91 (25.1)	58 (24)	24 (25.8)	
III	112 (10.1)	31 (8.6)	42 (11.6)	24 (9.9)	10 (10.8)	
IV	10 (0.9)	1 (0.3)	1 (0.3)	5 (2.1)	2 (2.2)	
Molecular subtype, n (%)						.06
HR ^f +/HER2 ^g -	571 (66.2)	208 (69.3)	180 (66.2)	120 (65.6)	35 (53.8)	
HR+/HER+	98 (11.4)	34 (11.3)	36 (13.2)	15 (8.2)	8 (12.3)	
HR-/HER2+	51 (5.9)	12 (4)	17 (6.2)	19 (10.4)	3 (4.6)	
TNBC ^h	142 (16.5)	46 (15.3)	39 (14.3)	29 (15.8)	19 (29.2)	
Tumor grade, n (%)						.047
1	149 (14.3)	59 (17.3)	47 (13.8)	27 (11.9)	9 (10.3)	
2	471 (45.3)	159 (46.6)	146 (42.9)	99 (43.8)	42 (48.3)	
3	420 (40.4)	123 (36.1)	147 (43.2)	100 (44.2)	36 (41.4)	
Receipt of chemotherapy, n ((%)					.92
No	572 (54.3)	190 (54.6)	182 (53.2)	125 (54.8)	48 (53.3)	
Yes	482 (45.7)	158 (45.4)	160 (46.8)	103 (45.2)	42 (46.7)	
Receipt of hormone therapy,	n (%)					.03
No	341 (32.4)	100 (28.7)	113 (33)	74 (32.5)	39 (43.3)	
Yes	713 (67.7)	248 (71.3)	229 (67)	154 (67.5)	51 (56.7)	
Receipt of radiation therapy	, n (%)					.08
No	394 (37.4)	140 (40.2)	125 (36.5)	83 (36.4)	26 (28.9)	
Yes	660 (62.6)	208 (59.8)	217 (63.5)	145 (63.6)	64 (71.1)	
Type of surgery received, n (%)					.006
None	13 (1.3)	5 (1.5)	3 (0.9)	2 (0.9)	3 (3.4)	
Lumpectomy	615 (59.3)	185 (53.8)	194 (57.4)	146 (66.1)	61 (68.5)	
Mastectomy	307 (29.6)	116 (33.7)	107 (31.7)	50 (22.6)	25 (28.1)	



Variable	Total (n=1163)	Area Deprivation Index ^a			P value ^b	
		First quartile (n=381)	Second quartile (n=376)	Third quartile (n=252)	Fourth quartile (n=99)	
Bilateral mastectomy	102 (9.9)	38 (11.0)	34 (10.1)	23 (10.4)	0 (0)	

^aThe Area Deprivation Index (national ranking percentile) is a composite measure consisting of the domains of income, education, employment, and housing quality. It ranks neighborhoods by socioeconomic disadvantage at the national level and is scored from 1 to 100, with higher scores representing greater neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation.

^b*P* values were calculated using Kruskal-Wallis tests.

^cGED: General Educational Development Test.

^dDistance from residence to hospital was calculated by taking the differences of coordinates (longitudes or latitudes) between the patient's address and the University of Chicago Medicine Comprehensive Cancer Center's address based on the Haversine formula.

^eAJCC: American Joint Committee on Cancer.

^tHR: hormone receptor.

^gHER2: human epidermal growth factor receptor 2.

^hTNBC: triple-negative breast cancer.

Telemedicine Use and Association With ADI

Overall, 35.95% (416/1157) of the patients with breast cancer had a telehealth visit in the past 12 months (Table 2). By modality of telemedicine, 65% (266/409) of the clinic visits were conducted through videoconferencing only, followed by 22.7% (93/409) through telephone only and 12.2% (50/409) through both videoconferencing and telephone. The mean ADI score for telemedicine users was 37.7 (SD 24.2) compared to 39.5 (SD 24.0) for nonusers (Table 2). By ADI quartile, 38.3% (145/379) of the patients living in the least socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods (first quartile) used telemedicine, followed by 37.9% (58/153), 35.1% (132/356), and 32.5% (81/249) in the fourth, second, and third quartiles, respectively. On multivariable regression analysis (model 3), higher ADI scores (per 10-unit increase) were associated with lower odds of telemedicine use (AOR 0.89, 95% CI 0.82-0.97; Table 3).



 Table 2. Characteristics of patients with breast cancer by telehealth visit (n=1157).

Variable	Had a telehealth visit in the past 12 months			
	No (n=741)	Yes (n=416)		
Modality of telemedicine (n=409), n (%)			b	
Telephone or audio call	_	93 (22.7)		
Videoconference	_	266 (65)		
Both	_	50 (12.3)		
Area Deprivation Index ^c , mean (SD)	39.5 (24.0)	37.7 (24.2)	.18	
Area Deprivation Index, n (%)			.13	
First quartile	234 (61.7)	145 (38.3)		
Second quartile	224 (64.9)	132 (35.1)		
Third quartile	168 (67.5)	81 (32.5)		
Fourth quartile	95 (62.1)	58 (37.9)		
Age (y) at survey, mean (SD)	62.2 (11.9)	60.9 (12.2)	.09	
Age (y) at survey, n (%)			.04	
<45	56 (52.3)	51 (47.7)		
45-54	121 (67.6)	58 (32.4)		
55-64	201 (66.3)	102 (33.7)		
≥65	299 (65.1)	160 (34.9)		
Race and ethnicity, n (%)			.08	
Asian	37 (71.2)	15 (28.9)		
Black	136 (60.2)	90 (39.8)		
Hispanic	17 (48.6)	18 (51.4)		
White	550 (65.3)	292 (34.7)		
Highest level of education, n (%)			.002	
High school, GED ^d , or less	92 (80)	23 (20)		
Associate's degree or some college	163 (63.4)	94 (36.6)		
Bachelor's degree	208 (61.9)	128 (38.1)		
Graduate or professional degree	277 (61.8)	171 (38.2)		
Marital status, n (%)			.70	
Married	481 (64.7)	263 (35.4)		
Single or not married	116 (61.4)	73 (38.6)		
Divorced, separated, or widowed	83 (64.3)	46 (35.7)		
Type of health insurance, n (%)			.25	
Private	515 (63)	302 (37)		
Medicaid	28 (56)	22 (44)		
Medicare	147 (67.7)	70 (32.3)		
Other or unknown	51 (69.9)	22 (30.1)		
Distance (miles) from residence to hospital ^e , median (IQR)	19.9 (9.8-32.3)	20.4 (9.3-32.3)	.96	
Duration (y) from cancer diagnosis to survey, median (IQR)	6.8 (3.7-0.9)	6.3 (3.5-11.0)	.22	
Duration (years) from cancer diagnosis to survey, n (%)			.009	
≤3	109 (55)	89 (45)		

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55438

XSL•FO RenderX

Freeman et al

Variable	Had a telehealth v	P value ^a	
	No (n=741)	Yes (n=416)	
4-6	217 (68)	102 (32)	
≥7	415 (64.8)	225 (35.2)	
Charlson comorbidity index, n (%)			.31
0	635 (64.3)	353 (35.7)	
1	34 (54.8)	28 (45.2)	
≥2	44 (65.7)	23 (34.3)	
Histologic type, n (%)			.27
Ductal	459 (62.1)	280 (37.9)	
Lobular	63 (68.5)	29 (31.5)	
Ductal and lobular	38 (69.1)	17 (30.9)	
Other	19 (52.8))	17 (47.2)	
AJCC ^f stage group, n (%)			.26
0	135 (68.5)	62 (31.5)	
Ι	333 (64.9)	180 (35.1)	
П	161 (59.6)	109 (40.4)	
III	75 (61.5)	47 (38.5)	
IV	5 (50)	5 (50)	
Molecular subtype, n (%)			.91
HR ^g +/HER2 ^h -	358 (62.8)	212 (37.2)	
HR+/HER+	64 (65.3)	34 (34.7)	
HR–/HER2+	34 (66.7)	17 (33.3)	
TNBC ⁱ	87 (62.1)	53 (37.9)	
Tumor grade, n (%)			.10
1	87 (59.6)	59 (40.4)	
2	316 (67.4)	153 (32.6)	
3	258 (61.6)	161 (38.4)	
Receipt of chemotherapy, n (%)			.19
No	377 (66.4)	191 (33.6)	
Yes	300 (62.5)	180 (37.5)	
Receipt of hormone therapy, n (%)			.92
No	217 (64.4)	120 (35.6)	
Yes	460 (64.7)	251 (35.3)	
Receipt of radiation therapy, n (%)			.68
No	255 (65.4)	135 (34.6)	
Yes	422 (64.1)	236 (35.9)	
Type of surgery received, n (%)			.35
None	6 (46.2)	7 (53.8)	
Lumpectomy	404 (66)	208 (34)	
Mastectomy	190 (62.5)	114 (37.5)	

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55438



JMIR CANCER		Freeman et al
Variable	Had a telehealth visit in the past 12 months	
	No (n=741) Yes (n=416)	
Bilateral mastectomy	68 (66.7) 34 (33.3)	

^a*P* values were calculated using 2-tailed *t* tests or Wilcoxon rank sum, Pearson chi-square, or Fisher exact tests, as appropriate. ^bNot applicable.

^cThe Area Deprivation Index (national ranking percentile) is a composite measure consisting of the domains of income, education, employment, and housing quality. It ranks neighborhoods by socioeconomic disadvantage at the national level and is scored from 1 to 100, with higher scores representing greater neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation.

^dGED: General Educational Development Test.

^eDistance from residence to hospital was calculated by taking the differences of coordinates (longitudes or latitudes) between the patient's address and the University of Chicago Medicine Comprehensive Cancer Center's address based on the Haversine formula.

^fAJCC: American Joint Committee on Cancer.

^gHR: hormone receptor.

^hHER2: human epidermal growth factor receptor 2.

ⁱTNBC: triple-negative breast cancer.

In the same model (model 3), patients with breast cancer aged 45 to 54 years had lower odds of having a telehealth visit than those aged <45 years (AOR 0.49, 95% CI 0.27-0.91). Patients aged 55 to 64 years (AOR 0.63, 95% CI 0.36-1.12) or \geq 65 years (AOR 0.63, 95% CI 0.34-1.18) also had a lower likelihood, but these differences were not statistically significant. Black (AOR 2.38, 95% CI 1.41-4.00) or Hispanic (AOR 2.65, 95% CI 1.07-6.58) patients had greater odds of telemedicine use than White patients. Compared to patients with high school or less education, those with an associate's (AOR 2.67, 95% CI 1.33-5.35), bachelor's (AOR 2.75, 95% CI 1.38-5.48), or graduate (AOR 2.57, 95% CI 1.31-5.04) degree had higher odds of telemedicine use in the past 12 months. Longer distance from residence to hospital (per 10-mile increase) was associated with

greater odds of use of telemedicine, although this was not statistically significant (AOR 1.02, 95% CI 0.96-1.09; Table 3). Clinicopathologic and treatment factors were not significantly associated with telemedicine use (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2). In subgroup analyses, ADI scores were not significantly different between videoconference and telephone visits (AOR 0.88, 95% CI 0.73-1.07). We also observed that patients with a graduate or professional degree had greater odds of using videoconference visits (AOR 5.78, 95% CI 1.03-32.55), and patients on Medicare had lower odds of videoconference visit use than privately insured patients (AOR 0.26, 95% CI 0.07-0.91; Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2).



Table 3. Association between neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and telemedicine use in patients with breast cancer.

Variable	Model 1, adjusted odds ratio ^a (95% CI)	P value	Model 2, adjusted odds ratio ^b (95% CI)	P value	Model 3, adjusted odds ratio ^c (95% CI)	P value
Area Deprivation Index ^d (continuous) ^e	0.93 (0.87-0.99)	.03	0.89 (0.82-0.96)	.005	0.89 (0.82-0.97)	.004
Distance from residence to hospital ^e	1.04 (0.99-1.10)	.13	1.03 (0.97-1.09)	.40	1.02 (0.96-1.09)	.48
Age (y) at survey						
<45	1.0 (reference)		1.0 (reference)		1.0 (reference)	
45-54	0.55 (0.33-0.94)	.03	0.53 (0.29-0.97)	.04	0.49 (0.27-0.91)	.02
55-64	0.57 (0.35-0.93)	.02	0.64 (0.37-1.11)	.11	0.63 (0.36-1.12)	.11
≥65	0.65 (0.39-1.09)	.10	0.62 (0.34-1.13)	.12	0.63 (0.34-1.18)	.16
Race and ethnicity						
Asian	0.55 (0.26-1.17)	.12	0.50 (0.20-1.22)	.13	0.50 (0.20-1.23)	.16
Black	1.86 (1.21-2.86)	.005	2.50 (1.48-4.20)	.001	2.38 (1.41-4.00)	.001
Hispanic	2.12 (1.02-4.41)	.04	2.85 (1.17-6.91)	.02	2.65 (1.07-6.58)	.03
White	1.0 (reference)		1.0 (reference)		1.0 (reference)	
Highest level of education						
High school, GED ^f , or less	1.0 (reference)		1.0 (reference)		1.0 (reference)	
Associate's degree or some college	2.66 (1.47-4.81)	.001	2.76 (1.40-5.44)	.003	2.67 (1.33-5.35)	.006
Bachelor's degree	2.43 (1.35-4.38)	.003	2.61 (1.33-5.10)	.005	2.75 (1.38-5.48)	.004
Graduate or professional degree	2.46 (1.39-4.38)	.002	2.55 (1.32-4.93)	.005	2.57 (1.31-5.04)	.006
Duration (y) from cancer diagnosis to	survey					
≤3	1.0 (reference)		1.0 (reference)		1.0 (reference)	
4-6	0.63 (0.41-0.96)	.03	0.67 (0.42-1.08)	.12	0.75 (0.46-1.21)	.24
≥7	0.67 (0.45-1.01)	.05	0.60 (0.38-0.96)	.04	0.65 (0.40-1.05)	.09

^aAdditionally adjusted for marital status, health insurance, and Charlson comorbidity index.

^bAdditionally adjusted for marital status, health insurance, Charlson comorbidity index, histologic type, stage, molecular subtype, and tumor grade.

^cAdditionally adjusted for marital status; type of health insurance; Charlson comorbidity index; histologic type; stage; molecular subtype; tumor grade; receipt of chemotherapy, hormone therapy, or radiotherapy; and type of surgery.

^dThe Area Deprivation Index (national ranking percentile) is a composite measure consisting of the domains of income, education, employment, and housing quality. It ranks neighborhoods by socioeconomic disadvantage at the national level and is scored from 1 to 100, with higher scores representing greater neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation.

^eOdds ratios were per 10-unit increase.

^tGED: General Educational Development Test.

Comparisons of Provisions of Oncology Services Between Telehealth and In-Person Visits

Figure 1 displays the breakdown of oncology services by visit type for the patients with breast cancer. Overall, 31.3% (130/416) of the patients used telemedicine for the purpose of treatment consultation; 22.4% (93/416) for reviewing laboratory, screening, and pathology test results; 13.5% (56/416) for managing cancer symptoms and treatment side effects; 4.3% (18/416) for cancer genetic counseling; and 3.4% (14/416) for cancer clinical trial follow-ups. Among patients who had in-person visits, reviewing laboratory, screening, and pathology test results was reported the most (322/1072, 30.04%), followed by treatment consultation (265/1072, 24.72%), management of cancer symptoms and treatment side effects (169/1072, 15.76%), genetic counseling (54/1072, 5.04%), and cancer clinical trial

follow-ups (54/1072, 5.04%). After analyzing match-paired data (Table 4), we observed significant differences between telemedicine and in-person visits in the provision of management of cancer symptoms and treatment side effects; review of laboratory, screening, and pathology test results; and cancer clinical trial follow-ups. However, there were no significant differences in offering treatment consultation (45/405, 11.1% vs 55/405, 13.6%; P=.32) or cancer genetic counseling (11/405, 2.7% vs 19/405, 4.7%; P=.14) between telehealth and in-person visits (Table 4).

Among the patients with breast cancer who reported management of cancer symptoms and treatment side effects (Figure 2), those with in-person visits had greater proportions of instances of discussions of fatigue (85/169, 50.3% vs 23/56, 41%), hot flashes (77/169, 45.6% vs 19/56, 34%), lymphedema (44/169, 26% vs 11/56, 20%), chemotherapy-induced

XSL•FO RenderX

neuropathy (42/169, 24.9% vs 11/56, 20%), or nausea and vomiting (27/169, 16% vs 5/56, 9%) than patients with telehealth visits, whereas a higher proportion of patients had discussed depressive symptoms through telemedicine than in-person visits (21/56, 38% vs 50/169, 29.6%). By modality of telemedicine, a higher percentage of patients used both telephone and video

visits for treatment consultation than video visit or telephone visit alone (Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 2). In addition, there were no significant differences in the distributions of various methods of managing cancer symptoms and treatment side effects across the 3 telemedicine modalities (Table S4 in Multimedia Appendix 2).

Figure 1. Percentages of oncology services by type of visit among patients with breast cancer.





Freeman et al

Table 4. Analysis of match-paired data on oncology services by type of visit among patients with breast cancer (n=405).

Type of visit and variable	Telemedicine visits, n (%)		P value ^a
	No	Yes	
In-person visits, n (%)			
Treatment consultation			.32
No	222 (54.8)	45 (11.1)	
Yes	55 (13.6)	83 (20.5)	
Management of treatment side effects or cancer sym	ptoms		<.001
No	295 (72.8)	15 (3.7)	
Yes	54 (13.3)	41 (10.1)	
Review of laboratory, screening, and pathology test i	results		<.001
No	224 (55.3)	26 (6.4)	
Yes	90 (22.2)	65 (16)	
Cancer genetic counseling			.14
No	368 (90.9)	11 (2.7)	
Yes	19 (4.7)	7 (1.7)	
Cancer clinical trial follow-up visits			.046
No	379 (93.6)	4 (1)	
Yes	12 (3)	10 (2.5)	

 $^{\mathrm{a}}P$ values were calculated using the McNemar test.

Figure 2. Percentages of cancer symptoms and treatment side effects discussed during telemedicine or in-person visits reported by patients with breast cancer.



Telemedicine Use Challenges or Concerns and Satisfaction

Compared with the patients with breast cancer who did not use telemedicine, those who did reported a higher percentage of technology difficulty or lack of comfort with technology (51/416, 12.3% vs 21/741, 2.8%; P<.001), compromised patient-provider communication (28/416, 6.7% vs 16/741, 2.2%; P<.001), and compromised patient-provider relationship (35/416, 8.4% vs 12/741, 1.6%; P<.001; Table 5). Furthermore,

of the telemedicine users, 93.7% (132/141) and 95.5% (301/315) reported being somewhat to extremely satisfied with their telephone visit and videoconference visit experiences, respectively, and 61.8% (254/411) were likely or very likely to continue using telemedicine (Table S5 in Multimedia Appendix 2). In addition, no significant differential distributions of satisfaction with telehealth visits across all oncology services were observed, stratified by modality of telemedicine (Tables 6 and 7) or overall (Table S6 in Multimedia Appendix 2).

 Table 5. Percentages of challenges or concerns regarding telemedicine use reported by patients with breast cancer (n=1157).

Variables	Overall (n=1157), n (%)	Had a telehealth visit in th	Had a telehealth visit in the past 12 months	
		No (n=741), n (%)	Yes (n=416), n (%)	
Technology difficulty	or lack of comfort with technology	7		<.001
No	1085 (93.8)	720 (97.2)	365 (87.7)	
Yes	72 (6.2)	21 (2.8)	51 (12.3)	
Lack of an electronic	device (eg, desktop computer, lapt	op computer, smartphone, or iF	Pad)	.20
No	1151 (99.5)	739 (99.7)	412 (99)	
Yes	6 (0.5)	2 (0.3)	4 (1)	
Lack of high-speed in	ternet or slow internet connection	at home		.06
No	1133 (97.9)	730 (98.5)	403 (96.9)	
Yes	24 (2.1)	11 (1.5)	13 (3.1)	
Compromised patient	t-provider communication			<.001
No	1113 (96.2)	725 (97.8)	388 (93.3)	
Yes	44 (3.8)	16 (2.2)	28 (6.7)	
Compromised patient	t-provider relationship			<.001
No	1110 (95.9)	729 (98.4)	381 (91.6)	
Yes	47 (4.1)	12 (1.6)	35 (8.4)	
Not being offered at t	he clinic or by a provider			.80
No	1140 (98.5)	729 (98.4)	411 (98.8)	
Yes	17 (1.5)	12 (1.6)	5 (1.2)	
Cost				.30
No	1148 (99.2)	737 (99.5)	411 (98.8)	
Yes	9 (0.8)	4 (0.5)	5 (1.2)	
Not being covered by	health insurance			.22
No	1146 (99)	736 (99.3)	410 (98.6)	
Yes	11 (1)	5 (0.7)	6 (1.4)	

^aP values were calculated using Pearson chi-square or Fisher exact tests.



Freeman et al

Table 6. Percentages of satisfaction with telephone visit by oncology service among patients with breast cancer (n=141).

Were your telemedicine visits related to the following oncology services?	How satisfied were you with your telephone visit with physicians or other health care providers?					P value ^a
	Not at all (n=2), n (%)	A little (n=7), n (%)	Somewhat (n=28), n (%)	Very (n=62), n (%)	Extremely (n=42), n (%)	
Treatment consultation						.70
No	1 (1)	5 (5)	20 (19.8)	44 (43.6)	31 (30.7)	
Yes	1 (2)	2 (5)	8 (20)	18 (45)	11 (27.5)	
Review of laboratory, screening, and path	nology test results					.92
No	1 (1.0)	3 (3.0)	25 (24.8)	41 (40.6)	31 (30.7)	
Yes	1 (2.5)	4 (10.0)	3 (7.5)	21 (52.5)	11 (27.5)	
Management of treatment side effects or	cancer symptoms					.22
No	1 (0.8)	7 (5.7)	24 (19.5)	51 (41.5)	40 (32.5)	
Yes	1 (5.6)	0 (0)	4 (22.2)	11 (61.1)	2 (11.1)	
Cancer genetic counseling						.58
No	2 (1.5)	7 (5.3)	26 (19.6)	57 (42.9)	41 (30.8)	
Yes	0 (0)	0 (0)	2 (25)	5 (62.5)	1 (12.5)	
Cancer clinical trial follow-up visits						.95
No	2 (1.4)	7 (5.0)	28 (20.0)	61 (43.6)	42 (300)	
Yes	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (100)	0 (0)	

^aP values were calculated using Wilcoxon rank sum tests.

services?

Table 7. Percentages of satisfaction with videoconference visit by oncology service among patients with breast cancer (n=315).

Were your telemedicine visits How satisfied were you with your videoconference visit with physicians or other health care providers? P value^a

	Not at all (n=8), n (%)	A little (n=6), n (%)	Somewhat (n=56), n (%)	Very (n=157), n (%)	Extremely (n=88), n (%)	
Treatment consultation						.78
No	4 (2)	5 (2.5)	36 (17.7)	104 (51)	55 (27)	
Yes	4 (3.6)	1 (0.9)	20 (18)	53 (47.8)	33 (29.7)	
Review of laboratory, screening	g, and pathology (test results				.77
No	6 (2.4)	4 (1.6)	47 (19.1)	117 (47.6)	72 (29.3)	
Yes	2 (2.9)	2 (2.9)	9 (13)	40 (58)	16 (23.2)	
Management of treatment side	effects or cancer	symptoms				.20
No	8 (3)	6 (2.2)	50 (18.5)	132 (48.9)	74 (27.4)	
Yes	0 (0)	0 (0)	6 (13.3)	25 (55.6)	14 (31.1)	
Cancer genetic counseling						.98
No	7 (2.3)	6 (2)	54 (17.9)	150 (49.8)	84 (27.9)	
Yes	1 (7.1)	0 (0)	2 (14.3)	7 (50)	4 (28.6)	
Cancer clinical trial follow-up	visits					.48
No	8 (2.7)	6 (2)	54 (17.9)	146 (48.5)	87 (28.9)	
Yes	0 (0)	0 (0)	2 (14.3)	11 (78.6)	1 (7.1)	

^aP values were calculated using Wilcoxon rank sum tests.

XSL•FO RenderX

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study built on previous work investigating the relationship between neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and telemedicine use among patients with breast cancer and comparing provisions of oncology services between telehealth and in-person office visits. Telemedicine use has expanded dramatically since the COVID-19 pandemic began. However, not all patients with breast cancer benefited from the expansion; as our study uncovered, patients with higher ADI scores (ie, lower neighborhood-level SES) were less likely to have used telemedicine in the past 12 months. Although patients cited technology difficulty or lack of comfort with technology as well compromised patient-provider communication as and compromised patient-provider relationship as common challenges or concerns, they expressed high degrees of satisfaction with telehealth experiences and willingness to continue using telehealth care and services in the future. In addition, both telemedicine and in-person visits were equally likely to deliver treatment consultation and cancer genetic counseling, while services that were more likely to be offered in person were management of cancer symptoms and treatment side effects; review of laboratory, screening, and pathology test results; and cancer clinical trial follow-ups.

One key study finding is that patients with breast cancer living in greater socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods were less likely to use telemedicine for care and services, consistent with previous studies of patients in primary care, adult outpatient, and hematology or oncology settings [8,24-28]. A descriptive study suggested no correlation between ADI scores and interest in telehealth visits among 64 patients with head and neck cancers (interested: median ADI score=4.0 vs not interested: median ADI score=5.0; P=.79) [27], but the small sample size limited the reliability of these findings. Lee et al [28] analyzed a cohort of 341,089 patients with hematologic malignancies and patients with cancer, demonstrating a significant difference in the distribution of telemedicine use between patients living in the most socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods and those living in the least socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods (46.1% vs 54%) [28]. However, the proportion of patients with breast cancer as well as adjusted estimates are unknown due to the descriptive nature of this analysis. In another study, Hassan et al [8] observed a 3% decrease in the number of telemedicine visits per 10-unit increase in the ADI score among patients with cancer who were financially distressed, whereas an 11% decrease in telemedicine use was observed in our cohort of patients with breast cancer. Our estimated effect is larger possibly due to our large sample size and the heterogeneous group of patients with breast cancer. Our findings indicate that neighborhood-level SES may have a bigger impact on the use of telemedicine among patients with breast cancer. Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage is associated with lower access to telehealth care and services. Strategies to enhance the accessibility of telehealth are needed to reduce neighborhood-level socioeconomic disparities in telemedicine use among patients with breast cancer, particularly among

patients living in socioeconomically deprived neighborhoods and regions.

Consistent with prior research in patients with breast, gynecologic, or other cancers [3,4,11], we found that >1 in 3 patients with breast cancer had had a telehealth visit in the past 12 months. With respect to race and ethnicity, Black or Hispanic patients were more than twice as likely as their White counterparts to have used telemedicine. In previous studies, Campos-Castillo and Anthony [44] observed that Black or Latinx American adults were more likely to have telehealth visits, and Reed et al [45] documented a higher likelihood of patients using both telephone and video visits for primary care. However, a study at an outpatient oncology care center revealed that Asian or Hispanic patients were less likely than White patients to have used telemedicine, while no significant difference existed between Black and White patients [11]. These inconsistent results are possibly due to sampling variability and the heterogeneous characteristics of patient populations in oncology and other clinical settings. Nevertheless, our finding indicates that patients belonging to racial and ethnic minority groups with breast cancer may have unique and greater needs for telehealth. Similarly, compared to patients with high school or less education, those with an associate's, bachelor's, or graduate degree had >2-fold greater odds of telemedicine use. Older age groups were associated with a lower likelihood of telemedicine use. These findings are well documented in the literature and highlight the influence of individual-level SES on the use of telemedicine. Telemedicine may have the potential to improve telehealth care and service use among patients belonging to racial and ethnic minority groups with breast cancer. Oncology programs should also ensure that patients who are older and those with lower levels of education have equal access to telehealth care and services.

Another notable finding is that patient-reported treatment consultations and cancer genetic counseling services occur with an equal frequency when comparing telemedicine and in-person office visits. Our study supports existing literature on the feasibility and acceptability of teleoncology consultations and telehealth-based cancer genetic counseling among providers and their patients with cancer [7,31-42]. However, only a few prior studies compared these oncology services between telemedicine and in-person visits, and most samples were small. A univariate analysis of 509 patients with cancer from the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center reported a similar distribution of patients seeking integrative oncology consultation between telehealth and in-person settings [37]. McDonald et al [46] illustrated no significant differences in providing cancer genetic services (in-person vs telegenetics) by residential area or perceived cancer risk. We also observed that patients were particularly more likely to join treatment consultations through videoconference than telephone. However, we found significant variations between telehealth and in-person office visits in provisions of management of cancer symptoms and treatment side effects; review of laboratory, screening, and pathology test results; and cancer clinical trial follow-ups. In the subgroup of patients with breast cancer who reported management of cancer symptoms and treatment side effects, more than one-third of the patients discussed depressive

XSL•FO RenderX

symptoms or mood change (23/56, 41%) or anxiety or stress (20/56, 36%) during telehealth visits with their providers. This finding indicates that telemedicine may be in greater need among these patients. Taken together, our data demonstrate the variations in provisions of oncology services between telemedicine and in-person visits among patients with breast cancer. Cancer programs and providers may consider tailoring the delivery of care and services according to patients' care needs and preferences. Future research will be necessary to explore reasons or factors that explain these variations and whether there are unmet telehealth needs in patients with breast cancer experiencing certain mental health symptoms.

With regard to challenges or concerns related to telemedicine use, we found that significantly higher proportions of the patients with breast cancer who had telehealth visits cited technology difficulty or lack of comfort with technology, compromised patient-provider communication, or compromised patient-provider relationship. Possibly, the telemedicine nonusers in our study did not have firsthand experience of technology difficulty. Our finding is aligned with previous research [27] but not with 2 cross-sectional studies [9,38] that reported similar patient-provider communication experiences when comparing telehealth and in-person visits. Analyses are further needed to determine the correlations between telemedicine use and these challenges or concerns among patients with breast cancer. Despite these challenges or concerns, patients reported a remarkably high level of satisfaction with their telemedicine use experiences (390/407, 95.8%), and 61.8% (254/411) expressed the willingness to continue telemedicine use, congruent with prior studies in patients with cancer [6,7,10,33,34]. However, prior research evaluated only overall satisfaction, whereas we found a similar level of satisfaction by type of oncology service or across various cancer symptoms and treatment side effects discussed during telehealth visits, irrespective of the modality of telemedicine. These findings offer a practical implication for telehealth implementation and care and service delivery, but future research in telemedicine program evaluation is necessary.

Limitations

Several limitations of this study should be considered. First, the survey data were per self-report, which is prone to recall error or social desirability. However, this bias is likely very minimal because our research staff had limited to no interaction with the participants that would influence the survey responses. Second, the study sample included only patients with breast cancer who were willing to respond to our survey. The proportions of self-reported visits for oncology services and perceived challenges or concerns related to telemedicine use have probably been underestimated. Our estimated effect of neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage on telehealth use in patients with breast cancer may also be underestimated. Third, this study evaluated broader access to telehealth care and services, including oncology; therefore, the results may not be specific to breast oncology. However, it is important to point out that, regardless of treatment status and duration since diagnosis, patients have other care and service needs across the cancer care continuum and different clinical settings. Fourth, distance from residence to hospital was not associated with telemedicine use. It was calculated based on the Haversine formula, which did not account for travel time, traffic patterns, lack of transportation, road conditions, weather, and other environmental factors. In addition, we were not able to assess other unmeasured potential confounding factors, such as the availability and density of telehealth clinics or cancer programs in the geographic area and local technology or digital infrastructure, that could affect the associations or variability we observed in this analysis. Thus, this warrants future research. Finally, participants in the ChiMEC study may not be representative of all patients with breast cancer nationally, which limits the generalizability of our findings.

Conclusions

In conclusion, our findings from ChiMEC patients with breast cancer offer insights into the impact of neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage on telemedicine use and comparing provisions of oncology services between telehealth and in-person office visits, underscoring the importance of identifying neighborhood-level socioeconomic disparities and patients' unmet needs for telemedicine. Oncology programs should address these disparities and needs to improve care delivery and achieve telehealth equity for their patient populations. Meanwhile, as cancer centers and research organizations further embrace telemedicine and other digital platforms, it is essential to tackle patients' perceived challenges or concerns and consider allocating these platforms to particular care and services, such as genetic counseling, treatment consultation, and management of depressive symptoms and anxiety, to provide high-quality telehealth care and services to patients with breast cancer.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to patients enrolled in the Chicago Multiethnic Epidemiologic Breast Cancer Cohort and the study participants who responded to our survey. The authors also appreciate their research staff's assistance and support for the project.

This study is supported by the Breast Cancer Research Foundation (BCRF-23-071), the Department of Defense (W81XH2210791), the National Cancer Institute (P20CA233307 and K08CA283261), the Susan G Komen Breast Cancer Foundation (TREND21675016 and SAC210203), and the National Institute on Aging (T32AG000243 and R24AG066588). Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the National Cancer Institute and the National Institute on Aging.

Data Availability

The data sets generated and analyzed during this study are not publicly available due to patient confidentiality and privacy concerns but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

JQF was responsible for conceptualization, methodology, design, survey development, data analysis, formatting tables and figures, and writing the initial manuscript. FZ was responsible for methodology, design, survey development, research implementation, and data collection. FMH was responsible for conceptualization, methodology, and design. RN was responsible for methodology, design, survey development, and research implementation. OIO was responsible for methodology, design, and research implementation. DH was responsible for conceptualization, methodology, design, survey development, research implementation, and overall supervision. All authors contributed to the interpretations of the findings; writing, reviewing, and editing the manuscript; and the approval of the final manuscript and submission.

Conflicts of Interest

RN has advisory board involvement with, and research funding from, Arvinas, AstraZeneca, BeyondSpring Pharmaceuticals, Celgene, FujiFilm, Genentech, Gilead, Infinity, iTeos, Merck, OBI Pharma, OncoSec, Pfizer, Relay Therapeutics, Seagen, Sun Pharma, and Taiho Pharma. OIO has financial relationships with CancerIQ, 54gene, HealthWell Solutions, and Tempus, as well as research funding from Ayala Pharmaceuticals, Cepheid, Color Genomics, Novartis, and Genentech. All other authors declare no other conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Survey questions regarding telehealth and in-person office visits. [DOCX File, 25 KB - cancer v10i1e55438 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Associations between neighborhood socioeconomics disadvantage and telemedicine use (video conference versus telephone); comparing provisions of oncology services by modality of telemedicine; and patient satisfaction with telemedicine. [DOCX File, 50 KB - cancer v10i1e55438 app2.docx]

References

- 1. Fact sheet: telehealth. American Hospital Association. URL: <u>https://www.aha.org/factsheet/telehealth</u> [accessed 2024-06-12]
- Koonin LM, Hoots B, Tsang CA, Leroy Z, Farris K, Jolly B, et al. Trends in the use of telehealth during the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic - United States, January-March 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Oct 30;69(43):1595-1599 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6943a3] [Medline: 33119561]
- 3. Zimmerman BS, Seidman D, Berger N, Cascetta KP, Nezolosky M, Trlica K, et al. Patient perception of telehealth services for breast and gynecologic oncology care during the COVID-19 pandemic: a single center survey-based study. J Breast Cancer 2020 Oct;23(5):542-552 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4048/jbc.2020.23.e56] [Medline: 33154829]
- 4. Lucas JW, Villarroel MA. Telemedicine use among adults : United States, 2021. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2022. URL: <u>https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/121435</u> [accessed 2024-06-12]
- Sonagli M, Cagnacci Neto R, Leite FP, Makdissi FB. The use of telemedicine to maintain breast cancer follow-up and surveillance during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Surg Oncol 2021 Feb 17;123(2):371-374. [doi: <u>10.1002/jso.26327</u>] [Medline: <u>33333581</u>]
- Johnson BA, Lindgren BR, Blaes AH, Parsons HM, LaRocca CJ, Farah R, et al. The new normal? patient satisfaction and usability of telemedicine in breast cancer care. Ann Surg Oncol 2021 Oct 17;28(10):5668-5676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1245/s10434-021-10448-6] [Medline: <u>34275045</u>]
- Bizot A, Karimi M, Rassy E, Heudel PE, Levy C, Vanlemmens L, et al. Multicenter evaluation of breast cancer patients' satisfaction and experience with oncology telemedicine visits during the COVID-19 pandemic. Br J Cancer 2021 Nov 29;125(11):1486-1493 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41416-021-01555-y] [Medline: 34588616]
- 8. Hassan AM, Chu CK, Liu J, Angove R, Rocque G, Gallagher KD, et al. Determinants of telemedicine adoption among financially distressed patients with cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic: insights from a nationwide study. Support Care Cancer 2022 Sep 10;30(9):7665-7678 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-022-07204-1] [Medline: 35689108]
- Ludwigson A, Huynh V, Myers S, Hampanda K, Christian N, Ahrendt G, et al. Patient perceptions of changes in breast cancer care and well-being during COVID-19: a mixed methods study. Ann Surg Oncol 2022 Mar 20;29(3):1649-1657 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1245/s10434-021-11209-1] [Medline: 34928479]
- Freeman JQ, Khwaja A, Zhao F, Nanda R, Olopade OI, Huo D. Racial/ethnic disparities in telemedicine utilization and satisfaction among breast cancer patients during the COVID-19 pandemic: a mixed-methods analysis. Telemed J E Health 2024 Mar 01;30(3):651-663. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2023.0225</u>] [Medline: <u>37676974</u>]

RenderX

- 11. Qian AS, Schiaffino MK, Nalawade V, Aziz L, Pacheco FV, Nguyen B, et al. Disparities in telemedicine during COVID-19. Cancer Med 2022 Feb 05;11(4):1192-1201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.4518] [Medline: 34989148]
- Kircher SM, Mulcahy M, Kalyan A, Weldon CB, Trosman JR, Benson AB. Telemedicine in oncology and reimbursement policy during COVID-19 and beyond. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2020 Sep 30:1-7. [doi: <u>10.6004/jnccn.2020.7639</u>] [Medline: <u>32998106</u>]
- 13. Medicare telemedicine health care provider fact sheet. U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. 2020 Mar 17. URL: https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/medicare-telemedicine-health-care-provider-fact-sheet [accessed 2024-06-12]
- 14. Zon RT, Kennedy EB, Adelson K, Blau S, Dickson N, Gill D, et al. Telehealth in oncology: ASCO standards and practice recommendations. JCO Oncol Pract 2021 Sep;17(9):546-564. [doi: 10.1200/op.21.00438]
- 15. Social determinants of health. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. URL: <u>https://health.gov/healthypeople/</u> priority-areas/social-determinants-health [accessed 2024-06-12]
- Kolak M, Bhatt J, Park YH, Padrón NA, Molefe A. Quantification of neighborhood-level social determinants of health in the continental United States. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Jan 03;3(1):e1919928 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.19928] [Medline: <u>31995211</u>]
- Rosenzweig MQ, Althouse AD, Sabik L, Arnold R, Chu E, Smith TJ, et al. The association between area deprivation index and patient-reported outcomes in patients with advanced cancer. Health Equity 2021 Jan 01;5(1):8-16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/heq.2020.0037] [Medline: 33564735]
- Fairfield KM, Black AW, Ziller EC, Murray K, Lucas FL, Waterston LB, et al. Area deprivation index and rurality in relation to lung cancer prevalence and mortality in a rural state. JNCI Cancer Spectr 2020 Aug;4(4):pkaa011 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jncics/pkaa011] [Medline: 32676551]
- Kurani SS, McCoy RG, Lampman MA, Doubeni CA, Finney Rutten LJ, Inselman JW, et al. Association of neighborhood measures of social determinants of health with breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening rates in the US Midwest. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Mar 02;3(3):e200618 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.0618] [Medline: 32150271]
- 20. Major JM, Norman Oliver M, Doubeni CA, Hollenbeck AR, Graubard BI, Sinha R. Socioeconomic status, healthcare density, and risk of prostate cancer among African American and Caucasian men in a large prospective study. Cancer Causes Control 2012 Jul 22;23(7):1185-1191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10552-012-9988-8] [Medline: 22674292]
- 21. Unger JM, Moseley AB, Cheung CK, Osarogiagbon RU, Symington B, Ramsey SD, et al. Persistent disparity: socioeconomic deprivation and cancer outcomes in patients treated in clinical trials. J Clin Oncol 2021 Apr 20;39(12):1339-1348. [doi: 10.1200/jco.20.02602]
- Hassan AM, Nguyen HT, Corkum JP, Liu J, Kapur SK, Chu CK, et al. Area deprivation index is associated with variation in quality of life and psychosocial well-being following breast cancer surgery. Ann Surg Oncol 2023 Jan 09;30(1):80-87. [doi: <u>10.1245/s10434-022-12506-z</u>] [Medline: <u>36085393</u>]
- 23. Arcaya MC, Tucker-Seeley RD, Kim R, Schnake-Mahl A, So M, Subramanian SV. Research on neighborhood effects on health in the United States: a systematic review of study characteristics. Soc Sci Med 2016 Nov;168:16-29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.08.047] [Medline: 27637089]
- Ostovari M, Zhang Z, Patel V, Jurkovitz C. Telemedicine and health disparities: association between the area deprivation index and primary care telemedicine utilization during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Clin Transl Sci 2023 Jul 10;7(1):e168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/cts.2023.580] [Medline: 37588680]
- 25. Brown SH, Griffith ML, Kripalani S, Horst SN. Association of health literacy and area deprivation with initiation and completion of telehealth visits in adult medicine clinics across a large health care system. JAMA Netw Open 2022 Jul 01;5(7):e2223571 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.23571] [Medline: 35877125]
- 26. Hsiao V, Chandereng T, Lankton RL, Huebner JA, Baltus JJ, Flood GE, et al. Disparities in telemedicine access: a cross-sectional study of a newly established infrastructure during the COVID-19 pandemic. Appl Clin Inform 2021 May 09;12(3):445-458 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1730026] [Medline: 34107542]
- Fassas S, Cummings E, Sykes KJ, Bur AM, Shnayder Y, Kakarala K. Telemedicine for head and neck cancer surveillance in the COVID-19 era: promise and pitfalls. Head Neck 2021 Jun 04;43(6):1872-1880 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/hed.26659] [Medline: <u>33660409</u>]
- 28. Lee MJ, Lyon L, Conell CA, Sun H, Anderson B, Neeman E, et al. Trends and disparities in oncology telehealth after the initial pandemic era. J Clin Oncol 2023 Jun 01;41(16_suppl):1606. [doi: <u>10.1200/jco.2023.41.16 suppl.1606</u>]
- Kind AJ, Buckingham WR. Making neighborhood-disadvantage metrics accessible the neighborhood atlas. N Engl J Med 2018 Jun 28;378(26):2456-2458. [doi: <u>10.1056/nejmp1802313</u>]
- 30. 2015 Area deprivation index v2.0. University of Wisconsin School of Medicine Public Health. URL: <u>https://www.neighborhoodatlas.medicine.wisc.edu/</u> [accessed 2024-06-12]
- Hsiehchen D, Muquith M, Haque W, Espinoza M, Yopp A, Beg MS. Clinical efficiency and safety outcomes of virtual care for oncology patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. JCO Oncol Pract 2021 Sep;17(9):e1327-e1332. [doi: 10.1200/op.21.00092]
- 32. Chávarri-Guerra Y, Ramos-López WA, Covarrubias-Gómez A, Sánchez-Román S, Quiroz-Friedman P, Alcocer-Castillejos N, et al. Providing supportive and palliative care using telemedicine for patients with advanced cancer during the COVID-19

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55438
```

RenderX

pandemic in Mexico. Oncologist 2021 Mar;26(3):e512-e515 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/onco.13568] [Medline: 33094533]

- 33. Nandra K, Koenig G, DelMastro A, Mishler EA, Hollander JE, Yeo CJ. Telehealth provides a comprehensive approach to the surgical patient. Am J Surg 2019 Sep;218(3):476-479. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjsurg.2018.09.020</u>] [Medline: <u>30253859</u>]
- Chang PJ, Jay GM, Kalpakjian C, Andrews C, Smith S. Patient and provider-reported satisfaction of cancer rehabilitation telemedicine visits during the COVID-19 pandemic. PM R 2021 Dec;13(12):1362-1368 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pmrj.12552] [Medline: <u>33455066</u>]
- 35. Kummerow Broman K, Vella MA, Tarpley JL, Dittus RS, Roumie CL. Identification of postoperative care amenable to telehealth. Surgery 2016 Aug;160(2):264-271. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.surg.2016.02.015</u>] [Medline: <u>27059636</u>]
- 36. Hwa K, Wren SM. Telehealth follow-up in lieu of postoperative clinic visit for ambulatory surgery: results of a pilot program. JAMA Surg 2013 Sep 01;148(9):823-827. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamasurg.2013.2672</u>] [Medline: <u>23842982</u>]
- Narayanan S, Lopez G, Powers-James C, Fellman BM, Chunduru A, Li Y, et al. Integrative oncology consultations delivered via telehealth in 2020 and in-person in 2019: paradigm shift during the COVID-19 world pandemic. Integr Cancer Ther 2021;20:1534735421999101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1534735421999101] [Medline: 33655797]
- Street RLJ, Treiman K, Kranzler EC, Moultrie R, Arena L, Mack N, et al. Oncology patients' communication experiences during COVID-19: comparing telehealth consultations to in-person visits. Support Care Cancer 2022 Jun 09;30(6):4769-4780 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-022-06897-8] [Medline: 35141772]
- Brown J, Athens A, Tait DL, Crane EK, Higgins RV, Naumann RW, et al. A comprehensive program enabling effective delivery of regional genetic counseling. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2018 Jun 01;28(5):996-1002. [doi: 10.1097/igc.00000000001256]
- 40. Mette LA, Saldívar AM, Poullard NE, Torres IC, Seth SG, Pollock BH, et al. Reaching high-risk underserved individuals for cancer genetic counseling by video-teleconferencing. J Community Support Oncol 2016 Apr;14(4):162-168. [doi: 10.12788/jcso.0247] [Medline: 27152515]
- Pruthi S, Stange KJ, Malagrino GDJ, Chawla KS, LaRusso NF, Kaur JS. Successful implementation of a telemedicine-based counseling program for high-risk patients with breast cancer. Mayo Clin Proc 2013 Jan;88(1):68-73. [doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2012.10.015] [Medline: 23274020]
- Solomons NM, Lamb AE, Lucas FL, McDonald EF, Miesfeldt S. Examination of the patient-focused impact of cancer telegenetics among a rural population: comparison with traditional in-person services. Telemed J E Health 2018 Feb;24(2):130-138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2017.0073] [Medline: 28737998]
- Zhao F, Copley B, Niu Q, Liu F, Johnson JA, Sutton T, et al. Racial disparities in survival outcomes among breast cancer patients by molecular subtypes. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2021 Feb 27;185(3):841-849 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-020-05984-w] [Medline: 33111220]
- 44. Campos-Castillo C, Anthony D. Racial and ethnic differences in self-reported telehealth use during the COVID-19 pandemic: a secondary analysis of a US survey of internet users from late March. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2021 Jan 15;28(1):119-125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa221] [Medline: 32894772]
- 45. Reed ME, Huang J, Graetz I, Lee C, Muelly E, Kennedy C, et al. Patient characteristics associated with choosing a telemedicine visit vs office visit with the same primary care clinicians. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Jun 01;3(6):e205873 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.5873] [Medline: 32585018]
- McDonald E, Lamb A, Grillo B, Lucas L, Miesfeldt S. Acceptability of telemedicine and other cancer genetic counseling models of service delivery in geographically remote settings. J Genet Couns 2014 Apr 08;23(2):221-228. [doi: 10.1007/s10897-013-9652-9] [Medline: 24014153]

Abbreviations

ADI: Area Deprivation Index AOR: adjusted odds ratio ChiMEC: Chicago Multiethnic Epidemiologic Breast Cancer Cohort SES: socioeconomic status



Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 12.12.23; peer-reviewed by W Tang, K Natsuhara; comments to author 05.03.24; revised version received 20.03.24; accepted 24.04.24; published 18.07.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Freeman JQ, Zhao F, Howard FM, Nanda R, Olopade OI, Huo D Assessing the Relationship Between Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage and Telemedicine Use Among Patients With Breast Cancer and Examining Differential Provisions of Oncology Services Between Telehealth and In-Person Visits: Quantitative Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e55438 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e55438 doi:10.2196/55438 PMID:

©Jincong Q Freeman, Fangyuan Zhao, Frederick M Howard, Rita Nanda, Olufunmilayo I Olopade, Dezheng Huo. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 18.07.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Experiences of a Digital Behavior Change Intervention to Prevent Weight Gain and Promote Risk-Reducing Health Behaviors for Women Aged 18 to 35 Years at Increased Risk of Breast Cancer: Qualitative Interview Study

Rhiannon E Hawkes¹, PhD; Mary Pegington^{2,3}, PhD; Alan Davies⁴, PhD; Julia Mueller⁵, PhD; Anthony Howell^{2,3,6}, MBBS, FRCP; D Gareth Evans^{3,6,7}, MD, FRCP; Sacha J Howell^{2,3,6,8}, BMBS, FRCP; David P French¹, PhD; Michelle Harvie^{2,3,6}, PhD, SRD

¹Manchester Centre for Health Psychology, School of Health Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom

³The Prevent Breast Cancer Research Unit, The Nightingale Centre, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester, United Kingdom

⁵Medical Research Council Epidemiology Unit, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom

⁶Manchester Breast Centre, Oglesby Cancer Research Centre, The Christie NHS Foundation Trust, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom

⁷Genomic Medicine, Division of Evolution, Infection and Genomic Sciences, University of Manchester, St Mary's Hospital, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester, United Kingdom

⁸Department of Medical Oncology, The Christie NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Rhiannon E Hawkes, PhD Manchester Centre for Health Psychology School of Health Sciences University of Manchester Coupland 1 Building Oxford Road Manchester, M13 9PL United Kingdom Phone: 44 0161 275 2584 Email: rhiannon.hawkes@manchester.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Breast cancer is the most common form of cancer in women. Adult weight gain and modifiable health behaviors, including smoking, alcohol intake, and lack of physical activity, are well-known risk factors. Most weight gain in women occurs between the ages of 18 and 35 years. Digital interventions have the potential to address logistical challenges that arise in reaching women in this age range. We designed a digital intervention targeting weight gain prevention and other modifiable health behaviors for young women at increased risk of breast cancer. Women aged 18 to 35 years were recruited to this single-arm intervention study over 2 months to test the acceptability and usability of the intervention, which comprised a group welcome event held via videoconferencing, app, and private Facebook group.

Objective: This nested qualitative substudy explored women's views and experiences of being part of the digital health intervention to inform future intervention development for a feasibility study.

Methods: A total of 20 women aged 23 to 35 years who were at increased risk of breast cancer were interviewed via telephone within 1 month after completing the intervention, between February 2023 and March 2023. The women were asked about their experiences of the digital intervention and the extent to which it may have influenced their health behaviors. Data were analyzed thematically and organized using the framework approach.

Results: The interviews lasted for a median of 37 (IQR 30-46) minutes. Overall, the women perceived the digital health intervention comprising education, tracking, and support to be acceptable for weight gain prevention. In total, 4 themes were generated. A "*missed opportunity*" in breast cancer prevention services encompasses the lack of services that currently exist for

RenderX

²Division of Cancer Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom

⁴Division of Informatics, Imaging and Data Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom

young women at increased risk of breast cancer. *The pros and cons of being part of a community* encompasses the divergent views that the women had regarding engaging with other women at increased risk. *The importance of an interactive app* focuses on features that the women would want from the app to promote engagement with the intervention. *The different wants and needs of different age groups* highlights that an intervention such as this one would need to be customizable to suit the needs of women at different life stages.

Conclusions: There is an unmet need in prevention services for young women aged 18 to 35 years at increased risk of breast cancer. The women perceived the app to be an acceptable intervention for weight gain prevention but emphasized that the intervention would need to be customizable to meet the needs of different age groups within the group of women aged 18 to 35 years. The digital intervention could be a scalable behavior change strategy for UK family history clinics.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e57964) doi:10.2196/57964

KEYWORDS

breast cancer; health behavior; weight gain; weight control; BMI; app; acceptability; feasibility

Introduction

Background

Breast cancer is the most common form of cancer in women, with >55,000 diagnoses in the United Kingdom each year, and figures are predicted to increase [1]. In the United Kingdom, women aged 50 to 70 years are invited by the National Health Service breast screening program for 3-yearly mammograms. Guidance from the UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence recommends that women who are known to be at increased risk of breast cancer (due to a strong family history of breast or ovarian cancer) should be offered annual breast cancer screening from the age of 40 years [2]. In the United Kingdom, women at increased risk of breast cancer have the option to attend family history clinics, which play a potentially important role in breast cancer prevention as women at increased risk experience proportionally more cancers. Access is currently via self-referral of concerned women or via general practitioner referral. Family history clinics undertake comprehensive assessments of breast cancer risk using established risk assessment tools (eg, the Tyrer-Cuzick model [3] or the CanRisk tool [4]). Those found to have an estimated lifetime risk are entered into these clinics for breast cancer surveillance and the offer of risk-reducing interventions (eg, surgery and risk-reducing medications such as tamoxifen [2]).

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guidance recommends that family history clinics provide advice on healthy weight and health behaviors (ie, limited alcohol consumption, avoidance of smoking, and physical activity) to lower breast cancer risk [2]. These factors have an equal or greater effect on relative risk of breast cancer among women who have a family history of breast cancer compared to those without a family history [5-8]. Many women attending these clinics have obesity or overweight (60%) and health behaviors associated with risk (ie, 30% fail to meet physical activity recommendations, and 45% exceed alcohol consumption recommendations [9]). Hence, there is an unmet need to implement prevention through weight control and health behavior change (ie, reduced alcohol consumption, smoking cessation, and increased physical activity) in these clinics.

We previously highlighted that most weight gain in women occurs between the ages of 18 and 35 years [9], and once weight

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57964
```

XSL•FC RenderX is gained, it is often difficult to lose [10]. Therefore, preventing weight gain in young women will potentially be more effective than dealing with weight problems once they have occurred. Records from the Manchester Family History Clinic since 1987 show that 23.5% of women are seen by the family history clinic and provided with their estimated breast cancer risk before the age of 35 years (Prof Gareth Evans, personal communication). Women are then asked to return to the clinic some years later when they can start breast cancer screening and can be offered preventive medicines. These women do not receive any further behavior change support in the interim. Digital interventions (eg, apps, social media, and wearable devices) have the potential to aid behavior change through allowing individuals to engage with health-related content remotely, which may potentially address logistical challenges (eg, travel, work, and childcare) that arise when attending face-to-face interventions [11], which are barriers that young women in particular face [12]. A weight gain prevention program delivered via an app could also be scalable to UK family history clinics.

Objectives

A search of the literature identified no evidence-based apps that covered weight gain prevention and all relevant health behaviors for women at increased risk of breast cancer [13]. Thus, with patient and public involvement from the target population, this research team developed a digital intervention including an app (the "health behavior intervention") focused on preventing weight gain and improving health behaviors among women aged 18 to 35 years at increased risk of breast cancer. The protocol for this intervention has been described previously [13]. This intervention was tested in a feasibility study to assess the study procedures for a planned future efficacy study and test the acceptability and usability of the intervention over a 2-month period. An analysis of the use of the intervention is provided elsewhere [14].

A key component of feasibility is acceptability to the target audience [15]. This qualitative interview study explored the views of a subset of women on their experiences during and after taking part in the health behaviors intervention. The feedback from participants will inform the feasibility of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness research of the app-based intervention.

Hawkes et al

Methods

The methods are reported in accordance with the Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research [16] (Multimedia Appendix 1) and the COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) guidelines [17] (Multimedia Appendix 2).

Design

This research is nested within a single-arm intervention study (trial registration NCT05460650) [13]. Semistructured qualitative interviews asked participants for their experiences using the health behaviors intervention for a 2-month duration.

Participants and Recruitment

Participants were female individuals who had taken part in the health behaviors intervention. Inclusion criteria for participation in the health behaviors intervention were female sex, age of 18 to 35 years, residence in the United Kingdom, a moderate or high risk of breast cancer [2], ability to communicate in English, and the ability to download and use an app. Participants were excluded if they had a previous diagnosis of breast cancer, a previous bilateral preventative mastectomy, or medical conditions that influence diet or weight. Further exclusion criteria for the trial are detailed elsewhere [13].

Women were recruited to take part in the health behaviors intervention via mailshot from the Manchester Family History Clinic and via social media posts to expand diversity within the recruited population and reach women outside of the Greater Manchester region. Prevent Breast Cancer (registered charity number 1109839) promoted the study via their social media feeds during the recruitment period. Following use of the health behaviors intervention for 2 months, a member of the research team (MP) contacted participants inviting them to take part in an interview about their experiences of taking part in the digital intervention. Women who had completed the study (n=35) [14] were purposively selected, aiming to recruit a range of ages, ethnicities, and levels of engagement with the app. Those participants who agreed to be interviewed gave their permission to be contacted by another member of the research team (REH) to arrange a suitable time for the interview. Of the 21 women who were approached for an interview, 1 (5%) later declined due to time constraints.

Intervention

The health behaviors intervention consisted of a videoconferencing welcome event hosted on Microsoft Teams, an app with an embedded microsite containing educational topics, and a private Facebook group (Meta Platforms). Participants used the intervention for 2 months. The aim of the health behaviors intervention was to prevent weight gain (by encouraging behaviors such as healthy eating and physical activity) and improve other health behaviors associated with breast cancer, including reduced alcohol intake and smoking cessation.

A number of behavior change techniques were included in the app that have been shown to have efficacy in primary weight gain prevention settings. These techniques included self-monitoring of behaviors and frequent monitoring of body

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57964
```

weight [18,19], goal setting [18,20], automated feedback on behaviors and outcomes [18,21], social rewards (ie, positive reinforcement included as part of the automated feedback) [21], and social support provided via the Facebook group [18,22]. The app interface was designed to allow users to record progress and see this in relation to their set goals. These behavior change techniques have all been found to be effective in weight gain prevention interventions in young adults [18] and in digital health intervention for young adults [21,22]. The health behaviors intervention is described in more detail elsewhere [13]. The immediate research team also had access to participants' tracking data, and results of intervention use are described in a separate analysis [14]. Multimedia Appendix 3 includes screenshots of the app interface. The 3 intervention components are briefly summarized in the following paragraphs.

At the start of the study, participants were invited to attend one of several videoconferencing welcome events held on the Microsoft Teams digital meeting application, lasting up to an hour, with up to 10 other participants and a member of the research team (MP). The aim of these events was to (1) provide an overview of the study; (2) provide a simple outline of the evidence for the association among health behaviors, body weight, and breast cancer risk; (3) meet and build relationships with other participants involved in the study; and (4) build rapport with the research team.

The app included the functionalities for participants to log their weight, physical activity, diet, alcohol consumption, and smoking on a weekly, fortnightly, or monthly basis, and participants could set goals for themselves (Multimedia Appendix 3). The app also included an embedded microsite containing information on topics such as alcohol and its impact on breast cancer, the importance of fruit and vegetables in the diet, and how to limit weight gain during pregnancy. Participants could access the app beyond the 2-month study duration but were made aware that their use of the app after the end of the 2 months would not be monitored by the research team.

Alongside the app, participants were given the opportunity to join a private, hidden Facebook group to allow for access to social and peer support for behavior change and contact with the research team. Participants were encouraged to post within the group, and educational information on breast cancer and healthy behaviors was posted weekly by the research team to promote interaction. The research team acted as moderators and checked the group daily to respond to messages and comments.

Procedures

One-to-one semistructured interviews were conducted by a female researcher (REH; research associate) who had a background in health psychology and training in qualitative methods and was independent from the study delivery team. REH described the aim of the research to participants as wanting to understand their experiences of being a part of the study and their feedback on the health behaviors intervention. Interviews took place on one occasion over the telephone between February 2023 and March 2023 within 1 month after participants had completed the study. There was nobody else present for the interview besides researcher REH and the participant. Full consent had already been obtained before the interview, although

XSL•FO RenderX

REH asked participants to confirm that they were happy for the interview to be audio recorded and transcribed before commencing the interview, and participants' permission was audio recorded. Each interview was recorded using an encrypted audio-recording device, transcribed verbatim by a university-approved transcription company, and pseudonymized for analysis. The interviews lasted between 30 and 60 minutes. Transcripts were not returned to participants for comment. Recruitment was stopped when the researchers (REH, MP, DPF, and MH) felt that no new content was discussed (in what became the final 2 interviews) according to the concept of "information power" (ie, information from the sample that is relevant for the study [23]).

Materials

A topic guide was used to organize the semistructured interviews, with open-ended questions and additional probes (Multimedia Appendix 4). Questions were asked in line with the overall study objectives [13]. These included participants' experiences of taking part in the digital intervention, the usability of the app, the extent to which the intervention was useful in helping participants change their health behaviors, and the extent to which the intervention may have influenced participants' health behaviors or feelings toward breast cancer. Although the topic guide was not pretested, the interviewer (REH) maintained an audit trail after each interview had taken place to document initial thoughts that may contribute to later analyses. Following the first 2 interviews, the interviewer (REH) amended the ordering of some of the interview questions to improve the flow (eg, asking about participants' behavior changes at the end of the interview, after interviewees had discussed their suggestions for improvements to the app).

Researcher Positioning

The interviewer and lead author (REH) was female, aged 29 years (and thus was familiar with the participants' life stage and had life experiences in common with some participants), and had a BMI within the "healthy" range but, to the knowledge of the author, did not have a history of breast cancer in her family. She had worked in prevention research (including diabetes prevention and breast cancer prevention and early detection) for >5 years and had previous experience delivering behavior change interventions in the community, thus reflecting her positive views on disease prevention.

In total, 2 members of the research team who conceptualized this intervention were research dieticians specializing in health behavior change and breast cancer prevention (MP and MH), thus reflecting their positive views on weight gain prevention in this population, and both had >15 years of experience in this field. Other members of the research team were breast cancer clinicians working in breast cancer prevention and early detection (AH, DGE, and SJH) or had experience designing, developing, and evaluating apps and behavior change interventions in industry and academia (REH, DPF, AD, and JM). The backgrounds of the wider team may have influenced some of the questions asked in the interviews (eg, with more of a focus on the individuals rather than wider socioeconomic status constraints) and the interpretation of some of the findings.

Analysis

Data were analyzed using inductive thematic analysis [24] and organized using the framework approach (Multimedia Appendix 5) to identify any differences in the findings across participants. As the researchers wanted to understand participants' views and experiences of specific features of the intervention (including support, logging health behaviors, and educational topics) and their overall views of taking part in the intervention, data were analyzed from a critical realist perspective, which seeks to understand participants' experiences but where participants' interpretations define their subjective realities. Participants did not provide any feedback on the findings.

The data were analyzed by 1 researcher (REH) and discussed among the authors to identify themes relevant to the research questions, with illustrative extracts and interpretive themes refined through discussion. The NVivo software (version 12; QSR International) was used to facilitate coding and analysis of the data.

Ethical Considerations

This study was reviewed and approved by the Wales Research Ethics Committee 3, Cardiff (reference 22/WA/0164). All participants provided full informed consent before they downloaded the app for the study. The wider study that this qualitative study is a part of is registered on the web at ClinicalTrials.gov (reference NCT05460650). There were no financial incentives for participating in the study. Interview data were pseudonymized at the point of transcription.

Results

Overview

The 20 interviewees comprised female individuals with a median age of 32 (IQR 27-35) years. The sample had little ethnic diversity but a good spread in terms of age range and engagement with the app (Table 1). The interviews lasted for a median of 37 (IQR 30-46) minutes.



Table 1. Participant characteristics (N=20).

Characteristic	Values
Age (y), median (range; IQR)	32.5 (23.7-35.6; 27-35)
Ethnicity, n (%)	
White British	18 (90)
Other	2 (10)
English Index of Multiple Deprivation quintile, n (%)	
1 (most deprived)	1 (5)
2	4 (20)
3	7 (35)
4	5 (25)
5 (least deprived)	3 (15)
Baseline BMI ^a (kg/m ²), median (range)	24.2 (19.5-31.6)
Estimated lifetime risk of breast cancer (Tyrer-Cuzick model; %) ^b , median (range)	28.2 (17-50)
Level of education, n (%)	
A-levels or post-16 qualifications	2 (10)
Degree	6 (30)
Postgraduate degree	12 (60)
Recruitment method, n (%)	
Mailshot	14 (70)
Instagram	6 (30)
Attendance to Microsoft Teams welcome event, n (%)	
Yes	16 (80)
No	4 (20)
Member of private Facebook group, n (%)	
Yes	15 (75)
No	5 (25)
Engagement with the app, n (%) ^c	
High user	11 (55)
Low user	9 (45)

^aUnderweight: <18.5 kg/m²; healthy weight: 18.5-24.9 kg/m²; overweight: 25-29.9 kg/m²; obesity: 30-39.9 kg/m²; severe obesity: \geq 40 kg/m².

^bNear population risk of breast cancer: <17%; moderate risk of breast cancer: >17%-<30%; high risk of breast cancer: ≥30% [3].

^cParticipants were classified as "low" or "high" users based on the number of dates on which they entered information into the app. High users entered information on ≥ 6 dates, and low users entered information on ≤ 2 dates.

A total of 4 themes were generated from the analysis (A "missed opportunity" in breast cancer prevention services, The pros and cons of being part of a community, The importance of an interactive app, and The different wants and needs of different age groups). Quotes are presented with pseudonyms for the participants and their age.

Theme 1: A "Missed Opportunity" in Breast Cancer Prevention Services

The women recounted their experiences of being told at a young age that they were at increased risk of breast cancer but then not having a service that they could access to help manage and reduce this risk until they were aged 35 or 40 years. Their

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57964
```

RenderX

accounts centered on feeling forgotten, "fobbed off" (Isabelle), and not always taken seriously by health care professionals. Stephanie described feeling like she was currently in "no man's land," where the knowledge of being at increased risk is at the back of her mind but there is little she can do until she can take risk-reducing medication when she reaches the age of 40 years:

You do feel a bit lost to be honest because, you know, you kind of get this letter from clinic and that's it. You kind of are just sent on your way and then years tick by and I suppose you haven't got that support in the interim. [Stephanie; aged 35 years]

Many women recalled finding out that they were at increased risk of breast cancer at an early age, usually because of the diagnosis of a close family member. Some women reflected on this as a burden they had lived with for a long time, as Alice described: "...it feels like it's leaning over you." In contrast, Amelia described her breast cancer risk as a "future thing to worry about" as she did not want to ruminate about something that might or might not happen. Regardless of how the women perceived their own breast cancer risk, they were unanimous in that there was a gap in service provision for women of this age group, which was described by Isabelle, who found out she was at increased risk of breast cancer when she was aged 15 years, as a "missed opportunity." Charlotte reported feeling let down by the National Health Service and the lack of funding or time that is invested in women's health:

They can't just kind of brush it off and say, oh, come in when you're forty. That's just not good enough to me. [Charlotte; aged 26 years]

Therefore, the women described feeling dutiful to take part in the research study as it provided an opportunity to shape services for future women in a similar situation and prioritize research in women's health:

I wanted to do something that might help other women and people in the future. [Olivia; aged 31 years]

Therefore, taking part in this intervention provided some women with a sense of control and empowerment. It was an opportunity to learn more about how they could actively try to reduce their breast cancer risk and, thus, "taking matters into their own hands" (Zoe). Some participants described feeling reassured that they had not been completely forgotten about:

You feel a bit helpless, because it's just a case of waiting and hoping that nothing happens in that time, which it could do. So yeah, I'd rather be doing something I guess, or exploring things that might help, rather than just sitting and waiting for a few years...So it seemed like this was something that I could proactively do, rather than just wait until I'm thirty-five. [Josie; aged 33 years]

Theme 2: The Pros and Cons of Being Part of a Community

The women had diverging views as to whether support from other women at increased risk of breast cancer was of interest to them. Naomi noted the lack of community available to women aged <40 years known to be at increased risk of breast cancer:

There's a huge community for people who have had breast cancer, is there a community for people who are high risk but are going through the same thing? [Naomi; aged 26 years]

Of those who were keen to connect with other women at increased risk of breast cancer, the Microsoft Teams welcome meeting was reported as the first opportunity to speak with other women in a similar position to them. The women described feeling reassured that there were others "in a similar boat" (Emily), which helped validate their own feelings when meeting like-minded women who could empathize with them: I think it was more to just know. Like when I first started at the Welcome Teams meeting, it was just to know that there is other people in that situation because on a weekly basis I do worry and I check myself continuously and things like that. It's kind of nice to know that there's other people in that situation that are also of a similar age group. [Lucy; aged 24 years]

Emily noted that support from other women with similar lived experiences has the potential to fulfill emotional support needs, which is notably different from the support she would receive from health care professionals at the family history clinic, although she perceived support from both sources as important:

I suppose [support from other women provides] some kind of context to your situation, so I think, you know, hearing other women who were about my age who'd got similar family history to me. You've kind of got what they experience and how they manage that kind of uncertainty, I thought that was quite useful, but wouldn't necessarily get from a clinic appointment. So I think sometimes you miss the contact in a clinic appointment, and it's all about reducing risk, which obviously is important but I also think that a bit of contact in how other women manage it, or live with it I guess, is useful. [Emily; aged 29 years]

Most women who did attend the Microsoft Teams welcome meeting expressed that they would have liked to stay in touch with the women on the call via another follow-up meeting. They suggested that the 5 minutes that they had to talk to each other within the meeting could be increased in future group calls to enable them to establish more of a rapport with the other women.

In contrast, others viewed a support system or community as potentially unhelpful. Josie recalled that speaking with others on the Microsoft Teams call brought to her attention that others had started a family before the age of 30 years, but Josie was unaware that this could contribute to breast cancer risk reduction and had not yet had children:

...so in some ways it was good, because it was nice that people were there who'd had similar experiences of obviously having had breast cancer in their family and stuff. But in other ways it kind of brought home some of the things that people have done to reduce the risks that I hadn't. [Josie; aged 33 years]

Conversely, others presented fatalistic views and perceived breast cancer as inevitable, thus viewing support as redundant "because although support is great, no one can change your outcome" (Charlotte). Alice explained that she would not view interacting with other women as "support" until she was diagnosed with cancer:

But I think to have it [support] there prior to that [diagnosis] and then having the knowledge of these people that you might have built a relationship around you getting cancer and you might just feel like you're on a waiting list to get cancer. Do you know what I mean? [Alice; aged 35 years]

XSL•FO RenderX

Therefore, it was suggested that the opportunity to meet others on the web via Microsoft Teams could be optional; some might want an introduction to the study without sharing their own experiences or hearing others' stories. Even those who expressed a desire to connect with other women acknowledged that support will look different for different people and not everyone will want this:

I don't want to get into a hole about it. I've said that I understand my family history, I understand, you know, it's a possibility it could happen to me. I think being told about it, or being ah, kind of reminded about it often, it didn't really appeal to me. And I think for my sake and my mental health, I just find it easier knowing what I know and not being kind of reminded of it constantly. [Carly; aged 28 years]

Theme 3: The Importance of an Interactive App

Should such an intervention be rolled out, all the women discussed the need for an interactive app that provided trustworthy information specific to breast cancer risk reduction. Although most of the women described themselves as quite knowledgeable about breast cancer risk factors, many recalled something that they had learned and implemented as a result of engaging with the intervention. For example, in the following quote, Rebecca recalls learning about the link between breast cancer and alcohol consumption, which prompted her to reflect on her own alcohol intake:

It just kind of made me think a little bit more about my own alcohol intake and any changes that I can make to my own intake of it really because I was surprised about how, like, I think it was the amounts of units that women were supposed to drink in a week or something kind of surprised me at how sort of low it was in comparison to my own intake. [Rebecca; aged 23 years]

However, others mentioned wanting more in-depth information about breast cancer prevention and risk management in addition to health behaviors, including information about how the contraceptive pill influences breast cancer risk and how to perform a breast check:

So, like you know, like self-breast examination and what are the steps you can take to, you know, if you find a lump, if you find swelling so where to go and like that. [Amara; aged 35 years]

The desire for more interactive app features was described as another way to increase engagement with the intervention. This ranged from including more tailored information relevant to yearly events to the functionality to link to other apps:

If the notifications pulled that through that would be great. And even if they engage in stuff wider about evidence based things, about national drives that are happening, or like breast cancer awareness week, something like that. [Stephanie; aged 35 years]

So I like apps that integrate everything. So, I've got a fitness tracker. So everything that I do like if I record a run, it pings on about three different apps.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57964

So like if it did that. If it linked with fitness devices, if it linked with other health apps, so that all the information fed into one place. So potentially maybe you wouldn't have to re-input it, if it just pulled through other apps, if that makes sense. [Grace; aged 34 years]

During the study, members of the research team posted educational topics on the Facebook group each week. For some, this was a useful prompt to engage with content that was often missed on the app. Others who were not part of the Facebook group had fewer recollections of the educational content and, therefore, suggested that the app itself could include notifications of the weekly educational topics alongside quizzes and challenges to facilitate learning. The women viewed the ideal app as including tracking, education, and support features in one place to increase interactivity:

I think on the app if things were sort of revealed weekly, that would be good. Rather than just having all the information there together. Just because like I can get busy, you know, get sidetracked but if it's like a weekly thing...I think that can help with the engagement. Help keep you looking for if there's something new coming up, rather than this just sort of static app that, you know, you very easily could just sort of get to put to the side. I think people need reminding. [Holly; aged 35 years]

I think for me as well almost having like an interactive element would be really helpful, so, you know, it's almost like testing your skills but like a quiz or something. And just to make it as I say a bit more interactive, so you feel like you're, you know, you're taking the learning but then you're also embedding it a little bit as well. [Amelia; aged 32 years]

Most of the women expressed the need for an intervention such as this one to include more tailored signposting to services available in their local area (eg, running groups and weight loss groups) pointing them to the practical support available to maintain a healthy lifestyle. Thus, it would be up to the individuals themselves whether they wanted to seek further information and support for their health behaviors at a time when they might need them.

Theme 4: The Different Wants and Needs of Different Age Groups

Participants felt that, if an intervention such as this one was to be rolled out, it would need to be appropriate for the different age groups between 18 and 35 years engaging with the family history clinic, who each might have different wants and needs from such an intervention "because what I might want might be completely different to what a twenty-two-year-old these days want" (Alice; aged 35 years). Thus, when developing a digital intervention for women aged 18 to 35 years, aspects of the intervention would need to be modified for different age ranges within this group of women. For example, raising awareness about the modifiable risk factors was perceived by the women to be important for all age groups, whereas Rebecca described that tracking health behaviors on an app might not always appeal to younger age groups:

As I'm only twenty-three and I was told that I wouldn't really be eligible for any sort of monitoring or anything until I was like in my thirties, for me, it seems like something that is so far off, it's hard for me to feel any, like any kind of reasoning to do it [tracking health behaviours] right now. ... I'd be much more inclined to read the information. Because I think, you know, that's relevant at any stage of life and it's interesting as well, to kind of know things. So I'd be happy to read more about that and get the information and stuff. But the logging for me, it's just not personally, something I'm interested in doing right now. [Rebecca; aged 23 years]

Therefore, the women's accounts continually emphasized that there is not a "one size fits all" approach and such an app would need to be customizable to provide the women with the autonomy to manage their health at different stages of their lives, echoing accounts from the previous themes. The women gave examples of having options to receive notifications or reminders from the app, seek further information on topics that were relevant, meet with other women at increased risk of breast cancer, receive signposting for health behaviors, or track different health behaviors on the app. This highlights the complexity of needs that such an app would need to accommodate. For example, Sophie reflected on the importance for women to choose what kinds of app notifications they want to receive:

I think that it could be optional for the user to decide whether they want the information. And then it's like if they change their mind, they've got the option to stop those notifications, so that it suits the person using it. [Sophie; aged 25 years]

The women also discussed the need for wider education about health behaviors and breast cancer risk. Amber reflected on the current limited education on breast cancer risk reduction and the need for increased societal efforts to raise awareness:

I think there's a lot of people out there that don't realise how much their lifestyle can impact their breast cancer risk. Obviously there's many, many risks that cannot be changed by an individual, you know, their genetics, etc. However, some people don't realise that they are affecting their risk by their health behaviours. [Amber; aged 29 years]

Thus, in addition to an interactive app, social media was regarded as another appropriate platform to raise this awareness. Zoe stated that choosing to engage with a social media app is more "automatic" compared to an app to track health behaviors, suggesting that bite-sized information via videos might be more beneficial for younger age groups who are higher social media users:

Well, they're on it all the time, aren't they [laughs]? So if you're on it and it's popping up and if you look at one thing, something pops up so I don't know. Yeah, maybe little reminders on there like little posts, you know, remember to check yourself, remember smoking increases risks of X, Y and Z, you know. Keep your BMI healthy. Try and, you know, try and do a

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57964
```

bit of exercise. Do you know like those kind of little posts? [Zoe; aged 35 years]

This was perceived as important for all women regardless of their family history:

Because, breast cancer is an issue, not just for people who it's running in the family, it's a huge issue across the board. [Grace; aged 34 years]

Cervical screening was one avenue that the women felt could help raise awareness of health behaviors and breast cancer in younger women given that women are invited to attend cervical screening from the age of 25 years. The women also suggested that nonclinical settings such as gyms and national campaigns should be raising awareness about the importance of health behaviors:

But yeah, I think that's the key, there's always going to be people who are seeking it out and interested in, you know, or a bit more aware, but there's also people who sort of at similar risk, like in the same group as us, who perhaps will be a bit more reluctant to sort of address their behaviours and things. So I think just getting it out there in a more sort of—in a less clinical setting perhaps, I think that's a big thing. [Isabelle; aged 34 years]

Discussion

Principal Findings

The accounts of the women in this study drew on the lack of services available for women aged 18 to 35 years and the lack of education and awareness raising in breast cancer risk reduction for younger women, thus highlighting such an intervention as a missed opportunity in breast cancer prevention services. The women had diverging views regarding the extent to which they would value being part of a community with other women at increased risk of breast cancer. If an intervention were to be rolled out, the women described various interactive features that would promote engagement (eg, quizzes, unlocking educational content over time, and app notifications). However, the women also described the complexity of such an intervention aimed at multiple age groups with different wants and needs. Thus, a customizable app with options to engage with different intervention features to varying degrees (eg, education, tracking, and support) was perceived as vital to allow women the autonomy to manage their health at different stages of their lives.

Comparison With Previous Literature

There are many qualitative studies on weight loss and weight loss maintenance [25]; however, to date, very few qualitative studies have focused on primary weight gain prevention in women at increased risk of breast cancer. Previous research with women aged 26 to 35 years at increased risk of breast cancer explored women's ideas about a hypothetical weight gain prevention intervention to reduce breast cancer risk, which was welcomed [26]. This study builds on those findings and presents reactions to a digital intervention targeting weight gain prevention and modifiable health behaviors for women at increased risk of breast cancer; the women in this study

Other qualitative research among women at high risk of breast cancer has suggested that some see little value in making changes to their health behaviors if they are well [27], and a recent systematic review found that many women at high risk of breast cancer often view it as "inevitable," including some misunderstandings of their own breast cancer risk factors [28]. Further qualitative research has found that women are sometimes uncertain of the preventative value that positive health behaviors can have, particularly when they have a family history of breast cancer [29]. However, this study found that, when the women learned about the links among weight reduction, health behaviors, and breast cancer risk, they reported that they had started implementing behavior changes that allowed them to gain a sense of control over their risk, in line with the study by Wright et al [30].

Previous qualitative research has highlighted the importance of providing women with credible information about weight control and health behaviors in relation to breast cancer risk [26,30]. Recent qualitative research has also reported that providing advice on health behaviors was perceived by some women aged 47 to 74 years as an acceptable means of controlling breast cancer risk [31]. This study found that the proposed digital intervention was also perceived as an acceptable way to provide credible information for younger women. However, the women in this study also emphasized the importance of an interactive app, such as quizzes and push notifications, to increase the usefulness of the intervention. This is in line with user engagement research in the wider digital behavior change literature, which has reported that sending push notifications containing tailored health messages was associated with greater engagement with a mobile health app [32].

Implications

The women in this study found the health behaviors intervention acceptable as a cancer risk reduction strategy, and an app was considered an acceptable format of delivery. However, such an intervention will need to be customizable to the different wants and needs of women at different stages of their lives. Subject to future feasibility studies, a digital health intervention for women at increased risk of breast cancer could be a scalable behavior change strategy for all UK family history clinics. Further research would need to assess whether this leads to additional supportive needs and resource requirements for participating clinics, as well as the skill set of staff and the capabilities required to meet this need if this intervention is part of a sustained future service. Current initiatives and research in breast cancer risk assessment are seeking to identify more young women at increased risk [33]. For example, there is now a greater awareness that family history clinics are not capturing women at high risk of breast cancer who have no known family history of breast cancer [34], and there have recently been calls for primary care involvement in identifying these target populations [35]. Therefore, it is likely that the number of women aged <40 years attending UK family history clinics-and, hence, the demand for such an intervention-will increase.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57964

There is potential for further development of this intervention. The women in this study particularly valued information about alcohol consumption and breast cancer risk as many reported being previously unaware of this link. Clinicians should explain how women can modify specific health behaviors, including alcohol consumption, and why this is important for modifying future breast cancer risk. In addition to health behaviors, the women also reported wanting more information about other breast cancer risk factors such as the contraceptive pill, risk-reducing medications, and breast self-examination. Furthermore, including SMS text messaging with novel information that requires less active seeking of information and increasing the interconnectivity of the app with existing technologies are other fruitful avenues to explore for future developments. Strengthening the social media element of the intervention may help increase engagement for some groups of women. Given the merit that the women attributed to social media in raising awareness about health behaviors and breast cancer risk, research could also evaluate young women's engagement with educational posts about breast cancer risk on social media. This might establish whether social media can fill a gap in awareness raising in those who might not seek out information or regularly engage with an app.

This research also highlighted the lack of support or community in place for young women known to be at increased risk of breast cancer. Although the women had differing views as to whether such a community was of interest to them, it was acknowledged that preferences for support could change over time depending on personal circumstances and life stage, thus highlighting a clear unmet need for this population. Therefore, future developments of this intervention should consider how to incorporate an optional community for those who would benefit, for example, through group meetups or campaigns.

Future evaluative research with the app should embed qualitative work to understand the barriers to engagement experienced by women of a low socioeconomic status and from ethnic minority groups; these groups are disproportionately affected by cancer but are underrepresented in cancer prevention research [36]. Future research could also consider whether this intervention is applicable to other groups, such as women at increased risk of breast cancer aged >35 years or people with Lynch syndrome.

Strengths and Limitations

This analysis involved researchers from diverse backgrounds, and the lead author was independent from the previous app development [13] and from the study team, thereby reducing the likelihood of the results being influenced by the wider team. There was a fairly even spread of level app engagement across interviewees, enabling a range of views to be captured on reasons for engagement or lack thereof. The interviews were conducted in a timely manner at the end of the intervention, within 1 month of the women completing the study.

We acknowledge the limitations of this study. Although efforts were made to secure a broad representation of participants regarding age, ethnic groups, and engagement with the intervention, the sample had little ethnic diversity, and we were unable to interview women who did not opt to join the study. The sample of interviewees was highly educated; the women

described themselves as fairly knowledgeable about their health behaviors, and some were already implementing such behaviors at the time of taking part in this intervention. Therefore, the women in this study were likely to be a motivated sample, and caution should be taken when transferring these findings to the wider population of women at increased risk of breast cancer. The interviewees discussed their experience of 2 months' participation in the intervention. We acknowledge that this pragmatic acceptability study was short and that future research will need to assess longer-term interventions to assess the efficacy of the app for sustained behavior change.

Conclusions

There is a gap in prevention services for young women aged 18 to 35 years at increased risk of breast cancer. The women perceived a digital intervention incorporating education, tracking, and support to be an acceptable way to manage health behaviors and weight gain prevention for this target population. However, such an intervention would need to be customizable to meet the wants and needs of different age groups of women aged between 18 and 35 years engaging with family history clinics at different life stages during this period.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the patients involved in the development of the app, study protocol, and documents, including members of the patient and public involvement group. Thanks to Patricia Barnby and Adrian Harwood from University of Manchester Research IT for developing the app and to Manchester University National Health Service Foundation Trust's Diagnostics and Technology Accelerator for funding the development of the app. This study was funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research Manchester Biomedical Research Centre (BRC-1215-20007). MP, MH, AH, DPF, and DGE are supported by the National Institute for Health and Care Research Manchester Biomedical Research Manchester Biomedical Research Centre. JM is supported by a grant from the Medical Research Council (MC_UU_00006/6). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the National Health Service, the National Institute for Health and Care Research, the Medical Research Council, or the Department of Health and Social Care. For the purpose of open access, the author has applied a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license to any author-accepted manuscript version that arises. The authors declare that generative artificial intelligence was not used in any portion of manuscript writing.

Data Availability

The data sets generated during and analyzed during this study are available in the University of Manchester Figshare repository [37].

Authors' Contributions

MP, MH, DPF, AD, JM, AH, DGE and SJH contributed to study concept and design. MP and REH contributed to acquisition of data. REH, MP, MH and DPF contributed to the analysis and interpretation of data. REH, DPF, MH and MP were involved in drafting the manuscript. All authors contributed to revision of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

JM is a former Trustee and current member of the Operations Committee for the Association of the Study of Obesity (unpaid role) and has organized educational events funded by Boehringer Ingelheim Ltd and Rhythm Pharmaceuticals.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research checklist. [DOC File, 66 KB - cancer v10i1e57964 app1.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 2 COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 534 KB - cancer v10i1e57964 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Screenshots of the app interface. [DOCX File , 453 KB - cancer v10i1e57964 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Interview topic guide. [DOCX File, 31 KB - cancer v10i1e57964 app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57964

RenderX

JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e57964 | p.677 (page number not for citation purposes)

Coding framework. [DOCX File, 29 KB - cancer_v10i1e57964_app5.docx]

References

- 1. Breast cancer statistics. Cancer Research UK. URL: <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/</u> statistics-by-cancer-type/breast-cancer/incidence-invasive2022 [accessed 2023-09-13]
- 2. Familial breast cancer: classification, care and managing breast cancer and related risks in people with a family history of breast cancer. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg164</u> [accessed 2023-03-17]
- 3. Tyrer J, Duffy SW, Cuzick J. A breast cancer prediction model incorporating familial and personal risk factors. Stat Med 2004 Apr 15;23(7):1111-1130. [doi: 10.1002/sim.1668] [Medline: 15057881]
- 4. Carver T, Hartley S, Lee A, Cunningham AP, Archer S, Babb de Villiers C, et al. CanRisk tool-a web interface for the prediction of breast and ovarian cancer risk and the likelihood of carrying genetic pathogenic variants. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2021 Mar;30(3):469-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-20-1319] [Medline: 33335023]
- Gramling R, Lash TL, Rothman KJ, Cabral HJ, Silliman R, Roberts M, et al. Family history of later-onset breast cancer, breast healthy behavior and invasive breast cancer among postmenopausal women: a cohort study. Breast Cancer Res 2010;12(5):R82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/bcr2727] [Medline: 20939870]
- Hopper JL, Dite GS, MacInnis RJ, Liao Y, Zeinomar N, Knight JA, kConFab Investigators, et al. Age-specific breast cancer risk by body mass index and familial risk: prospective family study cohort (ProF-SC). Breast Cancer Res 2018 Nov 03;20(1):132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13058-018-1056-1] [Medline: 30390716]
- Petimar J, Park YM, Smith-Warner SA, Fung TT, Sandler DP. Dietary index scores and invasive breast cancer risk among women with a family history of breast cancer. Am J Clin Nutr 2019 May 01;109(5):1393-1401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqy392] [Medline: 30968114]
- Kehm RD, Genkinger JM, MacInnis RJ, John EM, Phillips KA, Dite GS, et al. Recreational physical activity is associated with reduced breast cancer risk in adult women at high risk for breast cancer: a cohort study of women selected for familial and genetic risk. Cancer Res 2020 Jan 01;80(1):116-125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-1847] [Medline: 31578201]
- Pegington M, Evans DG, Howell A, Donnelly LS, Wiseman J, Cuzick JM, et al. Lifestyle behaviours and health measures of women at increased risk of breast cancer taking chemoprevention. Eur J Cancer Prev 2019 Nov;28(6):500-506. [doi: 10.1097/CEJ.000000000000493] [Medline: <u>30444752</u>]
- Douketis JD, Macie C, Thabane L, Williamson DF. Systematic review of long-term weight loss studies in obese adults: clinical significance and applicability to clinical practice. Int J Obes (Lond) 2005 Oct;29(10):1153-1167. [doi: <u>10.1038/sj.ijo.0802982</u>] [Medline: <u>15997250</u>]
- Arigo D, Jake-Schoffman DE, Wolin K, Beckjord E, Hekler EB, Pagoto SL. The history and future of digital health in the field of behavioral medicine. J Behav Med 2019 Feb;42(1):67-83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10865-018-9966-z] [Medline: 30825090]
- Hindmarch S, Gorman L, Hawkes RE, Howell SJ, French DP. Optimising the delivery of breast cancer risk assessment for women aged 30-39 years: a qualitative study of women's views. Womens Health (Lond) 2023;19:17455057231160348 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/17455057231160348] [Medline: 36999304]
- 13. Pegington M, Davies A, Mueller J, Cholerton R, Howell A, Evans DG, et al. Evaluating the acceptance and usability of an app promoting weight gain prevention and healthy behaviors among young women with a family history of breast cancer: protocol for an observational study. JMIR Res Protoc 2022 Dec 16;11(12):e41246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/41246] [Medline: 36525287]
- 14. Pegington M, Hawkes RE, Davies A, Mueller J, Howell A, Gareth Evans D, et al. An app promoting weight gain prevention via healthy behaviours amongst young women with a family history of breast cancer: acceptability and usability assessment. J Hum Nutr Diet 2024 Oct;37(5):1170-1185. [doi: 10.1111/jhn.13347] [Medline: 39004937]
- 15. Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2021 Sep 30;374:n2061 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2061] [Medline: 34593508]
- O'Brien BC, Harris IB, Beckman TJ, Reed DA, Cook DA. Standards for reporting qualitative research: a synthesis of recommendations. Acad Med 2014 Sep;89(9):1245-1251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000000388] [Medline: 24979285]
- 17. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- Ashton LM, Sharkey T, Whatnall MC, Haslam RL, Bezzina A, Aguiar EJ, et al. Which behaviour change techniques within interventions to prevent weight gain and/or initiate weight loss improve adiposity outcomes in young adults? A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Obes Rev 2020 Jun;21(6):e13009. [doi: <u>10.1111/obr.13009</u>] [Medline: <u>32064761</u>]

- Vanwormer JJ, French SA, Pereira MA, Welsh EM. The impact of regular self-weighing on weight management: a systematic literature review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2008 Nov 04;5:54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-5-54] [Medline: 18983667]
- 20. Epton T, Currie S, Armitage CJ. Unique effects of setting goals on behavior change: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Consult Clin Psychol 2017 Dec;85(12):1182-1198. [doi: 10.1037/ccp0000260] [Medline: 29189034]
- 21. Lentferink AJ, Oldenhuis HK, de Groot M, Polstra L, Velthuijsen H, van Gemert-Pijnen JE. Key components in eHealth interventions combining self-tracking and persuasive eCoaching to promote a healthier lifestyle: a scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Aug 01;19(8):e277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7288] [Medline: 28765103]
- 22. Oosterveen E, Tzelepis F, Ashton L, Hutchesson MJ. A systematic review of eHealth behavioral interventions targeting smoking, nutrition, alcohol, physical activity and/or obesity for young adults. Prev Med 2017 Jun;99:197-206. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.01.009] [Medline: 28130046]
- 23. Malterud K, Siersma VD, Guassora AD. Sample size in qualitative interview studies: guided by information power. Qual Health Res 2016 Nov;26(13):1753-1760. [doi: 10.1177/1049732315617444] [Medline: 26613970]
- 24. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 25. Greaves C, Poltawski L, Garside R, Briscoe S. Understanding the challenge of weight loss maintenance: a systematic review and synthesis of qualitative research on weight loss maintenance. Health Psychol Rev 2017 Jun;11(2):145-163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2017.1299583] [Medline: 28281891]
- 26. Hewitt RM, Pegington M, Harvie M, French DP. How acceptable is a weight maintenance programme for healthy weight young women who are at increased risk of breast cancer? Psychol Health 2020 Jul;35(7):854-871. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2019.1690146] [Medline: 31746223]
- 27. Keogh LA, McClaren BJ, Apicella C, Hopper JL. How do women at increased, but unexplained, familial risk of breast cancer perceive and manage their risk? A qualitative interview study. Hered Cancer Clin Pract 2011 Sep 06;9(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1897-4287-9-7] [Medline: 21896163]
- 28. Woof VG, Howell A, McWilliams L, Gareth Evans D, French DP. How do women who are informed that they are at increased risk of breast cancer appraise their risk? A systematic review of qualitative research. Br J Cancer 2022 Nov;127(11):1916-1924 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41416-022-01944-x] [Medline: 36002751]
- 29. Woof VG, McWilliams L, Howell A, Evans DG, French DP. How do women at increased risk of breast cancer make sense of their risk? An interpretative phenomenological analysis. Br J Health Psychol 2023 Nov;28(4):1169-1184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/bjhp.12678] [Medline: 37395149]
- 30. Wright CE, Harvie M, Howell A, Evans DG, Hulbert-Williams N, Donnelly LS. Beliefs about weight and breast cancer: an interview study with high risk women following a 12 month weight loss intervention. Hered Cancer Clin Pract 2015 Jan 09;13(1):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13053-014-0023-9] [Medline: 25648828]
- 31. McWilliams L, Ruane H, Ulph F, Woof VG, Harrison F, Evans DG, et al. What do women think about having received their breast cancer risk as part of a risk-stratified NHS Breast Screening Programme? A qualitative study. Br J Cancer 2023 Aug;129(2):356-365 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41416-023-02268-0] [Medline: 37225893]
- 32. Bidargaddi N, Almirall D, Murphy S, Nahum-Shani I, Kovalcik M, Pituch T, et al. To prompt or not to prompt? A microrandomized trial of time-varying push notifications to increase proximal engagement with a mobile health app. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Nov 29;6(11):e10123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10123] [Medline: 30497999]
- Hindmarch S, Howell SJ, Usher-Smith JA, Gorman L, Evans DG, French DP. Feasibility and acceptability of offering breast cancer risk assessment to general population women aged 30-39 years: a mixed-methods study protocol. BMJ Open 2024 Jan 10;14(1):e078555 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2023-078555] [Medline: 38199637]
- 34. Evans DG, Brentnall AR, Harvie M, Dawe S, Sergeant JC, Stavrinos P, et al. Breast cancer risk in young women in the national breast screening programme: implications for applying NICE guidelines for additional screening and chemoprevention. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 2014 Oct;7(10):993-1001. [doi: <u>10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-14-0037</u>] [Medline: <u>25047362</u>]
- 35. Usher-Smith JA, Hindmarch S, French DP, Tischkowitz M, Moorthie S, Walter FM, et al. Proactive breast cancer risk assessment in primary care: a review based on the principles of screening. Br J Cancer 2023 May;128(9):1636-1646 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41416-023-02145-w] [Medline: 36737659]
- Rivera-Colón V, Ramos R, Davis JL, Escobar M, Inda NR, Paige L, et al. Empowering underserved populations through cancer prevention and early detection. J Community Health 2013 Dec;38(6):1067-1073. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10900-013-9715-8</u>] [Medline: <u>23807496</u>]
- Pegington M. An app promoting weight gain prevention via healthy behaviours amongst young women with a family history of breast cancer: acceptability and usability assessment. University of Manchester. 2023. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/yc2nv5y2</u> [accessed 2024-11-18]

Abbreviations

RenderX

COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57964

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 01.03.24; peer-reviewed by C Kelley Jones, P Kumwichar; comments to author 04.04.24; revised version received 24.04.24; accepted 10.10.24; published 25.11.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Hawkes RE, Pegington M, Davies A, Mueller J, Howell A, Evans DG, Howell SJ, French DP, Harvie M Experiences of a Digital Behavior Change Intervention to Prevent Weight Gain and Promote Risk-Reducing Health Behaviors for Women Aged 18 to 35 Years at Increased Risk of Breast Cancer: Qualitative Interview Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e57964 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57964 doi:10.2196/57964 PMID:

©Rhiannon E Hawkes, Mary Pegington, Alan Davies, Julia Mueller, Anthony Howell, D Gareth Evans, Sacha J Howell, David P French, Michelle Harvie. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 25.11.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Relationship Between Perceived COVID-19 Risk and Change in Perceived Breast Cancer Risk: Prospective Observational Study

Ryan Baxter-King¹, MA; Arash Naeim², MD, PhD; Tina Q Huang³, MD; Karen Sepucha⁴, PhD; Annette Stanton^{5,6}, PhD; Aaron Rudkin¹, MA; Rita Ryu⁷, MPH; Leah Sabacan⁷, MBA; Lynn Vavreck^{1,8}, PhD; Laura Esserman⁷, MD, MBA; Allison Stover Fiscalini⁷, MPH; Neil S Wenger⁹, MD, MPH

¹Department of Political Science, UCLA, Los Angeles, CA, United States

⁵Department of Psychology, UCLA, Los Angeles, CA, United States

⁶Department of Psychiatry/Biobehavioral Sciences, UCLA, Los Angeles, CA, United States

⁷Breast Care Center, UCSF, San Francisco, CA, United States

⁸Department of Communication, UCLA, Los Angles, CA, United States

⁹Division of General Internal Medicine and Health Services Research, UCLA, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Neil S Wenger, MD, MPH Division of General Internal Medicine and Health Services Research UCLA 1100 Glendon Avenue Suite 850 Los Angeles, CA, 90024 United States Phone: 1 3107942288 Fax: 1 3107940732 Email: nwenger@mednet.ucla.edu

Abstract

Background: Whether COVID-19 is associated with a change in risk perception about other health conditions is unknown. Because COVID-19 occurred during a breast cancer study, we evaluated the effect of COVID-19 risk perception on women's breast cancer risk perception.

Objective: This study aims to evaluate the relationship between perceived risk of COVID-19 and change in perceived breast cancer risk. We hypothesized that women who perceived greater COVID-19 risk would evidence increased perceived breast cancer risk and this risk would relate to increased anxiety and missed cancer screening.

Methods: Women aged 40-74 years with no breast cancer history were enrolled in a US breast cancer prevention trial in outpatient settings. They had provided breast cancer risk perception and general anxiety before COVID-19. We performed a prospective observational study of the relationship between the perceived risk of COVID-19 and the change in perceived breast cancer risk compared to before the pandemic. Each woman was surveyed up to 4 times about COVID-19 and breast cancer risk perception, general anxiety, and missed medical care early in COVID-19 (May to December 2020).

Results: Among 13,002 women who completed a survey, compared to before COVID-19, anxiety was higher during COVID-19 (mean T score 53.5 vs 49.7 before COVID-19; difference 3.8, 95% CI 3.6-4.0; P<.001) and directly related to perceived COVID-19 risk. In survey wave 1, anxiety increased by 2.3 T score points for women with very low perceived COVID-19 risk and 5.2 points for those with moderately or very high perceived COVID-19 risk. Despite no overall difference in breast cancer risk perception (mean 32.5% vs 32.5% before COVID-19; difference 0.24, 95% CI –0.47 to 0.52; P=.93), there was a direct relationship between change in perceived breast cancer risk with COVID-19 risk perception, ranging in survey wave 4 from a 2.4% decrease in breast cancer risk perception for those with very low COVID-19 risk perception to a 3.4% increase for women with moderately to very high COVID-19 risk perception. This was not explained by the change in anxiety or missed cancer screening. After adjustment for age, race, education, and survey wave, compared to women with very low perceived COVID-19 risk, perceived breast cancer

RenderX

²Center for SMART Health, Clinical and Translational Science Institute, David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA, Los Angeles, CA, United States ³UCLA School of Medicine, Los Angeles, CA, United States

⁴Health Decision Sciences Center, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Cambridge, MA, United States

risk increased by 1.54% (95% CI 0.75%-2.33%; *P*<.001), 4.28% (95% CI 3.30%-5.25%; *P*<.001), and 3.67% (95% CI 1.94%-5.40%; *P*<.001) for women with moderately low, neither high nor low, and moderately or very high perceived COVID-19 risk, respectively.

Conclusions: Low perceived COVID-19 risk was associated with reduced perceived breast cancer risk, and higher levels of perceived COVID-19 risk were associated with increased perceived breast cancer risk. This natural experiment suggests that a threat such as COVID-19 may have implications beyond the pandemic. Preventive health behaviors related to perceived risk may need attention as COVID-19 becomes endemic.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e47856) doi:10.2196/47856

KEYWORDS

breast cancer; COVID-19 risk perception; cancer screening; anxiety; cancer; COVID-19; prevention; medical care; screening; survey

Introduction

COVID-19 posed a new serious threat that caused Americans to change how they led their lives. People who perceived themselves to be at higher risk for developing COVID-19 were more likely to engage in protective behaviors [1,2]. Lack of access, higher perceived risk of COVID-19, more symptoms of anxiety or depression, and risk factors for severe COVID-19 were associated with missed medical care and cancer screening [3]. The longer the pandemic persisted, the greater the importance of the influence of COVID-19 on activities to promote health, such as preventive behaviors, including cancer screening, which is associated with earlier detection and better survival [4]. Preventive behaviors, such as mammograms, are dependent-at least in part-on the perceived risk of the condition [5,6]. However, little is known about how the perceived risk of a condition is affected by the imposition of a new risk from another condition. COVID-19 created a natural experiment in the midst of a breast cancer prevention study, permitting elucidation of how a new perceived risk affects the perception of a prior health risk.

Prior to the pandemic, the WISDOM (Women Informed to Screen Depending On Measures of Risk) breast cancer prevention study enrolled women, elicited their perceptions of the risk of breast cancer and levels of anxiety, and presented personalized or routine screening recommendations. During COVID-19, WISDOM added surveys to study the relationship between the perceived risk of COVID-19 and perceived breast cancer risk and explored factors associated with the relationship. Because of evidence that anxiety and distress related to risk perception [7,8] and evidence that people were missing cancer screening due to COVID-19 concerns [3], we hypothesized that individuals who perceived greater COVID-19 risk would have increased perceived breast cancer risk during the contemporaneous survey wave and that this risk would be related to increased general anxiety [9] and missed cancer screening [**10**].

Methods

Study Sample and Baseline Data

In this prospective observational study, women aged 40-74 years with no breast cancer history were enrolled at mammogram facilities and physician offices, and via health system communication and media [11]. At study entry, women

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47856
```

provided demographic information, estimated their risk of breast cancer, and answered questions about anxiety. Numerical breast cancer risk was assessed by asking "What do you think your chance is of developing breast cancer in your lifetime? Please choose a number between 0% (no chance of breast cancer) and 100% (definitely will get breast cancer)" [12]. General anxiety was assessed using the 4-item PROMIS (Patient-Reported Outcome Measurement Information System) short form [13]. The raw score was rescaled into a standardized T score, with higher scores indicating more anxiety. A score of 50 (SD 10) represents the mean score for the general population. A change of 2.5 T score points appears to represent a minimally important difference [14]. Surveys were web based. The pre–COVID-19 survey was completed a mean of 9 months before the pandemic began.

Surveys

Participants were asked to complete 4 supplemental COVID-19 surveys, collected from May 10 to June 15, 2020; from July 11 to August 21, 2020; from October 5 to 28, 2020; and from December 8 to 30, 2020. Approximately 25,000 women were sent the optional web-based survey each wave (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Participants received an initial email and follow-up email reminders.

Surveys included the items on breast cancer risk perception and general anxiety that were completed in pre–COVID-19 WISDOM surveys. Perceived COVID-19 risk was assessed with an item adapted from the National Cancer Institute's Health Information National Trends Survey [15]: "How likely is it that you will get COVID-19 in the next 30 days?" with response options of "Very low," "Moderately low," "Neither high nor low," "Moderately high," or "Very high." The survey asked whether the respondent or a household member believed they had COVID-19 and whether the respondent had significant medical diagnoses (heart disease, lung disease, diabetes, hypertension, cancer, and others).

The survey asked about missed medical appointments as follows [3]: "Over the last 2 months, have any of your health care providers canceled or postponed scheduled visits or services for physical or mental health?" Response options were "Yes," "No," "I did not have anything scheduled," and "Not sure." Respondents also were asked if they had canceled or postponed scheduled visits or services. These 2 items were combined to describe whether the respondent had a medical visit that was canceled or postponed. Concerning cancer screening, the survey

asked the following: "Over the last 2 months, have you canceled or postponed getting routine cancer screening (breast cancer mammography, colonoscopy, etc)?" with the response options of "Yes," "No," "I did not have anything scheduled," and "Not sure." Concerning the future, respondents were asked "In the upcoming 2 months, do you plan to cancel or postpone getting routine cancer screening (breast cancer mammography, colonoscopy, etc)?" and the same question was asked concerning visits or services for physical or mental health.

Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the University of California Los Angeles Institutional Review Board (#20-000786) and the University of California San Francisco Institutional Review Board (#15-18234). All participants provided written informed consent. Data were deidentified prior to analysis. No compensation was offered for study participation or survey completion.

Statistical Analysis

All survey respondents were eligible for inclusion in the analysis, even if they did not complete all 4 surveys or did not have baseline data for anxiety or perceived breast cancer risk. We calculated the change in perceived breast cancer risk by subtracting the pre–COVID-19 survey score from the scores on the COVID-19 surveys. We calculated the change in anxiety by subtracting the T score on the pre–COVID-19 survey from the scores on the COVID-19 surveys. This was repeated at each survey wave for respondents who completed more than 1 wave. If participants had more than 1 WISDOM survey before COVID-19, the last survey before COVID-19 was used.

Change in anxiety and perceived breast cancer risk was estimated using paired 2-tailed t tests that compared participants' responses from before COVID-19 to responses during COVID-19. We evaluated the relationship between perceived COVID-19 risk and change in perceived breast cancer risk and general anxiety using all 4 survey waves. These relationships were explored without adjustment and after adjusting using ordinary least squares regression for age (40-64 years and 65 years or older), race (White, Black, Asian, multiracial, American Indian or Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, or other race), and education (high school or less, some college or technical school, or college graduate or more) with standard errors clustered by respondent. We predicted missed medical appointments and cancer screening due to COVID-19 and plans to cancel medical care and cancer screening, across the 4 survey waves and from perceived COVID-19 risk in the same survey wave. These models using ordinary least squares regression adjusted for age, education, race, COVID-19 status, number of medical conditions, and survey wave through the inclusion of these variables as predictors in the regression model with standard errors clustered by respondent.

In order to explore whether perceived COVID-19 risk influences patients' perceived risk of breast cancer, as well as their anxiety levels, we conducted a longitudinal analysis using a regression framework including a series of separate regression models. The first 2 models include the 6981 participants who completed 2 COVID-19 survey waves in a row and provided baseline

XSL•FO RenderX assessments of anxiety and breast cancer risk. The first model included perceived COVID-19 risk, age, race, education, and wave. The second model added change in general anxiety between the prior survey wave and baseline in order to explore the influence between antecedent change in anxiety and the relationship between perceived COVID-19 risk and change in perceived breast cancer risk. The third model (N=16,311 because all cases are included) included a change in anxiety between the current survey wave and baseline. In a fourth model, we added the report during the current wave of canceled cancer screening during the past 2 months.

We repeated the analyses of the relationship between perceived COVID-19 risk and perceived breast cancer risk on the 1524 women who completed all 4 surveys. Because the results are similar to the full sample, the results are not described in the text but are displayed in Multimedia Appendix 1.

All analyses were performed on unweighted data. Binary outcomes (eg, cancellation of medical appointments) were analyzed using logistic regression, and continuous outcomes (eg, PROMIS4 anxiety scale) were analyzed using ordinary least squares regression. Analyses used R (version 4.1.2; R Foundation for Statistical Computing).

Results

Patient Sample and Characteristics

The 13,002 women who responded to at least 1 survey had a mean age of 58 years; 27% (n=3540) of women were aged 65 years or older, 84% (n=10,975) of women were White, and 76% (n=9898) of women graduated from college. A total of 64% (n=8298) of women reported no serious medical conditions and 47% (n=6120) of women reported no anxiety at baseline. There was little difference in demographic and clinical characteristics among respondents across waves (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1). In pre–COVID-19 surveys, 9282 women provided general anxiety responses and 8839 provided perceived breast cancer risk responses.

Perceived COVID-19 Risk, Breast Cancer Risk, and Anxiety

In their first survey response, 29.4% (n=3827) of respondents felt their COVID-19 risk over the next month was very low, 37.4% (n=4867) of respondents felt their risk was moderately low, 21.1% (n=2742) of respondents felt their risk was neither high nor low, 5.1% (n=659) of respondents felt their risk was moderately high, 0.5% (n=63) of respondents felt their risk was very high, 5.4% (n=704) of respondents did not provide a response, and 1.1% (n=140) of respondents were not asked the question because they had tested positive for COVID-19 (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Compared to before COVID-19, participants' general anxiety was higher during the first COVID-19 survey completed (mean T score 53.5 vs 49.7 before COVID-19; mean difference 3.8, 95% CI 3.6-4.0; P<.001), but there was no overall difference in perceived breast cancer risk (mean 32.5% first COVID-19 survey vs 32.5% before COVID-19; mean difference 0.24, 95% CI –0.47 to 0.52; P=.93). Mean T scores by survey wave for

general anxiety and perceived breast cancer risk were stable across waves (Table 1).

"During survey wave 1 (May-June 2020), 31% (2204/7186) of women reported that they had no general medical care scheduled. Of those with scheduled care over the prior 2 months,

83% (4112/4982) of women missed medical care. During that same period, 35% (1209/3426) of respondents with scheduled cancer screening missed the appointment. Projecting over the next 2 months, 17% (679/3987) of women planned to cancel general medical care, and 20% (547/2685) of women planned to cancel cancer screening.

Table 1. General anxiety and perceived breast cancer risk before and during COVID-19^a.

Period	PROMIS4 ^b anxiety (range 40.3-81.6), mean T score (95% CI)	Perceived breast cancer risk (range 0-100), mean probability (%; 95% CI)
Before COVID-19	49.8 (49.7-50.0)	32.9 (32.5-33.4)
COVID-19 wave 1	53.7 (53.5-53.8)	31.9 (31.4-32.4)
COVID-19 wave 2	54.0 (53.8-54.2)	31.6 (31.1-32.2)
COVID-19 wave 3	53.3 (53.1-53.6)	31.3 (30.7-31.9)
COVID-19 wave 4	53.1 (52.9-53.3)	31.6 (31.0-32.2)

^aCell entries present unweighted averages with 95% CI in parentheses. The range of the PROMIS4 anxiety mean T-score is from 40.3 to 81.6 and the range of the perceived breast cancer risk is from 0% to 100%. Cell counts may vary by outcome measure as not all respondents answered each question. Data in the table differ slightly from the data presented in the text, which is a paired comparison. See also longitudinal cohort comparison in Table S5 in Multimedia Appendix 1. Baseline data are from the most recent response before COVID-19.

^bPROMIS4: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System 4-item.

Relationship of Perceived COVID-19 Risk With Change in Anxiety, Change in Perceived Breast Cancer Risk, and Missed Medical Care

Higher perceived COVID-19 risk was associated with increased general anxiety across all survey waves. For example, in survey wave 4, a mean increase of 5.2, 3.8, 2.7, and 2.3 in PROMIS4 anxiety T score from baseline was noted for respondents with moderately or very high, neither high nor low, moderately low, and very low perceived COVID-19 risk, respectively (Figure 1 and Table 2).

Change in breast cancer risk perception had a more complex relationship with perceived COVID-19 risk. Perceived breast cancer risk decreased from pre–COVID-19 levels for people with very low perceived COVID-19 risk. For women with moderately low perceived COVID-19 risk, the pre- or postpandemic difference is not statistically distinguishable from zero. However, for women for whom the perceived COVID-19 risk was "neither high nor low" or perceived risk was moderately high or very high, perceived breast cancer risk increased during most survey waves. Survey wave 4 demonstrates this trend best: change in perceived breast cancer risk increased from -2.4 to -1.2 to +3.1 to +3.4 across the 4 levels of perceived COVID-19 risk from very low to moderately or very high, respectively (Figure 2 and Table 2).

After adjusting for age, race, education, and survey wave, both changes in general anxiety and change in perceived breast cancer risk remain statistically significantly, directly related to perceived COVID-19 risk. Compared to women with very low perceived COVID-19 risk, those with moderately low perceived COVID-19 risk increased 1.07 (95% CI 0.75-1.39) anxiety T score points from before COVID-19. This change was 1.26 (95% CI 0.86-1.66) for neither high nor low perceived COVID-19 risk and 2.38 (95% CI 1.67-3.09) for moderately or very high perceived COVID-19 risk. Concerning change in perceived breast cancer risk, after adjustment, compared to women with very low perceived COVID-19 risk, those with moderately low perceived COVID-19 risk increased 1.54% (95% CI 0.75%-2.33%) in perceived breast cancer risk; this increase was 4.28% (95% CI 3.30%-5.25%) for women with neither high nor low perceived COVID-19 risk and 3.67% (95% CI 1.94%-5.40%) for women with moderately or very high perceived COVID-19 risk (Table 3).

Perceived COVID-19 risk was not consistently associated with whether women missed medical care or cancer screening during the prior 2 months or planned to cancel medical care or cancer screening in the next 2 months, without (Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1) or with adjustment for age, education, race, COVID-19 infection status, number of medical diagnoses, and survey wave (Table S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1).


Figure 1. Change in general anxiety by perceived COVID-19 risk.



	Table 2.	Changes in ger	neral anxiety and	l perceived br	east cancer risk l	by perceived	COVID-19 risk ^a .
--	----------	----------------	-------------------	----------------	--------------------	--------------	------------------------------

Change and wave	Perceived COVID-19 risk (next 30 days), mean T score (95% CI)				
	Very low	Moderately low	Neither high nor low	Moderately high or very high	
Change in general anxiety (range 40.3-81.6)	n=5361	n=7368	n=4092	n=999	
Wave 1	2.9 (2.5 to 3.2)	4.3 (4.0 to 4.6)	4.3 (3.9 to 4.8)	4.7 (3.6 to 5.8)	6128
Wave 2	3.0 (2.6 to 3.5)	4.3 (4.0 to 4.7)	4.6 (4.1 to 5.0)	5.7 (4.7 to 6.7)	4772
Wave 3	3.1 (2.7 to 3.6)	3.8 (3.4 to 4.2)	3.2 (2.7 to 3.8)	4.3 (3.1 to 5.4)	3509
Wave 4	2.3 (1.8 to 2.8)	2.7 (2.3 to 3.1)	3.8 (3.2 to 4.3)	5.2 (4.1 to 6.2)	3411
Change in breast cancer risk (range 0-100)	n=4871	n=7121	n=3902	n=965	
Wave 1	-1.9 (-2.8 to -1.1)	0.0 (-0.7 to 0.8)	2.8 (1.7 to 3.9)	0.6 (-1.8 to 3.1)	5829
Wave 2	-1.3 (-2.3 to -0.2)	0.0 (-0.8 to 0.9)	2.8 (1.6 to 3.9)	1.8 (-0.8 to 4.3)	4505
Wave 3	-2.3 (-3.5 to -1.2)	-0.3 (-1.3 to 0.8)	1.9 (0.5 to 3.4)	3.5 (0.4 to 6.6)	3314
Wave 4	-2.4 (-3.7 to -1.0)	-1.2 (-2.1 to -0.2)	3.1 (1.6 to 4.5)	3.4 (1.0 to 5.9)	3211

^aCell entries present the mean with 95% CI in parentheses for change in PROMIS4 (Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System 4) anxiety and perceived breast cancer risk from baseline to the survey wave for individuals who perceived a certain level of COVID-19 risk over the next 30 days in that wave. The survey was conducted in the following time periods: wave 1: from May 10 to June 15, 2020; wave 2: from July 11 to August 21, 2020; wave 3: from October 5 to 28, 2020; and wave 4: from December 8 to 30, 2020.

XSI

Figure 2. Change in perceived breast cancer risk by perceived COVID-19 risk.



Table 3. Change in anxiety and change in perceived breast cancer risk with perceived COVID-19 risk after adjustment for patient characteristics and time^a.

	Change in PROMIS4 ^b anxiety (range 40.3-81.6)	Change in perceived breast cancer risk (range 0-100)
Perceived COVID-19 risk (30 days), OLS	^c estimate (95% CI)	
Moderately low	1.07 (0.75 to 1.39)***	1.54 (0.75 to 2.33)***
Neither high nor low	1.26 (0.86 to 1.66)***	4.28 (3.30 to 5.25)***
Moderately or very high	2.38 (1.67 to 3.09)***	3.67 (1.94 to 5.40)***
Age (years), OLS estimate (95% CI)		
≥65	0.39 (0.028 to 0.76)*	-1.26 (-2.16 to -0.37)**
Race or ethnicity, OLS estimate (95% CI)	
Asian, Native Hawaiian, or other Pacif- ic Islander	-0.025 (-1.01 to 0.96)	0.36 (-1.82 to 2.54)
Black	0.40 (-0.92 to 1.71)	1.15 (-3.62 to 5.92)
Multiracial	0.64 (-0.28 to 1.56)	0.64 (-1.61 to 2.89)
Other, unknown, or American Indian or Alaskan Native	0.32 (-0.81 to 1.45)	-1.24 (-4.46 to 1.97)
Education, OLS estimate (95% CI)		
College graduate or more	1.55 (1.11 to 1.99)***	0.65 (-0.43 to 1.73)
Time fixed effects, OLS estimate (95% C	I)	
Wave 2	0.14 (-0.098 to 0.37)	0.29 (-0.31 to 0.89)
Wave 3	-0.47 (-0.74 to -0.21)**	-0.26 (-0.96 to 0.44)
Wave 4	-1.053 (-1.33 to -0.77)**	-0.32 (-1.04 to 0.41)
Intercept, OLS estimate (95% CI)	1.70 (1.22 to 2.19)***	-1.81 (-3.00 to -0.63)**
Ν	17,466	16,524
R^2	0.015	0.009
Adjusted R^2	0.014	0.008
Akaike information criterion	121,852.0	144,696.7
Bayesian information criterion	121,960.8	144,804.7
Root mean square error	7.91	19.27
F test (df)	15.97 (12, 8493)	8.295 (12, 8055)

^a*P* value thresholds are **P*<.05, ***P*<.01, and ****P*<.001. Ordinary least squares regression model predicting change in general anxiety T score and change in perceived breast cancer risk from perceived COVID-19 risk. SEs are clustered at the participant level. Reference categories: age 40-64 years; education: some college or technical school or less; race: White; perceived COVID-19 risk: very low; time: wave 1. Cell entries indicate the ordinary least squares estimate followed by the approximate 95% CI, in brackets, and the *P* value threshold, described above.

^bPROMIS4: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System 4-item.

^cOLS: ordinary least squares.

Exploring the Relationship Between Perceived COVID-19 Risk and Change in Perceived Breast Cancer Risk

We explored our hypotheses that higher perceived COVID-19 risk was associated with increased anxiety and canceled cancer screening that, in turn, led to increased perceived breast cancer risk. Table 4 shows the series of regression models predicting change in perceived breast cancer risk. Column 1, which includes a restricted cohort of 6981 women who completed surveys in 2 adjacent waves, shows that after accounting for age, race, education, and survey wave, compared to women

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47856
```

RenderX

with very low perceived COVID-19 risk, women with neither high nor low and moderately or very high perceived COVID risk had increases in perceived breast cancer risk of 3.47% (95% CI 2.08%-4.87%) and 5.40% (95% CI 2.87%-7.93%), respectively. To investigate whether these results are driven by increased anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic, column 2 adds the change in general anxiety from before COVID-19 to the prior survey wave. This regression model, which avoids some issues of simultaneous measurement, demonstrates that prior wave change in general anxiety from baseline has virtually no impact on change in perceived breast cancer risk. The next model includes changes in anxiety from before the pandemic

to the current survey wave (analogous to the change in breast cancer risk) and finds a weak statistically significant relationship with change in perceived breast cancer risk. However, the relationship between perceived breast cancer risk and perceived COVID-19 risk is only slightly altered (column 3). Finally, in column 4, patient cancellation of cancer screening in the prior 2 months was unrelated to the change in perceived breast cancer risk and does not appear to drive the relationship with perceived

COVID-19 risk. Taken together, these models suggest that higher perceived COVID-19 risk is related to an increase in perceived breast cancer risk that is not mediated by a change in anxiety or missed cancer screening. When perceived COVID-19 risk was removed from the model in column 2, the effect on the relationship between anxiety and change in perceived breast cancer risk was minimal (data not shown).



Table 4. Relationship of change in perceived breast cancer risk to perceived COVID-19 risk while controlling for change in anxiety and missed cancer screening^a.

	Change in perceived breast cancer risk				
	Restricted sample	Restricted sample (model in- cludes change in general anxi- ety from prior survey wave)	Full sample (model includes change in general anxiety from current survey wave)	Full sample (model in- cludes self-reported missed cancer screening)	
Perceived COVID-19 infection	n risk (30 days), OLS ^b est	imate (95% CI)	-	·	
Moderately low	0.513 (-0.649 to 1.676)	0.503 (-0.660 to 1.666)	1.482 (0.685 to 2.279)***	1.522 (0.729 to 2.314)***	
Neither high nor low	3.473 (2.077 to 4.869)***	3.463 (2.065, 4.861) ***	4.170 (3.190 to 5.151)***	4.252 (3.277 to 5.228)***	
Moderately or very high	5.399 (2.872 to 7.926)***	5.378 (2.851 to 7.905)***	3.510 (1.761 to 5.260)***	3.676 (1.945 to 5.407)***	
Change in PROMIS4 ^c anxiety	scale T score, OLS estima	ate (95% CI)			
Previous wave	Not included	0.019 (-0.051 to 0.090)	d	_	
Current wave	Not included	_	0.060 (0.011 to 0.110)*	_	
Cancer screening cancellation	ns, OLS estimate (95% CI)			
Yes	Not in model	_	_	0.580 (-0.496 to 1.656)	
Nothing scheduled or not sure	_	_	_	-0.015 (-0.709 to 0.679)	
Age (years), OLS estimate (95	5% CI)				
≥65	-1.301 (-2.525 to -0.076)*	-1.307 (-2.531 to -0.084)*	-1.366 (-2.267 to -0.465)**	-1.310 (-2.209 to -0.411)**	
Race and ethnicity, OLS estin	nate (95% CI)				
Asian, Native Hawaiian, or other Pacific Islander	-0.418 (-3.647 to 2.810)	-0.399 (-3.625 to -2.827)	0.396 (-1.802 to 2.594)	0.340 (-1.832 to 2.512)	
Black	-2.076 (-11.049 to 6.898)	-2.085 (-11.066 to 6.896)	0.893 (-4.055 to 5.842)	0.943 (-3.849 to 5.736)	
Multiracial	1.601 (-1.744 to 4.946)	1.582 (-1.761 to 4.925)	0.579 (-1.679 to 2.837)	0.613 (-1.639 to 2.865)	
Other, unknown, or Amer- ican Indian or Alaskan Native	-0.972 (-6.367 to 4.423)	-0.979 (-6.373 to 4.415)	-1.228 (-4.541 to 2.086)	-1.302 (-4.535 to 1.931)	
Education, OLS estimate (959	% CI)				
College graduate or more	0.020 (-1.501 to 1.542)	-0.007 (-1.530 to 1.515)	0.553 (-0.526 to 1.633)	0.623 (-0.457 to 1.702)	
Time fixed effect					
Wave 2	—	_	0.272 (-0.326 to 0.869)	0.327 (-0.271 to 0.924)	
Wave 3	-0.362 (-1.137 to 0.412)	-0.356 (-1.131 to 0.418)	-0.212 (-0.915 to 0.490)	-0.229 (-0.933 to 0.474)	
Wave 4	-0.701 (-1.624 to 0.223)	-0.688 (-1.611 to 0.236)	-0.283 (-1.011 to 0.446)	-0.266 (-0.993 to 0.462)	
Intercept, OLS estimate (95% CI)	-0.341 (-2.051 to 1.369)	-0.389 (-2.113 to 1.334)	-1.881 (-3.074 to -0.688)**	-1.858 (-3.125 to -0.592)**	
Ν	6,981	6,981	16,311	16,476	
R^2	0.01	0.011	0.01	0.009	
Adjusted R^2	0.009	0.009	0.009	0.008	
Akaike information criterion	60717.2	60718.8	142749.4	144249.9	
Bayesian Information Criteri- on	60806.3	60814.7	142864.9	144373.3	
Root mean square error	18.68	18.68	19.22	19.26	
F test (df)	4.427 (11, 3804)	4.101 (12, 3804)	8.095 (13, 7959)	7.249 (14, 8041)	

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47856

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e47856 | p.689 (page number not for citation purposes)

^aOrdinary least squares regression model predicting change in perceived breast cancer risk from perceived COVID-19 risk. Columns 1 and 2 include the restricted sample of women (n=6981) who completed 2 adjacent survey waves. Column 1 includes age, race, education, wave as a fixed effect, and perceived COVID-19 risk from the current wave. Column 2 adds the change in general anxiety between the prior wave and baseline. Column 3 adds to the column 1 model the change in general anxiety between the current wave and baseline. Column 4 adds to the column 1 model missed cancer screening in the prior 2 months. Reference categories: age 40-64 years; education: some college or technical school or less; race: White; perceived COVID-19 risk: very low; time: wave 1. Cell entries indicate the ordinary least squares estimate followed by the approximate 95% CI, in brackets, and the *P* value threshold as follows: *P<.05, **P<.001.

^bOLS: ordinary least squares.

^cPROMIS4: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System 4-item. ^dNot applicable.

Discussion

Principal Findings and Implications

Prospectively collected information compared with data collected during the COVID-19 pandemic provides insight into the magnitude and direction of the effect of a new risk on the ongoing perception of risk of another clinical condition and general anxiety. This is an unstudied issue that could have broad implications for at-risk individuals who have reason to engage in preventive behavior and are newly confronted by an unrelated threat. This study shows that the perceived risk of COVID-19 is associated with changes in the perceived risk of breast cancer. While it appeared overall that perceived breast cancer risk was unchanged before or after COVID-19, these data hid a clear dose-response relationship with perceived COVID-19 risk ranging from a 2% decrease among those with very low perceived COVID-19 risk to a 3% increase among those with highest perceived COVID-19 risk. This magnitude of change is about half that seen with a breast cancer risk feedback intervention [16]. While the implications of this change in breast cancer risk perception remain to be elucidated, perceived breast cancer risk is linked reliably, albeit not strongly, with early detection and preventive behavior [17,18]. Perceived risk of a potentially threatening condition is a key determinant of health behavior [10,19]. Demonstration that a new threat (eg, COVID-19) alters other health risk perceptions could have implications for disease prevention.

The mechanism by which COVID-19 perceived risk affects breast cancer perceived risk is unclear. Neither increase in anxiety nor missed cancer screening-both hypothesized to relate to the change in breast cancer risk perception-appear to play a role. Risk perception is complex with cognitive and emotional underpinnings [20,21]. Perceived risk of a clinical condition relates to family or genetic factors, salience [22], and anxiety, among others. Factors underlying perceived COVID-19 risk also include availability [23], gender [24], age [25], anxiety [26], and attention to and trust in the media [27]. While information about breast cancer risk and salience should not have been affected by COVID-19, risk perception is also influenced by contextual factors, such as the immediacy of a threat [28], perceived level of control, and fear [29]. These constructs may have affected both perceived COVID-19 risk and breast cancer risk. More exploration is needed into the

linkage between change in breast cancer risk perception and COVID-19 risk perception.

This study confirms that COVID-19 was associated with an increase in general anxiety among a large cohort of middle-aged women, the majority of who did not have anxiety at baseline. General anxiety increased by one to two times the minimally important difference in the PROMIS4 measure, depending on perceived COVID-19 risk, and did not change appreciably over the first year of COVID-19. This confirms what a small number of pre– or post–COVID-19 longitudinal studies have found [30-32] and provides insight into the degree of anxiety and relationship to perceived COVID-19 risk.

Limitations

Several factors limit the generalizability of these findings. Data are derived from women in a select age range who enrolled in a trial of breast cancer prevention. There was limited variation in race and education. Younger participants, who sustained greater emotional effects of COVID-19 [33], are not included. Moreover, the levels of change in anxiety and perceived breast cancer risk were modest and we have no preventive behavior data to link with changes in perceived breast cancer risk. Finally, while perceptions of COVID-19 risk are related to the perceived risk of breast cancer in substantively and statistically significant ways, we note that COVID-19 risk perceptions do not explain much of the variation in perceptions of breast cancer risk. This is likely because many things affect a person's beliefs about their likelihood of being diagnosed with breast cancer and we do not measure all of those things here. While perceptions of COVID-19 risk are but one of many things associated with breast cancer risk perceptions-and do not drive these perceptions as much as other factors not measured here-the link between these 2 outcomes, one longstanding and the other novel, provides some insight into how patients connect disparate health risks.

Conclusions

COVID-19 affected the perceived risk of developing breast cancer. This natural experiment merits experimental replication because the implications for disease prevention are formidable. The effect of a global threat, such as COVID-19, may have broad implications for health beyond the pandemic. These findings suggest that attention to preventive health behaviors will be needed as COVID-19 becomes endemic.



Acknowledgments

Research reported in this report was funded through a Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI) Enhancement Award entitled "Wisdom During COVID" (PCS-1402-10749). The views presented in this publication are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of PCORI, its Board of Governors, or the Methodology Committee. This study also was supported by (1) the University of California Los Angeles (UCLA) Marvin Hoffenberg Chair Fund, (2) Neria and Manizheh Yomtoubian Endowed Chair Fund, (3) UCLA David Geffen School of Medicine—Eli and Edythe Broad Center of Regenerative Medicine and Stem Cell Research Award Program to the UCLA Center for SMART Health, and (4) National Institutes of Health/National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences grant #UL1TR001881. Mr Victor Gonzalez provided administrative support. Generative artificial intelligence was not used in any portion of the manuscript writing.

Data Availability

The data analyzed during this study are not publicly available because the study is ongoing but are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

RB-K participated in the conceptualization of the study and performed statistical analysis and interpretation, and writing of the paper. AN obtained funding, conceptualized the study, interpreted the data, and wrote the paper. TQH participated in the interpretation of data and writing the paper. KS, AS, RR, and LV participated in the conceptualization of the study, interpreted the data, and wrote the paper. AR participated in statistical analysis and interpretation of the data. LS and ASF provided access to data and edited the paper. LE obtained funding, conceptualized the study, interpreted the data, and edited the paper. The Athena Breast Health Network Investigators and Patient Advocates recruited the study and provided insight into and approved study materials and questionnaires. NW conceptualized the study and analysis, interpreted the data, and drafted the paper. All authors approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary tables. [DOCX File , 49 KB - cancer_v10i1e47856_app1.docx]

References

- Wise T, Zbozinek TD, Michelini G, Hagan CC, Mobbs D. Changes in risk perception and self-reported protective behaviour during the first week of the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. R Soc Open Sci 2020;7(9):200742 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1098/rsos.200742] [Medline: 33047037]
- de Bruin WB, Bennett D. Relationships between initial COVID-19 risk perceptions and protective health behaviors: a national survey. Am J Prev Med 2020;59(2):157-167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2020.05.001] [Medline: 32576418]
- Wenger NS, Stanton AL, Baxter-King R, Sepucha K, Vavreck L, Naeim A. The impact of COVID-19 on routine medical care and cancer screening. J Gen Intern Med 2022;37(6):1450-1456 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-021-07254-x] [Medline: 35013931]
- 4. Arnold M, Rutherford MJ, Bardot A, Ferlay J, Andersson TM, Myklebust, et al. Progress in cancer survival, mortality, and incidence in seven high-income countries 1995-2014 (ICBP SURVMARK-2): a population-based study. Lancet Oncol 2019;20(11):1493-1505 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30456-5] [Medline: 31521509]
- 5. Ritchie D, van den Broucke S, van Hal G. The health belief model and theory of planned behavior applied to mammography screening: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Public Health Nurs 2021;38(3):482-492. [doi: 10.1111/phn.12842] [Medline: 33258163]
- 6. Carman KG, Kooreman P. Probability perceptions and preventive health care. J Risk Uncertain 2014;49(1):43-71. [doi: 10.1007/s11166-014-9196-x]
- 7. Mathur S, Levy M. Lung cancer risk perception and distress: difference by smoking status, and role of physical activity and race among US population. Epidemiol Biostat Public Health 2022;10(2):e8839-1-e8839-11. [doi: 10.2427/8839]
- 8. Stöber J. Trait anxiety and pessimistic appraisal of risk and chance. Pers Individ Differ 1997;22(4):465-476. [doi: 10.1016/s0191-8869(96)00232-2]
- Audrain J, Schwartz MD, Lerman C, Hughes C, Peshkin BN, Biesecker B. Psychological distress in women seeking genetic counseling for breast-ovarian cancer risk: the contributions of personality and appraisal. Ann Behav Med 1997;19(4):370-377. [doi: 10.1007/BF02895156] [Medline: 9706364]

- 10. Brewer NT, Weinstein ND, Cuite CL, Herrington JE. Risk perceptions and their relation to risk behavior. Ann Behav Med 2004;27(2):125-130. [doi: 10.1207/s15324796abm2702_7] [Medline: 15026296]
- Esserman LJ, WISDOM Study and Athena Investigators. The WISDOM Study: breaking the deadlock in the breast cancer screening debate. NPJ Breast Cancer 2017;3:34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41523-017-0035-5] [Medline: 28944288]
- Levy AG, Shea J, Williams SV, Quistberg A, Armstrong K. Measuring perceptions of breast cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2006;15(10):1893-1898. [doi: <u>10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-05-0482</u>] [Medline: <u>17035396</u>]
- Pilkonis PA, Choi SW, Reise SP, Stover AM, Riley WT, Cella D, et al. Item banks for measuring emotional distress from the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS®): depression, anxiety, and anger. Assessment 2011;18(3):263-283 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1073191111411667] [Medline: 21697139]
- Kroenke K, Yu Z, Wu J, Kean J, Monahan PO. Operating characteristics of PROMIS four-item depression and anxiety scales in primary care patients with chronic pain. Pain Med 2014;15(11):1892-1901 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/pme.12537] [Medline: 25138978]
- Garfin DR, Fischhoff B, Holman EA, Silver RC. Risk perceptions and health behaviors as COVID-19 emerged in the United States: results from a probability-based nationally representative sample. J Exp Psychol Appl 2021;27(4):584-598
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/xap0000374] [Medline: 35073127]
- Xie Z, Wenger N, Stanton AL, Sepucha K, Kaplan C, Madlensky L, et al. Risk estimation, anxiety, and breast cancer worry in women at risk for breast cancer: a single-arm trial of personalized risk communication. Psychooncology 2019;28(11):2226-2232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5211] [Medline: 31461546]
- McCaul KD, Branstetter AD, Schroeder DM, Glasgow RE. What is the relationship between breast cancer risk and mammography screening? A meta-analytic review. Health Psychol 1996;15(6):423-429. [doi: 10.1037//0278-6133.15.6.423] [Medline: 8973921]
- Katapodi MC, Lee KA, Facione NC, Dodd MJ. Predictors of perceived breast cancer risk and the relation between perceived risk and breast cancer screening: a meta-analytic review. Prev Med 2004;38(4):388-402. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2003.11.012</u>] [Medline: <u>15020172</u>]
- 19. Ferrer R, Klein WM. Risk perceptions and health behavior. Curr Opin Psychol 2015;5:85-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.03.012] [Medline: 26258160]
- 20. Ferrer RA, Klein WMP, Persoskie A, Avishai-Yitshak A, Sheeran P. The tripartite model of risk perception (TRIRISK): distinguishing deliberative, affective, and experiential components of perceived risk. Ann Behav Med 2016;50(5):653-663. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9790-z] [Medline: 26961206]
- 21. Slovic P. Perception of risk. Science (New York, NY) 1987;236(4799):280-285. [doi: <u>10.1126/science.3563507</u>] [Medline: <u>3563507</u>]
- 22. Slovic P, Peters E. Risk perception and affect. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2016;15(6):322-325. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2006.00461.x]
- 23. Dryhurst S, Schneider CR, Kerr J, Freeman ALJ, Recchia G, van der Bles AM, et al. Risk perceptions of COVID-19 around the world. J Risk Res 2020;23(7-8):994-1006. [doi: 10.1080/13669877.2020.1758193]
- 24. Yıldırım M, Güler A. Factor analysis of the COVID-19 perceived risk scale: a preliminary study. Death Stud 2022;46(5):1065-1072. [doi: 10.1080/07481187.2020.1784311] [Medline: 32584201]
- 25. Risk for COVID-19 infection, hospitalization, and death by age group. CDC. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/</u>2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-age.html [accessed 2022-10-10]
- 26. Carstensen LL, Shavit YZ, Barnes JT. Age advantages in emotional experience persist even under threat from the COVID-19 pandemic. Psychol Sci 2020;31(11):1374-1385. [doi: 10.1177/0956797620967261] [Medline: 33104409]
- Vai B, Cazzetta S, Ghiglino D, Parenti L, Saibene G, Toti M, et al. Risk perception and media in shaping protective behaviors: insights from the early phase of COVID-19 Italian outbreak. Front Psychol 2020;11:563426 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.563426] [Medline: 33250809]
- 28. Shepperd JA, Findley-Klein C, Kwavnick KD, Walker D, Perez S. Bracing for loss. J Pers Soc Psychol 2000;78(4):620-634. [doi: <u>10.1037//0022-3514.78.4.620</u>] [Medline: <u>10794370</u>]
- 29. Lerner JS, Keltner D. Beyond valence: toward a model of emotion-specific influences on judgement and choice. Cognit Emotion 2000;14(4):473-493. [doi: 10.1080/026999300402763]
- Ramiz L, Contrand B, Castro MYR, Dupuy M, Lu L, Sztal-Kutas C, et al. A longitudinal study of mental health before and during COVID-19 lockdown in the French population. Global Health 2021;17(1):29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12992-021-00682-8] [Medline: 33752717]
- Pierce M, Hope H, Ford T, Hatch S, Hotopf M, John A, et al. Mental health before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: a longitudinal probability sample survey of the UK population. Lancet Psychiatry 2020;7(10):883-892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30308-4] [Medline: 32707037]
- 32. Shanahan L, Steinhoff A, Bechtiger L, Murray AL, Nivette A, Hepp U, et al. Emotional distress in young adults during the COVID-19 pandemic: evidence of risk and resilience from a longitudinal cohort study. Psychol Med 2022;52(5):824-833 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S003329172000241X] [Medline: 32571438]

 MacDonald JJ, Baxter-King R, Vavreck L, Naeim A, Wenger N, Sepucha K, et al. Depressive symptoms and anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic: large, longitudinal, cross-sectional survey. JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(2):e33585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33585] [Medline: 35142619]

Abbreviations

PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcome Measurement Information System **WISDOM:** Women Informed to Screen Depending On Measures of Risk

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 04.04.23; peer-reviewed by L Zhu, M Coccia; comments to author 16.10.23; revised version received 29.01.24; accepted 27.02.24; published 02.12.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Baxter-King R, Naeim A, Huang TQ, Sepucha K, Stanton A, Rudkin A, Ryu R, Sabacan L, Vavreck L, Esserman L, Stover Fiscalini A, Wenger NS Relationship Between Perceived COVID-19 Risk and Change in Perceived Breast Cancer Risk: Prospective Observational Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e47856 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e47856</u> doi:<u>10.2196/47856</u> PMID:

©Ryan Baxter-King, Arash Naeim, Tina Q Huang, Karen Sepucha, Annette Stanton, Aaron Rudkin, Rita Ryu, Leah Sabacan, Lynn Vavreck, Laura Esserman, Allison Stover Fiscalini, Neil S Wenger. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 02.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Identifying Factors Associated With Heightened Anxiety During Breast Cancer Diagnosis Through the Analysis of Social Media Data on Reddit: Mixed Methods Study

Joni Pierce¹, MBA, MS; Mike Conway², PhD; Kathryn Grace³, PhD; Jude Mikal⁴, MS, PhD

¹Department of Biomedical Informatics, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

²School of Computing & Information Systems, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

⁴Minnesota Population Center, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States

Corresponding Author:

Joni Pierce, MBA, MS Department of Biomedical Informatics University of Utah 421 Wakara Way #140 Salt Lake City, UT, 84108 United States Phone: 1 8015889395 Email: jonipierce@comcast.net

Abstract

Background: More than 85% of patients report heightened levels of anxiety following breast cancer diagnosis. Anxiety may become amplified during the early stages of breast cancer diagnosis when ambiguity is high. High levels of anxiety can negatively impact patients by reducing their ability to function physically, make decisions, and adhere to treatment plans, with all these elements combined serving to diminish the quality of life.

Objective: This study aimed to use individual social media posts about breast cancer experiences from Reddit (r/breastcancer) to understand the factors associated with breast cancer–related anxiety as individuals move from suspecting to confirming cancer diagnosis.

Methods: We used a mixed method approach by combining natural language processing–based computational methods with descriptive analysis. Our team coded the entire corpus of 2170 unique posts from the r/breastcancer subreddit with respect to key variables, including whether the post was related to prediagnosis, diagnosis, or postdiagnosis concerns. We then used Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (LIWC) to rank-order the codified posts as low, neutral, or high anxiety. High-anxiety posts were then retained for deep descriptive analysis to identify key themes relative to diagnostic progression.

Results: After several iterations of data analysis and classification through both descriptive and computational methods, we identified a total of 448 high-anxiety posts across the 3 diagnostic categories. Our analyses revealed that individuals experience higher anxiety before a confirmed cancer diagnosis. Analysis of the high-anxiety posts revealed that the factors associated with anxiety differed depending on an individual's stage in the diagnostic process. Prediagnosis anxiety was associated with physical symptoms, cancer-related risk factors, communication, and interpreting medical information. During the diagnosis period, high anxiety was associated with physical symptoms, cancer-related risk factors, communication, and difficulty navigating the health care system. Following diagnosis, high-anxiety posts generally discussed topics related to treatment options, physical symptoms, emotional distress, family, and financial issues.

Conclusions: This study has practical, theoretical, and methodological implications for cancer research. Content analysis reveals several possible drivers of anxiety at each stage (prediagnosis, during diagnosis, and postdiagnosis) and provides key insights into how clinicians can help to alleviate anxiety at all stages of diagnosis. Findings provide insights into cancer-related anxiety as a process beginning before engagement with the health care system: when an individual first notices possible cancer symptoms. Uncertainty around physical symptoms and risk factors suggests the need for increased education and improved access to trained medical staff who can assist patients with questions and concerns during the diagnostic process. Assistance in understanding

³Department of Geography, Environment, and Society, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States

technical reports, scheduling, and patient-centric clinician behavior may pinpoint opportunities for improved communication between patients and providers.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52551) doi:10.2196/52551

KEYWORDS

breast cancer; anxiety; NLP; natural language processing; mixed methods study; cancer diagnosis; social media apps; descriptive analysis; diagnostic progression; patient-centered care

Introduction

Background

In 2020, more than 2.3 million women worldwide were diagnosed with breast cancer, and over 685,000 died from the disease. Every 14 seconds, a woman is diagnosed with breast cancer worldwide, and in the United States, someone is diagnosed every 2 minutes. Breast cancer is the most common cancer diagnosis in 140 of 184 countries worldwide. In the United States, it is the most common cancer after nonmelanoma skin cancer [1,2]. Research has demonstrated that breast cancer diagnosis is associated with an increase in anxiety surrounding self-concept, mortality, cancer recurrence, treatment, and altered body image [3-7]. Furthermore, increased anxiety is associated with impaired physical functioning, reduced quality of life, decision-making ability, delayed return to work, and poor adherence to treatment [8]. Yet, for many, anxiety has its roots much earlier in the process of a cancer diagnosis, specifically when an individual first notices physical changes or risk factors that may represent an increased risk of cancer diagnosis, and for many, this increases stress [8,9]. Researchers have largely acknowledged increased anxiety following diagnosis [10,11], but less research has explored the anxiety associated with suspecting one may have breast cancer [12]. Untreated anxiety increases and amplifies the emotional and physical symptoms of patients with breast cancer. By increasing understanding of the relationship between anxiety and breast cancer, clinicians can provide more advanced interventional care to support better overall patient well-being. Advancing the scientific understanding of the ways that individuals experience anxiety during the different stages of cancer diagnosis, including the very early stages when breast cancer is suspected rather than officially diagnosed, provides an opportunity to support whole-person care. By connecting and cotreating breast cancer diagnostics and elevated anxiety, clinicians are better able to manage the process of adverse health diagnoses with mental health outcomes. Considering the ways these 2 health processes interact allows clinicians to provide appropriate support for an individual's mental health as they proactively seek medical treatment.

Evaluating mental health outcomes like anxiety after an individual suspects disease but before they have received a diagnosis requires specific types of data capable of providing insight into each individual person's dynamic mental and physical health status over a very specific time period related to the diagnosis. Time-varying, individual-level data capable of capturing the linkages between these processes are rarely, if ever, collected in studies of breast cancer and anxiety because it requires information about individuals based only on suspicion

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52551
```

of disease rather than a medical diagnosis. The goal of this study is to explore anxiety, with specific attention to potential drivers of anxiety, across the diagnostic continuum during breast cancer diagnosis for people who are in different diagnostic phases. To conduct this research, we designed a unique dataset derived from social media posts, analyzed and interpreted through computational and descriptive methods. We collected data from the Reddit community r/breastcancer. Reddit is a social media platform that focuses on community engagement by offering subcommunities known as "subreddits" of specific areas of interest, like breast cancer. Reddit has over 1 billion registered users, with 47% of active users in the United States [13]. We analyzed all thread-initiating posts from the r/breastcancer subreddit. We began by assessing all posts to determine what stage in the diagnostic process the original poster (OP) is. We then used computational methods to identify posts characterized by a high relative frequency of anxiety-related terms. The "high-anxiety" posts were then retained for descriptive analysis to determine key themes that could provide insight into factors associated with anxiety and to assess whether those topics differ based on the individual's stage in the diagnostic process.

Theoretical Framing

Research has shown that up to 85% of patients with breast cancer experience elevated rates of anxiety related to changes in body image and sexual functioning, new responsibilities regarding treatment and treatment management, personal relationships, and logistical and financial concerns. Lazarus [14] defines stress as a multistage process beginning with assessment and ending with coping strategies. Opton and Lazarus [15] go on to describe the perception and interpretation of stress in several stages, beginning with an assessment of the stress event as an anticipation of harm. This event is then categorized as harmful, benign, or beneficial. According to Lazarus [14], cognitive appraisal of a threat is influenced by personal factors and situational factors. Personal factors include motivation, belief, intelligence resources, education, and knowledge. Situational factors include novelty, predictability, event uncertainty, temporal factors, and ambiguity [14,16]. When coupled with high levels of uncertainty, stress may be experienced as anxiety. Lazarus [14] defines ambiguity as a lack of situational clarity in contrast to uncertainty, which relates to a person's confusion about the meaning of the environmental situation. Ambiguity can intensify a threat by limiting a person's sense of control and increasing a sense of helplessness over the perceived danger. Monat et al [17] link anxiety to uncertainty about the nature of a threat, including the probability and timing of experiencing the threat, as well as an understanding of what can be done about the threat [17,18]. Hilton [19] describes coping resources, according to Folkman et al [20], to include

XSL•FO RenderX

planful problem-solving, confrontation, distancing, self-control, seeking social support, accepting responsibility, escape-avoidance, and positive reappraisal. Our study focuses on the coping strategy of support seeking by a specific breast cancer social media community hosted on the social media platform Reddit.

Anxiety levels can be categorized as "state anxiety," meaning the anxiety is associated with a condition or situation, whereas "trait anxiety" is the propensity to worry and experience fear on a regular basis. Our study focuses on conditions of "state anxiety" related to the suspicion of having breast cancer. A total of 45% of patients reported severe state anxiety in the early stages of breast cancer diagnostics and treatment [9,21,22]. These heightened levels of anxiety can result in a host of adverse mental and physical health outcomes alongside diminished quality of life, potentially negatively impacting both immune response and cognitive functioning [23,24].

While nearly all patients with breast cancer experience some anxiety surrounding diagnosis, research has identified risk factors that have been shown to exacerbate anxiety among patients with breast cancer [4,25]. These risk factors can be divided into four distinct categories: (1) staging and cancer progression, (2) mental health history, (3) physical symptoms, and (4) patient (demographic) characteristics. Research on "staging and cancer progression" shows higher levels of anxiety for individuals diagnosed with metastatic breast cancer [25,26], while "mental health predictors" include a prediagnosis history of diagnosed anxiety or depression [3,25,27-30] or a precancer history of diagnosed personality disorder [27]. "Physical symptoms," including pain, fatigue, insomnia, digestive disorders, and mobility issues, were associated with elevated anxiety levels during treatment and up to 12 months following treatment completion [5,10,31]. Patient or demographic characteristics, including age and race, were also shown to influence anxiety levels both directly and indirectly [28,31-35].

The preponderance of research on breast cancer-related anxiety has focused on anxiety following cancer diagnosis. This postdiagnosis focus encourages a unilateral conceptualization of anxiety. Specifically, unlike trait anxiety, state anxiety is a transitory emotional state that depends on a host of context-level factors [36]. These context-level factors change as an individual moves from suspecting to confirming breast cancer diagnosis. These changes are associated with disruption and ambiguity and lead to heightened levels of anxiety [37]. More to the point, evidence suggests that cancer-related anxiety does not emerge at the time of diagnosis [12]. For example, Lerman et al [38] showed spikes in cancer-related anxiety associated with abnormal and potentially problematic breast cancer screenings. Furthermore, research exists to support the notion that not only do cancer-related anxieties first emerge before cancer diagnosis, but those anxieties may diminish in the aftermath of a confirmed diagnosis [39]. Taken together, these studies suggest that anxiety has roots much earlier in the diagnostic process and evolves as patients encounter new challenges and gather new information.

Breast Cancer–Related Anxiety and Social Media Support

We collected data from Reddit, a virtual space where many users find support through sharing their testimonials and asking for advice. Social support has been shown to be an effective tool to help people cope with anxiety. The transfer of advice, resources, and information in response to a stressor has been shown to reduce anxiety and to buffer against the deleterious effects of stress through a variety of mechanisms and in a variety of contexts (for a broader discussion, see, eg, [40-43]). Despite this, changes in support needs often coincide with moments of limited support availability [44]. In light of this, many individuals have turned to breast cancer support networks created and maintained online. Often associated with benefits similar to those of face-to-face social support exchange, computer-mediated social support, like that potentially offered through Reddit, offers notable advantages in the transmission of social support, including anonymity [45], improved congruence between the nature of support sought and support received [46], reduced communication barriers [47], and increased agency in support seeking [48].

Support seeking in the context of online communities provides unique data opportunities for using automated text processing methods to measure the relative levels of anxiety among individuals at different stages of their breast cancer diagnosis journey and to identify high anxiety posts for subsequent descriptive analysis. Combining descriptive and computational methods, this study reconstructs a diagnostic timeline to examine the evolution of anxiety beginning when an individual first suspects breast cancer. We then use descriptive analysis to identify factors associated with anxiety and how those factors shift before, during, and following a cancer diagnosis. Our mixed methods, computational-descriptive analysis is designed to identify possible factors associated with anxiety among individuals suspecting breast cancer and to observe how those factors evolve through the diagnostic and treatment processes.

Methods

Overview

The objective of this study was to identify potential contributors to high levels of anxiety among individuals suspecting breast cancer. Relying on Reddit's broad and diverse user base, we extracted breast cancer and anxiety data from the r/breastcancer subreddit, a community for individuals who suspect or have been diagnosed with breast cancer (or are supporting someone who has).

We approached this objective using a mixed methods analysis consisting of three phases: (1) exploratory analysis for codification and categorization of cancer-related posts into broad categories; (2) computational analysis of linguistic markers of elevated anxiety and identification of original posts characterized by high levels of anxiety; and (3) descriptive analysis for the evaluation of statistical differences in anxiety levels between categories, analysis of original posts for both principal causes of anxiety, as well as the evolution of those anxieties over time [49-51].

Our study focused only on high levels of "state anxiety" for different people who were in various diagnostic phases for breast cancer. State anxiety is defined as a transient state of arousal subjectively experienced as anxiety. It is a momentary emotional condition characterized by subjective feelings of apprehension and tension [21,22,52]. The analysis procedures and associated phases are depicted in Figure 1, and each phase is discussed in greater detail below (more details are provided in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Figure 1. Multiphase analytic approach. IRR: interrater reliability; LIWC: Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count.



Exploratory Analysis and Classification

Given our interest in anxiety and its associated factors, we focused on initiating posts or posts that propose a topic or

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52551
```

RenderX

question to which users can respond. Using the PushShift application programming interface (API), we collected all initiating posts from Reddit's r/breastcancer subreddit. This yielded a total dataset of 2170 posts. Authors JM, JP, and MC

evaluated all posts independently following a bottom-up coding technique, identifying broad content classifications that had the potential to influence the degree and nature of anxiety expressed in the online posts. Authors then met weekly to consolidate and collapse categories.

Bottom-up inductive analysis revealed three dimensions with the potential to influence the degree and cause of individuals' anxiety: (1) whether an individual had a confirmed breast cancer diagnosis, (2) the age of the user, and (3) whether an individual was posting about their own or another person's cancer diagnosis. In addition, 2 subsequent categories also emerged with considerable overlap between them: general information posts and advertisements. General information posts were posts that included general information about breast cancer, cancer treatment, or risk factors; advertisements included any solicitation of cancer patients for products and services and

Table 1.	Initial	classification	of Reddit	posts.
----------	---------	----------------	-----------	--------

participation in scientific studies. General information and advertisement posts were often generated by bots or individuals other than those suspecting breast cancer; thus, these posts were excluded from final tabulation and analysis. In all, 1592 posts were retained for analysis.

The final coding classification scheme had nine dichotomous categories: (1) identification of breast cancer risk (prediagnosis), (2) engagement with medical practitioners to confirm breast cancer diagnosis (diagnosis), (3) confirmed breast cancer diagnosis (postdiagnosis), (4) aged younger than 40 years (under 40), (5) aged 40 years and older (40 and over), (6) posting about own breast cancer (self), (7) posting about another's breast cancer (other), (8) general information about breast cancer, and (9) advertisements. After removing all posts for general information and advertisements, we retained 7 final classification categories, as shown in Table 1.

Category	Variable type	Description
Self	y/n ^a	OP ^b discusses own cancer risk or diagnosis.
Other	y/n	OP discusses someone else's cancer risk or diagnosis.
Under 40	y/n	OP reported age younger than 40 years.
40 and over	y/n	OP reported age 40 years and older or did not report age.
Prediagnosis	y/n	Post refers to events or concerns that occur before seeking medical attention.
Diagnosis	y/n	Post refers to concerns during or resulting from engagement with the medical system while seeking out a diagnosis.
Postdiagnosis	y/n	Post refers to events or concerns following formal diagnosis.

^ay/n: yes/no.

^bOP: original poster.

To quantify the agreement between coders, we used Cohen κ . After 3 rounds of annotation (coders MC, JP, and JM), we achieved an agreement score of 0.81. Cohen κ >0.7 is generally considered an acceptable agreement [53].

Computational Analysis Using Natural Language Processing

The data were first classified into the coding categories described above (self, other, age, etc), and we excluded posts that were duplicates, empty posts, and deleted posts. Following this, we used an automated text analytics method to assign an anxiety score to all 1592 posts (ie, a score that indicates the extent to which a particular comment exhibited anxiety). To achieve this, we used lexicons derived from the Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (LIWC) 2007 lexicon [54,55], a widely used resource [56-58] that automatically quantifies the presence of salient psychological categories from the text (eg, positive affect, negative affect, cognitive processes, perceptual processes, and swearing).

In the context of social media analysis, LIWC lexicons have been used extensively to study the emotional and cognitive consequences of various scenarios, including (1) romantic breakup [59], (2) studying expressions of loneliness [60], and most salient to our current research question, (3) to study emotional expression in cancer survivors [61]. A key feature of LIWC that makes it well suited to our goal is the fact that "anxiety" is among the 63 psychological dimensions encoded in LIWC. The "anxiety" category consists of 91 terms (eg, alarm*, asham*, and uneas*) that can be used to quantify the extent to which a given text exhibits anxiety. Note that the asterisk is a wildcard that allows the pattern to match relevant derivational and inflectional morphemes (eg, the pattern alarm* will match "alarm," "alarmed," and "alarming").

We used the LIWC anxiety lexicon in conjunction with the Python text-processing library, the Natural Language Toolkit [62]. We used the Natural Language Toolkit to first tokenize each comment into its constituent word tokens, then (programmatically) counted the number of words in each post that matched a term in the LIWC anxiety lexicon. We excluded posts relating to marketing and general discussion of breast cancer issues, as in this research, we are primarily interested in the lived experience of Reddit users experiencing breast cancer. From our starting point of 1592 posts, these preprocessing steps led to a final dataset of 892 posts.

We calculated anxiety scores to distinguish high-anxiety posts from low-anxiety posts. Anxiety scores were determined by first calculating the normalized frequency of LIWC anxiety terms per post expressed as a percentage. This approach accounts for the fact that posts varied in length. Next, we calculated the median percentage across the 892 posts and then

XSL•FO RenderX

converted the percentage to an ordinal variable (ie, 0 [None]=no LIWC terms; 1 [Low anxiety]=percentage>0 but less than the

Table 2. Ordinal values.

Breakdown of ordinal variables	Score	Count, n
No anxiety	0	336
Low anxiety	1	108
High anxiety	2	448

Descriptive Analysis of High-Anxiety Post Themes

The computational analysis and codification described in step 2 began with the analysis of 1592 posts. We removed 578 posts due to duplicates, empty posts, and deleted posts, which yielded a subset of 892 posts. Out of those, 448 posts were categorized as high-anxiety posts across (1) diagnostic stage, (2) patient age, and (3) self versus other. To account for multiple categorizations for a single post, we created 3 separate datasets for prediagnosis concerns, concerns surrounding diagnosis and care engagement, and concerns that emerged after a confirmed breast cancer diagnosis.

Posts were again analyzed using a bottom-up, constant comparison approach. Authors JM and JP immersed themselves in the datasets to identify what social media data reveals about the sources of anxieties among individuals suspecting breast cancer, along with factors that may exacerbate cancer-related anxiety, and how those anxieties may evolve between an individual's discovery of cancer risk, through testing to eventual diagnosis.

Authors JM and JP independently coded 50 posts from each of the 3 datasets and met weekly to identify emerging categorical themes with the goal of identifying the array of themes that captured the largest number of original posts across all 3 of the datasets. Once the authors had completed the original coding of the first 150 posts, we met to consolidate and collapse themes. The final list of categorical themes is presented in the *Results* section.

Once the final list of anxiety categories had been established, authors JM and JP divided the remaining 448 posts between them, and each researcher independently evaluated each post. Mentions of each of the anxiety types were tabulated to track the frequency of each within and between each of the diagnostic stages: prediagnosis, diagnosis, and postdiagnosis. The authors also conducted a close reading to identify factors that may exacerbate anxiety or how anxiety is likely to evolve over time. Results of the computational analysis, tabulation, and descriptive analyses are presented in text and table form in the *Results* section.

median percentage; and 2 [High anxiety]=percentage≥median

value). Table 2 shows frequency counts for each category.

Ethical Considerations

This study involved a secondary analysis of publicly available data posted on social media. All data used in this study were anonymized and aggregated. An ethics review was not sought due to the public nature of the data, along with the absence of identifying information for the person creating the social media post. Informed consent was not required as each participant voluntarily posted their data in a public forum on social media. No compensation was offered (more details are provided in Multimedia Appendix 2).

Results

Our cross-sectional analysis of anxiety among individuals suspecting breast cancer as they move from suspecting to screening for and eventually confirming a breast cancer diagnosis consisted of a three-phase analysis plan: (1) classification, (2) computational analysis of linguistic markers, and (3) deep detailed descriptive analysis of anxiety in social media posts. Results are organized according to these methods.

Classification

Our first-round classification of the entire r/breastcancer subreddit (ie, 1592 original initiating posts) yielded three principal classification categories: (1) an individual's stage in the diagnostic process (ie, prediagnosis, diagnosis, or postdiagnosis), (2) an individual's age (ie, 40 and over or under 40), and (3) whether the post related to the poster's own cancer experience or that of a loved one. Tabulations can be found in Table 3.



 Table 3. Principle classification categories.

Principle classification categories and subcategories	Posts, n
Diagnostic stage	
Prediagnosis	235
Diagnosis	185
Postdiagnosis	352
Patient age	
Under 40	298
40 and over	594
Person	
Self	539
Other	353

Computational Analysis

Table 4. Descriptive statistics.

Out of the 892 initiating posts that remained after the preprocessing steps in phase 3, shown in Figure 1, a total of 336 posts were classified as having no evidence of anxiety, 108 were classified as low anxiety, and the remaining 448 were classified as high anxiety. Posts varied in length with a mean

number of words of 193 (SD 155; median 152, range 26-1766). Our analysis (more details are provided in Multimedia Appendix 1) revealed that anxiety was substantially higher for younger individuals, individuals posting about their own cancer diagnosis, and individuals in the prediagnosis and screening phases of cancer diagnosis. More detailed descriptive statistics are shown in Table 4.

Category	Posts (n=892), n (%)	Median anxiety score	Most common anxiety terms
All	892 (100)	2 (high anxiety)	Worried, scared, risk, worry, and anxiety
Under 40	298 (33.4)	2 (high anxiety)	Worried, scared, risk, worry, and anxiety
40 and over	594 (66.6)	1 (low anxiety)	Worried, scared, risk, anxiety, and worry
Self	539 (60.4)	2 (high anxiety)	Worried, scared, risk, anxiety, and worry
Other	284 (31.8)	1 (low anxiety)	Worried, scared, worry, afraid, and fear
Prediagnosis	235 (26.3)	2 (high anxiety)	Scared, worried, risk, anxiety, and worried
Diagnosis	185 (20.7)	2 (high anxiety)	Scared, worried, worry, anxiety, and ner- vous
Postdiagnosis	352 (39.5)	1 (low anxiety)	Worried, scared, risk, anxiety, and worry

Descriptive Analysis of High-Anxiety Post Themes

General inductive analysis revealed 9 themes associated with high-anxiety posts (Table 5). While research on cancer and anxiety has typically focused on the stresses faced by patients with breast cancer following diagnosis, our results provide compelling evidence that not only does anxiety have its roots much earlier in the diagnostic process, but that anxiety manifests differently based on whether an individual is first discovering breast cancer risk, engaging with the medical system, or have already received a formal breast cancer diagnosis. Our findings also suggest that those risks may change as individuals move from one diagnostic group to the next.

General inductive analysis revealed 9 key themes (more details are shown in Table 5). Themes centered around (1) family concerns, (2) physical symptoms, (3) risk factors, (4) diagnosis, (5) treatment, (6) interpreting medical information, (7) financial, (8) patient-provider communication, and (9) emotional distress.



Table 5. Categorical themes from high-anxiety posts.

Pierce et al

Anxiety theme	Definition
Family	Refers to the impact of potential diagnosis on children or family, preparation for life after diagnosis or after cancer, communicating diagnosis, or health concerns
Physical symptoms	Physical symptoms concerns indicating cancer, cancer type, or gravity
Risk factors	Concerns regarding family history, lifestyle, genetic predisposition, or carcinogenic exposure
Diagnosis	Issues with diagnosis, missed diagnosis, persistent symptoms, or inconclusive initial test results
Treatment	Questions regarding treatment, treatment decisions, or side effects
Interpreting medical informa- tion	Anxiety resulting from online research and Google searches; difficulty in understanding or interpreting medical reports or lab reports; and interpreting clinician behavior
Financial	Concerns regarding insurance, treatment costs, or costs of tests; job-related issues
Patient-provider communica- tion	Confusion or anxiety resulting from engagement with health care staff and clinicians
Emotional distress	Difficulty in managing emotions; fear that emotions were interfering with daily functioning or thinking clearly

Characteristics of the 3 phases (prediagnosis, diagnosis, postdiagnosis) are listed in Tables 6-8 below. The tables show a clear evolution of cancer concerns. Prediagnosis concerns across age categories (40 and over) tended to focus primarily on physical symptoms and risk factors. Notably, 65 (83%) of the 78 self and under-40 posts included mention of physical

symptoms, while 44 (83%) of the 53 self and 40-and-over posts included mention of changes in physical symptoms. A substantial number of posts also focused on health care engagement. Health care engagement posts often included requests for information about how, when, and from whom to seek care for marked physical changes.

Table 6. Prediagnosis data.

Anxiety-related categories	Prediagnosis			
	Self (n=131)		Other (n=14)	
	Under 40 (n=78), n (%)	40 and over (n=53), n (%)	Under 40 (n=78), n (%)	40 and over (n=53), n (%)
Family	3 (4)	4 (8)	0	0
Physical symptoms	65 (83)	44 (83)	3	7
Risk factors	30 (38)	22 (42)	1	3
Diagnosis	2 (3)	3 (6)	2	5
Treatment	3 (4)	3 (6)	0	1
Interpreting medical information	7 (9)	4 (8)	1	4
Financial	2 (3)	3 (6)	0	0
Patient-provider communication	12 (15)	4 (8)	1	3
Emotional distress	5 (6)	3 (6)	2	0



Table 7. Diagnosis data.

Anxiety-related categories	Diagnosis				
	Self (n=92)		Other (n=12)		
	Under 40 (n=48), n (%)	40 and over (n=44), n (%)	Under 40 (n=4), n (%)	40 and over (n=8), n (%)	
Family	6 (13)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Physical symptoms	42 (88)	29 (66)	4 (100)	6 (75)	
Risk factors	20 (42)	7 (16)	2 (50)	1 (13)	
Diagnosis	9 (19)	9 (20)	2 (50)	1 (13)	
Treatment	1 (2)	1 (2)	1 (25)	2 (25)	
Interpreting medical information	19 (40)	5 (11)	0 (0)	1 (13)	
Financial	4 (8)	2 (5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Patient-provider communication	15 (31)	16 (36)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Emotional distress	4 (8)	3 (7)	0 (0)	0 (0)	

Table 8. Postdiagnosis data.

Anxiety-related categories	Postdiagnosis			
	Self (n=70)		Other (n=14)	
	Under 40 (n=29), n (%)	40 and over (n=41), n (%)	Under 40 (n=4), n (%)	40 and over (n=10), n (%)
Family	14 (48)	8 (20)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Physical symptoms	5 (17)	12 (29)	3 (75)	7 (70)
Risk factors	4 (14)	4 (10)	1 (25)	3 (30)
Diagnosis	3 (10)	6 (15)	2 (50)	5 (50)
Treatment	14 (48)	24 (59)	0 (0)	1 (10)
Interpreting medical information	3 (10)	2 (5)	1 (25)	4 (40)
Financial	1 (3)	3 (7)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Patient-provider communication	1 (3)	5 (12)	1 (25)	3 (30)
Emotional distress	4 (14)	8 (20)	2 (50)	0 (0)

Moving from Table 6 to Table 7, the incidence of physical symptoms and risk-related anxiety remains very high. However, a closer read of the post content reveals that physical symptoms or risk factor discussions tended to present physical symptoms and risk factors primarily as a backdrop to more specific questions about treatment, financial distress, or issues with the health care engagement process.

During the diagnostic process, individuals tended to report more anxieties stemming from either patient-provider communication or interpreting medical information. Anxiety stemming from patient-provider communication frequently resulted from individuals' own attempts to reduce ambiguity by gleaning additional information from clinician behaviors. Posters noted specific instances where technicians interrupted screenings and left the room. Posters also reported being contacted by clinic staff to move up an appointment date. When clinicians did not provide additional information, posters often interpreted these behaviors as indicating a potential problem.

"Interpreting medical information" might include instances where individuals were unable to decipher complex medical reports or cases in which individuals took to the internet to

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52551
```

research their own symptoms. In one instance, an adolescent posted that he needed help translating a medical report for an English language–learning parent who had been provided screening results in English.

There are several notable changes in content themes in the postdiagnosis table (Table 8). Following diagnosis, individuals were significantly less likely to report physical changes and risk factors, which were dominant themes in the prediagnosis and diagnosis tables. Rather, anxious posts about an individual's own cancer tended to focus on issues related to treatment, most notably in the under-40 group. These individuals were often seeking advice from individuals who had been through cancer diagnosis and treatment and could provide insights related to cancer treatment, treatment side effects, or reconstructive surgery.

Another marked shift that occurred in the postdiagnosis table was a shift in the proportion of posts about one's own cancer. In the prediagnosis and diagnosis datasets, most of the high-anxiety posts were from individuals suspecting they may have breast cancer. These were individuals who were, themselves, seeking a breast cancer diagnosis (14/145, 10% of

prediagnosis posts and 12/104, 12% of diagnosis posts). The postdiagnosis group was characterized by a significantly larger proportion of high-anxiety posts originating from someone other than the person with breast cancer (85/155, 55% of posts).

Discussion

Principal Findings

Many patients experience the highest levels of anxiety during the early stages of investigating a possible breast cancer diagnosis before a confirmed diagnosis. When diagnostic uncertainty is high, some patients seek information and communication through social media channels and online patient education sites. Our study found 9 categories associated with elevated anxiety levels with suspected breast cancer. These categories include family, physical symptoms, risk factors, diagnosis, treatment, interpreting medical information, financial, patient and provider communications, and emotional distress. We found categories of concern shifted by age (under 40 and 40 and over) across the diagnostic stages. In the prediagnostic stage, both age categories showed physical symptoms and risk factors associated with high anxiety. For patients younger than 40 years of age, patient-provider communication gaps and interpreting medical information contributed to frustration and associated anxiety. In the diagnostic stage, both age categories showed physical symptoms, and patient-provider communications were associated with high anxiety. For patients younger than 40 years of age, risk factors and interpreting medical information were associated with high anxiety in the diagnostic stage. In the postdiagnostic stage, we found a marked shift by age category in the factors associated with anxiety. Patients younger than 40 years of age showed high anxiety associated with family, while patients aged 40 years and older showed high anxiety associated with physical symptoms, emotional distress, and breast cancer in others close to them. Both age categories showed high anxiety associated with treatment.

Our deeper analysis of the content also revealed high levels of anxiety associated with navigating and engaging the health care system and financial matters. Patients experience increasing anxiety associated with understanding and interpreting the early physical symptoms associated with breast cancer and the anticipated course of diagnostic events. These gaps included a lack of empathy and confusing or limited medical information. Social support structures appeared as a high priority for people experiencing possible breast cancer diagnosis for themselves and the people close to them.

Our descriptive content analysis and post tabulations provide key insights into how anxiety manifests in each of the diagnostic phases: prediagnosis, diagnosis, and postdiagnosis. Notably, our results indicate a need for additional public information regarding early breast cancer warning signs. Many of the high-anxiety prediagnosis posts were associated with changes in physical symptoms or identification of new family or behavioral risk factors. Nearly all users participated in the breast cancer subreddit community to assess their likelihood of a breast cancer diagnosis based on the physical symptoms and risk factors they identified in their original post. Several sought

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52551
```

advice about whether the physical symptoms they described merited medical attention, cancer screenings, or where to seek treatment. Others who discovered risk factors were unclear about what should be done once they became aware of a high likelihood of a subsequent cancer diagnosis.

Results also pointed to the potential for improvements in patient-provider communication. For example, in addition to direct reports of feeling mistreated or dismissed by clinic staff, informational ambiguity emerged as a factor associated with elevated anxiety. High-anxiety posts were often related to difficulties understanding complex medical reports or understanding clinic or clinician behaviors (eg, leaving appointments midscreening to find an oncologist, scheduling follow-up appointments, or even moving previously scheduled appointments). Furthermore, many individuals used websites like WebMD or Google to try to understand medical reports, physical symptoms, risk factors, or the behavior of their clinician or clinical staff, but results of independent and unguided searches often contributed to individuals' anxiety and ended up reported in patient posts as associated with anxiety.

Numerical and descriptive results are also highly suggestive that anxiety be viewed as a process and that the risk of high anxiety is actually higher before breast cancer is diagnosed. While we looked at a cross-section of data between individuals, our results show a clear evolution in the primary factors associated with anxiety based on an individual's staging within the diagnostic process.

There was also a marked shift in the postdiagnosis table. In the prediagnosis and diagnosis groups, most of the original posters were individuals who were concerned about their own cancer. In the postdiagnosis table, over half of the posts came from individuals worried about the possible diagnosis of a close friend or family member. This shift may highlight the need for additional formal support structures for friends and family of cancer patients. The corresponding drop in the number of posts from patients with cancer may be an artifact of the more formal structures in place to provide support to individuals as they cope with treatment decisions, including social workers, nurses, and practitioners, as well as websites such as PatientsLikeMe.com. These structures and friendships may not be in place for individuals coping with the breast cancer of a loved one. The subreddit sites may provide invaluable secondary support. However, they may also signal the need for more formal networks of support and support groups for individuals providing care and support to a patient with cancer.

Comparison to Previous Work

Our study findings are consistent with previous research results for studies focused on breast cancer and anxiety. These studies consistently report anxiety to be highest during the early stages of diagnosis when uncertainty is high, and the diagnosis may be undermined. Furthermore, uncertainty is associated with increased stress, which can translate to anxiety for some people [4,8-10,12,34,39,63-65]. We are not aware of other research studies that study the factors associated with high anxiety by age brackets across the diagnostic stages.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Strengths and Limitations

By looking at individuals in different phases of the diagnostic process, we were able to obtain a good sense of what the evolution of stress might look like as individuals move from suspicion to confirmation of breast cancer. This approach may be advantageous in that our dataset includes the concerns of individuals who are ultimately not diagnosed with cancer.

First, our study does not include longitudinal data and, therefore, can only suggest a possible evolutionary trajectory associated with anxiety. The cross-sectional nature of the data does not allow for the study of self-reported experiences of state anxiety throughout the diagnostic phases for each patient.

Second, the data used in this study are not broadly representative of patients with breast cancer due to the source of the data, which is a social media forum. Contributors to health-related discussion platforms are estimated to represent only a small proportion of overall users. In a study of 63,990 social media users, van Mierlo [66] found that 90% of users were silent observers or "lurkers" rather than active participants [66]. In addition, 9% of users contributed sparingly, and only 1% were actively engaged in online dialogue. We estimate some derivative of these ratios translates to the r/breastcancer subreddit, thus limiting representation of the full range of views in this community.

Third, this study identified factors associated with elevated levels of anxiety related to suspected breast cancer. However, these associations do not provide evidence of causation for elevated anxiety. Consequently, the results of our findings may lead to inaccurate conclusions, including spurious correlations.

Future Directions

Future studies could focus on longitudinal data associated with individual patients to understand the transient nature of state anxiety for individuals. Furthermore, experimental studies with informational interventions provided early in the diagnostic process could elucidate measurable effect data, which could guide future patient education and support tools aimed at reducing anxiety. More studies using new modalities, such as digital health interventions, could advance the research base for targeted and scalable patient information tools.

Conclusions

The significance of this study is the identification of factors associated with high anxiety during the earliest stages of breast cancer diagnosis. The findings have been categorized by age and whether the expressed anxiety was related to self or another person (other). These categories can be used for individualized, targeted interventions to manage high-anxiety levels associated with breast cancer. Our findings in this study suggest that early intervention for anxiety during the breast cancer diagnostic process may help patients cope with high levels of anxiety found in the early and midstages of breast cancer diagnosis. Diagnostic delays and associated uncertainty appear to amplify breast cancer-related anxiety, indicating that communicating early and often is important. Access to medically sound information is critical since patients are using the internet and social communities to gather information and advice. While online communities offer immediate access to information, they can serve as a source of misinformation, which may exacerbate anxiety unnecessarily.

Implications for Cancer Survivors

The findings of this study suggest that improving access and awareness around breast cancer information, peer coping communities, health coaching, and forward contingency planning would benefit patients who have high levels of anxiety related to breast cancer diagnosis. Focusing on person-centered care to include psychosocial support systems when people are coping with the possibility of breast cancer is expected to improve the anxiety associated with breast cancer investigation and diagnosis.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Mengke Hu, PhD for her assistance with data analysis. This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors. No generative artificial intelligence (AI) was used in any aspect of this research project.

Data Availability

The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during this study are not publicly available to ensure the privacy of the Reddit breast cancer community members is maintained but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

JP and JM wrote the original draft for the manuscript and created Tables 1-8. JP created Figure 1 and led project administration. MC conducted all data curation, text analytics, and computational analyses. MC and JM conceptualized the research and recommended the research methodology. JP, JM, MC, and KG reviewed and edited the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52551

Descriptive and comparative statistics. [DOCX File, 17 KB - cancer v10i1e52551 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Institutional policy on ethics review. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 166 KB - cancer_v10i1e52551_app2.pdf]

References

- 1. Breast Cancer Research Foundation. URL: <u>https://www.bcrf.org/</u> [accessed 2022-01-14]
- 2. Breastcancer.org. URL: <u>https://www.breastcancer.org/</u> [accessed 2022-01-14]
- Carreira H, Williams R, Müller M, Harewood R, Stanway S, Bhaskaran K. Associations between breast cancer survivorship and adverse mental health outcomes: a systematic review. J Natl Cancer Inst 2018;110(12):1311-1327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djy177] [Medline: 30403799]
- Hashemi SM, Rafiemanesh H, Aghamohammadi T, Badakhsh M, Amirshahi M, Sari M, et al. Prevalence of anxiety among breast cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Breast Cancer 2020 Mar;27(2):166-178. [doi: 10.1007/s12282-019-01031-9] [Medline: 31828585]
- 5. Vahdaninia M, Omidvari S, Montazeri A. What do predict anxiety and depression in breast cancer patients? A follow-up study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2010 Mar;45(3):355-361. [doi: 10.1007/s00127-009-0068-7] [Medline: 19458878]
- 6. Reich M, Lesur A, Perdrizet-Chevallier C. Depression, quality of life and breast cancer: a review of the literature. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2008 Jul;110(1):9-17. [doi: 10.1007/s10549-007-9706-5] [Medline: 17674188]
- 7. Endler NS. Stress, anxiety and coping: The multidimensional interaction model. Canadian Psychology / Psychologie Canadienne 1997 Aug;38(3):136-153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0708-5591.38.3.136]
- Williams AM, Khan CP, Heckler CE, Barton DL, Ontko M, Geer J, et al. Fatigue, anxiety, and quality of life in breast cancer patients compared to non-cancer controls: a nationwide longitudinal analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2021 May;187(1):275-285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-020-06067-6] [Medline: 33392843]
- Villar RR, Fernández SP, Garea CC, Pillado MTS, Barreiro VB, Martín CG. Quality of life and anxiety in women with breast cancer before and after treatment. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem 2017 Dec 21;25:e2958 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/1518-8345.2258.2958] [Medline: 29267541]
- McFarland DC, Shaffer KM, Tiersten A, Holland J. Physical symptom burden and its association with distress, anxiety, and depression in breast cancer. Psychosomatics 2018;59(5):464-471 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psym.2018.01.005] [Medline: 29525522]
- 11. Baqutayan SMS. The effect of anxiety on breast cancer patients. Indian J Psychol Med 2012 Apr;34(2):119-123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/0253-7176.101774] [Medline: 23162185]
- 12. Liao MN, Chen MF, Chen SC, Chen PL. Uncertainty and anxiety during the diagnostic period for women with suspected breast cancer. Cancer Nurs 2008;31(4):274-283. [doi: 10.1097/01.NCC.0000305744.64452.fe] [Medline: 18600114]
- 13. Grucela A. Reddit: 60+ statistics, facts, and trends. Passport Photo Online. 2023. URL: <u>https://passport-photo.online/blog/</u> reddit-statistics/ [accessed 2023-03-29]
- 14. Lazarus RS. A laboratory approach to the dynamics of psychological stress. American Psychologist 1964 Jun;19(6):400-411. [doi: 10.1037/h0041245]
- 15. Opton EM, Lazarus RS. Personality determinants of psychophysiological response to stress: a theoretical analysis and an experiment. J Pers Soc Psychol 1967 Jul;6(3):291-303. [doi: 10.1037/h0021221] [Medline: 4383781]
- Folkman S. Personal control and stress and coping processes: a theoretical analysis. J Pers Soc Psychol 1984 Apr;46(4):839-852. [doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.46.4.839] [Medline: 6737195]
- 17. Monat A, Averill JR, Lazarus RS. Anticipatory stress and coping reactions under various conditions of uncertainty. J Pers Soc Psychol 1972 Nov;24(2):237-253. [doi: 10.1037/h0033297] [Medline: 5081195]
- Seligman ME. Learned helplessness. Annu Rev Med 1972;23:407-412. [doi: <u>10.1146/annurev.me.23.020172.002203</u>] [Medline: <u>4566487</u>]
- 19. Hilton BA. The relationship of uncertainty, control, commitment, and threat of recurrence to coping strategies used by women diagnosed with breast cancer. J Behav Med 1989 Mar;12(1):39-54. [doi: <u>10.1007/BF00844748</u>] [Medline: <u>2746642</u>]
- 20. Folkman S, Lazarus RS, Gruen RJ, DeLongis A. Appraisal, coping, health status, and psychological symptoms. J Pers Soc Psychol 1986 Mar;50(3):571-579. [doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.50.3.571] [Medline: 3701593]
- 21. Spielberger CD. Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (self-evaluation questionnaire). CiNii. 1970. URL: <u>https://cir.nii.ac.jp/crid/1370285712575158016</u> [accessed 2024-10-22]
- 22. Spielberger CD. State-Trait Anxiety Inventory: Bibliography. 2nd ed. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press; 1989.
- 23. van Oers HM, Schlebusch L. Anxiety and the patient with breast cancer: a review of current research and practice. South African Family Practice 2014 Aug 15;55(6):525-529. [doi: 10.1080/20786204.2013.10874411]
- 24. van Oers H, Schlebusch L. Indicators of psychological distress and body image disorders in female patients with breast cancer. JMMS 2020;7(2):179-187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.22543/7674.72.P179187]

- Jacob L, Bleicher L, Kostev K, Kalder M. Prevalence of depression, anxiety and their risk factors in German women with breast cancer in general and gynecological practices. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2016 Mar;142(2):447-452. [doi: 10.1007/s00432-015-2048-5] [Medline: 26377737]
- 26. Tsaras K, Papathanasiou IV, Mitsi D, Veneti A, Kelesi M, Zyga S, et al. Assessment of depression and anxiety in breast cancer patients: prevalence and associated factors. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2018 Jun 25;19(6):1661-1669 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2018.19.6.1661] [Medline: 29938451]
- 27. Champagne AL, Brunault P, Huguet G, Suzanne I, Senon JL, Body G, et al. Personality disorders, but not cancer severity or treatment type, are risk factors for later generalised anxiety disorder and major depressive disorder in non metastatic breast cancer patients. Psychiatry Res 2016 Mar 28;236:64-70. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.12.032] [Medline: 26747215]
- 28. Jones SL, Hadjistavropoulos HD, Gullickson K. Understanding health anxiety following breast cancer diagnosis. Psychol Health Med 2014;19(5):525-535. [doi: 10.1080/13548506.2013.845300] [Medline: 24102547]
- 29. Stafford L, Komiti A, Bousman C, Judd F, Gibson P, Mann GB, et al. Predictors of depression and anxiety symptom trajectories in the 24 months following diagnosis of breast or gynaecologic cancer. Breast 2016 Apr;26:100-105. [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2016.01.008] [Medline: 27017248]
- Wang YH, Li JQ, Shi JF, Que JY, Liu JJ, Lappin JM, et al. Depression and anxiety in relation to cancer incidence and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Mol Psychiatry 2020 Jul;25(7):1487-1499. [doi: 10.1038/s41380-019-0595-x] [Medline: <u>31745237</u>]
- Park EM, Gelber S, Rosenberg SM, Seah DSE, Schapira L, Come SE, et al. Anxiety and depression in young women with metastatic breast cancer: a cross-sectional study. Psychosomatics 2018;59(3):251-258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psym.2018.01.007] [Medline: 29525523]
- 32. Frisby CM. Messages of hope: health communication strategies that address barriers preventing Black women from screening for breast cancer. Journal of Black Studies 2002 May 01;32(5):489-505. [doi: 10.1177/002193470203200501]
- Sheppard VB, Harper FWK, Davis K, Hirpa F, Makambi K. The importance of contextual factors and age in association with anxiety and depression in Black breast cancer patients. Psychooncology 2014 Mar;23(2):143-150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.3382] [Medline: 24150907]
- Burgess C, Cornelius V, Love S, Graham J, Richards M, Ramirez A. Depression and anxiety in women with early breast cancer: five year observational cohort study. BMJ 2005 Mar 26;330(7493):702 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38343.670868.D3] [Medline: 15695497]
- 35. Campbell-Enns HJ, Woodgate RL. The psychosocial experiences of women with breast cancer across the lifespan: a systematic review. Psychooncology 2017 Nov;26(11):1711-1721. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.4281</u>] [Medline: <u>27648726</u>]
- 36. Leal PC, Goes TC, da Silva LCF, Teixeira-Silva F. Trait vs. state anxiety in different threatening situations. Trends Psychiatry Psychother 2017;39(3):147-157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/2237-6089-2016-0044] [Medline: 28813110]
- Hirsh JB, Mar RA, Peterson JB. Psychological entropy: a framework for understanding uncertainty-related anxiety. Psychol Rev 2012 Apr;119(2):304-320. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0026767</u>] [Medline: <u>22250757</u>]
- Lerman C, Trock B, Rimer BK, Jepson C, Brody D, Boyce A. Psychological side effects of breast cancer screening. Health Psychol 1991;10(4):259-267. [doi: <u>10.1037//0278-6133.10.4.259</u>] [Medline: <u>1915212</u>]
- Moseholm E, Rydahl-Hansen S, Overgaard D, Wengel HS, Frederiksen R, Brandt M, et al. Health-related quality of life, anxiety and depression in the diagnostic phase of suspected cancer, and the influence of diagnosis. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2016 May 20;14:80 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12955-016-0484-9] [Medline: 27206557]
- 40. Cohen S, Wills TA. Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. Psychological Bulletin 1985;98(2):310-357. [doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.98.2.310]
- 41. Uchino BN. Social Support and Physical Health: Understanding the Health Consequences of Relationships. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press; 2004.
- 42. Uchino BN. Social support and health: a review of physiological processes potentially underlying links to disease outcomes. J Behav Med 2006 Aug;29(4):377-387. [doi: 10.1007/s10865-006-9056-5] [Medline: 16758315]
- 43. Ross CE, Cohen S, Syme SL. Issues in the study and application of social support. Social support and health 1985 Mar;15(2):3-22. [doi: 10.2307/2071725]
- 44. Mikal JP, Rice RE, Abeyta A, DeVilbiss J. Transition, stress and computer-mediated social support. Computers in Human Behavior 2013 Sep;29(5):A40-A53. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2012.12.012</u>]
- 45. Rains SA, Keating DM. The social dimension of blogging about health: health blogging, social support, and well-being. Communication Monographs 2011 Dec;78(4):511-534. [doi: 10.1080/03637751.2011.618142]
- 46. Rainie L, Wellman B. Networked: The New Operating System. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2012.
- 47. Mikal JP, Grace K. Against abstinence-only education abroad: viewing internet use during study abroad as a possible experience enhancement. Journal of Studies in International Education 2011 Oct 18;16(3):287-306. [doi: 10.1177/1028315311423108]
- 48. Walther JB, Boyd S. Attraction to computer-mediated social support. In: Communication Technology and Society: Audience Adoption and Uses. Cresskill, NJ: Hampton Press; 2002:153-188.
- 49. Kemp S, Ng M, Hollowood T, Hort J. Introduction to descriptive analysis. In: Descriptive Analysis in Sensory Evaluation. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2018:1-39.

- 50. Chambers EIV. Consensus methods for descriptive analysis. In: Descriptive Analysis in Sensory Evaluation. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2018:211-236.
- 51. Wolniak. The concept of descriptive analytics. Sci Pap Sil Univ Technol Organ Manag Ser 2023. [doi: 10.29119/1641-3466.2023.172.42]
- Tluczek A, Henriques JB, Brown RL. Support for the reliability and validity of a six-item state anxiety scale derived from the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. J Nurs Meas 2009;17(1):19-28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1891/1061-3749.17.1.19] [Medline: 19902657]
- 53. McHugh ML. Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. Biochem Med (Zagreb) 2012;22(3):276-282 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23092060]
- 54. Tausczik YR, Pennebaker JW. The psychological meaning of words: LIWC and computerized text analysis methods. Journal of Language and Social Psychology 2009 Dec 08;29(1):24-54. [doi: 10.1177/0261927x09351676]
- 55. Pennebaker JW, Boyd RL, Jordan K, Blackburn K. The development and psychometric properties of LIWC2015. The University of Texas at Austin. 2015. URL: <u>https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/handle/2152/31333</u> [accessed 2021-10-15]
- Pulverman CS, Lorenz TA, Meston CM. Linguistic changes in expressive writing predict psychological outcomes in women with history of childhood sexual abuse and adult sexual dysfunction. Psychol Trauma 2015 Jan;7(1):50-57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0036462] [Medline: 25793593]
- 57. Waters TEA, Steele RD, Roisman GI, Haydon KC, Booth-LaForce C. A Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count analysis of the adult attachment interview in two large corpora. Can J Behav Sci 2016 Jan 01;48(1):78-88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/cbs0000035] [Medline: 27065477]
- O'Dea B, Larsen ME, Batterham PJ, Calear AL, Christensen H. A linguistic analysis of suicide-related Twitter posts. Crisis 2017 Sep;38(5):319-329. [doi: 10.1027/0227-5910/a000443] [Medline: 28228065]
- Seraj S, Blackburn KG, Pennebaker JW. Language left behind on social media exposes the emotional and cognitive costs of a romantic breakup. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2021 Mar 16;118(7):e2017154118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.2017154118] [Medline: 33526594]
- Guntuku SC, Schneider R, Pelullo A, Young J, Wong V, Ungar L, et al. Studying expressions of loneliness in individuals using twitter: an observational study. BMJ Open 2019 Nov 04;9(11):e030355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030355] [Medline: 31685502]
- 61. McDonnell M, Owen JE, Bantum EOC. Identification of emotional expression with cancer survivors: validation of Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count. JMIR Form Res 2020 Oct 30;4(10):e18246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18246] [Medline: 33124986]
- 62. Bird S. NLTK: the Natural Language Toolkit. 2006 Presented at: Proceedings of the COLING/ACL 2006 Interactive Presentation Sessions; 2006 July 17-18; Sydney, Australia p. 69-72. [doi: <u>10.3115/1225403.1225421</u>]
- Kostev K, Jacob L, Kalder M. Risk of depression, anxiety, and adjustment disorders in women with a suspected but unconfirmed diagnosis of breast or genital organ cancer in Germany. Cancer Causes Control 2017 Oct;28(10):1021-1026. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10552-017-0948-1</u>] [Medline: <u>28856543</u>]
- 64. Montgomery M, McCrone SH. Psychological distress associated with the diagnostic phase for suspected breast cancer: systematic review. J Adv Nurs 2010 Nov;66(11):2372-2390. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05439.x] [Medline: 21039773]
- 65. Hayes Balmadrid MA, Shelby RA, Wren AA, Miller LS, Yoon SC, Baker JA, et al. Anxiety prior to breast biopsy: relationships with length of time from breast biopsy recommendation to biopsy procedure and psychosocial factors. J Health Psychol 2017 Apr;22(5):561-571. [doi: 10.1177/1359105315607828] [Medline: 26424811]
- van Mierlo T. The 1% rule in four digital health social networks: an observational study. J Med Internet Res 2014 Mar 04;16(2):e33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2966] [Medline: 24496109]

Abbreviations

API: application programming interface **LIWC:** Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count **OP:** original poster



Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 07.09.23; peer-reviewed by A Ghosh, Z Ping; comments to author 29.02.24; revised version received 25.04.24; accepted 01.10.24; published 05.12.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
Pierce J, Conway M, Grace K, Mikal J
Identifying Factors Associated With Heightened Anxiety During Breast Cancer Diagnosis Through the Analysis of Social Media Data on Reddit: Mixed Methods Study
JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52551
URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52551
doi:10.2196/52551
PMID:

©Joni Pierce, Mike Conway, Kathryn Grace, Jude Mikal. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 05.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Correlation Between Electronic Patient-Reported Outcomes and Biological Markers of Key Parameters in Acute Radiation Cystitis Among Patients With Prostate Cancer (RABBIO): Prospective Observational Study

Carole Helissey^{1,2}, MD, PhD; Sophie Cavallero², PhD; Nathalie Guitard², BSc; Hélène Thery², BSc; Charles Parnot³, PhD; Antoine Schernberg¹, MD; Imen Aissa⁴, BSc; Florent Raffin⁵, PhD; Christine Le Coz⁵, BSc; Stanislas Mondot⁶, PhD; Christos Christopoulos⁷, MD; Karim Malek⁷, MD, PhD; Emmanuelle Malaurie⁸, MD; Pierre Blanchard⁹, MD, PhD; Cyrus Chargari¹⁰, MD, PhD; Sabine Francois⁵, PhD

¹Clinical Unit Research, Military Hospital Begin, 69 avenue de Paris, Saint-Mandé, France

¹⁰Department of Radiation Oncology, Pitié Salpêtrière University Hospital, Paris, France

²Department of Radiation Biological Effects, French Armed Forces Biomedical Research Institute, IRBA, Brétigny-sur-Orge, France

³Cureety, Dinan, France

⁴MEDIAXE, CLAMART, France

⁵Department of Radiation Biological Effects, French Armed Forces Biomedical Research Institute, Brétigny-sur-Orge, France

⁶Paris-Saclay University, INRAE, AgroParisTech, Micalis Institute, Jouy-en-Josas, France

⁷Department of Radiotherapy, Le Raincy Montfermeil General Hospital, Montfermeil, France

⁸Department of Radiotherapy, Centre Hospitalier Intercommunal de Créteil, Créteil, France

⁹Department of Radiation Oncology, Gustave Roussy Cancer Campus, Université Paris-Saclay, Oncostat U1018 INSERM, Gustave-Roussy, Villejuif, France

Corresponding Author:

Carole Helissey, MD, PhD Clinical Unit Research, Military Hospital Begin, 69 avenue de Paris, Saint-Mandé, France

Abstract

Background: Despite advances in radiation techniques, radiation cystitis (RC) remains a significant cause of morbidity from pelvic radiotherapy, which may affect patients' quality of life (QoL). The pathophysiology of RC is not well understood, which limits the development of effective treatments.

Objective: The Radiotoxicity Bladder Biomarkers study aims to investigate the correlation between blood and urinary biomarkers and the intensity of acute RC symptoms and QoL in patients undergoing localized prostate cancer radiotherapy.

Methods: This study included patients with low- or intermediate-risk localized prostate cancer who were eligible for localized radiotherapy. Blood and urinary biomarkers were analyzed before radiotherapy was initiated and at weeks 4 and 12 of radiation therapy. Patients completed questionnaires related to RC symptoms and QoL (International Prostate Symptom Score and Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Prostate [FACT-P]) using a digital remote monitoring platform. The information was processed by means of an algorithm, which classified patients according to the severity of symptoms and adverse events reported. Levels of blood and urinary biomarkers were tested with the severity of acute RC symptoms and patient-reported QoL.

Results: A total of 401 adverse events questionnaires were collected over the duration of this study from 20 patients. The most frequently reported adverse events at week 4 were pollakiuria, constipation, and diarrhea. In comparison with baseline, the mean FACT-P score decreased at week 4. A significant increase in the proportion of M2 phenotype cells (CD206+, CD163+, CD204+) at W12 compared to W0 was observed. An increase in serum and urine levels of macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF), hepatocyte growth factor, and macrophagic inflammatory protein was observed at week 12 compared to baseline levels. Baseline serum and urine M-CSF concentrations showed a significant negative correlation with FACT-P scores at weeks 4 and 12 (r=-0.65, P=.04, and r=-0.76, P=.02, respectively).

Conclusions: The Radiotoxicity Bladder Biomarkers study is the first to explore the overexpression of inflammatory proteins in blood and urine of patients with symptoms of acute RC. These preliminary findings suggest that serum and urine levels of hepatocyte growth factor, M-CSF, and macrophagic inflammatory protein, as well as macrophage polarization, are mobilized after prostate radiotherapy. The elevated M-CSF levels in serum and urine at baseline were associated with the deterioration of

QoL during radiotherapy. The results of this study may help to develop mitigation strategies to limit radiation damage to the bladder.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT05246774; https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT05246774

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48225) doi:10.2196/48225

KEYWORDS

prostate cancer; acute radiation cystitis; e-PRO; quality of life; biomarkers; electronic patient-reported outcome

Introduction

Prostate cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer among men in France, with 50,400 new cases and 8100 deaths in 2018 [1]. Between 2010 and 2018, improved diagnostic strategies and therapeutic management led to a 3.7% reduction in mortality while the survival rate has increased to 93% at 5 years and 80% at 10 years [1,2]. However, treatment-related adverse events can be serious and have an impact on compliance with treatment, frequency of hospitalization, and associated costs, as well as on patients' quality of life (QoL) [3].

Radiation therapy (including conventional radiation therapy, stereotactic body radiation therapy, and brachytherapy) is an important therapeutic technique in the management of pelvic cancers, including prostate cancer [4-9]. Despite improvements in radiation techniques, pelvic radiotherapy is nonetheless associated with potential acute and late adverse events involving the bladder, which are collectively described referred to as radiation cystitis (RC). Though most treatment-related urinary events occurring after radiotherapy are of low grade, some patients may still present with severe symptoms of RC [10].

Early symptoms of RC include those which occur during treatment and up to 3 months after the cessation of radiotherapy, with an estimated all-grade incidence of nearly 50% after pelvic irradiation [10]. These side effects are characterized by frequent and urgent urination day and night, irritative symptoms, or pain. Obstructive symptoms or less hematuria may also be present [11]. In 5% to 10% of cases, complications appear later, more than 6 months after radiotherapy, whether or not they were preceded by early signs [10,12,13]. Such late-onset adverse events involve blood vessel damage and fibrosis of the bladder wall, which may progress chronically and lead to bladder atrophy and even retraction in the most extreme cases [10]. The clinical signs vary depending on the dominant clinical form: cystalgia, pollakiuria, bladder hyperactivity, or isolated mictional disorders. Classic clinical features dominate with recurrent and abundant hematuria, of variable frequency, which may even result in urinary retention with bladder clotting. The chronic and recurrent nature of hemorrhagic cystitis often has a considerable impact on patients' QoL. The most severe forms, with clot formation and acute urinary retention, can be life threatening [10,13].

Immunity plays an important role in radiation-induced toxicity or inflammation [14,15]. During the repair process of radiation-induced injuries, inflammatory cells (macrophages, neutrophils, or lymphocytes) are recruited to the site of injury. Late inflammatory tissue diseases may develop through a continuous mechanism involving inflammation, hypoxia, and

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48225
```

fibrosis [16]. The balance between M1 and M2 macrophages plays a central role in the fibrotic process, with a polarization toward M1 macrophages [17,18]. Moreover, functional tests measuring the apoptosis of CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes after irradiation have demonstrated a significant association between these apoptotic lymphocytes and the risk of occurrence of late genitourinary toxicity [19].

The characteristics of interstitial cystitis are similar to RC both in terms of collagen accumulation and symptoms. Patients with interstitial cystitis have very severe genitourinary pain, and many are diagnosed as depressed and anxious. A positive correlation has been reported between elevated proinflammatory cytokines (IL-4 and macrophage-derived chemokines) in urine and the severity of interstitial cystitis [20,21].

The pathophysiology of RC thus remains poorly studied and not well understood. A number of factors have been identified, such as the dose of radiation, fractionation, and comorbidities (diabetes or tobacco smoking), but the risks of complications arising from access to bladder tissue postirradiation limits our knowledge and ability to develop therapies targeting this process [22,23]. It is essential to gain a better understanding of RC from the acute phase onward. This would help ensure the antitumor therapeutic efficacy of irradiation while minimizing undesirable effects on healthy tissue, particularly in the bladder. The identification of serum and urine biomarkers linked to RC is essential in order to characterize the kinetics of RC onset and predict the toxic effects of irradiation. This clinical trial thus aims to combine patient-related outcomes on adverse events and QoL following radiotherapy, with an analysis of serum and urinary biomarkers that may be predictive of toxicity.

The main objective of the Radiotoxicity Bladder Biomarkers (RABBIO) study is to identify markers of the inflammatory and remodeling processes involved in the occurrence of early (<3 months) RC in patients with localized prostate cancer.

Methods

Study Design

The RABBIO study is an observational, prospective, single-arm, exploratory study to identify factors potentially related to radiation-induced bladder toxicity in patients treated with radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. This study was carried out at Bégin Military Hospital and Institut de Recherche Biomédicale des Armées. All eligible patients going through the hospital were presented the information about this study and were given the opportunity to participate upon consent.

Ethical Considerations

This study was validated by the national ethics committees (IDRCB: 2021-A03196-35; favorable opinion of the South Mediterranean Committee for the Protection of Persons I February 3, 2022) and the French Data Protection Agency and was registered on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT05246774). The survey complied with the principles set out in the Declaration of Helsinki. All patients were informed that the data collected may be used for research purposes and have given their written consent. The full, nonanonymized study data are only available to the investigator, and its storage in treatment follows the

French regulations. In particular, the data are deidentified before it is used for analysis.

Patient Population

The eligibility criteria for the RABBIO trial are listed in Textbox 1. As this study was exploratory, the sample size was not based on statistical reasoning. The variability and evolution of biomarkers over time and the history of the disease were not known. We hypothesized that about half the patients included will develop cystitis. In order to explore the links between biomarkers and the occurrence of RC, a sample size of 20 participants seemed acceptable [24,25].

Textbox 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria. Patients eligible for inclusion in Radiotoxicity Bladder Biomarkers (RABBIO) study must meet all of the following criteria: Collection of signed informed consent form prior to participation in this study. • Patient aged ≥ 18 years at the time of selection. • Histologically confirmed adenocarcinoma of the prostate. • Localized adenocarcinoma of the prostate according to the D'Amico classification. Eligible for external radiotherapy or brachytherapy. • Patient affiliated to a social security scheme. • Patient able to communicate well, understand, and comply with the requirements of this study according to the physician-investigator. Patient with a smartphone or computer to use the Cureety platform. Exclusion criteria. Patients meeting any of the following criteria are not eligible for inclusion in RABBIO study: Patients with advanced or metastatic prostate cancer. • Patients receiving preirradiation hormone therapy. . Patients with bladder or urethral cancer or a history of cancer. • Previous urinary tract surgery (bladder augmentation or cystectomy). • Patient participating in an interventional clinical study. Patient with a history of pelvic irradiation. •

Participants' Calendar

Early symptoms of RC are likely to occur during treatment or within 3 months of radiotherapy in about half of the patients. Therefore, the early manifestations of radiation-induced bladder toxicity were monitored for 3 months (W1 to W12) in order to identify biomarkers that could be related to the symptoms of acute RC.

The RABBIO study design is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. The RABBIO study design. RABBIO: Radiotoxicity Bladder Biomarkers.



Data Collection

Clinical Data

Demographics and Disease Characteristics

Patients' demographic data and cancer characteristics (localized or biologically relapsed prostate cancer, stage of disease, radiation regimen, concomitant treatments, and comorbidities) were collected.

Clinical Examination

The clinical examination at each visit included performance index (performance status), weight, blood pressure, heart rate, and oxygen saturation.

Collection of Patient-Reported Outcomes Using the Cureety App

All questionnaires were completed by the patients in a digital form using the Cureety application. The various questionnaires and outcomes are detailed in the following sections: *Adverse Events, International Prostate Symptom Score*, and *Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Prostate*.

Adverse Events

Remote monitoring of urinary symptoms reported by patients was ensured by means of the Cureety platform [26] according to the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events. Patients completed the Pelvic Radiation Adverse Events Questionnaire at the inclusion visit, then once a week for 3 months (wk 1 to wk 12). The questionnaire includes 15 items on fatigue, nausea or vomiting, pain, hematuria, frequency of urination (pollakiuria), urinary burning, diarrhea, fecal incontinence, urinary leakage, blood in the stool (rectorrhagia), constipation, weight loss, and dysuria.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48225

RenderX

Clinical Classification and Remote Patient Monitoring With the Cureety Platform

Using the data from the adverse events questionnaires, the *conformité européenne*-marked Cureety TechCare algorithm classified patients into 1 of 4 states [26]:

- Normal or minor (green)
- Fragile (yellow)
- At risk (Orange)
- Critical (Red)

Each patient received therapeutic advice depending on the severity of the symptoms. If the patient's condition changes to orange (at risk) or red (critical), rapid management of the patient was initiated by the health care team (Figure 1).

International Prostate Symptom Score

The International Prostate Symptom Score (IPSS) is a structured and validated self-report questionnaire that assesses lower urinary tract voiding disorders. The questions cover the following items: incomplete emptying of the bladder, frequency of micturition, intermittent micturition (stopping and restarting the stream), urgent micturition (feeling of "urgency"), weak stream, effort to urinate (forcing or pushing), and nocturia.

The total of the 7 items gives the international score for prostate symptoms in terms of severity. Each question has a score from 1 to 5, for a total of 35 points maximum:

- Score of 0 7: no or mild symptoms
- Score of 8 19: moderate symptoms
- Score of 20 35: severe symptoms

Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Prostate

The Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Prostate (FACT-P) is a prostate cancer-specific self-report questionnaire

that assesses weight loss, appetite, pain, physical comfort, urinary, sexual and bowel function in 12 items. The score ranges from 0 to 156, with higher scores reflecting better QoL.

The IPSS, FACT-P were completed by each patient via the Cureety platform at inclusion and in the course of visits at weeks 4 and 12.

Biological Data Collection

Biological Biomarkers

The variation in expression of major biomarkers reported in the literature, including both serum inflammatory and remodelling biomarkers as well as urine biomarkers, was assessed at baseline, week 4, and week 12. Further, 6 mL of blood and 5 mL of urine per patient or visit were used for the analysis. The biomarkers measured with these methods were as follows:

- Biomarkers related to inflammation: macrophage migration inhibitory factor; cytokines IL-1α, IL-1β, IL-4, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17α; macrophagic inflammatory protein (MIP-1α); tumor necrosis factor (TNFα); vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1); intercellular adhesion molecule-1; chemotactic cytokines (MCP-1, MCP-3, RANTES); C-X-C chemokine motif (CXCL10); M1/M2 ratio; CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes; and C-reactive protein.
- Biomarkers of remodeling: plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1), metalloproteinases (MMP-9), matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors (TIMP1 and TIMP2); hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), placental growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor, epidermal growth factor, heparin-binding epidermal growth factor, nerve tissue growth factor, and GP51 glycoprotein.

The variation in expression of circulating markers was analyzed by means of the MILLIPLEX MAP (Multi-Analyte Profiling) technique, using Luminex xMAP technology assessed on the principle of Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Protocol for Analysis of the Circulating Immune Population by Flow Cytometry

Analysis of the immune cell population by flow cytometry was performed at baseline, week 4, and week 12 after the start of irradiation.

Statistical Analysis

Patients' characteristics were compared using chi-square and Student 1-tailed Student *t* tests. Correlations between patients' characteristics, tumor characteristics, treatment toxicities, and blood and urinary biological parameters were assessed using the Pearson correlation test. Follow-up was scheduled at weeks 4 and 12.

Basic statistics were used for continuous variables, missing n (if applicable), mean, type of deviation, median, first and third quartile (Q1 and Q3), and minimum and maximum. Frequency and percentage were used for categorical variables. A Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare groups for nonparametric variables, based on the data distribution.

The type I error (α) was 5% (two-sided), and type II error (β) was 20%, that is, a power $(1 - \beta)$ of 80%.

These statistical analyses were carried out with SAS (version 9.4; SAS Institute Inc) and R (R Foundation for Statistical Computing) [27].

Results

Patient Population

From March 2022 to January 2023, a total of 20 patients were included in our study. The median age was 76 (IQR 65-89) years. Of these, 65% (n=13) had at least one comorbidity, and 35% (n=7) had type 2 diabetes mellitus. All patients had localized disease. Seventeen patients (80%) had de novo localized prostate cancer and 3 (15%) had biochemical recurrence without metastases. The median Gleason score was 7 (IQR 6 - 7). The median prostate specific antigen was 7.85 (IQR 0.27 - 35). Per the inclusion criteria, all patients had a performing status in the 0 - 1 range.

The median dose to the prostate was 60 (IQR 60 - 78) Gy. Twelve patients received 60 Gy in 20 fractions. The other 8 received 78 Gy.

A total of 112 blood and urine samples were collected.

Compliance with the digital platform was 100% at baseline, 93% at W4, and 100% at W12. Patients' baseline characteristics are summarized in Table 1.



Table . Baseline patients' characteristics.

Variable		Values	
Number of patients, n (%)	20 (100)		
Age (years), median (IQR)		73 (63 - 89)	
Prostate-specific antigen (ng/mL), median (IQR)	7.85 (0.27 - 35)		
Gleason score, median (IQR)	7 (6-7)		
Tumor stage, n (%)			
	T1c	4 (20)	
	T2	2 (10)	
	T2a	1 (5)	
	T2b	1 (5)	
	T2c	2 (10)	
	pT3R1	1 (5)	
	Tx	9 (45)	
N0 (no nodes metastasized), n (%)		20 (100)	
M0 (no metastasis), n (%)		20 (100)	
Comorbidities, n (%)			
	Cardiac (yes)	13 (65)	
	Diabetes (yes)	7 (35)	
Localized prostate cancer de novo, n (%)		17 (85)	
Biochemical recurrence, n (%)		3 (15)	
Dose prostate delivered (Gy), median (IQR)		60 (60 - 78)	

Clinical Data

To date, we have collected a total of 401 adverse event questionnaires over the duration of this study. Patients reported the largest number of adverse events at week 4 (Figure 2A), at which point the associated clinical classifications also indicated a worsened health state (Figure 2B).

The most frequently reported adverse events at week 4 were pollakiuria (10/17 grade 1 or 2, 58.8%), constipation (5/17 grade 1 or 2, 29%), and diarrhea (6/18 grade 1 or 2, 33%; Figure 2A).

At week 4, 53% (9/17) of the clinical classifications of the patients were evaluated as "minor" and 12% (2/17) as "fragile" (Figure 2B).

In this study, patients monitoring was reported up to 12 weeks and Figure 3 displays patients' tolerance in the form of a visual timeline showing the clinical classifications (green, yellow, orange, or red) over the monitoring period, including irradiation (indicated by a purple line under the timeline).

All patients with complications received symptomatic treatments adapted to the reported adverse events.



Figure 2. (A) Adverse events W0 to W12. (B) Clinical classifications W0 to W12. The clinical classifications were determined by the software medical device Cureety TechCare (scoring from the combination of adverse events). W: week.



https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48225

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 3. Timelines for each patient during irradiation: each line represents the monitoring of a patient and shows the clinical classifications computed by the device algorithm (green, yellow, orange, or red) from the completed questionnaires (black dots). The end of each timeline corresponds to the end of this study's analysis.



IPSS and FACT-P Status

Patients were followed for a full year. IPSS was assessed at W0, W4, and W12 for all patients. At baseline, 60% of patients reported minor urinary symptoms. Symptoms were moderate for 50% of patients and severe for another 20% at W4. At W12, 80% of the patients reported minor symptoms.

Similarly, FACT-P was assessed for all patients at W0, W4, and W12. The mean FACT-P score at baseline for all patients was 34 (SD 24-40), which changed to 30 (SD 20-35) at W4, and 39 (SD 37-42) at W12. Evolution of FACT-P score before, during, and after irradiation is reported in Figure 4.

Figure 4. Quality of life measured via the FACT-P score. FACT-P: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Prostate.







Macrophage Polarization During Prostate Irradiation

We assessed the change in polarization of peripheral macrophages following irradiation. The results showed a

significant increase in the proportion of M2 phenotype cells (CD206+, CD163+, and CD204+) at W12 compared to W0.

A significant decrease in the proportion of M1 phenotype cells (CD86+) was observed at W4 following irradiation (Figure 5).





Changes in Serum Cytokine Levels

A total of 180 blood samples were taken before the start of treatment, and then at W4 and W12.

Serum HGF levels in patients with prostate cancer were found to be significantly higher at W12 than before radiotherapy (P<.001; Figure 6).

Among the inflammatory proteins measured, a significant increase in serum macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) levels was also observed at W12 compared to levels determined before radiotherapy (P<.001; Figure 6).

In our cohort, no significant increase in profibrotic proteins was observed during the acute phase.

Figure 6. Changes in serum cytokine levels. Mann Whitney test: ratio versus W0 (before radiotherapy), **P*<.05, ***P*<.01, ns. HGF: hepatocyte growth factor; M-CSF: macrophage colony-stimulating factor; ns: not significant; W: week.





Changes in Urine Cytokine Levels

To investigate possible changes in cytokine profiles during irradiation, the concentrations of 33 proteins were measured in

patients' urine before radiotherapy treatment initiation, and again at W4 and W12.

Among the inflammatory proteins measured, a significant increase in urine MIP-1A and HGF levels was found at week 12 compared to baseline (P<.001, Figure 7).



Figure 7. Changes in urine cytokine levels. Mann Whitney test: ratio versus W0 (before radiotherapy), **P*<.05, ***P*<.01, ns. HGF: hepatocyte growth factor; MIP: macrophagic inflammatory protein; ns: not significant; W: week.



Correlation Between Genitourinary Toxicity Grade and HGF, SHBG, and IL8 Urine Concentrations

Possible correlations between maximum acute genitourinary toxicity grade and serum and urine concentrations in patients with prostate cancer treated with radiotherapy are presented in Figure 8.

Significant negative correlations with FACT-P scores were found at week 4 with respect to baseline serum M-CSF concentrations (r=-0.65, P=.04), and at week 12 with respect to baseline urine M-CSF concentrations (r=-0.76, P=.02).

Figure 8. Correlation matrices between FACT-P scores and cytokine concentrations in serum (A) and urine (B). Empty cells indicate a nonsignificant correlation (P>.05). When significant (P<.05), numbers correspond to r correlation coefficients, positive or negative (Pearson test). FACT-P: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Prostate.





XSL•FO RenderX

Discussion

Principal Findings

This prospective study is the first to explore the overexpression of inflammatory proteins in the blood and urine of patients with symptoms of acute RC and to assess the correlation between electronic patient - reported outcomes and biomarkers. Our principal findings include (1) significant overexpression of inflammatory proteins such as M2 macrophages, HGF, M-CSF, and MIP-1 in patients with RC, suggesting their involvement in the pathophysiology of the condition, and (2) a demonstrated correlation between higher levels of urinary M-CSF and increased bladder toxicity, indicating that urinary M-CSF could serve as a predictive biomarker for radiation-induced bladder damage. These results provide new insights into the molecular mechanisms underlying RC and highlight potential biomarkers for the early detection and management of this condition.

Radiotherapy is a powerful tool in the management of localized prostate cancer. Hamdy et al [28] reported the results of the PROTECT study after 15 years of follow-up. This study assessed the effectiveness of conventional treatments in clinically localized prostate cancer. A total of 545 patients underwent radiotherapy. After median follow-up of 15 years, 16 (2.9%) patients had died of prostate cancer in the radiotherapy group. No significant difference in prostate cancer mortality was found between the trial groups (monitoring, surgery, or radiotherapy; P=.53). This study confirmed the efficacy of radiation in the management of localized prostate cancer.

However, the incidence of RC is stable over time for all types of pelvic irradiation techniques. In the randomized phase 3 multicenter HYPRO trial, the cumulative incidence by 120 days after radiotherapy of grade 2 or worse acute genitourinary toxicity was 58% (95% CI 52.9% to 62.7%) in the standard fractionation group versus 60.5% (95% CI 55.8 to 65.3) in the hypofractionation group, a difference of 3% (95% CI -2.99% to 8.48%; odds ratio 1.12, 95% CI 0.84 to 1.49, P=.43). Approximately 22% of the patients reported grade 2 or worse genitourinary toxicity, and 2 patients (<1%) reported grade toxicity 4 in the 3 months after irradiation [29]. Dearnaley et al [30] also reported that more than 40% of patients presented Radiation Therapy Oncology Group grade 2 or worse bladder toxicity while acute Radiation Therapy Oncology Group bladder symptoms peaked at 4 - 5 weeks in hypofractionated radiation schedules.

Moreover, this incidence is possibly underestimated considering the discrepancy between the clinician's description of the severity of the symptom and the patient's experience [31]. In a study assessing QoL and satisfaction with outcome in prostate cancer survivors, Sanda et al [32] reported that urinary symptoms had a significant impact on their QoL at 2 months after irradiation. In total, 30% of patients in the External Beam Radiation Therapy arm and 39% of patients in the brachytherapy arm reported urinary discomfort. Patients in the brachytherapy arm reported a significant decrease in urinary irritation or obstruction and incontinence compared to baseline (P<.001). At one year, 18% of patients in the brachytherapy group and

XSL•FC

11% in the External Beam Radiation Therapy group reported moderate or worse distress related to overall urinary symptoms. Incontinence after brachytherapy was reported by 4% - 6% of patients 1 to 2 years after treatment, and was significantly related to worse QoL [32].

As a first step, our work reported patients' experience during radiotherapy through telemonitoring, in order to have a picture as close as possible to reality and assess the impact of side effects on their QoL. Collecting data from patients (patient-reported outcomes) helps to correct the discrepancy in the severity of the side effects when reported by the clinician or by the patient [31]. Our results confirm the impact of urinary symptoms on patients' QoL, which deteriorated at W4 due to an increase in urinary symptoms, with 53% classified as "minor" and 12% as "fragile." The main symptoms were related to pollakiuria.

The second step involved analyzing the pathophysiology of acute RC, which is often the initial stage of late RC lesions with a risk of life-threatening chronic hemorrhagic cystitis. Our findings reveal an early polarization of M2 phenotype macrophages as early as W4 with a significant increase at W12.

Macrophages are immune cells that play a crucial role in the repair and remodeling of tissues after injury by infiltrating the irradiated area and releasing various factors that promote tissue repair and fibrosis. Macrophages can be classified into two main subsets: proinflammatory M1 macrophages, which are associated with tissue damage, and anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages which are involved in tissue repair and remodeling [33]. The balance between these two phenotypes ensures homeostasis, with M2 macrophages apparently involved in the pathophysiology of fibrosis and radiotoxicity [34].

The M2 macrophages produce a range of cytokines and growth factors, such as transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-β), platelet-derived growth factor, and fibroblast growth factor, which stimulate the proliferation and differentiation of fibroblasts and the deposition of extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins [34,35]. M2 macrophages have been shown to play a critical role in the initiation and progression of fibrotic diseases in various organs, including the liver, lung, and kidney [35-38]. M2 macrophages also inhibit the activity of proinflammatory T cells and promote the recruitment and activation of regulatory T cells, resulting in a shift toward an anti-inflammatory environment that favors fibrosis [39]. Furthermore, M2 macrophages can interact with other cell types, such as myofibroblasts and endothelial cells, to promote fibrogenesis [34,40]. The polarization of macrophages toward the M2 phenotype has been shown to play a critical role in the development of fibrosis following radiation-induced tissue damage. Irradiation has been shown to induce the recruitment of M2 macrophages which release various factors, such as TGF- β and platelet-derived growth factor. These factors promote the differentiation and activation of fibroblasts, which are the primary cells responsible for the production and deposition of ECM components, such as collagen and fibronectin, that form the fibrotic scar tissue [18,41].

The role of M2 macrophages in the development of radiation-induced fibrosis in various organs, including the lung,
liver, and skin has been investigated in several studies. In a mouse model of radiation-induced lung fibrosis (RILF), the recruitment of M2 macrophages to the lung was found to be associated with the development of fibrosis, while depletion of macrophages or inhibition of M2 polarization reduced the extent of fibrosis [42,43]. Similarly, in a rat model of radiation-induced liver fibrosis, M2 macrophages were found to be the primary source of TGF- β , which promoted the differentiation of hepatic stellate cells into myofibroblasts, leading to the development of fibrosis [44]. In addition to promoting the differentiation and activation of fibroblasts, M2 macrophages can also contribute directly to the development of fibrosis by producing ECM components, such as collagen. In a study of radiation-induced skin fibrosis, M2 macrophages were shown to be a significant source of collagen in the irradiated skin, while depletion of macrophages or inhibition of M2 polarization reduced collagen deposition and the extent of fibrosis [34]. An early and maintained polarization of macrophages into the M2 phenotype could therefore be involved in the development of acute and late RC.

Second, we investigated blood and urine biomarkers. A significant irradiation-induced increase in HGF was observed in blood and urine. HGF is a pleiotropic cytokine implicated in various physiological and pathological processes, including tissue repair and fibrosis. HGF is a potent stimulator of epithelial cell growth, migration, and survival, and plays an important role in the regeneration and repair of various organs, including the liver, kidney, and lung [45]. Nonetheless, an elevated and persistent level is also involved in the pathophysiology of radiation-induced toxicity. Zwaans et al [14] analyzed urine samples from prostate cancer survivors who had undergone radiation therapy to identify changes in excreted urinary proteins involved in fibrosis, inflammation, and vascular biology. They reported that HGF concentration was significantly higher in patients with high symptom scores and positively associated with hematuria and a diagnosis of RC [14]. In our study, we have demonstrated that HGF secretion is induced by radiotherapy with a significant increase at W12. Initially this protein is involved in the repair process but over time continued secretion leads to the permanent recruitment of M2 macrophages and thus to the development of chronic RC.

Third, we observed a significant increase in urine levels of MIP-1 α . MIP-1 α , also known as CCL3, is a chemokine involved in the recruitment and activation of immune cells, including macrophages and T cells, in response to tissue injury or inflammation [46]. Recent studies have shown that MIP-1 α may also play a role in the development of fibrosis. Heinrichs et al [26] demonstrated that MIP-1 α promoted liver fibrosis in a mouse model, by recruiting immune cells. Deletion of MIP-1 α reduced liver fibrosis [26]. Yang et al [47] reported that thoracic irradiation in in vitro and in vivo models increased MIP-1 α levels, which was linked to inflammation and fibrosis, whereas irradiated mice lacking MIP-1 α or its receptor, CCR1, did not develop lung inflammation or fibrosis [47].

Finally, our findings suggest that M-CSF levels could serve as a valuable prognostic factor for RC. M-CSF or colony stimulating factor 1 is a cytokine that plays an important role in the regulation of the immune system and tissue repair, more

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48225
```

specifically in the differentiation, proliferation, and survival of monocytes and macrophages, and is critical for the maintenance of tissue homeostasis. M-CSF has also been linked to the pathogenesis of radiation-induced fibrosis and radiation toxicity. Baran et al [48] investigated the role of M-CSF in the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis in a mouse model and human patients. They reported that patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis had elevated levels of M-CSF in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid compared to normal volunteers. On the other hand, M-CSF-/- mice were protected from bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis [48]. Meziani et al [43] reported an accumulation of pulmonary macrophages, particularly M2 macrophages, in RILF. Blocking the interaction between M-CSF and its receptor, however, leads to a depletion of M2 macrophages and blocks the development of RILF [43]. Kopčalić et al [23] reported a correlation between TGF- β 1 and genitourinary toxicity in localized or locally advanced patients with prostate cancer treated with radiotherapy [23]. Although no such correlation was observed in our study, it is consistent with our findings concerning the polarization of macrophages toward the M2 phenotype which are responsible for TGF- β 1 secretion.

Notwithstanding the promising results of the RABBIO study, several limitations should be taken into consideration. First, this study was conducted on a relatively small number of patients that may limit the generalizability of our findings. Second, this study is restricted to patients with intermediate-risk localized prostate cancer undergoing localized radiotherapy limiting its applicability to other pathological settings, such as the association of radiotherapy with hormonotherapy known to alter immunity. Despite these limitations, our study provides valuable insights into irradiation inducing immune changes and may inform on the development of future interventions to improve QoL for patients undergoing radiation therapy. We need to confirm these results in an independent validating cohort.

Our results reveal that pelvic irradiation for prostate cancer increases the secretion of HGF, M-SCF, and MIP-1 α which act synergistically to induce macrophage polarization into the M2 phenotype, possibly favoring bladder toxicity and fibrosis. Inhibition of these molecules and in particular of M-CSF in patients with high levels could be taken as a therapeutic approach to prevent or mitigate RC incidence.

Conclusion

This prospective study is the first to explore the overexpression of inflammatory proteins in the blood and urine of patients with symptoms of acute RC. Our first results suggest a central role of serum and urine HGF, M-CSF, MIP-1 α , and macrophage polarization in the pathophysiology of RC. Moreover, an elevated level of M-CSF in serum and urine at baseline was found to be associated in the deterioration of QoL for localized patients with prostate cancer during radiotherapy.

Though cystitis can have significant implications for the QoL of affected patients, there is currently no standard established to identify patients at risk. There is a need for more sensitive and specific markers. In this study, we looked at an extended set of biomarkers as potential indicators of RC. These markers offer an opportunity for significant improvement in the early

XSL•FO RenderX

detection and management of cystitis, which could help improve diagnostic accuracy, identify at-risk patients earlier, and implement preventive management strategies.

At present, the lack of in-depth discussion of therapeutic management, hospitalizations, and costs in relation to reported symptoms and the potential link with biological markers is a major limitation of this study. However, it is essential to stress that these complex and interconnected aspects require a detailed analysis that would go beyond the scope of the present investigation. These crucial elements will be addressed in future work dedicated specifically to the clinical management of identified cases, highlighting therapeutic implications, hospitalization requirements, and associated financial considerations. In-depth analysis of these aspects will contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of the disease, enabling more effective patient management. By focusing on quality of care, optimization of treatment protocols, and efficient management of medical resources, future work will aim to provide practical, informed recommendations for health care professionals and policy makers. In summary, although these issues were not addressed in this study, they represent a promising area of research that will be explored in depth in our future work.

The results of this study may allow us to develop strategies to limit radiation damage and improve patients' QoL, as well as predictive or prognostic models of bladder toxicity from irradiation radiotherapy in patients with prostate cancer combining clinical parameters, individual patient characteristics, and M-CSF levels in urine and blood.

Data Availability

The datasets generated and analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Conflicts of Interest

CC received funding from Roche, TherAguiX, Ipsen, Merck, MSD, Eisai, and AstraZeneca for research, traveling or teaching.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Supplementary materials regarding flow cytometry and assays. [DOCX File, 20 KB - cancer_v10i1e48225_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Le cancer de la prostate les cancers les plus fréquents. Intitut National du Cancer. URL: <u>https://www.e-cancer.fr/</u> <u>Professionnels-de-sante/Les-chiffres-du-cancer-en-France/Epidemiologie-des-cancers/Les-cancers-les-plus-frequents/</u> <u>Cancer-de-la-prostate</u> [accessed 2024-11-9]
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Wagle NS, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2023. CA A Cancer J Clin 2023 Jan;73(1):17-48. [doi: 10.3322/caac.21763]
- 3. Taylor JM, Chen VE, Miller RC, Greenberger BA. The impact of prostate cancer treatment on quality of life: a narrative review with a focus on randomized data. Res Rep Urol 2020;12:533-546. [doi: <u>10.2147/RRU.S243088</u>] [Medline: <u>33150144</u>]
- 4. Zaorsky NG, Harrison AS, Trabulsi EJ, et al. Evolution of advanced technologies in prostate cancer radiotherapy. Nat Rev Urol 2013 Oct;10(10):565-579. [doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2013.185] [Medline: 24018567]
- 5. Daly T. Evolution of definitive external beam radiation therapy in the treatment of prostate cancer. World J Urol 2020 Mar;38(3):565-591. [doi: 10.1007/s00345-019-02661-6] [Medline: 30850855]
- Kamran SC, D'Amico AV. Radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 2020 Feb;34(1):45-69. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.hoc.2019.08.017</u>] [Medline: <u>31739952</u>]
- Tan TJ, Siva S, Foroudi F, Gill S. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for primary prostate cancer: a systematic review. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 2014 Oct;58(5):601-611. [doi: 10.1111/1754-9485.12213] [Medline: 25155286]
- 8. Zaorsky NG, Davis BJ, Nguyen PL, et al. The evolution of brachytherapy for prostate cancer. Nat Rev Urol 2017 Jun 30;14(7):415-439. [doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2017.76] [Medline: 28664931]
- Incrocci L, Wortel RC, Alemayehu WG, et al. Hypofractionated versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy for patients with localised prostate cancer (HYPRO): final efficacy results from a randomised, multicentre, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2016 Aug;17(8):1061-1069. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30070-5] [Medline: 27339116]
- Helissey C, Cavallero S, Brossard C, Dusaud M, Chargari C, François S. Chronic inflammation and radiation-induced cystitis: molecular background and therapeutic perspectives. Cells 2020 Dec 24;10(1):21. [doi: <u>10.3390/cells10010021</u>] [Medline: <u>33374374</u>]
- 11. Rigaud J, Le Normand L, Labat JJ. Cystite radique. Pelv Perineol 2010 Jun;5(2):116-120. [doi: 10.1007/s11608-010-0302-5]
- 12. Zelefsky MJ, Levin EJ, Hunt M, et al. Incidence of late rectal and urinary toxicities after three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy and intensity-modulated radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008 Mar 15;70(4):1124-1129. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2007.11.044] [Medline: 18313526]

- Goucher G, Saad F, Lukka H, Kapoor A. Canadian Urological Association best practice report: diagnosis and management of radiation-induced hemorrhagic cystitis. Can Urol Assoc J 2019 Feb;13(2):15-23. [doi: <u>10.5489/cuaj.5788</u>] [Medline: <u>30721124</u>]
- Zwaans BMM, Nicolai HE, Chancellor MB, Lamb LE. Prostate cancer survivors with symptoms of radiation cystitis have elevated fibrotic and vascular proteins in urine. PLoS One 2020;15(10):e0241388. [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0241388</u>] [Medline: <u>33119677</u>]
- 15. Shi X, Shiao SL. The role of macrophage phenotype in regulating the response to radiation therapy. Transl Res 2018 Jan;191:64-80. [doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2017.11.002] [Medline: 29175267]
- 16. Chargari C, Supiot S, Hennequin C, Chapel A, Simon JM. Treatment of radiation-induced late effects: what's new? Cancer Radiot 2020 Oct;24(6-7):602-611. [doi: 10.1016/j.canrad.2020.06.007] [Medline: 32855027]
- 17. Mukherjee D, Coates PJ, Lorimore SA, Wright EG. Responses to ionizing radiation mediated by inflammatory mechanisms. J Pathol 2014 Feb;232(3):289-299. [doi: 10.1002/path.4299] [Medline: 24254983]
- Meziani L, Deutsch E, Mondini M. Macrophages in radiation injury: a new therapeutic target. Oncoimmunology 2018;7(10):e1494488. [doi: <u>10.1080/2162402X.2018.1494488</u>] [Medline: <u>30288363</u>]
- 19. Foro P, Algara M, Lozano J, et al. Relationship between radiation-induced apoptosis of T lymphocytes and chronic toxicity in patients with prostate cancer treated by radiation therapy: a prospective study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014 Apr 1;88(5):1057-1063. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.01.002] [Medline: 24661659]
- 20. Kim J, Kim WT, Kim WJ. Advances in urinary biomarker discovery in urological research. Investig Clin Urol 2020;61(Suppl 1):S8. [doi: 10.4111/icu.2020.61.S1.S8]
- 21. Vera PL, Preston DM, Moldwin RM, et al. Elevated urine levels of macrophage migration inhibitory factor in inflammatory bladder conditions: a potential biomarker for a subgroup of interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome patients. Urology 2018 Jun;116:55-62. [doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2018.02.039] [Medline: 29580781]
- 22. Stankovic V, Džamic Z, Pekmezovic T, et al. Acute and late genitourinary toxicity after 72 Gy of conventionally fractionated conformal radiotherapy for localised prostate cancer: impact of individual and clinical parameters. Clin Oncol 2016 Sep;28(9):577-586. [doi: 10.1016/j.clon.2016.04.041]
- Kopčalić K, Matić IZ, Besu I, et al. Circulating levels of IL-6 and TGF-β1 in patients with prostate cancer undergoing radiotherapy: associations with acute radiotoxicity and fatigue symptoms. BMC Cancer 2022 Nov 11;22(1):1167. [doi: 10.1186/s12885-022-10255-6] [Medline: 36368974]
- 24. Hertzog MA. Considerations in determining sample size for pilot studies. Res Nurs Health 2008 Apr;31(2):180-191. [doi: 10.1002/nur.20247] [Medline: 18183564]
- 25. Julious SA. Pilot studies in clinical research. Stat Methods Med Res 2016 Jun;25(3):995-996. [doi: 10.1177/0962280216651022] [Medline: 27207088]
- 26. Heinrichs D, Berres ML, Nellen A, et al. The chemokine CCL3 promotes experimental liver fibrosis in mice. PLoS One 2013;8(6):e66106. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066106] [Medline: 23799074]
- 27. The R Project for Statistical Computing. r-project.org. URL: <u>https://www.r-project.org/</u> [accessed 2024-11-13]
- 28. Hamdy FC, Donovan JL, Lane JA, et al. Fifteen-year outcomes after monitoring, surgery, or radiotherapy for prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 2023 Apr 27;388(17):1547-1558. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa2214122</u>] [Medline: <u>36912538</u>]
- 29. Aluwini S, Pos F, Schimmel E, et al. Hypofractionated versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy for patients with prostate cancer (HYPRO): acute toxicity results from a randomised non-inferiority phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2015 Mar;16(3):274-283. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70482-6] [Medline: 25656287]
- 30. Dearnaley D, Syndikus I, Mossop H, et al. Conventional versus hypofractionated high-dose intensity-modulated radiotherapy for prostate cancer: 5-year outcomes of the randomised, non-inferiority, phase 3 CHHiP trial. Lancet Oncol 2016 Aug;17(8):1047-1060. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30102-4] [Medline: 27339115]
- 31. Pakhomov SV, Jacobsen SJ, Chute CG, Roger VL. Agreement between patient-reported symptoms and their documentation in the medical record. Am J Manag Care 2008 Aug;14(8):530-539. [Medline: <u>18690769</u>]
- 32. Sanda MG, Dunn RL, Michalski J, et al. Quality of life and satisfaction with outcome among prostate-cancer survivors. N Engl J Med 2008 Mar 20;358(12):1250-1261. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa074311] [Medline: 18354103]
- Wynn TA. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. J Pathol 2008 Jan;214(2):199-210. [doi: <u>10.1002/path.2277</u>] [Medline: <u>18161745</u>]
- 34. Lis-López L, Bauset C, Seco-Cervera M, Cosín-Roger J. Is the macrophage phenotype determinant for fibrosis development? Biomedicines 2021 Nov 23;9(12):1747. [doi: 10.3390/biomedicines9121747] [Medline: 34944564]
- 35. Wang C, Ma C, Gong L, et al. Macrophage polarization and its role in liver disease. Front Immunol 2021;12:803037. [doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.803037] [Medline: 34970275]
- 36. Laskin DL, Malaviya R, Laskin JD. Role of macrophages in acute lung injury and chronic fibrosis induced by pulmonary toxicants. Toxicol Sci 2019 Apr 1;168(2):287-301. [doi: <u>10.1093/toxsci/kfy309</u>] [Medline: <u>30590802</u>]
- Braga TT, Correa-Costa M, Guise YFS, et al. MyD88 signaling pathway is involved in renal fibrosis by favoring a TH2 immune response and activating alternative M2 macrophages. Mol Med 2012 Oct 24;18(1):1231-1239. [doi: 10.2119/molmed.2012.00131] [Medline: 22777483]

- Beljaars L, Schippers M, Reker-Smit C, et al. Hepatic localization of macrophage phenotypes during fibrogenesis and resolution of fibrosis in mice and humans. Front Immunol 2014;5:430. [doi: <u>10.3389/fimmu.2014.00430</u>] [Medline: <u>25250030</u>]
- 39. Guan T, Zhou X, Zhou W, Lin H. Regulatory T cell and macrophage crosstalk in acute lung injury: future perspectives. Cell Death Discov 2023 Jan 16;9(1):1-11. [doi: 10.1038/s41420-023-01310-7]
- 40. Vasse GF, Nizamoglu M, Heijink IH, et al. Macrophage-stroma interactions in fibrosis: biochemical, biophysical, and cellular perspectives. J Pathol 2021 Jul;254(4):344-357. [doi: <u>10.1002/path.5632</u>] [Medline: <u>33506963</u>]
- 41. Cytlak UM, Dyer DP, Honeychurch J, Williams KJ, Travis MA, Illidge TM. Immunomodulation by radiotherapy in tumour control and normal tissue toxicity. Nat Rev Immunol 2022 Feb;22(2):124-138. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41577-021-00568-1</u>]
- 42. Duru N, Zhang Y, Gernapudi R, et al. Loss of miR-140 is a key risk factor for radiation-induced lung fibrosis through reprogramming fibroblasts and macrophages. Sci Rep 2016 Dec 20;6(1):39572. [doi: <u>10.1038/srep39572</u>]
- Meziani L, Mondini M, Petit B, et al. CSF1R inhibition prevents radiation pulmonary fibrosis by depletion of interstitial macrophages. Eur Respir J 2018 Mar;51(3):1702120. [doi: <u>10.1183/13993003.02120-2017</u>] [Medline: <u>29496785</u>]
- 44. Xi S, Zheng X, Li X, et al. Activated hepatic stellate cells induce infiltration and formation of CD163+ macrophages via CCL2/CCR2 pathway. Front Med 2021;8:627927. [doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.627927]
- 45. Nakamura T, Mizuno S. The discovery of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and its significance for cell biology, life sciences and clinical medicine. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci 2010;86(6):588-610. [doi: <u>10.2183/pjab.86.588</u>] [Medline: <u>20551596</u>]
- 46. Bhavsar I, Miller CS, Al-Sabbagh M. Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP-1 alpha)/CCL3: as a biomarker. Gen Methods Biomark Res Appl 2015 Jun:223-249. [doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-7696-8_27]
- 47. Yang X, Walton W, Cook DN, et al. The chemokine, CCL3, and its receptor, CCR1, mediate thoracic radiation-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2011 Jul;45(1):127-135. [doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2010-0265OC] [Medline: 20870892]
- Baran CP, Opalek JM, McMaken S, et al. Important roles for macrophage colony-stimulating factor, CC chemokine ligand 2, and mononuclear phagocytes in the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007 Jul 1;176(1):78-89. [doi: 10.1164/rccm.200609-1279OC] [Medline: 17431224]

Abbreviations

ECM: extracellular matrix FACT-P: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Prostate HGF: hepatocyte growth factor IPSS: International Prostate Symptom Score M-CSF: macrophage colony-stimulating factor MAP: Multi-Analyte Profiling MIP: macrophagic inflammatory protein QoL: quality of life RABBIO: Radiotoxicity Bladder Biomarkers RC: radiation cystitis RILF: radiation-induced lung fibrosis TGF-β: transforming growth factor-beta

Edited by TDA Cardoso; submitted 16.04.23; peer-reviewed by C Linard, KL Du; revised version received 22.06.24; accepted 24.06.24; published 12.12.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Helissey C, Cavallero S, Guitard N, Thery H, Parnot C, Schernberg A, Aissa I, Raffin F, Le Coz C, Mondot S, Christopoulos C, Malek K, Malaurie E, Blanchard P, Chargari C, Francois S Correlation Between Electronic Patient-Reported Outcomes and Biological Markers of Key Parameters in Acute Radiation Cystitis Among Patients With Prostate Cancer (RABBIO): Prospective Observational Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e48225

URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e48225</u> doi:10.2196/48225

© Carole Helissey, Sophie Cavallero, Nathalie Guitard, Hélène Thery, Charles Parnot, Antoine Schernberg, Imen Aissa, Florent Raffin, Christine Le Coz, Stanislas Mondot, Christos Christopoulos, Karim Malek, Emmanuelle Malaurie, Pierre Blanchard, Cyrus Chargari, Sabine Francois. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 12.12.2024. This is an open-access

article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Oral Cancer Incidence Among Adult Males With Current or Former Use of Cigarettes or Smokeless Tobacco: Population-Based Study

Brendan Noggle, MPH; Hui Cheng, PhD; Mohamadi Sarkar, MPharm, PhD

Altria Client Services LLC, 601 E Jackson St, Richmond, VA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Brendan Noggle, MPH

Altria Client Services LLC, , 601 E Jackson St, Richmond, VA, , United States

Abstract

Background: Tobacco use has been identified as a risk factor for oral cancer worldwide. However, relative oral cancer incidence among adults who smoke cigarettes, use smokeless tobacco products (ST), have transitioned from cigarettes to ST, quit cigarettes and/or ST ("quitters"), or never used tobacco has not been well studied.

Objective: We aim to present population-based oral cancer incidence rates for adults who smoke cigarettes, use ST, are former smokers who now use ST, or quit.

Methods: We estimated cross-sectional incidence rates and incidence rate ratios (IRRs) using data from statewide cancer registries (Colorado, Florida, North Carolina, and Texas) and population counts derived from national surveys using combined data from 2014 - 2017. A random-effect meta-analysis approach was used to summarize estimates among these groups, based on multiple imputation-based IRR estimates by state and age group while considering potential heterogeneity.

Results: A total of 19,536 oral cancer cases were identified among adult males 35 years and older in the study geographies and period. The oral cancer incidence rate among adults who smoke was significantly higher than the ST group (2.6 times higher, 95% CI 2.0 - 3.3, P<.001), 3.6 (95% CI 3.2 - 4.1, P<.001) times higher than the never users, and 2.4 (95% CI 1.8 - 3.1, P<.001) times higher compared to former smokers who now use ST. The IRR among the ST group relative to never users was 1.4 (95% CI 1.1 - 1.9, P=.02). The IRR between former smokers who now use ST and those who quit was 1.4 (95% CI 1.0 - 2.1, P=.08).

Conclusions: Findings from this population-based study with a large number of oral cancer cases support significantly high oral cancer incidence among adults who smoke and a lower risk of oral cancer incidence among never users, quitters, users of ST, and former smokers who now use ST compared to cigarettes. Future studies with detailed control of tobacco history and other relevant confounders are needed to confirm these findings.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51936) doi:10.2196/51936

KEYWORDS

tobacco harm reduction; oral cancer; smokeless tobacco; smoking; cancer epidemiology; cancer registry; population-based study; oral cancer incidence; cancer cases

Introduction

Oral cancer is one of the most common cancers worldwide, particularly among males [1]. Oral cancer comprises almost 3% of new cancers in the United States, with incidence rates rising in the last decade [2]. The global incidence of cancers of the lip and oral cavity is estimated at 4.1 cases per 100,000 people, however, there is wide variation across the globe [1]. In some Asian-Pacific countries, the incidence of oral cancer ranks among the 3 top cancers [3]. Oral cancer or mouth cancer includes cancers of the lip, oral cavity, and the pharynx (hence sometimes referred to as oropharyngeal cancer) [4]. Oral cancers most commonly develop on the tongue and other parts of the mouth [5]. Oral cancer is more common in men and in older people and varies strongly by socioeconomic condition. Tobacco, alcohol, and areca nut (betel quid) use are among the leading causes of oral cancer [6]. In North America and Europe, human papillomavirus (HPV) infections are responsible for a growing percentage of oral cancers [7,8].

The published evidence regarding the association of oral cancer with tobacco use has primarily focused on combustible cigarettes and smokeless tobacco (ST) products. Previous studies have shown a consistent association between cigarette use and elevated risks of oral cancer [9-12]. For example, a meta-analysis by Gandini et al found substantially elevated risk of oral cavity cancer (relative risk 3.43, 95% CI 2.37 - 4.94, based on 14 studies) and pharyngeal cancer (relative risk 6.76, 95% CI 2.86 - 15.98, based on 7 studies) among people who currently smoke cigarettes. With a focus on mortality from oral cancer, Rostron [13] reported 10.89 times higher risk of oral cancer mortality risk among males and 5.08 times higher mortality risk among females who smoke cigarettes compared to those who never smoke cigarettes. Similarly, Coleman

identified a 4.84 times higher risk of oral and oropharyngeal cancer mortality among current smokers after adjusting for air pollution and other covariates [14]. Additionally, Fisher [15] reported a 6.33 (95% CI 1.46 - 27.38) times higher oral cancer mortality risk among people who currently smoke cigarettes (and have never used ST) compared to those who never used any tobacco products.

ST, a Group 1 carcinogen as classified by the International Agency for Research on Cancer [16], has also been associated with oral cancer, with notable regional differences. ST products vary widely in type and composition around the world, and there are marked regional differences in patterns of consumption. These differences may explain the substantial differences between the health risks of different ST products and their associated disease burden across different countries and regions [17-21]. Elevated health risks have been observed in the South Asian and eastern Mediterranean regions [20,22,23], where many common ST products (eg, gutkha, zarda, paan, khaini) contain high levels of carcinogens, notably tobacco-specific nitrosamines and heavy metals, compared to products commonly used in Sweden [24] and the United States [25-27]. For example, the total tobacco-specific nitrosamine levels are 5- to 25-fold higher in Southeast Asian zarda (mean 0.051 mg/g) [25] than in the ST products used in Sweden (mean 0.002 mg/g) and the United States (mean 0.01 mg/g) [28]. Recently, 2 meta-analyses concluded that there is a positive association between ST use and oral cancer worldwide; however, associations varied by geographic region such that studies in North America showed no associations with oral cancer [20,29]. Conversely, 3 US-focused meta-analyses identified a 1.39- [30], 1.65- [31], and 2.6-fold [32] increased oral cancer risk among US ST users compared to nonusers. Of note, these 3 meta-analyses included studies published over a wide time frame, and 2 noted a pattern of decreasing risk estimates over time [30,31]. Past commentary has identified varied definitions of oral cancer type, inconsistent control for smoking, and time frame of studies as contributing reasons for inconsistent results in commonly cited meta-analyses [33]. Importantly, there is sparse data comparing oral cancer incidence among individuals who have stopped smoking and use ST products relative to continued smokers or those who have quit both cigarettes and ST products. Further, many studies among ST users are hampered by small oral cancer case sizes [15,34-37].

The data for this study were collected by population-based cancer registries and provide detailed information on tobacco use and cancer incidence. All US states and many substate jurisdictions actively collect information on tumors that occur within the surveillance area with the goal of providing accurate and timely information on cancer incidence, treatment, and survivorship [38]. Information on cancer cases and treatment collected within hospitals and other medical facilities is consolidated by a state or local cancer registrar, then it is standardized and made available for study [39]. In 2011, some states began collecting enhanced information on tobacco use risk factors including past and current cigarette, ST, and other tobacco use [40]. These large population-based cancer registries allow the combination of oral cancer incidence rates among

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51936

XSI•FC

various adult male tobacco use groups. This study is the first to leverage state-based cancer registries to estimate and compare the incidence of oral cancer among adult males who smoke cigarettes, use ST products, are former smokers who now use ST, quit cigarettes and/or ST ("quitters"), and are never users of tobacco products in select US states.

Methods

Data Source and Study Population

We used data from state cancer registries, which provided coverage of all cancer cases in the entire state, to identify oral cancer cases. We used data from the Tobacco Use Supplement to the Current Population Survey (TUS-CPS) to estimate the number of individuals in each state based on their tobacco use status. Incidence rates of oral cancer among tobacco use groups were calculated by dividing the number of oral cancer cases (from the state registries) by the population estimates (from TUS-CPS); see the Data Analysis section for additional details.

Cancer registry data were combined from the Colorado (CO), Florida (FL), North Carolina (NC), and Texas (TX) state cancer registries from the years 2014 through 2017. Although cancer registries provide robust data on cancers diagnosed in their jurisdiction, they often lack complete and accurate collection of data on cigarette and ST use. The registries selected for this study are different from other registries because during this time period, they gathered enhanced tobacco use information in addition to the regularly collected cancer incidence and demographic information. This enhanced tobacco use information includes current, never, or former use of cigarettes and/or ST, and some other tobacco use behaviors. Tobacco use risk behavior data was relatively more complete during the study period (>60% of records with tobacco data) than in prior years.

The population denominator in this study is from the available July 2014, January 2015, May 2015, and July 2018 administrations of the TUS-CPS, a nationally representative survey sponsored by the National Cancer Institute as a part of the US Census Bureau's Current Population Survey. We combined 4 years of case data and 4 years of population data to construct a reasonably accurate incidence rate using population data from the year closest to case data years. TUS-CPS data were weighted for selection probabilities and nonresponse; poststratification factors were applied to balance the sample against the population estimates for each state. Population size of tobacco use/nonuse groups were generated using the weighted counts. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) estimates were used to replace any zero denominator in the rare event that there was no individual in a state-specific tobacco use group in the TUS-CPS data.

In this study, we focused on the US male population \geq 35 years of age because of the limited number of oral cancer cases among individuals younger than 35 years and limited numbers of female ST users, which precluded estimates with reasonable precision when stratified by state and age. Moreover, because >90% of ST users in the United States were males [41], we consider our results generalizable to the majority of the US population of ST users.

We included the following invasive malignant oral tumors as oral cancers based on the International Classification of Diseases for Oncology, Third Edition: lip (codes C000-C009), tongue (C019-C029), salivary gland (C079-C089), floor of mouth (C040-C049), gum and other mouth (C030-C039, C050-C059, C060-C069), nasopharynx (C110-C119), tonsil (C090-C099), oropharynx (C100-C109), hypopharynx (C129, C130-C139), and other oral cavity and pharynx (C140, C142, C148). We excluded lymphoma and hematopoietic histology (9050 - 9055, 9140, 9590 - 9992) to meet the current Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program and World Health Organization definition.

Tobacco Use Status

The state cancer registry data contained variables coding never, current, and former cigarette smoking and ST use (including moist loose or pouched snuff, chewing tobacco, snus, dry snuff) status based on self-reported information when included in the medical records relevant to the cancer diagnosis. In TUS-CPS, information on tobacco use was collected via survey questions about cigarette smoking and ST use (including moist snuff, dip, spit, chew tobacco, or snus). The population data were coded into the same "never," "current," and "former" categories as case data. We defined never smokers as individuals who have never smoked at least 100 cigarettes in their lifetime and never ST users as individuals who have never used ST. We defined current users as ever users who responded "everyday" or "some days" when asked whether they smoked or used ST now. Actual survey questions were utilized from the TUS-CPS Questionnaires as described on the website [42].

Using the "never," "current," and "former" categories, we combined the cancer cases and the population denominator into the following tobacco use groups: the never cigarette never ST group (Never Cig/Never ST) included individuals who were never users of cigarettes and never users of ST; the cigarette smoking group (Current Cig/Never ST) included individuals who were current users of cigarettes but never users of ST; the ST group (Never Cig/Current ST) included individuals who currently used ST but never cigarettes; the dual user group (Current Cig/Current ST-Dual) included individuals who currently used cigarettes and ST; the former smokers who now use ST group (Former Cig/Current ST) included those who were former smokers (last used cigarettes over 12 months ago) and currently used ST; and the former smoker former ST group (Former Cig/Former ST), also referred to as "quitters," irrespective of other tobacco use. In this study, we considered the former smokers who now use ST group as individuals who smoked in the past, stopped smoking, and now currently use ST, although the temporal nature of the tobacco use transition was not precisely reported. Other tobacco states and possible transitions were not included in this analysis.

Data Analysis

Oral cancer incidence rates were calculated by dividing the number of oral cancer cases from the state cancer registry by weighted population counts estimated from TUS-CPS for each tobacco user group. Incidence rate ratios (IRRs) were calculated using Poisson regression for each age group $(35 - 44, 45 - 54, 55 - 64, 65 - 74, and \geq 75$ years) and each state of residence at diagnosis. A random-effect meta-analysis approach was used to summarize state- and age-specific estimates while taking into account potential heterogeneity [43].

Missing data on cigarette and ST use in state cancer registries ranged from 21% in CO to 37% in TX. In order to account for missing values in tobacco use variables that would lead to unnaturally low rates, we assumed the rate of cancer incidence by state and age group was the same among the records with and without tobacco data. Using this assumption, we conservatively weighted the number of oral cancer cases among records with tobacco use data at a proportion equal to the amount of missing values in the tobacco use variable by state and age to allow for incidence rate comparisons between tobacco use groups.

Once rates were constructed, we took 2 approaches during data analysis and present results from each. First, as described above, we inflated the number of oral cancer cases at a proportion equal to the amount of missing values in the tobacco use variable by state and age to allow for incidence rate comparisons between tobacco use groups. This provided incidence rates for each tobacco use group adjusted for state and age. Second, we used a multiple imputation approach [44]. Multiple imputation was conducted to understand the potential impact of missing data on estimates. Variables used in multiple imputation for all states include cancer site, year of diagnosis, age at diagnosis, sex, and race/ethnicity. Other states shared additional information that could be used during multiple imputation. For example, the states of TX and CO included the degree of malignancy and spread in the body, which were also included in the multiple imputation. Additionally, TX provided county of residence, poverty level, and cancer grade. A total of 10 imputations were generated (seed number=212,215). Augmented regression was used to address any perfect prediction by adding a few observations with small weights to the data during estimation to avoid perfect prediction. Analysis was conducted using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute) and Stata 16 (StataCorp LLC).

Ethical Considerations

This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and its amendments, and the data analysis protocol was approved by Advarra, an independent Institutional Review Board (Pro00042038). The written informed consent of the participants was waived by Advarra. Permission to use the data was obtained from individual state cancer registries and is governed by data use agreements. Privacy and confidentiality protections are in place and study data did not include personal identifiers.

Results

Sample Description

A total of 36,270 oral cancer cases among adults 35 years and older were included in this study, with 73.5% (n=26,666) of cases among males. Of these cases in the registries, almost three-quarters of cases, 73.3%, had tobacco use data, to yield a final sample of 19,536 oral cancer cases among males 35 years

XSL•FO

and older. The distribution among the groups identified were as follows: Never Cig/Never ST=32.4% (n=6325); Current Cig/Never ST=24.4% (n=4770); Never Cig/Current ST=1% (n=190); Current Cig/Current ST-Dual=0.8% (n=153); Former Cig/Current ST=0.7% (n=136); Former Cig/Former ST=2.3% (n=443). Other tobacco use combinations make up the remaining 38.5% (n=7519), with 96% (n=7218) of that remainder being former smokers who have not used ST. Case distribution by state, age, ethnicity, race, and tobacco group are included in Table 1. The cancer registries are located in geographically diverse areas of the United States, with FL and TX contributing the most cases to this analysis. The percentages of total cases were highest in the 55 - 64 years age group. Case ethnicity and race varied across states at a level that generally reflected local population demographics. For example, TX and FL had a higher proportion reporting Hispanic or Latino origin than other study states and NC had a proportionally higher Black or African American population. Most cases were White, non-Hispanic.

Table. Demographics and oral cancer case description among males aged \geq 35 years, 2014 - 2017. Study case data are from respective state cancer registries and are abstracted from the patient medical record. "Never" tobacco use refers to evidence of never use of cigarettes and/or ST, "current" use refers to evidence of use at time of diagnosis, and "former" use refers to evidence of use in the past but nonuse at time of diagnosis. "Other" tobacco users are excluded from further analysis and tabulations.

Characteristic		Colorado, n (%)	Florida, n (%)	North Carolina, n (%)	Texas, n (%)	Overall, n (%)
Cases		-			-	
	Oral cancers	1897 (100)	11,525 (100)	4241 (100)	9003 (100)	26,666 (100)
	Oral cancers with tobacco data	1504 (79.3)	8779 (76.2)	3542 (83.5)	5711 (63.4)	19,536 (73.3)
Age group (years)						
	35 - 44	71 (4.7)	275 (3.1)	148 (4.2)	269 (4.7)	763 (3.9)
	45 - 54	258 (17.2)	1446 (16.5)	688 (19.4)	1053 (18.4)	3445 (17.6)
	55 - 64	528 (35.1)	3000 (34.2)	1257 (35.5)	1952 (34.2)	6737 (34.5)
	65 - 74	421 (28)	2548 (29)	952 (26.9)	1611 (28.2)	5532 (28.3)
	≥75	226 (15)	1510 (17.2)	497 (14)	826 (14.5)	3059 (15.7)
Ethnicity and race						
	Hispanic	107 (7.1)	999 (11.4)	69 (2)	713 (12.5)	1888 (9.7)
	White non-Hispan- ic	1316 (87.5)	7001 (79.8)	2899 (81.9)	4430 (77.6)	15,646 (80.1)
	Black non-Hispanic	47 (3.1)	586 (6.7)	493 (13.9)	382 (6.7)	1508 (7.7)
	Other/unknown	34 (2.3)	193 (2.2)	81 (2.3)	186 (3.3)	494 (2.5)
Tobacco group ^a						
	Never Cig/Never ST	503 (33.4)	2641 (30.1)	865 (24.4)	2316 (40.6)	6325 (32.4)
	Current Cig/Never ST	315 (20.9)	2167 (24.7)	1024 (28.9)	1264 (22.1)	4770 (24.4)
	Never Cig/Current ST	24 (1.6)	36 (0.4)	45 (1.3)	85 (1.5)	190 (1)
	Current Cig/Cur- rent ST-Dual	14 (0.9)	50 (0.6)	41 (1.2)	48 (0.8)	153 (0.8)
	Former Cig/Current ST	14 (0.9)	24 (0.3)	48 (1.4)	50 (0.9)	136 (0.7)
	Former Cig/Former ST	34 (2.3)	178 (2)	129 (3.6)	102 (1.8)	443 (2.3)
	Other	600 (39.9)	3683 (42)	1390 (39.2)	1846 (32.3)	7519 (38.5)

^aCig: cigarette; ST: smokeless tobacco. Group descriptions are as follows: Never Cig/Never ST were never users of cigarettes and never users of ST; Current Cig/Never ST were current users of cigarettes but never users of ST; Never Cig/Current ST currently used ST but never cigarettes; Current Cig/Current ST-Dual were current users of cigarettes and ST; Former Cig/Current ST were former smokers (last used cigarettes over 12 months ago) and currently used ST; Former Cig/Former ST stopped using both cigarettes and ST.

The population base was calculated for each state, age group, and tobacco user group combination using TUS-CPS. Seven of

these estimates could not be calculated due to a lack of tobacco user respondents and they were replaced with BRFSS estimates,

including 5 from the relatively smaller groups of Current Cig/Current ST-Dual users (2 in CO, 2 in FL, 1 in TX), 1 from Former Cig/Current ST users (CO), and 1 from Never Cig/Current ST users (CO).

Incidence Rates

Oral cancer incidence rates (Table 2) among males \geq 35 years old were highest among the current smoking groups and lowest among current nonsmoking groups. The overall incidence rate in the Never Cig/Never ST group was 22.1 per 100,000 (95% CI 21.5 - 22.6). The overall incidence rate in the Never Cig/Current ST group (20.6 per 100,000, 95% CI 18.3 - 23.3)

was not significantly different from never users (P=.29) and was significantly lower than the Current Cig/Never ST group (74.0 per 100,000, 95% CI 71.9 - 76.2; P<.001) and Current Cig/Current ST-Dual group (40.6 per 100,000, 95% CI 35.4 - 46.6; P<.001). The overall incidence rates among Former Cig/Current ST and Former Cig/Former ST (quitters) were not significantly different between the 2 groups, at 18.8 per 100,000 (95% CI 16.3 - 21.8) and 18.0 per 100,000 (95% CI 16.6 - 19.6; P=.60), respectively. Incidence rates were generally consistent between states, with limited differences being observed within the subgroups with smaller sample sizes (ie, Former Cig/Former ST, Former Cig/Current ST, Current Cig/Current ST-Dual).

Table . Oral cancer incidence rates per 100,000 among males aged \geq 35 years by tobacco use status. Rates by state were calculated by Poisson regression. State-specific estimates were adjusted for age group and the overall estimate was adjusted by state and age group.

Group ^a	Colorado, rate (95% CI)	Florida, rate (95% CI)	North Carolina, rate (95% CI)	Texas, rate (95% CI)	Overall, rate (95% CI)
Never Cig/Never ST	22.7 (20.8 - 24.7) ^c	23.1 (22.2 - 24) ^{b,c}	18.9 (17.7 - 20.2) ^c	24.6 (23.7 - 25.5) ^c	22.1 (21.5 - 22.6) ^c
Current Cig/Never ST	81.6 (73.4 - 90.7) ^{b,c}	86.1 (82.6 - 89.8) ^{b,c}	83.0 (77.9 - 88.5) ^{b,c}	65.2 (62.1 - 68.4) ^{b,c}	74.0 (71.9 - 76.2) ^{b,c}
Never Cig/Current ST	22.7 (15.8 - 32.5) ^c	17.3 (12.9 - 23.1) ^c	16.8 (12.9 - 22.1) ^c	24.0 (20.2 - 28.5) ^c	20.6 (18.3 - 23.3)
Current Cig/Current ST-Dual	41.6 (26 - 66.6) ^{b,c}	73.3 (57.4 - 93.6) ^{b,c}	28.6 (21.6-37.9) ^b	36.7 (29.2 - 46.1) ^{b,c}	40.6 (35.4 - 46.6) ^{b,c}
Former Cig/Current ST	14.0 (8.8 - 22.3) ^c	12.7 (8.9 - 18) ^c	23.2 (17.9 - 30)	22.0 (17.6 - 27.4) ^c	18.8 (16.3 - 21.8)
Former Cig/Former ST	7.5 (5.5 - 10.1) ^b	29.7 (26.1-33.8) ^b	25.7 (21.9-30.1) ^b	12.6 (10.8 - 14.7) ^b	18.0 (16.6 - 19.6)

^aCig: cigarette; ST: smokeless tobacco. Group descriptions: Never Cig/Never ST - never used cigarettes or ST; Current Cig/Never ST - current cigarette users, never used ST; Never Cig/Current ST - current ST users, never used cigarettes; Current Cig/Current ST-Dual - current users of both; Former Cig/Current ST - former smokers (before 12 months) and current ST users; Former Cig/Former ST - former users of both

^bSignificantly different (*P*<.05) rates compared to the Never Cig/Current ST group.

^cSignificantly different rates (P<.05) compared to the Former Cig/Former ST group.

Incidence Rate Ratios

Using the first approach without multiple imputation (Figure 1), the combined oral cancer incidence rate for the Current Cig/Never ST group was significantly higher, 4.0 (95% CI 3.0-5.4) times, than the Never Cig/Current ST group and 3.6 (95% CI 3.1-4.1) times higher compared to the Never Cig/Never ST group. The incidence rate among the Current Cig/Never ST group was also significantly higher, 4.2 (95% CI 3.0-5.7) times,

compared to the Former Cig/Current ST group. The oral cancer incidence rate for the Never Cig/Current ST group was comparable to the Never Cig/Never ST; the IRR estimate was 0.9 (95% CI 0.7-1.2). The estimated rate among the Current Cig/Never ST group was significantly higher, 1.9 (95% CI 1.4-2.5) times, compared to the Current Cig/Current ST-Dual group. Moreover, the comparable rates between the Former Cig/Current ST and Former Cig/Former ST groups yielded an IRR of 1.1 (95% CI 0.7-1.6).



Figure 1. Meta-analysis of incidence rate ratios based on tobacco use status. (A) Current Cig/Never ST group compared to Never Cig/Current ST. (B) Never Cig/Current ST group compared to Never Cig/Current ST. (C) Current Cig/Never ST group compared to Never Cig/Never ST. (D) Current Cig/Never ST group compared to Former Cig/Current ST. (E) Current Cig/Never ST group compared to Current Cig/Current ST-Dual. (F) Former Cig/Current ST compared to Former Cig/Former ST. A value of 1 indicates a null association; a value greater than 1 indicates a positive association; a value less than 1 indicates inverse association, and the horizontal line width reflects the confidence interval. The diamonds indicate the meta-analysis estimate by state and overall and the diamond width represents the confidence interval. The dashed red line indicates the overall estimate for reference. Group descriptions are as follows: Never Cig/Current ST currently used ST but never users of ST; Current Cig/Current ST-Dual were current users of cigarettes and ST; Former Cig/Current ST were former smokers (last used cigarettes over 12 months ago) and currently used ST; Former Cig/Former ST stopped using both cigarettes and ST. Cig: cigarette; CO: Colorado; FL: Florida; IR: incidence ratio; NC: North Carolina; ST: smokeless tobacco; TX: Texas.



Results were largely similar when using the multiple imputation approach to address missing tobacco use data (Figure 2). The combined oral cancer incidence rate for the Current Cig/Never ST was significantly higher, 2.5 (95% CI 1.8-3.4) times, compared to Never Cig/Current ST group. Estimates were statistically significant across all states and overall. The combined point estimate for the IRR, when comparing the Never Cig/Current ST group to the Never Cig/Never ST group, was elevated but not statistically significant (combined estimate 1.4, 95% CI 0.97-1.9). The estimate from CO was statistically significant, but it was not for FL, NC, and TX. In contrast to ST, the Current Cig/Never ST group have statistically significant and more elevated risk compared to the Never Cig/Never ST group (combined estimate 3.4, 95% CI 2.9-3.9). Significantly higher oral cancer incidence (combined estimate 2.6, 95% CI 1.9-3.6) was observed for the Current Cig/Never ST group compared to the Former Cig/Current ST group. Oral cancer incidence was comparable between the Current Cig/Never ST and Current Cig/Current ST-Dual groups, with an estimated IRR of 1.0 (95% CI 0.7-1.4). The adjusted IRR for individuals in the Former Cig/Former ST ("quitters") group relative to the Former Cig/Current ST group was 1.4 (95% CI 0.95-2.1).



Figure 2. Meta-analysis of incidence rate ratios based on tobacco use status using multiple imputation for missing tobacco use status. (A) Current Cig/Never ST group compared to Never Cig/Current ST. (B) Never Cig/Current ST group compared to Never Cig/Never ST. (C) Current Cig/Never ST group compared to Never Cig/Never ST. (D) Current Cig/Never ST group compared to Former Cig/Current ST. (E) Current Cig/Never ST group compared to Current Cig/Never ST. (D) Current Cig/Current ST compared to Former Cig/Current ST. (E) Current Cig/Never ST group compared to Current Cig/Never ST. (D) Current Cig/Current ST compared to Former Cig/Former ST (ie, quitters). Group descriptions are as follows: Never Cig/Never ST were never users of cigarettes and never users of ST; Current Cig/Never ST were current users of cigarettes but never users of ST; Never Cig/Current ST currently used ST but never cigarettes; Current Cig/Current ST-Dual were current users of cigarettes and ST; Former Cig/Current ST were former ST stopped using both cigarettes and ST. Cig: cigarette; CO: Colorado; FL: Florida; IR: incidence ratio; NC: North Carolina; ST: smokeless tobacco; TX: Texas.





Discussion

Principal Findings

In this study, we found consistent evidence that individuals who were current users of cigarettes who have never used ST have 2.6 times the oral cancer incidence compared to current users of ST products who have never smoked. In addition, those who used cigarettes in the past and now use ST have lower oral cancer incidence compared to current users of cigarettes. There was a clear oral cancer rate gradient among tobacco use behaviors, where current users of cigarettes have the highest rates, followed by current smokers and ST dual users, with users of ST, never users, and former smoking groups with comparable lower rates. A major strength of the study is the large number of oral cancer cases obtained from state cancer registries, which contained the vast majority, if not all, of oral cancer cases from 4 geographically diverse states across the United States (ie, >19,000 cases in this study), which allowed for robust estimation and enabled specific analysis by tobacco use status (eg, dual

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51936
```

RenderX

users, former smokers who now use ST, and quitters), age group, and state, compared to many previous studies (eg, [35,36,45,46]).

Findings from our analysis on incidence rates are generally consistent with previous reports, including studies from the United States reporting higher relative risks with smoking cigarettes [9,11-14] compared to estimates related to ST use [20,29-32]. For example, US studies consistently show a 3.4to 10.9-fold elevated oral cancer incidence risk with cigarette smoking relative to never smoking [9,11-14]. In comparison, we note that oral cancer risk estimates for ST product use in the United States have been variable, with some showing nonsignificant associations and others showing an elevated risk; however, they do consistently show mouth cancer risk estimates that are lower than those of cigarette smoking [20,29-32]. Boffetta and colleagues [32] summarized estimates from 9 studies conducted in the United States and found a relative risk of 2.6 (95% CI 1.3-5.2) for oral cancer among ever users of ST compared to nonusers. In another meta-analysis (2009), Lee

Noggle et al

and Hamling reported a statistically significant risk of oral cancer among people who use ST compared to nonusers after adjusting for smoking (relative risk 1.65, 95% CI 1.22-2.25); however, the differences were not statistically significant when additionally adjusting for alcohol use (relative risk 1.04, 95% CI 0.80-1.35) [31]. Moreover, 2 meta-analyses of more recent epidemiological studies showed no difference in risk among ST product users compared to nonusers [20,29].

This study included recently diagnosed oral cancer cases in order to represent risks associated with more contemporary US tobacco use behaviors and used consistent methodology to construct and compare oral cancer incidence based on a large number of oral cancer cases and population counts from national surveys. These estimates provided a clear and direct comparison of average oral cancer risk between smokers, ST users, former smokers who now use ST, and cigarette and ST quitters. We further demonstrated the consistency of our results by stratifying across age group and state strata. The point estimates indicated a higher incidence of oral cancer in the current cigarette group compared to the ST group across all strata and most estimates were statistically significant at a P < .05 level. By using a random-effect meta-analytic approach, we were able to summarize incidence ratio estimates while taking into account any heterogeneity across strata (eg, differences in sample sizes); the meta-analytic incidence ratio estimate was highly robust. Therefore, when considering the overall published literature and our findings, the evidence consistently and clearly indicates that oral cancer risks are substantially higher among adults who smoke cigarettes than adults who use ST products or have quit cigarettes and ST.

This study provides updated population-based estimates of oral cancer risk among ST users based on contemporary ST use behaviors. Although ST products have been used in the US population for almost a century and oral cancer risks have been investigated by others (eg, [31,32,47]), ST products and use patterns have changed over time. For example, studies that included early ST products such as dry snuff use among women, from more than 40 years ago, tended to produce higher relative risk estimates [48] as compared to more recent studies when moist ST was the dominant ST product. Some studies were conducted in specific populations (eg, female Appalachian snuff users [48], agricultural workers [45]), which may not be generalizable to the larger US population; thus, the contemporary analysis presented here adds to the scientific evidence. Moreover, our study presents a unique analysis of more than 19,000 oral cancer cases, which further adds to the body of evidence.

In line with inconsistent evidence on the risk of oral cancer associated with use of ST in the existing literature (eg, [32,36,46]), we found variations in incidence ratio estimates across age groups and states in this study—some estimates were negative, some were positive, and many were null. This finding is not surprising given that the etiology of oral cancer is complex, and some potential confounders were not controlled for due to a lack of such information, including alcohol consumption and HPV infection. Previous studies have found that users of ST were more likely to be heavier alcohol drinkers [49,50]. To further assess potential differences in alcohol

drinking, we compared the prevalence of heavy drinking and past 30-day binge drinking using 2018 BRFSS data of the 4 states included in this study and found no statistically significant differences between male smokers and ST users. Furthermore, the existing evidence points to a positive association between tobacco use and HPV [51]. These positive associations between use of ST and potential confounders might have biased the estimates against the null (ie, overestimation).

In this study, we found that males who used cigarettes in the past and now use ST have a substantial reduction in oral cancer risk (>50%) compared to current smokers. A previous study documented that individuals who were former smokers and current snus users tended to be less likely to have oral cancer compared to those who continued to smoke, although the estimate was of borderline statistical significance at the .05 level (odds ratio 0.43, 95% CI 0.18-1.02), possibly due to the moderate sample size of the study (n=139 snuff users) [52,53]. Results from this study extended findings from the previous study to use of ST with greater statistical precision.

Results from this study should be interpreted in the context of the following limitations. First, this study is observational in nature and cannot provide definitive evidence for causal relationships as information about some potential confounders was not available, including details about cigarette consumption, HPV infection, and alcohol consumption. Further, the ecological design of this study precludes individual level inferences. Future studies with detailed control of tobacco history and other relevant confounders, perhaps collected through surveys linked to medical history, could improve the ability to make inferences. Second, oral cancers take years to develop and are impacted by an interplay of various risk factors, which cannot be fully investigated with the cross-sectional approach of this study. The approach presented here may lay the foundation for future studies with the capability of taking a longitudinal approach (eg, retrospective cohort study design) to provide further insights. Third, cancer registry data contains missing tobacco use information and does not precisely characterize types of ST product used, which could lead to tobacco group misclassification. For example, in the United States, ST use includes moist loose or pouched snuff, chewing tobacco, snus, or dry snuff, and this information was not reported in the cancer registry records. However, given that moist loose or pouched snuff (~80% market share) and chewing tobacco (~18% market share) are the most prevalent ST type used in the United States [54,55], we can reasonably assume that these estimates apply to moist ST, the most predominant form of ST use. We applied "never," "current," and "former" use categories to all groups, so there is no differential treatment of numerator and denominator. In this study, we used multiple imputation to mitigate the potential impact of missing values and confounders. Inferences were largely consistent between the 2 approaches and showed elevated incidence of oral cancer in the current cigarette group compared to the never user, former smoker who now uses ST, and ST groups. Different statistical inference was drawn with and without using multiple imputation for 2 comparisons (ie, ST use versus never use and smoking versus dual use), which implies nonrandom missing patterns across tobacco use status. Nonetheless, both approaches produced

XSL•FO RenderX

Conclusion

robust estimates, supporting higher oral cancer incidence among current users of cigarettes when compared to users of ST and compared to former smokers who now use ST, respectively. Fourth, cancer registries do not contain information on frequency, intensity, or duration of tobacco use or detailed time since quitting, which precluded a more refined consideration of tobacco use history, particularly transitions from cigarettes to ST products. Nonetheless, despite the lack of this information, we identified higher oral cancer incidence among current users of cigarettes compared to several other tobacco use groups (eg, never smokers, users of ST, former smokers who now use ST) using a similar user definition as other recent studies that revealed comparable differences in risk [15,47]. Improvements to the medical record to include additional types, categories (such as electronic nicotine delivery systems or other novel tobacco products), volume, and duration of tobacco use can enhance future analyses. Fifth, the ST use prevalence is relatively low in the United States (2.3% of adults [56]), which may have contributed to the small sample size within some of the subgroups and imprecise estimates in some age by state strata. We combined multiple years and states to mitigate the impact of small sample size and note that future studies could combine age groups to calculate state-level oral cancer incidence estimates among females.

Despite these limitations, this study did provide comprehensive statewide coverage of cancer cases across 4 large geographically distant states. Here, we highlight the importance of cancer registries as a tool to gain insights into health outcomes related to tobacco use behavior. Our analysis provides evidence regarding the increase in risk of oral cancer among individuals who smoke and supports existing epidemiology demonstrating that these risks are lower among never and former tobacco users, current ST product users, and former smokers who now use ST products.

Based on our analysis of the data on >19,000 cases in the United States, we present 3 major conclusions. First, smoking cigarettes is linked to oral cancer risk. Second, quitting tobacco or use of ST products is associated with lower risks of oral cancer than cigarette smoking. Third, those who smoked in the past but now use ST products have lower oral cancer risk compared to those who continue to smoke.

These findings have important public health implications. The US Food and Drug Administration and many in the scientific, medical, and public health community [57-60] have concluded that a continuum of risk exists within tobacco products, combustible cigarettes being the highest and noncombustible products like ST products being far lower. Although quitting all tobacco products is the optimum outcome, according to the harm reduction framework [59], smoking-related morbidity and mortality can be reduced by encouraging adult smokers who are unable or unwilling to quit tobacco to switch to less harmful products. However, despite the evidence presented here and supported by other reports [9,11,20,31,32], millions of adults continue to smoke [56]. One of the reasons is that most (~90%) believe that use of ST products is equal to or more harmful than use of cigarettes [61-64]. The misperceptions regarding the risk differential between cigarettes and ST may be dissuading smokers who are unable or unwilling to quit tobacco from switching to lower risk products like ST [65]. Our findings support existing evidence of higher oral cancer risk among individuals who smoke compared to those who quit or used ST products. However, the vast majority of adult smokers are not aware of this evidence. Improved knowledge of the relative risks of ST and cigarettes could allow adult smokers to make informed decisions regarding the benefits of quitting or switching and successfully reduce the harm from smoking-related diseases.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the CO, FL, NC, and TX cancer registries for collecting and providing registry data and Michael Fisher for his support in study conceptualization and data gathering.

Data Availability

Colorado data were collected and provided, in part, by the Colorado Central Cancer Registry. The Colorado Central Cancer Registry and the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment specifically disclaim responsibility for any analyses, interpretations, or conclusions they have not provided. The Florida cancer incidence data used in this report were collected by the Florida Cancer Data System, the statewide cancer registry funded by the Florida Department of Health and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Program of Cancer Registries. The views expressed herein are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Florida Department of Health or Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Program of Cancer Registries in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health. Cancer incidence data have been provided by the Texas Cancer Registry, Cancer Epidemiology and Surveillance Branch, Texas Department of State Health Services, 1100 West 49th Street, Austin, TX 78756.

Authors' Contributions

BN and HC designed the study, conducted the analysis, and wrote the manuscript. BN applied for, collected, and managed study data. MS reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

BN, HC, and MS are employees of Altria Client Services LLC. This study was funded by Altria Client Services LLC.

References

- 1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021 May;71(3):209-249. [doi: 10.3322/caac.21660] [Medline: 33538338]
- 2. SEER Incidence Data, 1975-2021. National Cancer Institute. 2022. URL: <u>https://seer.cancer.gov/data/</u> [accessed 2024-10-22]
- 3. Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, et al. Cancer statistics for the year 2020: an overview. Int J Cancer 2021 Apr 5. [doi: 10.1002/ijc.33588] [Medline: 33818764]
- 4. Oral cancer. National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.nidcr.nih.gov/health-info/oral-cancer</u> [accessed 2024-10-22]
- 5. Cancer facts & figures 2022. American Cancer Society. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/research/cancer-facts-statistics/</u><u>all-cancer-facts-figures/cancer-facts-figures-2022.html</u> [accessed 2024-10-28]
- 6. Mehrtash H, Duncan K, Parascandola M, et al. Defining a global research and policy agenda for betel quid and areca nut. Lancet Oncol 2017 Dec;18(12):e767-e775. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30460-6] [Medline: 29208442]
- Hübbers CU, Akgül B. HPV and cancer of the oral cavity. Virulence 2015;6(3):244-248. [doi: 10.1080/21505594.2014.999570] [Medline: 25654476]
- 8. Yete S, D'Souza W, Saranath D. High-risk human papillomavirus in oral cancer: clinical implications. Oncology 2018;94(3):133-141. [doi: 10.1159/000485322] [Medline: 29241220]
- 9. Gandini S, Botteri E, Iodice S, et al. Tobacco smoking and cancer: a meta-analysis. Int J Cancer 2008 Jan 1;122(1):155-164. [doi: <u>10.1002/ijc.23033</u>] [Medline: <u>17893872</u>]
- Luo J, Ye W, Zendehdel K, et al. Oral use of Swedish moist snuff (snus) and risk for cancer of the mouth, lung, and pancreas in male construction workers: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 2007 Jun 16;369(9578):2015-2020. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60678-3</u>] [Medline: <u>17498797</u>]
- Ansary-Moghaddam A, Huxley RR, Lam TH, Woodward M. The risk of upper aero digestive tract cancer associated with smoking, with and without concurrent alcohol consumption. Mt Sinai J Med 2009 Aug;76(4):392-403. [doi: <u>10.1002/msj.20125</u>] [Medline: <u>19642154</u>]
- 12. Freedman ND, Abnet CC, Caporaso NE, et al. Impact of changing US cigarette smoking patterns on incident cancer: risks of 20 smoking-related cancers among the women and men of the NIH-AARP cohort. Int J Epidemiol 2016 Jun;45(3):846-856. [doi: 10.1093/ije/dyv175] [Medline: 26411408]
- 13. Rostron B. Smoking-attributable mortality by cause in the United States: revising the CDC's data and estimates. Nicotine Tob Res 2013 Jan;15(1):238-246. [doi: <u>10.1093/ntr/nts120</u>] [Medline: <u>22592446</u>]
- Coleman NC, Burnett RT, Higbee JD, et al. Cancer mortality risk, fine particulate air pollution, and smoking in a large, representative cohort of US adults. Cancer Causes Control 2020 Aug;31(8):767-776. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10552-020-01317-w</u>] [Medline: <u>32462559</u>]
- Fisher MT, Tan-Torres SM, Gaworski CL, Black RA, Sarkar MA. Smokeless tobacco mortality risks: an analysis of two contemporary nationally representative longitudinal mortality studies. Harm Reduct J 2019 Apr 11;16(1):27. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12954-019-0294-6]</u> [Medline: <u>30975137</u>]
- 16. IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Smokeless tobacco and some tobacco-specific N-nitrosamines. In: IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans 2007. URL: <u>https://publications.</u> <u>iarc.fr/Book-And-Report-Series/Iarc-Monographs-On-The-Identification-Of-Carcinogenic-Hazards-To-Humans/</u> <u>Smokeless-Tobacco-And-Some-Tobacco-specific-Em-N-Em--Nitrosamines-2007</u> [accessed 2024-10-28]
- Gupta B, Bray F, Kumar N, Johnson NW. Associations between oral hygiene habits, diet, tobacco and alcohol and risk of oral cancer: a case-control study from India. Cancer Epidemiol 2017 Dec;51:7-14. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.canep.2017.09.003</u>] [Medline: <u>28968558</u>]
- Kumar M, Nanavati R, Modi TG, Dobariya C. Oral cancer: etiology and risk factors: a review. J Cancer Res Ther 2016;12(2):458-463. [doi: <u>10.4103/0973-1482.186696</u>] [Medline: <u>27461593</u>]
- Nair U, Bartsch H, Nair J. Alert for an epidemic of oral cancer due to use of the betel quid substitutes gutkha and pan masala: a review of agents and causative mechanisms. Mutagenesis 2004 Jul;19(4):251-262. [doi: <u>10.1093/mutage/geh036</u>] [Medline: <u>15215323</u>]
- 20. Siddiqi K, Husain S, Vidyasagaran A, Readshaw A, Mishu MP, Sheikh A. Global burden of disease due to smokeless tobacco consumption in adults: an updated analysis of data from 127 countries. BMC Med 2020 Aug 12;18(1):222. [doi: 10.1186/s12916-020-01677-9] [Medline: 32782007]
- 21. GBD 2019 Lip, Oral, and Pharyngeal Cancer Collaborators, Cunha AD, Compton K, et al. The global, regional, and national burden of adult lip, oral, and pharyngeal cancer in 204 countries and territories: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. JAMA Oncol 2023 Oct 1;9(10):1401-1416. [doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2023.2960] [Medline: 37676656]

- Li WC, Lee PL, Chou IC, Chang WJ, Lin SC, Chang KW. Molecular and cellular cues of diet-associated oral carcinogenesis--with an emphasis on areca-nut-induced oral cancer development. J Oral Pathol Med 2015 Mar;44(3):167-177. [doi: 10.1111/jop.12171] [Medline: 24527773]
- 23. Yang J, Wang ZY, Huang L, et al. Do betel quid and areca nut chewing deteriorate prognosis of oral cancer? A systematic review, meta-analysis, and research agenda. Oral Dis 2021 Sep;27(6):1366-1375. [doi: 10.1111/odi.13456] [Medline: 32492239]
- 24. Leon ME, Lugo A, Boffetta P, et al. Smokeless tobacco use in Sweden and other 17 European countries. Eur J Public Health 2016 Oct;26(5):817-821. [doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckw032] [Medline: 27048433]
- Nasrin S, Chen G, Watson CJW, Lazarus P. Comparison of tobacco-specific nitrosamine levels in smokeless tobacco products: high levels in products from Bangladesh. PLoS One 2020;15(5):e0233111. [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0233111</u>] [Medline: <u>32453764</u>]
- 26. Li Y, Hecht SS. Carcinogenic components of tobacco and tobacco smoke: a 2022 update. Food Chem Toxicol 2022 Jul;165:113179. [doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2022.113179] [Medline: 35643228]
- 27. Stanfill SB, Connolly GN, Zhang L, et al. Global surveillance of oral tobacco products: total nicotine, unionised nicotine and tobacco-specific N-nitrosamines. Tob Control 2011 May;20(3):e2. [doi: 10.1136/tc.2010.037465] [Medline: 21109685]
- Borgerding MF, Bodnar JA, Curtin GM, Swauger JE. The chemical composition of smokeless tobacco: a survey of products sold in the United States in 2006 and 2007. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 2012 Dec;64(3):367-387. [doi: 10.1016/j.yrtph.2012.09.003] [Medline: 23000415]
- 29. Asthana S, Labani S, Kailash U, Sinha DN, Mehrotra R. Association of smokeless tobacco use and oral cancer: a systematic global review and meta-analysis. Nicotine Tob Res 2019 Aug 19;21(9):1162-1171. [doi: 10.1093/ntr/nty074] [Medline: 29790998]
- 30. Weitkunat R, Sanders E, Lee PN. Meta-analysis of the relation between European and American smokeless tobacco and oral cancer. BMC Public Health 2007 Nov 15;7:334. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-7-334] [Medline: 18005437]
- 31. Lee PN, Hamling J. Systematic review of the relation between smokeless tobacco and cancer in Europe and North America. BMC Med 2009 Jul 29;7:36. [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-7-36] [Medline: 19638245]
- 32. Boffetta P, Hecht S, Gray N, Gupta P, Straif K. Smokeless tobacco and cancer. Lancet Oncol 2008 Jul;9(7):667-675. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70173-6] [Medline: 18598931]
- Lee PN, Hamling J. The relation between smokeless tobacco and cancer in Northern Europe and North America. A commentary on differences between the conclusions reached by two recent reviews. BMC Cancer 2009 Jul 29;9:256. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-9-256] [Medline: 19638246]
- 34. Inoue-Choi M, Shiels MS, McNeel TS, Graubard BI, Hatsukami D, Freedman ND. Contemporary associations of exclusive cigarette, cigar, pipe, and smokeless tobacco use with overall and cause-specific mortality in the United States. JNCI Cancer Spectr 2019 Sep;3(3):kz036. [doi: 10.1093/jncics/pkz036] [Medline: 31321380]
- 35. Henley SJ, Thun MJ, Connell C, Calle EE. Two large prospective studies of mortality among men who use snuff or chewing tobacco (United States). Cancer Causes Control 2005 May;16(4):347-358. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10552-004-5519-6</u>] [Medline: <u>15953977</u>]
- 36. Accortt NA, Waterbor JW, Beall C, Howard G. Cancer incidence among a cohort of smokeless tobacco users (United States). Cancer Causes Control 2005 Nov;16(9):1107-1115. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10552-005-0247-0</u>] [Medline: <u>16184477</u>]
- Timberlake DS, Nikitin D, Johnson NJ, Altekruse SF. A longitudinal study of smokeless tobacco use and mortality in the United States. Int J Cancer 2017 Jul 15;141(2):264-270. [doi: <u>10.1002/ijc.30736</u>] [Medline: <u>28411395</u>]
- 38. What is a cancer registry? National Cancer Registrars Association. 2023. URL: <u>https://www.ncra-usa.org</u> [accessed 2024-10-22]
- 39. National Program of Cancer Registries (NPCR). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/npcr/about.htm</u> [accessed 2024-10-22]
- 40. Siegel DA, Henley SJ, Wike JM, et al. Capture of tobacco use among population-based registries: findings from 10 National Program of Cancer Registries states. Cancer 2018 Jun 1;124(11):2381-2389. [doi: 10.1002/cncr.31326] [Medline: 29579317]
- 41. 2020 NSDUH detailed tables. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/report/2020-nsduh-detailed-tables</u> [accessed 2024-10-22]
- 42. TUS-CPS questionnaires and data files. National Institutes of Health. 2022. URL: <u>https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/brp/</u> <u>tcrb/tus-cps/questionnaires-data</u> [accessed 2024-10-22]
- 43. DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials revisited. Contemp Clin Trials 2015 Nov;45(Pt A):139-145. [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2015.09.002] [Medline: 26343745]
- 44. Rubin DB, Schenker N. Multiple imputation in health-care databases: an overview and some applications. Stat Med 1991 Apr;10(4):585-598. [doi: 10.1002/sim.4780100410] [Medline: 2057657]
- 45. Andreotti G, Freedman ND, Silverman DT, et al. Tobacco use and cancer risk in the Agricultural Health Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2017 May;26(5):769-778. [doi: <u>10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-0748</u>] [Medline: <u>28035020</u>]
- 46. Wyss AB, Hashibe M, Lee YCA, et al. Smokeless tobacco use and the risk of head and neck cancer: pooled analysis of US studies in the INHANCE Consortium. Am J Epidemiol 2016 Nov 15;184(10):703-716. [doi: 10.1093/aje/kww075] [Medline: 27744388]

- 47. Salazar E, Ren C, Rostron BL, Solomon G. Modeling mortality risk effects of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco: results from the National Health Interview Survey Linked Mortality File Data. BMC Public Health 2021 Sep 29;21(1):1773. [doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11801-w] [Medline: 34587918]
- Winn DM, Blot WJ, Shy CM, Pickle LW, Toledo A, Fraumeni JF Jr. Snuff dipping and oral cancer among women in the southern United States. N Engl J Med 1981 Mar 26;304(13):745-749. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJM198103263041301</u>] [Medline: <u>7193288</u>]
- 49. Wiener RC. Association of smokeless tobacco use and smoking in adolescents in the United States: an analysis of data from the Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System survey, 2011. J Am Dent Assoc 2013 Aug;144(8):930-938. [doi: 10.14219/jada.archive.2013.0212] [Medline: 23904581]
- 50. Wetter DW, McClure JB, de Moor C, et al. Concomitant use of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco: prevalence, correlates, and predictors of tobacco cessation. Prev Med 2002 Jun;34(6):638-648. [doi: 10.1006/pmed.2002.1032] [Medline: 12052025]
- 51. Fakhry C, Gillison ML, D'Souza G. Tobacco use and oral HPV-16 infection. JAMA 2014 Oct 8;312(14):1465-1467. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.13183] [Medline: 25291584]
- 52. Lee PN. The effect on health of switching from cigarettes to snus a review. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 2013 Jun;66(1):1-5. [doi: 10.1016/j.yrtph.2013.02.010] [Medline: 23454227]
- Schildt EB, Eriksson M, Hardell L, Magnuson A. Oral snuff, smoking habits and alcohol consumption in relation to oral cancer in a Swedish case-control study. Int J Cancer 1998;77(3):341-346. [doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0215(19980729)77:3<341::aid-ijc6>3.0.co;2-0]
- 54. Smokeless tobacco products, including dip, snuff, snus, and chewing tobacco. Food and Drug Administration. 2020. URL: https://www.fda.gov/tobacco-products/products-ingredients-components/
- <u>smokeless-tobacco-products-including-dip-snuff-snus-and-chewing-tobacco</u> [accessed 2024-10-22]
 Smokeless tobacco: products and marketing. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/other-tobacco-products/smokeless-product-use-in-the-us.html</u> [accessed 2024-10-22]
- Cornelius ME, Loretan CG, Wang TW, Jamal A, Homa DM. Tobacco product use among adults United States, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2022 Mar 18;71(11):397-405. [doi: <u>10.15585/mmwr.mm7111a1</u>] [Medline: <u>35298455</u>]
- 57. Hatsukami DK, Joseph AM, Lesage M, et al. Developing the science base for reducing tobacco harm. Nicotine Tob Res 2007 Nov;9 Suppl 4(4):S537-S553. [doi: 10.1080/14622200701679040] [Medline: 18067031]
- Nutt DJ, Phillips LD, Balfour D, et al. Estimating the harms of nicotine-containing products using the MCDA approach. Eur Addict Res 2014;20(5):218-225. [doi: 10.1159/000360220] [Medline: 24714502]
- Zeller M, Hatsukami D, Strategic Dialogue on Tobacco Harm Reduction Group. The Strategic Dialogue on Tobacco Harm Reduction: a vision and blueprint for action in the US. Tob Control 2009 Aug;18(4):324-332. [doi: <u>10.1136/tc.2008.027318</u>] [Medline: <u>19240228</u>]
- 60. Murkett R, Rugh M, Ding B. Nicotine products relative risk assessment: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis [version 2; peer review: 1 approved, 1 approved with reservations]. Syst rev 2022:1225. [doi: 10.12688/f1000research.26762.2]
- 61. Liu ST, Nemeth JM, Klein EG, Ferketich AK, Kwan MP, Wewers ME. Risk perceptions of smokeless tobacco among adolescent and adult users and nonusers. J Health Commun 2015;20(5):599-606. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730.2015.1012237</u>] [Medline: <u>25832126</u>]
- 62. Wray RJ, Jupka K, Berman S, Zellin S, Vijaykumar S. Young adults' perceptions about established and emerging tobacco products: results from eight focus groups. Nicotine Tob Res 2012 Feb;14(2):184-190. [doi: <u>10.1093/ntr/ntr168</u>] [Medline: <u>22110049</u>]
- 63. Czoli CD, Fong GT, Mays D, Hammond D. How do consumers perceive differences in risk across nicotine products? A review of relative risk perceptions across smokeless tobacco, e-cigarettes, nicotine replacement therapy and combustible cigarettes. Tob Control 2017 Mar;26(e1):e49-e58. [doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-053060] [Medline: 27625408]
- 64. Peiper N, Stone R, van Zyl R, Rodu B. University faculty perceptions of the health risks related to cigarettes and smokeless tobacco. Drug Alcohol Rev 2010 Mar;29(2):121-130. [doi: 10.1111/j.1465-3362.2009.00143.x] [Medline: 20447218]
- 65. O'Brien EK, Baig SA, Persoskie A. Absolute and relative smokeless tobacco product risk perceptions: developing and validating new measures that are up-to-snuff. Nicotine Tob Res 2022 Feb 1;24(2):265-269. [doi: <u>10.1093/ntr/ntab167</u>] [Medline: <u>34482405</u>]

Abbreviations

BRFSS: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System CO: Colorado FL: Florida HPV: human papillomavirus IRR: incidence rate ratio NC: North Carolina NC: North Carolina

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51936

ST: smokeless tobacco TUS-CPS: Tobacco Use Supplement to the Current Population Survey TX: Texas

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 28.08.23; peer-reviewed by DK Lund, J Sokei, TW Wang; revised version received 15.07.24; accepted 25.09.24; published 06.11.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Noggle B, Cheng H, Sarkar M Oral Cancer Incidence Among Adult Males With Current or Former Use of Cigarettes or Smokeless Tobacco: Population-Based Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e51936 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e51936 doi:10.2196/51936

© Brendan Noggle, Hui Cheng, Mohamadi Sarkar. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 6.11.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Variation in Trust in Cancer Information Sources by Perceptions of Social Media Health Mis- and Disinformation and by Race and Ethnicity Among Adults in the United States: Cross-Sectional Study

Jim P Stimpson¹, PhD; Sungchul Park², PhD; Sandi L Pruitt¹, PhD; Alexander N Ortega³, PhD

¹Peter O'Donnell Jr. School of Public Health, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, United States

²Department of Health Policy and Management, Korea University, Seoul, Republic of Korea

³Thompson School of Social Work and Public Health, University of Hawai i at Mānoa, Honolulu, HI, United States

Corresponding Author:

Jim P Stimpson, PhD Peter O'Donnell Jr. School of Public Health University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center 5323 Harry Hines Blvd Dallas, TX, 75390 United States Phone: 1 (214) 645 2567 Email: james.stimpson@utsouthwestern.edu

Abstract

Background: Mis- and disinformation on social media have become widespread, which can lead to a lack of trust in health information sources and, in turn, lead to negative health outcomes. Moreover, the effect of mis- and disinformation on trust in information sources may vary by racial and ethnic minoritized populations.

Objective: We evaluated how trust in multiple sources of cancer information varied by perceptions of health mis- and disinformation on social media and by race and ethnicity.

Methods: Cross-sectional, nationally representative survey data from noninstitutionalized adults in the United States from the 2022 Health Information National Trends Survey 6 (HINTS 6) were analyzed (N=4137). The dependent variable measured the level of trust in cancer information sources. The independent variables were perceptions about health mis- and disinformation on social media and race and ethnicity. Multivariable logistic regression models were adjusted for survey weight and design, age, birth gender, race and ethnicity, marital status, urban/rural designation, education, employment status, feelings about household income, frequency of social media visits, and personal and family history of cancer. We also tested the interaction effect between perceptions of social media health mis- and disinformation and participants' self-reported race and ethnicity.

Results: Perception of "a lot of" health mis- and disinformation on social media, relative to perception of "less than a lot," was associated with a lower likelihood of high levels of trusting cancer information from government health agencies (odds ratio [OR] 0.60, 95% CI 0.47-0.77), family or friends (OR 0.56, 95% CI 0.44-0.71), charitable organizations (OR 0.78, 95% CI 0.63-0.96), and religious organizations and leaders (OR 0.64, 95% CI 0.52-0.79). Among White participants, those who perceived a lot of health mis- and disinformation on social media were less likely to have high trust in cancer information from government health agencies (margin=61%, 95% CI 57%-66%) and family or friends (margin=49%, 95% CI 43%-55%) compared to those who perceived less than a lot of health mis- and disinformation on social media were less likely to have high trust in cancer information from religious organizations and leaders (margin=20%, 95% CI 10%-30%) compared to participants who perceived no or a little health mis- and disinformation on social media.

Conclusions: Certain sources of cancer information may need enhanced support against the threat of mis- and disinformation, such as government health agencies, charitable organizations, religious organizations and leaders, and family or friends. Moreover, interventions should partner with racial and ethnically minoritized populations that are more likely to have low trust in certain cancer information sources associated with mis- and disinformation on social media.

KEYWORDS

cancer; United States; cross-sectional study; trust; consumer health information; misinformation; disinformation; race; ethnicity; cancer information; source; sources; perception; perceptions; social media; health information; cross-sectional data; misleading

Introduction

Misinformation is unintentionally providing false or inaccurate information, while disinformation is intentionally spreading false or inaccurate information [1-3]. A recent systematic review found that more than 80% of adult social media users perceive "some" or "a lot of" false or misleading health information on social media, while nearly a fifth reported either "none" or "a little" [4]. Both mis- and disinformation have been linked to reductions in health-promoting behaviors. For example, people who perceive more misinformation in the media are associated with a lower likelihood of being vaccinated against COVID-19 and a greater likelihood of smoking more and having poorer nutrition than people who perceive less misinformation in the media [5-11]. According to the Comprehensive Model of Information Seeking, misinformation may be associated with a lack of trust in health information sources, which can, in turn, lead to changes in health behaviors [12,13].

There is limited research on misinformation and trust, with some mixed findings. Some cross-sectional studies have found that higher perceptions of misinformation are associated with lower trust in the media, while one study of multiple countries, including the United States, did not find a relationship between perceptions of misinformation and trust in news media [14-19]. A gap in the literature is that these studies were not drawn from representative samples and only measured trust in media. Furthermore, the effects of misinformation may be more pronounced among individuals with comorbidities, particularly cancer, that have complex clinical treatment plans and significant economic costs [20]. For example, cancer survivors are more likely to have a lot of trust in information from doctors compared to persons that have not been diagnosed with cancer [20]. Therefore, there is an evidence gap for the effects of social media mis- and disinformation on trust in different credible sources (eg, scientists, doctors, and government health agencies) of cancer information.

The effect of mis- and disinformation on trust may also vary by different population groups. In some studies, racial and ethnic minoritized populations were found to be less likely to perceive false or misleading health information on social media and to trust noncredible information sources compared to non-Latino White people [21,22]. The lack of trust may also extend to credible sources of cancer information because, for example, non-Latino Black and Latino people have reported lower trust in doctors compared to non-Latino White people [20,23]. A study of 10-year trends in trust in cancer information found that, compared to non-Latino White participants, non-Latino Black participants were more likely to trust cancer information from media, government, charitable organizations, and religious organizations. In contrast, that same study found that Latino participants were less likely to trust cancer information from doctors compared to non-Latino White people [24]. There may

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54162
```

RenderX

be differences within Latino populations in trust in cancer information. For example, Cuban Americans and Puerto Ricans were more than twice as likely to trust information about cancer from print media and religious organizations compared to Mexican Americans [25]. However, a recent study found that trust in cancer information from government health agencies and family or friends declined among non-Latino Black participants from 2018 to 2020 [26]. Given these mixed findings, there is a need to examine whether the effect of mis- and disinformation on trust in cancer information varies among racial and ethnic minoritized populations and therefore may be a mechanism to explain these variations and a possible target for interventions to improve trust in cancer information, at least from credible sources such as doctors and scientists [27].

Research Objective

The purpose of this study is to use recently released nationally representative data to estimate the association between perceptions of health information on social media and level of trust in multiple sources of information about cancer. We hypothesized that perception of a lot of health mis- and disinformation on social media would be associated with lower levels of trust in cancer information sources. By extension, this study evaluated the interaction effect between race and ethnicity of the participants, perceptions of social media health mis- and disinformation, and trust in cancer information. We hypothesized that the association between perceptions of a lot of mis- and disinformation on social media and trust in cancer information sources would vary by race and ethnicity. The results of this research have implications for effective communication about cancer in public health education campaigns, especially for racial and ethnic minoritized populations.

Methods

Data

This study used cross-sectional data from the Health Information National Trends Survey 6 (HINTS 6), which is a nationally representative survey of civilian, noninstitutionalized adults aged 18 years and older living in the United States. HINTS 6 provides data on adults' knowledge of cancer risk factors, attitudes toward cancer screening, and cancer prevention and screening behaviors. HINTS 6 used a 2-stage probability sample of residential addresses. Mail and online surveys were administered to household members from March 7 to November 8, 2022, with a response rate of 28.1% [28]. The data are publicly available and deidentified. Further details about the survey methodology and recruitment procedures are available from the HINTS 6 Methodology Report [28].

Given the focus of this study was perceptions of false or misleading health information on social media, persons that reported that they did not use social media were excluded. There were 4710 cases with complete data for the dependent and

independent variables. After using listwise deletion for 573 cases with missing data for the control variables, the final analytical sample consisted of 4137 adult social media users.

Measures

Our dependent variables were measured by asking participants, "In general, how much would you trust information about cancer from..." Responses included the following: "a doctor," "family or friends," "religious organizations and leaders," "government health agencies," "charitable organizations," and "scientists." The response options were dichotomized into low levels of trust ("not at all" or "a little") versus high levels of trust ("some" or "a lot").

The primary independent variable was perceptions about health mis- and disinformation on social media, which was assessed by the following question: "How much of the health information that you see on social media do you think is false or misleading?" HINTS had not measured perceptions about social media mis- and disinformation in prior iterations of the survey. However, this measure did not differentiate between people's perceptions of mis- versus disinformation. The original response categories were "a lot," "some," "a little," and "none." We dichotomized this as "less than a lot" (including "some," "a little," and " none") versus "a lot." Race and ethnicity were self-reported by the participants in 5 categories: "non-Latino White," "non-Latino Black," "Asian American," "other," and "Latino."

Demographic control variables included age (18-34, 35-49, 50-64, and \geq 65 years), sex (male and female), marital status (married or cohabiting, formerly married, and never married), residence in a metropolitan versus nonmetropolitan county as designated by the United States Department of Agriculture in 2013, education (high school or less, some college, and college degree or higher), full-time employment status, and feelings about household income (finding it very difficult on present income, getting by on present income, and living comfortably on present income). It should be noted that age was not collected as a continuous variable in HINTS 6, which limited the age categories that could be analyzed. In addition, we controlled for frequency of visiting social media sites (never, monthly/weekly, and daily) in the past 12 months and personal and family (first- or second-degree biological relatives) history of cancer.

Statistical Analysis

All analyses accounted for survey weights and design using jackknife replicate weights for variance estimation. Statistical significance was set at α <.05. The descriptive statistics for the study sample were calculated as survey-weighted percentages accompanied with the raw sample size for each variable. The bivariate relationship between level of trust in cancer

information and perceptions of mis- and disinformation were calculated with cell percentages and adjusted Wald P values. Then, multivariable logistic regression models were calculated for each dichotomous outcome. In addition to the main effect, we also tested the interaction effect between perceptions of health mis- and disinformation on social media and participants' self-reported race and ethnicity. To facilitate interpretation of the interaction effect, we calculated predicted marginal effects from the multivariable logistic regression models.

For this study, the primary focus was perceptions of information on social media. Therefore, we conducted a sensitivity analysis in which we excluded 257 adults who had not visited a social media site in the past year or reported that they did not use social media (n=3880 were included). After excluding these participants, the results were similar, as shown in Multimedia Appendix 1, Table S1. In addition, we conducted a sensitivity analysis for an ordinal measurement of the dependent variables ("a lot," "some," "a little," and "not at all") using ordered logit regression, and we found that the results were replicated with this alternative measurement, as shown in Multimedia Appendix 1, Table S2. Another sensitivity analysis included participants that did not use social media (n=4986). After including participants that did not use social media, the results were similar, as shown in Multimedia Appendix 1, Table S3. In Multimedia Appendix 1, Table S4, we tested an alternative measurement of the independent variable in which perception of "a lot" of social media mis- and disinformation was compared with respondents that reported "some" and "none" or "a little." For this sensitivity analysis, we combined "none" and "a little" because only 108 participants chose "none" for this measure. We replicated the main result using this alternative measurement of the independent variable.

Ethical Considerations

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center institutional review board determined that the study was exempt from review because it used publicly available data without personal identifiers.

Results

Table 1 provides the survey-weighted percentages for the study variables. Most participants in the survey reported high trust in cancer information from doctors (95%), scientists (86%), and government health agencies (71%). About half reported high trust in cancer information from family or friends (54%) and charitable organizations (49%). About a quarter of participants reported high trust in cancer information from religious organizations and leaders (26%). When participants were asked about perceptions of false or misleading health information on social media, most reported "less than a lot" (63%) and 37% reported "a lot."



Table 1. Unadjusted sample size and survey-weighted percentages for study variables from the 2022 Health Information National Trends Survey 6 (N=4137).

Variables	Unadjusted sample size, n (weighted %)
Outcome variables	
In general, how much would you trust information about cancer from a doctor?	
Low	200 (5)
High	3937 (95)
In general, how much would you trust information about cancer from scientists?	
Low	525 (14)
High	3612 (86)
In general, how much would you trust information about cancer from government health	agencies?
Low	1077 (29)
High	3060 (71)
In general, how much would you trust information about cancer from family or friends?	
Low	1874 (46)
High	2263 (54)
In general, how much would you trust information about cancer from charitable organiz	ations?
Low	2050 (51)
High	2087 (49)
In general, how much would you trust information about cancer from religious organizat	ions and leaders?
Low	3034 (74)
High	1103 (26)
Independent variables	
How much of the health information that you see on social media do you think is false or	misleading?
Less than a lot	2643 (63)
A lot	1494 (37)
Race and ethnicity	
Non-Latino White	2381 (61)
Non-Latino Black	643 (11)
Latino	734 (17)
Non-Latino Asian American	230 (6)
Non-Latino other	149 (5)
Age group (years)	
18-34	771 (29)
35-49	1012 (29)
50-64	1222 (27)
≥65	1132 (15)
Birth gender	
Male	1586 (48)
Female	2551 (52)
Marital status	
Married/cohabiting	2290 (57)
Formerly married	994 (10)
Never married	853 (33)

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54162

XSL•FO RenderX

Variables	Unadjusted sample size, n (weighted %)
United States Department of Agriculture 2013 rural/urban designation	
Nonmetropolitan	512 (12)
Metropolitan	3625 (88)
Education	
High school or less	812 (25)
Some college	1185 (39)
College graduate or higher	2140 (36)
Work full time (past 30 days)	
No	1878 (40)
Yes	2259 (60)
Feelings about household income	
Finding it very difficult on present income	811 (19)
Getting by on present income	1505 (36)
Living comfortably on present income	1821 (45)
Frequency of social media site visits	
Never	257 (6)
Monthly or weekly	1119 (25)
Daily	2761 (70)
Personal history of cancer	
No	3593 (91)
Yes	544 (9)
Family history of cancer	
No	1259 (35)
Yes	2878 (65)

Table 2 provides the bivariable relationship between the outcome variables and the independent variable. There was not a statistically significant relationship between perception of mis- and disinformation and trust in cancer information from doctors (P=.93) or scientists (P=.85). However, there was a statistically significant bivariable relationship between perception of mis- and disinformation and trust in cancer information from government health agencies (P<.001), family or friends (P<.001), charitable organizations (P=.007), and religious organizations and leaders (P<.001). About a quarter of participants (24%) that perceived a lot of mis- and disinformation on social media had a high level of trust in government health agencies. Nearly half of participants (47%) that perceived less than a lot of mis- and disinformation on social media had a high level of trust in government health

agencies. Only 17% of participants that perceived a lot of misand disinformation on social media had a high level of trust in family or friends. In contrast, 37% of participants that perceived less than a lot of mis- and disinformation on social media had a high level of trust in family or friends. Only 16% of participants that perceived a lot of mis- and disinformation on social media had a high level of trust in charitable organizations. A third of participants (33%) that perceived less than a lot of mis- and disinformation on social media had a high level of trust in charitable organizations. Finally, only 7% of participants that perceived a lot of mis- and disinformation on social media had a high level of trust in religious organizations and leaders. Nearly 1 in 5 participants (19%) that perceived less than a lot of mis- and disinformation on social media had a high level of trust in religious organizations and leaders.



Table 2. Survey-weighted unadjusted bivariable relationship between trust in cancer information source (low vs high) and perception of health misand disinformation on social media ("less than a lot" vs "a lot") from the 2022 Health Information National Trends Survey 6 (N=4137).

Cancer information source	Trust in cancer information source and perception of health mis- and disinformation on social media				
	Low trust		High trust		
	Less than a lot ^b , %	A lot ^c , %	Less than a lot ^b , %	A lot ^c , %	
Doctors	3	2	60	35	.93
Scientists	9	5	54	32	.85
Government health agencies	16	13	47	24	<.001
Family or friends	26	20	37	17	<.001
Charitable organizations	31	20	33	16	.007
Religious organizations and leaders	45	29	19	7	<.001

 aP values were calculated with the adjusted Wald χ^2 test.

^bPerception of "less than a lot" of health mis- and disinformation on social media.

^cPerception of "a lot" of health mis- and disinformation on social media.

Table 3 provides the multivariable odds ratios (ORs) and 95% CIs calculated from logistic regression. Perception of a lot of health mis- and disinformation on social media, relative to perception of less than a lot, was associated with a lower likelihood of high levels of trusting cancer information from government health agencies (OR 0.60, 95% CI 0.47-0.77), family or friends (OR 0.56, 95% CI 0.44-0.71), charitable

organizations (OR 0.78, 95% CI 0.63-0.96), and religious organizations and leaders (OR 0.64, 95% CI 0.52-0.79). There was not a statistically significant association between perception of social media health mis- and disinformation and level of trust in cancer information from doctors (OR 0.95, 95% CI 0.45-2.01) or scientists (OR 0.98, 95% CI 0.72-1.33).

Table 3. Multivariable odds ratios (ORs) and 95% CIs for perceptions of social media health mis- and disinformation and trust in cancer information sources from the 2022 Health Information National Trends Survey 6 (N=4137). Logistic regression models were adjusted for survey weight and design, age, birth gender, marital status, urban or rural designation, race and ethnicity, education, employment status, feelings about household income, frequency of social media visits, and personal and family history of cancer.

	Trust in cancer information source among participants with the perception that a lot of health information on social media is false or misleading,
Cancer information source	odds ratio ^a (95% CI)
Doctors	0.95 (0.45-2.01)
Scientists	0.98 (0.72-1.33)
Government health agencies	0.60 (0.47-0.77)
Family or friends	0.56 (0.44-0.71)
Charitable organizations	0.78 (0.63-0.96)
Religious organizations and leaders	0.64 (0.52-0.79)

^aReference: "less than a lot."

Table 4 provides the predicted marginal effects, interpreted as percentage points, calculated from the multivariable logistic regression-adjusted interaction effects between perceptions of health mis- and disinformation on social media and participants' self-reported race and ethnicity. There was not a statistically significant interaction effect between perception of mis- and disinformation, race and ethnicity, and trust in cancer information from doctors or scientists. Among White participants, those who perceived a lot of health misinformation and disinformation on social media were less likely to have high trust in cancer information from government health agencies (margin=61%, 95% CI 57%-66%) and family or friends (margin=49%, 95% CI 43%-55%) compared to those who perceived less than a lot of health mis- and disinformation on social media. Among Black participants, those who perceived a lot of health mis- and disinformation on social media were less likely to have high trust in cancer information from religious organizations and leaders (margin=20%, 95% CI 10%-30%) compared to participants who perceived less than a lot of health mis- and disinformation on social media were less than a leaders (margin=20%, 95% CI 10%-30%) compared to participants who perceived less than a lot of health mis- and disinformation on social media.



Table 4. Multivariable-adjusted percentage points for trusting cancer information by source and the interaction effect between race and ethnicity and perceptions of health mis- and disinformation on social media from the 2022 Health Information National Trends Survey 6 (N=4137). Predicted marginal effects were calculated from multivariable logistic regression models that were adjusted for survey weight and design, age, birth gender, marital status, urban or rural designation, education, employment status, feelings about household income, frequency of social media visits, and personal and family history of cancer.

Race and ethnicity	Perception of false or misleading health information from cancer information source, percentage points (95% CI)					
	Doctors	Scientists	Government health agencies	Family or friends	Charitable organizations	Religious organi- zations and lead- ers
Non-Latino White						
Less than a lot	96 (93-98)	86 (83-90)	74 (71-78)	62 (57-68)	51 (46-56)	23 (20-26)
A lot	95 (93-97)	85 (82-89)	61 (57-66)	49 (43-55)	43 (38-49)	19 (15-22)
Non-Latino Black						
Less than a lot	96 (94-99)	80 (71-88)	75 (66-84)	62 (53-71)	57 (50-64)	49 (40-57)
A lot	96 (92-101)	86 (76-95)	71 (60-83)	47 (33-61)	58 (44-73)	20 (10-30)
Latino						
Less than a lot	93 (89-98)	87 (83-92)	77 (68-85)	48 (39-56)	50 (42-58)	40 (28-51)
A lot	96 (92-100)	87 (82-95)	72 (63-82)	37 (28-47)	57 (46-68)	29 (17-40)
Non-Latino Asian American	l					
Less than a lot	89 (61-117)	90 (82-98)	77 (58-96)	54 (41-67)	44 (30-58)	26 (12-40)
A lot	99 (93-105)	93 (80-104)	86 (68-103)	32 (14-50)	34 (9-59)	23 (4-42)
Non-Latino Other						
Less than a lot	96 (84-107)	89 (78-100)	82 (72-92)	68 (53-82)	58 (38-77)	33 (16-50)
A lot	85 (70-99)	86 (70-101)	56 (36-77)	46 (26-67)	28 (14-42)	13 (2-24)

Discussion

Principal Findings

We found that trust in cancer information from doctors or scientists did not vary based on perceptions of health mis- and disinformation on social media. This suggests that people view doctors and scientists as credible sources of cancer information. However, we found that perception of a lot of mis- and disinformation was associated with reduced levels of trust in cancer information from family or friends, government health agencies, charitable organizations, and religious organizations and leaders. This finding supports other studies that found that mis- and disinformation is associated with reductions in trust in media but extends this prior literature by finding an impact on trust in other sources of cancer information [14-19]. Moreover, this finding is consistent with the Comprehensive Model of Information Seeking, which identifies trust as a mechanism linking mis- and disinformation to health behaviors [12,13].

There were notable variations in the relationship between trust in cancer information sources, perceptions of false or misleading health information, and race and ethnicity. For instance, we found that Black participants who perceived a lot of health misand disinformation on social media were less likely to have high trust in cancer information from religious organizations and leaders compared to Black participants who perceived less than a lot of health mis- and disinformation on social media. Another

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54162
```

RenderX

contribution of our study is that White participants who perceived a lot of health mis- and disinformation on social media were less likely to have high trust in cancer information from government health agencies and family or friends compared to White participants who perceived less than a lot of health misand disinformation on social media. There have been mixed findings on trust in cancer information sources by race and ethnicity in the recent literature, with one study finding higher trust among Black participants for several sources of cancer information compared to White participants and lower trust in doctors among Latino participants compared to White participants [21-25]. However, another study found that trust in cancer information from government health agencies and family or friends declined among Black participants after the COVID-19 pandemic [26]. Our study adds to this literature by identifying that the effect of mis- and disinformation on trusting information sources may vary among racial and ethnic minoritized populations.

Limitations

We were able to replicate the findings of the study using several different sensitivity analyses, as shown in Multimedia Appendix 1. However, the results should be interpreted within the constraints of the cross-sectional data. First, this study cannot be used to determine the causal relationship between perceptions of mis- and disinformation and trust in social institutions. Second, the 2022 wave of the HINTS survey was the first time that the public's perceptions of mis- and disinformation were

measured. If this measure is collected in subsequent iterations of HINTS, then analyses may be able to detect changes in the association between mis- and disinformation and trust in information sources over time. We note that perceptions of misand disinformation may not be an accurate measure of objective exposure to social media mis- and disinformation. Further, this measure does not differentiate between people's perceptions of mis- versus disinformation. Another limitation is that the focus of this study was on social media mis- and disinformation rather than all media, such as traditional television and print, and therefore the results should be interpreted for this specific form of media. Finally, this study focused on trust in cancer information, and the findings might not apply to trust in other types of health information. By extension, levels of trust in government information may differ between federal and state government health agencies, which were not differentiated in our study [29,30].

Conclusion

Certain sources of cancer information may need enhanced support from the threat of mis- and disinformation, such as

government health agencies, charitable organizations, religious organizations and leaders, and family or friends. Moreover, there were notable variations in the relationship between trust in cancer information sources (government health agencies, family or friends, and religious organizations and leaders), perceptions of false or misleading health information, and race and ethnicity. One positive finding is that perceptions of misand disinformation were not associated with levels of trust in credible sources of cancer information such as doctors or scientists overall or by race and ethnicity. In prior work, researchers have suggested that interventions should be focused on improving trust in science [1]. Although bolstering trust in science or doctors is important, our findings indicate that other sources of cancer information may be more susceptible to the threat of mis- and disinformation. Moreover, interventions should partner with racial and ethnically minoritized populations that are more likely to have low trust in certain cancer information sources associated with mis- and disinformation on social media.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities (NIMHD; award R01MD018727). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIMHD. The funders had no role in study design, data analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Data Availability

The data sets generated during and/or analyzed during this study are available in the National Cancer Institute repository [31].

Authors' Contributions

All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Data analysis was performed by JPS. The first draft of the manuscript was written by JPS. All authors contributed to subsequent drafts of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

JPS, SP, and ANO have no relevant financial or nonfinancial conflicts of interest to disclose. Unrelated to this work, SLP receives consulting fees from Pfizer and Gilead.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Supplemental analyses. [DOCX File , 30 KB - cancer_v10i1e54162_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Confronting health misinformation: the U.S. surgeon general's advisory on building a healthy information environment. Office of the U.S. Surgeon General. URL: <u>https://www.hhs.gov/surgeongeneral/priorities/health-misinformation/index.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2021-07-14]
- 2. Southwell B, Brennen J, Paquin R, Boudewyns V, Zeng J. Defining and measuring scientific misinformation. Ann Am Acad Pol Soc Sci 2022 Mar;700(1):98-111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/00027162221084709]
- 3. Aïmeur E, Amri S, Brassard G. Fake news, disinformation and misinformation in social media: a review. Soc Netw Anal Min 2023;13(1):30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13278-023-01028-5] [Medline: 36789378]
- 4. Suarez-Lledo V, Alvarez-Galvez J. Prevalence of health misinformation on social media: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jan 20;23(1):e17187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17187] [Medline: 33470931]
- Nan X, Wang Y, Thier K. Why do people believe health misinformation and who is at risk? A systematic review of individual differences in susceptibility to health misinformation. Soc Sci Med 2022 Dec;314:115398. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2022.115398] [Medline: 36327631]

- Park S, Massey PM, Stimpson JP. Primary source of information about COVID-19 as a determinant of perception of COVID-19 severity and vaccine uptake: source of information and COVID-19. J Gen Intern Med 2021 Oct;36(10):3088-3095
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-021-07080-1] [Medline: 34378115]
- Perlis RH, Lunz Trujillo K, Green J, Safarpour A, Druckman JN, Santillana M, et al. Misinformation, trust, and use of ivermectin and hydroxychloroquine for COVID-19. JAMA Health Forum 2023 Sep 01;4(9):e233257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamahealthforum.2023.3257] [Medline: <u>37773507</u>]
- Janmohamed K, Walter N, Sangngam N, Hampsher S, Nyhan K, De Choudhury M, et al. Interventions to mitigate vaping misinformation: a meta-analysis. J Health Commun 2022 Feb 01;27(2):84-92. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730.2022.2044941</u>] [Medline: <u>35220901</u>]
- 9. Morgan JC, Cappella JN. The effect of repetition on the perceived truth of tobacco-related health misinformation among U.S. adults. J Health Commun 2023 Mar 04;28(3):182-189. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2023.2192013] [Medline: 36938585]
- Nguyen V, Testa L, Smith AL, Ellis LA, Dunn AG, Braithwaite J, et al. Unravelling the truth: examining the evidence for health-related claims made by naturopathic influencers on social media - a retrospective analysis. Health Promot Perspect 2022;12(4):372-380 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.34172/hpp.2022.49] [Medline: 36852198]
- Diekman C, Ryan CD, Oliver TL. Misinformation and disinformation in food science and nutrition: impact on practice. J Nutr 2023 Jan;153(1):3-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.tjnut.2022.10.001] [Medline: 36913465]
- 12. Zare-Farashbandi F, Lalazaryan A. A review of models and theories of health information seeking behavior. Int J Health Syst Disaster Manage 2014;2(4):193. [doi: 10.4103/2347-9019.144371]
- 13. Johnson J, Meischke H. A comprehensive model of cancer-related information seeking applied to magazines. Human Comm Res 1993 Mar;19(3):343-367. [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.1993.tb00305.x]
- Ognyanova K, Lazer D, Robertson RE, Wilson C. Misinformation in action: fake news exposure is linked to lower trust in media, higher trust in government when your side is in power. HKS Misinfo Review 2020 Jun 2:1-19. [doi: 10.37016/mr-2020-024]
- 15. Boulianne S, Humprecht E. Perceived exposure to misinformation and trust in institutions in four countries before and during a pandemic. Int J Comm 2023 Feb 26:17 [FREE Full text]
- 16. Lee SJ, Lee C, Hwang H. The impact of COVID-19 misinformation and trust in institutions on preventive behaviors. Health Educ Res 2023 Jan 20;38(1):95-105. [doi: 10.1093/her/cyac038] [Medline: 36564938]
- Islam MS, Mahmud R, Ahmed B. Trust in government during COVID-19 pandemic in Bangladesh: an analysis of social media users' perception of misinformation and knowledge about government measures. Int J Public Ad 2021 Dec 02;46(8):570-586. [doi: <u>10.1080/01900692.2021.2004605</u>]
- Santirocchi A, Spataro P, Alessi F, Rossi-Arnaud C, Cestari V. Trust in science and belief in misinformation mediate the effects of political orientation on vaccine hesitancy and intention to be vaccinated. Acta Psychol (Amst) 2023 Jul;237:103945 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2023.103945] [Medline: 37210865]
- Hameleers M, Brosius A, de Vreese C. Whom to trust? Media exposure patterns of citizens with perceptions of misinformation and disinformation related to the news media. Eur J Comm 2022 Feb 11;37(3):237-268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/02673231211072667]
- 20. Williams JS, Fong-Gurzinsky J, Nagavally S, Walker RJ, Asan O, Ozieh MN, et al. Preferences in trust regarding the provision of cancer information among adults. J Natl Med Assoc 2021 Aug;113(4):457-464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jnma.2021.03.003] [Medline: 33814180]
- 21. Wheldon CW, Carroll KT, Moser RP. Trust in health information sources among underserved and vulnerable populations in the U.S. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2020;31(3):1471-1487. [doi: 10.1353/hpu.2020.0106] [Medline: 33416706]
- Alcalá HE, Sharif MZ, Morey BN. Misplaced trust: racial differences in use of tobacco products and trust in sources of tobacco health information. Nicotine Tob Res 2017 Oct 01;19(10):1199-1208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntx080] [Medline: 28387825]
- 23. Richardson A, Allen JA, Xiao H, Vallone D. Effects of race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status on health information-seeking, confidence, and trust. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2012 Nov;23(4):1477-1493. [doi: 10.1353/hpu.2012.0181] [Medline: 23698662]
- Fareed N, Swoboda CM, Jonnalagadda P, Walker DM, Huerta TR. Differences between races in health information seeking and trust over time: evidence from a cross-sectional, pooled analyses of HINTS data. Am J Health Promot 2021 Jan;35(1):84-92. [doi: 10.1177/0890117120934609] [Medline: 32588638]
- 25. Camacho-Rivera M, Gonzalez CJ, Morency JA, Blake KD, Calixte R. Heterogeneity in trust of cancer information among Hispanic adults in the United States: an analysis of the Health Information National Trends Survey. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2020 Jul;29(7):1348-1356. [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-19-1375] [Medline: 32611616]
- 26. Baeker Bispo J, Douyon A, Ashad-Bishop K, Balise R, Kobetz E. How trust in cancer information has changed in the era of COVID-19: patterns by race and ethnicity. J Health Commun 2023 Mar 04;28(3):131-143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2022.2117439] [Medline: 36927415]
- 27. Stimpson J, Ortega A. Social media users' perceptions about health mis- and disinformation on social media. Health Aff Sch 2023 Oct;1(4):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/haschl/qxad050] [Medline: 38107206]

- 28. Health Information National Trends Survey 6 (HINTS 6) methodology report. National Cancer Institute. 2023 Apr. URL: https://hints.cancer.gov/data/methodology-reports.aspx [accessed 2024-04-23]
- 29. Li H, Chen B, Chen Z, Chen L, Zhang D, Wen M, et al. Trust in COVID-19 information from different media types and its association with preventive measures adoption in the U.S. J Health Commun 2023 Oct 03;28(10):633-647. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2023.2245373] [Medline: 37665096]
- Li H, Chen B, Chen Z, Shi L, Su D. Americans' trust in COVID-19 information from governmental sources in the Trump era: individuals' adoption of preventive measures, and health implications. Health Commun 2022 Nov;37(12):1552-1561. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2022.2074776] [Medline: 35587035]
- 31. Health Information National Trends Survey | HINTS. National Cancer Institute. URL: <u>https://hints.cancer.gov/</u> [accessed 2024-04-23]

Abbreviations

HINTS: Health Information National Trends Survey. **OR:** odds ratio.

Edited by A Mavragani; submitted 31.10.23; peer-reviewed by R Moser, Z Chen; comments to author 26.02.24; revised version received 29.02.24; accepted 08.04.24; published 08.05.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Stimpson JP, Park S, Pruitt SL, Ortega AN Variation in Trust in Cancer Information Sources by Perceptions of Social Media Health Mis- and Disinformation and by Race and Ethnicity Among Adults in the United States: Cross-Sectional Study JMIR Cancer 2024; 10:e54162 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54162 doi:10.2196/54162 PMID:38717800

©Jim P Stimpson, Sungchul Park, Sandi L Pruitt, Alexander N Ortega. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 08.05.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Real-World Survival Comparisons Between Radiotherapy and Surgery for Metachronous Second Primary Lung Cancer and Predictions of Lung Cancer–Specific Outcomes Using Machine Learning: Population-Based Study

Yue Zheng^{1,2*}, MD; Ailin Zhao^{3*}, MD; Yuqi Yang^{4*}, MBBS; Laduona Wang^{1,2}, MD; Yifei Hu⁴, MBBS; Ren Luo^{1,2}, MD, PhD; Yijun Wu^{1,2}, MD

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Yijun Wu, MD Division of Thoracic Tumor Multimodality Treatment Cancer Center, West China Hospital Sichuan University Guoxue Lane 37 Chengdu, 610041 China Phone: 86 17888841669 Email: wuyj01029@wchscu.cn

Abstract

Background: Metachronous second primary lung cancer (MSPLC) is not that rare but is seldom studied.

Objective: We aim to compare real-world survival outcomes between different surgery strategies and radiotherapy for MSPLC.

Methods: This retrospective study analyzed data collected from patients with MSPLC between 1988 and 2012 in the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database. Propensity score matching (PSM) analyses and machine learning were performed to compare variables between patients with MSPLC. Survival curves were plotted using the Kaplan-Meier method and were compared using log-rank tests.

Results: A total of 2451 MSPLC patients were categorized into the following treatment groups: 864 (35.3%) received radiotherapy, 759 (31%) underwent surgery, 89 (3.6%) had surgery plus radiotherapy, and 739 (30.2%) had neither treatment. After PSM, 470 pairs each for radiotherapy and surgery were generated. The surgery group had significantly better survival than the radiotherapy group (P<.001) and the untreated group (563 pairs; P<.001). Further analysis revealed that both wedge resection (85 pairs; P=.004) and lobectomy (71 pairs; P=.002) outperformed radiotherapy in overall survival for MSPLC patients. Machine learning models (extreme gradient boosting, random forest classifier, adaptive boosting) demonstrated high predictive performance based on area under the curve (AUC) values. Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression analysis identified 9 significant variables impacting cancer-specific survival, emphasizing surgery's consistent influence across 1 year to 10 years. These variables encompassed age at diagnosis, sex, year of diagnosis, radiotherapy of initial primary lung cancer (IPLC), primary site, histology, surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy of MPSLC. Competing risk analysis highlighted lower mortality for female MPSLC patients (hazard ratio [HR]=0.79, 95% CI 0.71-0.87) and recent IPLC diagnoses (HR=0.79, 95% CI 0.73-0.85), while radiotherapy for IPLC increased mortality (HR=1.31, 95% CI 1.16-1.50). Surgery alone had the lowest cancer-specific mortality (HR=0.83, 95% CI 0.81-0.85), with sublevel resection having the lowest mortality rate among the surgical approaches (HR=0.26, 95% CI 0.21-0.31). The findings provide valuable insights into the factors that influence cumulative cancer-specific mortality.

Conclusions: Surgical resections such as wedge resection and lobectomy confer better survival than radiation therapy for MSPLC, but radiation can be a valid alternative for the treatment of MSPLC.

¹Division of Thoracic Tumor Multimodality Treatment, Cancer Center, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

²Laboratory of Clinical Cell Therapy, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

³Department of Hematology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

⁴West China School of Medicine, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53354) doi:10.2196/53354

KEYWORDS

metachronous second primary lung cancer; radiotherapy; surgical resection; propensity score matching analysis; machine learning

Introduction

Lung cancer has become a leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide [1]. With the rapid development of screening tools and therapeutic strategies, survival outcomes of lung cancer patients have encouragingly improved, especially for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), which has a 5-year survival rate as high as 90% [2]. For cancer survivors, longer survival may well lead to a higher probability of developing a second primary cancer. In recent years, metachronous second primary lung cancer (MSPLC) has been commonly observed among survivors with previously treated lung cancer. Thakur et al [3] reported that MSPLC occurred in 2.95% of patients with initial primary lung cancer (IPLC) in the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database. According to the study by Surapaneni et al [4], the risk of developing a second lung cancer is the highest in the first year and continues to be high at 10 years. The surveillance and management of patients with MSPLC have become an urgent issue.

For patients with an initial, early-stage lung cancer, surgical resection remains the most effective treatment. However, there is still a lack of guidelines to assess tumor resectability in patients with MSPLC. Several studies have confirmed the feasibility of surgery for MSPLC [5-9]. Remarkably, patients with MSPLC with previously resected lung cancer may be in poor physical condition and have insufficient lung function reserve, and another surgical procedure may not be appropriate. Thus, an alternative treatment is required for patients with inoperable MSPLC.

Radiation therapy is an effective treatment choice for patients with MSPLC and has fewer complications and impairments. Stereotactic body radiotherapy has recently been reported to have similar survival outcomes as surgery in patients with early-stage lung cancer [10,11]. Previous studies have shown that radiotherapy is a safe and feasible treatment for MSPLC, but whether it can compare with surgery in terms of survival outcomes remains debated [12,13]. Therefore, in this population-based study, the initial step involved conducting propensity score matching (PSM) analyses to compare the survival outcomes of patients who underwent surgical resection with those who received radiotherapy for multiple synchronous primary lung cancers. Furthermore, specific focus was placed on comparing the outcomes of common surgical methods, namely lobectomy and wedge resection, with those of radiotherapy for patients with MSPLC. To enhance the accuracy of the predictions, state-of-the-art machine learning (ML) techniques were used, and multiple algorithms were used to develop robust prediction models.

Methods

Data Source

Data for all patients diagnosed with MSPLC included in this retrospective study were sourced from the SEER database [14], covering approximately 30% of cancer patients in the United States. Data pertaining to these patients were extracted from 9 cancer registries and augmented with additional treatment information from regions including Atlanta, Connecticut, Detroit, Hawaii, Iowa, New Mexico, San Francisco–Oakland, Seattle–Puget Sound, and Utah. The data set's most recent follow-up information was updated in November 2018. This study aimed to prognosticate the outcomes for patients with MSPLC. In adherence to the established guidelines for the development and reporting of ML predictive models in biomedical research [15], we meticulously maintained precision and clarity throughout our research process.

Preparation of Data for Model Building

Patients aged ≥ 20 years who were diagnosed with MSPLC were identified from the SEER database. We defined MSPLC according to the criteria set by Martini and Melamed [16]. We only included patients with 2 primary lung tumors with a diagnostic interval between the tumors ≥ 4 years, because it is difficult to distinguish a primary lung tumor from relapse or metastasis when the interval is <4 years [17]. The initial inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) primary sites of the 2 tumors were the lung and bronchus (International Classification of Diseases for Oncology [ICD-O]-3/World Health Organization [WHO] 2008, Third Edition), (2) the time of diagnosis for the IPLC was from January 1988 to December 2012 (to ensure that all enrolled patients had been followed for enough time), and (3) age was ≥ 20 years. The exclusion criteria included (1) <4 years between the diagnosis of the 2 primary tumors, (2) distant metastasis, (3) histological type of small cell lung cancer for IPLC or MSPLC, and (4) incomplete follow-up information.

We collected the patients' demographic features and clinical characteristics, such as age at diagnosis, sex, race (White, Black, other [American Indian/Alaska Native, Asian/Pacific Islander], and unknown), location relationship of the 2 primary tumors (ipsilateral and contralateral), diagnostic interval, year of diagnosis, SEER cancer stage (localized and regional), histological type (adenocarcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma, and other NSCLC), grade, surgical procedure, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy (beam radiation). Sublevel resection was regarded as an extent of resection that was less than lobectomy. For patients diagnosed with IPLC after 2004, additional clinical information such as TNM (tumor [T], extent of spread to the lymph nodes [N], and presence of metastasis [M]) stage (6th edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer TNM system) and tumor size were available.



Predictive Models

We used 6 classical ML algorithms, namely extreme gradient boosting (XGB), random forest classifier (RFC), adaptive boosting (ADB), K nearest neighbor (KNN), artificial neural network (ANN), and gradient boosting decision tree (GBDT), to forecast long-term cancer-specific survival (CSS). To select the variables for modeling, the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression technique was used. An extensive method was used to determine the optimal combination of variables for each algorithm. The performance and predictive capabilities of over a dozen variables were individually assessed using the models, measured using the area under the receiver operating characteristic curves (AUC of ROCs), and decision curve analysis was conducted. The most effective variables were identified, and additional variables were combined iteratively until the best overall results were obtained. The selection of the optimal modeling approach for each algorithm was determined using 5-fold cross-validation. Furthermore, the contribution of each variable was calculated. Additionally, age-adjusted competing risk regression analysis was conducted using the "cmprsk" package in R to examine the cumulative risk of cancer-specific mortality. This comprehensive approach facilitated a thorough evaluation of the risk factors and outcomes associated with cancer-specific mortality in diverse patient populations.

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 27.0 (IBM Corp) and R software version 4.3.1 [18]. SEER*Stat software version 8.4.2 was used to identify the study population from the SEER database. A 2-tailed *P* value <.05 was considered statistically significant. Continuous parameters such as patients' age and diagnostic interval are expressed as mean (SD) and were compared between the different treatment groups using Mann-Whitney *U* tests. For categorical parameters, proportions were compared using Pearson chi-square tests. To balance the baseline characteristics between the different treatment groups,

PSM analyses were used. Survival curves were plotted using the Kaplan-Meier method and compared using log-rank tests.

Ethical Considerations

The data used in this research were extracted from the publicly accessible, anonymized SEER database. Given the nature of the SEER database, which contains deidentified patient information and is widely used for epidemiological and clinical research purposes, our study fell within the category of research that is exempt from formal ethical approval and consent requirements. This exemption is consistent with established institutional and local policies regarding the use of publicly available, deidentified data for research purposes [19].

Results

Demographic Characteristics

According to our inclusion and exclusion criteria, a total of 2451 patients diagnosed with MSPLC were included in this study. All patients' baseline characteristics are summarized in Table 1. There were 1137 men and 1314 women, with a mean age of 63.5 (SD 9.2) years. White people accounted for 84.1% (2062/2451) of the study population. The mean diagnostic interval between the 2 primary lung tumors was 101.0 (SD 47.6) months. The year of diagnosis of the IPLC ranged from 1988 to 2012. For IPLC, 264 (10.8%) of the 2451 patients did not undergo any surgical procedure, while 2447 underwent surgical resection, including 295 (295/2447, 12%) sublevel resections, 1786 (1786/2447, 72.9%) lobectomies, and 106 (106/2447, 4.3%) pneumonectomies. Additionally, 465 (465/2451, 19%) patients received chemotherapy, and 489 (489/2451, 20%) underwent radiation therapy for IPLC. Based on treatments for MSPLC, patients were divided into the following 4 subgroups: radiotherapy only (864/2451, 35.3%), surgery only (759/2451, 31%), surgery plus radiotherapy (89/2451, 3.6%), and no treatment (739/2451, 30.2%). The median follow-up time after MSPLC diagnosis was 18 (range: 1-273) months. For the entire study population, the 5-year overall survival (OS) was 34.7%.



Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of 2451 patients diagnosed with second primary lung cancer.

Characteristic	Results
Age (years), mean (SD)	63.5 (9.2)
Race, n (%)	
White	2062 (84.1)
Black	240 (9.8)
Other	149 (6.1)
Sex, n (%)	
Male	1137 (46.4)
Female	1314 (53.6)
Relative location, n (%)	
Ipsilateral	815 (33.3)
Contralateral	1636 (66.7)
Diagnostic interval (months), mean (SD)	101.0 (47.6)
Initial primary lung cancer	
Year of diagnosis, n (%)	
1988-1995	763 (31.1)
1996-2003	919 (37.5)
2004-2012	769 (31.4)
SEER ^a stage, n (%)	
Localized	1538 (62.7)
Regional	913(37.3)
Histology, n (%)	
ADC ^b	1399 (57.1)
SCC ^c	690 (28.2)
Other NSCLC ^d	362 (14.8)
Grade, n (%)	
Well differentiated	277 (11.3)
Moderately differentiated	844 (34.3)
Poorly differentiated	792 (32.3)
Undifferentiated	115 (4.7)
Unknown	423 (17.3)
Surgery, n (%)	
No surgery	264 (10.8)
Sublevel resection	295 (12)
Lobectomy	1786 (72.9)
Pneumonectomy	106 (4.3)
Chemotherapy, n (%)	
Yes	465 (19)
No/unknown	1986 (81)
Radiotherapy, n (%)	
Yes	489 (20)
No/unknown	1962 (80)

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53354

XSL•FO RenderX

Zheng et al

Characteristic	Results				
Second primary lung cancer					
Surgery, n (%)					
No surgery	1603 (65.4)				
Wedge resection	295 (12)				
Segmentectomy	61 (2.5)				
Other/inseparable sublevel resection	87 (3.5)				
Lobectomy	352 (14.4)				
Pneumonectomy	53 (2.2)				
Chemotherapy, n (%)					
Yes	694 (28.3)				
No/Unknown	1757 (71.7)				
Radiotherapy, n (%)					
Yes	953 (38.9)				
No/Unknown	1498 (61.1)				
Treatment, n (%)					
Only radiotherapy	964 (35.3)				
Only surgery	759 (31.0)				
Surgery + radiotherapy	89 (3.6)				
None	739 (30.2)				

^aSEER: Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results.

^bADC: adenocarcinoma.

^cSCC: squamous cell carcinoma.

^dNSCLC: non-small cell lung cancer.

Radiotherapy Versus Surgery

Before PSM, the distributions of several baseline characteristics were significantly different between the radiotherapy and surgery groups. These included age (P<.001); sex (P=.005); relative location of the 2 primary tumors (P<.001); diagnostic interval (P<.001); and IPLC characteristics such as year of diagnosis (P=.004), histology (P<.001), surgical procedure (P<.001), radiotherapy (P=.04), and chemotherapy for MSPLC (P<.001; Table 2). Figure 1A shows the survival outcomes among the 4 treatment groups (P<.001). Patients who only received radiotherapy had worse survival than those who underwent surgical resection but better survival than the no treatment group.

To evaluate the role of radiotherapy in terms of treatment for MSPLC, multiple PSM analyses were performed to compare radiotherapy with no treatment, surgery, and surgery plus radiotherapy. After PSM (ratio: 1:1; caliper=0.01), all baseline characteristics were matched well between the corresponding comparison groups (Table 2 and Tables S1 and S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1). As shown in Figure 1, the radiotherapy group had significantly better survival outcomes than the no treatment group (P<.001; Figure 1B) but significantly worse survival outcomes than the surgery group (P<.001; Figure 1C). However, radiotherapy seemed to not improve the survival outcome among patients who received surgery for MSPLC (P=.26; Figure 1D).



Zheng et al

Table 2. Comparison of baseline characteristics between surgery and radiotherapy for second primary lung cancer before and after propensity score matching (PSM).

Characteristic	Before PSM			After PSM		
	Radiation (n=864)	Surgery (n=759)	P value	Radiation (n=470)	Surgery (n=470)	P value
Age (years), mean (SD)	63.9 (8.9)	62.1 (9.0)	<.001	63.0 (8.8)	62.7 (9.1)	.55
Race, n (%)			.10			.75
White	737 (85.3)	642 (84.6)		401 (85.3)	393 (83.6)	
Black	85 (9.8)	63 (8.3)		39 (8.3)	45 (9.6)	
Other	42 (4.9)	54 (7.1)		30 (6.4)	32 (6.8)	
Sex, n (%)			.005			.95
Male	417 (48.3)	313 (41.2)		201 (42.8)	203 (43.2)	
Female	447 (51.7)	446 (58.8)		269 (57.2)	267 (56.8)	
Relative location, n (%)			<.001			.73
Ipsilateral	321 (37.2)	208 (27.4)		152 (32.3)	146 (31.1)	
Contralateral	543 (62.8)	551 (72.6)		318 (67.7)	324 (68.9)	
Diagnostic interval (months), mean (SD)	104.4 (48.7)	95.8 (45.3)	<.001	99.1 (43.5)	100.9 (50.5)	.56
IPLC ^a						
Year of diagnosis			.004			.93
1988-1995	242 (28)	256 (33.7)		135 (28.7)	135 (28.7)	
1996-2003	313 (36.2)	286 (37.7)		174 (37)	169 (36)	
2004-2012	309 (35.8)	217 (28.6)		161 (34.3)	166 (35.3)	
SEER ^b stage			.499			.73
Localized	560 (64.8)	505 (66.5)		300 (63.8)	306 (65.1)	
Regional	304 (35.2)	254 (33.5)		170 (36.2)	164 (34.9)	
Histology			<.001			.82
ADC ^c	451 (52.2)	495 (65.2)		275 (58.5)	275 (58.5)	
SCC ^d	280 (32.4)	173 (22.8)		125 (26.6)	131 (27.9)	
Other NSCLC ^e	133 (15.4)	91 (12)		70 (14.9)	64 (13.6)	
Grade			.06			> 99
Well differentiated	82 (9.5)	106 (14)	.00	50 (10.6)	52 (11.1)	,,
Moderately differentiated	295 (34.1)	259 (34.1)		167 (35.5)	168 (35.7)	
Poorly differentiated	295 (34.1)	231 (30.4)		149 (31.7)	148 (31.5)	
Undifferentiated	42 (4.9)	33 (4.3)		22 (4.7)	23 (4.9)	
Unknown	150 (17.4)	130 (17.1)		82 (17.4)	79 (16.8)	
Surgery	. ,		<.001		. ,	.98
No surgery	102 (11.8)	47 (6.2)		45 (9.6)	42 (8.9)	
Sublevel resection	100 (11.6)	105 (13.8)		59 (12.6)	61 (13)	
Lobectomy	616 (71.3)	591 (77.9)		353 (75.1)	355 (75.5)	
Pneumonectomy	46 (5.3)	16 (2.1)		13 (2.8)	12 (2.6)	
Chemotherapy			.77			.87
Yes	155 (17.9)	131 (17.3)		91 (19.4)	88 (18.7)	
No/unknown	709 (82.1)	628 (82.7)		379 (80.6)	382 (81.3)	
Radiotherapy			.04			.93

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53354

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e53354 | p.754 (page number not for citation purposes)

Charact	eristic	Before PSM			After PSM		
		Radiation (n=864)	Surgery (n=759)	P value	Radiation (n=470)	Surgery (n=470)	P value
	Yes	176 (20.4)	123 (16.2)		86 (18.3)	88 (18.7)	
	No/unknown	688 (79.6)	636 (83.8)		384 (81.7)	382 (81.3)	
SPLC ^f							
Ch	emotherapy			<.001			≥.99
	Yes	318 (36.8)	91 (12)		88 (18.7)	87 (18.5)	
	No/unknown	546 (63.2)	668 (88)		382 (81.3)	383 (81.5)	

^aIPLC: initial primary lung cancer.

^bSEER: Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results.

^cADC: adenocarcinoma.

^dSCC: squamous cell carcinoma.

^eNSCLC: non-small cell lung cancer.

^fSPLC: second primary lung cancer.

Figure 1. (a) Overall survival of 2451 patients with MSPLC between 1988 and 2012 in different treatment groups before propensity score matching (PSM). (b) Overall survival of radio-therapy and none-treatment after PSM. (c) Overall survival of radiotherapy after PSM. (d) Overall survival of surgery and surgery plus radiotherapy after PSM.





Radiotherapy Versus Wedge Resection or Lobectomy

To further compare survival between radiotherapy and specific surgical procedures, patients with MSPLC diagnosed with IPLC after 2004 were selected. Those who underwent unknown or indefinite sublevel resection, segmentectomy (very few patients) and pneumonectomy for MSPLC were excluded. There were 716 patients included for further analyses. The demographic characteristics are described in Table 3. Before PSM, Figure 2A shows that patients who underwent wedge resection or

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53354
```

XSL•FO RenderX lobectomy had significantly better OS than those who received radiotherapy, and all of them had significantly better OS than the no treatment group. More clinical parameters such as T and N stage for IPLC and tumor size for MSPLC were matched by PSM, and all parameters were matched well (Tables S3-S5 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Similarly, after PSM, both wedge resection (P=.004; Figure 2C) and lobectomy (P=.002; Figure 2D) had significantly better OS than radiotherapy. Furthermore, radiotherapy also had greater survival benefits than no treatment (P<.001; Figure 2B).

Zheng et al

Table 3. Demographic and clinical characteristics of 716 patients diagnosed with second primary lung cancer after 2004.

Characteristic	Results
Age (years), mean (SD)	65.8 (9.0)
Race, n (%)	
White	608 (84.9)
Black	65 (9.1)
Other	43 (6)
Sex, n (%)	
Male	310 (43.3)
Female	406 (56.7)
Relative location, n (%)	
Ipsilateral	279 (39)
Contralateral	437 (61)
Interval, mean (SD)	74.2 (21.4)
Initial primary lung cancer	
T stage, n (%)	
T1	315 (44)
Τ2	277 (38.7)
Τ3	35 (4.9)
Τ4	66 (9.2)
Unknown	23 (3.2)
N stage, n (%)	
NO	528 (73.7)
N1	80 (11.2)
N2	97 (13.5)
Unknown	11 (1.5)
Histology, n (%)	
ADC ^a	406 (56.7)
SCC ^b	206 (28.8)
Other NSCLC ^c	104 (14.5)
Grade, n (%)	
Well differentiated	94 (13.1)
Moderately differentiated	275 (38.4)
Poorly differentiated	211 (29.5)
Undifferentiated	18 (2.5)
Unknown	118 (16.5)
Surgery, n (%)	
No surgery	131 (18.3)
Sublevel resection	106 (14.8)
Lobectomy	455 (63.5)
Pneumonectomy	24 (3.4)
Chemotherapy, n (%)	
Yes	237 (33.1)

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53354

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e53354 | p.756 (page number not for citation purposes)
Zheng et al

Characteristic	Results
No/unknown	479 (66.9)
Radiotherapy, n (%)	
Yes	174 (24.3)
No/unknown	542 (75.7)
Second primary lung cancer	
Size (cm), n (%)	
0-3	385 (53.8)
3-5	71 (9.9)
>5	56 (7.8)
Unknown	204 (28.5)
Surgery, n (%)	
No surgery	533 (74.4)
Wedge resection	102 (14.2)
Lobectomy	81 (11.3)
Chemotherapy, n (%)	
Yes	201 (28.1)
No/unknown	515 (71.9)
Radiotherapy, n (%)	
Yes	309 (43.2)
No/unknown	407 (56.8)
Treatment, n (%)	
None	224 (31.3)
Only radiation	309 (43.2)
Only wedge	102 (14.2)
Only lobectomy	81(11.3)

^aADC: adenocarcinoma.

^bSCC: squamous cell carcinoma.

^cNSCLC: non-small cell lung cancer.



Figure 2. Overall survival of (A) 716 patients with metachronous second primary lung cancer (MSPLC) after 2004 in different treatment groups before propensity score matching (PSM); (B) patients who received radiotherapy or no treatment, after PSM; (C) patients who received radiotherapy or underwent wedge resection, after PSM; (D) patients who received radiotherapy or underwent lobectomy, after PSM.



ML-Based Cancer-Specific Death Risk Prediction

Using LASSO regression, we identified 9 variables that made significant contributions to CSS (Figure 3). These variables encompassed age at diagnosis, sex, year of diagnosis, radiotherapy of IPLC, primary site, histology, surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy of MPSLC. The ML models displayed outstanding performance, as indicated by high AUC values, highlighting the superiority of artificial intelligence in prognostic prediction (Figure 4). The decision curve analyses are depicted in Figure 5. Additionally, we assessed the sensitivity and specificity of each ML model using the maximal Youden index, which represents an optimal balance between true positives and true negatives (Table 4). Through 5-fold cross-validation, the XGB, RFC, and ADB models demonstrated superior performance. In order to gain deeper insights into the

relationships between demographic characteristics and long-term outcomes for MSPLC patients, we used these ML algorithms to develop predictive models to assess the 1-year, 3-year, 5-year, and 10-year risks of cumulative cancer-specific mortality based on the aforementioned variables. Consequently, we calculated the contribution of each variable. Notably, we identified the variables associated with CSS at different time intervals (Figure 6). Surgery for MPSLC predominantly and substantially influenced 1-year, 3-year, 5-year, and 10-year CSS. Radiotherapy for MPSLC also had an impact on 1-year, 3-year, 5-year, and 10-year survival, but its effect was comparatively less than that of surgery. The primary site and histology of MPSLC affected 1-year, 3-year, and 5-year CSS, but it had no impact on 10-year CSS. Additionally, radiotherapy for IPLC had an impact on 1-year and 3-year CSS but had minimal influence on 5-year and 10-year survival.



Figure 3. Machine learning model using least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression analysis for risk prediction of cumulative cancer-specific mortality in patients with metachronous second primary lung cancer (MSPLC): (A) 5-fold cross-validation results and (B) model regression coefficient profile.





Figure 4. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves for machine learning models for risk prediction of cumulative cancer-specific mortality in patients with metachronous second primary lung cancer (MSPLC): (A) 1-year lymphoma-specific mortality; (B) 3-year lymphoma-specific mortality; (C) 5-year lymphoma-specific mortality; (D) 10-year lymphoma-specific mortality. ADB: adaptive boosting; ANN: artificial neural network; AUC: area under the curve; GBDT: gradient boosting decision tree; KNN: K nearest neighbor; RFC: random forest classifier; ROC: receiver operating characteristic; XGB: extreme gradient boosting.



Figure 5. Decision curve analysis for 6 classical machine learning–based models for risk prediction of cumulative cancer-specific mortality in patients with metachronous second primary lung cancer (MSPLC): (A) 1-year lymphoma-specific mortality; (B) 3-year lymphoma-specific mortality; (C) 5-year lymphoma-specific mortality; (D) 10-year lymphoma-specific mortality.





Table 4. Performance of machine learning models for risk prediction of long-term cancer-specific survival of patients with second primary lung cancer after 2004.

Model	Sensitivity %	Specificity %	
	Sensitivity, 70	Specificity, %	AUC" (95% CI)
1-year cancer-specific survival			
XGB ^b	77	60.2	0.73 (0.71-0.75)
RFC ^c	76.7	63	0.74 (0.72-0.76)
ADB^d	83.1	54.4	0.75 (0.73-0.77)
KNN ^e	70.9	63.6	0.72 (0.70-0.74)
ANN^{f}	88.2	41.9	0.74 (0.72-0.76)
GBDT ^g	90.6	36	0.74 (0.72-0.76)
3-year cancer-specific survival			
XGB	69.9	73.8	0.77 (0.75-0.79)
RFC	75.6	69.2	0.77 (0.75-0.79)
ADB	79.3	66.4	0.76 (0.74-0.78)
KNN	79.6	64	0.75 (0.73-0.77)
ANN	83.6	59.9	0.77 (0.75-0.79)
GBDT	84.4	57.6	0.75 (0.73-0.77)
5-year cancer-specific survival			
XGB	79.6	71.3	0.78 (0.75-0.81)
RFC	79.2	71.5	0.79 (0.76-0.82)
ADB	75.3	74.7	0.79 (0.76-0.82)
KNN	74.3	73.9	0.77 (0.74-0.80)
ANN	79.3	71.5	0.80 (0.77-0.83)
GBDT	80.1	69.5	0.78 (0.75-0.81)
10-year cancer-specific survival			
XGB	78.8	74.7	0.84 (0.80-0.88)
RFC	78.3	40.7	0.83 (0.79-0.87)
ADB	78.4	81	0.84 (0.80-0.88)
KNN	80.7	73.4	0.78 (0.72-0.84)
ANN	68.8	88.6	0.85 (0.81-0.89)
GBDT	79.7	78.5	0.85 (0.81-0.89)

^aAUC: area under the curve.

^bXGB: extreme gradient boosting.

^cRFC: random forest classifier.

^dADB: adaptive boosting.

^eKNN: K nearest neighbor.

^fANN: artificial neural network.

^gGBDT: gradient boosting decision tree.



Figure 6. Machine learning model for risk prediction of cumulative cancer-specific mortality in patients with metachronous second primary lung cancer (MSPLC) showing the feature contribution (A) to survival and (B) by cancer characteristics. ADB: adaptive boosting; RFC: random forest classifier; XGB: extreme gradient boosting.



Age-Adjusted Competing Risk Analysis

To gain further insights into the cumulative incidence associated with each variable, we conducted competing risk analyses (Figure 7). Female MPSLC patients had lower cumulative cancer-specific mortality (hazard ratio [HR]=0.79, 95% CI 0.71-0.87; P<.001). Patients diagnosed with IPLC in more recent years also had lower cumulative cancer-specific mortality: 1996-2003 (HR=0.85, 95% CI 0.76-0.96; P<.001); 2004-2012 (HR=0.79, 95% CI 0.73-0.85; P<.001). However, patients who received radiotherapy for their IPLC had increased mortality (HR=1.31, 95% CI 1.16-1.50; P<.001). The histology of the second primary lung cancer played a significant role, with higher mortality rates for squamous carcinoma than adenocarcinoma (HR=1.28, 95% CI 1.12-1.46; P<.001). Moreover, the use of surgery for the second primary lung cancer was associated with lower mortality rates. This was particularly true for sublevel resection (HR=0.37, 95% CI 0.32-0.43; P<.001), lobectomy

(HR=0.56, 95% CI 0.51-0.61; P<.001), and pneumonectomy (HR=0.80, 95% CI 0.71-0.89; P<.001). Conversely, the use of chemotherapy or radiotherapy for the second primary lung cancer was associated with increased mortality rates, potentially due to the severity of the patients' initial condition (chemotherapy: HR=1.64, 95% CI 1.47-1.83; P<.001; radiotherapy: HR=1.19, 95% CI 1.07-1.33; P<.001).

Therefore, we performed additional analyses for the different treatment modalities, as shown in Figure 8. Surgery alone (HR=0.83, 95% CI 0.81-0.85; P<.001) had the lowest cancer-specific mortality, followed by surgery and chemotherapy (HR=0.76, 95% CI 0.71-0.82, P<.001) and surgery and radiotherapy (HR=0.79, 95% CI 0.71-0.88, P<.001). Among different surgical approaches, sublevel resection alone (HR=0.26, 95% CI 0.21-0.31, P<.001) had the lowest mortality rate, followed by pneumonectomy alone (HR=0.72, 95% CI 0.63-0.82, P<.001) and lobectomy alone (HR=0.92, 95% CI 0.78-1.09, P<.001).



Figure 7. Cumulative cancer-specific mortality per age-adjusted competing risk analysis in subgroup analysis by (A) age, (B) sex, (C) year of diagnosis of the initial primary lung cancer, (D) radiotherapy of the initial primary lung cancer, (E) primary site of the second primary lung cancer, (F) histology of the second primary lung cancer, (G) surgery for the second primary lung cancer, (H) chemotherapy of the second primary lung cancer, (I) radiotherapy of the second primary lung cancer.





Figure 8. Age-adjusted competing risk analysis to estimate the cumulative cancer-specific mortality with different treatment modalities: (A) treatment for second primary lung cancer, (B) radiotherapy alone versus surgery alone. HR: hazard ratio.



---- None (reference)

- Surgery alone (HR=0.83, 95% CI 0.81-0.85, P<.001)</p>
- —— Radiotherapy alone (HR=0.92, 95% CI 0.78-1.09, P=.34)
- Chemotherapy alone (HR=0.70, 95% CI 0.64-0.75, P<.001)
- Surgery and radiotherapy (HR=0.79, 95% CI 0.71-0.88, P<.001)</p>
- Surgery and chemotherapy (HR=0.76, 95% CI 0.71-0.82, P<.001)</p>
- Radiotherapy and chemotherapy (HR=0.95, 95% CI 0.93-0.98, P<.001)</p>
- Surgery, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy (HR=0.91, 95% CI 0.87-0.96, P<.001)

None (reference)

- Radiotherapy alone (HR=0.92, 95% CI 0.78-1.09, P=.34)
- Pneumonectomy alone (HR=0.72, 95% CI 0.63-0.82, P<.001)
- Sublevel resection alone (HR=0.26, 95% CI 0.21-0.31, P<.001)

Lobectomy alone (HR=0.92, 95% CI 0.78-1.09, P<.001)

Discussion

Principal Findings

With the rapid advancement and wide application of low-dose computed tomography for screening of pulmonary nodules, more patients are being diagnosed with MSPLC. Multiple primary lung cancer (MPLC) is a special kind of lung carcinoma that can be categorized into synchronous MPLC and metachronous MPLC. Among these, MSPLC is the most common form of MPLC that can be expected to receive curable management. However, limited progress has been made so far on accurate diagnoses, optimal medical interventions, and prognostic outcomes. In this study, our findings suggest that surgical resections, including wedge resection and lobectomy, contribute to better survival rates than radiation therapy in the context of MSPLC. However, it is important to note that radiation therapy remains a viable and valid alternative for the treatment of MSPLC.

Surgical resection is reportedly feasible for MSPLC and could significantly improve the prognosis [5-9], but the role of radiation therapy in the treatment of MSPLC remains unclear. Considering that patients who previously underwent surgery for IPLC may not tolerate another pulmonary resection, finding optimal alternative treatments is important. Therefore, using the population-based SEER database, this study used PSM analyses and ML techniques to first compare survival outcomes

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53354

RenderX

between patients who received radiotherapy or underwent surgical resection for MSPLC.

Of all enrolled patients, most (2187/2451, 89.2%) had undergone surgery for IPLC before (Table 1). However, 65.4% (1603/2451) of the patients with MSPLC did not undergo surgical resection for MSPLC, and 35.3% (864/2451) of them received radiation therapy (Table 1). It could be inferred that a considerable proportion of patients with MSPLC could not tolerate another surgical resection, and radiotherapy might be the predominant alternative treatment for them. Although surgical resection was first recommended for patients with MSPLC, radiation therapy is also important, especially for inoperable cancers. Given that very few studies have focused on long-term survival outcomes after radiotherapy versus surgery, this study may provide a more solid indication in terms of the use of radiotherapy for patients with MSPLC.

Previous studies reported that 5-year OS rates for patients with MSPLC varied, ranging from 26% to 38% [20-22]; these rates are similar to that of our study (34.7% for the entire cohort). The 5-year survival rates were 18.0% for radiotherapy, 49.3% for surgery, 38.8% for surgery plus radiotherapy, and 7.7% for no treatment. Ono et al [13] reported on 19 patients who were diagnosed with MSPLC after lung resection for IPLC and underwent proton beam therapy. Their research showed a 3-year survival rate of 63.2% and a 3-year local control rate of 84.2%, which indicated the safety and feasibility of proton beam therapy for patients with MSPLC. Miyazaki et al [23] compared survival

outcomes among metachronous MPLC patients after stereotactic body radiotherapy (N=26) and surgery (N=51) and found no significant differences. The study by Taioli et al [24] included 494 cases from the SEER database and showed that OS was better with surgery than with radiation therapy after the treatment of MSPLC [24]. However, their inclusion criteria were not rigorous enough; the diagnostic interval between the 2 primary lung tumors was too short (6 months), which could fail to exclude patients with relapse or metastasis. Additionally, the analyses were not adjusted for confounding factors, and this might have caused significant bias. In our study, multiple PSM analyses were performed to control for confounding effects. The surgery group had significantly better survival than the radiotherapy group (P<.001), and the radiotherapy group had greater survival than the no treatment group (P < .001; Figure 1). Therefore, surgical resection should be considered first for patients with MSPLC if their physical condition and pulmonary function reserve permit. For those with an inoperable cancer or who are not willing to undergo another surgery, radiation therapy may be an alternative. Additionally, after PSM, there was no significant difference between the surgery and surgery plus radiotherapy groups (P=.26), which indicated that preoperative or postoperative radiotherapy might not increase survival benefits for patients with MSPLC.

Lobectomy remains the commonly accepted standard treatment for resectable NSCLC. In recent years, sublobar resections have been widely reported to be adequate in early-stage NSCLC, resulting in less impairment and greater respiratory function reserve [1,25,26]. However, the prognostic role of sublobar resection among patients with MSPLC has not been clearly clarified. Yang et al [8] identified 454 matched pairs of patients with MSPLC receiving lobectomy or sublobar resection from the SEER database and found that the lobectomy group had significantly better survival than the sublobar resection group. Lee et al [27] concluded that MSPLC had similar survival outcomes with wedge resection and lobectomy by analyzing 625 patients with a diagnostic interval ≥ 6 months. There have been few studies that have focused on survival outcomes after radiotherapy compared with wedge resection or lobectomy. Thus, to further verify the rigorousness of our study, patients diagnosed after 2004 and with definite therapeutic information (only including no treatment, radiotherapy, wedge resection, and lobectomy) were selected to compare survival outcomes between those undergoing radiotherapy or specific surgical resections. Very few cases underwent segmentectomy (n=16) or surgery plus radiotherapy (n=11) for MSPLC and were excluded. Additionally, T and N stage (American Joint Committee on Cancer, 6th edition) for IPLC and tumor size were also adjusted using PSM analyses. Of the 716 patients diagnosed after 2004, 53.8% had MSPLC with a tumor size ≤ 3 cm, while a limited number of patients (127/716, 17.3%; Table 2) had a tumor larger than 3 cm, though some patients' MSPLC tumor sizes were unknown (204/716, 28.5%). This implied that most of the patients with MSPLC could be categorized as "early-stage" NSCLC if their tumors were recorded as initial lung cancer, which is a strong indication for sublobar resection and radiation therapy. There were actually only a few patients that underwent lobectomy for MSPLC (entire sample: 352/2451, 14.4%; diagnosed after 2004: 81/716, 11.3%). Radiotherapy

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53354

XSL•FO

seemed to be the most common treatment for MSPLC (entire sample: 864/2451, 35.3%; diagnosed after 2004: 309/716, 43.2%). All the aforementioned facts indicate that most patients with MSPLC might not tolerate another surgical resection, especially lobectomy, or be more willing to receive noninvasive radiation therapy. Therefore, comparing survival outcomes between radiotherapy and wedge resection or lobectomy is highly necessary. As shown in Figure 2, the radiotherapy group also had significantly greater OS than the no treatment group (P<.001) but poorer OS than both the lobectomy (P=.002) and wedge resection (P=.004) groups. When patients' physical condition and pulmonary function reserve permit, whether choosing lobectomy or wedge resection, patients undergoing surgical resection may gain greater survival benefits than those receiving radiation therapy.

The development of long-term outcome prediction models using ML techniques represents a significant breakthrough in the field of MSPLC. This paper convincingly demonstrates the utility of algorithms for accurately predicting cumulative ML cancer-specific mortality at various time intervals. The exceptional performance of these predictive models emphasizes the superiority of artificial intelligence in prognostic prediction, offering precise and reliable predictions for individual patients. Integrating such models into routine clinical practice has the potential to optimize treatment strategies and improve patient outcomes in MSPLC. Furthermore, the study uses competing risk analysis to delve into the impact of different factors on CSS among MSPLC patients across distinct time intervals. The findings provide valuable insights into the factors influencing both short-term (1-year and 3-year) and long-term (5-year and 10-year) survival outcomes. This enhanced understanding of the factors affecting patient outcomes contributes to improved prognostic assessments and facilitates informed treatment decision-making by clinicians.

Generally, patients with MPLC had better survival outcomes than those with intrapulmonary metastases from IPLC after surgery [22,28]. However, effective methods to accurately identify MPLC patients have not existed until now. Previous studies identified patients with MSPLC using inclusion and exclusion criteria that lacked rigor [8,24,27]. In this study, to avoid the potential confounding effect of metastases, we only included patients with a diagnostic interval greater than 4 years, which indicated a thoroughly representative group of patients with MSPLC [16].

To the best of our knowledge, using PSM analyses and ML techniques on the largest cohort of patients with MSPLC, this study is the first to compare the survival outcomes after radiotherapy with those after surgical resection for MSPLC. Nevertheless, limitations in some aspects of the study still exist. First, this is a retrospective study based on the study population from the SEER database. A certain degree of data bias could not be totally avoided. Second, there might have been an inclination for treatment regarding the patients who received radiotherapy, because they were usually ineligible for surgery due to poorer physical condition and insufficient pulmonary function reserve. Thus, though we tried to control for the confounding effects using PSM, patient bias between different treatment groups also existed because details on physical

condition and lung function were unknown. Further evaluation should be performed by prospective studies in the future. Third, since very few patients underwent a pneumonectomy and were thus excluded from our study, the prognostic role of pneumonectomy for patients with MSPLC requires a large cohort to verify. Additionally, we acknowledge the limitations inherent in the SEER database, which lacks comprehensive information, including details on immunotherapy and targeted therapy and the specifics of radiotherapy such as the target volume, treatment dose, and radiation technology. We hope that future cohort studies will incorporate these specifics to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the treatment landscape for MSPLC.

Conclusions

Overall, this study indicated that surgical resections such as wedge resection and lobectomy performed better than radiation therapy in terms of survival of patients with MSPLC. However, many patients with MSPLC may not tolerate surgery because of previously treated initial lung cancer. Among the treatment options, radiation therapy confers great survival outcomes and can be a valid alternative for surgery. Future prospective studies can be designed to further confirm the effectiveness of radiation therapy for MSPLC.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Postdoctoral Fellowship Program of CPSF (GZB20230481), Post-Doctor Research Project, West China Hospital, Sichuan University (2024HXBH149, 2024HXBH006), National Natural Science Foundation of China (82303773, 82303772, 82303694), Natural Science Foundation of Sichuan Province (2023NSFSC1885, 024NSFSC1908), and Key Research and Development Program of Sichuan Province (23ZDYF2836).

Data Availability

The data sets generated and analyzed during the current study are available in the SEER database [14].

Authors' Contributions

YW conceptualized and supervised the study, acquired the funding, validated the data, and reviewed and edited the manuscript draft. YZ curated the data. YZ, AZ, and YY performed the methodology and wrote the original manuscript draft. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplemental tables. [DOCX File, 57 KB - cancer_v10i1e53354_app1.docx]

References

- Altorki NK, Yip R, Hanaoka T, Bauer T, Aye R, Kohman L, I-ELCAP Investigators. Sublobar resection is equivalent to lobectomy for clinical stage 1A lung cancer in solid nodules. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014 Feb;147(2):754-62; Discussion 762 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.09.065] [Medline: 24280722]
- 2. Rami-Porta R, Bolejack V, Giroux DJ, Chansky K, Crowley J, Asamura H, et al. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: the new database to inform the eighth edition of the TNM classification of lung cancer. Journal of Thoracic Oncology 2014 Nov;9(11):1618-1624. [doi: 10.1097/jto.0000000000334]
- Thakur MK, Ruterbusch JJ, Schwartz AG, Gadgeel SM, Beebe-Dimmer JL, Wozniak AJ. Risk of second lung cancer in patients with previously treated lung cancer: analysis of Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) data. J Thorac Oncol 2018 Jan;13(1):46-53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2017.09.1964] [Medline: 28989038]
- Surapaneni R, Singh P, Rajagopalan K, Hageboutros A. Stage I lung cancer survivorship: risk of second malignancies and need for individualized care plan. J Thorac Oncol 2012 Aug;7(8):1252-1256 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3182582a79] [Medline: 22627646]
- Hamaji M, Ali SO, Burt BM. A meta-analysis of resected metachronous second non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2015 Apr;99(4):1470-1478. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.11.033</u>] [Medline: <u>25725930</u>]
- Hamaji M, Allen MS, Cassivi SD, Deschamps C, Nichols FC, Wigle DA, et al. Surgical treatment of metachronous second primary lung cancer after complete resection of non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2013 Mar;145(3):683-90; discussion 690 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.12.051] [Medline: 23414986]
- Yang J, Liu M, Fan J, Song N, He W, Yang Y, et al. Surgical treatment of metachronous second primary lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2014 Oct;98(4):1192-1198. [doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.05.050] [Medline: 25134862]

RenderX

- 8. Yang X, Zhan C, Li M, Huang Y, Zhao M, Yang X, et al. Lobectomy versus sublobectomy in metachronous second primary lung cancer: a propensity score study. Ann Thorac Surg 2018 Sep;106(3):880-887. [doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2018.04.071] [Medline: 29852145]
- Zuin A, Andriolo LG, Marulli G, Schiavon M, Nicotra S, Calabrese F, et al. Is lobectomy really more effective than sublobar resection in the surgical treatment of second primary lung cancer? Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2013 Aug;44(2):e120-5; discussion e125. [doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezt219] [Medline: 23657547]
- Onishi H, Shirato H, Nagata Y, Hiraoka M, Fujino M, Gomi K, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for operable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: can SBRT be comparable to surgery? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011 Dec 01;81(5):1352-1358. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2009.07.1751] [Medline: 20638194]
- Tandberg DJ, Tong BC, Ackerson BG, Kelsey CR. Surgery versus stereotactic body radiation therapy for stage I non-small cell lung cancer: A comprehensive review. Cancer 2018 Feb 15;124(4):667-678 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.31196] [Medline: 29266226]
- Ishihara T, Yamada K, Harada A, Yukiue H, Tanahashi M, Niwa H, et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for second primary lung cancer and intra-parenchymal lung metastasis in patients previously treated with surgery: evaluation of indications and predictors of decreased respiratory function. Acta Oncol 2018 Sep;57(9):1232-1239. [doi: <u>10.1080/0284186X.2018.1468088</u>] [Medline: <u>29722594</u>]
- Ono T, Nakamura T, Azami Y, Suzuki M, Wada H, Kikuchi Y, et al. Proton beam therapy is a safe and feasible treatment for patients with second primary lung cancer after lung resection. Thorac Cancer 2019 Feb;10(2):289-295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.12949] [Medline: 30585704]
- 14. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program. National Cancer Institute. URL: <u>http://seer.cancer.gov/</u> [accessed 2024-05-27]
- 15. Luo W, Phung D, Tran T, Gupta S, Rana S, Karmakar C, et al. Guidelines for developing and reporting machine learning predictive models in biomedical research: a multidisciplinary view. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 16;18(12):e323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5870] [Medline: 27986644]
- 16. Martini N, Melamed MR. Multiple primary lung cancers. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1975 Oct;70(4):606-612. [Medline: 170482]
- Kozower BD, Larner JM, Detterbeck FC, Jones DR. Special treatment issues in non-small cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013 May;143(5 Suppl):e369S-e399S. [doi: <u>10.1378/chest.12-2362</u>] [Medline: <u>23649447</u>]
- 18. The R Project for Statistical Computing. The R Foundation. URL: <u>http://www.r-project.org</u> [accessed 2024-05-27]
- 19. Do I need ethical approval? UCL Research Ethics. URL: <u>https://www.ucl.ac.uk/research-ethics/do-i-need-ethical-approval</u> [accessed 2024-05-27]
- 20. Aziz TM, Saad RA, Glasser J, Jilaihawi AN, Prakash D. The management of second primary lung cancers. A single centre experience in 15 years. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2002 Mar;21(3):527-533. [doi: 10.1016/s1010-7940(02)00024-6] [Medline: 11888775]
- 21. Battafarano RJ, Force SD, Meyers BF, Bell J, Guthrie TJ, Cooper JD, et al. Benefits of resection for metachronous lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004 Mar;127(3):836-842 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2003.08.055] [Medline: 15001914]
- 22. Stella F, Luciano G, Dell'Amore A, Greco D, Ammari C, Giunta D, et al. Pulmonary metastases from NSCLC and MPLC (multiple primary lung cancers): management and outcome in a single centre experience. Heart Lung Circ 2016 Feb;25(2):191-195. [doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2015.07.016] [Medline: 26525847]
- 23. Miyazaki T, Yamazaki T, Sato S, Tsuchiya T, Matsumoto K, Hatachi G, et al. Surgery or stereotactic body radiotherapy for metachronous primary lung cancer? A propensity score matching analysis. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2020 Nov;68(11):1305-1311. [doi: 10.1007/s11748-020-01394-3] [Medline: 32447626]
- Taioli E, Lee DD, Kaufman A, Wolf A, Rosenzweig K, Gomez J, et al. Second primary lung cancers demonstrate better survival with surgery than radiation. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2016;28(1):195-200. [doi: 10.1053/j.semtcvs.2016.02.010] [Medline: 27568161]
- 25. Moon MH, Moon YK, Moon SW. Segmentectomy versus lobectomy in early non-small cell lung cancer of 2 cm or less in size: A population-based study. Respirology 2018 Jul;23(7):695-703. [doi: 10.1111/resp.13277] [Medline: 29465766]
- Cao J, Yuan P, Wang Y, Xu J, Yuan X, Wang Z, et al. Survival rates after lobectomy, segmentectomy, and wedge resection for non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2018 May;105(5):1483-1491. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.athoracsur.2018.01.032</u>] [Medline: <u>29462591</u>]
- Lee D, LaChapelle C, Taioli E, Kaufman A, Wolf A, Nicastri D, et al. Second primary lung cancers demonstrate similar survival with wedge resection and lobectomy. Ann Thorac Surg 2019 Dec;108(6):1724-1728. [doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2019.06.023] [Medline: 31376378]
- Lv J, Zhu D, Wang X, Shen Q, Rao Q, Zhou X. The value of prognostic factors for survival in synchronous multifocal lung cancer: a retrospective analysis of 164 patients. Ann Thorac Surg 2018 Mar;105(3):930-936. [doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2017.09.035] [Medline: 29394993]

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53354
```

RenderX

Abbreviations

ADB: adaptive boosting **ANN:** artificial neural network AUC of ROCs: area under the receiver operating characteristic curves **CSS:** cancer-specific survival **GBDT:** gradient boosting decision tree HR: hazard ratio **ICD-O:** International Classification of Diseases for Oncology **IPLC:** initial primary lung cancer KNN: K nearest neighbor LASSO: least absolute shrinkage and selection operator ML: machine learning MPLC: multiple primary lung cancer MSPLC: metachronous second primary lung cancer NSCLC: non-small cell lung cancer **OS:** overall survival **PSM:** propensity score matching **RFC:** random forest classifier SEER: Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results WHO: World Health Organization **XGB:** extreme gradient boosting

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 04.10.23; peer-reviewed by JY Sun; comments to author 19.12.23; revised version received 21.12.23; accepted 08.05.24; published 12.06.24.

Please cite as:

Zheng Y, Zhao A, Yang Y, Wang L, Hu Y, Luo R, Wu Y Real-World Survival Comparisons Between Radiotherapy and Surgery for Metachronous Second Primary Lung Cancer and Predictions of Lung Cancer–Specific Outcomes Using Machine Learning: Population-Based Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53354 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53354 doi:10.2196/53354 PMID:<u>38865182</u>

©Yue Zheng, Ailin Zhao, Yuqi Yang, Laduona Wang, Yifei Hu, Ren Luo, Yijun Wu. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 12.06.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Crowdfunding for Complementary and Alternative Cancer Treatments in Tijuana, Mexico: Content Analysis

Jeremy Snyder¹, PhD; Marco Zenone², PhD; Ashmita Grewal¹, MSc; Timothy Caulfield³, LLM

¹Faculty of Health Sciences, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada

²Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom
³Faculty of Law, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

Corresponding Author: Jeremy Snyder, PhD Faculty of Health Sciences Simon Fraser University 8888 University Drive Blusson Hall 11300 Burnaby, BC, V5A1S6 Canada Phone: 1 7787823258 Email: jcs12@sfu.ca

Abstract

Background: Complementary and alternative (CAM) cancer treatment is often expensive and not covered by insurance. As a result, many people turn to crowdfunding to access this treatment.

Objective: The aim of this study is to identify the rationales of patients with cancer seeking CAM treatment abroad by looking specifically at crowdfunding campaigns to support CAM cancer treatment in Tijuana, Mexico.

Methods: We scraped the GoFundMe.com and GiveSendGo.com crowdfunding platforms for campaigns referencing CAM cancer clinics in Tijuana, initiated between January 1, 2022, and February 28, 2023. The authors created a coding framework to identify rationales for seeking CAM treatment in Tijuana. To supplement campaign metadata, we coded the beneficiary's cancer stage, type, age, specific treatment sought, whether the beneficiary died, gender, and race.

Results: Patients sought CAM cancer treatment in Tijuana because the (1) treatment offers the greatest efficacy (29.9%); (2) treatment offered domestically was not curative (23.2%); (3) the clinic treats the whole person, and addresses the spiritual dimension of the person (20.1%); (4) treatments are nontoxic, natural, or less invasive (18.2%); and (5) clinic offers the newest technology (8.5%). Campaigns raised US \$5,275,268.37 and most campaign beneficiaries were women (69.7%) or White individuals (71.1%).

Conclusions: These campaigns spread problematic misinformation about the likely efficacy of CAM treatments, funnel money and endorsements to CAM clinics in Tijuana, and leave many campaigners short of the money needed to pay for CAM treatments while costing beneficiaries and their loved one's time, privacy, and dignity. This study affirms that Tijuana, Mexico, is a very popular destination for CAM cancer treatment.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52018) doi:10.2196/52018

KEYWORDS

cancer; crowdfunding; Tijuana; CAM; patient; patients; insurance; crowdfunding platforms; GoFundMe; GiveSendGo; cancer clinic; Mexico; campaigns; cancer treatment; medical intervention; CAM cancer treatments; misinformation; alternate care; women's health; internet research; international medical tourism; alternative cancer therapy; financial toxicity

Introduction

RenderX

Traveling abroad for complementary and alternative (CAM) cancer treatments—understood as medical interventions that are outside of standard medical care—is common in North

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52018
```

America and Europe [1,2]. Motivations for seeking CAM cancer treatments include the belief that alternative care alone is curative, desire for control over one's care, addressing the side effects of conventional treatment, attending to the needs of the whole person (including their emotional and spiritual

well-being), and preservation of hope for better health [3-5]. engines. Campaigns initia For people seeking CAM cancer care abroad, private and public February 28, 2023, were t

For people seeking CAM cancer care abroad, private and public insurance typically does not reimburse any or all costs of this treatment. In these cases, crowdfunding can serve as a means of accessing CAM cancer care through helping the beneficiary not only to afford the treatment itself but also to pay for indirect expenses like travel, accommodation, and time off work [6].

Previous scholarship on crowdfunding for CAM cancer treatments has identified several concerns with this practice. These campaigns can spread misinformation about the safety and efficacy of CAM cancer treatments, potentially reaching large audiences through social media [7]. People with cancer who forgo conventional treatment in favor of alternative modalities may have poorer health outcomes [8]. Campaign beneficiaries are generally very ill and have a late-stage cancer diagnosis. The preservation of hope for a cure or extended life may come at financial costs and divert time from palliative care and other activities [9,10].

Prior analyses of crowdfunding campaigns for CAM cancer treatments have identified Mexico as a common destination. Peterson et al [7] found that 81.9% (N=194) of US-based campaigners on the GoFundMe crowdfunding platform who sought CAM cancer treatment abroad intended to travel to Mexico. Within Mexico, the Tijuana region on the US border is especially popular. The 5 most commonly named facilities in 1 study of crowdfunding for CAM cancer treatments were all located in Tijuana, Mexico [9]. These connections may be further reinforced by clinics in Tijuana encouraging potential clients to use crowdfunding to pay for their services [11].

The aim of this study is to build on this previous scholarship on crowdfunding for CAM cancer care by looking specifically at crowdfunding campaigns to support CAM cancer treatment in Tijuana, Mexico. Our aims in doing so are to revisit analyses of crowdfunding for CAM cancer treatments following the removal of COVID-19–related travel restrictions. We also seek to better understand the demographics of and rationales for people seeking CAM treatment in a specific, highly popular destination catering to patients from abroad.

Methods

Overview

We searched the GoFundMe and GiveSendGo crowdfunding platforms from March 1, 2023, to March 7, 2023. These 2 crowdfunding platforms were selected because GoFundMe is the largest host of health-related crowdfunding campaigns in North America, while GiveSendGo has emerged in North America as a home for Christian and politically conservative campaigners, often as an alternative to GoFundMe [12,13]. The search was conducted using the clinic's name or the locations "Tijuana" or "Baja" with "cancer" and "alternative." Provider names were compiled from publications on alternative cancer providers in the scholarly [9,14] and gray [15,16] literature. This list was expanded as additional facilities were identified during the review of resulting crowdfunding campaigns. The search was carried out using a database of scraped campaign data from both platforms and the platforms' internal search

engines. Campaigns initiated between January 1, 2022, and February 28, 2023, were then selected. This process identified 484 campaigns (GoFundMe n=432, GiveSendGo n=52).

The scraped data for these campaigns included the campaign URL, title, text, updates, funding requested, funding pledged, number of donations and online shares, creation date, and currency type. GoFundMe campaigns also included the campaigner's city and country location. These campaigns were reviewed for inclusion as seeking funding to access CAM cancer treatment in Tijuana, Mexico. This process removed 124 campaigns, leaving 360 campaigns that met our inclusion criteria. One clinic, Hope4Cancer, also operates facilities in Cancun, Mexico. Campaigns for treatment at this clinic were included regardless of the intended location as the specific location was often unclear and they captured a similar practice. During this review, we confirmed the clinic name where possible and recorded information about the beneficiary's cancer stage and type, the beneficiary's age, the treatment cost, the treatment sought, and whether the beneficiary had died. Funding requested and pledged were converted to US dollars for non-US currencies using the exchange rate for the date the campaign was created.

We independently reviewed 10% of included campaigns with a focus on campaigners' stated reasons for selecting Tijuana, Mexico, as a destination for CAM cancer care. Based on this review and after discussion among all authors, we identified five rationales for seeking alternative cancer care in Tijuana. (1) Treatment in Tijuana offers the greatest efficacy in terms of cancer treatment. Campaigners could support this rationale with appeals to specific and comparative success rates, patient testimonials positively discussing the efficacy of the treatment they received, and claims that these treatments improved success rates by supplementing treatment available domestically. (2) Treatment offered domestically was not curative. Campaigns with this rationale could include statements that the recipient was previously offered a poor prognosis, directed toward hospice or palliative care, or variations on the theme that trying some form of care was better than having no potentially curative care. (3) The facility in Tijuana is caring, treats the whole person, and addresses the spiritual dimension of the person. This rationale included depictions of specific, caring interactions with staff in Tijuana, references to the spiritual and religious convictions of staff in Tijuana, or references to a "whole person" approach. (4) Treatment in Tijuana is nontoxic, natural, or less invasive. Campaigns with this rationale could point to the perceived toxicity of conventional care, particularly chemotherapy, and suggest that CAM care in Tijuana used gentler and more natural modalities. (5) Treatment in Tijuana offers the newest or most advanced technology and treatment types. These campaigns could include statements that the regulatory system in the recipient's home country was too restrictive and made these treatments unavailable domestically, discussion of perceived "cutting edge" technologies, or appeals to the training and credentials of staff at the preferred provider. We then applied these codes to each campaign, allowing for multiple rationale codes per campaign. All of these codes were independently confirmed by 2 authors. Discrepancies were discussed among the first 3 authors and coding was refined until consensus was reached.

XSL•FO

We reviewed all campaigns and assigned a gender and racial category to each beneficiary. Gender categories included women, men, nonbinary, and undetermined. Gender identification was based on campaign photos, pronoun usage in the campaign text, and other textual cues. Racial categories were identified in consultation with publications on racial characteristics in crowdfunding in order to identify commonly used categories within this area of scholarship [17-20] and further refined through discussion among the reviewers. These categories were then assigned based on campaign images, the beneficiary's and family members' names, non–English language campaign text, and other textual cues as informed by the reviewers' experience and prior publications using racial

Figure 1. Workflow.

Initial scaces
 Initial scaces
 Initial scaces
 Initial scaces
 Initial scales
 Initial scales</l

Figure 1) [21].

Ethical Considerations

Ethics approval was not required for this study as per the Tri Council Policy Statement (TCPS2; Article 2.2) [22], as all data were posted in the public domain and the individuals to whom the information refers have no reasonable expectation of privacy.

Results

This process identified 360 crowdfunding campaigns (GoFundMe, n=311; GiveSendGo, n=49). These campaigns

Table 1. Fundraising by crowdfunding platform.

raised US \$5,275,268.37 (median US \$7685) with a range of US \$0-\$220,812. They requested US \$17,032,458.06 (median US \$45,000) with a range of US \$0-\$250,000. Contributions were received from 38,212 (median 46) donations with a range of 0-1495. In total, 352 (97.8%) of the campaigns received some funding and 22 (6.1%) reached or exceeded their fundraising goals. These campaigns were shared online 86,907 (median 124) times on social media with a range of 0-2600 shares. Table 1 presents these data by crowdfunding platform, and Table 2 presents this information by quartile.

data in crowdfunding campaigns. Two authors each

independently assigned a gender and racial category for each

campaign or noted uncertainty regarding categorization.

Discrepancies in these codes were discussed among each

reviewer and a third author, and they were resolved where

possible after exchanging rationales for assigning discrepant

codes. Where consensus was not achieved or there was not

enough information in the campaign to decide, the relevant

category was assigned as undetermined. While challenging,

collecting and analyzing gender and racial data can yield

important insight around medical access and health equity (see

	US \$ raised	Median raised	US \$ request- ed	Median re- quested	Total do- nations, n	Median donations	Total shares, n	Median shares	Receiving funding, %	Meeting fund- ing goal, %
GiveSend- Go	809,428.50	8250.00	2,326,394.86	45,000	2607	32	1229	15	83.7	14.3
GoFundMe	4,465,839.87	7525	14,706,063.20	45,000	35,605	49	85,678	150	100	4.8
Both plat- forms	5,275,268.37	7685	17,032,458.06	45,000	38,212	46	86,907	124	97.8	6.1



Table 2. Fundraising by quartile.

	First quartile	Second quartile	Third quartile	Fourth quartile
Funding received (US \$)	0-2620	2640-7605	7765-18,750	18,895-220,812
Funding requested (US \$)	0-25,689.80	25,900-45,000	45,000-55,000	55,867-250,000
Donations, n	0-18	19-50	51-105	107-1495
Shares, n	0-23	23-128	130-331	332-2600

Beneficiary and Provider Characteristics

In total, 251 (69.7%) campaign beneficiaries were women and 109 (30.3%) were men (no beneficiaries identified as nonbinary). The GiveSendGo platform skewed more heavily toward women (n=39, 79.6%) compared to the GoFundMe platform (n=212, 68.2%). The beneficiary's age was identified in 105 campaigns. Ages ranged from 18 to 71 years with a median age of 44 years. Most beneficiaries were White (n=256, 71.1%) followed by Latino (n=39, 10.8%), Black (n=38, 10.6%),

East Asian (n=10, 3.1%), Middle Eastern and South Asian (n=5, 1.4%), and Indigenous (n=2, 0.6%) beneficiaries with 7 (2.5%) campaigners not identified (see Table 3). White and women beneficiaries outraised other groups (see Table 4). Campaigners were most commonly located in the United States (85%), followed by Canada (6.4%) and the United Kingdom (3.6%). Over 75% of campaigns sought treatment at 3 clinics: Hope4Cancer (n=146, 40.6%), Centro Hospitalario Internacional Pacifico (CHIPSA; n=81, 22.5%), and Oasis of Hope (n=44, 12.2%; see Table 5).

Table 3. Beneficiary race.

Race	GoFundMe, n (%)	GiveSendGo, n (%)	Total, n (%)
White	211 (67.8)	45 (91.8)	256 (71.1)
Latino	38 (12.2)	1 (2.0)	39 (10.8)
Black	38 (12.2)	0 (0.0)	38 (10.6)
East Asian	10 (3.2)	1 (2.0)	11 (3.1)
Middle Eastern and South Asian	5 (1.6)	0 (0.0)	5 (1.4)
Indigenous	2 (0.6)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.6)
Uncertain	7 (2.3)	2 (4.1)	9 (2.5)

Table 4. Outcomes by gender and race.

	Median donations	Median raised (US \$)	Median requested (US \$)
Women	49.5	7959	45,000
Men	41	7085	45,000
White	50	8516	47,770.56
Latino	41	4060	30,000
Black	48	4439	45,000
East Asian	44	7144.21	40,000
Middle Eastern or South Asian	370	25,357.30	44,933.80
Indigenous	104.5	20,051	37,500
Uncertain	17	3610	37,500



 Table 5. Intended provider.

Clinic Name	Value, n (%)
Hope4Cancer	146 (40.6)
CHIPSA ^a	81 (22.5)
Oasis of Hope	44 (12.2)
ITC ^b	24 (6.7)
Sanoviv	11 (3.1)
Immunotherapy Institute	6 (1.7)
Gerson Institute	5 (1.4)
Hoxsey	4 (1.1)
Advanced Gerson	3 (0.8)
Health Institute de Tijuana	2 (0.6)
Integrative Cancer Centers of America	1 (0.3)
Medgate Baja	1 (0.3)
Northern Baja Gerson Center	1 (0.3)
Stella Maris Clinic	1 (0.3)
Unidentified	30 (8.3)

^aCHIPSA: Centro Hospitalario Internacional Pacifico.

^bITC: Immunity Therapy Center.

A total of 125 campaigners stated the cost of the treatments they sought in Tijuana, which ranged from US \$11,000 to US \$100,000 (median US \$45,000). The most common cancer types or locations disclosed in these campaigns were breast (26.9%), colorectal (14.2%), and pancreatic (7.2%) cancers. Of the 205 campaigns that stated the beneficiary's cancer stage, these skewed toward later stages with 161 (78.6%) at stage 4 followed by 35 (17.1%) stage 3, 6 (2.9%) stage 2, and 3 (1.5%) stage 1. A total of 67 (18.6%) beneficiaries were identified as having died after the start of the campaign. Common treatments sought included immunotherapy (n=94), dietary supplements (n=44), detoxification (n=36), Gerson therapy (n=31), ozone and oxygenation therapies (n=32), hyperbaric oxygen therapy (n=27), hyperthermia (n=26), vitamin C (n=26), dendritic cell therapy (n=20), light-based (infrared, laser, photodynamic) treatments (n=16), vitamin B17 (n=14), low dose chemotherapy (n=12), sono-photodynamic therapy (n=10), Coley's therapy (n=8), insulin potentiation therapy (n=8), cryotherapy (n=7), curcumin (n=7), and pulsed electromagnetic therapy (n=7).

Rationales for Seeking Treatment in Tijuana

These campaigns offered a variety of rationales for seeking alternative cancer treatment in Tijuana, including multiple rationales in the same campaign. The most common rationale (30.9%) was that this treatment was perceived as offering the greatest possible efficacy in terms of curing the beneficiary's cancer or extending their lifespan. Campaigns included both general claims about the success of treatments at the facility and highly specific numbers such as "a high success rate of over 90 percent." These claims were bolstered by the providers ("they claim that they can both stop the cancer he has") and patient testimonials ("success stories at this centre have been incredible to read").

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52018

RenderX

The second most common rationale (23.6%) for seeking treatment in Tijuana was that the care offered domestically was not curative and so they desired to continue seeking curative treatment. These campaigns frequently described an experience where domestic practitioners stated a low survival rate or duration for the beneficiary and suggested they explore hospice or palliative care. Accepting a lack of curative treatment options was often rejected, positioning the recipient as a "fighter" who does not "give up as easily" or explaining that they had others who needed them to survive ("I NEED to be here to see my wee babies grow up and to be their mummy").

Beneficiaries also sought treatment in Mexico (19.3%) because these facilities were seen as treating the whole person in a caring way. These campaigns often referred to the alternative care they sought as "holistic" or targeting the "whole person" including their "mind, spirit and emotions." Others described the caring approach of the clinic staff and personalized nature of their care: "the doctors are so kind, warm, attentive and the treatment plan is truly individualized!". Some of these campaigns particularly flagged the spiritual or religious dimension of the providers in Tijuana, including describing one clinic as "run by doctors and staff that are all Spirit-filled believers."

These clinics were also seen as offering less toxic and less invasive, natural treatment options (17.6%). Campaigners sought "non-toxic cancer therapies" that "target only cancer cells," leaving the rest of the person intact. Chemotherapy and radiation treatments were seen as "harsh" based on the beneficiary's past experience or witnessing the treatment of loved ones. Instead, the "natural" treatments offered in Tijuana could particularly "rebuild" the recipient's immune system. Other campaigners objected to surgery, including the removal of reproductive

organs or other life-altering changes. Alternative care offered "less invasive treatments" that avoided these outcomes.

Least commonly (8.6%), these campaigns were motivated by the perceived technological superiority of the treatments offered in Tijuana. These treatments were frequently described as being "experimental," "cutting edge," or "state of the art." Specific

Table 6.	Alternative	treatment	rationales
----------	-------------	-----------	------------

clinics were flagged as having a reputation as global leaders in "advanced" cancer treatments or being "known for being on the forefront" of cancer care. In some cases, campaigners noted that the clinics were free from regulatory limits on new treatments domestically, and therefore, "able to do certain treatments that are not FDA approved here in the US" (See Table 6).

Rationale	GoFundMe, n (%)	GiveSendGo, n (%)	Total, n (%)
Efficacy	166 (30.6)	29 (32.6)	195 (30.9)
Domestic not curative	137 (25.3)	12 (13.5)	149 (23.6)
Whole person	98 (18.1)	24 (27.0)	122 (19.3)
Natural	94 (17.3)	17 (19.1)	111 (17.6)
Newest technology	47 (8.7)	7 (7.9)	54 (8.6)

Discussion

The findings from this study affirm earlier studies of crowdfunding for CAM cancer treatment. Crowdfunding beneficiaries seeking CAM cancer treatments in this study most commonly experienced breast and colorectal cancers, as has been seen in previous studies [10,23,24]. The beneficiaries in this study were most commonly women (69.7%). This closely matches previous findings of 64.3% and 70% of beneficiaries as female [10,24]. As with the previous studies, most beneficiaries were described as having stage 4 cancer [6,10].

Campaigns in this study generally had higher median fundraising goals (US \$45,000) and donations (US \$7685) than in previous studies. Holler et al found that crowdfunding campaigns for US beneficiaries for conventional and alternative treatments raised median US \$1610 of US \$9000 requested and Song et al [10] found of a median goal of US \$15,000 for CAM cancer treatments with US \$2870 raised [10,23]. Another study that included non-US GoFundMe campaigns found median US \$19,880 requested and US \$5055.50 raised [9]. Only one study of US-based campaigns for alternative treatment abroad found higher median donations. These campaigns raised median US \$7833 of US \$35,000 requested [6]. As the campaigners generally lived in the United States, Canada, and the United Kingdom, travel costs likely influenced higher fundraising goals, which may have in turn encouraged more giving. Moreover, the median stated direct cost of treatment (US \$45,000) suggests that treatment costs in the providers included in this study were higher than those in previous studies.

Previous studies of crowdfunding for CAM cancer treatments have not examined racial characteristics of campaign beneficiaries. Among a sample of 2618 US-based medical campaigns on the GoFundMe platform, White beneficiaries were found to be most common (73.7%), followed by Latino (12.3%) and Black (9.4%) beneficiaries [20]. This and other studies have also shown that White campaigners tend to raise more money than Black beneficiaries [17,18]. Our study findings are consistent with these observations.

These campaigns conferred many benefits to clinics in Tijuana. Most directly, these campaigns supplied these clinics with a

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52018
```

XSL•FO

potential new source of revenue. Not all of the over US \$5 million raised through these campaigns will go to these clinics as it was also used for indirect costs like travel and time off work and some beneficiaries were unable to travel to Tijuana for treatment. Nonetheless, the funding raised through these campaigns supplemented campaigners' insurance, savings, and other financial resources and, as a result, these clinics may have received more paying clients. Moreover, these campaigns serve as highly effective advertising about the clinics' perceived merits to people viewing and contributing to them. Campaign claims about the efficacy of these clinics and their superiority to domestic providers are presented in the form of patient testimonials; as such, they are likely to be highly effective forms of advertisements, reaching a wide audience via social media. In this way, crowdfunding campaigns create a positive feedback loop for targeted clinics where customers using crowdfunding generate highly positive social media about the clinics, which in turn generates new potential customers, some of whom likely turn to crowdfunding themselves.

While these campaigns raised a great deal of money collectively, they typically fell short of their individual fundraising goals; the median US \$7685 raised was well short of the median US \$45,000 requested and only 6.1% of the campaigns reached or exceeded their fundraising goals. These fundraising goals were likely driven by the substantial cost of treatment in Tijuana as the campaigns indicated a median treatment cost of US \$45,000. Many campaigners were unable to afford their desired treatments and others likely drained savings or went into debt to do so. This issue was particularly acute for Black and Latino beneficiaries who raised median US \$4439 and US \$4060, respectively, compared to US \$8516 for White beneficiaries. Outside of these financial implications, these campaigns entail the loss of privacy for campaign beneficiaries and their families through public exposure of their medical, financial, and other details. Other campaigners for cancer care have described feeling uncomfortable or humiliated from having to ask others for financial support for their care [25].

Previous studies have flagged the use of markers of legitimacy among providers of alternative medical treatments. These markers include scientific and research-based language that

helps build trust in potential clients [9]. The rationales for seeking CAM treatment in these campaigns tended to emphasize the efficacy of the interventions they sought and, to a lesser extent, how it was cutting-edge technology and not available domestically. By comparison, campaigns emphasizing the natural dimensions of the treatment or caring and spiritual nature of the facility's staff were less common. Specific treatments like immunotherapy borrow from language used in more conventional and evidence-based treatments such as Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-cell therapy. Thus, patients may be unclear about the actual nature of and evidence for the treatments they seek abroad [26]. This may mark a divergence from previous studies that have found interest in combatting cancer through immune boosting modalities that focus primarily on "natural" products to do so [24].

Campaigns on both the GoFundMe and GiveSendGo crowdfunding platforms had the same median fundraising goal. While campaigns on GoFundMe had a larger median number of donations and shares, GiveSendGo campaigns had a larger median amount raised and relatively more campaigns reach their goal. These differences could be due to the higher ratio of White beneficiaries using GiveSendGo or other factors that lead to higher amounts given per donor on that platform. GiveSendGo campaigns put relative emphasis on caring for the whole person, including the spiritual dimensions of care, as a motivation for seeking treatment in Tijuana. These differences display how the populations using crowdfunding platforms can differ despite seeking the same treatments in the same location. Additional study of these differences is needed, particularly given the growth of the GiveSendGo. This study had several limitations. Coding for the beneficiary's gender and race typically relies on the perceptions of the coders and may be inaccurate. Some campaigns may have been removed prior to data collection, particularly campaigns from earlier in the inclusion period. Campaigns that met our inclusion criteria but did not mention a clinic name or specify seeking alternative cancer treatment in Tijuana or Baja, Mexico, would not have been identified. Additionally, some campaigns may have continued to raise money after the end of data collection. Thus, this study likely understates the number and fundraising total of campaigns for CAM cancer treatment in Tijuana, Mexico.

As has been previously established, crowdfunding is actively used to raise money to access CAM cancer treatments. These campaigns spread problematic misinformation about the likely efficacy of these treatments, funnel money and endorsements to these clinics, and leave many campaigners short of the money needed to pay for them while costing beneficiaries and their loved ones time, privacy, and dignity. This study affirms that Tijuana, Mexico, is a popular destination for these campaigners and that this interest persists following the COVID-19 pandemic. While most of these campaigns fell well short of their goals, Black and Latino beneficiaries were particularly unsuccessful. This study also demonstrates an evolving landscape of CAM cancer treatments generally, and in Tijuana specifically, with increased marketing of immunotherapy as a form of treatment. This study demonstrates both the value of close examination of specific destinations for CAM cancer treatments and for how distinct populations may be drawn to different crowdfunding platforms.

Acknowledgments

Marco Zenone is funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR; grant SFR1231) and thanks the CIHR for their generous support of ScienceUpFirst.

Data Availability

The data are available on request from the corresponding author.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Complementary and alternative medicine (CAM). National Cancer Institute. 1980. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/cam</u> [accessed 2020-03-04]
- Horneber M, Bueschel G, Dennert G, Less D, Ritter E, Zwahlen M. How many cancer patients use complementary and alternative medicine: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Integr Cancer Ther 2012;11(3):187-203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1534735411423920] [Medline: 22019489]
- Cavallo J. Findings from ASCO's second national cancer opinion survey the ASCO post. The ASCO Post. 2019. URL: <u>https://ascopost.com/issues/january-25-2019/findings-from-asco-s-second-national-cancer-opinion-survey/</u> [accessed 2023-03-05]
- 4. Keene MR, Heslop IM, Sabesan SS, Glass BD. Complementary and alternative medicine use in cancer: a systematic review. Complement Ther Clin Pract 2019;35:33-47. [doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2019.01.004] [Medline: 31003679]
- 5. Verhoef MJ, Balneaves LG, Boon HS, Vroegindewey A. Reasons for and characteristics associated with complementary and alternative medicine use among adult cancer patients: a systematic review. Integr Cancer Ther 2005;4(4):274-286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1534735405282361] [Medline: 16282504]

RenderX

- 6. Snyder J. Crowdfunding for medical care: ethical issues in an emerging health care funding practice. Hastings Cent Rep 2016;46(6):36-42. [doi: 10.1002/hast.645] [Medline: 27875643]
- Peterson J, Wilson TF, Watt MH, Gruhl J, Davis S, Olsen J, et al. International medical tourism of US cancer patients for alternative cancer treatments: financial, demographic, and clinical profiles of online crowdfunding campaigns. Cancer Med 2023;12(7):8871-8879 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cam4.5636] [Medline: 36659856]
- 8. Johnson S, Park H, Gross C, Yu J. Use of alternative medicine for cancer and its impact on survival. J Natl Cancer Inst 2018;110(1). [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djx145] [Medline: 28922780]
- Snyder J, Zenone M, Caulfield T. Crowdfunding for complementary and alternative medicine: what are cancer patients seeking? PLoS One 2020;15(11):e0242048 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0242048] [Medline: 33216790]
- Song S, Cohen AJ, Lui H, Mmonu NA, Brody H, Patino G, et al. Use of GoFundMe® to crowdfund complementary and alternative medicine treatments for cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2020;146(7):1857-1865. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00432-020-03191-0</u>] [Medline: <u>32219517</u>]
- 11. Financial Resources. Hope4Cancer. URL: <u>https://hope4cancer.com/become-our-patient/financial-resources/</u> [accessed 2023-05-05]
- 12. Panjwani A, Xiong H. The causes and consequences of medical crowdfunding. J Econ Behav Organ 2023;205:648-667. [doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2022.11.017]
- 13. Lavin T. Crowdfunding hate in the name of Christ. The Nation. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.thenation.com/article/society/givesendgo-crowdfunding-extremism/</u> [accessed 2022-02-07]
- 14. Moss RW. Patient perspectives: Tijuana cancer clinics in the post-NAFTA era. Integr Cancer Ther 2005;4(1):65-86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1534735404273918] [Medline: 15695477]
- 15. Kreidler M. Tijuana's Alternative Cancer Treatments: Warnings and Side Effects | Skeptical Inquirer. 2017. URL: <u>https://skepticalinquirer.org/exclusive/tijuanas-alternative-cancer-treatments-warnings-and-side-effects/</u> [accessed 2020-03-05]
- 16. Moss R. The Mexican cancer clinics in the era of evidence-based medicine. The Moss Report. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.themossreport.com/the-mexican-cancer-clinics-in-the-era-of-evidence-based-medicine/</u> [accessed 2023-05-04]
- 17. Davis AR, Elbers SK, Kenworthy N. Racial and gender disparities among highly successful medical crowdfunding campaigns. Soc Sci Med 2023;324:115852 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2023.115852] [Medline: 36989837]
- Saleh SN, Ajufo E, Lehmann CU, Medford RJ. A comparison of online medical crowdfunding in Canada, the UK, and the US. JAMA Netw Open 2020;3(10):e2021684 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.21684] [Medline: 33104206]
- Kenworthy N, Dong Z, Montgomery A, Fuller E, Berliner L. A cross-sectional study of social inequities in medical crowdfunding campaigns in the United States. PLoS One 2020;15(3):e0229760 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0229760] [Medline: 32134984]
- 20. Igra M. Donor financial capacity drives racial inequality in medical crowdsourced funding. Social Forces 2022;100(4):1856-1883 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/scan/nsaa023]
- 21. Flanagin A, Frey T, Christiansen SL, AMA Manual of Style Committee. Updated guidance on the reporting of race and ethnicity in medical and science journals. JAMA 2021;326(7):621-627. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.13304] [Medline: 34402850]
- 22. TCPS 2 (2022) Chapter 2: Scope and Approach. Government of Canada: Panel on Research Ethics. 2022. URL: <u>https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/tcps2-eptc2_2018_chapter2-chapitre2.html</u> [accessed 2024-08-01]
- Holler JT, Sadighian MJ, Ghaffar U, Abbasi B, Nabavizadeh B, Hakam N. Online medical crowdfunding in the United States: a cross-sectional analysis of gendered cancer campaign outcomes. JOMH 2023;19(3):29-37. [doi: 10.22514/jomh.2023.022]
- 24. Peterson J, Wilson T, Gruhl J, Davis S, Olsen J, Parsons M, et al. Timing and motivations for alternative cancer therapy with insights from a crowdfunding platform: cross-sectional mixed methods study. JMIR Cancer 2022;8(2):e34183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34183] [Medline: 35671074]
- Ghazal LV, Watson SE, Gentry B, Santacroce SJ. "Both a life saver and totally shameful": young adult cancer survivors' perceptions of medical crowdfunding. J Cancer Surviv 2023;17(2):332-341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11764-022-01188-x] [Medline: 35169983]
- 26. Jarry J. Quack clinics in Mexico bet big on experimental immunotherapy. Cracked Science. 2023. URL: <u>https://www.mcgill.ca/oss/article/critical-thinking-pseudoscience/quack-clinics-mexico-bet-big-experimental-immunotherapy</u> [accessed 2023-04-05]

Abbreviations

CAM: complementary and alternative **CHIPSA:** Centro Hospitalario Internacional Pacifico



Edited by N Cahill; submitted 20.08.23; peer-reviewed by J Luo, A Lazard; comments to author 02.04.24; revised version received 17.04.24; accepted 04.07.24; published 14.08.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Snyder J, Zenone M, Grewal A, Caulfield T Crowdfunding for Complementary and Alternative Cancer Treatments in Tijuana, Mexico: Content Analysis JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52018 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52018 doi:10.2196/52018 PMID:

©Jeremy Snyder, Marco Zenone, Ashmita Grewal, Timothy Caulfield. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 14.08.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Predictive Models for Long Term Survival of AML Patients Treated with Venetoclax and Azacitidine or 7+3 Based on Post Treatment Events and Responses: Retrospective Cohort Study

Nazmul Islam¹, MS, MBA, PhD; Jamie S Reuben¹, MPH, MPPA; Justin Dale¹, BBA; James W Coates¹, BS, MS; Karan Sapiah¹, MS; Frank R Markson¹, BS; Craig T Jordan², PhD; Clay Smith³, MD

¹RefinedScience, Aurora, CO, United States

²Division of Hematology, University of Colorado Anschutz, Aurora, CO, United States ³Department of Medicine, University of Colorado Anschutz, Aurora, CO, United States

Corresponding Author:

Nazmul Islam, MS, MBA, PhD RefinedScience Bioscience 1, Suite 175 12635 E Montview Blvd Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 9196049705 Email: nazmul.islam@refinedscience.com

Abstract

Background: The treatment of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) in older or unfit patients typically involves a regimen of venetoclax plus azacitidine (ven/aza). Toxicity and treatment responses are highly variable following treatment initiation and clinical decision-making continually evolves in response to these as treatment progresses. To improve clinical decision support (CDS) following treatment initiation, predictive models based on evolving and dynamic toxicities, disease responses, and other features should be developed.

Objective: This study aims to generate machine learning (ML)–based predictive models that incorporate individual predictors of overall survival (OS) for patients with AML, based on clinical events occurring after the initiation of ven/aza or 7+3 regimen.

Methods: Data from 221 patients with AML, who received either the ven/aza (n=101 patients) or 7+3 regimen (n=120 patients) as their initial induction therapy, were retrospectively analyzed. We performed stratified univariate and multivariate analyses to quantify the association between toxicities, hospital events, and short-term disease responses and OS for the 7+3 and ven/aza subgroups separately. We compared the estimates of confounders to assess potential effect modifications by treatment. 17 ML-based predictive models were developed. The optimal predictive models were selected based on their predictability and discriminability using cross-validation. Uncertainty in the estimation was assessed through bootstrapping.

Results: The cumulative incidence of posttreatment toxicities varies between the ven/aza and 7+3 regimen. A variety of laboratory features and clinical events during the first 30 days were differentially associated with OS for the two treatments. An initial transfer to intensive care unit (ICU) worsened OS for 7+3 patients (aHR 1.18, 95% CI 1.10-1.28), while ICU readmission adversely affected OS for those on ven/aza (aHR 1.24, 95% CI 1.12-1.37). At the initial follow-up, achieving a morphologic leukemia free state (MLFS) did not affect OS for ven/aza (aHR 0.99, 95% CI 0.94-1.05), but worsened OS following 7+3 (aHR 1.16, 95% CI 1.01-1.31) compared to that of complete remission (CR). Having blasts over 5% at the initial follow-up negatively impacted OS for both 7+3 (P<.001) and ven/aza (P<.001) treated patients. A best response of CR and CR with incomplete recovery (CRi) was superior to MLFS and refractory disease after ven/aza (P<.001), whereas for 7+3, CR was superior to CRi, MLFS, and refractory disease (P<.001), indicating unequal outcomes. Treatment-specific predictive models, trained on 120 7+3 and 101 ven/aza patients using over 114 features, achieved survival AUCs over 0.70.

Conclusions: Our findings indicate that toxicities, clinical events, and responses evolve differently in patients receiving ven/aza compared with that of 7+3 regimen. ML-based predictive models were shown to be a feasible strategy for CDS in both forms of AML treatment. If validated with larger and more diverse data sets, these findings could offer valuable insights for developing AML-CDS tools that leverage posttreatment clinical data.

RenderX

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e54740) doi:10.2196/54740

KEYWORDS

Leukemia, Myeloid, Acute; Venetoclax; Azacitidine; Anthracycline; Arabinoside, Cytosine; Clinical Decision Support; Clinical Informatics; Machine Learning; Predictive Model; Overall Survival

Introduction

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is an aggressive malignancy of the myeloid cells in the hematopoietic system [1]. Without treatment, patients can die within days to months due to infection, bleeding, organ damage, or other complications. The treatment approaches for AML vary significantly based on the patient's ability or willingness to tolerate intensive therapy [1,2]. For young and fit patients, a typical intensive therapy approach involves induction treatment with anthracycline and cytosine arabinoside, commonly known as 7+3 therapy. This is followed by additional consolidative chemotherapy or an allogeneic stem cell transplantation (alloSCT), depending on the genetic features of the AML at diagnosis, as well as the clinical status of the patient and the AML after induction therapy [3,4]. This intensive approach is potentially curative but is associated with high morbidity, mortality, cost, and prolonged hospital stays. For patients who are not suitable for, or choose to decline, this intensive approach due to age, fitness, or personal preference at diagnosis, the Bcl-2 inhibitor venetoclax, in combination with a hypomethylating agent such as azacitidine or decitabine, has become a new standard of care [5-7]. This strategy is typically aimed at prolonging life rather than achieving a cure and is associated with less morbidity, treatment-related mortality, and time spent in the hospital compared with intensive approaches [<mark>8</mark>].

We and others have described a variety of features of both patients and AML at diagnosis that are associated with long-term survival and other outcomes following treatment with either intensive approaches or venetoclax plus azacitidine (ven/aza)-based treatments [9-11]. However, the treatment course for patients with AML is highly variable, and factors such as "fitness" can change significantly, for better or worse, during treatment. Additionally, there is significant variability in AML responses to therapy during treatment, which are difficult to predict at diagnosis. As a result, prognosis and clinical decision-making can evolve significantly based on events and responses occurring after the initiation of treatment. Therefore, identifying key prognostic features that develop following treatment and are associated with long-term disease behavior and survival is essential for refining clinical decision-making over time. For intensive treatment approaches, events such as the achievement of a morphologic complete remission (CR), the presence or absence of minimal residual disease (MRD) detected by flow cytometry or next-generation sequencing, and other AML-related assessments that occur following the initiation of therapy are predictive of long-term outcomes [12-28]. Many of these early response indicators are useful for guiding subsequent therapeutic decisions. For example, the presence of MRD after induction therapy with 7+3 or other intensive treatments can predict the success of alloSCT, guide the choice of transplant type, and identify high-risk

RenderX

patients who may benefit from post-transplant maintenance therapy [16,18-20,29-33]. In ven/aza treatment, achieving MRD negativity is associated with improved event-free survival and overall survival (OS) [34]. However, in contrast to intensive approaches, there is limited knowledge about how toxicities, early clinical events, and short-term treatment responses are associated with disease behavior and long-term patient outcomes with this therapy.

To address this gap, we evaluated clinical events, toxicities, short-term outcomes, biomarkers, and other features occurring after the initiation of treatment with either 7+3 or ven/aza to understand their association with OS. Additionally, we developed models to assess the long-term dynamic behavior of responses to 7+3 and ven/aza based on short-term disease responses. These studies reveal substantial differences in the clinical and AML features that evolve with the 2 different treatments and highlight how these differences impact prognosis and clinical decision-making.

Methods

Patient Populations

Adult, newly diagnosed AML patients who received initial induction therapy with either the ven/aza regimen or the 7+3 regimen at the University of Colorado Hospital (UCH) between January 1, 2013, and December 31, 2020, were included in the study. Patients with acute promyelocytic leukemia and those who voluntarily withdrew within less than 28 days of treatment were excluded. Patient baseline characteristics are summarized in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1. Note that this patient cohort is a subset of the analytical data set as previously described [10]. For exploratory analyses, 120 patients treated with 7+3 and 101 patients treated with ven/aza were included (Figure S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Best response analyses were based on 118 out of 120 (98.3%) of the 7+3 patients and all (101/101, 100%) of the ven/aza patients (including those who died before response assessment). For the multistate transition analyses, 115 out of 120 (95.8%) of the 7+3 patients and 98 out of 101 (97.0%) of the ven/aza patients had sufficient data after excluding those without at least one response assessment or who died before their first response assessment. Additionally, 111 out of 120 (92.5%) of the 7+3 patients and 91 out of 101 (90.1%) of the ven/aza patients had 30-day follow-up data adequate for developing machine learning (ML) models.

Ethical Considerations

This study was a retrospective analysis utilizing a limited data set. A full waiver of consent and a full waiver of Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) authorization were granted by the Colorado Multiple Institutional Review Board (approval number 18-1861). The limited data set was securely stored on a HIPAA-compliant,

cloud-based data platform, and accessible only to members of the study team.

Outcome Definitions

Treatment responses, including CR, CR with incomplete hematologic recovery (CRi), morphologic leukemia-free state (MLFS), progressive disease, and stable disease, were defined according to the standard 2017 European LeukemiaNet (ELN) criteria [35]. A patient was classified as "refractory" if the disease persisted after 90 days from the start of treatment or if the disease worsened or showed no improvement at any point during the treatment cycle. Toxicity variables were graded according to the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) guidelines [35-37]. Ejection fraction toxicity was defined as detailed in Table S10 in Multimedia Appendix 1. "Induction events" occurred during the initial treatment hospitalization. The "Day₁₅₋₅₅" disease assessment refers to patient examinations, laboratory analyses, and bone marrow biopsy (BMB) analyses performed closest to day 30 after the initiation of treatment, but within days 15-55 to accommodate variations in assessment timing. "Day 30 readmission events" were defined as clinical events that occurred at least one day after a patient's discharge from the initial treatment hospitalization and at least one day before the "Day₁₅₋₅₅" BMB.

Statistical Learning

Structured and unstructured electronic medical record data were integrated into a heme data mart on the Google Cloud Platform (Alphabet Inc.), as previously described [10]. Descriptive summary statistics of confounders were provided for both 7+3 and ven/aza treatments. Systematic differences between treatments were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test, Fisher exact test (for small sample sizes), chi-square test, and standardized mean differences (SMDs). Kaplan-Meier analyses were performed for OS with 95% CIs, assuming right censoring. P values for testing the equality of survival curves were reported using log-rank (LR), Tarone-Ware (TW), and Fleming-Harrington (FH) methods. All hypotheses were 2-sided. Cumulative incidence functions (CIFs) for hazards were reported for toxicity along with 95% CIs, LR-based P values, and median time to reach the worst toxicity grading from baseline. Multistate survival analyses were conducted using follow-up BMB responses. Occupation probabilities of disease states were estimated using the Aalen-Johansen estimation technique [38-40]. Transition probabilities for moving from one disease state to another over time were estimated assuming a Markov process, with standard errors reported using bootstrap methods across 300 runs [41]. Multivariable Cox proportional hazards (Cox-PH) models with a ridge penalty (ie, L2 norm penalty) were fitted to adjust for multicollinearity, and estimates of adjusted hazard ratios (aHRs) were reported [42]. Before fitting multivariable models, numeric variables were categorized based

on clinically meaningful thresholds to enhance interpretability. Noise variables were filtered out using a univariate approach based on accelerated failure time (AFT) models. Tuning parameters for the ridge penalty were selected using the 10-fold cross-validation (CV) approach. Bias-corrected 95% CIs for aHRs were constructed using the fractional random weight bootstrap method with 2000 runs, where weights were computed from a univariate Dirichlet distribution [43].

Development and Validation of Prognosis Models

The steps for training and evaluating ML models are depicted in Figures 1 and 2. The process consists of 2 stages. First, internal validation based on CV (steps 1-8) was conducted to select the appropriate ML model for each treatment separately. Second, subject-specific OS predictions, conditional on observed covariates, and the corresponding uncertainty quantification were performed using the selected treatment-specific ML models (steps 10-11). A total of 17 different models ranging from statistical learning-, ML-, and deep learning (DL)-based survival models were used to assess long-term outcomes. These included ensemble-based methods such as the random survival forest (RSF) [44], survival forest with bagging, and conditional inference survival forest [45], as well as Cox-PH models with boosting, penalized Cox-PH models, and parametric AFT models [46] with exponential, Weibull, and log-logistic error structures. These models generated OS probabilities by leveraging over 114 features, as highlighted in Table S12 in Multimedia Appendix 1. The prognostic variable list was further enhanced by creating binary variables based on the first and fifth quintiles of numeric laboratory variables. Regularization penalties [42,47-50] were applied to reduce the risk of overfitting. The penalty terms included ridge, LASSO, elastic-net (eNet), smoothly clipped absolute deviation (SCAD), minimax concave penalty (MCP), adaptive SCAD, adaptive MCP, adaptive eNet, adaptive MCP with L2 norm penalty (mNet), and adaptive SCAD with L2 norm penalty (sNet) [47]. Adaptive models were fitted in 2 stages: in the first stage, models were fitted with ridge penalties, and in the second stage, models were refitted with covariate weights calculated as the reciprocal of parameter estimates from the first stage. Additionally, DL-based survival models (Deep-Surv [51], Deep-LogHaz [52], and Deep-Hit [53]) with 2 hidden layers exploiting neural network structures were used. Tuning parameters for the ensemble-based approaches and DL models were selected using a combination of grid search and CV. For Cox-PH models, regularization penalties were selected using 10-fold CV. Parametric AFT models were fitted with a reduced set of variables. To minimize dimensionality and avoid collinearity in AFT models, a univariate filtering approach was applied, where only variables with Bonferroni-corrected P values below a prespecified threshold of 0.20 were included in the final multivariable AFT models. For additional technical details, please refer to Multimedia Appendix 1.



Figure 1. ML architecture. Notation and description of 11 steps for the development of ML models, optimum model selection, validation, prediction, and uncertainty quantification for a newly diagnosed patient with AML. AML: acute myeloid leukemia; AUC: area under the curve.

5

6

8

Steps 1-8: Internal validation



Select clinical features for machine learning (ML) models; standardize and organize the analytical dataset tailored to each ML model; complete feature engineering step.

Arrange data frame with response of interest, and selected covariates; augment lab variables; initiate iterations for leaveone-out-cross-validation (LOOCV) for each type of ML models.

Create training dataset via the LOOCV technique leaving one subject out and use the left-out subject as a test set.

Use the grid search/cross-validation (CV) techniques to obtain optimum tuning parameters in the corresponding training sets; repeat this step independently for each LOOCV run.

Step 9: Adversarial validation

Perform adversarial validation to detect any potential data drift in distribution between the training and independent validation set; apply selected models on the independent external cohort and reevaluate model performances.

Step 10: Prospective validation

10

11

Retrain the selected "*best*" ML model exploiting all patients' information based on the corresponding analytical dataset; store the model artifacts/parameters; generate patient specific conditional prediction for a new patient.

Step 11: Uncertainty quantification

Quantify variation in prediction (eg, standard errors, inter quartile range) with respect to *B* (300 runs) nonparametric bootstrap samples with replacement; obtain percentile prediction intervals.

Internal validation was conducted using leave-one-out cross-validation, focusing on several metrics: dynamic area under the curve (AUC) of cumulative case dynamic control of receiver operative characteristics (ROC) curves (cAUC), incident case dynamic control ROC (iAUC) curves, integrated Brier scores, and time-dependent concordance (C) index and Brier score at 1-year survival (denoted by C_t and Brier, respectively). The median (M) of cAUCs and iAUCs over event times within 2 years were reported. The model demonstrating the best numerical performance during the internal validation step was retrained using the full data set with appropriately selected tuning parameters. These models were then further

Train respective ML model with the chosen set of tuning parameters; do it for each ML model separately.

Obtain the corresponding test set prediction using the respective trained model.

Calculate classification metrics (eg, survival AUC) based on Youden index-based cutoff.

Select the "*best*" performing ML model among 17 competing algorithms with respect to the stacked test results based on LOOCV runs.

evaluated on 2 independent validation sets: 1 for each treatment arm (7+3, n_1 =14; ven/aza, n_2 =30 patients with AML) treated at the University of Colorado Hospital. Adversarial validation, utilizing a generalized linear model with a logit link function, was used to assess potential data drift between the training and validation sets. SMDs were computed, and the predictive performance of the models on the validation sets was reported. For out-of-sample patients, predicted probabilities were reported along with 95% percentile-based confidence bands, derived from 300 nonparametric bootstrap runs. As the primary aim of the study was to develop treatment-specific prognostic models, we did not apply multiple testing corrections for type I errors.



Figure 2. The processes for development of models, optimum model selection, validation, prediction, and uncertainty quantification for a newly diagnosed patient with AML. AML: acute myeloid leukemia; ML: machine learning.

- i : Subscript defines a machine learning (ML) model
- j : Superscript defines an iteration or a subject; j = 1, ..., N
- b : Subscript denotes a bootstrap sample; $b = 1, \dots, B$
- $(\boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{X}})$: Observed data

 $X \subseteq \mathcal{X}$: Features used in the respective ML model

(y^(j), X^(j)): Observed data leaving *j*th instance out

 Λ_i : Set of tuning parameters corresponding to *i*th model

 $f_i^{(j)}$: *i*th trained model at *j*th iteration

 \hat{f}_i^j : Predicted probability for *j*th test case with respect to *i*th model

 (y^*, X^*) : Observed data for external validation; superscript * denotes such independent set with size N^*

 X^{\P} : Covariates for a newly diagnosed patient with unknown response

 $\widehat{f}_{\overline{\lambda}_{k-1}}^{1}$: lphath percentile of B bootstrap-based predicted probabilities



Results

Statistical Learning–Based Comparison of Ven/Aza and 7+3 During the First 30 Days of Treatment

Summary statistics for the 7+3 and ven/aza cohorts are presented in Tables S1-S5 in Multimedia Appendix 1. Ven/aza patients were older (median age 72 years, IQR 66-78 years; range 22-90 years) and had more comorbidities and high-risk AML features compared with 7+3 patients (median age 53 years, IQR 41-59 years; range 20-75 years), as previously described [54]. The ven/aza cohort had a higher prevalence of patients with an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group score of 2 (15/59, 25%) compared with the 7+3 cohort (1/31, 3%). Various diagnostic criteria, including demographic features, comorbidities, laboratory values, and AML pathology characteristics, were associated with OS for both the ven/aza cohort (Figure S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1) and the 7+3 cohort (Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1, "Diagnostic criteria"), consistent with findings described previously [10]. Specific covariates showing notable negative associations (aHR>1) for the ven/aza cohort included prior myelodysplastic syndrome (aHR 1.09, 95% CI 1.03-1.16), prior coagulopathy (aHR 1.12, 95% CI 1.05-1.20), abnormal white blood cell (WBC) count (aHR 1.05, 95% CI 1.00-1.10), blasts >20% (aHR 1.13, 95% CI 1.06-1.22), abnormal platelet count (aHR 1.09, 95% CI 1.04-1.14), elevated uric acid (aHR 1.10, 95% CI 1.03-1.18), high lactate dehydrogenase (aHR 1.14, 95% CI 1.09-1.19), poor cytogenetic risk (aHR 1.12, 95% CI 1.07-1.17), flow cytometry–based CD7 expression (aHR 1.21, 95% CI 1.14-1.28), CD34 expression

XSL•FO RenderX

(aHR 1.06, 95% CI 1.01-1.11), CD38 expression (aHR 1.08, 95% CI 1.02-1.14), and CD11b expression (aHR 1.07, 95% CI 1.01-1.12). Multivariable analyses for the 7+3 cohort revealed similar effects in terms of direction for abnormal WBC, platelet count, uric acid, creatinine, lactate dehydrogenase, poor cytogenetic risk, myeloperoxidase (MPO), and isocitrate dehydrogenase 2 (IDH2). However, more pronounced adverse effects were observed for the ELN-2017-based adverse risk subgroup (aHR 1.06, 95% CI 1.01-1.12), EGR1 mutation (aHR 1.14, 95% CI 1.07-1.22), and runt-related transcription factor (RUNX; aHR 1.07, 95% CI 1.01-1.13). For more details, see Figures S2 and S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1. The direction of effects was reversed for CBFB and NPM1 between the ven/aza and 7+3 treatment cohorts (Table S13 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Variables indicating genetic abnormalities are detailed in Table S11 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

To determine whether features occurring after diagnosis and the initiation of treatment influenced long-term outcomes, we evaluated the associations between OS and factors such as toxicities, hospital events, transfusions, and short-term disease responses for both treatments separately. A summary of CTCAE toxicities, transfusions, and hospital events, including intensive care unit (ICU) transfers and readmission instances for the 2 treatment cohorts, is provided in Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

For toxicities occurring after the initiation of treatment, grade \geq 3 anemia (aHR 1.12, 95% CI 1.05-1.18) and grade \geq 4 thrombocytopenia (aHR 1.11, 95% CI 1.06-1.16) were associated with worse OS in the ven/aza group, as observed in both multivariable and univariate analyses (Figure 3, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment"; Figure S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Elevated aspartate aminotransferase was also linked to worse OS (aHR 1.20, 95% CI 1.12-1.28) in the ven/aza group (Figure 3), but this association was not found in the 7+3group, according to both univariate and multivariable analyses (Figures S4 and 5A in Multimedia Appendix 1). Creatinine grade ≥ 2 in the first 30 days of treatment was associated with worse OS in the 7+3 group, with an aHR of 1.10 (95% CI 1.01-1.20), as seen in both multivariable (Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment start") and univariate analyses (Figure S5B in Multimedia Appendix 1). By contrast, this association appeared weaker in the ven/aza group (Figure 3, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment start"; Figure S5B in Multimedia Appendix 1). Despite this, worse OS was linked to chronic kidney disease (CKD) grade ≥ 3 in the ven/aza group, with a multivariable model-based aHR of 1.10 (95% CI 1.00-1.21; Figure 3, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment start"). A similar trend was observed in the 7+3 group (Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment start"). The kinetics of developing CKD differed significantly between ven/aza and 7+3 treatments (Figure S5C in Multimedia Appendix 1). In the ven/aza cohort, CKD was present at diagnosis or developed quickly, with a CIF of approximately 68% at 50 days. By contrast, CKD developed more gradually within the 7+3 cohort, showing a CIF of about 28% at 50 days. There was a trend toward worse outcomes associated with

developing ejection fraction toxicity of grade ≥ 1 for the ven/aza group, although the patient numbers were small (Figure 3, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment start"). For the 7+3 group, no significant association was found between ejection fraction grade ≥ 1 and OS (aHR 1.02, 95% CI 0.95-1.09; Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment start"). However, both treatment groups developed progressively higher proportions of patients with ejection fraction toxicity grade >1 during the first 30 days of treatment and beyond, at roughly equal rates (Figure S5D in Multimedia Appendix 1). Febrile neutropenia, a common complication of AML therapy, did not show a clear association with OS in either treatment cohort. The aHRs were 1.01 (95% CI 0.96-1.06) for the ven/aza group and 1.02 (95% CI 0.95-1.09) for the 7+3 cohort, indicating no significant effect either by multivariable analysis (Figure 3, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment start" and Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment start"), or by univariate analysis (Figure S5E in Multimedia Appendix 1). Interestingly, for the 7+3 regimen, grade \geq 4 neutrophils (CIF ~100% at 50 days) and grade \geq 3 febrile neutropenia (CIF ~75%) at 50 days) occurred at high levels. By contrast, for the ven/aza cohort, there was a much lower rate of febrile neutropenia (CIF ~25% at 50 days) over time, despite a nearly universal incidence of neurophils (Figure S5F in Multimedia Appendix 1).

For transfusions occurring after the initiation of treatment, Kaplan-Meier analysis revealed that a higher number of platelet and red blood cell transfusions were associated with poorer outcomes in the 7+3 group. This association was evident in both univariate (Figure S5G and S5H in Multimedia Appendix 1) and multivariable analyses (Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment start" and Figure 3, "Toxicity within the first 30 days of treatment start"). Specifically, in the 7+3 cohort, the corresponding aHR indicated negative association with more than 5 platelet transfusions (aHR 1.11, 95% CI 1.06-1.18). This association was less pronounced in the ven/aza group. For hospital events occurring after the initiation of treatment, ICU transfer during the induction period was a particularly poor prognostic feature for patients receiving the 7+3 treatment, with an aHR of 1.18 (95% CI 1.10-1.28) indicating worse outcomes (Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1, "Events during initial admission," and Figure S5I in Multimedia Appendix 1). By contrast, there was no significant association between ICU transfer following ven/aza treatment and OS during the initial admission (Figure 3, "Events during initial admission"). However, if a patient was discharged and then readmitted to the hospital within the first month of treatment, ICU admission during the readmission was a poor prognostic feature for those treated with ven/aza, with an aHR of 1.24 (95% CI 1.12-1.37; Figure 3, "events after discharge"). For the 7+3 group, initial admissions lasting more than 35 days were associated with worse outcomes (aHR 1.11, 95% CI 1.04-1.18; Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1, "Events during initial admission"). Similarly, for the ven/aza cohort, admissions lasting more than 10 days were associated with poorer outcomes (aHR 1.06, 95% CI 1.02-1.11; Figure 3, "Events during initial admission").

 $XSI \bullet F($

Islam et al

Figure 3. Adjusted hazard ratios (aHRs) for predictors of overall survival for the ven/aza cohort corresponding to events occurring during the first \sim 30 days of therapy. Reported are the aHRs (vertical tick) and bootstrap-based 95% CIs (horizontal line). "Reference features" correlating with a better outcome are to the right and "Label features" with a better outcome are to the left. The number of patients who died relative to the subset of patients with each feature is summarized at the far left. The table includes findings during the first 30 days and outcomes at the Day₁₅₋₅₅ bone marrow biopsy assessment at the bottom. Day₁₅₋₅₅ is defined as the day (or days) between 15 and 55 days from the initiation of treatment when bone marrow biopsy, blood test, and clinical evaluation are conducted to assess response. Different symbols for aHRs were used to differentiate the values between different types of variables. ALT: alkaline phosphatase; ANC: absolute neutrophil count; AST: aspartate transaminase; CKD: chronic kidney disease; CR: complete remission; CRi: complete remission with incomplete hematologic recovery; ICU: intensive care unit; LDH: lactate dehydrogenase; LOS: length of stay; MLFS: morphologic leukemia-free state; RBC: red blood cell; SD: stable disease; ven/aza: venetoclax plus azacitidine; WBC: white blood cell.



Next, associations between OS and patient assessments around day 30 (ie, Day₁₅₋₅₅) after treatment initiation were analyzed. Tables S3-S5 in Multimedia Appendix 1 provide a summary of follow-up patient laboratory values, biomarkers, and AML responses assessed at Day₁₅₋₅₅ for both ven/aza- and 7+3-treated patients, respectively. At the Day₁₅₋₅₅ assessment, the ven/aza cohort exhibited lower levels of alanine aminotransferase. aspartate aminotransferase, neutrophils, fibrinogen, lymphocytes, and WBC compared with that of the 7+3 cohort, with SMDs greater than 0.40 (Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Platelets and hemoglobin levels were also lower in the ven/aza cohort at the Day₁₅₋₅₅ assessment, but these differences were clinically inconsequential. Summary statistics for AML-related responses are provided in Table S5 in Multimedia

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54740
```

XSL•FO

Appendix 1. Notably, a lower proportion of ven/aza patients achieved CR at Day_{15-55} (61/111, 55% for 7+3 vs 9/91, 10% for ven/aza). Conversely, a higher proportion of ven/aza patients were in CRi and MLFS compared with those treated with 7+3 (Figure S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Patients who achieved CR or CRi at Day_{15-55} had better outcomes compared with those who did not, with an LR-based *P* value of <.001 (Figure S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1, top panel). This was also true for patients who proceeded to receive an alloSCT, with an LR-based *P* value of <.01 (Figure S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1, middle panel). Ven/aza-treated patients who achieved MLFS at Day_{15-55} did not have worse OS compared with those who achieved CR, with an aHR of 0.99 (95% CI 0.94-1.05). By contrast, MLFS at this time point for patients treated with 7+3 was associated

with worse outcomes than CR, with an aHR of 1.16 (95% CI 1.01-1.31). This difference was observed in both univariate (Figure S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1, bottom panel) and multivariable analyses (Figure 3, "Biomarker and labs associated with ~30-day follow-up bone marrow biopsy", and Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1, "Biomarker and labs associated with ~30-day follow-up bone marrow biopsy"). Findings of persistent leukemia in the marrow as detected by flow cytometry, cytogenetics, or fluorescence in situ hybridization were associated with worse outcomes for both treatment groups according to multivariable analysis (Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1, "Biomarker and labs associated with ~30-day follow-up bone marrow biopsy," and Figure 3, "Biomarker and labs associated with ~30-day follow-up bone marrow biopsy"). Summary statistics for genetics and phenotypic features are provided in Table S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1. Specific posttreatment covariates in the ven/aza cohort demonstrated substantial negative associations, with aHRs exceeding 1, including CD117 (aHR 1.07, 95% CI 1.03-1.12), CD11B (aHR 1.07, 95% CI 1.00-1.14), CD64 (aHR 1.16, 95% CI 1.09-1.23),

7 centromere (aHR 1.12, 95% CI 1.04-1.20), and EGR1 (aHR 1.14, 95% CI 1.05-1.23; Figure 3). Similarly, for the 7+3 patients' cohort, posttreatment covariates demonstrated inverse associations with OS, with aHRs exceeding 1. Significant negative associations were observed for cytogenetic poor risk (aHR 1.20, 95% CI 1.10-1.31), indeterminant risk (aHR 1.10, 95% CI 1.03-1.17), 8 centromere (aHR 1.22, 95% CI 1.11-1.35), EGR1 (aHR 1.14, 95% CI 1.06-1.22), and FLT3 (aHR 1.22, 95% CI 1.10-1.34; Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

For both treatments, the presence of >20% bone marrow blasts and >5% bone marrow blasts at the Day₁₅₋₅₅ time point were associated with very poor OS by univariate analysis (Figure 4). The corresponding aHRs of >20% blasts were 1.17 (95% CI 1.11-1.24) for the patients treated with ven/aza and 1.11 (95% CI 1.04-1.20) for the patients treated with 7+3. These findings highlight that early toxicities, treatment events, and short-term responses occurring within the first month after treatment initiation are associated with OS for both 7+3 and ven/aza. However, the impact and relevance of these features vary between the 2 treatment regimens.

Figure 4. Univariate analysis of blasts recorded at Day_{15-55} response assessment and long-term outcomes (7+3 left, ven/aza right). (A) >5% blasts and outcomes and (B) >20% blasts and outcomes. As described in the "Methods" section, Day_{15-55} is defined as a bone marrow biopsy and other clinical evaluation done within 15-55 days from the initiation of treatment and closest to day 30. *P* values are based on log-rank (LR), Tarone-Ware (TW), and Fleming-Harington (FH) tests. ven/aza: venetoclax plus azacitidine.





RenderX

Prospective Machine Learning Predictors of OS

To translate the statistical associations between events and responses occurring after the initiation of therapy into predictions that could be potentially applied to individual patients, we developed ML-based predictive models for OS utilizing 17 different ML algorithms based on these baseline and early posttreatment features (Table 1 and Table S12 in Multimedia Appendix 1). The modeling steps are illustrated in Figure 1, and an example of the model development process is shown in Figure 2. Detailed information on feature engineering, model specification, optimization, and final model selection is provided in the section titled "Technical Details" in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Table 1.	List o	of m	achine	learning	models.
		· · · · ·		rearring	

Model abbreviation	Method definition
RSF	Ensemble survival forest-random
RSB	Ensemble survival forest-bagging
Cox-Ridge	Cox regression with ridge penalty
Cox-LASSO	Cox regression with lasso penalty
Cox-Relaxed	Cox regression with relaxed lasso penalty
Cox-Elastic	Cox regression with elastic net penalty
Cox-adElastic	Cox regression with adaptive elastic net penalty
Cox-adSCAD	Cox regression with adaptive smoothly clipped absolute deviation (SCAD) penalty
Cox-adSNET	Cox regression with adaptive SCAD coupled with L2 penalty
Cox-adMCP	Cox regression with adaptive minimax concave penalty (MCP)
Cox-adMNET	Cox regression with adaptive MCP coupled with L2 penalty
Cox-Boost	Boosted Cox regression
AFT	Accelerated failure time with exponential, Weibull, and log-logistic error
CISF	Conditional inference survival forest
Deep-Surv	Cox regression with deep neural net
Deep-LogHaz	Discrete-time survival estimates by log hazard with neural net
Deep-Hit	Deep learning-based survival analysis relaxing distributional assumptions

Among all the models, Cox-Boost (Boosted Cox regression) and RSF achieved median cAUCs of 0.85 (90% CI 0.78-0.88) and 0.80 (90% CI 0.76-0.84) for the ven/aza and 7+3 cohorts, respectively (Tables 2 and 3). In an independent validation set consisting of 16 7+3 and 30 ven/aza patients, median cAUCs of 0.71 and 0.68 were observed for the ven/aza and 7+3 cohorts, respectively (Table 4). DL models resulted in less optimal performance, primarily due to the small sample size and their susceptibility to noise variables. A comparative analysis highlighting the drift between the training and validation cohorts was conducted, with details provided in Tables S6-S9 in Multimedia Appendix 1. These tables cover laboratory values (Table S6 in Multimedia Appendix 1), phenotypic features (Table S7 in Multimedia Appendix 1), genetic biomarkers (Table S8 in Multimedia Appendix 1), and clinical events (Table S9 in Multimedia Appendix 1). For a test patient, the selected ML models were used to generate patient-specific survival probabilities. Figure 5 illustrates the features (top panel) and

predicted survival (bottom panel) probabilities for a representative patient randomly selected from the independent validation set. Similarly, subject-specific analyses were conducted for 2 additional patients randomly selected from the internal validation cohorts: 1 treated with ven/aza (Figure S6 in Multimedia Appendix 1) and 1 treated with 7+3 (Figure S7 in Multimedia Appendix 1). The selected models were retrained with 120 7+3 and 100 ven/aza patients for the ven/aza test subject and with 119 7+3 and 101 ven/aza patients for the 7+3 test subject. Although exploratory and limited by sample size, these analyses illustrate that ML predictors of OS can potentially be developed based on clinical events, early disease responses, and biomarkers for both ven/aza and 7+3 treatments. However, as with the statistical analyses, the models that perform optimally are likely to vary between ven/aza and 7+3 treatments. Therefore, they should be developed and validated on a treatment-specific basis.

Islam et al

Table 2. Machine learning models of overall survival for ven/aza-treated patients based on events occurring in the first 30 days of treatment and the Day15-55 follow-up assessment.^a

Overall survival (2 years) prognostic models ^b	Median cAUC ^c (5th-95th) ^d	Median iAUC ^e (5th-95th) ^d	C_t^{d}	Brier ^f	iBrier ^f
RSF	0.79 (0.71-0.86)	0.68 (0.66-0.76)	0.72	0.20	0.17
RSB	0.73 (0.64-0.82)	0.61 (0.60-0.63)	0.67	0.23	0.19
Cox-Ridge	0.82 (0.79-0.89)	0.66 (0.62-0.75)	0.72	0.20	0.17
Cox-LASSO	0.85 (0.78-0.89)	0.69 (0.60-0.72)	0.73	0.20	0.16
Cox-Relaxed	0.83 (0.77-0.88)	0.61 (0.59-0.68)	0.72	0.20	0.17
Cox-Elastic	0.83 (0.78-0.86)	0.63 (0.60-0.70)	0.72	0.20	0.17
Cox-adElastic	0.80 (0.76-0.89)	0.64 (0.60-0.72)	0.66	0.24	0.19
Cox-adSCAD	0.62 (0.58-0.72)	0.52 (0.52-0.53)	0.52	0.29	0.23
Cox-adSNET	0.78 (0.73-0.85)	0.65 (0.62-0.69)	0.66	0.23	0.19
Cox-adMCP	0.62 (0.51-0.66)	0.55 (0.54-0.56)	0.55	0.26	0.22
Cox-adMNET	0.78 (0.73-0.85)	0.65 (0.62-0.69)	0.66	0.23	0.20
Cox-Boost ^g	0.85 (0.78-0.88)	0.66 (0.61-0.74)	0.76	0.19	0.16
AFT-Exponential	≤0.50	0.62 (0.60-0.64)	0.73	0.19	0.16
AFT-Weibull	≤0.50	0.65 (0.64-0.66)	0.72	0.22	0.17
AFT-log-logistic	≤0.50	0.65 (0.64-0.66)	0.75	0.21	0.17
CISF	≤0.50	0.64 (0.61-0.65)	0.58	0.22	0.21
Deep-Surv	≤0.50	0.52 (0.52-0.53)	0.46	0.25	0.44
Deep-Hit	0.52 (≤0.50-0.55)	0.52 (0.51-0.52)	0.38	0.32	0.34
Deep-LogHaz	≤0.50	0.53 (0.53-0.54)	0.46	0.43	0.74

^aTime-dependent AUCs (ie, median cAUC and iAUC), time-dependent concordance (C) index and Brier score at 1 year, and integrated Brier score were reported. As described in the "Methods" section, Day_{15-55} is defined as a bone marrow biopsy and other clinical evaluation done within 15-55 days from the initiation of treatment.

^bSee Table 1 for models and method definitions.

^ccAUC: cumulative case dynamic control of receiver operative characteristics.

^dThe higher value (ie, close to 1) means better numerical performance.

^eiAUC: incident case dynamic control of receiver operative characteristics.

^fThe lower value (ie, close to 0) means better numerical performance.

^gThe selected final model for ven/aza.



Islam et al

Table 3. Machine learning models of overall survival for 7+3-treated patients based on events occurring in the first 30 days of treatment and the Day15-55 follow-up assessment.^a

Overall survival (2 years) prognostic models ^b	Median cAUC ^c (5th-95th) ^d	Median iAUC ^e (5th-95th) ^d	C_t^{d}	$\operatorname{Brier}_{t}^{\mathrm{f}}$	iBrier ^f
RSF ^g	0.80 (0.76-0.84)	0.71 (0.70-0.73)	0.74	0.12	0.16
RSB	0.78 (0.75-0.84)	0.71 (0.71-0.72)	0.73	0.13	0.15
Cox-Ridge	0.80 (0.75-0.86)	0.70 (0.69-0.73)	0.71	0.11	0.17
Cox-LASSO	0.71 (0.67-0.83)	0.64 (0.63-0.65)	0.65	0.13	0.18
Cox-Relaxed	0.68 (0.61-0.73)	0.64 (0.63-0.65)	0.65	0.13	0.19
Cox-Elastic	0.73 (0.69-0.83)	0.65 (0.65-0.66)	0.67	0.12	0.18
Cox-adElastic	0.76 (0.70-0.79)	0.68 (0.67-0.68)	0.70	0.13	0.17
Cox-adSCAD	0.70 (0.44-0.73)	0.66 (0.66-0.67)	0.68	0.14	0.18
Cox-adSNET	0.71 (0.64-0.72)	0.66 (0.66-0.67)	0.68	0.13	0.17
Cox-adMCP	0.61 (0.47-0.65)	0.62 (0.61-0.62)	0.64	0.13	0.18
Cox-adMNET	0.71 (0.65-0.73)	0.66 (0.66-0.67)	0.68	0.13	0.17
Cox-Boost	0.70 (0.61-0.79)	0.63 (0.63-0.64)	0.64	0.13	0.18
AFT-Exponential	≤0.50	0.51 (0.50-0.51)	0.60	0.13	0.20
AFT-Weibull	≤0.50	0.53 (0.53-0.54)	0.57	0.14	0.20
AFT-log-logistic	≤0.50	0.57 (0.56-0.57)	0.60	0.14	0.20
CISF	≤0.50	0.63 (0.62-0.64)	0.61	0.13	0.23
Deep-Surv	≤0.50	0.58 (0.58-0.59)	0.39	0.15	0.44
Deep-Hit	0.55 (≤0.50-0.64)	≤0.50	0.53	0.14	0.59
Deep-LogHaz	≤0.50	0.61(0.60,0.61)	0.45	0.48	≥1.00

^aTime-dependent AUCs (ie, median cAUC and iAUC), time-dependent concordance (C) index and Brier score at 1 year, and integrated Brier score were reported. As described in the "Methods" section, Day_{15-55} is defined as a bone marrow biopsy and other clinical evaluation done within 15-55 days from the initiation of treatment.

^bSee Table 1 for models and method definitions.

^ccAUC: cumulative case dynamic control of receiver operative characteristics.

^dThe higher value (ie, close to 1) means better numerical performance.

^eiAUC: incident case dynamic control of receiver operative characteristics.

^fThe lower value (ie, close to 0) means better numerical performance.

^gSelected model for 7+3.

Table 4. Numerical performances of the chosen machine learning models for ven/aza^a and 7+3 on independent validation cohorts with respect to overall survival (≤ 2 years).

Treatment	Machine learning models	Median cAUC ^{b,c}	Median iAUC ^{b,d}	C_t^{b}	$\operatorname{Brier}_t^{\mathrm{e}}$	iBrier ^e
7+3 (n=14)	RSF ^f	0.71	0.69	0.66	0.19	0.21
ven/aza (n=30)	Cox-Boost ^f	0.68	0.64	0.66	0.29	0.23

^aven/aza: venetoclax plus azacitidine.

^bThe higher value (ie, close to 1) means better numerical performance.

^ccAUC: cumulative case dynamic control of receiver operative characteristics.

^diAUC: incident case dynamic control of receiver operative characteristics.

^eThe lower value (ie, close to 0) means better numerical performance.

^fSee Table 1 for models and method definitions.



Islam et al

Figure 5. Representative machine learning (ML)-based predictions for a patient chosen randomly from the validation cohort treated with ven/aza. Actual patient values are in the top boxes and the predicted overall survival probabilities along with 95% confidence bands based on the optimal ML models are depicted at the bottom. ALT: alkaline phosphatase; AML: acute myeloid leukemia; ANC: absolute neutrophil count; AST: aspartate transaminase; CKD: chronic kidney disease; CTCAE: Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events; FUP: follow-up; ICU: intensive care unit; LDH: lactate dehydrogenase; MDS: myelodysplastic syndrome; RBC: red blood cell; TX: treatment; ven/aza: venetoclax plus azacitidine; WBC: white blood cell.



Association Between Events Occurring During the First Year of Therapy and Overall Survival

As treatment events and responses in AML can evolve beyond the first month of treatment, we investigated associations between later disease responses and OS. Initially, we examined the association between the best response after the treatment

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54740

XSL•FO RenderX initiation and long-term OS. Among patients treated with 7+3, achieving CR as the best response correlated with a 4-year OS rate of approximately 60%. Conversely, achieving CRi, MLFS, or being nonresponsive (refractory) as the best responses correlated with an OS rate of approximately 25% or less. An LR–based *P* value <.001 indicated significant differences between survival curves (Figure 6A). In the ven/aza-treated

cohort, both CR and CRi were similarly associated with OS, whereas MLFS and nonresponses correlated with lower OS (Figure 6B). It is important to note that Kaplan-Meier survival curves might be influenced by alloSCT. For instance, out of 21

refractory 7+3 patients, 10 (48%) underwent alloSCT, potentially leading to an overestimation of the corresponding survival curve. By contrast, only 3 (18%) out of 17 refractory ven/aza patients underwent alloSCT.

Figure 6. Univariate Kaplan-Meier analysis of best response during the first 180 days' assessment and long-term outcomes with (A) 7+3 and (B) ven/aza.*P* values are based on log-rank (LR), Tarone-Ware (TW), and Fleming-Harington (FH) tests. CR: complete remission; CRi: complete remission with incomplete hematologic recovery; MLFS: morphologic leukemia-free state; ven/aza: venetoclax plus azacitidine.



Next, we examined the kinetics of achieving the best response in the 2 treatment groups. The pattern of reaching the best responses differed between the 7+3 and ven/aza groups (Figure

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54740

outcomes (Figure S8 in Multimedia Appendix 1). At the

population level, the 7+3 cohort quickly reached a relatively

XSL•FO RenderX

stable state by day 30 (Figure 7A). By contrast, the ven/aza cohort showed a continual evolution with conversions from CRi and MLFS to either CR or death (Figure 7B). The disease-state transition probabilities between days 30 and 365 also differed significantly between 7+3 (Figure 8A) and ven/aza (Figure 8B). Achieving CR (0.28; SE 0.05), CRi (0.37; SE 0.06), or MLFS (0.42; SE 0.07) around day 30 after ven/aza treatment showed similar probabilities of transitioning to mortality within a year. By contrast, CR (0.13; SE 0.03) and CRi (0.20; SE 0.05) had comparable transitioning rates to mortality for 7+3. Ven/aza patients with stable disease and progressive disease around day 30 had poorer OS, with 1-year mortality rates of 0.61 (SE 0.08) and 0.75 (SE 0.18), respectively. These observations contrast with that of 7+3, presumably because 7+3 patients were generally fit enough to undergo additional therapies aimed at disease control during this period. Similar observations were noted in disease-state transition probabilities between days 90-365 (Figure S9 in Multimedia Appendix 1) and days 180-365 (Figure S10 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Unlike the 7+3 subgroup, patients treated with ven/aza who achieved any disease state around 180 days had a higher likelihood of transitioning to mortality, with the highest probability observed for the relapse state (0.73; SE 0.16 for ven/aza and 0.54; SE 0.33 for 7+3). Specifically, patients in the MLFS disease state around 180 days transitioned more rapidly to mortality with ven/aza (0.37; SE 0.08) compared with 7+3 (0.14; SE 0.07; refer to Figure S10 in Multimedia Appendix 1). These results further confirm that associations with short- and long-term outcomes differ following ven/aza and 7+3 treatments. The kinetics of responses with ven/aza are notably more dynamic and occur over different time frames compared with those with 7+3. These observations underscore the necessity for distinct response criteria, maintenance strategies, and timing of measurements tailored to each therapy.

Figure 7. Overall trends in disease state changes during first year of treatment for (A) 7+3 and (B) ven/aza. CR: complete remission; CR: complete remission with incomplete hematologic recovery; MLFS: morphologic leukemia-free state; PD: progressive disease; SD: stable disease; ven/aza: venetoclax plus azacitidine.



Figure 8. Probabilities of transitions from treatment responses (y-axis) achieved by day 30 of treatment to states (x-axis) within 365 days following treatment for (A) 7+3-treated patients and (B) ven/aza-treated patients. The state transition probabilities are on the left panels and SEs are on the right. CR: complete remission; CR: complete remission with incomplete hematologic recovery; MLFS: morphologic leukemia-free state; PD: progressive disease; SD: stable disease; ven/aza: venetoclax plus azacitidine.



Discussion

Principal Findings

The main findings of this study indicate that various clinical events occurring during the first month of ven/aza treatment correlate with OS, distinct from outcomes following the 7+3 treatment. Achieving CR/CRi or MLFS around day 30 (ie, Day₁₅₋₅₅) after ven/aza treatment has a similar long-term prognostic impact, while failure to achieve MLFS around day 30 with 7+3 indicates poorer outcomes. We also identified clinical features such as bone marrow blasts >5%, flow cytometric and genetic detection of AML, and AML-related cytogenetic factors at reassessment as having negative prognostic impacts on OS. Based on these observations, detection of persistent leukemia in the bone marrow around day 30 following ven/aza treatment suggests consideration of alternative therapies. By contrast, achieving CR/CRi/MLFS around day 30 with minimal evidence of persistent leukemia

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54740
```

following ven/aza is associated with improved OS, indicating the benefit of continuing this treatment. However, we also found that failure to achieve CR/CRi by approximately day 180 after ven/aza initiation has negative implications for OS. This suggests that alternative therapies should be considered if the milestone of achieving CR/CRi by this time point is not met.

We also found that certain hospital events and toxicities occurring after the initiation of ven/aza treatment have prognostic implications, which differ from those seen with the 7+3 treatment. For instance, ICU admission during the initial ven/aza treatment was not associated with worse outcomes, whereas ICU transfer during the initial hospitalization for 7+3 was a poor prognostic factor. Additionally, grade \geq 4 thrombocytopenia and grade \geq 3 anemia were more pronounced as poor prognostic indicators for ven/aza compared with 7+3. The incidence of renal impairment was similar for both treatments; however, elevated creatinine, proteinuria, and CKD were associated with worse OS among patients treated with

XSL•FO RenderX
7+3, but less so among those treated with ven/aza. The progression of grade ≥ 1 ejection fraction toxicity over time was comparable between both treatment arms. While there is a well-known association between anthracyclines in the 7+3 regimen and cardiac toxicity, such an association has not been previously described for ven/aza. These associative findings, albeit based on small sample sizes, may warrant further investigation.

Prospective Predictive Models for AML Clinical Decision Support

To translate the statistical associations between events and outcomes following the initiation of AML therapy into patient-specific prognostic models, we developed predictive ML models independently for OS with ven/aza and 7+3 treatments. These models utilized baseline and early disease responses, biomarkers, and clinical events. Several models achieved relatively high AUCs of 0.80 and 0.85 in the internal validation step. However, in the independent validation phase, AUCs were lower at 0.71 and 0.68 for the 7+3 and ven/aza cohorts, respectively. This predictive discrepancy may stem from data drift, yet we tested the models to evaluate their performance on nonhomogeneous data. Although not ideal, we contend that such drifts are typical in real-world data sets. Nevertheless, these findings illustrate the feasibility of developing ML-based individual predictors using patient data that evolve. This capability allows clinical decision-making to adapt to individual changes in treatment side effects and responses. This effort contributes to an expanding body of research utilizing ML to predict outcomes in the treatment of AML and other hematologic malignancies [55-58]. For instance, Park et al [55] evaluated the prognostic performance of ELN genetic risk stratification models using unsupervised ML techniques and found suboptimal predictions for OS in older patients with AML, indicating a need for new risk models in this demographic. Karami et al [56] identified novel prognostic factors for survival in patients with AML, incorporating demographic and AML-specific features through ML approaches. Shaikh et al [57] developed a novel risk stratification model for patients with AML and RUNX1-RUNX1T1 using supervised machine learning models. This model assesses risk based on somatic mutations in Flt3, NRAS, and other genes. Lastly, Eckardt et al [58] conducted a review of various ML approaches for AML diagnosis, prognosis, and risk stratification, emphasizing their evolving and potentially impactful role in this specific disease area. To our knowledge, no prior predictive ML-based survival models with uncertainty quantification have been developed in the AML literature by exploiting both patient- and event-specific long-term dynamic features at this level of detail.

Limitations

Our study is limited by relatively small data sets, and our results require validation on larger data sets from diverse centers ensuring heterogeneity. Although we adjusted for high collinearity among variables, missingness, and overfitting, these issues need further careful consideration in larger external data sets. Additionally, our single-center data set consists of half real-world and half clinical trial data, which may potentially bias the results compared with more diverse population-based data sets. Lastly, any comparison between the 2 primary treatments, ven/aza and 7+3, is influenced by differences in patient demographics, comorbidities, and other inherent features. Ven/aza is currently approved only for older and unfit patients, whereas 7+3 is primarily used in younger and fitter patients. Additionally, 24 out of 101 ven/aza patients (23.8%) underwent at least one alloSCT after the initiation of treatment, whereas 79 out of 120 7+3 patients (65.8%) underwent at least one alloSCT. Survival curves in AML are affected by alloSCT, which can significantly impact OS and necessitate adjustments and modifications in ML modeling, a direction we plan to explore in future studies. Because of these complexities, the extent and direction of association with OS for confounding factors vary across the treatments we evaluated. However, our primary objective was not to establish causal treatment effectiveness by treating ven/aza as the treatment group and 7+3 as the control for which a classical propensity score-based or weighted method is recommended to ensure balances in data distributions between the 2 treatment arms. Instead, our primary objective was to separately explore the variations in data to assess whether treatment modifies the effects (ie, directions) of confounders on OS. Therefore, we treated 7+3 and ven/aza as effect modifiers and conducted "stratified" multivariable analyses, creating subgroups of patients treated with 7+3 and ven/aza [59]. This stratification approach minimizes the variation attributed to treatment differences significantly, and by accounting for the same set of potential confounders in both models, it enhances the comparability of results.

Conclusions

Despite these considerations, our results have highlighted significant clinical implications of posttreatment outcomes, clinical events, and toxicities on long-term outcomes and treatment decisions in AML, demonstrating differences between ven/aza and 7+3. Additionally, these observations suggest strong potential to develop ML-based predictive models which could ultimately offer crucial ongoing clinical decision support for patients and providers as toxicities, responses, and other events evolve dynamically throughout treatment cycles.

Acknowledgments

This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors. All statements in this report, including its findings and conclusions, are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the RefinedScience, its Board of directors, or the University of Colorado.



Data Availability

The raw, individual patient data are protected and not available due to data privacy laws. The processed data are available at reasonable request to the corresponding author.

Authors' Contributions

CS and NI designed the study and drafted the manuscript. JSR, JD, JWC, KS, and FRM processed and pulled the structured analytical data sets. JSR, JD, CS, and NI assessed the validity and quality of data. NI performed numerical analyses. CS, NI, CTJ, and JSR interpreted the results of the analyses. All authors reviewed, provided constructive comments, and agreed to its publication.

Conflicts of Interest

CS is an employee of and holds equity in OncoVerity, and is a consultant to RefinedScience. All other authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Additional pertinent results.

[DOCX File, 7134 KB - cancer_v10i1e54740_app1.docx]

References

- Premnath N, Madanat YF. Paradigm shift in the management of acute myeloid leukemia-approved options in 2023. Cancers (Basel) 2023 May 31;15(11):3002 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers15113002] [Medline: 37296964]
- Zeidan AM, Pollyea DA, Borate U, Vasconcelos A, Potluri R, Rotter D, et al. Venetoclax plus azacitidine compared with intensive chemotherapy as induction for patients with acute myeloid leukemia: retrospective analysis of an electronic medical record database in the United States. Ann Hematol 2023 Apr;102(4):749-754 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00277-023-05109-5] [Medline: 36732419]
- Bittencourt MCB, Ciurea SO. Recent advances in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2020 Sep;26(9):e215-e221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2020.06.007] [Medline: 32561339]
- 4. Blum WG, Mims AS. Treating acute myeloid leukemia in the modern era: a primer. Cancer 2020 Nov 01;126(21):4668-4677 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.32904] [Medline: 32767757]
- Chua CC, Roberts AW, Reynolds J, Fong CY, Ting SB, Salmon JM, et al. Chemotherapy and Venetoclax in Elderly Acute Myeloid Leukemia Trial (CAVEAT): a phase Ib dose-escalation study of venetoclax combined with modified intensive chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2020 Oct 20;38(30):3506-3517. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.20.00572] [Medline: 32687450]
- Pollyea DA, Amaya M, Strati P, Konopleva MY.. Venetoclax for AML: changing the treatment paradigm. Blood Adv. 2019;3(24):4326-4335. Blood Adv 2020 Mar 24;4(6):1020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020001769] [Medline: 32187375]
- DiNardo CD, Jonas BA, Pullarkat V, Thirman MJ, Garcia JS, Wei AH, et al. Azacitidine and venetoclax in previously untreated acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 2020 Aug 13;383(7):617-629. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa2012971</u>] [Medline: <u>32786187</u>]
- 8. Zimmer M, Kadia T. Approach to the older patient with acute myeloid leukemia. Curr Oncol Rep 2023 Nov;25(11):1203-1211. [doi: 10.1007/s11912-023-01450-0] [Medline: 37688738]
- DiNardo CD, Pratz K, Pullarkat V, Jonas BA, Arellano M, Becker PS, et al. Venetoclax combined with decitabine or azacitidine in treatment-naive, elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood 2019 Jan 03;133(1):7-17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-08-868752] [Medline: 30361262]
- Islam N, Reuben JS, Dale J, Gutman J, McMahon CM, Amaya M, et al. Machine learning-based exploratory clinical decision support for newly diagnosed patients with acute myeloid leukemia treated with 7 + 3 type chemotherapy or venetoclax/azacitidine. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2022 Sep;6:e2200030 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/CCI.22.00030] [Medline: 36194842]
- 11. Pollyea DA. Venetoclax in AML: where we are and where we are headed. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2020 Sep;20 Suppl 1:S25-S26. [doi: 10.1016/S2152-2650(20)30450-X] [Medline: 32862856]
- Aitken MJL, Ravandi F, Patel KP, Short NJ. Prognostic and therapeutic implications of measurable residual disease in acute myeloid leukemia. J Hematol Oncol 2021 Sep 03;14(1):137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13045-021-01148-5] [Medline: 34479626]
- Baron F, Labopin M, Ruggeri A, Sierra J, Robinson S, Labussière-Wallet H, et al. Impact of detectable measurable residual disease on umbilical cord blood transplantation. Am J Hematol 2020 Sep;95(9):1057-1065 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ajh.25879] [Medline: 32449964]
- 14. Bataller A, Oñate G, Diaz-Beyá M, Guijarro F, Garrido A, Vives S, Grupo Cooperativo Para el Estudio y Tratamiento de las Leucemias Agudas y Mielodisplasias (CETLAM). Acute myeloid leukemia with NPM1 mutation and favorable European

LeukemiaNet category: outcome after preemptive intervention based on measurable residual disease. Br J Haematol 2020 Oct;191(1):52-61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/bjh.16857] [Medline: 32510599]

- Bernasconi P, Borsani O. Eradication of measurable residual disease in AML: a challenging clinical goal. Cancers (Basel) 2021 Jun 25;13(13):13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers13133170] [Medline: 34202000]
- Buccisano F, Palmieri R, Piciocchi A, Maurillo L, Del Principe MI, Paterno G, et al. Use of Measurable Residual Disease to Evolve Transplant Policy in Acute Myeloid Leukemia: A 20-Year Monocentric Observation. Cancers (Basel) 2021 Mar 03;13(5):1083 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers13051083] [Medline: 33802502]
- 17. Gilleece MH, Shimoni A, Labopin M, Robinson S, Beelen D, Socié G, et al. Measurable residual disease status and outcome of transplant in acute myeloid leukemia in second complete remission: a study by the acute leukemia working party of the EBMT. Blood Cancer J 2021 May 12;11(5):88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41408-021-00479-3] [Medline: 33980810]
- Guolo F, Di Grazia C, Minetto P, Raiola AM, Clavio M, Miglino M, et al. Pre-transplant minimal residual disease assessment and transplant-related factors predict the outcome of acute myeloid leukemia patients undergoing allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Eur J Haematol 2021 Nov;107(5):573-582. [doi: 10.1111/ejh.13694] [Medline: 34297437]
- Kim H, Kim Y, Kang D, Kim HS, Lee J, Kim M, et al. Prognostic value of measurable residual disease monitoring by next-generation sequencing before and after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood Cancer J 2021 Jun 04;11(6):109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41408-021-00500-9] [Medline: 34088902]
- 20. Konuma T, Kondo T, Masuko M, Shimizu H, Shiratori S, Fukuda T, Adult Acute Myeloid Leukemia Working Group of the Japan Society for Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation. Prognostic value of measurable residual disease at allogeneic transplantation for adults with core binding factor acute myeloid leukemia in complete remission. Bone Marrow Transplant 2021 Nov;56(11):2779-2787. [doi: 10.1038/s41409-021-01409-4] [Medline: 34272486]
- Kövy P, Őrfi Z, Bors A, Kozma A, Gopcsa L, Dolgos J, et al. Nucleophosmin1 and isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 as measurable residual disease markers in acute myeloid leukemia. PLoS One 2021;16(6):e0253386 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0253386] [Medline: 34153064]
- 22. Percival M, Wang H, Zhang M, Saber W, de Lima M, Litzow M, et al. Impact of depth of clinical response on outcomes of acute myeloid leukemia patients in first complete remission who undergo allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 2021 Sep;56(9):2108-2117. [doi: 10.1038/s41409-021-01261-6] [Medline: 33864019]
- Rautenberg C, Lauseker M, Kaivers J, Jäger P, Fischermanns C, Pechtel S, et al. Prognostic impact of pretransplant measurable residual disease assessed by peripheral blood WT1-mRNA expression in patients with AML and MDS. Eur J Haematol 2021 Aug;107(2):283-292. [doi: 10.1111/ejh.13664] [Medline: 33987857]
- 24. Rossi G, Giambra V, de Waure C, Giacchetta I, Minervini MM, Abbenante MC, et al. Log reduction of leukemic cells and minimal residual disease by flow cytometry represent effective predictors of clinical outcome in elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Cytometry B Clin Cytom 2022 Jan;102(1):26-33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cyto.b.22010] [Medline: 33983682]
- 25. Shang L, Cai X, Sun W, Cheng Q, Mi Y. Time point-dependent concordance and prognostic significance of flow cytometry and real time quantitative PCR for measurable/minimal residual disease detection in acute myeloid leukemia with t(8;21)(q22;q22.1). Cytometry B Clin Cytom 2022 Jan;102(1):34-43. [doi: 10.1002/cyto.b.22028] [Medline: 34232569]
- 26. Tiong IS, Dillon R, Ivey A, Teh T, Nguyen P, Cummings N, et al. Venetoclax induces rapid elimination of NPM1 mutant measurable residual disease in combination with low-intensity chemotherapy in acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol 2021 Mar;192(6):1026-1030 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/bjh.16722] [Medline: 32458446]
- 27. Yu S, Fan Z, Ma L, Wang Y, Huang F, Zhang Q, et al. Association between measurable residual disease in patients with intermediate-risk acute myeloid leukemia and first remission, treatment, and outcomes. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Jul 01;4(7):e2115991 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.15991] [Medline: 34232303]
- Zheng W, Hu Y, Guan L, Peng B, Wang S. The effect of the detection of minimal residual disease for the prognosis and the choice of post-remission therapy of intermediate-risk acute myeloid leukemia without FLT3-ITD, NPM1 and biallelic CEBPA mutations. Hematology 2021 Dec;26(1):179-185. [doi: 10.1080/16078454.2021.1880753] [Medline: 33594943]
- 29. Byrne M, Danielson N, Sengsayadeth S, Rasche A, Culos K, Gatwood K, et al. The use of venetoclax-based salvage therapy for post-hematopoietic cell transplantation relapse of acute myeloid leukemia. Am J Hematol 2020 Sep;95(9):1006-1014 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ajh.25859] [Medline: 32390196]
- 30. Daneshbod Y, Kohan L, Taghadosi V, Weinberg OK, Arber DA. Prognostic significance of complex karyotypes in acute myeloid leukemia. Curr Treat Options Oncol 2019 Feb 11;20(2):15. [doi: 10.1007/s11864-019-0612-y] [Medline: 30741367]
- Kongtim P, Hasan O, Perez JMR, Varma A, Wang SA, Patel KP, et al. Novel disease risk model for patients with acute myeloid leukemia receiving allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2020 Jan;26(1):197-203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2019.09.006] [Medline: 31518645]
- 32. Kongtim P, Parmar S, Milton DR, Perez JMR, Rondon G, Chen J, et al. Impact of a novel prognostic model, hematopoietic cell transplant-composite risk (HCT-CR), on allogeneic transplant outcomes in patients with acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome. Bone Marrow Transplant 2019 Jun;54(6):839-848 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41409-018-0344-9] [Medline: 30258129]

- Moors I, Vandepoele K, Philippé J, Deeren D, Selleslag D, Breems D, et al. Clinical implications of measurable residual disease in AML: review of current evidence. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2019 Jan;133:142-148. [doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2018.11.010] [Medline: 30661650]
- Maiti A, DiNardo CD, Wang SA, Jorgensen J, Kadia TM, Daver NG, et al. Prognostic value of measurable residual disease after venetoclax and decitabine in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood Adv 2021 Apr 13;5(7):1876-1883 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020003717] [Medline: 33792630]
- 35. Döhner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, Amadori S, Appelbaum FR, Büchner T, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood 2017 Jan 26;129(4):424-447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-08-733196] [Medline: 27895058]
- 36. Division of cancer treatment and diagnosis. National Cancer Institute Division of Cancer Treatment and Diagnosis. URL: https://ctep.cancer.gov/protocoldevelopment/electronic_applications/ctc.htm [accessed 2023-10-18]
- Benicio MTDL, Ribeiro AFT, Américo AD, Furtado FM, Glória AB, Lima AS, et al. Evaluation of the European LeukemiaNet recommendations for predicting outcomes of patients with acute myeloid leukemia treated in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC): a Brazilian experience. Leuk Res 2017 Sep;60:109-114. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.leukres.2017.07.005</u>] [Medline: <u>28777950</u>]
- 38. Datta S, Satten GA. Estimating future stage entry and occupation probabilities in a multistage model based on randomly right-censored data. Statistics & Probability Letters 2000 Oct;50(1):89-95. [doi: 10.1016/s0167-7152(00)00086-9]
- Datta S, Satten GA. Validity of the Aalen–Johansen estimators of stage occupation probabilities and Nelson–Aalen estimators of integrated transition hazards for non-Markov models. Statistics & Probability Letters 2001 Dec 15;55(4):403-411. [doi: 10.1016/S0167-7152(01)00155-9]
- 40. Ferguson N, Brock G, Datta S. msSurv: an R Package for nonparametric estimation of multistate models. J Stat Soft 2012;50(14):1-24. [doi: 10.18637/jss.v050.i14]
- 41. Andersen P, Borgan O, Gill R, Keiding N. Statistical Models Based on Counting Processes. New York City, NY: Springer; 1995.
- 42. Simon N, Friedman J, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. Regularization paths for Cox's proportional hazards model via coordinate descent. J Stat Softw 2011 Mar;39(5):1-13. [doi: 10.18637/jss.v039.i05] [Medline: 27065756]
- 43. Xu L, Gotwalt C, Hong Y, King CB, Meeker WQ. Applications of the fractional-random-weight bootstrap. The American Statistician 2020 Apr 17;74(4):345-358. [doi: <u>10.1080/00031305.2020.1731599</u>]
- Ishwaran H, Kogalur UB, Blackstone EH, Lauer MS. Random survival forests. Ann Appl Stat 2008 Sep 1;2(3):841-860.
 [doi: <u>10.1214/08-aoas169</u>]
- 45. Hothorn T, Hornik K, Zeileis A. Unbiased recursive partitioning: a conditional inference framework. Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics 2006 Sep;15(3):651-674. [doi: <u>10.1198/106186006X133933</u>]
- 46. Sayehmiri K, Eshraghian MR, Mohammad K, Alimoghaddam K, Foroushani AR, Zeraati H, et al. Prognostic factors of survival time after hematopoietic stem cell transplant in acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients: Cox proportional hazard versus accelerated failure time models. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2008 Nov 23;27(1):74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1756-9966-27-74] [Medline: 19025609]
- 47. Benner A, Zucknick M, Hielscher T, Ittrich C, Mansmann U. High-dimensional Cox models: the choice of penalty as part of the model building process. Biom J 2010 Feb;52(1):50-69. [doi: 10.1002/binj.200900064] [Medline: 20166132]
- 48. Goeman JJ. L1 penalized estimation in the Cox proportional hazards model. Biom J 2010 Feb;52(1):70-84. [doi: 10.1002/bimj.200900028] [Medline: 19937997]
- 49. Song J, Chen Z, Huang D, Wu Y, Lin Z, Chi P, et al. Nomogram predicting overall survival of resected locally advanced rectal cancer patients with neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy. Cancer Manag Res 2020;12:7375-7382 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S255981] [Medline: 32884350]
- 50. Xiao N, Qing-Song X, Miao-Zhu L, Harrell F, Potapov S, Adler W. Benchmarking and visualization toolkit for penalized Cox models. GitHub. 2023 Apr 24. URL: <u>https://github.com/nanxstats/hdnom/blob/HEAD/R/hdnom.R</u> [accessed 2024-07-08]
- Katzman JL, Shaham U, Cloninger A, Bates J, Jiang T, Kluger Y. DeepSurv: personalized treatment recommender system using a Cox proportional hazards deep neural network. BMC Med Res Methodol 2018 Feb 26;18(1):24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-018-0482-1] [Medline: 29482517]
- Kvamme H, Borgan. Continuous and discrete-time survival prediction with neural networks. Lifetime Data Anal 2021 Oct;27(4):710-736 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10985-021-09532-6] [Medline: 34618267]
- 53. Lee C, Yoon J, Schaar MVD. Dynamic-DeepHit: a deep learning approach for dynamic survival analysis with competing risks based on longitudinal data. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2020 Jan;67(1):122-133. [doi: <u>10.1109/TBME.2019.2909027</u>] [Medline: <u>30951460</u>]
- Abbott D, Cherry E, Amaya M, McMahon C, Schwartz M, Winters A, et al. The propriety of upgrading responses to venetoclax + azacitidine in newly diagnosed patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma 2021 Jun;62(6):1466-1473. [doi: 10.1080/10428194.2020.1864358] [Medline: 33375853]
- 55. Park S, Kim TY, Cho B, Kwag D, Lee J, Kim M, et al. Prognostic value of European LeukemiaNet 2022 criteria and genomic clusters using machine learning in older adults with acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica 2024 Apr 01;109(4):1095-1106. [doi: 10.3324/haematol.2023.283606] [Medline: 37706344]

- Karami K, Akbari M, Moradi M, Soleymani B, Fallahi H. Survival prognostic factors in patients with acute myeloid leukemia using machine learning techniques. PLoS One 2021;16(7):e0254976 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0254976] [Medline: 34288963]
- 57. Shaikh AF, Kakirde C, Dhamne C, Bhanshe P, Joshi S, Chaudhary S, et al. Machine learning derived genomics driven prognostication for acute myeloid leukemia with RUNX1-RUNX1T1. Leuk Lymphoma 2020 Dec;61(13):3154-3160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10428194.2020.1798951] [Medline: 32757686]
- Eckardt J, Bornhäuser M, Wendt K, Middeke JM. Application of machine learning in the management of acute myeloid leukemia: current practice and future prospects. Blood Adv 2020 Dec 08;4(23):6077-6085 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020002997] [Medline: <u>33290546</u>]
- Corraini P, Olsen M, Pedersen L, Dekkers OM, Vandenbroucke JP. Effect modification, interaction and mediation: an overview of theoretical insights for clinical investigators. Clin Epidemiol 2017;9:331-338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S129728] [Medline: 28652815]

Abbreviations

AFT: accelerated failure time aHR: adjusted hazard ratio alloSCT: allogeneic stem cell transplantation AML: acute myeloid leukemia AUC: area under the curve **BMB:** bone marrow biopsy C: concordance cAUC: cumulative case dynamic control of receiver operative characteristics CDS: clinical decision support CIF: cumulative incidence function CKD: chronic kidney disease **CR:** complete remission CRi: complete remission with incomplete hematologic recovery CTCAE: Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events **CV:** cross-validation DL: deep learning ELN: European Leukemia Net eNet: elastic-net iAUC: incident case dynamic control of receiver operative characteristics ICU: intensive care unit LOOCV: leave-one-out-cross-validation M: median MCP: minimax concave penalty ML: machine learning MLFS: morphologic leukemia-free state MRD: minimal residual disease NCCN: National Comprehensive Cancer Network **OS:** overall survival PD: progressive disease PH: proportional hazard **RBC:** red blood cell **ROC:** receiver operative characteristic **RSF:** random survival forest RUNX: runt-related transcription factor SCAD: smoothly clipped absolute deviation ven/aza: venetoclax plus azacitidine WBC: white blood cell



Edited by N Cahill; submitted 20.11.23; peer-reviewed by Z Su, W Wei; comments to author 06.02.24; revised version received 12.03.24; accepted 08.07.24; published 21.08.24. <u>Please cite as:</u> Islam N, Reuben JS, Dale J, Coates JW, Sapiah K, Markson FR, Jordan CT, Smith C Predictive Models for Long Term Survival of AML Patients Treated with Venetoclax and Azacitidine or 7+3 Based on Post Treatment Events and Responses: Retrospective Cohort Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e54740 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e54740 doi:10.2196/54740 PMID:

©Nazmul Islam, Jamie S Reuben, Justin Dale, James W Coates, Karan Sapiah, Frank R Markson, Craig T Jordan, Clay Smith. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 21.08.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Machine Learning Approach for Predicting Biochemical Outcome After PSMA-PET–Guided Salvage Radiotherapy in Recurrent Prostate Cancer After Radical Prostatectomy: Retrospective Study

Ali Janbain¹, PhD; Andrea Farolfi², MD; Armelle Guenegou-Arnoux¹, MSc, PHD; Louis Romengas¹, MSc; Sophia Scharl³, MD; Stefano Fanti², MD; Francesca Serani², MD; Jan C Peeken⁴, MD; Sandrine Katsahian¹, PHD; Iosif Strouthos⁵, MD; Konstantinos Ferentinos⁵, MD; Stefan A Koerber⁶, MD; Marco E Vogel⁴, MD; Stephanie E Combs⁴, MD; Alexis Vrachimis⁵, MD; Alessio Giuseppe Morganti⁷, MD; Simon KB Spohn⁸, MD; Anca-Ligia Grosu⁸, MD; Francesco Ceci⁹, MD; Christoph Henkenberens¹⁰, MD; Stephanie GC Kroeze¹¹, MD; Matthias Guckenberger¹¹, MD; Claus Belka¹², MD; Peter Bartenstein¹³, MD; George Hruby¹⁴, MD; Louise Emmett¹⁵, MD; Ali Afshar Omerieh¹⁶, MD; Nina-Sophie Schmidt-Hegemann¹⁷, MD; Lucas Mose¹⁸, MD; Daniel M Aebersold¹⁸, MD; Constantinos Zamboglou⁵, MD; Thomas Wiegel³, MD; Mohamed Shelan¹⁸, MD

²Division of Nuclear Medicine, IRCCS Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria di Bologna, Bologna, Italy

⁶Department of Radiation Oncology, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany

- ⁸Department of Radiation Oncology, Medical Center–University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany
- ⁹Division of Nuclear Medicine, IEO European Institute of Oncology IRCCS, Milan, Italy

Corresponding Author:

Mohamed Shelan, MD Department of Radiation Oncology Inselspital, Bern University Hospital University of Bern Freiburgstrasse 10 Bern, 3010 Switzerland Phone: 41 41316322632 Email: mohamed.shelan@insel.ch

Abstract

Background: Salvage radiation therapy (sRT) is often the sole curative option in patients with biochemical recurrence after radical prostatectomy. After sRT, we developed and validated a nomogram to predict freedom from biochemical failure.

¹European Hospital Georges-Pompidou., Clinical research unit, INSERM Clinical Investigation Center., Paris Cité University, Paris, France

³Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

⁴Department of Radiation Oncology, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich (TUM), Munich, Germany

⁵Department of Radiation Oncology, German Oncology Center, University Hospital of the European University, Limassol, Cyprus

⁷Division of Radiation Oncology, IRCCS Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria di Bologna, Bologna, Italy

¹⁰Department of Radiotherapy and Special Oncology, Medical School Hannover, Hannover, Germany

¹¹Department of Radiation Oncology, University Hospital Zürich, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

¹²Department of Radiation Oncology, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany

¹³Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany

¹⁴Department of Radiation Oncology, Royal North Shore Hospital–University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

¹⁵Department of Theranostics and Nuclear Medicine, St Vincent's Hospital Sydney, Sydney, Australia

¹⁶Department of Nuclear Medicine, Inselspital, Bern University Hospital, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

¹⁷Department of Radiation Oncology KSA-KSB, Cantonal Hospital Aarau, Aarau, Switzerland

¹⁸Department of Radiation Oncology, Inselspital, Bern University Hospital, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

Objective: This study aims to evaluate prostate-specific membrane antigen–positron emission tomography (PSMA-PET)–based sRT efficacy for postprostatectomy prostate-specific antigen (PSA) persistence or recurrence. Objectives include developing a random survival forest (RSF) model for predicting biochemical failure, comparing it with a Cox model, and assessing predictive accuracy over time. Multinational cohort data will validate the model's performance, aiming to improve clinical management of recurrent prostate cancer.

Methods: This multicenter retrospective study collected data from 13 medical facilities across 5 countries: Germany, Cyprus, Australia, Italy, and Switzerland. A total of 1029 patients who underwent sRT following PSMA-PET–based assessment for PSA persistence or recurrence were included. Patients were treated between July 2013 and June 2020, with clinical decisions guided by PSMA-PET results and contemporary standards. The primary end point was freedom from biochemical failure, defined as 2 consecutive PSA rises >0.2 ng/mL after treatment. Data were divided into training (708 patients), testing (271 patients), and external validation (50 patients) sets for machine learning algorithm development and validation. RSF models were used, with 1000 trees per model, optimizing predictive performance using the Harrell concordance index and Brier score. Statistical analysis used R Statistical Software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing), and ethical approval was obtained from participating institutions.

Results: Baseline characteristics of 1029 patients undergoing sRT PSMA-PET–based assessment were analyzed. The median age at sRT was 70 (IQR 64-74) years. PSMA-PET scans revealed local recurrences in 43.9% (430/979) and nodal recurrences in 27.2% (266/979) of patients. Treatment included dose-escalated sRT to pelvic lymphatics in 35.6% (349/979) of cases. The external outlier validation set showed distinct features, including higher rates of positive lymph nodes (47/50, 94% vs 266/979, 27.2% in the learning cohort) and lower delivered sRT doses (<66 Gy in 57/979, 5.8% vs 46/50, 92% of patients; *P*<.001). The RSF model, validated internally and externally, demonstrated robust predictive performance (Harrell C-index range: 0.54-0.91) across training and validation datasets, outperforming a previously published nomogram.

Conclusions: The developed RSF model demonstrates enhanced predictive accuracy, potentially improving patient outcomes and assisting clinicians in making treatment decisions.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e60323) doi:10.2196/60323

KEYWORDS

cancer; oncologist; oncologist; metastases; prostate; prostate cancer; prostatectomy; salvage radiotherapy; PSMA-PET; prostate-specific membrane antigen–positron emission tomography; prostate-specific membrane antigen; PET; positron emission tomography; radiotherapy; radiology; radiography; machine learning; ML; artificial intelligence; AI; algorithm; algorithms; predictive model; predictive models; predictive analytics; predictive system; practical model; practical models; deep learning

Introduction

Prostate-specific antigen (PSA) is a protein produced by the prostate gland, and its levels in the blood are commonly used as a marker in the assessment of prostate health. PSA levels are measured using an immunoassay, and elevated levels can be indicative of prostate conditions including benign prostatic hyperplasia or prostate cancer. Biochemical recurrence (BR) refers to the increase in PSA levels after treatment; this occurs in approximately 15% to 25% of patients following radical prostatectomy (RP) for prostate cancer [1]. While BR does not invariably lead to metastatic progression and death, the risk significantly increases [2]. Salvage radiation therapy (sRT) offers these patients with localized disease a second chance at a cure [2-4]. Historically, prognostic nomograms by Stephenson et al [5] and Tendulkar et al [6] provided valuable insights into predicting outcomes after sRT. The Stephenson nomogram was developed on a cohort of patients with a median PSA value of 1.1 (IQR 0.6-2.2) ng/mL. In contrast, the Tendulkar nomogram included patients managed with ultrasensitive PSA assays, with a median pre-sRT PSA of 0.5 (IQR 0.3-1.1) ng/mL.

However, recent advances in imaging have rendered traditional recurrence prediction models obsolete. Prostate-specific membrane antigen–positron emission tomography (PSMA-PET) is a diagnostic tool that uses PSMA ligands to identify prostate cancer. PSMA, a surface protein highly expressed in prostate

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e60323
```

cancer cells, enables PSMA-PET to achieve exceptional sensitivity and specificity in detecting cancer recurrence [7,8]. This high precision allows for more tailored and effective radiotherapy planning. Both retrospective and prospective studies have demonstrated that integrating PSMA-PET data before sRT modifies the treatment strategy in approximately 30% to 50% of cases. [9,10]. This effect is evident even in patients undergoing early sRT with PSA levels below 0.5 ng/mL, as this group's detection rate is approximately 50% [10,11].

Machine learning (ML) algorithms are increasingly used to create prediction tools because they can swiftly process vast datasets. They have been demonstrated to outperform clinical experts in estimating patient survival in a cohort of patients with lung cancer [12]. Comparisons of outcome prediction models in other entities provided evidence that the reliability of ML-based tools may be superior to those generated by traditional nomograms [13,14]. Given these advancements, new risk models are needed to predict sRT outcomes in the PSMA-PET era.

In previous work from our group, we developed a nomogram to predict outcomes in patients with prostate cancer undergoing sRT after RP [15]. In this study, we present a ML-based random survival forest (RSF) model for risk prediction, using a substantial international dataset of patients who underwent PSMA-PET staging before sRT. We compared the prediction accuracy with our previously published nomogram. This study

represents the first prediction tool for PSMA-PET-staged patients using a ML-based method derived from a large international patient cohort.

Methods

Source of Data

Data for this study were contributed by 13 medical facilities across 5 different countries: Germany (n=6), Cyprus (n=1), Australia (n=3), Italy (n=1), and Switzerland (n=2). Each facility contributed between 20 and 175 patients to the cohort (for more details, see Multimedia Appendix 1). The participation of these institutions in this multicenter study was approved by the respective ethics committees. Reporting adhered to the STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) reporting guidelines (Multimedia Appendix 1). All ethics committees of the included institutions approved this study.

Participants

Patients who underwent open or laparoscopic RP and received PSMA-PET-based sRT for PSA persistence or recurrence (PSA levels ≥ 0.1 ng/ml postprostatectomy) were included in this study. Written informed consent was not required due to the retrospective nature of the investigation and by review board guidelines. Exclusion criteria involved distant metastases on PSMA-PET or computed tomography scan and initiation of androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) before PSMA-PET or computed tomography scan. A total of 1221 patients met the inclusion criteria and underwent sRT between July 1, 2013, and June 30, 2020. Out of these, 192 individuals were excluded: 141 individuals had insufficient clinical data, 47 individuals had no prostatic fossa in the sRT field, and 4 individuals had PSMA-PET-positive lesions outside the sRT field.

Consequently, 1029 patients with complete data participated in developing and validating the ML algorithm. A total of 50 patients' data were used for external validation, 708 patients' data were used for training, and 271 patients' data were used for testing.

No formal sample size was elaborated. All patients with inclusion criteria were supposed to be eligible for the analysis, and the number of participants was deemed relevant to developing ML algorithms.

Treatment and Follow-Up

Treating clinicians made clinical choices based on PSMA-PET results and current standards of care. The institutional clinical practice involved intensity-modulated, image-guided sRT to the prostatic fossa, occasionally with a concurrent integrated boost to local recurrence. Additional treatments, such as elective pelvic lymphatic radiation and ADT, were administered based on patient risk characteristics. Follow-up evaluations adhered to institutional clinical practices including periodic serum PSA testing and restaging for BR. BR was defined as 2 consecutive rising PSA values >0.2 ng/mL after treatment.

Predictors

Predictors were strictly the same as in the previous work from our group [15]. They included the International Society of Urological Pathology grade of the surgical specimen, pathological T stage (pT stage), resection status, PSA serum values before sRT, ADT use, dose in the prostate, persistence of PSA levels after surgery, and presence of pelvic lymph nodes or local recurrence before sRT. Based on clinical expertise, some variables with limited predictive value in previous studies were excluded from the analysis [6,16].

Statistical Analysis—Model Development and Validation

We used the RSF classifier for survival analysis, an extension of the random forests ML algorithms in a context of right-censored survival data, based on prior research demonstrating its efficacy in predicting freedom from biochemical failure (FFBF), defined as 2 consecutive PSA rises >0.2 ng/mL after treatment, after sRT [17]. We first separated the dataset into 2 parts: an external outlier validation dataset and a learning dataset.

The outlier validation dataset consisted of 50 patients from the most dissimilar center, which was selected based on a principal component analysis that excluded the center variable (see our previous published work [15]). This ensured that the validation dataset represented a more diverse range of patients than the learning dataset.

The remaining patients (979 patients in total) were used to develop 900 models. Indeed, we selected 30 seeds at random between 1 and 10,000 with uniform distribution. The seeds ensure different random splits of the data, while the uniform distribution avoids bias by giving each seed an equal chance of being chosen. For each seed, to provide an accurate assessment of RSF internal validity, we divided 30 times the learning dataset into training and internal validation datasets (ratio 75:25) with stratified random sampling for stratification factors (see eTable 4 in Supplement 1 in Zamboglou et al [15]), allowing the use of common attributes in the data to form strata before sampling, resulting in a more representative and general sample.

Each model resulted from an RSF that was grown using 1000 trees. Simultaneous optimizations of the number of trees in the forest and the number of predictors available to be selected from at each split were obtained by a grid search (100, 500, and 1000 for the number of trees; 1 to 8 for the number of predictors) with 10-fold cross-validation on the training dataset. The splitting rule was based on the logrank test. A random selection of split points is considered for each predictor.

Several metrics served to evaluate the predictive performances of each model. First, we used the Harrell concordance index (C-index) [18]. The higher the C-index, the better the discriminatory power of the model. The Harrell C-index was further classified according to the Altman Strength of Agreement [19]. Separate boxplots graphically represented the distribution of the predictive performances, in each dataset. We defined the model having the highest Harrell C-index on the internal validation dataset as our best RSF model. The corresponding seed for randomness is given.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e60323
```

Second, we added the Brier score, which served as a measure of both discrimination and calibration [20]. The lower the Brier score, the higher the predictive quality of the model. Minimal and maximal values (ie, range values) of the Harrell C-index and Brier score in the training, internal validation, and external outlier datasets were given separately.

The importance and relative importance values of the predictors were calculated. The relative importance provides a normalized measure, allowing for a comparison between predictors. The higher the value, the greater the importance of variables in the outcome prediction.

The Harrell C-index and Brier score of our best RSF model were measured at each time point between 12 and 85 months, with an interval of 1 month, in the training, internal validation, and external outlier validation datasets. To compare the prediction accuracy with our Cox proportional hazard model, previously published as a nomogram, we applied the latter at each time point, too. Results were displayed graphically, presenting the Harrell C-index and Brier score from our best RSF model and previous Cox proportional hazard model as a function of time. Minimal and maximal values (ie, range values) of the Harrell C-index and Brier score in the training, internal validation, and external outlier datasets were given separately.

All statistical analysis was conducted using R Statistical Software (version 4.2.1; R Foundation for Statistical Computing). Descriptive statistics are given by either range, median (IQR), or number (percentage in %), according to variable nature. Stratified random sampling was performed using the *Splitstackshape* package (version 1.4.8). The Fisher exact or chi-square test was used to compare clinical and treatment characteristics between different subdatasets. We used the *randomForestSRC* package (version 3.2.1) for RFS model training and *SurvMetrics* (version 0.5.0) for the Harrell C-index and Brier score. The importance and relative importance values of the predictors in the RSF were calculated using the *VIMP* function [21]. A 2-sided *P* value of <.05 was considered as the significance level.

Ethics Considerations

This study adhered to ethical standards across all recruiting centers, with ethical approval obtained from each institution involved. Given the retrospective nature of the study, informed consent was waived, as is permitted for studies involving secondary analysis of existing data. The primary data collection was conducted under the appropriate ethical guidelines, with the original informed consent covering the use of data for secondary analysis without requiring additional consent. To ensure privacy and confidentiality, all study data were deidentified, maintaining the anonymity of participants. No compensation was provided to participants in this study, reflecting the nature of the research and ensuring transparency in the process. The file number for ethical approval from Bern University Hospital is BE 2021-02294.

Results

Baseline Patient and Treatment Characteristics

In this study, we adopted the same formulation as previously published [15]. We analyzed the baseline patients and treatment characteristics of the entire cohort, which consisted of 1029 patients with a median age at sRT of 70 (IQR 64-74) years. For that publication, the cohort was already divided into a training set (n=708), an internal validation set (n=271), and an external outlier validation dataset (n=50), and these groups are summarized in Table 1.

Within the learning cohort (comprising the training and internal validation sets; n=979), most patients (n=610, 62.3%) had PSA serum values of 0.5 ng/mL or less before sRT. Locally recurrent disease detected by PET scan was present in 43.9% (n=430) of patients, while 27.2% (n=266) of patients had at least 1 positive pelvic lymph node on PET scan. Among the patients, 32.2% (n=315) of patients received ADT without any escalation of systemic therapy beyond ADT. The most commonly administered equivalent dose of 2 Gy per fraction (EQD2, α/β =1.6 Gy) to the prostatic fossa or locally recurrent disease was 66 to 70 Gy (n=547, 55.9% of patients).

PSMA-PET scans conducted before sRT revealed local recurrences in 43.9% (n=430) of patients and nodal recurrences in 27.2% (n=266) of patients. sRT to elective pelvic lymphatics was administered to 35.6% (n=349) of patients. All pelvic lymph node PETs received dose-escalated sRT; the most frequent dose (149/317, 56%) was 50 to 60 Gy (EQD2, α/β =1.6 Gy).

No significant difference in clinical and treatment characteristics was observed between the patients in the training and the internal validation cohorts (all P>.05; Table 2). However, the external outlier cohort exhibited distinct features, with no patients having negative PSMA-PET scans, significantly higher rates of complete resection (44/50, 88% vs 629/979, 64.2% of patients; P=.001), and a significantly greater proportion of patients with positive pelvic lymph nodes (47/50, 94% vs 266/979, 27.2% of patients; P<.001) as compared to the learning cohort (Table 3). Furthermore, the delivered dose to the prostatic fossa was significantly lower for the patients in the external outlier cohort than in the learning cohort (57/979, 5.8% vs 46/50, 92% of patients with a dose less than 66 Gy; P<.001).



Janbain et al

Table 1. Baseline treatment characteristics among training set, internal validation set, and external outlier validation set.

Characteristic	Total cohort (n=1029)	Training dataset (n=708)	Internal validation dataset (n=271)	External outlier valida- tion dataset (n=50)
Age at sRT ^a (years), median (IQR)	70 (64-74)	70 (64-74)	69 (63-74)	72.5 (68-76)
pT stage ^b , n (%)				
2	460 (44.7)	310 (43.8)	122 (45)	28 (56)
3a	327 (31.8)	230 (32.5)	86 (31.7)	11 (22)
3b	235 (22.8)	163 (23)	61 (22.5)	11 (22)
4	7 (0.7)	5 (0.7)	2 (0.7)	0 (0)
R status ^c in surgery, n (%)				
RO	673 (65.4)	448 (63.3)	181 (66.8)	44 (88)
R1	327 (31.8)	244 (34.5)	77 (28.4)	6 (12)
R2	3 (0.3)	1 (0.1)	2 (0.7)	0 (0)
Rx	26 (2.5)	15 (2.1)	11 (4.1)	0 (0)
ISUP ^d grade in surgery, n (%)				
1+2	371 (36.1)	254 (35.9)	101 (37.3)	16 (32)
3	324 (31.5)	226 (31.9)	84 (31)	14 (28)
4	156 (15.2)	102 (14.4)	44 (16.2)	10 (20)
5	178 (17.3)	126 (17.8)	42 (15.5)	10 (20)
PSA ^e persistence after surgery, n ((%)			
No	750 (72.9)	511 (72.2)	197 (72.7)	42 (84)
Yes	279 (27.1)	197 (27.8)	74 (27.3)	8 (16)
PSA (ng/mL) before sRT, n (%)				
0.01-0.2	246 (23.9)	178 (25.1)	63 (23.3)	5 (10)
>0.2-0.5	385 (37.4)	258 (36.4)	111 (41)	16 (32)
>0.5-1	172 (16.7)	122 (17.2)	41 (15.1)	9 (18)
>1	226 (22)	150 (21.2)	56 (20.7)	20 (40)
Local recurrence after PSMA-PE	Γ^f, n (%)			
No	592 (57.5)	396 (55.9)	153 (56.5)	43 (86)
Yes	437 (42.5)	312 (44.1)	118 (43.5)	7 (14)
Pelvic lymph nodes after PSMA-P	ET, n (%)			
No	716 (69.6)	507 (71.6)	206 (76)	3 (6)
Yes	313 (30.4)	201 (28.4)	65 (24)	47 (94)
Dose to the prostatic fossa (Gy ^g), r	n (%)			
<66	103 (10)	47 (6.6)	10 (3.7)	46 (92)
66-70	551 (53.6)	390 (55.1)	157 (57.9)	4 (8)
>70	375 (36.4)	271 (38.3)	104 (38.4)	0 (0)
sRT to elective pelvic lymphatics,	n (%)			
No	633 (61.6)	455 (64.4)	174 (64.2)	4 (8)
Yes	395 (38.4)	252 (35.6)	97 (35.8)	46 (92)
Dose to elective pelvic lymphatics	(Gy), n (%)			
<50	312 (30.3)	197 (27.8)	71 (26.2)	44 (100)
>50	47 (4.6)	34 (4.80)	13 (4.79)	0 (0)

RenderX

JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e60323 | p.803 (page number not for citation purposes)

Janbain et al

Characteristic	Total cohort (n=1029)	Training dataset (n=708)	Internal validation dataset (n=271)	External outlier valida- tion dataset (n=50)
Unknown	36 (3.5)	21 (3)	13 (4.8)	2 (4)
Irradiation to positive pelvic LN ^h	, n (%)			
No	712 (69.2)	505 (71.3)	204 (75.3)	3 (6)
Yes	317 (30.8)	203 (28.7)	67 (24.7)	47 (94)
Dose to positive pelvic LNs (Gy), a	n (%)			
<50	15 (1.5)	11 (1.6)	4 (1.5)	0 (0)
50-60	149 (13.5)	113 (16)	36 (13.3)	0 (0)
>60	128 (12.4)	63 (8.9)	20 (7.4)	45 (90)
Unknown	25 (2.4)	16 (2.3)	7 (2.6)	2 (4)
ADT ⁱ , n (%)				
No	704 (68.4)	475 (67.1)	189 (69.7)	40 (80)
Yes	325 (31.6)	233 (32.9)	82 (30.3)	10 (20)
Duration of ADT admission (mon	ths), n (%)			
<6	65 (23.1)	50 (24.4)	15 (22.7)	0 (0)
6-12	110 (39.2)	79 (38.5)	24 (36.4)	7 (70)
>12-24	57 (20.3)	39 (19.0)	18 (27.3)	0 (0)
>24	49 (17.4)	37 (18.1)	9 (13.6)	3 (30)
Unknown	44 (4.3)	28 (4.0)	16 (5.9)	0 (0)

^asRT: salvage radiation therapy.

^bpT stage: pathological T stage.

^cR status: residual disease status.

^dISUP: International Society of Urological Pathology.

^ePSA: prostate-specific antigen.

^fPSMA-PET: prostate-specific membrane antigen-positron emission tomography.

^gGy: gray (a unit of radiation dose).

^hLN: lymph node.

ⁱADT: androgen deprivation therapy.



Table 2. Comparison between training cohort and internal outlier validation datasets (P value based on Fisher exact or chi-square test).

1	0		1 /
Covariate, n (%)	Training dataset (n=708), n (%)	Internal validation dataset (n=271), n (%)	P value
pT stage ^a			.94
pT2	310 (43.8)	122 (45)	
pT3a	230 (32.5)	86 (31.7)	
pT3b+pT4	168 (23.7)	63 (23.3)	
R status ^b			.31
R0	448 (63.3)	181 (66.8)	
R1/2+Rx	260 (36.7)	90 (33.2)	
ISUP ^c grade			.69
1+2	254 (35.9)	101 (37.3)	
3+4	328 (46.3)	128 (47.2)	
5	126 (17.8)	42 (15.5)	
Pelvic lymph nodes on PET ^d			.17
No	507 (71.6)	206 (76)	
Yes	201 (28.4)	65 (24)	
PSA ^e prior to sRT ^f			.45
<0.5 ng/mL	436 (61.6)	174 (64.2)	
>0.5 ng/mL	272 (38.4)	97 (35.8)	
sRT dose to the prostatic fossa ^f			.20
<66 Gy ^g	47 (6.6)	10 (3.69%)	
66-70 Gy vs <66 Gy	390 (55.1)	157 (57.9)	
>70 Gy	271 (38.3)	104 (38.4)	
ADT ⁱ			.43
No	475 (67.1)	189 (69.7)	
Yes	233 (32.9)	82 (30.3)	

^apT stage: pathological T stage.

^bR status: residual disease status.

^cISUP: International Society of Urological Pathology.

^dPET: positron emission tomography.

^ePSA: prostate-specific antigen.

^fsRT: salvage radiation therapy.

^gGy: gray (a unit of radiation dose).

ⁱADT: androgen deprivation therapy.



Janbain et al

Table 3. Comparison between learning cohort (training+internal validation cohort) and external outlier cohort (*P* value based on Fisher exact or chi-square test).

Covariate, n (%)	Learning (n=979), n (%)	External (n=50), n (%)	<i>P</i> value
pT stage ^a	-		.21
pT2	432 (44.1)	28 (56)	
pT3a	316 (32.3)	11 (22)	
pT3b+pT4	231 (23.6)	11 (22)	
R status ^b			.001
R0	629 (64.2)	44 (88)	
R1/2+Rx	350 (35.8)	6 (12)	
ISUP ^c grade			.79
1+2	355 (36.3)	16 (32)	
3+4	456 (46.6)	24 (48)	
5	168 (17.2)	10 (20)	
Pelvic lymph nodes on PET ^d			<.001
No	713 (72.9)	3 (6)	
Yes	266 (27.2)	47 (94)	
PSA ^e before sRT ^f			.004
<0.5 ng/ml	610 (62.3)	21 (42)	
>0.5 ng/ml	369 (37.7)	29 (58)	
sRT dose to the prostatic fossa			<.001
<66 Gy ^g	57 (5.8)	46 (92)	
66-70 Gy vs <66 Gy	547 (55.9)	4 (8)	
>70 Gy	375 (38.3)	0 (0)	
ADT ^g			.07
No	664 (67.8)	40 (80)	
Yes	315 (32.2)	10 (20)	

^apT stage: pathological T stage.

^bR status: residual disease status.

^cISUP: International Society of Urological Pathology.

^dPET: positron emission tomography.

^ePSA: prostate-specific antigen.

^fsRT: salvage radiation therapy.

^gGy: gray (a unit of radiation dose).

^hADT: androgen deprivation therapy.

Among the patients with positive lymph nodes detected on PET scans (n=349), 52.4% (n=183) of patients received ADT, whereas 47.6% (n=166) of patients did not. No significant difference was observed in the distribution of the International Society of Urological Pathology (ISUP) grade and pT stage (all P>.05; Table 3).

Model Development and Validation

All training subsets comprised 708 patients while corresponding internal validation sets contained the 271 remaining patients.

Figure 1 summarizes the performance obtained from the 900 developed RSF models after training and further application to the internal and external outlier validation datasets. The Harrell C-index values of the training datasets showed good concordances ranging from 0.79 to 0.91. The internal validation dataset showed moderate to good concordances ranging from 0.54 to 0.73, while the external outlier validation dataset, showed good concordances ranging from 0.60 to 0.76.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e60323
```

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 1. Harrell C-indexes of the 900 RSF models in the training, internal validation, and external validation datasets. C-index: concordance index. RSF: random survival forest.



Our best model (the highest Harrell C-index on the internal validation dataset) was the one at the 15th iteration with the seed being 7332. Its Harrell C-index values were 0.79, 0.72, and 0.69 in the training, internal validation, and external outlier validation datasets, respectively. The corresponding training and internal validation recorded 200 (28.2%) out of 708 and 77 (28.4%) out of 271 patients with cancer relapse, respectively.

Correspondingly, Brier score results ranged from 0.12 to 0.15, from 0.10 to 0.20, and from 0.12 to 0.16 in the training, internal validation, and external outlier validation datasets, respectively. Brier scores related to our best model equaled 0.13, 0.14, and 0.14, respectively.

Table 4 presents the importance and relative importance values of the predictors in our best RSF model. The predictors with the highest importance values were PSA before sRT and pelvic nodal recurrence. Conversely, the predictor with the lowest importance value was PSA persistence. In training, internal validation, and external outlier validation datasets, our best RSF model exhibited higher Harrell C-indexes (0.79, 0.72, and 0.69) than our nomogram previously published (0.68, 0.72, and 0.67, respectively). Our best RSF model showed higher Brier scores but more stable results across the datasets than the model for our nomogram (best RSF=0.13, 0,14, 0,14 vs Cox=0.12, 0,13, 0,15 for training, internal validation, and external outlier validation datasets, respectively).

The Harrell C-indexes of our best RSF model compared to our nomogram previously published, when measured at time points of 12-85 months with an interval of 1 month in training, internal, and external outlier validation datasets, are shown in Figure 2A, while Figure 2B shows the Brier scores of our best RSF model and our nomogram previously published when measured at time points of 12-85 months with an interval of 1 month, according to the subdatasets.

Table 4. Predictor importance and relative importance in the RSF^a model.

Predictor	Importance	Relative importance
PSA ^b prior sRT ^c (ng/mL)	0.071	1
Pelvic nodal recurrence on PET ^d	0.065	0.920
pT status ^e	0.055	0.777
ISUP ^f grade	0.050	0.705
Dose to prostatic fossa (Gy ^g)	0.029	0.415
ADT ^h	0.021	0.299
R status ⁱ	0.014	0.190
Pelvic local recurrence on PET	0.012	0.175
PSA persistence	-0.008	-0.116

^aRSF: random survival forest.

^bPSA: prostate-specific antigen.

^csRT: salvage radiation therapy.

^dPET: positron emission tomography.

^epT status: pathological T status.

^fISUP: International Society of Urological Pathology.

^gGy: gray (a unit of radiation dose).

^hADT: androgen deprivation therapy.

ⁱR status: residual disease status.

Figure 2. (A) Harrell C-indexes and (B) Brier scores of our best RSF model versus our Cox proportional hazard model previously published, in the training, internal validation, and external validation datasets over time (12-85 months interval, with a 1-month increment). RSF: random survival forest.



https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e60323

XSL•FO RenderX

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study is the first study reporting an RSF model on prostate cancer patients across 5 countries undergoing PSMA-PET-based sRT. It presents a robust predictive performance (Harrel C-index 0.54-0.91) and outperforms the previously published nomogram.

Comparison to Prior Work

The medical community is constantly striving to develop and refine predictive tools that can accurately identify the most effective care management options for patients. By doing so, health care providers can offer personalized care that maximizes patient outcomes while minimizing adverse reactions and being cost-effective. Nomograms were and are constantly used, and the great potential of an ML approach for dynamic prediction in medicine is now emerging [22]. In this context, using a large international dataset of patients who underwent PSMA-PET staging before sRT, this study aimed at developing a ML-based RSF model to predict FFBF and comparing the prediction performances with our previously published nomogram based on a Cox proportional hazards model [15].

Our best RSF model performed well after training (Harrell C-index=0.79). Furthermore, it showed good robustness and generalizability, maintaining good performances on the internal validation set (C-index=0.72) and the external outlier validation dataset (C-index=0.69). In all cases, our best RSF model outperformed the previously built nomogram on the same datasets (0.67, 0.71, and 0.66). Our previously published nomogram included 7 variables found to be statistically significant in our multivariable Cox proportional hazards regression analysis (pre-sRT PSA level, ISUP grade in surgery specimen, pT stage, surgical margins, ADT use, sRT dose to the fossa, and nodal recurrence detected on PSMA-PET scans) [15]. In addition to these 7 variables, our best RSF evaluated PSA persistence, based on the known literature of poor prognosis when this characteristic is present, and pelvic local recurrence on PSMA-PET scan, based on a recent paper showing that the presence of local recurrence was associated with favorable BR-free survival [23-25].

Out of the 9 variables, the one with the highest importance was the value of PSA before sRT, which was consequently associated with a relative importance of the model of 1. This result confirms what is known in the literature, and specifically, in a very recent paper studying a retrospective cohort of 25,551 patients over a period time of 30 years, it was found that performing sRT when PSA values fall above 0.25 ng/mL was associated with an increased all-cause mortality risk [24,26]. The second variable with the highest relative importance (0.92) for the model was the nodal recurrence detected on PSMA-PET scans. These data confirm the importance of performing a PSMA-PET in patients with BR, as well as the data found in the previous preliminary analysis [16,25].

On the other hand, the presence of pelvic local recurrence on the PSMA-PET scan had a relative importance of 0.175. Surprisingly, PSA persistence had a negative relative importance (-0.11). This statistical result suggests that randomly shuffling

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e60323
```

this variable helped the model perform slightly better, meaning that the variable might be adding confusion rather than helping with predictions. This needs to be further analyzed, as this would imply that PSA persistence after RP may have a negligible impact on the prediction of the outcome of sRT.

Yet, our findings align with the guidelines of the American Urological Association, American Society for Radiation Oncology, and Society of Urologic Oncology, which recommend treatment intensification for patients undergoing sRT when risk factors, such as elevated PSA levels, higher ISUP, advanced T-stage, and pelvic lymph node metastases, are present. These factors have also been significant predictors of FFBS in our analysis. Additionally, our findings may help identify patients most likely to encounter biochemical failure by weighing risk factors against each other. Thus, our RSF model may allow more differentiated decision-making in terms of potential treatment intensification such as the administration of ADT.

As expected, our best RSF model performed better on the training dataset than on the validation datasets. One could suspect some indication of overfitting to the data from the training set since there was a difference of -0.10 in prediction performances between the training and the external outlier validation datasets. However, our best RSF model still outperformed our previously published nomogram, as the former almost reached a threshold of 0.70 regarding its performance in the external validation dataset. Due to the extensive recruitment in the study, and even if unbalanced classification setting, we deemed training and internal validation datasets to have appropriate numbers of events and numbers of patients (200/708, 28.2% and 77/271, 28%, respectively) to feel confident in the performance estimates. In the external validation dataset, the 50 patients experienced 24 events and performances, which may need further confirmation, as discussed later.

Strengths

This study relied on solid methodological foundations. First, being multicenter, this study captured clinically relevant information across the differences in care management and clinical practices from 13 centers in 5 countries. Second, our recruitment period can be considered relatively short. Even in a retrospective setting, it helped reduce the impact of follow-up and care support that were not standardized from one center to another, from one country to another. Third, our training and internal validation datasets contained large numbers of patients and were highly comparable. This helped us choose the best model on similar and naïve data owing to unseen data when training the ML model (internal validation dataset). Fourth, all variables exhibited a reasonable unbalance across their categories during the training, without class counting less than 20% of patients except for the ISUP grade 5 and the sRT dose to the prostatic fossa <66 Gy, with 17.8% and only 6.6% of concerned patients, respectively. Fifth, we designed a prediction model study of type 3 according to the Transparent Reporting of a Multivariable Prediction Model for Individual Prognosis or Diagnosis (TRIPOD) statement, with the most dissimilar center being available as a separate dataset for validation [27]. Sixth, to compare the prediction accuracies of our best ML-based RSF with our previously published nomogram, we

XSL•FO RenderX

used the same design, including seeds, splits, and datasets, as those exploited for the nomogram. This allowed us to compare the exact and meaningful metrics (Harrell C-index and Brier score) on the internal validation dataset, and more importantly, the external outlier validation dataset. Seventh, we used the same variables to develop our previously published nomogram and our best ML-based RSF. No new variable was added for the training of our ML-based as compared to the development of our previously published nomogram.

Limitations

Nevertheless, this study is subject to many limitations previously reported with our nomogram [15]. First, this study had a large patient cohort, but its multicenter nature meant different treatment regimens. Therefore, to make the model transferable, we did not include the variable "center" in the analysis. Second, our analysis is subject to bias inherent in retrospective studies, highlighting the need for prospective trials. Continuous variables were recorded, and this may have limited our ability to make better prognostic assessments. Third, the external outlier validation cohort, the same one used for our previous nomogram, only had 50 patients, which could affect the generalizability of the RSF model [15]. So, further evaluation within another external center, or even in another country, may help obtain more patients, thus providing more accurate estimates for predictive performances and better delineating the ability to generalize. We would then present a type 4 analysis, which is the highest degree of development and validation of a prediction model according to the TRIPOD classification of prediction model studies until TRIPOD-AI is published [27,28]. In addition, no other models than RSFs were trained. This could be done in the following work. In particular, it could be interesting to develop models, such as gradient boosting, support vector, or Bayesian theories, based on other theoretical grounds than those from decision trees.

Fourth, missing data were handled by exclusion only. This led to 141 potential patients being useless for developing and validating our previously published nomogram and our best RSF presented here. Creating missing data could be explored to detect those missing at random, and a replacement strategy could then be put in place, at least for some patients, in sensitivity analyses for the training. Sabbagh et al [29] expressed the criticism that our previously published nomogram was based on a Cox proportional hazards model without accounting for competing risks. One can address the same remark to our best RSF here. However, adapting ML algorithms in the presence of competing risks is still under development and is not yet fully ready for use. One application could be misleading in its interpretation and give a false conclusion.

Future Directions

Despite these limitations, the findings of this study provide valuable insights into the possibility of integrating the RSF model when evaluating variables for predictive models, and the reliable performance of the RSF model in both validation sets enhances its applicability in real-world clinical settings. This includes the assessment of the personalized risk of FFBF, which could, in turn, lead to customized follow-up management or the assessment of risk stratification [27].

By going one step further, we are already aware that PSMA dosage and FFBF risk stratification are expected to expand in the next few months and years. This should influence patients' management, follow-up, and prognosis by changing the probability of persistence or relapse. This means that our best RSF should be updated by retraining and transfer learning in some days, even if we cannot give a precise horizon yet. We also have developed a user-friendly app to facilitate easy access to our risk prediction model for clinicians and researchers [30].

Conclusions

This study is the first prediction tool for PET-staged patients in the sRT field, highlighting the potential of an RSF model compared to a nomogram in predicting treatment outcomes. The RSF model demonstrated improved predictive accuracy compared to the model for identifying patients who may benefit from PSMA-PET-based sRT, maintaining robustness and generalizability across validation sets. Including additional variables in the RSF model, such as PSA persistence and pelvic local recurrence on PSMA-PET scans, provided valuable insights. Despite limitations, this study enhances the applicability of the RSF model in real-world clinical settings. It can improve patient outcomes and assist clinicians in making treatment decisions.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the PersoProCaRisk project (ERA PerMed, ANR). The funder played no role in study design, data collection, data analysis, and interpretation, or this manuscript's writing. No artificial intelligence was used in this work.

Data Availability

The datasets generated or analyzed during this study are not publicly available due to ethical and legal issues regarding the General Data Protection Regulation but are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

AJ was responsible for the formal analysis, conducted the investigation, and wrote the original draft of the manuscript. AF contributed to the conceptualization and methodology. AGA also contributed to the conceptualization and methodology and provided resources for the research. LR provided additional resources for statistical analysis and contributed to the writing and editing. SS, SF, FS, JCP, SK, IS, KF, SAK, MEV, SEC, AV, AGM, SKBS, ALG, FC, CH, SGCK, MG, CB, PB, GH, LE, AAO,

NSS-H, LM, and DMA provided resources. CZ managed the project, provided resources, and contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript. TW contributed resources, was involved in the writing and editing, and provided supervision. MS was responsible for conceptualization and methodology, conducted the investigation, and provided supervision throughout the research process. All authors reviewed and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Participating centers and STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) checklist. [DOCX File, 26 KB - cancer v10i1e60323 app1.docx]

References

- Stephenson AJ, Bolla M, Briganti A, Cozzarini C, Moul JW, Roach M, et al. Postoperative radiation therapy for pathologically advanced prostate cancer after radical prostatectomy. Eur Urol 2012;61(3):443-451. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.eururo.2011.10.010</u>] [Medline: <u>22036777</u>]
- Bartkowiak D, Bottke D, Thamm R, Siegmann A, Hinkelbein W, Wiegel T. The PSA-response to salvage radiotherapy after radical prostatectomy correlates with freedom from progression and overall survival. Radiother Oncol 2016;118(1):131-135. [doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2015.10.028] [Medline: 26653358]
- Adebahr S, Althaus A, Scharl S, Strouthos I, Farolfi A, Serani F, et al. The prognostic significance of a negative PSMA-PET scan prior to salvage radiotherapy following radical prostatectomy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2024;51(2):558-567 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00259-023-06438-3] [Medline: 37736808]
- 4. Tilki D, Chen M, Wu J, Huland H, Graefen M, D'Amico AV. Adjuvant versus early salvage radiation therapy after radical prostatectomy for pN1 prostate cancer and the risk of death. J Clin Oncol 2022;40(20):2186-2192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.21.02800] [Medline: 35290082]
- Stephenson AJ, Scardino PT, Kattan MW, Pisansky TM, Slawin KM, Klein EA, et al. Predicting the outcome of salvage radiation therapy for recurrent prostate cancer after radical prostatectomy. J Clin Oncol 2007;25(15):2035-2041 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.08.9607] [Medline: 17513807]
- Tendulkar RD, Agrawal S, Gao T, Efstathiou JA, Pisansky TM, Michalski JM, et al. Contemporary update of a multi-institutional predictive nomogram for salvage radiotherapy after radical prostatectomy. J Clin Oncol 2016;34(30):3648-3654. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.9647] [Medline: 27528718]
- Wang R, Shen G, Huang M, Tian R. The diagnostic role of 18F-Choline, 18F-Fluciclovine and 18F-PSMA PET/CT in the detection of prostate cancer with biochemical recurrence: a meta-analysis. Front Oncol 2021;11:684629 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.684629] [Medline: 34222008]
- Perera M, Papa N, Roberts M, Williams M, Udovicich C, Vela I, et al. Gallium-68 prostate-specific membrane antigen positron emission tomography in advanced prostate cancer-updated diagnostic utility, sensitivity, specificity, and distribution of prostate-specific membrane antigen-avid lesions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Urol 2020;77(4):403-417. [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2019.01.049] [Medline: <u>30773328</u>]
- Habl G, Sauter K, Schiller K, Dewes S, Maurer T, Eiber M, et al. Ga-PSMA-PET for radiation treatment planning in prostate cancer recurrences after surgery: individualized medicine or new standard in salvage treatment. Prostate 2017;77(8):920-927. [doi: <u>10.1002/pros.23347</u>] [Medline: <u>28317152</u>]
- Bottke D, Miksch J, Thamm R, Krohn T, Bartkowiak D, Beer M, et al. Changes of radiation treatment concept based on Ga-PSMA-11-PET/CT in early PSA-recurrences after radical prostatectomy. Front Oncol 2021;11:665304 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.665304] [Medline: 34141618]
- Miksch J, Bottke D, Krohn T, Thamm R, Bartkowiak D, Solbach C, et al. Interobserver variability, detection rate, and lesion patterns of Ga-PSMA-11-PET/CT in early-stage biochemical recurrence of prostate cancer after radical prostatectomy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2020;47(10):2339-2347 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00259-020-04718-w] [Medline: 32157427]
- Bartholomai JA, Frieboes HB. Lung cancer survival prediction via machine learning regression, classification, and statistical techniques. Proc IEEE Int Symp Signal Proc Inf Tech 2018;2018:632-637 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/ISSPIT.2018.8642753] [Medline: 31312809]
- Alabi RO, Mäkitie AA, Pirinen M, Elmusrati M, Leivo I, Almangush A. Comparison of nomogram with machine learning techniques for prediction of overall survival in patients with tongue cancer. Int J Med Inform 2021;145:104313. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104313</u>] [Medline: <u>33142259</u>]
- 14. Lei H, Li X, Ma W, Hong N, Liu C, Zhou W, et al. Comparison of nomogram and machine-learning methods for predicting the survival of non-small cell lung cancer patients. Cancer Innov 2022;1(2):135-145 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cai2.24] [Medline: 38090651]

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e60323

- Zamboglou C, Peeken JC, Janbain A, Katsahian S, Strouthos I, Ferentinos K, et al. Development and validation of a multi-institutional nomogram of outcomes for PSMA-PET-based salvage radiotherapy for recurrent prostate cancer. JAMA Netw Open 2023;6(5):e2314748 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.14748] [Medline: 37219907]
- Zamboglou C, Strouthos I, Sahlmann J, Farolfi A, Serani F, Medici F, et al. Metastasis-free survival and patterns of distant metastatic disease after prostate-specific membrane antigen positron emission tomography (PSMA-PET)-guided salvage radiation therapy in recurrent or persistent prostate cancer after prostatectomy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2022;113(5):1015-1024. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2022.04.048] [Medline: <u>35659629</u>]
- Steele AJ, Denaxas SC, Shah AD, Hemingway H, Luscombe NM. Machine learning models in electronic health records can outperform conventional survival models for predicting patient mortality in coronary artery disease. PLoS One 2018;13(8):e0202344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0202344] [Medline: 30169498]
- Harrell FE, Califf RM, Pryor DB, Lee KL, Rosati RA. Evaluating the yield of medical tests. JAMA 1982;247(18):2543-2546. [Medline: 7069920]
- 19. Ashby D. Practical statistics for medical research. Douglas G. Altman, Chapman and Hall, London, 1991. No. of pages: 611. Price: £32.00. Stat Med 2007;10(10):1635-1636. [doi: 10.1002/sim.4780101015]
- 20. Brier GW. Verification of forecasts expressed in terms of probability. Mon Weather Rev 1950;78(1):1-3 [FREE Full text]
- 21. Ishwaran H. Variable importance in binary regression trees and forests. Electron J Statist 2007;1:519-537. [doi: 10.1214/07-ejs039]
- 22. Pickett KL, Suresh K, Campbell KR, Davis S, Juarez-Colunga E. Random survival forests for dynamic predictions of a time-to-event outcome using a longitudinal biomarker. BMC Med Res Methodol 2021;21(1):216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-021-01375-x] [Medline: 34657597]
- Berchiche W, Depaquit TL, Baboudjian M, Barret É, Rozet F, Cathelineau X, et al. Mid-term oncologic outcomes of radical prostatectomy in lymph node metastatic prostate cancer patients. Prog Urol 2023;33(8-9):437-445. [doi: 10.1016/j.purol.2023.05.001] [Medline: <u>37248105</u>]
- 24. Cornford P, van den Bergh RCN, Briers E, Van den Broeck T, Cumberbatch MG, De Santis M, et al. EAU-EANM-ESTRO-ESUR-SIOG guidelines on prostate cancer. Part II-2020 update: treatment of relapsing and metastatic prostate cancer. Eur Urol 2021;79(2):263-282. [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2020.09.046] [Medline: 33039206]
- 25. Spohn S, Farolfi A, Schandeler S, Vogel M, Ruf J, Mix M, et al. The maximum standardized uptake value in patients with recurrent or persistent prostate cancer after radical prostatectomy and PSMA-PET-guided salvage radiotherapy—a multicenter retrospective analysis. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2022;50(1):218-227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00259-022-05931-5] [Medline: 35984452]
- 26. Tilki D, Chen M, Wu J, Huland H, Graefen M, Mohamad O, et al. Prostate-specific antigen level at the time of salvage therapy after radical prostatectomy for prostate cancer and the risk of death. J Clin Oncol 2023;41(13):2428-2435 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.22.02489] [Medline: 36857638]
- 27. Collins GS, Reitsma JB, Altman DG, Moons KGM. Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD): the TRIPOD statement. BMJ 2015;350:g7594 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.g7594] [Medline: 25569120]
- Collins GS, Moons KGM, Dhiman P, Riley RD, Beam AL, Van Calster B, et al. TRIPOD+AI statement: updated guidance for reporting clinical prediction models that use regression or machine learning methods. BMJ 2024;385:q902 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.q902] [Medline: 38636956]
- 29. Sabbagh A, Tilki D, Feng J, Huland H, Graefen M, Wiegel T, et al. Multi-institutional development and external validation of a machine learning model for the prediction of distant metastasis in patients treated by salvage radiotherapy for biochemical failure after radical prostatectomy. Eur Urol Focus 2024;10(1):66-74. [doi: 10.1016/j.euf.2023.07.004] [Medline: 37507248]
- 30. Shelan M, Janbain A. User-friendly app to facilitate easy access to our risk prediction model for clinicians and researchers. URL: <u>http://surl.li/ufbdik</u> [accessed 2024-08-30]

Abbreviations

ADT: androgen deprivation therapy BR: biochemical recurrence C-index: concordance index FFBF: freedom from biochemical failure ISUP: International Society of Urological Pathology ML: machine learning PSA: prostate-specific antigen PSMA-PET: prostate-specific membrane antigen-positron emission tomography pT stage: pathological T stage RP: radical prostatectomy RSF: random survival forest sRT: salvage radiation therapy

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e60323

STROBE: Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology **TRIPOD:** Transparent Reporting of a Multivariable Prediction Model for Individual Prognosis or Diagnosis

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 08.05.24; peer-reviewed by G Marvaso, Z Wang; comments to author 10.06.24; revised version received 06.07.24; accepted 07.08.24; published 20.09.24.

Please cite as:

Janbain A, Farolfi A, Guenegou-Arnoux A, Romengas L, Scharl S, Fanti S, Serani F, Peeken JC, Katsahian S, Strouthos I, Ferentinos K, Koerber SA, Vogel ME, Combs SE, Vrachimis A, Morganti AG, Spohn SKB, Grosu AL, Ceci F, Henkenberens C, Kroeze SGC, Guckenberger M, Belka C, Bartenstein P, Hruby G, Emmett L, Omerieh AA, Schmidt-Hegemann NS, Mose L, Aebersold DM, Zamboglou C, Wiegel T, Shelan M A Machine Learning Approach for Predicting Biochemical Outcome After PSMA-PET–Guided Salvage Radiotherapy in Recurrent Prostate Cancer After Radical Prostatectomy: Retrospective Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e60323 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e60323 doi:10.2196/60323 PMID:

©Ali Janbain, Andrea Farolfi, Armelle Guenegou-Arnoux, Louis Romengas, Sophia Scharl, Stefano Fanti, Francesca Serani, Jan C Peeken, Sandrine Katsahian, Iosif Strouthos, Konstantinos Ferentinos, Stefan A Koerber, Marco E Vogel, Stephanie E Combs, Alexis Vrachimis, Alessio Giuseppe Morganti, Simon KB Spohn, Anca-Ligia Grosu, Francesco Ceci, Christoph Henkenberens, Stephanie GC Kroeze, Matthias Guckenberger, Claus Belka, Peter Bartenstein, George Hruby, Louise Emmett, Ali Afshar Omerieh, Nina-Sophie Schmidt-Hegemann, Lucas Mose, Daniel M Aebersold, Constantinos Zamboglou, Thomas Wiegel, Mohamed Shelan. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 20.09.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Examining Racial Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Screening and the Role of Online Medical Record Use: Findings From a Cross-Sectional Study of a National Survey

Aldenise P Ewing¹, MPH, PhD, CPH; Fode Tounkara², PhD; Daniel Marshall¹, MSc; Abhishek V Henry¹, MPH; Mahmoud Abdel-Rasoul², MS, MPH; Skylar McElwain¹, MPH; Justice Clark³, BA; Jennifer L Hefner¹, MPH, PhD; Portia J Zaire⁴, PhD, RN, CNE; Timiya S Nolan⁵, PhD, APRN-CNP; Willi L Tarver², DPH; Chyke A Doubeni², MPH, MD

²College of Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States

³Ohio Wesleyan University, Delaware, OH, United States

⁴College of Nursing, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States

⁵The University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Aldenise P Ewing, MPH, PhD, CPH

College of Public Health, The Ohio State University, , 1841 Neil Ave, 249 Cunz Hall, Columbus, OH, , United States

Abstract

Background: Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the second leading cause of cancer-related deaths in the United States. Early detection via routine CRC screening can significantly lower risks for CRC-specific morbidity and mortality. Public health initiatives between 2000 and 2015 nearly doubled CRC screening rates for some US adults. However, screening rates remain lowest for adults aged 45 - 49 years (20%), patients of safety net health care facilities (42%), adults without insurance (44%), and other subgroups compared with national averages (72%). Given the evolving landscape of digital health care and trends in web-based health information–seeking behaviors, leveraging online medical record (OMR) systems may be an underutilized resource to promote CRC screening utilization. Recognizing trends in OMR usage and patient demographics may enhance digital inclusion—a key social determinant of health—and support equitable web-based interventions aimed at boosting CRC screening across diverse populations.

Objective: This study examined the association of accessing an OMR with CRC screening utilization and corresponding sociodemographic characteristics of US adults.

Methods: In 2023, we conducted a secondary data analysis using a pooled, weighted sample from Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) 5 cycles, 2, 3, and 4 (2018 - 2020), a nationally representative survey assessing how US adults access and use health-related information. We analyzed the association between sociodemographic characteristics, medical conditions, OMR access, and CRC screening behaviors via logistic regression.

Results: The sample included adults aged 45 - 75 years (N=5143). The mean age was 59 (SD 8) years for those who reported CRC screening and 52 (SD 6) years for those never screened. Nearly 70% (4029/5143) of participants reported CRC screening and 52% (2707/5143) reported OMR access in the past year. Adjusted odds of CRC screening were higher among non-Hispanic African American or Black adults than among non-Hispanic White adults (odds ratio [OR] 1.76, 95% CI 1.22 - 2.53), adults who accessed an OMR (OR 1.89, 95% CI 1.45 - 2.46), older individuals (OR 1.18, 95% CI 1.16 - 1.21), the insured (OR 3.69, 95% CI 2.34 - 5.82), and those with a professional or graduate degree versus those with a high school diploma or less (OR 2.65, 95% CI 1.28 - 5.47). Individuals aged 65 - 75 years were significantly more likely (P<.001) to be screened (1687/1831, 91%) than those aged 45 - 49 years (190/610, 29%).

Conclusions: Promoting OMR access, especially among the most disadvantaged Americans, may assist in reaching national screening goals. Emphasis should be placed on the mutability of OMR use compared with most other statistically significant associations with CRC screening behaviors. OMR access provides an intervenable means of promoting CRC education and screening, especially among those facing structural barriers to cancer diagnoses and care. Future research should focus on tailored and accessible interventions that expand OMR access, particularly for younger populations.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53229) doi:10.2196/53229



¹College of Public Health, The Ohio State University, 1841 Neil Ave, 249 Cunz Hall, Columbus, OH, United States

KEYWORDS

colorectal cancer; cancer screening; early detection; Health Information National Trends Survey; cancer disparities; online medical records; secondary data analysis

Introduction

Colorectal Cancer Screening Disparities

Due to initiatives in public health aimed at encouraging colorectal cancer (CRC) screening among demographics with historically low rates, the screening rates for CRC have more than doubled from 2000 to 2015 for non-Hispanic Black, Hispanic, and non-Hispanic Asian adults aged 50-75 years in the United States [1]. According to reports, CRC screening rates are now comparable for non-Hispanic Black adults (75%) and non-Hispanic White adults (74%), but lower for Hispanic adults (64%) and non-Hispanic Asian adults (61%) in the United States [2]. Furthermore, lower than national average rates of CRC screening (72%) are still reported among adults younger than 65 years (ie, pre-Medicare eligibility) and those who report less educational attainment than a college degree, are uninsured, and have recently immigrated to the United States [3-6]. CRC screening promotion remains critical, as adherence to recommendations by the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF)—recently updated in 2021—could prevent deaths or effectively treat at least 35,000 CRC diagnoses over the lifetime of age-eligible adults [7].

CRC Screening Modalities

The USPSTF recommends various CRC screening methods for individuals at average risk and beginning at age 45 years [7]. These include stool-based tests and direct visualization techniques at respective intervals. Stool-based tests, which are done at home without the need for bowel preparation or anesthesia, include the annual guaiac-based fecal occult blood test, the annual fecal immunochemical test (FIT), and the FIT-sDNA test, administered every 1-3 years. A positive result from any of these tests requires a follow-up colonoscopy.

Direct visualization tests, such as colonoscopy every 10 years, computed tomographic colonography every 5 years, flexible sigmoidoscopy every 5 years, and flexible sigmoidoscopy (every 10 years) with an annual FIT, involve more invasive procedures such as bowel preparation and anesthesia. Any positive result from these tests, other than a colonoscopy, also necessitates a follow-up colonoscopy.

Evidence-Based Initiatives for CRC Screening Promotion

Primary reasons for underutilization of CRC screening are low patient awareness of the importance and need for screening, poor access to regular medical care and screening tests, lack of insurance, and lack of health care provider recommendation for the test [8-13]. While physician recommendation is one of the strongest predictors of screening uptake, health care providers encounter time and resource constraints that limit their ability to effectively educate patients and discuss screening recommendations during visits [9-12]. As such, there has been a proliferation of interventions to increase CRC screening. These interventions have been directed at several levels including the

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53229

Ewing et al

client (eg, patient education, tailored or nontailored print media or videos, etc), the provider (eg, provider incentives, provider assessment and feedback, etc) and health system or organization (eg, client reminders, patient navigation, etc), or any combination of levels [14]. However, there still exists disparities in utilization of repeat CRC screening, CRC screening among "newly" screen age-eligible adults between 45 and 49 years of age, and CRC screening completion among adults who have received an abnormal stool-based test result [15-17]. Online medical records (OMRs), either as an educational tool for patients or as a clinical tool that enhances patient-provider communication, may be an existing and underutilized resource for promoting CRC screening interventions and addressing remaining disparities in CRC screening utilization across the continuum.

OMRs for CRC Screening Promotion

Patient education and awareness concerning the importance of CRC screening remains a constant need, especially within US community clinics that report CRC screening rates as low as 43% [18-20]. Targeted web-based cancer education interventions may leverage growing trends in web-based health information-seeking behaviors-more than 60% of US adults report seeking web-based health information [21-24]. Leveraging existing platforms, including OMRs with embedded patient portals, could alleviate barriers to health care access and communication shortcomings to improve CRC screening completion rates [25-29]. OMRs have been used to remind patients about screening, refer patients to specialists, schedule appointments, and empower patients to take charge of their own care [30]. Furthermore, the integration of electronic health records with patient access to OMRs has been associated with improved CRC screening and other preventative health screenings [31]. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the association between OMR access and CRC screening behaviors among age-eligible adults in the United States, with particular emphasis on understanding racial and ethnic disparities. The goal is to explore whether OMR access can serve as an effective tool in promoting CRC screening. In addition, the study seeks to identify potential OMR-based interventions that could address existing disparities and improve CRC screening rates across diverse and socially vulnerable populations. Identifying growing OMR usage patterns and patient profiles could promote digital inclusion-a social determinant of health-and equitable web-based cancer education-based interventions to increase CRC screening among diverse groups [32].

Methods

Study Design and Data Source

Data for this secondary data analysis study were obtained from the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) 5 cycles 2, 3, and 4, conducted between 2018 and 2020 [33]. Full details about HINTS methodology can be seen on the HINTS website [34]. HINTS is a nationally representative survey

XSL•FO RenderX

conducted by the National Cancer Institute to assess health communication, health information–seeking behaviors, and health-related attitudes and behaviors in the United States. The survey is designed to provide cross-sectional data that can inform cancer-related communication and health promotion efforts at a population level.

Study Population

This study population consisted of nonincarcerated, US adults aged 45 - 75 years (N=5143) who participated in the HINTS survey during the specified cycles. This age range was chosen to focus on the national population of average-risk adults recommended to undergo screening for CRC by the USPSTF [7].

Ethical Considerations

The HINTS 5 survey, conducted with the general population, underwent expedited review and received approval from the Westat institutional review board (IRB) on March 28, 2016 (project no. 6048.14). In addition, on April 25, 2016, the National Institutes of Health Office of Human Subjects Research determined that the survey did not involve human subjects research, providing an exemption (exempt no. 13204) [35]. This analysis used deidentified, publicly available data from the HINTS, which did not constitute human subjects research as defined by 45 CFR 46.102 and, therefore, did not require IRB review. The original consent and IRB approval cover secondary analysis without the need for additional consent. No compensation was provided for participation.

Measures

Primary Outcome

The primary outcome was assessed using the following survey item: "Have you ever had a test to check for colon cancer?" Responses were dichotomized as yes or "ever screened" and no or "never screened." Participants were categorized as "ever screened" if they reported undergoing any CRC screening test in the past.

Independent Variables

Sociodemographic characteristics included age, gender, education level, income, and insurance status. Age was treated as a continuous variable, while gender was categorized as male or female. Education level was categorized into groups such as high school or less, some college, and postgraduate degree. Income was categorized into income brackets (eg, <US \$20,000, US \$20,000, etc), and insurance status was dichotomized as insured or uninsured.

Race and ethnicity were self-reported and categorized as non-Hispanic White, non-Hispanic Black, Hispanic, non-Hispanic Asian, and other.

Medical conditions were self-reported and included diabetes, high blood pressure, heart conditions, lung disease, depression, or family history of cancer. Responses were dichotomized as yes or no.

Accessing an OMR was assessed by asking participants whether they had accessed their OMR at least once in the last 12 months. This variable was dichotomized as yes or no.

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53229
```

XSL•F() RenderX

Statistical Analysis

Survey Weights

Survey weights were essential in the analysis of the HINTS dataset to account for the complex survey design and adjust for potential biases. The survey weights provided by HINTS were derived using the jackknife replication method and adjusted for selection bias resulting from the complex sampling design, nonresponse bias due to differential participation rates (ie, lower responses from men compared with women), and poststratification to align the sample with the population distribution by key sociodemographic characteristics. A method similar to the quasi-randomization approach was used for (HINTS) 5 cycles 2, 3, and 4 to adjust for household-level nonresponse among those in high concentrations of minority populations), census region, address, metropolitical status, and high Spanish linguistically isolated areas [36-38].

Survey weights were applied to account for the complex survey design and produce generalizable population estimates. Weighted analyses were conducted, considering the appropriate weight variable provided by HINTS, to ensure that the results accurately reflected the target population of adults aged 45 - 75 years in the United States.

Analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted in R Statistical Software (v4.1.2; R Core Team 2021). Descriptive statistics were reported to summarize characteristics of the study population. Frequencies and percentages were calculated for categorical variables, while means and SDs were computed for continuous variables. These descriptive statistics provided an overview of the sample and the distribution of key variables.

Bivariate analyses were conducted to examine the associations between the primary outcome (CRC screening) and various independent variables. Chi-square tests were performed to assess associations between CRC screening and variables of interest, such as race and ethnicity, accessing an OMR, sociodemographic characteristics, and medical conditions.

Multivariable logistic regression analysis was used to assess the independent associations between the primary outcome and key independent variables, while controlling for potential confounders. Missing data were handled using listwise deletion, excluding participants with missing values on any of the variables included in the models. This approach was chosen because the proportion of missing data for the primary outcome of interest was small (<5%), and no patterns of missingness were identified that would suggest systematic bias. Adjustments were made for relevant covariates, such as age, gender, education, income, and insurance status. The adjusted odds ratios and their corresponding 95% CIs were calculated to estimate the strength and direction of the associations between the independent variables and CRC screening. The multivariable logistic regression analysis allowed for the identification of significant predictors of CRC screening, considering the potential influence of confounding factors.

Results

Study Population Characteristics

Among the weighted sample (N=257,211,194), approximately 70% (4029/5143) of the participants reported having undergone CRC screening (Table 1). Most participants were non-Hispanic White (3527/5143, 72%). The mean age for individuals who

Table . Characteristics of main outcomes.

reported CRC screening was 59 (SD 8) years, while it was 52 (SD 6) years for those who had never been screened (Table 2). A little more than half of the participants (2707/5143, 52%) reported accessing their OMR at least once in the past year. Table 2 presents the results of the bivariate analyses, examining the associations between CRC screening, various sociodemographic characteristics, medical condition variables, and main predictors (race and OMR access).

Characteristic (N=257,211,194) ^a		n (%)
Colorectal cancer screening		
	Ever screened	4029 (70)
	Never screened	1114 (30)
	Total	5143
Race		
	NH ^b White	3527 (72)
	Hispanic	582 (12)
	NH Black or African American	674 (9.3)
	NH Asian	191 (4.3)
	NH other ^c	169 (2.7)
	Total	5143
Access online medical record		
	None	2436 (48)
	At least 1 time	2707 (52)
	Total	5143

^aWeighted counts based on pooled sample of 5143 adult participants, derived using weights.

^bNH: non-Hispanic.

^cIncludes non-Hispanic (NH) American Indian or Alaska Native, NH Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, and NH Multiple Races Mentioned.



Table . Participant characteristics by colorectal cancer screening comparisons.

		Ever screened ^a	Never screened ^a	P value
Race, n (%)				<.001
	NH ^b White	2820 (72)	707 (28)	
	Hispanic	412 (71)	170 (29)	
	NH Black or African Amer- ican	544 (74)	130 (26)	
	NH Asian	130 (60)	61 (40)	
	NH other ^c	123 (60)	46 (40)	
Access online medical recor	rd, n (%)			<.001
	None	1748 (63)	688 (37)	
	At least 1 time	2281 (75)	426 (25)	
Age (years), mean (SD)		59 (8)	52 (6)	<.001
Age group (years), n (%)				<.001
	45 - 49	190 (29)	420 (71)	
	50 - 64	2152 (76)	550 (24)	
	65 - 75	1687 (91)	144 (9)	
Sex, n (%)				.79
	Male	1752 (69)	451 (31)	
	Female	2271 (70)	659 (30)	
Education, n (%)				<.001
	High school or less	104 (52)	59 (48)	
	Post-high school/some col- lege	522 (65)	186 (35)	
	College graduate	1306 (70)	345 (30)	
	Postgraduate	2090 (74)	523 (26)	
Insurance, n (%)				<.001
	No	66 (28)	109 (72)	
	Yes	3936 (72)	996 (28)	
	Missing	27 (71)	9 (29)	
Income, n (%)				.11
	<us \$20,000<="" td=""><td>420 (65)</td><td>167 (35)</td><td></td></us>	420 (65)	167 (35)	
	US \$20,000-US \$35,000	411 (65)	122 (35)	
	US \$35,000-US \$50,000	473 (65)	142 (35)	
	US \$50,000-US \$75,000	728 (71)	178 (29)	
	≥US \$75,000	1723 (72)	443 (28)	
Diabetes, n (%)				.39
	No	3013 (69)	903 (31)	
	Yes	972 (72)	205 (28)	
	Missing	44 (77)	6 (23)	
High BP d , n (%)				<.001
	No	1890 (66)	675 (34)	
	Yes	2090 (73)	434 (27)	
	Missing	49 (89)	5 (11)	

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53229

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e53229 | p.818 (page number not for citation purposes)

		Ever screened ^a	Never screened ^a	<i>P</i> value
Heart condition, n (%)				.24
	No	3578 (69)	1041 (31)	
	Yes	413 (75)	68 (25)	
	Missing	38 (80)	5 (20)	
Lung disease, n (%)				.07
	No	3443 (69)	996 (31)	
	Yes	553 (76)	113 (24)	
	Missing	33 (79)	5 (21)	
Depression, n (%)				.19
	No	3043 (69)	862 (31)	
	Yes	942 (72)	247 (28)	
	Missing	44 (87)	5 (13)	
Family history of cancer, n	(%)			.33
	No	478 (65)	163 (35)	
	Yes	2037 (69)	529 (31)	
	Missing	121 (62)	43 (38)	

^aWeighted percentages based on pooled sample of 5143 adult participants, derived using weights. Significant differences in CRC screening were evaluated with Rao-Scott tests for weighted data.

^bNH: non-Hispanic.

^cIncludes non-Hispanic (NH) American Indian or Alaska Native, NH Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, and NH Multiple Races Mentioned. ^dBP: blood pressure.

CRC Screening by Participant Characteristics

Accessing an OMR and Participant Characteristics

Overall, higher proportions of non-Hispanic White participants (2820/3527, 72%) and non-Hispanic Black participants (544/674, 74%) reported CRC screening, while only 54% (412/582) of Hispanic participants reported CRC screening (P<.001) (Table 2). Age was significantly associated with CRC screening, with older individuals having higher rates of screening (P<.001). Fewer participants between the ages of 45 - 49 years reported CRC screening (190/610, 29%) compared with older age groups between the ages of 50 - 64 years (2152/2702, 76%) and 65 - 75 years (1687/1831, 92%) (P<.001). Higher educational attainment was significantly associated with CRC screening, with 52% (104/201) of participants with a high school degree or less screened, compared with 74% (2090/2813) of participants with postgraduate degrees (P<.001). Being insured was associated with CRC screening, with 72% (3936/4932) of insured participants reporting CRC screening compared with 28% (66/235) of uninsured participants (P<.001). Among participants with high blood pressure, 73% (2090/2524) reported CRC screening, while 66% (1890/2565) of participants with no high blood pressure reported CRC screening (P<.001).

Table 3 shows results of the bivariate analyses, examining associations between accessing an OMR and race and ethnicity, as well as other sociodemographic characteristics and medical conditions. More than half of Hispanic participants (338/582, 62%) and non-Hispanic Black participants (343/674, 56%) reported no access to their OMR in the last 12 months, compared with 45% (1587/3527) of non-Hispanic White participants (P<.001). The proportion of participants who accessed their OMR at least once in the last 12 months increased with higher educational attainment, with 62% (1580/2613) of participants with postgraduate degrees accessing their OMR compared with 25% (35/163) of participants with a high school degree or less (P<.001). Gender was significantly associated with accessing an OMR, with 54% (1617/2930) of women accessing their OMR compared with 49% (1084/2203) of men (P=.02). Insurance status was strongly associated with accessing an OMR, with 53% (2662/4932) of insured participants accessing their OMR compared with 20% (36/235) of uninsured participants (P<.001). Higher proportions of participants with higher income reported accessing an OMR (P<.001). Participants reporting diabetes (658/1177, 57%) and high blood pressure (1361/2524, 55%) reported significantly higher OMR access than participants with no specified medical conditions (P=.02 and P=.03, respectively).

 Table . Participant characteristics by online medical record access status.

Ewing et al

	-	At least 1 time ^a	None ^a	<i>P</i> value
Race, n (%)				<.001
	NH ^b White	1940 (55)	1587 (45)	
	Hispanic	244 (38)	338 (62)	
	NH Black or African Amer- ican	331 (44)	343 (56)	
	NH Asian	102 (52)	89 (48)	
	NH other ^c	90 (52)	79 (48)	
Age (years), mean (SD)		57 (8)	57 (8)	.75
Age group (years), n (%)				.87
	45 - 49	306 (51)	304 (49)	
	50 - 64	1416 (51)	1286 (49)	
	65 - 75	985 (53)	846 (47)	
Sex, n (%)				.02
	Male	1084 (49)	1119 (51)	
	Female	1617 (54)	1313 (46)	
Education, n (%)				<.001
	High school or less	35 (25)	128 (75)	
	Post-high school/some col- lege	283 (39)	425 (61)	
	College graduate	804 (52)	847 (48)	
	Postgraduate	1580 (62)	1033 (38)	
Insurance, n (%)				<.001
	No	36 (20)	139 (80)	
	Yes	2662 (53)	2270 (47)	
	Missing	9 (24)	27 (76)	
Income, n (%)				<.001
	<us \$20,000<="" td=""><td>209 (33)</td><td>378 (67)</td><td></td></us>	209 (33)	378 (67)	
	US \$20,000-US \$35,000	230 (45)	303 (55)	
	US \$35,000-US \$50,000	291 (43)	324 (57)	
	US \$50,000-US \$75,000	482 (52)	424 (48)	
	≥US \$75,000	1318 (59)	848 (41)	
Diabetes, n (%)				.02
	No	2021 (50)	1895 (50)	
	Yes	658 (57)	519 (43)	
	Missing	28 (62)	22 (38)	
High BP d , n (%)				.03
	No	1316 (49)	1249 (51)	
	Yes	1361 (55)	1163 (45)	
	Missing	30 (45)	24 (55)	
Heart condition, n (%)				.06
	No	2416 (51)	2203 (49)	
	Yes	265 (57)	216 (43)	

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53229

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Cancer 2024 | vol. 10 | e53229 | p.820 (page number not for citation purposes)

		At least 1 time ^a	None ^a	<i>P</i> value
	Missing	26 (71)	17 (29)	
Lung disease, n (%)				.32
	No	2312 (51)	2127 (49)	
	Yes	373 (53)	293 (47)	
	Missing	22 (69)	16 (32)	
Depression, n (%)				.18
	No	2009 (51)	1896 (49)	
	Yes	669 (55)	520 (45)	
	Missing	29 (60)	20 (40)	
History of cancer, n (%)				.21
	No	321 (51)	320 (49)	
	Yes	1413 (54)	1153 (46)	
	Missing	67 (42)	97 (58)	

^aWeighted percentages based on pooled sample of 5143 adult participants, derived using weights. Significant differences in CRC screening were evaluated with Rao-Scott tests for weighted data.

^bNH: non-Hispanic.

^cIncludes non-Hispanic (NH) American Indian or Alaska Native, NH Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, and NH Multiple Races Mentioned. ^dBP: blood pressure.

Multivariable Logistic Regression Analysis

Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios were obtained using different logistic regression analysis models (Table 4). After adjusting for sociodemographic characteristics, access to OMR,

and medical conditions (high blood pressure and diabetes), non-Hispanic Black adults reported significantly higher odds of CRC screening compared with non-Hispanic White adults (OR 1.76, 95% CI 1.22 - 2.53).

Table . Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of colorectal cancer screening between race/ethnicity groups.

		Odds ratios	Lower limit (95% CI)	Upper limit (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value
Model 1: Unadjuste	d ^a				
	NH White (reference)	b	_	_	_
	Hispanic	0.46	0.33	0.63	<.001
	NH Black or African American	1.08	0.79	1.46	.63
	NH Asian	0.58	0.33	1.02	.06
	NH other	0.57	0.30	1.09	.09
Model 2: Adjusted	^c for access online medica	al records			
	NH White (reference)	_	_	_	_
	Hispanic	0.49	0.37	0.66	<.001
	NH Black or African American	1.14	0.84	1.56	.40
	NH Asian	0.58	0.33	1.02	.06
	NH other	0.58	0.30	1.10	.10
Model 3: Adjusted	^d for gender and socioder	nographic variable	es (age, education, and insura	ance)	
	NH White (reference)	_	_	_	_
	Hispanic	0.83	0.58	1.19	.31
	NH Black or African American	1.65	1.16	2.35	.01
	NH Asian	0.76	0.38	1.51	.43
	NH other	0.99	0.50	1.93	.97
Model 4: Adjusted	^e for gender, sociodemog	raphic variables, ar	nd access online medical reco	ords	
	NH White (reference)	_	_	_	_
	Hispanic	0.90	0.64	1.26	.54
	NH Black or African American	1.74	1.22	2.48	.002
	NH Asian	0.78	0.40	1.52	.46
	NH other	0.99	0.52	1.91	.98
Model 5: Adjusted ¹ and diabetes)	^f for gender, sociodemogr	aphic variables, ac	ccess online medical records,	and medical conditions	(high blood pressure
	NH White (reference)	_	_	_	_
	Hispanic	0.89	0.63	1.25	.49
	NH Black or African American	1.76	1.22	2.53	.003
	NH Asian	0.78	0.40	1.53	.46
	NH other	0.93	0.49	1.77	.82

^aUnadjusted odds ratio (OR). Model 1 included only the main predictor (race and ethnicity [ie, non-Hispanic (NH) or Hispanic]). ^bNot applicable.

^cAdjusted OR. Model 2 adjusted for access online medical records.

^dAdjusted OR. Model 3 adjusted for age, gender, education, and insurance.

^eAdjusted OR. Model 4 adjusted for access online medical records, age, gender, education, and insurance.

^fAdjusted OR. Model 5 adjusted for access online medical records, age, gender, education, insurance, and medical conditions (high blood pressure and diabetes).

XSL•FO RenderX

Access to OMRs was associated with higher odds of CRC screening, with individuals who accessed their OMR at least once having 1.89 times the odds of CRC screening compared with those who never used an OMR (95% CI 1.45 - 2.46). Increasing age was also associated with higher odds of CRC screening, with 1.18 times the odds for each additional year of age (95% CI 1.16 - 1.21). In addition, individuals with postgraduate degrees had significantly higher odds of CRC screening (OR 2.65, 95% CI 1.28 - 5.47) than those with a high school degree or less. Having insurance was strongly associated with higher odds of CRC screening, with individuals having 3.69 times greater odds of CRC screening if they had insurance compared with those with no insurance (95% CI 2.34 - 5.82).

Discussion

Summary of Findings

Our study was designed to examine, via cross-sectional survey, the association between accessing an OMR and CRC screening behavior among age-eligible adults in the US general population, with specific attention to disparities according to race and ethnicity. Early detection through routine CRC screening has the potential to prevent more than 50% of CRCs, reduce advanced stage diagnoses, and increase the effectiveness of treatment for at least average-risk adults in the United States [39]. Racial and ethnic minorities presently experience elevated rates of CRC incidence and mortality, underscoring the importance of intensified promotion efforts for CRC screening within these communities [40]. Our study results revealed associations between CRC screening behavior and current OMR access, suggesting that OMR utility may potentially contribute to utilization of CRC screening among age-eligible adults. Findings also revealed nearly twice the odds of CRC screening utilization among non-Hispanic Black adults when compared with non-Hispanic White adults after adjusting for several factors. Further research is needed to explore these associations.

Our study corroborates report on mitigation in the gap between CRC screening rates of US adults self-identifying as non-Hispanic Black and others [41]. Non-Hispanic Black individuals in our study reported even higher odds of CRC screening when compared with non-Hispanic White individuals, after adjusting for various sociocontextual and medical factors. While significant, these findings do not convey rates of up-to-date CRC screening according to USPSTF guidelines, nor align with CRC screening rates reported by safety net clinics serving adults from lower-resourced communities. For example, abnormal results of stool-based testing (ie, FITs, etc) require follow-up examination via visual inspection colonoscopy [7]. With remaining disparities in CRC-specific morbidity and mortality among racial and ethnic minorities, efforts to eliminate CRC screening disparities should continue to address issues across the care continuum from screening uptake, quality, and follow-up of abnormal screening results [42]. Findings do suggest that health equity-centered strategies should be continued for non-Hispanic Black adults and replicated for men, adults aged 45 - 49 years, other racial and ethnic minority groups, the uninsured, and other groups experiencing poorer CRC screening–related outcomes and continued disparities in CRC incidence and mortality [43,44].

Lower CRC screening rates based on other sociodemographic characteristics (ie, age, lower educational attainment, and being uninsured) and not having a preexisting medical condition suggest the need for personalized, patient-centered approaches [45]. The use of technology may still be an underutilized tool with potential to increase CRC screening rates (29%) among younger adults (ie, adults pre-Medicare, newly CRC screening age-eligible adults aged 45 - 49 years, millennials who are nearly CRC screening age-eligible, etc) and adults requiring lower literacy and lower-cost CRC screening options (ie, adults with lower educational attainment, adults who are uninsured, etc). Web-based dissemination of CRC educational materials has already proven successful when delivering preparatory instructions (eg, on how to complete at-home stool-based testing or colonoscopy preparation) or reminding patients to complete CRC screening [23,24,46,47]. Exploring other web-based interventions for individuals who are age-eligible for CRC screening could reduce lower screening rates among diverse subgroups and provide helpful insights into the development and design of more effective health communication strategies.

Results from our study support readily available resources, such as OMRs, as potentially effective tools to promote CRC screening. Despite known disparities, OMRs are reportedly used by 90% of US health care systems and constantly increasing patient enrollment [48-50]. With user instruction, the patient portal may be an ideal tool for increasing patient-provider communication regarding CRC screening completion [51]. Notably, while our study does identify stronger predictors of CRC screening behaviors, such as insurance status and educational attainment, patient portal use is much more easily accessible and operationalized among a patient population than, for instance, expanding insurance access or increasing patients' educational attainment. Promoting age-eligible CRC screening information and locale of free or reduced cost screening programs or events via the patient portal may potentially circumvent disparities based on insurance status, particularly within federally qualified health care centers that provide services despite a patient's ability to pay or on a sliding-fee scale. Disseminating information on the various CRC screening modalities (ie, at-home stool-based tests, colonoscopy, etc) may also be helpful to address patient fear or concerns for procedural discomfort. Furthermore, review of the literature provides evidence that tailored or targeted interventions including patient education and access to screening are most effective for increasing CRC screening [52,53]. More research exploring OMR utility with socially vulnerable populations is needed.

Given its substantiation in previous literature, plus its clear potential to bridge sociodemographic divides that exist among the adult population for CRC, the OMR is an ideal tool for dissemination of tailored, language-concordant material promoting awareness of CRC and CRC screening completion. However, researchers have yet to identify suitable, OMR-based interventions for age-appropriate CRC screening promotion across health care settings [54-58]. By leveraging technology and facilitating access to OMRs, health care providers can

potentially improve communication with patients and encourage CRC screening completion.

Limitations

It is essential to acknowledge that our study findings are based on the analysis of the HINTS dataset and subject to limitations inherent in cross-sectional, survey-based research, including the nature of the data to restrict the ability to establish causality. Notably, we were unable to accurately determine risk for CRC based on limited survey items assessing genetic predisposition or family history of CRC. Self-report of access to OMRs and CRC screening may also have limited our results, as well as the inability to infer education on CRC alongside reported OMR use. In addition, dichotomization of CRC screening into ever or never categories might imply that patients who are not up-to-date with screenings per USPSTF recommendations have similar screening behaviors as those who are in concordance with guidelines. Also important to note, lower rates of CRC screening among younger individuals in this sample may be partially explained by the years of HINTS survey data analyzed (2018 - 2020) not coinciding with the 2021 update by the USPSTF to expand the recommended age of CRC screening to include average-risk adults aged 45 - 49 years [59]. Further research is needed to explore underlying mechanisms and to develop targeted interventions to reduce disparities in CRC screening based on risk status and promote the use of OMRs to enhance preventive care and early detection of CRC.

Strengths

Access to the web and use of technology have now been identified as social determinants of health [32,60,61]. Our study is among the first to present findings on the utility of OMRs for CRC screening among the general population. Our study provides behavioral and sociocontextual information related to addressing this social determinant of health and hopefully reducing the second leading cause of cancer-related deaths through early detection of CRC. The generalizability of our study results is strengthened by the use of a nationally representative sample from HINTS, which includes diverse sociodemographic groups across the United States. However, the findings may be particularly relevant to populations already engaged with digital health tools, such as OMRs. Future research should explore interventions that expand OMR access to

underrepresented and younger populations to ensure broader applicability of these results.

Suggestions for Further Research

Utilization of web-based technology to promote CRC screening presents an ideal opportunity for health care centers to expand on existing behaviors, including web use for cancer health information seeking and cell phone use [62]. Future studies should explore and design language-concordant, patient-centered CRC prevention interventions through web-based patient portals for priming and promoting CRC screening completion among age-eligible adults [63-65]. These studies should also examine barriers at the systemic level (eg, readiness to implement cancer prevention interventions for screening age-eligible patients, patient navigation, etc), provider level (eg, communication strategies for motivating screening adherence, staff capacity, etc), and patient level (addressing facilitators and barriers to adhere to current recommendations as well as preference for web-based information delivery) [54-56,66,67]. Finally, given the recent USPSTF recommendations to expand CRC screenings to the 45 - 49 years age group, targeted approaches to how this age group might benefit and interact with web-based patient portals will be especially relevant to future research in CRC screening promotion.

Conclusions

OMRs are underutilized resources that may potentially accelerate cancer education, awareness, and screening utilization. More than ever, there exists an ideal opportunity to expand culturally inclusive client communication to promote age-appropriate CRC screenings beyond conventional, print-based materials typically offered from health care centers [22,54-58]. This study provides findings of client-centered, behavioral (access to OMR), and sociocontextual information (age, gender, socioeconomic status, and preexisting medical conditions) directly related to addressing social determinants of health and potentially reducing the second leading cause of cancer-related deaths in the United States through early detection. These findings are critical for designing and implementing future interventions that can reduce existing CRC screening-related disparities and more effectively leverage existing health care resources.

Acknowledgments

HINTS is cosponsored by the Food and Drug Administration and the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. The content of this manuscript is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. This publication was supported, in part, by the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences of the National Institutes of Health (grant UL1TR002733). An abstract related to this article titled "Online Medical Records are an Untapped Resource for Improving Colorectal Cancer Screening Among at-Risk Adults" was presented at the 2023 Hints Data Users Conference on September 21, 2023.

Disclaimer

At no point in the conceptualization, writing, analysis, or review of this manuscript was generative artificial intelligence software used.

Data Availability

All data analyzed in this manuscript were taken from the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) 5 cycles, 2, 3, and 4 (2018-2020) publicly available datasets. Data can be found at the hints.cancer.gov website [34].

Authors' Contributions

APE contributed to conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, investigation, resources, data curation, writing—original draft, writing—review and editing, supervision, and funding acquisition. DM did the formal analysis, writing—original draft, and writing—review and editing. FT contributed to methodology, formal analysis, writing—original draft, and writing—review and editing. AVH did the formal analysis, writing—original draft, and writing—review and editing. MA-R contributed to methodology, formal analysis, and writing—review and editing. SMcE contributed to writing—review and editing. JC contributed to conceptualization and writing—review and editing. PZ contributed to writing—review and editing. TSN contributed to writing—review and editing. CAD contributed to conceptualization and writing—review and editing.

Conflicts of Interest

JLH is an associate editor of JMIR Medical Informatics. There are no other conflicts of interest to disclose.

Checklist 1

STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) checklist. [PDF File, 168 KB - cancer_v10i1e53229_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. CDC. QuickStats: colorectal cancer screening among adults aged 50-75 years, by race/ethnicity—National Health Interview Survey, United States, 2000-2015. : MMWR; 2019 2019-04-08T03:11:07Z URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/wr/mm6538a6.htm</u> [accessed 2024-10-21]
- 2. CDC. Use of colorectal cancer screening tests. : CDC; 2023 2023-03-31T07:45:51Z URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/</u> <u>colorectal/statistics/use-screening-tests-BRFSS.htm</u> [accessed 2024-10-21]
- 3. American Cancer Society. Cancer Prevention & Early Detection Facts & Figures 2019-2020. : American Cancer Society; 2019.
- 4. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin 2019 Jan;69(1):7-34. [doi: <u>10.3322/caac.21551</u>] [Medline: <u>30620402</u>]
- 5. Asgary R. Cancer screening in the homeless population. Lancet Oncol 2018 Jul;19(7):e344-e350. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30200-6] [Medline: 30084381]
- 6. Trend: colorectal cancer screening—male, Ohio, United States. : America's Health Rankings; 2022 URL: <u>https://www.americashealthrankings.org/explore/measures/colorectal_cancer_screening/colorectal_cancer_screening_Male/OH</u> [accessed 2024-11-08]
- 7. Colorectal cancer: screening. United States Preventive Services Task Force. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/recommendation/colorectal-cancer-screening#tab</u> [accessed 2024-10-21]
- Zhu X, Parks PD, Weiser E, Jacobson DJ, Limburg PJ, Finney Rutten LJ. Barriers to utilization of three colorectal cancer screening options—data from a national survey. Prev Med Rep 2021 Jul 29;24:101508. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101508</u>] [Medline: <u>34401220</u>]
- 9. Jerant AF, Fenton JJ, Franks P. Determinants of racial/ethnic colorectal cancer screening disparities. Arch Intern Med 2008 Jun 23;168(12):1317-1324. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.168.12.1317] [Medline: 18574089]
- Berkowitz Z, Hawkins NA, Peipins LA, White MC, Nadel MR. Beliefs, risk perceptions, and gaps in knowledge as barriers to colorectal cancer screening in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008 Feb;56(2):307-314. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01547.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18070002</u>]
- Klabunde CN, Vernon SW, Nadel MR, Breen N, Seeff LC, Brown ML. Barriers to colorectal cancer screening: a comparison of reports from primary care physicians and average-risk adults. Med Care 2005 Sep;43(9):939-944. [doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000173599.67470.ba] [Medline: 16116360]
- 12. Farmer MM, Bastani R, Kwan L, Belman M, Ganz PA. Predictors of colorectal cancer screening from patients enrolled in a managed care health plan. Cancer 2008 Mar 15;112(6):1230-1238. [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23290] [Medline: 18266204]
- 13. Murff HJ, Peterson NB, Fowke JH, et al. Colonoscopy screening in African Americans and Whites with affected first-degree relatives. Arch Intern Med 2008 Mar 24;168(6):625-631. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.168.6.625] [Medline: 18362255]
- 14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Summary CPSTF findings table for cancer prevention and control. : The Community Guide; 2023 2023-06-23T10:15:44Z URL: <u>https://www.thecommunityguide.org/pages/</u> <u>task-force-findings-cancer-prevention-and-control.html</u> [accessed 2024-10-21]

- 15. Mohl JT, Ciemins EL, Miller-Wilson LA, Gillen A, Luo R, Colangelo F. Rates of follow-up colonoscopy after a positive stool-based screening test result for colorectal cancer among health care organizations in the US, 2017-2020. JAMA Netw Open 2023 Jan 3;6(1):e2251384. [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.51384] [Medline: 36652246]
- 16. Star J, Siegel RL, Minihan AK, Smith RA, Jemal A, Bandi P. Colorectal cancer screening test exposure patterns in US adults 45 to 49 years of age, 2019-2021. J Natl Cancer Inst 2024 Apr 5;116(4):613-617. [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djae003] [Medline: 38177071]
- 17. Lin JS, Perdue LA, Henrikson NB, Bean SI, Paula PR. Appendix G adherence to initial CRC screening. In: Screening for Colorectal Cancer: An Evidence Update for the US Preventive Services Task Force: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2021. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK570918/</u> [accessed 2024-10-21]
- Christy SM, Sutton SK, Abdulla R, et al. A multilevel, low literacy dual language intervention to promote colorectal cancer screening in community clinics in Florida: a randomized controlled trial. Prev Med 2022 May;158:107021. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2022.107021</u>]
- Ewing AP, Bewa MJ, Zemen R, et al. Developing a social marketing–based colorectal cancer screening campaign centered on stool-based testing for patients utilizing services at a federally qualified healthcare center. Soc Mar Q 2023 Jun;29(2):164-181. [doi: 10.1177/15245004231174874]
- 20. Data and progress. American Cancer Society National Colorectal Cancer Roundtable. 2024. URL: <u>https://nccrt.org/our-impact/</u> <u>data-and-progress</u> [accessed 2024-10-21]
- Finney Rutten LJ, Blake KD, Greenberg-Worisek AJ, Allen SV, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Online health information seeking among US adults: measuring progress toward a Healthy People 2020 objective. Public Health Rep 2019;134(6):617-625. [doi: 10.1177/0033354919874074] [Medline: 31513756]
- 22. Jia X, Pang Y, Liu LS. Online health information seeking behavior: a systematic review. Healthcare (Basel) 2021 Dec 16;9:12. [doi: 10.3390/healthcare9121740] [Medline: 34946466]
- 23. Goshgarian G, Sorourdi C, May FP, et al. Effect of patient portal messaging before mailing fecal immunochemical test kit on colorectal cancer screening rates: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Netw Open 2022 Feb 1;5(2):e2146863. [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.46863] [Medline: 35119462]
- 24. Guiriguet C, Muñoz-Ortiz L, Burón A, et al. Alerts in electronic medical records to promote a colorectal cancer screening programme: a cluster randomised controlled trial in primary care. Br J Gen Pract 2016 Jul;66(648):e483-e490. [doi: 10.3399/bjgp16X685657]
- 25. Fisk M, Livingstone A, Pit SW. Telehealth in the context of COVID-19: changing perspectives in Australia, the United Kingdom, and the United States. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 9;22(6):e19264. [doi: <u>10.2196/19264</u>] [Medline: <u>32463377</u>]
- 26. CDC. Using telehealth to expand access to essential health services during the COVID-19 pandemic. : CDC; 2020 URL: https://web.archive.org/web/20220105100151/https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/telehealth.html [accessed 2024-11-08]
- Czeisler M, Marynak K, Clarke KEN, et al. Delay or avoidance of medical care because of COVID-19–related concerns—United States, June 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Jun;69(36):1250-1257. [doi: <u>10.15585/mmwr.mm6936a4</u>]
- Richwine C, Johnson C, Patel V. Disparities in patient portal access and the role of providers in encouraging access and use. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2023 Jan 18;30(2):308-317. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocac227</u>]
- Kindratt TB, Allicock M, Atem F, Dallo FJ, Balasubramanian BA. Email patient-provider communication and cancer screenings among US adults: cross-sectional study. JMIR Cancer 2021 Jul 30;7(3):e23790. [doi: <u>10.2196/23790</u>] [Medline: <u>34328421</u>]
- 30. Hägglund M, McMillan B, Whittaker R, Blease C. Patient empowerment through online access to health records. BMJ 2022;378:e071531. [doi: 10.1136/bmj-2022-071531]
- 31. Baus A, Wright LE, Kennedy-Rea S, et al. Leveraging electronic health records data for enhanced colorectal cancer screening efforts. J Appalach Health 2020;2(4):53-63. [doi: <u>10.13023/jah.0204.07</u>] [Medline: <u>35769645</u>]
- Sieck CJ, Sheon A, Ancker JS, Castek J, Callahan B, Siefer A. Digital inclusion as a social determinant of health. NPJ Digit Med 2021 Mar 17;4(1):52. [doi: 10.1038/s41746-021-00413-8] [Medline: <u>33731887</u>]
- Finney Rutten LJ, Blake KD, Skolnick VG, Davis T, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Data resource profile: the National Cancer Institute's Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). Int J Epidemiol 2020 Feb 1;49(1):17-17j. [doi: 10.1093/ije/dyz083] [Medline: 31038687]
- 34. Methodology reports. National Cancer Institute. URL: <u>https://hints.cancer.gov/data/methodology-reports.aspx</u> [accessed 2024-10-21]
- 35. HINTS Institutional Review Board (IRB). National Cancer Institute. 2024. URL: <u>https://hints.cancer.gov/about-hints/</u> institutional-review-board.aspx [accessed 2024-10-21]
- 36. Westat. Health Information National Trends Survey 5 (HINTS 5): cycle 2 methodology report. : National Cancer Institute; 2018 URL: <u>https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/methodologyreports/HINTS5_Cycle_2_Methodology_Report.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-11-08]
- 37. Westat. Health Information National Trends Survey 5 (HINTS 5): cycle 3 methodology report. : National Cancer Institute; 2019 URL: <u>https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/Instruments/HINTS5_Cycle3_MethodologyReport.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-11-08]

- Westat. Health Information National Trends Survey 5 (HINTS 5): cycle 4 methodology report. : National Cancer Institute; 2020 URL: <u>https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/methodologyreports/HINTS5_Cycle4_MethodologyReport.pdf</u> [accessed 2024-11-08]
- 39. Zheng S, Schrijvers JJA, Greuter MJW, Kats-Ugurlu G, Lu W, de Bock GH. Effectiveness of colorectal cancer (CRC) screening on all-cause and CRC-specific mortality reduction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancers (Basel) 2023 Mar 24;15(7):1948. [doi: 10.3390/cancers15071948] [Medline: 37046609]
- 40. American Cancer Society. Cancer facts & figures 2024. : American Cancer Society; 2024 URL: <u>https://www.cancer.org/</u> research/cancer-facts-statistics/all-cancer-facts-figures/2024-cancer-facts-figures.html [accessed 2024-11-08]
- Shah SK, Narcisse MR, Hallgren E, Felix HC, McElfish PA. Assessment of colorectal cancer screening disparities in U.S. men and women using a demographically representative sample. Cancer Res Commun 2022 Jun;2(6):561-569. [doi: 10.1158/2767-9764.crc-22-0079] [Medline: 36381661]
- 42. Doubeni CA, Fedewa SA, Levin TR, et al. Modifiable failures in the colorectal cancer screening process and their association with risk of death. Gastroenterology 2019 Jan;156(1):63-74. [doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.09.040]
- 43. Carethers JM. Racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. Adv Cancer Res 2021;151:197-229. [doi: <u>10.1016/bs.acr.2021.02.007</u>] [Medline: <u>34148614</u>]
- 44. Doubeni CA, Selby K, Gupta S. Framework and strategies to eliminate disparities in colorectal cancer screening outcomes. Annu Rev Med 2021 Jan 27;72:383-398. [doi: <u>10.1146/annurev-med-051619-035840</u>] [Medline: <u>33208026</u>]
- 45. Kim KY, Lee E, Cho J. Factors affecting healthcare utilization among patients with single and multiple chronic diseases. Iran J Public Health 2020 Dec;49(12):2367-2375. [doi: <u>10.18502/ijph.v49i12.4820</u>] [Medline: <u>34178743</u>]
- 46. Hayat U, Lee PJW, Lopez R, Vargo JJ, Rizk MK. Online educational video improves bowel preparation and reduces the need for repeat colonoscopy within three years. Am J Med 2016 Nov;129(11):1219. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.06.011</u>] [Medline: <u>27393880</u>]
- 47. Prakash SR, Verma S, McGowan J, et al. Improving the quality of colonoscopy bowel preparation using an educational video. Can J Gastroenterol 2013 Dec;27(12):696-700. [doi: 10.1155/2013/292636] [Medline: 24340313]
- 48. National Cancer Institute. HINTS brief number 45: trends and disparities in patient portal use. : National Cancer Institute; 2021 URL: <u>https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/Briefs/HINTS_Brief_45.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-08-29]
- 49. National Cancer Institute. HINTS brief number 52: disparities in patient portal communication, access, and use. : National Cancer Institute; 2023 URL: <u>https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/Briefs/HINTS_Brief_52.pdf</u> [accessed 2023-08-29]
- 50. Lyles CR, Nelson EC, Frampton S, Dykes PC, Cemballi AG, Sarkar U. Using electronic health record portals to improve patient engagement: research priorities and best practices. Ann Intern Med 2020 Jun 2;172(11 Suppl):S123-S129. [doi: 10.7326/M19-0876] [Medline: 32479176]
- Mishuris RG, Linder JA. Racial differences in cancer screening with electronic health records and electronic preventive care reminders. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2014 Oct;21(e2):e264-e269. [doi: <u>10.1136/amiajnl-2013-002439</u>] [Medline: <u>24637955</u>]
- 52. Myers RE, Sifri R, Hyslop T, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the impact of targeted and tailored interventions on colorectal cancer screening. Cancer 2007 Nov 1;110(9):2083-2091. [doi: <u>10.1002/cncr.23022</u>] [Medline: <u>17893869</u>]
- Christy SM, Davis SN, Williams KR, et al. A community-based trial of educational interventions with fecal immunochemical tests for colorectal cancer screening uptake among blacks in community settings. Cancer 2016 Nov 15;122(21):3288-3296. [doi: <u>10.1002/cncr.30207</u>] [Medline: <u>27420119</u>]
- 54. Kornacker D, Fitzgerald K, Elder S. A patient portal push toward acceptance and utilization of the technology. Patient Exp J 2019;6(2):20-27. [doi: 10.35680/2372-0247.1327]
- 55. Krist AH, Woolf SH, Bello GA, et al. Engaging primary care patients to use a patient-centered personal health record. Ann Fam Med 2014;12(5):418-426. [doi: 10.1370/afm.1691] [Medline: 25354405]
- Lee WW, Alkureishi MA, Ukabiala O, et al. Patient perceptions of electronic medical record use by faculty and resident physicians: a mixed methods study. J Gen Intern Med 2016 Nov;31(11):1315-1322. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11606-016-3774-3</u>] [Medline: <u>27400921</u>]
- 57. Silvestre AL, Sue VM, Allen JY. If you build it, will they come? The Kaiser Permanente model of online health care. Health Aff (Millwood) 2009;28(2):334-344. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.28.2.334] [Medline: 19275988]
- Neuner J, Fedders M, Caravella M, Bradford L, Schapira M. Meaningful use and the patient portal: patient enrollment, use, and satisfaction with patient portals at a later-adopting center. Am J Med Qual 2015;30(2):105-113. [doi: 10.1177/1062860614523488] [Medline: 24563085]
- 59. Final recommendation statement: screening for colorectal cancer. United States Preventive Services Task Force. 2022. URL: <u>https://uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/announcements/</u><u>final-recommendation-statement-screening-colorectal-cancer-0</u> [accessed 2024-10-21]
- 60. Saeed SA, Masters RM. Disparities in health care and the digital divide. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2021 Jul 23;23(9):61. [doi: 10.1007/s11920-021-01274-4] [Medline: 34297202]
- 61. Sheon A. Conference report: digital skills: a hidden 'Super' social determinant of health. 2018. URL: <u>https://iaphs.org/</u> <u>conference-report-digital-skills-hidden-super-social-determinant-health/</u> [accessed 2024-11-08]

- 62. Briggs LG, Labban M, Alkhatib K, Nguyen DD, Cole AP, Trinh QD. Digital technologies in cancer care: a review from the clinician's perspective. J Comp Eff Res 2022 May;11(7):533-544. [doi: 10.2217/cer-2021-0263] [Medline: 35416050]
- 63. Dougherty MK, Brenner AT, Crockett SD, et al. Evaluation of interventions intended to increase colorectal cancer screening rates in the United States: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Intern Med 2018 Dec 1;178(12):1645-1658. [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.4637] [Medline: 30326005]
- 64. Lam TYT, Wu PI, Tang RSY, Luk AKC, Ng S, Sung JJY. Mobile messenger-initiated reminders improve longitudinal adherence in a community-based, opportunistic colorectal cancer screening program: a single-blind, crossover randomized controlled study. Cancer 2021 Mar 15;127(6):914-921. [doi: 10.1002/cncr.33336] [Medline: 33216357]
- 65. Keswani RN, Gregory DL, Wood M, et al. Colonoscopy education delivered via the patient portal does not improve adherence to scheduled first-time screening colonoscopy. Endosc Int Open 2020 Mar;08(03):E401-E406. [doi: 10.1055/a-1072-4556]
- 66. Mannucci A, Zuppardo RA, Rosati R, Leo MD, Perea J, Cavestro GM. Colorectal cancer screening from 45 years of age: thesis, antithesis and synthesis. World J Gastroenterol 2019 Jun 7;25(21):2565-2580. [doi: <u>10.3748/wjg.v25.i21.2565</u>] [Medline: <u>31210710</u>]
- 67. Lin JS, Piper MA, Perdue LA, et al. Screening for colorectal cancer: updated evidence report and systematic review for the US Preventive Services Task Force. JAMA 2016 Jun 21;315(23):2576-2594. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2016.3332</u>] [Medline: <u>27305422</u>]

Abbreviations

CRC: colorectal cancer FIT: fecal immunochemical test gFOBT: guaiac-based fecal occult blood test HINTS: Health Information National Trends Survey IRB: institutional review board OMR: online medical record OR: odds ratio US: United States USPSTF: United States Preventive Services Task Force

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 29.09.23; peer-reviewed by FVD Baan, P Blasi, S Sadasivaiah; revised version received 04.09.24; accepted 25.09.24; published 04.12.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ewing AP, Tounkara F, Marshall D, Henry AV, Abdel-Rasoul M, McElwain S, Clark J, Hefner JL, Zaire PJ, Nolan TS, Tarver WL, Doubeni CA Examining Racial Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Screening and the Role of Online Medical Record Use: Findings From a Cross-Sectional Study of a National Survey JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e53229 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e53229 doi:10.2196/53229

© Aldenise P Ewing, Fode Tounkara, Daniel Marshall, Abhishek V Henry, Mahmoud Abdel-Rasoul, Skylar McElwain, Justice Clark, Jennifer L Hefner, Portia J Zaire, Timiya S Nolan, Willi L Tarver, Chyke A Doubeni. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 4.12.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.


Original Paper

Patterns of Prescription Medication Use Before Diagnosis of Early Age-Onset Colorectal Cancer: Population-Based Descriptive Study

Vienna Cheng^{1,2}, PharmD; Eric C Sayre³, PhD; Vicki Cheng^{1,2}, PharmD, MSc; Ria Garg⁴, PharmD; Sharlene Gill^{5,6}, MPH, MBA, MD; Ameer Farooq⁷, MPH, MD; Mary A De Vera^{1,2,8}, BSc, MSc, PhD

¹Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

²Collaboration for Outcomes Research and Evaluation, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁸Centre for Health Evaluation and Outcome Sciences, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Mary A De Vera, BSc, MSc, PhD Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences University of British Columbia 2405 Wesbrook Mall Vancouver, BC, V6T 1Z3 Canada Phone: 1 6048272138 Email: <u>mdevera@mail.ubc.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Colorectal cancer (CRC) is estimated to be the fourth most common cancer diagnosis in Canada (except for nonmelanoma skin cancers) and the second and third leading cause of cancer-related death in male and female individuals, respectively.

Objective: The rising incidence of early age-onset colorectal cancer (EAO-CRC; diagnosis at less than 50 years) calls for a better understanding of patients' pathway to diagnosis. Therefore, we evaluated patterns of prescription medication use before EAO-CRC diagnosis.

Methods: We used linked administrative health databases in British Columbia (BC), Canada, to identify individuals diagnosed with EAO-CRC between January 1, 2010, and December 31, 2016 (hereinafter referred to as "cases"), along with cancer-free controls (1:10), matched by age and sex. We identified all prescriptions dispensed from community pharmacies during the year prior to diagnosis and used the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification system Level 3 to group prescriptions according to the drug class. A parallel assessment was conducted for individuals diagnosed with average age-onset CRC (diagnosis at age 50 years and older).

Results: We included 1001 EAO-CRC cases (n=450, 45% female participants; mean 41.0, SD 6.1 years), and 12,989 prescriptions were filled in the year before diagnosis by 797 (79.7%) individuals. Top-filled drugs were antidepressants (first; n=1698, 13.1%). Drugs for peptic ulcer disease and gastroesophageal reflux disease (third; n=795, 6.1%) were more likely filled by EAO-CRC cases than controls (odds ratio [OR] 1.4, 95% CI 1.2-1.7) and with more frequent fills (OR 1.8, 95% CI 1.7-1.9). We noted similar patterns for topical agents for hemorrhoids and anal fissures, which were more likely filled by EAO-CRC cases than controls (OR 7.4, 95% CI 5.8-9.4) and with more frequent fills (OR 15.6, 95% CI 13.1-18.6).

Conclusions: We observed frequent prescription medication use in the year before diagnosis of EAO-CRC, including for drugs to treat commonly reported symptoms of EAO-CRC.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e50402) doi:10.2196/50402



³British Columbia Centre on Substance Use, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁴Leslie Dan Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁵Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁶BC Cancer, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁷School of Medicine Division of General Surgery, Queen's University, Kingston, ON, Canada

KEYWORDS

colorectal cancer; medications; medication patterns; cancer diagnosis; prediagnosis; prescriptions; patterns; early-onset; population-based; incidence; male individuals; female individuals; health databases; pharmacology; diagnostic; descriptive study; gastroenterology; cancers

Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is estimated to be the fourth most common cancer diagnosis in Canada (except for nonmelanoma skin cancers) and the second and third leading cause of cancer-related death in male and female individuals, respectively [1]. Given the marked onset of CRC among individuals aged 50 years, it was historically considered a disease for older adults. However, recent evidence particularly over the past decade has revealed a rise in the incidence of early age-onset CRC (EAO-CRC), defined as diagnosis among those younger than 50 years [2]. For example, a 2020 Canadian study [3] showed that between 2008 and 2017, the 30- to 39-year age group accounted for the most significant increase with age-specific average annual percent changes of 4.33 (95% CI 2.79-5.91) for female individuals and 4.53 (95% CI 2.89-6.19) for male individuals.

The increasing incidence of EAO-CRC has called for research to better understand various aspects of the disease [2-4], including the path to diagnosis, particularly patterns of health care use. Using administrative health databases in British Columbia (BC), Canada, a 2022 case-control study found that in comparison to age- and sex-matched cancer-free controls, individuals diagnosed with EAO-CRC experienced a marked increase in outpatient physician visits during the year prior to diagnosis, with the reason for visit most commonly documented as nausea, vomiting, and abdominal pain [5]. Therefore, delineating patterns of prescription medication use before diagnosis of EAO-CRC may provide further insight, particularly as certain pharmacologic treatments may suggest potential diagnostic opportunities for EAO-CRC. In 2017, Pottegård and Hallas [6] used the Danish Cancer Registry to evaluate prescription drug use in the 24 months preceding a diagnosis of lung, breast, colon, and prostate cancers and found a stable pattern that markedly increased at 6 months before diagnosis. Among a prespecified list of drug classes that may likely be prescribed for early symptoms of one of the cancers studied (eg, drugs against overactive bladder may be associated with future prostate cancer diagnosis and drugs against constipation or diarrhea may be associated with future colon cancer diagnosis), such as opioids, oral antidiabetics, and statins, authors found that for those with colon cancer, the increased prescription rates before diagnosis were for proton pump inhibitors and antibiotics [6]. It is important to assess whether a similar pattern is presenting in another jurisdiction with a specific focus on CRC and considering age at diagnosis, particularly given the increasing incidence of EAO-CRC [2-4]. Thus, our primary aim was to assess patterns of prescription medication use among individuals with EAO-CRC during the year preceding diagnosis. To contextualize our findings, we also assessed patterns of prescription medication use among age- and sex-matched cancer-free controls and individuals diagnosed with average-age onset CRC (AAO-CRC; 50 years

and older). We aim to better understand the pathway to diagnosis through evaluating patterns of prescription medication use in the year preceding EAO-CRC diagnosis.

Methods

Data Sources

As with prior population-based research on the epidemiology of EAO-CRC [7], we linked administrative health databases capturing longitudinal and deidentified individual-level health services data for the province of BC, Canada [8-14]. Population Data BC facilitated data access to the Medical Services Plan database on outpatient visits [13], the Discharge Abstract Database on inpatient visits [14], the Consolidation File for demographics [11], the Vital Statistics File for deaths [12], and the PharmaNet database on all prescriptions dispensed in community pharmacies regardless of payer [15]. These databases were linked to the BC Cancer Registry, which includes data on cancer diagnosis (eg, date and site) [9].

Study Design

A population-based descriptive observational study was conducted. First, we identified CRC cases as individuals diagnosed with CRC between January 1, 2010, and December 31, 2016, using International Classification of Diseases for Oncology, Third Edition (ICD-O-3) codes, specifically: C18.2-C18.9 (colon), C19.9 (rectosigmoid), and C20 and C21.8 (rectum). Our study period coincided with the beginning (in 2010) of population-based reporting of staging data, based on American Joint Committee on Cancer staging guidelines, with >85% capture in the BC Cancer Registry [16,17]. We assigned the index date as the date of definitive diagnosis from the BC Cancer Registry based on tissue diagnosis of CRC (endoscopist, surgeon, or oncologist). Next, we further classified cases as those with EAO-CRC (diagnosed at less than 50 years of age) and AAO-CRC (diagnosed at 50 years of age or later). We matched individuals with CRC to cancer-free controls (1:up to 10) on age and sex. Controls were also required to have a health care use (ie, outpatient visit, hospitalization, or prescription fill) within the same year their matched case was diagnosed. Controls were assigned an index date, which corresponded to their match date (Multimedia Appendix 1 illustrates data sources and study sample).

Prescription Medication Use

We assessed the use of prescription medications over the 1-year period preceding the index date using the PharmaNet database. We drew rationale for evaluating the 1-year period before diagnosis from the study by Pottegård and Hallas [6] showing marked prescription drug use 6 months before cancer diagnosis and from our own prior work with patterns of outpatient physician visits the year before cancer diagnosis [5]. By law, prescriptions dispensed from community pharmacies in BC must be entered in PharmaNet, a province-wide network [15].

XSL•FO

Thus, we were able to assess all prescriptions, regardless of payer, and extracted relevant information including prescription date, drug identification number, and Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification [18]. In particular, we used the third-level ATC code, allowing us to categorize drugs according to first level-main anatomical or pharmacological group (eg, А alimentary tract and metabolism); second level-pharmacological or therapeutic subgroup (eg, A10 drugs used in diabetes); third and fourth levels-chemical, pharmacological, or therapeutic subgroup (eg, A10B blood glucose-lowering drugs and A10BA biguanides; Multimedia Appendix 2).

Statistical Analysis

We used descriptive statistics (eg, mean and proportions) to characterize all individuals included in our study sample according to age, sex (female or male), socioeconomic status (determined using neighborhood income per person equivalent adjusted for household size), type of residence (rural vs urban, determined using Census Metropolitan Area or Census Agglomeration from geographical census data). For individuals with CRC, the cancer site using ICD-O-3 codes (eg, rectum, left colon, right colon, and transverse colon) and stage at diagnosis were also determined.

We assessed patterns of prescriptions among EAO-CRC cases overall and according to sex and stage age at diagnosis, reporting counts and proportions using both prescriptions and persons as units of analyses. Using logistic regression, we evaluated determinants of our outcome of having ≥ 1 prescription filled in the year before diagnosis among EAO-CRC cases. Potential determinants included age, sex, neighborhood income quintile, residence, cancer diagnosis site, and stage. We used a backward stepwise approach and retained the model variables based on statistical or clinical significance. We then compared patterns of prescription medications among EAO-CRC cases and controls, reporting counts, proportions, and odds ratios (ORs) and corresponding 95% CI, where relevant. We also compared patterns of prescription medications among EAO-CRC and AAO-CRC cases, reporting counts, proportions, ORs and corresponding 95% CIs, where relevant. We completed all these analyses using SAS statistical software (version 9.4; SAS Institute).

Study Conduct

All inferences, opinions, and conclusions drawn in this paper are those of the authors and do not reflect the opinions or policies of the Data Stewards.

Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the University of British Columbia's Behavioural Research Ethics Board (H17-03530) and was performed in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations. Consent to participate was waived by the University of British Columbia's Behavioural Research Ethics Board, as this research involves secondary use of data. Individual-level health services data from the linked administrative health databases were deidentified or scrambled.

Results

Our study included 1001 cases with EAO-CRC (n=450, 45% female participants; mean age 41.0, SD 6.1 years) and 10,010 matched cancer-free controls (n=4500, 45% female participants; mean age 41.0, SD 6.1 years). As shown in Table 1, EAO-CRC cases were most frequently diagnosed with cancer in the rectum (n=418, 41.8%) and with stage III (n=351, 35%) and stage IV (n=270, 27%) disease. In our parallel analyses, we identified 12,331 cases with AAO-CRC (n=5536, 44.9% female participants, mean age 66.6, SD 9.2 years), who were most frequently diagnosed with cancer in the left colon (n=5210, 42.3%) and stage III (n=3644, 29.6%) or stage II (n=2996, 24.3%) disease.

There were 12,989 prescription events among 797 (79.7%) EAO-CRC cases and 174,806 prescription events among 7796 (77.9%) matched cancer-free controls. With respect to individuals, there is no significant difference in the proportions of EAO-CRC cases and controls filling prescriptions (OR 1.11, 95% CI 0.94-1.3). However, with respect to the number of prescriptions filled, among 797 EAO-CRC cases, there was a mean of 16.3 (SD 73.7) prescriptions (median 5.0) per case; whereas for 7796 controls, there was a mean of 22.4 (SD 99.3) prescriptions (median 6.0) per control. Multimedia Appendix 3 summarizes medication classes that represent $\geq 1\%$ (n ≥ 130 prescriptions for EAO-CRC cases and n≥1748 prescriptions for controls) of all prescriptions in the year before diagnosis for EAO-CRC cases and controls. Assessing specific medications including ranking and frequency revealed patterns of use. For example, antidepressants (ATC3 N06A) were the top medications filled by both EAO-CRC cases (n=1698, 13.1% of prescriptions) and controls (n=17,262, 9.9% of prescriptions) with EAO-CRC having more frequent fills (OR 1.4, 95% CI 1.3-1.4) than cases. Gastrointestinal drugs (ATC3 N02A; for peptic ulcer disease and gastroesophageal reflux disease) were the third most filled prescriptions by EAO-CRC cases (n=795, 6.1% of prescriptions) and fifth most filled by controls (n=6126, 3.5% of prescriptions) with EAO-CRC cases having higher odds of filling (OR 1.4, 95% CI 1.2-1.7) and having more frequent fills (OR 1.8, 95% CI 1.7-1.9). Relatedly, agents for the treatment of hemorrhoids and anal fissures for topical use (ATC3 C05A) and drugs for constipation (ATC3 A06A) represent the ninth (n=275, 2.1% of prescriptions) and tenth (n=250, 1.9% of prescriptions) most filled prescriptions by EAO-CRC cases, respectively, but were not among $\geq 1\%$ (n≥1748 prescriptions) of prescriptions for controls. EAO-CRC cases had higher odds of filling (OR 7.4, 95% CI 5.8-9.4) and had more frequent fills (OR 15.6, 95% CI 13.1-18.6) for topical agents for hemorrhoids and anal fissures. Among EAO-CRC cases, factors associated with filling 1 or more prescriptions in the year before diagnosis included having inflammatory bowel disease (adjusted odds ratio [aOR] 3.43; 95% CI 1.20-9.78) and depression (aOR 4.20, 95% CI 1.49-11.85). As well, number of outpatient visits was also a determinant with an aOR of 1.14 (95% CI 1.09-1.18).

Table 1. Characteristics of individuals with EAO-CRC^a (less than 50 years), AAO-CRC^b (50 years and older), and their respective controls.

Characteristic	EAO-CRC		AAO-CRC	
	Cases (n=1001)	Controls (n=10,010)	Cases (n=12,331)	Controls ^c (n=123,310)
Age (years), mean (SD)	41 (6.1)	41 (6.1)	66.6 (9.2)	66.6 (9.2)
Female participants, n (%)	450 (45)	4500 (45)	5536 (44.9)	55,360 (44.9)
Neighborhood income quintile, n (%)				
Quintile 1	191 (19.5)	2178 (21.8)	2585 (21)	24,750 (20.1)
Quintile 2	202 (19.6)	2071 (20.7)	2409 (19.7)	24,748 (20.1)
Quintile 3	205 (20.3)	2024 (20.2)	2455 (19.9)	24,561 (19.9)
Quintile 4	230 (22.9)	1993 (19.9)	2487 (20.1)	24,093 (19.5)
Quintile 5	173 (17.8)	1744 (17.4)	2395 (19.4)	25,158 (20.4)
Residence, n (%)				
Urban	887 (88.6)	9070 (90.6)	10,530 (85.4)	106,516 (86.4)
Rural	114 (11.4)	940 (9.4)	1801 (14.6)	16,794 (13.6)
Cancer diagnosis site, n (%)				
Rectum	418 (41.8)	N/A ^d	3848 (31.2)	N/A
Left colon	410 (41)	N/A	5210 (42.3)	N/A
Right colon	102 (10.2)	N/A	2232 (18.1)	N/A
Transverse colon	55 (5.5)	N/A	753 (6.1)	N/A
Cancer diagnostic stage, n (%)				
IV	270 (27)	N/A	2340 (19)	N/A
III	351 (35)	N/A	3644 (29.6)	N/A
II	205 (20.5)	N/A	2996 (24.3)	N/A
Ι	143 (14.3)	N/A	2680 (21.7)	N/A
0	32 (3.2)	N/A	671 (5.4)	N/A

^aEAO-CRC: early age-onset colorectal cancer.

^bAAO-CRC: average age-onset colorectal cancer.

 c Cancer-free controls for individuals with AAO-CRC were not analyzed for study purposes but reported demographic characteristics for completeness. d N/A: not applicable.

We further assessed patterns of prescription medication use among EAO-CRC cases stratified by sex and stage. Multimedia Appendix 4 shows medication classes that represent $\geq 1\%$ (n ≥ 130 prescriptions) of all prescription events in the year before EAO-CRC diagnosis according to sex. We observed a higher number of prescriptions (n=7295) representing 56.2% of all events among 420/551 (76.2%) male EAO-CRC cases. In contrast, 377/450 (83.8%) female EAO-CRC cases had a lower number of prescriptions (n=5694) representing 43.8% of events. In terms of frequency of prescriptions by sex, we found higher fills for antidepressants (n=1075, 14.7% male patients and n=623, 10.9% female patients), antiepileptics (n=711, 9.8% male patients and n=421, 7.4% female patients), gastrointestinal drugs (n=582, 8% male patients and n=213, 3.7% female patients), as well as pain-related medications such as opioids (n=426, 5.8% male patients and n=219, 3.9% female patients) and other analgesics and antipyretics (n=79, 1.1% male patients and n=33, <1% female patients) for male patients with EAO-CRC than female patients with EAO-CRC. When

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e50402

RenderX

EAO-CRC cases were stratified by stage, we observed the following prescription events among individuals: stage I (1620 prescription events in 112, 78.3% cases), stage II (3523 prescription events in 167, 81.5% cases), stage III (3226 prescription events in 283, 80.6% cases), and stage IV (4620 prescription events in 209, 77.4% cases). As seen visually by the blue bars in Multimedia Appendix 5, drugs belonging to the nervous system class were the most represented across all 4 stages. Of note, when considering number of prescriptions, those among stage IV EAO-CRC cases represented 35.6% (n=4620) of all prescription events in contrast to those among stage I EAO-CRC cases, which represented 12.5% (n=1620) of all prescription events. Antidepressants were the most filled medications among individuals diagnosed at stage II (n=502, 14.2%) and IV (n=880, 19%; Multimedia Appendix 5). Of interest, gastrointestinal drugs were the most used in stage IV EAO-CRC cases (n=510, 11%). Topical agents for the treatment of hemorrhoids and anal fissures were mostly filled by stage III EAO-CRC cases (n=128, 4%). Drugs for constipation were the

highest used in stage II EAO-CRC cases (n=92, 2.6%) and lowest in stage I EAO-CRC cases (n=22, 1.4%).

For further context, when we analyzed 12,331 AAO-CRC cases, we observed a total of 317,271 prescription events among 10,979 (89%) individuals (Multimedia Appendix 6), mean of 28.9 (SD 83.9) prescriptions (median 13.0) per AAO-CRC case. While antidepressants (n=1698, 13.1%) and antiepileptics (n=1132, 8.7%) were the top 2 most frequently filled medications among EAO-CRC cases, these drug classes were observed to be the third and seventh most used medications among AAO-CCRC cases (n=15,097, 4.8% and n=10,689, 3.4%, respectively). Instead, the AAO-CRC group showed lipid modifying agents (n=21,898, 6.9%) and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (n=16,292, 5.1%) as the top 2 most used medication classes. Drugs that may be used to treat symptoms associated with potential CRC diagnosis were more frequently filled among EAO-CRC than AAO-CRC cases cases including gastrointestinal drugs (EAO-CRC: n=795, 6.1% and AAO-CRC: n=14,964, 4.7%), nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory and antirheumatic products (EAO-CRC: n=449, 3.5% and AAO-CRC: n=3430, 1.1%), topical agents for treatment of hemorrhoids and anal fissures (EAO-CRC: n=275, 2.1% and AAO-CRC: n=1672, <1%), and drugs for constipation (EAO-CRC: n=250, 1.9% and n=2897, <1%). EAO-CRC cases also revealed a higher use of opioids (EAO-CRC: n=645, 5% and AAO-CRC: n=9602, 3%).

Discussion

Overview

Using population-based administrative data, we assessed patterns of prescription medications in the year before diagnosis among individuals with EAO-CRC to understand the role of medications in the pathway to diagnosis in a condition that has seen a considerable increase in incidence [2-4]. Among 1001 EAO-CRC cases, 12,989 prescriptions were filled in the year before diagnosis by 797 (79.7%) individuals. With respect to medications, antidepressants were most commonly filled (n=1698, 13.1%), followed by antiepileptics (n=1132, 8.7%) and gastrointestinal drugs (ie, drugs for peptic ulcer disease and gastroesophageal reflux disease; n=795, 6.1%). Sex-based analyses revealed that male EAO-CRC cases had a higher number of prescriptions (n=7295, 56.2% of prescription events) but at a lower proportion (420/551, 76.2%), whereas female EAO-CRC cases had a lower number of prescriptions (n=5694, 43.8% of prescription events) but at a higher proportion (377/450, 83.8%).

Principal Findings and Comparison to Prior Work

Given the increasing risk of EAO-CRC [4] and reported diagnostic delays in prior studies [19,20], we were particularly interested in studying the patterns of prescription medication use leading to diagnosis in individuals with EAO-CRC and understanding potential diagnostic opportunities. To our knowledge, this study is the first to assess patterns of prescription use before diagnosis of EAO-CRC. In 2017, using Danish nationwide health registries on cancer and prescription drugs, Pottegård and Hallas [6] assessed the new use of prescription drugs among patients with lung, breast, colon, and

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e50402
```

prostate cancers 24 months preceding their cancer diagnosis. Authors found similar patterns of drug use between cancer cases and population controls in the 24- to 12-month period before cancer diagnosis. Among colon cancer cases, authors showed an increase in the use of prespecified drug classes that were likely prescribed for symptoms relating to their cancer, namely, proton pump inhibitors, laxatives or drugs against diarrhea, and opioid analgesics. However, this study did not characterize participants, and as such, it is not feasible to draw findings according to age as well as sex and stage, as with our study. With respect to prescription medication use specifically among individuals with CRC, a 2021 cohort study by Engeland et al [21] using data from the Cancer Registry of Norway primarily assessed prescription medications after diagnosis but also reported on use in the year before diagnosis. Authors evaluated a prespecified list of drugs according to 5 major categories and reported the top 3 most commonly used drug groups in the year before diagnosis such as those for cardiovascular diseases (use prevalence 24.8%); endocrine, nutritional, and metabolic diseases (use prevalence 17.8%); and mental and behavioral disorders (use prevalence 6.7%). Although the study included patients with CRC aged 20-84 years, there was no reporting of drug use according to age groups. Furthermore, with 530 individuals in the 20- to 39-year age category comprising 2% of the study population, reported findings largely reflect drug use among older patients with CRC.

Indeed, this study provides a better understanding of patterns of prescription medication use specifically in EAO-CRC. In contrast to the aforementioned studies [6,21], which assessed prespecified lists of drugs based on reimbursement, we were able to assess all prescriptions, regardless of payer, given comprehensive capture in the PharmaNet database. At the outset, we initially assumed that the most common prescriptions filled during the year of diagnosis were for gastrointestinal and pain, based on previously reported symptoms of EAO-CRC [22]. Indeed, among the top 10 classes of most frequently filled prescriptions by EAO-CRC cases were gastrointestinal drugs for peptic ulcer disease and gastroesophageal reflux disease (third), opioids (fourth), anti-inflammatory and antirheumatic drugs and nonsteroids (sixth), topical agents for hemorrhoids and anal fissures (ninth), and drugs for constipation (10th). We believe the increased use of these drugs for EAO-CRC symptoms in the year prior to diagnosis may be the early manifestations of red flag signs and symptoms of CRC. A 2023 population-based case-control study by Fritz et al [23] identified 4 red-flag signs and symptoms (rectal bleeding, abdominal pain, diarrhea, and iron-deficiency anemia) that were associated with a heightened risk of EAO-CRC between 3 months to 2 years preceding diagnosis (ORs range between 1.34 and 5.13). These red flag symptoms align with the clinical indications of our results, where gastrointestinal drugs, pain medications, and rectal medications were among the top 10 classes of most frequently filled prescriptions by EAO-CRC cases in the year prior to diagnosis. These results highlight the importance of ensuring individuals younger than 50 years consistently presenting with these early warning signs, and symptoms or medication use patterns are being given ample opportunities for further work-up and early detection of CRC at their health care interactions. Stratified analyses by sex and stage further

XSL•FO RenderX

reveal patterns such as higher use of pain-related medications and gastrointestinal drugs by male EAO-CRC cases. Our findings also suggest sex differences in health care use in terms of more frequent prescriptions among a smaller number of male EAO-CRC cases compared to less frequent prescriptions among a greater number of female EAO-CRC cases. With respect to stage, gastrointestinal drugs were most used in stage IV EAO-CRC cases, topical agents for treatment of hemorrhoids and anal fissures were by stage III EAO-CRC cases, and drugs for constipation were the highest used in stage II EAO-CRC cases and lowest in stage IV EAO-CRC cases. In contextualizing findings with those of controls, while opioids (fourth), gastrointestinal drugs (fifth), and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory and antirheumatic drugs (seventh) were among the top 10 classes of filled prescriptions by matched cancer-free controls, they were at a lower frequency than EAO-CRC cases. Interestingly, topical agents for hemorrhoids and anal fissures and drugs for constipation were not among $\geq 1\%$ (n ≥ 1748 prescriptions) of prescription events among controls.

Our findings on patterns of prescription medication use before diagnosis support a study rationale of exploring targets for raised awareness and education on the increasing risk of EAO-CRC to allied health care providers, particularly pharmacists. With patients reportedly seeing pharmacists 1.5 to 10 times more frequently than primary care physicians [24], these may represent windows of opportunity for education or identification of risks for diseases, including cancer. A survey of community pharmacists suggests that patients have long sought advice from pharmacists about possible cancer signs and symptoms [25]. With respect to CRC, pharmacists are gaining recognition for their roles in the initiation of average age screening in various jurisdictions [26-28]. In the United States, a 2-phased study showed high satisfaction among individuals from limited-income populations with pharmacists speaking to them regarding CRC screening [27]. In Spain, evaluation of a population-based CRC screening program showed high adherence by participating pharmacies (82.4%) with respect to distributing fecal immunochemical test kits and a high return rate by invitees (93.5%), demonstrating the important role that pharmacists play in the program [29]. There is indeed potential to expand on pharmacists' roles when it comes to educating individuals regarding CRC, including younger adults about EAO-CRC. To date, calls to action have largely focused on increasing awareness among primary care physicians on the increasing risk of EAO-CRC [30,31]; however, it is also important to consider other health care providers, particularly pharmacists, given their accessibility and as prescriptions represent a frequent health care encounter prior to CRC diagnosis.

Aside from patterns of prescription medication use, a noteworthy finding from this study is that antidepressants represent the top prescribed drug class for EAO-CRC cases in the year before diagnosis, representing 13.1% (n=1698) of all prescription events. For context, antidepressants were also the top prescribed drug class for matched cancer-free controls but at a lower frequency, 9.9% (n=17,262). For further context, among AAO-CRC cases, antidepressants were the third most prescribed drug class (n=15,097, 4.8%) after angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (n=16,292, 5.1%) and lipid modifying agents

XSL•FO

(n=21,898, 6.9%). A potential reason for this finding is a diagnostic delay of CRC that commonly occurs in the young patient population [20], which may lead to anxiety and depressive symptoms [32]. A systematic review that compared the delays and outcomes between younger and older patients with CRC found that younger patients are at a higher risk of experiencing delays from symptom onset to presentation, as they are not eligible for screening [20]. Consequently, a delay in cancer diagnosis in the younger population is associated with an increased risk of anxiety and depression [32]. A cross-sectional study in 2022 found that patient intervals (symptom onset to first seeing a general practitioner) of ≥ 1 month were associated with greater depression (aOR 1.7, 95% CI 1.1-2.5) compared to <1 month and having \geq 3 prereferral general practitioner consultations were associated with greater anxiety (aOR 1.6, 95% CI 1.1-2.3) compared to 1-2 consultations [32]. The main reasons that could contribute to the increased risk of emotional distress in the adolescents and young adult population prior to a diagnosis include patients' persistent symptoms being dismissed due to young age, unresolved symptoms, and the fear of a potential cancerous diagnosis [32,33]. Furthermore, a 2022 cohort study that used the same administrative databases as this study found that compared to individuals without cancer, those with EAO-CRC did not have a higher onset of depression after diagnosis (adjusted hazard ratio [aHR] 1.00, 95% CI 0.92-1.10) [34]. However, individuals with EAO-CRC had a 41% higher risk of onset of depression after diagnosis compared to individuals with AAO-CRC (aHR 1.41, 95% CI 1.25-1.60) [34]. Since we were not able to link indications to prescription events, we do not know whether antidepressants were prescribed for depression or for other reasons, such as pain. Nonetheless, findings in this study suggest a substantial burden of depression even before EAO-CRC diagnosis, which further indicates the need for person-centered mental health services for individuals with EAO-CRC across the entire spectrum of care.

Strengths and Limitations

The strengths and limitations of this study warrant discussion. We drew EAO-CRC cases and controls from population-based administrative health databases, namely Population Data BC and the BC Cancer Registry, which capture data on approximately 95% of all cancer cases in the province [9]. The BC Cancer Registry is reviewed annually for quality, completeness, and accuracy by the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries [9]. Nevertheless, this study is vulnerable to inherent limitations with administrative health data, which are not collected for research purposes. Although we have data on cancer stage, it is important to note this information in the BC Cancer Registry is not acquired using a systematic approach with sources including death certificates, pathology reports, and death certificates. Finally, administrative databases in BC do not yet capture information on the social construct of gender, and as such, we are not able to incorporate this into our analysis.

Conclusions and Future Directions

Altogether, using generalizable, population-based data, including a complete capture of all prescriptions, we delineated patterns

of medication use before diagnosis of EAO-CRC. Our findings suggest a high frequency of prescription fills in the year before diagnosis of EAO-CRC, including for drugs to treat commonly reported symptoms of EAO-CRC. As efforts continue to raise awareness on the increasing risk of EAO-CRC, our findings provide support for also considering the role of other health care providers, particularly pharmacists. Altogether, prescription medications represent a common and potentially, frequent, point-of-contact with the health care system and thus may lend to a better understanding of trajectories for individuals with EAO-CRC.

Acknowledgments

This research was funded by a project grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, "Examining the epidemiology, treatment, and outcomes in young-onset colorectal cancer" (funding reference PJT-159467). The funder had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. MADV holds a Tier 2 Canada Research Chair.

Data Availability

The data that support the findings of this study are available from Population Data BC but restrictions apply to the availability of these data, which were used under license for this study, and so are not publicly available. Data are available from Population Data BC through a data access request. Therefore, the data sets generated and analyzed during this study are not publicly available due to strict data sharing agreements with the BC Ministry of Health but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

Vienna C contributed to conceptualization, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, project administration, visualization, data interpretation, and writing original draft. ECS contributed to data curation, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, software, validation, and visualization. Vicki C and RG contributed to conceptualization, investigation, visualization, data interpretation, and writing original draft. MADV contributed to funding acquisition, conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, project administration, resources, supervision, visualization, data interpretation, and writing original draft. All authors reviewed and edited the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Overview of data sources and study sample (dashed arrow indicates linkages between databases using personal health numbers, which are then deidentified or scrambled).

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 90 KB - cancer_v10i1e50402_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Level 1 groups. [DOCX File , 14 KB - cancer_v10i1e50402_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Frequency of prescriptions in the year before diagnosis for early age-onset colorectal cancer cases and cancer-free controls according to Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Level 3 Classification. [DOCX File , 21 KB - cancer v10i1e50402 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Frequency of prescriptions in the year before diagnosis among male and female early age-onset colorectal cancer cases, according to Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Level 3 Classification. [DOCX File, 21 KB - cancer v10i1e50402 app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Bar charts showing percentage of prescriptions for the top 10 drug classes by Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification Level 3 code, according to stage for early age-onset colorectal cancer cases. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 423 KB - cancer v10i1e50402 app5.pdf]



RenderX

Multimedia Appendix 6

Frequency of prescriptions in the year before diagnosis for early age-onset colorectal cancer and average age-onset colorectal cancer cases according to Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Level 3 Classification. [DOCX File , 21 KB - cancer v10i1e50402 app6.docx]

References

- 1. Colorectal cancer statistics. Canadian Cancer Society. 2022. URL: <u>https://cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/cancer-types/</u> <u>colorectal/statistics</u> [accessed 2024-06-12]
- Brenner DR, Heer E, Sutherland RL, Ruan Y, Tinmouth J, Heitman SJ, et al. National trends in colorectal cancer incidence among older and younger adults in Canada. JAMA Netw Open 2019 Jul 03;2(7):e198090 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.8090] [Medline: 31365108]
- O'Sullivan DE, Hilsden RJ, Ruan Y, Forbes N, Heitman SJ, Brenner DR. The incidence of young-onset colorectal cancer in Canada continues to increase. Cancer Epidemiol 2020 Dec;69:101828. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.canep.2020.101828</u>] [Medline: <u>32998071</u>]
- 4. Patel P, De P. Trends in colorectal cancer incidence and related lifestyle risk factors in 15-49-year-olds in Canada, 1969-2010. Cancer Epidemiol 2016 Jun;42:90-100. [doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2016.03.009] [Medline: 27060626]
- Farooq A, Brown CJ, Sayre EC, Raval MJ, Loree JM, Garg R, et al. Patterns of healthcare utilization leading to diagnosis of young-onset colorectal cancer (yCRC): population-based case-control study. Cancers (Basel) 2022 Aug 31;14(17):4263 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/cancers14174263] [Medline: 36077797]
- Pottegård A, Hallas J. New use of prescription drugs prior to a cancer diagnosis. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2017 Feb;26(2):223-227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pds.4145] [Medline: 27889931]
- Howren A, Sayre EC, Loree JM, Gill S, Brown CJ, Raval MJ, et al. Trends in the incidence of young-onset colorectal cancer with a focus on years approaching screening age: a population-based longitudinal study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2021;113(7):863-868 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djaa220] [Medline: 33492399]
- 8. BC Ministry of Health. 2019. URL: http://www.popdata.bc.ca/data [accessed 2024-06-10]
- 9. BC Cancer Registry. BC Cancer. 2019. URL: <u>http://www.bccancer.bc.ca/health-professionals/professional-resources/</u> <u>bc-cancer-registry</u> [accessed 2024-06-12]
- 10. BC Ministry of Health. PharmaNet data set. Data source: BC Ministry of Health. Data Extract. Data Stewardship Committee. URL: <u>https://www.popdata.bc.ca/data/health/pharmanet</u> [accessed 2024-06-11]
- 11. BC Ministry of Health. Central demographics file (MSP registration and premium billings, client roster and census geodata)/Consolidation file (MSP registration and premium billing) data set. Population Data BC. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.popdata.bc.ca/data/demographic/consolidation_file</u> [accessed 2024-06-11]
- 12. BC vital events and statistics stillbirths data set. Data source: BC Ministry of Health. BC Vital Statistics Agency. Population Data BC. URL: <u>https://www.popdata.bc.ca/data/demographic/vs_stillbirths</u> [accessed 2024-06-11]
- 13. British Columbia Ministry of Health. Medical services plan (MSP) payment information file. Population Data BC. URL: https://www.popdata.bc.ca/data/health/msp [accessed 2024-06-11]
- 14. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Discharge abstract database (hospital separations). Population Data BC. URL: https://www.popdata.bc.ca/data/health/dad [accessed 2024-06-11]
- 15. BC Ministry of Health. About PharmaNet. Data Extract. Data Stewardship Committee. 2019. URL: <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/health-drug-coverage/pharmacare-for-bc-residents/pharmanet</u> [accessed 2024-06-11]
- 16. Amin MB, Edge SB, American Joint Committee on Cancer. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. 8th Edition. Switzerland: Springer; 2017.
- 17. BC Cancer. 2013. URL: <u>http://www.bccancer.bc.ca/health-professionals/networks/family-practice-oncology-network/</u> guidelines-protocols [accessed 2021-10-26]
- 18. Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) Classification. World Health Organization. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/</u> tools/atc-ddd-toolkit/atc-classification [accessed 2024-06-11]
- Rydbeck D, Asplund D, Bock D, Haglind E, Park J, Rosenberg J, et al. Younger age at onset of colorectal cancer is associated with increased patient's delay. Eur J Cancer 2021;154:269-276 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejca.2021.06.020</u>] [Medline: <u>34298377</u>]
- 20. Castelo M, Sue-Chue-Lam C, Paszat L, Scheer AS, Hansen BE, Kishibe T, et al. Clinical delays and comparative outcomes in younger and older adults with colorectal cancer: a systematic review. Curr Oncol 2022;29(11):8609-8625 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/curroncol29110679] [Medline: 36421332]
- Engeland A, Ghaderi S, Dos-Santos-Silva I, Furu K, Hjellvik V, Kvåle R, et al. Prescribed drugs in 27 000 individuals after diagnosis of colorectal cancer: a population-based cohort study. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2021;30(8):1037-1048. [doi: 10.1002/pds.5243] [Medline: <u>33822430</u>]
- 22. Araujo L. Shared experiences of diagnosis and treatment of young-onset colorectal cancer: a patient-oriented qualitative study. J Psychosoc Oncol Res Pract 2020;20(1):e17. [doi: 10.1097/or9.00000000000017]
- 23. Fritz CDL, Otegbeye EE, Zong X, Demb J, Nickel KB, Olsen MA, et al. Red-flag signs and symptoms for earlier diagnosis of early-onset colorectal cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2023;115(8):909-916. [doi: <u>10.1093/jnci/djad068</u>] [Medline: <u>37138415</u>]

RenderX

- 24. Tsuyuki RT, Beahm NP, Okada H, Al Hamarneh YN. Pharmacists as accessible primary health care providers: review of the evidence. Can Pharm J 2018;151(1):4-5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1715163517745517] [Medline: 29317929]
- 25. Lum BL, McWaters DS, Mergener MA. Cancer detection and the community pharmacist. Am Pharm 1989;NS29(7):54-59. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0160-3450(15)31746-3</u>] [Medline: <u>2763979</u>]
- 26. Ambizas EM. The pharmacists role in colorectal cancer screening. US Pharmacist. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.uspharmacist.com/article/the-pharmacists-role-in-colorectal-cancer-screening</u> [accessed 2024-06-12]
- 27. Holle LM, Levine J, Buckley T, White CM, White C, Hadfield MJ. Pharmacist intervention in colorectal cancer screening initiative. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003) 2020;60(4):e109-e116. [doi: 10.1016/j.japh.2020.02.014] [Medline: 32197754]
- 28. Prentice A, Marshall S, Vance M, Choglay S, von Wagner C, Kerrison R. Colorectal cancer screening and the role of community pharmacy. Pharm J 2019 Jan 23:1-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1211/pj.2019.20205674]
- 29. Vives N, Milà N, Binefa G, Travier N, Farre A, Vidal C, et al. Role of community pharmacies in a population-based colorectal cancer screening program. Prev Med 2021;145:106420. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106420] [Medline: 33422578]
- De Vera MA, Gill S, Ashamalla S, Schiller D, Brenner DR, Wong C, et al. Early-age-onset colorectal cancer in Canada: evidence, issues and calls to action. Curr Oncol 2022;29(5):3149-3159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/curroncol29050256] [Medline: 35621646]
- Akimoto N, Ugai T, Zhong R, Hamada T, Fujiyoshi K, Giannakis M, et al. Rising incidence of early-onset colorectal cancer—a call to action. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2021;18(4):230-243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41571-020-00445-1] [Medline: 33219329]
- 32. Forster AS, Herbert A, Koo MM, Taylor RM, Gibson F, Whelan JS, et al. Associations between diagnostic time intervals and health-related quality of life, clinical anxiety and depression in adolescents and young adults with cancer: cross-sectional analysis of the BRIGHTLIGHT cohort. Br J Cancer 2022;126(12):1725-1734 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41416-022-01698-6] [Medline: 35190694]
- 33. Miedema BB, Easley J, Hamilton R. Young adults' experiences with cancer: comments from patients and survivors. Can Fam Physician 2006;52(11):1446-1447 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17279205</u>]
- Howren A, Sayre EC, Cheng V, Oveisi N, McTaggart-Cowan H, Peacock S, et al. Risk of anxiety and depression after diagnosis of young-onset colorectal cancer: a population-based cohort study. Curr Oncol 2022;29(5):3072-3081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/curroncol29050249] [Medline: 35621639]

Abbreviations

AAO-CRC: average age-onset colorectal cancer **aHR**: adjusted hazard ratio **aOR**: adjusted odds ratio **ATC**: Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical **BC**: British Columbia **CRC**: colorectal cancer **EAO-CRC**: early age-onset colorectal cancer **ICD-O-3**: International Classification of Diseases for Oncology, Third Edition **OR**: odds ratio

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 11.08.23; peer-reviewed by B Uko, L Zhu, T McFarlane; comments to author 16.04.24; revised version received 25.04.24; accepted 24.05.24; published 12.07.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Cheng V, Sayre EC, Cheng V, Garg R, Gill S, Farooq A, De Vera MA Patterns of Prescription Medication Use Before Diagnosis of Early Age-Onset Colorectal Cancer: Population-Based Descriptive Study JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e50402 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e50402</u> doi:10.2196/50402 PMID:

©Vienna Cheng, Eric C Sayre, Vicki Cheng, Ria Garg, Sharlene Gill, Ameer Farooq, Mary A De Vera. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 12.07.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete



bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Viewpoint

"Notification! You May Have Cancer." Could Smartphones and Wearables Help Detect Cancer Early?

Suzanne E Scott¹, BSc, MSc, PhD; Matthew J Thompson², BSc, MBChB, MPH, DPhil

¹Centre for Cancer Screening, Prevention and Early Diagnosis, Wolfson Institute of Population Health, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom

²Department of Family Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Suzanne E Scott, BSc, MSc, PhD Centre for Cancer Screening, Prevention and Early Diagnosis Wolfson Institute of Population Health Queen Mary University of London Charterhouse Square London, EC1M 6BQ United Kingdom Phone: 44 2078823550 Email: suzanne.scott@qmul.ac.uk

Abstract

This viewpoint paper considers the authors' perspectives on the potential role of smartphones, wearables, and other technologies in the diagnosis of cancer. We believe that these technologies could be valuable additions in the pursuit of early cancer diagnosis, as they offer solutions to the timely detection of signals or symptoms and monitoring of subtle changes in behavior that may otherwise be missed. In addition to signal detection, technologies could assist symptom interpretation and guide and facilitate access to health care. This paper aims to provide an overview of the scientific rationale as to why these technologies could be valuable for early cancer detection, as well as outline the next steps for research and development to drive investigation into the potential for smartphones and wearables in this context and optimize implementation. We draw attention to potential barriers to successful implementation, including the difficulty of the development of signals and sensors with sufficient utility and accuracy through robust research with the target group. There are regulatory challenges; the potential for innovations to exacerbate inequalities; and questions surrounding acceptability, uptake, and correct use by the intended target group and health care practitioners. Finally, there is potential for unintended consequences on individuals and health care resources.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52577) doi:10.2196/52577

KEYWORDS

wearables; early diagnosis; cancer; challenges; diagnosis; wearable; detect; detect; monitor; smartphone; cancer diagnosis; symptoms; monitoring; monitor; implementation; anxiety; health care service; mobile phone

Introduction

There is growing use of smartphones, wearables, and other technologies in health and wellness, either as consumer products or medical devices. The *National Health Service (NHS) Long Term Plan* [1] anticipates that in 10 years, people will have "the option for their physiology to be effortlessly monitored by wearable devices. People will be helped to stay well, to recognize important symptoms early, and to manage their own health, guided by digital tools." Similarly, in 2020, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) launched a *Digital Health Innovation Action Plan* to encourage digital health innovation as "digital health technologies can empower consumers to make

RenderX

better-informed decisions about their own health and provide new options for facilitating prevention, early diagnosis of life-threatening diseases, and management of chronic conditions outside of traditional care settings" [2]. Wearables are devices that can be worn to detect and monitor biometric data such as heart rate, blood oxygen saturation, sleep pattern, or temperature while the wearer continues their normal routines. A further category of wearables involves skin patches used to measure biochemical signals (ie, glucose) on a continuous basis that are increasingly being considered as a standard of care for individuals with certain conditions (eg, diabetes) [3]. While most wearables have been wrist-worn devices, similar physiologic signals are now being generated from other devices

such as rings or earbuds. Smartphones are also increasingly being used for health and wellness; they have the advantage of far higher use (compared with wearables), and a growing array of different sensors are routinely embedded. Could smartphones and wearables help detect cancer and, importantly, detect cancer earlier in its disease course when it is more likely to be localized and with a better prognosis? This paper provides an overview of the scientific rationale as to why these technologies could be valuable for early detection of cancer, the potential barriers to successful implementation, and the next steps for research and development.

Potential of Smartphones and Wearables for Early Detection of Cancer

While national cancer screening programs offer the opportunity to detect cancer or precancerous lesions in asymptomatic individuals, routine screening currently only accounts for the minority (<10%) of cancer diagnoses [4,5]. The predominant route to a cancer diagnosis is symptomatic presentation to ambulatory care. Thus, the diagnosis of cancer heavily relies on patients' ability to notice and attend to relevant bodily changes and their decision to consult a health care professional [6,7]. However, noticing relevant bodily changes is challenging given the multiple subtle changes that may signal cancer among the plethora of daily bodily changes; fluctuations of normal bodily processes; self-limiting, transient symptoms; and the presence of chronic conditions. The signal-to-noise ratio is weak. This issue is exacerbated by individuals' limited ability to accurately interpret vague bodily changes, many of which can be associated with cancer (eg, fatigue, weight loss, and stomach upset). This is because our awareness, attention, and interpretation are affected by expectations; emotions; beliefs; biological, environmental, sociodemographic, and and contextual factors [8-11]. Furthermore, symptoms may evolve very slowly over time, making it difficult to notice subtle changes. It is reported that the predominant risk factor for delay in seeking help following the detection of cancer symptoms is the "lack of interpretation by patients of the serious nature of their symptoms" [12].

Smartphones and wearable technologies have the potential to facilitate the detection and tracking of bodily changes that might otherwise be dismissed or interpreted as only needing self-medication rather than the attention of a health care professional. There is emerging data about early, subtle signs of cancer, and some of these may be amenable to detection by electronic sensors and monitoring of behavior (see Table 1).

Table 1. Potential signals of cancer that can be measured using sensors in smartphones or wearables.

Sensors currently available on some smartphones or wearables	Examples of signals for health features that could be related to cancer
Audio signals from microphones [13]	 Changes in cough and breathing difficulty (associated with lung cancer) [14] Changes in voice such as hoarseness (associated with head and neck cancer and lung cancer) [14]
GPS location tracking and activity tracking [15]	• Reduced activity resulting from fatigue (associated with multiple cancers) [14]
Image capture and analysis [16-18]	 Anemia detected from images of the skin or eyes (associated with multiple cancers) [19] Jaundice detected from images of the skin or eyes (associated with pancreatic cancer) [20] Changes in skin lesions (associated with skin cancer) [14]
Temperature measurement [21]	• Rise in temperature (associated with pancreatic cancer) [22]
Body composition using image analysis and electro dermal activity [23]	• Weight loss (associated with multiple cancers) [14]
Photoplethysmogram [24]	• Anemia (associated with multiple cancers) [19]

Sensors could allow the detection of changes prior to them being noticed or interpreted as symptoms, for example, a reduction in activity prior to fatigue or changes in food consumption prior to weight loss. There is recent evidence that monitoring day-to-day purchases could detect an increase in over-the-counter pain and indigestion medication 8 months prior to ovarian cancer diagnosis [25]. This demonstrates how tracking and monitoring change over time could allow insight into emerging disease. This is particularly useful for clinicians working in health care settings with limited time and resources and where cancer is a relatively rare occurrence among the burden of other diseases. In addition to the detection of signals, smartphones and wearables could alert the user to the need for health care consultation and provide an endorsement to seek

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52577

care. This could overcome the commonly reported barrier to presentation ("concern about bothering the doctor") that arises when there is uncertainty about the need for care [26-28].

Potential Barriers to Successful Implementation

Overview

Despite the promise of smartphones and wearables for early detection of cancer, there are several hurdles to implementation that require attention. Key barriers to success are outlined here, alongside suggestions for how these may be addressed with future research.

Signals and Sensors With Accuracy and Utility

The use and adoption of smartphones and wearables in this context require robust research into the selection of a signal, the development of sensors, and the generating evidence of accuracy and utility of those sensors in the real world. This includes identifying physiologic (or emerging pathophysiologic) signals that are most predictive of cancer, determining how often these need to be collected, and elucidating what other data would add precision to results (eg, age, risk factors, and presence of symptoms). For technology developers, sensors are usually designed and prioritized for a number of potential applications, mainly targeting overall health and wellness rather than diagnostic capabilities per se. Prioritizing these research and development efforts for cancer detection specifically over and above other priorities could be challenging to justify for business development reasons. Relatedly, the original intended commercial purpose of existing sensors may not have been connected to cancer detection. To make headway in this field of research, technology developers and device users will need to be willing to provide access to data for research. General Data Protection Regulation allows device users to share their data with third-party organizations under the right to portability. Developing systems to facilitate data sharing, in formats compatible with health data, could allow the generation of new data sets to signal cancer risk. This will prevent duplication of effort and maximize the use of existing data for public benefit.

While initial evidence on the accuracy of a sensor to detect a given health signal could involve case-control studies (eg, individuals recently diagnosed with cancer and matched controls), subsequent research would likely require large prospective cohorts. Further, given the weak signal-to-noise ratio, it is likely that signals from wearables or smartphones alone might lack sensitivity or specificity. Therefore, research that combines signals from wearables or smartphones with other digital sources of data (eg, symptoms recorded in health records and initial laboratory tests in primary care) will almost certainly be needed to demonstrate sufficient accuracy and utility in target populations. This was recently highlighted in a systematic review [29] of artificial intelligence technologies for skin cancer detection. Despite an abundance of digital products, the review highlighted that there has been very little testing in low-prevalence populations and limited data on the use of lower-quality images (eg, taken by patients or family physicians or using lower-quality phones), and as such, widespread adoption into practice has been limited [30].

Innovators also need to consider (and test) whether these new digital tools should and could detect more than 1 type of cancer (or detect other potentially important nonmalignant diseases; eg, cirrhosis in individuals with jaundice or depression in individuals with weight loss). Other considerations include who the target group is (eg, all adults or only those at higher risk of developing cancer), at what point in time (eg, certain age), and at what periodicity that group should begin using this technology for the detection of cancer. Further, it is well documented that symptom monitoring increases selective attention to the body, resulting in increased symptom reporting [31]; thus, the monitoring of symptoms could result in increased symptom burden. Development and testing need to determine the extent

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52577
```

to which the monitoring of activity, symptoms, and other signals changes the outputs of those measurements [32,33].

Regulatory Challenges

Given the burden involved in fulfilling regulatory approvals for diagnostic devices, many smartphone technologies and wearables that could potentially have value for cancer detection will instead be introduced as products for overall health and wellness management. As the field expands, more guidance and standards for digital health tools are being introduced to ensure that they are not only safe and effective but also adoptable by the health care system [34]. For example, the recent UK National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE) evidence standards framework [35] is intended to ensure new digital health technologies are clinically effective and offer value to the health care system. The framework includes standards concerning safety, quality, acceptability, bias mitigation, data practices, professional oversight, credibility with health professionals, safeguarding assurances, scalability, as well as evidence of real-world performance and use. In some countries, consumer protection regulations also determine standards that certain wellness features (eg, step counting and heart rate measurement) need to fulfill, even though these are not regulated medical devices. As specified in the CanTest framework for early cancer detection [36], research and development will benefit from this early specification of the criteria (eg, target product profiles) needed for successful digital products for cancer detection [37-39].

Ensuring Equity

A key issue of wearables and smartphone technologies is the potential for new innovations to exacerbate inequalities in cancer outcomes. Sociodemographic factors such as household income, age, level of education, and gender have been found to influence the use of mobile health (mHealth) technology [40-44] and there is "a real risk that the increased use of digital technologies will make care experiences and outcomes worse for some people (or communities)" [45]. Development of wearables and smartphone technologies for cancer detection should be conducted with an equity lens to focus on the views and needs of those living or working in more deprived areas and those at risk of lower health literacy (eg, those with lower educational level, older age, lower income, and ethnic minority groups) [46,47], so that cultural attitudes toward the use of technology, affordability, and access can be a focus in their development. Inclusion and diversity within the development and testing of sensors are vital so that products are not biased and work equally regardless of skin color or other physiological differences [29]. Affordability is also a crucial point. Even though smartphone use is extensive [48] in both higher- and lower-income countries, the availability and quality of sensors differ across brands and models of smartphones. Wearable devices have far lower penetration in most high-income countries and lower still in those individuals with lower socioeconomic status. If accurate and reliable sensors are only available on high-end devices, then the net result will be inequitable outcomes. The consideration of a reverse innovation approach may be useful here if it is possible, to focus testing on inexpensive, easy-to-use products that can be rolled out at scale.

XSL•FO RenderX

Acceptability and Adherence

Crucial to the successful implementation of any innovation is early insight into the user perspective, including acceptability, uptake, and correct use by the intended target group [49-51]. Yet, this consultation is often omitted or occurs too late in mHealth implementation, resulting in user burden; technical issues; poor designs; and ultimately the lack of uptake, adherence, and impact of the technology [49,52-54]. Indeed, there is currently an absence of research on user perspectives on wearables and smartphone technologies for the detection of cancer. While key issues such as cost, motivation, comfort, ease of use, trust in data use, visibility, and interpretability of data are applicable across the spectrum of wearables and smartphone technologies in health [40,55], there may be additional, specific challenges for using these innovations for the detection of cancer.

In this context, acceptability also pertains to individuals' willingness to share their data from smartphones and wearables with researchers, medical professionals, or private companies. Willingness to share data from wearables was reported to be lower than that for other commercial data [56]. Less than 15% (n=65) of survey respondents aged 60 years and older were willing to share wearable device data with academic research institutions and only 40% (n=423) of those aged 18-59 years were willing to do so. Trust in organizations and worry about data misuse have been shown to be a key factor in people's willingness to share commercial data for health research [56]. Ensuring clear and transparent data use and data-sharing policies is vital for success. There are real concerns about the misuse of data, commercialization, and access to data by unauthorized people [57]. While data sharing is an essential component in the use of smartphones and wearables for cancer detection, data protection is equally as vital.

In research studies of wearables, dropout rates can be up to 44% [40], and nonadherence to wearing devices for the study duration can be up to 50% [58,59]. Nonadherence is likely to be even higher in people with preexisting comorbidities and for technologies requiring long-term engagement, as may be needed for cancer detection to track signals over time. Balancing the advantages and disadvantages of continuous versus intermittent measurements at certain intervals should be a key consideration.

It is, therefore, essential to investigate user perspectives in parallel with the development and potential future deployment of wearables and smartphone technologies for cancer detection. This also includes encompassing the views of clinicians who are involved in the ongoing surveillance and care of those with a history of cancer and would inevitably be involved in shared decision-making on the potential implementation of such technologies and, crucially, the ongoing clinical management of individuals whose sensors indicate signals of possible cancer. In general, primary care clinicians have not typically been deeply engaged in the implementation of other consumer-grade or regulated medical devices; understanding from these clinicians' viewpoint on how they could use information from smartphones and wearables within their clinical care pathways is critical to any adoption [60].

Unintended Consequences on Individuals and Health Care Services

The exciting potential of wearable technologies for cancer detection must be considered alongside the possible negative consequences. As seen with other new developments in cancer detection, given the overall very low prevalence of cancer, even tests with very high specificity will lead to a large number of individuals with false positives. The subsequent need for investigation and resources needed to differentiate those with false versus true positives (ie, do have cancer) could be considerable. For the majority of individuals, this could lead to huge risks of overinvestigation and inappropriate use of health care resources [61]. For cancer detection specifically, we can anticipate a far higher potential for wearables and smartphone technologies to generate anxiety than for other conditions (eg, detection of sleep apnea, or detection of irregular heartbeat), especially among those already fearful of cancer recurrence. This is particularly relevant to the question of how "results" should be delivered to users, what support would be needed at that time, and whose responsibility this would be. On the other hand, wearable use may lead to a false sense of reassurance, leading to a lower perceived need to attend cancer screening or respond to symptoms (eg, "my wearable says I am healthy...there is no need to see my doctor"). This is similar to when a negative cancer screening test result can overly reassure patients and affect subsequent decisions to seek care [62]. These issues about the psychological and behavioral impact of smartphone technologies and wearables to detect cancer remain unexplored and need focused behavioral science research.

Conclusions

For most cancers, the time from detecting a bodily change to interpreting that change as requiring the advice of a health care professional constitutes a substantial proportion of the time prior to diagnosis. The detection of cancer remains one of the most prominent priorities of many health systems, governments, and private and public research funders [63,64], and "leaving no stone unturned" in technologies that could potentially improve early detection is a priority. The rapid advances in the hardware (ie, sensors) and software embedded in smartphones and wearables offer exciting and potentially untapped opportunities to detect early warning signs of cancer that may otherwise be missed. The research and development needed to advance this field include the selection of appropriate signals and development of effective sensors followed by robust clinical research into accuracy in real-world settings. This relies on the up-front specification of the target groups and their needs. Target product profiles should be developed specifically for cancer detection technologies, and innovators should consult these and consider regulatory challenges early in the process of development, to design products in line with the requirements of individuals, clinicians, and health care systems. The potential negative consequences of this type of technology should be acknowledged and investigated up-front, and mitigations should be incorporated into the design and implementation strategies. To avoid exacerbation of inequalities in cancer outcomes, research into the use of wearables and smartphone technologies in cancer detection should be done with an equity lens to ensure

XSI•F(

that products are developed for those who have poorer health outcomes, for whom new innovations could have the most impact. There is a need for research to explore the patient, public, and health care perspectives about the use of smartphones and wearables for the early detection of cancer while this field is in its infancy, so that these can be incorporated into product design to optimize acceptability and adherence, avoid unintended consequences, and maximize the chance of their success.

Acknowledgments

SES is supported by Barts Charity (G-001520; MRC&U0036). MJT received no funding in support of this manuscript.

Authors' Contributions

SES and MJT conceived the work that led to the submission. SES drafted the manuscript. SES and MJT revised the manuscript and approved the final version.

Conflicts of Interest

SES declares no conflicts of interest. MJT is an employee of Google and owns Alphabet stock. None of the opinions or views stated in this paper reflect the opinions or views of Google Inc.

References

- 1. The NHS long term plan. National Health Service. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/</u>08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf [accessed 2024-04-25]
- 2. Digital health innovation action plan. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.fda.gov/media/106331/</u> download [accessed 2024-04-25]
- Domingo-Lopez DA, Lattanzi G, Schreiber LHJ, Wallace EJ, Wylie R, O'Sullivan J, et al. Medical devices, smart drug delivery, wearables and technology for the treatment of diabetes mellitus. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2022;185:114280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2022.114280] [Medline: 35405298]
- 4. Elliss-Brookes L, McPhail S, Ives A, Greenslade M, Shelton J, Hiom S, et al. Routes to diagnosis for cancer—determining the patient journey using multiple routine data sets. Br J Cancer 2012;107(8):1220-1226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2012.408] [Medline: 22996611]
- 5. NHS Digital. 2023. URL: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/ndrs/data/data-outputs/cancer-data-hub/cancer-routes-to-diagnosis</u> [accessed 2024-04-25]
- 6. Scott SE, Walter FM, Webster A, Sutton S, Emery J. The model of pathways to treatment: conceptualization and integration with existing theory. Br J Health Psychol 2013;18(1):45-65. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.2044-8287.2012.02077.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22536840</u>]
- Andersen BL, Cacioppo JT, Roberts D. Delay in seeking a cancer diagnosis: delay stages and psychophysiological comparison processes. Br J Soc Psychol 1995;34 (Pt 1):33-52. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.2044-8309.1995.tb01047.x</u>] [Medline: <u>7735731</u>]
- Kummer S, Walter FM, Chilcot J, Emery J, Sutton S, Scott SE. Do cognitive heuristics underpin symptom appraisal for symptoms of cancer?: a secondary qualitative analysis across seven cancers. Psychooncology 2019;28(5):1041-1047. [doi: 10.1002/pon.5049] [Medline: 30828881]
- 9. Broadbent E, Petrie KJ. Symptom perception. In: Ayers S, Baum A, McManus C, Newman S, Wallston K, Weinman J, et al, editors. Cambridge Handbook of Psychology, Health and Medicine, 2nd Edition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2007:219-223.
- Cioffi D. Beyond attentional strategies: cognitive-perceptual model of somatic interpretation. Psychol Bull 1991;109(1):25-41. [doi: <u>10.1037/0033-2909.109.1.25</u>] [Medline: <u>2006227</u>]
- 11. Kolk AM, Hanewald GJFP, Schagen S, Gijsbers van Wijk CMT. A symptom perception approach to common physical symptoms. Soc Sci Med 2003;57(12):2343-2354. [doi: 10.1016/s0277-9536(02)00451-3] [Medline: 14572841]
- Macleod U, Mitchell ED, Burgess C, Macdonald S, Ramirez AJ. Risk factors for delayed presentation and referral of symptomatic cancer: evidence for common cancers. Br J Cancer 2009;101(Suppl 2):S92-S101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605398] [Medline: 19956172]
- 13. Zhang M, Sykes DL, Brindle K, Sadofsky LR, Morice AH. Chronic cough-the limitation and advances in assessment techniques. J Thorac Dis 2022;14(12):5097-5119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/jtd-22-874] [Medline: 36647459]
- Koo MM, Swann R, McPhail S, Abel GA, Elliss-Brookes L, Rubin GP, et al. Presenting symptoms of cancer and stage at diagnosis: evidence from a cross-sectional, population-based study. Lancet Oncol 2020;21(1):73-79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30595-9] [Medline: <u>31704137</u>]
- 15. Germini F, Noronha N, Debono VB, Philip BA, Pete D, Navarro T, et al. Accuracy and acceptability of wrist-wearable activity-tracking devices: systematic review of the literature. J Med Internet Res 2022;24(1):e30791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30791] [Medline: 35060915]

- Suner S, Rayner J, Ozturan IU, Hogan G, Meehan CP, Chambers AB, et al. Prediction of anemia and estimation of hemoglobin concentration using a smartphone camera. PLoS One 2021;16(7):e0253495 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0253495] [Medline: 34260592]
- Park JH, Yang MJ, Kim JS, Park B, Kim JH, Sunwoo MH. Deep-learning-based smartphone application for self-diagnosis of scleral jaundice in patients with hepatobiliary and pancreatic diseases. J Pers Med 2021;11(9):928 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jpm11090928] [Medline: 34575705]
- Sangers T, Reeder S, van der Vet S, Jhingoer S, Mooyaart A, Siegel DM, et al. Validation of a market-approved artificial intelligence mobile health app for skin cancer screening: a prospective multicenter diagnostic accuracy study. Dermatology 2022;238(4):649-656 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000520474] [Medline: 35124665]
- Boennelykke A, Jensen H, Østgård LSG, Falborg AZ, Hansen AT, Christensen KS, et al. Cancer risk in persons with new-onset anaemia: a population-based cohort study in Denmark. BMC Cancer 2022;22(1):805 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-022-09912-7] [Medline: 35864463]
- 20. Stapley S, Peters TJ, Neal RD, Rose PW, Walter FM, Hamilton W. The risk of pancreatic cancer in symptomatic patients in primary care: a large case-control study using electronic records. Br J Cancer 2012;106(12):1940-1944 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2012.190] [Medline: 22617126]
- Dolson CM, Harlow ER, Phelan DM, Gabbett TJ, Gaal B, McMellen C, et al. Wearable sensor technology to predict core body temperature: a systematic review. Sensors (Basel) 2022;22(19):7639 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3390/s22197639</u>] [Medline: <u>36236737</u>]
- 22. Sah RP, Sharma A, Nagpal S, Patlolla SH, Sharma A, Kandlakunta H, et al. Phases of metabolic and soft tissue changes in months preceding a diagnosis of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Gastroenterology 2019;156(6):1742-1752 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.01.039] [Medline: 30677401]
- Farina GL, Orlandi C, Lukaski H, Nescolarde L. Digital single-image smartphone assessment of total body fat and abdominal fat using machine learning. Sensors (Basel) 2022;22(21):8365 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s22218365] [Medline: 36366063]
- Acharya S, Swaminathan D, Das S, Kansara K, Chakraborty S, Kumar RD, et al. Non-invasive estimation of hemoglobin using a multi-model stacking regressor. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2020;24(6):1717-1726. [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2019.2954553] [Medline: 31751256]
- Brewer HR, Hirst Y, Chadeau-Hyam M, Johnson E, Sundar S, Flanagan JM. Association between purchase of over-the-counter medications and ovarian cancer diagnosis in the Cancer Loyalty Card Study (CLOCS): observational case-control study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2023;9:e41762 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/41762] [Medline: 36701184]
- 26. Cromme SK, Whitaker KL, Winstanley K, Renzi C, Friedemann Smith C, Wardle J. Worrying about wasting GP time as a barrier to help-seeking: a community-based, qualitative study. Br J Gen Pract 2016;66(648):e474-e482 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp16X685621] [Medline: 27215569]
- 27. Robb K, Stubbings S, Ramirez A, Macleod U, Austoker J, Waller J, et al. Public awareness of cancer in Britain: a population-based survey of adults. Br J Cancer 2009;101(Suppl 2):S18-S23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605386] [Medline: 19956158]
- 28. Niksic M, Rachet B, Warburton FG, Wardle J, Ramirez AJ, Forbes LJL. Cancer symptom awareness and barriers to symptomatic presentation in England--are we clear on cancer? Br J Cancer 2015;113(3):533-542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2015.164] [Medline: 26125450]
- 29. Jones OT, Matin RN, van der Schaar M, Bhayankaram KP, Ranmuthu CKI, Islam MS, et al. Artificial intelligence and machine learning algorithms for early detection of skin cancer in community and primary care settings: a systematic review. Lancet Digit Health 2022;4(6):e466-e476 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(22)00023-1] [Medline: 35623799]
- British association of dermatologists position statement on artificial intelligence (AI) interventions. British Association of Dermatologists. 2022. URL: <u>https://cdn.bad.org.uk/uploads/2022/05/05083421/Position-Statement-on-Artificial-Intelligence.</u> pdf [accessed 2024-04-25]
- 31. Schroé H, Van Dyck D, De Paepe A, Poppe L, Loh WW, Verloigne M, et al. Which behaviour change techniques are effective to promote physical activity and reduce sedentary behaviour in adults: a factorial randomized trial of an e- and m-health intervention. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2020;17(1):127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-01001-x] [Medline: 33028335]
- 32. Webb T, De Bruin M. Monitoring interventions. In: Hagger MS, Cameron LD, Hamilton K, Hankonen N, Lintunen T, editors. The Handbook of Behavior Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2020:537-553.
- 33. Kroenke K. Studying symptoms: sampling and measurement issues. Ann Intern Med 2001;134(9 Pt 2):844-853. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-134-9 part 2-200105011-00008] [Medline: 11346320]
- Torous J, Stern AD, Bourgeois FT. Regulatory considerations to keep pace with innovation in digital health products. NPJ Digit Med 2022;5(1):121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-022-00668-9] [Medline: 35986056]
- 35. Evidence standards framework for digital health technologies. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/corporate/ecd7</u> [accessed 2024-04-25]

RenderX

- 36. Walter FM, Thompson MJ, Wellwood I, Abel GA, Hamilton W, Johnson M, et al. Evaluating diagnostic strategies for early detection of cancer: the CanTest framework. BMC Cancer 2019;19(1):586 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-5746-6] [Medline: 31200676]
- Wang P, Kricka LJ. Current and emerging trends in point-of-care technology and strategies for clinical validation and implementation. Clin Chem 2018;64(10):1439-1452 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1373/clinchem.2018.287052</u>] [Medline: <u>29884677</u>]
- 38. Drucker E, Krapfenbauer K. Pitfalls and limitations in translation from biomarker discovery to clinical utility in predictive and personalised medicine. EPMA J 2013;4(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1878-5085-4-7] [Medline: 23442211]
- Cocco P, Ayaz-Shah A, Messenger MP, West RM, Shinkins B. Target product profiles for medical tests: a systematic review of current methods. BMC Med 2020;18(1):119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-020-01582-1] [Medline: 32389127]
- 40. Simblett S, Greer B, Matcham F, Curtis H, Polhemus A, Ferrão J, et al. Barriers to and facilitators of engagement with remote measurement technology for managing health: systematic review and content analysis of findings. J Med Internet Res 2018;20(7):e10480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10480] [Medline: 30001997]
- Engelhard MM, Patek SD, Sheridan K, Lach JC, Goldman MD. Remotely engaged: lessons from remote monitoring in multiple sclerosis. Int J Med Inform 2017;100:26-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.01.006</u>] [Medline: <u>28241935</u>]
- 42. Jonassaint CR, Shah N, Jonassaint J, De Castro L. Usability and feasibility of an mHealth intervention for monitoring and managing pain symptoms in sickle cell disease: the Sickle cell disease Mobile Application to Record symptoms via Technology (SMART). Hemoglobin 2015;39(3):162-168. [doi: 10.3109/03630269.2015.1025141] [Medline: 25831427]
- Huang F, Chang P, Hou IC, Tu MH, Lan CF. Use of a mobile device by nursing home residents for long-term care comprehensive geriatric self-assessment: a feasibility study. Comput Inform Nurs 2015;33(1):28-36. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000115] [Medline: 25397723]
- 44. Buchem I, Merceron A, Kreutel J, Haesner M, Steinert A. Gamification designs in wearable enhanced learning for healthy ageing. 2015 Presented at: 2015 International Conference on Interactive Mobile Communication Technologies and Learning (IMCL); November 19-20, 2015; Thessaloniki, Greece p. 9-15. [doi: 10.1109/imctl.2015.7359545]
- 45. Supporting digital inclusion in health care. The King's Fund. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/digital-equity</u> [accessed 2024-04-25]
- 46. Christy SM, Gwede CK, Sutton SK, Chavarria E, Davis SN, Abdulla R, et al. Health literacy among medically underserved: the role of demographic factors, social influence, and religious beliefs. J Health Commun 2017;22(11):923-931 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2017.1377322] [Medline: 29125435]
- von Wagner C, Knight K, Steptoe A, Wardle J. Functional health literacy and health-promoting behaviour in a national sample of British adults. J Epidemiol Community Health 2007;61(12):1086-1090 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech.2006.053967] [Medline: 18000132]
- 48. The mobile economy. GSM Association. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.gsma.com/mobileeconomy/wp-content/uploads/2022/</u> 02/280222-The-Mobile-Economy-2022.pdf [accessed 2023-07-01]
- 49. Ross J, Stevenson F, Lau R, Murray E. Factors that influence the implementation of e-health: a systematic review of systematic reviews (an update). Implement Sci 2016;11(1):146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0510-7] [Medline: 27782832]
- 50. Dudley L, Gamble C, Preston J, Buck D, EPIC Patient Advisory Group, Hanley B, et al. What difference does patient and public involvement make and what are its pathways to impact? qualitative study of patients and researchers from a cohort of randomised clinical trials. PLoS One 2015;10(6):e0128817 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0128817] [Medline: 26053063]
- 51. Patient and public involvement policy. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/</u> <u>about/nice-communities/nice-and-the-public/public-involvement/public-involvement-programme/</u> <u>patient-public-involvement-policy</u> [accessed 2024-04-25]
- 52. Altman M, Huang TTK, Breland JY. Design thinking in health care. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:E117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd15.180128] [Medline: 30264690]
- Polhemus AM, Novák J, Ferrao J, Simblett S, Radaelli M, Locatelli P, et al. Human-centered design strategies for device selection in mHealth programs: development of a novel framework and case study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(5):e16043 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16043] [Medline: 32379055]
- 54. Mummah SA, Robinson TN, King AC, Gardner CD, Sutton S. IDEAS (Integrate, Design, Assess, and Share): a framework and toolkit of strategies for the development of more effective digital interventions to change health behavior. J Med Internet Res 2016;18(12):e317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5927] [Medline: 27986647]
- 55. Seneviratne MG, Connolly SB, Martin SS, Parakh K. Grains of sand to clinical pearls: realizing the potential of wearable data. Am J Med 2023;136(2):136-142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2022.10.006] [Medline: 36351523]
- 56. Hirst Y, Stoffel ST, Brewer HR, Timotijevic L, Raats MM, Flanagan JM. Understanding public attitudes and willingness to share commercial data for health research: survey study in the United Kingdom. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2023;9:e40814 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/40814] [Medline: 36951929]

RenderX

- 57. Flanagan JM, Skrobanski H, Shi X, Hirst Y. Self-care behaviors of ovarian cancer patients before their diagnosis: proof-of-concept study. JMIR Cancer 2019;5(1):e10447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10447] [Medline: 30664464]
- Eisenhauer CM, Hageman PA, Rowland S, Becker BJ, Barnason SA, Pullen CH. Acceptability of mHealth technology for self-monitoring eating and activity among rural men. Public Health Nurs 2017;34(2):138-146. [doi: <u>10.1111/phn.12297</u>] [Medline: <u>27757986</u>]
- Naslund JA, Aschbrenner KA, Barre LK, Bartels SJ. Feasibility of popular m-health technologies for activity tracking among individuals with serious mental illness. Telemed J E Health 2015;21(3):213-216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.0105] [Medline: 25536190]
- 60. Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Papoutsi C, Lynch J, Hughes G, A'Court C, et al. Beyond adoption: a new framework for theorizing and evaluating nonadoption, abandonment, and challenges to the scale-up, spread, and sustainability of health and care technologies. J Med Internet Res 2017;19(11):e367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8775] [Medline: 29092808]
- Marlow LAV, Schmeising-Barnes N, Brain K, Duncombe S, Robb KA, Round T, et al. Multi-cancer early detection tests for cancer screening: a behavioural science perspective. Lancet Oncol 2022;23(7):837-839. [doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(22)00161-9] [Medline: 35772452]
- 62. Barnett KN, Weller D, Smith S, Steele RJ, Vedsted P, Orbell S, et al. The contribution of a negative colorectal screening test result to symptom appraisal and help-seeking behaviour among patients subsequently diagnosed with an interval colorectal cancer. Health Expect 2018;21(4):764-773 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12672] [Medline: 29457677]
- 63. Cancer moonshot. National Cancer Institute. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/research/key-initiatives/</u> moonshot-cancer-initiative [accessed 2024-04-25]
- 64. NHS long term plan ambitions for cancer. NHS England. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/cancer/strategy/</u> [accessed 2024-04-25]

Abbreviations

FDA: Food and Drug Administration **NICE:** National Institute of Health and Care Excellence **NHS:** National Health Service **mHealth:** mobile health

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 08.09.23; peer-reviewed by Y Hirst, H Brewer; comments to author 21.02.24; accepted 12.03.24; published 20.05.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Scott SE, Thompson MJ "Notification! You May Have Cancer." Could Smartphones and Wearables Help Detect Cancer Early? JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52577 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52577</u> doi:<u>10.2196/52577</u> PMID:<u>38767941</u>

©Suzanne E Scott, Matthew J Thompson. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 20.05.2024. This is an the article distributed under the Commons Attribution License open-access terms of Creative (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Artificial Intelligence as a Potential Catalyst to a More Equitable Cancer Care

Sebastian Garcia-Saiso^{1*}, MPH; Myrna Marti^{1*}, MPH; Karina Pesce^{2*}, MPH, PhD; Silvana Luciani^{1*}, PhD; Oscar Mujica¹, MD; Anselm Hennis^{1*}, PhD; Marcelo D'Agostino^{1*}, MD

¹Pan American Health Organization, Washington, DC, United States

²Hospital Italiano de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Marcelo D'Agostino, MD Pan American Health Organization 525 23rd st NW Washington, DC, 20037 United States Phone: 1 7034737961 Email: dagostim@paho.org

Abstract

As we enter the era of digital interdependence, artificial intelligence (AI) emerges as a key instrument to transform health care and address disparities and barriers in access to services. This viewpoint explores AI's potential to reduce inequalities in cancer care by improving diagnostic accuracy, optimizing resource allocation, and expanding access to medical care, especially in underserved communities. Despite persistent barriers, such as socioeconomic and geographical disparities, AI can significantly improve health care delivery. Key applications include AI-driven health equity monitoring, predictive analytics, mental health support, and personalized medicine. This viewpoint highlights the need for inclusive development practices and ethical considerations to ensure diverse data representation and equitable access. Emphasizing the role of AI in cancer care, especially in low- and middle-income countries, we underscore the importance of collaborative and multidisciplinary efforts to integrate AI effectively and ethically into health systems. This call to action highlights the need for further research on user experiences and the unique social, cultural, and political barriers to AI implementation in cancer care.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e57276) doi:10.2196/57276

KEYWORDS

digital health; public health; cancer; artificial intelligence; AI; catalyst; cancer care; cost; costs; demographic; epidemiological; change; changes; healthcare; equality; health system; mHealth; mobile health

Introduction

In an era called the Age of Digital Interdependence by the United Nations Secretary-General [1], where technological advancements continually reshape the world, the health sector is facing a significant transformation.

Artificial Intelligence (AI) emerges not just as a technological innovation but as a critical instrument with the potential to help overcome critical health challenges, including health care costs, unmet health needs related to the double burden of infectious and noncommunicable diseases, a considerable shortage of trained health professionals, and more importantly, the profound and long-standing inequities in the distribution of the opportunities to health care and well-being [2].

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57276

RenderX

This viewpoint explores the potential of AI as a catalyst in bridging the gap in cancer health care, from a broader and scientifically grounded perspective on its integration into health systems. Fulfilling health equity, however, goes beyond achieving digital equity: leaving no one behind in the digital age requires not only reaching those who are not digitally literate but also populations in situations of greatest social, economic, geographic, and cultural vulnerability or disadvantage—the proverbial determinants of, and barriers to, timely and quality access to health care. Information and communications technologies have the potential to reduce health inequalities by enabling people to access information and digital tools for prevention and care at the right time and in the right format. Digital inclusion involves ensuring appropriate access, digital skills, usability, and navigability in the development of

technological solutions. This approach should promote inclusion while respecting the autonomy of individuals and groups who decide not to use digital services [3,4].

The Current Landscape

Cancer continues to pose a great and ever-growing burden of disease, being the second leading cause of death worldwide. Recently released estimates from the World Health Organization account for nearly 20 million incident cases and 10 million deaths in 2022, projecting almost double these figures by the year 2050 [5]. Although the cumulative risk of developing cancer before the age of 75 years is unequivocally greater in countries with a higher Human Development Index and larger income per capita, most of the cancer burden is concentrated in countries with lower Human Development Index and smaller income per capita. More dramatically, inequalities in cancer care—as is usually the case with noncancer burden as well-bear a disproportionate impact in underserved populations [6]. These inequalities, shaped by highly context-specific socioeconomic, geographical, and cultural barriers, manifest in varied health care dimensions-from access to screening to palliative care, diagnostic accuracy, treatment options, pain

management, premature mortality, survival, quality of life, and other health outcomes. This web of challenges underscores the need for a comprehensive and customized approach to equitable access to health, one that is robustly supported by the digital transformation of the health sector [7]. In this context, AI presents a unique opportunity to facilitate and improve access to health services, making it more equitable, accessible, and personalized, especially for underserved communities.

Al as a Transformative Agent in Reducing Health Care Inequalities

AI's capacity to process and analyze vast amounts of data swiftly and accurately positions it as an invaluable tool in health care. Its applications range from enhancing diagnostic precision to optimizing resource allocation and extending health care reach to remote areas [8]. The implications of these advancements are profound, especially in regions where health care resources are scarce, and the burden of disease is high. AI can play a significant role in making health care more inclusive, accessible, and effective for all segments of the population, particularly in the following areas (Figure 1):

Figure 1. Artificial intelligence (AI) as a transformative agent in reducing health care inequalities.



Health Care Access and Equity Monitoring

AI can analyze health service utilization patterns to identify inequalities in access to care. This information can inform policies and strategies to make health care more equitable. AI algorithms evaluate data on health care use, patient demographics, and service availability. This analysis identifies regions or groups with reduced access, guiding targeted policy interventions to address these gaps [9].

Predictive Analytics for Public Health

AI can analyze data from various sources to predict outbreaks and public health emergencies. This foresight can help in deploying resources more effectively to underserved areas, potentially preventing or mitigating health crises. By aggregating and analyzing health care data, social media, environmental conditions, and other relevant sources, AI models can forecast potential health threats, allowing for proactive resource allocation and emergency planning in vulnerable areas [10,11].

RenderX

Mental Health Support

AI-driven chatbots and virtual assistants can provide preliminary mental health support, especially in regions lacking mental health professionals. These tools can offer coping strategies, guidance, and early intervention. Utilizing natural language processing and sentiment analysis, AI tools interact with users, offering support, and identifying those who may require urgent care, thereby bridging the gap in mental health services [12,13].

Automated Health Records Management

AI can streamline health records management, ensuring that patient data are accurately recorded and easily accessible. This efficiency can improve health care delivery, particularly in underresourced settings. AI systems automate the sorting, storage, and retrieval of electronic health records, reducing errors and saving time. This enhancement in overall health care efficiency is especially critical in underresourced areas [14,15].

Remote Monitoring and Chronic Disease Management

AI can be used in remote patient monitoring systems to track the health status of patients with chronic diseases, alerting health care providers to changes that may require intervention. AI algorithms analyze data from wearable devices and home monitoring equipment, detecting deviations in health metrics, enabling timely interventions and better management of chronic conditions [8,16].

Enhancing Patient Engagement and Compliance

AI-powered applications can remind patients about medication schedules, appointments, and health check-ups, especially helping those with limited access to regular health care. These AI tools personalize reminders and health tips based on patient data and interaction patterns, increasing adherence to treatment and preventive care routines [17-19].

Optimizing Emergency Response

AI algorithms can help in planning and optimizing emergency medical responses, ensuring quicker and more efficient care delivery during critical situations. By simulating various emergency scenarios and analyzing historical response data, AI can optimize resource allocation, route planning for ambulances, and emergency room preparedness, enhancing the responsiveness of emergency services [20].

Precision Diagnostics

AI algorithms can rapidly analyze complex medical data, leading to more accurate diagnoses and early intervention, especially in areas lacking specialist health care providers. AI models, particularly those trained in image recognition and pattern detection, can assist in diagnosing diseases from medical imagery and lab results with high accuracy, supplementing the expertise in underserved areas [21].

Personalized Medicine

By considering individual genetic, environmental, and lifestyle factors, AI can tailor treatment plans, ensuring each patient receives the most effective care. AI systems analyze patient-specific data, including genetic profiles and health histories, to predict individual responses to different medical treatments, enabling more effective, customized care [22,23].

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57276
```

Resource Allocation

In resource-limited settings, AI can optimize the use of medical supplies and personnel, ensuring the most efficient use of available resources. AI tools forecast health care demands and optimize the distribution and allocation of medical resources, helping to ensure that scarce resources are used where they are most needed.

Telemedicine

AI-enhanced telemedicine can bridge distances, bringing expert medical advice to the most remote corners of the globe. AI supports telemedicine through diagnostic assistance, patient management systems, and enhanced communication tools, making health care accessible in remote and underserved areas.

Education and Training

AI's role in educating health care professionals is invaluable, providing access to the latest medical knowledge and training, irrespective of geographical barriers. AI-driven educational platforms and simulations adapt to individual learning styles and needs, offering health care professionals personalized and up-to-date medical training.

Language Translation and Cultural Sensitivity

AI-powered tools can provide real-time translation services, making health care more accessible to nonnative speakers and reducing cultural barriers. These tools can also be trained to recognize and adapt to cultural nuances in patient care. AI-based translation and cultural sensitivity tools analyze and adapt health care information and interactions to various languages and cultural contexts, thereby enhancing the accessibility and effectiveness of health care services for diverse patient groups.

Facilitating Clinical Trials and Research

AI can assist in identifying suitable candidates for clinical trials, particularly from underrepresented groups, ensuring broader inclusivity in research. AI algorithms analyze vast amounts of health care data to identify potential clinical trial participants, considering various factors like genetic profiles, health conditions, and demographic characteristics. This process helps in creating more diverse and representative participant groups for clinical trials, which is essential for the generalizability and effectiveness of medical research [24,25].

Vaccine Distribution

AI is also revolutionizing the approach to vaccine distribution and management, a crucial aspect of health equity, particularly in the context of pandemics. AI tools and algorithms can optimize vaccine distribution strategies, ensuring that vaccines are delivered efficiently and equitably. AI offers a range of solutions, from predictive analytics for demand forecasting to supply chain optimization, each addressing a key facet of the vaccine distribution challenge. These AI-driven approaches are not only enhancing the effectiveness of vaccination campaigns but also ensuring that high-risk populations are prioritized and that public health messages are communicated effectively.

XSL•FO RenderX

Discussion

AI's Role in Ensuring Equitable Cancer Care

The rapid advancement of AI in health care, particularly in the fight against cancer, has sparked new expectations about its capabilities. However, it is crucial to critically examine AI's role in ensuring equitable cancer care. This discussion emphasizes the necessity for AI models to incorporate globally diverse data, highlighting the need for inclusive development practices and an ethical commitment to making these potentially life-saving technologies accessible to all, not just a select few. It underscores the importance of considering a wide range of genetic and environmental factors, as well as the need for data that universally represents diverse populations. These considerations form a compelling case for a holistic and fair approach. As we progress in applying AI to cancer research, we must also strive to realize a future where advanced cancer treatments are both effective and equitable for every individual, irrespective of their geographic location or socioeconomic status. Some particular reflections are highlighted below.

Equity in AI Development: Serving All Communities in the Technological Era

It is essential that emerging technologies are not shaped only by technology companies and those in wealthy countries. If models are not trained on data from people in underresourced places, those populations might be poorly served by the algorithms. AI development must prioritize inclusivity, ensuring that datasets reflect the global population's diversity. This inclusivity extends beyond data collection to involve collaboration with local health care providers and communities to understand and address unique health care challenges. The integration of diverse data sources can improve the robustness and accuracy of AI models, leading to more effective and equitable health care solutions [26,27].

Global Perspectives in AI: Bridging the Gap in Cancer Care

It is imperative that AI technologies are developed with a global perspective. Ensuring that AI models incorporate diverse datasets, including those from less affluent regions, is not just an ethical imperative but necessary for providing equitable health care outcomes for all. Global collaboration in AI research and development can bridge the gap in cancer care by sharing knowledge, resources, and best practices across borders. Such efforts can lead to AI tools that are adaptable to various health care settings and capable of addressing the unique needs of different populations [28,29].

Data Diversity: The Key to Personalized AI in Oncology

For AI to truly be a force for good in cancer treatment, we must broaden the scope of data collection to encompass the varied genetic and environmental factors present in all communities, offering precise and personalized care to every patient regardless of their geographic or socioeconomic factor. Diverse data sources, including genomic data, clinical records, and environmental exposure information, can enhance AI's ability to identify risk factors, predict disease progression, and tailor

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57276
```

treatments to individual patients. This approach ensures that AI-driven cancer care is not only precise but also personalized, improving outcomes for patients worldwide [30].

Mitigating Bias in AI Algorithms

Bias in AI algorithms can significantly affect health care outcomes, particularly for underserved and marginalized communities. Addressing this issue requires comprehensive strategies to ensure AI systems are equitable and devoid of discriminatory biases. One critical approach is to use diverse and representative datasets, actively collecting data from underrepresented groups to create inclusive AI models. Additionally, implementing robust bias detection and correction methods, such as fairness-aware machine learning, helps identify and rectify biases in data and algorithms. Enhancing transparency and explainability allows stakeholders to understand AI decision-making processes, ensuring greater accountability. Inclusive development practices, involving ethicists, sociologists, and representatives from marginalized communities, provide valuable insights to address potential biases. Establishing comprehensive ethical guidelines and frameworks is essential to address issues like data privacy, informed consent, algorithmic transparency, and accountability [31,32].

Diversifying AI Learning to Combat Health Care Inequalities in Cancer

The effectiveness of AI in cancer care hinges on the diversity of its learning. Without incorporating data from underrepresented groups, we risk perpetuating existing health care disparities. Therefore, it is our collective responsibility to ensure that AI systems are as diverse as the populations they aim to serve [33].

Cultural Convergence and the Use of AI in Cancer Treatments

It is essential to consider cultural differences, which could, in some cases, be subtle but significant, as they influence the manifestation of the disease, responses to treatment, and patient care preferences. AI models must not only be trained on diverse data sets but must also be sensitive to the cultural contexts that shape health behaviors and outcomes. This approach reinforces the need for multifaceted equity that goes beyond data diversity to encompass the entire human experience in cancer treatment. Culturally sensitive AI models can improve patient engagement, adherence to treatment protocols, and overall satisfaction with care, leading to better health outcomes [34,35].

Telemedicine and Remote Monitoring

AI-enhanced telemedicine can bridge distances, bringing expert medical advice to the most remote corners of the globe. AI supports telemedicine through diagnostic assistance, patient management systems, and enhanced communication tools, making health care accessible in remote and underserved areas. Remote monitoring systems powered by AI can track the health status of patients with chronic diseases, alerting health care providers to changes that may require intervention. This continuous monitoring can prevent complications and reduce

the need for hospital visits, thus alleviating the burden on health care systems and improving patients' quality of life [8,16].

Education and Training

AI's role in educating health care professionals is invaluable for all areas, providing open and real-time access to the latest medical knowledge, training materials, and learning objects, irrespective of geographical barriers. AI-driven educational and simulation platforms adapt to individual learning styles and needs, offering health care professionals personalized and up-to-date medical training. This approach ensures that all health care workers, regardless of their location, have access to the best practices and emerging knowledge in cancer care, enhancing the overall quality of care provided to patients [36].

Resource Allocation and Optimization

AI can play a critical role in optimizing resource allocation in health care settings, particularly in underresourced regions. Through the examination of patterns in health care utilization, AI can identify areas where resources are most needed and predict future demands. This capability is crucial for efficient health care delivery, ensuring that medical supplies, personnel, and infrastructure are utilized optimally. For example, AI algorithms can help in planning and optimizing emergency medical responses, ensuring quicker and more efficient care delivery during critical situations. This optimization can significantly enhance the responsiveness of health care systems, especially in emergencies, ultimately improving patient outcomes [20].

By analogy with precision medicine, precision public health has been conceptualized as the practice that aims at multidimensionally characterizing social position and accurately pinpointing mechanisms to reduce health inequities [37]. AI can play a crucial role in providing ever greater precision in public health, inasmuch as it directs its prodigious capabilities toward ensuring their equitable distribution across populations and territories. In the context of exceedingly unequal societies with highly segmented and fragmented health care systems, under the rule of the inverse health equity law [38], it is worth recalling the four equity considerations for the use of AI in public health, proposed by Smith et al [39] as the starting point for the promotion of equitable AI in public health-the digital divide, algorithmic bias and values, plurality of values across systems, and fair decision-making procedures. It should be quite clear that strengthening equity monitoring is paramount when introducing AI technologies to make sure they do not inadvertently increase or create inequities [40].

Case Studies of AI Implementation in Health Care

Real-world examples of AI implementation in health care provide concrete evidence of its impact on reducing disparities and offer valuable insights into best practices, challenges encountered, and strategies for overcoming these challenges. One notable example is the use of AI in breast cancer screening in the United States. Researchers developed an AI model that outperformed radiologists in detecting breast cancer from mammograms, demonstrating the potential for AI to enhance diagnostic accuracy and reduce diagnostic disparities [41]. Another significant case is Artemisia, a deep-learning model

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57276

XSL•FC RenderX developed at the Hospital Italiano de Buenos Aires for automatic breast density categorization. Artemisia was validated using 10,229 digital screening mammogram images to classify breast density according to the American College of Radiology's patterns. This AI system showed significant accuracy, achieving professional-level performance when compared to the majority reports and a commercial software application [42].

A Call for Collaborative Action

To harness the power of AI in creating a more equitable public health landscape, a concerted, collaborative, and multidisciplinary approach is essential. This initiative calls for a synergy of efforts from various stakeholders in the health care ecosystem. Policy makers, health care providers, AI technology experts, patient advocacy groups, and community leaders all play pivotal roles in shaping how AI is integrated into health care systems. Engaging with policy makers is crucial for establishing regulations and guidelines that ensure the ethical use of AI and addressing critical concerns, such as data privacy, patient consent, and algorithmic transparency. Health care providers, on the front lines of patient care, offer invaluable insights into practical needs and challenges, ensuring that AI solutions are tailored to real-world applications and are patient centric. Collaboration with AI technology experts, including data scientists and engineers, is fundamental for developing robust, accurate, and reliable AI systems. Their expertise is vital in translating health care needs into technological solutions that are both innovative and practical. In addition, it is essential to involve patient advocacy groups and community leaders, particularly from underserved and marginalized populations. Their perspectives and experiences are crucial in identifying and addressing specific health disparities, ensuring that AI solutions are inclusive and equitable. Ethical considerations, such as addressing biases in AI algorithms and ensuring equitable access to AI-enhanced health care, are paramount. Data privacy remains a top concern, especially in handling sensitive health data. Mitigating potential risks, such as unintended consequences of AI decisions or misuse of AI technologies, requires comprehensive strategies and constant vigilance [17].

The Path Forward

The digital transformation in the health sector is not only about how to use information and communication technologies as supporting tools or about technological modernization alone. Digital transformation is a cultural change that must consider new health care models, process reengineering, systems reorganization, and a deeper understanding of people's behavior and digital skills. Likewise, such transformation requires a new multisectoral and interdisciplinary approach in the development and implementation of public policies, regulatory frameworks and national digital literacy programs [36].

In this evolving landscape of health care and looking at more resilient health systems, it is crucial to position AI as a critical agent in reducing health disparities. AI's role should be seen not as replacing human expertise but as augmenting the capabilities of health care professionals, enabling them to deliver more effective and inclusive care. The integration of AI into health care systems is a promising stride toward democratizing

health care access and removing barriers related to geography, socioeconomic status, and cultural differences. AI's potential in identifying and addressing health disparities is profound. Through advanced data analysis and predictive capabilities, AI can illuminate hidden patterns of inequality, guiding targeted interventions where they are most needed. For instance, AI can help tailor public health strategies to address the specific needs of underserved communities, ensuring that preventive care and medical treatments are not only available but also resonate with diverse cultural and socioeconomic contexts. Moreover, AI's role in enhancing diagnostic accuracy, personalizing treatment plans, and improving patient engagement offers a direct pathway to narrowing the health equity gap. AI, through the timely provision of quality medical care to all persons irrespective of background, works as a key driver toward an equalized health care platform. The adoption of AI in health care is not just a technological shift; it represents a fundamental step toward a health system in which equity and inclusivity are considered key factors for success. AI in cancer treatment offers new opportunities to create a future of health where access to services is possible for every individual who needs it, wherever they need it [43].

Conclusions

The exploration of AI in cancer care underscores its potential to bridge health care disparities through enhanced diagnostic accuracy, optimized resource allocation, and improved access to care, particularly in underserved communities. Key applications, such as AI-driven health equity monitoring, predictive analytics, mental health support, and personalized medicine, highlight AI's transformative role. Case studies like the AI model for breast cancer screening in the United States and Artemisia at the Hospital Italiano de Buenos Aires illustrate successful implementations. However, achieving equitable AI integration requires addressing biases, ensuring data diversity, and fostering inclusive development practices. It is crucial to consider local social, cultural, and political contexts to tailor AI solutions effectively. Additionally, more high-quality and disaggregated data at the local level is needed to enhance AI's accuracy and relevance. Continued research, multidisciplinary collaboration, and ethical considerations are essential for overcoming implementation challenges and maximizing AI's benefits in cancer care.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. United Nations road map for digital cooperation. United Nations. URL: <u>https://www.un.org/en/content/</u> <u>digital-cooperation-roadmap/</u> [accessed 2024-08-02]
- 2. Digital transformation toolkit. Artificial intelligence. Policy overview. Pan American Health Organization. URL: <u>https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/57947</u> [accessed 2024-08-02]
- 3. Inclusive digital health. Policy overview. Pan American Health Organization. URL: <u>https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/</u> 58409 [accessed 2024-08-02]
- 4. Eight guiding principles of digital transformation of the health sector. A call to pan American action. Pan American Health Organization. URL: <u>https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/54256</u> [accessed 2024-08-02]
- 5. Global cancer burden growing, amidst mounting need for services. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/01-02-2024-global-cancer-burden-growing--amidst-mounting-need-for-services</u> [accessed 2024-02-01]
- 6. Knaul F, Frenk J, Shulman L. Closing the cancer divide: a blueprint to expand access in low and middle income countries. Harvard Global Equity Initiative. URL: <u>https://ncdalliance.org/sites/default/files/resource_files/</u> <u>Closing%20the%20Cancer%20Divide%20A%20Blueprint%20to%20Expand%20Access%20in%20Low</u>
- %20and%20Middle%20Income%20Countries.pdf [accessed 2024-08-02]
- 7. Strategy for universal access to health and universal health coverage. Pan American Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.paho.org/en/documents/strategy-universal-access-health-and-universal-health-coverage</u> [accessed 2024-08-02]
- 8. Bohr A, Memarzadeh K. Chapter 2 The rise of artificial intelligence in healthcare applications. In: Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press; 2020:25-60.
- 9. Sendak M, Balu S, Hernandez AF. Proactive algorithm monitoring to ensure health equity. JAMA Netw Open 2023 Dec 01;6(12):e2345022 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.45022] [Medline: 38100115]
- 10. Luxton DD. Chapter 1 An introduction to artificial intelligence in behavioral and mental health care. In: Artificial Intelligence in Behavioral and Mental Health Care. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press; Sep 1, 2015.
- 11. Kaur J, Mann K. AI based healthcare platform for real time, predictive and prescriptive analytics. In: Sharma R, Mantri A, Dua S, editors. Computing, Analytics and Networks. Singapore: Springer; Jul 7, 2018:138-149.
- 12. Alanzi T, Alsalem A, Alzahrani H, Almudaymigh N, Alessa A, Mulla R, et al. AI-Powered AI-powered mental health virtual assistants' acceptance: an empirical study on influencing factors among generations X, Y, and Z Health Virtual Assistants' Acceptance: An Empirical Study on Influencing Factors Among Generations X, Y, and Z. Cureus 2023 Nov;15(11):e49486 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.49486] [Medline: 38156169]
- 13. Golden G, Popescu C, Israel S, Perlman K, Armstrong C, Fratila R, et al. Applying artificial intelligence to clinical decision support in mental health: what have we learned? HPT 2024 Jun;13(2):100844. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.hlpt.2024.100844</u>]

- Lee S, Kim H. Prospect of artificial intelligence based on electronic medical record. J Lipid Atheroscler 2021 Sep;10(3):282-290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12997/jla.2021.10.3.282] [Medline: 34621699]
- 15. Chi EA, Chi G, Tsui CT, Jiang Y, Jarr K, Kulkarni CV, et al. Development and validation of an artificial intelligence system to optimize clinician review of patient records. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Jul 01;4(7):e2117391 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.17391] [Medline: 34297075]
- Bajwa J, Munir U, Nori A, Williams B. Artificial intelligence in healthcare: transforming the practice of medicine. Future Healthc J 2021 Jul;8(2):e188-e194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7861/fhj.2021-0095] [Medline: 34286183]
- Al Kuwaiti A, Nazer K, Al-Reedy A, Al-Shehri S, Al-Muhanna A, Subbarayalu AV, et al. A review of the role of artificial intelligence in healthcare. J Pers Med 2023 Jun 05;13(6):951 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3390/jpm13060951</u>] [Medline: <u>37373940</u>]
- 18. Enkomaryam BC, Bessmertny IA. Artificial intelligence to improve patient engagement in the wellness process: a review. JMIR. Preprint posted online May 12, 2023 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/preprints.48962]
- 19. Jeyakumar T, Younus S, Zhang M, Clare M, Charow R, Karsan I, et al. Preparing for an artificial intelligence-enabled future: patient perspectives on engagement and health care Professional training for adopting artificial intelligence technologies in health care settings. JMIR AI 2023 Mar 02;2:e40973 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/40973] [Medline: 38875561]
- 20. Mukhopadhyay A. Artificial Intelligence for Emergency Response Internet. ArXiv. Preprint posted online June 15, 2023 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2306]
- 21. Vladyka R, Skril I. Using machine learning algorithms to analyze genetic data for disease diagnosis. Collection of Scientific Papers «ΛΌ Γ ΟΣ» 2023 Jun 23:133-136. [doi: 10.36074/logos-23.06.2023.36]
- 22. Khan A. Transforming healthcare through AI: unleashing the power of personalized medicine. IJMSA 2023 Jun 13;2(1):67-77. [doi: 10.47709/ijmdsa.v2i1.2424]
- 23. Skepu A, Phakathi B, Makgoka M, Mbita Z, Damane B, Demetriou D. AI and nanomedicine in realizing the goal of precision medicine: tailoring the best treatment for personalized cancer treatment. In: Artificial Intelligence and Precision Oncology: Bridging Cancer Research and Clinical Decision Support. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; Jan 21, 2023:181-194.
- 24. Hernandez AF, Lindsell CJ. The future of clinical trials: artificial to augmented to applied intelligence. JAMA 2023 Dec 05;330(21):2061-2063. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2023.23822] [Medline: 37950740]
- 25. Askin S, Burkhalter D, Calado G, El Dakrouni S. Artificial Intelligence Applied to clinical trials: opportunities and challenges. Health Technol (Berl) 2023 Feb 28;13(2):203-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12553-023-00738-2] [Medline: 36923325]
- 26. Leuenberger A, Farnham A, Azevedo S, Cossa H, Dietler D, Nimako B, et al. Health impact assessment and health equity in sub-Saharan Africa: a scoping review. Environ Impact Assess Rev 2019 Nov;79:106288. [doi: 10.1016/j.eiar.2019.106288]
- Leuenberger A, Cambaco O, Zabré HR, Lyatuu I, Utzinger J, Munguambe K, et al. "it is like we are living in a different world": health inequity in communities surrounding industrial mining sites in Burkina Faso, Mozambique, and Tanzania. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Oct 20;18(21):11015 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph182111015] [Medline: 34769535]
- 28. Dankwa-Mullan I, Weeraratne D. Artificial intelligence and machine learning technologies in cancer care: addressing disparities, bias, and data diversity. Cancer Discov 2022 Jun 02;12(6):7. [doi: <u>10.1158/2159-8290.cd-22-0373</u>]
- 29. Ngwa W, Olver I, Schmeler K. The use of health-related technology to reduce the gap between developed and undeveloped regions around the globe. American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book 2020 May;40:227-236 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/edbk_288613]
- Jha A, Mithun S, Sherkhane U, Jaiswar V, Shi Z, Kalendralis P, et al. Implementation of big imaging data pipeline adhering to FAIR principles for federated machine learning in oncology. IEEE Transactions on Radiation and Plasma Medical Sciences 2022 Feb;6(2):207-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/trpms.2021.3113860]
- 31. Obermeyer Z, Powers B, Vogeli C, Mullainathan S. Dissecting racial bias in an algorithm used to manage the health of populations. Science 2019 Oct 25;366(6464):447-453 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/science.aax2342] [Medline: 31649194]
- 32. Mehrabi N, Morstatter F, Saxena N, Lerman K, Galstyan A. A survey on bias and fairness in machine learning. ACM Comput Surv 2021 Jul 13;54(6):1-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/3457607]
- 33. Gao Y, Cui Y. Deep transfer learning for reducing health care disparities arising from biomedical data inequality. Nat Commun 2020 Oct 12;11(1):5131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18918-3] [Medline: 33046699]
- 34. Ho D. Artificial intelligence in cancer therapy. Science 2020 Feb 28;367(6481):982-983 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/science.aaz3023] [Medline: 32108102]
- 35. Whaley AL, King D. Cultural competence and evidence-based practice in mental health services: a complementary perspective. Am Psychol 2007 Sep 06;62(6):563-574 [FREE Full text]
- 36. Barbosa da Silva J, Espinal M, Garcia-Saiso S, Fitzgerald J, Marti M, Bascolo E, et al. A digital transformation for primary health care. Bull World Health Organ 2024 Jan 01;102(1):2-2A. [doi: <u>10.2471/blt.23.290726</u>]
- 37. Olstad DL, McIntyre L. Reconceptualising precision public health. BMJ Open 2019 Sep 13;9(9):e030279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030279] [Medline: 31519678]
- 38. Victora CG, Vaughan JP, Barros FC, Silva AC, Tomasi E. Explaining trends in inequities: evidence from Brazilian child health studies. Lancet 2000 Sep;356(9235):1093-1098. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(00)02741-0]



- 39. WHYTE WF, GREENWOOD DJ, LAZES P. Participatory action research. Am Behav Sci 2016 Jul 27;32(5):513-551 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0002764289032005003]
- Manríquez Roa T, Christen M, Reis A, Biller-Andorno N. The pursuit of health equity in the era of artificial intelligence. Swiss Med Wkly 2023 Jan 23;153(1):40062 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.57187/smw.2023.40062</u>] [Medline: <u>36724760</u>]
- 41. McKinney S, Sieniek M, Godbole VP, Godwin J, Antropova N, Ashrafian H, et al. International evaluation of an AI system for breast cancer screening. Nature 2020 Jan;577(7788):89-94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1799-6] [Medline: 31894144]
- 42. Tajerian M, Pesce K, Frangella J, Quiroga E, Boietti B, Chico M, et al. Artemisia: validation of a deep learning model for automatic breast density categorization. J Med Artif Intell 2021 Jun;4:5-5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/jmai-20-43]
- Saisó S, Marti M, Medina F, Pascha V, Nelson J, Tejerina L, et al. Digital transformation for more equitable and sustainable public health in the age of digital interdependence. Am J Public Health 2022 Aug;112(S6):S621-S624 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2105/ajph.2022.306749]

Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 10.02.24; peer-reviewed by S Yadav, A Hassan, O Ezeigwe; comments to author 03.04.24; revised version received 25.07.24; accepted 25.07.24; published 12.08.24.

Please cite as: Garcia-Saiso S, Marti M, Pesce K, Luciani S, Mujica O, Hennis A, D'Agostino M Artificial Intelligence as a Potential Catalyst to a More Equitable Cancer Care JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e57276 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57276 doi:10.2196/57276 PMID:39133537

©Sebastian Garcia-Saiso, Myrna Marti, Karina Pesce, Silvana Luciani, Oscar Mujica, Anselm Hennis, Marcelo D'Agostino. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 12.08.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Lessons Learned From Shared Decision-Making With Oral Anticoagulants: Viewpoint on Suggestions for the Development of Oral Chemotherapy Decision Aids

Daniel E McLoughlin¹, BA; Fabiola M Moreno Echevarria¹, BS; Sherif M Badawy^{1,2}, MD, MS, MBA

¹Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States

²Division of Hematology, Oncology and Stem Cell Transplant, Ann & Robert H. Lurie Children's Hospital of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Daniel E McLoughlin, BA Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine 420 E Superior St Chicago, IL, 60611 United States Phone: 1 312 503 8194 Email: daniel.mcloughlin@northwestern.edu

Abstract

Oral chemotherapy is commonly prescribed, and by using decision aids (DAs), clinicians can facilitate shared decision-making (SDM) to align treatment choices with patient goals and values. Although products exist commercially, little evidence informs the development of DAs targeting the unique challenges of oral chemotherapy. To address this gap in the literature, our objective was to review DAs developed for oral anticoagulation, DA use in oncology, and patient preference surveys to guide the development of DAs for oral chemotherapy. We focused on reviewing SDM, patient preferences, and specifically the development, efficacy, and patient experience of DAs in oral anticoagulation and oncologic conditions, ultimately including conclusions and data from 30 peer-reviewed publications in our viewpoint paper. We found that effective DAs in oral anticoagulation improved knowledge, lowered decisional conflict, increased adherence, and covered a broad range of SDM elements; however, limited information on patient experience was a common shortcoming. In oncology, DAs increased knowledge and aligned decisions with the values of the patients. Ineffective oncology DAs provided general, unclear, or overly optimistic information, while providing "too much" information was not shown to do harm. Patients preferred DAs that included pros and cons, side effects, questions to ask, and expected quality of life changes. In developing DAs for oral chemotherapy, patients should be included in the development process, and DA content should be specifically tailored to patient preferences. Providing DAs ahead of appointments proved more effective than during, and additional considerations included addressing barriers to efficacy. There is a need for evidence-based DAs to facilitate SDM for patients considering oral chemotherapy. Developers should use data from studies in oral anticoagulation, oncology, and preference surveys to optimize SDM.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e56935) doi:10.2196/56935

KEYWORDS

shared decision-making; SDM; decision aids; decision aids design; oral chemotherapy; oral anticoagulants; drug delivery; chemotherapy; chemo; anticoagulants; drug deliveries; cancer; oncology; oncologist; metastases; literature review; literature reviews

Introduction

Oral systemic treatment is becoming an increasingly common modality of anticancer therapy [1]. It may be preferred to traditional intravenous administration due to patient convenience, its noninvasive nature, the safety of prodrugs relative to intravenous "full drugs," and reducing the costs that accompany additional outpatient appointments and inpatient resource usage [2]. However, it is not without its drawbacks.

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56935

RenderX

Adherence can be difficult, absorption can be variable, and administration may be impossible in patients with dysphagia. In addition, administration may be confusing for patients, for example, some drugs (sorafenib) present challenges when taken with food while others (imatinib) must be taken with food [2].

Shared decision-making (SDM), a process through which providers and patients weigh evidence and make decisions together [3] that is becoming increasingly important in clinical

practice, can help patients balance these strengths and shortcomings. Studies have shown that patients like playing an active role in care-related decision-making [4,5], clinician education is becoming geared toward facilitating SDM [6], and a lack of SDM has been associated with lower medication adherence, even when concrete decisions are made [7]. To help facilitate SDM, interventions such as mobile apps, videos, or informative visuals, known as decision aids (DAs), can provide patients with information regarding treatment options, their associated risks and benefits, and how drug administration aligns with a patient's goals and values [8].

In oncology, DAs have been used since at least the advent of the "Decision Board" in 1992 for adjuvant chemotherapy in node-negative breast cancer [9,10], and although considerable research exists on their use and efficacy in oncology as a whole, and products do exist commercially [11], there is little in the current literature examining the development and efficacy of DAs targeting the unique challenges of oral chemotherapy. This article addresses this gap by reviewing what is known about the use of DAs in oncology and using the example of oral anticoagulation DAs to examine how they may be best leveraged to facilitate SDM in oral chemotherapy.

Decision Aids in Oncology: Patient Preferences, Successes, and Shortcomings

In considering how to approach the development of a DA for oral chemotherapy, we should first consider the preferences of the target population and how DAs have been successfully implemented in the field of oncology. A study involving patients with all tumor types revealed that patients want their DAs to be specific, which may include the pros and cons of each treatment choice and a list of questions to ask their provider [4]. Another study, although only specific to men with prostate cancer, indicated that patients like when DAs include information regarding potential side effects and a clear discussion of the expected quality of life resulting from treatment [12]. These findings could be especially important for patients considering oral chemotherapy, as focusing only on deciding between systemic therapy as a general category versus surgery or observation may miss the unique factors that make a rigid, daily oral medication schedule challenging when compared with hospital-based intravenous treatment. Expected quality of life may be of particular importance to this patient population, as prostate cancer has a more favorable prognosis than many other malignancies. However, it stands to reason that it could be important to patients with less favorable prognoses as well, especially when considering whether they would like such therapy to be a part of the time that they do have left. In addition, patients report that they prefer DAs that are targeted to their specific needs [4], which may extend beyond only their disease process, as there have been calls for DAs in oncology to account for the diversity of patient populations [13].

Regarding how much information to disseminate to patients, a study of men with advanced cancer found that full discussions regarding prognosis decreased depressive symptoms; however,

https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56935

patient anxiety was found to be higher if the clinician felt that such a discussion had taken place [14]. However, it should be noted that this study did not address baseline anxiety or depression before their diagnosis. While this study was specific to men, another study that included men and women found that clinician-driven encouragement to participate in treatment decisions was associated with increased patient anxiety persisting after a 2-week period, suggesting that this change may be independent of baseline anxiety [15]. This raises some concern that providing too much information and involving patients more in decisions regarding their care could be overwhelming or distressing and could ultimately do more harm than good. However, Cripe et al [14] suggest that such results may be due to the content of the provider's encouragement and discussion: it may not align with patient preferences and therefore contribute to anxiety development. This is supported by the findings of Gattellari et al [15] that information disclosure itself was not associated with increased anxiety. Ultimately, Cripe et al [14] propose that patient anxiety is a signal that further discussions regarding patient goals and preferences should occur. DAs may help facilitate such discussions by including surveys that specifically elicit individual patient values [16], and multigender studies in patients with advanced cancer, including a systematic review, have shown that providing more information through DAs does not do harm [17,18]. Likewise, although it has been observed that patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancer reported lower quality of life scores and higher anxiety if they acknowledged that their illness was terminal [19], DAs can help mitigate this as well, as it has been shown through a meta-analysis of 16 studies of adult patients of varying tumor types that DAs may help reduce anxiety and fear, especially in newly diagnosed patients [16]. Finally, for many patients, additional information may be seen as a positive: 1 study, which interviewed 27 patients with cancer, found that patients nearly always wanted to know as much as possible about cancer as a whole, their prognosis, treatment benefits, and side effects [20].

DAs in oncology have been reported acceptable by both patients and providers [21], have been shown to increase patient knowledge [9,16], and lower decisional conflict, aligning patients' ultimate decisions with their personal values [16,22]. In addition, DAs in cancer care have been shown to increase patient satisfaction with both the information presented and their treatment decision [4,9,16]. However, it is worth acknowledging that the mere presence of a DA is insufficient. A study of a DA for oral complementary and alternative medications for patients on chemotherapy, which provided predominantly general information, did not help decrease decisional conflict or patient regret [23]. DAs presenting unclear or overly optimistic information, especially regarding side effects, have been shown to provide patients with a worse experience, as this can lead to a misperception of the risks and benefits of treatment and may ultimately affect decision-making [17].

XSL•FO

Oral Anticoagulation Decision Aids as a Model

With similar treatment schedules, required monitoring, and experience of self-administering medication, oral anticoagulation presents similar advantages and challenges to oral chemotherapy. As significant data exists regarding the efficacy and implementation of DAs in oral anticoagulation, these findings can be used to help inform the development of evidence-based DAs in oral chemotherapy. Using DAs in oral anticoagulation has been shown to help with improving patient knowledge [21,24,25], lowering decisional conflict [21,24-27], increasing medication adherence [24], and increasing the likelihood of making a choice [25].

Oral anticoagulation DAs considered effective, defined as improving health outcomes or at least increasing or enhancing SDM, have focused on covering a broad range of 6 SDM elements, that are situation diagnosis, choice awareness, option clarification, discussion of harms and benefits, deliberation of patient preferences, and decision-making [24]. In a study of 10 DAs in which 7 were deemed successful, 6 included discussions of harms and benefits and at least one of choice awareness and deliberation of patient preferences. This suggests that, although all merit inclusion, these 3 may be the most critical to consider when developing DAs for patients contemplating oral therapy [24].

Oral anticoagulation DA studies can also demonstrate what has not been successful in DA development. Logically, including a narrower range of the 6 elements of SDM does not support efficacy [24]. In addition, a review of 14 SDM tools focused on choosing between Warfarin and direct oral anticoagulants from Torres Roldan et al [28] showed that the current DA developmental process rarely includes patients. The studies observed were overall unsuccessful, as only 2 of the 14 DAs reviewed improved adherence, and 3 of the 14 did not support SDM. The authors note that a common shortcoming of these DAs was that they lack information on the day-to-day patient experience, including "what it means to take a pill every day" and "what it takes to attend periodic clinic appointments" [28]. This demonstrates that, despite the fact that they usually did include good information regarding treatment options, outcomes, prognosis, costs, dosing, and side effects, these DAs may have fallen short of their potential maximum effect [28]. Involving the patient in the developmental process could help fine-tune

DA content to include information that will most benefit patients.

Although it should be noted that the disease processes themselves (hypercoagulable state vs malignancy) carry significantly different clinical implications, which could influence patient priorities when using DAs, the advantages and challenges of the administration of oral anticoagulation and oral chemotherapy are similar. Therefore, this information should be used in conjunction with what is known about DA use in oncology to develop DAs ideally suited for patients with cancer contemplating oral therapy.

The Ideal Design of an Oral Chemotherapy Decision Aid

Patient Involvement in Decision Aid Development

Data regarding patient preferences, current DA use in oncology, and DAs in oral anticoagulation serve as a framework for informing what the development, implementation, and DA product itself should look like for oral chemotherapy (Figure 1). Most importantly, patients should be involved in the developmental process from its early stages. Doing so would help direct focus toward user experience, and it also allows for early identification of issues and provides time for modifications. For example, a common shortcoming of DAs in both oncology and oral anticoagulation is that they can lead patients to have an inadequate perception of risk [17, 26]. It has been shown that involving patients early can help minimize this; for example, 1 DA for oral anticoagulation, which did have patients involved during development, identified this issue early in the process, and developers were able to adjust by incorporating a user-friendly, color-coded visual depiction of risk level in the next version of the application [26]. In addition, although DAs often improve patient knowledge [9,16,21,24,25], 1 study on DAs for second-line palliative chemotherapy demonstrated improved subjective knowledge, which is the patient's perception of their own understanding, but not objective knowledge [17]. We propose that the difference between the 2 could be teased apart by running pilot tests, including knowledge assessments, with patients during the developmental process. These assessments should be geared toward answering the question "Does this convey the information necessary for a patient to make an informed decision?" If not, modifications can be made.



Figure 1. Schematic of major considerations in the development of decision aids for oral chemotherapy, demonstrating the use of knowledge gained from decision aids in oral anticoagulation, oncology, and patient preference surveys in the predevelopment process and the involvement of patients and consideration of barriers in the development process. DAs: decision aids.



Tailoring Decision Aids to Patient Needs

Regarding the dissemination of information, DAs should be targeted to specific patient needs and include specific information, including regarding side effects, which has been shown to be important for patients with cancer [4,12]. Surveys incorporated into a DA's interface that elicit user values can help, especially in selecting a treatment that best aligns with their values. However, the challenge of integrating a simple, user-friendly interface with sufficient detail to provide patients with the information necessary to make complex medical decisions remains. A small pilot study of just 27 patients of

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56935
```

RenderX

varying genders, educational backgrounds, and tumor types did find that nearly all of their patients preferred to know as much as possible [20], but health literacy may vary, and different patients may require or prefer different levels of nuanced discussion. An example of a successful DA for oral anticoagulation included a multi-tiered system in which the main points were presented on one page, and additional links were included that provided options for patients to receive more granular, detailed information if they chose [26]. This should serve as a framework for the development of any DA for similar treatment modalities, including oral chemotherapy, as it can help disseminate an appropriate level of information to a large

range of patients. For example, it would be essential for all patients to understand "what it means to take a pill every day," as described by Torres Roldan et al [28], and this, along with basic side effect information, could be included on the main page. Meanwhile, the "linked" pages could have detailed example schedules for both dosing and follow-up appointments, explanations of drug mechanisms, and detailed side-effect profiles.

Inclusion of Rarer Diseases

Tailoring DAs to the specific needs of patients [4] should include developing aids for less common indications and treatment options. A systematic review on DAs for SDM in urologic malignancies found 22 DAs available for prostate cancer and just 2 for renal cancer and 1 for bladder cancer [29], demonstrating a need for DAs in rarer diseases. Another systematic review that examined DA use in decisions that include "active surveillance" as a management option found that, despite active surveillance being used in colorectal, thyroid, and head and neck cancer management, 21 of the 23 included studies were focused specifically on prostate cancer [30], which also suggests a need for further investigation of DA use in a wider spectrum of malignancies. In developing DAs for oral chemotherapy, consideration should be given to rarer indications and diseases. Incorporating additional links within the interface of an app directed at a specific therapy could be one method of including information that may be critically relevant to a subset of patients with a particular disease or comorbidity. It bears mentioning that such considerations, while mentioned in this context specifically for oral chemotherapy, may also benefit patients in oncology as a whole, as options for patients with rarer diseases often extend beyond only the nuances of oral treatment and may require further education that has thus far been marginalized in DA development.

Addressing Barriers to Success in the Clinical Setting

Developing successful DAs for oral chemotherapy also requires considering potential barriers to efficacy. If not considered during development, language and computer literacy can present challenges, so alternative methods of delivering information [16] within the same interface may be necessary because the information is useless if it is not accessible. Incorporation of an audio option within an app could be an example, and although additional studies would be needed to examine the relative efficacy of audio versus textual dissemination of information, this is yet another reason to involve patients in the development and testing processes. In addition, although it has been shown that DAs can be effective in populations of lower socioeconomic status [21,26], this also requires targeted delivery, as patients may have limited funds for an application or downloadable content. One proposition to address this includes preloading health-related content on mobile devices analogous to how many cell phones are preloaded with games; alternatively, DAs could be presented as open-access downloadable content [31]. Similar to using DAs for rarer diseases, it should be noted that addressing barriers to access and optimal information delivery is not specific to oral chemotherapy and can have wide-reaching implications in DA development in oncology and beyond.

Timing of Decision Aid Delivery

Essential consideration should also be given to the timing of DA presentation to patients. Current literature shows that doing so before a treatment consultation or discussion provides an evidence-based method of maximizing efficacy. Again, using oral anticoagulation as a model, the study by Song et al [24] of 10 DAs that found 7 to be considered "effective" demonstrated that all 3 ineffective DAs were given to patients during a consult, while 5 of the 7 effective ones were provided in advance. In other words, all 5 DAs provided ahead of a consult were effective, while only 2 of the 5 provided during the consult were. The authors postulate that this is because patients have time to digest information ahead of their appointment [24], and another potential factor may be that doing so allows for time to formulate clarifying questions [16], especially since patients have indicated that they like when DAs include a list of questions worth asking their provider [4]. Literature also shows that, for patients with cancer, the use of DAs can also help increase caregiver involvement [16]. Providing DAs ahead of a consult would increase opportunities for patients to discuss their thoughts, preferences, and concerns with caregivers and family members if they choose. Importantly, consideration should be given to the possibility of increased anxiety that may occur if patients are encouraged to participate in their care before the eliciting of patient preferences [14]. It would likely be important to include an accompanying note that briefly describes the type of information included in the DA and an explanation that its contents could be reviewed at the appointment if the patient would prefer to go over it with a clinician first. This would provide patients with the opportunity to review in advance and maximize potential efficacy, but it would also provide a safeguard of an initial review with their provider if they would prefer.

Further Investigation

Once the initial developmental process is complete, trialing the DA could commence. User experience trials evaluating DA design, experience with the interface, and perceptions of ease of use would likely occur first and would be best optimized with user response surveys. To optimize feedback and maximize the impact of patient perspectives, qualitative and quantitative data should be collected. Panels that include user experience specialists, product designers, physicians, and volunteer patients could then meet on developmental committees to fine-tune the pilot DA based on this feedback. Although practical considerations would likely limit patient selection at this stage to a convenience sample, it would provide valuable insight into the patient experience of using the DA before optimizing its clinical use.

This would be followed by knowledge assessments conducted through randomized controlled trials in a simulated environment. Knowledge retention would be compared between individuals provided information through standardized clinical encounters with a physician versus those who were also provided with the DA. If this trial demonstrates efficacy (improved SDM), the product then can move to clinical practice in select environments, with ongoing quality improvement studies to

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56935
```

optimize their use. These would ideally be set up as prospective cohort studies but could also use a case-control or retrospective cohort design if institution-specific questions regarding their use and implementation arise.

In addition, many questions remain unanswered, warranting further critical discussion and investigation. Providing DAs ahead of appointments may be beneficial relative to during appointments [24], but is there a need for further outreach to maximize the uptake rate and limit potential patient anxiety? Although difficult to concretely define the specific needs of individual patients [4], would involving technological user experience specialists in development help get us closer to doing so? As Bennett et al [13] allude to, how can we leverage DAs to address inherent shortcomings in communication, especially bias, from the clinician side?

Limitations

As this paper is presented as a viewpoint, a review of relevant literature was conducted in a nonsystematic manner. This may subject the paper to reviewer bias and does render it possible that potentially pertinent articles were not included. However, the purpose of this viewpoint and the associated literature review is not to provide a definitive, comprehensive state of multiple fields, as there is no extant literature on the development and implementation of DAs for oral chemotherapy. Rather, its purpose is to take the initial steps to address this gap in the literature by using evidence from related fields (DA use in oncology and oral anticoagulation) to provide suggestions for the development of oral chemotherapy–specific DAs. Ultimately, its aim is to inform future research so that evidence-based guidelines may be developed in the future.

Conclusions

There is a need for evidence-based, effective DAs to facilitate SDM for patients considering oral chemotherapy. Important considerations in the development of these DAs include including a broad range of SDM elements, involving patients in the development process, tailoring content to specific patient needs, and anticipating and addressing potential barriers to efficacy. Further research is needed to investigate the efficacy of DAs developed specifically for oral chemotherapy.

Acknowledgments

This project was supported by a grant (K23HL150232, PI: Badawy) from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute of the National Institutes of Health. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the National Institutes of Health. This work has been presented as a poster abstract internally at the Lewis Landsberg Research Day (Chicago, IL) in September 2023, and an abstract containing a summary of the work has been published online in the American Society of Hematology abstracts site in the supplemental section of the November 2023 issue of Blood.

Authors' Contributions

DEM, FMME, and SMB conceived the project. DEM conducted a literature review. DEM wrote the original draft. DEM, FMME, and SMB critically revised the manuscript. SMB provided oversight for the project. DEM, FMME, and SMB provided approval for the publication of the content.

Conflicts of Interest

SMB has consultancy roles with Chiesi, Inc, Bluebird Bio Inc, Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inc, Forma Therapeutics – Novo Nordisk, Global Blood Therapeutis – Pfizer, Bristol-Myers Squibb, and Editas Medicine. DEM and FMME have declared no conflicts of interest.

References

- Stokes M, Reyes C, Xia Y, Alas V, Goertz H, Boulanger L. Impact of pharmacy channel on adherence to oral oncolytics. BMC Health Serv Res 2017;17(1):414. [doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2373-2] [Medline: 28629454]
- 2. Bhattacharyya GS. Oral systemic therapy: Not all "win-win". Indian J Med Paediatr Oncol 2010;31(1):1-3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/0971-5851.68844] [Medline: 20931012]
- 3. Elwyn G, Laitner S, Coulter A, Walker E, Watson P, Thomson R. Implementing shared decision making in the NHS. BMJ 2010;341:c5146. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.c5146] [Medline: 20947577]
- Josfeld L, Keinki C, Pammer C, Zomorodbakhsch B, Hübner J. Cancer patients' perspective on shared decision-making and decision aids in oncology. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2021;147(6):1725-1732 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00432-021-03579-6] [Medline: <u>33682014</u>]
- Colley A, Halpern J, Paul S, Micco G, Lahiff M, Wright F, et al. Factors associated with oncology patients' involvement in shared decision making during chemotherapy. Psychooncology 2017;26(11):1972-1979 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.4284] [Medline: 27649058]
- Hoque L, Amroze A, Gilvaz V, Abraham S, Lal A, Mishra A, et al. Assessing anticoagulation management and shared decision-making documentation from providers participating in the support-AF II study. J Contin Educ Health Prof 2020;40(2):76-80. [doi: <u>10.1097/CEH.0000000000293</u>] [Medline: <u>32404775</u>]

- Moudallel S, van den Bemt BJF, Zwikker H, de Veer A, Rydant S, Dijk LV, et al. Association of conflicting information from healthcare providers and poor shared decision making with suboptimal adherence in direct oral anticoagulant treatment: a cross-sectional study in patients with atrial fibrillation. Patient Educ Couns 2021;104(1):155-162. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2020.06.016] [Medline: 32622691]
- Stacey D, Légaré F, Lewis K, Barry MJ, Bennett CL, Eden KB, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017;4(4):CD001431 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001431.pub5] [Medline: 28402085]
- Whelan T, Sawka C, Levine M, Gafni A, Reyno L, Willan A, et al. Helping patients make informed choices: a randomized trial of a decision aid for adjuvant chemotherapy in lymph node-negative breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2003;95(8):581-587. [doi: 10.1093/jnci/95.8.581] [Medline: 12697850]
- Levine MN, Gafni A, Markham B, MacFarlane D. A bedside decision instrument to elicit a patient's preference concerning adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. Ann Intern Med 1992;117(1):53-58. [doi: <u>10.7326/0003-4819-117-1-53</u>] [Medline: <u>1596048</u>]
- 11. Clinical Decision Support for Oral Chemotherapy: Synapse Medicine. SynapseMed. URL: <u>https://synapse-medicine.com/</u> <u>cancer-care-journey</u> [accessed 2024-08-17]
- Ankolekar A, Vanneste BGL, Bloemen-van Gurp E, van Roermund JG, van Limbergen EJ, van de Beek K, et al. Development and validation of a patient decision aid for prostate cancer therapy: from paternalistic towards participative shared decision making. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2019;19(1):130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-019-0862-4] [Medline: 31296199]
- 13. Bennett R, DeGuzman PB, LeBaron V, Wilson D, Jones RA. Exploration of shared decision making in oncology within the United States: a scoping review. Support Care Cancer 2022;31(1):94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-022-07556-8] [Medline: 36585510]
- Cripe LD, Rawl SM, Schmidt KK, Tong Y, Monahan PO, Rand KL. Discussions of life expectancy moderate relationships between prognosis and anxiety or depression in men with advanced cancer. J Palliat Med 2012;15(1):99-105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/jpm.2011.0249] [Medline: 22268405]
- 15. Gattellari M, Voigt KJ, Butow PN, Tattersall MHN. When the treatment goal is not cure: are cancer patients equipped to make informed decisions? J Clin Oncol 2002;20(2):503-513. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2002.20.2.503</u>] [Medline: <u>11786580</u>]
- Longcoy LTH, Mathew A, Jang MK, Mayahara M, Doorenbos AZ. Experiences of using patient decision aids for decisions about cancer treatment: a meta-aggregation of qualitative studies. Cancer Nurs 2023. [doi: <u>10.1097/NCC.00000000001263</u>] [Medline: <u>37430415</u>]
- Oostendorp LJM, Ottevanger PB, Donders ART, van de Wouw AJ, Schoenaker IJH, Smilde TJ, et al. Decision aids for second-line palliative chemotherapy: a randomised phase II multicentre trial. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2017;17(1):130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0529-y] [Medline: 28859646]
- 18. Spronk I, Meijers MC, Heins MJ, Francke AL, Elwyn G, van Lindert A, et al. Availability and effectiveness of decision aids for supporting shared decision making in patients with advanced colorectal and lung cancer: results from a systematic review. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2019;28(3):e13079 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ecc.13079] [Medline: 31066142]
- El-Jawahri A, Traeger L, Park ER, Greer JA, Pirl WF, Lennes IT, et al. Associations among prognostic understanding, quality of life, and mood in patients with advanced cancer. Cancer 2014;120(2):278-285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.28369] [Medline: 24122784]
- Smith TJ, Dow LA, Virago EA, Khatcheressian J, Matsuyama R, Lyckholm LJ. A pilot trial of decision aids to give truthful prognostic and treatment information to chemotherapy patients with advanced cancer. J Support Oncol 2011;9(2):79-86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.suponc.2010.12.005] [Medline: 21542415]
- 21. de Castro KP, Chiu HH, De Leon-Yao RC, Almelor-Sembrana L, Dans AM. A patient decision aid for anticoagulation therapy in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: development and pilot study. JMIR Cardio 2021;5(2):e23464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23464] [Medline: 34385138]
- 22. Korfage IJ, Fuhrel-Forbis A, Ubel PA, Zikmund-Fisher BJ, Greene SM, McClure JB, et al. Informed choice about breast cancer prevention: randomized controlled trial of an online decision aid intervention. Breast Cancer Res 2013;15(5):R74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/bcr3468] [Medline: 24004815]
- 23. Chong W, Mogro MJ, Arsad A, Tai B, Lee S. Use of decision aid to improve informed decision-making and communication with physicians on the use of oral complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) among cancer patients on chemotherapy treatment: a randomised controlled trial. Support Care Cancer 2021;29(7):3689-3696. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05872-5] [Medline: 33188612]
- 24. Song D, Zhou J, Fan T, Chang J, Qiu Y, Zhuang Z, et al. Decision aids for shared decision-making and appropriate anticoagulation therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2022;21(2):97-106. [doi: 10.1093/eurjcn/zvab085] [Medline: 34550376]
- 25. O'Neill ES, Grande SW, Sherman A, Elwyn G, Coylewright M. Availability of patient decision aids for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. Am Heart J 2017;191:1-11. [doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2017.05.014] [Medline: 28888264]

RenderX

- Stephan LS, Almeida ED, Guimarães RB, Ley AG, Mathias RG, Assis MV, et al. Oral anticoagulation in atrial fibrillation: development and evaluation of a mobile health application to support shared decision-making. Arq Bras Cardiol 2018;110(1):7-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5935/abc.20170181] [Medline: 29412241]
- 27. Wang PJ, Lu Y, Mahaffey KW, Lin A, Morin DP, Sears SF, et al. Randomized clinical trial to evaluate an atrial fibrillation stroke prevention shared decision-making pathway. J Am Heart Assoc 2023;12(3):e028562 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/JAHA.122.028562] [Medline: 36342828]
- 28. Torres Roldan VD, Brand-McCarthy SR, Ponce OJ, Belluzzo T, Urtecho M, Espinoza Suarez NR, et al. Shared decision making tools for people facing stroke prevention strategies in atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and environmental scan. Med Decis Making 2021;41(5):540-549 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0272989X211005655] [Medline: 33896270]
- 29. Grüne B, Kriegmair MC, Lenhart M, Michel MS, Huber J, Köther AK, et al. Decision aids for shared decision-making in uro-oncology: a systematic review. Eur Urol Focus 2022;8(3):851-869. [doi: 10.1016/j.euf.2021.04.013] [Medline: 33980474]
- Collée GE, van der Wilk BJ, van Lanschot JJB, Busschbach JJ, Timmermans L, Lagarde SM, et al. Interventions that facilitate shared decision-making in cancers with active surveillance as treatment option: a systematic review of literature. Curr Oncol Rep 2020;22(10):101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11912-020-00962-3] [Medline: 32725550]
- Royston G, Hagar C, Long L, McMahon D, Pakenham-Walsh N, Wadhwani N, mHIFA Working Group (Mobile Healthcare Information For All). Mobile health-care information for all: a global challenge. Lancet Glob Health 2015;3(7):e356-e357 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(15)00054-6] [Medline: 26087979]

Abbreviations

DA: decision aid **SDM:** shared decision-making

Edited by N Cahill; submitted 30.01.24; peer-reviewed by G Powell, E Ruiz Burga; comments to author 05.03.24; revised version received 22.04.24; accepted 30.07.24; published 11.09.24.

Please cite as:

McLoughlin DE, Moreno Echevarria FM, Badawy SM Lessons Learned From Shared Decision-Making With Oral Anticoagulants: Viewpoint on Suggestions for the Development of Oral Chemotherapy Decision Aids JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e56935 URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e56935 doi:10.2196/56935 PMID:39187430

©Daniel E McLoughlin, Fabiola M Moreno Echevarria, Sherif M Badawy. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 11.09.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Impact of Patient Personality on Adherence to Oral Anticancer Medications: An Opportunity?

Mahtab Jafari¹, PharmD; Alex Shahverdian¹, PharmD; Gelareh Sadigh², MD; Richard A Van Etten³, MD, PhD

¹Department of Pharmaceutical Scienes, University of California, Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States

²Department of Radiological Sciences, University of California, Irvine, Orange, CA, United States

³Department of Medicine, University of California, Irvine, Orange, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Mahtab Jafari, PharmD Department of Pharmaceutical Scienes University of California, Irvine 856 Health Sciences Quad 5400 Room 4020 Irvine, CA, 92697-3958 United States Phone: 1 949 8240145 Email: mjafari@uci.edu

Abstract

Adherence to prescribed oral anticancer therapy is an important determinant of patient outcomes, including progression-free and overall survival. While many factors (eg, medication side effects and out-of-pocket costs, problems with insurance authorization, and timely medication refills) can affect adherence, one that is relatively unexplored is the impact of a patient's attitude and personality. Patient personality influences medication adherence and persistence in nonmalignant chronic conditions such as cardiovascular disease and diabetes. In breast cancer and chronic myeloid leukemia, studies suggest that personality also affects adherence to oral chemotherapy which can be targeted to improve adherence. In this viewpoint, we highlight the opportunity of incorporating patient personality as interventions to oral cancer therapy adherence and discuss current barriers to implementation.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e57199) doi:10.2196/57199

KEYWORDS

cancer; medication adherence; medication persistence; Five-Factor Model; Type D personality; oncology; cancer medications; oral anticancer therapy; chemotherapy

Introduction

With acceleration in development of oral anticancer medications in recent years, a substantial number of patients with cancer are responsible for managing their medication. While oral anticancer medications have many advantages over parenteral chemotherapy, including eliminating the need for venous access devices, many patients struggle with adhering to their prescribed regimens. Whereas medication adherence rates among patients with chronic diseases on oral treatment are estimated at approximately 50%, adherence rates for oral anticancer medications are substantially lower, with studies reporting adherence rates as low as 30% to 46% in patients with cancer [1-3]. Similarly, persistence to oral anticancer medications, defined as continuing treatment for the prescribed duration of therapy, is also suboptimal; for example, at 12 and 24 months, treatment persistence in patients with gastrointestinal stroma

RenderX

tumors and chronic myeloid leukemia was reported to be 41% and 56%, respectively [4]. These are concerning statistics given that poor adherence to prescribed cancer therapy can lead to serious consequences such as disease progression, reduced treatment efficacy, increased symptom burden, an increased risk for recurrent cancer, and decreased overall survival [5-7].

Many patient-related factors can contribute to nonadherence and nonpersistence to prescribed therapies, including health literacy [8], social determinants of health including food insecurity and housing instability [9], out-of-pocket medication costs [10,11], patient age [12,13], number of prescribed medications [14], and medication side effects [15-17]. However, the impact of patient personality and psychosocial characteristics has remained relatively underexplored [18-22]. In this viewpoint, we review literature on the impact of personality on medication adherence and argue that developing patient education that is

tailored toward each individual patient's personality may improve anticancer medication adherence.

Assessment of Personality Types

The psychological literature frequently assesses personality using the Five Factor Model (FFM) [23]. Also known as the universal model, the FFM is one of the most empirically supported personality models to date and consists of 5 personality categories (Table 1): openness, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism. An alternative model recognizes 4 personality types (types A, B, C, and D) [24]. The original categories of type A (competitive, ambitious) and type B (patient, creative) were first defined and studied in patients with cardiovascular disease [25], and were subsequently expanded to include types C (analytical, introverted) and D (anxious, negative). In particular, the type D personality is a trait associated with negative emotions such as worrying, and a lack of social interaction out of fear of disapproval (Textbox 1) [26-28]. The relationship between the FFM and ABCD personality models has not been fully defined, but type D subjects display FFM traits ranging from neurotic introversion with relatively low conscientiousness to stable extraversion with relatively high conscientiousness [29]. The Eysenck personality theory recognizes personality traits across 3 dimensions, extraversion/introversion, neuroticism/stability, and psychoticism/superego [30], and is commonly assessed using the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire-Revised Short Scale [31].

Table 1. The Five Factor personalities and associated adjectives (adapted from [23]).

Personality	Adjectives
Openness	Artistic, curious, imaginative, insightful, original, and wide interests
Conscientiousness	Efficient, organized, planful, reliable, responsible, and thorough
Extraversion	Active, assertive, energetic, enthusiastic, outgoing, and talkative
Agreeableness	Appreciative, forgiving, generous, kind, sympathetic, and trusting
Neuroticism	Anxious, self-pitying, tense, touchy, unstable, and worrying

Textbox 1. Characteristics of type D personality [26].

Type D traits

- Tendency to experience negative emotions.
- Propensity to suppress the expression of emotions and behaviors in social contacts.
- Feeling of unhappiness, worry, irritability, and low self-esteem.
- Distance in social relations, introversion.

Impact of Personality on Medication Adherence in Cardiovascular Disease and Diabetes

Association between patient personality assessed by the Five Factor Model and medication adherence has been studied in patients with cardiovascular disease [32]. In a recent study, patient personality was measured using the Japanese Ten-Item Personality Inventory for evaluation of the Big Five personality traits. A 12-item adherence scale measured medication compliance, health care provider collaboration, willingness to access medication information, and acceptance of needing to take medication. Having higher conscientiousness was significantly associated with greater medication compliance, patient-provider-shared decision-making, and willingness to access information about medications [32]. Conscientiousness has also been associated significantly with health-related quality of life, self-efficacy, and satisfaction with life in patients with cardiovascular disease [33]. The type D personality trait, a measure of low social interaction and negative affectivity, is frequently observed in patients with cardiovascular disease [34,35]. Type D individuals have significantly poorer medication

adherence patterns in patients with myocardial infarction [36], heart failure [35,37], and acute coronary syndrome [38]. This is in addition to the type D personality being a significant predictor of mortality in patients suffering from coronary heart disease [34].

Another common disease where medication adherence and personality have been studied is diabetes. Low adherence is a known issue in diabetic patients, leading to increased adverse outcomes such as higher hemoglobin A_{1c} (HbA_{1c}) levels and peripheral neuropathy [39]. More recently, studies have investigated the role the Five Factor personalities have in diabetes [40,41]. In one study, diabetics determined to possess the neuroticism trait based on the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire-Revised Short Scale were significantly less likely to be adherent to medication in bivariate analyses. The authors hypothesized an indirect relationship between adherence and neuroticism mediated through neuroticism's association with a lack of social support and self-efficacy [40]. Another study also showed a significant negative relationship between neuroticism and adherence along with self-care behaviors [41], but found a significant positive relationship between agreeableness and adherence. Finally, conscientiousness has also been demonstrated to be significantly positively correlated to taking
medications as prescribed in type 2 diabetics [42]. These trends are not exclusive to type 2 diabetes, as adolescents with type 1 diabetes who possessed the conscientiousness trait were significantly more adherent to insulin administration while those with the neuroticism trait showed a significantly negative correlation [43]. Like cardiovascular disease, type D personality has also been linked to poor medication adherence in type 2 diabetics [44,45] and to be associated with increased HbA_{1c} [45].

Medication Adherence and Personality in Patients With Cancer

As in other chronic nonmalignant diseases, nonadherence and nonpersistence to oral anticancer medication can be associated with multiple patient-related factors, some of which may be specific to the type or stage of cancer diagnosis or the duration of the prescribed therapy. The mental impact that accompanies a diagnosis of cancer may trigger or exacerbate behaviors that tend to be associated with the specific personality type of a patient [46-48]. For example, it is possible that some patients with aspects of the type D personality may express negative social and affective traits when confronted with cancer. Relative to other chronic diseases like hypertension and diabetes, cancer therapy is unique in that patients are dealing with an imminent life-threatening condition with medications where the drug choices may be limited, and the side effects are substantial. Indeed, many studies in cancer patients identify medication side effects to be a major factor contributing to poor adherence and persistence [3,49-51]. It follows that a patient's attitude and personality might have a major effect on coping with such symptoms. However, literature examining personality traits and adherence in patients with cancer is limited. A study that examined the link between the Five Factor Model and adherence to outpatient cancer therapies suggested that the 2 personality types of conscientiousness and agreeableness correlated with increased adherence [52], but the specific types of cancer and treatments were not explored in detail. Other studies have focused on aspects of a patient's emotional state rather than on personality traits per se, as a functional relationship between personality type and the regulation of emotions has been documented [53-55]. For example, a review of psychosocial determinants of adherence to oral anticancer treatment found high levels of distress (anxiety and depression) to be a major factor contributing to nonadherence [56]. Medication beliefs have also been found to impact adherence to cancer medications [50,57-59].

Two cancer types where adherence has been studied in significant detail are early-stage breast cancer and chronic myeloid leukemia [7]. Patients with either of these vastly different malignancies share 2 characteristics: minimal symptoms arising from the cancer itself and a major impact of medication nonadherence on progression-free and overall survival. Patients with early-stage hormone-receptor positive breast cancer are frequently treated with oral medications targeting estrogen and progesterone signaling (adjuvant endocrine therapy [AET]) following surgical management of the primary tumor. Nonadherence and nonpersistence to

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57199
```

prescribed AET have been shown in numerous studies to correlate with significantly reduced overall survival [60-62], particularly in Black women [63]. Side effects of AET represent a major factor associated with nonadherence in this population [49,64,65]. Patient personality has not been studied explicitly as a factor in AET adherence, but other studies have identified anticipatory positive emotions [66] and lower depressive symptoms associated with greater social support [67] to be associated with increased adherence.

Therapy of chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) has been revolutionized by Abelson 1 tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) such as imatinib (Gleevec). Most patients with CML achieve cytogenetic remission with TKI treatment [68,69] and enjoy age-adjusted normal life expectancy [70], but therapy must be lifelong for most patients [71]. Adherence and persistence to TKI therapy is of paramount importance to clinical outcomes of patients with CML, as missing just 1 dose a week is associated with suboptimal response [72] and treatment failure [73,74]. As a consequence, the factors associated with TKI adherence in CML have been studied extensively [75,76] and include out-of-pocket costs [77,78], long-term side effects [79,80], and dosing schedule [81]. In CML as in breast cancer, the impact of patient personality on medication adherence has been largely unexplored, but a recent study found that patients with either type A or type D personality (particularly negative affectivity) were more prone to TKI nonadherence [82].

Can an Understanding of Patient Personality Be Leveraged to Improve Medication Adherence in Patients With Cancer?

A patient's personality can inform differences in the way they think, behave and feel [83]. It can help predict their compliance with follow-up appointments, adherence to medications, and the tendency to accept and implement medical advice [84,85]. Furthermore, the personality of a patient likely influences other patient-related factors including emotional state, regulation, and stability [54,55]. The specific mechanisms through which a patient's personality type might impact their adherence to medication have not been fully defined. It is possible that personality might have a direct effect on adherence, or a given personality trait might moderate the relationship between other factors that influence adherence, for example, between stress and levels of anxiety or depression. Previous studies of the moderating effects of personality on stress responses have yielded mixed results. For example, the neuroticism personality type has been found to moderate the relationship between stress and negative affect or health behaviors [86,87] and between medication beliefs and adherence during the COVID-19 pandemic [88], while another study demonstrated a correlation between personality and health trajectory but no moderating effect of personality type on the effect of stress on health outcomes [89]. Further studies are necessary to clarify the mechanistic relationship between personality and medication adherence and to inform strategies for intervention.

Given the current state of our knowledge, what opportunities exist to leverage a patient's personality to improve their adherence to prescribed medication in general and in cancer specifically? One approach might be to attempt to alter or modify a patient's personality toward one that is more favorable for medication adherence (for example, from type D to type A, or from neuroticism to conscientiousness). While there is general agreement that one's personality can change, most adult personalities are relatively stable over time and the degree of any change is small [90,91]. Furthermore, attempts to change personality may be complicated by the challenges imposed by a cancer diagnosis. Although personality trait change has been recognized as a potentially fruitful area for health policy initiatives [92], there is a dearth of published research on this method to improve medication adherence. A better approach might be to adapt patient educational and motivational materials to an individual's personality to ensure that the information is conveyed in a way that is most effective. Communications tailored to personality have been shown to be more effective than standard one size fits all messaging in advertising [93], education [94], and health care [95,96], but have not yet been applied to medication adherence.

For example, patients who exhibit a neurotic personality type could be more likely to experience negative emotions like irritability and anxiety following a cancer diagnosis, negatively impacting adherence [97]. A behavioral intervention strategy that acknowledges the neurotic patient's emotions and uses positive psychology techniques could prove helpful in this case [98]. For a patient who is extroverted or outgoing, allowing a safe and nonjudgmental space to share their opinions before educating them on their medication usage could ensure improved listening and adherence. Since extroverts thrive on being creative, they could also be empowered to take control of their own health and identify strategies that help them remember to take medications. It is important to note, however, that each of the 5 personality traits in the FFM represent a range between 2 extremes [23]. For instance, the extraversion trait represents a continuum between extreme extraversion and extreme introversion. In general, however, since most people lie at neither end of the spectrum but somewhere in between, multiple strategies for each patient's unique disposition would likely be more effective [23].

A more frequently applied strategy to increase medication adherence is to focus interventions on psychosocial factors, some of which may be associated with personality. Several recent studies in patients with breast cancer have used interventions focused on personal attitudes and values to increase adherence to AET [99,100]. Post hoc analysis of a randomized controlled trial found relaxation training to be more effective than cognitive behavioral therapy in improving adherence to AET [101]. A remotely delivered intervention based on personal values demonstrated feasibility and acceptability and showed promise in improving AET adherence [102]. In CML, an education program tailored to individual patients based on interviews and a designed set of distinct adherence aids improved TKI adherence in a randomized trial [103]. However, most efforts to improve TKI adherence have relied on analysis of large datasets to identify interventions and lack patient-focused approaches [104]. To address this, we (the authors) have launched a clinical trial aimed at better understanding the correlation between patient personality (the dominant trait as assessed by the FFM) and TKI adherence in patients with CML (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT06229860).

Before these strategies can be explored further in the real-world setting, existing FFM personality assessments currently used in cancer care or literature must be evaluated. Although assessments of patient personality often appear in medical records, they are usually 1-sided remarks limited to terms such as "pleasant," "short-tempered," or "difficult" and portray a rather superficial and incomplete perspective, which can in turn lead to biased intuitions [105,106], suboptimal care, and poor adherence. Instead, a structured and validated approach should be adopted to provide a more reliable breakdown of personality. A recent study examined the use of the 20-item Mini International Personality Item Pool (mini-IPIP) scale in adults with cancer and reported potential validity of the tool in oncologic clinical settings [107]. Despite being a shorter version compared with other full versions of FFM personality measures, such as the NEO-Five Factor Inventory [108], the mini-IPIP has also been widely cited in studies including healthy adults and illustrated sufficient internal reliability across diverse population samples [109]. Since the mini-IPIP is a 20-item questionnaire with potential internal and external validity, the tool could be reasonably administered to cancer patients. To facilitate smooth patient-provider interactions, patients could be requested to complete these assessments during a patient intake process or before an appointment through patient portals to allow providers ample time to review their personality profiles and prepare as needed before an encounter.

Conclusion

Behavioral intervention studies that seek to address each personality type should be conducted to reinforce positive health behaviors and promote adherence. Instead of using a cookie-cutter approach to patient counseling, understanding each person's unique personality, and adopting communication strategies that encourage optimal adherence can improve oncologic patient care. However, further research is needed to evaluate the impact of personality-specific medication counseling on adherence to oral anticancer medications. This includes validation studies that confirm the reliability of personality assessments in cancer patients, as well as studies that explore the effectiveness of psychological behavioral techniques on adherence in different personalities. At the same time, there are enough data to encourage research in this direction. We strongly believe that incorporating personality into oncological care will redefine how we approach patient care as a whole, especially in this age where personalized care models like precision medicine are on the rise.



Supported in part by a gift from the Kay Family Foundation.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Greer JA, Amoyal N, Nisotel L, Fishbein JN, MacDonald J, Stagl J, et al. A systematic review of adherence to oral antineoplastic therapies. Oncologist 2016;21(3):354-376 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0405] [Medline: 26921292]
- 2. De Geest S, Sabaté E. Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2003;2(4):323. [doi: 10.1016/S1474-5151(03)00091-4] [Medline: 14667488]
- 3. Salgado TM, Mackler E, Severson JA, Lindsay J, Batra P, Petersen L, et al. The relationship between patient activation, confidence to self-manage side effects, and adherence to oral oncolytics: a pilot study with Michigan oncology practices. Support Care Cancer 2017;25(6):1797-1807. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3584-0] [Medline: 28108821]
- 4. Hohneker J, Shah-Mehta S, Brandt PS. Perspectives on adherence and persistence with oral medications for cancer treatment. J Oncol Pract 2011;7(1):65-67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JOP.2010.000076] [Medline: 21532814]
- Ganesan P, Sagar TG, Dubashi B, Rajendranath R, Kannan K, Cyriac S, et al. Nonadherence to imatinib adversely affects event free survival in chronic phase chronic myeloid leukemia. Am J Hematol 2011;86(6):471-474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ajh.22019] [Medline: 21538468]
- Makubate B, Donnan PT, Dewar JA, Thompson AM, McCowan C. Cohort study of adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy, breast cancer recurrence and mortality. Br J Cancer 2013;108(7):1515-1524 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.116] [Medline: 23519057]
- McCue DA, Lohr LK, Pick AM. Improving adherence to oral cancer therapy in clinical practice. Pharmacotherapy 2014;34(5):481-494. [doi: <u>10.1002/phar.1399</u>] [Medline: <u>24877187</u>]
- Schönfeld MS, Pfisterer-Heise S, Bergelt C. Self-reported health literacy and medication adherence in older adults: a systematic review. BMJ Open 2021;11(12):e056307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-056307] [Medline: 34916329]
- 9. Wilder ME, Kulie P, Jensen C, Levett P, Blanchard J, Dominguez LW, et al. The impact of social determinants of health on medication adherence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gen Intern Med 2021;36(5):1359-1370 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-06447-0] [Medline: 33515188]
- Sadigh G, Switchenko J, Weaver KE, Elchoufi D, Meisel J, Bilen MA, et al. Correlates of financial toxicity in adult cancer patients and their informal caregivers. Support Care Cancer 2022;30(1):217-225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06424-1] [Medline: 34255179]
- 11. Dusetzina SB, Besaw RJ, Whitmore CC, Mattingly TJ, Sinaiko AD, Keating NL, et al. Cost-related medication nonadherence and desire for medication cost information among adults aged 65 years and older in the US in 2022. JAMA Netw Open 2023;6(5):e2314211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.14211] [Medline: 37200029]
- 12. Weingarten MA, Cannon BS. Age as a major factor affecting adherence to medication for hypertension in a general practice population. Fam Pract 1988;5(4):294-296. [doi: 10.1093/fampra/5.4.294] [Medline: 3068088]
- Punnapurath S, Vijayakumar P, Platty P, Krishna S, Thomas T. A study of medication compliance in geriatric patients with chronic illness. J Family Med Prim Care 2021;10(4):1644-1648 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_1302_20</u>] [Medline: <u>34123906</u>]
- Kim S, Kwon O, Han E, Lee C, Oh S, Joh H, et al. Impact of number of medications and age on adherence to antihypertensive medications: a nationwide population-based study. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019;98(49):e17825 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000017825] [Medline: <u>31804305</u>]
- 15. Leporini C, De Sarro G, Russo E. Adherence to therapy and adverse drug reactions: is there a link? Expert Opin Drug Saf 2014;13 Suppl 1:S41-S55. [doi: 10.1517/14740338.2014.947260] [Medline: 25171158]
- 16. Tedla YG, Bautista LE. Drug side effect symptoms and adherence to antihypertensive medication. Am J Hypertens 2016;29(6):772-779 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpv185] [Medline: 26643686]
- 17. Peddie N, Agnew S, Crawford M, Dixon D, MacPherson I, Fleming L. The impact of medication side effects on adherence and persistence to hormone therapy in breast cancer survivors: a qualitative systematic review and thematic synthesis. Breast 2021;58:147-159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2021.05.005] [Medline: 34049260]
- Zugelj U, Zupancic M, Komidar L, Kenda R, Varda NM, Gregoric A. Self-reported adherence behavior in adolescent hypertensive patients: the role of illness representations and personality. J Pediatr Psychol 2010;35(9):1049-1060. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsq027</u>] [Medline: <u>20430840</u>]
- 19. Theofilou P, Panagiotaki H. A literature review to investigate the link between psychosocial characteristics and treatment adherence in cancer patients. Oncol Rev 2012;6(1):e5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4081/oncol.2012.e5] [Medline: 25992207]

- Shahin W, Kennedy GA, Stupans I. The impact of personal and cultural beliefs on medication adherence of patients with chronic illnesses: a systematic review. Patient Prefer Adherence 2019;13:1019-1035 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S212046] [Medline: <u>31303749</u>]
- Szabo G, Fornaro M, Dome P, Varbiro S, Gonda X. A bitter pill to swallow? Impact of affective temperaments on treatment adherence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Transl Psychiatry 2022;12(1):360 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41398-022-02129-z] [Medline: 36056016]
- 22. Szabo G, Szigeti FJ, Sipos M, Varbiro S, Gonda X. Affective temperaments show stronger association with infertility treatment success compared to somatic factors, highlighting the role of personality focused interventions. Sci Rep 2023;13(1):21956 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-023-47969-x] [Medline: 38081851]
- 23. McCrae RR, John OP. An introduction to the five-factor model and its applications. J Pers 1992;60(2):175-215. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1992.tb00970.x] [Medline: 1635039]
- 24. Kanten P, Gümüstekin G, Kanten S. Exploring the role of A, B, C and D personality types on individuals work-related behaviors and health problems: a theoretical model. Int J Bus Manag Invent 2017;6(7):29-37 [FREE Full text]
- 25. Friedman M, Rosenman RH. Association of specific overt behavior pattern with blood and cardiovascular findings; blood cholesterol level, blood clotting time, incidence of arcus senilis, and clinical coronary artery disease. J Am Med Assoc 1959;169(12):1286-1296. [doi: 10.1001/jama.1959.03000290012005] [Medline: 13630753]
- 26. Denollet J. Type D personality. A potential risk factor refined. J Psychosom Res 2000;49(4):255-266. [doi: 10.1016/s0022-3999(00)00177-x] [Medline: 11119782]
- 27. Denollet J. DS14: standard assessment of negative affectivity, social inhibition, and type D personality. Psychosom Med 2005;67(1):89-97. [doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000149256.81953.49] [Medline: 15673629]
- Mols F, Denollet J. Type D personality in the general population: a systematic review of health status, mechanisms of disease, and work-related problems. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2010;8:9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-8-9] [Medline: 20096129]
- 29. De Fruyt F, Denollet J. Type D personality: a five-factor model perspective. Psychology & Health 2010;17(5):671-683. [doi: <u>10.1080/08870440290025858</u>]
- 30. Matthews G, Gilliland K. The personality theories of H.J. Eysenck and J.A. Gray: a comparative review. Personality and Individual Differences 1999;26(4):583-626. [doi: 10.1016/s0191-8869(98)00158-5]
- 31. Eysenck SBG, Eysenck HJ, Barrett P. A revised version of the psychoticism scale. Personality and Individual Differences 1985;6(1):21-29. [doi: 10.1016/0191-8869(85)90026-1]
- 32. Adachi T, Tsunekawa Y, Tanimura D. Association between the big five personality traits and medication adherence in patients with cardiovascular disease: a cross-sectional study. PLoS One 2022;17(12):e0278534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0278534] [Medline: 36454925]
- Tabernero C, Gutiérrez-Domingo T, Vecchione M, Cuadrado E, Castillo-Mayén R, Rubio S, et al. A longitudinal study on perceived health in cardiovascular patients: the role of conscientiousness, subjective wellbeing and cardiac self-efficacy. PLoS One 2019;14(10):e0223862 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0223862] [Medline: 31622377]
- Denollet J, Sys SU, Stroobant N, Rombouts H, Gillebert TC, Brutsaert D. Personality as independent predictor of long-term mortality in patients with coronary heart disease. Lancet 1996;347(8999):417-421. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0140-6736(96)90007-0</u>] [Medline: <u>8618481</u>]
- Wu J, Song EK, Moser DK. Type D personality, self-efficacy, and medication adherence in patients with heart failure-a mediation analysis. Heart Lung 2015;44(4):276-281 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.hrtlng.2015.03.006] [Medline: 25979573]
- 36. Williams L, O'Connor RC, Grubb N, O'Carroll R. Type D personality predicts poor medication adherence in myocardial infarction patients. Psychol Health 2011;26(6):703-712. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2010.488265] [Medline: 21391133]
- Wu J, Moser DK. Type D personality predicts poor medication adherence in patients with heart failure in the USA. Int J Behav Med 2014;21(5):833-842 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12529-013-9366-2] [Medline: 24198039]
- Molloy GJ, Randall G, Wikman A, Perkins-Porras L, Messerli-Bürgy N, Steptoe A. Type D personality, self-efficacy, and medication adherence following an acute coronary syndrome. Psychosom Med 2012;74(1):100-106. [doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31823a5b2f] [Medline: 22155940]
- Zhang ZP, Premikha M, Luo M, Venkataraman K. Diabetes distress and peripheral neuropathy are associated with medication non-adherence in individuals with type 2 diabetes in primary care. Acta Diabetol 2021;58(3):309-317. [doi: 10.1007/s00592-020-01609-2] [Medline: <u>33211180</u>]
- 40. Huang J, Ding S, Xiong S, Liu Z. Medication adherence and associated factors in patients with type 2 diabetes: a structural equation model. Front Public Health 2021;9:730845 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.730845] [Medline: 34805063]
- 41. Hazrati-Meimaneh Z, Amini-Tehrani M, Pourabbasi A, Gharlipour Z, Rahimi F, Ranjbar-Shams P, et al. The impact of personality traits on medication adherence and self-care in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: the moderating role of gender and age. J Psychosom Res 2020;136:110178. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.110178] [Medline: 32623192]
- 42. Skinner TC, Bruce DG, Davis TME, Davis WA. Personality traits, self-care behaviours and glycaemic control in type 2 diabetes: the Fremantle diabetes study phase II. Diabet Med 2014;31(4):487-492. [doi: 10.1111/dme.12339] [Medline: 24147848]

- 43. Wheeler K, Wagaman A, McCord D. Personality traits as predictors of adherence in adolescents with type I diabetes. J Child Adolesc Psychiatr Nurs 2012;25(2):66-74. [doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6171.2012.00329.x] [Medline: 22512523]
- 44. Li X, Zhang S, Xu H, Tang X, Zhou H, Yuan J, et al. Type D personality predicts poor medication adherence in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a six-month follow-up study. PLoS One 2016;11(2):e0146892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0146892] [Medline: 26894925]
- 45. Li X, Gao M, Zhang S, Xu H, Zhou H, Wang X, et al. Medication adherence mediates the association between type D personality and high HbA1c level in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a six-month follow-up study. J Diabetes Res 2017;2017:7589184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2017/7589184] [Medline: 28280745]
- 46. Dahl AA. Link between personality and cancer. Future Oncol 2010;6(5):691-707. [doi: 10.2217/fon.10.31]
- 47. McFarland D, Morita J, Alici Y. Personality disorders in patients with cancer. Oncology (Williston Park) 2019;33(10):686510 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>31661154</u>]
- Chow PI, Shaffer KM, Lohman MC, LeBaron VT, Fortuna KL, Ritterband LM. Examining the relationship between changes in personality and depression in older adult cancer survivors. Aging Ment Health 2020;24(8):1237-1245. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2019.1594158] [Medline: 30939904]
- 49. Henry NL, Azzouz F, Desta Z, Li L, Nguyen AT, Lemler S, et al. Predictors of aromatase inhibitor discontinuation as a result of treatment-emergent symptoms in early-stage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2012;30(9):936-942 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.38.0261] [Medline: 22331951]
- 50. Krikorian S, Pories S, Tataronis G, Caughey T, Chervinsky K, Lotz M, et al. Adherence to oral chemotherapy: challenges and opportunities. J Oncol Pharm Pract 2019;25(7):1590-1598. [doi: 10.1177/1078155218800384] [Medline: 30253725]
- Verbrugghe M, Verhaeghe S, Lauwaert K, Beeckman D, Van Hecke A. Determinants and associated factors influencing medication adherence and persistence to oral anticancer drugs: a systematic review. Cancer Treat Rev 2013;39(6):610-621. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ctrv.2012.12.014</u>] [Medline: <u>23428230</u>]
- 52. Lima MP, Machado WDL, Irigaray TQ. Predictive factors of treatment adherence in cancer outpatients. Psychooncology 2018;27(12):2823-2828. [doi: 10.1002/pon.4897] [Medline: 30239056]
- 53. Revelle W, Scherer KR. Personality and emotion. In: Sander D, Scherer KR, editors. The Oxford Companion to Emotion and the Affective Sciences. United Kingdom: Oxford University Press; 2009:304-306.
- 54. Zhu Z, Qin S, Dodd A, Conti M. Understanding the relationships between emotion regulation strategies and big five personality traits for supporting effective emotion regulation tools/interventions design. Advanced Design Research 2023;1(1):38-49. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijadr.2023.06.001]
- 55. Chen YN. The relationship between personality traits, emotional stability and mental health in art vocational and technical college students during epidemic prevention and control. Psychol Res Behav Manag 2023;16:2857-2867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S417243] [Medline: 37525850]
- 56. Kaptein AA, Schoones JW, van der Meer PB, Matsuda A, Murray M, Heimans L, et al. Psychosocial determinants of adherence with oral anticancer treatment: 'we don't need no education'. Acta Oncol 2021;60(1):87-95. [doi: 10.1080/0284186X.2020.1843190] [Medline: <u>33151764</u>]
- Fink AK, Gurwitz J, Rakowski W, Guadagnoli E, Silliman RA. Patient beliefs and tamoxifen discontinuance in older women with estrogen receptor--positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2004;22(16):3309-3315. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2004.11.064</u>] [Medline: <u>15310774</u>]
- 58. Grunfeld EA, Hunter MS, Sikka P, Mittal S. Adherence beliefs among breast cancer patients taking tamoxifen. Patient Educ Couns 2005;59(1):97-102. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2004.10.005] [Medline: 16198223]
- Birand N, Boşnak AS, Diker Ö, Abdikarim A, Başgut B. The role of the pharmacist in improving medication beliefs and adherence in cancer patients. J Oncol Pharm Pract 2019;25(8):1916-1926. [doi: <u>10.1177/1078155219831377</u>] [Medline: <u>30786821</u>]
- 60. McCowan C, Shearer J, Donnan PT, Dewar JA, Crilly M, Thompson AM, et al. Cohort study examining tamoxifen adherence and its relationship to mortality in women with breast cancer. Br J Cancer 2008;99(11):1763-1768 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604758] [Medline: 18985046]
- 61. Hershman DL, Shao T, Kushi LH, Buono D, Tsai WY, Fehrenbacher L, et al. Early discontinuation and non-adherence to adjuvant hormonal therapy are associated with increased mortality in women with breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2011;126(2):529-537 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-010-1132-4] [Medline: 20803066]
- 62. Eliassen FM, Blåfjelldal V, Helland T, Hjorth CF, Hølland K, Lode L, et al. Importance of endocrine treatment adherence and persistence in breast cancer survivorship: a systematic review. BMC Cancer 2023;23(1):625 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-023-11122-8] [Medline: 37403065]
- 63. Dang TH, Forkan ARM, Wickramasinghe N, Jayaraman PP, Alexander M, Burbury K, et al. Investigation of intervention solutions to enhance adherence to oral anticancer medicines in adults: overview of reviews. JMIR Cancer 2022;8(2):e34833 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/34833] [Medline: 35475978]
- 64. Demissie S, Silliman RA, Lash TL. Adjuvant tamoxifen: predictors of use, side effects, and discontinuation in older women. J Clin Oncol 2001;19(2):322-328. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2001.19.2.322] [Medline: 11208822]

- 65. Fleming L, Agnew S, Peddie N, Crawford M, Dixon D, MacPherson I. The impact of medication side effects on adherence and persistence to hormone therapy in breast cancer survivors: a quantitative systematic review. Breast 2022;64:63-84 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2022.04.010] [Medline: 35609380]
- 66. Hurtado-de-Mendoza A, Carrera P, Parrott WG, Gómez-Trillos S, Perera RA, Sheppard VB. Applying the theory of planned behavior to examine adjuvant endocrine therapy adherence intentions. Psychooncology 2019;28(1):187-194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.4931] [Medline: 30353610]
- Bright EE, Stanton AL. Prospective investigation of social support, coping, and depressive symptoms: a model of adherence to endocrine therapy among women with breast cancer. J Consult Clin Psychol 2018;86(3):242-253. [doi: 10.1037/ccp0000272] [Medline: 29265835]
- Hochhaus A, Larson RA, Guilhot F, Radich JP, Branford S, Hughes TP, IRIS Investigators. Long-term outcomes of imatinib treatment for chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 2017;376(10):917-927 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1609324] [Medline: 28273028]
- 69. Jabbour E, Kantarjian H. Chronic myeloid leukemia: 2022 update on diagnosis, therapy, and monitoring. Am J Hematol 2022;97(9):1236-1256 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ajh.26642] [Medline: 35751859]
- Gambacorti-Passerini C, Antolini L, Mahon F, Guilhot F, Deininger M, Fava C, et al. Multicenter independent assessment of outcomes in chronic myeloid leukemia patients treated with imatinib. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011;103(7):553-561. [doi: <u>10.1093/jnci/djr060</u>] [Medline: <u>21422402</u>]
- Atallah E, Schiffer CA. Discontinuation of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in chronic myeloid leukemia: when and for whom? Haematologica 2020;105(12):2738-2745 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3324/haematol.2019.242891] [Medline: 33054106]
- 72. Noens L, van Lierde MA, De Bock R, Verhoef G, Zachée P, Berneman Z, et al. Prevalence, determinants, and outcomes of nonadherence to imatinib therapy in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia: the ADAGIO study. Blood 2009;113(22):5401-5411 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-12-196543] [Medline: 19349618]
- 73. Marin D, Bazeos A, Mahon FX, Eliasson L, Milojkovic D, Bua M, et al. Adherence is the critical factor for achieving molecular responses in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia who achieve complete cytogenetic responses on imatinib. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(14):2381-2388 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.26.3087] [Medline: 20385986]
- 74. Ibrahim AR, Eliasson L, Apperley JF, Milojkovic D, Bua M, Szydlo R, et al. Poor adherence is the main reason for loss of CCyR and imatinib failure for chronic myeloid leukemia patients on long-term therapy. Blood 2011;117(14):3733-3736 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-10-309807] [Medline: 21346253]
- 75. Jabbour E, Saglio G, Radich J, Kantarjian H. Adherence to BCR-ABL inhibitors: issues for CML therapy. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2012;12(4):223-229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.clml.2012.04.002] [Medline: 22633166]
- 76. Geissler J, Sharf G, Bombaci F, Daban M, De Jong J, Gavin T, et al. Factors influencing adherence in CML and ways to improvement: results of a patient-driven survey of 2546 patients in 63 countries. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2017;143(7):1167-1176. [doi: 10.1007/s00432-017-2372-z] [Medline: 28289895]
- 77. Dusetzina SB, Winn AN, Abel GA, Huskamp HA, Keating NL. Cost sharing and adherence to tyrosine kinase inhibitors for patients with chronic myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol 2014;32(4):306-311. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2013.52.9123</u>] [Medline: <u>24366936</u>]
- 78. Winn AN, Keating NL, Dusetzina SB. Factors associated with tyrosine kinase inhibitor initiation and adherence among medicare beneficiaries with chronic myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol 2016;34(36):4323-4328 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.4184] [Medline: 27998234]
- 79. Eliasson L, Clifford S, Barber N, Marin D. Exploring chronic myeloid leukemia patients' reasons for not adhering to the oral anticancer drug imatinib as prescribed. Leuk Res 2011;35(5):626-630. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.leukres.2010.10.017</u>] [Medline: <u>21095002</u>]
- 80. Unnikrishnan R, Veeraiah S, Mani S, Rajendranath R, Rajaraman S, Vidhubala Elangovan GS, et al. Comprehensive evaluation of adherence to therapy, its associations, and its implications in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia receiving imatinib. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2016;16(6):366-371.e3. [doi: 10.1016/j.clml.2016.02.040] [Medline: 27052853]
- 81. Santoleri F, Ranucci E, La Barba G, Colasanto I, Scaldaferri M, Cattel F, et al. Adherence, persistence and efficacy of dasatinib and nilotinib in the treatment of patients resistant or intolerant to imatinib with chronic myeloid leukemia in chronic phase: an Italian multicenter study over two years in real life. Curr Med Res Opin 2021;37(3):477-481. [doi: 10.1080/03007995.2021.1876006] [Medline: 33459083]
- Rychter A, Miniszewska J, Góra-Tybor J. Personality traits favourable for non-adherence to treatment in patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia: role of type A and D personality. Biopsychosoc Med 2023;17(1):1. [doi: 10.1186/s13030-023-00261-w] [Medline: 36658586]
- 83. Personality.: American Psychological Association; 2022. URL: <u>https://www.apa.org/topics/personality</u> [accessed 2024-09-05]
- Axelsson M, Brink E, Lundgren J, Lötvall J. The influence of personality traits on reported adherence to medication in individuals with chronic disease: an epidemiological study in West Sweden. PLoS One 2011;6(3):e18241 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018241] [Medline: 21464898]
- Cheli S, Lam WWT, Estapé T, Winterling J, Bahcivan O, Andritsch E, et al. Risk perception, treatment adherence, and personality during COVID-19 pandemic: an international study on cancer patients. Psychooncology 2022;31(1):46-53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5775] [Medline: 34314560]

- 86. Korotkov D. Does personality moderate the relationship between stress and health behavior? Expanding the nomological network of the five-factor model. J Res Personality 2008;42(6):1418-1426. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jrp.2008.06.003</u>]
- Joshanloo M. Personality traits and psychological well-being as moderators of the relationship between stressors and negative affect: a daily diary study. Curr Psychol 2023;42(4):15647-15657 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12144-022-02842-4]
- 88. Ferretti F, Goracci A, Laurenzi PF, Centola R, Crecchi I, De Luca A, et al. Neuroticism and conscientiousness moderate the effect of oral medication beliefs on adherence of people with mental illness during the pandemic. Brain Sci 2022;12(10):1315 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/brainsci12101315] [Medline: 36291250]
- Mitchell LL, Zmora R, Finlay JM, Jutkowitz E, Gaugler JE. Do big five personality traits moderate the effects of stressful life events on health trajectories? Evidence from the health and retirement study. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2021;76(1):44-55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbaa075] [Medline: 32478815]
- 90. Bleidorn W, Schwaba T, Zheng A, Hopwood CJ, Sosa SS, Roberts BW, et al. Personality stability and change: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Psychol Bull 2022;148(7-8):588-619. [doi: 10.1037/bul0000365] [Medline: 35834197]
- 91. Jackson JJ, Wright AJ. The process and mechanisms of personality change. Nat Rev Psychol 2024;4:305-318 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s44159-024-00295-z]
- 92. Bleidorn W, Hill PL, Back MD, Denissen JJA, Hennecke M, Hopwood CJ, et al. The policy relevance of personality traits. Am Psychol 2019;74(9):1056-1067 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/amp0000503] [Medline: 31829685]
- 93. Hirsh JB, Kang SK, Bodenhausen GV. Personalized persuasion: tailoring persuasive appeals to recipients' personality traits. Psychol Sci 2012;23(6):578-581. [doi: 10.1177/0956797611436349] [Medline: 22547658]
- 94. Takami K, Flanagan B, Dai Y, O?gata HS. Personality-based tailored explainable recommendation for trustworthy smart learning system in the age of artificial intelligence. Smart Learn Environ 2023;10:65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40561-023-00282-6]
- 95. Holt CL, Clark EM, Kreuter MW, Scharff DP. Does locus of control moderate the effects of tailored health education materials? Health Educ Res 2000;15(4):393-403. [doi: 10.1093/her/15.4.393] [Medline: 11066457]
- 96. Alqahtani F, Meier S, Orji R. Personality-based approach for tailoring persuasive mental health applications. User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction 2022;32:253-295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11257-021-09289-5]
- 97. Cook SA, Salmon P, Hayes G, Byrne A, Fisher PL. Predictors of emotional distress a year or more after diagnosis of cancer: a systematic review of the literature. Psychooncology 2018;27(3):791-801 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.4601] [Medline: 29318702]
- 98. Ng W. Neuroticism and well-being? Let's work on the positive rather than negative aspects. J Positive Psychol 2012;7(5):416-426 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17439760.2012.709270]
- 99. Pezzolato M, Marzorati C, Lanzoni L, Monzani D, Masiero MA, Pietrobon R, et al. Interventions to increase adherence to oral therapies in breast cancer patients: a systematic review based on the behavior change technique taxonomy. Psychooncology 2023;32(10):1481-1502. [doi: 10.1002/pon.6203] [Medline: 37571974]
- Bright EE, Finkelstein LB, Nealis MS, Genung SR, Wrigley J, Gu HCJ, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of interventions to promote adjuvant endocrine therapy adherence among breast cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol 2023;41(28):4548-4561. [doi: 10.1200/JCO.23.00697] [Medline: <u>37531593</u>]
- 101. Ream ME, Walsh EA, Jacobs JM, Taub C, Lippman M, Schaefer-Solle N, et al. Brief relaxation training is associated with long-term endocrine therapy adherence among women with breast cancer: post hoc analysis of a randomized controlled trial. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2021;190(1):79-88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10549-021-06361-x] [Medline: 34410568]
- 102. Arch JJ, Crespi CM, Levin ME, Genung SR, Nealis M, Mitchell JL, et al. Randomized controlled pilot trial of a low-touch remotely-delivered values intervention to promote adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy among breast cancer survivors. Ann Behav Med 2022;56(8):856-871 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kaab118] [Medline: 35323853]
- 103. Kekäle M, Söderlund T, Koskenvesa P, Talvensaari K, Airaksinen M. Impact of tailored patient education on adherence of patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia to tyrosine kinase inhibitors: a randomized multicentre intervention study. J Adv Nurs 2016;72(9):2196-2206. [doi: 10.1111/jan.12978] [Medline: 27113362]
- 104. Heiney SP, Sorrell M, Sheng J, Adams SA, Nelson K, Nguyen LA, et al. Interventions to improve adherence to tyrosine kinase inhibitors in chronic myeloid leukemia: a systematic review. Am J Clin Oncol 2021;44(6):291-298. [doi: 10.1097/COC.00000000000818] [Medline: <u>33867480</u>]
- 105. Park J, Saha S, Chee B, Taylor J, Beach MC. Physician use of stigmatizing language in patient medical records. JAMA Netw Open 2021;4(7):e2117052 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.17052] [Medline: 34259849]
- 106. Himmelstein G, Bates D, Zhou L. Examination of stigmatizing language in the electronic health record. JAMA Netw Open 2022;5(1):e2144967 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.44967] [Medline: 35084481]
- 107. Perry LM, Hoerger M, Molix LA, Duberstein PR. A validation study of the Mini-IPIP five-factor personality scale in adults with cancer. J Pers Assess 2020;102(2):153-163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/00223891.2019.1644341] [Medline: 31403328]
- 108. McCrae RR, Costa PT. A contemplated revision of the NEO Five-Factor inventory. Personality and Individual Differences 2004;36(3):587-596. [doi: 10.1016/s0191-8869(03)00118-1]

 Donnellan MB, Oswald FL, Baird BM, Lucas RE. The mini-IPIP scales: tiny-yet-effective measures of the big five factors of personality. Psychol Assess 2006;18(2):192-203. [doi: <u>10.1037/1040-3590.18.2.192</u>] [Medline: <u>16768595</u>]

Abbreviations

AET: adjuvant endocrine therapy CML: chronic myeloid leukemia FFM: Five Factor Model HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c IPIP: International Personality Item Pool TKI: tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 16.02.24; peer-reviewed by Y Jiang, E Fiorio; comments to author 17.04.24; revised version received 03.05.24; accepted 31.07.24; published 30.10.24.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Jafari M, Shahverdian A, Sadigh G, Van Etten RA Impact of Patient Personality on Adherence to Oral Anticancer Medications: An Opportunity? JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e57199 URL: <u>https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e57199</u> doi:10.2196/57199 PMID:

©Mahtab Jafari, Alex Shahverdian, Gelareh Sadigh, Richard A Van Etten. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 30.10.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Research Letter

Web-Based Scaffolds: The Feasibility of a Constructivist Approach to Oncology Fellow Learning

Sam Brondfield¹, MAEd, MD; Matthew Schwede², MD; Tyler P Johnson², MD; Shagun Arora¹, MD

¹Department of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States
²Department of Medicine, Stanford University, Palo Alto, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Sam Brondfield, MAEd, MD Department of Medicine University of California, San Francisco 505 Parnassus Ave Room M1286, Box 1270 San Francisco, CA, 94143 United States Phone: 1 4155144783 Email: sam.brondfield@ucsf.edu

Abstract

In this 2-institution feasibility pilot, oncology fellows used and updated freely available web-based learning tools (scaffolds) in a constructivist fashion.

(JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52501) doi:10.2196/52501

KEYWORDS

constructivist learning; scaffolded learning; graduate medical education; fellowship training; oncology; feasibility; medical education; pilot study; study; online learning; online tool; online tool; remote learning; e-learning; training; cancer

Introduction

Succinct and updated oncology fellow learning materials are lacking. Additionally, fellow didactic learning often takes the form of passive lectures, which is undesirable [1,2]. Constructivist learning, wherein learners construct their own knowledge, is rare for fellows.

We piloted "scaffolds"—succinct slide sets shared across oncology trainees—and evaluated feasibility [3,4]. Throughout training, fellows can update the shared scaffolds in a constructivist fashion, thereby providing updated resources for themselves and colleagues.

Methods

Study Design

RenderX

Two institutions participated—University of California, San Francisco (UCSF), and Stanford University. From 2018 to 2019, SB—a UCSF oncologist—designed 12 scaffolds, using Google Slides covering the solid tumor chapters from the American Society of Clinical Oncology's Self-Evaluation Program (ASCO-SEP) textbook [5]. Hematology, gynecologic oncology, and neuro-oncology were omitted for this pilot. Scaffolds

```
https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52501
```

included text and images synthesized from ASCO-SEP and National Comprehensive Cancer Center guidelines. For brevity, the slides instructed fellows to adhere to length limits when making edits.

We emailed scaffold links to all first- to third-year UCSF (n=21) and Stanford University (n=27) oncology fellows in July 2019 and July 2020. Use was optional, and fellows could access and update the scaffolds anonymously at any time. Updates were audited by SB.

In December 2021, to evaluate feasibility outcomes (*fidelity*: degree to which the innovation was implemented as intended; *appropriateness*: perceived fit of the innovation; *self-efficacy*: belief in the ability to execute the innovation's goals) [6], we reviewed updates tracked in Google Slides and conducted 2 voluntary feedback focus groups (UCSF: facilitated by SB; Stanford University: facilitated by MS—a Stanford University oncology fellow) with 4 fellows each. Focus group size was determined by responses to recruitment emails. Consent and demographic information were obtained. Participants did not need to use the scaffolds, as we were also exploring barriers to use. Focus groups were recorded and professionally transcribed. SB and MS independently reviewed the transcripts and generated themes through iterative discussion [7].

The scaffolds were updated in 2023 by SB (available on Google Drive) [8].

Ethical Considerations

UCSF and Stanford University institutional review boards granted exemption (#20-31645) and approval (#57766), respectively. Participants received an information sheet and verbally consented before each focus group. Transcripts omitted personal identifiers, and interviewers never revealed participant identities to the rest of the study team. Participants received a US \$10 electronic gift card.

Results

Fidelity

From July 2019 to December 2021, fellows made 60 updates (Table 1), ranging from new trials to changes in management; none were erroneous. SB made 9 edits for brevity.

Table 1. Number of updates to solid oncology scaffolds during the pilot period (July 2019 to December 2021).

Scaffolds	Updates by fellows (N=60), n	Updates by auditor (N=9), n
Bladder/kidney/adrenal	1	1
Breast	17	0
Gastrointestinal (lower)	5	0
Gastrointestinal (upper)	9	1
Germ cell	2	2
Head/neck	1	0
Lung (nonsmall cell)	3	1
Lung (small cell/other thoracic)	1	1
Melanoma	1	1
Prostate	6	0
Salivary/thyroid	2	1
Sarcoma	12	1

Appropriateness

Focus group participants (N=8) were women and included Asian (n=3, 37.5%), White (n=3, 37.5%), Black (n=1, 12.5%), mixed-race (n=2, 25%), first-year (n=5, 62.5%), second-year (n=2, 25%), and third-year (n=1, 12.5%) fellows. Most (n=7, 12.5%)

87.5%) used the scaffolds. Qualitative analysis (Table 2) revealed that fellows felt the scaffolds were accessible and succinct learning tools, addressed the dearth of similar resources, served as effective preparation materials for clinical work and examinations, provided structured information for rapid reviews, and made interactions with complex resources easier.



Table 2. Qualitative analysis of transcripts from 2 oncology fellow focus groups (1 at the University of California, San Francisco, and 1 at Stanford University) that evaluated a pilot of solid oncology scaffolds (July 2019 to December 2021).

Theme	Supportive quotation	
Advantages		
Accessible, succinct resource	"[The scaffolds were] online and quickly accessible, for example on the shuttle on the way to work."	
Addressed the dearth of similar resources	"There are few resources currently available for oncology fellows. [The scaffolds] filled a niche not currently filled by other resources."	
Effective preparation materials for clinical work and examinations	"[The scaffolds] were a security blankethelpful for clinic prep and inpatient consults."	
Structured information for rapid reviews	"[The scaffolds] were helpful in that they provided frameworksand approaches."	
Easier subsequent use of more complex resources	"The guidelines felt less 'foreign' after reviewing the scaffolds[the scaf- folds] helped with knowledge retention from more complex resources."	
Challenges		
Lack of fellow confidence in updating the scaffolds	"I wasn't sure whether my learning points were important enough to add to the scaffold."	
Lack of fellow ownership over the scaffolds	"I think fellows are probably less likely to update the scaffolds if they don't feel responsible for them."	
Too simple and broad to help with nuanced patient care	"Clinical care is so nuancedthe scaffolds may be too broad to help with some clinical situations."	
Suggestions		
Improve visual appeal	"Maybe make them more visually appealing by including more figures or tables."	
Clarify purpose and the fact that scaffolds can be updated	"I would make it clear that the slides are editable and that fellows should update them."	
Facilitate opportunities for fellows to update scaffolds	"Asking fellows to update these might be good for their learning."	

Self-Efficacy

Qualitative analysis revealed barriers to updating the scaffolds—fellows' lack of ownership over the scaffolds and low confidence regarding appropriate updates.

Discussion

Principal Results

This pilot explored the feasibility of implementing constructivist scaffolds for oncology fellows. We found evidence of fidelity and appropriateness and delineated next steps to optimize self-efficacy. The scaffolds [8] can be downloaded and modified to avoid generating institution-specific scaffolds from scratch. To promote ownership and confidence, we recommend assigning fellows to update the scaffolds under faculty mentorship.

Despite demonstrating superior outcomes when compared to passive lectures, constructivist learning is rarely studied at the fellowship level [9-11]. We recommend evaluating constructivist learning modalities, such as scaffolds, in graduate medical education to enhance learning outcomes.

Limitations

Though the focus groups suggested that multiple fellows used the scaffolds, Google Slides did not track how many fellows accessed or updated them. We did not incorporate multimedia components beyond images and tables (some needed to be removed before publication to respect copyright), nor did we include assessments in this pilot. We recommend that institutions consider incorporating multimedia content and assessments into the scaffolds. The number of focus group participants was small and not gender-diverse. Future studies should quantitatively evaluate usage patterns and user satisfaction to examine what factors drive utilization.

Conclusion

We piloted a novel constructivist approach to fellow learning and found evidence of feasibility. Oncology educators may use and modify the scaffolds [8] to jump-start constructivist education for fellows at their institutions. Educators in other fields may wish to apply this model to their specialties.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by a University of California, San Francisco (UCSF), Academy of Medical Educators Education Innovations grant. The funder did not have a role in the study's design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, manuscript writing, or decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

Data Availability

The data sets analyzed during this study are not publicly available due to institutional review board restrictions but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

SB designed the scaffolds, conceived the study, conducted the quantitative analysis, and wrote the manuscript. SB and MS each conducted 1 focus group. SB and MS conducted the qualitative analysis. All authors contributed manuscript edits and approved the final manuscript for submission.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Chi MTH, Wylie R. The ICAP framework: linking cognitive engagement to active learning outcomes. Educ Psychol 2014 Oct 28;49(4):219-243. [doi: 10.1080/00461520.2014.965823]
- Lim J, Ko H, Yang JW, Kim S, Lee S, Chun MS, et al. Active learning through discussion: ICAP framework for education in health professions. BMC Med Educ 2019 Dec 30;19(1):477 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-019-1901-7] [Medline: 31888595]
- 3. Masava B, Nyoni C, Botma Y. Scaffolding in health sciences education programmes: an integrative review. Med Sci Educ 2022 Dec 7;33(1):255-273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40670-022-01691-x] [Medline: 37008420]
- 4. McConnaughey S, Freeman R, Kim S, Sheehan F. Integrating scaffolding and deliberate practice into focused cardiac ultrasound training: a simulator curriculum. MedEdPORTAL 2018 Jan 19;14:10671 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15766/mep_2374-8265.10671] [Medline: 30800871]
- 5. American Society of Clinical Oncology. ASCO-SEP Medical Oncology Self-Evaluation Program Sixth Edition. Alexandria, Virginia: ASCO University; 2018.
- Pearson N, Naylor PJ, Ashe MC, Fernandez M, Yoong SL, Wolfenden L. Guidance for conducting feasibility and pilot studies for implementation trials. Pilot Feasibility Stud 2020 Oct 31;6(1):167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40814-020-00634-w] [Medline: 33292770]
- 7. Creswell JW, Poth CN. Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches. 4th edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2017.
- 8. Brondfield S. Scaffolds updated 1.2023. Google Drive. URL: <u>https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/</u> <u>1-hCMPo3q21Cv1dOB-WGe0VwpXNgVIsr8?usp=sharing</u> [accessed 2024-02-13]
- Martin A, Weller I, Amsalem D, Adigun A, Jaarsma D, Duvivier R, et al. From learning psychiatry to becoming psychiatrists: a qualitative study of co-constructive patient simulation. Front Psychiatry 2021 Jan 8;11:616239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.616239] [Medline: 33488433]
- Patel SM, Singh D, Hunsberger JB, Lockman JL, Taneja PA, Gurnaney HG, et al. An advanced boot camp for pediatric anesthesiology fellows. J Educ Perioper Med 2020 Apr 1;22(2):E641 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.46374/volxxii-issue2-njoku] [Medline: 32964069]
- Lim MY, Greenberg CS. Impact of benign hematology didactic lectures on in-service exam in a hematology-oncology fellowship program: a cross-sectional longitudinal study. J Cancer Educ 2020 Aug;35(4):705-708. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13187-019-01515-4</u>] [Medline: <u>30919266</u>]

Abbreviations

ASCO-SEP: American Society of Clinical Oncology's Self-Evaluation Program **UCSF:** University of California, San Francisco



Edited by T de Azevedo Cardoso; submitted 05.09.23; peer-reviewed by S Lee; comments to author 06.12.23; revised version received 05.02.24; accepted 06.02.24; published 23.02.24.
Please cite as:
Brondfield S, Schwede M, Johnson TP, Arora S
Web-Based Scaffolds: The Feasibility of a Constructivist Approach to Oncology Fellow Learning
JMIR Cancer 2024;10:e52501
URL: https://cancer.jmir.org/2024/1/e52501
doi:10.2196/52501
PMID:38393780

©Sam Brondfield, Matthew Schwede, Tyler P Johnson, Shagun Arora. Originally published in JMIR Cancer (https://cancer.jmir.org), 23.02.2024. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Cancer, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://cancer.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

